Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications Series Editors: Vinood B. Patel Victor R. Preedy



Vinood B. Patel Victor R. Preedy *Editors*

Biomarkers in Diabetes



Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications

Series Editors

Vinood B. Patel, School of Life Sciences, University of Westminster, London, UK

Victor R. Preedy, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, School of Life Course and Population Sciences, Faculty of Life Sciences and Medicine, King's College London, London, UK

In the past decade there has been a major sea change in the way disease is diagnosed and investigated due to the advent of high throughput technologies, such as microarrays, lab on a chip, proteomics, genomics, lipomics, metabolomics etc. These advances have enabled the discovery of new and novel markers of disease relating to autoimmune disorders, cancers, endocrine diseases, genetic disorders, sensory damage, intestinal diseases etc. In many instances these developments have gone hand in hand with the discovery of biomarkers elucidated via traditional or conventional methods, such as histopathology or clinical biochemistry. Together with microprocessor-based data analysis, advanced statistics and bioinformatics these markers have been used to identify individuals with active disease or pathology as well as those who are refractory or have distinguishing pathologies. New analytical methods that have been used to identify markers of disease and is suggested that there may be as many as 40 different platforms. Unfortunately techniques and methods have not been readily transferable to other disease states and sometimes diagnosis still relies on single analytes rather than a cohort of markers. There is thus a demand for a comprehensive and focused evidenced-based text and scientific literature that addresses these issues. Hence the formulation of Biomarkers in Disease. The series covers a wide number of areas including for example, nutrition, cancer, endocrinology, cardiology, addictions, immunology, birth defects, genetics and so on. The chapters are written by national or international experts and specialists.

Vinood B. Patel • Victor R. Preedy Editors

Biomarkers in Diabetes

With 139 Figures and 69 Tables



Editors Vinood B. Patel School of Life Sciences University of Westminster London, UK

Victor R. Preedy Department of Nutrition and Dietetics School of Life Course and Population Sciences Faculty of Life Sciences and Medicine King's College London London, UK

 ISSN 2542-3657
 ISSN 2542-3665 (electronic)

 Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications
 ISBN 978-3-031-08013-5

 ISBN 978-3-031-08013-5
 ISBN 978-3-031-08014-2 (eBook)

 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2
 1-08014-2

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023, corrected publication 2023

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Preface

In recent years, there have been major changes in the way diseases are diagnosed and investigated due to the advent of high-throughput technologies, as well as advances in chemistry and physics. This has led to the development of microarrays, lab-on-achip, proteomics, genomics, lipomics, metabolomics, and other new platforms. These advances have enabled the discovery of new and novel markers of disease relating to autoimmune disorders, cancers, endocrine diseases, genetic disorders, sensory damage, intestinal diseases, and many other conditions too numerous to list here. In many instances, these progressions have gone hand in hand with analysis of biomarkers elucidated via traditional methods, such as histopathology, immunoassays, and clinical biochemistry. Together with microprocessor-based data analysis, advanced statistics, and bioinformatics, these markers have been used to identify individuals with active disease as well as those who are refractory or have distinguishing pathologies.

Unfortunately, techniques and methods have not been readily transferable to other disease states, and sometimes diagnosis still relies on a single analyte rather than a cohort of markers. Furthermore, the discovery of many new markers has not been put into clinical practice partly because of their cost and partly because some scientists are unaware of their existence or the evidence is at the preclinical stage. There is thus a demand for a comprehensive and focused evidence-based text that addresses these issues. Hence the book *Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries, and Applications: Biomarkers in Diabetes*. It imparts holistic information on the scientific basis of health and biomarkers and covers the latest knowledge, trends, and links with treatments. It links conventional approaches with new platforms.

In the present book, Biomarkers in Diabetes, we have sections on:

- 1. Circulating and body fluid biomarkers
- 2. Micronutrients and minerals
- 3. Diets and macronutrients
- 4. Genetic, molecular, and cellular variables
- 5. Functional and physiological variables and platforms
- 6. Biomarkers in specific conditions or scenarios
- 7. Resources

The ability to transcend the intellectual divide is aided by the fact that each chapter has:

- Key Facts (areas of focus explained for the lay person)
- Definitions of Words and Terms
- Applications to Prognosis, Other Diseases, or Conditions
- Summary Points

The material in *Applications to Prognosis, Other Diseases, or Conditions* pertains to speculative or proposed areas of research, cross-transference to other diseases or stages of the disease, translational issues, and other areas of wide applicability.

The Editors recognize the difficulties in assigning chapters to parts of the book, as some chapters can fit into more than one section. Nevertheless, the book has enormously wide coverage and is well indexed.

The chapters are written by national and international experts. This book is designed for endocrinologists, clinical biochemists, health scientists specializing in diabetes, epidemiologists, researchers, doctors, and nurses, from students to practitioners at the higher level. It is also designed to be suitable for lecturers and teachers in health care and academic libraries as a reference guide.

London, UK November 2022 Dr Vinood B. Patel Professor Victor R. Preedy

Contents

Par	t I General Aspects	1
1	Linking Variants of Hemoglobin A1C and Glycemic Status Jee-Young Moon and Qibin Qi	3
2	Treatment Regimes in Diabetes and Their Impact on Biomarkers João P. Magalhães, Megan Hetherington-Rauth, and Luís Bettencourt Sardinha	21
Par	t II Circulating and Body Fluid Biomarkers: Impact of Diabetes	
on	Pathology	65
3	Resistin as a Biomarker and Applications to Prediabetes Seyfettin Üstünsoy	67
4	Altered Metabolome of Amino Acids Species: A Source of Signature Early Biomarkers of T2DM Anna Czajkowska, Ahsan Hameed, Mauro Galli Muhammad Umair Ijaz, Adam Kretowski, and Michal Ciborowski	83
5	Components of the Purine Metabolism Pathways as Biomarkers for the Early Diagnosis of Diabetes Ahsan Hameed, Mauro Galli, Anna Czajkowska, Adam Kretowski, and Michal Ciborowski	127
6	Serpin A12 (Vaspin) as a Serine Protease Inhibitor Armin Salek Maghsoudi, Shokoufeh Hassani, Kayvan Mirnia, and Mohammad Abdollahi	153
7	Advanced Glycation End Products in Diabetes Jesús A. Mosquera-Sulbarán and Juan Pablo Hernández-Fonseca	171
8	Markers of Liver Function and Insulin Resistance	195
		vii

9	Biological Markers of Insulin Sensitivity Links with Dietary Antioxidant Andrea Lisbet Bohórquez-Medina, Sofía Lorena Bohórquez-Medina, and Vicente Aleixandre Benites-Zapata	2
10	Serum Uric Acid and Metabolic Markers in Diabetes Mohamed Rafiullah and Khalid Siddiqui	2
11	Urinary Interleukins and Kidney Damage in Diabetes Rafael Noal Moresco, Guilherme Vargas Bochi, Manuela Borges Sangoi Cardoso, and José Antonio Mainardi de Carvalho	2
12	Serum Homocysteine as a Biomarker in DiabetesEm Yunir and Yully Astika Nugrahayning Aziza	2
13	3-Hydroxyisobutyrate (3-HIB): Features and Links as a Biological Marker in Diabetes Simon Nitter Dankel	2
14	Proteomic Biomarkers: What They Are and How Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Has Similarities with Other Diseases Karina Braga Gomes	3
15	Salivary C-Reactive Protein as a Biomarker and Implications for Diabetes	3
16	Assessing Insulin Sensitivity in People with Type 1 Diabetes Without Euglycemic-Hyperinsulinemic Clamps Andrzej S. Januszewski and Alicia J. Jenkins	3
17	Serum Betatrophin: What It Shows and How It Alters inGestational Diabetes MellitusRauf Melekoglu and Ebru Celik	3
18	Biomarkers in Disease: Diabetes Methods, Discoveries, and Applications Luiz Sérgio F. de Carvalho, Aline Ioshie Akamine Asari, Bruna Stefany Bento de Sousa Teles, Adriano de Britto Chaves Filho, and Marcos Yukio Yoshinaga	3
19	Correlations Between Renal Biomarkers and the Treatment Outcomes in Diabetes: Ophthalmic Aspects	4
20	Serum Paraoxonase 1 as a Biomarker: Features and Applications in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Berrin Öztaş, Fatma Ceyla Eraldemir, and Hale Maral Kır	4

viii

21	The Ratio of Omega-6/Omega-3 Fatty Acid: Implications andApplication as a Marker to DiabetesShilpa S. Shetty, N. Suchetha Kumari, and Remya Varadarajan	449
22	Engulfment and Cell Motility Protein (ELMO)-1 as a Biomarker in Type II Diabetes Elfiani Elfiani, Anggelia Puspasari, and Zulkhair Ali	469
23	Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor and Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor A: Biomarkers Potential in Diabetes Yulia Karakulova and Tamara Filimonova	485
24	The Role of Glycated Albumin as a Biomarker of Glycemic Control in Diabetes and Chronic Kidney Disease Shanel Raghubeer, Don M. Matshazi, Dipuo D. Motshwari, Cecil J. Weale, Rajiv T. Erasmus, and Tandi E. Matsha	513
Par	t III Genetic, Molecular, and Cellular Variables	539
25	Epigenetics and 5-Hydroxymethylcytosines as a Biomarker in Type 2 Diabetes Chang Zeng and Wei Zhang	541
26	Adult Stem Cells as a Biomarker in DiabetesScott Cohen and Sabyasachi Sen	559
27	The Search for Immunological Biomarkers in Type 1 DiabetesMellitus (T1DM) and Multiple Sclerosis (MS): Th40 CellsProvide a Common Autoimmune LinkDavid H. Wagner	575
28	Epigenetically Modified DNA Fragments	597
29	Urinary Glucose Excretion as a Biomarker for Precision Medicine in Diabetes Shinsuke Noso and Hiroshi Ikegami	615
30	Secreted Frizzled-Related Proteins 4 and 5: What They Are and Can They Be Used as a Biomarker in Gestational Diabetes Mellitus Rik H. J. Beernink and Joost H. N. Schuitemaker	629
31	Insights into the World of MicroRNAs Marta Greco, Eusebio Chiefari, Maria Mirabelli, Alessandro Salatino, Salvatore Andrea Pullano, Antonio Aversa, Daniela Patrizia Foti, and Antonio Brunetti	649

Contents

32	Genomic Ancestry as Biomarkers Deborah Conte Santos	669
33	Hp1-1 as a Genetic Marker in Diabetes: Measures, Applications, and Correlations Agnieszka Filipek	681
Par and	t IV Functional Variables, Physiological Variables, I Platforms	703
34	Day-by-Day Home Blood Pressure Monitoring as a Biomarker in DiabetesDaisuke Suzuki, Satoshi Hoshide, and Kazuomi Kario	705
35	Methods for Measuring Blood Pressure and Applications toDiabetesAndriani Vazeou and George S. Stergiou	729
36	Carotid Bodies: Use of Chemosensitivity as a Biomarker in Prediabetes Silvia V. Conde, Marlene Lages, Maria P. Guarino, and Joana F. Sacramento	751
37	Optical Coherence Tomography Angiography for Biomarker Indices in Diabetes Eun Young Choi and Min Kim	777
38	Urinary Profiling with Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry Lay-Harn Gam	791
39	Physiologic Measures in Diabetes: QTc ProlongationLauren Ehrhardt-Humbert and Matthew J. Singleton	809
40	Biomarkers of Myocardial Fibrosis in Diabetes, Echocardiography, and Magnetic Resonance Imaging Per Lav Madsen	821
41	Measures of Endothelial Function in Type 2 Diabetes: A Focuson Non-circulatory Methods of MeasurementCaroline Wei Shan Hoong	849
42	Measures of Endothelial Function in Type 2 Diabetes: A Focus on Circulatory Biomarkers Caroline Wei Shan Hoong	867

Part Dial	t V Biomarkers in Specific Conditions or Scenarios of betes	889
43	Biomarkers of Diabetes-Induced Nephropathy Bamidele Stephen Ajilore and Bosede Olaitan Ajilore	891
44	Serum Vitamin D As a Biomarker in Diabetic: Applications and Associations with Retinopathy Carolina Madeira and Manuel Falcão	909
45	Markers of Bacterial Translocation in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Marwa Ahmed Meheissen	923
46	Serum Leptin as a Biomarker in Diabetes	947
47	Vitreous Biomarkers: What They Are and How They May Be Used to Advance the Management of Diabetic Retinopathy Ricardo Lamy and Jay M. Stewart	963
48	Protein Pyrrole Adducts in Diabetes Mellitus Xiao Chen, Zhuyi Jiang, and Peter S. Spencer	991
49	Biomarkers in Gestational Diabetes	1021
50	Metabolomic Biomarkers, Metabolite Patterns, and GestationalDiabetes MellitusEllen C. Francis and Wei Perng	1033
51	Neuroinflammatory Biomarkers in Diabetic Encephalopathy: Linking Cholinergic and Cognitive Dysfunction Tosin A. Olasehinde, Sunday I. Oyeleye, Ademola O. Olaniran, and Md. Shahidul Islam	1053
Part	t VI Diet and Diabetes	1073
52	Selenium and Risk of Diabetes	1075
Part	t VII Models and Modeling in Diabetes	1087
53	Models of Diabetes in Rats: A Focus on Diabetic Neuropathy and Biomarkers Che Aishah Nazariah Ismail and Idris Long	1089

54	Biomarkers in Experimental Diabetes: Studies with <i>Syzygium</i> <i>Cumini</i> (L.) and Links with the Sulfonylurea 1 Receptor Pratibha D. Nadig, Padmaja Shetty K, Anusha S. J, Meharban Asanaliyar, and Nagakumar Bharatam	1111
Part	VIII Resources	1139
55	Recommended Resources for Biomarkers in Diabetes: Methods, Discoveries, and Applications Rajkumar Rajendram, Daniel Gyamfi, Vinood B. Patel, and Victor R. Preedy	1141
Corr Diab Andı	rection to: Assessing Insulin Sensitivity in People with Type 1 Detes Without Euglycemic-Hyperinsulinemic Clamps rzej S. Januszewski and Alicia J. Jenkins	C1
Inde	x	1155

About the Editors

Vinood B. Patel, BSc, PhD, FRSC, is currently Reader in Clinical Biochemistry at the University of Westminster. He presently directs studies on metabolic pathways involved in liver disease, particularly related to mitochondrial energy regulation and cell death. Research is being undertaken to study the role of nutrients, antioxidants, phytochemicals, iron, alcohol, and fatty acids in the pathophysiology of liver disease. Other areas of interest are identifying new biomarkers that can be used for the diagnosis and prognosis of liver disease and understanding mitochondrial oxidative stress in Alzheimer's disease and gastrointestinal dysfunction in autism. Dr. Patel graduated from the University of Portsmouth with a degree in Pharmacology and completed his PhD in protein metabolism from King's College London in 1997. His postdoctoral work was carried out at Wake Forest University Baptist Medical School studying structural-functional alterations to mitochondrial ribosomes, where he developed novel techniques to characterize their biophysical properties. Dr. Patel is a nationally and internationally recognized researcher and has several edited biomedical books related to the use or investigation of active agents or components as well as biomarkers. These books include The Handbook of Nutrition, Diet, and Epigenetics; Biomarkers in Cancer; Biomarkers in Cardiovascular Disease; and Biomarkers in Liver Disease. In 2014, Dr. Patel was elected as a Fellow to The Royal Society of Chemistry.

Victor R. Preedy, BSc, PhD, DSc, FRSB, FRSPH, FRCPath, FRSC, is Professor of Clinical Biochemistry and Pathology at King's College Hospital, Emeritus Professor of Nutritional Biochemistry at King's College London, and Visiting Professor at the University of Hull. Professor Preedy graduated in 1974 with an Honours Degree in Biology and Physiology with Pharmacology. He gained his University of London PhD in 1981. In 1992, he received his Membership of the Royal College of Pathologists, and in 1993 he gained his second doctoral degree for his outstanding contribution to protein metabolism in health and disease. Professor Preedy was elected as a Fellow to the Institute of Biology in 1995 and to the Royal College of Pathologists in 2000. Since then, he has been elected as a Fellow to the Royal Society for the Promotion of Health (2004) and The Royal Institute of Public Health (2004). In 2009, Professor Preedy became a Fellow of the Royal Society for Public

Health and in 2012 a Fellow of the Royal Society of Chemistry. In his career, Professor Preedy has carried out research at the Cardiothoracic Institute, National Heart Hospital (part of Imperial College London), The School of Pharmacy (now Part of University College London), and the MRC Centre at Northwick Park Hospital. He has collaborated with research groups in Finland, Japan, Australia, USA, and Germany. He is a leading expert on the science of health and has a long-standing interest in biomarkers, especially related to tissue pathology. He has lectured nationally and internationally. To his credit, Professor Preedy has published over 750 articles, which includes peer-reviewed manuscripts based on original research, abstracts and symposium presentations, reviews, and numerous books and volumes.

Contributors

Mohammad Abdollahi Toxicology and Diseases Group (TDG), Pharmaceutical Sciences Research Center (PSRC), The Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences (TIPS), Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Department of Toxicology and Pharmacology, Faculty of Pharmacy, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Hind Shakir Ahmed Department of Chemistry, College of Education for Pure Science (Ibn Al-Haitham), University of Baghdad, Baghdad, Iraq

Bamidele Stephen Ajilore Department of Medical Biochemistry, Faculty of Basic Medical Sciences, College of Health Sciences, Osun State University, Osogbo, Nigeria

Bosede Olaitan Ajilore Department of Maternal and Child Health Nursing, Faculty of Nursing Sciences, College of Health Sciences, Ladoke Akintola University of Technology, Ogbomoso, Nigeria

Osun State Primary Health Care Development Board, Osogbo, Nigeria

Zulkhair Ali Department of Internal Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Sriwijaya, Palembang, Indonesia

Meharban Asanaliyar Department of Pharmacology, Vydehi Institute of Medical Science and Research Centre, Bangalore, Karnataka, India

Aline Ioshie Akamine Asari Department of Vascular Surgery, Institute of Strategic Management in Healthcare Federal District (IGESDF) - Hospital de Base, Brasília, DF, Brazil

Antonio Aversa Department of Experimental and Clinical Medicine, University "Magna Græcia", Catanzaro, Italy

Yully Astika Nugrahayning Aziza Faculty of Medicine Universitas Indonesia, Jakarta, Indonesia

Jeganathan Ramesh Babu Department of Nutrition, Dietetics, and Hospitality Management, Auburn University, Auburn, AL, USA

Rik H. J. Beernink Department of Analytical Biochemistry, Groningen Research Institute of Pharmacy, University of Groningen, Groningen, The Netherlands

Vicente Aleixandre Benites-Zapata Unidad de Investigación para la Generación y Síntesis de Evidencias en Salud, Universidad San Ignacio de Loyola, Lima, Peru

Luís Bettencourt Sardinha Exercise and Health Laboratory, Faculty of Human Kinetics, University of Lisbon, Centre for the Study of Human Performance (CIPER), Estrada da Costa, Cruz Quebrada – Dafundo, Portugal

Nagakumar Bharatam Computational Chemist, Drug Discovery Unit (DDU), School of Life Sciences, University of Dundee, Dundee, Scotland

Guilherme Vargas Bochi Department of Physiology and Pharmacology, Center of Health Sciences, Federal University of Santa Maria, Santa Maria, RS, Brazil

Andrea Lisbet Bohórquez-Medina Unidad de Investigación para la Generación y Síntesis de Evidencias en Salud, Universidad San Ignacio de Loyola, Lima, Peru

Sofía Lorena Bohórquez-Medina Unidad de Investigación para la Generación y Síntesis de Evidencias en Salud, Universidad San Ignacio de Loyola, Lima, Peru

Antonio Brunetti Department of Health Sciences, University "Magna Græcia", Catanzaro, Italy

Manuela Borges Sangoi Cardoso Laboratory of Clinical Biochemistry, Department of Clinical and Toxicological Analysis, Center of Health Sciences, Federal University of Santa Maria, Santa Maria, RS, Brazil

Ebru Celik Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, School of Medicine, Koc University, Istanbul, Turkey

Xiao Chen Key Laboratory of Modern Toxicology of Shenzhen, Shenzhen Medical Key Subject of Health Toxicology, (2020–2024), Shenzhen Center for Disease Control and Prevention, Shenzhen, Guangdong, China

Eusebio Chiefari Department of Health Sciences, University "Magna Græcia", Catanzaro, Italy

Eun Young Choi Department of Ophthalmology, Gangnam Severance Hospital, Institute of Vision Research, Yonsei University College of Medicine, Seoul, South Korea

Michal Ciborowski Clinical Research Centre, Metabolomics Laboratory, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland

Scott Cohen Department of Medicine, The George Washington University, School of Medicine and Health Sciences, Washington, DC, USA

Department of Medicine, Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Washington, DC, USA

Silvia V. Conde CEDOC, NOVA Medical School, Faculdade de Ciências Médicas, Universidade NOVA de Lisboa, Lisbon, Portugal

Anna Czajkowska Clinical Research Centre, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland

Department of Medical Biology, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland

Pratibha D. Nadig Department of Pharmacology, Dr. Chandramma Dayanand Sagar Institute of Medical Education and Research (CDSIMER), Devarakaggalahalli, Karnataka, India

Simon Nitter Dankel Department of Clinical Science, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway

Adriano de Britto Chaves Filho Department of Biochemistry, Institute of Chemistry, University of São Paulo, São Paulo, SP, Brazil

José Antonio Mainardi de Carvalho Laboratory of Clinical Biochemistry, Department of Clinical and Toxicological Analysis, Center of Health Sciences, Federal University of Santa Maria, Santa Maria, RS, Brazil

Luiz Sérgio F. de Carvalho Laboratory of Data for Quality of Care and Outcomes Research (LaDa:QCOR), Aramari Apo Institute, Brasília, DF, Brazil

Bruna Stefany Bento de Sousa Teles Department of Vascular Surgery, Institute of Strategic Management in Healthcare Federal District (IGESDF) - Hospital de Base, Brasília, DF, Brazil

Lauren Ehrhardt-Humbert Wake Forest School of Medicine, Winston-Salem, NC, USA

Elfiani Elfiani Department of Internal Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Raden Mattaher General Hospital, Universitas Jambi, Jambi, Indonesia

Fatma Ceyla Eraldemir Department of Medical Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine, Kocaeli University, Kocaeli, Turkey

Rajiv T. Erasmus SAMRC/CPUT Cardiometabolic Health Research Unit, Department of Biomedical Sciences, Faculty of Health and Wellness Sciences, Cape Peninsula University of Technology, Bellville, South Africa

Manuel Falcão Department of Ophthalmology, Centro Hospitalar de Vila Nova de Gaia e Espinho, Porto, Portugal

Faculty of Medicine, University of Porto, Porto, Portugal

Tamara Filimonova Department of Neurology and Medical Genetics, Academician Ye.A.Vagner Perm State Medical University, Perm, Russia

Agnieszka Filipek Department of Pharmacognosy and Molecular Basis of Phytotherapy, Faculty of Pharmacy, Medical University of Warsaw, Warsaw, Poland

Daniela Patrizia Foti Department of Experimental and Clinical Medicine, University "Magna Græcia", Catanzaro, Italy

Ellen C. Francis Lifecourse Epidemiology of Adiposity and Diabetes, Colorado School of Public Health, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, USA

Mauro Galli Department of Medical Biology, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland

Lay-Harn Gam School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Universiti Sains Malaysia, Minden, Penang, Malaysia

Thangiah Geetha Department of Nutrition, Dietetics, and Hospitality Management, Auburn University, Auburn, AL, USA

Karina Braga Gomes Department of Clinical and Toxicological Analyses, School of Pharmacy, Federal University of Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, MG, Brazil

Marta Greco Department of Health Sciences, University "Magna Græcia", Catanzaro, Italy

Maria P. Guarino ciTechCare, Polytechnic of Leiria, Leiria, Portugal

Daniel Gyamfi The Doctors Laboratory Ltd, London, UK

Ahsan Hameed Clinical Research Centre, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland

Shokoufeh Hassani Toxicology and Diseases Group (TDG), Pharmaceutical Sciences Research Center (PSRC), The Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences (TIPS), Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Juan Pablo Hernández-Fonseca Instituto de Investigaciones Clínicas Dr. Américo Negrette, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad del Zulia, Maracaibo, Venezuela

Megan Hetherington-Rauth Exercise and Health Laboratory, Faculty of Human Kinetics, University of Lisbon, Centre for the Study of Human Performance (CIPER), Estrada da Costa, Cruz Quebrada – Dafundo, Portugal

Caroline Wei Shan Hoong Division of Endocrinology, Department of Medicine, Woodlands Health, Singapore, Singapore

Satoshi Hoshide Division of Cardiovascular Medicine, Department of Medicine, Jichi Medical University School of Medicine, Tochigi, Japan

Yi-Ting Hsieh Department of Ophthalmology, National Taiwan University Hospital, Taipei, Taiwan

Muhammad Umair Ijaz Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, University of California Davis, Sacramento, CA, USA

Hiroshi Ikegami Department of Endocrinology, Metabolism and Diabetes, Faculty of Medicine, Kindai University, Osaka, Japan

Md. Shahidul Islam Department of Biochemistry, School of Life Sciences, University of Kwazulu-Natal, Durban, South Africa

Che Aishah Nazariah Ismail Department of Physiology, School of Medical Sciences, Universiti Sains Malaysia Health Campus, Kubang Kerian, Kelantan, Malaysia

Andrzej S. Januszewski NHMRC Clinical Trials Centre, The University of Sydney, Camperdown, NSW, Australia

Department of Medicine, University of Melbourne, Fitzroy, VIC, Australia

Alicia J. Jenkins Department of Medicine, University of Melbourne, Fitzroy, VIC, Australia

Zhuyi Jiang Department of Endocrinology, Shenzhen People's Hospital, Shenzhen, Guangdong, China

Hale Maral Kır Department of Medical Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine, Kocaeli University, Kocaeli, Turkey

Yulia Karakulova Department of Neurology and Medical Genetics, Academician Ye.A.Vagner Perm State Medical University, Perm, Russia

Kazuomi Kario Division of Cardiovascular Medicine, Department of Medicine, Jichi Medical University School of Medicine, Tochigi, Japan

Min Kim Department of Ophthalmology, Gangnam Severance Hospital, Institute of Vision Research, Yonsei University College of Medicine, Seoul, South Korea

Adam Kretowski Clinical Research Centre, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland

Department of Endocrinology, Diabetology, and Internal Medicine, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland

Marlene Lages ciTechCare, Polytechnic of Leiria, Leiria, Portugal

Ivan Pochou Lai Department of Ophthalmology, National Taiwan University Hospital, Taipei, Taiwan

Ricardo Lamy Department of Ophthalmology, School of Medicine, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, USA

Ming-Jui Lee National Taiwan University Hospital, Taipei, Taiwan

Idris Long School of Health Sciences, Universiti Sains Malaysia Health Campus, Kubang Kerian, Kelantan, Malaysia

Carolina Madeira Department of Ophthalmology, Centro Hospitalar de Vila Nova de Gaia e Espinho, Porto, Portugal

Faculty of Medicine, University of Porto, Porto, Portugal

Per Lav Madsen Department of Cardiology, Herlev-Gentofte Hospital, Copenhagen University Hospital, Herlev, Denmark

João P. Magalhães Exercise and Health Laboratory, Faculty of Human Kinetics, University of Lisbon, Centre for the Study of Human Performance (CIPER), Estrada da Costa, Cruz Quebrada – Dafundo, Portugal

Tandi E. Matsha SAMRC/CPUT Cardiometabolic Health Research Unit, Department of Biomedical Sciences, Faculty of Health and Wellness Sciences, Cape Peninsula University of Technology, Bellville, South Africa

Don M. Matshazi SAMRC/CPUT Cardiometabolic Health Research Unit, Department of Biomedical Sciences, Faculty of Health and Wellness Sciences, Cape Peninsula University of Technology, Bellville, South Africa

Marwa Ahmed Meheissen Medical Microbiology & Immunology Department, Faculty of Medicine, Alexandria University, Azarita, Alexandria, Egypt

Rauf Melekoglu Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, School of Medicine, Inonu University, Malatya, Turkey

Maria Mirabelli Department of Health Sciences, University "Magna Græcia", Catanzaro, Italy

Raghavendra G. Mirmira Department of Medicine, University of Chicago, Chicago, IL, USA

Kayvan Mirnia Department of Neonatology, School of Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Jee-Young Moon Department of Epidemiology and Population Health, Albert Einstein College of Medicine, Bronx, NY, USA

Shinje Moon Division of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Department of Internal Medicine, Hallym University College of Medicine, Seoul, South Korea

Rafael Noal Moresco Laboratory of Clinical Biochemistry, Department of Clinical and Toxicological Analysis, Center of Health Sciences, Federal University of Santa Maria, Santa Maria, RS, Brazil

Jesús A. Mosquera-Sulbarán Instituto de Investigaciones Clínicas Dr. Américo Negrette, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad del Zulia, Maracaibo, Venezuela

Dipuo D. Motshwari SAMRC/CPUT Cardiometabolic Health Research Unit, Department of Biomedical Sciences, Faculty of Health and Wellness Sciences, Cape Peninsula University of Technology, Bellville, South Africa

Shinsuke Noso Department of Endocrinology, Metabolism and Diabetes, Faculty of Medicine, Kindai University, Osaka, Japan

Chang-Myung Oh Department of Biomedical Science and Engineering, Gwangju Institute of Science and Technology, Gwangju, South Korea

Ademola O. Olaniran Discipline of Microbiology, School of Life Sciences, University of Kwazulu-Natal, Durban, South Africa

Tosin A. Olasehinde Discipline of Microbiology, School of Life Sciences, University of Kwazulu-Natal, Durban, South Africa

Nutrition and Toxicology Division, Food Technology Department, Federal Institute of Industrial Research, Oshodi, Nigeria

Sunday I. Oyeleye Department of Biomedical Technology, Federal University of Technology, Akure, Nigeria

Berrin Öztaş Department of Medical Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine, Kocaeli University, Kocaeli, Turkey

Vinood B. Patel School of Life Sciences, University of Westminster, London, UK

Wei Perng Lifecourse Epidemiology of Adiposity and Diabetes, Colorado School of Public Health, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, USA

Victor R. Preedy Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, School of Life Course and Population Sciences, Faculty of Life Sciences and Medicine, King's College London, London, UK

Salvatore Andrea Pullano Department of Health Sciences, University "Magna Græcia", Catanzaro, Italy

Anggelia Puspasari Department of Medical Biology and Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Universitas Jambi, Jambi, Indonesia

Qibin Qi Department of Epidemiology and Population Health, Albert Einstein College of Medicine, Bronx, NY, USA

Mohamed Rafiullah Strategic Center for Diabetes Research, College of Medicine, King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

Shanel Raghubeer SAMRC/CPUT Cardiometabolic Health Research Unit, Department of Biomedical Sciences, Faculty of Health and Wellness Sciences, Cape Peninsula University of Technology, Bellville, South Africa

Rajkumar Rajendram College of Medicine, King Saud bin Abdulaziz University for Health Sciences, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

Department of Medicine, King Abdulaziz Medical City, King Abdullah International Medical Research Center, Riyadh, Ministry of National Guard Health Affairs, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia Anusha S. J Department of Pharmacology, Dr. Chandramma Dayanand Sagar Institute of Medical Education and Research (CDSIMER), Devarakaggalahalli, Karnataka, India

Joana F. Sacramento CEDOC, NOVA Medical School, Faculdade de Ciências Médicas, Universidade NOVA de Lisboa, Lisbon, Portugal

Alessandro Salatino Department of Health Sciences, University "Magna Græcia", Catanzaro, Italy

Armin Salek Maghsoudi Toxicology and Diseases Group (TDG), Pharmaceutical Sciences Research Center (PSRC), The Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences (TIPS), Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Deborah Conte Santos Diabetes Unit, Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brasil

Joost H. N. Schuitemaker Division of Medical Biology, Department of Pathology and Medical Biology, University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen, The Netherlands

Vaithinathan Selvaraju Department of Nutrition, Dietetics, and Hospitality Management, Auburn University, Auburn, AL, USA

Sabyasachi Sen Department of Medicine, The George Washington University, School of Medicine and Health Sciences, Washington, DC, USA

Department of Medicine, Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Washington, DC, USA

Shilpa S. Shetty Central Research Laboratory, K.S. Hegde Medical Academy, Nitte (Deemed to be University), Deralakatte, Karnataka, India

Padmaja Shetty K Department of Pharmacology, Dr. Chandramma Dayanand Sagar Institute of Medical Education and Research (CDSIMER), Devarakaggalahalli, Karnataka, India

Khalid Siddiqui Strategic Center for Diabetes Research, College of Medicine, King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

Matthew J. Singleton WellSpan Health, York, PA, USA

Peter S. Spencer Department of Neurology, School of Medicine and Oregon Institute of Occupational Health Sciences, Oregon Health & Science University, Portland, OR, USA

George S. Stergiou Hypertension Center STRIDE-7, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, School of Medicine, Third Department of Medicine, Sotiria Hospital, Athens, Greece

Jay M. Stewart Department of Ophthalmology, School of Medicine, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, USA

N. Suchetha Kumari Department of Biochemistry/Central Research Laboratory, K.S. Hegde Medical Academy, Nitte (Deemed to be University), Deralakatte, Karnataka, India

Daisuke Suzuki Division of Cardiovascular Medicine, Department of Medicine, Jichi Medical University School of Medicine, Tochigi, Japan

Department of Medicine, Division of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Jichi Medical University Saitama Medical Center, Saitama, Japan

Sarah A. Tersey Department of Medicine, University of Chicago, Chicago, IL, USA

Meng-Ju Tsai Department of Ophthalmology, Taoyuan General Hospital, Ministry of Health and Welfare, Taoyuan, Taiwan

Seyfettin Üstünsoy Department of Central Clinical Biochemistry Laboratory, Private Anadolu Hospital, Silivri/İstanbul, Turkey

Remya Varadarajan Central Research Laboratory, K.S. Hegde Medical Academy, Nitte (Deemed to be University), Deralakatte, Karnataka, India

Andriani Vazeou Diabetes Centre, A' Department of Pediatrics, P&A Kyriakou Children's Hospital, Athens, Greece

David H. Wagner Department of Medicine, The University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, USA

Cecil J. Weale SAMRC/CPUT Cardiometabolic Health Research Unit, Department of Biomedical Sciences, Faculty of Health and Wellness Sciences, Cape Peninsula University of Technology, Bellville, South Africa

Betul Yakistiran Perinatology Department, University of Health Sciences, Ankara Bilkent City Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

Marcos Yukio Yoshinaga Department of Biochemistry, Institute of Chemistry, University of São Paulo, São Paulo, SP, Brazil

Aykan Yucel Perinatology Department, University of Health Sciences, Ankara Bilkent City Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

Em Yunir Division of Endocrinology, Metabolism, and Diabetes, Department of Internal Medicine, Dr. Cipto Mangunkusumo National General Hospital, Faculty of Medicine Universitas Indonesia, Jakarta, Indonesia

Chang Zeng Department of Preventive Medicine, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, USA

Wei Zhang Department of Preventive Medicine, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, USA

Part I

General Aspects



-		
-18		

Linking Variants of Hemoglobin A1C and Glycemic Status

Jee-Young Moon and Qibin Qi

Contents

Introduction	4
Overview of Genome-Wide Association Studies of HbA1c	5
Functional Characterization of HbA1c-Associated Genetic Variants	7
Glycemic-Related Genetic Variants	8
Erythrocyte-Related Genetic Variants	9
Unclassified Genetic Variants 1	11
Erythrocyte-Related HbA1c Variants and Glycemic Status Screening 1	12
G6PD: rs1050828 and rs76723693 1	12
HBB-rs334 1	13
G6PD-rs1050828 and HBB-rs334 1	14
Cumulative Effect of Erythrocyte-Related Genetic Variants 1	15
Conclusion 1	15
Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions 1	15
Mini-Dictionary of Terms 1	16
Key Facts of HbA1c 1	16
Summary Points 1	17
Reference 1	17

Abstract

Hemoglobin A1C (HbA1c) has been used as a convenient screening test for the diagnosis of diabetes and prediabetes, requiring no fasting, as well as a reliable measure for monitoring the glycemic control in people with diabetes. As HbA1c is the measure of the fraction of glycated hemoglobin out of total hemoglobin in red blood cells, both blood glucose levels and blood cell conditions affect levels of HbA1c. Consistently, genome-wide association studies on HbA1c have identified multiple genetic loci, largely grouped into two separate pathways - via the

e-mail: jee-young.moon@einsteinmed.edu; qibin.qi@einsteinmed.edu

J.-Y. Moon (🖂) · O. Oi

Department of Epidemiology and Population Health, Albert Einstein College of Medicine, Bronx, NY, USA

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), Biomarkers in Diabetes, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications,

glycemic pathway and via the erythrocyte pathway. Two genetic variants, *G6PD*-rs1050828 and *HBB*-rs334, specifically found in individuals with African ancestry, were noted for their relatively large effects on HbA1c via the erythrocytic pathway, compared to other genetic variants. The glycemic status of individuals carrying the HbA1c-lowering alleles might be underestimated by HbA1c levels, as lower HbA1c level is observed compared to their actual glycemic status due to their genetic variants of small effects may also have a combined impact on HbA1c in this regard. Thus, the influences of these non-glycemic-related variants need to be considered when the HbA1c test is performed to measure glycemic status.

Keywords

 $\begin{array}{l} HbA1c \cdot Type\ 2 \ diabetes \ \cdot \ Diabetes \ diagnosis \ \cdot \ Genetic \ variant \ \cdot \ SNP \ \cdot \ GWAS \ \cdot \\ Erythrocyte \ \cdot \ Blood \ traits \ \cdot \ RBC \ \cdot \ Glucose \ \cdot \ G6PD \ deficiency \ \cdot \ Hemoglobin \ \cdot \\ Sickle \ cell \ trait \ \cdot \ HbA1c \ recalibration \end{array}$

Abbreviations

2 hr. OGTT	2-hour oral glucose tolerance test				
ADA	American Diabetes Association				
G6PD	Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase				
GRS	Genetic risk score				
GWAS	Genome-wide association study				
HbA1c	Hemoglobin A1C				
MAF	Minor allele frequency				
MAGIC	The Meta-Analysis of Glucose and Insulin-related Traits				
	Consortium				
MCV	Mean corpuscular volume				
RBC	Red blood cell				
SCT	Sickle cell trait				
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism				
T2D	Type 2 diabetes				
WGS	Whole genome sequencing				

Introduction

Hemoglobin A1C or glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) has been used for diabetes diagnosis as well as for monitoring glycemic control over the past 3 months for people with diabetes (American Diabetes Association 2010). This glycated hemoglobin is formed by blood glucose attached to the hemoglobin, specifically, N-terminal of beta-chains, in red blood cells (RBC, erythrocyte) by the non-enzymatic and irreversible reaction. Hence, the fraction of glycated hemoglobin out of total hemoglobin reflects the blood glucose levels over the lifespan of erythrocytes, typically 120 days. While HbA1c indirectly measures blood glucose levels, HbA1c is a robust indicator of chronic hyperglycemia (high blood sugar) over the past 3–4 months, compared to a glucose-level measurement at one time point from a fasting blood glucose test or an oral glucose tolerance test, which can vary depending on the activity levels, stress, and hormone levels (Bonora and Tuomilehto 2011). Another strength of HbA1c test is that it can be performed any time without requiring 8 h of fasting or waiting for 2 h for the oral glucose test. Furthermore, HbA1c is a prognostic marker of diabetic complication risk such as diabetic retinopathy, nephropathy, and neuropathy (Skyler 1996). On the other hand, HbA1c levels can be influenced by hematologic conditions such as hemoglobinopathy, anemia, iron deficiency or overload, and recent blood loss or transfusion (Cohen et al. 2008; Sacks 2012; American Diabetes Association 2021).

Given this clinical importance of HbA1c, recent genome-wide association studies (GWASs) have been conducted to understand the genetics of HbA1c. These genetic studies suggest two major pathways on how genetic variants influence HbA1c levels. One is glycemic-related pathway and the other is erythrocytic-related pathway. We will look in detail on the identified genetic associations with HbA1c and describe the clinical implications of these findings.

Overview of Genome-Wide Association Studies of HbA1c

Since the first GWAS of HbA1c in 2007 (Meigs et al. 2007) until now in 2021, over 15 GWASs have been conducted on HbA1c by single ancestral group analysis in Europeans (Meigs et al. 2007; Pare et al. 2008; Franklin et al. 2010; Soranzo et al. 2010; An et al. 2014; Prins et al. 2017), Hispanics/Latinos (Moon et al. 2019; Wojcik et al. 2019), and East Asians or South Asians (Ryu and Lee 2012; Chen et al. 2013; Chen et al. 2014; Hachiya et al. 2017; Kanai et al. 2018; Spracklen et al. 2018; Chai et al. 2020) as well as by trans-ancestral analysis (Wheeler et al. 2017; Chen et al. 2021; Sarnowski et al. 2019) (Table 1). Very recently, the Meta-Analysis of Glucose and Insulin-related Traits Consortium (MAGIC) published the most diverse and 1 of the largest GWASs on HbA1c of 215,977 individuals free of diabetes from 76 cohorts (including majority of prior GWAS cohorts), comprised of 70% Europeans, 13% East Asians, 7% Hispanics/Latinos, 6% African Americans, 3% South Asians, and 2% sub-Saharan Africans (Chen et al. 2021). The study identified 127 HbA1c-associated loci (218 variants), explaining about 4.5-6% of HbA1c variation (Chen et al. 2021). In addition, a whole genome sequencing (WGS)-based association study identified several low-frequency or rare variants associated with HbA1c (i.e., rs1039215 in HBG2 and HBE1, rs76723693 in coding region of G6PD with p.Leu353Pro) in 10,338 individuals (6158 Europeans, 3123 Africa Americans, 650 Hispanics, and 407 East Asians) in the Trans-Omics for Precision Medicine (TOPMed) Program (Sarnowski et al. 2019). The analysis with WGS is expected to grow and provide enhanced understanding of genetics of HbA1c.

Table 1 Genome-wide association studies on HbA1c. Studies in bold face have functional characterization of identified genetic variants, which we refer often in this chapter. As GWAS studies are progressing to include more samples and diverse ancestry, large multi-cohort studies may include the study samples used in previously published paper. Most of summary are generated from GWAS Catalog, https://www.ebi.ac.uk/gwas/efotraits/EFO_0004541. Abbreviations: AA (African American), AF (African), EA (East Asian), EUR (European), HL (Hispanic/Latino), NR (Not reported), SA (South Asian), SEA (South East Asian)

		Identified
First author (publication year)	Discovery population	genetic loci
Meigs JB (2007) (Meigs et al. 2007)	982 EUR	4
Paré G (2008) (Pare et al. 2008)	14,618 EUR	4
Franklin CS (2010) (Franklin et al. 2010)	1782 EUR	1
Soranzo N (2010) (Soranzo et al. 2010)	46,368 EUR	11
Ryu J (2012) (Ryu and Lee 2012)	4275 EA	1
Chen P (2013) (Chen et al. 2013)	3427 EA, 1735 SEA, 1529 SA	3
An P (2013) (An et al. 2014)	4088 EUR	1
Chen P (2014) (Chen et al. 2014)	17,290 EA, 1727 SEA,	12
Prins BP (2017) (Prins et al. 2017)	9436 EUR	2
Wheeler E (2017) (Wheeler et al. 2017)	88,355 EUR, 7564 AA, 7572 SA, 18,472 EA	60
Hachiya T (2017) (Hachiya et al. 2017)	7704 EA	7
Kanai M (2018) (Kanai et al. 2018)	42,790 EA	28
Spracklen CN (2018) (Spracklen et al. 2018)	6943 EA	1
Moon JY (2019) (Moon et al. 2019)	9636 HL	10
Wojcik GL (2019) (Wojcik et al. 2019)	10,408 HL, 92 EA, 115 NR, 559 AA	20
Sarnowski C (2019) ^a (Sarnowski et al. 2019)	6158 EUR, 3123 AA, 650 HL, 407 EA	5
Chai JF (2020) ^b (Chai et al. 2020)	2704 SEA	4
Sinnott-Armstrong N (2021) (Sinnott-Armstrong et al. 2021)	327,177 EUR, 4847 AA, 6895 SA	470
Chen J (2021) (Chen et al. 2021)	215,974 subjects: AA (6%), EA (13%), EUR (70%), HL (7%), SA (3%), sub-Saharan African (2%)	127

^aWhole genome sequencing-based GWAS

^bGWAS array and whole exome sequencing-based GWAS

Functional Characterization of HbA1c-Associated Genetic Variants

As HbA1c level is influenced by both blood glucose level and hematologic conditions, GWASs of HbA1c also unveil the glycemic-related pathway and the erythrocyte-related pathway for these HbA1c loci (Fig. 1). The most recent work



Fig. 1 HbA1c-associated genetic loci and functional classification. The loci and functional classification are from Supplemental Tables 2 and 20 in Chen et al. (2021). The erythrocyte-related classification includes the functional classification into mature red blood cell, reticulocyte, and iron-related classification. One genetic variant of the highest BF for each loci and classification was depicted in the figure. Log10BF is $log_{10}Bayes Factor$ of meta-analysis of single-ancestry GWAS using MAN-TRA, where log10BF > 6 considered to be genome-wide significant, approximately comparable to $P < 5 \times 10^{-8}$. *G6PD and HBB were not included for functional classification in Chen et al. (2021), but multiple studies indicate them to be associated with HbA1c via the erythrocyte pathway

lead by Chen et al. in MAGIC (Chen et al. 2021) classified 218 HbA1c-associated genetic variants into glycemic-related (n = 53); erythrocyte-related (n = 115) including mature red blood cell-related (n = 64), reticulocyte-related (n = 39), and iron-related (n = 12); and unclassified (n = 23), excluding 27 variants with insufficient information. This classification showed 82.1% consistency with a previous classification of 61 HbA1c-associated variants into 19 through the glycemic pathway, 22 through the erythrocytic pathway, and 19 unclassified, in the work by Wheeler et al. (2017).

The functional classification of the identified genetic variants have been performed by examining the summary association statistics of glycemic-related traits and erythrocyte-related traits (Wheeler et al. 2017; Moon et al. 2019; Soranzo et al. 2010; Sarnowski et al. 2019), by examining if the genetic association with HbA1c is attenuated after conditioning on glycemic- or erythrocyte-related traits (Wheeler et al. 2017; Soranzo et al. 2010), or by clustering the summary association signals of glycemic and erythrocyte traits using a non-negative matrix factorization (Chen et al. 2021). Glycemic traits include fasting glucose, 2-h glucose, fasting insulin, HOMA-B, or HOMA-IR (Wheeler et al. 2017; Moon et al. 2019; Chen et al. 2021). Erythrocyte-related traits include mature red blood cell traits, reticulocyte traits, and iron traits, which can affect the hemoglobin levels and the opportunity of glycation of hemoglobin (Wheeler et al. 2017; Moon et al. 2019; Chen et al. 2021).

Glycemic-Related Genetic Variants

These glycemic-related HbA1c variants are located in or near the genes which are known to be involved in glucose metabolism. For example, *GCK* encodes glucokinase, an enzyme sensing glucose, when blood glucose rises, the glucokinase helps to stimulate the insulin secretion from β -cells in pancreas (Matschinsky 1996). Multiple genetic variants (rs1799884 (in the promoter), rs2908286 (intron), rs2971670 (intron), rs3757840 (intron)) in the region of glucokinase gene (*GCK*) are associated with HbA1c and other glycemic traits (Wheeler et al. 2017; Chen et al. 2021; Soranzo et al. 2010). Given the important role of GCK in glucose metabolism, variants and mutations in *GCK* show a broad spectrum of glycemic disorders such as neonatal, childhood-onset, maturity-onset, and type 2 diabetes (Raimondo et al. 2014; Bonnefond et al. 2020; Vaxillaire et al. 2008; Fu et al. 2013). Yet, a clear mechanism remains unknown how the identified SNPs in the promoter or intron of *GCK* affect the functionality of GCK.

Another glycemic-related genetic variant is rs560887 (G-to-A) located in the intron of *G6PC2* gene, encoding glucose-6-phosphatase catalytic subunit-related protein (Soranzo et al. 2010; Wheeler et al. 2017; Chen et al. 2021). The gene is expressed specifically in pancreatic islets, and A allele of rs560887 is strongly associated with lower fasting glucose level, β -cell function (HOMA-B), and HbA1c (Bouatia-Naji et al. 2008). It has been suggested that G6PC2 plays a role in the glucose phosphorylation pathway, along with GCK and GCKR (glucokinase regulatory protein) (Bouatia-Naji et al. 2008). Other genetic loci affecting HbA1c

through the glycemic pathway include *CDKAL1*, *KCNQ1*, *INS*, *TCF7L2*, *MTNR1B*, *ABCB11*, and so on (Chen et al. 2021; Leong and Meigs 2015). A genetic risk score of 19 glycemic-related variants weighted by their effect sizes on HbA1c in Wheeler et al. was found to be associated with increased risk of incident diabetes during 10–15 years of follow-up (odds ratio per weighted allele 1.05, 95% CI 1.04–1.06) (Wheeler et al. 2017). In addition, another weighted genetic risk score of LD-pruned 53 variants in Chen et al. also showed the positive association with odds of T2D (Chen et al. 2021). These results support the validity of the classified glycemic-related genetic variants of HbA1c.

Erythrocyte-Related Genetic Variants

A well-established locus affecting HbA1c via erythrocyte-related pathway is G6PD (glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase) (Wheeler et al. 2017; Moon et al. 2019). G6PD is a key enzyme in producing NADPH (nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate), which prevents reactive oxygen species (ROS) to be built to toxic level within red blood cells. When an excess amount of ROS is triggered by certain drugs, infection, or fava bean intake to the people with G6PD deficiency, the damage and destruction of RBC is faster than its production, causing hemolytic anemia (MedlinePlus). This shortened lifespan of RBC, in other words, shorter period of time for hemoglobin to be glycated, leads to lower HbA1c level, which is observed for the people with G6PD deficiency. Consistently, the top signal rs1050828 (C-to-T for p.Val98Met) in G6PD was identified to be associated with HbA1c levels by several studies (Wheeler et al. 2017; Moon et al. 2019; Sarnowski et al. 2019), and individuals carrying minor allele (A allele) of rs1050828 showed lower HbA1c level, 0.81% units lower in hemizygous men (AA vs GG) and 0.68% units lower in homozygous women (AA vs GG) in African Americans (Wheeler et al. 2017), and 0.35% lower per A allele in US Hispanics/Latinos population (Moon et al. 2019), summarized in Table 2. In addition, this non-glycemic effect of rs1050828 on HbA1c is supported by the fructosamine measurement which reflects the serum protein glycation over 2-3 weeks, and the measured HbA1c is lower than fructosamine-predicted HbA1c for individuals carrying A allele (Wheeler et al. 2017). Further, a recent whole genome sequencing study identified several additional missense variants in G6PD such as rs76723693 (A-to-G for p.Leu353Pro, G allele frequency 0.5% in African ancestry, and 0.07% in Hispanics/Latinos) and rs5030872 (T-to-A for p.Asp211Val, MAF = 0.0002) (Sarnowski et al. 2019). Some of these variants in G6PD may have arisen from the positive natural selection against malaria infection as G6PD deficiency shows a relative protection against severe malaria (Guindo et al. 2007; Mason et al. 2007). This can be potentially explained by the rapid destruction of the infected red blood cells along with malaria parasite in people with G6PD deficiency, as the excessive ROS is produced in the red blood cell when hemoglobin is degraded by malaria (Mason et al. 2007; Cappadoro et al. 1998).

Another example is *HBB*-rs334 (A-to-T for p.Glu7Val), a causal mutation for sickle cell trait (SCT) and sickle cell disease (Lacy et al. 2017; Moon et al. 2019;

HL (Hispanic/			Docition	Effect/	Effect all	ele freque	encv ^a					
			(bp),	ref						First author		Effect size (SE) per
SNP ID	Gene	Chr	GRCh38	allele	EU	AA	HL	EA	\mathbf{SA}	(year)	Race	one effect allele, % ^b
rs1050828	G6PD	x	154,536,002	T/C	0.0002	0.116	0.012	0	0.0004	Wheeler	AA	Men: -0.40 (0.08)
										et al. (2017)		Women: -0.34 (0.07)
										Sarnowski	AA	Men: -0.44 (0.02)
										et al. (2019)		Women: -0.34 (0.23)
										Sarnowski	HL	Men: -0.42 (0.10)
										et al. (2019)		Women: -0.25 (0.1)
										Moon et al.	HL	-0.35(0.01)
										(2019)		
										Chen et al.	AA	-0.31 (0.01)
										(2021)		
										Chen et al.	HL	-0.28 (0.01)
										(2021)		
										Chen et al.	African	-0.18(0.01)
										(2021)		
rs76723693	G6PD	X	154,533,025	G/A	0	0.005	0.002	0	0	Sarnowski	AA	Men: -0.49 (0.12)
										et al. (2019)		Women: -0.46 (0.1)
rs334	HBB	11	5,227,002	A/T	0.0001	0.043	0.006	0	0.002	Moon et al.	HL	-0.31 (0.02)
										(2019)		
										Lacy	AA	-0.3 (0.05)
										(2107)		

^aFrom gnomAD v3.1.1 ^bGenotype in X chromosome is coded as 0 with a reference allele and 2 with an effect allele in men ^cNon-GWAS study

Gordon et al. 2020; Chen et al. 2021). T allele is specifically found in African ancestry (4.3%) and Hispanics/Latinos (0.6%) (Table 2). The missense mutation of rs334 (p.Glu7Val) makes an abnormal type of hemoglobin, called hemoglobin S. Having two copies of hemoglobin S (TT genotype) makes rigid and sickleshaped RBCs, called sickle cell disease, causing lifelong chronic hemolytic anemia. Individuals with heterozygous genotype (AT), classified to have SCT, don't show any symptoms like sickle cell disease, but can develop alike symptoms in rare cases under extreme circumferences like low oxygen level and increased pressure. It remains unclear why the people with SCT have lower HbA1c. A potential explanation is shorter lifespan of RBC with SCT, leading to less opportunity for glycation (Lacy et al. 2017), though there is limited and conflicting evidence (Gordon et al. 2020; Suarez et al. 1959; McCurdy 1969; Lacy et al. 2017). Another explanation is the smaller size of RBC (microcytes) with SCT, characterized by low mean corpuscular volume (MCV) (Moon et al. 2019). The small size puts RBCs more susceptible to ROS damage, leading to shorter lifespan (Vives Corrons et al. 1995). Lastly, a minor interference by hemoglobin S type in HbA1c measurement has been reported in certain HbA1c assays (Lacy et al. 2017; Roberts et al. 2005; Rohlfing et al. 2017), although the studies identifying the association between rs334 and HbA1c (Moon et al. 2019; Lacy et al. 2017) used HbA1c assays (Tosoh G7 and Tosoh 2.2) with no clinically significant interference (NGSP).

Other genetic loci influencing HbA1c through erythrocyte-related pathway include *FN3K*, *TMPRSS6*, *HK1*, *HFE*, and so on (Leong and Meigs 2015; Soranzo et al. 2010; Wheeler et al. 2017; Chen et al. 2021). In addition, Amerindian ancestry-specific variant, *HBM*-rs145546625, is suggested to affect HbA1c via RBC biology (Moon et al. 2019). Unlike the positive association between the glycemic-related GRS and incident diabetes, no association was observed between the erythrocyte-related GRS and incident diabetes (Wheeler et al. 2017). This corroborates two separate genetic pathways (i.e., glycemic and erythrocyte) influencing HbA1c levels. Furthermore, it suggests to consider erythrocyte-related genetic factors and/or non-glycemic health conditions which can influence HbA1c levels in a broad sense, in using HbA1c as a diagnostic marker for diabetes, as HbA1c levels can be increased or decreased depending on their blood-related genetic factors, unrelated with glycemic status.

Unclassified Genetic Variants

Although Chen and colleagues (2021) were able to classify 16 out of 19 unclassified genetic variants in Wheeler et al. (2017) mostly into erythrocyte related variants, aided by expanded GWAS on glycemic, RBC, and iron traits as well as the application of statistical methods for classification (e.g., a fuzzy clustering), 11% of HbA1c-associated variants are still unclassified such as *VPS13A*-rs7847351 and rs12351997, *SPTA1*-rs8577725 and rs857676, *FADS2*-rs174584, etc. (Chen et al. 2021; Wheeler et al. 2017). Further studies enhanced with large-scale, diverse population, WGS data, gene expression, and epigenome will help better understand mechanisms underlying these associations.

Erythrocyte-Related HbA1c Variants and Glycemic Status Screening

As erythrocyte-related genetic variants affect HbA1c level by hematologic pathway not via glucose metabolism pathway, the information on genetic variants can augment the HbA1c test for better diagnosis of diabetes and monitoring of glycemic control. Multiple research advocate this by examining the potential consequence after taking into account a few erythrocyte-related genetic variants with large effects (G6PD-rs1050828 and rs76723693 and/or HBB-rs334) (Wheeler et al. 2017; Lacy et al. 2017; Moon et al. 2019) or a cumulative effect of overall erythrocyte-related genetic variants (Soranzo et al. 2010; Moon et al. 2019). Table 2 summarizes the list of genetic variants estimated to have a large genetic effect of ~0.3% per allele on HbA1c to markedly interfere the clinical interpretation of HbA1c test, while other variants were estimated to have small effects on HbA1c around 0.03% per allele. For reference, the HbA1c cut-off suggested by the American Diabetes Association (ADA) is $\geq 6.5\%$ (48 mmol/mol) for diabetes and 5.7–6.4% (39–47 mmol/mol) for impaired glucose tolerant/prediabetes (American Diabetes 2018). The clinical importance of HbA1c test for diabetes screening is emphasized by the convenience of test without fasting or waiting, despite the slightly lower sensitivity compared to fasting glucose or 2-h glucose in OGTT (Cowie et al. 2010; Selvin et al. 2011). The following examples illustrate the avenue for HbA1c test in consideration of genetic factors for better screening of diabetes, summarized in Table 3.

G6PD: rs1050828 and rs76723693

Multiple studies consistently showed a large effect of rs1050828 in G6PD on HbA1c levels (Table 2). Further, a WGS-based study identified an independent, large-effect rare variant rs76723693. Both variants were observed specifically in African ancestral populations such as 12% in African American and 2% in Hispanics for A allele of rs1050828 and 0.5% in African American for G allele of rs76723693 (Sarnowski et al. 2019). Sarnowski et al. (2019) estimated that if a single measurement of HbA1c was solely used for diabetes diagnosis without consideration of these two G6PD variants, 2.32% of people with HbA1c < 6.5%would have missed to have diabetes in African Americans and 0.26% in Hispanics/Latinos due to G6PD-rs1050828 and additional 0.13% in African Americans due to G6PD-rs76723693, estimated from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) in 2015–2016. Thus, HbA1c tests with consideration of G6PD variants would diagnose additional 740,000 African American adults with 40,000 from the rare variant rs767723693 and 100,000 Hispanic adults to have diabetes, given 30.14 million African American adults and 39.33 million Hispanics adults from 2016 US Census Bureau (Sarnowski et al. 2019).

Table 3 Potential clinical implication of erythrocyte-related genetic variants on HbA1c test for diabetes screening, among the people without any prior physician diagnosis or antidiabetic medication. The percentage of reclassification is shown comparing the diabetes diagnosis by HbA1c ($\geq 6.5\%$) and by erythrocyte-related variants adjusted HbA1c ($\geq 6.5\%$), unless otherwise noted. Abbreviations: AA (African American), EA (East Asian), EUR (European), HL (Hispanic/Latino)

		% of people with	
	First	reclassification from	
Single or two variant	author	undiagnosed to	
adjustment	(Year)	diagnosed	
G6PD-rs1050828	Wheeler E (2017)	2% in AA	
G6PD-rs1050828 and rs76723693	Sarnowski C (2019)	2.32% adjusting for rs1050828 in AA + 0.13% with additional adjustment of rs76723693 in AA 0.26% adjusting for rs1050828 in HL	
G6PD-rs1050828 + HBB- rs334	Moon JY (2019)	1.3% for prediabetes or diabetes (HbA1c > 5.7%) in HL	
Multiple variant adjustment	First author (year)	% of people with reclassification from undiagnosed to diagnosed ^a	% of people with reclassification from diagnosed to undiagnosed ^a
7 SNPs (FN3K, HFE, TMPRSS6, ANK1, SPTA1, ATP11A, and HK1)	Soranzo N (2010)	0.02% in EUR	8.7% in EUR
6 SNPs (TMEN79, HB21L/ MYB, MYO9B, CYBA, ANK1, and FN3K)	Chen P (2014)	0.29% in EA	29.2% in EA
22 SNPs (TMEM79, SPTA1, SYN2, HFE-rs1800562, HFE-rs198846, C6orf183, MYB, CITED2, ANK1, SLC20A2, C9orf47, HK1, CNTN5, SENP1, ATXN2, ITFG3, CDH3, CDT1, ERAL1, MYO9B, TMPRSS6,	Wheeler E (2017)	0.04% in EUR 0.68% in AA 0.14% in EA	10.5% in EUR 18.1% in AA 8.5% in EA

^aReinterpreted the result from each paper

HBB-rs334

About 1 in 13 African Americans has SCT (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention), and individuals with AT genotype of *HBB*-rs334 (the most common mutation for SCT) have 0.29% lower HbA1c value (95% CI 0.23–0.35%) than those without SCT
(rs334 AA genotype), for the same fasting glucose or 2-h glucose levels (Lacy et al. 2017). Likewise, among individuals without self-reported diabetes or antidiabetic medication use, the prevalence of prediabetes and diabetes were comparable between *HBB*rs334 genotype groups when prediabetes and diabetes were defined by fasting glucose or 2-h glucose. When HbA1c was used to define the hyperglycemia, individuals with AT genotype of *HBB*-rs334 (SCT) had lower prevalence in prediabetes (29.2% vs 48.6%) and diabetes (3.8% vs 7.3%) compared to those with AA genotype (no SCT).

G6PD-rs1050828 and HBB-rs334

In US Hispanics/Latinos excluding those with diagnosed diabetes or sickle cell disease (TT genotype of HBB-rs334), rs1050828 in *G6PD* and rs334 in *HBB* were both identified to have large effects on HbA1c: -0.35% per A allele of *G6PD*-rs1050828 and -0.33% per T allele of HBB-rs334 (Moon et al. 2019). The prevalence of hyperglycemia (prediabetes and diabetes) defined using fasting glucose ($\geq 100 \text{ mg/dL}$) or OGTT 2-h glucose ($\geq 140 \text{ mg/dL}$) was similar between carriers of *HBB*-rs334 or *G6PD*-rs1050828 HbA1c-lowering alleles and non-carriers (21.2% vs 25.4% and 18.6% vs 21.8%, respectively), while the prevalence of hyperglycemia defined using HbA1c ($\geq 5.7\%$) was significantly lower in carriers than non-carriers (12.2% vs 28.4%). Similarly, carriers tended to have lower HbA1c than non-carriers at the same fasting glucose levels (Fig. 2 left panel). After the recalibration of HbA1c taking into account both variants, HbA1c_{recalibrated}



Fig. 2 Scatterplots of measured HbA1c and genetically adjusted HbA1c against fasting glucose in carriers and non-carriers of HBB-rs334 or G6PD-rs1050828 minor alleles. Zoomed-in plots among the individuals without diagnosed diabetes. Red points indicate carriers, and blue points indicate non-carriers of HBB-rs334 or G6PD-rs1050828 minor alleles. Published previously in Moon et al. A Genome-Wide Association Study Identifies Blood Disorder-Related Variants Influencing Hemoglobin A1c With Implications for Glycemic Status in U.S. Hispanics/ Latinos. Diabetes Care 2019;42(9):1784–1791. Copyright 2019 by the American Diabetes Association

 $(\%) = HbA1c_{measured}(\%) + 0.33 \times number of Talleles in HBB-rs334 + 0.35 \times number of A alleles in G6PD-rs1050828, the hyperglycemia prevalence defined by HbA1c was similar between carriers and non-carriers (31.3% vs 28.4%). Also, carriers and non-carriers showed comparable recalibrated HbA1c levels against the same fasting glucose levels (Fig. 2 right panel).$

Cumulative Effect of Erythrocyte-Related Genetic Variants

Although the effect sizes of majority of erythrocyte-related genetic variants are small to make a clinical difference on its own, a cumulative effect of multiple erythrocyte-related genetic variants may also have a clinical influence on HbA1c levels. For example, between top 5% and bottom 5% of a weighted GRS of 22 erythrocyte-related genetic variants, the mean difference in HbA1c was 0.26% (95% CI 0.22–0.30%) in a European ancestry population (Wheeler et al. 2017). Thus, the cumulative effect of erythrocyterelated genetic variants could have a critical impact in diabetes screening using HbA1c. Adjusting for the effect of erythrocytic variants on HbA1c levels has been shown to improve reclassification for individuals with discordant diabetes status between HbA1c (> 6.5% for diabetes) and fasting glucose (> 7 mmol/L for diabetes) (Wheeler et al. 2017). Out of 18,613 individuals without diabetes by fasting glucose (<7 mmol/L), 266 individuals were classified to have diabetes by unadjusted (HbA1c (\geq 6.5%) and 50 (18.8% reclassification) individuals were reclassified to have no diabetes using the adjusted HbA1c level with cumulative erythrocytic variants' effects. Among 390 individuals classified to have diabetes by fasting glucose but not by HbA1c, only 5 (1.3%) individuals were reclassified to have diabetes using adjusted HbA1c.

Conclusion

GWAS on HbA1c, accompanied by GWAS on glycemic traits and blood traits, illustrates two separate pathways for HbA1c – glycemic pathway and erythrocytic pathway. The genetic variants in the glycemic pathway along with GWAS on other glycemic traits will provide the comprehensive understanding of the development of diabetes. The erythrocyte-related genetic variants associated with HbA1c suggest the clinical use of recalibrated HbA1c by genetic variants for hyperglycemia diagnosis, especially, *G6PD*-rs1050828 and *HBB*-rs334. These studies are expected to merit the personalized strategy for the prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of diabetes.

Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions

In this chapter, we reviewed genetic variants associated with HbA1c levels identified by recent GWAS and their implications in hyperglycemia and diabetes diagnosis. In particular, several studies have suggested a potential clinical use of recalibrated HbA1c by erythrocyte-related genetic variants for hyperglycemia and diabetes diagnosis. It is possible that these erythrocyte-related genetic variants may also have implications in other diseases or conditions, especially diabetes complications, such as cardiovascular disease, chronic kidney disease, neuropathy, etc. For example, Yeung et al. (2018) (Au Yeung et al. 2018) found that the glycemic-related GRS, but not the erythrocyte-related GRS, was associated with risk of CAD using the Mendelian randomization.

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

- **G6PD deficiency.** An inherited condition through G6PD gene on the X chromosome, hence affecting more males than females. The people with G6PD deficiency do not have enough enzyme called G6PD (glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase), which protects red blood cells against reactive oxygen species. Hemolytic anemia (premature breakdown of red blood cells) can be triggered on the people with G6PD deficiency under certain conditions such as bacterial or viral infections, antimalarial medication, aspirin, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory medication, and fava bean intake.
- Genetic risk score (GRS). A score for the susceptibility to a disease (trait), calculated based on the genetic variants and their effects associated with the disease (trait).
- Genetic variant. An alternative nucleotide sequence to the most commonly observed DNA nucleotide sequence. The impact of the variant varies benign, uncertain significance, and pathogenic.
- Genome-wide association study (GWAS). A study to identify genetic variants associated with a particular trait across the genome.
- *Hemoglobin.* A protein molecule in red blood cells to transport oxygen from the lungs to the tissues in the body. The normal hemoglobin consists of two alpha-globins and two beta-globins. Each of the globins contains an iron-containing molecule, called heme, which binds to oxygen.
- *HbA1c.* The percentage of glycated hemoglobin. Glycated hemoglobin is formed by the hemologin by the spontaneous chemical binding reaction of a sugar such as glucose, galactose, and fructose.
- Sickle cell trait. The people with sickle cell trait carry one copy of a defective beta-globin gene, making an abnormal hemoglobin (HbS). The people with sickle cell trait do not show symptoms like the people with sickle cell disease with two copies of defective beta-globin gene, presenting sickle-shaped red blood cells.
- Whole genome sequencing (WGS). A next-generation sequencing technique to sequence the DNA (genome) base by base. In contrary, assay-based genotyping provides the genetic variation information for pre-determined set of genetic variants.

Key Facts of HbA1c

HbA1c is the percentage of glycated hemoglobin out of total hemoglobin. HbA1c is the indirect measure of blood glucose level over the lifespan of red blood cells, typically 120 days. Independent of glucose level, HbA1c can be affected by hematological conditions such as lifespan of erythrocytes, iron deficiency, and blood transfusion. An HbA1c test is widely used for diabetes screening test, requiring no fasting. HbA1c level is used to monitor the glycemic control for people with diabetes.

Summary Points

- *HbA1c level is affected by blood glucose level and hematological conditions.*
- GWAS identified multiple genetic loci associated with HbA1c, via glucose metabolism pathway and via erythrocytic pathway.
- Two African ancestry-specific variants, G6PD-rs1050828 and HBB-rs334, showed around 0.3% lower HbA1c per one minor allele, which poses clinical consideration of the two variants for HbA1c-based diabetes screening test.
- Multiple erythrocyte-related genetic variants of small size can also be considered to recalibrate HbA1c for diabetes screening test.
- Glycemic-related genetic variants infer the genetic susceptibility to diabetes.

Reference

- American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care in diabetes-2010. Diabetes Care. 2010;33(Suppl 1):S11-61.
- American Diabetes Association. 6. Glycemic targets: standards of medical Care in Diabetes-2018. Diabetes Care. 2018;41(Suppl 1):S55–64.
- American Diabetes Association. 2. Classification and diagnosis of Diabetes: standards of medical Care in Diabetes-2021. Diabetes Care. 2021;44(Suppl 1):S15–33.
- An P, Miljkovic I, Thyagarajan B, et al. Genome-wide association study identifies common loci influencing circulating glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) levels in non-diabetic subjects: the long life family study (LLFS). Metabolism. 2014;63(4):461–8.
- Au Yeung SL, Luo S, Schooling CM. The impact of glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) on cardiovascular disease risk: a Mendelian randomization study using UK biobank. Diabetes Care. 2018;41 (9):1991–7.
- Bonnefond A, Boissel M, Bolze A, et al. Pathogenic variants in actionable MODY genes are associated with type 2 diabetes. Nat Metab. 2020;2(10):1126–34.
- Bonora E, Tuomilehto J. The pros and cons of diagnosing diabetes with A1C. Diabetes Care. 2011;34(Suppl 2):S184–90.
- Bouatia-Naji N, Rocheleau G, Van Lommel L, et al. A polymorphism within the G6PC2 gene is associated with fasting plasma glucose levels. Science. 2008;320(5879):1085–8.
- Cappadoro M, Giribaldi G, O'Brien E, et al. Early phagocytosis of glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PD)-deficient erythrocytes parasitized by plasmodium falciparum may explain malaria protection in G6PD deficiency. Blood. 1998;92(7):2527–34.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Data & Statistics on Sickle Cell Disease. https://www. cdc.gov/ncbddd/sicklecell/data.html. Accessed Sep 13, 2021.
- Chai JF, Kao SL, Wang C, et al. Genome-wide association for HbA1c in Malay identified deletion on SLC4A1 that influences HbA1c independent of Glycemia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2020;105(12)
- Chen P, Ong RT, Tay WT, et al. A study assessing the association of glycated hemoglobin A1C (HbA1C) associated variants with HbA1C, chronic kidney disease and diabetic retinopathy in populations of Asian ancestry. PLoS One. 2013;8(11):e79767.

- Chen P, Takeuchi F, Lee JY, et al. Multiple nonglycemic genomic loci are newly associated with blood level of glycated hemoglobin in east Asians. Diabetes. 2014;63(7):2551–62.
- Chen J, Spracklen CN, Marenne G, et al. The trans-ancestral genomic architecture of glycemic traits. Nat Genet. 2021;53(6):840–60.
- Cohen RM, Franco RS, Khera PK, et al. Red cell life span heterogeneity in hematologically normal people is sufficient to alter HbA1c. Blood. 2008;112(10):4284–91.
- Cowie CC, Rust KF, Byrd-Holt DD, et al. Prevalence of diabetes and high risk for diabetes using A1C criteria in the U.S. population in 1988–2006. Diabetes Care. 2010;33(3):562–8.
- Franklin CS, Aulchenko YS, Huffman JE, et al. The TCF7L2 diabetes risk variant is associated with HbA(1)(C) levels: a genome-wide association meta-analysis. Ann Hum Genet. 2010;74(6):471–8.
- Fu D, Cong X, Ma Y, et al. Genetic polymorphism of glucokinase on the risk of type 2 diabetes and impaired glucose regulation: evidence based on 298,468 subjects. PLoS One. 2013;8(2): e55727.
- Gordon DK, Hussain M, Kumar P, et al. The sickle effect: the silent titan affecting glycated hemoglobin reliability. Cureus. 2020;12(8):e9685.
- Guindo A, Fairhurst RM, Doumbo OK, et al. X-linked G6PD deficiency protects hemizygous males but not heterozygous females against severe malaria. PLoS Med. 2007;4(3):e66.
- Hachiya T, Komaki S, Hasegawa Y, et al. Genome-wide meta-analysis in Japanese populations identifies novel variants at the TMC6-TMC8 and SIX3-SIX2 loci associated with HbA1c. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):16147.
- Kanai M, Akiyama M, Takahashi A, et al. Genetic analysis of quantitative traits in the Japanese population links cell types to complex human diseases. Nat Genet. 2018;50(3):390–400.
- Lacy ME, Wellenius GA, Sumner AE, et al. Association of sickle cell trait with hemoglobin A1c in African Americans. JAMA. 2017;317(5):507–15.
- Leong A, Meigs JB. Type 2 Diabetes prevention: implications of hemoglobin A1c genetics. Rev Diabet Stud. 2015;12(3-4):351–62.
- Mason PJ, Bautista JM, Gilsanz F. G6PD deficiency: the genotype-phenotype association. Blood Rev. 2007;21(5):267–83.
- Matschinsky FM. Banting Lecture 1995. A lesson in metabolic regulation inspired by the glucokinase glucose sensor paradigm. Diabetes. 1996;45(2):223–41.
- McCurdy PR. 32-DFP and 51-Cr for measurement of red cell life span in abnormal hemoglobin syndromes. Blood. 1969;33(2):214–24.
- MedlinePlus G6PD gene. https://medlineplus.gov/genetics/gene/g6pd/. Accessed 13 Sept 2021.
- Meigs JB, Manning AK, Fox CS, et al. Genome-wide association with diabetes-related traits in the Framingham heart study. BMC Med Genet. 2007;8(Suppl 1):S16.
- Moon JY, Louie TL, Jain D, et al. A genome-wide association study identifies blood disorderrelated variants influencing hemoglobin A1c with implications for glycemic status in U.-S. Hispanics/Latinos. Diabetes Care. 2019;42(9):1784–91.
- NGSP Factors that Interfere with HbA1c Test Results. http://www.ngsp.org/interf.asp. Accessed 13 Sept 2021.
- Pare G, Chasman DI, Parker AN, et al. Novel association of HK1 with glycated hemoglobin in a non-diabetic population: a genome-wide evaluation of 14,618 participants in the Women's genome health study. PLoS Genet. 2008;4(12):e1000312.
- Prins BP, Kuchenbaecker KB, Bao Y, et al. Genome-wide analysis of health-related biomarkers in the UK household longitudinal study reveals novel associations. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):11008.
- Raimondo A, Chakera AJ, Thomsen SK, et al. Phenotypic severity of homozygous GCK mutations causing neonatal or childhood-onset diabetes is primarily mediated through effects on protein stability. Hum Mol Genet. 2014;23(24):6432–40.
- Roberts WL, Safar-Pour S, De BK, et al. Effects of hemoglobin C and S traits on glycohemoglobin measurements by eleven methods. Clin Chem. 2005;51(4):776–8.
- Rohlfing C, Hanson S, Little RR. Measurement of hemoglobin A1c in patients with sickle cell trait. JAMA. 2017;317(21):2237.

- Ryu J, Lee C. Association of glycosylated hemoglobin with the gene encoding CDKAL1 in the Korean Association Resource (KARE) study. Hum Mutat. 2012;33(4):655–9.
- Sacks DB. Measurement of hemoglobin A(1c): a new twist on the path to harmony. Diabetes Care. 2012;35(12):2674–80.
- Sarnowski C, Leong A, Raffield LM, et al. Impact of rare and common genetic variants on Diabetes diagnosis by hemoglobin A1c in multi-ancestry cohorts: the trans-omics for precision medicine program. Am J Hum Genet. 2019;105(4):706–18.
- Selvin E, Steffes MW, Gregg E, et al. Performance of A1C for the classification and prediction of diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2011;34(1):84–9.
- Sinnott-Armstrong N, Tanigawa Y, Amar D, et al. Genetics of 35 blood and urine biomarkers in the UK Biobank. Nat Genet. 2021;53(2):185–94.
- Skyler JS. Diabetic complications. The importance of glucose control. Endocrinol Metab Clin N Am. 1996;25(2):243–54.
- Soranzo N, Sanna S, Wheeler E, et al. Common variants at 10 genomic loci influence hemoglobin A (1)(C) levels via glycemic and nonglycemic pathways. Diabetes. 2010;59(12):3229–39.
- Spracklen CN, Shi J, Vadlamudi S, et al. Identification and functional analysis of glycemic trait loci in the China health and nutrition survey. PLoS Genet. 2018;14(4):e1007275.
- Suarez RM, Buso R, Meyer LM, et al. Distribution of abnormal hemoglobins in Puerto Rico and survival studies of red blood cells using Cr51. Blood. 1959;14(3):255–61.
- Vaxillaire M, Veslot J, Dina C, et al. Impact of common type 2 diabetes risk polymorphisms in the DESIR prospective study. Diabetes. 2008;57(1):244–54.
- Vives Corrons JL, Miguel-Garcia A, Pujades MA, et al. Increased susceptibility of microcytic red blood cells to in vitro oxidative stress. Eur J Haematol. 1995;55(5):327–31.
- Wheeler E, Leong A, Liu CT, et al. Impact of common genetic determinants of hemoglobin A1c on type 2 diabetes risk and diagnosis in ancestrally diverse populations: a transethnic genome-wide meta-analysis. PLoS Med. 2017;14(9):e1002383.
- Wojcik GL, Graff M, Nishimura KK, et al. Genetic analyses of diverse populations improves discovery for complex traits. Nature. 2019;570(7762):514–8.



Treatment Regimes in Diabetes and Their Impact on Biomarkers

Exercise, Inflammation, and Lipids

João P. Magalhães, Megan Hetherington-Rauth, and Luís Bettencourt Sardinha

Contents

Lipid Profile and T2DM	23
Introduction to Lipids and T2DM	23
The Relationship Between Obesity and Lipids	23
The Relationship Between Lipids and T2DM	25
Lipid Intermediates and Insulin Resistance	26
Role of Exercise on Lipid Metabolism in T2DM	28
Inflammatory Profile and T2DM	40
Introduction to Inflammation and T2DM	40
The Relationship Between Obesity and Inflammation	40
The Relationship Between Inflammation and T2DM	42
Anti-inflammatory Effects of Exercise	45
Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions	54
Conclusion	55
Mini-Dictionary of Terms	56
Key Facts on Exercise and the Lipid Profile	57
Key Facts on Exercise and Inflammation	57
Summary Points	57
References	58

Abstract

In our modern society, we are faced with a mismatch between our evolutionary past as a human species and the current challenges arising from a modern society, where physical inactivity and the consumption of energy-dense foods are indulged and ubiquitous. It is with no surprise that over the past century, this paradigm has led to an increase in the incidence and prevalence of several

J. P. Magalhães (🖂) · M. Hetherington-Rauth · L. Bettencourt Sardinha

Exercise and Health Laboratory, Faculty of Human Kinetics, University of Lisbon, Centre for the Study of Human Performance (CIPER), Estrada da Costa, Cruz Quebrada - Dafundo, Portugal e-mail: joaomagalhaes@fmh.ulisboa.pt; mchr@email.arizona.edu; lsardinha@fmh.ulisboa.pt

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), Biomarkers in Diabetes, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications,

noncommunicable chronic diseases, including obesity, cardiovascular diseases, neurodegenerative diseases, cancer, and the special focus of this chapter, type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), in which the lipid and inflammatory profiles play a major role in the pathophysiology.

In the following sections, we will provide an insight on how the lipid and inflammatory profiles are related to the pathophysiology of T2DM and shed some light on how acute and chronic exercise can impact and ameliorate the metabolic dysfunction in T2DM individuals. In the first section, we will address the relationship of the lipid biomarkers with both obesity and T2DM by examining the classic pathophysiology of dyslipidemia, while going into further detail on the organ-crosstalk among the adipose tissue, muscle, and liver. At the muscle level, we will highlight the interrelationships between intramyocellular lipids and lipid intermediates and the development of muscle insulin resistance, whereas, at the liver, we will discuss how intrahepatic lipids are a strong lipid biomarker capable of predicting hepatic insulin resistance and other obesity-related complications. We will then connect how acute and chronic exercise can impact these aforementioned lipid biomarkers through a mechanistic approach, as well as provide a detailed review of the most recent results from randomized controlled trials (RCT) on the classic, clinically used lipid biomarkers (e.g., low- and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and triglycerides). In the second section, we will review the link between adipose tissue dysfunction and chronic low-grade inflammation in both obesity and T2DM, while taking a closer look at the inflammatory biomarkers that have been mostly studied in the exercise physiology field and that have been implicated in the pathophysiology of T2DM. Finally, and following the same trend as the first section on lipid biomarkers, we will discuss the impact of acute and chronic exercise on the inflammatory milieu and review the most recent RCT investigations, while focusing on the impact of certain exercise characteristics, such as the duration, intensity, and type of intervention.

Keywords

Dyslipidemia · Obesity · Insulin resistance · Aerobic · Resistance · Cytokines · Adipokines · Myokines · Lipid intermediates · Randomized controlled trials

Abbreviation	s
CRP	C-reactive protein
DAG	Diacylglycerols
DNL	De novo lipogenesis
FFA	Free fatty acid
HDL-C	High-density lipoprotein cholesterol
HIIT	High-intensity interval training
IHL	Intrahepatic lipids
IL-1β	Interleukin 1 beta
IL-6	Interleukin 6
IMCL	Intramyocellular lipids

LCA-CoA	Long-chain acyl-CoAs
LDL-C	Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol
LPL	Lipoprotein lipase
MCT	Moderate continuous training
NAFLD	Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease
RCT	Randomized controlled trial
RT	Resistance training
T2DM	Type 2 diabetes mellitus
TC	Total cholesterol
TG	Triglycerides
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
VLDL	Very-low-density lipoprotein

Lipid Profile and T2DM

Introduction to Lipids and T2DM

Fat and lipids are essential components of all cells of the human body, where they play an important role in energy production, cell membrane structure, as well as many signaling processes. However, under circumstances of sustained positive energy balance, excessive circulating lipids and fat storage can lead to the increased risk of several chronic diseases, including T2DM. The energy balance mismatch is a common occurrence in our modern society and is considered the main culprit behind the overload of the adipose tissue depots that results in the overspill of lipids into other organs (i.e., ectopic fat), especially that of the muscle and liver, which contributes to insulin resistance in these tissues and the development of T2DM. In the following sections ("The Relationship Between Obesity and Lipids," "The Relationship Between Lipids and T2DM," and "Lipid Intermediates and Insulin Resistance"), we intend to provide an overview of the role of lipids in obesity and T2DM, while further exploring the relationship between intramyocellular lipids, lipid intermediates, and intrahepatic lipids with the development of insulin resistance and other obesity-related complications. We will then go from mechanisms to orientation on how acute and chronic exercise can be used as a viable strategy to improve these lipid-related biomarkers and contribute to an improved treatment and control of T2DM in section "Role of Exercise on Lipid Metabolism in T2DM."

The Relationship Between Obesity and Lipids

Obesity is at the heart of several cardiometabolic dysfunctions, including but not limited to, impaired glucose tolerance, hypertension, and dyslipidemia (Tchernof and Despres 2013; Heymsfield and Wadden 2017). The first evidence that individuals presenting a visceral adipose tissue phenotype had an impaired metabolic profile came in the late 1980s, where higher triglyceride and plasma glucose levels were observed following an

oral glucose test when compared with matched body mass index (BMI) peers with an abdominal subcutaneous adipose tissue phenotype (Fujioka et al. 1987). Following this same line of research, several investigations laid down additional support that individuals with obesity and a visceral adipose tissue phenotype were considered at risk for several cardiometabolic risk factors, including dyslipidemia and impaired glycemic control, and hence at risk for developing T2DM (Despres et al. 1990; Ross et al. 2020). Moreover, these previous investigations also addressed the importance of looking beyond the quantity of body fat mass, and instead focusing on the quality of the adipose tissue, represented by the extensibility capacities of the abdominal subcutaneous and visceral adipose tissue, and their relationship with cardiometabolic risk factors (Tchernof and Despres 2013; Heymsfield and Wadden 2017).

When faced with a continuous energy surplus due to a positive energy balance, the subcutaneous adipose tissue will be confronted with circumstances where it may not be able to cope and expand. This, in turn, may lead to a lipodystrophic state and the accumulation of lipids in unsought sites such as the visceral cavity (Tchernof and Despres 2013, Heymsfield and Wadden 2017). In such a scenario, it is important to understand that visceral adipose tissue has different lipolytic responsiveness to insulin stimulation when compared with peripheral subcutaneous adipose tissue (Ross et al. 2020). In fact, when exposed to a high dose of insulin, subcutaneous adipose tissue in the lower body can suppress its lipolytic activity, whereas visceral adipose tissue can only suppress lipolysis by half under the same conditions (Nielsen et al. 2004). One possible explanation for the differing responsiveness to insulin may be related to adipocyte size, as insulin sensitivity is inversely related to fat cell size and the level of hypertrophy of the adipocyte (Bays 2011). The higher basal and stimulated rates of lipolysis found in the larger adipocytes characteristic of visceral fat can greatly impact the lipid profile, given that approximately 50% of the portal vein flux of free fatty acids (FFA) in individuals with obesity originates from visceral fat, whereas in lean individuals, this value is only around 5-10% (Nielsen et al. 2004).

Overall, the impaired capacity of properly storing lipids following a meal in addition to the increase in circulating FFA are responsible for the subsequent increase of fat deposited in the visceral tissues. Given that the liver plays a major role in regulating lipid transport, the accumulation of fat within this visceral tissue is a cornerstone of the dyslipidemia process (Petersen and Shulman 2018). Individuals with obesity and a fatty liver have an overproduction of apolipoprotein B (apoB) to accommodate the increased amount of triglycerides (TG) in the liver (derived from the increased flux of FFA), which are later incorporated into large very-low-density lipoproteins (VLDL) (Petersen and Shulman 2018). The combination of large VLDL particles and the inability of the insulin-resistant liver to suppress VLDL secretion postprandially are the culprits behind the hypertriglyceridemia state, which will be further detailed in the following section regarding lipids and T2DM. Other characteristics of dyslipidemia observed in the visceral adipose tissue phenotype include low values of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C), with a decrease in the number and size of these lipoproteins, and an increase in low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) that tends to be smaller and denser than those found in a healthier lipid profile (Tchernof and Despres 2013). These changes in LDL-C,

which are a consequence of the increased values of apoB and the changes observed in the VLDL particles, alongside the remaining dysfunctional lipid profile found in individuals with obesity, are responsible for the increased cardiometabolic risk with obesity (Tchernof and Despres 2013; Seidman et al. 2014).

The Relationship Between Lipids and T2DM

The mechanism of lipid-induced insulin resistance remains not fully elucidated. As previously explained, when the buffering capacity of adipose tissue to store fatty acids is exceeded, the overspill of lipids into other organs is expected, leading to the accumulation of ectopic fat. In particular, the storage and accumulation of lipids in the liver and muscle is a hallmark of T2DM (Petersen and Shulman 2018). It is when looking at this triangle between the adipose tissue, muscle, and liver that we are able to understand both tissue-autonomous and crosstalk-dependent mechanisms through which lipids can lead to an insulin-resistant state. For instance, in the liver, the increased circulating levels of FFA and glycerol derived from the insulin-resistant lipolytic adipose tissue are responsible for the impaired processes of glycogen synthesis and gluconeogenesis (Petersen and Shulman 2018). Both glycerol and pyruvate carboxylase (which is increased from FFA beta-oxidation) are responsible for increasing gluconeogenesis and hepatic glucose production (Despres et al. 1990).

Beyond the impact of lipids on insulin resistance, lipid accumulation in the liver can also lead to nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), a common comorbidity coexisting in the majority of individuals with T2DM (Brouwers et al. 2016). Intrahepatic lipid (IHL) accumulation can occur as a result of: (1) saturated VLDL-TG export, (2) increased uptake of FFA due to higher circulating concentrations resulting from elevated lipolysis from insulin-resistant adipose tissue, (3) a reduction in FFA oxidation, and (4) increased liver FFA synthesis, otherwise known as de novo lipogenesis (DNL), which is stimulated by hyperinsulinemia and hepatic glucose uptake (Brouwers et al. 2016). The selective insulin resistance observed in T2DM is a major contributor facilitating the accumulation of IHL and the development of NAFLD in individuals with T2DM. Although the actions of insulin to suppress lipolysis in adipose tissue and VLDL production by the liver through Fox01 gene are impaired in T2DM, insulin is still able to stimulate the mechanistic target of rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1), which promotes DNL and apoB secretion (Taskinen and Boren 2015). As a result, there is an increased flux of FFA to the liver from adipose tissue lipolysis and DNL, which together expand the pool of IHL, promoting the increased secretion of apoB-VLDLs as well as FFA oxidation (Adiels et al. 2008; Taskinen and Boren 2015). Eventually, however, the increased secretion of VLDLs and rate of FFA oxidation are unable to keep up with the continuing increased flux of FFA to the liver, which results in further IHL accumulation leading to hepatic steatosis (Taskinen and Boren 2015). In fact, IHL is a strong lipid biomarker with a superior ability to predict hepatic insulin resistance and other obesity-related complications when compared with the overall amount of visceral adipose tissue.

At the muscle level, a similar mechanism can be observed on the accumulation of lipid content, with the adipose tissue lipolysis being responsible for the accumulation of intramyocellular lipids (IMCL) and the consequent lipid-induced muscle insulin resistance (Despres et al. 1990). However, it is not the total amount of IMCL that directly causes insulin resistance (Sokolowska and Blachnio-Zabielska 2019), but instead, it is the dynamics and characteristics of the lipid droplets where the IMCL TG content is stored, as well as the production and accumulation of lipid intermediaries derived from impaired lipid oxidation and lipolysis, that seem to be responsible for the lipid-induced insulin resistance (Petersen and Shulman 2018; Sokolowska and Blachnio-Zabielska 2019) (Fig. 1). These deleterious lipid intermediates include diacylglycerols (DAG), sphingolipids (e.g., ceramides), and polar lipids (e.g., long-chain acyl-CoAs (LCA-CoA) and acylcarnitine), which will be further explored in the following sections.

Lipid Intermediates and Insulin Resistance

In the attempt to identify which lipid biomarkers were related to insulin resistance, researchers have long focused on three major classes of lipid intermediates: polar lipids, DAG, and sphingolipids.

As part of the polar lipids, LCA-CoA is the first active lipid intermediate formed during FFA metabolism, with possible implications on the synthesis of other deleterious lipid intermediates (Ussher 2014). Within this same family, acylcarnitine is an intermediate generated during mitochondrial FFA oxidation in order to facilitate the transfer of LCA-CoAs across the mitochondrial membrane, which is impermeable to CoA esters. It is formed by the conversion of LCA-CoA and carnitine via carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1 (CPT-1) located on the outer mitochondrial membrane (Metcalfe et al. 2018). Once inside the mitochondrial matrix, acylcarnitine is converted back to its corresponding LCA-CoA and carnitine by carnitine palmitoyltransferase 2 (CPT-2) located on the inner mitochondrial membrane (Metcalfe et al. 2018). From there, the LCA-CoA undergoes β -oxidation, which breaks down the fatty acyl chain to acetyl-CoA. Fatty oxidation is completed with the entry of acetyl-CoA into the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle to ultimately generate ATP. However, when the rate of β -oxidation exceeds that of the TCA cycle, which occurs with a sustained mitochondrial oversupply of lipids, there is incomplete oxidation of LCA-CoAs (Ussher 2014). These incompletely oxidized LCA-CoAs accumulate and are reconverted back to acylcarnitine by CPT-2 (Ussher 2014). It has been proposed that these acylcarnitines directly impair insulin signaling by interfering with protein kinase B (AKT) phosphorylation (Bosma et al. 2012). On the other hand, the reactive oxygen species (ROS)/acylcarnitine hypothesis may also explain how these biomarkers contribute to the development of insulin resistance. Incomplete FFA oxidation leads to ROS production and thus, acylcarnitine may serve more as a marker of incomplete FFA oxidation and, thus, a reflection of ROS levels than being directly related with insulin resistance (Bosma et al. 2012; Metcalfe et al. 2018; Petersen and Shulman 2018).



Fig. 1 Organization and location of the lipid intermediates at the subcellular level and their potential mechanisms for muscle insulin resistance. Panel 1 depicts a physiological perspective on how lipid intermediates may compromise proper insulin receptor substrate 1 (IRS-1) phosphorylation through the protein kinase C (PKC) θ and Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) signaling pathways, and/or through the stimulation of protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) and PKC ζ/λ downstream of the protein kinase B (AKT) interference. Panels 2, 3, and 4 provide a closer look to lipid intermediary metabolism within and between several organelles at the subcellular level (i.e., lipid droplets (LD), endoplasmic reticulum (ER), mitochondria (mito), and blood vessel (BV)). Boxes in red display lipid intermediates with possible links to insulin resistance; yellow arrows represent pathways leading to lipid storage; green arrows display pathways leading either to lipolysis or free fatty acid (FFA) oxidation at the mitochondria level; purple arrows are related with lipid synthesis at the endoplasmic reticulum level. Abbreviations: acylcarnitine, AcylCarn; long-chain acyl-CoAs, LCA-COA; diacylglycerols, DAG; glycerol, Glyc; insulin receptor, IR; monoglycerides, MAG; triglycerides, TAG.

The hypothesis of the novel DAG/protein kinase C (PKC) axis has forested a lot of interest by the scientific community as a possible link between lipid intermediates and the insulin resistance process. DAG is an intermediary in the synthesis and breakdown of TG (Brouwers et al. 2016). It is a bioactive lipid involved in the signaling and activation of PKC, particularly PKC θ isoform in the muscle (Schmitz-Peiffer et al. 1997) and PKC ϵ isoform in the liver (Kumashiro et al. 2011). Although the evidence is not fully clear, most of the investigations in animal and human models suggest that the specific isoforms of PKC θ and ϵ can impair insulin action by phosphorylating the insulin receptor at the serine and threonine residue, respectively, thus, inhibiting IRS action (Petersen et al. 2016). DAG can exist as one of three stereoisomers (i.e., sn-1,2 sn-2,3, or sn-1,3); however, it is only the sn-1,2 that is capable of activating PKC θ and ϵ (Rando and Young 1984).

Finally, there is the ceramide hypothesis. Ceramides are bioactive lipids belonging to the sphingolipid family and are derived through either de novo synthesis from palmitate or re-acylation of sphingosine (i.e., salvage pathway) (Sokolowska and Blachnio-Zabielska 2019). Ceramides have been proposed to mediate skeletal muscle and liver insulin resistance through decreasing AKT activity by either stimulating the activation of PKC, specifically the PKC ζ and λ isoforms, and/or by stimulating protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) (Sokolowska and Blachnio-Zabielska 2019), which results in decreased translocation of glucose transporter type 4 (GLUT4) to the plasma membrane and glucose uptake (Metcalfe et al. 2018).

Role of Exercise on Lipid Metabolism in T2DM

Alongside nutrition and medication, exercise remains a fundamental cornerstone in lifestyle interventions for individuals with T2DM to improve and control their lipid profile, as well as other risk factors. From a classical physiological approach, the delivery of FFA to the skeletal muscle during exercise is mainly supplied by the lipolysis of TGs stowed in the adipose tissue and the muscle. The main stimulus for lipid mobilization and the release of free fatty acids from the adipose tissue is mainly adrenergic, involving both circulating catecholamines and sympathetic enervation (Fritzen et al. 2020). If exercise is maintained for longer durations (>30–60 min), a significant increase in the concentrations of cortisol and growth hormone occurs, which stimulate the activity of lipolysis enzymes, such as adipose TG lipase and hormone-sensitive lipase. When it comes to T2DM, all these processes can be significantly impaired; however, it is still expected that FFA oxidation capacity can be enhanced through exercise and, thus, improve the overall lipid profile and metabolic flexibility in these individuals (Fritzen et al. 2020; Gemmink et al. 2020). In the previous sections, we have provided a background on how lipid metabolism is linked to insulin resistance. In the next section, we will address the role of acute and chronic exercise in countering lipotoxicity and improving overall insulin resistance through its action on the classic lipid biomarkers as well as on the lipid intermediates (Fig. 2). Finally, and before diving into the acute effects of exercise on the lipid profile, it is important to highlight that most of the experimental evidence arises from studies that used aerobic exercise with little information known on the impact of resistance training (RT) on the lipid intermediates in individuals with T2DM.



Fig. 2 Summary of the acute and chronic effects of exercise on lipid content and their impact on insulin resistance. Abbreviations: intramyocellular lipid, IMCL; subsarcolemmal, SS; diacylglycerols, DAG; long-chain acyl-CoAs, LCA-COA; perilipin protein 5, PLIN5

Acute Effects of Exercise on Muscle Lipid Content

Despite the proposed mechanisms and links between ectopic lipid accumulation, increased lipid intermediates, insulin resistance, and T2DM, high intramuscular lipid stores and elevated lipid intermediates have also been observed in endurance-trained athletes, an observation first identified by Goodpaster and colleagues and termed the "athlete paradox" (Goodpaster et al. 2001). However, unlike in individuals who have obesity or T2DM, insulin sensitivity of athletes is uncompromised and even enhanced despite the presence of IMCL (Gemmink et al. 2020). This paradox has provided a conceptual framework to understand the IMCL dynamics during acute and chronic exercise in both trained individuals and those with T2DM.

It has been hypothesized that the IMCL characteristics (i.e., size, proximity to mitochondria, expression of proteins regulating lipolysis) and dynamics (i.e., storage and breakdown of FFA), as well as mitochondrial oxidative capacity all play a major role in lipid droplet turnover, with higher turnover preventing lipid-induced toxicity (Bergman and Goodpaster 2020). The advent of stable isotope measurements and muscle biopsies obtained before and right after exercise has allowed a better understanding of the IMCL response to an acute bout of exercise, which is deeply dependent on the circulating FFA availability in both healthy and metabolically compromised individuals (Gemmink et al. 2020). There is, however, a significant difference when it comes to IMCL usage between trained and T2DM individuals,

with T2DM individuals relying little to none on the IMCL as a source of energy during an acute bout of exercise (Bergman et al. 2018). One possible explanation lies on the fact that individuals with T2DM have a dysfunctional adipose tissue with a higher rate of lipolytic activity and circulating levels of FFA, which could comprise the usage of IMCL as a viable energy source (Bergman et al. 2018). On the other end of the spectrum, athletes or exercise-trained individuals, have their IMCL stored in many smaller lipid droplets that are more proximally associated with a larger number of mitochondria, whereas individuals with T2DM tend to have fewer but larger lipid droplets that are found mainly around the cellular membrane of type II muscle fibers, with less lipid droplet-mitochondria interaction (Bergman and Goodpaster 2020). It has been hypothesized that mitochondria in the vicinity of the lipid droplets have privileged access to the FFA released by these depots and, hence, have a higher FFA oxidation rate, which will help maintain the ATP turnover during exercise (Gemmink et al. 2020). In T2DM individuals, the IMCL content during the recovery period following an acute bout of exercise has been reported to either increase or present no changes when compared to the baseline period (Bergman and Goodpaster 2020).

Acute Effects of Exercise on Muscle Lipid Intermediates

Considering the experimental evidence of the effects of acute aerobic exercise on DAG and sphingolipids, there is still limited data on these lipid intermediates. For instance, in the animal model and in humans with different metabolic statuses (i.e., trained athletes and T2DM individuals with obesity), a single bout of aerobic exercise did not impact the overall pool of DAG (Thrush et al. 2011; Bergman et al. 2018). Nonetheless, and as explained in the previous sections, more important than total DAG levels is the type of DAG stereoisomer present, with DAG sn-1,2 being involved in the activation of the PKC θ and ϵ and, hence, related with the insulinresistant process (Rando and Young 1984). In this regard, IMCL lipolysis during exercise is responsible for the increased release of DAG sn-2,3 and sn-1,3. Therefore, insulin sensitivity may increase during exercise due to a decrease in DAG sn-1,2, since no changes have been observed in the overall pool of DAG, albeit further studies are needed to explore this potential mechanism (Bergman et al. 2018).

Given the pro-inflammatory nature of acute exercise, it has been observed that muscle levels of ceramide, among other lipid intermediates within the sphingolipids family, tend to increase temporarily. However, 2 h after a single bout of exercise ceramide values have been reported to decrease to values identical or less than those observed at baseline (Bergman et al. 2016). This observation has also been reported in the animal model and could partly explain the increase in insulin sensitivity following acute endurance exercise (Turinsky et al. 1990).

Finally, data on the impact of acute exercise on LCA-CoA and acylcarnitines remains controversial. For example, no changes or increases in LCA-CoA have been reported in animal studies following an acute bout of exercise (Li et al. 2015). Likewise, observations in humans have reported an increase or no change in acylcarnitines following an exercise session, regardless of the length of the chain

(Thyfault et al. 2010), which together mounts to a strong case that these polar lipids have no impact on the benefits in the insulin sensitivity that can be observed after an acute exercise session.

Chronic Effects of Exercise on Muscle Lipid Content

Similar to the athlete paradox, another contradictory observation arises from experimental studies addressing the long-term effects of exercise on IMCL content. When looking at the current body of literature in healthy trained individuals, some reports observed an increase in IMCL content, whereas no changes have been found in metabolically compromised patients, although both populations showed an increase in insulin sensitivity (Tarnopolsky et al. 2007; Toledo et al. 2008). It is plausible to assume that changes in insulin sensitivity following an exercise regimen do not rely on IMCL fluctuations, but instead rely on alterations in the lipid droplet characteristics. Experimental studies in both lean and obese individuals have reported a location shift of the lipid droplets residing within the muscle cell, which move from the subsarcolemmal to the intramyofibrillar space following long-term exercise (Tarnopolsky et al. 2007). These changes will impact the overall metabolic flexibility of the cell, since the intramyofibrillar lipid droplets are closer to the mitochondrial reticulum where they will approach a trained lipid droplet phenotype (Gemmink et al. 2020).

Another singularity within the "athlete paradox" concerns athletes/trained individuals having a greater abundance of lipid droplets coated with perilipin protein 5 (PLIN5c) compared to individuals with T2DM (Gemmink et al. 2020). The PLIN5 protein plays a major role alongside the lipases, such as the adipose TG lipase and hormone-sensitive lipase, in helping regulate the lipolysis from the lipid droplets in order for them to match the mitochondrial fat oxidation rate during exercise (Bosma et al. 2012). Chronic exercise above the 4-week duration threshold has been shown to increase PLIN5 gene expression and protein content in obese and T2DM patients (Shepherd et al. 2017). How these changes translate to an improved fat oxidation process in T2DM still warrants further investigation, since there are still mixed results between obese and T2DM individuals on the impact of chronic exercise on lipid droplet–mitochondrial tethering (Gemmink et al. 2020).

Chronic Effects of Exercise on Muscle Lipid Intermediates

Following the same trend of the previous subsection on the acute effects of exercise on lipid intermediates, there is still much to be understood on the chronic effects of exercise on DAG, sphingolipids, and polar lipids, especially on their isomers, species, and localization, and their relationship with changes in insulin resistance. This observation arises from experimental investigations showing that long-term endurance training increases DAG levels and insulin sensitivity in trained/athletic individuals, adding another layer to the conundrum of the "athlete paradox" (Amati et al. 2011). When looking at the individuals with obesity, the results of exercise interventions have shown no changes in overall DAG content (Ryan et al. 2020). Moreover, and as far as the sphingolipids family is concerned, chronic aerobic exercise has been shown to decrease ceramide levels (Coen et al. 2015), with some studies showing no changes (Ryan et al. 2020). Finally, the LCA-CoA and acylcarnitines also appear to have no changes (Bruce et al. 2004) or even increase their content following chronic exercise (Ryan et al. 2020).

When gathering all the above information on the effects of chronic exercise on these lipid intermediates, it is clear that changes in insulin sensitivity are not dependent on favorable improvements of overall DAG, sphingolipids, and polar lipids content. Nonetheless, future studies addressing the impact of exercise on specific isomers, species, and location of these lipid biomarkers are paramount to fully understand their relationship with insulin sensitivity.

Effect of Exercise on Liver Lipid Content

Although the underlying mechanisms of the effects of exercise on IHL are poorly understood, exercise training has been proposed to lower IHL content by affecting one or more of the abovementioned pathways (Brouwers et al. 2016). First, exercise has a direct effect on lipoprotein lipase (LPL)-mediated TG removal from the circulation to skeletal muscle and as a consequence, there is lower TG uptake and accumulation by the liver and a decrease in hepatic VLDL secretion (Ussher 2014). These changes in LPL activity induced by exercise can partially explain the improved lipid profile observed in individuals with T2DM following training (Brouwers et al. 2016). Secondly, exercise promotes whole-body insulin sensitivity and hence insulin-stimulated suppression of lipolysis from adipose tissue and insulin-stimulated uptake of glucose and FFA by the muscle, all of which decrease the uptake of FFA by the liver (Brouwers et al. 2016; Gemmink et al. 2020). Beyond reduced uptake of FFA, exercise also reduces DNL by decreasing circulating insulin levels as well as glucose, which are key activators of DNL (Brouwers et al. 2016). Lastly, exercise can reduce IHL accumulation by increasing energy expenditure and inducing a negative energy balance. This in turn triggers the release and oxidation of FFA from IHL storage to fuel the increased energy demands of exercise (Ussher 2014). It has been suggested that this reduction in IHL due to increased FFA oxidation is one of the main mechanisms by which exercise improves NAFLD (Brouwers et al. 2016).

It is important to note that the reductions in IHL following exercise have been observed regardless of significant changes in body mass and total body fat. In fact, beyond changes in the quantity of IHL, exercise can also have an impact on its composition. For example, following just 7 days of exercise training, there was no change in the amount of IHL; however, the content on the IHL was significantly altered, such that it contained more polyunsaturated FFA (Haus et al. 2013). This finding is likely a result of the effect of exercise on suppressing DNL, where the principal FFA produced are saturated. Saturated FFA are known to negatively affect cellular functions, such as that of insulin signaling (Taskinen and Boren 2015). Thus, the qualitative changes in IHL following exercise in the absence of any quantitative changes can have positive implications on insulin sensitivity for individuals with T2DM.

Exercise Interventions and Classic Lipid Biomarkers

Many studies have highlighted the importance of exercise for improving metabolic health, including that of the classic lipid profile (Wood et al. 2019); however, fewer reviews have been conducted in the T2DM population, especially when trying to understand the impact of different types, intensities, and lengths of exercise interventions on the classic lipid biomarkers. In this section, we will address all the experimental evidence of exercise interventions with a RCT design that aimed to understand the impact of different types of training on the lipid profile. Mainly, we will focus on aerobic (e.g., with a special focus on moderate continuous training (MCT) and high-intensity training, either as interval or continuous), RT, and a combination of both aerobic and RT. Table 1 provides a summary of the results of recent RCT exercise interventions from 2010 forward on the classic lipid biomarkers in individuals with T2DM.

Overall, the majority of the evidence points to aerobic exercise of both vigorous or moderate intensity as being effective for improving the lipid profile (i.e., increasing HDL-C and decreasing total cholesterol (TC), LDL-C, and TG) in individuals with T2DM. Whether the benefits of aerobic training are superior when performed continuously or through repeated intervals remains unclear. Within the last decade, high-intensity interval training (HIIT) has become a popular training method and has been promoted as being more time-efficient, feasible, and effective than the traditional continuous endurance method. According to a recent systematic review and meta-analysis comparing the effects of HIIT and MCT on the lipid profile in both subclinical and clinical populations, HIIT protocols did not confer greater improvements in the lipid profile over MCT protocols (Wood et al. 2019). Nevertheless, it is difficult to generalize the effect of MCT versus HIIT on blood lipids, as much of the effect of these exercise regimens is likely influenced by the participant characteristics (age, sex, type of chronic disease, etc.) (Wood et al. 2019).

According to the most recent RCTs specific to individuals with T2DM, mixed results have also been reported. For instance, increases in HDL-C with HIIT and MCT have been observed compared to controls (Mitranun et al. 2014), whereas, no significant differences in the lipid profile have been reported following aerobic exercise training in other intervention studies, regardless of exercise intensity (Winding et al. 2018; Sabag et al. 2020). It is important to note that different HIIT protocols were implemented by most of these studies, with distinguished characteristics on the exercise-to-rest ratio as well as the intensity implemented. Thus, future investigations in individuals with T2DM are still warranted to draw conclusions on the role of interval versus continuous training on lipid biomarkers.

Considering the effects of RT on the lipid profile in individuals with T2DM, the majority of studies have reported no changes compared to controls, although a significant decreases in TC and TG compared to controls following a 12-week RT intervention has been reported (Dadrass et al. 2019). The inconsistency in these results could be due to differences in the baseline lipid profile of the included sample, since those with higher impaired values tend to have further exercise benefits.

	Sample size	Intervention		Lipid	
Study	(M/F)	intensity	Duration	outcomes	Results
Aerobic train	ning				
Balducci et al. (2010)	Control: 20 (9/11) Exercise: 20 (8/12)	VCT: 70–80% VO ₂ max; treadmill and/or cycle ergometer	60 min/d, 2 d/week, 12 months	HDL-C	HDL-C increased compared to controls
Kadoglou et al. (2010)	Control: 21 (8/13) Exercise: 22 (8/14)	VCT: 50–80% VO ₂ ma; walking or jogging on treadmill, cycle ergometer, and calisthenics	45–60 min/day, 4 times/week, 12 months	TC, TG, HDL-C, LDL-C	TC, TG, and LDL-C decreased and HDL-C increased compared to controls
Sixt et al. (2010)	Control: 12 (8/4) Exercise: 11 (10/1)	VCT: 80% maximum heart rate, cycle ergometer	90 min/day, 5 days/week, 4 weeks, follow by 30 min/day, 5 days/week, plus 1 h/week supervised swimming or endurance training, 6 months; following 6 months unsupervised 5 days/week	TC, TG, HDL-C, LDL-C	TC and LDL-C decreased at 4 weeks but not after 6 months compared to controls
Belli et al. (2011)	Control: 10 (0/10) Exercise: 9 (0/9)	MCT: ventilatory threshold, outdoor walking	60 min/d, 3 d/week, 12 weeks	TC, TG, HDL-C, LDL-C	Exercise group increased HDL-C compared to controls
Jorge et al. (2011)	Control: 12 (4/8) Exercise: 12 (5/7)	VCT: lactate threshold; cycling	60 min/day, 3 days/week, 12 weeks	TC, TG, HDL-C	No significant difference compared to controls
de Oliveira et al. (2012)	Control: 12 (4/8) Exercise: 11 (5/6)	MCT: lactate threshold; cycling	50 min/d, 3 days/week, 12 weeks	TC, TG, HDL-C, LDL-C	No significant difference compared to controls
Arslan et al. (2014)	Control: 33 (14/19) Exercise: 31 (17/14)	VCT: 75% maximum HR, treadmill or bicycle	45 min/d, 3 d/week, 12 weeks	TC, TG, HDL-C, LDL-C	No significant difference compared to controls

Table 1 Outcomes of supervised exercise interventions on lipid biomarkers in individuals with T2DM according to different types of training.

Study	Sample size	Intervention	Duration	Lipid	Results
Mitranun et al. (2014)	Control: 15 (5/10) MCT: 14 (5/9) HIIT: 14 (5/9)	MCT: 60% VO ₂ max HIIT: 6×1 min at 85% VO ₂ max, 4 min at 60% VO ₂ max	40 min/d, 3 d/week, 12 weeks	TC, TG, HDL-C, LDL-C	HDL-C increased in MCT and HIIT group vs. controls
Dehghan et al. (2016)	Control: 49 F Exercise: 49 F	MCT: 50–70% maximum heart rate, jogging	60 min/d, 3 d/week, 16 weeks	TC, TG, HDL-C, LDL-C	TC, TG, and LDL-C decreased and HDL-C increased compared to controls
Rahbar et al. (2017)	Control: 15 Exercise: 13	MCT: 50–70% maximum heart rate, treadmill	30 min/day, 3 times/week, 8 weeks	TC, TG, HDL-C, LDL-C, VLDL-C	No significant difference compared to controls
Saghebjoo et al. (2018)	Control: 10 F Exercise: 10 F	VCT: 75–85% maximum heart rate, jogging, running	From 15 min/ day to 35 min/ day, add 3–4 min per week, 3 times/ week, 12 weeks	TG, HDL-C, LDL-C	TG, and LDL-C decreased and HDL-C increased compared to controls
Winding et al. (2018)	Control: 7 (5/2) MCT: 12 (7/5) HIIT: 13 (7/6)	MCT: cycling at 50% peak workload HIIT: cycling at 90% peak workload for 1 min followed by 1 min at 20% peak workload	MCT: 40 min/d, 3 days/week, 11 weeks HIIT: 20 min/d, 3 days/week, 11 weeks	TG, HDL-C, LDL-C	No significant difference compared to controls
Sabag et al. (2020)	Control: 11 (7/4) MCT: 12 (5/7) HIIT: 12 (7/5)	MCT: cycling at 60% VO ₂ max HIIT: 4 min cycling at 90% VO ₂ max (19 min total)	MCT: 40–55 min, 3 days/week, 12 weeks HIIT: minimum of 19 min, 3 days/week, 12 weeks	TC, TG, HDL-C, LDL-C, FFA	No significant difference compared to controls
Resistance tra	ining				
Wycherley et al. (2010)	Control: 16 Exercise: 17	70–85% RM, 8–12 reps (leg press, knee extension, chest	45 min/d, 3 d/week, 16 weeks	TC, TG, HDL-C, LDL-C	No significant difference

Study	Sample size (M/F)	Intervention intensity	Duration	Lipid outcomes	Results
		press, shoulder press, lat pull down, seated row, triceps press, and sit-ups)			compared to controls
Jorge et al. (2011)	Control: 12 (4/8) Exercise: 12 (5/7)	Leg press, bench press, lat pull down, seated rowing, shoulder press, abdominal curls, and knee curls	60 min/day, 3 days/week, 12 weeks	TC, TG, HDL-C	No significant difference compared to controls
Kadoglou et al. (2012)	Control: 24 (5/19) Exercise: 23 (7/16)	60–80% RM, 6–8 repetitions per exercise (seated leg press, knee extension, knee flexion, chest press, lat pull down, overhead press, biceps curl, and triceps extension)	45–60 min/day, 3 times/week, 3 months	TC, TG, HDL-C, LDL-C	No significant difference compared to controls
de Oliveira et al. (2012)	Control: 12 (4/8) Exercise: 10 (4/6)	50% RM, 4 sets of 8–12 reps (leg press, bench press, lat pull down, seated rowing, shoulder press, abdominal curls, knees curls)	3 days/week, 12 weeks	TC, TG, HDL-C, LDL-C	No significant difference compared to controls
Dadrass et al. (2019)	Control: 12 M Exercise: 12 M	First month 55% RM; second month 65% 1RM; third month 75% 1RM; 3 set of 10 repetitions (chest press, leg extension, leg curl, arm curl, push-up with knees against	50 min/day, 3 days/week, 12 weeks	TC, TG, HDL-C, LDL-C	TC and TG decreased compared to controls

Study	Sample size (M/F)	Intervention intensity	Duration	Lipid outcomes	Results
		the floor, seated row, overhead pull down, overhead press, weighted sit-up and toe raise)			
Rech et al. (2019)	Control: 21 (10/11) Exercise: 17 (10/7)	2–3 sets of 12–10 reps (partial squat and bench stepping, unilateral leg press, unilateral knee extension, knee flexion, plantar flexion, bench press, low row, biceps curl, elbow extension, hip abduction and abdominal crunches)	3 days/week, 12 weeks	TC, TG, HDL-C, LDL-C	No significant difference compared to controls
Combined					
Balducci et al. (2010)	Control: 20 (9/11) Exercise: 22 (8/14)	VCT aerobic: 70–80% VO ₂ max; treadmill and/or cycle ergometer Resistance: 80% RM (chest press, lateral pull down, leg press, trunk flexion for the abdominals)	75 min/d, 2 days/week, 12 months	TC, TG, HDL-C, LDL-C	HDL increased and LDL decreased in exercise group compared to controls
Jorge et al. (2011)	Control:12 (4/8) Exercise: 12 (4/8)	VCT aerobic: lactate threshold; cycling Resistance: leg press, bench press, lat pull down, seated rowing, shoulder press, abdominal curls, and knee curls	60 min/day, 3 days/week, 12 weeks	TC, TG, HDL-C	No significant difference compared to controls

Study	Sample size (M/F)	Intervention intensity	Duration	Lipid outcomes	Results
de Oliveira et al. (2012)	Control: 12 (4/8) Exercise: 10 (4/6)	MCT: 25 min cycle at lactate threshold Resistance: 2 sets of 8–12 RM	3 days/week, 12 weeks	TC, TG, HDL-C, LDL-C	No significant difference compared to controls
Kim et al. (2014)	Control: 17 (10/7) Exercise: 18 (9/9)	MCT aerobic: 50–70% maximum heart rate; brisk walking Resistance: 50% 10RM; 3 sets of 20 repetitions	70 min/day, 3 days/week, 12 weeks	TC, TG, HDL-C, LDL-C	TG decreased compared to the controls.
Annibalini et al. (2017)	Control: 8 M Exercise: 8 M	MCT aerobic: 40–65% heart rate reserve, walking on treadmill Resistance: 40–60% 1RM, 2–4 sets of 12–20 reps (horizontal leg press, lat pull down, chest press)	30–60 min/day, 3 days/week, 16 weeks	TC, HDL-C, LDL-C	TC decreased compared to control
Balducci et al. (2017)	Control: 150 M Exercise: 150 M	MCT aerobic: low to moderate intensity Resistance: not described	60 min/day, 2 days/week, 4 months	TC, TG, HDL-C, LDL-C	No significant difference from control
Magalhães et al. (2020)	Control: 27 (13/14) Exercise (HIIT): 25 (10/15) Exercise (MCT): 28 (15/13)	HIIT aerobic: 1 min of exercise at 90% of their heart rate reserve followed by 1 min resting at 40–60% of the heart rate reserve MCT aerobic: 40–60% of the heart rate reserve	Duration based on prescribed energy target, 3 days/week, 12 months	TC, TG, HDL-C, LDL-C	LDL, TC decreased with HIIT compared to controls

Table 1 (continued)

Study	Sample size (M/F)	Intervention intensity	Duration	Lipid outcomes	Results
		Resistance: 1 set of 10–12 RM (seated row, pull down, chest press, shoulder press, leg press, one leg lung, dead bug, and regular plank)			

VCT, vigorous continuous training; MCT, moderate continuous training; HIIT, high-intensity interval training; RM, maximum repetition; TC, total cholesterol; TG, triglyceride; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; VLDL, very-low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; FFA, free fatty acid

Moreover, similar to the aerobic interventions, differences in the RT protocol used (i.e., intensity, frequency, duration) add to the difficulty in drawing conclusions on the effects of RT on the lipid profile.

Randomized controlled trials examining the effect of combined aerobic and RT on lipid biomarkers have had mixed results. For instance, when performing a 1-year exercise intervention, we (Magalhães et al. 2020) observed a favorable impact of HIIT combined with RT on TC and LDL-C when compared to the control group, whereas no changes were observed in the MCT combined with RT group. It is reasonable to deduce that the combination of resistance and aerobic exercises may provide additional benefits than either of them performed alone. However, the paucity of research of combined interventions with similar protocols makes it hard to come to any verdict.

Regardless of the exercise being aerobic (interval or continuous, moderate or high intensity), resistance, or a combination of the two, a major confounding factor when assessing the effects of exercise on the lipid profile is changes in body weight. It has been found that just small changes in body weight can have a considerable impact on insulin sensitivity at multiple organs (Petersen and Shulman 2018; Ryan et al. 2020). Moreover, and as previously explained, an increase in insulin sensitivity reduces circulating levels of glucose and lipids, via decreased lipolysis by adipose tissue, increased uptake by skeletal muscle, decreased fat influx and synthesis by the liver, and reduced liver VLDL secretion.

Overall, there is a clear link between exercise and an improved lipid profile, especially when it comes to aerobic exercise. If the intent is to answer the question, "what's the best exercise intensity and type to improve the lipid profile for individuals with T2DM," then more research is warranted, with the special caveat on standardizing the exercise intervention protocols.

Inflammatory Profile and T2DM

Introduction to Inflammation and T2DM

The inflammation process involves a complex cascade of events, where several cellular components are implicated to promote cell survival by warding off harmful infections derived from pathogenic bacteria, viruses, and parasites. Although the inflammatory profile is a key element in survival, there are circumstances in which it becomes unable to properly function, leading to maladaptive chronic states of low-grade inflammation. This low-grade inflammation is at the cornerstone of the pathophysiology involved in the development of T2DM. In the following sections ("The Relationship Between Obesity and Inflammation," and "The Relationship Between Inflammation and T2DM), we will examine the mechanisms linking several of the most studied inflammatory biomarkers in the exercise physiology field, with obesity and T2DM. We will then dive into how acute and chronic exercise may improve the adverse inflammatory profile inflicting individuals with T2DM, while also reviewing all the recent RCT on this topic (Section "Anti-inflammatory Effects of Exercise").

The Relationship Between Obesity and Inflammation

One of the underlying characteristics of people with T2DM is the overweight and obesity phenotype. At the epidemiological level, people with higher values of BMI, due to excessive body fat accumulation, have a higher relative risk of developing T2DM when compared with their lean peers (Petersen and Shulman 2018). Thus, it comes with no surprise that the divorce between energy expenditure and energy intake contributes to a positive energy balance, hence increasing body fat storage, which is one of the primary insults leading to chronic low-grade inflammation and T2DM (Pedersen 2009).

Energetic intake exceeding that of energy expenditure can lead to adipose tissue dysfunction, where local hypoxia and adipocyte apoptosis occur due to the increased homeostatic stress imposed by adipocyte hyperplasia and hypertrophy (Murano et al. 2008). As a consequence, chemotactic signals from strained and dead adipocytes are responsible for the recruitment of immune cells. As an example, the monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 (MCP-1) is an important cytokine that plays a major role in attracting other immune cells (e.g., macrophages, monocytes) to the extracellular space of the adipocytes, where these immune cells will be responsible for producing pro-inflammatory cytokines (Sartipy and Loskutoff 2003) (Fig. 3). Another possible pathway leading to adipose tissue macrophage recruitment is through the identification of adipocyte stress by the natural killer cells residing in visceral adipose tissue depots (Wensveen et al. 2015). These immune cells will in turn be involved in macrophage activation through the release of tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) and interferon-y (Wensveen et al. 2015).



Fig. 3 An integrated physiological perspective on low-grade inflammation and its impact at the tissue and cellular level in T2DM. As a result of a positive energy balance due to low levels of physical activity and an increased energy intake, adipocytes become hypertrophic, placing them under significant stress that eventually can lead to cellular hypoxia and death. Consequently, the immune system will increase macrophage infiltration within the intercellular space of the adipose tissue, thereby increasing the release of cytokines/chemokines such as the tumor necrosis factoralpha (TNF- α), interleukin-1 beta (IL-1 β), and interleukin-6 (IL-6), which will in turn affect adipose tissue insulin sensitivity. Local macrophages and other immune cells are responsible for creating a pro-inflammatory cycle perpetuating the release of more cytokines, which have autocrine effects as well as paracrine actions on other cells/organs such as the β -cells in the pancreas and the skeletal muscle. Fueling this inflammatory cycle, free fatty acids (FFA) arriving from the lipolytic adipose tissue or from the circulation bind to the toll-like receptors (TLR) 2 and 4 present on the macrophages and β -cells, triggering the downstream inflammatory nuclear factor kappa B $(NF-\kappa B)$ pathway. Moreover, elevated levels of circulating glucose are also involved in the release of IL-1 β from macrophages and β -cells mediated by the NLR family pyrin domain containing 3 (NLRP3) sensor. At the pancreas, these cytokines are responsible for islet inflammation, leading to apoptosis and reduced insulin secretion. In the muscle, cytokines and FFA derived from the lipolytic adipose tissue are responsible for the muscle insulin resistance. Abbreviations: insulin receptor, IR; endoplasmic reticulum, ER; IL-1 receptor antagonist, IL-1R1; diacylglycerols, DAG; inhibitor kappa beta kinase beta, IKKβ; Jun N-terminal kinase, JNK.

An important link between obesity and inflammation also lies with the lipid profile. As previously mentioned in the section "The Relationship Between Obesity and Lipids," obese individuals with dysfunctional adipose tissue are prone to have impaired lipid profiles, characterized by elevated circulating levels of FFA, as well as the accumulation of intercellular lipid intermediates (e.g., ceramides, DAG, acylcarnitines) (Petersen and Shulman 2018). Adipocyte-derived FFA and intercellular lipid intermediates can also contribute to low-grade chronic inflammation and macrophage activation mainly through toll-like receptors (TLR) and their nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B) pathway (Donath et al. 2013). Beyond lipids, glucose can mediate the activation of the NLR family pyrin domain containing 3 (NLRP3)-dependent pathways, which directly affects the production of IL-1 β (Donath et al. 2013) (Fig. 3). The activation and recruitment of these immune cells are responsible for inducing low-grade chronic inflammation. It has thus been proposed that the chronic inflammation associated with obesity-linked insulin resistance is initiated in adipose tissue.

The Relationship Between Inflammation and T2DM

To begin this discussion, it is important to clarify the role of the inflammatory process in T2DM: Is it the culprit behind the insulin resistance process, or is it rather an exacerbating factor? Several lines of experimental evidence have highlighted that although adipose tissue macrophage activation may induce a low-grade inflammatory process, this process is most likely an exacerbating factor of the obesity-associated insulin resistance, rather than a primary cause of the defect. As an example, investigations conducted using animal models have found that adipose tissue insulin resistance can be observed after 1-week of a high-fat diet (Cantley et al. 2013), but prominent macrophage infiltration and activation within the extracellular space of the adipocytes is only detectable after 12 weeks of high-fat feeding (Strissel et al. 2007). Nevertheless, regardless of whether it is a cause or exacerbating factor, low-grade chronic inflammation remains strictly linked to T2DM.

Within the inflammatory milieu, several pro-inflammatory cytokines have been identified as important contributors to the insulin resistance of adipose tissue and betacell dysfunction observed in T2DM. When looking at the recent literature, inflammatory biomarkers with predictive value for T2DM, such as the lipoprotein-associated phospholipase-A2, the trimethylamine-N-oxide, and the myeloperoxidase, have been associated with cardiovascular disease and have shown promising pharmacological therapeutics (Abdulhamied Alfaddagh et al. 2020). Nonetheless, there are no investigations addressing the impact of exercise on these biomarkers, thus, in the interest of keeping the scope of this chapter focused on exercise, we will address the chief among the inflammatory biomarkers, which include TNF- α , interleukin 1 beta (IL-1 β), and interleukin 6 (IL-6).

TNF-α and T2DM

TNF- α was one of the first cytokines to be identified as a possible link between the adipose tissue low-grade inflammation and an insulin-resistant state (Hotamisligil et al. 1995). Considering all its members, the TNF superfamily displays pro-inflammatory activity, in which the inflammatory pathway depends in part on the activation of transcription factors, such as the NF- κ B.

In vivo studies have shown that TNF- α increases lipolysis in humans without a concomitant increase in FFA oxidation at the muscle level, thus, leading to FFA incorporation into IMCL and lipid intermediaries, such as DAG, sphingolipids, and polar lipids as discussed in the previous section on lipids and T2DM. These lipid intermediates are responsible for the development of TNF- α -induced insulin resistance at the skeletal muscle. TNF- α can also impact the insulin-dependent pathway by inducing the serine phosphorylation of the insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1), which blocks the downstream activation of phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase (PI3-kinase) and GLUT-4 translocation (Ozcan et al. 2004). This process is dependent on the activation of stress-related protein kinases such as the inhibitor kappa beta kinase beta (IKK β), the Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), and the NF- κ B pathway (Ozcan et al. 2004).

This cytokine also displays an important role in insulin resistance by inducing β -cell dysfunction through the activation of the transcriptional factor NF- κ B, which is responsible for increasing the inflammation and apoptosis of pancreatic islets, thus, leading to decreased insulin production (Bouzakri et al. 2011) (Fig. 3). Finally, TNF- α secretion as a result of low-grade chronic inflammation is related to increased atherogenic risk for the arterial wall (i.e., a major risk for the micro- and macro-vascular complications associated with T2DM) by inducing the expression of adhesion molecules such as intracellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) and E-selectin (Couffinhal et al. 1993; Wyble et al. 1997).

IL-6 and T2DM

Circulating levels of IL-6 tend to be elevated in individuals with T2DM, with high concentrations being considered an independent predictor for the development of the disease (Akbari and Hassan-Zadeh 2018). However, the exact role of IL-6 in the pathogenesis of T2DM is somewhat controversial. This is mainly due to the pleio-tropic behavior of IL-6, where it can have both beneficial and pathological effects on insulin sensitivity, insulin secretion, glucose homeostasis, as well as the inflammatory process depending on its origin (i.e., cytokine, adipokine, myokine), chronic or acute presence, cell target, and signaling mechanism (i.e., classical signaling through the membrane-bound IL-6 receptor (IL-6R) or trans-signaling through the soluble form of IL-6R (sIL-6R)) (Pedersen 2009; Han et al. 2020).

The link between IL-6 and T2DM is mainly due to its involvement in the signaling pathways that inhibit insulin signaling, which occurs in states of obesitydriven chronic inflammation (Donath et al. 2013). In adipocytes, chronically elevated levels of IL-6 increase the expression of the suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 (SOCS3), which reduces GLUT-4 mediated glucose uptake via phosphorylation of the insulin receptor β (IR- β), IRS-1, and PKB/Akt (Lagathu et al. 2003; Akbari and Hassan-Zadeh 2018). IL-6 can additionally reduce the expression of GLUT-4, IR- β , IRS-1, as well as peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPAR- γ), an insulin sensitizing factor (Rotter Sopasakis et al. 2004; Akbari and Hassan-Zadeh 2018). In the pancreatic islet cells, IL-6 tends to enhance β -cell apoptosis, which can contribute to decreased insulin secretion (Ellingsgaard et al. 2008). In the muscle cells, exposure to chronic levels of IL-6 seems to reduce insulin action through the JNK, suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 (SOCS3), and protein tyrosine phosphatase 1B (PTP1B) pathways (Kim et al. 2004). In the liver, IL-6 has been shown to contribute to insulin resistance under both chronic and acute states (Akbari and Hassan-Zadeh 2018). IL-6 stimulates mTORC1, which activates signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT), which in turn increases SOCS3 expression leading to the reduction in insulin signaling and glucose uptake (Kim et al. 2004).

Beyond disrupting insulin signaling, IL-6 contributes to the macro-vascular complications occurring in T2DM through the induction of C-reactive protein (CRP) gene expression in hepatocytes (Sproston and Ashworth 2018). CRP is considered an acute marker for inflammatory diseases and infections and is currently one of the few biomarkers that transitioned from a laboratory setting to being routinely used in the clinic (Sproston and Ashworth 2018). Given its general stability in repeated measurements over time, CRP is now considered an important biomarker for cardiovascular disease risk, adding incremental value to the traditional risk factors such as those of the lipid biomarkers (Emerging Risk Factors et al. 2012). Beyond being a marker, CRP is thought to be a mediator of the atherosclerotic process through promoting the expression of genes involved in monocyte adhesion, triggering LDL-C uptake by macrophages, and inhibiting endothelial nitric oxide synthase (Sproston and Ashworth 2018). CRP further promotes the inflammatory process through being involved in the production of other pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β and TNF- α (Sproston and Ashworth 2018).

IL-1β and T2DM

Like TNF- α and IL-6, IL-1 β has also been found to play a major role in driving the local and systemic inflammation contributing to T2DM (Herder et al. 2015). However, like IL-6, the deleterious effects of IL-1 β are dependent on its concentration and length of activation (Herder et al. 2015).

Under normal conditions, postprandial increases in glucose promote an acute rise in macrophages, which secrete IL-1 β in a glucose-dependent manner (Dror et al. 2017). IL-1 β subsequently binds to the IL-1 receptor on pancreatic β -cells and enhances the release of insulin by enhancing insulin granule docking at the plasma membrane (Hajmrle et al. 2016). Both insulin and IL-1 β are responsible for promoting glucose uptake by muscles as well as macrophages (Dror et al. 2017). When in low concentrations and under conditions of acute exposure, IL-1 β activates and delivers energy (i.e., glucose) to the innate immune system to aid in warding off unwanted microorganisms arising from the ingestion of food (Vandanmagsar et al. 2011).

Under states of obesity and excessive nutrient intake, macrophages resident in dysfunctional adipose tissue, particularly that found in visceral depots, synthesize and release IL-1 β in response to elevated glucose levels and metabolic stress (Dinarello et al. 2010). In a paracrine fashion, IL-1 β binds to the IL-1 receptor on adipose cells and stimulates the action of LPL, which in turn results in the release of FFA from circulating lipoproteins (Dinarello et al. 2010). IL-1 β also reduces the transcriptional and posttranscriptional expression of the insulin receptor, impairing adipocyte insulin signaling (Jager et al. 2007). Circulating IL-1 β , alongside FFA and

glucose, triggers the synthesis and release of IL-1 β by the pancreatic β -cells, which, under chronically elevated levels, induces β -cell death (Donath et al. 2013). Furthermore, the β -cell death and IL-1 β induced chemokines attract macrophages to the pancreas leading to islet inflammation and further β -cell destruction (Dinarello et al. 2010).

Anti-inflammatory Effects of Exercise

Since the beginning of the twenty-first century, the field of omics-based clinical discovery has seen a significant increase in research with the identification of more than 650 hormone-like substances, known as myokines, that are released from the muscle during exercise (Khan and Ghafoor 2019). This research has fostered new therapeutic opportunities for several pathophysiological conditions, as well as uncertainty, warranting further investigation to understand how these myokines regulate the muscle-organ crosstalk. Now the muscle is no longer seen only as a tissue with contractile functions responsible for movement, heat, and strength production, but instead it is capable of impacting several biomolecular functions through its secretome, reaching diverse tissues such as the brain, liver, bone, gut, skin, pancreas, adipose tissue, as well as other cells such as those of the immune system (Pedersen 2006). Given the impact of the muscle secretome in ensuring whole-body homeostasis, including preventing low-grade chronic inflammation, these next sections will address some of the anti-inflammatory mechanisms mediated by myokines as well as other potential hormonal factors of acute and chronic exercise.

Acute Effects of Exercise and Anti-inflammatory Mechanisms

Myokines and their extensive portfolio of hormone-like substances, the IL-6 stands out as the prototype adipo-myokine with a considerable amount of research performed to explore its anti-inflammatory effects following a single bout of exercise (Pedersen 2017). As mentioned previously, IL-6 can have both pro- and antiinflammatory actions, depending on several factors, with one being dependent on the cells responsible for its production (i.e., adipocytes (adipokine), macrophages (cytokine), or muscle (myokine)), with IL-6 secreted by muscle having a more antiinflammatory profile. Moreover, the inflammatory/anti-inflammatory effects of IL-6 depend on how the signaling between the protein and its receptor unfold (Han et al. 2020). On this topic, Han and colleagues described that a switch of IL-6 signaling from a canonical mode to a noncanonical trans-signaling mode occurs due to the increased expression of the ADAM10/17 metalloprotease, which enhances transsignaling via the soluble IL-6 receptor α (Han et al. 2020). This trans-signaling by IL-6 is known to promote adipose tissue M1 macrophage recruitment and a more inflammatory phenotype.

Looking at exercise, IL-6 can increase its circulating levels several fold, depending on factors such as the duration, intensity, and type of exercise, as well as nutritional intake of carbohydrates and pre-exercise glycogen content (Pedersen

2006; Pedersen 2017). For instance, following an acute bout of 30 min running at 75% of VO_{2max} , the circulating levels of IL-6 were increased by five-fold, whereas after a marathon, the values were up by 100-fold (Ostrowski et al. 1999). These differences between a shorter duration of exercise to a prolonged bout, as observed in long-distance running (e.g., marathons), highlight the importance of the duration of exercise as a considerable factor impacting the magnitude of changes in IL-6 production. A possible explanation for these observations lies on the glycogen reserves of the muscle following exercise. Both IL-6 mRNA and protein content increase drastically after long-duration exercise when glycogen content tends to decrease significantly (Pedersen 2006). The levels of acute IL-6 production following longer periods of exercise training are more pronounced in untrained sedentary individuals where glycogen reserves are lower when compared with their athletic peers (Pedersen 2017). Moreover, chronic adaptations to exercise, such as increased glycogen content, lead to reduced levels of IL-6 production when the same relative intensity of exercise is considered between untrained and trained individuals (Pedersen 2017). In fact, a nutritional intake of carbohydrates during exercise will impact the circulating levels of glucose and preserve glycogen reserves, hence blunting the circulating levels of IL-6 (Pedersen and Febbraio 2008).

Alongside the duration, intensity and type of exercise also play a major role in the levels of circulating IL-6, since the amount of IL-6 production is directly correlated with the amount of muscle mass recruited during the exercise (Pedersen 2017). Both concentric and eccentric exercises are known to increase the circulating levels of IL-6, with eccentric exercise increasing IL-6 release to a bigger extent (Bruunsgaard et al. 1997). These observations follow the hypothesis that IL-6 levels may be related with exercise muscle damage; however, non-damaging exercises with a more noticeable anti-inflammatory nature can also increase IL-6 values (Bruunsgaard et al. 1997).

Given its pronounced expression during exercise, IL-6 is one of the most important myokines in regulating the anti-inflammatory response of exercise. IL-6 release is responsible for inducing downstream increases of IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra) and IL-10 by blood mononuclear cells, all of which have anti-inflammatory properties (Dinarello 1994; Steensberg et al. 2003). After exercise, IL-1ra will inhibit IL-1 β signal transduction, whereas IL-10 will be responsible for inhibiting the synthesis of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α (Dinarello 1994; Opp et al. 1995). Beyond the acute effects on IL-6, exercise is also responsible for several hormonal changes that have a direct impact on the inflammatory profile. For instance, catecholamines and cortisol production can be responsible for some of the anti-inflammatory effects of exercise by blunting the release of TNF- α and by boosting the circulating levels of neutrophils, respectively (van der Poll et al. 1996).

Chronic Effects of Exercise and Anti-inflammatory Mechanisms

By increasing the frequency of exercise sessions, individuals with low-grade chronic inflammation (i.e., such as those with T2DM) will benefit from the stacked antiinflammatory effects of exercise-induced IL-6 production (Pedersen 2006). Trained individuals have lower plasma IL-6 concentrations at rest and after exercise as a consequence of training adaptations (Pedersen 2017). There are other mechanisms through which exercise can exert its chronic effects and regulate several biomarkers related to the inflammatory milieu. Some of the most important ones include the direct and indirect effects of exercise on reducing visceral adipose tissue, either by promoting a negative energy balance or through the mediating effects of adipokines and myokines (Graf and Ferrari 2019). By preventing/reducing the accumulation of adipose tissue, regular exercise will have a favorable impact on adipose tissuederived pro-inflammatory cytokines such as the MCP-1, which in turn will reduce the number of immune cells infiltrated within the adipocytes, and consequently lower the circulating levels of IL-1 β and TNF- α (Troseid et al. 2004). There are also other myokines along with IL-6 that are upregulated during exercise with important roles in the lipid metabolism, such as the IL-15 and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) (Graf and Ferrari 2019). Strong physiological evidence suggests that IL-15 can regulate lipid deposition in preadipocytes and decrease the amount of white adipose tissue, whereas IL-6 and BDNF are responsible for increasing fat oxidation via the AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) pathway (Graf and Ferrari 2019). Moreover, IL-15, IL-6, myostatin, IL-7, IL-4, and the leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) are all involved in skeletal muscle growth and maintenance, providing an essential increase in the amount of active metabolic tissue in the body, which will help prevent the accumulation of visceral adipose tissue (Pedersen 2017).

Another important mechanism where regular exercise can impact the inflammatory profile lies with the changes in the proportion of pro- versus anti-inflammatory monocytes in the blood, with the pro-inflammatory monocytes (i.e., CD14^{low}CD16⁺), which have 2.5 times more cell surface TLR4, being reduced following an exercise program (Skinner et al. 2005; Gleeson et al. 2011). Given that glucocorticoid therapy has been shown to blunt the circulating levels of CD14^{low}CD16⁺ monocytes, the effect of prolonged exercise on the number of CD14^{low}CD16⁺ may be mediated through its effects on cortisol release (Fingerle-Rowson et al. 1998; Gleeson et al. 2011). Additionally, exercise has also been linked to a reduction in the expression of TLR1, TLR2, and TLR4 on monocytes, and hence, impacts the downstream inflammatory pathways by lowering the inflammatory cytokine production (Stewart et al. 2005). Overall, exercise is responsible for decreasing low-grade chronic inflammation through multiple mechanisms and if maintained on the medium to long term, it can improve whole-body insulin sensitivity in people with T2DM (Fig. 4).

Exercise Interventions and Inflammatory Biomarkers

In this section, we will address all of the most recent experimental evidence on exercise interventions with a RCT design that aimed to understand the impact of different types of training on the inflammatory profile. Mainly, we will focus on aerobic (e.g., MCT and high-intensity training, either interval or a continuous one), RT, and a combination of both aerobic and RT (Table 2).

When it comes to aerobic exercise, consistent decreases in IL-6, TNF- α , and CRP were observed following MCT protocols compared to controls when the intervention length was greater than 12 weeks (Abd El-Kader and Saiem Al-Dahr 2016; Dehghan



Fig. 4 Summary of the acute and chronic effects of exercise on the inflammatory profile. Abbreviations: tumor necrosis factor-alpha, TNF- α ; interleukin-1 beta IL-1 β ; IL-1 receptor antagonist, IL-1R1; interleukin-6, IL-6; interleukin-4, IL-4; interleukin-15, IL-15; interleukin-7, IL-7; leukemia inhibitory factor, LIF; toll-like receptor, TLR; monocyte chemoattractant protein 1, MCP-1

et al. 2016). Similar to MCT aerobic exercise, vigorous continuous training also led to decreases in inflammatory (CRP and IL-18) and increases in anti-inflammatory (IL-10) markers (Kadoglou et al. 2007; Kadoglou et al. 2010; Saghebjoo et al. 2018).

Less investigation has been performed when it comes to assessing the effects of RT on inflammatory biomarkers, with a lack of consistent results being reported across studies. For instance, RT studies performed 3 times per week, with a duration of between 12 and 16 weeks, have found no changes in CRP when compared to controls (Wycherley et al. 2010; Kadoglou et al. 2012; Dadrass et al. 2019; Rech et al. 2019), although some did report favorable changes in TNF- α and IL-6 (Dadrass et al. 2019). Despite similarities in duration and frequency, most of the previous RT studies have employed different RT protocols (i.e., training intensity and number of reps and sets), making it difficult to compare results between studies. Also, some of the studies did not fully describe the training protocol used (i.e., intensity, frequency, duration), which further adds to the difficulty of study comparison and deriving any conclusion on the effects of RT alone on inflammatory biomarkers.

With combined training, results are mixed as well. For instance, we found that IL-6 decreased following either MCT and RT or HIIT and RT (Magalhães et al. 2020). Likewise, others have observed improvements in IL-6 with MCT and RT

	Sample size	Intervention		Inflammatory	
Study	(M/F)	intensity	Duration	outcomes	Results
Aerobic					
Balducci et al. (2010)	Control: 20 (9/11) Exercise: 20 (8/12)	VCT: 70–80% VO ₂ max; treadmill and/or cycle ergometer	60 min/d, 2 d/week, 12 months	CRP, TNF-α, IL-6, IL-1β, IL-4, IL-10, IFN-g	No significant difference from control
Kadoglou et al. (2010)	Control: 21 (8/13) Exercise: 22 (8/14)	VCT: 50–80% VO ₂ max; walking or jogging on treadmill, cycle ergometer, and calisthenics	45–60 min/ day, 4 times/ week, 12 months	hsCRP, IL-10, IL-18	hsCRP decreased compared to controls
Sixt et al. (2010)	Control: 12 (8/4) Exercise: 11 (10/1)	VCT: 80% maximum heart rate, cycle ergometer	90 min/day, 5 days/week, 4 weeks, follow by 30 min/day, 5 days/week, plus 1 h/week supervised swimming or endurance training, 6 months; following 6 months unsupervised 5 days/week	hsCRP	hsCRP significantly decreased at 4 weeks but not after 6 months compared to controls
Arslan et al. (2014)	Control: 33 (14/19) Exercise: 31 (17/14)	VCT: 75% maximum heart rate, treadmill or bicycle	45 min/d, 3 d/week, 12 weeks	TNF-α	No significant difference from control
Abd El-Kader (2016)	Control: 40 (21/19) Exercise: 40 (23/17)	MCT: 70% maximum heart rate; row and cycle ergometer	30 min/day, 3 times/week, 12 weeks	TNF-α, IL-6, CRP	TNF-α, IL-6, and CRP decreased in exercise group compared to controls
Dehghan et al. (2016)	Control: 49 F Exercise: 49 F	MCT: 50–70% maximum heart rate, jogging	60 min/d, 3 d/week, 16 weeks	CRP, NF-кB1	CRP and NF-κB1 decreased and significantly different than control

Table 2 Outcomes of supervised exercise interventions on inflammatory biomarkers in individuals with T2DM according to different types of training

	1	1	1	1	
Study	Sample size (M/F)	Intervention intensity	Duration	Inflammatory outcomes	Results
Rahbar et al. (2017)	Control: 15 Exercise: 13	MCT: 50–70% maximum heart rate, treadmill	30 min/day, 3 times/week, 8 weeks	CRP	No significant difference from controls
Karimi et al. (2017), Shakil-Ur- Rehman (2017)	Control: 51 (19/32) Exercise: 51 (36/15)	Intensity not stated; 0 degree incline for 5 weeks, increase 3 degrees per 5 weeks; treadmill	10 min/day for the first 5 weeks (3 times/week), increase 30 min per 5 weeks; 25 weeks	IL-6	IL-6 decreased compared to controls
Saghebjoo et al. (2018)	Control: 10 F Exercise: 10 F	VCT: 75–85% maximum heart rate, jogging, running	From 15 min/ day to 35 min/ day, add 3-4 min per week, 3 times/ week, 12 weeks	hsCRP, TNF-α	hsCRP and TNF- α decreased compared to controls
Resistance					
Wycherley et al. (2010)	Control: 16 M Exercise: 17 M	70–85% 1RM; 2 sets of 8–12 repetitions (leg press, knee extension, chest press, shoulder press, lat pull down, seated row, triceps press, and sit-ups)	45 min/day, 3 days/week, 16 weeks	CRP	No significant difference from control
Kadoglou et al. (2012)	Control: 24 (5/19) Exercise: 23 (7/16)	60–80% 1RM, 6–8 repetitions per exercise (seated leg press, knee extension, knee flexion, chest press, lat pull down, overhead press, biceps curl, and triceps extension)	45–60 min/ day, 3 times/ week, 3 months	hsCRP	No significant difference from controls

Table 2 (continued)
Study	Sample size (M/F)	Intervention intensity	Duration	Inflammatory outcomes	Results
Dadrass et al. (2019)	Control: 12 M Exercise: 12 M	First month 55% 1RM; second month 65% 1RM; third month 75% 1RM; 3 set of 10 repetitions (chest press, leg extension, leg curl, arm curl, push-up with knees against the floor, seated row, overhead pull down, overhead press, weighted sit-up and toe raise)	50 min/day, 3 days/week, 12 weeks	CRP, TNF-α, IL-6	TNF-α and IL-6 decreased compared to controls
Rech et al. (2019)	Control: 21 (10/11) Exercise: 17 (10/7)	2–3 sets of 12–10 reps (partial squat and bench stepping, unilateral leg press, unilateral knee extension, knee flexion, plantar flexion, bench press, low row, biceps curl, elbow extension, hip abduction and abdominal crunches)	3 days/wee, 12 weeks	ΤΝΓ-α, CRP, IL-6, IL-10, IL-1β	No significant difference from controls
Combined					
Balducci et al. (2010)	Control: 20 (9/11) Exercise: 22 (8/14)	VCT aerobic: 70–80% VO ₂ max; treadmill and/or cycle ergometer	(40 aerobic+20 resistance) min/day, 2 days/week, 12 months	hsCRP, TNF-α, IL-6, IL-1β, IL-4, IL-10	IL-6 significantly decreased compared to controls

51

(continued)

	Sample size	Intervention		Inflammatory	
Study	(M/F)	intensity	Duration	outcomes	Results
		Resistance: 80% 1RM (thrust movement, chest press, lateral pull down, leg press, trunk flexion for the abdominals			
Kim et al. (2014)	Control: 17 (10/7) Exercise: 18 (9/9)	MCT aerobic: 50–70% maximum heart rate; brisk walking Resistance: 50% 10RM; 3 sets of 20 repetitions	70 min/day, 3 days/week, 12 weeks	hsCRP	No significant difference from controls
Annibalini et al. (2017)	Control: 8 M Exercise: 8 M	MCT aerobic: 40–65% heart rate reserve, walking on treadmill Resistance: 40–60% 1RM, 2–4 sets of 12–20 reps (horizontal leg press, lat pull down, chest press)	30–60 min/ day, 3 days/ week, 16 weeks	hsCRP, TNF-α, IL-6, MCP-1	TNF-α, IL-6, and MCP-1 decreased compared to controls
Balducci et al. (2017)	Control: 150 M Exercise: 150 M	MCT aerobic: low to moderate intensity Resistance: not described	60 min/day, 2 days/week, 4 months	hsCRP	No significant difference from controls
Banitalebi et al. (2019)	Control: 14 F Exercise: 14 F	MCT aerobic: 60–70% maximum heart rate; treadmill or cycle ergometer Resistance: 1 set of 15 reps, for the first 2 weeks,	3 days/week, 10 weeks	IL-6, IL-15	IL-6 decreased compared to controls

(continued)

Study	Sample size (M/F)	Intervention	Duration	Inflammatory outcomes	Results
		increased to 2–3 sets of 12–10 reps with 12–10 reps/set between weeks 3 and 10; (bilateral leg press, lateral pull down, bench press, bilateral biceps curl, and bilateral triceps push down)			
Zaidi et al. (2019)	Control: 68 (54/14) Exercise: 69 (61/8)	Aerobic: interval training with 5-15 min at rate of perceived exertion (RPE) ≥ 15 and remaining exercise time at RPE = 12-14 Resistance: 10-15 reps (chest, biceps, shoulder, triceps, back and front)	60 min/d, 3 days/week, 12 months	IL-18 (circulating) IL-18 (gene expression leukocyte) IL-18 (gene expression adipose) NLRP3 (gene expression leukocyte) Caspase-1 (gene expression leukocyte)	No significant difference from controls
Magalhães et al. (2020)	Control: 27 (13/14) Exercise (HIIT): 25 (10/15) Exercise (MCT): 28 (15/13)	HIIT aerobic: 1 min of exercise at 90% of their HRR followed by 1 min resting at 40–60% of the heart rate reserve MCT aerobic: 40–60% of the heart rate reserve Resistance: 1 set of 10–12 RM (seated	Duration based on prescribed energy target, 3 days/week, 12 months	sCD163, TNF-α, IL-6, CRP	IL-6 decreased compared to controls; no significant differences from controls for sCD163, TNF-α, and CRP

(continued)

Study	Sample size (M/F)	Intervention intensity	Duration	Inflammatory outcomes	Results
		row, pull down, chest press, shoulder press, leg press, one leg lung, dead bug and regular plank)			

VCT, vigorous continuous training; MCT, moderate continuous training; RM, maximum repetition; CRP, C-reactive protein; hsCRP, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein; TNF- α , tumor necrosis factor alpha; IL-6, interleukin 6; IL-1 β , interleukin 1 beta; IL-4, interleukin 4; IL-10, interleukin 10; IL-15, interleukin 15; IL-18, interleukin 18; IFN- γ , interferon gamma; NF- κ B1, nuclear factor-kappa B; MCP-1, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1; sCD163, soluble CD163; NLRP3, NLR family pyrin domain containing 3

(Annibalini et al. 2017). However, when combining RT with vigorous continuous training, the Italian Diabetes and Exercise Study found no changes in IL-6, but did observe decreases in CRP (Balducci et al. 2010).

Although exercise does improve inflammatory biomarkers, the type, intensity, duration, and frequency of exercise to achieve these improvements is still not clear. It is important to highlight that many of the anti-inflammatory benefits of exercise are mediated by changes in body weight and body composition. For example, no changes were found in TNF- α and CRP after 6 months of aerobic training 2 times per week in individuals with T2DM without weight loss (Zoppini et al. 2006). Alternatively, individuals with T2DM who performed aerobic training for 12 weeks, lost body weight while also decreasing their levels of TNF-α and CRP compared to non-exercising controls (Abd El-Kader and Saiem Al-Dahr 2016). Beyond total body weight loss, alterations in body composition with decreasing proportions of body fat can also be involved in the exercise-induced alterations on inflammatory biomarkers. For instance, despite no changes in overall body weight, a greater effect size for improvements in inflammatory biomarkers following 1-year of exercise training was observed in the group of individuals with T2DM who had decreases in abdominal and total body fat mass compared to the group without significant improvements (Magalhães et al. 2020).

Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions

Beyond T2DM, lipid and inflammatory profiles also play a major role in the pathogenesis of other diseases such as that of cardiovascular disease. For instance, the atherosclerotic process begins by lipoprotein-driven inflammation, which involves LDL-C penetrating into the intima tunica of the artery walls, where it undergoes oxidation and/or enzymatic modifications, triggering an immune

response with the activation and recruitment of monocytes/macrophages and T cells. Monocytes adhere to activated endothelial cells and infiltrate the vessel wall, becoming lesional macrophages that engulf the oxidized and modified LDL-C. These lipid-laden macrophages, otherwise known as foam cells, as well as other resident cells, eventually die further propagating the inflammatory process. Cyto-kines secreted by damaged endothelial cells promote smooth muscle cell proliferation and migration from the tunica media into the intima, forming of a fibrous capsule covering the foam cells and necrotic cell debris. Unstable fibrous plaque eventually rupture, leading to thrombosis and occlusions to the artery (Seidman et al. 2014).

Similar to T2DM, exercise induced alterations to the lipid profile and inflammatory biomarkers can aid in the treatment and management of cardiovascular disease. As discussed in this chapter, regular exercise can reduce the proportion of proversus anti-inflammatory monocytes in the blood by decreasing their expression of toll-like receptors (TLR) that instigate downstream pro-inflammatory cytokine production (Skinner et al. 2005; Stewart et al. 2005; Gleeson et al. 2011). Given that pro-inflammatory monocytes (i.e., CD14^{low}CD16⁺) have a stronger propensity to adhere to activated arterial endothelial cells and become classically activated M1 macrophages that secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines, exercise can play a pivotal role in detaining and reversing the continued pro-inflammatory cascade that leads to further arterial damage and plaque development (Troseid et al. 2004; Colin et al. 2014). Moreover, as previously mentioned, exercise can increase lipoprotein lipase activity and FFA oxidation capacity, thus regulating the circulating lipoprotein profile, including that of LDL-C, and improving the overall risk of cardiovascular disease.

Walking alongside cardiovascular diseases, there are other chronic diseases, such as cancer and neurodegenerative diseases, that fall under the prophylactic umbrella of physical exercise. When looking at the modern challenges of the human species, the role of exercise has a therapeutic tool for chronic disease prevention and improving overall quality of life is now more important than ever. In fact, there are several investigations currently undergoing in both humans and in the animal model, exploring the molecular transducers and overall mechanisms underlying the benefits of a physically active lifestyle on chronic diseases, which will ultimately improve our understating of this intricate relationship.

Conclusion

With this chapter, we provided an overview on the treatment regimes in T2DM, specifically that of exercise, and its impact on the inflammatory and lipid profile, which are two of the most rapidly growing fields of research. Despite the well-known benefits of exercise for all population segments, and especially for those with T2DM, its widespread use in a clinical and day-to-day setting is far from ideal. In fact, when considering the latest challenges imposed by our modern society, it is clear that lifestyle interventions, where exercise is used as a cornerstone strategy, are

paramount for the control and treatment of T2DM. It is with this intent that this chapter provides the latest developments on the relationship between exercise and lipid biomarkers, such as lipid intermediates, and muscle and liver ectopic fat, as well as the most studied inflammatory biomarkers (i.e., IL-6, IL-1 β , and TNF- α). Given that in the last decade we witness a rise in the amount of new health-related biomarkers, as a consequence of the advent of mass spectrometry-based proteomics, it is expected that we will continue to observe the same trend in the future. Therefore, RCT-designed interventions should take advantage and study the effects of exercise on these biomarkers, in order to explore new therapeutic targets and solutions for the treatment and control of T2DM.

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

- Adipo-myokine. Small peptide secreted by both the adipose tissue or muscle cells that facilitate the interaction and communication between cells either through autocrine (self), paracrine (nearby cells), and/or endocrine (distant cells) action (e.g., IL-6).
- Athlete paradox. Phenomenon observed in endurance-trained athletes, who have high insulin sensitivity and oxidative capacity despite elevated levels of intramyocellular lipids and lipid intermediates (e.g., DAG, ceramides).
- **Cytokine.** Small peptide secreted by immune cells that facilitate the interaction and communication between cells either through autocrine (self), paracrine (nearby cells), and/or endocrine (distant cells) action (e.g., tumor necrosis factor alpha, interleukin-1 beta, interleukin-6).
- Lipid intermediates. Bioactive lipid species or metabolites formed during free fatty acid (FFA) metabolism, which are thought to mediate lipid-induced insulin resistance (e.g., diacylglycerol (DAG), sphingolipids, long-chain acyl-CoAs, acylcarnitines).
- **Lipoprotein.** Macromolecular particles originating from the liver (i.e., VLDL) and intestine (i.e., chylomicron) that facilitate the transport of cholesterol and triglycerides through the blood to other tissues of the body.
- **Metabolic flexibility.** Ability of cells to quickly respond or adapt their sources of fuel for oxidation to conditional changes in metabolic or energy demands.
- **Myokine.** Small peptide secreted by skeletal muscle in response to muscular contractions that communicate between muscle and other organs via autocrine (self), paracrine (nearby cells), and/or endocrine (distant cells) action (e.g., interleukin-6, interleukin-4, interleukin-7, interleukin 15, leukemia inhibitory factor, brainderived neurotrophic factor).
- **Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD).** Ectopic accumulation of fat in the liver, which is a common comorbidity coexisting in ~70% of individuals with T2DM
- **Type 2 diabetes mellitus.** A noncommunicable chronic disease characterized by resistance to the peripheral actions of insulin as well as impairments in insulin secretion by the pancreas.

Key Facts on Exercise and the Lipid Profile

- Exercise optimizes mitochondrial capacity to switch between oxidative fuels in response to nutritional and physiological cues, thus enhancing overall metabolic flexibility.
- Exercise promotes intramuscular lipid (IMCL) usage through increasing the rate of FFA oxidation and by the rearrangement of intramuscular lipid droplets from the subsarcolemmal to the intramyofibrillar space to be closer to the mitochondria.
- Exercise increases diacylglycerol (DAG) sn-2,3 and sn-1,3 via the increase utilization of IMCL, hence, decreasing DAG sn-1,2 with possible implications in increased insulin sensitivity.
- Exercise increases lipoprotein lipase (LPL) activity and, thus, TG removal from the circulation to skeletal muscle TG.
- Exercise promotes whole body insulin sensitivity resulting in insulin-stimulated suppression of lipolysis in adipose tissue, insulin-stimulated uptake of glucose and fatty acids by the muscle, and the reduction of de novo lipogenesis by the liver.

Key Facts on Exercise and Inflammation

- Acute exercise promotes the production and secretion of IL-6 from skeletal muscle cells, which has anti-inflammatory effects through stimulating IL-10 production and IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra).
- Alongside IL-6, exercise promotes the upregulation of IL-15 and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), all of which help in regulating lipid and adipose tissue metabolism.
- Exercise reduces circulating levels of pro-inflammatory monocytes (i.e., CD14lowCD16+).
- Exercise has an indirect anti-inflammatory effect through the reduction of visceral fat and by promoting the secretion of myokines involved in muscle growth and repair (i.e., IL-15, IL-6, myostatin, IL-7, IL-4, and the leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF)).

Summary Points

- Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) is a noncommunicable chronic disease in which the lipid and inflammatory profiles play a major role in its pathophysiology and progression.
- One of the main hallmarks of T2DM is the accumulation of lipids in the liver and muscle when the buffering capacity of adipose tissue to store fatty acids is exceeded due to increased energy intake and reduced physical activity.

- Local adipose tissue dysfunction leads to impaired lipid profiles, characterized by elevated circulating levels of free fatty acids, as well as the accumulation of deleterious lipid intermediates including the diacylglycerols (DAG), sphingolipids (e.g., ceramides), and polar lipids (e.g., long-chain acyl-CoAs (LCA-CoA) and acylcarnitine).
- Local hypoxia and adipocyte apoptosis occurring in dysfunctional adipose tissue as well as the presence of lipid intermediates signal for the recruitment of immune cells, which are responsible for inducing the low-grade chronic inflammation associated with obesity-linked insulin resistance and T2DM.
- Exercise can counter lipotoxicity and improve overall insulin resistance through its action on the classic lipid biomarkers, intramuscular lipid characteristics, as well as on the lipid intermediates.
- Exercise can have both direct and indirect effects on the inflammatory milieu through reducing visceral adipose tissue by promoting a negative energy balance and through enhancing the secretion of anti-inflammatory myokines.
- The ultimate type, duration, frequency, and intensity of exercise for achieving the ultimate benefits on the lipid and inflammatory profiles in individuals with T2DM still remains to be elucidated.

References

- Abd El-Kader SM, Saiem Al-Dahr MH. Impact of weight loss on oxidative stress and inflammatory cytokines in obese type 2 diabetic patients. Afr Health Sci. 2016;16(3):725–33.
- Abdulhamied Alfaddagh SSM, Leucker TM, Michos ED, Blaha MJ, Lowenstein CJ, Jones SR, Toth PP. Inflammation and cardiovascular disease: from mechanisms to therapeutics. Am J Prev Cardiol. 2020;4
- Adiels M, Taskinen MR, Boren J. Fatty liver, insulin resistance, and dyslipidemia. Curr Diab Rep. 2008;8(1):60–4.
- Akbari M, Hassan-Zadeh V. IL-6 signalling pathways and the development of type 2 diabetes. Inflammopharmacology. 2018;26(3):685–98.
- Amati F, Dube JJ, Alvarez-Carnero E, Edreira MM, Chomentowski P, Coen PM, Switzer GE, Bickel PE, Stefanovic-Racic M, Toledo FG, Goodpaster BH. Skeletal muscle triglycerides, diacylglycerols, and ceramides in insulin resistance: another paradox in endurance-trained athletes? Diabetes. 2011;60(10):2588–97.
- Annibalini G, Lucertini F, Agostini D, Vallorani L, Gioacchini A, Barbieri E, Guescini M, Casadei L, Passalia A, Del Sal M, Piccoli G, Andreani M, Federici A, Stocchi V. Concurrent aerobic and resistance training has anti-inflammatory effects and increases both plasma and leukocyte levels of IGF-1 in late middle-aged type 2 diabetic patients. Oxidative Med Cell Longev. 2017;2017:3937842.
- Arslan M, Ipekci SH, Kebapcilar L, Dogan Dede N, Kurban S, Erbay E, Gonen MS. Effect of Aerobic Exercise Training on MDA and TNF-α Levels in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. Int Sch Res Notices. 2014;21(2014):820387.
- Balducci S, D'Errico V, Haxhi J, Sacchetti M, Orlando G, Cardelli P, Vitale M, Bollanti L, Conti F, Zanuso S, Nicolucci A, Pugliese G. Italian Diabetes and Exercise Study 2 (IDES_2) Investigators. Effect of a Behavioral Intervention Strategy for Adoption and Maintenance of a Physically Active Lifestyle: The Italian Diabetes and Exercise Study 2 (IDES_2): A Randomized Controlled Trial. Diabetes Care. 2017;40(11):1444–52.

- Balducci S, Zanuso S, Nicolucci A, Fernando F, Cavallo S, Cardelli P, Fallucca S, Alessi E, Letizia C, Jimenez A, Fallucca F, Pugliese G. Anti-inflammatory effect of exercise training in subjects with type 2 diabetes and the metabolic syndrome is dependent on exercise modalities and independent of weight loss. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2010;20(8):608–17.
- Banitalebi E, Kazemi A, Faramarzi M, Nasiri S, Haghighi MM. Effects of sprint interval or combined aerobic and resistance training on myokines in overweight women with type 2 diabetes: A randomized controlled trial. Life Sci. 2019;217:101–9.
- Bays HE. Adiposopathy is "sick fat" a cardiovascular disease? J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011;57(25): 2461–73.
- Belli T, Ribeiro LF, Ackermann MA, Baldissera V, Gobatto CA, Galdino da Silva R. Effects of 12week overground walking training at ventilatory threshold velocity in type 2 diabetic women. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2011;93(3):337–43.
- Bergman BC, Goodpaster BH. Exercise and muscle lipid content, composition, and localization: influence on muscle insulin sensitivity. Diabetes. 2020;69(5):848–58.
- Bergman BC, Brozinick JT, Strauss A, Bacon S, Kerege A, Bui HH, Sanders P, Siddall P, Wei T, Thomas MK, Kuo MS, Perreault L. Muscle sphingolipids during rest and exercise: a C18: 0 signature for insulin resistance in humans. Diabetologia. 2016;59(4):785–98.
- Bergman BC, Perreault L, Strauss A, Bacon S, Kerege A, Harrison K, Brozinick JT, Hunerdosse DM, Playdon MC, Holmes W, Bui HH, Sanders P, Siddall P, Wei T, Thomas MK, Kuo MS, Eckel RH. Intramuscular triglyceride synthesis: importance in muscle lipid partitioning in humans. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2018;314(2):E152–64.
- Bosma M, Kersten S, Hesselink MK, Schrauwen P. Re-evaluating lipotoxic triggers in skeletal muscle: relating intramyocellular lipid metabolism to insulin sensitivity. Prog Lipid Res. 2012;51(1):36–49.
- Bouzakri K, Plomgaard P, Berney T, Donath MY, Pedersen BK, Halban PA. Bimodal effect on pancreatic beta-cells of secretory products from normal or insulin-resistant human skeletal muscle. Diabetes. 2011;60(4):1111–21.
- Brouwers B, Hesselink MK, Schrauwen P, Schrauwen-Hinderling VB. Effects of exercise training on intrahepatic lipid content in humans. Diabetologia. 2016;59(10):2068–79.
- Bruce CR, Kriketos AD, Cooney GJ, Hawley JA. Disassociation of muscle triglyceride content and insulin sensitivity after exercise training in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2004;47(1):23–30.
- Bruunsgaard H, Galbo H, Halkjaer-Kristensen J, Johansen TL, MacLean DA, Pedersen BK. Exercise-induced increase in serum interleukin-6 in humans is related to muscle damage. J Physiol. 1997;499(Pt 3):833–41.
- Cantley JL, Yoshimura T, Camporez JP, Zhang D, Jornayvaz FR, Kumashiro N, Guebre-Egziabher-F, Jurczak MJ, Kahn M, Guigni BA, Serr J, Hankin J, Murphy RC, Cline GW, Bhanot S, Manchem VP, Brown JM, Samuel VT, Shulman GI. CGI-58 knockdown sequesters diacylglycerols in lipid droplets/ER-preventing diacylglycerol-mediated hepatic insulin resistance. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110(5):1869–74.
- Coen PM, Menshikova EV, Distefano G, Zheng D, Tanner CJ, Standley RA, Helbling NL, Dubis GS, Ritov VB, Xie H, Desimone ME, Smith SR, Stefanovic-Racic M, Toledo FG, Houmard JA, Goodpaster BH. Exercise and weight loss improve muscle mitochondrial respiration, lipid partitioning, and insulin sensitivity after gastric bypass surgery. Diabetes. 2015;64(11):3737–50.
- Colin S, Chinetti-Gbaguidi G, Staels B. Macrophage phenotypes in atherosclerosis. Immunol Rev. 2014;262(1):153–66.
- Couffinhal T, Duplaa C, Labat L, Lamaziere JM, Moreau C, Printseva O, Bonnet J. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha stimulates ICAM-1 expression in human vascular smooth muscle cells. Arterioscler Thromb. 1993;13(3):407–14.
- Dadrass A, Mohamadzadeh Salamat K, Hamidi K, Azizbeigi K. Anti-inflammatory effects of vitamin D and resistance training in men with type 2 diabetes mellitus and vitamin D deficiency: a randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled clinical trial. J Diabetes Metab Disord. 2019;18(2):323–31.
- de Oliveira VN, Bessa A, Jorge ML, Oliveira RJ, de Mello MT, De Agostini GG, Jorge PT, Espindola FS. The effect of different training programs on antioxidant status, oxidative stress, and metabolic control in type 2 diabetes. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab. 2012;37(2):334–44.

- Dehghan F, Soori R, Gholami K, Abolmaesoomi M, Yusof A, Muniandy S, Heidarzadeh S, Farzanegi P, Ali Azarbayjani M. Purslane (Portulaca oleracea) seed consumption and aerobic training improves biomarkers associated with atherosclerosis in women with type 2 diabetes (T2D). Sci Rep. 2016;6:37819.
- Despres JP, Moorjani S, Lupien PJ, Tremblay A, Nadeau A, Bouchard C. Regional distribution of body fat, plasma lipoproteins, and cardiovascular disease. Arteriosclerosis. 1990;10(4):497–511.
- Dinarello CA. The interleukin-1 family: 10 years of discovery. FASEB J. 1994;8(15):1314-25.
- Dinarello CA, Donath MY, Mandrup-Poulsen T. Role of IL-1beta in type 2 diabetes. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes. 2010;17(4):314–21.
- Donath MY, Dalmas E, Sauter NS, Boni-Schnetzler M. Inflammation in obesity and diabetes: islet dysfunction and therapeutic opportunity. Cell Metab. 2013;17(6):860–72.
- Dror E, Dalmas E, Meier DT, Wueest S, Thevenet J, Thienel C, Timper K, Nordmann TM, Traub S, Schulze F, Item F, Vallois D, Pattou F, Kerr-Conte J, Lavallard V, Berney T, Thorens B, Konrad D, Boni-Schnetzler M, Donath MY. Postprandial macrophage-derived IL-1beta stimulates insulin, and both synergistically promote glucose disposal and inflammation. Nat Immunol. 2017;18(3):283–92.
- Ellingsgaard H, Ehses JA, Hammar EB, Van Lommel L, Quintens R, Martens G, Kerr-Conte J, Pattou F, Berney T, Pipeleers D, Halban PA, Schuit FC, Donath MY. Interleukin-6 regulates pancreatic alpha-cell mass expansion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105(35):13163–8.
- Emerging Risk Factors, C, Kaptoge S, Di Angelantonio E, Pennells L, Wood AM, White IR, Gao P, Walker M, Thompson A, Sarwar N, Caslake M, Butterworth AS, Amouyel P, Assmann G, Bakker SJ, Barr EL, Barrett-Connor E, Benjamin EJ, Bjorkelund C, Brenner H, Brunner E, Clarke R, Cooper JA, Cremer P, Cushman M, Dagenais GR, D'Agostino RB Sr, Dankner R, Davey-Smith G, Deeg D, Dekker JM, Engstrom G, Folsom AR, Fowkes FG, Gallacher J, Gaziano JM, Giampaoli S, Gillum RF, Hofman A, Howard BV, Ingelsson E, Iso H, Jorgensen T, Kiechl S, Kitamura A, Kiyohara Y, Koenig W, Kromhout D, Kuller LH, Lawlor DA, Meade TW, Nissinen A, Nordestgaard BG, Onat A, Panagiotakos DB, Psaty BM, Rodriguez B, Rosengren A, Salomaa V, Kauhanen J, Salonen JT, Shaffer JA, Shea S, Ford I, Stehouwer CD, Strandberg TE, Tipping RW, Tosetto A, Wassertheil-Smoller S, Wennberg P, Westendorp RG, Whincup PH, Wilhelmsen L, Woodward M, Lowe GD, Wareham NJ, Khaw KT, Sattar N, Packard CJ, Gudnason V, Ridker PM, Pepys MB, Thompson SG, Danesh J. C-reactive protein, fibrinogen, and cardiovascular disease prediction. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(14):1310–20.
- Fingerle-Rowson G, Angstwurm M, Andreesen R, Ziegler-Heitbrock HW. Selective depletion of CD14+ CD16+ monocytes by glucocorticoid therapy. Clin Exp Immunol. 1998;112(3):501–6.
- Fritzen AM, Lundsgaard AM, Kiens B. Tuning fatty acid oxidation in skeletal muscle with dietary fat and exercise. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2020;16(12):683–96.
- Fujioka S, Matsuzawa Y, Tokunaga K, Tarui S. Contribution of intra-abdominal fat accumulation to the impairment of glucose and lipid metabolism in human obesity. Metabolism. 1987;36(1):54–9.
- Gemmink A, Schrauwen P, Hesselink MKC. Exercising your fat (metabolism) into shape: a musclecentred view. Diabetologia. 2020;63(8):1453–63.
- Gleeson M, Bishop NC, Stensel DJ, Lindley MR, Mastana SS, Nimmo MA. The anti-inflammatory effects of exercise: mechanisms and implications for the prevention and treatment of disease. Nat Rev Immunol. 2011;11(9):607–15.
- Goodpaster BH, He J, Watkins S, Kelley DE. Skeletal muscle lipid content and insulin resistance: evidence for a paradox in endurance-trained athletes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2001;86(12): 5755–61.
- Graf C, Ferrari N. Metabolic health-the role of Adipo-Myokines. Int J Mol Sci. 2019;20(24)
- Hajmrle C, Smith N, Spigelman AF, Dai X, Senior L, Bautista A, Ferdaoussi M, MacDonald PE. Interleukin-1 signaling contributes to acute islet compensation. JCI Insight. 2016;1(4):e86055.
- Han MS, White A, Perry RJ, Camporez JP, Hidalgo J, Shulman GI, Davis RJ. Regulation of adipose tissue inflammation by interleukin 6. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2020;117(6):2751–60.
- Haus JM, Solomon TP, Kelly KR, Fealy CE, Kullman EL, Scelsi AR, Lu L, Pagadala MR, McCullough AJ, Flask CA, Kirwan JP. Improved hepatic lipid composition following shortterm exercise in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013;98(7):E1181–8.

- Herder C, Dalmas E, Boni-Schnetzler M, Donath MY. The IL-1 pathway in type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular complications. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2015;26(10):551–63.
- Heymsfield SB, Wadden TA. Mechanisms, pathophysiology, and Management of Obesity. N Engl J Med. 2017;376(3):254–66.
- Hotamisligil GS, Arner P, Caro JF, Atkinson RL, Spiegelman BM. Increased adipose tissue expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in human obesity and insulin resistance. J Clin Invest. 1995;95(5):2409–15.
- Jager J, Gremeaux T, Cormont M, Le Marchand-Brustel Y, Tanti JF. Interleukin-1beta-induced insulin resistance in adipocytes through down-regulation of insulin receptor substrate-1 expression. Endocrinology. 2007;148(1):241–51.
- Jorge ML, de Oliveira VN, Resende NM, Paraiso LF, Calixto A, Diniz AL, Resende ES, Ropelle ER, Carvalheira JB, Espindola FS, Jorge PT, Geloneze B. The effects of aerobic, resistance, and combined exercise on metabolic control, inflammatory markers, adipocytokines, and muscle insulin signaling in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Metabolism. 2011;60(9):1244–52.
- Kadoglou NP, Iliadis F, Angelopoulou N, Perrea D, Ampatzidis G, Liapis CD, Alevizos M. The anti-inflammatory effects of exercise training in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil. 2007;14(6):837–43.
- Kadoglou NP, Iliadis F, Sailer N, Athanasiadou Z, Vitta I, Kapelouzou A, Karayannacos PE, Liapis CD, Alevizos M, Angelopoulou N, Vrabas IS. Exercise training ameliorates the effects of rosiglitazone on traditional and novel cardiovascular risk factors in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Metabolism. 2010;59(4):599–607.
- Kadoglou NP, Fotiadis G, Athanasiadou Z, Vitta I, Lampropoulos S, Vrabas IS. The effects of resistance training on ApoB/ApoA-I ratio, Lp(a) and inflammatory markers in patients with type 2 diabetes. Endocrine. 2012;42(3):561–9.
- Karimi H, Rehman SSU, Gillani SA. Effects of Supervised Structured Aerobic Exercise Training Program on Interleukin-6, Nitric Oxide Synthase-1, and Cyclooxygenase-2 in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak. 2017;27(6):352–5.
- Khan SU, Ghafoor S. Myokines: discovery challenges and therapeutic impediments. J Pak Med Assoc. 2019;69(7):1014–7.
- Kim HJ, Higashimori T, Park SY, Choi H, Dong J, Kim YJ, Noh HL, Cho YR, Cline G, Kim YB, Kim JK. Differential effects of interleukin-6 and -10 on skeletal muscle and liver insulin action in vivo. Diabetes. 2004;53(4):1060–7.
- Kim SH, Lee SH, Ahn KY, Lee DH, Suh YJ, Cho SG, Choi YJ, Lee SY, Hong SB, Kim YS, Jeon JY, Nam M. Effect of lifestyle modification on serum chemerin concentration and its association with insulin sensitivity in overweight and obese adults with type 2 diabetes. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2014;80(6):825–33.
- Kumashiro N, Erion DM, Zhang D, Kahn M, Beddow SA, Chu X, Still CD, Gerhard GS, Han X, Dziura J, Petersen KF, Samuel VT, Shulman GI. Cellular mechanism of insulin resistance in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2011;108(39):16381–5.
- Lagathu C, Bastard JP, Auclair M, Maachi M, Capeau J, Caron M. Chronic interleukin-6 (IL-6) treatment increased IL-6 secretion and induced insulin resistance in adipocyte: prevention by rosiglitazone. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2003;311(2):372–9.
- Li LO, Grevengoed TJ, Paul DS, Ilkayeva O, Koves TR, Pascual F, Newgard CB, Muoio DM, Coleman RA. Compartmentalized acyl-CoA metabolism in skeletal muscle regulates systemic glucose homeostasis. Diabetes. 2015;64(1):23–35.
- Magalhães JP, Santos DA, Correia IR, Hetherington-Rauth M, Ribeiro R, Raposo JF, Matos A, Bicho MD, Sardinha LB. Impact of combined training with different exercise intensities on inflammatory and lipid markers in type 2 diabetes: a secondary analysis from a 1-year randomized controlled trial. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2020;19(1):169.
- Metcalfe LK, Smith GC, Turner N. Defining lipid mediators of insulin resistance controversies and challenges. J Mol Endocrinol. 2018;
- Mitranun W, Deerochanawong C, Tanaka H, Suksom D. Continuous vs interval training on glycemic control and macro- and microvascular reactivity in type 2 diabetic patients. Scand J Med Sci Sports. 2014;24(2):e69–76.

- Murano I, Barbatelli G, Parisani V, Latini C, Muzzonigro G, Castellucci M, Cinti S. Dead adipocytes, detected as crown-like structures, are prevalent in visceral fat depots of genetically obese mice. J Lipid Res. 2008;49(7):1562–8.
- Nielsen S, Guo ZK, Johnson CM, Hensrud DD, Jensen MD. Splanchnic lipolysis in human obesity. J Clin Investig. 2004;113(11):1582–8.
- Opp MR, Smith EM, Hughes TK Jr. Interleukin-10 (cytokine synthesis inhibitory factor) acts in the central nervous system of rats to reduce sleep. J Neuroimmunol. 1995;60(1–2):165–8.
- Ostrowski K, Rohde T, Asp S, Schjerling P, Pedersen BK. Pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokine balance in strenuous exercise in humans. J Physiol. 1999;515(Pt 1):287–91.
- Ozcan U, Cao Q, Yilmaz E, Lee AH, Iwakoshi NN, Ozdelen E, Tuncman G, Gorgun C, Glimcher LH, Hotamisligil GS. Endoplasmic reticulum stress links obesity, insulin action, and type 2 diabetes. Science. 2004;306(5695):457–61.
- Pedersen BK. The anti-inflammatory effect of exercise: its role in diabetes and cardiovascular disease control. Essays Biochem. 2006;42:105–17.
- Pedersen BK. The diseasome of physical inactivity and the role of myokines in muscle fat cross talk. J Physiol. 2009;587(Pt 23):5559–68.
- Pedersen BK. Anti-inflammatory effects of exercise: role in diabetes and cardiovascular disease. Eur J Clin Investig. 2017;47(8):600–11.
- Pedersen BK, Febbraio MA. Muscle as an endocrine organ: focus on muscle-derived interleukin-6. Physiol Rev. 2008;88(4):1379–406.
- Petersen MC, Shulman GI. Mechanisms of insulin action and insulin resistance. Physiol Rev. 2018;98(4):2133–223.
- Petersen MC, Madiraju AK, Gassaway BM, Marcel M, Nasiri AR, Butrico G, Marcucci MJ, Zhang D, Abulizi A, Zhang XM, Philbrick W, Hubbard SR, Jurczak MJ, Samuel VT, Rinehart J, Shulman GI. Insulin receptor Thr1160 phosphorylation mediates lipid-induced hepatic insulin resistance. J Clin Invest. 2016;126(11):4361–71.
- Rahbar S, Naimi S, Soltani A, Rahimi A, Akbarzadeh Baghban A, Rashedi V, Tavakkoli H. Improvement in biochemical parameters in patients with type 2 diabetes after twenty-four sessions of aerobic exercise: A randomized controlled trial. Iranian Red Crescent Medical Journal. 2017;19(7):e13931–9.
- Rando RR, Young N. The stereospecific activation of protein kinase C. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1984;122(2):818–23.
- Rech A, Botton CE, Lopez P, Quincozes-Santos A, Umpierre D, Pinto RS. Effects of short-term resistance training on endothelial function and inflammation markers in elderly patients with type 2 diabetes: a randomized controlled trial. Exp Gerontol. 2019;118:19–25.
- Ross R, Neeland IJ, Yamashita S, Shai I, Seidell J, Magni P, Santos RD, Arsenault B, Cuevas A, Hu FB, Griffin BA, Zambon A, Barter P, Fruchart JC, Eckel RH, Matsuzawa Y, Despres JP. Waist circumference as a vital sign in clinical practice: a consensus statement from the IAS and ICCR working group on visceral obesity. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2020;16(3):177–89.
- Rotter Sopasakis V, Larsson BM, Johansson A, Holmang A, Smith U. Short-term infusion of interleukin-6 does not induce insulin resistance in vivo or impair insulin signalling in rats. Diabetologia. 2004;47(11):1879–87.
- Ryan BJ, Schleh MW, Ahn C, Ludzki AC, Gillen JB, Varshney P, Van Pelt DW, Pitchford LM, Chenevert TL, Gioscia-Ryan RA, Howton SM, Rode T, Hummel SL, Burant CF, Little JP, Horowitz JF. Moderate-intensity exercise and high-intensity interval training affect insulin sensitivity similarly in obese adults. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2020;105(8)
- Sabag A, Way KL, Sultana RN, Keating SE, Gerofi JA, Chuter VH, Byrne NM, Baker MK, George J, Caterson ID, Twigg SM, Johnson NA. The effect of a novel low-volume aerobic exercise intervention on liver fat in type 2 diabetes: a randomized controlled trial. Diabetes Care. 2020;43(10):2371–8.
- Saghebjoo M, Nezamdoost Z, Ahmadabadi F, Saffari I, Hamidi A. The effect of 12 weeks of aerobic training on serum levels high sensitivity C-reactive protein, tumor necrosis factor-alpha, lipid profile and anthropometric characteristics in middle-age women patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Metab Syndr. 2018;12(2):163–8.

- Sartipy P, Loskutoff DJ. Monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 in obesity and insulin resistance. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2003;100(12):7265–70.
- Schmitz-Peiffer C, Browne CL, Oakes ND, Watkinson A, Chisholm DJ, Kraegen EW, Biden TJ. Alterations in the expression and cellular localization of protein kinase C isozymes epsilon and theta are associated with insulin resistance in skeletal muscle of the high-fat-fed rat. Diabetes. 1997;46(2):169–78.
- Seidman MA, Mitchell RN, Stone JR. Chapter 12 Pathophysiology of atherosclerosis. In: Willis MS, Homeister JW, Stone JR, editors. Cellular and molecular pathobiology of cardiovascular disease. San Diego: Academic; 2014. p. 221–37.
- Shakil-ur-Rehman S, Karimi H, Amir Gillani S, Amjad I, Ahmad S, Yaseen A. Response to a supervised structured aerobic exercise training program in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus e does gender make a difference? A randomized controlled clinical trial. J Natl Med Assoc. 2017. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmma.2017.10.003.
- Shepherd SO, Cocks M, Meikle PJ, Mellett NA, Ranasinghe AM, Barker TA, Wagenmakers AJM, Shaw CS. Lipid droplet remodelling and reduced muscle ceramides following sprint interval and moderate-intensity continuous exercise training in obese males. Int J Obes. 2017;41(12):1745–54.
- Sixt S, Beer S, Blüher M, Korff N, Peschel T, Sonnabend M, Teupser D, Thiery J, Adams V, Schuler G, Niebauer J. Long- but not short-term multifactorial intervention with focus on exercise training improves coronary endothelial dysfunction in diabetes mellitus type 2 and coronary artery disease. Eur Heart J. 2010;31(1):112–9.
- Skinner NA, MacIsaac CM, Hamilton JA, Visvanathan K. Regulation of toll-like receptor (TLR)2 and TLR4 on CD14dimCD16+ monocytes in response to sepsis-related antigens. Clin Exp Immunol. 2005;141(2):270–8.
- Sokolowska E, Blachnio-Zabielska A. The role of ceramides in insulin resistance. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2019;10:577.
- Sproston NR, Ashworth JJ. Role of C-reactive protein at sites of inflammation and infection. Front Immunol. 2018;9:754.
- Steensberg A, Fischer CP, Keller C, Moller K, Pedersen BK. IL-6 enhances plasma IL-1ra, IL-10, and cortisol in humans. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2003;285(2):E433–7.
- Stewart LK, Flynn MG, Campbell WW, Craig BA, Robinson JP, McFarlin BK, Timmerman KL, Coen PM, Felker J, Talbert E. Influence of exercise training and age on CD14+ cell-surface expression of toll-like receptor 2 and 4. Brain Behav Immun. 2005;19(5):389–97.
- Strissel KJ, Stancheva Z, Miyoshi H, Perfield JW 2nd, DeFuria J, Jick Z, Greenberg AS, Obin MS. Adipocyte death, adipose tissue remodeling, and obesity complications. Diabetes. 2007;56(12):2910–8.
- Tarnopolsky MA, Rennie CD, Robertshaw HA, Fedak-Tarnopolsky SN, Devries MC, Hamadeh MJ. Influence of endurance exercise training and sex on intramyocellular lipid and mitochondrial ultrastructure, substrate use, and mitochondrial enzyme activity. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2007;292(3):R1271–8.
- Taskinen MR, Boren J. New insights into the pathophysiology of dyslipidemia in type 2 diabetes. Atherosclerosis. 2015;239(2):483–95.
- Tchernof A, Despres JP. Pathophysiology of human visceral obesity: an update. Physiol Rev. 2013;93(1):359–404.
- Thrush AB, Harasim E, Chabowski A, Gulli R, Stefanyk L, Dyck DJ. A single prior bout of exercise protects against palmitate-induced insulin resistance despite an increase in total ceramide content. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2011;300(5):R1200–8.
- Thyfault JP, Cree MG, Tapscott EB, Bell JA, Koves TR, Ilkayeva O, Wolfe RR, Dohm GL, Muoio DM. Metabolic profiling of muscle contraction in lean compared with obese rodents. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2010;299(3):R926–34.
- Toledo FG, Menshikova EV, Azuma K, Radikova Z, Kelley CA, Ritov VB, Kelley DE. Mitochondrial capacity in skeletal muscle is not stimulated by weight loss despite increases in insulin action and decreases in intramyocellular lipid content. Diabetes. 2008;57(4):987–94.

- Troseid M, Lappegard KT, Claudi T, Damas JK, Morkrid L, Brendberg R, Mollnes TE. Exercise reduces plasma levels of the chemokines MCP-1 and IL-8 in subjects with the metabolic syndrome. Eur Heart J. 2004;25(4):349–55.
- Turinsky J, Bayly BP, O'Sullivan DM. 1,2-Diacylglycerol and ceramide levels in rat skeletal muscle and liver in vivo. Studies with insulin, exercise, muscle denervation, and vasopressin. J Biol Chem. 1990;265(14):7933–8.
- Ussher JR. The role of incomplete fatty acid β-oxidation in the development of cardiac insulin resistance. In: Lopaschuk GD, Dhalla NS, editors. Cardiac energy metabolism in health and disease. New York: Springer; 2014. p. 221–34.
- van der Poll T, Coyle SM, Barbosa K, Braxton CC, Lowry SF. Epinephrine inhibits tumor necrosis factor-alpha and potentiates interleukin 10 production during human endotoxemia. J Clin Invest. 1996;97(3):713–9.
- Vandanmagsar B, Youm YH, Ravussin A, Galgani JE, Stadler K, Mynatt RL, Ravussin E, Stephens JM, Dixit VD. The NLRP3 inflammasome instigates obesity-induced inflammation and insulin resistance. Nat Med. 2011;17(2):179–88.
- Wensveen FM, Jelencic V, Valentic S, Sestan M, Wensveen TT, Theurich S, Glasner A, Mendrila D, Stimac D, Wunderlich FT, Bruning JC, Mandelboim O, Polic B. NK cells link obesity-induced adipose stress to inflammation and insulin resistance. Nat Immunol. 2015;16(4):376–85.
- Winding KM, Munch GW, Iepsen UW, Van Hall G, Pedersen BK, Mortensen SP. The effect on glycaemic control of low-volume high-intensity interval training versus endurance training in individuals with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2018;20(5):1131–9.
- Wood G, Murrell A, van der Touw T, Smart N. HIIT is not superior to MICT in altering blood lipids: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ Open Sport Exerc Med. 2019;5(1):e000647.
- Wyble CW, Hynes KL, Kuchibhotla J, Marcus BC, Hallahan D, Gewertz BL. TNF-alpha and IL-1 upregulate membrane-bound and soluble E-selectin through a common pathway. J Surg Res. 1997;73(2):107–12.
- Wycherley TP, Noakes M, Clifton PM, Cleanthous X, Keogh JB, Brinkworth GD. A high-protein diet with resistance exercise training improves weight loss and body composition in overweight and obese patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2010;33(5):969–76.
- Zaidi H, Byrkjeland R, Njerve IU, Åkra S, Solheim S, Arnesen H, Seljeflot I, Opstad TB. Effects of exercise training on inflammasome-related mediators and their associations to glucometabolic variables in patients with combined coronary artery disease and type 2 diabetes mellitus: Substudy of a randomized control trial. Diab Vasc Dis Res. 2019;16(4):360–8.
- Zoppini G, Targher G, Zamboni C, Venturi C, Cacciatori V, Moghetti P, Muggeo M. Effects of moderate-intensity exercise training on plasma biomarkers of inflammation and endothelial dysfunction in older patients with type 2 diabetes. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2006;16(8): 543–9.

Part II

Circulating and Body Fluid Biomarkers: Impact of Diabetes on Pathology



67

Resistin as a Biomarker and Applications to Prediabetes

Seyfettin Üstünsoy

Contents

Introduction	69
Diabetes	69
Prediabetes: Definition and Related Diseases	70
The Role of Adipokines at Energy Balance	71
Resistin As a Biomarker at Different Types of Disease	72
The Association Between Resistin and Prediabetes and Outcomes	76
Conclusion	77
Key Facts of Resistin	78
Summary Points	78
References	78

Abstract

Resistin is a cysteine-rich protein, secreted from mature human adipocytes. Resistin has 108 amino acids. The resistin coding gene area is located on chromosome 19. It has regulatory role in many chronic inflammatory diseases, metabolic diseases, infectious diseases, and cancers. Also, it has modulatory effects on immunity systems via increasing or decreasing the secretion of cytokines, inflammatory and proinflammatory molecules from immune cells. In addition, it has also effects on cancer pathophysiology. To date, the exact role of resistin on metabolism is still limitedly known. The aim of this chapter is to summarize current knowledge about the prediabetes, clinical association of

S. Üstünsoy (🖂)

Department of Central Clinical Biochemistry Laboratory, Private Anadolu Hospital, Silivri/İstanbul, Turkey e-mail: seyfettin.ustunsoy@anadoluhastaneleri.com

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2_4

resistin on diseases, and disease-related mechanisms of resistin. Finally, this review highlights potential diagnostic and therapeutic roles of resistin in inflammatory diseases.

Keywords

Resistin · Prediabetes · Biomarker · Cytokine · Adipokine

Abbreviations	
AD	Alzheimer's disease
ADA	American Diabetes Association
С	Carboxyl
CAC	Coronary Artery Calcification
CAP1	Cyclase-associated protein 1
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
CRCs	Colorectal cancers
CRP	C-reactive protein
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
CVDs	Cardiovascular diseases
EMT	Epithelial to mesenchymal transition
FPG	Fasting Plasma Glucose
HbA1C	Glycosylated hemoglobin
HDL	High density lipoprotein
IFG	Impaired fasting glucose
IGT	Impaired glucose tolerance
IL	Interleukin
IL-6	Interleukin-6
LpPLA2	Lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2
Mg/dl	Milligrams per deciliter
MS	Metabolic syndrome
Ν	Amino
PPARγ	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma
RELMs	Resistin-like molecules
SMM	Skeletal muscle mass
sol ICAM-1	Soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1
sol TNF-R2	Soluble tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor 2
TC	Total cholesterol
TGs	Triglycerides
Type 1 DM	Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus
Type 2 DM	Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus
TZDs	Thiazolidinediones
USA	United States of America
VAT	Visceral adipose tissue
WHO	World Health Organization

Introduction

Resistin is a cysteine-rich protein, expressed in adipocytes. It has regulatory role in many chronic inflammatory diseases, metabolic diseases, infectious diseases, and cancers. Also, it has modulatory effects on immunity systems via increasing or decreasing the secretion of cytokines, inflammatory and proinflammatory molecules from immune cells. In addition, it has also effects on cancer pathophysiology. To date, the exact role of resistin on metabolism is still limitedly known. The aim of this chapter is to summarize current knowledge about prediabetes, clinical association of resistin on diseases, and disease-related mechanisms of resistin. Finally, this review highlights potential diagnostic and therapeutic roles of resistin in inflammatory diseases.

Diabetes

Diabetes is a lifelong chronic disease, which is one of the biggest pandemic public health problems around the world that ranks fifth among the causes of total deaths in the world (Pandey et al. 2015). It is defined as high blood sugar due to inadequate insulin secretion from pancreas beta cells or inadequate cellular response to the plasma insulin. Clinical diagnosis of diabetes is performed via American Diabetes Association (ADA) Criteria for Diabetes, and there are four types of diabetes categorized according to the etiological factors (ADA 2021). Underlying etiology mostly depends on high energy intake and low energy consumption-related situations like obesity and sedentary lifestyle; in addition, genetical and environmental factors also important at diseases development and progression (Moini 2019). Diabetes has a variety of complications, mainly defined in two groups as microvascular and macrovascular with regard to affected vessel diameter. Main microvascular complications are retinopathy, nephropathy, and neuropathy. The major macrovascular complications are strokes, coronary events, and amputations. Both of them are leading causes of morbidity and mortality of diabetic patients decreasing their life quality along with financial burden (Forbes and Cooper 2013). According to the WHO 2021 statistics, estimated diabetic people number increased to the 422 million around the world, generally living at middle or low income countries. Most of them are type 2 diabetics (WHO 2020). The last national diabetes statistics report published by Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) of United States of America (USA) clearly demonstrated the predicted economic burden of diabetes on USA economy. Health care spending of diabetes in USA rose by 26% between 2012 and 2017. Estimated total cost is reached nearly \$403,9 billion annually (O'Connell and Manson 2019; CDC 2020). As a result, diabetes has devastating economic and health problems on both diabetic people with his/her family and public health, in addition governments.

Prediabetes: Definition and Related Diseases

We can simply define the prediabetic patients as whose blood sugar levels are neither at the normal level nor at the diabetic level according to the ADA/WHO criteria for diabetes. According to the ADA, diagnosis of prediabetes is based on the presence of impaired fasting glucose (IFG) (calculated fasting plasma glucose level is between 100 mg/dl and 125 mg/dl) or impaired glucose tolerance (IGT) (calculated second hour plasma glucose level is between 140 mg/dl and 199 mg/dl) during a 75-gram oral glucose tolerance test or hemoglobin A1c level between 5.7% and 6.4% (ADA 2014) (Table 1). The increasing prevalence of prediabetes is a major public health problem that is drawing attention all over the world. However, there is still a debate between WHO and ADA for the exact definition of this term. WHO advices intermediate hyperglycemia term instead of prediabetes, but ADA suggests prediabetes term along with declining top reference level of normal FPG level to the 100 mg/dl (WHO and International Diabetes Federation 2006; ADA 2014).

Detecting prediabetic people is very important, because like diabetic patients, there are close relationships between prediabetes and major public health diseases. In a previous ADA expert panel, the prediabetic individuals' estimated rate for progression to the diabetes was reported as 70% (Eikenberg and Davy 2013). Lightart et al. published a prospective chort study, supporting the ADA expert panel report that calculated the risk of prediabetic people at age 45 years developing diabetes as 74% (Lightart et al. 2016). In addition, people at the prediabetic stage have high risk of developing cardiovascular pathologies when compared to the normoglycemic population. Myocardial infarction, congestive heart failure, and other coronary problems along with hypertension, obesity, and dyslipidemia prevelance is nearly threefold high in prediabetic population than normoglycemic population (Brannick and Dagogo-Jack 2018). Also, another leading cause of total deaths around the world is cancer, which is closely related with the prediabetes. Huang et al. published a recent meta-analysis of 16 prospective cohort studies including 891,426 participants. Their study revealed that prediabetes is a sole factor that increases the risk of cancer development. According to their study prediabetes was significantly associated with increased risks of cancer of the gastrointestinal system (stomach, colorectum, liver, pancreas), breast, and endometrium; nevertheless they could not find a statistically significant relationship with lung, prostate, ovary, kidney, and bladder cancer (Huang et al. 2014). Another important disease group related to the prediabetic is neurological disorders. The exact pathophysiology between

Result	Fasting Plasma Glucose (FPG)	Oral Glucose Tolerance Test (OGTT)	HbA1C (HemoglobinA1c)
Normal	<100 mg/dl	<140 mg/dl	<5.7%
Prediabetes	100 mg/dl to 125 mg/dl	140 mg/dl to 199 mg/dl	5.7-6.4%
Diabetes	126 mg/dl or higher	200 mg/dl or higher	6.5% or higher

 Table 1
 Diagnostic criteria for prediabetes

^aAdopted from ADA report (2014)

hyperglycemia and major neurological disorders has not yet been entirely clarified; there are so many papers in literature that have shown the linkage between them indisputably. Especially dementia, Alzheimer's disease (AD), and depression are linked to hyperglycemic conditions. A recent study conducted on diet-induced prediabetic Sprague Dawley rats reported that HPA axis activity and response to stress was diminished, which increases the risk of depression development (Mosili et al. 2020; Willmann et al. 2020; Mihai et al. 2021). AD is a progressive brain disorder, occurring with advancing age. Main symptoms are loss of memory and cognition. Underlying mechanism is not obvious yet, but neuronal death due to the accumulation of toxic amyloid plaques and tau tangles could be the reason. Which factors are affecting the neurons and triggering the formation of these plaques is not known, however high blood glucose-related increased oxidative stress and corrupted blood-brain barrier are on the front line (Ahn and Song 2019; Marseglia et al. 2019). A recent study demonstrated how AD, type 1 DM, type 2 DM, and prediabetes are interlinked. Both AD and hyperglycemia amplified the brain tissue cytokine levels, which increase the neuronal injury, amyloid plaques, and tau tangles, and disturb the blood-brain barrier (Sankar et al. 2020).

Catching these patients at prediabetic level is crucial. Just like diabetes, prediabetes too is a huge public health pandemic around the world. However, we are lucky because if we can identify prediabetic people in the population with correct method as soon as possible, we can prevent most of the choric diseases like diabetes, AD, cardiovascular diseases, and we can decrease the health expenditures of countries along with deaths related to these pathologies.

Recent studies conducted on prediabetic patients revealed that just lifestyle modifications without medication prevented a high percentage of prediabetic patients developing diabetes, cardiovascular, and/or neurological pathologies (Pan et al. 1997; Aakko et al. 2001; Knowler et al. 2002; Ramachandran et al. 2006). Researchers evaluated anti-diabetic drug therapies with different activity mechanisms in population-based randomized, controlled trials and found out that the risk of developing diabetes and related pathologies decreased between 25% and 75% depending on the drug used (Knowler et al. 2002, 2005; Ramachandran et al. 2006; Gerstein et al. 2006; Vadini et al. 2020).

The Role of Adipokines at Energy Balance

Adipose tissue is a special kind of loose connective tissue that consists of mostly adipocytes. Also preadipocytes, fibroblasts, vascular endothelial cells, and adipose tissue macrophages are part of this tissue. The main role of adipose was known to be storing energy as fat, body heat isolation, and behave like a shock absorber against traumas until recent years (Trayhurn and Beattie 2021). After the discovery of leptin and adiponectin the adipose tissue is defined as an edocrine organ, because scientist understood that these bioactive molecules has very important roles on controlling human methabolism (Funcke and Scherer 2019). There are so many active molecules secreted from different parts of adipose tissue regulating a variety of important

metabolic/immunologic cascades (Halberg et al. 2008). The term "adipokine" is commonly used to describe the adipose tissue-derived proteins that have autocrine, paracrine, and endocrine affects (Li et al. 2017). Energy metabolism of human body is controlled through adipose tissue and skeletal muscle cells via adipokines and other secreted modulatory molecules. Excess energy yielded by diet is converted to the triglycerids stored in the white adipocytes or glycogen stored in the smooth muscle cells and liver. If this excess energy intake situation goes on, the person starts to gain weight. As a result, it turns into obesity. Obesity is a major risk factor for the development of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes (Al-Goblan et al. 2014; Rodríguez et al. 2015). In obese individuals, adipokines, proinflammatory cytokines, increased oxidative stress, and related end products that are involved in the development of insulin resistance is increased. As a consequence of ruined lipid and carbohydrates metabolism, insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes occur (Burhans et al. 2018; Kusminski et al. 2016). Adipokines and myokines are the key regulatory molecules balancing and controlling this fragile metabolic equilibrium of lipid and carbohydrates metabolism. The main myokines secreted by skeletal muscle tissue are myostatin, interleukin (IL)-8, IL-15, irisin, fibroblast growth factor 21, and myonectin; adipokines secreted by adipose tissue are leptin, adiponectin, resistin, chemerin, and visfatin (Kita et al. 2019).

Resistin As a Biomarker at Different Types of Disease

The term biomarker refers to a biological molecule found at detectable levels in blood, other body fluids, or tissues that guides the health professionals to define the metabolic situation as normal or abnormal. Also biomarkers are commonly used for the follow-up of the disease condition or efficacy of the given treatment. The answer to "Why do we need biomarkers?" is that human metabolism is affected by many intrinsic or extrinsic factors causing variability from man to man, which is forcing decision making difficult about the clinical situation or efficacy of the given treatment. Therefore, we need to eliminate this conflicting situation where biomarkers take part in (Strimbu and Tavel 2010).

Resistin is one of the recently discovered adipokines. It was first described in 2001 in mice by Steppan et al. during examining the activity mechanism of thiazolidinediones (TZDs) (Steppan et al. 2001a). The resistin coding gene area is located on chromosome 19. It is a 12.5 kDa cysteine rich protein mainly secreted from adipocyte consisting of 108 amino acids. Besides adipocyte, monocytes, macrophages, and epithelial cells also produce resistin. It is a member of resistin-like molecules (RELMs) proteins family (Steppan et al. 2001b). These polypeptides consist of an amino (N) terminal sequence, a variable middle section, and a carboxyl (C) terminal. Their X-ray crystal structure resembles a jelly roll (Li et al. 2021). It is called as "resistin" because its expression has positive correlation to insulin resistance and obesity.

Adipose tissue is increasingly gaining the attention of researchers in the last years because of its unique properties and newly defined functions controlled by fat tissue secreted adipokines, proinflammatory, inflammatory cytokines, and other active metabolites. There are many ongoing researches particularly about resistin's metabolic activities and its role in disease pathophysiology.

Resistin As a Biomarker in Cardiovascular Disorders

Obesity, diabetes, increased oxidative stress, and atherosclerosis are the leading causes of cardiovascular diseases. The common feature of these pathological situations is slowly progressing low-grade inflammatory state of the body that causes endothelial damage in the heart, brain, or other body parts' arteries where plaque formation is triggered, and that results in atherosclerosis. The exact cause of atherosclerosis is still not known. However, there are many previous studies in the literature revealing the impact of this inflammatory state on the atherosclerotic cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) (Insull 2009).

A recent study suggests that serum resistin levels are positively correlated with serum inflammation markers interleukin-6 (IL-6), soluble tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor 2 (sol TNF-R2), and soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (sol ICAM-1), lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2 (LpPLA2), C-reactive protein (CRP), and coronary atherosclerotic plaques. The study was conducted on 879 asymptomatic, nondiabetic subjects whose resistin levels were compared to 215 type 2 diabetic subjects and healthy control group. Serum resistin levels were increased in both experiment groups compared to the control group. Additionally, Coronary Artery Calcification (CAC) is assumed as the evidence of coronary atherosclerosis. Postmortem experiments' results also supported this evidence. In this study plasma resistin levels were found significantly associated with CAC in the first group subjects (Reilly et al. 2005).

Sabry et al. designed an animal experiment in male albino rats. Experiment groups categorized as obese, atherosclerotic, and control groups and divided two subgroups, each primary group as peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPAR γ) agonist administered and not administered. The study demonstrated a significant increase in plasma resistin levels accompanied with raised proinflammatory and inflammatory markers in both untreated obese and atherosclerotic subgroups. Their results revealed a significant positive correlation between resistin levels and serum levels of total cholesterol (TC), triglycerides (TGs), and a significant negative correlation between its levels and serum levels of high density lipoprotein (HDL). Histopathological analysis demonstrated the severe atherosclerotic plaques in obese and atherosclerotic group with both treated and untreated subgroups compared to the control group. PPAR γ administration slightly reversed the atherosclerosis progression (Sabry et al. 2020).

There are many immunomodulators interfering the atherosclerotic cascade. As mentioned above resistin is a key regulator of insulin resistance and inflammatory processes. For this reason, it is thought that resistin could be a good biomarker candidate molecule either for diagnosing the CVDs or evaluating the success of the treatments. Moreover, these findings suggest that resistin could be a good target for designing drugs against CVDs.

Resistin As a Biomarker in Obesity

Obesity is a global serious health problem related to the increased energy intake and fat deposition, Causing physical and psychological problems accompanied with significant decline in lifetime expectancy and quality of life. It is a chronic energy metabolism disorder associated with environmental, psychological, and genetic factors. Obesity is strongly linked to the oxidative stress–related inflammation and insulin resistance, which are causally related to the several chronic metabolic disorders (Thaler and Schwartz 2010).

Different reports have described the effect of resistin on obesity and related metabolic disorders. Medina et al. performed an observational study with undergraduate students and adult workers. They evaluated the relationship between resistin and anthropometric measurements, body composition, and biochemical tests. According to their study results, there is a correlation between resistin and increased visceral adipose tissue (VAT), skeletal muscle mass (SMM) and metabolic syndrome (MS) (Nájera Medina et al. 2019). Moreover, in another study, elevated resistin levels were observed significantly higher in abdominal obese patients than in patients without abdominal obesity or in the control group (Montazerifar et al. 2016). Consistent with the previous studies, a recent clinical trial showed the circulating level of resistin was increased in hypertensive subjects with obesity compared to those in subjects with normal body weight (Kravchun et al. 2020). Association of resistin with inflammatory indicators may suggest that, in the light of above studies, proinflammatory role of resistin massively takes part in the development of obesity and related metabolic events. In conclusion, this novel biomarker may be important in preventing obesity and related morbidities and mortalities.

Resistin As a Biomarker in Diabetes

Diabetes is the most common endocrinological pathology among the adults in the industrialized countries up to 10% of general population. Most of them are type 2 diabetic people. Type 2 DM and related mortalities-morbidities are the leading cause of deaths around the world (Forbes and Cooper 2013; Knowler et al. 2002). Besides, type 2 DM and related mortalities-morbidities constitute a great economical burden. For diagnosing these people earlier before the complications occurred or preventing type 2 DM development we need new biomarkers. Resistin is an optimum candidate for this purpose because of its unique properties resembling the insulin and particular metabolic activities of adipose tissue and skeletal muscle mass, which are major actors of fat and glucose turnover processes. Furthermore, resistin could modulate systemic inflammation and atherosclerosis in type 2 DM through stimulation of the proinflammatory cytokines secretion from immune system cells.

Previous studies explored that resistin levels are higher in type 2 diabetic people compared to the healthy individuals, positively correlated with BMI of the type 2 diabetics while particularly depending on the increased inflammatory cytokine release (Jung and Choi 2014; Su and Peng 2020). A recent retrospective clinical trial conducted in Italy have put forward that about 50% of healthy obese people will develop dysglycemia condition and about 20% will develop type 2 diabetes mellitus within 8 years in their future. In addition, serum resistin levels were found to be high in type 2 DM group compared to the euglycemic and dysglycemic patients during the 8 years follow-up. According to the results of this study, authors suggested that higher levels of resistin is a warning sign in obese people for developing type 2 DM,

even years before the disease onset (Derosa et al. 2020). Moreover, Kapłon-Cieślicka et al. investigated the relationship between the resistin levels and type 2 DM progression. Their study outcome unveiled that high resistin level is a bad prognostic parameter in this patient group and resistin concentration more than 11 ng/mL might be a predictive indicator of increased risk of death in long-term follow-up (Kapłon-Cieślicka et al. 2019).

Resistin As a Biomarker in Cancer

Cancer is a major public health problem worldwide and the second leading cause of death in the world. It is defined simply as the abnormal cell growth at different parts of the body. Depending on the cancer cell type it could be defined as invasive or noninvasive. Signs and symptoms and onset of time and place show great variety according to the cancer type and location. Prostate, lung, and bronchus and colorectal cancers (CRCs) are the most common cancer types in men; however majority of the cases are prostate cancer accounting for 26% of all cancers. For women, breast cancer, lung, and CRCs are the most common cancer types in women. Breast cancer is the most frequently detected type as accounting for 30% all new diagnoses (Siegel et al. 2021).

Cancer development is a multifactorial event. Although, it is not easy to find out the exact reason why some people have cancer some not, there are many risk parameters defined by scientist via epidemiological studies. Some of them are avoidable and some of them are not. It is possible to decrease the cancer risk of a person by restricting the exposure to that risk factor. Major well-defined risk factors are age, family history and genetic factors, alcohol and tobacco consumption, chemicals, chronic Inflammation, diet, obesity, radiation, sunlight, and etc.

Chronic inflammation accompanied with unhealthy diet-linked pathologies like obesity, type 2 DM, increased oxidative stress, etc., provoke the cellular dysplasia that may result in cancer development due to complex intra- and extracellular signaling molecules. Because of this close relationship of cancer and low-grade chronic inflammatory state, it is thought that resistin could be an important modulatory molecule in cancer cascade. As a result it can be used as a biomarker for the cancer identification, follow-up the treatments, or risk stratifications (Sudan et al. 2020; Deb et al. 2021).

Breast cancer is the most prevalent cancer in women and the second leading cause of death in women after CVDs. Obesity is one of the major risk factors along with familial history in breast cancer, as mentioned before fat tissue has very important modulatory effects on cancer development and malignancy via the release of proinflammatory cytokines and adipocytokines. Besides that, breast tissue has huge amount of fat, which augments the effects of fat tissue secreted molecules in breast cancer. Previous studies showed the adverse effects of obesity clearly. Obese breast cancer patients are more prone to disease recurrence and metastasis. Their prognosis is bad and chemotherapy and hormone therapy is less effective, and they have more surgical complications (Brown 2021). Lastly, Assiri et al. published a study evaluating the diagnostic and predictive value of serum adipokines breast cancer. They have enrolled in their study 298 postmenopausal females consisting of three groups: breast cancer patients, healthy control, and females with benign breast lesion. According to their results, serum resistin levels were increased significantly compared to the healthy control and females with benign breast lesion (Assiri and Kamel 2016). Consistent with the previous study, HOU et al. found serum resistin levels significantly increased in patients with breast cancer compared to the healthy controls, and also found that serum resistin levels were correlated with the size of tumor size (Hou et al. 2007; Zeng et al. 2020). Moreover, resistin provokes the metastatic potential of breast cancer cells via increasing epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) and stemness through cyclase-associated protein 1 (CAP1) (Avtanski et al. 2019).

Prostate cancer is the second most common cancer type in men. It is the cancer of prostate gland. It grows slowly. Aging, family history, and obesity are the major risk factors. Mortality rate of prostate cancer in obese men is calculated 34% higher according to the normal weight men (Calle et al. 2003). In vivo studies demonstrated the direct effect of resistin on prostate cancer development and progression. It stimulates the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway-related cascades in prostate cancer cell proliferation (Kim et al. 2011). On the other hand, Ardalan et al. could not find a correlative data in their research and hypothesized that serum adipokines could be used to choose the correct patients together with the clinical variables and reduce the unnecessary biopsy rates in patients (Ahmad et al. 2019).

In addition to the breast and prostate cancer, there are many researches dealing with the adipokines and their effects on different cancer types' development and progression, and related cellular signaling pathways. To find out the direct linkage between them is extremely important. Because, by this way we could use the serum adipokine levels as cancer biomarkers before the onset of the disease or we could invent new drug molecules that are blocking or activating the signaling pathways taking part in the cancer pathophysiology.

The Association Between Resistin and Prediabetes and Outcomes

Even though, studies over the past years have made significant contributions to the field of research related to resistin, the specific biological effects of resistin is not totally revealed yet. However, growing data in the literature absolutely implicated the modulatory and regulatory impacts of resistin in health and disease states. The main metabolic effects of resistin are proinflammatory and inflammatory immune response against low-grade progressive inflammations like atherosclerosis, insulin resistance, obesity, heart disease, etc. It has proliferative effects on cells (Kim et al. 2011). According to the ADA, diagnosis of prediabetes is based on the presence of impaired fasting glucose (IFG) or impaired glucose tolerance or hemoglobin A1c level between 5.7% and 6.4% (American Diabetes Association 2014).

Obesity and type 2 DM are important risk factors for colorectal cancer development. Epidemiological studies have shown that compared to the normal weight people type 2 DM have a higher risk of developing colorectal cancer. There are different contributing factors related to the metabolic syndrome, insulin resistance and adipocyte secreted adipocytokines seem to be of great importance (Campbell et al. 2010). Likewise, prediabetic individuals are also at high risk of having colon cancer. It has been demonstrated by previous studies that adipose tissue-derived adipocytokines have direct effects on polyp development. Therefore they are thought to be an independent risk factor for polyps in prediabetes subjects (Cha et al. 2013).

Previous studies have showed that prediabetic people are more prone to the CVDs, and also higher resistin levels were measured among the CVD patients (Nimptsch et al. 2019). According to the OPERA study results, the highest serum resistin levels were calculated among prediabetics, especially among IGT subjects that implicate resistin as a marker for atherosclerosis in prediabetic people. This is a population-based, epidemiological study aiming to find out the risk factors and disease endpoints of atherosclerotic CVDs (Galla et al. 2020). A recent study conducted on 88 voluntary participants revealed that resistin levels in prediabetic patients were significantly higher than the control group. In addition, resistin concentrations positively correlated with diabetic risk factors such as age, fasting blood glucose, HbA1c, HOMA-IR, OGGT 0, OGGT second hours. In the light of their study outcomes, they suggest that increased resistin levels could be a marker for the development of insulin resistance in prediabetic individuals (Bilgetekin et al. 2019).

Chronic inflammation accompanied with unhealthy diet or excessive energy intake–linked pathologies like obesity, type 2 DM, increased oxidative stress, cancer, etc., also occurs during prediabetic stage. Nevertheless, intervening at prediabetic phase via eliminating the risk factors or the causative reasons reverse the pathophysiological cascades; finally disease development or progression could be prevented. By that way, the quality of life of people would be better and economical burden of governments would be eased.

Conclusion

Resistin is a cysteine-rich inflammatory cytokine, which is widely researched in the recent years. It has unique properties and newly defined functions. Resistin is an important modulatory and regulatory peptide for several metabolic activities. Increasing data indicates that resistin plays important regulatory roles in diabetes, prediabetes, obesity, CVDs, and atherosclerosis. Adipose tissue secreted resistin stimulates the immune system cells and increases inflammatory and proinflammatory cytokine release that leads to inflammation, endothelial dysfunction, thrombosis, and low-grade chronic inflammation, which results in disease initiation and evolution. Recent date revealed the significance of resistin in cancer pathogenesis and therapeutic outcomes. In the light of growing data resistin could be a potential clinical biomarker in prediabetic people. It has close relationship to the above mentioned chronic disease and increased plasma levels calculated. Previous data in the literature exposed that intervening at prediabetic phase via eliminating the risk factors or the causative reasons reverse the pathophysiological cascades, and the development or progression of the disease could be prevented. Moreover, we could use the serum resistin levels as biomarkers of diseases or at-risk stratification by defining the cutoff limits in the prediabetic stage. Understanding the role of resistin and cellular signaling pathways will contribute to the better opportunities for the diagnosis and treatment of pathologic states. On the other hand, we could invent new drug molecules, which are blocking or activating the signaling pathways taking part in the disease pathophysiology.

Key Facts of Resistin

Resistin is a cysteine-rich inflammatory cytokine, which is widely researched in the last years.

Resistin plays important regulatory roles in diabetes, prediabetes, obesity, CVDs, and atherosclerosis.

Serum could be a biomarker of diseases in the prediabetic stage.

Resistin levels of prediabetic patients are higher and detectable limits.

Summary Points

Resistin is an important modulatory and regulatory peptide at several metabolic activities.

Resistin stimulates immune system cells' cytokine release.

Cytokines lead to inflammation, endothelial dysfunction, thrombosis, and low-grade chronic inflammation.

That triggers disease initiation and evolution.

At prediabetic phase, via eliminating the risk factors, the development or progression of the disease could be prevented.

References

- Aakko J, Uomilehto T, Aana J, et al. Prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus by changes in lifestyle among subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. N Engl J Med. 2001;344(18):1343–50.
- Ahmad AE, Mohammed A, Bhindi B, et al. Serum adipokines as predictors for the outcome of prostate biopsies at early stage prostate cancer diagnosis. Cancer Manag Res. 2019;11:10043– 50. https://doi.org/10.2147/CMAR.S226174.
- Ahn K-C, Song M-S. Regulation of diabetes: a therapeutic strategy for Alzheimer's disease? 2019. https://doi.org/10.3346/jkms.2019.34.e297.
- Al-Goblan AS, Al-Alfi MA, Khan MZ. Diabetes, metabolic syndrome and obesity: targets and therapy Dovepress mechanism linking diabetes mellitus and obesity. Diab Metab Syndr Obes: Targets Ther. 2014;7–587. https://doi.org/10.2147/DMSO.S67400.
- American Diabetes Association. Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. Diab Care. 2014;37(Suppl 1).
- American Diabetes Association. 2. Classification and diagnosis of diabetes: standards of medical care in diabetes. Diab Care. 2021;44(Suppl. 1):S15–S33. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc21-S002

- Assiri AMA, Kamel HFM. Evaluation of diagnostic and predictive value of serum adipokines: leptin, resistin and visfatin in postmenopausal breast cancer. Obes Res Clin Pract. 2016;10:442–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ORCP.2015.08.017.
- Avtanski D, Garcia A, Caraballo B, et al. Resistin induces breast cancer cells epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) and stemness through both adenylyl cyclase-associated protein 1 (CAP1)-dependent and CAP1-independent mechanisms. Cytokine. 2019;120:155–64. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cyto.2019.04.016. Epub 2019 May 11. PMID: 31085453.
- Bardou M, Barkun AN, Martel M. Obesity and colorectal cancer. Gut. 2013;62:933–47. https://doi. org/10.1136/GUTJNL-2013-304701.
- Bilgetekin İ, Gönderen K, Üstünsoy S, et al. Prediyabetik bireylerin serum rezistin seviyeleri serum resistin levels in prediabetic individuals. BTDMJB. 2019;15(1):47–54. https://doi.org/10.4274/ BTDMJB.galenos.
- Brannick B, Dagogo-Jack S. Prediabetes and cardiovascular disease: pathophysiology and interventions for prevention and risk reduction. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am. 2018;47 (1):33–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecl.2017.10.001. PMID: 29407055; PMCID: PMC5806140.
- Brown KA. Metabolic pathways in obesity-related breast cancer. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2021;17(6): 350–63. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41574-021-00487-0.
- Burhans MS, Hagman DK, Kuzma JN, et al. Contribution of adipose tissue inflammation to the development of type 2 diabetes mellitus. 2018. https://doi.org/10.1002/cphy.c170040.
- Calle EE, Rodriguez C, Walker-Thurmond K, Thun MJ. Overweight, obesity, and mortality from cancer in a prospectively studied cohort of U.S. adults. N Engl J Med. 2003;348:1625–38. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA021423.
- Campbell PT, Deka A, Jacobs EJ, et al. Prospective study reveals associations between colorectal cancer and type 2 diabetes mellitus or insulin use in men. Gastroenterology. 2010;139:1138–46. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2010.06.072.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Diabetes Statistics Report. CDC. 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/library/features/diabetes-stat-report.html. Accessed 13 Aug 2021.
- Cha JM, Lee JI, Joo KR, et al. Prediabetes is associated with a high-risk colorectal adenoma. Dig Dis Sci. 2013;58:2061–7. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10620-013-2591-3.
- Deb A, Deshmukh B, Ramteke P, et al. Resistin: a journey from metabolism to cancer. Transl Oncol. 2021;14:101178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranon.2021.101178.
- Derosa G, Catena G, Gaudio G, et al. Adipose tissue dysfunction and metabolic disorders: is it possible to predict who will develop type 2 diabetes mellitus? Role of markErs in the progression of diabeteS in obese paTIeNts (The RESISTIN trial). Cytokine. 2020;127:154947. https:// doi.org/10.1016/J.CYTO.2019.154947.
- Eikenberg JD, Davy BM. Prediabetes: a prevalent and treatable, but often unrecognized clinical condition. J Acad Nutr Diet. 2013;113:213–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2012.10.018.
- Forbes JM, Cooper ME. Mechanisms of diabetic complications. Physiol Rev. 2013;93(1): 137–88. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00045.2011. PMID: 23303908.
- Funcke JB, Scherer PE. Beyond adiponectin and leptin: adipose tissue-derived mediators of interorgan communication. J Lipid Res. 2019;60(10):1648–84. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.R094060. Epub 2019 Jun 17. PMID: 31209153; PMCID: PMC6795086.
- Galla O-J, Ylitalo A, Kiviniemi A, et al. Peptide hormones and risk for future cardiovascular events among prediabetics: a 20-year follow-up in the OPERA study. 2020. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 07853890.2020.1741673.
- Gerstein HC, Yusuf S, Holman RR, et al. Effect of rosiglitazone on the frequency of diabetes in patients with impaired glucose tolerance or impaired fasting glucose: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2006;368:1096–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(06)69420-8.
- Halberg N, Wernstedt I, Scherer PE. The adipocyte as an endocrine cell. Endocrinol Metab Clin N Am. 2008;37:753. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECL.2008.07.002.
- Hou WK, Xu YX, Yu T, et al. Adipocytokines and breast cancer risk. Chin Med J (Engl). 2007;120(18):1592–6. PMID: 17908478.
- Huang Y, Cai X, Qiu M, et al. Prediabetes and the risk of cancer: a meta-analysis. Diabetologia. 2014;57 (11):2261–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-014-3361-2. Epub 2014 Sep 11. PMID: 25208757.

- Insull W. The pathology of atherosclerosis: plaque development and plaque responses to medical treatment. AJM. 2009;122:S3–S14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed.2008.10.013.
- Jung UJ, Choi MS. Obesity and its metabolic complications: the role of adipokines and the relationship between obesity, inflammation, insulin resistance, dyslipidemia and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Int J Mol Sci. 2014;15:6184–223. https://doi.org/10.3390/IJMS15046184.
- Kapłon-Cieślicka A, Tymińska A, Rosiak M, et al. Resistin is a prognostic factor for death in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2019;35. https://doi.org/10.1002/DMRR.3098.
- Knowler WC, Barrett-Connor E, Fowler SE, Hamman RF, Lachin JM, Walker EA, Nathan DM; Diabetes Prevention Program Research Group. Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin. N Engl J Med. 2002;346(6):393–403. https://doi.org/ 10.1056/NEJMoa012512. PMID: 11832527; PMCID: PMC1370926.
- Knowler WC, Hamman RF, Edelstein SL, et al. Diabetes prevention program research group. Prevention of type 2 diabetes with troglitazone in the Diabetes Prevention Program. Diabetes. 2005;54(4):1150–6. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.54.4.1150. PMID: 15793255; PMCID: PMC1351025.
- Kravchun P, Kadykova O, Narizhnaya A, et al. Association of circulating adiponectin, resistin, irisin, nesfatin-1, apelin-12 and obestatin levels with hypertension and obesity. Georgian Med News. 2020;(304–305):43–8. PMID: 32965248.
- Kim HJ, Lee YS, Won EH, et al. Expression of resistin in the prostate and its stimulatory effect on prostate cancer cell proliferation. BJU Int. 2011;108. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1464-410X.2010. 09813.X.
- Kita S, Maeda N, Shimomura I. Interorgan communication by exosomes, adipose tissue, and adiponectin in metabolic syndrome. J Clin Investig. 2019;129:4041–9. https://doi.org/10. 1172/JCI129193.
- Kusminski CM, Bickel PE, Scherer PE. Targeting adipose tissue in the treatment of obesityassociated diabetes. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2016;15(9):639–60. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd. 2016.75.
- Li F, Li Y, Duan Y, et al. Myokines and adipokines: involvement in the crosstalk between skeletal muscle and adipose tissue. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2017;33:73–82. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.cytogfr.2016.10.003. Epub 2016 Oct 13. PMID: 27765498.
- Li Y, Yang Q, Cai D, et al. Resistin, a novel host defense peptide of innate immunity. Front Immunol. 2021;12:699807. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2021.699807. PMID: 34220862; PMCID: PMC8253364.
- Ligthart S, van Herpt TTW, Leening MJG, et al. Lifetime risk of developing impaired glucose metabolism and eventual progression from prediabetes to type 2 diabetes: a prospective cohort study. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2016;4:44–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(15)00362-9.
- Marseglia A, Fratiglioni L, Kalpouzos G, et al. Prediabetes and diabetes accelerate cognitive decline and predict microvascular lesions: a population-based cohort study. Alzheimers Dement. 2019;15:25–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JALZ.2018.06.3060.
- Mihai A, Albani G, Auxologico Italiano I, et al. Health conditions, lifestyle factors and depression in adults in Qingdao, China: a cross-sectional study. Front Psych. 2021;1:508810. https://doi. org/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.508810. www.frontiersin.org
- Moini J. Pathophysiology of diabetes. Epidemiol Diabetes. 2019;25–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/ B978-0-12-816864-6.00003-1.
- Moini J. Chapter 4 The Epidemic and Prevalence of Diabetes in the United States, Epidemiology of Diabetes, Elsevier, 2019. Pages 45–55. ISBN 9780128168646. https://doi.org/10.1016/ B978-0-12-816864-6.00004-3.
- Montazerifar F, Bolouri A, Paghalea RS, et al. Obesity, serum resistin and leptin levels linked to coronary artery disease. Arq Bras Cardiol. 2016;107(4):348–53. https://doi.org/10.5935/abc. 20160134.
- Mosili P, Cassandra Mkhize B, Ngubane P, et al. The dysregulation of the hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal axis in diet-induced prediabetic male Sprague Dawley rats. 2020. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s12986-020-00532-1.

- Nájera Medina O, Paulina Rodríguez-López C, Cristina González-Torres M, et al. Nutrición Hospitalaria Trabajo Original Obesidad y síndrome metabólico Visceral obesity, skeletal muscle mass and resistin in metabolic syndrome development Obesidad visceral, masa musculoesquelética y resistina en el desarrollo de síndrome metabólico. Nutr Hosp. 2019;36:43–50. https://doi.org/10.20960/nh.1889.
- Nimptsch K, Konigorski S, Pischon T. Diagnosis of obesity and use of obesity biomarkers in science and clinical medicine. Metabolism. 2019;92:61–70. Epub 2018 Dec 23. PMID: 30586573. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.METABOL.2018.12.006.
- O'Connell JM, Manson SM. Understanding the economic costs of diabetes and prediabetes and what we may learn about reducing the health and economic burden of these conditions. Diab Care. 2019;42(9):1609–11.
- Pan X-R, Li G-W, Hu Y-H, et al. Effects of diet and exercise in preventing NIDDM in people with impaired glucose tolerance: the Da Qing IGT and diabetes study. DiabetesLikewise, prediabetic individuals are also at high risk Care. 1997;20:537–44. https://doi.org/10.2337/DIACARE.20. 4.537.
- Pandey A, Chawla S, Guchhait P. Critical review type-2 diabetes: current understanding and future perspectives. IUBMB Life. 2015;67:506–13. https://doi.org/10.1002/iub.1396.
- Ramachandran AC, Snehalatha S, Mary B, et al. The Indian Diabetes Prevention Programme shows that lifestyle modification and metformin prevent type 2 diabetes in Asian Indian subjects with impaired glucose tolerance (IDPP-1). Diabetologia. 2006;49:289–97. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00125-005-0097-z.
- Reilly MP, Lehrke M, Wolfe ML, et al. Resistin is an inflammatory marker of atherosclerosis in humans. Circulation. 2005;111:932–9. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.0000155620.10387.43.
- Rodríguez A, Ezquerro S, Méndez-Giménez L, et al. Revisiting the adipocyte: a model for integration of cytokine signaling in the regulation of energy metabolism. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2015;309:691–714. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00297.2015.-Adipose.
- Sabry MM, Dawood AF, Rashed LA, et al. Relation between resistin, PPAR-γ, obesity and atherosclerosis in male albino rats. Arch Physiol Biochem. 2020;126:389–98. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/13813455.2018.1550094.
- Sankar SB, Infante-Garcia C, Weinstock LD, et al. Amyloid beta and diabetic pathology cooperatively stimulate cytokine expression in an Alzheimer's mouse model. 2020. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s12974-020-1707-x.
- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Fuchs HE, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2021. CA Cancer J Clin. 2021;71:7– 33. https://doi.org/10.3322/CAAC.21654.
- Steppan CM, Bailey ST, Bhat S, et al. The hormone resistin links obesity to diabetes. Nature. 2001a;409:307–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/35053000.
- Steppan CM, Brown EJ, Wright CM, et al. A family of tissue-specific resistin-like molecules. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001b;98(2):502–6. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.98.2.502. PMID: 11209052; PMCID: PMC14616.
- Strimbu K, Tavel JA. What are biomarkers? Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2010;5(6):463–6. https://doi.org/ 10.1097/COH.0b013e32833ed177. PMID: 20978388; PMCID: PMC3078627.
- Su X, Peng D. Emerging functions of adipokines in linking the development of obesity and cardiovascular diseases. Mol Biol Rep. 2020;47:7991–8006. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11033-020-05732-9.
- Sudan SK, Deshmukh SK, Poosarla T, et al. Resistin: an inflammatory cytokine with multi-faceted roles in cancer. Biochim et Biophys Acta – Rev Cancer. 2020;1874. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. BBCAN.2020.188419.
- Thaler JP, Schwartz MW. Minireview: inflammation and obesity pathogenesis: the hypothalamus heats up. Endocrinology. 2010;151:4109. https://doi.org/10.1210/EN.2010-0336.
- Trayhurn P, Beattie JH. Physiological role of adipose tissue: white adipose tissue as an endocrine and secretory organ. Proc Nutr Soc. 2021;60:329–39. https://doi.org/10.1079/PNS200194.
- Vadini F, Simeone PG, Boccatonda A, et al. Liraglutide improves memory in obese patients with prediabetes or early type 2 diabetes: a randomized, controlled study. Int J Obes (Lond).

2020;44(6):1254–63. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41366-020-0535-5. Epub 2020 Jan 21. PMID: 31965072.

- Willmann C, Brockmann K, Wagner R, et al. Insulin sensitivity predicts cognitive decline in individuals with prediabetes. BMJ Open Diab Res Care. 2020;8:1741. https://doi.org/10.1136/ bmjdrc-2020-001741.
- World Health Organization. Diagnosis and management of type 2 diabetes (HEARTS-D). World Health Organization, Geneva. 2020 (WHO/UCN/NCD/20.1). Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.
- World Health Organization & International Diabetes Federation. Definition and diagnosis of diabetes mellitus and intermediate hyperglycaemia: report of a WHO/IDF consultation. World Health Organ. 2006. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/43588.
- Zeng Y, Tang CH, Wang Y, et al. Combined high resistin and egfr expression predicts a poor prognosis in breast cancer. Biomed Res Int. 2020;2020:8835398. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/ 8835398. PMID: 33313320; PMCID: PMC7719526.



Altered Metabolome of Amino Acids Species: A Source of Signature Early Biomarkers of T2DM

Anna Czajkowska, Ahsan Hameed, Mauro Galli, Muhammad Umair Ijaz, Adam Kretowski, and Michal Ciborowski

Contents

Introduction	86
Diabetes Mellitus	87
Amino Acids in Metabolic Signaling and Insulin Resistance	89 91
A. Czajkowska Clinical Research Centre, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland	
Department of Medical Biology, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland e-mail: anna.czajkowska1@umb.edu.pl	
A. Hameed Clinical Research Centre, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland e-mail: ahsan.hameed@umb.edu.pl	
M. Galli Department of Medical Biology, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland e-mail: mauro.galli@umb.edu.pl	
M. U. Ijaz Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, University of California Davis, Sacrament CA, USA e-mail: 2015208033@njau.edu.cn	to,
A. Kretowski Clinical Research Centre, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland	
Department of Endocrinology, Diabetology, and Internal Medicine, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland e-mail: adam.kretowski@umb.edu.pl	
M. Ciborowski (⊠) Clinical Research Centre, Metabolomics Laboratory, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialysto Poland e-mail: michal.ciborowski@umb.edu.pl	ok,
© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023	83

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2_5

Amino Acids Metabolic Intermediates As Markers for Insulin Resistance and Diabetes	118
Conclusions	119
Applications to Prognosis, Other Diseases, or Conditions	120
Mini Dictionary of Terms	120
Key Facts of Amino acids	121
Summary Points	121
References	122

Abstract

Diabetes mellitus is a chronic metabolic disease with serious health consequences for a modern civilization that often lead to premature death. With the rapid increase in the number of people diagnosed with type 2 diabetes, early identification of those individuals at higher risk of progression to diabetes is a key criterion enabling the timely intervention or treatment. In recent years, omicsbased technologies have given us unprecedented insight into circulating biomarkers in common diseases. Branched-chain amino acids: valine, leucine, isoleucine, and aromatic amino acids, that is, tyrosine and phenylalanine, have been demonstrated as the most consistent metabolite biomarkers for diabetes, in particular type 2.

Therefore, amino acids quantification in biological material, primarily in plasma could be a valuable prognostic tool for determining metabolic abnormalities leading to this disease. Revealing these interactions and possible mechanisms may prove beneficial for the prediction and treatment.

Keywords

Amino acids · Branched-chain amino acids · Insulin resistance · Prediabetic state · Diabetes · Type 2 diabetes mellitus · Metabolic disease · Biomarker · Metabolomics

Abbreviations	
2-AAA	2-aminoadipic acid
2-h PG	2-h plasma glucose test
3-HIB	3-hydroxyisobutyrate
AAAs	Aromatic amino acids
AAs	Amino acids
AILS	AminoIndex LifeStyle diseases test
AKT	Protein kinase B, PKB
Ala	Alanine
Arg	Arginine
Asn	Asparagine
Asp	Aspartic acid
BAIBA	β-aminoisobutyric acid
BCAAs	Branched-chain amino acids
BCKA	Branched-chain α-ketoacid
BCKDC	Branched-chain α-ketoacid dehydrogenase com

BCKDH	Branched-chain α-ketoacid dehydrogenase
BHBA	3-hydroxybutyrate
BMI	Body Mass Index
Cit	Citrulline
CoA	Coenzyme A
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
Cys	Cysteine
DAG	Diacylglycerol
DM	Diabetes mellitus
FAAs	Free amino acids
FFAs	Free fatty acids
FGF21	Fibroblast growth factor 21
FHS	Framingham Heart Study
FOXO	Forkhead Box O transcription factor
FPG	Fasting plasma glucose
GC	Gas chromatography
GDM	Gestational Diabetes mellitus
GDR	Glucose disposal rate
Gln	Glutamine
Glu	Glutamic acid
Gly	Glycine
GSK-3	Glycogen synthase kinase-3
HbA1c	Glycated hemoglobin
HECP	Hperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp procedure
His	Histidine
HOMA-IR	Homeostatic Model Assessment of Insulin Resistance
IDF	International Diabetes Federation
IGF	Insulin-like growth factor
IGT	Impaired glucose tolerance
Ile	Isoleucine
Ins120 min	2-h post-challenge insulin
IR	Insulin Resistance
IRAS	Insulin Resistance Atherosclerosis Study
IRS-1	Insulin receptor substrate 1
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase
LC	Liquid chromatography
Leu	Leucine
L-GPC	linoleoyl- glycerophosphocholine
LPC	Lysophosphatidylcholine
MDC	Malmö Diet and Cancer Study
MetS	Metabolic syndrome
METSIM	Metabolic Syndrome in Men Study
mmBCFA	Monomethyl branched-chain fatty acids
MS	Mass spectrometry
mTORC1	Mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1

NEFAs	Non-esterified fatty acids
NGT	Normal glucose tolerance
NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance
OGTT	Oral glucose tolerance test
Orn	Ornithine
PCs	Phosphatidylcholines
PFAAs	Plasma-free amino acids
Phe	Phenylalanine
PPARα	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor α
Pro	Proline
QMDiab	Qatar Metabolomics Study on Diabetes
RISC	Relationship of Insulin Sensitivity to Cardiovascular Risk study
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RQ	Resting respiratory quotient
SABRE	Southall And Brent REvisited Study
Ser	Serine
T1DM	Type 1 Diabetes mellitus
T2DM	Type 2 Diabetes mellitus
TCA	Tricarboxylic acid cycle
TKR	Tyrosine kinase receptor
Trp	Tryptophan
TüF	Tübingen Family study for T2DM
Tyr	Tyrosine
UCD-T2D	University of California-Davis T2DM rat model
Val	Valine
VFA	Visceral fat area
α-HB	α-hydroxybutyrate
α-ΚΒ	α-ketobutyrate

Introduction

Amino acids are defined as organic compounds containing amino(–NH₂) and carboxyl(–COOH) functional groups along with a side chain (R group) specific to each amino acid (AA). They are referred as the building blocks of proteins needed for animal nutrition and basic units for synthesis of hormones and neurotransmitters (Lopez and Mohiuddin 2021). Human proteins are made up of 20 AAs, 9 of which are considered "essential" because they cannot be synthesized from other metabolites in the human body (White and Newgard 2019). AAs play a key role in many metabolic pathways, and quantification of free amino acids (FAAs) in biological fluids and tissues has historically provided nutritional information used in the diagnosis of various diseases, particularly metabolic impairments (Nagao and Kimura 2020).

During the last decade, many studies have consistently reported the positive association of plasma or serum FAAs with insulin resistance (IR) and diabetes in

individuals from different ethnic groups and with varying degrees of obesity in large prospective and cross-sectional human studies (Newgard et al. 2009; (Giesbertz and Daniel 2016; Chen et al. 2019; Bi and Henry 2017). Most of these publications demonstrated that increased levels of branched-chain amino acids in plasma, serum, and also in urine (Branched-chain amino acids (BCAAs); valine, leucine, isoleucine) are associated with obesity, IR, and diabetes, in particular type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) (Newgard et al. 2009; Shah et al. 2012; McCormack et al. 2013; (Würtz et al. 2013; Bi and Henry 2017; Nie et al., 2018; Yousri et al. 2015).

Hyperaminoacidemia observed in obesity may be related to increased IR. Insulin resistance is believed to reduce the BCAA catabolism by suppressing the enzymatic activity of branched-chain alpha-keto acid dehydrogenase complex (BCKDC), which is considered as the plausible mechanism explaining the increased BCAA levels in obese or diabetic individuals (Bi and Henry 2017). Elevated BCAA levels have often been shown to predict the development of T2DM well in advance of its actual occurrence, what is very interesting from a diagnostics standpoint (Wang et al. 2011; Yamakado et al. 2015; McCormack et al. 2013; Ianni et al. 2017).

In addition, there is a body of evidence suggesting the correlation between IR and changes in aromatic amino acids (AAAs), that is tyrosine and phenylalanine, as well several other AAs (Bi and Henry 2017; Chen et al. 2019). Therefore, AAs quantification in biological material, primarily in plasma, may be a useful indicator of the presence of metabolic abnormalities leading to diabetes. This chapter reviews molecular and clinical associations between altered AA levels and diabetes development and interprets underlying biochemical mechanisms.

Diabetes Mellitus

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a highly prevalent chronic metabolic disease with major health implications for a modern civilization (Freitas et al. 2017; Gan et al. 2020), and the eighth major mainstay of mortalities around the globe (Hameed et al. 2020). It is characterized by an increase in blood glucose level and inability to utilize glucose in adipose and muscle tissues (Zhao et al. 2017; Al-Abbasi 2012). Among the three main types of DM, i.e.,: type 1 (T1DM); type 2 (T2DM); and gestational (GDM), the T2DM is most commonly diagnosed (about 90% of cases) ("Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus," 2004; Gan et al. 2020).

T2DM is characterized by abnormal glucose and lipid metabolism, resulting from resistance to the effects of insulin and insufficient response to the secretion of this hormone. As the disease progresses, there may also occur a partial β -cell insufficiency and deficiency in insulin production. ("Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus," 2004; Gan et al. 2020; Chen et al. 2019).

According to the International Diabetes Federation (IDF) data, the global diabetes incidence has continuously increased each year, with an estimated 578 million cases by 2030 and 700 million people diagnosed with diabetes by the year 2045. Moreover, in 2019 one in two (50.1%) people living with diabetes were undiagnosed (Saeedi et al. 2019).
Chronic hyperglycemia is a common feature related to all DM subtypes that may lead to long-term damages (Association 2016; Freitas et al. 2017) and several vascular, neurological, immunological, and biochemical pathological changes (Al-Abbasi 2012). As the disease progresses, it is accompanied by multiple complications and dysfunction of various organs (Association 2016). Most commonly occurring is microvascular complications, e.g., diabetic retinopathy, nephropathy, and neuropathy; macrovascular complications, including coronary atherosclerotic heart disease with increased risk of cardiovascular events (Rawshani et al., 2017), and vascular disease of the lower extremities (peripheral artery disease), which is a leading cause of nontraumatic limb amputations (Vamos et al. 2010), as well as diabetic nephropathy, hypertension, and cerebrovascular disease, (Zhao et al. 2017). It is also associated with hypercholesterolemia, obesity, and other nutritional disorders (Al-Abbasi 2012).

Diabetes, particularly type 2, imposes a heavy financial strain on health care systems everywhere and shortens the life expectancy of diabetic patients (*International Diabetes Federation (IDF) (2015) Diabetes Atlas. 7th Edition, International Diabetes Federation, Brussels, Belgium. – References – Scientific Research Publishing*, no date), (Association 2016; Freitas et al. 2017; Zhao et al. 2017). The global T2DM prevalence is rising rapidly, particularly among those living in low- and middle-income countries (Ahola-Olli et al. 2019; Gan et al. 2020). T2DM is associated with increased mortality risk and reduced health-related quality of life, causing an immense social costs burden (Ahola-Olli et al. 2019; Chen and Gerszten 2020). The still high global incidence of T2DM and the accompanying increase in the number of its complications require earlier diagnosis and more effective treatment of this disease (Zhao et al. 2017).

The Need for New Biomarkers for Diabetes

Metabolic disorders are often present for years before becoming clinically apparent. In the early stages of T2DM, patients may have difficulties to recognize any symptoms of the disease (Zhao et al. 2017). By the time that relative insulin deficiency manifests as hyperglycemia and a T2DM is diagnosed, significant pancreatic β -cell failure already occurs. Early identification of individuals at higher risk of progression to diabetes allows the timely intervention to delay or prevent diabetes onset (Wang et al. 2011; Ahola-Olli et al. 2019).

Currently, most early screening and diagnostic methods for DM are directly related to glucose levels (Gan et al. 2020), which include fasting plasma glucose (FPG) measurement or 2-h plasma glucose (2-h PG) measurement in 75-g oral glucose tolerance (OGT) test (Association 2018; Gan et al. 2020). Moreover, the glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) test is also often used to diagnose diabetes, providing an overall picture of average blood glucose levels over a period of past 3 months. In addition, several other clinical and laboratory predictors could be used in gauging diabetic status, such as body mass index and c-peptide measurement (Wang et al. 2011; Al-Abbasi 2012).

Meanwhile, many overweight to moderately obese people are found to have completely normal fasting plasma glucose and hemoglobin A1c levels, making them undiagnosed as prediabetic despite underlying metabolic abnormalities (Bi and Henry 2017). Therefore, there is a great need for biomarkers allowing an early diagnosis of prediabetic or diabetic patients (Wang et al. 2011).

In recent years, omics-based technologies have given us unprecedented insight into circulating biomarkers of common diseases. Application of metabolomics allowed identification of biochemical changes occurring prior to the onset of diabetes and provided additional information about pathophysiological mechanisms leading to DM. Amino acids and other metabolites were proposed as predictive markers indicating early metabolic perturbances. Diagnosis of patients at risk of diabetes onset is crucial to introduce changes in life style and prevention of disease development (Würtz et al. 2013; Guasch-Ferré et al. 2016; Ahola-Olli et al. 2019; Wang et al. 2011).

Amino Acids in Metabolic Signaling and Insulin Resistance

Despite the relevant role of the glucose-related pathways, here we are concentrating mostly on the protein metabolism influence on IR development. Many amino acids, especially BCAAs, are important nutritional signals that possess direct and indirect effects (Lynch and Adams 2014). The BCAA metabolic pathway crosses with the mechanism for IR (George 2017).

Evidence that BCAAs may not only have a "reporter quality" but may also contribute to IR and T2DM comes from cell culture and animal studies that propose sustained activation of complex 1 (mTORC1) (Newgard et al. 2009; Giesbertz and Daniel 2016). Proposed mechanisms (explaining how increased levels of BCAAs might be linked to metabolic disease) involve stimulation of the mTOR/p70S6K pathway and phosphorylation of IRS-1 at multiple serine sites (Nie et al. 2018). In this context, leucine is known to activate the nutrient sensing complex, mTORC1, which results in uncoupling of insulin signaling at an early stage of IR and other metabolic disorders. However, numerous observations indicate that BCAA-mediated mTORC1 activation is not necessary or sufficient to induce IR, and subsequent metabolic dysfunction, (Lynch and Adams 2014; Yoon 2016). Recently, in a rat model of diabetes (University of California-Davis T2DM rat model, UCD-T2D) an untargeted metabolomics study was performed showing that elevated plasma BCAA levels were not observed until 6 months after the onset of diabetes. This rules out the causal role of BCAAs in the occurrence of T2DM in the studied model (Yoon 2016; Biswas et al. 2019).

Zhao et al. (2020) worked with high-fat diet-induced obese (DIO) mice. Supplementation of these animals with BCAAs leads to heavy hepatic metabolic disorders, such as suppressed lipogenesis and increased glucose production. They also found that this impairs hepatic AKT2 signaling. BCAA supplementation stops AKT2 activation through mTorc1- and mTorc2-dependent pathways and promotes AKT2 degradation. As a matter of fact, the signaling pathways are other key elements in the development of IR. AKT is responsible for the transcription factors Forkhead box O (FOXO) activation, regulating the energy metabolism. FOXOs modulate the adipogenesis process in the adipose tissue, they retain the beta cells function during oxidative stress, avoiding their replication, and they are a candidate as regulators of glucose production in the liver (Gross et al. 2009). Tyrosine kinase receptor (TKR) is an insulin receptor (IR), whose first targets are Insulin Receptor Substrate (IRS) 1, 2, 3, and 4. To better understand the most important targets, scientists knocked down these receptors in mice. While the knockdown of IRS3 or 4 showed no or limited effects on mice, knocked down IRS1 or 2 developed, respectively, IR and T2DM (Kubota et al. 2017).

An alternative mechanism referred to the BCAAs dysmetabolism suggests that deficiencies in BCAA metabolism are linked to IR and T2DM by the accumulation of BCAA levels in plasma, as well possibly toxic intermediates (Yoon 2016). BCAAs inefficient metabolism or incomplete oxidation, especially isoleucine and value can result in anaplerotic stress and an imbalance between anaplerosis and cataplerosis that might cause suboptimal mitochondrial function in states of T2DM. For example, reduced mitochondrial branched-chain α -ketoacid dehydrogenase (BCKDH) activity results in the accumulation of branched-chain α -ketoacid (BCKA) and α -ketobutyrate (α -KB), which result in the restriction of propionyl-Coenzyme A (CoA)-derived metabolites to tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycles, inducing anaplerotic stress and decreased amino acid fuel delivery to mitochondria (Fiehn et al. 2010; Adams et al. 2009; Yoon 2016).

Incomplete mitochondrial oxidation is thought to be the major cause for increased BCAA concentrations, independently of established IR. In obese subjects, the adipose tissue is characterized by an accumulation of fat, an increased pro-inflammatory state, and alterations in hormone and cytokine secretion that may strongly affect the mitochondrial function in peripheral tissues (Ianni et al. 2017).

In the adipose tissue of obese and T2DM patients with IR, as well in models of obesity in rodents, the expression of genes encoding BCAAs-metabolizing enzymes is significantly downregulated by an undefined mechanism compared to metabolically healthy controls – leading to elevated plasma BCAA levels (Lackey et al. 2013; Lynch and Adams 2014; Yoon 2016). Indeed, defective BCAA oxidation results in consequent accumulation of branched-chain keto acids and branched-chain fatty acids in peripheral tissues (Ianni et al. 2017). A high level of free fatty acids (FFAs) drives tissues, such as liver and skeletal muscles, toward IR, promoting the accumulation of such bioactive lipids as diacylglycerol (DAG) and ceramide (Zabielski et al. 2019). DAG accumulation impairs insulin signaling in liver (Fig. 1). Impaired insulin signaling in muscle results in increased proteolysis, which contributes to the release of BCAAs into the circulation and further supply of substrates for mitochondrial oxidation (Ianni et al. 2017).

However, the metabolism of BCAAs throughout the body is highly dependent on other organs; the expression of these enzymes in other organs such as the liver and muscle must be considered. Growing experimental evidence has posited that these impairments in the ability to metabolize BCAAs in adipose tissue may extend to other tissues (Lynch and Adams 2014). Expression of genes encoding enzymes of BCAA metabolism was downregulated in muscle and liver tissue of T2DM patients. Similar results were obtained in rats (Shin et al. 2014; Yoon 2016).

Zhou et al. (2019), using an integrative pathway analysis in human and mouse populations, showed that IR induced by obesity is connected with the modulations of



Physiological conditions

Hyphenated obesity induced insulin resistance

Fig. 1 Diacylglycerol (DAG) accumulation impairs insulin signaling in the liver. In physiological conditions, insulin arrives at the liver, activating the insulin receptor (IR) and starting a signaling cascade. This leads to the sequential activation of insulin receptor substrate 2 (IRS2), phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K), and protein kinase B beta (AKT2). AKT2, inhibiting glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK-3), promotes the activation of glycogen synthase, increasing glycogenesis. AKT2 inhibition of Forkhead box protein O1 (FOXO1) suppresses the transcription of glucose 6-phosphatase, lowering gluconeogenesis. In the presence of a nonregulated amount of NEFAs in the plasma, they enter the liver through the fatty acids transport protein 5. This brings to an accumulation of DAG in the liver. DAG promotes the membrane translocation of PKC ϵ , an isoform of PKC responsible for the phosphorylation of the Thr1160 on the insulin receptor. The conformational changes in the kinase active site impair its signaling function, leading to a loss of regulation on glycogenesis

genes of the BCAA catabolism. They demonstrated that the BCAA catabolism is impaired in the obese state. In obese mice, restoring the catabolism of BCAAs lowers their levels and improves insulin sensitivity.

On the other hand, this defective enzymatic activity in adipose tissue could be compensated for by increased BCKDC activity in the liver (Lynch and Adams 2014; Yoon 2016). As a result, some individuals may be characterized by a more global reduction in the capacity to metabolize BCAAs, which may contribute to an increase in circulating BCAA concentrations to higher ranges that is related to the development of future T2DM and IR (Shin et al. 2014; Lynch and Adams 2014).

Contribution of BCAAs to IR is a complex process in which multiple, not fully understood, mechanisms are involved. A schematic presentation of possible mechanisms by which BCAAs contribute to development of IR is depicted on Fig. 2.

Altered Amino Acid Profiles in Insulin Resistance and Diabetes

In 1969, Felig et al. (1969) found that of 20 plasma amino acids measured, the concentrations of the three BCAAs: valine, leucine, isoleucine, and aromatic amino acids, phenylalanine and tyrosine, were increased, and glycine was lowered in plasma of obese subjects compared with age- and sex-matched lean individuals.



Fig. 2 A schematic view of possible mechanisms by which BCAAs contribute to development of insulin resistance. The first of proposed mechanisms involves stimulation of the mTOR/p70S6K pathway. High BCAA levels therefore inhibit IRS-1 and may impair insulin signaling. This causes cells to become less responsive to the secretion of insulin, resulting in insulin resistance

The concentration of each of the amino acids elevated in obesity correlated directly with serum insulin, suggesting that this increase was a manifestation of IR. In 2009, Newgard et al. (2009) replicated these findings of increased circulating BCAAs, tyrosine, and phenylalanine, and decreased glycine in obese insulin-resistant subjects compared to lean insulin-sensitive individuals. Broader investigations of a role of AA concentrations in the context of various pathophysiological processes have coincided with the advent of metabolomics as a tool for studying human diseases (White and Newgard 2019). Metabolomics provides a snapshot of physiological/patophysiological processes (Zhao et al. 2017).

Since then, an overwhelming number of published data have repeatedly described several changes in metabolites, including increases in BCAA and other AA levels associated with visceral obesity (Yamakado et al. 2012) and IR (Palmer et al. 2015; Seibert et al. 2015; Nakamura et al. 2014; Nagao and Kimura 2020). A summary of current human studies reporting association of amino acids with insulin resistance and T2DM is presented in Table 1. Systemic BCAAs are strongly associated with IR and further T2DM development (Felig et al. 1969; Ferrannini et al. 2013; Wang et al. 2011; Würtz et al. 2013; Biswas et al. 2019). Moreover, numerous human studies have consistently demonstrated that concentrations of BCAAs in plasma as well as in urine have the quality to predict diabetes development (Yousri et al. 2015; Giesbertz and Daniel 2016). The correlation between IR and elevated circulating

	CIGUNIE		alla illouini icolorani	TITURE - INICITY I NITE A	itary or current stau		Icapceive accuous
Associations b	etween	amino acids and insul	lin resistance and T2	DM - summary of ci	urrent studies mentic	oned in the respectiv	e sections
Reference	Year	Type of study	Subjects	n	Type of material	Method	Main conclusions
(Gall et al. 2010)	2010	The RISC study (Relationship of Insulin Sensitivity to Cardio- vascular Risk), comprising a nondiabetic cohort	Nondiabetic subjects representing a broad spectrum of insulin sensitivity and glucose tolerance	399 subjects	fasting plasma	Nontargeted fashion on three separate mass spectrometry platforms, (+/- ESI) and GC-MS (+EI)	α–hydroxybutyrate was shown as an early marker for both insulin resistance and impaired glucose regulation
(Fiehn et al. 2010)	2010		Overweight to obese T2DM and nondiabetic Gullah-speaking African-American women with or without a UCP3 g/a missense polymorphism	44 obese T2DM and 12 obese nondiabetic African-American women	Plasma	Gas chromatography- mass spectrometry	AA levels and their derivatives (i.e., Leu, 2-ketoisocaproate, Val, Cys, His) were increased significantly in T2DM subjects Leu and Val concentrations rose with increasing HbA1c, and significantly correlated with plasma acetylcarnitine concentrations
(Tai et al. 2010)	2010		Nonobese Asian-Indian and Chinese men from a large cross- sectional study carried out in Singapore	263	Plasma	MS-based metabolic profiling	Increased levels of Ala, Pro, Val, Leu/Ile, Phe, Tyr, Glu/Gln, and Orn, and a cluster of branched-chain and related amino acids were associated with IR. Increased abdominal adiposity and leptin, and decreased adiponectin and IGF-binding

summary of current studies mentioned in the respective sections **Table 1** Associations between amino acids and insulin resistance and T2DM -

4 Altered Metabolome of Amino Acids Species: A Source of Signature...

93

(continued)

ciations be	etween	amino acids and insul	lin resistance and T2	DM – summary of cu	True of material	med in the respectiv	/e sections Main conclusions
lce	теаг	Type of study	Subjects	п	1 ype of material	Method	protein 1 were also correlated with IR
et al.	2011	Nested case- control study in the Framingham Offspring Study Prospective cohort Malmö Diet and Cancer study – replication cohort	Normoglycemic individuals	2422 (201 developed diabetes. during 12 years) metabolite profiling on the samples from 189 cases and 189 controls (mean age 57 years, 42% women) 163 cases and 163 cases and 163 cases and 163 controls (mean age 58 years, 55% women)	Plasma	Targeted approach using liquid chromatography with a triple quadrupole tandem mass spectrometry	Ile, Leu, Val, Tyr, and Phe had highly significant associations with future diabetes. The results were replicated in an independent, prospective cohort. These findings underscore the potential key role of amino acid metabolism early in the pathogenesis of diabetes and suggest that amino acid profiles could aid in diabetes risk assessment
g et al.	2012	2 nested case- control studies designed to investigate predictors of diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular disease	Individuals free of diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular disease	1761 individuals free of diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular disease at the original examination from two large, well- characterized	Plasma	LC-MS	Metabolic risk factors, such as obesity, insulin resistance, high blood pressure, dyslipidemia were associated with multiple metabolites including branched-chain amino acids, other hydrophobic amino acids, tryptophan breakdown

products, and increased metabolites. Moreover, a particularly strong association of insulin resistance traits with decreased Gln and increased Glu was observed. High glutamine-glutamate ratio was associated with lower risk of incident diabetes in FHS, but not in MDC	Targeted mass A cluster of metabolites spectrometry- based profiling related analytes predicted improvement in HOMA-IR independent of the amount of weight loss	Proton nuclear The levels of Leu, Ile, Tyr, and magnetic Ala increased and the levels of resonance Gln and His decreased with increasing glycemia, reflecting, at least in part, insulin resistance (except for Gln) Only 1 of 43 risk single nucleotide polymorphisms (continued)
	Plasma	Plasma
clinical cohorts in the Framingham Heart Study (FHS; N = 1015) and Malmö Diet and Cancer Study (MDC; $N = 746$). In MDC, a diagnosis of new-onset diabetes after the baseline examination (mean follow-up time 12.6 years)	500	9369 (4.7-year follow- up)
	Nondiabetic individuals (37.4% African- Americans and 62.6% White) who had lost ≥4 kg during 6 months (phase I)	Nondiabetic or newly diagnosed type 2 diabetic Finnish men
	Interventional	Population-based Metabolic Syndrome in Men (METSIM)
	2012	2012
	(Shah et al. 2012)	(Stančáková et al. 2012)

ve sections	Main conclusions	regulating hyperglycemia, the glucose-increasing major C allele of rs780094 of GCKR, was significantly associated with decreased levels of Ala and Ile and elevated levels of Gln	Three metabolites (Gly, lysophosphatidylcholine (LPC) (18:2), and acetylcarnitine) had significantly altered levels in IGT individuals as compared to those with normal glucose tolerance. Lower levels of Gly and LPC were found to be predictors not only for IGT but also for T2DM, and were independently confirmed in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC)-Potsdam cohort
oned in the respecti	Method		Liquid chromatography and flow injection analysis-mass spectrometry
arrent studies menti	Type of material		Serum
2DM – summary of cu	n		4261 1297 cross- sectional KORA S4 study: 91 T2DM patients; 1206 individuals with non-T2DM (including 866 participants with NGT, 102 with i-IFG and 102 with i-IFG and 238 with IGT) 102 with i-IFG and 238 with IGT) 1010 prospective KORA $S4 \rightarrow F4$ study 876 non-T2DM individuals 91 incident cases of T2DM (mean follow-up 7 years) 641 NGT
ilin resistance and T2	Subjects		German individuals
amino acids and insu	Type of study		Prospective cooperative Health Research in the Region of Augsburg (KORA) cohort Cross-sectional EPIC-Potsdam cohort – replication cohort
etween	Year		2012
Associations by	Reference		(Wang-Sattler et al. 2012)

				118 incident IGT (mean follow-up 7 years)			
(Yamakado et al. 2012)	2012		Obese Japanese subjects	1449 (985 men and 464 women)	Plasma	LC-MS following derivatization	Accumulated visceral fat altered the peripheral annino acid profile. A multivariate logistic regression model of PFAAs could distinguish visceral obesity. This profile can be used as a predictor of elevated visceral obesity and a risk assessment tool for metabolic complications
(Magnusson et al. 2013)	2013	Matched case- control study derived from the population-based Malmö Diet and Cancer Cardio- vascular Cohort (MDC-CC)	Nested case-control (MDC-CC) 4577 free of myoca stroke (CVD) 253 incident CVD c follow-up time of 1 matched with 253 c Cross-sectional stuc CVD case-control material from MDC (253 cases and 253 564 free from preva sectional analyses o relation to intima-m (IMT) of the comm (CCA), and classifi	study rdial infarction or ases (during a mean 2.2 years) were ontrols. ly -CC 506 controls) and lent CVD for cross- of DM-AA score in tedia thickness on carotid artery ed using six-graded	plasma	LC-MS	Fasting plasma levels of Ile, Tyr and Phe were shown to predict diabetes development. The combination of these three AAs also predicted future cardiovascular events during long-term follow-up most likely through increased propensity of atherosclerosis BCAAs and AAAs were identified as novel markers of CVD development and as an early link between diabetes and CVD susceptibility

97

ve sections	Main conclusions		Elevations in the concentrations of BCAAs were significantly associated with BMI in the cross-sectional cohort. In the subset followed in longitudinal study, baseline BCAA levels were positively associated with HOMA-IR measured 18 months later. Elevated BCAA levels were significantly associated with obesity in children and adolescents, and may independently predict future IR	Circulating BCAAs (Ile, Leu, Val) and aromatic amino acids (Phe and Tyr) from fasting serum were shown as
oned in the respecti	Method		Targeted LC-MS/ MS-based profiling	High-throughput NMR spectroscopy
urrent studies menti	Type of material		Plasma	Fasting serum
DM – summary of c	u	ubjects who stress testing with m imaging: 83 cases emia and 83 control	69 (40 boys and 29 girls) – cross- sectional cohort 17 participants with a complete data – prospective longitudinal cohort	1680 (769 men and 911 women)
alin resistance and T ₂	Subjects	plaque score Distinct cohort of s underwent exercise myocardial perfusi with inducible isch- subjects	Healthy individuals in Boston (21 African- Americans, 36 White, and 12 others) aged 8 –18 years. A subset of 17 individuals who were pre- or early- pubertal, aged 8–13 years, were enrolled in a prospective longitudinal cohort longitudinal cohort	Nondiabetic young Finnish adults from the
amino acids and insu	Type of study		Cross-sectional cohort and prospective longitudinal cohort (for 18 months)	Prospective cohort
etween	Year		2013	2013
Associations b	Reference		(McCormack et al. 2013)	(Würtz et al. 2013)

Cardiovascularpredictors of the insulinRisk in Youngresistance index, but not of glycemia, at 6-year follow-up in young, normoglycemic adults, with most pronounced associations for men	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	1,261 nondiabetic 1,261 and 2,580 Fasting plasma Targeted LC-MS/ α-hydroxybutyrate (α-HB) 1 participants from MS-based and linoleoyl- 1 between Insulin moleine glycerophosphocholine 1 Sensitivity and cradiovascular profiling 1 Sensitivity and cradiovascular profiling 1 Sensitivity and cradiovascular profiling 1 Sensitivity and transfers of insulin 1 Sensitivity and transfers of insulin 1 study, with 3-year BCAAs; Leu, Ile, Val, and
Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns Study	German individuals TüF a family history of T2D, a BMI .27 kg/m ² , and previous impaired glucose tolerance or gestational diabetes mellitus	1,261 nondiabetic participants from the Relationship between Insulin Sensitivity and Cardiovascular Disease (RISC) study, with 3-year
	European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC)- Potsdam study Cooperative Health Research in the Region of Augsburg study – replication cohort (KORA) Tübingen Family study for T2DM (TüF)	Two observational cohorts: the prospective, observational cohort study Relationship between Insulin
	2013	2013
	(Floegel et al. 2013)	(Ferrannini et al. 2013)

	(m) m						
Associations b	etween	n amino acids and insul	lin resistance and T2	DM - summary of cu	urrent studies mentio	oned in the respectiv	e sections
Reference	Year	Type of study	Subjects	n	Type of material	Method	Main conclusions
		Sensitivity and Cardiovascular Disease (RISC) study and 2,580 from the family-based, observational familial Botnia Prospective Study	follow-up Subjects from 13 countries in Europe and 2,580 from the Botnia Prospective Study with 9.5-year follow-up Subjects from the West coast of Finland				three major glucogenic amino acids (Ala, Glu, Arg) were increased, whereas Gly was significantly decreased, in progressors versus nonprogressors. Increased concentrations of BCAAs and fatty acids, such as oleate, were positively related α -HB, whereas L-GPC and insulin sensitivity were reciprocally related to α -HB
(Wang et al. 2013)	2013	Nested case- control study from the Framingham Heart Study	Normoglycemic participants	2422 188 individuals who developed diabetes during 12 years and 188 propensity- matched controls	Plasma	Targeted LC-MS/ MS-based profiling	The metabolite 2-aminoadipic acid (2-AAA) was most strongly associated with the risk of developing diabetes
(Mai et al. 2013)	2013	Part of a sample from a population from Eastern Germany, the Sorbs	German individuals with normal glucose tolerance, isolated impaired fasting glycemia, impaired glucose	1019 subjects Subjects with normal glucose tolerance (NGT; n = 636), isolated impaired fasting glycemia (IFG;	Serum	LC-MS	Alterations in serum concentrations of several acylcarnitines, in particular tetradecenoylcarnitine (C14: 1), tetradecadienylcarnitine (C14:2), octadecenoylcarnitine (C18:

1), and malonylcarnitine/ hydroxybutyrylcarnitine (C3DC+C40H) are associated not only with T2D but also with prediabetic states	Metabolite profiles were significantly different between lean and obese participants. A cluster of obesity-associated changes in specific amino acids (BCAAs), fatty acids, acylcarnitine, and organic acylcarnitine, and organic acid metabolites was identified in the obese participants but not in the lean participants. These metabolites were also associated with IR. Additionally, differences in serun metabolites and metabolites a
	LC-MS and GC-MS
	Serum
n = 184), impaired glucose tolerance (IGT; $n = 87$), T2DM ($n = 112$)	106 healthy obese and 105 healthy lean participants
tolerance or type 2 diabetes	Healthy obese and healthy lean participants (Chinese, $n = 105$ and American, n = 72)
	2014
	2014) 2014)

sociations be	etween Year	Type of study	lin resistance and T2 Subjects	DM – summary of cu	Type of material	Method	e sections Main conclusions in obese
amura 2014)	2014	Cross-sectional cohort	T2DM Japanese subjects	51 (23 men and 28 women)	Plasma	LC-MS followed by precolumn derivatization	men, but not in obese women Glu, Tyr, Ala, Pro, and BCAAs were strongly correlated with the insulin- related variables such as C-peptide, insulin and HOMA-IR. Glu, Ala, Trp, and BCAAs were negatively correlated with adiponectin levels. The PFAA profiles in diabetic patients were strongly associated with hyperinsulinemia and hyperinsulinemia and hyperinsulinemia and hyperisulinemia an
))	2014	Longitudinal, community-based Framingham Heart Study (FHS) HERITAGE		2067	Plasma	LC-MS	β-aminoisobutyric acid (BAIBA) plasma concentrations were inversely correlated with cardiometabolic risk factors (fasting glucose, insulin,

		Family Study, sedentary subjects were recruited for a 20-week program of supervised exercise training					HOMA-IR, triglycerides, and total cholesterol) in humans and were increased during exercise training
(Tillin et al. 2015)	2015	Cross-sectional and prospective study in South Asian and European cohort from the SABRE (Southall And Brent REvisited) Study	European and South Asian nondiabetic men	1,279 European and 1,007 South Asian nondiabetic men 801 European and 643 South Asian participants Diabetes developed in 227 (35%) South Asian and 113 (14%) European men. after 19 years of the follow-up period	Serum	Nuclear magnetic spectroscopy	Concentrations of Ile, Phe, Tyr, and Ala were significantly higher in South Asian men, while cross- sectional correlations of AAs with glycemia and insulin resistance were similar both in Europeans and South Asians. Stronger adverse associations were observed between branched chain and aromatic AAs, particularly tyrosine, and incident diabetes in South Asian men
(Seibert et al. 2015)	2015	Cross-sectional study	Nondiabetic individuals	182 (118 women and 64 men)	Plasma	LC-MS	14 out of 24 AA levels were significantly higher in males than females; the only Gly was lower in males. Glu, Ile, Leu, and Tyr levels had the strongest correlation with steady-state plasma glucose. This association was similar in women and men,

103

_
\simeq
~
Ψ
_
_
·=
-
<u> </u>
~
0
U
ے
-
A 1
w.
-
•
_
~

ve sections	Main conclusions	independent of obesity, and similar to traditional markers of insulin resistance. In comparison to women, men tended to have a more unfavorable AA profile with higher AA levels associated with insulin resistance and less glycine. However, the degree of association between a direct measurement of insulin resistance and AA levels were similar between sexes and equivalent to several traditional markers of insulin resistance	BCAAs were associated with obesity and MetS. Overweight/obese participants irrespective of their MetS status had higher plasma BCAA levels than normal weight participants. Obesity-associated MetS appeared to worsen the difference with normal weight subjects. Leu and IIe levels were correlated with HOMA- IR among obese individuals
oned in the respectiv	Method		Mass spectrometry- based metabolite profiling
urrent studies menti	Type of material		Fasting plasma
2DM – summary of c	n		200 (101 men and 99 women)
llin resistance and T2	Subjects		Overweight/obese subjects with or without metabolic syndrome (MetS) and normal weight subjects without MetS
amino acids and insu	Type of study		
etween	Year		2015
Associations b	Reference		(Allam- Ndoul et al. 2015)

Associations b	etween	1 amino acids and insu	lin resistance and T2	DM - summary of c	urrent studies mentic	oned in the respectiv	'e sections
Reference	Year	Type of study	Subjects	u	Type of material	Method	Main conclusions
				dyslipidemia, 78.3%, or 2,637 without hypertension, 88.4%). Capabilities of the obtained models for predicting developing new-onset lifestyle-related diseases were examined in a cohort study of 2,984 subjects			against VFA or Ins120 min were higher than single PFAA levels, suggesting their usefulness for future risk prediction
(Yousri et al. 2015)	2015	Cross-sectional case-control study	Individuals with diabetes and controls of Arab and Asian descent embedded in the Qatar Metabolomics Study on Diabetes (QMDiab)	188 T2DM individuals and 181 controls	saliva, blood plasma, and urine	GC-MS and GC-MS	Perturbations in the glycolysis pathway are reflected by increased pyruvate and lactate levels, and perturbations in Phe and Tyr metabolism have been also shown. Increased proteolysis with aminoaciduria is reflected by increased urinary BCAA and AAA levels. The presence of subclinical ketoacidosis in

(continued)						
weight loss in the RYGB group. Adipose tissue			9 lean (7 women and 2 men) and			
increased by $\sim 65\%$ after			study that involved	longitudinal study		
obese than lean subjects and			Cross-sectional	and		
content was $\sim 30\%$ lower in			61 years old)	study		2015)
Total adinose tissue mmBCFA	GC-MS	Adinose tissue	2.7 subjects (33 to	Cross-sectional	2015	(Su et al.
the first time to diabetes						
pentosemetabolism), thus linking these metabolites for						
and xylonate (nucleotide and						
as arabitol, gluconate, ribose,						
(glycolysis pathway) as well						
1.3-dihydroxyacetone						
(Phe and Tyr metabolism),						
4-hydroxyphenylpyruvate						
3-methoxytyrosine and						
and Thr metabolism),						
β -hydroxypyruvate (Gly, Ser,						
diabetes, including						
pathways that play a role in						
associations, many are in						
16 newly identified metabolite						
and 2-hydroxybutyrate. Of the						
one biofluid, such as 1,5-AG						
were identified in more than						
of the established biomarkers						
3-hydroxyisobutyrate. Some						
3-hyroxybutyrate and						
increased concentrations of						
some patients is indicated by						

Associations b	etween	amino acids and insul	lin resistance and T2	DM – summary of cu	irrent studies mentic	oned in the respectiv	re sections
Reference	Year	Type of study	Subjects	u	Type of material	Method	Main conclusions
				9 obese (7 women and 2 men) subjects Longitudinal study that involved 9 obese subjects (8 women and 1 man), who were studied before and 1 year after Roux- en-Y gastric bypass (RYGB) surgery			mmBCFA content correlated positively with skeletal muscle insulin sensitivity
(Chen et al. 2016)	2016	Cross-sectional and Longitudinal cohort study	Chinese participants at different stages of diabetes development	429 213 51 individuals (47% male) developed diabetes and 162 (27% male) remained free of diabetes after a median follow-up time of 10.0 years and 216 in the cross-sectional study	Serum	LC-MS	Early elevation of Val, Leu, Ile, Tyr, and Phe was closely associated with future development of diabetes, suggesting an important role of these metabolites as early markers of diabetes, highlighting the predictive value of these markers for future development of diabetes

108

vas decreased and Val, i, Phe, and combined Gin Glu were increased in lin-resistant subjects. nic-stratified results were agest in European nericans. Comparing amino l profiles between subjects converted to T2DM ded a similar pattern of ociations: decreased Gly increased Val, Leu, and abined Gln and Glu	sma BCAAs were ociated with incident oetes and underlying abolic abnormalities, ough the associations e generally stronger in tcasians and Hispanics	AAs and ydroxybutyrate centrations during an oral cose tolerance test (OGTT) racterized insulin-resistant th and predicted sening of glycemic trol	(continued)
Tandem mass Gly spectrometry Lev (MS/MS) and Eth Eth Am actic that asso and con	Mass Pla: spectrometry asso dial met alth wer	Nuclear magnetic BC resonance a-h spectroscopy glu cha you woi	
plasma	Plasma	Plasma	
 196 72 high insulin sensitivity subjects and 75 Low insulin sensitivity subjects 146 76 converted to 75 converted to 72DM during a 5-year follow-up period and 70 nonconverters 	685 (290 Caucasians, 165 African Americans, and 230 Hispanics)	78 nondiabetic adolescents 16 subjects after a mean follow-up of 2.3 years	
European American, Hispanic, and African American nondiabetic at baseline subjects	Nondiabetic participants of the Insulin Resistance Atherosclerosis Study (IRAS)	Nondiabetic adolescents	
Multiethnic cohort from the Insulin Resistance Atherosclerosis Study (IRAS)		Cross-sectional and longitudinal study at the Yale Pediatric Obesity Clinic	
2015	2016	2017	
(Palmer et al. 2015)	(Lee et al. 2016)	(Tricò et al. 2017)	

rent studies mentioned in the respective sections	Method Main conclusions	GC-MS 3-HIB relates to insulin sensitivity but is not associated with intramyocellular fat content in overweight to obese individuals. Moreover, changes in 3-HIB rather than changes in BCAAs are associated with metabolic improvements with weight loss	GC-MS The decrease in plasma 3-HIB concentration and increase in plasma FGF21 concentration induced by insulin and glucose infusion during hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp procedure (HECP) is blocked by protein ingestion and the protein-induced increase in circulating 3-HIB and decrease in circulating 4-HIB and decrease in circulating 3-HIB and decrease in circulating 4-HIB and the protein-induced in section 4-HIB and the protein integration is a marked inpathogenesis of insulin-stating 4-HIB and feelal muscherer and the protein in the pathogenesis of insulin-treating 4-HIB and FGF21 metabolism
current studies mer	Type of material	Plasma (and urine)	Plasma
d insulin resistance and T2DM - summary of cu	u	109	30
lin resistance and T ₂	Subjects	Overweight to obese individuals before and after 6 months on hypocaloric diets reduced in either carbohydrates or fat	Sedentary, 50- to 65-year-old women with a stable weight basal conditions and during a hyperinsulinemic- euglycemic clamp procedure (HECP) with and without concomitant ingestion of protein $(n = 15)$ or an amount of leucine that matched the
amino acids and insu	Type of study	Prospective study	
etween	Year	2017	2017
Associations be	Reference	(Haufe et al. 2017)	(Harris et al. 2017)

gestion	ith for beta nges in (PCs) acids, a acids, a acids, a acids, a acid, me along ion Among ion (C19:1 (C19:1 mate the the the the the the the the the t	ere n Icreased s. This endent 's,	ontinued)
protein in	tetabolites related we strance and trion. Chan thous any thous any oxovalerid oxovalerid oxovalerid oxovalerid oxovalerid sp. PCs co atty acids and thanesulfo ated with the f developi	A levels w with insuli and with in 2 diabete: was indep risk factor and β cell	(C
duced by humans	lentified m rongly corn sulin resis all dysfunce osphatidy. osphatidy. anched-ch- methyl-2- nd glutama nong diab her findin dd-chain fi dd-chain fi dd	igh BCA/ ssociated v sistance a sk of type isociation f multiple OMA-IR, motion	
8.8.	上 三 本 ら d ま ふ d 本 ら d i i i i i c	y y re as ri ri H H	
	.c-MS	vuclear ma esonance pectroscop	
		<u> </u>	
	Plasma	Plasma	
	pants at ho T2DM iian time f year year	s study cts of T2DM dian for 7.5	
	503 partici baseline wi developed after a mec of 7 years. Among the 503 pairs c selected participant 187 case-o- follow-up follow-up	Prospective 6244 subje 301 cases c (during me follow-up ; years)	
f protein	ases and ic	from 1, rlands	
amount of $(n = 15)$	Swedish i diabetes c nondiabet controls	Residents Groninger the Nether	
	e- dy ohort of botten based n	of ascular lisease D)	
	Nested cas control stu- within the Swedish cc Swedish cc prospective prospective program	Prevention renal and v and-stage c (PREVEN) cohort	
	2018	2018	
	(Shi et al. 2018)	(Flores- Guerrero et al. 2018)	

ective sections	Main conclusions	Evidence is accumulating thatsesthe features of AILS includeaits ability to assess the risk fordiabetes, suggesting it can beused for diabetes predictionels	High concentrations of Val, Leu, Ile, Phe, Tyr, Ala, Glu, Om, and Lys were associated with an increased risk of incident T2DM. High Gln levels were associated with a decreased risk of incident T2DM. These AAs may be novel useful biomarkers in the identification of people at risk of T2DM before overt symptoms. Insulin resistance may account for or mediate the relationship between these
oned in the resp	Method	AminoIndex LifeStyle disea (AILS) test as multivariate formula using plasma AA lev for lifestyle- related disease risk screening	LC-MS
urrent studies mentic	Type of material	Obtained model uses plasma AA levels, which correlate to visceral fat area, as an indicator of prediabetic visceral fat accumulation	Serum
2DM – summary of c	u		4754 individuals 284 T2DM cases during a 5-year follow-up and 560 controls
lin resistance and T ₂	Subjects		Nondiabetic Japanese working adults
ween amino acids and inst	Type of study		Prospective nested case- control Study Study
etween	Year	2018	2019
Associations b	Reference	(Yamakado 2018)	2019) 2019)

BCAA levels has been confirmed in several studies involving different ethnic groups and degrees of obesity (Newgard et al. 2009; Shah et al. 2012; McCormack et al. 2013; Würtz et al. 2013; Bi and Henry 2017). FAA profiles, particularly BCAA levels, are altered prior to the development of T2DM and are significantly associated with future diabetes diagnosis (Wang et al. 2011). These changes in plasma-free amino acids (PFAAs) can predominantly result from a metabolic shift caused by early diabetes pathogenesis (Nie et al. 2018) and may serve as a better indicator of impaired IR in prediabetic state than plasma glucose levels (Allam-Ndoul et al. 2015).

In addition, the dietary patterns of protein and BCAAs supplementation also significantly influence the association between BCAAs and IR (Zheng et al. 2016; Nagata et al. 2013; Biswas et al. 2019). Infusion of BCAAs or leucine in humans, as well as dietary intake of BCAAs, reportedly worsened insulin sensitivity (Zheng et al. 2016; Nagata et al. 2013; Harris et al. 2017; Shah et al. 2012; Biswas et al. 2019), while low BCAAs consumption has been correlated with improvement in metabolic health and alleviating IR (amelioration of IR) (Biswas et al. 2019). High dietary consumption of BCAAs is suggested to increase the risk of incident IR and may accelerate the progression of metabolic disorders, such as metabolic syndrome, and diabetes, and is not associated with the pancreatic β -cells dysfunction and hyperinsulinemia in adults. Higher total dietary BCAA intake was associated with an increased risk of T2DM in three prospective cohort studies (Nagata et al. 2013; Zheng et al. 2016; Nie et al. 2018). Moreover, these results were similar in Asian population (Nie et al. 2018).

The circulating BCAAs (valine, leucine, isoleucine) and AAAs (tyrosine and phenylalanine) have been identified as risk factors for the development of T2DM (Guasch-Ferré et al. 2016; Wang et al. 2011; Floegel et al. 2013; Palmer et al. 2015; Tillin et al. 2015; Chen et al. 2016; Stančáková et al. 2012; Wang-Sattler et al. 2012; Chen et al. 2019). Evidence concerning other amino acids is inconsistent (Chen et al. 2019). For example, an inverse correlation of glutamine with T2DM risk has been shown in some (Stančáková et al. 2012; Cheng et al., 2012) but not all of the performed studies (Floegel *et al.*, 2013; Tillin et al. 2015; Wang-Sattler et al. 2012). Glutamate was positively associated with the occurrence of T2DM in cohort studies of Finnish from the Botnia Prospective Study (Ferrannini et al. 2013) and American adults from the Framingham Heart Study (FHS) cohort (Cheng et al. 2012), as well as Swedish cohort of the Västerbotten prospective population-based intervention program (Shi et al. 2018), whereas relations of glutamate were nonsignificant in the Malmö Diet and Cancer Study (MDC) cohort free of diabetes at baseline Swedish individuals (Cheng et al. 2012).

Glycine was reported to be inversely associated with the incidence of T2DM in Germany and West coast of Finland (Floegel et al. 2013; Wang-Sattler et al. 2012; Ferrannini et al. 2013). It was also negatively correlated with incident diabetes in European but not in South Asian men (Tillin et al. 2015). Moreover, limited evidence suggests a positive association with T2DM in the case of alanine (Ala) and histidine as well as ornithine (Guasch-Ferré et al. 2016; Chen et al. 2019). Stronger correlation between BCAA concentrations and insulin sensitivity was observed in men, with

clear differences associated with age and ethnicity (Ianni et al. 2017). Consistent with this view, the population-based Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns Study demonstrated that BCAAs, along with the aromatic amino acids: phenylalanine and tyrosine, were associated with IR selectively in men (Würtz et al. 2013). Xie et al. (2014) demonstrated that the serum metabolite profiles, verified with two independent groups of participants (Chinese, n = 105 and American, n = 72) of the obese population are gender-dependent. BCAA levels were correlated with IR and differentially expressed in obese men, but not in obese women (Xie et al. 2014). Another study found that 14 out of 24 measured AA levels were significantly higher in males than females; the only glycine was lower in males. Glutamic acid, isoleucine, leucine, and tyrosine levels had the strongest correlation with steady-state plasma glucose. This association was similar in women and men, independently of obesity. and similar to traditional markers of IR. In comparison to women, men tended to have a more unfavorable AA profile with higher AA levels associated with IR and less glycine. However, the degree of association between a direct measurement of IR and AA levels were similar between sexes and equivalent to several traditional markers of IR (Seibert et al. 2015).

The correlation between BCAA concentrations and T2DM development is also significantly modified by ethnicity, with the association in Caucasians and Hispanics while it does not appear in African Americans (Lee et al. 2016).

The cohort studies on the Asian population found BCAAs as a valid of the future risk of T2DM (Tillin et al. 2015; Tai et al. 2010), while another study of a predictive model in American Indians did not develop a reporter concept of BCAAs (Zhao et al. 2015).

Large, longitudinal studies confirmed that PFAAs analysis can predict the future susceptibility of lifestyle-related diseases (Wang et al. 2011; Yamakado et al. 2015), which is a significant strength of these investigations. Various prospective, casecontrolled and nested studies on the subjects of different ethnic origins have shown elevated levels of BCAAs and other amino acids are associated with the prediabetic state, IR, and T2DM. Elevations in PFAA concentrations may independently predict the future development of diabetes, metabolic syndrome, dyslipidemia, or hypertension over a 4-year period, even after adjusting for commonly accepted risk factors such as age, sex, body mass index, fasting plasma glucose, IR, waist circumference, blood pressure, and lipid variables. From 2,984 Japanese subjects in the cohort study, 2,729 individuals without DM were included in the follow-up study to investigate the ability to predict the 4-year risk of developing new-onset DM. For single PFAA levels, BCAAs (isoleucine, leucine) and AAAs (tyrosine and phenylalanine) were significantly related to the development of DM over the 4-year time period after adjusting for age, gender, BMI, fasting plasma glucose (FPG), and Homeostatic Model Assessment of Insulin Resistance (HOMA-IR). Multiple linear regression analysis with variable selection models were constructed between PFAA levels and the visceral fat area (VFA) and 2-h post-challenge insulin (Ins120 min) values for predicting 4-year risk of developing new-onset lifestyle-related diseases. The correlation coefficients of the obtained PFAA models against VFA or Ins120 min were higher than single PFAA levels, suggesting their usefulness as versatile markers for health monitoring for future risk prediction (Yamakado et al. 2015).

The positive associations of BCAAs and aromatic amino acids with T2DM risk have subsequently been replicated in multiple other cohorts. Similarly, the Framingham Offspring Study, conducted among 2,422 normoglycemic individuals over a 12-year period, showed that BCAAs (isoleucine, leucine, valine) and AAAs (phenylalanine and tyrosine, and also tryptophan) levels have highly significant associations with future diabetes. The others were aromatic amino acids (tryptophan, phenylalanine, and tyrosine). A combination of three amino acids predicted future diabetes (with a more than fivefold higher risk for individuals in top quartile), highlighting the potentially crucial role of amino acid metabolism in early diabetes pathogenesis (Wang et al. 2011).

Chen and his colleagues verified the close correlation of valine, leucine, isoleucine, tyrosine, and phenylalanine with IR and the future development of diabetes in Chinese populations after 10 years of follow-up, suggesting an important role of these metabolites as early markers of diabetes (highlighting the predictive value of these markers for the future development of diabetes) (Chen et al. 2016).

Cheng et al. (2012) performed one of the most promising investigations to determine the plasma concentrations of 45 distinct metabolites and examine their relation to cardiometabolic risk among 1,761 individuals from two large, wellcharacterized clinical cohorts in the Framingham Heart Study (FHS; N=1015) and the Malmö Diet and Cancer Study (MDC; N=746). Metabolic risk factors, such as obesity, IR, high blood pressure, dyslipidemia were associated with multiple metabolites including branched-chain amino acids, other hydrophobic amino acids, tryptophan breakdown products, and nucleotide metabolites. Moreover, a particularly strong association of IR traits with decreased glutamine and increased glutamate was observed. High glutamine-glutamate ratio was associated with lower risk of incident diabetes in FHS, but not in MDC (Cheng et al. 2012). The prospective roles of circulating amino acids as reporter molecules of insulin sensitivity and diabetes were further investigated in 1,680 individuals from the population-based Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns Study. Circulating BCAAs (isoleucine, leucine, valine) and aromatic amino acids (phenylalanine and tyrosine) from fasting serum were shown as predictors of the insulin resistance index, but not of glycemia, at 6-year follow-up in young, normoglycemic adults, with most pronounced associations for men. They were associated with HOMA-IR at baseline and for men at 6-year follow-up, while for women only leucine, valine, and phenylalanine predicted 6-year HOMA-IR (P < 0.05). These observations suggest that altered metabolism of BCAAs and AAAs precedes the development of IR in early adulthood, before the onset of impaired fasting glucose levels, which at least partially explains how these amino acids are associated with the risk of future type 2 diabetes (Würtz et al. 2013).

Tillin et al. performed the cross-sectional and prospective analyses of ethnicity, amino acids level, and diabetes in a South Asian and European cohort from the SABRE (Southall And Brent REvisited) study. The study was performed on 801 European and 643 South Asian participants with 19 years follow-up period. The authors concluded that branched-chain and aromatic amino acids may contribute to excess risk of diabetes development (Tillin et al. 2015).

Stančáková et al. investigated amino acid levels with proton nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy in the population-based Metabolic Syndrome in Men (METSIM) Study, including 9,369 nondiabetic or newly diagnosed T2DM Finnish men. The levels of leucine, isoleucine, tyrosine, and alanine increased, and the levels of glutamine and histidine decreased with increasing glycemia, reflecting, at least in part, insulin resistance (Stančáková et al. 2012).

In a prospective nested case-control study, conducted among Japanese employees during a 5-year follow-up, fasting serum concentrations of several amino acids, including valine, leucine, isoleucine, phenylalanine, tyrosine, alanine, glutamate, ornithine, and lysine were associated with an increased risk of incident T2DM. High glutamine levels were associated with a decreased risk of incident T2DM (Chen et al. 2019).

In another study performed among Chinese population, GC-MS-based metabolic profiling showed increased levels of several amino acids, involving BCAAs (leucine, isoleucine) as well as alanine, and serine while substantial lower levels of 2-ketoisocaproic acid as early biomarkers of T2DM. Lower concentrations of 2-ketoisocaproic acid, a product of leucine deamination, may indicate a reduced rate of conversion of leucine to 2-ketoisocaproic acid in T2DM (Zeng et al. 2009). Similarly, Fiehn et al. observed an increase in certain AA levels and their derivatives (i.e., leucine, 2-ketoisocaproic acid (α -ketoisocaproate), was significantly increased by ~50%, and its initial catabolic metabolite, 2-ketoisocaproic acid (α -ketoisocaproate), was significantly increased by ~27%. Mean plasma valine level was ~20% higher in T2DM subjects vs. nondiabetic weight/age matched African-American women, but this difference was not statistically significant. In addition, leucine and valine concentrations rose with increasing HbA1c, and significantly correlated with plasma acetylcarnitine concentrations (Fiehn et al. 2010).

Several other studies have observed the predictive ability of PFAA analysis in evaluating the risk of developing lifestyle-related diseases and associated cardiovascular diseases. Magnusson et al. (2013) investigated the metabolite profiles among 4577 subjects among whom in case of 253 first-incident of cardiovascular disease (CVD) (myocardial infarction or stroke) occurred during a mean follow-up time of 12.2 years. Fasting plasma levels of isoleucine, tyrosine, and phenylalanine were shown to predict diabetes development with a four- to sixfold increased risk for participants in the top quartile. The combination of these three amino acids may also predict future cardiovascular events during long-term follow-up. McCormack et al. reported that elevations in BCAA concentrations are significantly associated with obesity in children and adolescents, and may independently predict future IR. Elevated BCAA levels significantly correlated with BMI in the cross-sectional cohort. In the subset of participants followed longitudinally, baseline BCAA levels were positively associated with HOMA-IR measured 18 months later (McCormack et al. 2013). Metabolic profiling performed in baseline and after 6 months in plasma samples from 500 participants after at least 4 kg of weight loss in phase I revealed a cluster of metabolites comprising BCAA levels and related analytes that could predict improvement in HOMA-IR independently of the amount of weight lost (Shah et al. 2012). Nakamura et al. (2014) recruited 51 Japanese subjects diagnosed with T2DM and measured their PFAA profiles. Several amino acids: BCAAs, glutamate, tyrosine, alanine, and proline were strongly correlated with the insulin-related variables such as C-peptide, insulin, and HOMA-IR. They also observed that the levels of BCAAs, glutamate, alanine, and tryptophan were negatively correlated with adiponectin concentrations. Adiponectin plays a pivotal role in the regulation of insulin sensitivity and metabolism. Adiponectin concentrations have shown to be decreased in obese people or diabetic patients and are strongly related to IR and hyperinsulinemia in humans (Ziemke and Mantzoros 2010). These results indicated the significant relationship between PFAA profiles, adiponectin levels, and IR (Nakamura et al. 2014).

A cross-sectional and longitudinal study conducted at the Yale Pediatric Obesity Clinic showed that BCAA and α -hydroxybutyrate concentrations during an oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) characterize insulin-resistant youth and predict worsening of glycemic control (Tricò et al. 2017). Furthermore, in a nested case-control study within the Swedish cohort of the Västerbotten prospective population-based intervention program, an untargeted metabolomics of plasma samples from 503 case-control pairs at baseline (median time 7 years before diagnosis) and samples from a subset of 187 case-control pairs at 10-year follow-up was performed. As a result 46 metabolites allowing T2DM prediction were reported (Shi et al., 2018). Identified metabolites strongly correlated with IR and/or beta cell dysfunction. Among diabetes cases, changes in phosphatidylcholines (PCs) with odd-chain fatty acids, branched-chain amino acids, 3-methyl-2-oxovaleric acid, and glutamate were observed over time along with disease progression. Prospective associations between plasma BCAA levels and T2DM risk were also established in a populationbased Prevention of renal and vascular end-stage disease (PREVEND) cohort. BCAA concentrations were determined by nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy in 6244 subjects, among whom 301 cases of T2DM were ascertained during a mean follow-up period of 7.5 years. High levels of BCAAs were confirmed as previously identified predictive biomarkers of IR and T2DM. This association was independent of multiple risk factors, HOMA-IR and β cell function (Flores-Guerrero et al. 2018)

The association between the level of circulating BCAAs, insulin resistant obesity, and T2DM prompted consideration of BCAA levels as a predictor for future IR or T2DM in order to develop screening PFAA-based tests. Analysis of general health check-up data from 8070 subjects revealed that the amino acid balance of precipitants that developed diabetes within 4 years was similar to that of individuals with diabetes, suggesting that changes in amino acid metabolism may occur prior to the onset of diabetes. Based on these findings, an index known as the AminoIndex LifeStyle diseases (AILS) test was developed. The obtained model was created as a multivariate formula using plasma AA levels, which correlate to visceral fat area as an indicator of prediabetic visceral fat accumulation. Plasma AA levels of asparagine, glycine, alanine, valine, tyrosine, and tryptophan levels were included in the AILS (risk of diabetes) formula derived in this study. Alanine, valine, tyrosine, and tryptophan levels were significantly higher in individuals who developed diabetes within 4 years compared with levels in those who were not diagnosed with diabetes during this period,

while levels of glycine were significantly lower. The AILS test was investigated whether its values normalize with such interventions as dietary and exercise counseling for 3 months. AILS values decreased significantly in individuals who managed to reduce body weight and waist circumference (Tochikubo et al. 2016), suggesting that early risk assessment using AILS could support early interventions in at-risk populations (Nagao and Kimura 2020). After commercialization in 2011, tests based on PFAAs were adopted in over 1500 clinics and hospitals in Japan, and numerous clinician-led studies have been performed to validate these tests. Evidence is accumulating that the features of AILS include its ability to assess the risk for diabetes, suggesting it can be used for diabetes prediction (Yamakado 2018).

Amino Acids Metabolic Intermediates As Markers for Insulin Resistance and Diabetes

Many recent studies suggest that not only BCAAs, but also BCAA catabolic enzymes and metabolic intermediates may play a key role in determining the relationship between BCAAs and other amino acids, and IR (Biswas et al. 2019). Obesity-related increase in BCAA levels may be the result of changes in amino acid metabolism, particularly decreased rates of their oxidation in adipose tissue (She et al. 2007; Lackey et al. 2013; Nagao and Kimura 2020; White and Newgard 2019). Recent metabolomics studies on diabetes have identified changes in plasma concentrations of BCAA-derived branched-chain keto acids, short branched-chain fatty acids, and various acylcarnitines as new entities with predictive qualities (Giesbertz and Daniel 2016).

Altered levels of BCAA-catabolic intermediates was shown to influence metabolic maladaptations during obesity and IR (Gall et al. 2010). Circulating BCKA and its association with heightened fasting plasma glucose and IR have been established by the Relationship of Insulin Sensitivity to Cardiovascular Risk (RISC) study group (Gall et al. 2010). Elevated plasma BCKAs were also confirmed by a few studies on mice (Lian et al. 2015).

Other intermediates related to BCAA catabolism are long-chain monomethyl and odd-numbered fatty acids. They can be derived from an odd-chain starter CoA with chain elongation in the fatty acid synthase complex. Monomethyl branched-chain fatty acids (mmBCFA) content in adipose tissue was reduced in obese compared to lean subjects, increased after weight loss in obese individuals, and correlated positively with insulin sensitivity (Su et al. 2015).

Val-derived metabolite, 3-hydroxyisobutyrate (3-HIB), is produced in skeletal muscle in response to forced expression of Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ coactivator 1 α (PGC-1 α). 3-HIB, secreted from muscle cells is shown to regulate trans-endothelial fatty acid transport (White and Newgard 2019). Circulating 3-HIB is positively associated with blood glucose levels in diabetic patients, suggesting that this metabolite may promote excessive lipid accumulation and impaired insulin action in skeletal muscle (White and Newgard 2019). In overweight and obese subjects, lower circulating 3-HIB levels, but not BCAA, were associated

with metabolic improvement after weight loss (Haufe et al. 2017; Biswas et al. 2019) and were also correlated with insulin-stimulated glucose utilization in older obese women (Harris et al. 2017; Biswas et al. 2019). These results indicate that 3-HIB may serve as a signaling metabolite in IR and T2DM.

Interestingly, elevated plasma levels of β -aminoisobutyric acid (BAIBA) due to enhanced valine catabolism have also been shown to increase with exercise and are inversely correlated with such metabolic risk factors as fasting glucose, insulin, HOMA-IR, triglycerides, and total cholesterol in a randomized large human cohort enrolled in the longitudinal Framingham Heart Study (Roberts et al. 2014). BAIBA is identified as a novel small molecule myokine that increases brown adipocytespecific genes expression in white adipose tissue and fatty acid β -oxidation in hepatocytes, both in vitro and in vivo, through a PPAR α -mediated mechanism. Moreover it was shown to induce a brown adipose-like phenotype in human pluripotent stem cells, and improve glucose homeostasis in mice (Roberts et al. 2014; Biswas et al. 2019). Thus, BAIBA may contribute to exercise-induced protection against metabolic diseases (Roberts et al. 2014).

Newgard et al. showed that BCAAs-derived odd numbered 3- and 5-carbon acylcarnitines have a predictive value for the development of diabetes (Newgard et al. 2009). Acylcarnitines present in plasma and urine may reflect defective BCAAs mitochondrial oxidation. Various acylcarnitines derived from BCAA catabolism may be associated with IR and T2DM (Giesbertz and Daniel 2016). Mai et al. reported that alterations in serum levels of several acylcarnitines, in particular tetra-decenoylcarnitine (C14:1), tetradecadienylcarnitine (C14:2), octadecenoylcarnitine (C18:1), and malonylcarnitine/hydroxybutyrylcarnitine (C3DC+C4OH) are correlated not only with T2DM but also with prediabetic states (Mai et al. 2013).

Lysine degradation product, 2-aminoadipic acid (2-AAA) was most strongly associated with the risk of diabetes development in the Framingham Heart Study (Wang et al. 2013). Participants with 2-AAA levels in the top quartile had greater than a fourfold risk of developing diabetes during the mean 12 years follow-up period. Administration of 2-AAA led to a reduction in fasting plasma glucose levels in mice fed both the standard chow and high fat diets. Moreover, treatment with 2-AAA increased insulin secretion from the pancreatic β cell line as well as murine and human islets. Our results suggest that 2-AAA is a diabetes risk marker and a potential modulator of glucose homeostasis in humans (Wang et al. 2013; Chen and Gerszten 2020).

A disadvantage of these new reporter molecules compared to BCAAs is the lower plasma and tissue levels of several species, resulting in higher analytical variation, with some compounds also less stable (Giesbertz and Daniel 2016).

Conclusions

Beyond their contribution as fundamental building blocks of life, amino acids play a key role in various physiological as well as pathological processes. Recent evidences demonstrate that elevated amino acids, especially BCAA levels, are associated with a number of pathologies, including: obesity, IR, T2DM, and CVD. Therefore, the

measurement and monitoring of circulating AA levels in biological fluids could represent a promising method for early detection of the disease and may provide a means of preventing its development. This chapter reviews the latest findings regarding the use of plasma/serum FAAs profiles as novel useful biomarkers in the identification of people at risk of T2DM before overt symptoms as well as focuses on potential targets relating to their signaling pathways, and metabolism that broadens our understanding of their role in insulin resistance and diabetes.

Applications to Prognosis, Other Diseases, or Conditions

In this chapter changes in circulating AAs levels and their correlations with IR, prediabetic state, and T2DM have been reviewed. Several studies have been explored in order to identify and integrate AAs metabolite biomarkers proposed so far. A large body of evidence shows that AAs, especially BCAAs, are associated with obesity, IR, prediabetic state, and T2DM as well other pathological conditions, including cancers, CVD, liver disease, chronic kidney disease (CVD), and ischemic stroke, highlighting the potential use of AAs profiling as a valuable diagnostic tool to access the risk of disease development. The use of AAs as novel disease biomarkers in clinical practice may improve treatment strategies.

Mini Dictionary of Terms

- HOMA-IR Homeostatic Model Assessment (HOMA) is a method for assessing β-cell function and insulin IR from basal (fasting) glucose and insulin or C-peptide concentrations. It approximates insulin resistance.
- **INSULIN RESISTANCE** A pathological condition in which cells fail to respond normally to the insulin hormone.
- **BIOMARKER** A measurable biological feature that can distinguish normal condition from pathological condition or indicate a response to an administered therapeutic drug.
- **METABOLOMICS** A scientific discipline devoted to study changes in metabolome by measurement of small molecule metabolites. Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy or mass spectrometry (MS), coupled with liquid chromatography (LC-MS), gas chromatography (GC-MS), or capillary electrophoresis (CE-MS), is usually used to measure metabolites. Not only primary metabolites, but also the substrates and products of metabolism are measured. Metabolites can be measured in a targeted (metabolic profiling) or an untargeted (metabolic fingerprinting) manner.
- T2DM Most commonly diagnosed type of diabetes, characterized by abnormal glucose and lipid metabolism, resulting from resistance to the effects of insulin and insufficient response to the secretion of this hormone. As this disease progresses, there may also occur a partial β-cell insufficiency and deficiency in insulin production.

Key Facts of Amino acids

A number of studies suggest that BCAAs supplementation or BCAA-rich diets has potential benefits for promoting lean body mass in obesity or catabolic disorders. Elevated BCAAs levels have been reported to improve body composition, glycemia levels, and to increase satiety for weight loss (Lynch and Adams 2014).

- In contrast to the potential health-promoting effects of BCAAs under conditions of negative energy balance, higher BCAAs intake may lead to adverse effects on the development of IR (Nie et al. 2018). Increased levels of branched-chain amino acids in plasma, serum, and also in urine are associated with obesity, IR, and diabetes, in particular T2DM.
- Branched-chain amino acids: valine, leucine, isoleucine, and aromatic amino acids, that is tyrosine and phenylalanine, have been demonstrated as the most consistent metabolite biomarkers for diabetes, in particular T2DM.
- Elevated BCAA levels have often been shown to predict the development of T2DM well in advance of its actual occurrence, what is very interesting from a diagnostics standpoint.
- BCAAs may not only have a "reporter quality" but may also contribute to the development of IR and T2DM.

Summary Points

- In the current medical situation, DM is a worldwide epidemic. Diabetes, particularly type 2 portends a poor prognosis and shortens the life expectancy of diabetic patients. Moreover, it imposes a heavy financial strain on health care systems everywhere.
- Early screening and testing of people at risk is the best approach to control the increasing numbers of diabetes occurrences, and it is most effective to recognize the early stages of DM before major systematic damage occurs.
- Various prospective, case-controlled and nested studies on the subjects of different ethnic origins shown that elevated levels of BCAAs and other AAs are associated with the prediabetic state, IR, and T2DM.
- Amino acids quantification in biological material, primarily in plasma, could be a valuable prognostic tool for determining metabolic abnormalities leading to diabetes.
- The activation of mTORC1 by BCAAs has been suggested to trigger IR, and subsequent metabolic disorders.
- Deficiencies in BCAAs metabolism referred as dysmetabolism lead to increased BCAA levels in obesity and/or diabetes. It can also induce the accumulation of possibly toxic intermediates, such as branched-chain keto acids, branched-chain fatty acids, and various acylcarnitines that impair cellular function(s) and may induce IR.
- Various intermediates of BCAAs are now considered as predictive markers that reflect IR and diabetes development.

The second possible mechanism is referred as BCAAs. Deficiency in BCAAs metabolism may induce the accumulation of toxic intermediates, such as branched-chain keto acids, branched-chain fatty acids, and various acylcarnitines that promotes cellular dysfunction, which leads to poorer insulin sensitivity of skeletal muscles.

Accumulation of BCAA break-down products may also interfere with proper mitochondrial function. Overloading of mitochondria with lipid substrates leads to oxidative stress and impaired insulin action contributing to insulin resistance.

References

- Adams SH, et al. Plasma acylcarnitine profiles suggest incomplete long-chain fatty acid β-Oxidation and altered tricarboxylic acid cycle activity in type 2 diabetic African-American Women. J Nutr. 2009;139(6):1073–81. https://doi.org/10.3945/JN.108.103754.
- Ahola-Olli AV, et al. Circulating metabolites and the risk of type 2 diabetes: a prospective study of 11,896 young adults from four Finnish cohorts. Diabetologia. 2019;62(12):2298–309. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-019-05001-w.
- Al-Abbasi FA. Trend analysis of the correlation of amino acid plasma profile with glycemic status in Saudi diabetic patients. J Adv Res. 2012;3(4):305–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jare.2011. 10.001.
- Allam-Ndoul, B. et al. Associations between branched chain amino acid levels, obesity and cardiometabolic complications. Integr Obes Diab. 2015;1(6). https://doi.org/10.15761/IOD. 1000134.
- Association AD. Standards of medical care in diabetes 2016 abridged for primary care providers. Clin Diabetes. 2016;34(1):3–21. https://doi.org/10.2337/diaclin.34.1.3.
- Association AD. 2. Classification and diagnosis of diabetes: standards of medical care in diabetes 2018. Diabetes Care. 2018;41(Supplement 1):S13–27. https://doi.org/10.2337/DC18-S002.
- Bi X, Henry CJ. Plasma-free amino acid profiles are predictors of cancer and diabetes development. Nutr Diabetes. 2017;7(3):e249:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/nutd.2016.55.
- Biswas D, Duffley L, Pulinilkunnil T. Role of branched-chain amino acid–catabolizing enzymes in intertissue signaling, metabolic remodeling, and energy homeostasis. FASEB J Wiley and Sons Inc. 2019:8711–31. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.201802842RR.
- Chen ZZ, Gerszten RE. Metabolomics and proteomics in type 2 diabetes. Circ Res. 2020;126(11): 1613–27. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.315898.
- Chen T, et al. Branched-chain and aromatic amino acid profiles and diabetes risk in Chinese populations. Sci Rep. 2016;6(1):1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep20594.
- Chen S, et al. Serum amino acid profiles and risk of type 2 diabetes among Japanese adults in the Hitachi Health Study. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1):1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-43431-z.
- Cheng S, et al. Metabolite profiling identifies pathways associated with metabolic risk in humans. Circulation. 2012;125(18):2222. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.067827.
- "Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus". Diabetes Care. American Diabetes Association Inc.; 2004. p. s5–s10. https://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.27.2007.s5.
- Felig P, Marliss E, Cahill GF Jr. Plasma amino acid levels and insulin secretion in obesity. N Engl J Med. 1969;281(15):811–6. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM196910092811503.
- Ferrannini E, et al. Early metabolic markers of the development of dysglycemia and type 2 diabetes and their physiological significance. Diabetes. 2013;62(5):1730. https://doi.org/10.2337/DB12-0707.
- Fiehn O, et al. Plasma metabolomic profiles reflective of glucose homeostasis in non-diabetic and type 2 diabetic obese African-American Women. PLoS One. 2010;5(12):1–10. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0015234.

- Floegel A, et al. Identification of serum metabolites associated with risk of type 2 diabetes using a targeted metabolomic approach. Diabetes. 2013;62(2):639. https://doi.org/10.2337/DB12-0495.
- Flores-Guerrero JL, et al. Plasma branched-chain amino acids and risk of incident type 2 diabetes: results from the PREVEND Prospective Cohort Study. J Clin Med. 2018;7(12):513. https://doi.org/10.3390/JCM7120513.
- Freitas PAC, Ehlert LR, Camargo JL. Glycated albumin: a potential biomarker in diabetes. Arch Endocrinol Metabol. Sociedade Brasileira de Endocrinologia e Metabologia; 2017;61:296–304. https://doi.org/10.1590/2359-3997000000272.
- Gall WE, et al. α-Hydroxybutyrate is an early biomarker of insulin resistance and glucose intolerance in a nondiabetic population. PLoS One. 2010;5(5) https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE. 0010883.
- Gan WZ, et al. Omics-based biomarkers in the diagnosis of diabetes. J Basic Clin Physiol Pharmacol De Gruyter. 2020; https://doi.org/10.1515/jbcpp-2019-0120.
- George J. Branched chain amino acids: causal or predictive of type 2 diabetes. *undefined* [Preprint]. 2017.
- Giesbertz P, Daniel H. Branched-chain amino acids as biomarkers in diabetes. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care Lippincott Williams and Wilkins. 2016:48–54. https://doi.org/10.1097/MCO. 00000000000235.
- Gross DN, Wan M, Birnbaum MJ. The role of FOXO in the regulation of metabolism. Curr Diabetes Rep. 2009;9(3):208–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11892-009-0034-5.
- Guasch-Ferré M, et al. Metabolomics in prediabetes and diabetes: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Diabetes Care. 2016;39(5):833–46. https://doi.org/10.2337/DC15-2251.
- Hameed A, et al. Altered metabolome of lipids and amino acids species: a source of early signature biomarkers of T2DM. J Clin Med. 2020;9(7):2257. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9072257.
- Harris L-ALS, et al. Alterations in 3-Hydroxyisobutyrate and FGF21 metabolism are associated with protein ingestion–induced insulin resistance. Diabetes. 2017;66(7):1871. https://doi.org/ 10.2337/DB16-1475.
- Haufe S, et al. Branched-chain amino acid catabolism rather than amino acids plasma concentrations is associated with diet-induced changes in insulin resistance in overweight to obese individuals. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2017;27(10):858–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. NUMECD.2017.07.001.
- Ianni, F. et al. Branched-chain amino acids as potential diagnostic and prognostic disease biomarkers. Int J Clin Res Trials. 2017;2(1). https://doi.org/10.15344/2456-8007/2017/112.
- International Diabetes Federation (IDF). Diabetes Atlas. 7th Edition, International Diabetes Federation, Brussels, Belgium. – References – Scientific Research Publishing (no date). 2015. https:// www.scirp.org/(S(vtj3fa45qm1ean45vvffcz55))/reference/ReferencesPapers.aspx? ReferenceID=2085700. Accessed 15 June 2021.
- Kubota T, Kubota N, Kadowaki T. Imbalanced insulin actions in obesity and type 2 diabetes: key mouse models of insulin signaling pathway. Cell Metab. 2017;25(4):797–810. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.CMET.2017.03.004.
- Lackey DE, et al. Regulation of adipose branched-chain amino acid catabolism enzyme expression and cross-adipose amino acid flux in human obesity. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2013;304 (11):E1175. https://doi.org/10.1152/AJPENDO.00630.2012.
- Lee CC, et al. Branched-Chain amino acids and insulin metabolism: the Insulin Resistance Atherosclerosis Study (IRAS). Diabetes Care. 2016;39(4):582. https://doi.org/10.2337/DC15-2284.
- Lian K, et al. Impaired adiponectin signaling contributes to disturbed catabolism of branched-chain amino acids in diabetic mice. Diabetes. 2015;64(1):49–59. https://doi.org/10.2337/DB14-0312.
- Lopez MJ, Mohiuddin SS. Biochemistry, essential amino acids. StatPearls [Preprint]. 2021.
- Lynch CJ, Adams SH. Branched-chain amino acids in metabolic signalling and insulin resistance. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2014;10(12):723–36. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2014.171.
- Magnusson M, et al. A diabetes-predictive amino acid score and future cardiovascular disease. Eur Heart J. 2013;34(26):1982–9. https://doi.org/10.1093/EURHEARTJ/EHS424.
- Mai M, et al. Serum levels of acylcarnitines are altered in prediabetic conditions. PLoS One. 2013;8 (12):e82459. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0082459.
- McCormack SE, et al. Circulating branched-chain amino acid concentrations are associated with obesity and future insulin resistance in children and adolescents. Pediatr obes. 2013;8(1):52. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.2047-6310.2012.00087.X.
- Nagao K, Kimura T. Use of plasma-free amino acids as biomarkers for detecting and predicting disease risk. Nutr Rev. 2020;78(Supplement_3):79–85. https://doi.org/10.1093/NUTRIT/ NUAA086.
- Nagata C, et al. Branched-chain amino acid intake and the risk of diabetes in a Japanese Community The Takayama Study. Am J Epidemiol. 2013;178(8):1226–32. https://doi.org/10.1093/AJE/ KWT112.
- Nakamura H, et al. Plasma amino acid profiles are associated with insulin, C-peptide and adiponectin levels in type 2 diabetic patients. Nutr Diabetes. 2014;4:133. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nutd.2014.32.
- Newgard CB, et al. A branched-chain amino acid-related metabolic signature that differentiates obese and lean humans and contributes to insulin resistance. Cell Metab. 2009;9(4):311. https:// doi.org/10.1016/J.CMET.2009.02.002.
- Nie C, et al. Branched chain amino acids: beyond nutrition metabolism. Int J Mol Sci MDPI AG. 2018; https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19040954.
- Palmer ND, et al. Metabolomic profile associated with insulin resistance and conversion to diabetes in the Insulin Resistance Atherosclerosis Study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2015;100(3):E463. https://doi.org/10.1210/JC.2014-2357.
- Rawshani A, et al. Mortality and cardiovascular disease in type 1 and type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2017;376(15):1407–18. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA1608664.
- Roberts LD, et al. β-Aminoisobutyric acid induces browning of white fat and hepatic β-oxidation and is inversely correlated with cardiometabolic risk factors. Cell Metab. 2014;19(1):96. https:// doi.org/10.1016/J.CMET.2013.12.003.
- Saeedi P, et al. Global and regional diabetes prevalence estimates for 2019 and projections for 2030 and 2045: Results from the International Diabetes Federation Diabetes Atlas, 9th edition. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2019;157:107843. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2019.107843.
- Seibert R, et al. Relationship between insulin resistance and amino acids in women and men. Phys Rep. 2015;3(5):e12392. https://doi.org/10.14814/PHY2.12392.
- Shah SH, et al. Branched-chain amino acid levels are associated with improvement in insulin resistance with weight loss. Diabetologia. 2012;55(2):321. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00125-011-2356-5.
- She P, et al. Obesity-related elevations in plasma leucine are associated with alterations in enzymes involved in branched-chain amino acid metabolism. 2007;293(6):1552–63. https://doi.org/10. 1152/AJPENDO.00134.2007.
- Shi L, et al. Plasma metabolites associated with type 2 diabetes in a Swedish population: a casecontrol study nested in a prospective cohort. Diabetologia. 2018;61(4):849. https://doi.org/10. 1007/S00125-017-4521-Y.
- Shin AC, et al. Brain insulin lowers circulating BCAA levels by inducing hepatic BCAA catabolism. Cell Metab. 2014;20(5):898. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CMET.2014.09.003.
- Stančáková A, et al. Hyperglycemia and a common variant of GCKR are associated with the levels of eight amino acids in 9,369 Finnish Men. Diabetes. 2012;61(7):1895. https://doi.org/10.2337/ DB11-1378.
- Su X, et al. Adipose tissue monomethyl branched chain fatty acids and insulin sensitivity: effects of obesity and weight loss. Obesity (Silver Spring, Md). 2015;23(2):329. https://doi.org/10.1002/ OBY.20923.
- Tai ES, et al. Insulin resistance is associated with a metabolic profile of altered protein metabolism in Chinese and Asian-Indian men. Diabetologia. 2010;53(4):757. https://doi.org/10.1007/ S00125-009-1637-8.
- Tillin T, et al. Diabetes risk and amino acid profiles: cross-sectional and prospective analyses of ethnicity, amino acids and diabetes in a South Asian and European cohort from the SABRE (Southall And Brent REvisited) Study. Diabetologia. 2015;58(5):968. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00125-015-3517-8.

- Tochikubo O, et al. Weight loss is associated with plasma free amino acid alterations in subjects with metabolic syndrome. Nutr Diabetes. 2016;6(2):e197. https://doi.org/10.1038/NUTD. 2016.5.
- Tricò D, et al. Elevated α-Hydroxybutyrate and branched-chain amino acid levels predict deterioration of glycemic control in adolescents. J Clin Endocrinol Metabol. 2017;102(7):2473–81. https://doi.org/10.1210/JC.2017-00475.
- Vamos EP, et al. Changes in the incidence of lower extremity amputations in individuals with and without diabetes in England between 2004 and 2008. Diabetes Care. 2010;33(12):2592. https:// doi.org/10.2337/DC10-0989.
- Wang TJ, et al. Metabolite profiles and the risk of developing diabetes. Nat Med. 2011;17(4):448– 53. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2307.
- Wang TJ, et al. 2-Aminoadipic acid is a biomarker for diabetes risk. J Clin Investig. 2013;123(10): 4309–17. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI64801.
- Wang-Sattler R, et al. Novel biomarkers for pre-diabetes identified by metabolomics. Mol Syst Biol. 2012;8(1):615. https://doi.org/10.1038/MSB.2012.43.
- White PJ, Newgard CB. Branched-chain amino acids in disease. Science. 2019;363(6427):582–3. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.AAV0558.
- Würtz P, et al. Branched-chain and aromatic amino acids are predictors of insulin resistance in young adults. Diabetes Care. 2013;36(3):648–55. https://doi.org/10.2337/DC12-0895.
- Xie G, et al. The metabolite profiles of the obese population are gender-dependent. J Proteome Res. 2014;13(9):4062–73. https://doi.org/10.1021/PR500434S.
- Yamakado M. Technology for lifestyle-related disease risk screening. Ningen Dock Int. 2018;5(1): 3–14.
- Yamakado M, et al. Plasma amino acid profile is associated with visceral fat accumulation in obese Japanese subjects. Clin Obesity. 2012;2(1–2):29–40. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1758-8111.2012. 00039.X.
- Yamakado M. et al. Plasma free amino acid profiles predict four-year risk of developing diabetes, metabolic syndrome, dyslipidemia, and hypertension in Japanese Population. Sci Rep. 2015;5. https://doi.org/10.1038/SREP11918.
- Yoon M.-S. The emerging role of branched-chain amino acids in insulin resistance and metabolism. Nutrients. 2016;8(7). https://doi.org/10.3390/NU8070405.
- Yousri NA, et al. A systems view of type 2 diabetes-associated metabolic perturbations in saliva, blood and urine at different timescales of glycaemic control. Diabetologia. 2015;58(8):1855. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00125-015-3636-2.
- Zabielski P, et al. The effect of high-fat diet and inhibition of ceramide production on insulin action in liver. J Cell Physiol. 2019;234(2):1851–61. https://doi.org/10.1002/JCP.27058.
- Zeng M, et al. GC–MS based plasma metabolic profiling of type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. Chromatographia. 2009;69(9):941–8. https://doi.org/10.1365/S10337-009-1040-0.
- Zhao J, et al. Novel metabolic markers for the risk of diabetes development in American Indians. Diabetes Care. 2015;38(2):220. https://doi.org/10.2337/DC14-2033.
- Zhao Q, et al. Exploring potential biomarkers and determining the metabolic mechanism of type 2 diabetes mellitus using liquid chromatography coupled to high-resolution mass spectrometry. RSC Adv. 2017;7(70):44186–98. https://doi.org/10.1039/c7ra05722a.
- Zhao H, et al. Branched-chain amino acids exacerbate obesity-related hepatic glucose and lipid metabolic disorders via attenuating Akt2 signaling. Diabetes. 2020;69(6):1164–77. https://doi.org/10.2337/DB19-0920.
- Zheng Y, et al. Cumulative consumption of branched-chain amino acids and incidence of type 2 diabetes. Int J Epidemiol. 2016;45(5):1482–92. https://doi.org/10.1093/IJE/DYW143.
- Zhou M, et al. Targeting BCAA catabolism to treat obesity-associated insulin resistance. Diabetes. 2019;68(9):1730–46. https://doi.org/10.2337/db18-0927.
- Ziemke F, Mantzoros CS. Adiponectin in insulin resistance: lessons from translational research. Am J Clin Nutr. 2010;91(1):258S–61S. https://doi.org/10.3945/AJCN.2009.28449C.



Components of the Purine Metabolism Pathways as Biomarkers for the Early Diagnosis of Diabetes

Ahsan Hameed, Mauro Galli, Anna Czajkowska, Adam Kretowski, and Michal Ciborowski

Contents

Introduction	130
Purine Metabolism	131
Xanthine Oxidase	133
Adenosine Metabolizing Enzymes, Inosine and Adenosine	134
Inosine-5'-Monophosphate Dehydrogenase	139
Uric Acid	141
Conclusion	143
Applications to Prognosis, Other Diseases or Conditions	143
Mini-Dictionary of Terms	146
Key Facts of Purine Enzymes and Related Metabolites	146
Summary Points	147
References	147

A. Hameed

Clinical Research Centre, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland

M. Galli

Department of Medical Biology, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland

A. Czajkowska Clinical Research Centre, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland

Department of Medical Biology, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland

A. Kretowski Clinical Research Centre, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland

Department of Endocrinology, Diabetology, and Internal Medicine, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland

M. Ciborowski (⊠) Clinical Research Centre, Metabolomics Laboratory, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland e-mail: michal.ciborowski@umb.edu.pl

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2_6 127

Abstract

Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) is a complex metabolic disorder characterized by persistent hyperglycemia and often hyperlipidemia. T2DM is usually accompanied with obesity, insulin resistance (IR), inflammation, and oxidative stress. Development of T2DM usually starts from IR and metabolic impairment (prediabetes), which may exist for years before the clinical manifestation of the disease and T2DM diagnosis.

Purinosome is an intricate system composed of numerous transporters, receptors, mediators, and catabolic and synthetic enzymes involved in the de novo biosynthesis of purines. This biological system is linked with glucose and lipid metabolic pathways. It is believed that purinosome system enzymes and metabolites regulate insulin secretion and glucose metabolism and consequently are involved in the pathological mechanisms of T2DM development. Numerous studies have reported altered levels of purinsome-based metabolites and enzymes or their catabolic products in obese, prediabetic, and metabolic syndrome subjects. These components of the purine metabolism pathways can be considered early biomarkers for the screening, early diagnosis, and monitoring of diabetes and related complications. Some of them (e.g., isopentenyladenosine-5-monophosphate, uric acid, xanthine, and xanthine oxidase) were reported as T2DM predictive biomarkers. The altered level of key purine enzymes and related metabolites in relation to T2DM, prediabetes, and obesity is discussed in this chapter.

Keywords

 $\begin{array}{l} Diabetes \,\cdot\, Prediabetes \,\cdot\, Metabolic \ diseases \,\cdot\, Insulin \ resistance \,\cdot\, Obesity \,\cdot\, Purine \\ metabolism \,\cdot\, Xanthine \ oxidase \,\cdot\, Adenosine \,\cdot\, Inosine \,\cdot\, Uric \ acid \,\cdot\, Biomarkers \end{array}$

Abbreviations	
5′-NT	5'-nucleotidase
5-PRPP	5-Phosphoribosyl-1-pyrophosphate
ADA	Adenosine deaminase
Adok	Adenosine kinase
ALT	Alanine transaminase
AMP	Adenosine 5-monophosphate
AMPD	AMP deaminase
ApoB	Apolipoprotein B
APRT	Adenine phosphoribosyltransferase
AST	Aspartate transaminase
BMI	Body mass index
BP	Blood pressure
CAD	Coronary artery disease
cAMP	Cyclic AMP
Cat	Catalase

CBS	Cystathionine beta synthase
CMP	Cytidine 5'-monophosphate
CVD	cardiovascular disease
CYP1A2	cytochrome P450 1A2
DBP	Diastolic blood pressure
DN	Diabetic nephropathy
DR	Diabetic retinopathy
Ecto5'NTase	Ecto-5'-nucleotidase
eGFR	Estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate
FAD	Flavin adenine dinucleotide
FAICAR	5-formamidoimidazole-4-carboxamide ribotide
FBG	Fasting blood glucose
FFA	Free fatty acids
GGT	γ-glutamyltransferase
GIP	Glucose-dependent insulin tropic polypeptide
GLP-1	Glucagon-like peptide-1
GLUT-4	Glucose transporter type 4
GMP	Guanosine-5-MP
GSH	Reduced glutathione
GSSG	Oxidized glutathione
GTP	Gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase
Gua	Guasine
Guo	Guanine
Hb1Ac	Glycated hemoglobin
HDL-C	High-density lipoprotein cholesterol
HGPRT	Hypoxanthine-guanine phosphoribosyltransferase
HIF	Hypoxia-inducible factor
HOMA-IR	Homeostatic Model Assessment for Insulin Resistance
Hs-CRP	High-sensitivity C-reactive protein
IL-6	interleukin 6
IMP	Inosine monophosphate
IMPDH	IMP dehydrogenase
Inok	Inosine kinase
IR	Insulin resistance
IRS1	Insulin receptor 1
LDL-C	Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol
MCP-1	Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein-1
MDA	Malondialdehyde
MetS	Metabolic syndrome
NAD+	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NAT2	N-acetyltransferase 2
NO	Nitric oxide
OGTT	Oral Glucose Tolerance Test
РКВ	Protein kinase-B
PNP	Purine nucleotide phosphorylase

PPAR-γ	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma
R1P	Ribose 1-phosphate
R5P	Ribose 5-phosphate
RCT	Randomized controlled trial
SBP	Systolic blood pressure
SNP	Single-nucleotide polymorphisms
SOD	Superoxide dismutase
SUA	Serum uric acid
T2DM	Type 2 diabetes mellitus
TC	Total cholesterol
TG	Triglycerides
UA	Uric acid
UMP	Uridine 5'-monophosphate
WC	Waist circumference
XMP	Xanthosine 5'-monophosphate
XO	Xanthine oxidase

Introduction

Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) is a complex metabolic disorder characterized by persistent hyperglycemic and often hyperlipidemic states that can also be associated with other health issues like insulin resistance (IR), inflammation, obesity, dyslipidemia, oxidative stress, etc. These states usually lead to other related severe health conditions (e.g., diabetic retinopathy, kidney disease, and diabetic ketoacidosis) and usually start from undiagnosed IR and metabolic impairment existing for years (Hameed et al. 2020a). This transition from metabolic impairment (prediabetes) to diabetes may take years and usually occurs before the clinical manifestation of the disease. Knowledge of molecular mechanisms occurring during this transition could be a key to understanding the pathophysiology of T2DM. Moreover, at this early stage, the process can be reversed. Therefore, biomarkers for the early diagnosis of metabolic impairment are needed (Hameed et al. 2020b).

Purinosome is an intricate system composed of numerous transporters, receptors, mediators, and catabolic and synthetic enzymes involved in the de novo biosynthesis of purines (Antonioli et al. 2019). This biological system directly governs the metabolism of hexoses and lipids by keeping the normal concentrations of its signaling metabolites (Concepcion et al. 2020). The systematic linkage of purinosome with glucose and lipid metabolic pathways is discussed below. The concentrations of purinosome metabolites are tightly monitored by purinosome enzymes, which are also believed to regulate insulin secretion and glucose metabolism (Romeo and Jain 2020). It is also suggested that they are involved in the pathological mechanisms of T2DM development. Numerous studies have reported altered levels of purinosome-based metabolites and/or their catabolic products in obese, prediabetic, and metabolic syndrome subjects in comparison to healthy

controls (Varadaiah et al. 2019). These metabolites can be considered early biomarkers for the screening, early diagnosis, and monitoring of diabetes and related complications. A large and diverse amount of data has been published in this regard, which is collected and critically summarized in this chapter.

Purine Metabolism

Purines are a fundamental part of nucleotides and nucleic acids involved in a myriad of cellular processes and pathways like energy homeostasis (storage and transfer of ATP), transportation of biological groups (glycosyl, alcohol phosphate, sulfate, hydrogen, hydride ion, electrons, and alkyl group) or regulation of many enzymes of catabolic pathways through the allosteric effects. They are also building blocks for DNA and RNA as well as structural units of significant signaling coenzymes (NAD+, FAD, or CoA) and low-molecular-weight compounds (Pedley and Benkovic 2017). As purines and related metabolites are involved in all forms of life, keeping their optimum cellular level is of great importance. Their tightly regulated biosynthesis and degradation assure it. Purines are produced in the liver by highly conserved two pathways, i.e., de novo biosynthesis and complementary salvage pathway (Fig. 1). Their de novo biosynthesis is a multistep process that uses the substrates (i.e., ATP, CO₂, glycine) coming from energy homeostasis and the pentose-phosphate pathway. The salvage pathway relies on the catabolic products of purines. Under healthy conditions, the salvage pathway exerts feedback control over the de novo biosynthesis (Zhao et al. 2015). In mammals, de novo biosynthesis is primarily responsible for fulfilling the basic purine needs and replenishing their pool during cell proliferation. It is an energy-intensive and highly conserved ten-step enzymatic process that associates itself with energy-producing pathways by using their substrates (Zhang et al. 2008). As it can be seen in Fig. 1, in the first step, ribose-5-phosphate coming from the pentose-5-phosphate pathway is transformed to 5-phosphoribosyl-1-pyrophosphate (PRPP) through the action of 5-phosphoribosyl-1-pyrophosphate (PRPP) synthase. Further addition of numerous amino acid substrates (glutamine, glycine, formate, and aspartate) and one carbon unit contribute to making inosine monophosphate (IMP) (Zhang et al. 2008). It is estimated that five ATP, two molecules of glutamine and formate, and one molecule of glycine, aspartate, and carbon dioxide are necessary to generate one IMP molecule. IMP is further down-processed initially into adenosine-5-MP (AMP) or guanosine-5-MP (GMP), which are also converted into related di- and tri-nucleotides, deoxyribonucleotides, and eventually incorporated into RNA and DNA. The complementary salvage pathway is mainly composed of superior end-products of the de novo biosynthesis pathway and is involved in the interconversions of hypoxanthine, nucleotides, and di-nucleotides to their monophosphate forms. In salvage pathway, guanine, hypoxanthine and adenine are converted to mononucleotides by hypoxanthine-guanine phosphoribosyltransferase (HGPRT) and adenine phosphoribosyltransferase (APRT), while deoxyguanosine and adenosine are functionally activated by enzyme-specific kinases (Yamaoka et al. 1997). In addition to the



Fig. 1. A schematic representation of purine metabolism (de novo biosynthesis, degradation, and salvage pathway) in which key reactions from 5-PRPP synthase to the final degradation into uric acid are sequentially presented. Purine Biosynthesis: [1] 5-Phosphoribosyl-1-pyrophosphate (PRPP) synthesis is catalyzed by PRPP synthetase. Note: the ribose-5-phosphate for the pathway comes from the Pentose Phosphate Pathway. [2] This step is regulated and catalyzed by PRPP amidotransferase. Glutamine offers the nitrogen to start purine synthesis. Inosinic acid (IMP) is the first purine formed, in total six high energy phosphate bonds are consumed to produce IMP. [3] IMP + Aspartate + GTP --- > Adenylosuccinate; Enzyme: Adenylosuccinate Synthetase. [4] Adenylosuccinate --- > AMP + Fumarate; Enzyme: Adenylosuccinase. [5] IMP + NAD⁺ --- > XMP + NADH + H⁺; Enzyme: IMP Dehydrogenase. [6] XMP + Glutamine + $ATP --- > GMP + Glutamate + AMP + PP_i$ Purine degradation. [7] Nucleotidase: Purine Mononucleotide + $H_2O - Purine Nucleoside + P_i$ [8] Deaminase: Adenosine + $H_2O - Purine Nucleoside + Purine + Purine Nucleoside$ NH4⁺ [9] Purine Nucleoside Phosphorylase: Inosine + Pi --- > Hypoxanthine + R-1-P; Guanosine + $P_i - - >$ Guanine + R-1-P: Note: R-1-P can be converted to R-5-P. [10] Guanase deaminates guanine to xanthine. [11] Xanthine Oxidase oxidizes hypoxanthine to xanthine, then xanthine to uric acid, which is excreted in the urine. Co-factors: Mo, Fe³⁺, FAD, O₂. Note: H₂O₂, a product of this reaction must be scavenged by Glutathione Reduced. Salvage pathway: [12] Purines can be salvaged after steps [7] and [8] by reconverting the nucleosides to nucleotides via nucleotide kinases. The free base can also be saved in a salvage pathway consisting of a single enzyme, HGPRT: Hypoxanthine + PRPP --- > IMP + PP_i; Guanine + PRPP --- > GMP + PP_i. The importance of this pathway as a source of nucleotides is shown by the consequences of a deficiency of HGPRT known as Lesch-Nyhan syndrome. This pathway reduces the need and energy expenditure of biosynthesis by maintaining nucleotide levels. R1P, ribose 1-phosphate; R5P, ribose 5-phosphate; AdoK, adenosine kinase; ADA, adenosine deaminase; PRPP, 5-phosphoribosyl-1-pyrophosphate; FAICAR, 5-formamidoimidazole-4-carboxamide ribotide; XO, xanthine oxidase; IMP, inosine monophosphate; InoK, Inosine Kinase; HGPRT, hypoxanthine-guanine phosphoribosyltransferase; APRT, adenine phosphoribosyltransferase; AMP, Adenosine 5'-monophosphate; XMP, xanthinin 5'-monophosphate; GMP, guanosine 5'-monophosphate; CMP, Cytidine 5'-monophosphate; Guo, guanine; Gua, guasine; UMP, Uridine 5'-monophosphate; PNP, purine nucleotide phosphorylase

salvage pathway, as mentioned above, another mechanism also runs in parallel to maintain the optimum cellular level of purines called the catabolic pathway of purines (Cohen A Fau - Barankiewicz and Barankiewicz). In this pathway, adenine and/or guanine are phosphorylated and deaminated rapidly into inosine (Fig. 1). Subsequently, inosine is converted to hypoxanthine, which is converted to xanthine with xanthine oxidase (XO). Xanthine also acts as a substrate for XO and enhances superoxide generation (Burnstock and Novak 2013). In metabolic syndrome, this superoxide damages tissues causing microvascular dysfunctions. Finally, xanthine is also converted into the final product of purine catabolism, uric acid (UA). UA is not only a biomarker of unhealthy metabolism but is also considered a true mediator of microvascular and macrovascular, i.e., related to diabetes, complications. Blood UA levels are well regulated in healthy persons whereas its increase is observed in many metabolic disorders. Hyperuricemia is a consequent of perturbation in purine catabolism, which also disturbs the level of blood glucose and other purine degradation products, i.e., xanthine, hypoxanthine, allantoin, inosine, and adenine. It has been reported (Drogan et al. 2015) that purines/pyrimidines and deoxy-sugars are relatively more reliable T2DM risk predictors than phospholipids/glycerophospholipids. Some of them (e.g., isopentenyladenosine-5-monophosphate, UA, XO, xanthine) were found as T2DM predictive biomarkers. The altered level of key purine enzymes and their metabolites in relation to T2DM are discussed in detail below.

Xanthine Oxidase

XO is a metalloflavoenzyme existing in two interconvertible forms, i.e., dehydrogenase and oxidoreductase. Both forms catalyze the formation of UA. However, pathophysiological conditions (i.e., hyperglycemia, hyperlipidemia, oxidative stress, hypoxia, and energy crisis resulting in accelerated purine degradation) upregulate this enzyme's oxidoreductase form, accelerating the transformation of hypoxanthine to xanthine and ultimately UA (Fig. 1). The activity of XO increases in pathological conditions (Kuppusamy et al. 2005), which is attributed to the increased release of XO from the liver into the vascular system. The excessive release of XO occurs in conjunction with activation of the pentose phosphate pathway, which promotes the activation of the hepatic de novo purine synthetic pathway, thereby triggering XO activity. This increased XO activity is involved in adipose tissue differentiation by regulating the expression of PPAR- γ at early stages of cell differentiation (Cheung et al.). It explains the positive association of XO activity and waist circumference (WC), triglycerides (TG), markers of inflammation, the level of homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR), and body mass index (BMI). Furthermore, obesity also induces tissue hypoxia by activating the hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF). The chronic activation of HIF causes IR and hypoxia. The XO activity is also controlled by HIF expression, and overactivation of HIF can lead to higher XO activity (Majmundar et al.). Therefore, one can easily establish that measuring the XO activity in undiagnosed hyperglycemic and/or overweight/obese individuals can be an early signature of disrupted glycolysis, obesity-induced diabetes, and diabetic complications. It is also pertinent to note that the above-mentioned

pathophysiological conditions are common in prediabetic and/or obese subjects susceptible to diabetes. Numerous studies evidenced the positive relationship of XO with T2DM occurrence in a susceptible population (Table 1). A direct relationship of XO activity with BMI and the role of XO in adiposity and inflammation have been reported in 2017 (Washio et al. 2017). Later, four population-based cohort studies found a positive association of XO activity with BMI, WC, systolic blood pressure (SBP), diastolic blood pressure (DBP), hepatic enzymes (aspartate transaminase, AST; alanine transaminase, ALT; gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase, GTP), UA, TG, estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR), fasting blood glucose (FBG), IR, HOMA-IR, glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c), and xanthine in lean diabetic, dyslipidemic, and hypouricemic patients (Furuhashi et al. 2019). Recently, Sunagawa et al. (2019) reported the highest XO activity in diabetic patients followed by metabolic syndrome and healthy lean subjects. This study also presented a positive correlation of XO activity with indices of IR and the level of circulating hepatic transaminases. Similar results have been published in a more recent study (Okuyama et al. 2021). Elevated XO activity was found correlated with increased hepatic glucose production and fasting insulin secretion (Varadaiah et al. 2019). In another study performed on obese and lean prepuberty children, an increased XO activity (by 16%), leptin (tenfold), and interleukin 6 (IL-6) to C-reactive protein ratio (threefold) in obese versus lean children were observed (Chiney et al.). In another cross-sectional study, XO activity was measured, and the highest literature-find increase of XO activity (3.8-fold) was reported (Tam et al. 2014). The increased XO activity is also in line with the increase of such glycemic parameters as HbA1c, FBG, and oxidative stress markers like malondialdehyde (MDA) and superoxide (Kuppusamy et al. 2005). XO activity was also reported as an independent risk factor of metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease (CVD) in a general Japanese population (Kotozaki et al. 2021). Additionally, the relationship of IR with XO activity was also revealed (Kurajoh et al. 2019).

Upregulated XO accelerates the formation of MDA and superoxides, therefore elevated serum level of XO is also a biomarker of oxidative stress. It has been reported that overexpression of XO (>200%) increased the ratio of oxidized to reduced glutathione GSSG/GSH by 300% and MDA level by 50% in diabetic subjects compared to the healthy control group (Desco et al.).

The studies mentioned above indicate that XO activity can be used as a clinically relevant biomarker to monitor the development of metabolic syndrome and T2DM in susceptible undiagnosed populations and follow the progress of diabetes and diabetes-related complications.

Adenosine Metabolizing Enzymes, Inosine and Adenosine

Adenosine is produced from AMP by the action of 5'-nucleotidase (5'-NT) and is converted back into AMP by adenosine kinase (Adok) or into inosine by adenosine deaminase (ADA) (Vannoni et al. 2004). ADA is a polymorphic enzyme involved in the irreversible transformation of adenosine to inosine. An increase of ADA is

	activity	Patients	0.87 + 0.15 11/1			3.4 ± 0.8 (pmol/ h/mL)	53.4 pmol/h/mL	of plasma		0.55 pmol of	IXP/min/mL			67.7 (31.1–184)	(pmol/h/mL)		$0.7 \pm 0.06 \text{ mmol}/$	L		$121 \pm 7.1 \text{ units/g}$	of protein		(continued)
	XO concentration or	Controls	0.30 ± 0.14 II/I			1	32.3 pmol/h/mL of	plasma		0.13 pmol of	IXP/min/mL			1			0.6 ± 0.047 mmol/	L		31 ± 2.14 units/g	of protein		
tudies		Studied correlation	XO with FBG HbA1C SOD	Cat, GPx, FRAP, MDA,	glycemic control index, Hs-CRP, UA	XO vs BMI, hs-CRP, IR	XO with BMI, TG, TC, HDL-C,	FBG, HbA1C, glycemic control	index, Hs-CKP, UA	XO vs indices of IR and hepatic	transaminases			XO vs indices of IR and hepatic	transaminases		XO with NAT2, CYP1A2	×		XO with BMI, WC, HDL-C,	adiponectin, MCP-I, LDL-C		
rted in referred s	Age of	participants (vears)	35-80			25-28	65			55-70				64-85			6-10			12–13			
tions of xanthine oxidase repo		Participants	Diahetic and aced-	matched healthy controls	n = 650 and $n = 280$	General participants, $n = 29$	General participants,	n = 627 (male/female:	292/335)	Lean patients without	diabetes and patients with	T2DM, $n = 5$, $n = 51$		Japanese patients with	T2D, $n = 94$		Obese and aged-matched	healthy controls $n = 9$ and	n = 16	Obese and aged-matched	healthy controls $n = 20$	and $n = 22$	
ies or concentrat		Type of the study	RCT cross-	sectional	study	Preliminary study	Population-	based	cohort study	Cross-	sectional	analytical	study	Cross-	sectional	analytical	RCT, cross-	sectional	study	RCT, cross-	sectional	study	
Table 1 Activit		Reference	(K innusamv	et al. 2005)		(Washio et al.)	(Furuhashi	et al.)		(Sunagawa	et al. 2019)			(Okuyama	et al. 2021)		(Chiney	et al.)	N.	(Tam et al.	2014)		

			Age of		XO concentration or a	activity
Reference	Type of the study	Particinants	participants (vears)	Studied correlation	Controls	Patients
(Kotozaki	Population-	General participants,	64-66	XO with BMI, UA,	34.8 (20.8–62.7)	43.7 (25.3–77.3)
et al. 2021)	based	n = 1737 (males/		dyslipidemia, diabetes, CVD	(pmol/h/mL of	(pmol/h/mL of
	conort study	filleres = 2//11000			piasilla)	plasilla)
(Kurajoh	Cross-	General participants,	47–67	XO vs HOMA-IR, BMI, age,	$1.50 \pm 0.44 \text{ (pmol/}$	76.8 ± 45.8
et al. 2019)	sectional	n = 193 (92 males and		sex, adiponectine, HbA1c	h/mL)	(pmol/h/mL)
	study	101 females)		1		
Controls are referents were the control of the cont	red to as particit ith diabetes or o 601A2 (<i>CYP1A2</i> 1Ac); high-densi A-IR); insulin r	pants without diabetes, obesity, s obesity with abnormal glucose a 2); fasting blood glucose (FBG ity lipoprotein <i>cholesterol</i> (HD) resistance (IR); low-density lipo	and metabolic sy and/or insulin in i); ferric reducii L-C); high-sens oprotein <i>cholest</i>	yndrome with normal glucose values dices. Body mass index (BMI); car, ng antioxidant power assay (FRAP); itivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP); <i>evol</i> (LDL-C); <i>malondialdehyde</i> (M	s and insulin indices. Pa diovascular disease (C); glutathione peroxids homeostatic model as; (DA); monocyte chemo	titents are referred to VD); catalase (Cat)); ase (GPx); glycated sessment for insulir sattractant protein-1

Table 1 (continued)

(MCP-1); N-acetyltransferase 2 (NHT2); randomized controlled trial (RCT); superoxide dismutase (SOD); triglycerides (TG); total cholesterol (TC); type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM); uric acid (UA); waist circumference (WC); Xanthine oxidase (XO) observed in inflammatory diseases and T2DM or hyperglycemia, conditions associated with low-grade systemic inflammation (Bopp et al. 2009). Adok is a high affinity and low capacity enzyme that plays an integral role in energy homeostasis by regulating the metabolic clearance of adenosine. Generally, Adok is found in all forms of life and is involved in several biological functions like the stimulation of glucose transport and oxidation, lipolysis, modulation of blood flow and endogenous response to ischemia, inflammation, immune response, neurotransmission, and pain, including clearance of adenosine by phosphorylation of adenosine to form AMP (Xu et al. 2017). The intercellularly produced adenosine is transported to extracellular space mainly via specific bidirectional transporters (Oyarzún et al. 2015). Adok activity is under the effect of various modulators such as intracellular pH, insulin, nitric oxide (NO), glucose, inorganic phosphate, and inflammatory cytokines (Fredholm et al. 2007; Park et al. 2006). The expression level of both enzymes is contradictory to each other. It is primarily believed that the expression of ADA and Adok is compensatory to regulate the adenosine level. The ADA-led transformation of adenosine to inosine is a rate-limiting step and controls the serum concentration of adenosine and inosine. The concentrations of both metabolites are well-regulated unless pathophysiological conditions increase the ADA expression concurrent with XO expression. High expression of ADA accelerates adenosine-to-inosine bioconversion, depleting the adenosine and increasing the inosine level. The depleting adenosine level is detrimental to metabolic health and cause the IR. The significance of adenosine can be judged from its multipurpose role in glucose metabolism and insulin secretion. Adenosine stimulates the insulin activity by activating numerous pathways including lipid synthesis, glucose transport, leucine oxidation, and pyruvate dehydrogenase activity. It potentiates the action of insulin in liver, increases insulin sensitivity for glucose transports, and accessibility of glucose transporter type 4 (GLUT-4) to cell surface for glucose transportation, as well as gluconeogenesis and glycogenolysis via increasing cyclic AMP (cAMP). Adenosine also mimics the action of insulin on lipid and glucose metabolism and showed antilipolytic properties in adipose tissue (Johansson et al. 2008).

Serum level of ADA was found increased and in direct relationship with insulin, HOMA-IR, total cholesterol (TC), and age in women with metabolic syndrome (De Bona et al. 2013). Similar results were obtained in a case-control study conducted on Latin American patients with metabolic syndrome. Substantial increase of HbA1c, HOMA-IR, TC, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), proinflammatory cytokines, and chemokines were observed, and a close relationship of these parameters with an elevated level of ADA was reported (Chielle et al. 2018). Moreover, it is worthy to note that elevated ADA level was in a reciprocal relationship with insulin receptor 1 (IRS-1) and GLUT-4 in the liver and muscle tissues of the patients with metabolic impairment. The reduction in the expression of IRS-1 and GLUT-4 (in combination with elevated ADA) prompted the production of IL-6, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP), and free fatty acids (FFA), which interfere with the normal glucose metabolism by inducing the reduction of adiponectin (Chielle et al. 2018). The altered ADA activity was also used as a marker discriminating nonobese from obese and nondiabetic from diabetic patients.

The ADA and isozyme activities were higher in obese and diabetic individuals than in lean and diabetic individuals. Likewise, ADA was found overexpressed in diabetic people in comparison to healthy lean controls. This study also showed that ADA activity is a hallmark of inflammation in obese-diabetic patients (Sapkota et al. 2017). In another study a positive association of increased ADA level with glycemic parameters was reported (Khemka et al. 2013). ADA is also considered the main regulator of insulin bioactivity and was reported as a marker of insulin function (Larijani et al. 2016). In another two case-control studies, the positive correlation of ADA with lipid profile (except high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, HDL-C), HbA1c, hypertension, smoking, and FBG in Indian (Malathi 2017) and Chinese (Xuan et al. 2019) diabetic patients was observed.

Quantification of purines and pyrimidines was performed in two case-control studies revealing elevated levels of inosine and other nucleic acid-based metabolites in patients with diabetes and diabetic nephropathy (DN). Compared to healthy controls, higher concentrations of xanthine, UA, adenosine, and inosine in DN patients were observed. Adenosine and inosine lost their statistical significance in T2DM vs healthy subjects comparison. These results were challenged by a multiomics study aiming to find early diagnostic markers of T2DM and DN. This study proposed an integrated biomarker system composed of 40 metabolites, 5 genes, and 6 clinical parameters to differentiate healthy subjects from T2DM and DN patients, as well as for DN staging. In this study, inosine was found the second most reliable biomarker with total predictive accuracy up to 97% and the highest specificity and sensitivity. Interestingly, the cutoff value of inosine was used in combination with the glomerulus filtration rate to differentiate DN stages (Huang et al. 2013).

Metabolomics studies also discovered that purine metabolites were significant in relation to diabetes and related diseases. In an NMR-based metabolomics study, inosine was found as one of the most robust and reliable biomarkers of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis, a condition connected to a future risk of T2DM (Kimberly et al. 2017). In another study, 11 metabolites were found strongly associated with BMI and incidence of T2DM, and three of them were purine degradation products (Ottosson et al. 2019). Investigations on obese yet nondiabetic patients delineated a strong association of inosine, xanthine, and hypoxanthine with BMI, fasting glucose level, and HOMA-IR. An increase of purinergic metabolites, including inosine, was observed in diabetic individuals in comparison to healthy controls. Still, inosine did not vary significantly when comparison was made between diabetic patients with and without DN (Hirayama et al. 2012). In a similar study, increased levels of inosine and adenosine were noted in diabetic people compared to nondiabetic subjects. Although both metabolites' levels were higher while comparing diabetic subjects with and without DN, statistical significance was not achieved. This work bespeaks the significance of inosine and adenosine in monitoring the progress of T2DM. The same research group also published another metabolomics work focusing on diabetes and diabetic retinopathy (DR). This study noticed higher levels of inosine and adenosine in DR patients than in diabetic and healthy participants. However, the variation in the level of inosine and adenosine was statistically insignificant when comparing diabetic and healthy controls. This work proposed inosine as an excellent biomarker for monitoring the progress of DR with 68.2% sensitivity and 81.3% specificity. Besides DR, DN, and kidney problems, metabolic profile based on purine metabolites was also used to distinguish healthy, diabeticperiodontitis, and nondiabetic-periodontitis subjects. The discriminatory metabolites were increased in nondiabetic periodontitis patients compared to healthy subjects (Barnes et al. 2014). An opposite trend was observed when an evaluation was made between diabetic people with periodontitis and healthy controls, suggesting an interaction between the periodontal signature and diabetes signature. There has also been seen a decreased redox balance capacity and increased purine degradation in diabetic-gingivitis/diabetic-periodontitis patients resulting in increased plasma/ saliva concentration of inosine (1.7-fold) and adenosine (1.37-fold) (Barnes et al. 2014). The association of raised ADA in diabetic patients with other diseases in which systematic inflammation is observed (experimental colitis, coronary artery calcification, acute lymphoblastic leukemia, autoimmune hepatitis, and rheumatic disease) was also reported (Yu et al. 2021). Recent studies have also illustrated that the predictive value of xanthine and inosine for T2DM risk applies primarily to individuals with a specific genetic variant of the TCF7L2 gene (rs7903146 T-allele). There is also evidence that the genetic variant of the TCF7L2 gene and singlenucleotide polymorphism (SNP) interact with the purine catabolism. It was also found that higher levels of plasma xanthine and inosine are connected with a progressive T2DM risk in individuals with TT alleles on rs7903146 than the combined CC genotype (Papandreou et al. 2019). Largely, these findings stress the significance of sketching variations across the whole purine pathway, not just its end products, and interactions with other regulation levels.

Human studies providing quantitative values for the above-mentioned metabolites in control and diabetic patients are summarized in Table 2.

Inosine-5'-Monophosphate Dehydrogenase

Inosine-5'-monophosphate dehydrogenase (IMPDH) is an oxidoreductase enzyme that catalyzes the rate-limiting step in the de novo biosynthesis of guanine nucleotides, i.e., NAD⁺-dependent oxidation of inosine monophosphate (IMP) to xanthosine 5'-monophosphate (XMP). Human IMPDH has two isoforms, *h*IMPDH1 and *h*IMPDH2, having the same amino acid sequence (514 amino acids) in 85% but different concerning the inhibition rate and affinity (Cuny et al. 2017). Every subunit of isozyme was found to have two crucial domains, the (β/α)8 barrel catalytic domain and cystathionine beta-synthase (CBS) domain. The catalytic cysteinebinding site (which binds IMP) is highly conserved, whereas the NAD⁺ binding site is more variable. The conversion of IMP to XMP is completed in a two-step process: the first step involves the addition of IMPDH's Cys331 to IMP followed by hydride transfer to NAD⁺ to generate an IMPDH-IMP conjugate and NADH. The second step is the hydrolysis of IMPDH-IMP to generate XMP and IMPDH (Cuny et al. 2017). The plasma/serum levels of XMP/IMPDH were found altered in diabetic subjects compared to healthy subjects. It was proposed that XMP/IMPDH

			Age of		Concentration	
	Type of the		participants			
Reference	study	Participants	(years)	Studied correlation	Controls	Patients
(De Bona	Case-control	Healthy subjects and	42-55	ADA	$17.26 \pm 7.51 \text{ U/L}$	$17.18 \pm 7.97 \text{ U/L}$
et al. 2013)	study	MetS patients, $n = 48$, n = 39				
(Chielle	Case-control	MetS and healthy	30-46	ADA with glycemic index	5.9 ± 1.1 U/L	7.7 ± 1.5 U/L
ét al. 2018)	study	controls, $n = 48$, $n = 36$		and proinflammatory cytokines		
(Sapkota	Cross-	Healthy control and	35-70	ADA to glycemic indices	8.0 ± 2.24 U/L	14.19 ± 4.U/L
et al.)	sectional	T2DM, $n = 80$ and $n =$			(ADA1);	(ADA1);
	analytical	80			$12.29 \pm 2.23 \text{ U/L}$	$21.9 \pm 4.42 \text{ U/L}$
	study				(ADA2)	(ADA2)
(Khemka	Case-control	Lean diabetic and	52-55	ADA to glycemic indices	$17.02 \pm 5.74 \text{ U/L}$	$38.77 \pm 14.29 \text{ U/L}$
et al.	study	healthy controls, $n = 56$				
2013)		and $n = 45$				
(Larijani	Case-control	Diabetics and healthy	60-65	ADA1 and ADA2 to	$6.0 \pm 6.24 \text{ U/L}$	$13.0 \pm 5.19 \text{ U/L}$
et al.	study	controls, $n = 33, n = 35$		glycemic indices	(ADA1);	$(ADA1); 8.5 \pm 3.96 \text{ U}$
2016)					7.66 ± 1.33 U/L (ADA2)	L (ADA2)
(Malathi	Case-control	Diabetics and healthy	30-70	ADA to glycemic indices	17.96 ± 6.83 U/L	33.93 ± 11.74 U/L
2017)	study	controls, $n = 54$, $n = 55$				
(Xuan	Case-control	Diabetics and healthy	60–75	ADA to glycemic indices,	11.71 ± 4.20 U/l	$10.08 \pm 3.57 \text{ U/l}$
et al.	study	controls, $n = 5212$, $n =$		hypertension, smoking,		
2019)		4717		age, BMI,		
Controls are r	eferred to as partic	cipants without diabetes, obea	sity, and metabo	lic syndrome with normal gluco	se values and insulin indice	es. Patients are referred to
as diabetes or	metabolic syndrc	ome participants with abnorm	al glucose and/c	r insulin indices. Adenosine des	aminase (ADA); body mass	s index (BMI); metabolic
syndrome (M	etS); type 2 diabé	etes mellitus (T2DM)				

 Table 2
 Concentrations of adenosine deaminase reported in referred studies

140

141

can be considered a reliable, robust and sensitive early biomarker of diabetes (both T1DM and T2DM) (Sobiak et al. 2020). Many studies monitored the plasma/serum level of IMPDH in various cohorts and concluded significant intergroup and intraindividual variation in plasma/serum levels of XMP/IMPDH (Budde et al. 2007a, b). However, there is a lack of prospective/longitudinal studies in the literature, which could document the level of IMPDH in the samples with event of diabetes occurrence through the study duration. Many studies reported significantly plummeted plasma/serum level of IMPDH after the incidence of diabetes (17.5 \pm 2.8 nmol of XMP/h/µg of protein) (especially in kidney transplant patients) as compared to counterpart healthy population (46.6 \pm 2.5 nmol of XMP/h/µg of protein in nondiabetics) (Dostalek et al. 2013).

Uric Acid

Overproduction and/or underexcretion of UA is generally known as hyperuricemia (Cicero et al. 2021). It can be related to genetic predisposition (Bleyer and Hart 2006), but serum uric acid (SUA) level can also be regulated by a diet (Skoczyńska et al. 2020) or physical activity (Hou et al. 2021). Hyperuricemia is diagnosed when blood UA level exceeds 7 mg/dL for men and 6 mg/dL for women (Hou et al. 2021). There are three main reported reasons for hyperuricemia, i.e., overproduction of UA through the perturbed purine degradation pathway, renal underexcretion of UA, and gut underexcretion of UA. Underexcretion usually occurs through the disturbance in the two reuptake transporters, i.e., urate transporter 1 (URAT-1) and glucose transporter 9 (GLUT-9), as well as one secretory transporter (ATP-binding cassette subfamily G-ABCG2), whereas perturbed purine degradation is considered a metabolic disorder (Ichida et al. 2012).

The relationship between hyperuricemia with hyperglycemia is well documented in the literature. The hyperglycemic condition causes the higher flux of glucose-6phosphate through the shunt pathway due to impairment of normal glycolytic pathways, resulting in increased UA production. The overactivation of this shuntpathway is also a primary cause for enhanced lipogenesis in hyperinsulinemia (Gill et al. 2013). Hyperuricemia has also been closely associated with obesity and metabolic disorders (i.e., diabetes, dyslipidemia, hyperglycemia, and insulin resistance-IR). The relationship between SUA level and obesity, T2DM, and hyperuricemia was investigated in many cohort studies of different ethnicities. The Doetinchem Cohort Study concluded a positive association of higher SUA level, high sensitivity creative protein, and γ -glutamyltransferase (GGT) with increasing BMI and age (Hulsegge et al. 2016). The relationship between elevated SUA level and fat mass, SBP, HOMA-IR and HbA1c, TG, and TG/ HDL-C ratio was recently demonstrated (Foster et al. 2020). Another study noted a strong positive correlation of increased SUA level with TG level in black males. The authors also identified a correlation of SUA level with age, BMI, alcohol use, and hypertension, while SUA was not correlating with IR, HbA1c, and fasting plasma glucose (Conen et al. 2004). Likewise, elevated SUA also showed a similar relationship with metabolic syndrome

parameters of overweight but healthy subjects. The authors further studied the linkage of SUA and inflammatory biomarkers by stratifying the population based on the SUA level. The higher quartiles population showed progressively higher proinflammatory markers (hs-CRP, fibrinogen, erythrocyte sedimentation rate, ferritin, and complement C3). In addition, increasing SUA was also found to activate the IkB Kinase–NF-kB pathway by promoting the dose-dependent phosphorylation of IKK at Ser-180 site and I κ B α at Ser-32 site (up to 2.0-fold over basal) (Spiga et al. 2017). A positive correlation between the elevated plasma levels of TG and FFA (independently of fat distribution) and hyperuricemia was also observed (Hayden and Tyagi 2004). In the study investigating the relationship of BMI, leptin, and IR, the authors suggested leptin as the regulator of serum UA, obesity, and hence IR (Bedir et al. 2003). Another longitudinal study performed on Japanese youth reported an elevated level of SUA in obese and hypertensive subjects. This work further elaborated that SUA level at the entry point can be used as a reliable determinant factor predicting changes in BMI, blood pressure, and IR (Masuo et al.). The role and correlation of elevated SUA with the risk of T2DM was further evaluated and affirmed by a longitudinal prospective study on healthy Japanese males but with different BMI. The study manifested higher rates of IR in individuals with $BMI > 24.2 \text{ Kg/m}^2$ for any level of SUA (Nakanishi et al.). In another study, SUA concentration was measured in hemodialysis patients over a period of 6 months. The authors reported the highest rate of T2DM incidence in lean males with increasing SUA level even after adjustment for such confounding factors as hypertension and IR. People in the upper quintiles showed 58-78% more vulnerability toward T2DM incidence than those in lower quartiles. Obtained results also suggested that increased SUA may also induce lipogenesis in hepatocyte and mitochondrial oxidative stress, especially in undiagnosed prediabetic people (Lanaspa et al. 2012). A recent cohort study performed on prediabetic patients showed a positive correlation of baseline SUA level with WC and fasting plasma glucose. This study found that in prediabetic patients, every SUA increase of 1 mg/dl was associated with the increase of FPG by 0.082 mg/dl (Anothaisintawee et al. 2017).

Recently, one nested, cross-sectional case-cohort study identified the association of peripheral purine metabolites and UA levels as risk factors for T2DM. The increased level of UA was found positively associated with the risk of T2DM at baseline. Spearman's correlation revealed a positive relationship between baseline HOMA-IR and fasting levels of UA, guanosine, xanthine, and adenosine, as well as xanthine/hypoxanthine ratio. The inverse association was seen in the case of allantoin/uric acid and inosine/adenosine ratios (Papandreou et al. 2019). The ability of the SUA level to predict T2DM was investigated in age-stratified individuals of Italian origin. This work detected nonsignificant relation of baseline SUA with an incidence of T2DM after adjustment to sex, blood pressure, HbA1C, serum TG, smoking habits, HDL-C, use of diuretic drugs, WC, and alcohol consumption. However, while focusing on the patients with median age > 46.8 years, an increase in standard deviation (SD) of 1 SUA considerably increased the risk of T2DM (by 29%) and appearance of impaired fasting glucose (2.5-fold) (Bombelli et al.

2018). Another cohort study on the Mediterranean population also indicated the elevated SUA as a risk factor for T2DM in hypertensive patients (Viazzi et al. 2011). Furthermore, univariate analysis revealed a positive correlation of SUA level with FBG, BMI, HOMA-IR, waist-hip ratio, blood pressure (BP), and serum insulin concentration. It has been observed that an increase in the concentration of uric acid by 3 mg/dL from the baseline can cause 87% more chances of mild hypertension and early insulin resistance (Yoo et al.).

As stated above, SUA level was found to be linearly increased with fasting insulin level and HOMA-IR. One can easily regard UA as a surrogate biomarker of metabolic disorders. Subsequently, many studies also used this biomarker in conjunction with xanthine to stage the progress of T2DM and DN (Chen et al. 2018). Higher plasma levels of UA and xanthine were detected in patients with advanced stages of T2DM and DN. In addition to this, SUA level is also considered a risk factor of DN in diabetic patients, and many studies also correlated its level directly with the initial IR (Chen et al. 2018).

In summary, the presented studies found relevancy between elevated SUA at the baseline and onset of future obesity and/or diabetes and the association of elevated SUA and various parameters of diabetes and diabetic complications. The level of SUA was also found associated with hypertension, hyperlipidemia, hyper-triglyceridemia, and IR. Human studies providing SUA quantitative values in control and diabetic patients are summarized in Table 3.

Conclusion

The development of insulin resistance or otherwise impaired metabolic conditions affects a number of metabolic pathways, including purine metabolism. The data suggest that any undiagnosed metabolic impairment directly influences purine metabolism by altering the expression of their key enzymes and their metabolites, which worsens the sensitivity and release of insulin and influences the hexoses transportation and metabolic manipulation. The findings showed that all the prominent and rate-limiting enzymes and metabolites related to purine metabolism were altered in participants that eventually developed diabetes when compared with a control group. XO, ADA, adenosine, inosine, and others were found elevated in the biofluids of subjects with IR or T2DM. Catabolism of purine nucleosides ultimately leads to the production of UA, which was also found elevated in the subjects with metabolic syndrome in comparison to controls.

Applications to Prognosis, Other Diseases or Conditions

In this chapter changes in the level of key purine enzymes and related metabolites in relation to type 2 diabetes, prediabetes, and obesity is discussed. The levels of xanthine oxidase, adenosine deaminase, inosine, adenosine, Inosine-5'-monophosphate dehydrogenase, as well as uric acid, and their correlations with insulin resistance,

		1		•		
	Type of the		Age of participants		Concentration	
Reference	study	Participants	(years)	Studied correlation	Controls	Patients
(Xia et al.)	Cross-	Healthy controls	55.0 ± 7.5	SUA vs TG, HDL-C,	45 ± 2.3 mg/L	$65 \pm 1.4 \text{ mg/L}$
	sectional	(n = 31), diabetics		Leptin, BP, glucose,		
	study	(n = 23), DN		HbA1C and serum		
		(n = 65)		insulin		
(Xia et al.)	Cross-	Healthy controls	54.4 ± 5.4	SUA vs T2DM and	$46.63 \pm 2.41 \text{ mg/L}$	T2DM:
	sectional	(n = 40), T2DM	(Controls)	T2DM with DR		$53.81 \pm 2.36 \text{ mg/L}$
	study	(n = 35), T2DM	$55.9 \pm 7.0 \text{ (T2DM)}$			T2DM with DR:
		with DR $(n = 39)$	and 56.5 ± 5.4			$70.55 \pm 3.97 \text{ mg/L}$
			(T2DM with DR)			
(Gill et al. 2013)	Cross-	Healthy $(n = 50)$,	40-65	SUA vs HbA1C and	$2 \pm 1.19 \text{ mg/dL}$	6.6 ± 0.5 mg/dL
	sectional	diabetics $(n = 50)$		serum insulin		
	study					
(Hulsegge et al.	Longitudinal,	Four generation of	From 26 to 65 at	SUA level at baseline wa	as 0.24 ± 0.06 mmol/L f	or women and
2016)	prospective	normal population	baseline	$0.33 \pm 0.06 \text{ mmol/L for}$	men. It increased with a	ge, particularly in
		(n = 5, 155)		participants whose BMI	increased	
		followed for				
		15 years				
(Foster et al.	Retrospective	General	13.9 ± 2.0	SUA vs fat mass, SBP,	$295.2 \pm 47.9 \text{ mmol}$	$414.1 \pm 51.8 \text{ mmol}$
2020)	study	participants,		HOMA-IR, HbA1c,	L	L (hyperuricemia)
		n = 100		and TG		
(Spiga et al. 2017)	Cross-	Overweight but	47.6 ± 13.5	A positive relationship be	etween SUA (average 5.0	0 ± 0.034 mg/dL) and
	sectional	healthy adult		acute-phase reactants, suc	ch as high-sensitivity CR	P, fibrinogen, ferritin,
	study	n = 2731		complement C3, and ery	throcyte sedimentation ra	ate
(Bedir et al.)	Cross-	General	48.7 ± 1.28	SUA vs TG, HDL-C,	$248.0\pm4.76~\mathrm{mmol}/$	311.6 ± 5.35 mmol/
	sectional	population,		Leptin, glucose,	L	L
	study	n = 420 (210 men)		HbA1C and serum		
		and 210 women)		insulin		

 Table 3
 Concentrations of serum uric acid reported in referred studies

(Masuo et al.)	Longitudinal study	Young, non-obese, normotensive men, $n = 433$	< 50	BMI, BP, and levels of SUA, fasting plasma norepinephrine, insulin, and leptin	4.1 mg/dL	>5.6 mg/dL
(Lanaspa et al. 2012)	Cross- sectional study	Chronic hemodialysis patients, $n = 546$	56.3 ± 16.2	SUA in relation to hepatic steatosis and mitochondrial oxidative stress	From 4.9 ± 0.9 to 7.4 ± 1.1 mg/dL	From 5.2 \pm 0.8 to 7.8 \pm 0.9 mg/dL
(Anothaisintawee et al. 2017)	Cross- sectional study	Prediabetes patients, $n = 1633$	62.76 ± 8.9	SUA vs WC and FBG	Control group not included	$5.79 \pm 1.46 \text{ mg/dL}$
(Bombelli et al.)	Prospective, observational study	General population, $n = 1677$	25 to 74	SUA as a potential risk factor for developing diabetes and cardiovascular disease	3.6 mg/dL	>4.8 mg/dL
(Viazzi et al.)	Cross- sectional study	Caucasian hypertensive patients, $n = 758$	49 ± 10	SUA levels (≥318 µmol/ baseline were associated diabetes	1 for women and \geq 420 with a significantly high	μmol/l for men) at er risk of developing
(Yoo et al.)	Cross- sectional study	General population, n = 53,477 (34,169 males, 19,308 females)	40.7 ± 9.1	SUA vs hypertension, insulin resistance, and the risk factors of metabolic syndrome	dL) dL)	<4.2 to >6.29 mg/
Controls are referred as participants with contropathy (DN); d nephropathy (DN); d serum uric acid (SUA	to as participants w liabetes, prediabet liabetic retinopathy \); systolic blood p	vithout diabetes, obesity es, or obesity with abi y (DR); fasting blood pressure (SBP); total ch	, and metabolic syndron normal glucose and/or i glucose (FBG); glycate tolesterol (TC); triglycer	ne with normal glucose val nsulin indices. Blood pre- d hemoglobin (Hb1Ac); h ides (TG); type 2 diabetes	lues and insulin indices. I ssure (BP); body mass i nigh-density lipoprotein s mellitus (T2DM); waist	Patients are referred to index (BMI); diabetic cholesterol (HDL-C); t circumference (WC)

prediabetes, and diabetes have been reviewed. Reviewed studies showed that all the prominent and rate-limiting enzymes and metabolites related to purine metabolism were altered in participants with diabetes when compared to a control group. Moreover, the abovementioned components of purine metabolic pathways were found correlated with BMI, hepatic enzymes, cholesterol, or blood pressure. Xanthine oxidase, adenosine deaminase, adenosine, inosine, and others were found elevated in the biofluids of subjects with IR or T2DM. Except relation to diabetes, xanthine oxidase was found related to cardiovascular disease and dyslipidemia, while adenosine deaminase to hypertension. Serum uric acid levels were found additionally related to hypertension, cardiovascular disease, and metabolic syndrome. Some of the evaluated parameters (e.g., isopentenyladenosine-5-monophosphate, uric acid, xanthine, and xanthine oxidase) were reported as type 2 diabetes predictive biomarkers. Selected components of the purine metabolism pathways can be used as biomarkers for the early diagnosis of diabetes or prediabetes and evaluation of the risk of diabetes development.

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

- **T2DM**: Most commonly diagnosed type of diabetes, characterized by abnormal glucose and lipid metabolism, resulting from resistance to the effects of insulin and insufficient response to the secretion of this hormone. As this disease progresses, a partial β -cell insufficiency and deficiency in insulin production may also occur.
- **Purinosome**: A dynamic multi-protein complex system involved in the de novo biosynthesis of purines.
- Xanthine oxidase: An enzyme found in many species, including humans. It is required to produce uric acid by the breakdown of purine nucleotides. Xanthine oxidase catalyzes the oxidation of hypoxanthine to xanthine and can further catalyze the oxidation of xanthine to uric acid. It generates reactive oxygen species.
- Adenosine deaminase: This is a metalloenzyme found in microorganisms, plants, invertebrates, and all mammalian cells that is involved in purine metabolism. It catalyzes the irreversible deamination of adenosine to inosine and deoxyadenosine to deoxyinosine.
- **Biomarker**: A measurable biological feature that can distinguish the normal condition from pathological condition or indicate a response to an administered therapeutic drug.

Key Facts of Purine Enzymes and Related Metabolites

• Under normal physiological conditions, purine levels in cells are maintained by the coordinated action of the de novo biosynthesis and salvage pathways.

- Purine de novo biosynthesis is an energy-intensive ten-step process involving six enzymes that rely on the substrates from amino acids and carbohydrates metabolism from the TCA cycle.
- For each molecule of IMP generated, five molecules of ATP, two molecules of glutamine and formate, and one molecule of glycine, aspartate, and carbon dioxide are needed.
- Concentrations of purine enzymes and their metabolites are altered in individuals with obesity, prediabetes, and metabolic syndrome.
- The components of the purine metabolism pathways can be considered early biomarkers for the screening, early diagnosis, and monitoring of diabetes and related complications.

Summary Points

- The development of insulin resistance or other metabolic impairment affects purine metabolism, altering its key enzymes and metabolites.
- The activity of xanthine oxidase can be used as a clinically relevant biomarker to monitor the development of the metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes in susceptible undiagnosed populations and follow the progress of diabetes and diabetes-related complications.
- Adenosine deaminase, adenosine, and inosine were found elevated in the biofluids of subjects with insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes.
- · Catabolism of purine nucleosides leads ultimately to the production of uric acid.
- Elevated serum uric acid is a risk factor for future obesity and/or diabetes development.
- The level of serum uric acid was found associated with hypertension, hyperlipidemia, hypertriglyceridemia, and insulin resistance.

References

- Anothaisintawee T, Lertrattananon D, Thamakaison S, Reutrakul S, Ongphiphadhanakul B, Thakkinstian A. Direct and indirect effects of serum uric acid on blood sugar levels in patients with prediabetes: a mediation analysis. J Diabetes Res. 2017;2017:6830671.
- Antonioli L, Blandizzi C, Pacher P, Haskó G. The purinergic system as a pharmacological target for the treatment of immune-mediated inflammatory diseases. Pharmacol Rev. 2019;71:345–82.
- Barnes VM, Kennedy AD, Panagakos F, Devizio W, Trivedi HM, Jönsson T, Guo L, Cervi S, Scannapieco FA. Global metabolomic analysis of human saliva and plasma from healthy and diabetic subjects, with and without periodontal disease. PLoS One. 2014;9:e105181.
- Bedir A, Topbas M, Tanyeri F, Alvur M, Arik N. Leptin might be a regulator of serum uric acid concentrations in humans. Jpn Heart J. 2003;44:527–36.
- Bleyer AJ, Hart TC. Genetic factors associated with gout and hyperuricemia. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis. 2006;13:124–30.
- Bombelli M, Quarti-Trevano F, Tadic M, Facchetti R, Cuspidi C, Mancia G, Grassi G. Uric acid and risk of new-onset metabolic syndrome, impaired fasting glucose and diabetes mellitus in a

general Italian population: data from the Pressioni Arteriose Monitorate E Loro Associazioni study. J Hypertens. 2018;36:1492–1498.

- Bopp A, De Bona KS, Bellé LP, Moresco RN, Moretto MB. Syzygium cumini inhibits adenosine deaminase activity and reduces glucose levels in hyperglycemic patients. Fundam Clin Pharmacol. 2009;23:501–7.
- Budde K, Bauer S, Hambach P, Hahn U, Röblitz H, Mai I, Diekmann F, Neumayer HH, Glander P. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic comparison of enteric-coated mycophenolate sodium and mycophenolate mofetil in maintenance renal transplant patients. Am J Transplant. 2007a;7: 888–98.
- Budde K, Glander P, Krämer BK, Fischer W, Hoffmann U, Bauer S, Grohmann J, Neumayer HH, Arns W. Conversion from mycophenolate mofetil to enteric-coated mycophenolate sodium in maintenance renal transplant recipients receiving tacrolimus: clinical, pharmacokinetic, and pharmacodynamic outcomes. Transplantation 2007b;83:417-24.
- Burnstock G, Novak I. Purinergic signalling and diabetes. Purinergic Signal. 2013;9:307-24.
- Chen C-J, Liao W-L, Chang C-T, Lin Y-N, Tsai F-J. Identification of urinary metabolite biomarkers of type 2 diabetes nephropathy using an untargeted metabolomic approach. J Proteome Res. 2018;17:3997–4007.
- Cheung KJ, Tzameli I, Pissios P, Rovira I, Gavrilova O, Ohtsubo T, Chen Z, Finkel T, Flier JS, Friedman JM. Xanthine oxidoreductase is a regulator of adipogenesis and PPARgamma activity. Cell Metab. 2007;5:115–28.
- Chielle EO, Gens F, Rossi EM. Oxidative, inflammatory and cardiometabolic biomarkers of clinical relevance in patients with metabolic syndrome. J Brasileiro de Patologia e Medicina Laboratorial. 2018;54:213–9.
- Manoj S Chiney, Sarah J Schwarzenberg, L'Aurelle A Johnson. Altered xanthine oxidase and N-acetyltransferase activity in obese children. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2011;72:109–115.
- Cicero AFG, Fogacci F, Cincione RI, Tocci G, Borghi C. Clinical effects of xanthine oxidase inhibitors in hyperuricemic patients. Med Princ Pract. 2021;30:122–30.
- Cohen A, Barankiewicz J. Catabolic pathways of purine ribonucleotides and deoxyribonucleotides in lymphocytes. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med. 1985;179:437–41.
- Concepcion J, Chen K, Saito R, Gangoiti J, Mendez E, Nikita ME, Barshop BA, Natarajan L, Sharma K, Kim JJ. Identification of pathognomonic purine synthesis biomarkers by metabolomic profiling of adolescents with obesity and type 2 diabetes. PLoS One. 2020;15: e0234970.
- Conen D, Wietlisbach V, Bovet P, Shamlaye C, Riesen W, Paccaud F, Burnier M. Prevalence of hyperuricemia and relation of serum uric acid with cardiovascular risk factors in a developing country. BMC Public Health. 2004;4:9.
- Cuny GD, Suebsuwong C, Ray SS. Inosine-5'-monophosphate dehydrogenase (IMPDH) inhibitors: a patent and scientific literature review (2002–2016). Expert Opin Therap Patents. 2017;27: 677–90.
- De Bona KS, Bonfanti G, Bitencourt PER, Cargnelutti LO, Da Silva PS, De Lucca L, Pimentel VC, Tatsch E, Gonçalves TL, Premaor M, Moresco RN, Moretto MB. Butyrylcholinesterase and γ-Glutamyltransferase activities and oxidative stress markers are altered in metabolic syndrome, but are not affected by body mass index. Inflammation. 2013;36:1539–47.
- Desco MC, Asensi M, Marquez R, Martinez-Valls J, Vento M, Pallardo FV, Sastre J, Vina J. Xanthine oxidase is involved in free radical production in type 1 diabetes: protection by allopurinol. Diabetes. 2002;51:1118–24.
- Dostalek M, Gohh RY, Akhlaghi F. Inosine monophosphate dehydrogenase expression and activity are significantly lower in kidney transplant recipients with diabetes mellitus. Ther Drug Monit. 2013;35:374–83.
- Drogan D, Dunn WB, Lin W, Buijsse B, Schulze MB, Langenberg C, Brown M, Floegel A, Dietrich S, Rolandsson O, Wedge DC, Goodacre R, Forouhi NG, Sharp SJ, Spranger J, Wareham NJ, Boeing H Untargeted metabolic profiling identifies altered serum metabolites of type 2 diabetes mellitus in a prospective, nested case control study. Clin Chem. 2015;61:487–97.

- Foster C, Smith L, Alemzadeh R. Excess serum uric acid is associated with metabolic syndrome in obese adolescent patients. J Diab Metab Disorders. 2020;19:535–43.
- Fredholm BB, Chern Y, Franco R, Sitkovsky M. Aspects of the general biology of adenosine A2A signaling. Prog Neurobiol. 2007;83:263–76.
- Furuhashi M, Koyama M, Matsumoto M, Murase T, Nakamura T, Higashiura Y, Tanaka M, Moniwa N, Ohnishi H, Saitoh S, Shimamoto K, Miura T. Annual change in plasma xanthine oxidoreductase activity is associated with changes in liver enzymes and body weight. Endocr J. 2019;66:777–786.
- Gill A, Kukreja S, Malhotra N, Chhabra N. Correlation of the serum insulin and the serum uric acid levels with the glycated haemoglobin levels in the patients of type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Clin Diagn Res. 2013;7:1295–7.
- Hameed A, Galli M, Adamska-Patruno E, Krętowski A, Ciborowski M. Select polyphenol-rich berry consumption to defer or deter diabetes and diabetes-related complications. Nutrients. 2020a;12:2538.
- Hameed A, Mojsak P, Buczynska A, Suleria HA, Kretowski A, Ciborowski M. Altered metabolome of lipids and amino acids species: a source of early signature biomarkers of T2DM. J Clin Med. 2020b;9:2257.
- Hayden MR, Tyagi SC. Uric acid: a new look at an old risk marker for cardiovascular disease, metabolic syndrome, and type 2 diabetes mellitus: the urate redox shuttle. Nutr Metab (Lond). 2004;1:10.
- Hirayama A, Nakashima E, Sugimoto M, Akiyama S-I, Sato W, Maruyama S, Matsuo S, Tomita M, Yuzawa Y, Soga T. Metabolic profiling reveals new serum biomarkers for differentiating diabetic nephropathy. Anal Bioanal Chem. 2012;404:3101–9.
- Hou Y, Ma R, Gao S, Kaudimba KK, Yan H, Liu T, Wang R. The effect of low and moderate exercise on hyperuricemia: protocol for a randomized controlled study. Front Endocrinol. 2021;12:716802.
- Huang M, Liang Q, Li P, Xia J, Wang Y, Hu P, Jiang Z, He Y, Pang L, Han L, Wang Y, Luo G. Biomarkers for early diagnosis of type 2 diabetic nephropathy: a study based on an integrated biomarker system. Mol BioSyst. 2013;9:2134–41.
- Hulsegge G, Herber-Gast G-CM, Spijkerman AMW, Susan H, Picavet J, Van Der Schouw YT, Bakker SJL, Gansevoort RT, Dollé MET, Smit HA, Monique Verschuren WM. Obesity and age-related changes in markers of oxidative stress and inflammation across four generations. Obesity (Silver Spring, Md). 2016;24:1389–96.
- Ichida K, Matsuo H, Takada T, Nakayama A, Murakami K, Shimizu T, Yamanashi Y, Kasuga H, Nakashima H, Nakamura T, Takada Y, Kawamura Y, Inoue H, Okada C, Utsumi Y, Ikebuchi Y, Ito K, Nakamura M, Shinohara Y, Hosoyamada M, Sakurai Y, Shinomiya N, Hosoya T, Suzuki H. Decreased extra-renal urate excretion is a common cause of hyperuricemia. Nat Commun. 2012;3:764.
- Johansson SM, Lindgren E, Yang J-N, Herling AW, Fredholm BB. Adenosine A1 receptors regulate lipolysis and lipogenesis in mouse adipose tissue – interactions with insulin. Eur J Pharmacol. 2008;597:92–101.
- Khemka VK, Bagchi D, Ghosh A, Sen O, Bir A, Chakrabarti S, Banerjee A. Raised serum adenosine deaminase level in nonobese Type 2 diabetes mellitus. Sci World J. 2013;2013:404320.
- Kimberly WT, O'Sullivan JF, Nath AK, Keyes M, Shi X, Larson MG, Yang Q, Long MT, Vasan R, Peterson RT, Wang TJ, Corey KE, Gerszten RE. Metabolite profiling identifies anandamide as a biomarker of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. JCI Insight. 2017;2:e92989.
- Kodama S, Saito K, Tanaka S, Maki M, Yachi Y, Asumi M, Sugawara A, Totsuka K, Shimano H, Ohashi Y, Yamada N, Sone H. Association between serum uric acid and development of type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2009;32:1737–42.
- Kotozaki Y, Satoh M, Tanno K, Ohmomo H, Otomo R, Tanaka F, Nasu T, Taguchi S, Kikuchi H, Kobayashi T, Shimizu A, Sakata K, Hitomi J, Sobue K, Sasaki M. Plasma Xanthine oxidoreductase activity is associated with a high risk of cardiovascular disease in a General Japanese population. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2021;18:1894.

- Kuppusamy UR, Indran M, Rokiah P. Glycaemic control in relation to xanthine oxidase and antioxidant indices in Malaysian Type 2 diabetes patients. Diabet Med. 2005;22:1343–6.
- Kurajoh M, Fukumoto S, Murase T, Nakamura T, Ishihara T, Go H, Yamamoto K, Nakatani S, Tsuda A, Morioka T, Mori K, Imanishi Y, Inaba M, Emoto M. Insulin resistance associated with plasma xanthine oxidoreductase activity independent of visceral adiposity and adiponectin level: MedCity21 Health Examination Registry. Int J Endocrinol. 2019;2019:1762161.
- Lanaspa MA, Sanchez-Lozada LG, Choi Y-J, Cicerchi C, Kanbay M, Roncal-Jimenez CA, Ishimoto T, Li N, Marek G, Duranay M, Schreiner G, Rodriguez-Iturbe B, Nakagawa T, Kang D-H, Sautin YY, Johnson RJ. Uric acid induces hepatic steatosis by generation of mitochondrial oxidative stress: potential role in fructose-dependent and -independent fatty liver *. J Biol Chem. 2012;287:40732–44.
- Larijani B, Heshmat R, Ebrahimi-Rad M, Khatami S, Valadbeigi S, Saghiri R. Diagnostic value of adenosine deaminase and Its isoforms in Type II diabetes mellitus. Enzyme Res. 2016;2016: 9526593.
- Majmundar AJ, Wong WJ, Simon MC. Hypoxia-inducible factors and the response to hypoxic stress. Mol Cell. 2010;40:294–309.
- Malathi R. Role of adenosine deaminase and insulin in Type 2 diabetes mellitus in Eastern India. J Med Sci Clin Res. 2017;05:20489–95.
- Masuo K, Kawaguchi H, Mikami H, Ogihara T, Tuck ML. Serum uric acid and plasma norepinephrine concentrations predict subsequent weight gain and blood pressure elevation. Hypertension. 2003;42:474–80.
- Nakanishi N, Okamoto M, Yoshida H, Matsuo Y, Suzuki K, Tatara K. Serum uric acid and risk for development of hypertension and impaired fasting glucose or Type II diabetes in Japanese male office workers. Eur J Epidemiol. 2003;18:523–30.
- Niskanen L, Laaksonen DE, Lindström J, Eriksson JG, Keinänen-Kiukaanniemi S, Ilanne-Parikka P, Aunola S, Hämäläinen H, Tuomilehto J, Uusitupa M. Serum uric acid as a harbinger of metabolic outcome in subjects with impaired glucose tolerance: the Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study. Diabetes Care. 2006;29:709–11.
- Okuyama T, Shirakawa J, Nakamura T, Murase T, Miyashita D, Inoue R, Kyohara M, Togashi Y, Terauchi Y. Association of the plasma xanthine oxidoreductase activity with the metabolic parameters and vascular complications in patients with type 2 diabetes. Sci Rep. 2021;11:3768.
- Ottosson F, Smith E, Gallo W, Fernandez C, Melander O. Purine metabolites and carnitine biosynthesis intermediates are biomarkers for incident Type 2 diabetes. J Clin Endocrinol Metabol. 2019;104:4921–30.
- Oyarzún C, Salinas C, Gómez D, Jaramillo K, Pérez G, Alarcón S, Podestá L, Flores C, Quezada C, San Martín R. Increased levels of adenosine and ecto 5'-nucleotidase (CD73) activity precede renal alterations in experimental diabetic rats. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2015;468:354–9.
- Papandreou C, Li J, Liang L, Bulló M, Zheng Y, Ruiz-Canela M, Yu E, Guasch-Ferré M, Razquin C, Clish C, Corella D, Estruch R, Ros E, Fitó M, Arós F, Serra-Majem L, Rosique N, Martínez-González MA, Hu FB, Salas-Salvadó J. Metabolites related to purine catabolism and risk of type 2 diabetes incidence; modifying effects of the TCF7L2-rs7903146 polymorphism. Sci Rep. 2019;9:2892.
- Park J, Singh B, Gupta RS. Inhibition of adenosine kinase by phosphonate and bisphosphonate derivatives. Mol Cell Biochem. 2006;283:11–21.
- Pedley AM, Benkovic SJ. A new view into the regulation of purine metabolism: the purinosome. Trends Biochem Sci. 2017;42:141–54.
- Romeo GR, Jain M. Purine metabolite signatures and Type 2 diabetes: innocent bystanders or actionable items? Curr Diabetes Rep. 2020;20:30.
- Sapkota LB, Thapa S, Subedi N. Correlation study of adenosine deaminase and its isoenzymes in type 2 diabetes mellitus. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care. 2017;5: e000357.
- Skoczyńska M, Chowaniec M, Szymczak A, Langner-Hetmańczuk A, Maciążek-Chyra B, Wiland P. Pathophysiology of hyperuricemia and its clinical significance a narrative review. Reumatologia. 2020;58:312–23.

- Sobiak J, Jóźwiak A, Wziętek H, Zachwieja J, Ostalska-Nowicka D. The application of Inosine 5'-monophosphate dehydrogenase activity determination in peripheral blood mononuclear cells for monitoring mycophenolate mofetil therapy in children with nephrotic syndrome. Pharmaceuticals. 2020;13:200.
- Spiga R, Marini Maria A, Mancuso E, Di Fatta C, Fuoco A, Perticone F, Andreozzi F, Mannino Gaia C, Sesti G. Uric acid is associated with inflammatory biomarkers and induces inflammation via activating the NF-κB signaling pathway in HepG2 cells. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2017;37:1241–9.
- Sunagawa S, Shirakura T, Hokama N, Kozuka C, Yonamine M, Namba T, Morishima S, Nakachi S, Nishi Y, Ikema T, Okamoto S, Matsui C, Hase N, Tamura M, Shimabukuro M, Masuzaki H. Activity of xanthine oxidase in plasma correlates with indices of insulin resistance and liver dysfunction in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and metabolic syndrome: a pilot exploratory study. J Diabetes Investig. 2019;10:94–103.
- Tam HK, Kelly AS, Metzig AM, Steinberger J, Johnson LAA. Xanthine oxidase and cardiovascular risk in obese children. Child Obes. 2014;10:175–80.
- Vannoni D, Bernini A, Carlucci F, Civitelli S, Di Pietro MC, Leoncini R, Rosi F, Tabucchi A, Tanzini G, Marinello E. Enzyme activities controlling adenosine levels in normal and neoplastic tissues. Med Oncol. 2004;21:187–95.
- Varadaiah YGC, Sivanesan S, Nayak SB, Thirumalarao KR. Purine metabolites can indicate diabetes progression. Arch Physiol Biochem. 2019;128:87–91.
- Viazzi F, Leoncini G, Vercelli M, Deferrari G, Pontremoli R. Serum uric acid levels predict new-onset type 2 diabetes in hospitalized patients with primary hypertension: the MAGIC study. Diabetes Care. 2011;34:126–8.
- Washio KW, Kusunoki Y, Murase T, Nakamura T, Osugi, K., Ohigashi M, Sukenaga T, Ochi F, Matsuo T, Katsuno T, Moriwaki Y, Yamamoto T, Namba M, Koyama H. Xanthine oxidoreductase activity is correlated with insulin resistance and subclinical inflammation in young humans. Metabolism. 2017;70:51–56.
- Xia J, Wang Z, Zhang F. Association between related purine metabolites and diabetic retinopathy in Type 2 diabetic patients. Int J Endocrinol. 2014;2014;651050.
- Xia J, Liang Q, Hu P, Wang Y, Li P, Luo G. Correlations of six related purine metabolites and diabetic nephropathy in Chinese type 2 diabetic patients. Clin Biochem. 2019;42:215–20.
- Xu Y, Wang Y, Yan S, Yang Q, Zhou Y, Zeng X, Liu Z, An X, Toque HA, Dong Z, Jiang X, Fulton DJ, Weintraub NL, Li Q, Bagi Z, Hong M, Boison D, Wu C, Huo Y. Regulation of endothelial intracellular adenosine via adenosine kinase epigenetically modulates vascular inflammation. Nat Commun. 2017;8:943.
- Xuan C, Tian Q-W, Zhang S-Y, Li H, Tian T-T, Zhao P, Yue K, Ling Y-Y, He G-W, Lun L-M. Serum adenosine deaminase activity and coronary artery disease: a retrospective case-control study based on 9929 participants. Therap Adv Chronic Disease. 2019;10:2040622319891539.
- Yamaoka T, Kondo M, Honda S, Iwahana H, Moritani M, Li S, Yoshimoto K, Itakura M. Amidophosphoribosyltransferase limits the rate of cell growth-linked de novo purine biosynthesis in the presence of constant capacity of salvage purine biosynthesis. J Biol Chem. 1997;272:17719–25.
- Yoo TW, Sung KC, Shin HS, Kim BJ, Kim BS, Kang JH, Lee MH, Park JR, Kim H, Rhee EJ. Relationship between serum uric acid concentration and insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome. Circ J. 2005;69:928–33.
- Yu M, Zhou H, Li Q, Ding J, Shuai H, Zhang J. Serum adenosine deaminase as a useful marker to estimate coronary artery calcification in Type 2 diabetes mellitus patients. Clin Appl Thromb Hemost. 2021;27:1076029621999722.
- Zhang Y, Morar M, Ealick SE. Structural biology of the purine biosynthetic pathway. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2008;65:3699–724.
- Zhao H, Chiaro CR, Zhang L, Smith PB, Chan CY, Pedley AM, Pugh RJ, French JB, Patterson AD, Benkovic SJ. Quantitative analysis of purine nucleotides indicates that purinosomes increase de novo purine biosynthesis. J Biol Chem. 2015;290:6705–13.



Serpin A12 (Vaspin) as a Serine Protease Inhibitor

From Functional Mechanisms to Applications as a Biomarker in Diabetes

Armin Salek Maghsoudi, Shokoufeh Hassani, Kayvan Mirnia, and Mohammad Abdollahi

Contents

Introduction	155
Type 2 Diabetes and the Importance of Biomarkers	156
Vaspin as a Diabetes Biomarker	157
Biochemical Characterization	157
Main Sources of Vaspin	157
Vaspin and Anti-Inflammatory Effects	158
Glucose Intolerance and Vaspin	159
Insulin Role and Vaspin Action	161
Circulating Vaspin Level, Type 2 Diabetes, and Obesity	162
Metabolic Syndrome (MetS) and Vaspin	162
Applications to Prognosis, Other Diseases, and Conditions	163
Conclusion	164
Mini-Dictionary of Terms	164
Key Facts of Type 2 Diabetes	165
Summary Points	165
References	165

A. Salek Maghsoudi · S. Hassani

Toxicology and Diseases Group (TDG), Pharmaceutical Sciences Research Center (PSRC), The Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences (TIPS), Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

K. Mirnia

Department of Neonatology, School of Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

M. Abdollahi (🖂)

Toxicology and Diseases Group (TDG), Pharmaceutical Sciences Research Center (PSRC), The Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences (TIPS), Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Department of Toxicology and Pharmacology, Faculty of Pharmacy, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

e-mail: Mohammad@TUMS.Ac.Ir; Mohammad.Abdollahi@Alumni.UToronto.Ca

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2_7

Abstract

Wide-ranging studies have recently been performed on adipokines and their association with metabolic processes. Vaspin, a serpin-derived adipokine, is an essential linker between metabolic alterations, obesity, and insulin resistance. Vaspin mRNA is expressed in different tissues and has different roles in various tissues. This adipokine has anti-inflammatory and anti-apoptotic effects and is considered an insulin sensitizer whose intracellular and extracellular levels are affected by metabolic changes. Because vaspin was first identified in the visceral adipose tissue of a rat model of type 2 diabetes and obesity, various laboratory and clinical studies have been performed to introduce it as a biomarker of diabetes. The incidence of insulin resistance in type 2 diabetes is associated with the function of vaspin as an insulin sensitizer, which is quite different from the mechanism of type 1 diabetes. This chapter discusses the studies conducted in recent years about the probability of recognizing vaspin as a biomarker for the prognosis and diagnosis of type 2 diabetes. The potential role of vaspin in the body, molecular mechanisms, and signaling pathways associated with vaspin and type 2 diabetes also has been reviewed to achieve the aim of the chapter. It is concluded that circulating vaspin level may be considered as a potential biomarker in assessing type 2 diabetes and the prognosis of its complications.

Keywords

Biomarker · Insulin resistance · Type 2 diabetes · Serpin A12 · Vaspin

Abbreviations	
ABCC8	ATP-binding cassette subfamily C member 8
ADMA	Asymmetric dimethylarginine
AMI	Acute myocardial infarction
ASP	Acylation-stimulating protein
C-peptide	Connecting peptide
CrP	C-reactive protein
DPP-4	Dipeptidyl peptidase 4
FGF21	Fibroblast growth factor 21
FGT	Fasting glucose test
GRP78	Glucose-regulated protein
HAEC	Human aortic endothelial cell
HbA1c	Hemoglobin A1c
HOMA-IR	Homeostatic model assessment for insulin resistance
IGF-1	Insulin-like growth factor-1
IL-1b, IL-6, IL-10	Interleukin
IRS	Insulin receptor substrate
KLK7	Kallikrein-related peptidase 7
MetS	Metabolic syndrome
NGT	Normal glucose tolerance

NO	Nitric oxide
NOX	NADPH oxidase
OLETF	Otsuka Long-Evans Tokushima fatty
PDGF-BB	Platelet-derived growth factor-BB
PDGFR	PDGF receptor
PI3K/AKT, MAP kinase	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase
PKB	Protein kinase B
РКС	Protein kinase C
PPARγ	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ
RBP4	Retinol-binding protein 4
RCL	Reactive center loop
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RYGB	Roux-en-Y gastric bypass
SAA3	Serum amyloid A3
SNPs	Single nucleotide polymorphisms
T2DM	Type 2 diabetes mellitus
TGFβ	Transforming growth factor-β
ΤΝΓα	Tumor necrosis factor-α
Vaspin	Serpin A12
VDAC	Voltage-dependent anion channel
VSMCs	Vascular smooth muscle cells

Introduction

Obesity is a significant trigger for various metabolic diseases such as type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), cardiovascular disease, liver failure, and dyslipidemia. Obesity and overweight lead to dysfunction of adipose tissue (Blüher 2013; Saltiel and Olefsky 2017). Adipose tissue is responsible for storing and secreting triglycerides to provide energy during fasting periods, regulate temperature, and protect the mechanical organs. Adipose tissue is classified as an endocrine organ (Vegiopoulos et al. 2017). The release of adipokines as bioactive peptides, lipids, and various metabolites occurs through arrangements of adipocytes, immune cells, and fibroblasts. Adipokines represent a crucial role in regulating inflammatory processes, homeostasis, insulin sensitivity and secretion, energy storage and consumption, and appetite regulation. Modulation of immune cell migration to adipose tissue, adipogenesis, and adipocyte metabolism are the adipokines' main functions in adipose tissues (Fasshauer and Blüher 2015; Francisco et al. 2018). Adipokines affect a variety of biological processes, including adiponectin, leptin, fibroblast growth factor 21 (FGF21), dipeptidyl peptidase 4 (DPP-4), and resistin (glucose metabolism); retinol-binding protein 4 (RBP4), chemerin, and omentin (insulin sensitivity); tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF α), progranulin, resistin, C-reactive protein (CrP), and interleukin (IL)-1b, (IL)-6, and (IL)-10 (inflammation); insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1), fibronectin, and transforming growth factor- β (TGF β) (growth); adipsin, serum amyloid A3 (SAA3), and acylation-stimulating protein

(ASP) (immune response); and other critical biological functions (de Oliveira Leal and Mafra 2013; Blüher 2014; Booth et al. 2015). In recent years, a visceral adipose tissue-derived serpin, serpin A12 (vaspin), as another adipokine in the adipose tissue-derived serpin subset, has been considered in clinical trials and research studies on diabetes and obesity (Blüher 2012; Salek-Maghsoudi et al. 2019). The focus of this study is on the relationship between type 2 diabetes and vaspin levels. Because type 1 diabetes is an autoimmune disease, pancreatic beta cells are primarily damaged by T cells and cannot produce insulin, resulting in insulin deficiency from childhood or adolescence (Ozougwu et al. 2013). On the other hand, vaspin is a sensitizer of target cells to insulin and has no significant relationship with impaired insulin production. According to recent cell and clinical studies, there is ample evidence of a link between vaspin levels and type 2 diabetes caused by insulin resistance. Overview of current knowledge about the association between vaspin and T2DM through focusing on vaspin as an adipokine and its cellular sources, structure, biochemical function, and, finally, associated disorders is the goal of this chapter.

Type 2 Diabetes and the Importance of Biomarkers

Expanding prevalence of type 2 diabetes (T2D) is classified among predominant medical-related challenges worldwide. It is expected that 592 million people will have T2DM by 2035 (Cui et al. 2018). Insulin insensitivity is a primary hallmark of diabetes called insulin resistance. However, insulin resistance is caused by several factors, and various physiological factors are involved, including genetics, sedentary lifestyle, obesity, unhealthy diet, drugs, pollutants and toxins, and hormonal disturbance (Gutch et al. 2015). All these factors possibly interfere with the secretion of insulin. Innumerable patients of T2DM are identified once multiple complications arose that start soon in the development from normal physiological glucose tolerance to T2DM (Park et al. 2015). This disease not only affects the hormonal balance but also disturbs the standard of living of patients. Diabetes induces burdensome issues such as financial problems, medical charges, medications, lab tests, missed jobs, etc. Due to these issues, diabetes healthcare organizations in the world are bearing huge expenses of billions of dollars every year.

Consequently, persons at risk of T2DM should be identified, and its early diagnosis and management will reduce the onset of disease and its complications (Chatterjee et al. 2017). In order to diagnose and manage a patient with T2DM, multiple laboratory tests are performed. One of the primary diagnostic and monitoring criteria for T2DM is HbA1c and glucose concentrations (Kwon et al. 2015). It has been recognized long ago that more than 50 genes are engaged in the functioning of pancreatic β -cells, the action of insulin, monitoring of glycemic control, or any other conditions (Montesanto et al. 2018). These genes play a vital role in the progression of T2DM, but this concept is controversial because of inconsistent results. Inconsistent results can be due to small sample sizes, distinctive predisposition of T2DM across various radical ethnic communities, dissimilarities in ecological factors, and geneenvironment interrelationship. Therefore, some genes were found comprising PPAR_Y, KCNJ11, and ABCC8 (Prasad and Groop 2015; Sepand et al. 2021). T2DM is in the category of polygenic disorder. This property is complicated with loci influencing endogenous glucose production, transfer of glucose, and insulin homeostasis which result in challenges to detect diabetes. We can predict T2DM occurrence by considering some biomarkers, which can overcome some of these mentioned limitations (Salek-Maghsoudi et al. 2018; Tans et al. 2019; Maghsoudi et al. 2020).

Vaspin as a Diabetes Biomarker

Vaspin is a member of the serpin subfamily that seems a reliable biomarker among various adipokines involved in diabetes (Escoté et al. 2017). The adipokine (415 amino acids ~47 kDa) was identified in 2000 by Hida et al. in the visceral adipose tissue of an obese type 2 diabetic rat model (Otsuka Long-Evans Tokushima fatty (OLETF)) (Heiker 2014).

Biochemical Characterization

Sequence homology with antitrypsin (about 40%) is the reason for introducing vaspin as part of the serine protease inhibitor (serpin) family. Based on phylogenetic relationships, the serpin superfamily is defined in 16 clades containing 3-77 members (Qi et al. 2017; Motawi et al. 2018). Intracellular and extracellular types of serpins have many functional variations. They have regulatory roles in cellular and inflammatory defense processes, blood coagulation, and protection against ischemia and fibrinolysis (Gatto et al. 2013; Sanchez-Navarro et al. 2020). Vaspin is classified as clade A and serpin A12 (Aibara et al. 2019a). Under natural and active conditions, serpins are monomeric proteins that contain a polypeptide chain consisting of 350–500 glycosylated amino acids (Bhakuni et al. 2016). The primary function of serpins is to inhibit serine proteases. In the serpins' structure, a reactive center loop (RCL) as a pseudosubstrate is exposed to the target protease (Geiger et al. 2015). The amino acid sequence that formed an RCL determines the type of serine protease inhibited by serpins (Marijanovic et al. 2019). The change in serpin conformation occurs due to the protease's binding to the RCL sequence, which ultimately deforms the reactive portion of the protease and inactivates it (Lucas et al. 2018). Vaspin targets proteases that have not yet been fully elucidated, but some recent studies have revealed that kallikreinrelated peptidase 7 (KLK7) is one of vaspin's primary targets (Oertwig et al. 2017).

Main Sources of Vaspin

In addition to the presence of vaspin in white adipose tissue, analysis of the tissue expression pattern of vaspin mRNA shows this protein or its mRNA expression in other tissues such as the stomach, liver, pancreas, hypothalamus, and skin (Weiner et al. 2018). In skin tissues, vaspin mRNA expression is prominent. Disruption of the

proteolytic balance between proteases involved in skin tissues and serpins disrupts the integrity and function of the skin's defenses and exacerbates the incidence of inflammatory skin diseases (Shaker and Sadik 2013; Weiner et al. 2018).

Vaspin and Anti-Inflammatory Effects

The primary focus of published studies was on smooth muscle cells and vascular endothelial cells at the cellular level. These studies provided pieces of evidence of anti-atherogenic and anti-inflammatory actions depending on the context of circulatory system disease and obesity-associated inflammation (Phalitakul et al. 2013). Multifold indications demonstrate that vaspin protects endothelial cells from inflammatory components and apoptosis (Phalitakul et al. 2013; Chatterjee et al. 2017; Sepand et al. 2020b). A study illustrated the vaspin inhibition effect of TNF-α-induced adhesion molecule expression in vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs). It reduced lymphocyte adhesion through a diminishing generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and activation of NF- $\kappa\beta$ and protein kinase C (Phalitakul et al. 2011). Additionally, through hindering ROS production along with inhibition of MAP kinase, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)/AKT, NF- $\kappa\beta$, and insulin receptor signaling pathways, vaspin mitigates high glucose-dependent chemokine production and VSMC expansion (Li et al. 2013; Sun et al. 2015). Likewise, through the deactivation of the PI3K/AKT pathway, vaspin preserves human aortic endothelial cell (HAEC) from apoptosis due to free fatty acids (Jung et al. 2011; Sun et al. 2015; Sepand et al. 2020a). Due to some unique properties, such as creating advanced glycation end products and an extra encouraging element of inflammation and apoptosis, methylglyoxal is a deleterious metabolic product of glucose (Matafome et al. 2013). An investigation displayed that vaspin is responsible for inhibiting ROS generation and methylglyoxal-induced NADPH oxidase activation in human umbilical vein endothelial cells, which subsequently impedes apoptosis-inducing caspase-3 activation (Phalitakul et al. 2013; Salehi et al. 2019). Smooth muscle cell migration, besides inflammatory response, has a vital role in the advancement of atherosclerosis, and vaspin has proven to impede platelet-derived growth factor-BB (PDGF-BB)-induced VSMC migration via suppression of p38 MAPK/Hsp27 signals as well because of decreased ROS generation (Pietruczuk and Srivastava 2017). Further to this, the tone and configuration of vessels are regulated by NO synthase (NOS) and nitric oxide (NO). Hence it is indicated that within the HAEC, vaspin has been considered to enhance NOS action and NO concentration via decreasing the intracellular levels of asymmetric dimethylarginine (ADMA), which is an inhibitor of NOS (Jung et al. 2012; Sato et al. 2018). Such consequences relied on transcription factor STAT3 activation followed by upregulation of gene expression of ADMA-metabolizing enzyme dimethylarginine dimethyl-aminohydrolase. Significantly, not a single study has described the mechanism of vaspin signal transmission from the outside to the inside of the cell. Recent studies demonstrate that vaspin's anti-apoptotic activities within HAEC strongly correlate with a ligand of a membrane confined compound of voltage-dependent anion channel



Fig. 1 Vaspin and potential mechanisms associated with diabetes at the cellular level. Antiapoptotic and anti-inflammatory vaspin signaling pathways: abnormal (red multiplication sign) and inductive (green tick) pathways. TNF receptor, TNFR; insulin receptor, InsR; PDGF receptor, PDGFR; protein kinase C, PKC; NADPH oxidase, NOX; voltage-dependent anion channel, VDAC; insulin receptor substrate, IRS; protein kinase B, PKB; AKT

(VDAC78) and 78-kDa glucose-regulated protein (GRP78) (Nakatsuka et al. 2013; Lin et al. 2016). The GRP78 appears to be a part of vaspin-induced intracellular signaling in H4-II-E-C3 liver cells of rats, suchlike in AKT and AMPK activation (Nakatsuka et al. 2012). However, fundamental molecular processes of vaspin and how vaspin directly acts upon some processes such as adipogenesis, adipocyte differentiation, and adipose tissue function are still unidentified (Fig. 1).

Glucose Intolerance and Vaspin

Since the influence of vaspin gene variants is not well identified, the role of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) within the chromosome 14 vaspin locus for the progression and advancement of obesity and T2DM is investigated by Kempf et al.

in MONICA/KORA F3 investigation. Conclusions of these studies have demonstrated a significant association between vaspin single nucleotide polymorphism rs2236242 and T2DM with homozygous dominant genotype, which carries a high risk of hyperglycemic disorders. In contrast, this correlation is independent of BMI. Precisely, vaspin and glucose metabolism attain an interconnection, which can be considered an association between obesity and metabolic diseases (especially T2DM) (Kempf et al. 2010). However, there is contradictory evidence regarding serum vaspin levels in T2DM. A study by Ye et al. stated that the patients with T2DM possess elevated levels of vaspin; likewise, their plasma glucose concentrations after eating are positively correlated with vaspin (Yin et al. 2009; Li et al. 2011).

Similarly, it is indicated by Li et al. that continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion causes a decrease in plasma vaspin levels and, at the same time, improves the betacell activity in T2DM (Li et al. 2011). It has been anticipated by Jian et al. that reduced concentrations of plasma vaspin levels can be a risk factor for the advancement of T2DM (Jian et al. 2014; Yang et al. 2017b). Obese individuals with prediabetes and normal glucose tolerance (NGT) developed high levels of vaspin (Moradi et al. 2016). While considering the T2DM duration period, plasma vaspin levels have been analyzed in numerous studies. Similarly, Atya et al. stated that the increasing duration of diabetes would be a reduction in vaspin levels (Atya et al. 2013). Another study that included only females diagnosed with diabetes claimed that the increasing duration of diabetes would be a reduction in vaspin levels. There is a significant positive interrelationship between vaspin and HbA1c and BMI and age in the healthy group in both categories, respectively. However, homeostatic model assessment for insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) in T2DM is inversely correlated with different disease durations (Esteghamati et al. 2014; Jian et al. 2014). Based on available resources, possibly it can be concluded that vaspin primarily contributes to the development of T2DM (El-Mesallamy et al. 2011). The assessment of interrelation among plasma vaspin concentrations and the existence of chronic outcomes of T2DM has been done.

In comparison to a poor glycemic control group, female participants of the T2DM group and good glycemic control group indicated reduced vaspin concentrations in a study done by Gulcelik et al., and also the occurrence of microvasculature problems had been introduced to cause low vaspin concentrations (Gülçelik et al. 2009; Auguet et al. 2011). Vaspin plasma concentrations have been measured by Li et al. in participants diagnosed with T2DM for the last 3 years, either accompanying with macroangiopathy or not. Compared to participants with NGT, elevated vaspin levels have been analyzed in T2DM participants without carotid plaques. At the same time, reduced vaspin levels have been studied in T2DM for the last 3 years, it has been noted that plasma vaspin concentrations and carotid plaque existence are negatively correlated. Statements mentioned in these studies preconditioned that vaspin might be involved in the mechanism of carotid plaque development in the initial steps of T2DM. As mentioned earlier, the elevated generation of vaspin within adipocytes in that duration possibly acts as a remuneration process linked with obesity, severe insulin

resistance, and progression of diabetes. Due to that reason, we can state that vaspin might act as the latest biomarker and a defensive element for the sake of macrovascular lesions (Li et al. 2012). As demonstrated in various studies, the countervailing ability of vaspin generation slowly reduces with the rise in the period of T2DM or with the beginning of disorders of the heart and blood vessels, leading to a gradual decline in vaspin concentration (Kadoglou et al. 2011; Yang et al. 2017a).

Insulin Role and Vaspin Action

In the last couple of years, after recognizing the KLK7 enzyme to be a target protease, the breakdown of indigenous human insulin with the assistance of KLK7 has been identified. Numerous cleavage sites have been specified inside both chains named A and B, which are compatible or in line with the enzyme restriction sites that metabolize insulin. Co-expression of vaspin and KLK7 within islets of murine demonstrating a potent significance of the vaspin-KLK7 interplay starts due to insulin secretion. Exposing solitary islets with vaspin leads to elevated insulin concentrations within islet supernatants by having a regular and enhanced glucose level while keeping insulin secretion unaffected. The amount of C-peptide remained unaltered (Heiker et al. 2013). Insulin sensitivity and glucose tolerance are reinforced in mice suffering from obesity through administrating recombinant vaspin (Feng et al. 2014). It is also worth mentioning that a persistent glucose decline and reduced food intake resulted from peripheral and intracerebroventricular administration of vaspin (Klöting et al. 2011).

In the current investigation, some mouse strains, such as diabetic db/db mice and C57BL/6NTac, when treated acutely with vaspin, present glucose tolerance, which shows serpin functioning by utilizing the mutant vaspin. The inert mutant utilization could not increase glucose tolerance. Apart from this, elevated insulin plasma concentrations to post-vaspin treatment indicate that suppression of KLK7 due to vaspin is classified among an essential mechanism for its countervailing impact on insulin resistance caused by obesity. This operating principle suggests that the need for vaspin protein increases suddenly after raised blood glucose concentrations and consequential insulin secretion. In a short time, serpin activity decreases in vaspin protein concentration (Heiker et al. 2013; Tindall et al. 2020). A range of studies done on humans supports this broad concept which says that vaspin manifestations accompany a circadian rhythm, so the postprandial peak of insulin secretion causes vaspin rise.

In contrast, acute insulin treatment causes declined vaspin plasma concentration (Kovacs et al. 2013). Despite the fact, within diabetic OLETF rats, administering the insulin chronically causes elevated concentrations of vaspin (Aibara et al. 2019b), but those on insulin treatment display lower vaspin serum concentrations. In white adipocytes of mice, the vaspin mRNA expression improves while treating them with insulin (Heiker 2014). This evidence assists the compensatory theory of declined vaspin serum concentrations following vaspin utilization due to the inhibitory activity of the protease. Limited evidence is available for daily or postprandial
modification in the serum concentrations or expression of KLK7. It was significant to note that the beneficial metabolic impacts of vaspin remain adjusted by vaspindependent proteolytic enzymatic pathways that affect glucose consumption and insulin concentrations. Likewise, complexes of an enzyme called serpin are removed from circulation by their receptors and stimulate signaling pathways that improve serpin expression within the cells. But data on vaspin-protease complex receptors are still unknown and undetermined (Hosseini et al. 2011; Dimova and Tankova 2015; Ulbricht et al. 2015; Weiner et al. 2018).

Circulating Vaspin Level, Type 2 Diabetes, and Obesity

Expression of vaspin mRNA in adipocytes was indicated to be linked with T2DM, insulin resistance, and obesity (Shaker and Sadik 2013; Kovacs et al. 2016), whereas, in humans, high vaspin plasma levels are linked with impaired insulin sensitivity and obesity (Feng et al. 2014; Yang et al. 2015). As mentioned earlier, elevated plasma vaspin concentrations in childhood are accompanied by insulin resistance (Yin et al. 2019). Values of average plasma serum concentration in normal individuals are from 0.18 to 1.55 ng/ml. In humans, high vaspin concentrations were correlated with insulin resistance and BMI (Feng et al. 2014; Yang et al. 2017b). In order to identify the association among vaspin plasma concentrations, obesity, and T2DM, Feng et al. conducted a wide-scale meta-analysis. Ultimately, the existence of elevated plasma vaspin concentrations in patients suffering from obesity and T2DM is finalized through these studies (Feng et al. 2014; Rashad et al. 2020).

Metabolic Syndrome (MetS) and Vaspin

Many investigations mentioned that the function of vaspin is vital in the progression of MetS and obesity. In contrast, in these circumstances, it remains unidentified whether it provides protection or not. Manifestation of vaspin mRNA acts potentially as a countervailing approach linked with obesity, progressive insulin resistance, and T2DM. In contrast, any association between plasma vaspin concentration, indicators of insulin sensitivity, and glucose or lipid metabolism remains unidentified. An innumerable number of publications mention that vaspin and MetS variables are positively interrelated (Nicholson et al. 2019). A remarkable positive association occurs between the obesity classes and insulin resistance, with the children (Buyukinan et al. 2018) and the adults (Chang et al. 2010a; Kim et al. 2013) suffering from obesity and T2DM. High vaspin levels have been observed in juvenile Korean males in a cohort study due to some factors such as sedentary lifestyle, obesity, and high immune-reactive insulin concentration during an empty stomach (Han et al. 2013). High serum vaspin concentrations have been measured by Esteghamati et al. in individuals from both genders suffering from MetS. Due to this reason, Esteghamati et al. allocated vaspin as a marker for MetS (Esteghamati et al. 2014). Individuals diagnosed with T2DM and MetS showed no considerable variation in vaspin serum concentration than a group without MetS (Yan et al. 2014). During elevated HOMA-IR, VAT coordinates with plasma vaspin levels independently, and this association is influenced by insulin resistance (Chang et al. 2010b). It has been indicated that with the existence of metabolic disturbances, insulin resistance and C-reactive protein (being an inflammatory indicator of low intensity) are positively interrelated with vaspin (Karbek et al. 2014; Mogharnasi et al. 2019). Various researches have noted that by weight loss done by modifying the way of living, dietary intake, and physical activity, variations in plasma vaspin concentration have been observed. Individuals with BMI < 25 and with strenuous daily exercise routine showed lower plasma vaspin levels, whereas sudden weight loss due to a complicated exercise routine may lead to high vaspin levels (Kovacs et al. 2016; Shahraki and Eftekhari 2018). It might be supposed that vaspin serves as a responsible agent in the progression of MetS and obesity. During high HOMA-IR, vaspin attains an interrelationship with body mass index, body size and mass, waist size, and hip circumferences (Chang et al. 2010a). Vaspin serum concentrations have been measured by Handisurya et al. in participants with exceptionally obese bodies. They have performed laparoscopic procedures (Roux-en-Y gastric bypass, RYGB) to lose their weight in a short time. Handisurya et al. found a decrease in serum vaspin, leptin hormone, connecting peptide (C-peptide), insulin hormone, body mass index, HbA1c, and HOMA-IR levels, and the alterations in vaspin plasma levels completely interrelate with HOMA-IR, biologically active human insulin, connecting peptide, HbA1c, and leptin. Regardless, the relationship between HOMA-IR and vaspin remains statistically significant even after unification for changes in BMI caused by RYGB (Ibrahim et al. 2018).

Applications to Prognosis, Other Diseases, and Conditions

In this chapter, some large-scale meta-analysis studies and laboratory findings (Feng et al. 2014; Escoté et al. 2017) examining the selection of vaspin as a reliable biomarker in diagnosing and prognosing type 2 diabetes were introduced. Some elderly patients have also shown that vaspin can be considered a potential biomarker in patients with type 2 diabetes and can be used to assess the risk of macromolecular complications (Yang et al. 2017a). Quantitative assessment of the progress of insulin resistance and the quality of function of pancreatic beta cells can be done by using the HOMA-IR method, an acceptable scale for assessing the status of type 2 diabetes (Tang et al. 2015). A recent study verified a positive correlation between vaspin level, HOMA-IR index, and insulin level in patients with type 2 diabetes, confirming the previous studies. Vaspin levels were also significantly higher in patients with T2D and coronary artery disease as a T2D complication (Hao et al. 2016). Another prospective case control study showed that both vaspin mRNA expression and serum levels significantly increased in T2D patients. Another conclusion of this study is that vaspin could be used as a reliable biomarker to assess the risk of ischemic stroke in these patients (Rashad et al. 2020). In contrast, in another study without considering type 2 diabetes, it was found that there is a significant negative

correlation between vaspin level and prognosis and severity of stroke; hence, a decrease in serum vaspin level predicts an increased risk of ischemic stroke (Zhang et al. 2020). One of the most efficient cohort studies performed on more than 1000 patients with acute myocardial infarction (AMI) showed that serum vaspin level as a valid prognostic biomarker could be considered to predict the status of major adverse cardiac events in patients with AMI (Zhou et al. 2019).

Conclusion

In recent years, vaspin as a serine protease inhibitor has been introduced as a molecule with different and beneficial functions in various tissues from the brain to the liver. In this study, the functional mechanism of vaspin was investigated based on its introduction as a potential biomarker of T2D. Laboratory findings in animals and large-scale meta-analysis studies in human populations, overall, showed that vaspin could be considered as a biomarker of T2D. Unfortunately, vaspin cannot currently substitute HbA1c and FGT or other standard parameters used to assess the status of hyperglycemia in T2D. However, according to the available evidence, it is anticipated to have a vaspin test in the diagnostic and prognostic processes associated with T2D in the future.

The vaspin signaling pathway in the context of insulin resistance and T2D is related to the inhibition of proteases implicated in the degradation of proteins involved in balance and reduction of glucose levels or influence on appetite. On the other hand, increased circulating vaspin levels are significantly associated with impaired insulin sensitivity and metabolic syndrome. Furthermore, due to the vaspin presence in different tissues and the possibility of other diseases interfering in intracellular and extracellular vaspin levels changes, more studies are required in the future to select vaspin as a biomarker of T2D.

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

- **Biomarker**. A biological molecule found in body fluids, such as blood, or in various tissues, which specifically distinguishes the normal or abnormal process of the body and the presence, progression, or cure of a disease.
- **Homeostatic model assessment**. It is a method for assessing and quantifying the state of insulin resistance and the function of pancreatic beta cells based on the principle that blood sugar and insulin concentrations are related to the glucose feedback pathway on pancreatic beta cells
- Kallikrein-related peptidase. The functional serine protease subfamily with an essential role in regulating normal physiological processes and related pathological conditions, such as immune responses, insulin sensitivity, and glucose metabolism.
- Serine protease. Proteolytic enzymes containing serine residues in their active site as amino acids with potential nucleophilic reactions during hydrolysis are involved in various critical physiological processes.

• Visceral adipose tissue. A tissue of whole-body fat contains active hormonal components whose secretions have significant biochemical properties in critical signaling pathways of the body. Metabolic disorders such as metabolic syndrome, diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, and cancer are associated with how this tissue serves.

Key Facts of Type 2 Diabetes

- The main difference between type 1 and type 2 diabetes is that in people with type 1 diabetes, pancreatic beta cells cannot produce insulin. However, in type 2 diabetes, the cells' response to insulin is not enough, leading to decreased insulin production.
- Demographically, type 2 diabetes accounts for about 90–95% diabetes cases.
- The development of type 2 diabetes is closely linked to insulin resistance. People with insulin resistance have impaired insulin sensitivity.
- The mechanism of insulin tolerance causes the inefficiency of this hormone. As a result, the body needs an excess of insulin to stimulate muscle and fat cells to take up glucose and the proper functioning of the liver in this pathway.
- In diabetic patients, the prognosis is significantly affected by the level of disease control and its complications. For example, chronic hyperglycemia is associated with an increased risk of microvascular complications.

Summary Points

- Circulating vaspin increases in people with type 2 diabetes.
- From a molecular point of view, vaspin disrupts the serine proteases' functionality, such as KLK7.
- From a cellular point of view, vaspin has anti-apoptotic and anti-inflammatory effects.
- Declined circulating vaspin levels is a sign of progression of type 2 diabetes and its severe and multiple complications.
- Vaspin, along with other diagnostic and prognostic approaches for type 2 diabetes, could be a reliable biomarker in assessing a person's condition.

Acknowledgments This chapter is the outcome of an in-house financially non-supported study. The Iran Science Elite Federation (INSF) is appreciated for support of the postdoc program of the first author. Authors also thank Iran National Science Foundation for the Seat Award directed to the corresponding author.

References

Aibara D, Matsuo K, Yamano S, Matsusue K. Vaspin is a novel target gene of hepatic CCAATenhancer-binding protein. Gene. 2019a;721:144113.

- Aibara D, Matsuo K, Yamano S, Matsusue K. Insulin induces expression of the hepatic vaspin gene. Endocr J. 2019b:EJ19–0276.
- Atya HB, Hassan ZA, Amin AI, Ali SAE. Vaspin concentration in obesity, impaired glucose tolerance and type 2 diabetes in Egypt. Adv Res Biol Sci. 2013;1:6–13.
- Auguet T, Quintero Y, Riesco D, et al. New adipokines vaspin and omentin. Circulating levels and gene expression in adipose tissue from morbidly obese women. BMC Med Genet. 2011;12:1–8.
- Bhakuni T, Ali MF, Ahmad I, et al. Role of heparin and non heparin binding serpins in coagulation and angiogenesis: a complex interplay. Arch Biochem Biophys. 2016;604:128–42.
- Blüher M. Vaspin in obesity and diabetes: pathophysiological and clinical significance. Endocrine. 2012;41:176–82.
- Blüher M. Adipose tissue dysfunction contributes to obesity related metabolic diseases. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013;27:163–77.
- Blüher M. Adipokines–removing road blocks to obesity and diabetes therapy. Mol Metab. 2014;3: 230–40.
- Booth A, Magnuson A, Fouts J, Foster M. Adipose tissue, obesity and adipokines: role in cancer promotion. Horm Mol Biol Clin Invest. 2015;21:57–74.
- Buyukinan M, Atar M, Can U, et al. The association between serum vaspin and omentin-1 levels in obese children with metabolic syndrome. Metab Syndr Relat Disord. 2018;16:76–81.
- Chang HM, Lee HJ, Park HS, et al. Effects of weight reduction on serum vaspin concentrations in obese subjects: modification by insulin resistance. Obesity. 2010a;18:2105–10.
- Chang HM, Park HS, Park C-Y, et al. Association between serum vaspin concentrations and visceral adipose tissue in Korean subjects. Metabolism. 2010b;59:1276–81.
- Chatterjee S, Khunti K, Davies MJ. Type 2 diabetes. Lancet. 2017;389:2239-51.
- Cui X, Qian D-W, Jiang S, et al. Scutellariae radix and coptidis rhizoma improve glucose and lipid metabolism in T2DM rats via regulation of the metabolic profiling and MAPK/PI3K/Akt signaling pathway. Int J Mol Sci. 2018;19:3634.
- de Oliveira Leal V, Mafra D. Adipokines in obesity. Clin Chim Acta. 2013;419:87-94.
- Dimova R, Tankova T. The role of vaspin in the development of metabolic and glucose tolerance disorders and atherosclerosis. Biomed Res Int. 2015:2015.
- El-Mesallamy HO, Kassem DH, El-Demerdash E, Amin AI. Vaspin and visfatin/Nampt are interesting interrelated adipokines playing a role in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Metabolism. 2011;60:63–70.
- Escoté X, Gómez-Zorita S, López-Yoldi M, et al. Role of omentin, vaspin, cardiotrophin-1, TWEAK and NOV/CCN3 in obesity and diabetes development. Int J Mol Sci. 2017;18:1770.
- Esteghamati A, Noshad S, Mousavizadeh M, et al. Association of vaspin with metabolic syndrome: the pivotal role of insulin resistance. Diabetes Metab J. 2014;38:143.
- Fasshauer M, Blüher M. Adipokines in health and disease. Trends Pharmacol Sci. 2015;36:461-70.
- Feng R, Li Y, Wang C, et al. Higher vaspin levels in subjects with obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2014;106:88–94.
- Francisco V, Pino J, Gonzalez-Gay MA, et al. Adipokines and inflammation: is it a question of weight? Br J Pharmacol. 2018;175:1569–79.
- Gatto M, Iaccarino L, Ghirardello A, et al. Serpins, immunity and autoimmunity: old molecules, new functions. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol. 2013;45:267–80.
- Geiger M, Wahlmüller F, Furtmüller M. The serpin family: proteins with multiple functions in health and disease. Springer; 2015.
- Gülçelik NE, Karakaya J, Gedik A, et al. Serum vaspin levels in type 2 diabetic women in relation to microvascular complications. Eur J Endocrinol. 2009;160:65–70.
- Gutch M, Kumar S, Razi SM, et al. Assessment of insulin sensitivity/resistance. Indian J Endocrinol Metab. 2015;19:160.
- Han TK, Cho JK, Ha CD, Kang HS. Serum vaspin levels and its relation to body fat and fitness. J Exerc Nutr Biochem. 2013;17:81–6.
- Hao F, Zhang H, Zhu J, et al. Association between vaspin level and coronary artery disease in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2016;113:26–32.

- Heiker JT. Vaspin (serpinA12) in obesity, insulin resistance, and inflammation. J Pept Sci. 2014;20: 299–306.
- Heiker JT, Klöting N, Kovacs P, et al. Vaspin inhibits kallikrein 7 by serpin mechanism. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2013;70:2569–83.
- Hosseini A, Abdollahi M, Hassanzadeh G, et al. Protective effect of magnesium-25 carrying porphyrin-fullerene nanoparticles on degeneration of dorsal root ganglion neurons and motor function in experimental diabetic neuropathy. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol. 2011;109:381–6.
- Ibrahim DM, Mohamed NR, Fouad TA, Soliman AF. Short-term impact of laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy on serum Cartonectin and vaspin levels in obese subjects. Obes Surg. 2018;28: 3237–45.
- Jian W, Peng W, Xiao S, et al. Role of serum vaspin in progression of type 2 diabetes: a 2-year cohort study. PLoS One. 2014;9:e94763.
- Jung CH, Lee WJ, Hwang JY, et al. Vaspin protects vascular endothelial cells against free fatty acidinduced apoptosis through a phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt pathway. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2011;413:264–9.
- Jung CH, Lee WJ, Hwang JY, et al. Vaspin increases nitric oxide bioavailability through the reduction of asymmetric dimethylarginine in vascular endothelial cells. PLoS One. 2012;7:e52346.
- Kadoglou NPE, Gkontopoulos A, Kapelouzou A, et al. Serum levels of vaspin and visfatin in patients with coronary artery disease – Kozani study. Clin Chim Acta. 2011;412:48–52.
- Karbek B, Bozkurt NC, Topaloglu O, et al. Relationship of vaspin and apelin levels with insulin resistance and atherosclerosis in metabolic syndrome. Minerva Endocrinol. 2014;39:99–105.
- Kempf K, Rose B, Illig T, et al. Vaspin (SERPINA12) genotypes and risk of type 2 diabetes: results from the MONICA/KORA studies. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes. 2010;118:184–9.
- Kim JM, Kim TN, Won JC. Association between serum vaspin level and metabolic syndrome in healthy Korean subjects. Metab Syndr Relat Disord. 2013;11:385–91.
- Klöting N, Kovacs P, Kern M, et al. Central vaspin administration acutely reduces food intake and has sustained blood glucose-lowering effects. Diabetologia. 2011;54:1819–23.
- Kovacs P, Miehle K, Sandner B, et al. Insulin administration acutely decreases vaspin serum concentrations in humans. Obes Facts. 2013;6:86–8.
- Kovacs P, Blüher M, Aust G. Vaspin as an Adipokine: a link between obesity and metabolic alterations. Adipokines. 2016;135.
- Kwon SS, Kwon J-Y, Park Y-W, et al. HbA1c for diagnosis and prognosis of gestational diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2015;110:38–43.
- Li K, Li L, Yang M, et al. Short-term continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion decreases the plasma vaspin levels in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus concomitant with improvement in insulin sensitivity. Eur J Endocrinol. 2011;164:905.
- Li Z, Ma C, Li L, et al. Vaspin serum concentration in patients with type 2 diabetes and carotid plaque. J Int Med Res. 2012;40:1670–6.
- Li H, Peng W, Zhuang J, et al. Vaspin attenuates high glucose-induced vascular smooth muscle cells proliferation and chemokinesis by inhibiting the MAPK, PI3K/Akt, and NF-κB signaling pathways. Atherosclerosis. 2013;228:61–8.
- Lin Y, Zhuang J, Li H, et al. Vaspin attenuates the progression of atherosclerosis by inhibiting ER stress-induced macrophage apoptosis in apoE-/-mice. Mol Med Rep. 2016;13:1509–16.
- Lucas A, Yaron JR, Zhang L, Ambadapadi S. Overview of serpins and their roles in biological systems. Serpins. 2018;1–7.
- Maghsoudi AS, Hassani S, Akmal MR, et al. An electrochemical aptasensor platform based on flower-like gold microstructure-modified screen-printed carbon electrode for detection of serpin A12 as a Type 2 DIABETES BIOMArker. Int J Nanomedicine. 2020;15:2219.
- Marijanovic EM, Fodor J, Riley BT, et al. Reactive centre loop dynamics and serpin specificity. Sci Rep. 2019;9:1–15.
- Matafome P, Sena C, Seiça R. Methylglyoxal, obesity, and diabetes. Endocrine. 2013;43:472–84.
- Mogharnasi M, TaheriChadorneshin H, Abbasi-Deloei N. Effect of exercise training type on plasma levels of vaspin, nesfatin-1, and high-sensitivity C-reactive protein in overweight and obese women. Obes Med. 2019;13:34–8.

- Montesanto A, Bonfigli AR, Crocco P, et al. Genes associated with type 2 diabetes and vascular complications. Aging (Albany NY). 2018;10:178.
- Moradi S, Mirzaei K, Abdurahman AA, et al. Mediatory effect of circulating vaspin on resting metabolic rate in obese individuals. Eur J Nutr. 2016;55:1297–305.
- Motawi TMK, Mahdy SG, El-Sawalhi MM, et al. Serum levels of chemerin, apelin, vaspin, and omentin-1 in obese type 2 diabetic Egyptian patients with coronary artery stenosis. Can J Physiol Pharmacol. 2018;96:38–44.
- Nakatsuka A, Wada J, Iseda I, et al. Vaspin is an adipokine ameliorating ER stress in obesity as a ligand for cell-surface GRP78/MTJ-1 complex. Diabetes. 2012;61:2823–32.
- Nakatsuka A, Wada J, Iseda I, et al. Visceral adipose tissue-derived serine proteinase inhibitor inhibits apoptosis of endothelial cells as a ligand for the cell-surface GRP78/voltage-dependent anion channel complex. Circ Res. 2013;112:771–80.
- Nicholson T, Church C, Tsintzas K, et al. Vaspin promotes insulin sensitivity in elderly muscle and is upregulated in obesity. J Endocrinol. 2019;241:31–43.
- Oertwig K, Ulbricht D, Hanke S, et al. Glycosylation of human vaspin (SERPINA12) and its impact on serpin activity, heparin binding and thermal stability. Biochim Biophys Acta Protein Proteomic. 2017;1865:1188–94.
- Ozougwu JC, Obimba KC, Belonwu CD, Unakalamba CB. The pathogenesis and pathophysiology of type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Physiol Pathophysiol. 2013;4:46–57.
- Park SE, Park C-Y, Sweeney G. Biomarkers of insulin sensitivity and insulin resistance: past, present and future. Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci. 2015;52:180–90.
- Phalitakul S, Okada M, Hara Y, Yamawaki H. Vaspin prevents TNF- α -induced intracellular adhesion molecule-1 via inhibiting reactive oxygen species-dependent NF- κ B and PKC θ activation in cultured rat vascular smooth muscle cells. Pharmacol Res. 2011;64:493–500.
- Phalitakul S, Okada M, Hara Y, Yamawaki H. Vaspin prevents methylglyoxal-induced apoptosis in human vascular endothelial cells by inhibiting reactive oxygen species generation. Acta Physiol. 2013;209:212–9.
- Pietruczuk P, Srivastava AK. Histone deacetylases in vascular pathophysiology: regulation by vasoactive peptides and growth factors. In: Mechanisms of vascular defects in diabetes mellitus. Springer; 2017. p. 325–39.
- Prasad RB, Groop L. Genetics of type 2 diabetes pitfalls and possibilities. Genes (Basel). 2015;6: 87–123.
- Qi D, Wang D, Zhang C, et al. Vaspin protects against LPS-induced ARDS by inhibiting inflammation, apoptosis and reactive oxygen species generation in pulmonary endothelial cells via the Akt/GSK-3β pathway. Int J Mol Med. 2017;40:1803–17.
- Rashad NM, Ahmed HS, Ashour WMR, Yousef MS. Association of vaspin gene expression and its serum level on the risk of ischemic stroke in type 2 diabetic Egyptian patients: prospective casecontrol study. Biotechnol Appl Biochem. 2020;67:912–9.
- Salehi M, Garmabi B, Jafarisani M, Khastar H. Vaspin exert anti-inflammatory and antioxidant effects on renal and liver injury induced by renal ischemia reperfusion. Int J Pept Res Ther. 2019;1–6.
- Salek-Maghsoudi A, Vakhshiteh F, Torabi R, et al. Recent advances in biosensor technology in assessment of early diabetes biomarkers. Biosens Bioelectron. 2018;99:122–35.
- Salek-Maghsoudi A, Hassani S, Momtaz S, et al. Biochemical and molecular evidence on the role of vaspin in early detection of the insulin resistance in a rat model of high-fat diet and use of diazinon. Toxicology. 2019;411:1–14.
- Saltiel AR, Olefsky JM. Inflammatory mechanisms linking obesity and metabolic disease. J Clin Invest. 2017;127:1–4.
- Sanchez-Navarro A, González-Soria I, Caldiño-Bohn R, Bobadilla NA. Integrative view of serpins in health and disease: the contribution of serpinA3. Am J Phys Cell Physiol. 2020;320: C106–18.
- Sato K, Shirai R, Yamaguchi M, et al. Anti-atherogenic effects of vaspin on human aortic smooth muscle cell/macrophage responses and hyperlipidemic mouse plaque phenotype. Int J Mol Sci. 2018;19:1732.

- Sepand M-R, Aliomrani M, Hasani-Nourian Y, et al. Mechanisms and pathogenesis underlying environmental chemical-induced necroptosis. Environ Sci Pollut Res. 2020a;27:37488–501.
- Sepand MR, Ranjbar S, Kempson IM, et al. Targeting non-apoptotic cell death in cancer treatment by nanomaterials: recent advances and future outlook. Nanomed Nanotechnol Biol Med. 2020b;29:102243.
- Sepand MR, Aghsami M, Keshvadi MH, et al. The role of macrophage polarization and function in environmental toxicant-induced cancers. Environ Res. 2021;196:110933.
- Shahraki Z, Eftekhari E. Impact of aerobic exercise on serum vaspin level in female patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Crescent J Med Biol Sci. 2018;5:203–8.
- Shaker OG, Sadik NAH. Vaspin gene in rat adipose tissue: relation to obesity-induced insulin resistance. Mol Cell Biochem. 2013;373:229–39.
- Sun N, Wang H, Wang L. Vaspin alleviates dysfunction of endothelial progenitor cells induced by high glucose via PI3K/Akt/eNOS pathway. Int J Clin Exp Pathol. 2015;8:482.
- Tang Q, Li X, Song P, Xu L. Optimal cut-off values for the homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) and pre-diabetes screening: developments in research and prospects for the future. Drug Discov Ther. 2015;9:380–5.
- Tans R, Verschuren L, Wessels HJCT, et al. The future of protein biomarker research in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Expert Rev Proteomics. 2019;16:105–15.
- Tindall CA, Dommel S, Riedl V, et al. Membrane phospholipids and polyphosphates as cofactors and binding molecules of SERPINA12 (Vaspin). Molecules. 2020;25:1992.
- Ulbricht D, Pippel J, Schultz S, et al. A unique serpin P1' glutamate and a conserved β-sheet C arginine are key residues for activity, protease recognition and stability of serpinA12 (vaspin). Biochem J. 2015;470:357–67.
- Vegiopoulos A, Rohm M, Herzig S. Adipose tissue: between the extremes. EMBO J. 2017;36: 1999–2017.
- Weiner J, Zieger K, Pippel J, Heiker JT. Molecular mechanisms of vaspin action–from adipose tissue to skin and bone, from blood vessels to the brain. Protein Rev Recept. 2018;159–88.
- Yan T, Li L, Wang H, et al. Correlation between adipocytokines levels and metabolic syndrome in type 2 diabetes mellitus. J South Med Univ. 2014;34:275–8.
- Yang L, Chen SJ, Yuan GY, et al. Changes and clinical significance of serum vaspin levels in patients with type 2 diabetes. Genet Mol Res. 2015;14:11356–61.
- Yang W, Li Y, Tian T, et al. Serum vaspin concentration in elderly patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and macrovascular complications. BMC Endocr Disord. 2017a;17:1–7.
- Yang W, Li Y, Tian T, Wang L. Serum vaspin concentration in elderly type 2 diabetes mellitus patients with differing body mass index: a cross-sectional study. Biomed Res Int. 2017b;2017.
- Yin YE, Hou X, Pan X, et al. Serum vaspin level in relation to postprandial plasma glucose concentration in subjects with diabetes. Chin Med J. 2009;122:2530–3.
- Yin C, Hu W, Wang M, Xiao Y. The role of the adipocytokines vaspin and visfatin in vascular endothelial function and insulin resistance in obese children. BMC Endocr Disord. 2019;19:1–8.
- Zhang P, Wang G, Gui Y, et al. Serum vaspin as a predictor of severity and prognosis in acute ischemic stroke patients. Nutr Neurosci. 2020;1–9.
- Zhou X, Chen Y, Tao Y, et al. Serum vaspin as a predictor of adverse cardiac events in acute myocardial infarction. J Am Heart Assoc. 2019;8:e010934.



Advanced Glycation End Products in Diabetes

Jesús A. Mosquera-Sulbarán and Juan Pablo Hernández-Fonseca

Contents

Introduction	173
Advanced Glycation End Products (AGEs)	174
AGE Receptors	175
Effects of AGEs	176
AGE Measurements	177
Effects of AGEs in Diabetes	177
Nephropathy in Diabetes	178
Cardiomyopathy and Arterial Alterations in Diabetes	180
Neuropathy in Diabetes	180
Retinopathy in Diabetes	181
Cancer and Diabetes	182
Cross Talk Between AGEs and Oxidative Stress in Diabetes	183
AGEs in Other Diseases	184
Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions	185
Mini Dictionary of Terms	185
Key Facts of Diabetes: Where Advanced Glycation End Products Is the Topic	186
Summary Points	186
References	187

Abstract

Advanced glycation end products (AGEs) are the product of the interaction of sugars and other glycation inducers with proteins, nucleic acids, and lipids. These compounds have several mechanisms of action. They can alter the biology of organic molecules. Proteins that have been glycated can lose their normal functions and become dysfunctional, as the case of collagen glycation, which can increase the stiffness of the vascular system with consequent dysfunction. AGEs can act on their receptors (RAGE: receptor for advanced glycation end products)

J. A. Mosquera-Sulbarán (🖂) · J. P. Hernández-Fonseca

Instituto de Investigaciones Clínicas Dr. Américo Negrette, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad del Zulia, Maracaibo, Venezuela

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2_8

and activate intracellular signaling pathways leading to nuclear translocation to the transcription factor NF-kB, which induces nuclear activation to produce various inflammatory compounds and oxidative stress. In addition, receptors for AGEs can be stimulated by non-glycated compounds such as S100/calgranulins isoforms, β -amyloid, amphoterin, advanced oxidation protein products, and ligands implicated in vascular injury. These interactions are related to various diseases such as Alzheimer's disease, diseases related to chronic inflammation, and alteration of the vascular system. In diabetes, AGEs induce damage in different systems including the cardiovascular, renal, nervous, and retinal systems mainly mediated by the mechanisms mentioned above. For all these pathological processes involving the AGE/RAGE axis, the use of therapeutic strategies to diminish its effects remains of great interest.

Keywords

Diabetes · Glycation end products · Oxidative stress · NF-κB · RAGE · Hyperglycemia · Renin angiotensin system

Abbreviations

AGEs	Advanced glycation end products
AGE-R1, AGE-R2, or AGE-R3	Advanced glycation end products receptors
Ang II	Angiotensin II
Bcl-2	B-cell lymphoma 2
CKD	Chronic kidney disease
CML	N(carboxymethyl)lysine
CNS	Central nervous system
DR	Diabetic retinopathy
ECM	Extracellular matrix
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinases 1 and 2
ERM family	Ezrin, Radixin, and Moesin
GLAP	Glyceraldehyde-derived pyridinium compo-
	und
Glo1	Glyoxalase 1
GSK3	Glycogen synthase kinase-3
HIF-1a	Hypoxia inducible factor-1alpha
ICAM-1	Intercellular adhesion molecule-1
IL-6	Interleukin-6
LDL	Low-density lipoproteins
LFA-1	Lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
NF-Kb	Transcription factor kappa B
NO	Nitric oxide
Nrf2	NF-E2-related transcription factor 2
RAGEs	Advanced glycation end products receptors
RAS	Renin angiotensin system

S-100	Proteins belong to a family of intracellular acidic, low-molecular-weight, and calcium- binding
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor beta
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor-alpha
VCAM-1	Vascular cell adhesion molecule-1
Wnt	Signaling pathways which begin with pro- teins that pass signals into a cell through cell surface receptors.

Introduction

Advanced glycation end products (AGEs) are formed by the nonenzymatic reaction of sugars and other glycation inducers with proteins, DNA, and lipids. These compounds can be formed by endogenous or exogenous mechanisms. The latter are related to the intake, smoking, and sedentary lifestyle (Cordain et al. 2005; Nursten 2005). AGEs can induce alterations in the organism through mechanisms mediated by the dysfunction of glycated tissues or by inducing inflammatory processes through the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and oxidative stress (Sessa et al. 2014; Mosquera 2010). AGEs are divided into fluorescent and nonfluorescent compounds. The most important are carboxymethyl-lysine, carboxyethyl-lysine, pyrraline, pentosidine, and methylglyoxal-lysine dimer (Vistoli et al. 2013; Perrone et al. 2020), which have as a common characteristic, the presence of lysine residue. The accumulation of AGEs originates when there is an excess of production and deficit of renal elimination (Vlassara et al. 2008). The accumulation of AGEs and their interaction with its receptors (RAGEs) leads to inflammation, oxidative stress, and endothelial dysfunction (Sessa et al. 2014; Mosquera 2010). RAGEs are multi-ligand molecules expressed in different tissues and cells, which are normally expressed basally but increase during some diseases such as diabetes, cancer, Alzheimer's disease, cardiovascular disease, and aging involving in the progression of those diseases (McRobert et al. 2003; Sessa et al. 2014; Mosquera 2010). In this regard, RAGE activation induces nuclear translocation of NF-kB with consequent nuclear induction of proinflammatory cytokines, adhesion molecules, and oxidative stress (Mosquera 2010; McRobert et al. 2003). There is another group of receptors (AGE-R1, AGE-R2, or AGE-R3) that have opposite effects to RAGE activation related to endocytosis and elimination of AGEs (Xue et al. 2011; da-Cunha et al. 2006; He et al. 2001). RAGE can be found in soluble form probably from the cleavage of RAGE bound to cell membranes; its function is still controversial (Humpert et al. 2006; Prasad 2014). There are several methods for measuring AGEs including high- performance liquid chromatography, mass spectrometry, gas chromatography, and enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) (Röcken et al. 2003; Koetsier et al. 2010; Meerwaldt et al. 2007; Gerrits et al. 2008; Jeong et al. 2016). The most effective way to measure AGEs accumulation is in slow turnover tissue to relate AGEs accumulation to disease progression and pathogenesis. There are new methods for the quantification of AGEs based on monoclonal antibodies that have been validated (Wendel et al. 2018), but at present there is no gold standard method for the detection and quantification of AGEs. The objective of this review is to describe the scientific evidence on AGEs in relation to their structure, effects on tissues, their association with oxidative stress, and inflammation as well as their effects on the diabetic pathogenesis.

Advanced Glycation End Products (AGEs)

Advanced glycation end products are a complex group of compounds formed by the nonenzymatic reaction of reducing sugars and amine residues in proteins, lipids, or nucleic acids. This reaction, known as the Maillard reaction, produces stable compounds such as AGEs, through the production of unstable compounds such as Shiff bases and Amadori products, which react with peptides and proteins to form protein cross-links (Cordain et al. 2005; Nursten 2005). In vivo the most important AGEs are formed by reacting organic compounds with alpha-dicarbonyl or oxoaldehydes to form N(carboxymethyl)lysine (CML) and pentosidine (Vistoli et al. 2013). AGEs are classified in different groups based on their chemical structures and ability to emit fluorescence (Perrone et al. 2020). In this regard, fluorescent and cross-linked AGEs; nonfluorescent and non-cross-linked; nonfluorescent protein cross-linked and fluorescent non-cross-linked.

The first AGE isolated was pentosidine, formed by collagen where arginine and lysine residues are cross-linked to ribose, hexose, or ascorbic acid (Sell and Monnier 1989). This fluorescent cross-linked AGE represents the major AGE and is used as a measure of the total accumulation of AGEs in plasma and other tissues (van Deemter et al. 2009). CML is one of the most relevant AGEs and is also usually measured as a biochemical marker (Thomas et al. 2018). CML can be formed through various ways. Glucose can bind to lysine residues of the amino group forming Amadori products with subsequent oxidation and CML formation (Hull et al. 2012). Another important component related to AGEs accumulation is pyrraline, which is also formed from the reaction of glucose with lysine residues in proteins (Henning and Glomb 2016). In addition to the cross-linked and fluorescent AGEs, there are the non-cross-linked and fluorescent ones. These bind to the amino acids by their heterocyclic portion, which is replaced by N-H bonds. These compounds act through receptors inducing cellular alterations. An example of these is argpyrimidine, which is formed from arginine and methylglyoxal by a reaction of Maillard (Nemet et al. 2006). Another important AGE inductor is glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate, which is related to GLAP (glyceraldehyde-derived pyridinium) formation, a compound that binds to the lysine and arginine in proteins. This compound is elevated in oxidative stress, inflammation, and diabetes (Tahara et al. 2012). In general, AGEs are very important in vivo, and their accumulation can be measured in pathological conditions such as diabetes (Vlassara and Uribarri 2014).

The origin of AGEs is not only endogenous, but they can also come from food or smoking habit. Prolonged heating of food can generate glyco-oxidation and lipo-oxidation products, which can be ingested. The presence of these AGEs from smoking and food has been associated with inflammatory events (Cerami et al. 1997; Nicholl et al. 1998). In addition to extracellular AGEs accumulation in tissues and blood, AGEs can also accumulate intracellularly altering protein biochemistry and intracellular signaling pathways (Brownlee 1995).

The circulating levels of ACEs are influenced by the production rate and the ability to be eliminated through various mechanisms. AGEs are metabolized into smaller molecules by the action of glyoxalase 1 (Glo1) in the kidney and eliminated in the urine. Enzyme dysfunction induces accumulation of AGEs in the plasma (Rabbani and Thornalley 2018). There are also compounds such as reduced glutathione, which catalyzes GLAP (glyceraldehyde-derived pyridinium compound) to less toxic compounds such as D-lactate (Xue et al. 2011) and enzymes such as fructosamine kinases, which act by phosphorylating and destabilizing Amadori products (da-Cunha et al. 2006).

AGE Receptors

AGEs exert their effect through three mechanisms: receptor-dependent, non-receptor-dependent, and through their intracellular action. In the receptor-mediated AGE mechanism, there are several proteins that serve as receptors for AGEs such as RAGE, AGE receptors (AGE-R1, AGE-R2, and AGE-R3/galactin-3), and proteins from ERM family (ezrin, radixin, and moesin) (McRobert et al. 2003).

RAGE, a member of the Ig superfamily, is a transmembrane protein that interacts with AGEs inducing activation of protein kinase C and translocation to the nucleus of NF- κ B, which induces nuclear transcription of several proteins such as pro-inflammatory proteins, intercellular adhesion molecule-1, E-selectin, endothelin-1, tissue factor, and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and increases the levels of reactive oxygen species (Sessa et al. 2014; Mosquera 2010). The RAGE-AGE interaction on endothelial cells can activate other additional signaling pathways such as pathways involving nicotinamide dinucleotide phosphate oxidase and MAPKs (Schmidt and Stern 2000), extracellular signal-regulated kinases 1 and 2 (ERK), p21ras, p38, and Janus kinase (Cai et al. 2016). RAGE can bind different types of AGEs and non-AGE proteins such as S-100 isoforms (Stern et al. 2002; Dahlmann et al. 2014), β -amyloid related to Alzheimer's disease (Prasad et al. 2019), amphoterin (also known as high mobility group box 1) (Yan et al. 2004; Ando et al. 2018), advanced oxidation protein products (Heidari et al. 2019), and ligands implicated in vascular injury.

RAGE is highly expressed in lungs, skeletal muscle, and heart, but is also expressed in smooth muscle cells, monocytes/macrophages, endothelial cells, astrocytes, and microglia (Ahmad et al. 2018). Basal expression of RAGE increases in pathological conditions such as diabetes, cardiovascular disease, Alzheimer's disease, cancer, and natural aging (Takeuchi and Yamagishi 2009).

A variant of RAGE is the soluble RAGE (sRAGE) that comes from molecular splice of RAGE attached to the cell membrane that has lost the COOH terminal and transmembrane domain and is released to the extracellular medium. This sRAGE can bind to the RAGE ligands in the extracellular medium and prevent the signals



Fig. 1 Effects and receptors of advanced glycation end products (AGEs). AGE receptors are involved in clearance functions (scavenger and clearance receptors) and receptors involved in pro-inflammatory and oxidative stress-inducing effects (RAGE). Cdc42, Cell division cycle 42 protein; eNOS, endothelial nitric oxide synthase; ICAM-1, intercellular adhesion molecule-1; MAP, mitogen-activated protein; NAD(P)H nicotinamide dinucleotide phosphate; NO, nitric oxide; ROS, reactive oxygen species; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor; TNF- α , tumor necrosis factor-alpha

originated by the interaction of AGEs and other ligands with RAGE. Increased sRAGE levels have been associated with decreased deleterious effects of RAGE activation (Humpert et al. 2006; Prasad 2014).

The AGE-R1 receptor is involved in the clearance and degradation of AGEs. These receptors are present on the surface of macrophages, vascular smooth muscle cells, lung cells, and endothelial cells, and activate scavenging receptor mechanisms (Xue et al. 2011; da-Cunha et al. 2006). Decreased expression of this receptor is associated in humans with increased levels of AGEs and severe complications in diabetes (He et al. 2001). The AGE-R3 receptor belongs to the lectin families and it is overexpressed by hyperglycemia and by the presence of AGEs. Its absence is associated with accumulation of AGEs in the renal glomerulus. The members of the ERM family bind with similar affinity as RAGE to the AGEs (McRobert et al. 2003). The activation of ezrin pathway has been associated with the effect of AGEs on renal tubular cell growth and migration (Gallicchio et al. 2006). Figure 1 summarizes the different AGE receptors: receptors involved in AGEs clearance and receptors involved in pro-inflammatory and oxidative stress-inducing effects.

Effects of AGEs

In general, AGE inducers act by altering the properties and functions of the tissue that they glycolyze or by inducing inflammatory or deleterious processes by interacting with their receptors (RAGE). Previous studies show that AGEs are involved in the pathogenesis of chronic diseases such as diabetes (Maasen et al. 2019), some types of cancers (Walter et al. 2019), neurological and cardiac disorders (Li et al. 2012), among

others. Advanced glycation acts primarily on cell membranes and compounds such as type IV collagen, but proteins such as myelin, tubulin, plasminogen activator 1, and fibrinogen are also prime targets of this glycation (Vlassara 1996). The glycation process of the extracellular matrix (ECM) induces alterations that lead to the resistance of these components to proteolysis and increases stiffness that in the case of collagen and elastin induces blood vessel stiffness (Zieman et al. 2005). In addition, AGEs can induce increased expression of cytokines such as TGF-beta and connective tissue growth factor with increased production of fibronectin, types III, IV, and VI collagen and laminin, modifying the ECM (Throckmorton et al. 1995).

AGEs can interact with their receptors (RAGE) and, in general, produce proinflammatory effects. In this regard, AGE/RAGE axis represents an important factor in innate immunity, but it also interacts with endogenous ligands, resulting in chronic inflammation. RAGE signaling has been implicated in multiple human illnesses, including diabetes, atherosclerosis, arthritis, Alzheimer's disease, atherosclerosis, and aging-associated diseases. Interaction of AGEs with RAGE on the cellular surface triggers a series of cellular signaling events, including the activation and translocation to the nucleus of transcription factor NF-kappaB (NF- κ B), leading to the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, adhesion molecules, and oxidative stress and causing inflammation (Sessa et al. 2014; Mosquera 2010).

AGE Measurements

Although there are several methods for measuring AGEs, there is no single standard method for their measurement. These compounds have a very complex structure and are difficult to measure them all in a single trial. There are both instrumental and immunochemical methods of measuring ACEs. Among the instrumental methods are: Spectrofluorometer (Röcken et al. 2003), high-performance liquid chromatog-raphy coupled with mass spectrometry (HPLC/MS) (Koetsier et al. 2010), gas chromatography coupled with mass spectrometry (GC-MS) (Meerwaldt et al. 2007), liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry(LC-MS/MS) (Gerrits et al. 2008), HPLC with fluorescent detection (Mulder et al. 2006), and method based on ultra-high-pressure liquid chromatography (UHPLC) (Smit and Gerrits 2010). Immunochemical methods are mainly enzyme-linked immuno-sorbent assay (ELISA) (Jeong et al. 2016) and western blotting (Menini et al. 2018), using antibodies specific for certain AGE structures. However, the selected method must provide reliable information to monitor the health of the patients, the therapeutic effects, and the progression of the studied pathology.

Effects of AGEs in Diabetes

The accumulation of AGEs in different tissues during diabetes is accelerated by hyperglycemia. AGEs form cross-links with the collagen matrix and induce increased rigidity in vessels and myocardium with the consequent alteration of cardiac function (Cooper et al. 2001). In addition, interaction of AGEs with



Fig. 2 Mechanisms of action to induce diabetic pathology. During diabetes glycolization inducers form advanced glycation end products (AGEs), which through two mechanisms, alteration of molecules in the tissues and interaction with RAGE receptors, induce pathologies in different organs and systems

RAGE on the cellular surface induces cellular pro-inflammatory signaling events, mediated by activation and translocation to the nucleus of NF- κ B and leading to the production of several pro-inflammatory cytokines and oxidative stress, and causing inflammation (Sessa et al. 2014; Mosquera 2010). During diabetes AGEs can affect various organs including the heart, peripheral and central nervous system, kidney, retina, and arteries (Fig. 2).

Nephropathy in Diabetes

High levels of AGEs are associated with uremic cardiomyopathy, and kidney failure in diabetes (Gill et al. 2019). Since the kidney is the major site of AGEs clearance, kidney damage is present during diabetes (Miyata et al. 1998). These compounds contribute to the development of chronic kidney disease (CKD) (Pyram et al. 2012). AGEs usually are metabolized in the kidney into smaller molecules that are subsequently eliminated in the urine. The enzyme that acts on AGEs in the kidney is glyoxalase 1 (Glo1). Its dysfunction induces accumulation of AGEs in the plasma and CKD (Rabbani and Thornalley 2018). Increased blood levels of AGEs induce accumulation of these molecules in the glomerulus promoting increased production of type IV collagen and laminin in the extracellular matrix, inflammation and cell senesce in the proximal tubule. Prevention of diabetic kidney disease by inducing overexpression of Glo1 in transgenic animals has been reported (Rabbani and Thornalley 2018). The pathogenesis of CKD involves adaptive hyperfiltration, AGE synthesis, expressions of prorenin, cytokines, nephrin, and impaired podocyte-specific insulin signaling (Pyram et al. 2012). Mechanisms such as RAS activation and RAGE expression by various renal cells such as podocytes and endothelial cells are involved in renal damage. In this regard, interaction of RAGE with AGEs induces inflammation, glomerular hypertrophy, interstitial fibrosis, and tubular atrophy (Garagliano et al. 2019). These alterations reduce the glomerular filtration rate and increases the level of circulating AGEs, which their profibrotic activity induces microvasculature damage, accompanying by the actions of the protein kinase C-mediated signal transduction, the RAS activation, and the oxidative stress (Sanajou et al. 2018). These pathological processes have been demonstrated in diabetic animal studies, where the accumulation of AGEs and expression of RAGE in the kidneys is accompanied by functional and structural alterations such as glomerular basement membrane thickening, mesangial expansion, glomerulosclerosis, tubulointerstitial fibrosis (Oldfield et al. 2001), increased collagen IV production, and TGF- β expression (Vlassara et al. 1994). In these experimental studies, diabetic nephropathy is attenuated by ACE-RAGE pathway signaling blockers, such as inhibitors of AGEs formation (Soulis-Liparota et al. 1995), agents that reduce accumulation of AGEs, and RAGE neutralizing antibodies (Flyvbjerg et al. 2004), suggesting the importance of RAGE and AGEs in the induction of renal pathology. For all these renal pathological processes involving the AGE/RAGE axis, the use of therapeutic strategies to diminish its effects remains of great interest (Fig. 3).



Fig. 3 Alteration of different organs and systems in diabetes. The main organs and systems affected in diabetes are kidney, cardiovascular system, peripheral and central nervous system, retina and predisposition to cancer frequency and mortality. GLO 1, glyoxalase 1; RAS, renin angiotensin system; TGF- β , transforming growth factor beta; NO, nitric oxide; LDL, low density lipoprotein; Ang II, angiotensin II

Cardiomyopathy and Arterial Alterations in Diabetes

The effects of AGEs in the diabetic cardiovascular system are mediated by receptordependent and nonreceptor-dependent pathways. In diabetic patients it is common to develop cardiomyopathy, heart failure, alterations in the peripheral arteries and atherosclerosis. This may be related to the cross-linking that AGEs establish with type IV collagen and laminin making the heart and the arteries stiffening and accelerating cardiac fibrosis (Zhao et al. 2014). In this regard, association between high circulating levels of AGEs and increased carotid intima media wall thickness and peripheral artery disease has been found (Lapolla et al. 2007; Yoshida et al. 2005). AGEs are also involved in atherosclerosis through mechanisms such as induction of endothelial dysfunction, increase of low-density lipoproteins (LDL), promoting destabilization of atheromatous plaques by acting on metalloproteinases, inducing proliferation of the vascular intima, and inhibiting vascular repair after injury (Bucala et al. 1994; Sobenin et al. 1993; Kunt et al. 1999). In this regard, the AGEs act by inhibiting nitric oxide and increasing LDL in the subendothelial space, while also preventing LDL clearance by avoiding the interaction of AGE-modified LDL with LDL receptor (Bucala et al. 1994). These events increase atheroma formation due to the accumulation of AGE-LDL in the vascular wall and by the presence of macrophages and foam cells (Sobenin et al. 1993). In addition, AGE/RAGE axis can induce through NF-kB the production of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) with the consequent attraction of monocytes, the first step in atherogenesis (Kunt et al. 1999). In this context, the location of AGEs in atherosclerotic lesions accompanied by macrophages and muscle cells containing lipids in diabetic individuals has been reported (Stitt et al. 1997a). In addition, an association between the degree of accumulation of ACEs and the severity of the atherosclerotic lesion has been demonstrated (Stitt et al. 1997a). Recent studies have shown that binding of AGEs to platelet receptor CD36 induces thrombus formation, a mechanism that may be important in the induction of cardiac ischemia in diabetic patients (Zhu et al. 2012). AGEs can interact with RAS inducing increased proliferation of cardiac fibroblasts and cardiomyocyte hypertrophy in diabetes (Yamazaki et al. 2012). In this regard, experimental studies have demonstrated that Ang II increases RAGE expression in diabetic rat cardiac tissue (Muñoz et al. 2020), and the interaction of AGEs with RAGE can induce NF-kB-mediated overexpression of RAGE (Mahajan and Dhawan 2013) (Fig. 3).

Neuropathy in Diabetes

Diabetic neuropathy is one of the disorders of diabetes that can range from painful manifestations to amputation of limbs. Several mechanisms are involved in diabetic neuropathy mediated by molecular pathways and cytokine production. Among these mechanisms are: polyol pathway, hexosamine pathway, PKCs signaling, oxidative stress, AGEs pathway, PARP pathway, MAPK pathway, NF- κ B signaling, hedgehog pathways, TNF- α signaling, cyclooxygenase pathway, interleukins, lipoxygenase pathway, nerve growth factor, Wnt pathway, autophagy, and GSK3 signaling

(Dewanjee et al. 2018). AGEs have several effects related to diabetic neuropathy: the modification of myelin by AGEs makes this protein susceptible to be phagocytosed by macrophages producing demyelination; in the same way, modification of proteins such as tubulin, laminin, and the neurofilament protein can induce nerve atrophy, alterations of nerve regeneration and alterations of axonal nerve transport in diabetes, respectively (Sugimoto et al. 2008). Experimental studies show that AGEs, Glo 1, and mitochondrial diffusion play an important role in diabetic neuropathy (Jack et al. 2012). In this regard, AGE/RAGE axis involved in the development of neuropathy (Suzuki et al. 2020), in the accumulation of AGEs in the skin and in the presence of peripheral small fiber neuropathy during diabetes have been reported (Araszkiewicz et al. 2016). The colocalization of various components of AGE/RAGE axis (accumulation of AGEs, expression of RAGE, NF- κ B, and IL-6) in the blood vessels of the peripheral nerves and perineurium has been reported in experimental models of diabetes and human diabetes, suggesting the role of these molecules in the angiopathy and in peripheral nerve neuropathy (Sugimoto et al. 2008; Chen et al. 2004). In addition, AGEs through the induction of oxidative stress can induce diabetic neuropathy in humans (Almogbel and Rasheed 2017).

Complications of chronic diabetes-induced inflammation include peripheral neuropathy; however, this inflammation can be established in the central nervous system (CNS). Diabetes has been implicated as a cause of brain atrophy, white matter abnormalities, and cognitive impairment and a risk factor for dementia (Toth et al. 2007). AGEs and Ang II may act synergistically in the production of diabetic complications (Miller et al. 2013). In this regard, AGEs may induce Ang II expression through mechanisms mediated by the RAGE-PI3-K/Akt-dependent pathway (Cheng et al. 2012). In this regard, experimental studies show inflammatory processes in the CNS mediated by Ang II. In this context, increased expressions of Ang II, ICAM-1, LFA-1, and CD8 positive cells in cerebrum and cerebellum from diabetic rats have been reported; expressions that are decreased by the anti-RAS drugs treatment (Vargas et al. 2012). Light and electron microscope studies from these diabetic rats showed degenerative changes of neurons and glia, perivascular and mitochondrial swelling, disarrangement of myelin sheath, increased area of myelinated axons, presynaptic vesicle dispersion in swollen axonal bottoms, fragmentation of neurofilaments, and oligodendrocyte abnormalities (Hernadez-Fonseca et al. 2009) (Fig. 3).

Retinopathy in Diabetes

Diabetic retinopathy (DR) is one of the leading causes of blindness worldwide, caused by the proliferation and edema (macula) of retinal tissue. Its mechanisms are complex but hyperglycemia, oxidative stress, and inflammation seem to play an important role in the pathogenesis of DR (Sahajpal et al. 2019). Hyperglycemia appears to initiate this pathology accompanied by other pathological processes. In this context, hyperglycemia induces the formation of AGEs that subsequently interact with their receptors (RAGE), activates NF- κ B, and increases the cascade of pro-inflammatory molecules (Sessa et al. 2014; Mosquera 2010). In addition, the modification of proteins by glucose can alter the function of glycosylated tissue (Cooper et al. 2001). AGEs have been shown to accumulate in the collagen of the vitreous humor (Fosmark et al. 2007), and in retinal endothelial cells, neurons and glia (Gardiner et al. 2003; Schalkwijk et al. 1999: Stitt et al. 1997b). One of the main inducers of AGEs in the retina is methylglyoxal and many of the AGEs produced are deposited in the Müller macroglia, which form part of the architecture and physiology of the retina, thus inducing dysfunction and hypoxia in the retinal tissue (Stitt et al. 2002; Agardh et al. 2001). This altered function is manifested by increased production of glial fibrillary acidic protein, NO and glutamate, which is toxic to retinal neurons (Mizutani et al. 1998; Lieth et al. 1998). On the other hand, hypoxia is linked to increased glycolysis through the increment of HIF-1 α -dependent glycolytic enzymes and the increment of methylglyoxal synthesis, which contributes to increased AGEs formation in the retina (Van den Enden et al. 1995). The accumulation of AGEs in retinal blood vessels associated with the severity of DR has been documented (Murata et al. 1997; Stitt 2001). However, one of the most reliable methods in the relationship between AGEs accumulation and progression of DR is the measurement of AGEs in proteins with low turnover such as those in the skin (Team 2002). The accumulation of AGEs in retinal tissue is linked to the induction of angiogenesis (small amount) or endothelial cell toxicity (high amounts), leading to capillary closure (Mamputu and Renier 2004; Stitt et al. 2005). Oxidative stress is intimately linked to AGEs formation, and various components of oxidative stress are found in several tissues including retinal tissues, inducing the complications of diabetes such as DR (Kowluru et al. 2001, 2006). The mechanism of how oxidative stress induces retinal AGEs is not clear, but it is known that AGEs can induce oxidative stress, apoptosis, and calcification in retinal pericytes (Chen et al. 2006; Yamagishi et al. 1999, 2012). The involvement of immune processes in the induction of DR has been documented. The expression of adhesion molecules, infiltration of immune cells, and production of proinflammatory cytokines that are probably related to the activation of microglia and infiltrating immune cells have been determined in retinal tissue (Moore et al. 2003; Brucklacher et al. 2008; Joussen et al. 2004; Zeng et al. 2008). The expression of RAGE and various ligands (AGEs, S100/calgranulins, and HMGB1) has been shown to have increased in DR, especially in the glia of inner retina, in the vitreous and preretinal membranes and in Müller cells. The interaction of RAGE with their ligands can trigger inflammatory processes that contribute to DR (Pachydaki et al. 2006; Barile et al. 2005). Experimentally it has been shown that the interaction of ACEs with their receptors promotes the basement membrane thickening of the retinal vessels (Stitt et al. 2000) and increases the expression of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase by endothelial cells (Chakravarthy et al. 1998), which is involved in the vasoregulatory alterations seen in the retinal microcirculation in diabetes (Fig. 3).

Cancer and Diabetes

Previous studies have shown the high risk of cancer in patients with diabetes. The mechanism involved in this propensity is related to the ability of hyperglycemia to glycosylate the extracellular matrix proteins that form the microenvironment of

cancer cells with further interactions with their receptors (RAGE), promoting tumor growth (Rojas et al. 2018). The dependence of tumors on glycolysis induces increased glucose uptake in the tumor microenvironment leading to hyperglycemia, which together with reactive oxygen species leads to the production of AGEs (Eales et al. 2016). Meta-analysis studies show not only the high risk of cancer, but also the high mortality of cancer in diabetic patients and the role of methylglyoxal (a reactive carbonyl species) as a tumor pro-inducer in diabetes (Bellier et al. 2019). Methylglyoxal is mainly formed as a byproduct of glycolysis and, under physiological circumstances, detoxified by the glyoxalase system and is the major precursor of nonenzymatic glycation of proteins and DNA, subsequently leading to the formation of AGEs (Schalkwijk and Stehouwer 2020). AGEs act by binding to their receptors (RAGE) and activating a series of transcription factors with the production of cytokines and inflammatory processes that induce tumor progression (Ahmad et al. 2018). The main glycosylated compounds found in tumors include 3-dG modified DNA, argpyrimidine, and Nɛ-carboxymethy lysine-modified protein (Heijst et al. 2005). These compounds via RAGE mediate the expression of different genes involved in cancer promotion, such as NOX-2, NF-kB, SP-1, MMP-2 and -9, Bcl-xl; phosphorylation of ERK 1/2, p38 MAPK, STAT-3, and p70S6K1; downregulation of Nrf-2 and Bcl-2; p53 expression; and stimulation of PI3K/Akt pathway. All these factors point toward the association of AGEs with the process of malignant transformation via both RAGE-dependent and --independent mechanisms (Palanissami and Paul 2018).

In addition to the implications of the AGE/RAGE axis in tumor progression, protein and DNA glycolization has implications in tumor pathogenesis. In this respect, the glycolization of prohibitin, glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase, lactate dehydrogenase, annexin II, high density lipoprotein, hemoglobin, serum albumin, and histones leads to loss of tumor suppressor function. These alterations consist in elevated carbonyl stress and methylglyoxal levels, impaired redox signaling, and cytoskeletal disorganization (Korwar Arvind et al. 2012), leading to progression and metastasis of cancers (Bing et al. 2012). Enhanced affinity of these compounds to oxygen and hence diminished oxygen supply to tissues result in tissue hypoxia (Jin et al. 2012). Impaired drug-binding affinity and antioxidant activity induce proliferation and invasion of cancers via RAGE binding (Philippe and Emmanuel 2011) and alterations in chromatin structure and genomic instability (Rouf et al. 2015) (Fig. 3).

Cross Talk Between AGEs and Oxidative Stress in Diabetes

The oxidative stress and AGE pathways are not independent and may induce deleterious effects in diabetes (Tahara et al. 2012). The interaction of AGEs with RAGE can lead to the activation of various transduction pathways such as MAPK, ERK1/2, p38, and NF- κ B leading to increased reactive oxygen species (ROS), oxidative stress, and deleterious effects on various organs, including the cardiovascular system in diabetes (Zhou et al. 2019). This activation of NF- κ B by AGEs also induces the expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) through RAGE/RhoA/ROCK-mediated and AMPK-mediated signaling pathways, and the formation



Fig. 4 Advanced glycation end products (AGEs) and oxidative stress

of nitric oxide in endothelial cells (Tang et al. 2016). It has been reported in diabetes that oxidative stress may be also mediated by the Sirt1/Nrf2 axis-induced AGE-RAGE interaction (Chen et al. 2018a). AGEs also induce the activation of NADPH oxidase in endothelial cells with increased ROS and decreased antioxidant compounds such as glutathione, glutathione peroxidase, superoxide dismutase, and catalase, contributing to cardiovascular damage (Chen et al. 2018b). In the relationship between AGEs and oxidative stress there is a vicious circle, where AGEs modulate oxidative stress and increased oxidative stress induces increase in AGEs (Chilelli et al. 2013; Dobi et al. 2019) (Fig. 4).

AGEs in Other Diseases

The process of protein glycation has been associated with mechanisms of development of various diseases and complications, such as retinopathy, neuropathy, and nephropathy associated with diabetes mellitus (McCance et al. 1993). The study and quantification of AGEs are also applicable to the analysis of other diseases, thus the mechanisms of action of AGEs are also applicable to these diseases. In this regard, AGEs are involved in diseases such as: macrovascular disease (Vlassara et al. 1992), Alzheimer's disease (Vitek et al. 1994), cataracts (Lyons et al. 1991), and aging (Sell et al. 1996). Histopathological studies and skin autofluorescence analysis have shown that, apart from diabetes, AGEs accumulate in a wide variety of tissues and are mainly associated with conditions of chronic inflammation, including coronary arteries, renal cortex, mesangial and glomerular basement membrane, dermal layer, amyloid plaques in Alzheimer's disease, cartilage in rheumatoid arthritis, cardiac muscle, lung and liver, lupus erythematosus, and osteoarthritis (Matsumoto et al. 2007; De Leeuw et al. 2007).

These disease complications are directly related to the formation of AGEs and the oxidative stress. The damage produced by hyperglycemia involves complex interactions between the individual's genetics, smoking, body mass index, dyslipidemia, and alterations in coagulation factors (Farouque et al. 2000). The intracellular mechanisms involved in these complications include increased flux of the polyol pathway, activation of protein kinase C, increased hexosamine pathway, and increased AGEs formation. The damage produced by these mechanisms is related to oxidative stress (Brownlee 2001). AGEs lead to the formation of reactive and unstable intermediates that rapidly form intra- and intermolecular covalent cross-links (Grandhee and Monnier 1991) or glycoxidation products (Wells-Knecht et al. 1995). These altered molecules lead to dysfunction of the glycosylated compound, production of pro-inflammatory reactions mediated by AGE/RAGE interactions, and induction of oxidative stress (Banerjee and Chakraborti 2013; Wolff and Dean 1987); these mechanisms interfere with a wide variety of physiological processes that promote atherogenesis (Bucala et al. 1995).

Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions

In this review, the importance of AGEs in the induction of pathology in diabetes was analyzed. One of the highlights was the interaction of AGEs with their receptors (RAGEs) as inducers of inflammatory processes. Although this is a pathology linked to diabetes, other pathological processes may be linked to the interaction of AGEs and other ligands with RAGEs. RAGE can bind different types of AGEs and non-AGE proteins such as S-100 isoforms (Stern et al. 2002; Dahlmann et al. 2014), β -amyloid related to Alzheimer's disease (Prasad et al. 2019), amphoterin (also known as high mobility group box 1) (Yan et al. 2004; Ando et al. 2018), advanced oxidation protein products (Heidari et al. 2019), and ligands implicated in vascular injury. These interactions are linked to disease such as: macrovascular disease (Vlassara et al. 1992), Alzheimer's disease (Vitek et al. 1994), cataracts (Lyons et al. 1991), and aging (Sell et al. 1996). Hence the importance of analyzing the mechanisms of expression or overexpression of RAGEs and their ligands in these diseases in order to adopt therapeutic measures.

Mini Dictionary of Terms

- AGEs. Compounds originated from the interaction of a glycation inducers such as sugars with proteins, lipids, or nucleic acids.
- AGE/RAGE axis. Signaling pathway originated from the interaction of AGEs with their receptors inducing inflammatory processes and oxidative stress.
- Amadori products. Stable products from the labile Schiff base.

- Chemokines. Chemoattractant cytokines, which play a vital role in cell migration through venules from blood into tissue and vice versa.
- Glycated. Compound chemically linked to a sugar that constitute the AGEs
- **Glycation**. Reaction between a reducing sugar with proteins, lipids, and nucleic acids, where the reactive carbonyl groups of a reducing sugar react with the free amino groups of proteins to form an unstable Schiff base.
- **Glyoxalase 1**. Enzyme that together with glyoxalase 2, and reduced glutathione constitutes the glyoxalase system, which perform an essential metabolic function in cells by detoxifying methylglyoxal (MG) and other endogenous harmful metabolites into nontoxic D-lactate.
- **Maillard reaction**. Chemical reaction between amino acids and reducing sugars involved in AGEs formation.
- NF-kB. Transcription factor, which function is crucial in the innate and adaptive immunity by inducing pro-inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, adhesion molecules, and apoptosis regulators.
- Oxidative stress. Imbalance between free radicals and antioxidants.
- RAGEs. The receptors for advanced glycation end products (AGEs).
- **Reduced glutathione**. Reduced form of glutathione that as endogenous antioxidant plays a major role in reducing reactive oxygen species.
- **Renin angiotensin system**. Hormone system that regulates blood pressure and fluid and electrolyte balance, involved in proinflammatory processes.

Key Facts of Diabetes: Where Advanced Glycation End Products Is the Topic

Diabetes is a very complex and multifactorial metabolic disease characterized by insulin resistance and/or decreased insulin production leading to elevated blood glucose levels.

Hyperglycemia is suggested to be the main cause of diabetic complications,

Sugars and other glycation inducers form advanced glycation end products (AGEs).

AGEs alter the composition of various tissues and their functioning.

AGEs interact with their receptor (RAGE) inducing the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and oxidative stress.

The main systems affected during diabetes are cardiovascular, neurological, renal, and retina.

Therapeutic approaches to AGE/RAGE axis are important in the treatment of diabetes.

Summary Points

• Advanced glycation end products (AGEs) are formed by the interaction of sugars and other glycation inducers with proteins, nucleic acids, and lipids.

- Proteins that have been glycated can lose their normal functions and become dysfunctional.
- AGEs can act on RAGEs and induce pro-inflammatory status and oxidative stress.
- RAGE activation can be induced by both AGEs and other ligands and is involved in several diseases.
- AGEs can alter different systems in diabetes, which include cardiovascular, renal, nervous system, and retina mainly.
- Blockade of the AGE/RAGE axis represents an important therapeutic approach.

AGEs through interaction with their receptors (RAGE) can induce increase of reactive oxygen species mediated by different pathways and contribute to intensify oxidative stress. Increased oxidative stress can induce the formation of additional AGEs. Both oxidative stress and AGEs can induce deleterious effects on the cardiovascular system in diabetes. Hyperglycemia may contribute to the increase in both AGEs and oxidative stress.

References

- Agardh E, Bruun A, Agardh CD. Retinal glial cell immunoreactivity and neuronal cell changes in rats with STZ-induced diabetes. Curr Eye Res. 2001;23:276–84. https://doi.org/10.1076/ceyr. 23.4.276.5459.
- Ahmad S, Khan H, Siddiqui Z, et al. AGEs, RAGEs and s-RAGE; friend or foe for cancer. Semin Cancer Biol. 2018;49:44–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2017.07.001.
- Almogbel E, Rasheed N. Protein mediated oxidative stress in patients with diabetes and its associated neuropathy: correlation with protein carbonylation and disease activity markers. J Clin Diagn Res. 2017;11:BC21–5. https://doi.org/10.7860/JCDR/2017/23789.9417.
- Ando K, Sakoda M, Ueno S, et al. Clinical implication of the relationship between high mobility group box-1 and tumor differentiation in hepatocellular carcinoma. Anticancer Res. 2018;38: 3411–8. https://doi.org/10.21873/anticanres.12609.
- Araszkiewicz A, Gandecka A, Nowicki M, et al. Association between small fiber neuropathy and higher skin accumulation of advanced glycation end products in patients with type 1 diabetes. Pol Arch Med Wewn. 2016;126:847–53. https://doi.org/10.20452/pamw.3649.
- Banerjee S, Chakraborti AS. In viro study on structural alteration of myoglobin by methylglyoxal. Protein J. 2013;32:216–22. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10930-013-9480-7.
- Barile GR, Pachydaki SI, Tari SR, et al. The RAGE axis in early diabetic retinopathy. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2005;46:2916–24. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.04-1409.
- Bellier J, Nokin MJ, Lardé E, et al. Methylglyoxal, a potent inducer of AGEs, connects between diabetes and cancer. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2019;148:200–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. diabres.2019.01.002.
- Bing P, Hui R, Yijing M, et al. High-density lipoprotein of patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus elevates the capability of promoting migration and invasion of breast cancer cells. Int J Cancer. 2012;131:70–82. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.26341.
- Brownlee M. Advanced protein glycosylation in diabetes and aging. Annu Rev Med. 1995;46: 223–34.
- Brownlee M. Biochemistry and molecular cell biology of diabetic complications. Nature. 2001;414: 813–20. https://doi.org/10.1038/414813a.

- Brucklacher RM, Patel KM, VanGuilder HD, et al. Whole genome assessment of the retinal response to diabetes reveals a progressive neurovascular inflammatory response. BMC Med Genet. 2008;1:26. https://doi.org/10.1186/1755-8794-1-26.
- Bucala R, Makita Z, Vega G, et al. Modification of low density lipoprotein by advanced glycation end products contributes to the dyslipidemia of diabetes and renal insufficiency. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1994;91:9441–5. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.91.20.9441.
- Bucala R, Mitchell R, Arnold K, Innerarity T, Vlassara H, Cerami A. Identification of the major site of apolipoprotein B modification by advanced glycosylation end products blocking uptake by the low-density lipoprotein receptor. J Biol Chem. 1995;270:10828–32. https://doi.org/10.1074/ jbc.270.18.10828.
- Cai Z, Liu N, Wang C, et al. Role of RAGE in Alzheimer's disease. Cell Mol Neurobiol. 2016;36: 483–95. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10571-015-0233-3.
- Cerami C, Founds H, Nicholl I, et al. Tobacco smoke is a source of toxic reactive glycation products. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 1997;94:13915–20. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.94.25.13915.
- Chakravarthy U, Hayes RG, Stitt AW, McAuley E, Archer DB. Constitutive nitric oxide synthase expression in retinal vascular endothelial cells is suppressed by high glucose and advanced glycation end products. Diabetes. 1998;47:945–52. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.47.6.945.
- Chen AS, Taguchi T, Sugiura M, et al. Pyridoxal-aminoguanidine adduct is more effective than aminoguanidine in preventing neuropathy and cataract in diabetic rats. Horm Metab Res. 2004;36:183–7. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2004-814344.
- Chen BH, Jiang DY, Tang LS. Advanced glycation end-products induce apoptosis involving the signaling pathways of oxidative stress in bovine retinal pericytes. Life Sci. 2006;79:1040–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2006.03.020.
- Chen XJ, Wu WJ, Zhou Q, et al. Advanced glycation end-products induce oxidative stress through the Sirt1/Nrf2 axis by interacting with the receptor of AGEs under diabetic conditions. J Cell Biochem. 2018a;120:2159–70. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.27524.
- Chen YH, Chen ZW, Li HM, Yan XF, Feng B. AGE/RAGE-induced EMP release via the NOX-derived ROS pathway. J Diabetes Res. 2018b, 2018:6823058. https://doi.org/10.1155/ 2018/6823058.
- Cheng CL, Tang Y, Zheng Z, et al. Advanced glycation end-products activate the renin-angiotensin system through the RAGE/PI3-K signaling pathway in podocytes. Clin Invest Med. 2012;35: E282. https://doi.org/10.25011/cim.v35i5.18701.
- Chilelli NC, Burlina S, Lapolla A. AGEs, rather than hyperglycemia, are responsible for microvascular complications in diabetes: a glycoxidation-centric point of view. Nutrit Metabol Cardiovas Dis. 2013;23:913–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.numecd.2013.04.004.
- Cooper ME, Bonnet F, Oldfield M, Jandeleit-Dahm K. Mechanisms of diabetic vasculopathy: an overview. Am J Hypertens. 2001;14:475–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0895-7061(00)01323-6.
- Cordain L, Eaton SB, Sebastian A, et al. Origins and evolution of the western diet: health implications for the 21st century. Am J Clin Nutr. 2005;81:341–54. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn.81.2.341.
- da-Cunha MV, Jacquemin P, Delpierre G, et al. Increased protein glycation in fructosamine 3-kinase-deficient mice. Biochem J. 2006;399:257–64. https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20060684.
- Dahlmann M, Okhrimenko A, Marcinkowski P, et al. RAGE mediates S100A4-induced cell motility via MAPK/ ERK and hypoxia signaling and is a prognostic biomarker for human colorectal cancer metastasis. Oncotarget. 2014:5, 3220–3233. https://doi.org/10.18632/ oncotarget.1908.
- De Leeuw K, Graaff R, De Vries R, et al. Accumulation of advanced glycation end products in patients with systemic lupus erythematous. Rheumatology. 2007;46:1551–6. https://doi.org/10. 1093/rheumatology/kem215.
- Dewanjee S, Das S, Das AK, et al. Molecular mechanism of diabetic neuropathy and its pharmacotherapeutic targets. Eur J Pharmacol. 2018;833:472–523. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2018.06.034.
- Dobi A, Bravo SB, Veeren B, et al. Advanced glycation end-products disrupt human endothelial cells redox homeostasis: new insights into reactive oxygen species production. Free Radic Res. 2019;53:150–69. https://doi.org/10.1080/10715762.2018.1529866.

- Eales KL, Hollinshead KER, Tennant DA. Hypoxia and metabolic adaptation of cancer cells. Oncogene. 2016;5:e190. https://doi.org/10.1038/oncsis.2015.50.
- Farouque HM, O'Brien RC, Meredith IT. Diabetes and coronary heart disease-from prevention to intervention: Part 1. Aust NZ J Med. 2000;30:351–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1445-5994.2000. tb00837.x.
- Flyvbjerg A, Denner L, Schrijvers BF, et al. Long-term renal effects of a neutralizing RAGE antibody in obese type 2 diabetic mice. Diabetes. 2004;53:166–72. https://doi.org/10.2337/ diabetes.53.1.166.
- Fosmark DS, Bragadottir R, Stene-Johansen I, et al. Increased vitreous levels of hydroimidazolone in type 2 diabetes patients are associated with retinopathy: a case-control study. Acta Ophthalmol Scand. 2007;85:618–22. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0420.2007.00913.x.
- Gallicchio MA, McRobert EA, Tikoo A, Cooper ME, Bach LA. Advanced glycation end products inhibit tubulogenesis and migration of kidney epithelial cells in an ezrin-dependent manner. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2006;17:414–21. https://doi.org/10.1681/ASN.2005010051.
- Garagliano JM, Katsurada A, Miyata K. Advanced glycation end products stimulate angiotensinogen production in renal proximal tubular cells. Am J Med Sci. 2019;357:57–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjms.2018.10.008.
- Gardiner TA, Anderson HR, Stitt AW. Inhibition of advanced glycation end-products protects against retinal capillary basement membrane expansion during long-term diabetes. J Pathol. 2003;201:328–33. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.1429.
- Gerrits EG, Lutgers HL, Kleefstra N, et al. Skin autofluorescence: a tool to identify type 2 diabetic patients at risk for developing microvascular complications. Diabetes Care. 2008;31:517–21. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc07-1755.
- Gill V, Kumar V, Singh K, Kumar A, Kim J-J. Advanced glycation end products (AGEs) may be a striking link between modern diet and health. Biomol Ther. 2019;9:888. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom9120888.
- Grandhee SK, Monnier VM. Mechanism of formation of the Maillard protein cross-link pentosidine Glucose, fructose, and ascorbate as pentosidine precursors. J Biol Chem. 1991;266:11649–53.
- He CJ, Koschinsky T, Buenting C, Vlassara H. Presence of diabetic complications in type 1 diabetic patients correlates with low expression of mononuclear cell AGE-receptor-1 and elevated serumAGE. Mol Med. 2001;7:159–68.
- Heidari F, Rabizadeh S, Mansournia MA, et al. Inflammatory, oxidative stress and anti-oxidative markers in patients with endometrial carcinoma and diabetes. Cytokine. 2019;120:186–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cyto.2019.05.007.
- Heijst JWJ, Niessen HWM, Hoekman K, Schalkwijk CG. Advanced glycation end products in human cancer tissues: detection of Nɛ-(carboxymethyl) lysine and argpyrimidine. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2005;1043:725–33. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1333.084.
- Henning C, Glomb MA. Pathways of the Maillard reaction under physiological conditions. Glycoconj J. 2016;33:499–512. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10719-016-9694-y.
- Hernández-Fonseca JP, Rincón J, Pedreañez A, Viera N, Arcaya JL, Carrizo E. Structural and ultrastructural analysis of cerebral cortex, cerebellum, and hypothalamus from diabetic rats. Exp Diabetes Res. 2009;2009:329632. https://doi.org/10.1155/2009/329632.
- Hull GLJ, Woodside JV, Ames JM, Cuskelly GJ. N&-(carboxymethyl) lysine content of foods commonly consumed in a Western style diet. Food Chem. 2012;131:170–4. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.foodchem.2011.08.055.
- Humpert PM, Kopf S, Djuric Z, et al. Plasma sRAGE is independently associated with urinary albumin excretion in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2006;29:1111–3. https://doi.org/10.2337/ diacare.2951111.
- Jack MM, Ryals JM, Wright DE. Protection from diabetes-induced peripheral sensory neuropathy a role for elevated glyoxalase I? Exp Neurol. 2012;234:62–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. expneurol.2011.12.015.
- Jeong B, Jung CH, Lee YH, et al. A novel imaging platform for non-invasive screening of abnormal glucose tolerance. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2016;116:83–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres. 2016.03.014.

- Jin PL, Lin L, Qi Z, et al. Increased blood glycohemoglobin A1c levels lead to overestimation of arterial oxygen saturation by pulse oximetry in patients with type 2 diabetes. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2012;11:110. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2840-11-110.
- Joussen AM, Poulaki V, Le ML, et al. A central role for inflammation in the pathogenesis of diabetic retinopathy. FASEB J. 2004;18:1450–2. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.03-1476fje.
- Koetsier M, Nur E, Chunmao H, et al. Skin color independent assessment of aging using skin autofluorescence. Optics Expr. 2010;18:14416–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9440(10) 63917-X.
- Korwar Arvind M, Bhonsle Hemangi S, Chougale Ashok D, et al. Analysis of AGE modified proteins and RAGE expression in HER2/neu negative invasive ductal carcinoma. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2012;419:490–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2012.02.039.
- Kowluru RA, Engerman RL, Case GL, Kern TS. Retinal glutamate in diabetes and effect of antioxidants. Neurochem Int. 2001;38:385–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0197-0186(00) 00112-1.
- Kowluru RA, Kowluru V, Xiong Y, Ho YS. Overexpression of mitochondrial superoxide dismutase in mice protects the retina from diabetes-induced oxidative stress. Free Radic Biol Med. 2006;41:1191–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2006.01.012.
- Kunt T, Forst T, Wilhelm A, et al. Alpha-lipoic acid reduces expression of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 and endothelial adhesion of human monocytes after stimulation with advanced glycation end products. Clin Sci (Lond). 1999;96:75–82.
- Lapolla A, Piarulli F, Sartore G, et al. Advanced glycation end products and antioxidant status in type 2 diabetic patients with and without peripheral artery disease. Diabetes Care. 2007;30: 670–6. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc06-1508.
- Li J, Liu D, Sun L, Lu Y, Zhang Z. Advanced glycation end products and neurodegenerative diseases: mechanisms and perspective. J Neurol Sci. 2012;317:1–5. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms18112315.
- Lieth E, Barber AJ, Xu B, et al. Glial reactivity and impaired glutamate metabolism in short-term experimental diabetic retinopathy. Penn State Retina Research Group Diabetes. 1998;47: 815–20. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.47.5.815.
- Lyons T, Silvestri G, Dunn J, Dyer D, Baynes J. Role of glycation in modification of lens crystallins in diabetic and nondiabetic senile cataracts. Diabetes. 1991;40:1010–5. https://doi.org/10.2337/ diab.40.8.1010.
- Maasen K, van Greevenbroek MMJ, Scheijen JLJM, van der Kallen CJH, Stehouwer CDA, Schalkwijk CG. High dietary glycemic load is associated with higher concentrations of urinary advanced glycation end products: the Cohort on Diabetes and Atherosclerosis Maastricht (CODAM) Study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2019;110:358–66. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/nqz119.
- Mahajan N, Dhawan V. Receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) in vascular and inflammatory diseases. Int J Cardiol. 2013;168:1788–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2013. 05.013.
- Mamputu JC, Renier G. Signalling pathways involved in retinal endothelial cell proliferation induced by advanced glycation end products: inhibitory effect of gliclazide. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2004;6:95–103. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-8902.2004.00320.x.
- Matsumoto T, Tsurumoto T, Baba H, et al. Measurement of advanced glycation end products in skin of patients with rheumatoid arthritis, osteoarthritis, and dialysis-related spondyloarthropathy using non-invasive methods. Rheumatol Int. 2007;28:157–60. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00296-007-04084.
- McCance D, Dyer D, Dunn J, Bailie K, Thorpe S, Baynes J, et al. Maillard reaction products and their relation to complications in insulin-dependant diabetes mellitus. J Clin Invest. 1993;91: 2470–8. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI116482.
- McRobert EA, Gallicchio M, Jerums G, Cooper ME, Bach LA. The amino-terminal domains of the ezrin, radixin, and moesin (ERM) proteins the development of diabetic complications. J Biol Chem. 2003;278:25783–9. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M210433200.
- Meerwaldt R, Lutgers H, Links T, et al. Skin autofluorescence is a strong predictor of cardiac mortality in diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2007;30(107–112):10.2337/dc06-1391.

- Menini S, Iacobini C, de Latouliere L, et al. The advanced glycation end-product Nεcarboxymethyllysine promotes progression of pancreatic cancer: implications for diabetes associated risk and its prevention. J Pathol. 2018;245:197–208. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.5072.
- Miller AG, Zhu T, Wilkinson-Berka JL. The renin-angiotensin system and advanced glycation end-products in diabetic retinopathy: impacts and synergies. Curr Clin Pharmacol. 2013;8: 285–96. https://doi.org/10.2174/1574884711308040004.
- Miyata T, Ueda Y, Horie K, et al. Renal catabolism of advanced glycation end products: the fate of pentosidine. Kidney Int. 1998;53:416–22. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1755.1998.00756.x.
- Mizutani M, Gerhardinger C, Lorenzi M. Muller cell changes in human diabetic retinopathy. Diabetes. 1998;47:445–9. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.47.3.445.
- Moore TC, Moore JE, Kaji Y, et al. The role of advanced glycation end products in retinal microvascular leukostasis. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2003;44:4457–64. https://doi.org/10. 1167/iovs.02-1063.
- Mosquera JA. Role of the receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) in inflammation. Investig Clin. 2010;51:257–68.
- Mulder DJ, Water TV, Lutgers HL, et al. Skin autofluorescence a novel marker for glycemic and oxidative stress-derived advanced glycation end products: an overview of current clinical studies, evidence, and limitations. Diabetes Tech Therap. 2006;8:523–35. https://doi.org/10. 1089/dia.2006.8.523.
- Muñoz N, Pedreañez A, Mosquera J. Angiotensin II induces increased myocardial expression of receptor for advanced glycation end products, monocyte/macrophage infiltration and circulating endothelin-1 in rats with experimental diabetes. Can J Diabetes. 2020;44:651–6. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jcjd.2020.03.010.
- Murata T, Nagai R, Ishibashi T, Inomuta H, Ikeda K, Horiuchi S. The relationship between accumulation of advanced glycation end products and expression of vascular endothelial growth factor in human diabetic retinas. Diabetologia. 1997;40:764–9.
- Nemet I, Varga-Defterdarović L, Turk Z. Methylglyoxal in food and living organisms. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2006;50:1105–17. https://doi.org/10.1002/mnfr.200600065.
- Nicholl ID, Stitt AW, Moore JE, Ritchie AJ, Archer DB, Bucala R. Increased levels of advanced glycation endproducts in the lenses and blood vessels of cigarette smokers. Mol Med. 1998;4: 594–601.
- Nursten HE. The Maillard reaction. Chemistry, biochemistry, and implications. Cambridge, UK: Royal Society of Chemistry; 2005.
- Oldfield MD, Bach LA, Forbes JM, et al. Advanced glycation end products cause epithelialmyofibroblast transdifferentiation via the receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE). J Clin Invest. 2001;108:1853–63. https://doi.org/10.1172/JC111951.
- Pachydaki SI, Tari SR, Lee SE, et al. Upregulation of RAGE and its ligands in proliferative retinal disease. Exp Eye Res. 2006;82:807–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exer.2005.09.022.
- Palanissami G, Paul SFD. RAGE and its ligands: molecular interplay between glycation, inflammation, and hallmarks of cancer – a review. Horm Cancer. 2018;9:295–325. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s12672-018-0342-9.
- Perrone A, Giovino A, Benny J, Martinelli F. Advanced glycation end products (AGEs): biochemistry, signaling, analytical methods, and epigenetic effects. Oxidative Med Cell Longev. 2020;18:3818196. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/3818196.
- Philippe R, Emmanuel B. The glycation of albumin: structural and functional impacts. Biochimie. 2011;93:645–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biochi.2010.12.003.
- Prasad K. Low levels of serum soluble receptors for advanced glycation end products, biomarkers for disease state: myth or reality. Int J Angiol. 2014;23:11–6. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0033-1363423.
- Prasad C, Davis KE, Imrhan V, Juma S, Vijayagopal P. Advanced glycation end products and risks for chronic diseases: intervening through lifestyle modification. Am J Lifestyle Med. 2019;13: 384–404. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cyto.2019.05.007.
- Pyram R, Kansara A, Banerji MA, Loney-Hutchinson L. Chronic kidney disease and diabetes. Maturitas. 2012;71:94–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2011.11.009.

- Rabbani N, Thornalley PJ. Advanced glycation end products in the pathogenesis of chronic kidney disease. Kidney Int. 2018;93:803–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.kint.2017.11.034.
- Röcken C, Kientsch-Engel R, Mansfeld S, et al. Advanced glycation end products and receptor for advanced glycation end products in AA amyloidosis. Am J Pathol. 2003;162:1213–20. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63917-X.
- Rojas A, Añazco C, González I, Araya P. Extracellular matrix glycation and receptor for advanced glycation end-products activation: a missing piece in the puzzle of the association between diabetes and cancer. Carcinogenesis. 2018;39:515–21. https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/bgy012.
- Rouf MA, Safia H, Farzana K, Khursheed A, Asif A. Structural changes in histone H2A by methylglyoxal generate highly immunogenic amorphous aggregates with implications in autoimmune response in cancer. Glycobiology. 2015;26:129–41. 153
- Sahajpal NS, Goel RK, Chaubey A, Subheet AR, Kumar Jain SK. Pathological perturbations in diabetic retinopathy: hyperglycemia, AGEs, oxidative stress and inflammatory pathways. Curr Protein Pept Sci. 2019;20:92–110. https://doi.org/10.2174/1389203719666180928123449.
- Sanajou D, Haghjo AG, Argani H, Aslani S. AGE-RAGE axis blockade in diabetic nephropathy: current status and future directions. Eur J Pharmacol. 2018;833:158–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.ejphar.2018.06.001.
- Schalkwijk CG, Stehouwer CDA. Methylglyoxal, a highly reactive dicarbonyl compound, in diabetes, its vascular complications, and other age-related diseases. Physiol Rev. 2020;100: 407–61. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00001.
- Schalkwijk CG, Ligtvoet N, Twaalfhoven H, et al. Amadori albumin in type 1 diabetic patients: correlation with markers of endothelial function, association with diabetic nephropathy, and localization in retinal capillaries. Diabetes. 1999;48:2446–53. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes. 48.12.2446.
- Schmidt AM, Stern DM. RAGE: a new target for the prevention and treatment of the vascular and inflammatory complications of diabetes. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2000;11:368–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1043-2760(00)00311-8.
- Sell DR, Monnier VM. Isolation, purification and partial characterizatio of novel fluorophores from aging human insoluble collagen-rich tissue. Connect Tissue Res. 1989;19:77–92.
- Sell DR, Lane M, Johnson W, et al. Longevity and the genetic determination of collagen glycoxidation kinetics in mammalian senescence. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996;93: 485–90. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.93.1.485.
- Sessa L, Gatti E, Zeni F, et al. The receptor for advanced glycation end-products (RAGE) is only present in mammals, and belongs to a family of cell adhesion molecules (CAMs). PLoS One. 2014;9:e86903. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0086903.
- Smit AJ, Gerrits EG. Skin autofluorescence as a measure of advanced glycation endproduct deposition: a novel risk marker in chronic kidney disease. Curr Op Nephrol Hypert. 2010;19: 527–33. https://doi.org/10.1097/MNH.0b013e32833e9259.
- Sobenin IA, Tertov VV, Koschinsky T, et al. Modified low density lipoprotein from diabetic patients causes cholesterol accumulation in human intimal aortic cells. Atherosclerosis. 1993;100: 41–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/0021-9150(93)90066-4.
- Soulis-Liparota T, Cooper ME, Dunlop M, Jerums G. The relative roles of advanced glycation, oxidation and aldose reductase inhibition in the development of experimental diabetic nephropathy in the Sprague-Dawley rat. Diabetologia. 1995;38:387–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF00410275.
- Stern DM, Yan SD, Yan SF, Schmidt AM. Receptor for advanced glycation endproducts (RAGE) and the complications of diabetes. Ageing Res Rev. 2002;1:1–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0047-6374(01)00366-9.
- Stitt AW. Advanced glycation: an important pathological event in diabetic and age related ocular disease. Br J Ophthalmol. 2001;85:746–53. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjo.85.6.746.
- Stitt AW, He C, Friedman S, et al. Elevated AGE-modified ApoB in sera of euglycemic, normolipidemic patients with atherosclerosis: relationship to tissue AGEs. Mol Med. 1997a;3: 617–27.

- Stitt AW, Li YM, Gardiner TA, Bucala R, Archer DB, Vlassara H. Advanced glycation end products (AGEs) co-localize with AGE receptors in the retinal vasculature of diabetic and of AGE-infused rats. Am J Pathol. 1997b;150:523–31.
- Stitt AW, Bhaduri T, McMullen CB, Gardiner TA, Archer DB. Advanced glycation end products induce blood-retinal barrier dysfunction in normoglycemic rats. Mol Cell Biol Res Commun. 2000;3:380–8. https://doi.org/10.1006/mcbr.2000.0243.
- Stitt AW, Gardiner TA, Alderson NL, et al. The AGE inhibitor pyridoxamine inhibits development of retinopathy in experimental diabetes. Diabetes. 2002;51:2826–32. https://doi.org/10.2337/ diabetes.51.9.2826.
- Stitt AW, McGoldrick C, Rice-McCaldin A, et al. Impaired retinal angiogenesis in diabetes: role of advanced glycation end products and galectin-3. Diabetes. 2005;54:785–94. https://doi.org/10. 2337/diabetes.54.3.785.
- Sugimoto K, Yasujima M, Yagihashi S. Role of advanced glycation end products in diabetic neuropathy. Curr Pharm Des. 2008;14:953–61. https://doi.org/10.2174/138161208784139774.
- Suzuki A, Yabu A, Nakamura H (2020) Advanced glycation end products in musculoskeletal system and disorders. Methods S1046-2023:30207–30203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymeth.2020.09.012
- Tahara N, Yamagishi S, Takeuchi M, et al. Positive association between serum level of glyceraldehyde-derived advanced glycation end products and vascular inflammation evaluated by [18F]Fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission. Tomography Diabetes Care. 2012;35:2618–25. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc12-0087.
- Takeuchi M, Yamagishi S. Involvement of toxic AGEs(TAGE) in the pathogenesis of diabetic vascular complications and Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis. 2009;16:845–58. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-2009-0974.
- Tang ST, Zhang Q, Tang HQ, et al. Effects of glucagonlike peptide-1 on advanced glycation endproduct-induced aortic endothelial dysfunction in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats: possible roles of rho kinase- and AMP kinase mediated nuclear factor κB signaling pathways. Endocrine. 2016;53:107–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12020-015-0852-y.
- Team W. Effect of intensive therapy on the microvascular complications of type 1 diabetes mellitus. JAMA. 2002;287:2563–9. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.287.19.2563.
- Thomas CJ, Cleland TP, Sroga GE, Vashishth D. Accumulation of carboxymethyl-lysine (CML) in human cortical bone. Bone. 2018;110:128–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bone.2018.01.028.
- Throckmorton DC, Brogden AP, Min B, Rasmussen H, Kashgarian M. PDGF and TGF- mediate collagen production by mesangial cells exposed to advanced glycosylation end products. Kidney Int. 1995;48:111–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/ki.1995.274.
- Toth C, Martinez J, Zochodne DW. RAGE, diabetes, and the nervous system. Curr Mol Med. 2007;7:766–76. https://doi.org/10.2174/156652407783220705.
- van Deemter M, Ponsioen TL, Bank RA, et al. Pentosidine accumulates in the aging vitreous body: a gender effect. Exp Eye Res. 2009;88:1043–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exer.2009.01.004.
- Van den Enden MK, Nyengaard JR, Ostrow E, Burgan JH, Williamson JR. Elevated glucose levels increase retinal glycolysis and sorbitol pathway metabolism. Implications for diabetic retinopathy. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 1995;36:1675–85.
- Vargas R, Rincón J, Pedreañez A, Viera N, Hernández-Fonseca JP, Peña C, et al. Role of angiotensin II in the brain inflammatory events during experimental diabetes in rats. Brain Res. 2012;1453:64–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2012.03.021.
- Vistoli G, De Maddis D, Cipak A, Zarkovic N, Carini M, Aldini G. Advanced glycoxidation and lipoxidation end products (AGEs and ALEs): an overview of their mechanisms of formation. Free Radic Res. 2013;47:3–27. https://doi.org/10.3109/10715762.2013.815348.
- Vitek M, Bhattacharya K, Glendening JM, et al. Advanced glycation end products contribuye to amyloidosis in Alzheimer disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1994;91:4766–70. https://doi.org/ 10.1073/pnas.91.11.4766.
- Vlassara H. Advanced glycation end-products and atherosclerosis. Ann Med. 1996;28:419-26.
- Vlassara H, Uribarri J. Advanced glycation end products (AGE) and diabetes: cause, effect, or both? Curr Diabetes Rep. 2014;14:453. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11892-013-0453-1.

- Vlassara H, Fuh H, Makita Z, Krungkrai S, Cerami A, Bucala R. Exogenous advanced glycosylation end products induce complex vascular dysfunction in normal animals: a model for diabetic and aging complications. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1992;89:12043–7. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.89.24.12043.
- Vlassara H, Striker LJ, Teichberg S, Fuh H, Li YM, Steffes M. Advanced glycation end products induce glomerular sclerosis and albuminuria in normal rats. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1994;91: 11704–8. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.91.24.11704.
- Vlassara H, Uribarri J, Cai W, Striker G. Advanced glycation end product homeostasis. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2008;1126:46–52. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12933-017-0531-9.
- Walter KR, Ford ME, Gregoski MJ et al (2019) Advanced glycation end products are elevated in estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer patients, alter response to therapy, and can be targeted by lifestyle intervention. Breast Cancer ResTreat 173: 559–571. hhttps://doi.org/10.1007/ s10549-018-4992-7
- Wells-Knecht KJ, Zyzak DV, Litchfield JE, Thorpe SR, Baynes JW. Mechanism of autoxidatuve glycosylation: identification of glyoxal and arabinose as intermediates in the autoxidative modification of protein by glucose. Biochemistry. 1995;34:3702–9. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi00011a027.
- Wendel U, Persson N, Risinger C, et al. A novel monoclonal antibody targeting carboxymethyllysine, an advanced glycation end product in atherosclerosis and pancreatic cancer. PLoS One. 2018;13:e0191872. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0191872.
- Wolff SP, Dean RT. Glucose autoxidation and protein modification. The potential role of "autoxidative glycosylation" in diabetes. Biochem J. 1987;245:243–50.
- Xue M, Rabbani N, Thornalley PJ. Glyoxalase in ageing. Sem Cell Develop Biol. 2011;22: 293–301. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2011.02.013.
- Yamagishi S, Fujimori H, Yonekura H, Tanaka N, Yamamoto H. Advanced glycation endproducts accelerate calcification in microvascular pericytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1999;258: 353–7. https://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.1999.0625.
- Yamagishi S, Maeda S, Matsui T, Ueda S, Fukami K, Okuda S. Role of advanced glycation end products (AGEs) and oxidative stress in vascular complications in diabetes. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2012;1820:663–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2011.03.014.
- Yamazaki KG, Gonzalez E, Zambon AC. Crosstalk between the renin-angiotensin system and the advance glycation end product axis in the heart: role of the cardiac fibroblast. J Cardiovasc Transl Res. 2012;5:805–13. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12265-012-9405-4.
- Yan SF, Ramasamy R, Bucciarelli LG, et al. RAGE and its ligands: a lasting memory in diabetic complications? Diab Vasc Dis Res. 2004;1:10–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0047-6374(01)00366-9.
- Yoshida N, Okumura K, Aso Y, et al. High serum pentosidine concentrations are associated with increased arterial stiffness and thickness in patients with type 2 diabetes. Metabolism. 2005;54: 345–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2004.09.014.
- Zeng HY, Green WR, Tso MO. Microglial activation in human diabetic retinopathy. Arch Ophthalmol. 2008;126:227–32. https://doi.org/10.1001/archophthalmol.2007.65.
- Zhao J, Randive R, Stewart JA. Molecular mechanisms of AGE/RAGE-mediated fibrosis in the diabetic heart. World J Diabetes. 2014;5:860–7. https://doi.org/10.4239/wjd.v5.i6.860.
- Zhou Q, Cheng KW, Gong J, Li ETS, Wang M. Apigenin and its methylglyoxal-adduct inhibit advanced glycation end products- induced oxidative stress and inflammation in endothelial cells. Biochem Pharmacol. 2019;166:231–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2019.05.027.
- Zhu W, Li W, Silverstein RL. Advanced glycation end products induce a prothrombotic phenotype in mice via interaction with platelet CD36. Blood. 2012;119:6136–44. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2011-10-387506.
- Zieman SJ, Melenovsky V, Kass DA. Mechanisms, pathophysiology, and therapy of arterial stiffness. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2005;25:932–43. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV. 0000160548.78317.29.



Markers of Liver Function and Insulin Resistance

Vicente Aleixandre Benites-Zapata, Sofía Lorena Bohórquez-Medina, and Andrea Lisbet Bohórquez-Medina

Contents

Introduction	196
Applications to Diagnosis	197
Mini-Dictionary of Terms	197
Summary Points (5–10)	198
Markers of Liver Function and Insulin Resistance	199
Visceral Fat and Insulin Resistance	199
NAFLD, IR Y T2DM	200
Hepatokines	201
DPP4 (Dipeptidyl Peptidase-4)	202
Pharmacological DPP-4 Inhibitors	205
Fetuin A (AHSG)	206
Fetuin B	207
Selenoprotein P	207
LECT-2	207
Hepassocin, Also Called Hepatocyte-Derived Fibrinogen-Related Protein 1, HPS,	
and HFREP1	208
Pigment Epithelium-Derived Factor	209
Tsukushi (TSK)	210
Conclusions	210
References	211

Abstract

Diagnostic features for metabolic syndrome include cardiovascular risk factors, like increased abdominal circumference, triglycerides, and blood pressure, and are mainly characterized by insulin resistance (IR). Moreover, epidemiological and clinical research has shown that non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is

V. A. Benites-Zapata (🖂) · S. L. Bohórquez-Medina · A. L. Bohórquez-Medina

Unidad de Investigación para la Generación y Síntesis de Evidencias en Salud, Universidad San Ignacio de Loyola, Lima, Peru

e-mail: vbenites@usil.edu.pe; sofia.bohorquez@usil.pe; andream.bohorquez@usil.pe

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2_9

continually associated with IR, obesity, type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), and dyslipidemia. Therefore, type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and NAFLD are studied as two conditions that coexist. However, the relationship between these conditions is so solid and convoluted that it is difficult to identify the consequence and the cause. Further, insulin impairment enhances hepatic glucose production and reduces glucose uptake by peripheral tissues. Thus, NAFLD has been identified as a hepatic expression of metabolic syndrome and is strongly associated with visceral adipose tissue (VAT) and IR. Likewise, molecular mechanisms underlying insulin resistance are influenced by the abnormal secretion of tissue-derived factors such as adipokines, myokines, and hepatokines, which have been recently proposed as praised markers for insulin resistance, NAFLD, and T2DM.

Keywords

 $\label{eq:linear} \begin{array}{l} \mbox{Liver function} \cdot \mbox{Insulin resistance} \cdot \mbox{Biological markers} \cdot \mbox{Dipeptidyl peptidase-4} \cdot \\ \mbox{Ectodysplasin} \cdot \mbox{Fetuin A} \cdot \mbox{Fetuin B} \cdot \mbox{PEDF} \cdot \mbox{Selenoprotein P} \cdot \mbox{Tsukushi} \end{array}$

Abbreviations

DPP4	Dipeptidyl peptidase-4
EDA	Ectodysplasin
Fetuin A/B	α-2-HS-Glycoprotein
HFREP1	Hepatocyte derived fibrinogen-related protein 1, hepassocin, or
	fibrinogen-like protein 1
LECT 2	Leukocyte cell-derived chemotaxin 2, 16-kDA hepatokine,
	described as chemotactic
PEDF	Pigment epithelium-derived factor
SeP	Selenoprotein P
TSK	Tsukushi, proteoglycan

Introduction

Chronic diseases such as metabolic syndrome, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, and type 2 diabetes prevalence are continually increasing. These obesity-related metabolic disorders are highly related and share physiopathological components, being the main characteristics of insulin resistance. Moreover, insulin resistance leads to an increased liver fat accumulation, therefore a decisive risk factor for non-alcoholic fatty liver disease due to a rise in free fatty acids' delivery to the liver, triglyceride synthesis, and limited fatty acid oxidation and increased insulin resistance. This condition leads to an incremented liver enzyme delivery and production; some are also proposed as biomarkers of diagnosis and treatment of insulin resistance and obesity-related metabolic disorders. Hepatocyte's protein secretions are known as hepatokines, such as dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP4), fetuin A, fetuin B, selenoprotein P (SeP), hepatocyte-derived fibrinogen-related protein 1 (HFREP1), and tsukushi (TSK), which are increasingly expressed in obese patients with metabolic impairments. Nonetheless, leukocyte cell-derived chemotaxin 2 (LECT-2) and pigment epithelium-derived factor (PEDF) seem to have a positive correlation with insulin resistance and with metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease (MALFD), type 2 diabetes mellitus, and obesity. Therefore, they are being targeted as possible biological markers of these conditions.

Applications to Diagnosis

In this chapter, studies related to biomarker levels and liver function in insulin resistance have been reviewed, which show promising use of these markers as alternatives to diagnose insulin resistance, non-alcoholic liver disease, and type 2 diabetes mellitus, proposed to be named as metabolic-associated liver diseases. There is a strong connection between fatty liver and insulin resistance and hepatokine expression in new diagnoses, allowing early identification of these chronic conditions that do not express apparent symptoms. Also, knowing its biological activity leads to the development of drug therapy or lifestyle interventions to enhance or limit hepatokine action, therefore preventing and reducing metabolic impairments.

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

- *IHTG*, intrahepatic triglyceride, is the intracellular lipid triglyceride accumulation that caused by an imbalance of hepatic fatty acid uptake, lipogenesis, β-oxidation, and triglyceride export.
- **PI3K**, phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase, is an enzyme family that participated in diverse cell processes, from cell growth to insulin signaling as immunity and brain development.
- **Resistin**, is a cysteine-rich secretory protein that regulates glucose metabolism, also known as an adipokine related to insulin resistance and obesity; in humans is secreted and expressed hormone by macrophages that generated inflammation of adipose tissues through the infiltration of macrophages.
- *GLP-1*, glucagon-like peptide-1, is a multifunction incretin hormone derived from the gut, producing the glucose-dependent stimulation of insulin secretion, and decreases inflammation, and apoptosis are some of their effects.
- **MALFD** is the abbreviation of metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease, which describes overweight patients with more additional metabolic disease than hypertension, diabetes, and dyslipidemia.
- JNK, the c-Jun N-terminal kinase, is a group of MAP kinases, activated generally from cytokines and after cellular damage causing by reactive oxygen species (ROS)contributing to inflammatory responses.
- 3 T3-L1 is a cell line that drives 3 T3 cells from mice, under appropriate conditions, has a similar phenotype and appearance as an adipocyte cell, increasing the synthesis and accumulation of triglycerides and being sensitive to insulin drugs, lipogenic and lipolytic hormones.

- **ERK1/2**, the extracellular signal-regulated kinases 1 and 2 are part of the mitogen-activated protein kinase superfamily, involved in diverse functions like the regulation of mitosis, meiosis, stimuli cytokines, and growth factors.
- *HNF1*, hepatic nuclear factor 1, is a transcription factor with drivers function related to cholesterol, lipoprotein metabolism, and bile acid.
- *GLUT-4*, glucose transporter type 4, is an insulin-regulated glucose transporter found in adipose tissues and skeletal and cardiac muscles.
- Key Facts of Insulin Resistance, NAFLD, and T2DM
 - 1. Patients with NAFLD have more than double the risk to develop T2DM than those who do not present NAFLD.
 - 2. Patients with hepatic steatohepatitis have three times the risk to develop T2DM.
 - 3. *Hepatokines participate in the regulation of glucose metabolism and insulin sensitivity.*
 - 4. The abnormal secretion of tissue-derived factors as adipokines, myokines, and hepatokines from the NAFLD causes insulin resistance.
 - 5. It has been identified that NAFLD is a hepatic expression of MetS and is strongly associated with VAT and insulin resistance.

• Key Facts of Biomarkers of Liver Function Related to Insulin Resistance

- 6. *DPP4* has independent functions from the incretin family, like inducing inflammations and insulin resistance in diverse cellular systems.
- 7. Selenoprotein P (SeP), fetuin A, and LECT2 have been shown to constrain insulin receptors and enhance the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines that are involved in insulin resistance.
- 8. *HFREP1* regulates *ERK1/2* activity and therefore plays an essential part in insulin resistance development.
- 9. TSK, a recently established hepatokine, is increased in obese patients.
- 10. Impairment of PEDF-adipose triglyceride lipase (ATGL) communication can lead to insulin resistance, which has been observed in T2DM patients where PEDF levels were increased.

Summary Points (5–10)

- Insulin resistance is strongly related to non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), which is associated with obesity and type 2 diabetes, reaching an average between 50 and 80% of diabetic patients. Furthermore, NAFLD causes insulin resistance in skeletal muscle altered by the impaired secretion of adipokines, myokines, and hepatokines.
- Visceral adipose tissue is related to adverse metabolic risk and hypertension, compared to subcutaneous fat, since it is more metabolically active. Therefore, hepatic steatosis is considered a better marker than visceral fat for insulin resistance mediated with obesity.
- Adults without insulin resistance have lower liver damage and a reduced prevalence of fibrosis and hepatic steatohepatitis than adults with insulin resistance.
- TSK has been shown to reduce plasma high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDLc) and cholesterol to bile acid conversion in the liver.
- Overweight and obese patients exhibit high plasma concentrations of selenoprotein (SeP).
- Hepassocin is increased in diabetic patients with or without hepatic steatosis; high glucose regulates the expression of hepassocin.

Markers of Liver Function and Insulin Resistance

Insulin resistance (IR) is the main physiopathological feature of metabolic syndrome (MetS), a chronic condition extremely related to non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). Both are recognized for sharing key clinical characteristics. Likewise, diagnostic features for metabolic syndrome include cardiovascular risk factors, like an increased abdominal circumference, triglycerides, and blood pressure. For NAFLD diagnosis, histological images and ultrasound examinations are required to identify liver steatosis or cirrhosis (Bril et al. 2017). Both metabolic syndrome and NAFLD are classified as metabolic disorders with a high prevalence and represent a global public health burden. In Western countries, the prevalence reaches 20-30% of adults and an average of 80% in patients with diabetes or obesity. Data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey of the United States shows that metabolic syndrome is diagnosed in over 30% of the adults, in Europe reaches 24.3%, and in China, according to a systematic review, MetS prevalence is present in 24.5% of people over 15 years (Cao et al. 2021). Epidemiological and clinical research has shown that NAFLD is continually associated with insulin resistance, obesity, diabetes, and dyslipidemia (Cheung and Sanyal 2010).

Obesity is linked with both conditions since increased waist circumference is a risk factor for metabolic syndrome and may be related to fat accumulation on visceral tissue, particularly the liver, leading to NAFLD. However, not all obese adults develop metabolic disorders; some are described as metabolically healthy obese; although there is no unified definition, some consider one or two risk factors for MetS. The exact mechanisms that protect their metabolic health have not been yet elucidated. Even without insulin resistance, obese patients are advised to lose weight; further analysis is required to understand the progress of obesity towards other metabolic disorders (Engin 2017).

Visceral Fat and Insulin Resistance

Since the early 1990s, the link between IR, reduced high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL), and glucose intolerance has been observed. Therefore, MetS seem to worsen NAFLD and increase the risk to develop liver steatohepatitis (NASH) and other comorbidities. The main factor of this condition is related to increased lipolysis and increased hepatic lipogenesis (Engin 2017). Furthermore, rise in free fatty acid concentration leads to an intrahepatic fat accumulation through activation of hormone-sensitive lipase (HSL), responsible for reducing insulin to receptor binding, due to lipotoxicity, reducing insulin receptors on targeted tissues (Liu et al. 2020). Therefore, insulin impairment enhances hepatic glucose production and reduces glucose uptake by peripheral tissues (Lan et al. 2014), therefore compromising the primary source of glucose uptake mediated by insulin, since around 40% of total body mass is the skeletal muscle (Myers et al. 2019). However, genetic and epigenetic factors are involved in metabolic syndrome and NAFLD. Also, diet, lifestyle, oxidative stress, and microbiota may be interconnected as synergy in the hepatocyte that leads to liver damage (Engin 2017).

On the other hand, it has been suggested that waist circumference and body mass index (BMI) may be the most accurate alternative of markers for IR, visceral adiposity, and hepatic steatosis in youth (Borruel et al. 2014). Hepatic steatosis is considered better than visceral fat as a marker for multiorgan insulin resistance mediated with obesity (Jung et al. 2018a). Increased visceral adipose tissue (VAT) shows higher concentrations of soluble tumor necrosis factor-alpha receptor 2 (TNF-alpha) (Janiszewska et al. 2021). Thus, VAT remains notably associated with an adverse metabolic risk for IR and hypertension, compared to subcutaneous fat, since it is more metabolically active (Engin 2017; Rochlani et al. 2017). In addition, VAT synthesizes significantly higher amounts of bioactive secretory proteins such as plasminogen activator inhibitors, promoting a prothrombotic state (Rochlani et al. 2017). Also, it has been shown that adults without IR have lower liver damage and a reduced prevalence of fibrosis and hepatic steatohepatitis than adults with insulin resistance (Acierno et al. 2020).

NAFLD, IR Y T2DM

According to a recent experts' consensus, replacing the acronym "NAFLD" with "MALFD," "metabolic-dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease," has been proposed for being considered as a more accurate term that includes the diversified and convoluted causes and the broad spectrum of clinical complications, as well as considering inter-patient differences (Eslam et al. 2020).

NAFLD has been identified as a hepatic expression of MetS and is strongly associated with VAT and insulin resistance. Even prevalence of NAFLD was over 50% in diabetic adults with obesity (Portillo-Sanchez et al. 2015). Therefore, type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and NAFLD are studied as two conditions that coexist (Marchesini et al. 2016). More than 70% of T2DM patients also develop NAFLD; moreover, almost 20% of diabetic adults also present hepatic fibrosis (Acierno et al. 2020).

Patients with NAFLD have more than double the risk of developing T2DM than those who do not present NAFLD (Mantovani et al. 2020), and patients with hepatic steatohepatitis have three times the risk to develop T2DM (Chalasani et al. 2012; Marchesini et al. 2016). The connection between both conditions is robust, convoluted and difficult to differentiate between the cause or the consequence (Acierno et al. 2020). NAFLD is accompanied by a vast spectrum of conditions that goes from



Fig. 1 Relationship between visceral fat with insulin resistance. Visceral fat accumulation results from a complex variety of risk factors such as high-fat diet, lifestyle like sedentary behavior, epigenetic, and also the increase of oxidative stress; a dysbiosis of the microbiota and genetic factor are involved in the increased risk of NAFLD and T2DM mediated trough insulin resistance and VAT, since it is more metabolically active than subcutaneous fat. Moreover, increased VAT shows higher soluble TNF-alpha concentrations, which is strongly associated with an adverse metabolic risk for IR. VAT = visceral adipose tissue; TNF-alpha = tumor necrosis factor-alpha receptor 2; IR = insulin resistance; NAFLD = non-alcoholic fatty liver disease; T2DM = type 2 diabetes mellitus

a relatively benign intrahepatic triglyceride (IHTG) accumulation to non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), cirrhosis, and an increased risk of liver cancer (Friedman et al. 2018). Furthermore, impairment of glucose tolerance is present in an average of 70% of patients with liver cirrhosis (Acierno et al. 2020).

Both chronic conditions, NAFLD and T2DM, hold several physiopathological features involved in the evolution of the disease, along with a high level of free fatty acids, pro-inflammatory cytokines, and oxidative stress (Fig. 1).

Hepatokines

Hepatokines are described as liver-secreted proteins exclusively expressed by hepatocytes, which have been recently identified as part of the endocrine system (Table 1), improving or worsening metabolic conditions (de Oliveira Dos Santos et al. 2021). The mechanisms behind IR are acknowledged to be altered by secretion impairment of adipokines, myokines, and hepatokines (Lan et al. 2014). Hepatokines regulate glucose metabolism and insulin sensitivity and other tissuederived factors such as adipokines (Mohri et al. 2019). Moreover hepatokines have an endocrine-dependent relationship with other tissues, acting via crosstalk with the cytokines released by adipocytes and skeletal muscle (de Oliveira Dos Santos et al. 2021). Preclinical, mechanistic studies show hepatokines are related to long-term

Hepatokines	Functions
DPP4	Induce insulin resistance and inflammation process (Shao et al. 2020), correlate with lipotoxicity-induced liver damage and macrophage M1/M2 status (Balazki et al. 2020). DPP4 enhances adipose inflammation through PAR2- and TLR4-mediated pathways and insulin resistance (Ozcan et al. 2021)
Fetuin A	Inhibits the insulin receptor tyrosine kinase (Olivier et al. 2000) and downregulates the expression of adiponectin (Bourebaba and Marycz 2019)
Fetuin B	Promotes insulin resistance development (Qu et al. 2018).
SeP	Antioxidant enzyme, delivers selenium to relevant tissues (Misu 2019)
LECT-2	Natural killer T cell homeostasis and hepatic inflammatory signaling (Jung et al. 2018b)
HPS	Regulation c of hepatocyte proliferation and liver regeneration (de Oliveira Dos Santos et al. 2021), associated to fasting glucose, insulin resistance, and T2DM (Ou et al. 2015) Regulates mitogen-activated protein kinase ERK1/2 activity (Wu et al. 2016)
PEDF	Anti-angiogenic, anti-proliferative, neurotrophic, and immunomodulatory activity (Maeda et al. 2011)
TSK	Energy expenditure regulation and adipose tissue thermogenesis (Xiong et al. 2019)

 Table 1
 Liver biomarkers and functions

Functions of liver biomarkers (DPP4, fetuin A, fetuin B, SeP, LECT-2, HPS, PEDF, and TSK) are described. DPP4 = dipeptidyl peptidase-4; M1/M2 = macrophages classically activated/macrophages alternatively activated; PAR2 = protease-activated receptor 2; TLR4 = Toll-like receptor 4; SeP = selenoprotein P; LECT-2 = leukocyte cell-derived chemotaxin 2, 16-kDA hepatokine, described as chemotactic; HPS = hepassocin; T2DM = type 2 diabetes mellitus; ERK1/2 = extracellular signal-regulated kinases 1/2; PEDF = pigment epithelium-derived factor; TSK = tsukushi

energy balance; thus, chronic high-fat overfeeding modulates hepatocyte gene expression (Willis et al. 2020) (Fig. 2).

Altered hepatokine expression and secretion have been observed in NASH inducing diet-fed mice and patients with NAFLD (Meex and Watt 2017). Also, high mobility group box 1 protein (HMGB1), a hepatokine, has recently shown a positive correlation with homeostatic model assessment for insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) and be raised in subjects having high fasting blood glucose. Therefore, HMGB1 blocking therapy is suggested as a possible treatment to reduce the inflammatory process; thus, HMGB1 inhibition will improve all components of metabolic syndrome (Nasir et al. 2020). Furthermore, based on hepatokine studies, therapies using DPP-IV inhibitors (gliptins) have been developed for T2DM management (Wasana et al. 2020). Finally, hepatokines are a promising field as biomarkers and future targets for treatment in metabolic disorders (Table 2).

DPP4 (Dipeptidyl Peptidase-4)

DPP4 is a serine protease that cleaves various substrates, including incretin hormones, chemokines, growth factors, and neuropeptides. It has been shown to act in an incretin-independent manner, inducing IR and the inflammation process (Shao



Fig. 2 Insulin resistance and its relationship with hepatokine and adipokine biomarkers. Hepatokines are described as liver-secreted proteins exclusively expressed by hepatocytes, which have been recently identified as part of the endocrine system, improving or worsening metabolic conditions. The mechanisms behind IR are acknowledged to be altered by secretion impairment of adipokines, myokines, and hepatokines. Hepatokines participate in regulating glucose metabolism and insulin sensitivity and other tissue-derived factors such as adipokines. Moreover, hepatokines are related to long-term energy balance; thus, chronic high-fat overfeeding modulates hepatocyte gene expression, leading to increased secretion of DPP4, AHSG, fetuin B, SeP, LECT-2, HPS, PEDF, and TSK. DPP4 = dipeptidyl peptidase-4; AHSG = fetuin A; SeP = selenoprotein P; LECT-2 = leukocyte cell-derived chemotaxin 2, 16-kDA hepatokine, described as chemotactic; HPS = hepassocin; PEDF = pigment epithelium-derived factor; TSK = tsukushi; IR = insulin resistance

et al. 2020). DPP-4 activity is correlated with lipotoxicity-induced liver damage and macrophage M1/M2 status (Balazki et al. 2020).

Preclinical and clinical studies have shown that hepatic DPP4 enhances adipose inflammation through protease-activated receptor 2 (PAR2)- and Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4)-mediated pathways and insulin resistance (Ozcan et al. 2021). DPP4 is a significant contributor to NAFLD development in a high-fat diet-induced metabolic impairment model (Baumeier et al. 2017b). An increased expression of hepatic DPP4 results in IR and significant liver steatosis in mice; thus, DPP4 have been presented as an accurate marker for hepatocyte apoptosis and fibrosis. Likewise, obese patients with IR shows a DPP4-dependent inflammatory activity that was not observed in obese subjects without IR (Ghorpade et al. 2018).

The American Diabetes Association and the European Association for the Study of Diabetes **suggest** dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors (DPP4i) as promising **combination treatment in new-onset cases of T2DM** and second-line therapy after metformin in subjects with lessen cardiovascular risk (Angwin et al. 2020; Buse et al. 2020). Further, DPP4i are associated with a lower risk of hypoglycemia, may delay the progression of albuminuria (Ogundipe et al. 2021), and has a favorable long-term safety and tolerability, being nasopharyngitis and skin lesions the principal potential adverse effects, being the risk of pancreatitis lower (Franco et al. 2021).

Additionally, preclinical studies in human adipocytes showed that administration of DPP4 resulted in insulin resistance, though DPP4 reduction improved insulin sensitivity (Baumeier et al. 2017b). Therefore, based on DPP4 activity, the use of

Hepatokines	Description	Promising activity
DPP4	Major contributor in NAFLD development in a high-fat diet-induced metabolic impairment model (Baumeier et al. 2017b)	Accurate maker for hepatocyte apoptosis and fibrosis. Additionally, patients with obesity show DPP4 dependent inflammatory activity (Ghorpade et al. 2018) DPP4 reduction improves insulin sensitivity (Baumeier et al. 2017b)
Fetuin A	Hepatokine is related to obesity, liver fat accumulation, and endothelial dysfunction (Sindhu et al. 2016) Decreased levels are associated with weight loss and fatty liver reduction (Zhang et al. 2018)	Levels are increased in patients with MetS and T2DM (Ren et al. 2019). Moreover, higher levels of fetuin A are related to retinopathy development (Yilmaz et al. 2018) Promising marker for T2DM incidence (Esfahani et al. 2019)
Fetuin B	The second member of the fetuin family is reduced during the acute inflammation phase in a rat model (Olivier et al. 2000)	Can be an independent predictor for NAFLD in patients with T2DM (El-Ashmawy and Ahmed 2019) Exhibits negative association with adiponectin concentration in patients with T2DM (Tsutsumi and Saito 2020)
SeP	Rich in selenocysteine glycoprotein, secreted and primarily expressed by the hepatocytes (Polyzos et al. 2020)	Increased levels have been found in patients with glucose impairment (Mohri et al. 2019)
LECT-2	Energy-sensing hepatokine upregulated in response to overnutrition (Willis et al. 2020)	Biomarker to elucidated hepatic steatosis related to IR (Jung et al. 2018b)
HPS	Obesity-induced hepatokine, capable to promote insulin resistance (Jung et al. 2018a)	Is increased in patients with pre-diabetes, T2DM, and NAFLD (Wu et al. 2016). Is proposed as a potential target for the treatment of obesity-linked IR and T2DM (Jung et al. 2018a) Biomarker for analyzing risk states for T2DM (de Oliveira Dos Santos et al. 2021)
PEDF	Most abundant protein secreted by adipocytes; thus, PEDF-ATGL impairment can lead to insulin resistance (Huang et al. 2018).	Independently associated with fasting ApoB8 levels, implying that PEDF concentration may be a biomarker for postprandial hyperlipidemia (Tahara et al. 2012) PEDF values are proposed as markers and potential therapeutic targets of coronary artery inflammation in T2DM patients (Tahara et al. 2020)

 Table 2
 Hepatokines and promising activity as biomarkers and therapeutic targets

(continued)

Hepatokines	Description	Promising activity
TSK	Leucine-rich proteoglycan, recently	Increased in obesity (de Oliveira Dos
	identified as hepatokine (Wang et al.	Santos et al. 2021)
	2019).	Related to liver fat accumulation
		(Mouchiroud et al. 2019b)

Table 2 (continued)

Hepatokines such as DPP4, fetuin A, fetuin B, SeP, LECT-2, HPS, PEDF, and TSK have a promising activity as biomarkers and therapeutic targets. DPP4 = dipeptidyl peptidase-4; NAFLD = non-alcoholic fatty liver disease; MetS = metabolic syndrome; T2DM = type 2 diabetes mellitus; SeP = selenoprotein P; LECT-2 = leukocyte cell-derived chemotaxin 2, 16-kDA hepatokine, described as chemotactic; IR = insulin resistance; HPS = hepassocin; PEDF = pigment epithelium-derived factor; PEDF-ATGL = pigment epithelium-derived factor-adipose triglyceride lipase; TSK = tsukushi

inhibitors as therapy for NAFLD patients have been proposed to enhance insulin sensitivity and limit the further accumulation of intrahepatic fat (Baumeier et al. 2017a). Additionally, DPP4i have complex metabolic activity and modifies the metabolism regulatory peptides and chemokines (Beaudry and Drucker 2020).

Pharmacological DPP-4 Inhibitors

Drugs with DPP-4 inhibitory activity are also very effective and widelyzed in treating T2DM (Abubakar et al. 2021). In addition, it has been shown that gemigliptin, a DPP4i approved in more than ten countries worldwide, can be safe to use in patients with renal insufficiency in both moderate and severe cases. Also, a recent meta-analysis provides information to support its favorable glycemic efficacy and tolerability over 6 months of clinical use (Dutta et al. 2021).

Additionally, DPP4i with insulin improved glycemic control (Alsalim et al. 2020) without increasing the risk of hypoglycemia or weight gain compared with insulin treatment alone (Yang et al. 2018). Also, a combination of metformin and DPP4i treatment has been found to be cost-effective compared to a combination of metformin and sulfonylureas as a long-term second-line treatment (Know et al. 2018). Combination therapy of DPP4i and glucagon-like peptide-1(GLP-1) receptor agonists has shown benefits in gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM). However, more clinical trials are required to recommend it as therapy for GDM patients (Chen et al. 2020). Between DPP4i, \anagliptin has been shown to increase the relative proportion of M2 to M1 macrophages in the liver, thus preventing insulin resistance and fibrogenesis, which suppress steatohepatitis development in mice (Sakai et al. 2020). Moreover, other DPP4i, trelagliptin succinate, promotes glucose intake via stimulation of GLUT4 translocation in adipocytes and limits the secretion of free fatty acids and resistin in rat adipocytes (Liu et al. 2020).

In patients who do not respond to insulin therapy, adding a DPP-4 inhibitor can reduce HbA1c levels without increasing hypoglycemic incidence (Shibuki et al. 2020). Also, moderate restriction of carbohydrates decreases HbA1c levels among Japanese patients with T2D, treated with DPP-4 inhibitors (Kobayashi et al. 2020). Moreover, recent studies have shown that some bioactive peptides in pork meat have DPP4-inhibitor activities; these may lead to the development of functional products to be part of prevention or treatment-adjuvant for T2DM patients (Kęska et al. 2019).

The efficacy of DPP4i clinical use is determined by the degree of patients' adherence to treatment (Ogundipe et al. 2021). Likewise, it is interesting that only improvement in liver function tests was significantly associated with lower DPP-4 in the weight loss cohort (Ozcan et al. 2021).

Fetuin A (AHSG)

Fetuin A has been described as an important protein along with fetal life, and it takes part in relevant functions such as inhibiting the activity of insulin receptor tyrosine kinase (Olivier et al. 2000) and may have a role in macrophage accumulation in the islets. However, further research is needed to support this role (Mukhuty et al. 2017).

The increase in fetuin A levels has shown a positive correlation with obesity (Goustin and Abou-Samra 2011), liver fat accumulation, endothelial dysfunction (Sindhu et al. 2016), and atherosclerosis development and exhibits a negative relation to insulin-sensitivity due to a downregulated expression of adiponectin (Bourebaba and Marycz 2019). Therefore, several studies have focused on the link between fetuin A concentrations and the risk of T2DM (Mori et al. 2006). Circulating increased concentrations of fetuin A have been reported in MetS (Ren et al. 2019) and T2DM. A recent meta-analysis has shown that T2DM patients exhibit higher fetuin A levels compared to non-diabetic individuals. Moreover, non-diabetic patients with high fetuin A levels exhibit more than 20% higher risk of developing the condition (Roshanzamir et al. 2018). Additionally, in diabetic patients, the risk of retinopathy development increases with higher fetuin A values, therefore playing an important role in the pathophysiology and progression of diabetic retinopathy (Yilmaz et al. 2018). This hepatokine is described as a promising marker for T2DM incidence after adjusting risk factors (Esfahani et al. 2019).

On the other hand, some interventions have been shown to reduce fetuin A levels; from a pharmacological perspective, liraglutide exhibits a major reduction in the visceral adiposity volume and fetuin A than pioglitazone in patients with T2DM (Zhang et al. 2020) and NAFLD (Esfahani et al. 2019); also, pioglitazone lowers mRNA expression of fetuin A in mice (Zhang et al. 2018). Also, decreased fetuin A levels are associated with weight loss and reduction of fatty liver (Zhang et al. 2018). Thus, regular exercise improves whole-body and liver insulin sensitivity (Ennequin et al. 2019) due to a reduction in fetuin A levels and caloric restriction (Esfahani et al. 2019).

Therefore, fetuin A has been proposed as an accurate target for developing of T2DM treatment strategy (Esfahani et al. 2019).

Fetuin **B**

Fetuin B is the second member of the fetuin family, is found in humans and rodents, and is primarily produced by the liver. Like fetuin A, fetuin B level is reduced during the induced inflammation acute phase in a rat model (Olivier et al. 2000). Fetuin B can promote insulin resistance in myotubes and hepatocytes and caused glucose intolerance in mice (de Oliveira Dos Santos et al. 2021).

T2DM and NAFLD patients showed significantly raised plasma fetuin B, and increased circulating fetuin B raises fasting insulin level, which results in insulin resistance (Qu et al. 2018). Therefore, fetuin B links NAFLD to T2DM (Meex et al. 2015) by promoting insulin resistance (Lin et al. 2018). Thus, fetuin B concentration can be an independent predictor for NAFLD in patients with T2DM (El-Ashmawy and Ahmed 2019).

Selenoprotein P

Selenoprotein P (SeP) is a selenocysteine glycoprotein secreted and primarily expressed by the hepatocytes and affluently expressed in human blood (Polyzos et al. 2020). SeP acts as an antioxidative enzyme, thus limiting oxidative stress and delivering selenium to relevant tissues (Misu 2019).

SeP concentrations are elevated in patients with glucose impairment (Mohri et al. 2019) and were related to various cardiometabolic features, including insulin resistance, inflammation, and aggravating the risks of atherosclerosis (Yang et al. 2011). Also, the plasma concentration of SeP exhibits a negative association with adiponectin (Tsutsumi and Saito 2020) concentration in T2DM patients (Esfahani et al. 2019). Therefore, high concentrations of SeP play a detrimental role in inducing IR and hyperglycemia in pre-diabetes and T2DM (de Oliveira Dos Santos et al. 2021). Additionally, overweight and obese patients show high plasma concentrations of SeP and usually exhibit lower adipocytes expression of SeP. However, after adjustment with BMI, there was no association, implying that adiposity may be the leading driver in this connection; nonetheless, further studies in more extensive, controlled cohorts are required (Chen et al. 2017).

Contrary to results in T2DM patients, clinical studies have shown lower concentrations of Se and SeP in patients with cirrhosis or hepatic carcinoma than in controls; however, recent evidence is not yet enough to recommend Se or SeP for diagnostic nor therapy for NAFLD patients since it is a multifactorial condition which required a multi-targeted therapeutic approach (Polyzos et al. 2020).

LECT-2

Leukocyte cell-derived chemotaxin 2 (LECT2) is a recently discovered hepatokine and secretory protein identified as a novel neutrophil chemotactic protein (Lan et al. 2014), expressed by the liver (Misu 2018). In addition, it is an energy-sensing

hepatokine upregulated in response to overnutrition (Willis et al. 2020). Moreover, it has been related to hepatic inflammatory signaling and natural killer T cell homeostasis (Jung et al. 2018b).

An experimental rodent model has exhibited that LECT2 improves insulin sensitivity in skeletal muscle, although overproduction of LECT2 contributes to muscle insulin resistance in obesity (Lan et al. 2014). LECT2 knockout mice improve insulin sensitivity implying its role in metabolic disorders (Lebensztejn et al. 2016). Also, LECT2 increases mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) phosphorylation, lipid accretion, and IR in human liver cancer cells (Esfahani et al. 2019). It has been shown that increased LECT2 production may contribute to the early reduction in whole-body insulin sensitivity following overnutrition (Willis et al. 2020) due to its energy-sensing activity; however, circulating levels of LECT2 may not be sensitive to acute exercise stimuli (Willis et al. 2019).

LECT2 is associated with metabolic stress and has been identified as a promoter of adhesion molecules by increasing the expression of ICAM-1 (Hwang et al. 2015). Also, as an enhancer of pro-inflammatory cytokines (de Oliveira Dos Santos et al. 2021), it contributes to the development of skeletal muscle insulin resistance in obesity (Yoo et al. 2017). However, very few studies have explored the clinical relevance of circulating LECT2 levels in humans (Yoo et al. 2017).

Furthermore, LECT2 enhances lipogenesis in 3 T3-L1 cells regardless of the impairment of fatty acid oxidation. Thus, LECT2 can be clinically useful for bodyweight management in obese individuals (Chikamoto et al. 2016) and an efficient, beneficial target for obesity-associated metabolic disorders, including IR, and may have a favorable impact on systemic low-grade chronic inflammation related to MetS (Jung et al. 2018b). Thus, LECT2 can be a critical biomarker to elucidated how hepatic steatosis is related to IR in obesity since its inhibition promotes insulin sensitivity in skeletal muscle.

Hepassocin, Also Called Hepatocyte-Derived Fibrinogen-Related Protein 1, HPS, and HFREP1

Hepatokines are secreted by the liver and influence insulin signaling in insulinresponsive tissues (Hung-Tsung et al. 2013). One of them, hepassocin (HPS), is a particular liver growth factor involved in regulating hepatocyte proliferation and liver regeneration (de Oliveira Dos Santos et al. 2021).

A significant association between HPS and fasting glucose, insulin resistance, and T2DM has been observed in human studies (Ou et al. 2015). However, causal inferences could not be made due to the cross-sectional design of the study.

Recently, it has been demonstrated that liver HPS levels are increased in patients with NAFLD (Hung-Tsung et al. 2013) and T2DM (Chang et al. 2014). Also, circulating HPS concentrations were found to be independently associated with FPG, HOMA-IR, pre-diabetes, and diabetes in humans by regulating mitogenactivated protein kinase ERK1/2 activity (Hung Tsung et al. 2016). It has been proposed that HPS regulated hepatic lipid accumulation in HepG2 (human liver cancer cell line) cells, and overexpression of HPS participated in the development of NAFLD in mice, whereas deletion improves HFD-induced NAFLD (Hung-Tsung et al. 2013). In vivo and in vitro studies show that HPS contributes significantly to insulin resistance. In humans, serum levels of HPS are elevated in pre-diabetes, T2DM, and NAFLD because of their association with impaired fasting glucose, glucose intolerance, and insulin resistance (Hung Tsung et al. 2016).

Recent studies show that HPS is an obesity-induced hepatokine capable of promoting insulin resistance in skeletal muscle cells through epidermal growth factor receptor and c-Jun N-terminal kinase-mediated (EGFR/JNK) pathway. Therefore, HPS is proposed as a potential target for treating obesity-linked IR and T2DM (Jung et al. 2018b). Moreover, HPS can be a relevant biomarker for analyzing risk states for diabetes (de Oliveira Dos Santos et al. 2021).

Pigment Epithelium-Derived Factor

Pigment epithelium-derived factor (PEDF) is a secreted glycoprotein that possesses potent neuronal differentiating activity in human retinoblastoma cells. It has shown anti-angiogenic, anti-proliferative, neurotrophic, and immunomodulatory activities (Maeda et al. 2011). It is one of the most abundant proteins secreted by adipocytes; thus, impairing PEDF-adipose triglyceride lipase (ATGL) interaction can lead to IR, as seen in T2DM (Kuang-Tzu et al. 2018).

In vitro, PEDF directly increased the glucose uptake in hypoxic cardiomyocytes through the expression of glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4) and translocation on plasma membrane involving PI3K/AKT signaling (Yuan et al. 2019). Furthermore, in a mice model of obese T2DM with IR, PDEF has been shown to improve metabolic impairment through suppressing inflammatory and oxidative reactions in adipose tissue (Matsui et al. 2014). Additionally, PEDF has reduced 3 T3-L1 preadipocyte differentiation, limited adipogenesis, and ameliorated IR in diet-induced metabolic disorders in mice (Chin-Chuan et al. 2019).

Human studies have shown that PEDF is independently associated with fasting apolipoprotein B-48 (ApoB8) levels, implying that PEDF concentration may be a novel biomarker for postprandial hyperlipidemia in humans (Tahara et al. 2012).

Likewise, PEDF is positively related to muscle and fat tissue; both contribute to the circulating level of PEDF and potentially to its association with IR in children with obesity with or without T2DM (Tryggestad et al. 2015). Moreover, PEDF was 55% higher in T2DM children than normal-weight children but did not differ from obese children (Tahara et al. 2012); therefore, obesity would be more related to plasma PEDF than T2DM. Additionally, circulating levels of PEDF is increased in overweight young adults and is positively related to IR. Furthermore, recent preclinical and clinical studies have shown that skeletal muscle is also a source for circulating PEDF; therefore, contractions and exercise increase plasma PEDF (Sunderland et al. 2012).

Moreover, Tahara et al. propose 120-min post-load plasma glucose and PEDF values as markers and potential therapeutic targets of coronary artery inflammation in T2DM patients (Tahara et al. 2020). Therefore, PEDF seems like a possible therapy for obesity and cardiometabolic disorders.

Tsukushi (TSK)

Tsukushi (TSK) is an atypical small leucine-rich proteoglycan, newly identified as hepatokine, which increases circulating concentrations related to obesity (Wang et al. 2019). According to the analysis of secretome gene expression, TSK exerts powerful effects on adipose tissue thermogenesis and metabolic homeostasis (Xiong et al. 2019). In addition, it is related to the regulation of energy expenditure and is strongly associated with obesity, NAFLD, and NASH (de Oliveira Dos Santos et al. 2021).

Experimental studies show that inflammation and endoplasmic reticulum stress promotes hepatic TSK expression in mice, related to excessive hepatic fat accumulation (Mouchiroud et al. 2019b). Furthermore, a study by Wang et al. showed that inhibition of TSK increased sympathetic innervation and thermogenesis in brown adipose tissue, therefore protecting against diet-induced obesity in mice. However, Mouchiroud et al. could not show clear evidence that overexpression of TSK has any significant impact on the thermogenic capacity of brown adipose tissue, body weight gain, nor glucose homeostasis in mice (Mouchiroud et al. 2019a).

It has been shown that TSK reduces circulating high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, cholesterol efflux capacity, and the conversion of cholesterol to bile acid in the liver (Mouchiroud et al. 2019a). Additionally, TSK expression is increased in obesity, though it can be lowered after laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding; therefore, TSK expression is strongly related and is proposed to be the only significant predictor of TSK production (Grander et al. 2020).

Conclusions

Insulin resistance is the central physiopathological feature of metabolic syndrome and is closely related to NAFLD and T2DM. These chronic conditions are linked to obesity, particularly visceral adiposity, leading to an increased release of liver enzymes, known as hepatokines that are recognized and proposed as IR, NAFLD, and T2DM biomarkers. Some of these enzymes have positive activities related to reducing oxidative stress, lipogenesis, and improving insulin resistance and glucose homeostasis. However, some hepatokines are highly expressed in response to energy intake, obesity, NAFLD, and NASH. Therefore, the development of pharmacological inhibitors has been recommended as treatment or dual therapy in patients with IR and T2DM. In this group, DPP4i are the most studied hepatokine inhibitors, which are being found to be safe, tolerable, and cost-effective compared to traditional drug therapy alone in T2DM patients. On the other hand, since NAFLD is diagnosed through ultrasound images, liver enzyme test, and IR does not show apparent diagnostic symptoms, the use of hepatokines as biological markers seems promising for early identification and treatment of these chronic conditions, especially in the early identification and treatment children, teenager, and young adults.

The research related to hepatokine identification and biological activity is still emerging; thus, elucidating the complex mechanisms behind its effects on chronic conditions is encouraging as treatment targets.

References

- Abubakar A, et al. Antihyperglycaemic activity of ethylacetate extract of Chlorophytum alismifolium in type 2 diabetes: the involvement of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-γ and dipeptidyl peptidase-4. J Integr Med. 2021;19(1):78–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. joim.2020.10.008.
- Acierno C, et al. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and type 2 diabetes: pathophysiological mechanisms shared between the two faces of the same coin. Exploration Med. 2020;1(5):287–306. https://doi.org/10.37349/emed.2020.00019.
- Alsalim W, et al. Persistent whole day meal effects of three dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors on glycaemia and hormonal responses in metformin-treated type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2020;22(4):590–8. https://doi.org/10.1111/dom.13934.
- Angwin C, et al. TriMaster: randomised double-blind crossover study of a DPP4 inhibitor, SGLT2 inhibitor and thiazolidinedione as second-line or third-line therapy in patients with type 2 diabetes who have suboptimal glycaemic control on metformin tre. BMJ Open. 2020;10(12): e042784. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-042784.
- Balazki P, et al. A Physiologically-based quantitative systems pharmacology model of the incretin hormones GLP-1 and GIP and the DPP4 inhibitor sitagliptin. CPT Pharmacometrics Syst Pharmacol. 2020;9(6):353–62. https://doi.org/10.1002/psp4.12520.
- Baumeier C, et al. Elevated hepatic DPP4 activity promotes insulin resistance and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Mol Metabolism. 2017a;6(10):1254–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet. 2017.07.016.
- Baumeier C, et al. Hepatic DPP4 DNA methylation associates with fatty liver. Diabetes. 2017b;66 (1):25–35. https://doi.org/10.2337/db15-1716.
- Beaudry JL, Drucker DJ. Proglucagon-derived peptides, glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide, and dipeptidyl peptidase-4-mechanisms of action in adipose tissue. Endocrinology. 2020;161(1) https://doi.org/10.1210/endocr/bqz029.
- Borruel S, et al. Surrogate markers of visceral adiposity in young adults: waist circumference and body mass index are more accurate than waist hip ratio, model of adipose distribution and visceral adiposity index. PLoS One. 2014;9(12):e114112. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0114112.
- Bourebaba L, Marycz K. Pathophysiological implication of Fetuin-A glycoprotein in the development of metabolic disorders: a concise review. J Clin Med. 2019;8(12). https://doi.org/10.3390/ jcm8122033.
- Bril F, et al. Metabolic and histological implications of intrahepatic triglyceride content in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Hepatology. 2017;65(4):1132–44. https://doi.org/10.1002/ hep.28985.
- Buse JB, et al. 2019 update to: management of hyperglycemia in type 2 diabetes, 2018. A consensus report by the American Diabetes Association (ADA) and the European Association for the Study of diabetes (EASD). Diabetes Care. 2020;43(2):487–93. https://doi.org/10.2337/dci19-0066.

- Cao X, et al. Knowledge mapping of dietary factors of metabolic syndrome research: hotspots, knowledge structure, and theme trends. Front Nutr. 2021;8:655533. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fnut.2021.655533.
- Chalasani N, et al. The diagnosis and management of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: practice guideline by the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases, American College of Gastroenterology, and the American Gastroenterological Association. Hepatology. 2012;55(6): 2005–23. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.25762.
- Chang C-J, et al. Serum hepassocin contributes to insulin resistance in type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2014;57(1):S241. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-014-3355-0.
- Chen M, et al. Selenoprotein P is elevated in individuals with obesity, but is not independently associated with insulin resistance. Obes Res Clin Pract. 2017;11(2):227–32. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.orcp.2016.07.004.
- Chen C, et al. The effect of dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor and glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonist in gestational diabetes mellitus: a systematic review. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2020;36(5): 375–80. https://doi.org/10.1080/09513590.2019.1703943.
- Cheung O, Sanyal AJ. Recent advances in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Curr Opin Gastroenterol. 2010:202-8. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOG.0b013e328337b0c4.
- Chikamoto K, et al. Rapid response of the steatosis-sensing hepatokine LECT2 during diet-induced weight cycling in mice. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2016;478(3):1310–6. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.08.117.
- Chin-Chuan C, et al. Pigment epithelium-derived factor inhibits adipogenesis in 3T3-L1 adipocytes and protects against high-fat diet-induced obesity and metabolic disorders in mice. Transl Res. 2019;210:26–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trsl.2019.04.006.
- de Oliveira Dos Santos AR, et al. Adipokines, myokines, and hepatokines: crosstalk and metabolic repercussions. Int J Mol Sci. 2021:1–23. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22052639.
- Dutta D, et al. Efficacy and safety of the novel dipeptidyl Peptidase-4 inhibitor gemigliptin in the Management of Type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis. Endocrinol Metab. 2021; https://doi.org/10. 3803/EnM.2020.818.
- El-Ashmawy HM, Ahmed AM. Serum fetuin-B level is an independent marker for non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in patients with type 2 diabetes. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;31(7):859– 64. https://doi.org/10.1097/MEG.00000000001354.
- Engin A. The definition and prevalence of obesity and metabolic syndrome. In: Advances in experimental medicine and biology. New York: Springer; 2017. p. 1–17. https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-3-319-48382-5 1.
- Ennequin G, Sirvent P, Whitham M. Role of exercise-induced hepatokines in metabolic disorders. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2019:E11–24. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00433.2018.
- Esfahani M, Baranchi M, Goodarzi MT. The implication of hepatokines in metabolic syndrome. Diabetes Metab Syndr Clin Res Rev. 2019;13(4):2477–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsx.2019. 06.027.
- Eslam M, et al. A new definition for metabolic dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease: an international expert consensus statement. J Hepatol. 2020:202–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jhep.2020.03.039.
- Franco NH, et al. Assessing scientific soundness and translational value of animal studies on DPP4 inhibitors for treating type 2 diabetes mellitus. Biology. 2021;10(2). https://doi.org/10.3390/biology10020155.
- Friedman SL, et al. Mechanisms of NAFLD development and therapeutic strategies. Nat Med. 2018;24(7):908–22. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-018-0104-9.
- Ghorpade D, et al. Hepatocyte-secreted DPP4 in obesity promotes adipose inflammation and insulin resistance. Nature. 2018;555(7698):673–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature26138.
- Goustin A-S, Abou-Samra AB. The "thrifty" gene encoding Ahsg/Fetuin-A meets the insulin receptor: insights into the mechanism of insulin resistance. Cell Signal. 2011;23(6):980–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cellsig.2010.11.003.

- Grander C, et al. Gastric banding-associated weight loss diminishes hepatic Tsukushi expression. Cytokine. 2020;133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cyto.2020.155114.
- Huang K-T, et al. Pigment epithelium-derived factor in lipid metabolic disorders. Biomed J. 2018;41(2):102–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bj.2018.02.004.
- Hung Tsung W, et al. A novel hepatokine, HFREP1, plays a crucial role in the development of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2016;59(8):1732–42. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s00125-016-3991-7.
- Hung-Tsung W, et al. The role of Hepassocin in the development of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. J Hepatol C-J. 2013; https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2013.06.004.
- Hwang H-J, et al. A dipeptidyl peptidase-IV inhibitor improves hepatic steatosis and insulin resistance by AMPK-dependent and JNK-dependent inhibition of LECT2 expression. Biochem Pharmacol. 2015;98(1):157–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2015.08.098.
- Janiszewska J, Ostrowska J, Szostak-Węgierek D. The influence of nutrition on adiponectin a narrative review. Nutrients. 2021;13(5). https://doi.org/10.3390/nu13051394.
- Jung TW, Chung YH, Kim H-C, Abd El-Aty AM, et al. Hyperlipidemia-induced hepassocin in the liver contributes to insulin resistance in skeletal muscle. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2018a;470:26– 33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2017.10.014.
- Jung TW, Chung YH, Kim H-C, Abd El-Aty AM, et al. LECT2 promotes inflammation and insulin resistance in adipocytes via P38 pathways. J Mol Endocrinol. 2018b;61(1):37–45. https://doi. org/10.1530/JME-17-0267.
- Kęska P, et al. Meat proteins as dipeptidyl peptidase iv inhibitors and glucose uptake stimulating peptides for the management of a type 2 diabetes mellitus in silico study. Nutrients. 2019;11 (10). https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11102537.
- Know CS, Seoane-Vazquez E, Rodriguez-Monguio R. Cost-effectiveness analysis of metformin +dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors compared to metformin+sulfonylureas for treatment of type 2 diabetes. BMC Health Serv Res. 2018;78. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-2860-0.
- Kobayashi M, et al. Effect of a moderate carbohydrate-restricted diet on DPP-4 inhibitor action among individuals with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a 6-month intervention study. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol. 2020;66(2):114–8. https://doi.org/10.3177/jnsv.66.114.
- Kuang-Tzu H, et al. Pigment epithelium-derived factor in lipid metabolic disorders. Biom J. 2018;41(2):102-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bj.2018.02.004.
- Lan F, et al. LECT2 functions as a hepatokine that links obesity to skeletal muscle insulin resistance. Diabetes. 2014;63(5):1649–64. https://doi.org/10.2337/db13-0728.
- Lebensztejn DM, et al. Hepatokines and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Acta Biochim Pol. 2016;63(3):459–67. https://doi.org/10.18388/abp.2015 1252.
- Lin M, et al. Fetuin-B links non-alcoholic fatty liver disease to chronic kidney disease in obese Chinese adults: a cross-sectional study. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2018;34:50. https://doi.org/10. 1002/dmrr.3079.
- Liu Z, et al. Trelagliptin succinate: DPP-4 inhibitor to improve insulin resistance in adipocytes. Biomed Pharmacother. 2020;125:109952. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2020.109952.
- Maeda S, et al. Pigment epithelium-derived factor (PEDF) blocks advanced glycation end products (AGEs)-RAGE-induced suppression of adiponectin mRNA level in adipocytes by inhibiting NADPH oxidase-mediated oxidative stress generation. IntJ Cardiol. 2011;152(3):408–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2011.08.043.
- Mantovani A, et al. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and risk of incident chronic kidney disease: an updated meta-analysis. Gut. 2020; https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2020-323082.
- Marchesini G, et al. EASL-EASD-EASO clinical practice guidelines for the Management of non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. Obes Facts. 2016:65–90. https://doi.org/10.1159/ 000443344.
- Matsui T, et al. Pigment epithelium-derived factor improves metabolic derangements and ameliorates dysregulation of adipocytokines in obese type 2 diabetic rats. Am J Pathol. 2014;184(4): 1094–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajpath.2013.12.032.

- Meex RCR, Watt MJ. Hepatokines: linking non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and insulin resistance. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2017;13(9):509–20. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2017.56.
- Meex RC, et al. Fetuin B is a secreted hepatocyte factor linking steatosis to impaired glucose metabolism. Cell Metab. 2015;22(6):1078–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2015.09.023.
- Misu H. Pathophysiological significance of hepatokine overproduction in type 2 diabetes. Diabetol Int. 2018;9(4):224–33. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13340-018-0368-9.
- Misu H. Identification of hepatokines involved in pathology of type 2 diabetes and obesity. Endocr J. 2019;66(8):659–62. https://doi.org/10.1507/endocrj.EJ19-0255.
- Mohri K, et al. Circulating concentrations of insulin resistance-associated hepatokines, selenoprotein P and leukocyte cell-derived chemotaxin 2, during an oral glucose tolerance test in humans. Biol Pharm Bull. 2019;42(3):373–8. https://doi.org/10.1248/bpb.b18-00549.
- Mori K, et al. Association of serum fetuin-A with insulin resistance in type 2 diabetic and nondiabetic subjects[10]. Diabetes Care. 2006;29(2):468. https://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.29. 02.06.dc05-1484.
- Mouchiroud M, Camire E, et al. The Hepatokine TSK does not affect brown fat thermogenic capacity, body weight gain, and glucose homeostasis. Mol Metabol. 2019a;30:184–91. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2019.09.014.
- Mouchiroud M, Camiré É, et al. The hepatokine Tsukushi is released in response to NAFLD and impacts cholesterol homeostasis. JCI Inst. 2019b;4(15). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2019. 09.014.
- Mukhuty A, et al. Palmitate induced Fetuin-A secretion from pancreatic β-cells adversely affects its function and elicits inflammation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2017;491(4):1118–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2017.08.022.
- Myers J, Kokkinos P, Nyelin E. Physical activity, cardiorespiratory fitness, and the metabolic syndrome. Nutrients. 2019:1652. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11071652.
- Nasir R, et al. Role of high mobility group box-1 (hmgb1) in obesity and metabolic syndrome. Med Forum Monthly. 2020;31(12):161–5. Available at: https://medforum.pk/article/38-role-of-high-mobility-group-box-1-hmgb1-in-obesity-and-metabolic-syndrome
- Ogundipe O, et al. Real-world adherence, persistence, and in-class switching during use of dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors: a systematic review and meta-analysis involving 594,138 patients with type 2 diabetes. Acta Diabetol. 2021;58(1):39–46. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00592-020-01590-w%0A.
- Olivier E, et al. Fetuin-B, a second member of the fetuin family in mammals. Biochem J. 2000;350 (2):589–97. https://doi.org/10.1042/0264-6021:3500589.
- Ou H-Y, et al. The hepatic protective effect of hepassocin on hyperglycaemic crisis. Diabetologia. 2015;58(1):S553. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-015-3687-4.
- Ozcan L, Ghorpade DS, Tabas I. Targeting soluble DPP-4 for insulin resistance: origin matters. J Clin Endocrinol Metabol. 2021;106(3):e1460–2. https://doi.org/10.1210/clinem/dgaa902.
- Polyzos SA, et al. Selenium and selenoprotein P in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Horm. 2020;19 (1):61–72. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42000-019-00127-3.
- Portillo-Sanchez P, et al. High prevalence of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and normal plasma aminotransferase levels. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2015;100(6):2231–8. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2015-1966.
- Qu H, et al. Plasma fetuin-B concentrations are associated with insulin resistance and first-phase glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in individuals with different degrees of glucose tolerance. Diabetes Metab. 2018;44(6):488–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabet.2018.02.003.
- Ren G, et al. Phosphorylation status of fetuin-a is critical for inhibition of insulin action and is correlated with obesity and insulin resistance. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2019;317(2): E250–60. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00089.2018.
- Rochlani Y, et al. Metabolic syndrome: pathophysiology, management, and modulation by natural compounds. Ther Adv Cardiovasc Dis. 2017:215–25. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1753944717711379.

- Roshanzamir F, et al. The association between circulating fetuin-A levels and type 2 diabetes mellitus risk: systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. J Endocrinol Investig. 2018;41(1):33–47. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40618-017-0697-8.
- Sakai Y, et al. DPP-4 inhibition with anagliptin reduces lipotoxicity-induced insulin resistance and steatohepatitis in male mice. Endocrinology. 2020;161(10). https://doi.org/10.1210/endocr/ bqaa139/5892311.
- Shao S, et al. Dipeptidyl peptidase 4 inhibitors and their potential immune modulatory functions. Pharmacol Ther. 2020;209:107503. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2020.107503.
- Shibuki K, Shimada S, Aoyama T. Meta-analysis of 11 heterogeneous studies regarding dipeptidyl peptidase 4 inhibitor add-on therapy for type 2 diabetes mellitus patients treated with insulin. J Diabetes Res. 2020;2020. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/6321826.
- Sindhu S, et al. Plasma fetuin-A/alpha 2-HS-glycoprotein correlates negatively with inflammatory cytokines, chemokines and activation biomarkers in individuals with type-2 diabetes. BMC Immunol. 2016;17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12865-016-0171-y.
- Sunderland KL, et al. Pigment epithelium-Derived Factor (PEDF) varies with body composition and insulin resistance in healthy young people. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2012;97(11):E2114–8. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2012-1894.
- Tahara N, et al. Serum levels of pigment epithelium-derived factor, a novel marker of insulin resistance, are independently associated with fasting apolipoprotein B48 levels in humans. Clin Biochem. 2012;45(16):1404–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2012.07.095.
- Tahara N, et al. Two-hour postload plasma glucose and pigment epithelium-derived factor levels are markers of coronary artery inflammation in type 2 diabetic patients. J Nucl Cardiol. 2020;27(4): 1352–64. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12350-019-01842-5.
- Tryggestad JB, et al. Elevated plasma pigment epithelium-derived factor in children with type 2 diabetes mellitus is attributable to obesity. Pediatr Diabetes. 2015;16(8):600–5. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/pedi.12226.
- Tsutsumi R, Saito Y. Selenoprotein P; P for plasma, prognosis, prophylaxis, and more. Biol Pharm Bull. 2020;43(3):366–74. https://doi.org/10.1248/bpb.b19-00837.
- Wang Q, et al. The hepatokine Tsukushi gates energy expenditure via brown fat sympathetic innervation. Nat Metab. 2019;1(2):251–60. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42255-018-0020-9.
- Wasana KGP, et al. Natural drug leads as novel DPP-IV inhibitors targeting the management of type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Complement Med Res. 2020;11(1):43–53. https://doi.org/10.5455/jcmr. 2020.11.01.06.
- Willis SA, et al. Effect of exercise intensity on circulating hepatokine concentrations in healthy men. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab. 2019;44(10):1065–72. https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2018-0818.
- Willis SA, et al. Acute Hyperenergetic, high-fat feeding increases circulating FGF21, LECT2, and Fetuin-A in healthy men. J Nutr. 2020;150(5):1076–85. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/nxz333.
- Wu H-T, et al. Possible role of hepassocin in chronic social defeat-induced metabolic disturbance. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2016;120:S41–S42. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0168-8227(16)30999-8
- Xiong X, et al. Mapping the molecular signatures of diet-induced NASH and its regulation by the hepatokine Tsukushi. Mol Metabol. 2019;20:128–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmet.2018. 12.004.
- Yang SJ, et al. Serum selenoprotein P levels in patients with type 2 diabetes and pre-diabetes: implications for insulin resistance, inflammation, and atherosclerosis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96(8):E1325–9. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2011-0620.
- Yang W, et al. Addition of dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors to insulin treatment in type 2 diabetes patients: a meta-analysis. J Diabetes Invest. 2018;9(4):813–21. https://doi.org/10.1111/jdi. 12764.
- Yilmaz A, Yilmaz T, Gunay M. Elevated serum fetuin-A levels are associated with grades of retinopathy in type 2 diabetic patients. Int Ophthalmol. 2018;38(6):2445–50. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s10792-017-0750-9.

- Yoo HJ, et al. Association of leukocyte cell-derived chemotaxin 2 (LECT2) with NAFLD, metabolic syndrome, and atherosclerosis. PLoS ONE. 2017;12(4). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0174717.
- Yuan Y, et al. PEDF increases GLUT4-mediated glucose uptake in rat ischemic myocardium via PI3K/AKT pathway in a PEDFR-dependent manner. Int J Cardiol. 2019;283:136–43. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2019.02.035.
- Zhang L-Y, et al. Effect of a 12-week aerobic exercise training on Serum Fetuin-A and adipocytokine levels in type 2 diabetes. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes. 2018;126(8):487–92. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0043-115904.
- Zhang L-Y, et al. Effect of liraglutide therapy on serum fetuin A in patients with type 2 diabetes and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol. 2020;44(5):674–80. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.clinre.2020.01.007.



Biological Markers of Insulin Sensitivity Links with Dietary Antioxidant

Andrea Lisbet Bohórquez-Medina, Sofía Lorena Bohórquez-Medina, and Vicente Aleixandre Benites-Zapata

Contents

Introduction	218
Applications to Diagnosis	218
Mini Dictionary of Terms	219
Key Facts of Insulin Sensitivity, Biomarkers, and Dietary Antioxidants	219
Summary Points	220
Markers of Liver Function and Insulin Resistance	220
Insulin Sensitivity	220
Adiponectin	221
Minerals in Insulin Resistance Sensitivity	226
Vitamins in Insulin Sensitivity	228
Conclusions	229
References	231

Abstract

Obesity plays an essential role in developing chronic conditions such as metabolic syndrome (MetS), nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), and T2DM, due to an increase in free radicals, insulin resistance, and disruption in beta cells activity. The increase of triglyceride storage in adipose tissue due to obesity results in adipocyte hypertrophy, in which infiltrated macrophages, enhancing the pro-inflammatory state. Both hepatokines and adipokines are involved in central and peripheral energy metabolism, immune response, insulin sensitivity, and lipid metabolism. Moreover, vitamins and minerals exert cytokines modulation activities, thus may be included as biomarkers, diagnose test for insulin resistance, and therapeutic targets for improving

A. L. Bohórquez-Medina · S. L. Bohórquez-Medina · V. A. Benites-Zapata (⊠) Unidad de Investigación para la Generación y Síntesis de Evidencias en Salud, Universidad San Ignacio de Loyola, Lima, Peru

e-mail: andrea.bohorquezm@usil.pe; sofia.bohorquez@usil.pe; vbenites@usil.edu.pe

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 10

MetS, T2DM, and NAFLD. This chapter provides information on the relationship between essential micronutrient activity in insulin synthesis and secretion and its effects on obesity-related chronic conditions progression.

Keywords

 $\begin{array}{l} Biological \ markers \ \cdot \ Liver \ function \ \cdot \ Insulin \ resistance \ \cdot \ Vitamins \ \cdot \ Minerals \ \cdot \ vitamin \ D \ \cdot \ vitamin \ K \ \cdot \ Magnesium \ \cdot \ Selenium \ \cdot \ FGF21 \end{array}$

Abbreviations	
ANGPTL4	Angiopoietin-like protein 4
DPP4	Dipeptidyl peptidase – 4
Fetuin A/B	α2-Heremans-Schmid glycoprotein
FGF21	Fibroblast growth factor-21
GLP-1	Glucagon-like peptide-1
HMGB1	High mobility group box 1
PPAR-a/RXR	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha/retinoic acid
	receptor
RBP4	Retinol-binding protein 4

Introduction

Insulin resistance plays a crucial role in the development of T2DM, metabolic disorders, and their comorbidities. Antioxidants such as vitamins and minerals exert important functions in regulating insulin sensitivity mediated by biomarkers related to liver gluconeogenesis, inflammatory responses, regulation of lipid productions, suppression of the appetite hormones, and other metabolic processes. Novel studies have shown the participation of minerals like calcium, magnesium, selenium, chromium, and zinc in the management of glucose metabolism disorders serving as regulators of insulin resistance, abdominal fat, oxidative stress, levels of myokines and cytokines; in a similar way, vitamins are related to performing regulation of chronic inflammation, a direct pathway to the development of insulin resistance, obesity, and T2DM. As an anti-inflammatory and antioxidant agent, vitamin C also improves insulin resistance; likewise, vitamin D can increase adiponectin levels and enhance insulin sensitivity. Moreover, vitamin E can reduce HbAc1, insulin, and malondialdehyde levels. Equally, vitamin k reduces proinflammatory interleukins secretion by improving insulin sensitivity; furthermore, B-complex vitamins, such as vitamin B6, B2, and B12 supplementation, can improve glycemic control and insulin resistance.

Applications to Diagnosis

In this chapter studies related to biological markers of insulin sensitivity links with dietary antioxidant and minerals has been reviewed, which show promising use of antioxidants such vitamins and minerals and its relation to the following biomarkers

linked to insulin sensitivity such as adiponectin, adropin, ANGPTL4, FGF21, HMGB1, GLP-1, interleukins, RBP4, irisin, fetuin A/B, and DPP4 levels like an alternative to diagnose insulin resistance and related metabolic disorders. Moreover, micronutrients such as vitamins and minerals may improve insulin sensitivity by suppressing hepatic glucose production and inflammatory responses allowance the development of micronutrients therapies to optimize insulin sensitivity and prevent type 2 diabetes progression.

Mini Dictionary of Terms

- Adiponectin: A protein hormone and adipokine secreted by adipocytes with the highest plasma concentration, modulated lipid metabolism, and glucose levels, improving insulin sensitivity by its antioxidant and anti-inflammatory effects.
- Adropin: A protein that exerts a regulatory function of energy homeostasis and insulin response suppressing hepatic glucose production.
- **ANGPTL4**: A glycoprotein highly expressed in liver and adipose tissue, is the target of PPARs and plays the physiological role in lipid metabolism, inhibits the LPL activity allowing for the enhanced circulation of TG.
- **DPP4**: An enzyme responsible for deleting incretins like GLP-1 and DPP4 inhibitors, plays a significant role in glucose metabolism, improving IR.
- Fetuin A/B: Glycoproteins, which can bind to the insulin receptor and inhibit insulin signaling; increased levels are related to insulin resistance.
- **FGF21**: A hepatokine, which expression increase by the PPAR-γ/RXR heterodimer activation, stimulated the glucose uptake in adipocytes, and regulated the sugar intake by its FGF21 receptors in the hypothalamus.
- **HMGB1**: A protein secreted by immune cells. As a cytokine mediator of inflammation in most cases, the interaction with TLRs like TLR4 results in the upregulation of NF- κ B, increasing the production and release of cytokines.
- **IL-32**: A novel pro-inflammatory cytokine produced by T lymphocytes, natural killer cells, epithelial cells, and blood monocytes. Induce aggravation of inflammation.
- **Irisin**: A hormone that regulates fat tissue and blood metabolism by exercise, converting white adipose tissue to brown adipose tissue, improving IS.
- **Myostatin**: Myokine, produced by myocytes, inhibiting muscle cell growth, loss of action of this myokine is related to improving IS.
- **RBP4**: An adipokine whose principal role is to transport retinol from the liver to the peripheral tissues; increased adipokine levels are related to IR.

Key Facts of Insulin Sensitivity, Biomarkers, and Dietary Antioxidants

1. Plasma concentration of adiponectin can be considered an important monitor index for obesity, due to its role in fat mass regulation and fat browning markers expression.

- 2. Angiopoietin-like 4 (ANGPTL4) plays a major role in triglycerides metabolism through suppressing pancreatic and lipoprotein lipases.
- 3. FGF21 levels are increased in chronic conditions such as MetS, obesity, dyslipidemia, insulin resistance, T2DM, NAFLD, and coronary artery disease.
- 4. Low serum level of chromium has been commonly found in T2DM patients.
- 5. Among T2DM patients, there is a 25–39% prevalence of deficit in magnesium.

Summary Points

- Circulating IL-6, IL-36, IL-29, and irisin may represent possible therapeutic targets for insulin resistance as having been found to increase in obese and MetS patients and biomarkers for diagnosis or treatment of T2DM.
- As a novel adipokine, zinc-α2-glycoprotein (ZAG) plays an important role in modulating insulin sensitivity and have been shown to reduce insulin resistance.
- Clinical studies have shown that obese patients have lower serum adropin, and it is inversely related to fasting glucose, insulin, and anthropometric measures.
- Vitamin D deficiency may be involved in the pathogenesis of metabolic disturbances such as MetS and polycystic ovary syndrome and increase the risk of developing T2DM.
- Vitamin K2 inhibits insulin resistance by enhancing mitochondrial activity through SIRT1 signaling, also higher phylloquinone (vitamin K1) levels are related to a reduced risk of T2DM, turning vitamin K1 and K2 into essential nutrients for human health.

Markers of Liver Function and Insulin Resistance

Insulin Sensitivity

Diabetes mellitus is a long-term metabolic disruption characterized by hyperglycemia resulting from disorders in pancreatic beta-cell function, insulin secretion, or activity (Qu et al. 2018). Therefore, type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) results from a hormonal imbalance, where insulin and glucagon cannot regulate and stabilize blood glucose levels and limit the release of adipose fatty acids (Alfatlawi et al. 2021).

Moreover, obesity plays a vital role in the development of chronic conditions such as metabolic syndrome (MetS), nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), and T2DM, due to an increase in free radicals, insulin resistance (IR), and disruption on beta cells activity (Safarpour et al. 2020). The increase in adipose tissue due to obesity results in adipocyte hypertrophy, in which macrophages infiltrates, enhancing proinflammatory cytokines.

Adipose tissue, as an endocrine organ, is responsible for adiponectin and leptin secretion. However, during obesity, these hormones failed to regulate glucose metabolism and insulin sensitivity. Therefore, insulin resistance alters glucose uptake in insulin-sensitive tissues, primarily skeletal muscle. Additionally, IR is the primary mechanism in developing MetS and T2DM, and is positively correlated with weight gain, primarily visceral fat accumulation. It is known from epidemiological, preclinical, and clinical studies that weight loss promotes insulin sensitivity in obese patients as a result of a reduction in IR (Das and Choudhuri 2020), which leads to metabolic and hemodynamic homeostasis known as counteracting MetS (Liu et al. 2020).

Adiponectin

Adiponectin Is the most abundant cytokine (Choubey et al. 2020), present as fulllength adiponectin and as a C-terminal globular fragment exclusively secreted by the adipose tissue known as an anti-inflammatory adipokine (Khoramipour et al. 2021). Also, adiponectin plays a significant role in central and peripheral energy metabolism and is also involved in lipid metabolism, immune response, and insulin sensitivity (Jo et al. 2021).

Moreover, adiponectin displays important antiatherogenic and antihyperglycemic activities by reducing gluconeogenesis and increasing insulin sensitivity (Moon et al. 2019). In contrast to leptin, plasma adiponectin levels are reduced in patients with insulin resistance, obesity, coronary artery disease, and T2DM, particularly those with visceral adiposity (Gariballa et al. 2019). Therefore, it is related to β -cell dysfunction and has shown to have different antihyperglycemic activity according to ethnicity, being better in Caucasians (Hakim et al. 2021).

Globular adiponectin therapy reduces serum glucose, triglycerides, insulin, reverses insulin resistance, and decreases fat accumulation in the liver and muscle, which could be attributed to enhanced glucose uptake in muscle and adipose tissues (Li et al. 2020). Therefore, adiponectin is proposed as a potential antidiabetic, antiinflammatory, and antiatherogenic therapeutic tool, for obesity and related comorbidities such as T2DM and cardiovascular disease (Gariballa et al. 2019).

Moreover, T2DM patients with high plasma adiponectin showed better antioxidant capacity, the large size of high-density lipoprotein (HDL), and a decreased apolipoprotein C3, a potent inhibitor of lipoprotein lipase (Dias et al. 2021). Several studies indicate that leptin-to-adiponectin ratio (LAR) could be a very acute biomarker of atherosclerosis progression of insulin resistance (Piumngam et al. 2021).

Adiponectin plasma concentrations can be considered an essential monitor index for obesity due to its role in fat mass regulation and fat browning markers expression. Also, AdipoR1,AdipoR2, and T-cadherin receptors have an intermediate affinity for globular and full-length molecular weight adiponectin forms in the liver, thus controlling energy metabolism inflammatory responses, and insulin sensitivity (Peng et al. 2018). Furthermore, its receptors have been shown to improve glucose regulation and enhance fatty acid oxidation, making adiponectin an important target for obesity treatment (Bais and Patel 2019) and an early diagnostic marker for insulin resistance along with anthropometric evaluation. Furthermore, adiponectin has been proposed as a promising biomarker for the T2DM treatment and amelioration of disease development (Biercewicz et al. 2020).

Adropin, Angiopoietin-ILike Protein 4 (ANGPTL4)

Adropin is a peptide-structured hormone with 76 amino acid precursors involved in lipid cardiovascular system functions and glucose metabolism, thus related to insulin resistance and adipose accumulation (Zarrati et al. 2019). In addition, clinical studies have shown that obese patients present reduced serum adropin, and it is inversely related to glucose, insulin, and body composition (Erman et al. 2021).

Adropin is mainly expressed in the liver and brain; although it has been identified in other tissues such as the lung, muscles, heart and gastrointestinal tract, it is encoded by the energy homeostasis-associated gene (Enho) (Yang et al. 2020). A mice model of liver steatohepatitis has shown that adropin is influenced by exercise, leading to a rise in serum levels and a suppression of NLRP3 inflammasome activation and protein-complex related to inflammatory conditions. Also, it has been shown to reduce pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF α steatohepatitis (Yang et al. 2021).

Additionally, preclinical studies have observed that adropin can improve glucose homeostasis, lipid disorders in obesity, reduce the expression of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 4 (PDK4), a gene involved in T2DM development, inhibits the production of hepatic glucose, therefore enhancing glucose uptake and insulin sensitivity (Luo et al. 2020), and also can protect against hepatocytes injury (Jasaszwili et al. 2020). Adropin levels are downregulated in diverse cardiovascular diseases, and lower serum adropin in T2DM patients is considered a risk factor for endothelial dysfunction (Zhang and Li 2019).

Angiopoietin-like 4 (ANGPTL4) is mainly expressed in liver and adipose tissue, playing a major role in triglycerides metabolism through suppressing pancreatic and lipoprotein lipases (Janssen et al. 2018). Furthermore, clinical studies have shown that patient carriers of E40K-inhibiting mutation in ANGPTL4 present lower plasma triglyceride levels and have a reduced risk of coronary artery disease compared to noncarriers (Abid et al. 2016).

Moreover, evidence suggests that inhibition of ANGPTL4 improves glucose tolerance and insulin resistance through gut microbiota modulation, reducing triglycerides levels and cardiovascular disease risk (Janssen et al. 2018). ANGPTL4 can be regulated by diet through an increased concentration of nonesterified fatty acids (NEFA)in the bloodstream. Additionally, preclinical studies have shown that expression of ANGPTL4 is upregulated by fatty acids exposures, such as palmitic acid, oleic acid and arachidonic acid in cell studies (Nielsen et al. 2015). Therefore, ANGPTL4 is considered a possible target for cardiometabolic disease management and is a downstream target gene of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPAR), extensively used in T2DM lipid disorders due to its capability to trigger adipocyte lipolysis (Wang et al. 2016).

DPP4, GLP-1

Adipose tissue is identified as an endocrine organ due to its ability to release metabolites and bioactive factors, known as adipokines. One of them is dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP4), an adipokine related to central adiposity and insulin resistance (Siciliano et al. 2019). DPP4 is a transmembrane glycoprotein that is expressed in the liver, kidney, gut, lung, and endothelial cells. Moreover, both its circulating form and

membrane-bound activities are related to chronic inflammation, MetS, and T2DM (Romacho et al. 2020).

DPP4 limits insulin-induced protein kinase B (AKT) phosphorylation in skeletal and adipose tissue (Siciliano et al. 2019). Insulin resistance markers, such as serum insulin and HOMA-IR, are positively correlated with DPP4 expression in visceral adipose tissue; furthermore, DPP4 levels are increased in obesity and T2DM (Hong et al. 2017).

Additionally, DPP4 can hydrolyse glucagon-Like peptide-1 (GLP-1), a hormone that stimulates insulin release, reduces energy intake, and slows gastric emptying (Rotella et al. 2005). Therefore, dipeptidyl peptidase 4 inhibitors (DPP4i) have been developed and are widely used as incretin-based therapies for T2DM, such as gemigliptin, a strong DPP4i is approved and applied for T2DM treatment in over ten countries around the globe (Dutta et al. 2021). DPP4i extends the half-life of incretins, such as GLP-1, and have been shown to provide glycemic control (Pérez-Durillo et al. 2018). Moreover, DPP4i and GLP-1 receptor agonist (GLP-1 Ra) can enhance insulin secretion and are extensively used to treat T2DM; they can also reduce the rate of developing postpartum diabetes (Chen et al. 2020).

Glucagon-like peptide-1 GLP-1 and glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP) are the principal stimuli of postprandial glycemia in response to enteral glucose. Both are secreted by L cells of the intestinal through the post-translational processing of proglucagon (Lin et al. 2021). Therefore, GLP1-Ra, which can resist DPP4 hydrolysis and prolongs the activation of GLP1 receptor, which can enhance endogenous insulin response and limit glucagon secretion, are often the first injectable treatment recommended in T2DM before insulin therapy (Norrbacka et al. 2021).

GLP-1Ra can be divided into short-acting, exenatide and lixisenatide, and longacting, like albiglutide, dulaglutide, liraglutide, and semaglutide (Onoviran et al. 2019). Lixisenatide has been shown to significantly reduce glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) postprandial glycemic levels in T2DM (Liu et al. 2021); together with sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 inhibitor, it has shown to enhance weight loss, control lipids, and blood pressure (Castellana et al. 2019).

Fetuin-A and Fetuin-B

Fetuin-A and fetuin-B belong to the fetuin family and are known as hepatokine that share around 22% similarity in their sequence (Ebert et al. 2017). Fetuin-A, also described as α 2-Heremans-Schmid glycoprotein (α 2-HS-glycoprotein), is a multifunctional glycoprotein produced mainly by the liver and adipose tissue; it has a place in the 3q27 gene in the human genome, related to MetS and T2DM (Ghadimi et al. 2021). Fetuin-A is involved in a diverse range of physiological conditions and a metabolic regulator that induces metabolic dysfunction (Stefan et al. 2008). Also, it has been linked to insulin resistance due to inhibiting insulin receptors of tyrosine kinase activity, insulin signaling (Fatima et al. 2020), and promoting inflammation in immune cells and adipocytes. Therefore, it may be involved in the development of MetS (Zhang et al. 2020). However, modest and significant weight loss has reduced serum fetuin-A and improved insulin sensitivity (Ren et al. 2021).

On the other hand, fetuin-B, a novel hepatokine (El-Ashmawy and Ahmed 2019), is significantly increased in NAFLD and related to insulin resistance and glucose intolerance. Additionally, clinical studies have shown an increased plasma fetuin-B in obese patients, gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) (Kralisch et al. 2017), and in women with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS), and T2DM patients (Li et al. 2018). However, GLP-1Ra therapy can significantly reduce fetuin B levels in patients with PCOS (Mokou et al. 2020). Thus, plasma fetuin-B may be considered an autonomous predictor and biomarker of insulin resistance (Qu et al. 2018).

FGF21

Fibroblast growth factor 21 (FGF21), formed by 209 amino acids, has been described as a pleiotropic hormone. It is primarily secreted in the liver and adipose tissue, promoting fatty acid oxidation, glucose metabolism, and insulin sensitivity (Urraza-Robledo et al. 2021). Also, preclinical studies have shown that FGF21 prevents high fat-induced obesity, stimulates glucose uptake, and decreases lipogenesis, which would be mediated through modulation of adiponectin (Ángel et al. 2021). Also, its attenuation may worsen glucose impairment during the transition from prediabetes to diabetes (Kondeti et al. 2021)

FGF21 has been proposed as an effective biomarker for NAFLD (Tas et al. 2020).

Epidemiological studies have shown increased FGF21 levels in chronic conditions such as MetS, obesity, dyslipidemia, insulin resistance in T2DM, NAFLD, and coronary artery disease (Magdas et al. 2019). Nonetheless, a very low level of circulating FGF21 is linked to diabetic retinopathy development (Jung et al. 2017).

FGF21 is the first known endocrine signal that is activated by protein restriction rather than energy deprivation. It is involved in the regulation of β -oxidation, ketogenesis, neoglucogenesis, and lipogenesis via activating transcription factor 4 (ATF4)(Chalvon-Demersay et al. 2019) and actively elevated in low-protein environments, also in fasting, overfeeding, ketogenic, and high-carbohydrate diets (Laeger et al. 2017). Additionally, physical activity may be an essential therapy for increasing and recovering sensitivity to FGF21 (da Silveira Campos et al. 2017). FGF21 have been shown to increase energy expenditure through enhancing browning in subcutaneous white adipose tissue and may increase preservation of muscle mass and resting metabolic rate (Kravchychyn et al. 2020).

HMBG1, Myostatin

High mobility group box 1 protein (HMGB1) is a highly conserved nuclear protein that is widely released from activated monocytes and macrophages after proinflammatory stimuli and injured or dying cells, which aggravates inflammatory processes and activates inflammatory responses by stimulating toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) (Yi et al. 2020).

Moreover, HMGB1 can be an independent risk factor for T2DM and served to predict the occurrence of T2DM combined with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Huang et al. 2019). Additionally, animal studies have shown that neutralization of HMGB1 can significantly improve liver damage and survival in a model of acute liver failure (Tian et al. 2020). Moreover, HMGB1 can be used as an

immunomodulatory factor due to its effects on modulation of DNA recombination, replication, repair, and transcription (Zhang et al. 2018). Also, it has been observed that dietary antioxidants, such as vitamins, minerals, and phytochemicals, can be used as possible therapies for acute inflammatory process induced by oxidative stress induced possibly through an HMGB1-mediated pathway, as has been seen in patients receiving mechanical ventilation (Patel et al. 2020).

Myostatin (GDF-8) is a member of the transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β) superfamily of secreted growth and differentiation factors (Ma et al. 2016). It is mainly secreted in skeletal muscle and can also be detected in other tissues, such as fat, liver, and kidney. The principal activity of myostatin is to regulate skeletal muscle growth and development negatively. However, according to the situation, it can also exert a dual function, either inhibiting or promoting adipogenesis (Deng et al. 2017).

Evidence suggests that myostatin suppression by mutation can increase insulin sensitivity; therefore, myostatin inhibition has been proposed as a therapeutic approach in T2DM (Yan et al. 2019). Nonetheless, the exact mechanism of myostatin inhibition in improving muscle glucose uptake is still unclear (Eilers et al. 2020).

Interleukins, Irisin, RBP4

Among the cytokines related to MetS and T2DM, interleukin 6 (IL-6) is the most highlighted, mainly due to its positive correlation with obesity, primarily abdominal adiposity, which can influence oxidation state and modify inflammation markers (Drehmer et al. 2020). Therefore, IL-6 and IL-10 genetic variations are being proposed as biomarkers for early screening and diagnosis of T2DM (Ayelign et al. 2021).

Concerning other interleukins, clinical studies have shown that Interleukin-29 (IL-29), a type 3 interferon family member, is significantly higher in obese patients, and its inhibition can decrease inflammatory cytokine production in macrophageadipocyte coculture systems (Lin et al. 2020). Furthermore, studies have shown an increase in IL- 36α and IL- 36γ and reduced IL-36Ra expression in T2DM patients, directly proportional to inflammation and blood lipid levels (Li et al. 2021). In addition, there is a decline in serum levels of IL-17/IL-22 in the early onset of metabolic diseases, which is strongly related to a modification in the gut microbiome (Zhou et al. 2020).

On the other hand, Irisin, a myokine that is expressed and secreted principally by muscle tissue, regulates energy metabolism through thermogenesis activation (Miazgowski et al. 2020). It is released due to peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR)- γ coactivator (PGC-1 α) stimuli. Irisin has been shown to improve fatty acid oxidation and glucose metabolism, therefore diminishing atherosclerosis progression (Saiel et al. 2021).

Irisin has positive effects on the brain, bone, and adipocytes; it enhances thermogenesis and may increase brown adipose tissue over white fat. It is also involved in physical activity benefits (Kim et al. 2018). Moreover, human studies have shown that T2DM and GDM patients present lower irisin and PGC-1 α (Al-Ghazali et al. 2020). Therefore circulating IL-6, IL-36, IL-29 may represent possible therapeutic targets for insulin resistance.

Secondly, retinol-binding protein-4 (RBP4) is a specific carrier for vitamin A (retinol) in the blood that has been newly identified as hepatokine. However, RBP4 is also secreted by adipocytes, and it may be involved in the development of insulin resistance (Liu et al. 2019). Serum RBP4 levels are significantly increased in T2DM, obese individuals, and a high risk of cardiovascular disease (Zhou et al. 2018). Moreover, high levels of RBP4-to-vitamin A ratio have been found to be related to diabetic retinopathy severity (Rostamkhani et al. 2020).

Minerals in Insulin Resistance Sensitivity

Calcium, Magnesium

Evidence suggests that trace minerals are involved in the physiopathology of obesity, insulin resistance, and other obesity-related chronic conditions. Moreover, a relationship between calcium deficiencies and zinc has been observed in overweight and obese patients (Wu et al. 2019). Moreover, total serum and ionized calcium (Ca) and magnesium (Mg) contents and the Ca/Mg ratio have been found to be lower in T2DM patients (Moustafa 2016).

A recent animal study has shown that calcium exerts positive effects even in a high-fat diet (HFD) environment, reducing the risk of insulin resistance by improving the hepatic and muscle insulin sensitivity by restoring adipokine, particularly adiponectin secretion; meanwhile, a calcium-deficient HFD results in an increased progression to insulin resistance (Das and Choudhuri 2020).

Oral calcium supplementation improves insulin sensitivity in patients with T2DM and hypertension. Moreover, supplementation with vitamin D and calcium have improved insulin sensitivity (Gagnon et al. 2014). Furthermore, clinical studies in healthy individuals have shown that calcium fructoborate supplementation can improve biomarkers of cardiovascular risk, such as lipid profile and inflammatory cytokines (Rogoveanu et al. 2015). Additionally, a recent meta-analysis has shown that high doses of vitamin D and calcium co-supplementation for less than 4 months can significantly reduce fasting glucose, insulin, thus improving insulin resistance (Asbaghi et al. 2019).

On the other hand, magnesium, an essential trace element, takes part in various physiological processes; its ion form protects vascular endothelial cells from oxidative stress by acting as a calcium antagonist. Moreover, magnesium deficiency leads to increased insulin resistance and metabolic disorders (Feng et al. 2020) that augments the risk of T2DM development and progression. Among T2DM patients, there is a 25–39% prevalence of deficit in magnesium (Liu et al. 2020).

Epidemiological studies show that magnesium intake is inversely associated with insulin resistance (Suliburska et al. 2014). Moreover, circulating magnesium levels are significantly lower in T2DM patients than nondiabetic patients, thus magnesium deficiency can be used as a prognostic factor for T2DM progression and

complications (Patil et al. 2020). Therefore, magnesium monitoring and supplementation should be considered in T2DM management since it can significantly improve the HOMA-IR index and fasting glucose in diabetic and nondiabetic subjects (Simental-Mendía et al. 2016). This effect may be associated with its antiinflammatory effect on HMGB1/TLR4/ and nuclear factor-kappa B (NF- κ B) signal pathway (Jiang et al. 2020).

Chromiun, Selenium, Zinc

Chromium trivalent complex has been shown to improve insulin sensibility significantly and exerts moderate lowering lipids activity (Król et al. 2012). Therefore, low serum level of chromium has been commonly found in T2DM patients (Hajra et al. 2016). Furthermore, preclinical studies have shown that chromium malate positively influences glucose levels and insulin resistance by regulating proteins production and genes expression in glucose uptake and insulin sensitivity signaling pathways (Feng et al. 2018). Moreover, biotin and chromium co-supplementation have considerable benefits over glucose transportation, PPAR- γ , and insulin receptor substrate 1 (IRS-1) in a HFD model (Orhan et al. 2019).

Human studies have shown that chromium supplementation can significantly reduce high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP), plasma malondialdehyde (MDA) levels, blood pressure, proinflammatory cytokines, and increase significantly total antioxidant capacity (Zhang et al. 2021). In addition, chromium picolinate has been shown to significantly reduce triglycerides, HOMA-IR, and Fetuin-A and improve insulin sensitivity in patients with NAFLD (Moradi et al. 2021).

Secondly, selenium is an essential micronutrient that integrates into proteins to form 25 selenoproteins. It is present in a wide range of foods, such as Brazil nut, fish, liver, and chicken, Its antioxidant activity has been widely recognized (Saxena et al. 2017). Additionally, selenium has insulin-mimetic activity and favors insulin synthesis; however, its effects on insulin sensitivity are dose and time-dependent (Fontenelle et al. 2018). Moreover, serum Se levels have a negative correlation with IL-6 and growth/differentiation factor-15 (GDF-15), which regulates inflammatory pathways; in addition, selenium deficiency has been found to be related to NAFLD development and progression (Prystupa et al. 2017).

On the other hand, zinc is also an essential micronutrient for human health; it is present in over 300 metalloenzymes and 2500 translation factors and is involved in diverse cellular functions and metabolic pathways (King et al. 2015). Moreover, zinc has been proposed as a supplement for modulating adipokines secretion due to its endocrine roles and is essential for insulin synthesis (Tabatabaie et al. 2021).

As a novel adipokine, zinc- α 2-glycoprotein (ZAG) plays an important role in modulating insulin sensitivity (Balaz et al. 2014) and have been shown to reduce insulin resistance, thus preventing and improving T2DM. Furthermore, circulating ZAG levels are reduced in patients with MetS. Thus, they have been suggested as an effective biomarker for the MetS diagnosis (Lei et al. 2017). Also, human studies have shown that zinc supplementation can restore adiponectin levels and increase circulating HDL in T2DM patients (Asghari et al. 2019).

Vitamins in Insulin Sensitivity

Vitamin C, E

Evidence suggests vitamin C inhibits inflammation, modulating TNF- α , mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPKs), NF- κ B signaling; moreover, vitamin C deficiency leads to the aggravation of liver fat accretion (Qing et al. 2018). Furthermore, clinical studies have shown that patients with insulin resistance present lower plasma vitamin C levels (Donin et al. 2016), and oral intake of vitamin 1500 mg/day C for 3 months can be effective for reducing obesity-related comorbidities through enhancing insulin sensitivity and reverting obesity (Ghanwat and Sontakke 2019). Moreover, vitamin C supplementation has been shown to significantly reduce triglycerides, insulin concentration, and insulin resistance, which resulted in a decreased blood glucose and HbA1c in T2DM patients (Sanguanwong et al. 2016).

On the other hand, α -tocopherol (vitamin E) had beneficial effects on lipid profile and anthropometric measurements (Dass et al. 2018). Moreover, low vitamin E concentrations are robustly related to insulin resistance, low β -cell function, and high receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) levels, which is considered an independent risk factor for atherosclerosis in T2DM (Chua et al. 2020).

Vitamin E supplementation significantly reduces HbA1c and fasting insulin concentrations in subjects with low serum vitamin E concentrations and poor glycemic control and also a significant reduction in the troponin T levels and cardiovascular risk measure through Framingham Risk Score (Praveen et al. 2019), and may exert beneficial effects reducing diabetic retinopathy progression (Chatziralli et al. 2017). Furthermore, physical activity significantly increased the modulatory effects of vitamin E on dyslipidemia, insulin resistance, blood pressure, oxidative stress, inflammation, leptin, and adiponectin in animal studies (Dallak et al. 2020).

Vitamin D, K, B

Calciferol (vitamin D) has been recognized for its relevant nonskeletal functions, primarily endocrine activities like significantly increased adiponectin concentration in GDM mothers after delivery (Hosseinzadeh et al. 2020). Likewise, human studies have shown that higher vitamin D levels are related to better postprandial glucose oxidation and enhanced insulin sensitivity (Pathak et al. 2017).

It is estimated that around 1 billion people around the globe present different degrees of vitamin D deficiency (Safarpour et al. 2020); moreover, vitamin D deficiency may be involved in the pathogenesis of metabolic disturbances such as MetS (Buchmann et al. 2021), PCOS, and increase the risk of developing

T2DM (Pramono et al. 2020). Moreover, vitamin D has been independently related to insulin resistance in T2DM (Zhao et al. 2021). Therefore, vitamin D supplementation has been shown to significantly increase insulin sensitivity and β -cell function, particularly in prediabetic patients (Munibuddin et al. 2020).

Vitamin K2 has been shown to improve insulin sensitivity and glucose metabolism through modulation of adipokine and anti-inflammatory and lipid-lowering activities related to its receptor vitamin K-dependent protein (osteocalcin) (Manna and Kalita 2016). Moreover, natural sources of vitamin K2 prevents insulin resistance by enhancing mitochondrial function through sirtuin 1 (SIRT1) signaling (Su et al. 2021). Also, higher phylloquinone (vitamin K1) levels are related to a reduced risk of T2DM, turning vitamin K1 and K2 into important nutrients for human health (Zwakenberg et al. 2019).

Secondly, vitamin B12 deficiency and borderline levels have been strongly associated with the dose of metformin (Al Saeed and Baraja 2021), whereas B12 supplementation improves glycemic control and insulin resistance in T2DM patients (Satapathy et al. 2020).

Therefore, the inclusion of B12 testing and magnesium in metformin-treated patients, particularly those with morbid obesity, is recommended (Wåhlén et al. 2017).

Between B-complex vitamins, pyridoxine (Vitamin B6) supplementation has been shown to enhance glucose tolerance, insulin secretion, reduce hepatic fat accretion, and prevent endothelial dysfunction. Furthermore, patients with fatty liver showed reduced vitamin B6 levels; thus, vitamin B6 supplementation may be adequate to prevent MetS (Liu et al. 2016). In addition, riboflavin (vitamin B2) deficiency leads to an increase in pro-inflammatory activity of adipocytes, which contributes to worsening of chronic inflammation, which is strongly related to obesity (Mazur-Bialy and Pocheć 2017).

Conclusions

Insulin resistance is the major leading cause of obesity, metabolic syndrome, NAFLD, and T2DM. Recently, the activity of hepatokines and adipokines have been highlighted due to their insulin modulation action. Moreover, trace minerals and vitamins are involved in obesity-related metabolic conditions since low serum levels of these micronutrients are strongly related to insulin resistance and T2DM progression. In addition, supplementation therapy has been positive in patients with metabolic disorders and may modulate hepatokines and adipokines activities (Figs. 1 and 2).



Fig. 1 Biomarker's effects related to insulin sensitivity. Higher levels in circulating adropin, adiponectin, ANGPTL4, FGF21, GLP-1, IL-10, and irisin leads to an increase in insulin sensitivity levels. On the other side, lower IL-36, IL-6, IL-32, IL-17, IL-29, fetuin A/B, HBMGB1, DPP4, myostatin, and RBP4 increases insulin sensitivity levels. IL-6, Interleukin-6; MCP-1, Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein 1; TNF α , Tumor Necrosis Factor- α ; PDK4, Pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 4; LPL, Lipoprotein lipase; FFA, Free fatty acid; TG, Triglyceride; PPAR, Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors; WAT, White adipose tissue; IL-10, Interleukin-10; TEE, Total energy expenditure; IS, Insulin sensitivity; IL-36, Interleukin-36; IL-32, Interleukin-32; IL-17, Interleukin-17; IL-29, Interleukin-29; GLUT4, Glucose transporter 4; AKT, Protein kinase B; IRTK, Insulin receptor tyrosine kinase; TLRs, Toll-Like Receptors; RAGE, Receptor for advanced glycation end products; IL-1 β , Interleukin-1 β ; ROS, Reactive oxygen species; VCAM-1, Vascular Cell Adhesion Molecule 1; ICAM-1, Intercellular Adhesion Molecule 1; MCP-1, Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein 1; IRs, Insulin receptors; STRA6, Stimulated by retinoic acid 6; IR, Insulin resistance



Fig. 2 Vitamins and minerals effects in insulin sensitivity and biological biomarkers. Human and animal studies included in this chapter are presented in this graphic, which shows that high levels of vitamins and minerals enhance insulin sensitivity; nevertheless, low levels of vitamin B2 are associated with decreasing insulin sensitivity. HDL-C, High-density lipoprotein cholesterol; PPAR γ , peroxisome proliferator activated receptor gamma; IR, Insulin resistance; PI3K, Phosphoinositide 3-kinase; AKT, Protein kinase B; BW, Body Weight; IL-6, Interleukin-6; HOMA-IR, Homeostatic Model Assessment of Insulin Resistance; FBG, Fasting blood glucose; TLR4, Toll like receptor 4; NFkB, Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells; TNF α , Tumor Necrosis Factor- α ; hs-CRP, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein; TG, Triglycerides; DBP, Diastolic blood pressure; MDA, Malondialdehyde; MCP-1, Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein 1; AI, Adiposity index; IPF-1, Insulin promoter factor-1; GLP-1R, Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor; TAC, total antioxidant capacity; GSHt, Total glutathione; ROS, Reactive oxygen species; IS, Insulin sensitivity; QUICKI, Quantitative Insulin Sensitivity Check Index; MAPKs, Mitogenactivated protein kinase; HbA1c, Glycosylated hemoglobin; SIRT1, Sirtuin-1; IL-1 β , Interleukin-1 β ; B12, Vitamin B12; B6, Vitamin B6

References

- Abid K, et al. ANGPTL4 variants E40K and T266M are associated with lower fasting triglyceride levels and predicts cardiovascular disease risk in type 2 diabetic Tunisian population. Lipids Health Dis. 2016;15(1):63. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12944-016-0231-6.
- Al Saeed RR, Baraja MA. Vitamin B12 deficiency in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus using metformin and the associated factors in Saudi Arabia. Saudi Med J. 2021;42(2):161–5. https:// doi.org/10.15537/SMJ.2021.2.25693.
- Alfatlawi WR, Ali ZM, Aldabagh MA-G. Impact of vitamin d elements in insulin sensitivity in type 2 diabetes mellitus (Dm2). Med-Leg Update. 2021;21(1):1499–504. https://doi.org/10.37506/ mlu.v21i1.2534.
- Al-Ghazali MJ, Ali HA, Al-Rufaie MM. Serum irisin levels as a potential marker for diagnosis of gestational diabetes mellitus. Acta Biomed. 2020;91(1):56–63. https://doi.org/10.23750/abm. v91i1.7675.

- Ángel G-SM, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 21 is associated with increased serum total antioxidant capacity and oxidised lipoproteins in humans with different stages of chronic kidney disease. Ther Adv Endocrinol Metab. 2021;12:20420188211001160. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 20420188211001160.
- Asbaghi O, et al. Effect of calcium-vitamin D co-supplementation on insulin, insulin sensitivity, and glycemia: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised clinical trials. Horm Metab Res. 2019;51(5):288–95. https://doi.org/10.1055/a-0887-0205.
- Asghari S, et al. Effects of zinc supplementation on serum adiponectin concentration and glycemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes. J Trace Elem Med Biol. 2019;55:20–5. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jtemb.2019.05.007.
- Ayelign B, et al. Association of IL-10(- 1082 A/G) and IL-6(- 174 G/C) gene polymorphism with type 2 diabetes mellitus in Ethiopia population. BMC Endocr Disord. 2021;21(1):70. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12902-021-00738-1.
- Bais S, Patel NJ. Role of adiponectin and its target receptors to control deposition of fat in obesity related disorders. Obes Med. 2019;16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.obmed.2019.100148.
- Balaz M, et al. Subcutaneous adipose tissue zinc-α2-glycoprotein is associated with adipose tissue and whole-body insulin sensitivity. Obesity. 2014;22(8):1821–9. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby. 20764.
- Biercewicz M, et al. Assessment of leptin-to-adiponectin ratio in prediction of insulin resistance and nutrition status in a geriatric female population. J Physiol Pharmacol. 2020;71(1). https://doi.org/10.26402/jpp.2020.1.02.
- Buchmann N, et al. Vitamin D insufficiency is associated with metabolic syndrome independent of insulin resistance and obesity in young adults – the Berlin Aging Study II. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2021;37:e3457. https://doi.org/10.1002/dmrr.3457.
- Castellana M, et al. Efficacy and safety of GLP-1 receptor agonists as add-on to SGLT2 inhibitors in type 2 diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1):19351. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598-019-55524-w.
- Chalvon-Demersay T, et al. Liver GCN2 controls hepatic FGF21 secretion and modulates whole body postprandial oxidation profile under a low-protein diet. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2019;317(6):E1015–21. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00022.2019.
- Chatziralli IP, et al. The effect of vitamin e on oxidative stress indicated by serum malondialdehyde in insulin-dependent type 2 diabetes mellitus patients with retinopathy. Open Ophthalmol J. 2017;11:51–8. https://doi.org/10.2174/1874364101711010051.
- Chen C, et al. The effect of dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor and glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonist in gestational diabetes mellitus: a systematic review. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2020;36(5): 375–80. https://doi.org/10.1080/09513590.2019.1703943.
- Choubey M, et al. Protective role of adiponectin against testicular impairment in high-fat diet/ streptozotocin-induced type 2 diabetic mice. Biochimie. 2020;168:41–52. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biochi.2019.10.014.
- Chua GHI, et al. Vitamin e levels in ethnic communities in Malaysia and its relation to glucose tolerance, insulin resistance and advanced glycation end products: a cross-sectional study. Nutrients. 2020;12(12):1–16. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12123659.
- da Silveira Campos RM, et al. The role of insulin resistance on FGF-21 and inflammatory markers in obese adolescents undergoing multicomponent long-term weight loss therapy. Eur Med J. 2017;2:97–105. https://doaj.org/article/9f09a25ec5f44d18b58abf5e9f5de812
- Dallak MA, et al. Exercise augments the modulatory effects of vitamin E on pre-diabetes-induced aortopathy: a potential role of adiponectin. Arch Physiol Biochem. 2020;126(4):356–62. https://doi.org/10.1080/13813455.2018.1538250.
- Das S, Choudhuri D. Dietary calcium regulates the insulin sensitivity by altering the adipokine secretion in high fat diet induced obese rats. Life Sci. 2020;250:117560. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.lfs.2020.117560.
- Dass AS, Narayana S, Venkatarathnamma PN. Effect of vitamin E and omega 3 fatty acids in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients. J Adv Pharm Technol Res. 2018;9(1):32–6. https://doi.org/10.4103/japtr.JAPTR_309_17.

- Deng B, et al. The function of myostatin in the regulation of fat mass in mammals. Nutr Metab. 2017;14:29. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12986-017-0179-1.
- Dias GD, et al. Adiponectin predicts the antioxidant capacity and size of high-density lipoprotein (HDL) in individuals with diabetes mellitus. J Diabetes Complicat. 2021;35(5):107856. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2021.107856.
- Donin AS, et al. Fruit, vegetable and vitamin C intakes and plasma vitamin C: cross-sectional associations with insulin resistance and glycaemia in 9–10 year-old children. Diabet Med. 2016;33(3):307–15. https://doi.org/10.1111/dme.13006.
- Drehmer E, et al. The relation between eating habits and abdominal fat, anthropometry, PON1 and IL-6 levels in patients with multiple sclerosis. Nutrients. 2020;12(3):744. https://doi.org/10. 3390/nu12030744.
- Dutta D, et al. Efficacy and safety of the novel dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor gemigliptin in the management of type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis. Endocrinol Metab. 2021. https://doi.org/10. 3803/EnM.2020.818.
- Ebert T, et al. Association of fetuin B with markers of liver fibrosis in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Endocrine. 2017;58(2):246–52. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12020-017-1417-z.
- Eilers W, et al. Local myostatin inhibition improves skeletal muscle glucose uptake in insulinresistant high-fat diet-fed mice. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2020;319(1):E163–74. https:// doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00185.2019.
- El-Ashmawy HM, Ahmed AM. Serum fetuin-B level is an independent marker for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in patients with type 2 diabetes. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;31(7):859–64. https://doi.org/10.1097/MEG.00000000001354.
- Erman H, et al. Role of serum adropin measurement in the assessment of insulin resistance in obesity. J Investig Med. 2021. https://doi.org/10.1136/jim-2021-001796.
- Fatima F, et al. Association of fetuin-a with dyslipidemia and insulin resistance in type-II diabetics of Pakistani population. Pak J Med Sci. 2020;36(2):64–8. https://doi.org/10.12669/pjms.36.2. 1106.
- Feng W, et al. Chromium malate alleviates high-glucose and insulin resistance in L6 skeletal muscle cells by regulating glucose uptake and insulin sensitivity signaling pathways. Biometals. 2018;31(5):891–908. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10534-018-0132-4.
- Feng J, et al. Role of magnesium in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Biol Trace Elem Res. 2020;196(1):74– 85. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12011-019-01922-0.
- Fontenelle LC, et al. The role of selenium in insulin resistance. Braz J Pharm Sci. 2018;54(1). https://doi.org/10.1590/s2175-97902018000100139.
- Gagnon C, et al. Effects of combined calcium and vitamin D supplementation on insulin secretion, insulin sensitivity and β-cell function in multi-ethnic vitamin D-deficient adults at risk for type 2 diabetes: a pilot randomised, placebo-controlled trial. PLoS One. 2014;9(10):e109607. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0109607.
- Gariballa S, et al. Total adiponectin in overweight and obese subjects and its response to visceral fat loss. BMC Endocr Disord. 2019;19(1):55. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12902-019-0386-z.
- Ghadimi M, et al. Decreased insulin resistance in diabetic patients by influencing Sirtuin1 and Fetuin-A following supplementation with ellagic acid: a randomised controlled trial. Diabetol Metab Syndr. 2021;13(1):16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13098-021-00633-8.
- Ghanwat GH, Sontakke AV. Effect of vitamin C supplementation on insulin resistance, β-cell function and insulin sensitivity in obese and non obese individuals. Indian J Public Health Res Dev. 2019;10(1):183–8. https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2014-0302.
- Hajra B, et al. Insulin sensitivity to trace metals (chromium, manganese) in type 2 diabetic patients and non diabetic individuals. J Ayub Med Coll Abbottabad. 2016;28(3):534–6. https://jamc. ayubmed.edu.pk/jamc/index.php/jamc/article/view/579/409
- Hakim O, et al. Adiponectin is associated with insulin sensitivity in white European men but not black African men. Diabet Med. 2021;38:e14571. https://doi.org/10.1111/dme.14571.
- Hong S-K, et al. Dipeptidyl peptidase 4 inhibitor attenuates obesity-induced myocardial fibrosis by inhibiting transforming growth factor-βl and Smad2/3 pathways in high-fat diet-induced obesity rat model. Metab Clin Exp. 2017;76:42–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2017.07.007.

- Hosseinzadeh M, et al. The effect of a single mega dose injection of vitamin D on serum adiponectin concentration at first gestational diabetes mellitus: a randomised controlled clinical trial. Clin Nutr Exp. 2020;33:39–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yclnex.2020.08.001.
- Huang J, et al. Clinical significance of high-mobility group box-1 (HMGB1) in subjects with type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) combined with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). J Clin Lab Anal. 2019;33(6):e22910. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcla.22910.
- Janssen AWF, et al. Loss of angiopoietin-like 4 (ANGPTL4) in mice with diet-induced obesity uncouples visceral obesity from glucose intolerance partly via the gut microbiota. Diabetologia. 2018;61(6):1447–58. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-018-4583-5.
- Jasaszwili M, et al. Adropin as a fat-burning hormone with multiple functions-review of a decade of research. Molecules. 2020;25(3):549. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25030549.
- Jiang J, et al. Magnesium sulfate ameliorates sepsis-induced diaphragm dysfunction in rats via inhibiting HMGB1/TLR4/NF-κB pathway. Neuroreport. 2020;31(12):902–8. https://doi.org/10. 1097/WNR.00000000001478.
- Jo D, et al. Role of adiponectin and brain derived neurotrophic factor in metabolic regulation involved in adiposity and body fat browning. J Clin Med. 2021;10(1):1–16. https://doi.org/10. 3390/jcm10010056.
- Jung C-H, et al. The U-shaped relationship between fibroblast growth factor 21 and microvascular complication in type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Diabetes Complicat. 2017;31(1):134–40. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2016.10.017.
- Khoramipour K, et al. Adiponectin: structure, physiological functions, role in diseases, and effects of nutrition. Nutrients. 2021;13(4):1180. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu13041180.
- Kim H, et al. Irisin mediates effects on bone and fat via αV integrin receptors. Cell. 2018;175(7): 1756–1768.e17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2018.10.025%0A.
- King JC, et al. Biomarkers of nutrition for development (BOND)-zinc review. J Nutr. 2015;146(4): 858S–85S. https://doi.org/10.3945/jn.115.220079.
- Kondeti S, et al. Attenuation of FGF21 signalling might aggravate the impairment of glucose homeostasis during the high sucrose diet induced transition from prediabetes to diabetes in WNIN/GR-Ob rats. Biomed Pharmacother. 2021;137:111252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2021.111252.
- Kralisch S, et al. Regulation of the novel adipokines/hepatokines fetuin A and fetuin B in gestational diabetes mellitus. Metabolism. 2017;68:88–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2016.11.017.
- Kravchychyn ACP, et al. Higher increase degree of FGF21 post long-term interdisciplinary weight loss therapy preserves the free fat mass and rest metabolic rate in adolescents with obesity. Arch Endocrinol Metab. 2020;64(4):479–82. https://doi.org/10.20945/2359-399700000224.
- Król E, et al. Effects of combined dietary chromium (III) propionate complex and thiamine supplementation on insulin sensitivity, blood biochemical indices, and mineral levels in highfructose-fed rats. Biol Trace Elem Res. 2012;150(1):350–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12011-012-9515-5.
- Laeger T, et al. FGF21 improves glucose homeostasis in an obese diabetes-prone mouse model independent of body fat changes. Diabetologia. 2017;60(11):2274–84. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00125-017-4389-x.
- Lei L, et al. Circulating zinc-α2-glycoprotein levels are low in newly diagnosed patients with metabolic syndrome and correlate with adiponectin. Nutr Metab. 2017;14(1):53. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s12986-017-0210-6.
- Li Z, et al. Fetuin-B links nonalcoholic fatty liver disease to type 2 diabetes via inducing insulin resistance: association and path analyses. Cytokine. 2018;108:145–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.cyto.2018.03.023.
- Li X, et al. Mechanisms by which adiponectin reverses high fat diet-induced insulin resistance in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2020;117(51):32584–93. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 1922169117.
- Li Y, et al. Serum IL-36 cytokines levels in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients and their association with obesity, insulin resistance, and inflammation. J Clin Lab Anal. 2021;35(2):e23611. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcla.23611.
- Lin T-Y, et al. IL-29 promoted obesity-induced inflammation and insulin resistance. Cell Mol Immunol. 2020;17(4):369–79. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41423-019-0262-9.
- Lin C-H, et al. Methylation status of vault rna 2-1 promoter is a predictor of glycemic response to glucagon-like peptide-1 analog therapy in type 2 diabetes mellitus. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care. 2021;9(1):e001416. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjdrc-2020-001416.
- Liu Z, et al. Vitamin B6 prevents endothelial dysfunction, insulin resistance, and hepatic lipid accumulation in Apoe -/- mice fed with high-fat diet. J Diabetes Res. 2016;2016:1748065. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/1748065.
- Liu Y, et al. Retinol binding protein 4 abundance in plasma and tissues is related to body fat deposition in cattle. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1):8056. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-44509-4.
- Liu H, et al. Magnesium supplementation enhances insulin sensitivity and decreases insulin resistance in diabetic rats. Iran J Basic Med Sci. 2020;23(8):990–8. https://doi.org/10.22038/ ijbms.2020.40859.9650.
- Liu F, et al. Efficacy of once-daily glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonist lixisenatide as an add-on treatment to basal insulin in Asian and white adults with type 2 diabetes mellitus: an individual-level pooled analysis of phase III studies. J Diabetes Investig. 2021;12:1386. https:// doi.org/10.1111/jdi.13504.
- Luo F, et al. Protective effect of adropin against high fat diet-induced obese diabetic wistar rats via nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 pathway. Pharmacogn Mag. 2020;16(69):250–7. https://doi.org/10.4103/pm.pm 434 19.
- Ma Y, Li X, Zhang H, Ou Y, Zhang Z, Li S, Wu F, Sheng Z, Liao E. Serum myostatin in central south Chinese postmenopausal women: Relationship with body composition, lipids and bone mineral density. Endocr Res. 2016;41(3):223–228. https://doi.org/10.3109/07435800.2015. 1044609
- Magdas A, et al. The relationship of circulating fibroblast growth factor 21 levels with pericardial fat: the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1):16423. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-52933-9.
- Manna P, Kalita J. Beneficial role of vitamin K supplementation on insulin sensitivity, glucose metabolism, and the reduced risk of type 2 diabetes: a review. Nutrition. 2016;32(7):732–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nut.2016.01.011.
- Mazur-Bialy AI, Pocheć E. Vitamin B2 deficiency enhances the pro-inflammatory activity of adipocyte, consequences for insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome development. Life Sci. 2017;178:9–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2017.04.010.
- Miazgowski T, et al. Cardiometabolic health, visceral fat and circulating irisin levels: results from a real-world weight loss study. J Endocrinol Investig. 2020;44:1243. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s40618-020-01415-1.
- Mokou M, et al. Elevated circulating Fetuin-B levels are associated with insulin resistance and reduced by GLP-1RA in newly diagnosed PCOS women. Mediat Inflamm. 2020;2020: 2483435. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/2483435.
- Moon HU, et al. The association of adiponectin and visceral fat with insulin resistance and β-cell dysfunction. J Korean Med Sci. 2019;34(1):e7. https://doi.org/10.3346/jkms.2019.34.e7.
- Moradi F, et al. A pilot study of the effects of chromium picolinate supplementation on serum fetuin-A, metabolic and inflammatory factors in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. J Trace Elem Med Biol. 2021;63:126659. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jtemb.2020.126659.
- Moustafa SR. Association of insulin resistance, β-cell function impairment and calcium, magnesium, and fetuin – a concentrations in women with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Acta Facult Med Naissensis. 2016;33(3):187–97. https://doi.org/10.1515/afmnai-2016-0020.
- Munibuddin A, Urjita Z, Khaled B. Effect of vitamin D3 supplementation on insulin sensitivity in prediabetes with hypovitaminosis D: a randomised placebo-controlled trial. Cureus. 2020;12 (12):e12009. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.12009.
- Nielsen SD, et al. Medium chain fatty acids from milk induce angiopoietin-like 4 (ANGPTL4) gene expression. Int Dairy J. 2015;42:34–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.idairyj.2014.10.011.

- Norrbacka K, et al. Glucagon-like peptide 1 receptor agonists in type 2 diabetes mellitus: data from a real-world study in Spain. Diabetes Ther. 2021;12(5):1535–51. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13300-021-01039-5.
- Onoviran OF, et al. Effects of glucagon-like peptide 1 receptor agonists on comorbidities in older patients with diabetes mellitus. Ther Adv Chronic Dis. 2019;10:2040622319862691. https:// doi.org/10.1177/2040622319862691.
- Orhan C, et al. Effect of supplementing chromium histidinate and picolinate complexes along with biotin on insulin sensitivity and related metabolic indices in rats fed a high-fat diet. Food Sci Nutr. 2019;7(1):183–94. https://doi.org/10.1002/fsn3.851.
- Patel V, et al. Dietary antioxidants significantly attenuate hyperoxia-induced acute inflammatory lung injury by enhancing macrophage function via reducing the accumulation of airway HMGB1. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21(3):977. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21030977.
- Pathak K, et al. Postprandial changes in glucose oxidation and insulin sensitivity in metabolic syndrome: influence of fibroblast growth factor 21 and vitamin D status. Nutrition. 2017;37:37– 42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nut.2016.12.007.
- Patil RS, et al. Serum magnesium in diabetes mellitus. Int J Curr Res Rev. 2020;12(18):131–5. https://doi.org/10.31782/IJCRR.2020.121815.
- Peng Y-J, et al. Adiponectin and adiponectin receptor 1 overexpression enhance inflammatory bowel disease. J Biomed Sci. 2018;25(1):1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12929-018-0419-3.
- Pérez-Durillo FT, et al. Influence of diet and gender on plasma DPP4 activity and GLP-1 in patients with metabolic syndrome: an experimental pilot study. Molecules. 2018;23(7):1564. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules23071564.
- Piumngam K, Siriprungpong P, Roytrakul S. Serum carbonic anhydrase combined with adiponectin as biomarkers of insulin resistance. ScienceAsia. 2021;47(3):287–92. https://doi.org/10.2306/ SCIENCEASIA1513-1874.2021.030.
- Pramono A, et al. The effect of vitamin D supplementation on insulin sensitivity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetes Care. 2020;43(7):1659–69. https://doi.org/10.2337/ dc19-2265.
- Praveen D, Chowdary PR, Aanandhi MV. Effects of vitamin E supplementation on glycemic control and cardiovascular risk in patients with type II diabetes mellitus. Drug Invent Today. 2019;12(11):2529–31. https://jprsolutions.info/article_detail.php?article_id=4431
- Prystupa A, et al. Association between serum selenium concentrations and levels of proinflammatory and profibrotic cytokines-interleukin-6 and growth differentiation factor-15, in patients with alcoholic liver cirrhosis. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2017;14(4):437. https:// doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14040437.
- Qing Z, et al. Vitamin C deficiency aggravates tumor necrosis factor α-induced insulin resistance. Eur J Pharmacol. 2018;829:1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2018.03.044.
- Qu H, et al. Plasma fetuin-B concentrations are associated with insulin resistance and first-phase glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in individuals with different degrees of glucose tolerance. Diabetes Metab. 2018;44(6):488–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabet.2018.02.003.
- Ren G, et al. Serum fetuin-A and Ser312 phosphorylated fetuin-A responses and markers of insulin sensitivity after a single bout of moderate intensity exercise. Physiol Rep. 2021;9(5):e14773. https://doi.org/10.14814/phy2.14773.
- Rogoveanu O-C, et al. Effects of calcium fructoborate on levels of C-reactive protein, total cholesterol, low-density lipoprotein, triglycerides, IL-1β, IL-6, and MCP-1: a double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical study. Biol Trace Elem Res. 2015;163(1–2):124–31. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s12011-014-0155-9.
- Romacho T, et al. DPP4 deletion in adipose tissue improves hepatic insulin sensitivity in dietinduced obesity. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2020;318(5):E590–9. https://doi.org/10.1152/ ajpendo.00323.2019.
- Rostamkhani H, et al. Correlation of plasma RBP4-to-vitamin a ratio with severity of diabetic retinopathy. J Adv Med Biomed Res. 2020;28(129):175–82. https://doi.org/10.30699/jambs.28. 129.175.

- Rotella CM, Pala L, Mannucci E. Glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) and metabolic diseases. J Endocrinol Investig. 2005;28(10):746–58. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03347560.
- Safarpour P, et al. Vitamin D supplementation improves SIRT1, Irisin, and glucose indices in overweight or obese type 2 diabetic patients: a double-blind randomised placebo-controlled clinical trial. BMC Fam Pract. 2020;21(1):26. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12875-020-1096-3.
- Saiel AA, Rashied RM, Al-Rawi KF. The association of serum irisin with vitamin D and body mass index in healthy adults. Med-Leg Update. 2021;21(2):58–62. https://doi.org/10.37506/mlu.v21i2. 2645.
- Sanguanwong S, et al. Oral supplementation of vitamin C reduced lipid peroxidation and insulin resistance in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Int J Toxicol Pharmacol Res. 2016;8(3):114–9. http://ijtpr.com/volume8issue3/
- Satapathy S, et al. Folic acid and vitamin B12 supplementation in subjects with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a multi-arm randomised controlled clinical trial. Complement Ther Med. 2020;53: 102526. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctim.2020.102526.
- Saxena A, et al. Dietary selenium protects adiponectin knockout mice against chronic inflammation induced colon cancer. Cancer Biol Ther. 2017;18(4):257–67. https://doi.org/10.1080/15384047. 2016.1276130.
- Siciliano PDO, et al. DPP4 activity is related to body weight and central fat in postmenopausal women. Diabetes Metab Syndr. 2019;13(5):3031–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsx.2018.07.008.
- Simental-Mendía LE, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials on the effects of magnesium supplementation on insulin sensitivity and glucose control. Pharmacol Res. 2016;111:272–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PHRS.2016.06.019.
- Stefan N, et al. Plasma fetuin-A levels and the risk of type 2 diabetes. Diabetes. 2008;57(10):2762– 7. https://doi.org/10.2337/db08-0538.
- Su X, et al. Vitamin K2 alleviates insulin resistance in skeletal muscle by improving mitochondrial function via SIRT1 signaling. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2021;34(2):99–117. https://doi.org/10. 1089/ars.2019.7908.
- Suliburska J, et al. Changes in mineral status are associated with improvements in insulin sensitivity in obese patients following l-arginine supplementation. Eur J Nutr. 2014;53(2):387–93. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00394-013-0533-7.
- Tabatabaie M, et al. Zinc supplementation might not affect serum leptin and adiponectin levels in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled clinical trials. Iran J Public Health. 2021;50(2):245–56. https://doi.org/10.18502/ijph.v50i2.5337.
- Tas E, et al. Fibroblast growth factor-21 to adiponectin ratio: a potential biomarker to monitor liver fat in children with obesity. Front Endocrinol. 2020;11:654. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2020.00654.
- Tian T, et al. Sphingosine kinase 1 regulates HMGB1 translocation by directly interacting with calcium/calmodulin protein kinase II-δ in sepsis-associated liver injury. Cell Death Dis. 2020;11 (12):1037. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-020-03255-6.
- Urraza-Robledo AI, et al. FGF21 serum levels are related to insulin resistance, metabolic changes and obesity in Mexican people living with HIV (PLWH). PLoS One. 2021;16(5):e0252144. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0252144.
- Wåhlén A, Haenni A, Johansson H-E. Do we need to measure vitamin B12 and magnesium in morbidly obese patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus? Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes: Targets Ther. 2017;10:151–4. https://doi.org/10.2147/DMSO.S131340.
- Wang Y, et al. Angiopoietin-like protein 4 improves glucose tolerance and insulin resistance but induces liver steatosis in high-fat-diet mice. Mol Med Rep. 2016;14(4):3293–300. https://doi. org/10.3892/mmr.2016.5637.
- Wu X, et al. Association of serum calcium and insulin resistance with hypertension risk: a prospective population-based study. J Am Heart Assoc. 2019;8(1):e009585. https://doi.org/10. 1161/JAHA.118.009585.
- Yan H, et al. Pretreatment of rAAV-mediated expression of myostatin propeptide lowers type 2 diabetes incidence in C57BL/6 mice on a high-fat diet. Hum Gene Ther. 2019;30(5):661–71. https://doi.org/10.1089/hum.2018.140.

- Yang W, et al. Exercise suppresses NLRP3 inflammasome activation in mice with diet-induced-NASH: a plausible role of adropin. Lab Investig. 2020;101:369. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41374-020-00508-y.
- Yang W, et al. Exercise suppresses NLRP3 inflammasome activation in mice with diet-induced-NASH: a plausible role of adropin. Lab Investig. 2021;101(3):369–80. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41374-020-00508-y.
- Yi S-J, et al. Compound amino acid combined with high-dose vitamin B6 attenuate traumatic coagulopathy via inhibiting inflammation by HMGB1/TLR4/NF-κB pathway. J Inflamm. 2020;17(1):30. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12950-020-00258-0.
- Zarrati M, et al. Effects of probiotic yogurt on serum omentin-1, adropin, and nesfatin-1 concentrations in overweight and obese participants under low-calorie diet. Probiotics Antimicrob Proteins. 2019;11(4):1202–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12602-018-9470-3.
- Zhang Z, Li M-D. Setting fire to fat. J Biol Chem. 2019;294(25):9720–1. https://doi.org/10.1074/ jbc.H119.009488.
- Zhang H, et al. Vitamin D reduces inflammatory response in asthmatic mice through HMGB1/ TLR4/NF-κB signaling pathway. Mol Med Rep. 2018;17(2):2915–20. https://doi.org/10.3892/ mmr.2017.8216.
- Zhang L-Y, et al. Effect of liraglutide therapy on serum fetuin A in patients with type 2 diabetes and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol. 2020;44(5):674–80. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.clinre.2020.01.007.
- Zhang X, et al. Effect of chromium supplementation on hs-CRP, TNF-α and IL-6 as risk factor for cardiovascular diseases: a meta-analysis of randomised-controlled trials. Complement Ther Clin Pract. 2021;42:101291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctcp.2020.101291.
- Zhao H, et al. Vitamin d status is independently associated with insulin resistance in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Risk Manag Healthc Policy. 2021;14:1393–9. https://doi.org/10.2147/ RMHP.S299963.
- Zhou W, et al. Involvement of RBP4 in diabetic atherosclerosis and the role of vitamin D intervention. J Diabetes Res. 2018;2018:7329861. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/7329861.
- Zhou X, et al. Longitudinal analysis of serum cytokine levels and gut microbial abundance links IL-17/IL-22 with clostridia and insulin sensitivity in humans. Diabetes. 2020;69(8):1833–42. https://doi.org/10.2337/db19-0592.
- Zwakenberg SR, et al. Circulating phylloquinone concentrations and risk of type 2 diabetes: a mendelian randomisation study. Diabetes. 2019;68(1):220–5. https://doi.org/10.2337/db18-0543.



Serum Uric Acid and Metabolic Markers 10 in Diabetes

eGFR, HbA1c, and Beyond

Mohamed Rafiullah and Khalid Siddiqui

Contents

Introduction	240
Metabolic Markers in Diabetes	241
Uric Acid	242
Uric Acid in Diabetes Pathophysiology	243
Uric Acid as a Biomarker in Diabetes	245
Serum Uric Acid as a Predictor of Diabetes Risk	245
Serum Uric Acid, Blood Glucose Level, and HbA1c	249
Uric Acid in Diabetic Complications	249
Uric Acid in Macrovascular Complications	250
Uric Acid in Microvascular Complications	251
eGFR and Serum Uric Acid Levels	252
Applications to Prognosis and Other Diseases or Conditions	253
Applications to Prognosis	253
Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions	253
Mini-Dictionary of Terms	254
Key Facts of Serum Uric Acid and Metabolic Markers in Diabetes: eGFR, HbA1c,	
and Beyond	254
Key Facts of Uric Acid and Diabetes	254
Key Facts of Uric Acid and Diabetic Complications	254
Summary Points	255
References	255

M. Rafiullah (🖂) · K. Siddiqui

e-mail: mrafiullah@ksu.edu.sa; ksiddiqui@ksu.edu.sa

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

Strategic Center for Diabetes Research, College of Medicine, King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2_11

Abstract

Uric acid, an organic compound, is the end product of purine metabolism in the liver. Hyperuricemic conditions are implicated in the pathogenesis of diabetes. Elevated uric acid level causes oxidative stress, leads to the activation of inflammatory processes, inhibits insulin pathway, and increases hepatic glucose production and dysfunction and death of pancreatic beta cells. Serum uric acid levels are found to be high in the early stages of impaired glucose metabolism. The role of uric acid in the development of abnormal glucose metabolism by causing insulin resistance, impaired insulin secretion, and beta-cell dysfunction suggests it could be an early indicator of diabetes risk. Uric acid is involved in inducing oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction and also worsens insulin resistance. All these factors are involved in the development of diabetic complications as well. In this chapter, we discuss serum uric acid as a biomarker in diabetes, its complications, and its relationship with HbA1c and eGFR.

Keywords

Serum uric acid · Diabetes · Biomarkers · Diabetic complications · eGFR · HbA1c · Diabetes risk · Diabetic retinopathy · Diabetic nephropathy · Prediabetes

-									
Δ	h	h	ro	1/1	12	tı	0	n	c
~	ν	v	-	v	а	u	υ		2

BCAA	Branched-chain amino acids
BMI	Body mass index
CRP	C-reactive protein
eGFR	Estimated glomerular filtration rate
eNOS	Endothelial nitric oxide synthase
ENPP1	Ectonucleotide pyrophosphatase/phosphodiesterase-1
HDL-C	High-density lipoprotein cholesterol
IL-6	Interleukin-6
LDL-C	Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol
NO	Nitric oxide
RAAS	Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SUA	Serum uric acid
TNFα	Tumor necrosis factor-α

Introduction

Biomarkers are surrogate indicators of disease risk, presence of the disease, and its progression. Even as proteins are extensively studied as biomarkers in chronic diseases, metabolites are gaining importance. Metabolites are end products of cellular metabolism. These are small molecules and are relatively easier to measure in biological samples than proteins. The human metabolome database contains

~115,000 entries (Wishart et al. 2018). The perturbation in metabolism starts early in many chronic diseases. Identifying appropriate metabolic markers will help in detecting the disease in a very early stage. Metabolic diseases such as diabetes have a very long period of metabolic abnormalities before the onset of the disease. Therefore, metabolic markers can be reliably applied for predicting the future risk of diabetes and its current status, response to treatments, and prognosis.

The traditional risk factors such as age, gender, BMI, fasting glucose levels, and insulin levels provide a very good risk estimate for predicting diabetes mellitus. However, these markers are useful only in the presence of overt metabolic changes, and they fail to detect the metabolic abnormalities that usually begin several years before the onset of diabetes. Changes in glycemia and insulin levels occur long after the initial metabolic abnormalities began. Therefore, blood glucose levels and insulin levels are not good markers for the early detection of the disease. Diabetes is usually preceded by prediabetes for years. Metabolic alterations that pave the way for prediabetes occur many years before prediabetes. Lifestyle changes and specific prevention programs are reported to prevent or delay diabetes and reverse the prediabetic condition in many patients. Thus, to apply preventive strategies, there is a need to identify biomarkers other than blood glucose and insulin that can reliably predict the disease risk at a very early stage.

Diabetes is a progressive disease, and it becomes difficult to control the disease over time. Sustained hyperglycemia damages the tissues and causes complications in multiple organs. Microvascular (retinopathy and nephropathy) and macrovascular (cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases) are some of the most common complications of diabetes. Since the tissue damages cannot be reversed, early disease control is essential to prevent diabetic complications. Even though glycemia is a significant risk factor for diabetic complications, it can change quickly and is unreliable for predicting the future risk of developing complications. Further, it cannot indicate the extent of metabolic changes and the damage to tissues. Therefore, identifying molecules involved in the abnormal cellular metabolic alterations will be the key to knowing about the disease progression and the extent of damage happening. Metabolic markers that are highly sensitive and specific are needed to detect the early risk of diabetes and its complications.

Metabolic Markers in Diabetes

Associations between metabolic pathways and the disease have been explored to find suitable metabolic markers. The metabolomic approach provides an excellent opportunity to explore all the associated metabolites with the disease condition. It simultaneously measures many metabolites in the given biological sample. Mass spectrometry and nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy are the two commonly used technologies for metabolomic studies. These techniques are often coupled with a separation technique to yield a reliable and accurate measure of different metabolites. In recent years, the application of metabolomics to type 2 diabetes has provided a better understanding of different pathophysiological pathways and the

identification of several novel biomarkers. Amino acids are the most common metabolites found associated with diabetes. Protein and carbohydrate metabolism are interlinked at the molecular level. The metabolites of amino acids form the fuel for gluconeogenesis. The precursors of gluconeogenesis, such as oxaloacetate and pyruvate, are produced from the deamination of amino acids (Bender 2012). Free amino acids produced from the de novo biosynthesis using the Krebs cycle intermediates modulate the glucagon and insulin secretion. Overactive glucagon-induced gluconeogenesis has been found in diabetic conditions (Girard 2017). Therefore, the excess and free amino acids can be utilized as good metabolite markers.

Serum amino acid levels were linked to the incidence of type 2 diabetes. Several longitudinal cohort studies have linked altered baseline amino acid levels to the increased incidence of diabetes over time (Wang et al. 2011; Stancáková et al. 2012; Bender 2012; Palmer et al. 2015; Tillin et al. 2015; Yamakado et al. 2015; Chen et al. 2016, 2019). Branched-chain amino acids (BCAA) are directly implicated in diabetes risk (Nawaz and Siddiqui 2020). Increased levels of BCAAs were reported to increase insulin resistance in several studies. BCAAs are believed to cause insulin resistance by increasing the phosphorylation of insulin receptors through the activation of mammalian targets of rapamycin complex 1 (Yoon 2016). Higher levels of BCAAs are associated with older age, male sex, and metabolic syndrome, as well as with obesity, cardiovascular risk, dyslipidemia, hypertension, and uric acid (Hu et al. 2016). More than 50 amino acids and their metabolites are reported to be associated with increased type 2 diabetes (Hameed et al. 2020).

Central obesity is associated with insulin resistance, metabolic abnormalities, and type 2 diabetes. Abdominal fat deposition seen in central obesity causes lipid metabolism alterations and leads to dyslipidemia (Papaetis et al. 2015). The alteration in lipid metabolism occurs several years before the onset of dysglycemia. Therefore, the classical biomarkers of dyslipidemia such as hypertriglyceridemia, increased low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), and reduced high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) are also able to predict the risk of diabetes (Habiba et al. 2016). The lipidomic biomarkers of diabetes include glycerolipids, phospholipids, acylcarnitines, and free fatty acids. Several prospective and cross-sectional studies have found lipid metabolites such as triacylglycerols, cholesterol esters, glycerophospholipids, diacyl phosphatidylcholines, alkyl acyl phosphatidylcholines, lysophosphatidylethanolamines, sphingomyelins, and ceramides as biomarkers predicting the risk of diabetes and prediabetes in comparison to healthy individuals (Hameed et al. 2020).

Uric Acid

Uric acid, an organic compound, is the end product of purine metabolism in the liver. The source of endogenous purines is nucleic acids adenine and guanine. Enzymatic degradation of these nucleic acids results in the production of uric acid. Various animal proteins from the diet constitute the source of exogenous purines. Fructose from fruits and added sugar also contributes to the production of uric acid. However, the impact of dietary purines on serum uric acid (SUA) levels is significantly less. A purine-rich diet will cause an increase in the SUA levels by 1–2 mg/dl only (Burini 2012). It is excreted mainly via the kidneys and one-third through the intestine. It is a weak acid and circulates as monosodium salt. The SUA levels increase with age and are higher in men. Normal SUA levels are 2.5–7.0 mg/dl in men and 1.5–6.0 mg/dl in women. The levels increase in postmenopausal women to reach the range seen in men.

Uric acid has low solubility in water and plasma (6.8 mg/dl). Therefore, when the blood uric acid levels approach the upper limit of the normal range, it will form insoluble urate crystals. However, plasma protein binding increases the solubility of urate in the blood. Classically, the hyperuricemic condition is implicated in the development of gout and renal stones. Recent studies have indicated that uric acid is associated with several characteristics of cardiometabolic diseases. It is thought to be actively involved in the pathological processes of insulin resistance, hypertension, cardiovascular disease, and chronic kidney disease. Altered SUA levels may indicate changes in the metabolic state. Therefore, SUA level can be a potential biomarker of cardiometabolic diseases. We will discuss the role of uric acid as a biomarker in diabetes and associated conditions in this chapter.

Uric Acid in Diabetes Pathophysiology

SUA levels in healthy adults remain relatively constant. However, changes in its production and excretion may alter the levels and lead to increased or decreased uric acid levels in the body fluids. Hyperuricemic conditions are implicated in the pathogenesis of diabetes. Increased uric acid level causes oxidative stress, leads to the activation of inflammatory processes, inhibits insulin pathway, and increases hepatic glucose production and dysfunction and death of pancreatic beta cells (Fig. 1). Higher uric acid levels are associated with the upregulation of inflammatory cytokines. SUA is positively correlated with acute-phase proteins such as C-reactive protein (CRP), fibrinogen, ferritin, component C3, and erythrocyte sedimentation rate in a non-diabetic cohort. It was further confirmed that uric acid stimulated the expression of CRP, fibrinogen, ferritin, and component C3 in a dose-dependent manner (Spiga et al. 2017). In a large population-based cross-sectional study, SUA levels were found to be associated with IL-6, TNF- α , and CRP. These inflammatory cytokines play a central role in the pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes (Tsalamandris et al. 2019).

The production of uric acid generates reactive oxygen species (ROS) during the process. Uric acid is a potent antioxidant in the plasma. However, it increases the ROS in vascular tissue and acts as a prooxidant. Uric acid is shown to contribute to oxidative stress. It increased the reactive oxygen species production under physiological conditions independent of xanthine oxidase, an oxidative enzyme that catalyzes the production of uric acid (Kurajoh et al. 2021). Under hyperuric conditions, the oxidative stress and inflammatory response are related to the uric acid-induced



Fig. 1 Role of uric acid in the pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes mellitus. NF- κ B-iNOS-NO, nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B)-iNOS-NO signaling pathway; ROS-AMPK-ERK, reactive oxygen species (ROS)-AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK)-extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) signaling pathway; ENPP1, ectonucleotide pyrophosphatase/phosphodiesterase 1; AMPD, adenosine monophosphate dehydrogenase; AMPK, adenosine monophosphate protein kinase

oxidative stress (Zhou et al. 2018). The uric acid-mediated oxidative stress has been implicated in activating inflammatory factors, lipid peroxidation, DNA damage, and cell death (Yu et al. 2010). Uric acid is also reported to cause endothelial dysfunction through oxidative stress. It is thought to be mediated through the activation of the renin-angiotensin system (Yu et al. 2010).

Pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes mainly revolves around the development of insulin resistance and beta-cell dysfunction. SUA concentrations have been shown to be associated with insulin resistance, impaired insulin secretion, and beta-cell death (Ghasemi 2021). Initially, it was thought high uric acid levels did not affect beta-cell function. But, a recent animal study has shown that hyperuricemia promotes pancreatic beta-cell death (Lu et al. 2020). In a cross-sectional study, SUA levels were associated with insulin resistance and impaired insulin secretion. A SUA level of 5.5 mg/dl identified the people with insulin resistance (Martínez-Sánchez et al. 2021). In another cross-sectional study, similar results were obtained. SUA levels were independently associated with impaired fasting glucose and insulin resistance (Yu et al. 2021). High uric acid concentrations decrease the insulin-induced nitric oxide (NO) synthesis in the endothelium by reducing eNOS expression and direct inactivation of NO (Bahadoran et al. 2021). The uric acid-induced endothelial insulin resistance eventually leads to the development of systemic insulin resistance. Further, uric acid is reported to interfere with insulin signaling at the receptor level directly. Uric acid activates ectonucleotide pyrophosphatase/phosphodiesterase 1 (ENPP1), a transmembrane glycoprotein that deactivates insulin receptors. In vitro studies have shown that uric acid induced the binding of ENPP1 to the insulin receptor (Tassone et al. 2018).

The effect of uric acid on basal insulin secretion and glucose-induced secretion is not consistent. It inhibited glucose-induced insulin secretion in the in vitro studies involving rat and mouse pancreatic islets and pancreatic beta-cell lines. However, uric acid increased the glucose-induced insulin secretion in the perfused rat pancreas and in type 2 diabetes patients under hyperglycemic clamp conditions (Ghasemi 2021). These studies reflect the acute effect of uric acid on insulin secretion by beta cells. But continued high SUA levels cause impaired insulin signaling and beta-cell dysfunction. Therefore, prolonged exposure to high uric acid levels will ultimately lead to impaired glucose metabolism and increased blood glucose levels.

Interestingly, the association between SUA levels and blood glucose has not been consistent among people with diabetes. The relationship between glycemia and uric acid levels varies according to the other confounding factors. Hyperglycemia causes hyperfiltration in the kidneys and can result in the increased excretion of uric acid (Wei et al. 2016). High urinary excretion of glucose increases the urinary excretion of uric acid and leads to lower SUA levels (Qin et al. 2021). On the other hand, low eGFR levels or decreased renal function, a condition often found in patients with diabetes, will affect the clearance of uric acid. Our recent cross-sectional study on patients with type 2 diabetes confirmed the influence of eGFR on the relationship between SUA levels and glycemia (Rafiullah et al. 2020).

Uric Acid as a Biomarker in Diabetes

The relationship between SUA levels and diabetes depends on the period of assessment. Several studies have evaluated the use of SUA levels as a predictor of diabetes risk in healthy individuals, a predictor of diabetes prognosis in patients with diabetes, and a predictor of diabetic complications in patients with diabetes (Table 1). SUA concentrations vary throughout the time according to the current clinical condition and different comorbidities. SUA levels are high in the early stages of impaired glucose metabolism but come down once the blood glucose levels reach the diabetic range. Age, gender differences, and renal function influence the relationship between SUA with diabetes.

Serum Uric Acid as a Predictor of Diabetes Risk

The role of uric acid in the development of abnormal glucose metabolism by causing insulin resistance, impaired insulin secretion, and beta-cell dysfunction suggests it could be an early indicator of diabetes risk. The SUA levels are often found elevated during the early phase of impaired glucose metabolism. A meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies found strong evidence for SUA levels as a predictor of diabetes risk (Lv et al. 2013). The analysis included ~32,000 participants from 8 prospective cohorts. The adjusted relative risk of developing type 2 diabetes for the highest uric acid level group was 1.56% (95% CI, 1.39–1.76).

Further, it was found that the risk of type 2 diabetes increased by 6% for each 1 mg/dl increase in the SUA level. The adjustment included all the components of metabolic syndrome. Another meta-analysis found a non-linear relationship between the SUA

Study	Study type	Population	Variables controlled	Results
(Lv et al. 2013)	Meta-analysis of prospective studies	Mixed	Age, sex, BMI, blood pressure, HDL, TG, plasma glucose, smoking, alcohol consumption, and physical activity	RR for DM in highest vs lowest quartile, 1.56 (95% CI, 1.39–1.76)
(Jia et al. 2013)	Meta-analysis of cohort studies	Mixed	Hypertension, alcohol use, BMI, TG, and TC	5.5 mg/dl of SUA: RR for DM 1.25 (95% CI, 1.16–1.35) 6.5 mg/dl of SUA: RR for DM 1.43 (95% CI, 1.31–1.55) 7.5 mg/dl of SUA: RR for DM 1.50 (95% CI, 1.38–1.63) 8.5 mg/dl of SUA: RR for DM 1.49 (95% CI, 1.34–1.67)
(Bombelli et al. 2018)	Retrospective cohort	Italian	Age, sex, baseline blood glucose level, BMI, diuretic use, smoking habits, and alcohol consumption	RR for IFG, 1.26 (95% CI,1.06–1.5)
(Wu et al. 2020)	Population- based prospective cohort	Taiwanese	Age, sex, cigarette smoking, alcohol drinking, regular exercise level, body mass index, waist circumference, systolic blood pressure, and levels of glucose and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol	Highest vs lowest quartile HR for DM 1.94 (1.05–4.05)
(Zhang et al. 2016)	Prospective cohort	Chinese	Age, sex, BMI, smoking status, drinking status, sBP ≥140 mmHg, or dBP ≥90 mmHg, or history of hypertension, TC ≥5.17 mmol/L, or TG ≥1.7 mmol/L, or LDL ≥3.37 mmol/L, or history of hyperlipidemia), and family history of CVD, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and diabetes	HR for IFG: Quintiles 2 vs 1, 1.14 (95% CI, 1.03, 1.25) Quintiles 3 vs 1, 1.12 (95% CI, 1.02, 1.23) Quintiles 4 vs 1, 1.20 (95% CI, 1.08, 1.32) Quintiles 5 vs 1, 1.22 (95% CI, 1.10, 1.36)

 Table 1
 Association of serum uric acid level with diabetes and its complications

(continued)

Study	Study type	Population	Variables controlled	Results
(Lehto et al. 1998)	Population- based prospective cohort		Age, gender, smoking, total cholesterol, hypertension, BMI, serum total triglycerides, HDL, plasma glucose, previous history of stroke, use of diuretics, and known duration of diabetes	Hyperuricemic vs normouricemic HR for stroke 1.91 (95 CI%, 1.24 to 2.94)
(Seghieri et al. 2002)	Cross- sectional	Finnish	Sex, age, blood pressure, serum creatinine, plasma glucose, lipids, presence of coronary heart disease, and atrial fibrillation	Highest vs lowest quartile OR for stroke 1.32 (95% CI 1.07–1.41)
(Du et al. 2017)	Meta-analysis	Mixed	Not available	Ratio of means for risk of stroke 1.29 (95% CI, 1.26–1.31)
(Kuwata et al. 2017)	Prospective cohort	Japanese	Age, BMI, alcohol drinking, sBP, dBP, HDL, triglycerides, eGFR, HbA1c, duration of diabetes, anti-hyperuricemia drug use, ACEI use, ARB use, diabetes therapy, smoking, and history of cardiovascular disease	HR for DR in males: Q2 vs 1, 1.97 (95% CI, 1.14–3.41) Q3 vs 1, 1.92 (95% CI, 1.18–3.13) Q4 vs 1, 2.17 (95% CI, 1.40–3.37)
(Lee et al. 2014)	Prospective cohort	Taiwanese	Age, sex sBP, dBP, eGFR, HDL, TG, BMI, and waist circumference	HR for worsening of DR: Q3, 2.57 (95% CI, 1.30–5.08) Q4, 3.66 (96% CI, 1.92–7.00)
(Hu et al. 2021a)	Cross- sectional	Chinese	Age, sex, BMI, hypertension, SBP, diabetes duration, HbA1c, chronic kidney disease, total cholesterol, HDL, LDL, and urinary uric acid excretion	OR for vision- threatening DR in Q3, 1.60 (95% CI, 1.07–2.39) Q4, 2.05 (95% CI, 1.37–3.08)
(Bartáková et al. 2016)	Prospective cohort	Caucasian	Not available	HR for DKD 2.14 (96%CI, 1.40–3.26) HR for DKD progression 1.54 (1.07–2.22)

Table 1 (continued)

(continued)

Study	Study type	Population	Variables controlled	Results
(Hayashino et al. 2016)	Prospective cohort	Japanese	Age, gender, BMI, smoking, sBP, dBP, hs-CRP, HDL, LDL, TG, serum creatinine, eGFR, ACEI use, anti- hyperuricemic drug use, ARB use, HbA1c level, past history of cardiovascular disease, and diabetic retinopathy	HR for the progression from microalbuminuria to macroalbuminuria, when compared to Q2: Q1, 2.17 [95% CI, 1.15–4.08) Q3, 3.04 (95% CI, 1.67–5.53) Q4, 3.56 (95% CI, 1.83–6.93)
(Gu et al. 2017)	Retrospective longitudinal study	Chinese	Age, gender, BMI, sBP, HbA1c, LDL, eGFR, use of statins, ACEI, or ARB	HR for CKD in Q4, 2.615 (95% CI, 1.040–6.574)

 Table 1 (continued)

ACEI, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor; ARB, angiotensin receptor blocker; BMI, body mass index; CKD, chronic kidney disease; CRP, C-reactive protein; dBP, diastolic blood pressure; DKD, diabetic kidney disease; DM, diabetes mellitus; DR, diabetic retinopathy; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; HDL, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; HR, hazard ratio; IFG, impaired fasting glucose; LDL, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; OR, odds ratio; Q1, Q2, Q3, and Q4, quartiles 1, 2, 3, and 4, respectively; RoM, ratio of means; RR, relative risk; sBP, systolic blood pressure; SD, standard deviation; SUA, serum uric acid; TC, total cholesterol; TG, triglycerides

levels and the incidence of type 2 diabetes. It included data from 12 studies involving \sim 62,000 participants. The relative risk of impaired fasting glucose and type 2 diabetes in the highest SUA level group was found to be 1.54 (95% CI, 1.41–1.68) (Jia et al. 2013).

There are many large prospective studies that have been published after the metaanalysis in support of the use of uric acid as a predictor of diabetes risk. In a prospective cohort study of 3200 Italian individuals, baseline SUA level was associated with new onset of diabetes. There was a 29% increase in the risk of impaired fasting glucose (Bombelli et al. 2018). In a population-based prospective cohort study in Taiwan, the baseline SUA concentration was associated with diabetes risk independent of other known risk factors. The association was found across different age groups and genders (Wu et al. 2020). But conflicting results have been reported in the gender differences of the association of SUA with the incidences of diabetes (Chen et al. 2018; Lou et al. 2020). A study investigating the gender differences in the association of uric acid with diabetes risk found that older women, especially those aged >48 years, have a higher risk of diabetes. It appears to be a confounding effect of estrogen with SUA levels in the younger women, as estrogen increases the excretion of uric acid. It also has been demonstrated that postmenopausal women have increased SUA levels (Liu et al. 2018). Therefore, the menstrual state of women needs to be taken into account while assessing the association of SUA level with metabolic parameters. SUA levels could predict the future incidence of prediabetes as well. After 3 years of follow-up, mean SUA levels were predictive of prediabetes in a cohort of ~39,000 normoglycemic individuals (Zhang et al. 2016).

Serum Uric Acid, Blood Glucose Level, and HbA1c

SUA levels showed an inconsistent relationship with glycemic parameters. Under hyperglycemic conditions, the increased urinary glucose excretion increases uric acid's renal clearance and leads to lower SUA concentrations. It results in an inverse relationship between blood glucose and uric acid levels (Qin et al. 2021). Impaired renal function nullifies this effect and reverses the relationship between blood glucose and uric acid levels (Rafiullah et al. 2020). Thus, the association of SUA concentration with blood glucose level is dependent on the glycosuria and extent of renal function. Many studies have not considered these factors into account and, thus, reported conflicting outcomes. Evidence shows that SUA levels are elevated during prediabetes and fall once the glucose levels reach the diabetic range. SUA concentration negatively correlated with fasting plasma glucose and HbA1c in people with diabetes and positively correlated with fasting plasma glucose and HbA1c in normal individuals (Wei et al. 2016). High SUA levels were inversely associated with diabetes mellitus in the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey cohort (Bandaru and Shankar 2011). People with a longer duration of diabetes tend to have lower SUA levels and an inverse association with fasting blood sugar and HbA1c. However, in newly diagnosed type 2 diabetic patients, the inverse association was seen only in patients who had high insulin levels (Cui et al. 2016).

Uric Acid in Diabetic Complications

Oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction play an important role in the development of different diabetic complications. Uric acid induces oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction and worsens insulin resistance by interfering with insulinstimulated glucose uptake in the skeletal muscles (Tassone et al. 2011). Elevated uric acid levels cause increased oxidative stress, inflammation, endothelial dysfunction, activation of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS), and dyslipidemia (Fig. 2). These factors individually or collectively lead to different complications of diabetes (Kanbay et al. 2013). A genetic Mendelian randomization study demonstrated the causal relationship between uric acid and diabetic macrovascular complications (Yan et al. 2016). Therefore, a higher level of SUA is likely to accelerate the development of diabetic complications and be associated with the risk of developing diabetic complications. Several studies have established the use of SUA levels to predict the future risk of diabetic complications (Table 1). A metaanalysis showed elevated SUA levels as an independent predictor of vascular complications and mortality in patients with type 2 diabetes (Xu et al. 2013).



Fig. 2 Role of uric acid in the development of diabetic complications. CVD, cardiovascular disease; RAAS, renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system

Uric Acid in Macrovascular Complications

The association of SUA levels with cardiovascular risk factors is well known. People with hyperuricemia and gout are shown to be associated with subclinical atherosclerosis and an increased risk of cardiovascular events (Gagliardi et al. 2009). Elevated SUA concentrations have been linked to a higher risk of cardiovascular events and mortality in the general population. Large meta-analyses have consistently demonstrated the association of SUA level and cardiovascular diseases risk (Braga et al. 2016; Wang et al. 2016). However, in people with diabetes, the association between SUA and the risk of cardiovascular disease has not been consistent. In the Verona Diabetes Study cohort, SUA levels are independently associated with increased risk of cardiovascular mortality in type 2 diabetes (Zoppini et al. 2009). But the Framingham Heart Study found SUA levels were not associated with coronary heart disease after adjusting other cardiovascular risk factors (Culleton et al. 1999). The Fremantle Diabetes Study produced similar results. It showed serum uric level was not an independent predictor of cardiovascular disease or all-cause mortality in type 2 diabetes patients (Ong et al. 2010). Population-based Casale Monferrato Study also concluded that SUA level is not an independent risk factor for cardiovascular mortality (Panero et al. 2012). Therefore, uric acid is not a good predictor of cardiovascular diseases in people with diabetes.

SUA can be used as a biomarker to identify patients with high ischemic stroke risk. It is known to be a predictor of stroke in patients with type 2 diabetes for a long time (Lehto et al. 1998). Increase in SUA concentrations is selectively associated with ischemic stroke in patients with type 2 diabetes compared to non-diabetic individuals. The association remained significant even after adjusting gender, age, blood pressure, plasma glucose, serum creatinine, lipid profile, and presence of

cardiovascular disease (Seghieri et al. 2002). In a meta-analysis of observational studies, type 2 diabetes patients with cerebral infarction had 26% higher SUA levels than those without cerebral infarction (Du et al. 2017). Interestingly, a large cross-sectional study on type 2 diabetes patients in China found that the association between SUA levels and incidence of ischemic stroke depends on the patients' age. The SUA levels were independently and positively associated with ischemic stroke in patients aged <60 years. But the association reversed in patients aged \geq 60 years (Wang et al. 2017).

Uric Acid in Microvascular Complications

Diabetic microvascular complications like diabetic retinopathy and diabetic nephropathy are associated with elevated SUA levels. Studies in animal models have found that hyperuricemia promotes the development of diabetic retinopathy by increasing the inflammation of the retina and by increasing the Notch signaling pathway (Zhu et al. 2018). Several observational and prospective clinical studies have established the relationship between elevated SUA levels and the risk of diabetic retinopathy (Table 1). A cross-sectional study of ~18,000 Chinese individuals found an independent association of SUA level with diabetic retinopathy (Cui et al. 2017). In a prospective cohort of Japanese individuals (diabetes distress and care registry at Tenri, DDCRT), newly developed diabetic retinopathy was associated with higher quartiles of SUA levels in men after 2 years of follow-up. The association was not found in women (Kuwata et al. 2017). Gender difference in uric acid metabolism is one of the major confounding factors in these studies. The relationship of SUA with diabetes and its complications in women depends upon the menopausal state.

The presence of renal impairment appears to influence the association between SUA and diabetic retinopathy. In a large cross-sectional study of ~3,000 patients, SUA was associated with diabetic nephropathy and not with diabetic retinopathy (Xia et al. 2020). Similar results were obtained in another cross-sectional study (Hu et al. 2021b). In addition to its association with incidence, SUA levels also predicted the worsening of diabetic retinopathy. In a 3-year prospective study, SUA concentration was associated with worsening of non-proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Patients in the third and fourth quartiles of SUA concentration had significant hazard ratios for worsening of diabetic retinopathy when compared with patients in the first quartile of SUA levels (Lee et al. 2014). A similar finding was observed in a cross-sectional study as well. High SUA levels were associated with more serious diabetic retinopathy (Chen et al. 2020). In another large cross-sectional study, higher SUA levels were associated with an increased risk of vision-threatening diabetic retinopathy (Hu et al. 2021a).

The correlation between diabetic nephropathy and SUA is a well-known association. As SUA is known to activate the renin-angiotensin system, it may be possible to be involved directly in the pathogenesis of diabetic nephropathy. It is even suggested to mediate diabetic nephropathy (Jalal et al. 2011). Hyperuricemia is independently associated with increased risk of incident chronic kidney disease in patients with type 2 diabetes (Zoppini et al. 2012). A longitudinal study of type 2 diabetes patients from the Italian Association of Clinical Diabetologists Network database found that mild hyperuricemia was associated strongly with chronic kidney disease. However, SUA is associated with albuminuria only when the eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m² (De Cosmo et al. 2015). SUA level within the high normal range is independently associated with diabetic kidney disease in a cross-sectional analysis of ~3200 Chinese individuals. SUA levels showed a positive correlation with albuminuria and creatinine levels, whereas a negative relationship with eGFR (Yan et al. 2015). In patients with diabetes and preserved kidney function at baseline, high normal SUA levels predicted the progression to stage 3 of the chronic kidney disease (Kim et al. 2014). Baseline hyperuricemia predicted the progression of diabetic kidney disease in a prospective study that followed the patients for 15 years. In the same study, the optimal cut-off value of SUA concentration in patients with type 2 was found to be 6.3 mg/dl in men and 5.2 mg/dl in women (Bartáková et al. 2016).

A recent study found no significant difference between the SUA levels and the risk of progression of diabetic nephropathy to end-stage renal disease. The study included patients with biopsy-confirmed diabetic nephropathy at baseline and followed them for 3 years (Zou et al. 2021). Another study in a Japanese cohort found that the SUA levels showed a U-shaped risk for progression from micro-albuminuria to macroalbuminuria. Patients in the low and high quartiles of SUA concentration showed a significantly increased risk of the progression of diabetic nephropathy (Hayashino et al. 2016). Gu et al. demonstrated that SUA-to-creatinine ratio could be a superior predictor of chronic kidney disease among patients with type 2 diabetes (Gu et al. 2017). Since renal function influences the SUA levels, the renal function-normalized value of SUA concentration showed a better prediction.

eGFR and Serum Uric Acid Levels

Renal impairment affects uric acid excretion and can thus increase the serum concentration of the uric acid (Wang et al. 2021). Consequently, the eGFR levels show a negative relationship with SUA concentrations. Patients with high SUA had a rapid decline in the eGFR over 5 years. But the association was only marginally significant after adjustment for covariates (Le et al. 2021). SUA levels >6.2 mg/dl and > 6.5 mg/dl identified early nephropathy and decline in eGFR, respectively (Yan et al. 2015). A 5-year follow-up cohort study found that the SUA and eGFR decline were associated in men but not in women (Wang et al. 2018). In a 4-year follow-up cohort of ~14,000 patients with type 2 diabetes, a decline in eGFR was associated with high SUA concentrations (De Cosmo et al. 2015). A meta-analysis assessing the association between SUA and eGFR decline among patients with type 2 diabetes in prospective cohort studies demonstrated that a 1.68 mg/dl increase in SUA level is association between SUA and diabetic kidney disease depended on the eGFR levels. SUA is associated with albuminuria only in when the eGFR <60 ml/min/1.73 m²

(De Cosmo et al. 2015). In our recent work, we showed that the association of SUA with different variables depended on the eGFR status of patients (Rafiullah et al. 2020). Hyperglycemic conditions also influence the SUA levels by interfering with the urinary excretion of uric acid. But changes in eGFR directly affect the excretion of uric acid and hence change the relationship of the SUA concentration with other patient variables. Therefore, the association of SUA concentration with diabetes-related variables is influenced by the eGFR status of the patients.

Applications to Prognosis and Other Diseases or Conditions

Several large epidemiological studies have demonstrated that SUA levels can predict the diabetes risk in people with prediabetes or normoglycemia. SUA levels have been shown to be elevated constantly during the early phase of impaired glucose metabolism. However, the association of SUA and blood glucose level after the development of diabetes becomes unreliable. Many studies have shown an inverse association between SUA and glycemic parameters. As a result, the SUA levels will not be helpful to assess the diabetes prognosis. Instead, the association of SUA concentration with different diabetic complications can be used to predict and evaluate the prognosis of the complications. Elevated SUA level independently predicted vascular complications and mortality in people with diabetes. It can predict the incidence of cardiovascular diseases, ischemic stroke, and diabetic retinopathy and nephropathy. Increased SUA concentrations can be an indication of progression of diabetic nephropathy.

Applications to Prognosis

In this chapter, the role of SUA concentration as a biomarker to predict the risk of diabetes and its complications has been reviewed. SUA levels demonstrated a significant correlation with the risk of developing type 2 diabetes (Lv et al. 2013; Jia et al. 2013). Evidence shows that every 1 mg/dl increase results in a 6% increased risk for type 2 diabetes. The association of SUA is independent of other known risk factors for diabetes. In addition to the risk of diabetes, SUA levels are also useful in predicting the risk of diabetic complications (Xu et al. 2013). Hyperuricemia independently predicted the risk of chronic kidney disease in people with diabetes (Cui et al. 2017). Baseline uric acid levels predicted the progression of diabetic kidney disease. The optimum cut-off value for SUA was found to be 6.3 mg/dl in men and 5.2 mg/dl in women (Bartáková et al. 2016).

Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions

SUA is involved in the pathophysiology of metabolic abnormalities that lead to the onset of type 2 diabetes. Even though this is not the case with type 1 diabetes, uric

acid might play a role in some complications. Uric acid contributes to the development of hypertension and chronic kidney disease independent of the diabetes status of the people. Therefore, SUA concentration may be used to predict diabetic nephropathy in patients with type 1 diabetes. Baseline elevated uric acid levels predicted subsequent incidence of macroalbuminuria (Hovind et al. 2009). A 4.11 m./min decrease in eGFR was observed for every 1 mg/dl increase in SUA concentration in individuals with type 1 diabetes (Pizarro et al. 2018). For every 1 mg/dl increase in SUA concentration level at baseline, there was an 80% increase in micro- or macroalbuminuria at 6 years (Jalal et al. 2010).

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

- **Prediabetes.** A condition that precedes diabetes, characterized by impaired fasting glucose (fasting plasma glucose levels 100 mg/dl to 125 mg/dl) and/or an oral glucose tolerance test 2 h blood glucose levels 140–199 mg/dl or an HbA1c level 5.7–6.4%.
- Hyperuricemia. SUA levels > 7.0 mg/dl in men and > 6.0 mg/dl in women.
- Xanthine oxidase. An oxidative enzyme that catalyzes the production of uric acid.
- **ENPP1**. Ectonucleotide pyrophosphatase/phosphodiesterase-1 is a transmembrane glycoprotein that deactivates insulin receptor.
- **Renal hyperfiltration**. A condition associated with early stages of kidney disease, characterized by increased glomerular filtration rates above the normal values.

Key Facts of Serum Uric Acid and Metabolic Markers in Diabetes: eGFR, HbA1c, and Beyond

Key Facts of Uric Acid and Diabetes

- Uric acid is involved in the pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes.
- Elevated SUA levels are found in people with prediabetes.
- SUA levels predict the risk of diabetes in healthy individuals.
- SUA and glycemic parameters in diabetic individuals are negatively associated.
- Measuring SUA will not be helpful to predict the prognosis of diabetes.

Key Facts of Uric Acid and Diabetic Complications

- Uric acid is involved in the development of diabetic complications.
- SUA level is not a good predictor of cardiovascular diseases in people with diabetes.

- SUA can be used as a biomarker to identify patients with high ischemic stroke risk.
- SUA levels are associated with worsening of diabetic retinopathy.
- High normal SUA levels predicted the progression of diabetic nephropathy.
- SUA levels are associated positively with albuminuria and negatively with eGFR.

Summary Points

- SUA concentrations have been shown to be associated with insulin resistance, impaired insulin secretion, and beta-cell dysfunction.
- SUA levels are found to be high early stages of impaired glucose metabolism but come down once the blood glucose levels reach the diabetic range.
- Age, gender differences, and renal function influence the relationship between SUA with diabetes.
- Elevated SUA level is an early indicator of diabetes risk.
- SUA concentration negatively correlated with fasting plasma glucose and HbA1c in people with diabetes.
- SUA level can predict the future risk of diabetic complications.
- SUA can be used as a biomarker to identify patients with high ischemic stroke risk. It is associated with worsening diabetic retinopathy.
- High normal SUA levels predicted the progression of diabetic nephropathy.
- SUA levels are associated positively with albuminuria and negatively with eGFR.

References

- Bahadoran Z, Mirmiran P, Kashfi K, Ghasemi A. Hyperuricemia-induced endothelial insulin resistance: the nitric oxide connection. Pflugers Arch. 2021. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00424-021-02606-2.
- Bandaru P, Shankar A. Association between serum uric acid levels and diabetes mellitus. Int J Endocrinol. 2011;2011:604715. https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/604715.
- Bartáková V, Kuricová K, Pácal L, et al. Hyperuricemia contributes to the faster progression of diabetic kidney disease in type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Diabetes Complicat. 2016;30:1300–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2016.06.002.
- Bender DA. The metabolism of "surplus" amino acids. Br J Nutr. 2012;108(Suppl):S113-21. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007114512002292.
- Bombelli M, Quarti-Trevano F, Tadic M, et al. Uric acid and risk of new-onset metabolic syndrome, impaired fasting glucose and diabetes mellitus in a general Italian population: data from the Pressioni Arteriose Monitorate E Loro Associazioni study. J Hypertens. 2018;36:1492–8. https://doi.org/10.1097/HJH.000000000001721.
- Braga F, Pasqualetti S, Ferraro S, Panteghini M. Hyperuricemia as risk factor for coronary heart disease incidence and mortality in the general population: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2016;54:7–15. https://doi.org/10.1515/cclm-2015-0523.
- Burini O. High plasma uric acid concentration: causes and consequences. Diabetol Metab Syndr. 2012;4:1–7.
- Chen T, Ni Y, Ma X, et al. Branched-chain and aromatic amino acid profiles and diabetes risk in Chinese populations. Sci Rep. 2016;6:20594. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep20594.

- Chen Y-Y, Kao T-W, Yang H-F, et al. The association of uric acid with the risk of metabolic syndrome, arterial hypertension or diabetes in young subjects an observational study. Clin Chim Acta. 2018;478:68–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cca.2017.12.038.
- Chen S, Akter S, Kuwahara K, et al. Serum amino acid profiles and risk of type 2 diabetes among Japanese adults in the Hitachi health study. Sci Rep. 2019;9:7010. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598-019-43431-z.
- Chen D, Sun X, Zhao X, Liu Y. Associations of serum uric acid and urinary albumin with the severity of diabetic retinopathy in individuals with type 2 diabetes. BMC Ophthalmol. 2020;20: 467. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12886-020-01713-5.
- Cui Y, Bu H, Ma X, et al. The relation between serum uric acid and HbA1c is dependent upon hyperinsulinemia in patients with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Diabetes Res. 2016;2016:7184123. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/7184123.
- Cui J, Ren J-P, Chen D-N, et al. Prevalence and associated factors of diabetic retinopathy in Beijing, China: a cross-sectional study. BMJ Open. 2017;7:e015473. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-015473.
- Culleton BF, Larson MG, Kannel WB, Levy D. Serum uric acid and risk for cardiovascular disease and death: the Framingham heart study. Ann Intern Med. 1999;131:7–13. https://doi.org/10. 7326/0003-4819-131-1-199907060-00003.
- De Cosmo S, Viazzi F, Pacilli A, et al. Serum uric acid and risk of CKD in type 2 diabetes. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2015;10:1921–9. https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN.03140315.
- Du L, Ma J, Zhang X. Higher serum uric acid may contribute to cerebral infarction in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis. J Mol Neurosci. 2017;61:25–31. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s12031-016-0848-y.
- Gagliardi ACM, Miname MH, Santos RD. Uric acid: a marker of increased cardiovascular risk. Atherosclerosis. 2009;202:11–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2008.05.022.
- Ghasemi A. Uric acid-induced pancreatic β-cell dysfunction. BMC Endocr Disord. 2021;21:24. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12902-021-00698-6.
- Girard J. Glucagon, a key factor in the pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes. Biochimie. 2017;143: 33–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biochi.2017.10.004.
- Gu L, Huang L, Wu H, et al. Serum uric acid to creatinine ratio: a predictor of incident chronic kidney disease in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients with preserved kidney function. Diab Vasc Dis Res. 2017;14:221–5. https://doi.org/10.1177/1479164116680318.
- Habiba NM, Fulda KG, Basha R, et al. Correlation of lipid profile and risk of developing type 2 diabetes mellitus in 10–14 year old children. Cell Physiol Biochem. 2016;39:1695–704. https://doi.org/10.1159/000447870.
- Hameed A, Mojsak P, Buczynska A, et al. Altered metabolome of lipids and amino acids species: a source of early signature biomarkers of T2DM. J Clin Med. 2020;9:2257. https://doi.org/10. 3390/jcm9072257.
- Hayashino Y, Okamura S, Tsujii S, Ishii H. Association of serum uric acid levels with the risk of development or progression of albuminuria among Japanese patients with type 2 diabetes: a prospective cohort study [Diabetes distress and care registry at Tenri (DDCRT 10)]. Acta Diabetol. 2016;53:599–607. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00592-015-0825-x.
- Hovind P, Rossing P, Tarnow L, et al. Serum uric acid as a predictor for development of diabetic nephropathy in type 1 diabetes: an inception cohort study. Diabetes. 2009;58:1668–71. https:// doi.org/10.2337/db09-0014.
- Hu W, Sun L, Gong Y, et al. Relationship between branched-chain amino acids, metabolic syndrome, and cardiovascular risk profile in a Chinese population: a cross-sectional study. Int J Endocrinol. 2016;2016:8173905. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/8173905.
- Hu Y, Chan Z, Li C, et al. Higher serum uric acid levels are associated with an increased risk of vision-threatening diabetic retinopathy in type 2 diabetes patients. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2021a;62:23. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.62.4.23.
- Hu Y, Li Q, Min R, et al. The association between serum uric acid and diabetic complications in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus by gender: a cross-sectional study. Peer J. 2021b;9: e10691. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.10691.

- Jalal DI, Rivard CJ, Johnson RJ, et al. Serum uric acid levels predict the development of albuminuria over 6 years in patients with type 1 diabetes: findings from the coronary artery calcification in type 1 diabetes study. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2010;25:1865–9. https://doi.org/10.1093/ndt/ gfp740.
- Jalal DI, Maahs DM, Hovind P, Nakagawa T. Uric acid as a mediator of diabetic nephropathy. Semin Nephrol. 2011;31:459–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semnephrol.2011.08.011.
- Jia Z, Zhang X, Kang S, Wu Y. Serum uric acid levels and incidence of impaired fasting glucose and type 2 diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis of cohort studies. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2013;101: 88–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2013.03.026.
- Kanbay M, Segal M, Afsar B, et al. The role of uric acid in the pathogenesis of human cardiovascular disease. Heart. 2013;99:759 LP – 766. https://doi.org/10.1136/heartjnl-2012-302535.
- Kim WJ, Kim SS, Bae MJ, et al. High-normal serum uric acid predicts the development of chronic kidney disease in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and preserved kidney function. J Diabetes Complicat. 2014;28:130–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2013.11.006.
- Kurajoh M, Fukumoto S, Yoshida S, et al. Uric acid shown to contribute to increased oxidative stress level independent of xanthine oxidoreductase activity in MedCity21 health examination registry. Sci Rep. 2021;11:7378. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-86962-0.
- Kuwata H, Okamura S, Hayashino Y, et al. Serum uric acid levels are associated with increased risk of newly developed diabetic retinopathy among Japanese male patients with type 2 diabetes: a prospective cohort study (diabetes distress and care registry at Tenri [DDCRT 13]). Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2017;33. https://doi.org/10.1002/dmrr.2905.
- Le HT, Le TT, Tran NM, et al. Serum uric acid levels and risk of rapid decline of estimated glomerular filtration rate in patients with type 2 diabetes: findings from a 5-year prospective cohort study. Healthc. 2021;9.
- Lee J-J, Yang I-H, Kuo H-K, et al. Serum uric acid concentration is associated with worsening in severity of diabetic retinopathy among type 2 diabetic patients in Taiwan – a 3-year prospective study. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2014;106:366–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2014.07.027.
- Lehto S, Niskanen L, Rönnemaa T, Laakso M. Serum uric acid is a strong predictor of stroke in patients with non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Stroke. 1998;29:635–9. https://doi.org/ 10.1161/01.str.29.3.635.
- Liu J, Zhao Z, Mu Y, et al. Gender differences in the association between serum uric acid and prediabetes: a six-year longitudinal cohort study. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2018;15: 1560. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15071560.
- Lou Y, Qin P, Wang C, et al. Sex-specific association of serum uric acid level and change in hyperuricemia status with risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus: a large cohort study in China. J Diabetes Res. 2020;2020:9637365. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/9637365.
- Lu J, He Y, Cui L, et al. Hyperuricemia predisposes to the onset of diabetes via promoting pancreatic β-cell death in Uricase-deficient male mice. Diabetes. 2020;69:1149 LP 1163. https://doi.org/10.2337/db19-0704.
- Lv Q, Meng X-F, He F-F, et al. High serum uric acid and increased risk of type 2 diabetes: a systemic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. PLoS One. 2013;8:e56864.
- Martínez-Sánchez FD, Vargas-Abonce VP, Guerrero-Castillo AP, et al. Serum uric acid concentration is associated with insulin resistance and impaired insulin secretion in adults at risk for type 2 diabetes. Prim Care Diab. 2021;15:293–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcd.2020. 10.006.
- Nawaz SS, Siddiqui K. The emerging role of branch chain amino acids in the prediction of diabetes: a brief review. Curr Diabetes Rev. 2020;16:532–7. https://doi.org/10.2174/ 1573399815666190502113632.
- Ong G, Davis WA, Davis TME. Serum uric acid does not predict cardiovascular or all-cause mortality in type 2 diabetes: the Fremantle diabetes study. Diabetologia. 2010;53:1288–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-010-1735-7.
- Palmer ND, Stevens RD, Antinozzi PA, et al. Metabolomic profile associated with insulin resistance and conversion to diabetes in the insulin resistance atherosclerosis study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2015;100:E463–8. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2014-2357.

- Panero F, Gruden G, Perotto M, et al. Uric acid is not an independent predictor of cardiovascular mortality in type 2 diabetes: a population-based study. Atherosclerosis. 2012;221:183–8. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2011.11.042.
- Papaetis GS, Papakyriakou P, Panagiotou TN. Central obesity, type 2 diabetes and insulin: exploring a pathway full of thorns. Arch Med Sci. 2015;11:463–82. https://doi.org/10.5114/ aoms.2015.52350.
- Pizarro MH, Santos DC, Barros BSV, et al. Serum uric acid and renal function in patients with type 1 diabetes: a nationwide study in Brazil. Diabetol Metab Syndr. 2018;10:22. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s13098-018-0324-7.
- Qin Y, Zhang S, Cui S, et al. High urinary excretion rate of glucose attenuates serum uric acid level in type 2 diabetes with normal renal function. J Endocrinol Investig. 2021;44:1981–8. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s40618-021-01513-8.
- Rafiullah M, Siddiqui K, Al-Rubeaan K. Association between serum uric acid levels and metabolic markers in patients with type 2 diabetes from a community with high diabetes prevalence. Int J Clin Pract. 2020;74:e13466. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijcp.13466.
- Seghieri G, Moruzzo D, Fascetti S, et al. Increase in serum uric acid is selectively associated with stroke in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2002;25:1095 LP – 1095. https://doi.org/10.2337/ diacare.25.6.1095.
- Spiga R, Marini MA, Mancuso E, et al. Uric acid is associated with inflammatory biomarkers and induces inflammation via activating the NF-κB signaling pathway in HepG2 cells. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2017;37:1241–9. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.117.309128.
- Stancáková A, Civelek M, Saleem NK, et al. Hyperglycemia and a common variant of GCKR are associated with the levels of eight amino acids in 9,369 Finnish men. Diabetes. 2012;61:1895– 902. https://doi.org/10.2337/db11-1378.
- Tassone E, Presta I, Sciacqua A, et al. Uric acid promotes endothelial dysfunction: a new molecular model of insulin resistance: 1211. Eur J Clin Investig. 2011;41.
- Tassone EJ, Cimellaro A, Perticone M, et al. Uric acid impairs insulin signaling by promoting Enpp1 binding to insulin receptor in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2018;9:98. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2018.00098.
- Tillin T, Hughes AD, Wang Q, et al. Diabetes risk and amino acid profiles: cross-sectional and prospective analyses of ethnicity, amino acids and diabetes in a South Asian and European cohort from the SABRE (Southall and Brent REvisited) study. Diabetologia. 2015;58:968–79. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-015-3517-8.
- Tsalamandris S, Antonopoulos AS, Oikonomou E, et al. The role of inflammation in diabetes: current concepts and future perspectives. Eur Cardiol. 2019;14:50–9. https://doi.org/10.15420/ecr.2018.33.1.
- Wang TJ, Larson MG, Vasan RS, et al. Metabolite profiles and the risk of developing diabetes. Nat Med. 2011;17:448–53. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2307.
- Wang R, Song Y, Yan Y, Ding Z. Elevated serum uric acid and risk of cardiovascular or all-cause mortality in people with suspected or definite coronary artery disease: a meta-analysis. Atherosclerosis. 2016;254:193–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2016.10.006.
- Wang L, Hu W, Miao D, et al. Relationship between serum uric acid and ischemic stroke in a large type 2 diabetes population in China: a cross-sectional study. J Neurol Sci. 2017;376:176–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2017.03.023.
- Wang J, Yu Y, Li X, et al. Serum uric acid levels and decreased estimated glomerular filtration rate in patients with type 2 diabetes: a cohort study and meta-analysis. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2018;34:e3046. https://doi.org/10.1002/dmrr.3046.
- Wang Y, Zhang W, Qian T, et al. Reduced renal function may explain the higher prevalence of hyperuricemia in older people. Sci Rep. 2021;11:1302. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-80250-z.
- Wei F, Chang B, Yang X, et al. Serum uric acid levels were dynamically coupled with hemoglobin A1c in the development of type 2 diabetes. Sci Rep. 2016;6:28549. https://doi.org/10.1038/ srep28549.

- Wishart DS, Feunang YD, Marcu A, et al. HMDB 4.0: the human metabolome database for 2018. Nucleic Acids Res. 2018;46:D608–17. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkx1089.
- Wu W-C, Lai Y-W, Chou Y-C, et al. Serum uric acid level as a harbinger of type 2 diabetes: a prospective observation in Taiwan. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020;17. https://doi.org/10. 3390/ijerph17072277.
- Xia Q, Zhang S-H, Yang S-M, et al. Serum uric acid is independently associated with diabetic nephropathy but not diabetic retinopathy in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Chin Med Assoc. 2020;83:350–6. https://doi.org/10.1097/JCMA.0000000000285.
- Xu Y, Zhu J, Gao L, et al. Hyperuricemia as an independent predictor of vascular complications and mortality in type 2 diabetes patients: a meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2013;8:e78206.
- Yamakado M, Nagao K, Imaizumi A, et al. Plasma free amino acid profiles predict four-year risk of developing diabetes, metabolic syndrome, dyslipidemia, and hypertension in Japanese population. Sci Rep. 2015;5:11918. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep11918.
- Yan D, Tu Y, Jiang F, et al. Uric acid is independently associated with diabetic kidney disease: a cross-sectional study in a Chinese population. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0129797.
- Yan D, Wang J, Jiang F, et al. A causal relationship between uric acid and diabetic macrovascular disease in Chinese type 2 diabetes patients: a Mendelian randomization analysis. Int J Cardiol. 2016;214:194–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.03.206.
- Yoon M-S. The emerging role of branched-chain amino acids in insulin resistance and metabolism. Nutrients. 2016;8:405. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu8070405.
- Yu M-A, Sánchez-Lozada LG, Johnson RJ, Kang D-H. Oxidative stress with an activation of the renin-angiotensin system in human vascular endothelial cells as a novel mechanism of uric acidinduced endothelial dysfunction. J Hypertens. 2010;28:1234–42.
- Yu P, Huang L, Wang Z, et al. The association of serum uric acid with beta-cell function and insulin resistance in nondiabetic individuals: a cross-sectional study. Diabetes, Metab Syndr Obes Targets Ther. 2021;14:2673–82. https://doi.org/10.2147/DMSO.S312489.
- Zhang Q, Bao X, Meng G, et al. The predictive value of mean serum uric acid levels for developing prediabetes. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2016;118:79–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2016. 06.011.
- Zhou Y, Zhao M, Pu Z, et al. Relationship between oxidative stress and inflammation in hyperuricemia: analysis based on asymptomatic young patients with primary hyperuricemia. Medicine (Baltimore). 2018; 97(49):e13108. https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000013108.
- Zhu D-D, Wang Y-Z, Zou C, et al. The role of uric acid in the pathogenesis of diabetic retinopathy based on Notch pathway. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2018;503:921–9. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.bbrc.2018.06.097.
- Zoppini G, Targher G, Negri C, et al. Elevated serum uric acid concentrations independently predict cardiovascular mortality in type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetes Care. 2009;32:1716 LP – 1720. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc09-0625.
- Zoppini G, Targher G, Chonchol M, et al. Serum uric acid levels and incident chronic kidney disease in patients with type 2 diabetes and preserved kidney function. Diabetes Care. 2012;35: 99–104. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc11-1346.
- Zou Y, Zhao L, Zhang J, et al. Association between serum uric acid and renal outcome in patients with biopsy-confirmed diabetic nephropathy. Endocr Connect. 2021;10:1299–306. https://doi. org/10.1530/EC-21-0307.



Urinary Interleukins and Kidney Damage in Diabetes

Rafael Noal Moresco, Guilherme Vargas Bochi, Manuela Borges Sangoi Cardoso, and José Antonio Mainardi de Carvalho

Contents

Introduction	263
Inflammation and Diabetic Kidney Disease	264
Urinary Interleukins	267
Interleukin 1	267
Interleukin 6	268
Interleukin 8	269
Interleukin 10	270
Interleukin 18	270
Potential Applications to Prognosis, Other Diseases, or Conditions	271
Mini-dictionary of Terms	272
Key Facts of Diabetes, Kidney Damage, and Urinary Interleukins	272
Summary Points	273
References	273

Abstract

Diabetic kidney disease (DKD) is a progressive microvascular complication of diabetes mellitus. In the natural history of DKD, insistent microalbuminuria progresses to overt proteinuria, a gradual decline in the glomerular filtration rate, and, eventually, renal failure. Currently, urinary albumin excretion (UAE) is widely used to indicate early phases of DKD, although it is limited by the fact that structural damage might precede albumin excretion. This observation points

G. V. Bochi

261

R. N. Moresco (🖂) · M. B. S. Cardoso · J. A. M. de Carvalho

Laboratory of Clinical Biochemistry, Department of Clinical and Toxicological Analysis, Center of Health Sciences, Federal University of Santa Maria, Santa Maria, RS, Brazil e-mail: rnmoresco@ufsm.br

Department of Physiology and Pharmacology, Center of Health Sciences, Federal University of Santa Maria, Santa Maria, RS, Brazil e-mail: guilherme.bochi@ufsm.br

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 12

to the need to study new urinary biomarkers that are more sensitive and specific than the UAE, which may allow the early detection of DKD. In addition, an increasing number of clinical and experimental studies have pointed out that inflammation contributes to the development and progression of DKD and that urinary excretion of inflammatory markers, including the interleukins, may be useful as biomarkers in assessing renal damage. Therefore, this chapter revised the general aspects of inflammation-related processes involved, specifically the role of interleukins in the pathophysiology of DKD. Furthermore, this chapter describes how urinary interleukin concentrations, especially IL-1, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, and IL-18, may be related to early progressive renal function decline in diabetes.

Keywords

Diabetes · Kidney damage · Inflammation · Interleukins · Urine

Abbreviations

AER	Albumin excretion rate
AGEs	Advanced glycation end products
AKI	Acute kidney injury
DAMPs	Damage-associated molecular patterns
DKD	Diabetic kidney disease
DM	Diabetes mellitus
ECM	Extracellular matrix
ICAM	Intercellular adhesion molecule
IFN-γ	Interferon gamma
IgE	Immunoglobulin E
IL-1	Interleukin 1
IL-1R	Receptor of IL-1
IL-1Ra	IL-1 receptor antagonist
JAK/STAT	Janus kinase-signal transducer and activator of transcription
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
mIL-6R	Membrane IL-6 receptor
MMPs	Matrix metalloproteinases
NF-κB	Factor nuclear kappa b
NK	Natural killer
NLRP3	NOD-like receptor protein 3
NLRs	NOD-like receptors
NOD	Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain
PRRs	Pattern recognition receptors
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
sIL-6R	Soluble IL-6 receptor
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor-beta
TLR-4	Toll-like receptor 4
TLRs	Toll-like receptors

TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor-alpha
uACR	Urinary albumin creatinine ratio
UAE	Urinary albumin excretion
VCAM	Vascular cell adhesion molecule

Introduction

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a metabolic disorder characterized by chronic hyperglycemia, resulting from a deficiency in insulin production and/or its action. Type 2 DM is one of the most prevalent subtypes and represents an important health problem worldwide due to the epidemic proportions it has reached (Gregg et al. 2014; Cho et al. 2018). In 2019, 463 million adults between 20 and 79 years were living with DM, and projections indicate that the numbers could reach 700 million by 2045 (Saeedi et al. 2019).

Persistent hyperglycemia is associated with macro- and microvascular complications that develop over the long term in individuals with DM, which are responsible for morbidity and mortality in these patients (Sueud et al. 2019). Diabetes kidney disease (DKD) emerges as a highly prevalent microvascular complication that affects approximately 30–40% of patients with DM (Gonzalez Suarez et al. 2013). In addition to being the leading cause of end-stage kidney disease in most countries, DKD is also associated with a higher incidence of cardiovascular disease and an increased risk of mortality among diabetic individuals. Therefore, this pathology has a considerable economic and public health impact (Wada and Makino 2009), highlighting the importance of its prevention, early diagnosis, and treatment (Lee and Choi 2014).

DKD is characterized by functional, structural, and clinical renal changes caused by diabetes that persist for a period equal to or greater than 3 months, with urinary albumin excretion (UAE) > 30 mg/24 h, albumin/creatinine ratio \geq 30 mg/g, or glomerular filtration rate 60 mL/min/1.73m², after an initial phase of glomerular hyperfiltration (Mora-Fernández et al. 2014).

Currently, dysfunction in the glomerular filtration barrier that results in increased UAE is considered the first clinical sign of DKD and a predictor of disease progression (Moresco et al. 2013). However, many diabetic patients can develop DKD and even present advanced histopathological lesions when urinary albumin levels are still within the normal range (Matheson et al. 2010). These observations point to the need to study new urinary biomarkers that are more sensitive and specific than the UAE, which may allow the early detection of DKD, in addition to predicting and monitoring the progression of renal damage.

It has been recognized that tubular damage and inflammation play an important role in the pathogenesis and progression of DKD (Kim et al. 2013; García-García et al. 2014). Once activated by renal hemodynamic and metabolic changes, the inflammatory response may be present in the early stages of diabetes (Lim and Tesch 2012), resulting in increased expression of inflammatory cytokines in renal tissues, as well as increased serum and urinary levels of these molecules (Duran-Salgado and Rubio-Guerra 2014).

Clinical observations have supported the hypothesis that renal inflammation contributes to the development and progression of DKD and that urinary excretion of inflammatory markers may be useful in assessing renal damage (Wolkow et al. 2008; Cherney et al. 2012). However, studies investigating urinary levels of inflammatory cytokines in patients with DKD are still scarce. In this perspective, it is essential to evaluate the characteristics of urinary inflammatory cytokines in identifying kidney disease in diabetic patients, which may offer new opportunities for recognizing the onset, progression, and response to therapeutic interventions in DKD. These questions are essential to support the use of these markers in the assessment of kidney damage in diabetes.

Inflammation and Diabetic Kidney Disease

The pathogenesis of DKD is complex and involves many different pathways. Although metabolic derangements and hemodynamic alterations, such as hyperglycemia, oxidative stress, and renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system activation are the main factors involved in kidney damage associated with diabetes, collecting evidence call attention to the key role of systemic and local renal inflammation in the onset, development, and progression of DKD (Schena and Gesualdo 2005; Wada and Makino 2013; Tang and Yiu 2020). Several urinary and plasma inflammatory biomarkers have been reported at early and advanced stages of DKD (Navarro-González and Mora-Fernández 2008; Wada and Makino 2013). Specifically, urinary levels of interleukins are significantly increased in microalbuminuric diabetic patients with early progressive renal function decline, showing direct correlations with UAE levels and with the progression of renal impairment (Navarro et al. 2003; Nakamura et al. 2005; Wolkow et al. 2008).

Inflammation-related processes involved in the pathophysiology of DKD include the production of inflammatory cytokines, especially the interleukins and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α); the generation of endogenous cellular adhesion molecules; the release of chemokines; and the production of growth factors (Navarro-González et al. 2011; Pérez-Morales et al. 2019). Proinflammatory cytokines, both circulating and those synthesized by immune cells in the renal tissue, can be associated with glomerular and tubular damage, oxidative stress, and fibrosis development (Neu et al. 2003; Campion et al. 2017; Perlman et al. 2015). Kidney fibrosis, which is the most critical feature of DKD, and proteinuria, an important factor in the progression of diabetic nephropathy, are both mediated through the inflammatory cells and cytokines by activating renal fibroblast cells (Kanasaki et al. 2013). The kidney inflammation and the development of fibrosis is a complex process that includes macrophages and other immune cells that release cytokines and pro-fibrotic factors (Chung and Lan 2011; Ferenbach et al. 2007) and interact with intrinsic kidney cells (Mack and Yanagita 2015) to create a pro-fibrotic microenvironment (Meng et al. 2014).

Infiltration of immune cells, mainly macrophages, is usually observed in the glomeruli and interstitium of renal biopsy samples at all stages of DKD (Klessens

et al. 2017). These cells are responsible for what is called "renal remodeling" and mainly produce numerous proinflammatory cytokines, reactive oxygen species (ROS), TGF- β , and matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs). All these factors are responsible for the local inflammation, tissue damage, and fibrosis, thus enabling the development of diabetic nephropathy (Galkina and Ley 2006). The accumulation of macrophages in the interstitium strongly correlates with renal damage in patients with DKD (Nguyen et al. 2006). Interestingly, infiltration of other immune cells, such as activated T cells, is also increased in the kidneys of patients with DKD and the number of T cells is also correlated with the degree of proteinuria (Moon et al. 2012). Studies have suggested that renal cells (including endothelial, mesangial, epithelial, tubular cells, and podocytes) and interstitial fibroblasts can also synthesize and release chemokines upon induction by growth factors and inflammatory cytokines like IL-1 β and TNF- α (Panzer et al. 2006). The initial step for activation of the renal inflammatory process is not fully elucidated, but chronic exposure to hyperglycemia may be a good hypothesis.

High glucose levels induce the expression of inflammatory mediators by injured glomerular and tubular cells, contributing to morphological abnormalities and renal damage by different mechanisms: mesangial proliferation, podocyte/tubular damage, glomerular basement membrane thickness and glomerulosclerosis, and leukocyte infiltration (Pichler et al. 2017; Rayego-Mateos et al. 2020). These inflammationinduced processes occur through different signaling pathways, such as NF-kB, Janus kinase/signal transducers (JAK/STAT), TGF β , among others (Matoba et al. 2019; Alicic et al. 2017; Elsherbiny and Al-Gayyar 2016). In this context, the hyperglycemia, advanced glycation end products (AGEs), the mechanical stretch of mesangial cells, angiotensin II, ROS, and pro-inflammatory cytokines can facilitate the activation and nuclear translocation of NF- κ B in renal cells (Pérez-Morales et al. 2019). Activation and nuclear translocation of NF- κ B in kidneys lead to the transcription-mediated expression of multiple mediators of inflammation including chemokines, adhesion molecules, profibrotic factors, and pro-inflammatory cytokines that participate in the development and progression of DKD (Guijarro and Egido 2001; Soetikno et al. 2011).

In addition, chronic exposure to a diabetic environment can damages renal cells, resulting in injury or cell death and the release of intracellular damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) into the extracellular space (Tang and Yiu 2020). DAMPs that are released in response to cell stress and injury promote inflammatory responses by binding to pattern recognition receptors (PRRs). Thus, DAMPs are recognized by PRRs such as toll-like receptors (TLRs), nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain (NOD)-like receptors (NLRs), protease-activated receptors, the receptor for the advanced glycation end products (RAGE), lectin receptors, and other cell surface receptors (Tesch 2017). Activation of these receptors leads to inflammatory responses in renal cells. Upon binding to various PRRs, DAMPs provoke the activation of signaling cascades to secrete cytokines via the inflammasome complex (Tang and Yiu 2020).

Inflammasome acts as a complex platform to initiate a variety of cellular signaling cascades through the detection of endogenous molecules such as cytokines and

DAMPs (Ram et al. 2020). Inflammasomes can activate cytokine maturation and activation of caspases, which further leads to stimulation of the adaptive immune system (Wada and Makino 2016). Inflammasome activation can be linked to the maturation of pro-inflammatory cytokines, especially IL-1 β and IL-18. Inflammasomes can also stimulate several caspase pathways leading to cell apoptosis (Martinon et al. 2002). NOD-like receptor protein 3 (NLRP3), a subfamily of NLRs, which forms an inflammasome complex by recruiting pro-caspase 1 molecule, has gained more interest in the pathophysiology of DKD (Lorenz et al. 2014; Hutton et al. 2016). The involvement of inflammatory factors in the pathogenesis of DKD is summarized in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1 Chronic exposure to the diabetic environment such as high glucose levels result in injury and the release of inflammation-related molecules. Pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1, IL-6, IL-18, or TNF- α and damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) were found to be involved in DKD. The DAMPs are recognized by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), such as Toll-like receptors and nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-like receptors (NLRs), and others cell receptors. Activating these receptors leads to inflammatory responses (secretion of a series of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines) in renal cells (such as tubular epithelial cells and mesangial cells). The signaling molecules induce the infiltration of immune cells into glomeruli and interstitium. The profibrotic effects of these cytokines are mediated by the intracellular activity of NF- κ B, which is a transcription factor whose function is also associated with the progression of DKD. High levels of these cytokines have been found in the urine of patients with DKD, which has been related to increased albuminuria. In the early stages, DKD is characterized by podocytopathy and alterations to the filtration barrier, as clinically evidenced by hyperfiltration and microalbuminuria. The evolution of this disease is associated with progressive and irreversible renal fibrosis, which is orchestrated by infiltrating cells and the acquisition of profibrotic phenotypes of renal resident cells, which leads to loss of functionality and renal regenerative capacity

Urinary Interleukins

Interleukin 1

Interleukin 1 (IL-1) plays a central role in local and systemic inflammatory processes. The IL-1 cytokine family comprises 11 members: IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra), IL-18, IL-33, and IL-1F5–IL-1F10 (Sims and Smith 2010). In this topic, actions related to proinflammatory cytokines, IL-1 α and IL-1 β , and an anti-inflammatory agent, the IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra) (Rider et al. 2017; Khazim et al. 2018), will be addressed. IL-1Ra, binding to cell receptors (IL-1R), inhibits IL-1 α and IL- β actions. Together, IL-1 α , IL-1 β , and IL-1R are crucial elements of kidney inflammation (Salti et al. 2020). The resulting biological response typically involves activation of the NF- κ B and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways (O'Neill 2008). Although IL- α and IL- β are simply referred to as IL-1 in many studies, they differ in several ways. While the IL-1 β is secreted and circulates systemically, the IL-1 α is commonly associated with the plasma membrane of the producing cell and acts locally (Dinarello 2009). In addition, IL-1 β is largely produced by circulating monocytes and macrophages, whereas IL-1 α is constitutively present in keratinocytes and other epithelia including tubular epithelial cells (Anders 2016).

In experimental models of DKD, Salti et al. (2020) demonstrated that hyperglycemia increases the expression of IL-1 α in tubular cells, most probably a result of metabolic stress and cellular injury. Moreover, the increased renal expression of IL-1 was related to albuminuria and the accumulation of macrophages (Sassy-Prigent et al. 2000; Navarro-González et al. 2006). Lemos et al. (2018) demonstrated that IL-1 β induced tubulointerstitial fibrosis throughout the activation of the MYC transcription factor, promoting deposition of fibrotic matrix. In this context, the application of a pharmacological IL-1Ra showed to prevent the progression and even reverse DKD in an animal model (Shahzad et al. 2015).

In patients with DKD, IL-1 β levels were correlated with the degree of albuminuria (Jones et al. 2009). In addition, it was demonstrated that increased serum levels of IL-1 α were detected in the early stage of DKD, before significant kidney impairment (Perlman et al. 2015). Notably, higher urinary concentrations of IL-1 were observed in patients with DKD than those without DKD (Sangoi et al. 2016). In addition, diabetic patients classified into microalbuminuria (uACR 30–300 mg/g creatinine) presented increased IL-1 urinary levels compared with normoalbuminuric patients (Sangoi et al. 2016).

IL-1 can alter the renal architecture, promoting the expression of chemotactic factors and adhesion molecules, increasing vascular permeability, as well as stimulating the proliferation of mesangial cells and the synthesis of extracellular matrix (Navarro-González and Mora-Fernández 2008). Specifically, IL-1 increases the production of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) and vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) by different renal cells, including mesangial, endothelial, and tubular epithelial cells (Park et al. 2000), resulting in proliferation and synthesis of extracellular matrix (ECM) in the glomerular mesangium (Donate-Correa et al. 2015).

The NLRP3 inflammasome links sensing of metabolic stress in the diabetic kidney to activation of pro-inflammatory cascades via the induction of IL-1 β and

IL-18 (Tang and Yiu 2020). In this context, the NLRP3 inflammasome induces the assembly of several cytosolic proteins ultimately leading to activation of caspase-1, which promotes the enzymatic activation and secretion of mature IL-1 β (Anders 2016; Lei et al. 2019). Pro-IL-1 β processing and IL-1 β release from renal parenchymal cells have been reported (Shahzad et al. 2015). Interestingly, in those cells that coexpress IL-1 α and IL-1 β , IL-1 α secretion can also be inflammasome-dependent, implying that IL-1 α and IL-1 β are released together (Yazdi and Drexler 2013). Shahzad et al. (2015) show that the levels of circulating IL-1 β and IL-18 as well as renal expression of NLRP3 increased in mouse DKD models, and those increases preceded albuminuria and glomerular extracellular matrix accumulation, suggesting that inflammasome activation triggers the onset of DKD.

Interleukin 6

Interleukin 6 (IL-6) is synthesized by fibroblasts, monocytes, macrophages, T cells, and endothelial cells. Its synthesis and secretion are induced during inflammatory conditions, such as by stimulation of the TLR-4, lipopolysaccharide or cell stimulation by IL-1 or TNF- α (Kishimoto 2010). IL-6 is a multifunctional cytokine produced and expressed in renal tissue by resident (Coleman and Ruef 1992; Horii et al. 1989; Frank et al. 1993) and infiltrating (Hirano et al. 1990) cells within the kidney. Its renal expression and urinary excretion correlate with the extent of tubulointerstitial damage and mesangial proliferation (Ohta et al. 1992; Ranieri et al. 1996; Fukatsu et al. 1991; Hirano et al. 1990; Horii et al. 1989). Thus, IL-6 has direct effects on glomerular cells and infiltrated cells, inducing changes in the permeability of the glomerular endothelium, proliferation of mesangial cells, increased expression of fibronectin (Coleman and Ruef 1992), and thickening of the glomerular basement membrane (Dalla Vestra et al. 2005; Nosadini et al. 2005).

IL-6 has two different activation pathways to initiate intracellular cascades and events through a specific membrane bound receptor (mIL-6R) and a soluble form of IL-6R (sIL-6R), which are termed as classic and trans-signaling of IL-6, respectively. The classical pathway and trans-signaling of IL-6 are considered mediators of different biological processes under certain circumstances. Notably, the podocyte is the only resident glomerular cell that expresses mIL-6R and can respond to both the classical pathway and IL-6 trans-signaling (Moutabarrik et al. 1994; Coletta et al. 2000; Nechemia-Arbely et al. 2008). Classical IL-6 signaling and trans-signaling is believed to activate intracellular signaling via the gp130 cascade, for example, in kidney disorders (Scheller et al. 2011; Karkar et al. 1997). Therefore, it is speculated that the different forms of STAT3 phosphorylation are responsible for pathophysiological events distinct from classical IL-6 and trans-signaling (Lei et al. 2018).

In hyperglycemic states, both classical signaling and IL-6 trans-signaling are activated and play a detrimental role in podocyte injury (Lei et al. 2018). The podocyte is critical for glomerular filtration barrier function, and abnormalities are the major event involving the onset and progression of DKD. Kidney transplant patients with acute graft dysfunction showed specific expression of IL-6, which corresponds to the extent

of tubulointerstitial damage. Some studies have measured urine IL-6 levels in kidney transplant patients with acute graft dysfunction, yielding conflicting results (Van Oers et al. 1988; Newstead et al. 1993; Raasveld et al. 1993). Waiser and colleagues assessed urine IL-6 levels in a cohort of 145 kidney transplant patients and found the cytokine to be a sensitive indicator of rejection (Waiser et al. 1997). High serum and urinary IL-6 concentrations are associated with increased urinary albumin in patients with DKD, but serum and urinary levels do not correlate (Shikano et al. 2000; Navarro et al. 2006). Additionally, the study of Wolkow et al. (2008), which sought to verify the association of renal decline and urinary inflammatory markers in microalbuminuric patients with type 1 DM, demonstrated that urinary IL-6 concentrations are only moderately associated with decline renal function and are not related to microalbuminuria. Navarro et al. (2006) in a study carried out in a model of DM and kidney disease induction in rats demonstrated that inflammatory cytokines, including IL-6, showed a significant increase. Thus, the expression and urinary excretion of these cytokines are significantly associated with renal damage, demonstrated by the association with the values of albumin excretion in the urine. In patients with type 2 DM, urinary IL-6 can identify DKD, and its concentrations were higher among patients with normal or mildly increased Albuminuria (Sangoi et al. 2016).

Interleukin 8

Interleukin 8 (IL-8, CXCL8) is a chemotactic cytokine with a high degree of specificity for neutrophils (Mackay 2001; Gerard and Rollins 2001; Tashiro et al. 2002). This cytokine plays numerous physiological roles and can induce leukocyte activation and chemotaxis (Smith et al. 1991; Petrica et al. 2019) and lysosome release, activation, and chemotaxis (Perlman et al. 2015). In addition, it stimulates the expression of adhesion molecules by endothelial cells and antagonizes the production of immunoglobulin E (IgE) stimulated by IL-4 (Zwahlen et al. 1993). It is produced by various peripheral blood cells under a wide variety of endogenous and exogenous stimuli, especially by monocytes and macrophages and, to a lesser extent, by fibroblasts, endothelial cells, keratinocytes, hepatocytes, melanocytes, and chondrocytes (Yoshimura et al. 1987; Oppenheim et al. 1991).

Podocytes and interstitial vessel cells are the main sources of IL-8 among renal cells (Zwahlen et al. 1993). In addition, glomerular mesangial cells and renal proximal tubular cells can also produce IL-8 through pro-inflammatory stimuli, such as lipopolysaccharides, IL-1, and TNF- α (Brown et al. 1991; Gerritsma et al. 1996). IL-8 is mainly produced by the damaged glomerulus and by leukocytes infiltrating the kidneys, which may be related to the pathogenesis of interstitial inflammation and, consequently, to the acute exacerbation of kidney disease (Tashiro et al. 2002). In kidney diseases in which inflammation is involved, IL-8 expression is increased, increasing the number of endothelial cells in the inflammatory site and facilitating the recruitment and migration of leukocytes, as well as the expression of adhesion molecules (Zwahlen et al. 1993). In the diabetes scenario, it is believed that the hyperglycemic environment promotes increased serum levels of this

chemoattractant cytokine, which contributes to the initiation and progression of the inflammatory process that results in kidney damage (Feng et al. 2018).

Urinary IL-8 is increased in the early stages of DKD among normoalbuminuric patients with type 1 DM (Cherney et al. 2012) and in microalbuminuric patients with type 2 DM (Tashiro et al. 2002). In addition, there is an association between high urinary IL-8 levels and the risk of renal disease progression. Elevated urinary levels of this interleukin are associated with a decline in renal function in patients with type 1 DM (Wolkow et al. 2008). Among patients with types 1 and 2 diabetes who had kidney disease, the presence of high urinary levels of IL-8 could predict a rapid progression of the pathology (Verhave et al. 2013). For this reason, urinary IL-8 determination can be useful for both early diagnosis and monitoring of patients with DKD.

Interleukin 10

IL-10 is a pleiotropic immunoregulatory cytokine produced by Th2 cells, regulatory T cells, and monocytes/macrophages. It has anti-inflammatory properties, contributing to the regulation of the immune system by potently inhibiting the expression and/or production of inflammatory cytokines (Moore et al. 2001; Li and Flavell 2008), as well as the production of IFN- γ by T cells (D'Andrea et al. 1993). The systemic treatment with IL-10 in rats with experimentally induced glomerulonephritis significantly reduced the degree of proteinuria and systemic inflammation, attenuating kidney damage (Huang et al. 2000).

Clinical studies have found elevated serum levels of IL-10 in individuals with type 1 (Myśliwska et al. 2005) and type 2 (Wong et al. 2007; Zamauskaite et al. 1999) diabetes with DKD. Furthermore, serum IL-10 concentrations have been positively correlated with UAE (Zhang et al. 2014). In this context, Myśliwska et al. (2005) suggested that excessive production of IL-10 may indirectly contribute to DKD progression. Furthermore, Sangoi et al. (2016) demonstrated that urinary excretion of this cytokine was significantly lower in individuals with DKD than in patients without the disease, and urinary IL-10 was altered even among normoalbuminuric patients. However, studies associating IL-10 and DKD are still scarce and limited to assessing serum concentrations of this cytokine. However, it is believed that the urinary determination of this cytokine can be useful since it is altered at an early stage of DKD.

Interleukin 18

IL-18, initially identified as an interferon (IFN) γ -inducing factor, is a pro-inflammatory cytokine produced by activated macrophages and other cells. IL-18 promotes the activation of T cells and macrophages, maturation of NK cells, in addition to contributing to the production of other chemokines, promoting an increase in the synthesis of nitric oxide and the upregulation of adhesion molecules such as VCAM-1, ICAM- 1, and E-selectin in endothelial cells (Yaribeygi et al. 2019; Kaplanski 2018; Wu et al. 2008). Moreover, the pyroptotic cell death of proximal tubular cells stimulates a release of IL-18 (Miao et al. 2019).

Evidence has indicated that the inflammatory response is involved in the pathophysiology of different diseases, including diabetes, and IL-18 seems to mediate some of the processes associated with this disease since its expression is upregulated by different stimuli, including hyperglycemia (Yaribeygi et al. 2019). In a recent review, Yaribeygi et al. (2019) present some molecular pathways involving IL-18 and the development of kidney damage in diabetes. These mechanisms include the interaction of IL-18 with adhesion molecules, TNF- α , IL-1 β , TGF- β , NF κ b, IFN- γ , and with other processes such as apoptosis and oxidative stress (Yaribeygi et al. 2019). Thus, IL-18 plays an essential role in the early stage and progress of kidney injury in patients with diabetes and appears to play a central role as a pathogenic mediator in DKD (Yaribeygi et al. 2019; Elsherbiny and Al-Gayyar 2016).

Urine and serum IL-18 concentrations were increased in patients with type 2 diabetes and positively correlated with urinary albumin excretion rate (AER) after 6 months, supporting the strong association between IL-18 concentrations and the AER (Nakamura et al. 2005). These findings support the role of IL-18 as a key molecule in the pathophysiology of DKD. The increase in IL-18 found in patients with type 2 diabetes may occur as a consequence of the stimuli promoted by hyperglycemia, insulin resistance, and feedback mechanisms involving other cytokines (Kaplanski 2018; Yaribeygi et al. 2019).

Urinary IL-18 has also been associated with other kidney-related diseases such as nephrotic syndrome (Matsumoto and Kanmatsuse 2001), acute kidney injury (AKI) (Doi et al. 2012; Schrezenmeier et al. 2017; Miao et al. 2019), and kidney ischemia-reperfusion injury (Wu et al. 2008). The elevated urinary IL-18 appear to be more prominent in AKI than in other renal diseases, but the mechanisms involved are complex and have not yet been fully elucidated (Miao et al. 2019). Thus, evidence indicates that IL-18 may be a valuable biomarker for investigating tubulointerstitial damage, which supports its use as a diagnostic tool and a predictor of kidney disease progression.

Potential Applications to Prognosis, Other Diseases, or Conditions

Scientific evidence has shown the involvement of inflammation in the pathophysiology of kidney damage associated with diabetes. In this context, some urinary interleukins have shown potential for use as a biomarker in assessing renal injury in patients with diabetes. In addition to the role in DKD, several interleukins are involved in the pathophysiology of a range of diseases and associated complications. Concerning other kidney conditions, kidney transplant patients with acute graft dysfunction showed specific expression of IL-6, which corresponds to the extent of tubulointerstitial damage. In this context, urinary IL-6 may be a sensitive indicator of rejection. Urinary IL-18 has also been associated with other kidney-related diseases such as nephrotic syndrome, acute kidney injury (AKI), and kidney ischemia-reperfusion injury (Wu et al. 2008). The elevated urinary IL-18 appears to be more prominent in AKI than in other renal diseases, but the complex mechanisms are not yet fully elucidated (Miao et al. 2019).
Mini-dictionary of Terms

Cytokines: A group of low molecular weight polypeptides, pharmacologically active, with autocrine and paracrine effects which, in a coordinated manner, regulate inflammatory and immune responses with the participation of different cytokine-associated signaling pathways.

Damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs): Endogenous danger molecules that activate the innate immune system by interacting with pattern recognition receptors (PRRs). Although DAMPs contribute to the host's defense, they promote pathological inflammatory responses.

Diabetic kidney disease (DKD): A disease characterized by functional, structural, and clinical renal changes caused by diabetes that persist for a period equal to or greater than 3 months, with urinary albumin excretion (UAE) > 30 mg/24 h, albumin/creatinine ratio \geq 30 mg/g, or glomerular filtration rate 60 mL/min/1.73m², after an initial phase of glomerular hyperfiltration.

Inflammation: A process of the innate immune system activated in response to harmful conditions to maintain tissue homeostasis and integrity. However, chronic activation of the inflammatory response triggers collateral injurious effects. It is initiated when the innate immune system recognizes invading pathogens or molecules from tissue injury through pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), such as Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and inflammasomes of the innate immune system.

Interleukins: A group of cytokines produced by different cells in different tissues. According to their physiological actions, interleukins are classified into pro-inflammatory molecules, such as IL-1 and IL-6, or anti-inflammatory, such as IL-10.

Nuclear factor-kappa B (NF-\kappaB): A ubiquitous transcription factor that modulates the expression of chemokines, cytokines, and adhesion molecules. This transcription factor is activated by many stimuli relevant to DKD. NF- κ B can be induced in various cell types in response to many different stimuli, such as proinflammatory cytokines, oxidants, and hyperglycemia.

Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain (NOD)-like receptors (NLRs): A family of cytoplasmic pattern-recognition receptors (PRR), which play several key roles in both innate and adaptive immunity. These receptors detect intracellular pathogen-associated molecular pattern molecules (PAMPs) and damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs).

Key Facts of Diabetes, Kidney Damage, and Urinary Interleukins

- Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a metabolic disorder characterized by chronic hyperglycemia, and approximately 20–30% of patients with diabetes usually have kidney damage.
- The pathogenesis of kidney damage in DM is complex and involves various pathways, causing metabolic and hemodynamic changes.
- Systemic and local renal inflammation has crucial roles in the development and progression of kidney damage.

- Hyperglycemia leads to the expression of inflammatory mediators by injured glomerular and tubular cells, contributing to renal damage by different mechanisms.
- The renal cells (endothelial, mesangial, epithelial, tubular cells, and podocytes) can synthesize proinflammatory cytokines, which may affect different renal structures.
- Macrophages are the main inflammatory cells infiltrating the kidneys in the context of subclinical chronic inflammation associated with renal damage in DM.
- Urinary concentrations of some interleukins such as IL-1, IL-6, IL-8, and IL-18 have been associated with kidney damage among diabetic patients.

Summary Points

- Inflammatory biomarkers have been associated with kidney damage in diabetes.
- Urinary concentrations of interleukins are significantly increased in microalbuminuric diabetic patients with early progressive renal function decline.
- Interleukins as IL-1, IL-6, and IL-18 are considered the central regulators of inflammation.
- Higher urinary concentrations of IL-1 were observed in patients with DKD.
- High urinary IL-6 concentrations are associated with increased urinary albumin excretion (UAE) in patients with DKD.
- Urinary IL-8 is increased in the early stages of DKD.
- Urinary excretion of IL-10 was significantly lower in individuals with DKD.
- Urine and serum IL-18 concentrations were increased in patients with type 2 diabetes and positively correlated with UAE.

Acknowledgments R.N. Moresco is a recipient of a research productivity scholarship from the National Council for Scientific and Technological Development (CNPq/Brazil, number: 309799/2017–1).

References

- Alicic RZ, Rooney MT, Tuttle KR. Diabetic kidney disease: challenges, progress, and possibilities. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2017;12:2032–45.
- Anders HJ. Of inflammasomes and alarmins: IL-1beta and IL-1alpha in kidney disease. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2016;27:2564–75.
- Brown Z, Strieter RM, Chensue SW, et al. Cytokine-activated human mesangial cells generate the neutrophil chemoattractant, interleukin 8. Kidney Int. 1991;40:86–90.
- Campion CG, Sanchez-Ferras O, Batchu SN. Potential role of serum and urinary biomarkers in diagnosis and prognosis of diabetic nephropathy. Can J Kidney Health Dis. 2017;4: 2054358117705371.
- Cherney DZI, Scholey JW, Daneman D, et al. Urinary markers of renal inflammation in adolescents with type 1 diabetes mellitus and normoalbuminuria. Diabet Med. 2012;29:1297–302.
- Cho NH, Shaw JE, Karuranga S, et al. IDF diabetes atlas: global estimates of diabetes prevalence for 2017 and projections for 2045. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2018;138:271–81.

Chung ACK, Lan HY. Chemokines in renal injury. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2011;22:802-9.

- Coleman D, Ruef C. Interleukin 6: an autocrine regulator of mesangial cell growth. Kidney Int. 1992;41:604–11.
- Coletta I, Soldo L, Polentarutti N, et al. Selective induction of MCP-1 in human mesangial cells by the IL-6/sIL-6R complex. Exp Nephrol. 2000;8:37–43.
- D'Andrea A, Aste-Amezag M, Valiante NM, et al. Interleukin 10 (IL-10) inhibits human lymphocyte interferon gamma-production by suppressing natural killer cell stimulatory factor/IL-12 synthesis in accessory cells. J Exp Med. 1993;178:1041–8.
- Dalla Vestra M, Mussap M, Gallina P, et al. Acute-phase markers markers of inflammation and glomerular structure in patients with type 2 diabetes. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2005;16:S78–82.
- Dinarello CA. Immunological and inflammatory functions of the interleukin-1 family. Annu Rev Immunol. 2009;27:519–50.
- Doi K, Katagiri D, Negishi K, et al. Mild elevation of urinary biomarkers in prerenal acute kidney injury. Kidney Int. 2012;82:1114–20.
- Donate-Correa J, Martín-Núñez E, Muros-de-Fuentes M, Mora-Fernández C, Navarro-González JF. Inflammatory cytokines in diabetic nephropathy. J Diabetes Res. 2015;2015:948417.
- Duran-Salgado MB, Rubio-Guerra AF. Diabetic nephropathy and inflammation. World J Diabetes. 2014;5:393–8.
- Elsherbiny NM, Al-Gayyar MMH. The role of IL-18 in type 1 diabetic nephropathy: the problem and future treatment. Cytokine. 2016;81:15–22.
- Feng YM, Thijs L, Zhang ZY, et al. Glomerular function in relation to circulating adhesion molecules and inflammation markers in a general population. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2018;33:426–35.
- Ferenbach D, Kluth DC, Hughes J. Inflammatory cells in renal injury and repair. Semin Nephrol. 2007;27:250–9.
- Frank J, Engler-Blum G, Rodemann HP, Müller GA. Human tubular cells as a cytokine source: PDGF-B, GM-CSF and IL-6 mRNA expression in vitro. Exp Nephrol. 1993;1:26–35.
- Fukatsu A, Matsuo S, Tamai H, Sakamoto N, Matsuda T, Hirano T. Distribution of interleukin-6 in normal and diseased platelet human kidney. Lab Investig. 1991;65:61–6.
- Galkina E, Ley K. Leukocyte recruitment and vascular injury in diabetic nephropathy. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2006;17:368–77.
- García-García PM, Getino-Melián MA, Domínguez-Pimentel V, et al. Inflammation in diabetic kidney disease. World J Diabetes. 2014;15:431–43.
- Gerard C, Rollins BJ. Chemokines and disease. Nat Immunol. 2001;2:108-15.
- Gerritsma JS, Hiemstra PS, Gerritsen AF, et al. Regulation and production of IL-8 by human proximal tubular epithelial cells in vitro. Clin Exp Immunol. 1996;103:289–94.
- Gonzalez Suarez ML, Thomas DB, Barisoni L, et al. Diabetic nephropathy: is it time yet for routine kidney biopsy? World J Diabetes. 2013;4:245–55.
- Gregg EW, Li Y, Wang J, et al. Changes in diabetes-related complications in the United States, 1990–2010. N Engl J Med. 2014;370:1514–23.
- Guijarro C, Egido J. Transcription factor-kappa B (NF-kappa B) and renal disease. Kidney Int. 2001;59:415–24.
- Hirano T, Akira S, Taga T, Kishimoto T. Biological and clinical aspects of interleukin 6. Immunol Today. 1990;11:443–9.
- Horii Y, Muraguchi A, Iwano M, et al. Involvement of IL-6 in mesangial proliferative glomerulonephritis. J Immunol. 1989;143:3949–56.
- Huang XR, Kitching AR, Tipping PG, et al. Interleukin-10 inhibits macrophage-induced glomerular injury. JASN. 2000;11:262–9.
- Hutton HL, Ooi JD, Holdsworth SR, Kitching AR. The NLRP3 inflammasome in kidney disease and autoimmunity. Nephrology (Carlton). 2016;21:736–44.
- Jones LK, O'Sullivan KM, Semple T, et al. IL-1RI deficiency ameliorates early experimental renal interstitial fibrosis. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2009;24:3024–32.
- Kanasaki K, Taduri G, Koya D. Diabetic nephropathy: the role of inflammation in fibroblast activation and kidney fibrosis. Front Endocrinol. 2013;4:7.

- Kaplanski G. Interleukin-18: biological properties and role in disease pathogenesis. Immunol Rev. 2018;281:138–53.
- Karkar AM, Smith J, Tam FW, Pusey CD, Rees AJ. Abrogation of glomerular injury in nephrotoxic nephritis by continuous infusion of interleukin-6. Kidney Int. 1997;52:1313–20.
- Khazim K, Azulay EEEE, Kristal B, Cohen I. Interleukin 1 gene polymorphism and susceptibility to disease. Immunol Rev. 2018;281:40–56.
- Kim SS, Song SH, Kim IJ, et al. Urinary cystatin C and tubular proteinuria predict progression of diabetic nephropathy. Diabetes Care. 2013;36:656–61.
- Kishimoto T. IL-6: from its discovery to clinical applications. Int Immunol. 2010;22:347-52.
- Klessens CQF, Zandbergen M, Wolterbeek R, et al. Macrophages in diabetic nephropathy in patients with type 2 diabetes. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2017;32:1322–9.
- Lee SY, Choi ME. Urinary biomarkers for early diabetic nephropathy: beyond albuminuria. Pediatr Nephrol. 2014;30:1063–75.
- Lei CT, Su H, Ye C, et al. The classic signalling and trans-signalling of interleukin-6 are both injurious in podocyte under high glucose exposure. J Cell Mol Med. 2018;22:251–60.
- Lei Y, Devarapu SK, Motrapu M, et al. Interleukin-1β inhibition for chronic kidney disease in obese mice with type 2 diabetes. Front Immunol. 2019;10:1223.
- Lemos DR, McMurdo M, Karaca G, et al. Interleukin-1beta activates a MYC-dependent metabolic switch in kidney stromal cells necessary for progressive tubulointerstitial fibrosis. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2018;29:1690–705.
- Li MO, Flavell RA. Contextual regulation of inflammation: a duet by transforming growth factor-β and interleukin-10. Immunity. 2008;28:468–76.
- Lim AKH, Tesch GH. Inflammation in diabetic nephropathy. Mediat Inflamm. 2012;2012:146154.
- Lorenz G, Darisipudi MN, Anders HJ. Canonical and non-canonical effects of the NLRP3 inflammasome in kidney inflammation and fibrosis. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2014;29:41–8.
- Mack M, Yanagita M. Origin of myofibroblasts and cellular events triggering fibrosis. Kidney Int. 2015;87:297–307.
- Mackay CR. Chemokines: immunology's high impact factors. Nat Immunol. 2001;2:95–101.
- Martinon F, Burns K, Tschopp J. The inflammasome: a molecular platform triggering activation of inflammatory caspases and processing of proIL-beta. Mol Cell. 2002;10:417–26.
- Matheson A, Willcox MDP, Flanagan J, et al. Urinary biomarkers in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2010;26:150–71.
- Matoba K, Takeda Y, Nagai Y, Kawanami D, Utsunomiya K, Nishimura R. Unraveling the role of inflammation in the pathogenesis of diabetic kidney disease. Int J Mol Sci. 2019;20:3393.
- Matsumoto K, Kanmatsuse K. Elevated interleukin-18 levels in the urine of nephrotic patients. Nephron. 2001;88:334–9.
- Meng XM, Nikolic-Paterson DJ, Lan HY. Inflammatory processes in renal fibrosis. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2014;10:493–503.
- Miao N, Yin F, Xie H, et al. The cleavage of gasdermin D by caspase-11 promotes tubular epithelial cell pyroptosis and urinary IL-18 excretion in acute kidney injury. Kidney Int. 2019;96: 1105–20.
- Moon JY, Jeong KH, Lee TW, Ihm CG, Lim SJ, Lee SH. Aberrant recruitment and activation of T cells in diabetic nephropathy. Am J Nephrol. 2012;35:164–74.
- Moore KW, Malefyt RW, Coffman RL, et al. Interleukin-10 and the interleukin-10 receptor. Annu Rev Immunol. 2001;9:683–765.
- Mora-Fernández C, Domínguez-Pimentel V, de Fuentes MM, et al. Diabetic kidney disease: from physiology to therapeutics. J Physiol. 2014;592:3997–4012.
- Moresco RN, Sangoi MB, de Carvalho JAM, et al. Diabetic nephropathy: traditional to proteomic markers. Clin Chim Acta. 2013;421:17–30.
- Moutabarrik A, Nakanishi I, Ishibashi M. Interleukin-6 and interleukin-6 receptor are expressed by cultured glomerular epithelial cells. Scand J Immunol. 1994;40:181–6.
- Myśliwska J, Zorena K, Semetkowska-Jurkiewicz E, et al. High levels of circulating interleukin-10 in diabetic nephropathy patients. Eur Cytokine Netw. 2005;16:117–22.

- Nakamura A, Shikata K, Hiramatsu M, et al. Serum interleukin-18 levels are associated with nephropathy and atherosclerosis in Japanese patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2005;28:2890–5.
- Navarro JF, Mora C, Maca M, Garca J. Inflammatory parameters are independently associated with urinary albumin in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Am J Kidney Dis. 2003;42:53–61.
- Navarro JF, Milena FJ, Mora C, León C, García J. Renal pro-inflammatory cytokine gene expression in diabetic nephropathy: effect of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition and pentoxifylline administration. Am J Nephrol. 2006;26:562–70.
- Navarro-González JF, Mora-Fernández C. The role of inflammatory cytokines in diabetic nephropathy. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2008;19:433–42.
- Navarro-González JF, Mora-Fernández C, de Fuentes MM, García-Pérez J. Inflammatory molecules and pathways in the pathogenesis of diabetic nephropathy. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2011;7:327–40.
- Nechemia-Arbely Y, Barkan D, Pizov G, et al. IL-6/IL-6R axis plays a critical role in acute kidney injury. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2008;19:1106–015.
- Neu B, Puschmann AJ, Mayerhofer A, et al. TNF-alpha induces apoptosis of parietal cells. Biochem Pharmacol. 2003;65:1755–60.
- Newstead CG, Lamb WR, Brenchley PEC, Short CD. Serum and urine IL-6 and TNF-a in renal transplant recipients with graft dysfunction. Transplantation. 1993;56:831–5.
- Nguyen D, Ping F, Mu W, Hill P, Atkins RC, Chadban SJ. Macrophage accumulation in human progressive diabetic nephropathy. Nephrology (Carlton). 2006;11:226–31.
- Nosadini R, Velussi M, Brocco E, et al. Course of renal function in type 2 diabetic patients with abnormalities of albumin excretion rate. Diabetes. 2005;49:476–84.
- O'Neill LA. The interleukin-1 receptor/toll-like receptor superfamily: 10 years of progress. Immunol Rev. 2008;226:10-8.
- Ohta K, Takano N, Seno A, et al. Detection and clinical usefulness of urinary interleukin-6 in the diseases of kidney and urinary tract. Clin Nephrol. 1992;38:185–9.
- Oppenheim JJ, Zachariae CO, Mukaida N, et al. Properties of the novel proinflammatory supergene "intercrine" cytokine family. Ann Rev Immunol. 1991;9:617–48.
- Panzer U, Steinmetz OM, Stahl RA, Wolf G. Kidney diseases and chemokines. Curr Drug Targets. 2006;7:65–80.
- Park CW, Kim JH, Lee JH, et al. High glucose-induced intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) expression through an osmotic effect in rat mesangial cells is PKC-NF-kappa B-dependent. Diabetologia. 2000;43:1544–53.
- Pérez-Morales RE, Del Pino MD, Valdivielso JM, Ortiz A, Mora-Fernández C, Navarro-González JF. Inflammation in diabetic kidney disease. Nephron. 2019;143:12–6.
- Perlman AS, Chevalier JM, Wilkinson P, et al. Serum inflammatory and immune mediators are elevated in early stage diabetic nephropathy. Ann Clin Lab Sci. 2015;45:256–63.
- Petrica L, Milas O, Vlad M, et al. Interleukins and miRNAs intervene in the early stages of diabetic kidney disease in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients. Biomark Med. 2019;13:1577–88.
- Pichler R, Afkarian M, Dieter BP, Tuttle KR. Immunity and inflammation in diabetic kidney disease: translating mechanisms to biomarkers and treatment targets. Am J Physiol Ren Physiol. 2017;312:F716–31.
- Raasveld MHM, Bloemena E, Wilmink JM, Surachno S, Schellekens PTA, ten Berge RJM. Interleukin-6 and neopterin in renal transplant recipients: a longitudinal study. Transplant Int. 1993;6:89–94.
- Ram C, Jha AK, Ghosh A, et al. Targeting NLRP3 inflammasome as a promising approach for treatment of diabetic nephropathy: preclinical evidences with therapeutic approaches. Eur J Pharmacol. 2020;885:173503.
- Ranieri E, Gesualdo L, Petrarulo F, Schena FP. Urinary IL-6/EGF ratio: a useful prognostic marker of renal damage in IgA nephropathy. Kidney Int. 1996;50:1990–2001.
- Rayego-Mateos S, Morgado-Pascual JL, Opazo-Ríos L, et al. Pathogenic pathways and therapeutic approaches targeting inflammation in diabetic nephropathy. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21:3798.

- Rider P, Voronov E, Dinarello CA, Apte RN, Cohen I. Alarmins: feel the stress. J Immunol. 2017;198:1395–402.
- Saeedi P, Petersohn I, Salpea P, et al. Global and regional diabetes prevalence estimates for 2019 and projections for 2030 and 2045: results from the International Diabetes Federation Diabetes Atlas, 9 th edition. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2019;157:107843.
- Salti T, Khazim K, Haddad R, Campisi-Pinto S, Bar-Sela G, Cohen I. Glucose induces IL-1- α -dependent inflammation and extracellular matrix proteins expression and deposition in renal tubular epithelial cells in diabetic kidney disease. Front Immunol. 2020;11:1270.
- Sangoi MB, de Carvalho JA, Tatsch E, et al. Urinary inflammatory cytokines as indicators of kidney damage in type 2 diabetic patients. Clin Chim Acta. 2016;460:178–83.
- Sassy-Prigent C, Heudes D, Mandet C, et al. Early glomerular macrophage recruitment in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Diabetes. 2000;49:466–75.
- Scheller J, Chalaris A, Schmidt-Arras D, Rose-John S. The pro- and anti-inflammatory properties of the cytokine interleukin-6. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2011;1813:878–88.
- Schena FP, Gesualdo L. Pathogenetic mechanisms of diabetic nephropathy. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2005;16:S30–3.
- Schrezenmeier EV, Barasch J, Budde K, Westhoff T, Schmidt-Ott KM. Biomarkers in acute kidney injury - pathophysiological basis and clinical performance. Acta Physiol (Oxf). 2017;219: 554–72.
- Shahzad K, Bock F, Dong W, et al. Nlrp3-inflammasome activation in non-myeloid-derived cells aggravates diabetic nephropathy. Kidney Int. 2015;87:74–84.
- Shikano M, Sobajima H, Yoshikawa H, et al. Usefulness of a highly sensitive urinary and serum IL-6 assay in patients with diabetic nephropathy. Nephron. 2000;85:81–5.
- Sims JE, Smith DE. The IL-1 family: regulators of immunity. Nat Rev Immunol. 2010;10:89-102.
- Smith WB, Gamble JR, Clark-Lewis L, et al. Interleukin-8 induces neutrophil transendothelial migration. Immunology. 1991;72:65–72.
- Soetikno V, Sari FR, Veeraveedu PT, et al. Curcumin ameliorates macrophage infiltration by inhibiting NF-κB activation and proinflammatory cytokines in streptozotocin induced-diabetic nephropathy. Nutr Metab. 2011;8:35.
- Sueud T, Hadi NR, Abdulameer R, Jamil DA, Al-Aubaidy HA. Assessing urinary levels of IL-18, NGAL and albumin creatinine ratio in patients with diabetic nephropathy. Diabetes Metab Syndr. 2019;13:564–8.
- Tang SCW, Yiu WH. Innate immunity in diabetic kidney disease. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2020;16: 206–22.
- Tashiro K, Koyanagi I, Saitoh A, et al. Urinary levels of monocyte chemotractant protein-1 (MCP-1) and interleukin-8 (IL-8), and renal injuries in patients with type 2 diabetic nephropathy. J Clin Lab Anal. 2002;16:1–4.
- Tesch GH. Diabetic nephropathy is this an immune disorder? Clin Sci (Lond). 2017;131:2183–99.
- Van Oers MHJ, Van Der Heyden AAPAM, Aarden LA. Interleukin-6 (IL-6) in serum and urine of renal transplant recipients. Clin Exp Immunol. 1988;71:314–9.
- Verhave JC, Bouchard J, Goupil R, et al. Clinical value of inflammatory urinary biomarkers in overt diabetic nephropathy: a prospective study. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2013;101:333–40.
- Wada J, Makino H. Historical chronology of basic and clinical research in diabetic nephropathy and contributions of Japanese scientists. Clin Exp Nephrol. 2009;13:405–14.
- Wada J, Makino H. Inflammation and the pathogenesis of diabetic nephropathy. Clin Sci (Lond). 2013;124:139–52.
- Wada J, Makino H. Innate immunity in diabetes and diabetic nephropathy. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2016;12:13–26.
- Waiser J, Budde K, Katalinic A, Kuerzdorfer M, Rie
 ß R, Neumayer H-H. Interleukin-6 expression after renal transplantion. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 1997;12:753–9.
- Wolkow PP, Niewczas MA, Perkins B, et al. Association of urinary inflammatory markers and renal decline in microalbuminuric type 1 diabetics. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2008;19:789–97.

- Wong CK, Ho AWY, Tong PCY, et al. Aberrant activation profile of cytokines and mitogenactivated protein kinases in type 2 diabetic patients with nephropathy. Clin Exp Immunol. 2007;149:123–31.
- Wu H, Craft ML, Wang P, et al. IL-18 contributes to renal damage after ischemia-reperfusion. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2008;19:2331–41.
- Yaribeygi H, Atkin SL, Sahebkar A. Interleukin-18 and diabetic nephropathy: a review. J Cell Physiol. 2019;234:5674–82.
- Yazdi AS, Drexler SK. Regulation of interleukin 1α secretion by inflammasomes. Ann Rheum Dis. 2013;72:96–9.
- Yoshimura T, Matsushima K, Tanaka S, et al. Purification of a human monocyte-derived neutrophil chemotactic factor that has peptide sequence similarity to other host defense cytokines. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1987;84:9233–7.
- Zamauskaite A, Yaqoob MM, Madrigal JA, et al. The frequency of Th2 type cells increases with time on peritoneal dialysis in patients with diabetic nephropathy. Eur Cytokine Netw. 1999;10: 219–26.
- Zhang C, Xiao C, Wang P, et al. The alteration of Th1/Th2/Th17/Treg paradigm in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: relationship with diabetic nephropathy. Hum Immunol. 2014;75: 289–96.
- Zwahlen R, Walz A, Rot A. In vitro and in vivo activity and pathophysiology of human interleukin-8 and related peptides. Int Rev Exp Pathol. 1993;34:B27–42.



Serum Homocysteine as a Biomarker in Diabetes

12

Links with Variables Such as Cognition

Em Yunir and Yully Astika Nugrahayning Aziza

Contents

Introduction	281
Homocysteine and Its Role in the Body	282
Biosynthesis and Metabolism of Homocysteine	282
Factors Causing Hyperhomocysteinemia	284
Diabetes Mellitus Cellular Metabolism Disturbance and Micronutrient Status in Diabetes	
Mellitus	286
Hyperhomocysteinemia and Diabetes Mellitus	289
Cognitive Dysfunction in Diabetes Mellitus	289
Cognitive Function	291
Factors That Affect Cognitive Function	292
Hyperhomocysteinemia and Cognitive Function	293
Compliance in Diabetes Management and Cognitive Dysfunction	294
Applications to Prognosis	294
Mini-Dictionary of Terms	294
Key Facts of Serum Homocysteine as a Biomarker in Diabetes: Links with Variables Such	
as Cognition	294
Summary Points	295
References	295

E. Yunir (🖂)

e-mail: e.yunir@ui.ac.id

279

Division of Endocrinology, Metabolism, and Diabetes, Department of Internal Medicine, Dr. Cipto Mangunkusumo National General Hospital, Faculty of Medicine Universitas Indonesia, Jakarta, Indonesia

Y. A. N. Aziza Faculty of Medicine Universitas Indonesia, Jakarta, Indonesia e-mail: yully.astika@ui.ac.id

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2_13

Abstract

The management of patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) faces its own challenges; in addition to the chronic progressive course of the disease which at some point causes various complications, it turns out that they also have to deal with behavioral conditions that hinder the management of their disease. One of the behavioral conditions encountered is related to changes in cognitive function. Many factors affect cognitive function changes in T2DM, one of which is an inflammatory condition which occurs because of hyperglycemia. Besides that, T2DM is strongly correlated with insulin resistance (IR). Inflammatory condition and IR can be caused by an increase of homocysteine (Hcy) levels. Other factors that can increase the level of homocysteine are deficiencies of vitamin B6, vitamin B12, and folic acid. Hyperhomocysteinemia (HHcy) can increase the risk of T2DM complications. This chapter will elaborate the relationship between Hcy and cognitive dysfunction in T2DM.

Keywords

T2DM \cdot T2DM complications \cdot Cognitive dysfunction \cdot Hyperhomocysteine \cdot Inflammation \cdot Hyperglycemia \cdot Insulin resistance \cdot Vitamin B6 \cdot Vitamin B12 \cdot Folic acid

Abbreviations

3MS	Modified Mini-Mental State Exam
AGEs	Advanced glycation end products
Αβ	Amyloid beta
BBB	Blood-brain barrier
BMI	Body mass index
Cr	Chromium
CRP	C-reactive protein
Cys	Cysteine
DM	Diabetes mellitus
DN	Diabetic nephropathy
DR	Diabetic retinopathy
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
ERKs	Extracellular signal-regulated kinases
Fe	Iron
FFA	Free fatty acid
GABA	γ-Aminobutyric acid
GLUT2	Glucose transporter 2
GLUT4	Glucose transporter 4
Н	Hydrogen
Нсу	Homocysteine
Hcy-TL	Hcy-thiolactone
HHcy	Hyperhomocysteinemia

INSR	Insulin binding to insulin receptor
IP2	Inositol 1,3-bisphosphate
IP3	Inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate
IR	Insulin resistance
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
Mg	Magnesium
MMP-9	Matrix metalloproteinase-9
MMSE	Mini-Mental State Exam
MoCA	Montreal Cognitive Assessment
MTHFR	Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase
NMDA	N-methyl D-aspartate
NOS	Nitric oxide synthase
NOX	NADPH oxidase
0_{2}^{-}	Superoxide
P2X	Purinergic receptor X
P2Y	Purinergic receptor Y
PD	Parkinson disease
РКС	Protein kinase
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RYR	Ryanodine receptor channel
S	Sulfur
SAH	S-adenosylhomocysteine
SAM	S-adenosylmethionine
Se	Selenium
SERCA	Sarco-endoplasmic reticulum Ca2+-ATPase
SLUMS	Saint Louis University Mental Status
T2DM	Type 2 diabetes mellitus
TC	Total cholesterol
TG	Triglyceride
TIMP-4	Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-4
UPR	Unfolded protein response
Zn	Zinc

Introduction

Hcy is an intermediate form in biochemical reaction of methionine and cysteine (Miller 2013). There are four forms of Hcy that we can find in the blood plasma, the most common form being the disulfide bound to plasma protein (mainly albumin). The main source of Hcy is dietary meal (dairy products, meats, etc.). Hcy can be converted to methionine if methionine levels are low in the body. But, when in oxidative stress condition, Hcy will be converted to cysteine which further produces glutathione as an endogenous antioxidant (Miller 2013; Hultdin 2005; Medina et al. 2001).

The normal level of Hcy is 4–10 μ mol/L; when the level exceeds 15 μ mol/L, the condition is called hyperhomocysteinemia (HHcy). There are several conditions that can

cause HHcy, one of which is T2DM (Miller 2013; Hultdin 2005; Medina et al. 2001). Besides that, HHcy can increase the risk of T2DM complications (Chubarov 2021; Ganguly and Alam 2015; Moretti and Caruso 2019; Tripathi 2015; Varga et al. 2005; Williams and Schalinske 2010; Zaric et al. 2019). One of the conditions that is closely related to the complications of T2DM is cognitive dysfunction. Cognitive functions that are strongly influenced by T2DM are memory function, psychomotor speed, and executive function. Cognitive dysfunction in T2DM also greatly affects compliance to the therapy, which further affects the T2DM outcomes (Moretti and Caruso 2019; Al Mutairi 2020).

Homocysteine and Its Role in the Body

Hcy is a sulfur-containing, nonproteinogenic amino acid and an intermediate form in the biochemical conversion of methionine to cysteine (Miller 2013; Hultdin 2005; Medina et al. 2001). The biochemistry form of Hcy was explained by Vincent Du Vigneaud and colleagues from the 1930s to the 1950s (Miller 2013). In 1962, Hcy was first identified in patients. These patients had homocystinuria, an inborn error of metabolism, in which homocysteine levels are very high and excreted in the kidneys in the forms of disulfide homocysteine in urine (Hultdin 2005).

The structure of Hcy and the related structure of cysteine and methionine are represented in Table 1. Hcy and cysteine have the prominent features that are free sulfhydryl groups in the end side chains of both amino acids. Sulfhydryl groups are easily to oxidation and forming disulfide linkages (Miller 2013). We can find four different forms of homocysteine in plasma: around 1% as a free thiol, 70–80% in the form of disulfide bound to plasma protein (mainly albumin), and 20–30% combines with itself to form dimer homocysteine (homocysteine) or with other thiols (Miller 2013; Tripathi 2015). Meanwhile, methionine does not have a free sulfhydryl group, so it can't form disulfide compounds (Miller 2013).

Biosynthesis and Metabolism of Homocysteine

Dietary methionine (meat, fish, dairy product, etc.) is the primary source of Hcy. Figure 1 is presenting the biosynthesis and metabolism of Hcy. Methionine is activated by addition of an adenosyl group to form S-adenosylmethionine (SAM).

Structure of homocysteine	Forms of homocysteine in blood	
Homocysteine	Hcy-S-S-Cys-albumin	Protein-bound form
Cysteine	Hcy-S-S-Cys	Mixed disulfide
	Hcy-S-S-Hcy	Homocysteine
Methionine	Hcy-SH	Free-reduced form

Table 1 Structure and forms of homocysteine and its related amino acids

Hcy, homocysteine; S, sulfur; Cys, cysteine; H, hydrogen

Table 1 adapted from Miller JW, Encyclopedia of Human Nutrition; 2013.



Fig. 1 The biosynthesis and metabolism of homocysteine Key enzymes: (1) methyltetrahydrofolate-homocysteine methyltransferase or methionine synthase, (2) betaine-homocysteine methyltransferase, (3) cystathionine β -synthase, and (4) methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR). (Adapted from Miller JW, Encyclopedia of Human Nutrition; 2013)

SAM is a universal methyl donor in a variety essential reactions (reaction which involves DNA, RNA, protein, membrane phospholipids, neurotransmitter, and synthesis of creatine). SAM-dependent methylation reaction produces S-adenosylhomocysteine (SAH), which will be metabolized to form adenosine and Hcy. Hcy can be remethylated to form methionine or catabolized through cystathionine synthesis (Miller 2013; Hultdin 2005; Medina et al. 2001; Chubarov 2021; Ganguly and Alam 2015; Tripathi 2015; Williams and Schalinske 2010; Zaric et al. 2019).

In remethylation, Hcy regains a methyl group in a reaction that is catalyzed by methionine synthase (5-methyltetrahydrofolate-homocystein methyltransferase), with methyltetrahydrofolate as the methyl donor and vitamin B12 as a cofactor. This reaction takes place in all mammalian cells. Besides that, Hcy can be remethylated using betaine as a methyl donor and catalyzed by betaine-homocysteine methyltransferase. This reaction especially happens in the liver, kidney, and brain (Miller 2013; Hultdin 2005; Medina et al. 2001; Chubarov 2021; Ganguly and Alam 2015; Tripathi 2015; Williams and Schalinske 2010; Zaric et al. 2019).

The catabolism of homocysteine occurs through cystathionine synthesis. This reaction is catalyzed by cystathionine β -synthase which requires vitamin B6 as a cofactor. Cystathionine is broken down into α -ketobutyrate and cysteine. Furthermore, cysteine leads the formation of glutathione or inorganic sulfate (Miller 2013;

Hultdin 2005; Medina et al. 2001; Chubarov 2021; Ganguly and Alam 2015; Tripathi 2015; Williams and Schalinske 2010; Zaric et al. 2019).

Allosteric control is the important aspect in metabolism of Hcy. When dietary methionine is high, after consuming protein meal, intracellular SAM levels increase. SAM activates cystathionine β -synthase and inhibits methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) and then promotes Hcy catabolism. On the other hand, when there is no dietary influx of methionine, intracellular SAM levels reduce, cystathionine β -synthase is not activated, and the inhibition of MTHFR is relived, thereby promoting Hcy remethylation (Miller 2013; Hultdin 2005; Medina et al. 2001; Chubarov 2021; Ganguly and Alam 2015; Tripathi 2015; Williams and Schalinske 2010; Zaric et al. 2019).

The level of Hcy can be controlled by oxidative stress. When the level of oxidative stress increases, Hcy will pass through toward cystathionine synthesis. So it can increase the synthesis of glutathione that serves as an important intracellular antioxidant (Miller 2013).

Hcy levels are said to be normal if they are in the range of $4-10 \mu mol/l$. According to some literature, HHcy occurs when the level of Hcy is more than 11 $\mu mol/l$ (Miller 2013), but according to some, HHcy occurs when the level of Hcy is more than 15 $\mu mol/l$ (Tripathi 2015). Here, the HHcy categories will be explained: mild-moderate HHcy in the range $11-25 \mu mol/l$ or $16-30 \mu mol/l$; intermediate HHcy in the range $26-50 \mu mol/l$ or 31-100; and severe HHcy in the range more than 50 $\mu mol/l$ or more than 100 $\mu mol/l$ (Miller 2013; Tripathi 2015).

Factors Causing Hyperhomocysteinemia

Hcy levels can be increased due to several conditions such as deficiency of B vitamins and folate in the diet, all diseases that disrupt the absorption of B12 or folate (atrophic gastritis, after gastrectomy, pancreatic disease, malabsorption in the small intestine, celiac disease, etc.), chronic kidney disease, liver disease, low levels of thyroid hormones (hypothyroidism), psoriasis, certain medications (such as antiepileptic drugs and methotrexate), genetic mutation of MTHFR, systemic lupus erythematosus, smoking, heavy alcohol consumption, sedentary lifestyle, etc. (Miller 2013; Hultdin 2005; Moretti and Caruso 2019; Varga et al. 2005; Al Mutairi 2020; Škovierová et al. 2016).

Vitamin B12 has a role as a cofactor in remethylation (recycling homocysteine to methionine); meanwhile, vitamin B6 has a role as a cofactor in catabolism of homocysteine (transsulfuration) (Miller 2013; Hultdin 2005; Al Mutairi 2020). Deficiency in folic acid, vitamin B12, and vitamin B6 can cause HHcy. Deficiency in vitamin B6 only causes prandial state plasma Hcy increase or slightly increased fasting Hcy level; meanwhile, deficiency in folic acid and vitamin B12 can elevate prandial and fasting Hcy level (Hultdin 2005).

HHcy can cause biotoxicity by several mechanisms: (a) modification of protein structure (homocysteinylation), (b) induction of oxidative stress, and (c) excitotoxicity (Škovierová et al. 2016; Brustolin et al. 2010; Kim et al. 2018; Kluijtmans et al. 2003; Tinelli et al. 2019).

(a) Homocysteinylation

The degree of homocysteinylation is proportional to the level of Hcy. Nhomocysteinvlation formed when Hcy interacts by its amino group with ε -amino group of lysine residue in protein. This is a result of high reactivity of Hcy-thiolactone (Hcy-TL) (Škovierová et al. 2016; Brustolin et al. 2010; Kim et al. 2018; Kluijtmans et al. 2003; Tinelli et al. 2019). N-homocysteinylation disrupts protein function through the introduction of new free thiol groups and inactivation of free amino group; it affects the overall redox potential and increases oxidative stress. The pathological consequences are cytotoxicity through endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress, activation of unfolded protein response, enhanced protein degradation, enzymatic inactivation, and amyloid formation. Besides that, it can act as neoantigens which can trigger the activation of the inflammatory response as a key component of atherogenesis, atherothrombosis, and stroke etiology. N-homocysteinvlation in the luminal face of vascular endothelial cells promotes neoantigen-autoantibody interaction which can lead to the activation of circulating macrophages and cause repeated vascular endothelium damage. Furthermore, Hcy-TL disrupts the regeneration of vascular endothelium itself by direct inhibition of lysyl oxidase, which has a strong impact on the vascular stiffness (Škovierová et al. 2016; Brustolin et al. 2010; Kim et al. 2018; Kluijtmans et al. 2003; Tinelli et al. 2019).

(b) Induction of Oxidative Stress

HHcy can increase the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) by several mechanisms: (i) autoxidation, (ii) inhibition of the enzymatic activity of antioxidant in cells, (iii) disruption of extracellular superoxide dismutase from endothelial surfaces, (iv) activation of NADPH oxidases, and (v) nitric oxide synthase (NOS)-dependent generation of superoxide anion. ROS and oxidative stress form the nitrotyrosine which lead the formation of the strong oxidant peroxynitrite. Peroxynitrite causes the alteration of protein function and induces cellular dysfunction (Škovierová et al. 2016; Brustolin et al. 2010; Kim et al. 2018; Kluijtmans et al. 2003; Tinelli et al. 2019).

(c) Excitotoxicity

HHcy could lead to neuronal cell death due to transient activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERKs), mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), and p38 MAPK. HHcy can cause intracellular Ca²⁺ mobilization and ER stress which is followed by apoptotic events, remodeling of extracellular matrix in brain parenchyma, and endothelial dysfunction (Škovierová et al. 2016; Brustolin et al. 2010; Kim et al. 2018; Kluijtmans et al. 2003; Tinelli et al. 2019).

HHcy itself is able to induce disruption of blood-brain barrier (BBB), by several methods: (i) HHcy induces an imbalance activity between matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-4 (TIMP-4); (ii) HHcy acts as an excitatory neurotransmitter for γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) receptors which increased permeability of vascular and *N*-methyl D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor which increased cell susceptibility to excitatory amino acids (Škovierová et al. 2016; Brustolin et al. 2010; Kim et al. 2018; Kluijtmans et al. 2003; Tinelli et al. 2019).

Diabetes Mellitus Cellular Metabolism Disturbance and Micronutrient Status in Diabetes Mellitus

T2DM is a chronic lifestyle disease, the most common noncommunicable disease. T2DM is characterized by relative deficiency of insulin and insulin resistance (IR) in target tissues. Besides that, there are some conditions that perpetuate T2DM (Galicia-Garcia et al. 2020; Hameed et al. 2015; Holt et al. 2017; Maciejczyk et al. 2019; Nolan and Prentki 2019; Prentki et al. 2020). Here, we will discuss all of the processes:

1. β-Cell Pancreas Dysfunction

 β -cell pancreas is the target organ in stress condition (inflammation, ER stress, metabolic/oxidative stress, etc.) that can cause disruption in the β -cell pancreas integrity. Some conditions, such as excess of free fatty acid (FFA), hyperglycemia, lipotoxicity, glucotoxicity, and glucolipotoxicity, can activate pro-apoptotic signal which can cause inflammation and disrupt the integrity of β -cell pancreas. Further, this condition can intrude insulin secretion and chronic hyperglycemia condition which leads to T2DM (Galicia-Garcia et al. 2020; Hameed et al. 2015; Nolan and Prentki 2019; Prentki et al. 2020).

- 2. Some Conditions Perpetuating T2DM
 - (a) Nutrition

High-calorie food can increase the ROS which leads to inflammatory condition. Pro-inflammatory condition also can cause mitochondrial dysfunction, ER stress, activate NADPH oxidase (NOX), and superoxide (O_2^-) production (Galicia-Garcia et al. 2020; Hameed et al. 2015; Holt et al. 2017; Maciejczyk et al. 2019; Nolan and Prentki 2019; Prentki et al. 2020). Activation O_2^- of can activate five major pathways in T2DM, that is (Galicia-Garcia et al. 2015):

- · Polyol pathway
- Increase the formation of advanced glycation end products (AGEs)
- · Increase the expression of AGE receptor and its activating ligands
- · Activation of protein kinase (PKC) isoform
- Overactivity of hexosamine pathway
- (b) Sedentary lifestyle

Sedentary lifestyle can cause obesity which can lead to chronic low-grade systemic inflammation and T2DM (Galicia-Garcia et al. 2020).

(c) Gut dysbiosis

Gut microbiota play an action to produce metabolite. When gut dysbiosis happens, it can disrupt gut barrier, proliferation of β -cell pancreas, and biosynthesis of insulin, so it can lead to IR and T2DM (Galicia-Garcia et al. 2020).

(d) Metabolic memory

Metabolic memory happens though four mechanisms: epigenetics, oxidative stress, nonenzymatic glycation of protein, and chronic inflammation. Metabolic memory happens in T2DM, so it can lead to T2DM complication (Galicia-Garcia et al. 2020). (e) Mitochondrial dysfunction

Mitochondrial dysfunction happens because of chronic inflammation. Mitochondrial dysfunction has bidirectional relationship with T2DM. It can cause the T2DM itself, or on the other hand it can happen because of T2DM (Galicia-Garcia et al. 2020; Hameed et al. 2015).

3. IR

Insulin action in fed state is influenced by insulin growth factor-1 (IGF-1). Meanwhile in fasting condition, the insulin action is restricted by counterregulatory hormone (glucagon, glucocorticoid, and catecholamine). IR in the target organ is major contributor in T2DM pathogenesis. There are three target organs that are closely related to IR (Galicia-Garcia et al. 2020). The three organs will be described in the following:

(a) Skeletal muscle

Insulin in the skeletal muscle will be binding with insulin receptor (INSR) and cause translocation of glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4) to the plasma membrane, then increase the glucose uptake from plasma and cause the glycogen synthesis. IR in the skeletal muscle is caused by sedentary lifestyle and mutation in insulin receptor in the target organ (Galicia-Garcia et al. 2020).

Sedentary lifestyle leads to obesity. Obesity causes increasing immune cell infiltration and secretion of pro-inflammatory molecules in intermyocellular and perimuscular adipose tissue that leads to skeletal muscle inflammation and IR through paracrine effect (Galicia-Garcia et al. 2020).

(b) Adipose tissue

Insulin has a role in stimulating glucose uptake, synthesis triglyceride, suppressing triglyceride hydrolysis, and uptake of FFA and glycerol from circulation. High-fat diet can cause adipocyte hypertrophy which increases pro-inflammatory cytokines and metabolic inflammation, so causing IR and T2DM. When IR happens, it can suppress the lipolysis, disrupt glucose uptake, and increase the FFA to the circulation, thereby exacerbating hyper-glycemia (Galicia-Garcia et al. 2020).

(c) Liver

High-fat diet will interfere insulin signaling in the liver which can disrupt glycogen synthesis, increase gluconeogenesis, trigger lipolysis, and increase inflammatory factors such as C-reactive protein (CRP). All of these conditions cause hyperglycemia and inflammation that trigger T2DM (Galicia-Garcia et al. 2020).

(d) IR in the Brain

IR in the brain can cause overproduction of ROS, so it can increase permeability of membrane cell, ATP depletion, and accumulation of protein aggregates. This condition can change the neurite overgrowth, disruption in neuroplasticity, and disruption in uptake and release of neurotransmitters. Besides that, IR in peripheral can decrease the number of insulin receptors in endothelial and increase the permeability of BBB to several substances. All of these conditions can induce cognitive dysfunction in T2DM (Maciejczyk et al. 2019). In vitro young-aged models show that directly administered insulin into the brain can improve learning and memory. This result shows that insulin has important role for cognitive function (Adzovic et al. 2015).

Micronutrient is an important component to support metabolic cell activity. In glucose metabolism, micronutrient is needed to activate insulin receptor. Chronic hyperglycemia can change micronutrient status in the body and cause stress oxidative condition which further induces IR, T2DM, and its complications. The following will explain the status of micronutrients and their impact on the condition of T2DM patients (Kaur and Henry 2014; Valdés-Ramos et al. 2015).

(a) Zinc (Zn)

Zinc is abundant in the pancreas, and the amount is tightly regulated. Zn dysregulation causes disturbances in insulin synthesis, storage, and secretion as well as glycemic control. In T2DM patients, the level of Zn in the blood plasma has decreased, while the excretion of Zn in the urine has increased (Kaur and Henry 2014; Valdés-Ramos et al. 2015).

(b) Magnesium (Mg)

Magnesium (Mg) is an important component to increase insulin's ability to activate tyrosine kinase for glucose metabolism. Low magnesium levels can be a consequence of chronic hyperglycemia or a cause of IR. The cause of low Mg levels in T2DM patients is still not known. There are several hypotheses of low Mg levels in T2DM patients, such as the following: the condition of IR triggers an increase in the excretion of Mg in the urine, so that the Mg level in the plasma becomes low (Kaur and Henry 2014; Valdés-Ramos et al. 2015).

(c) Chromium (Cr)

Chromium (Cr) levels in T2DM patients decreased by about 30%, and its excretion in the urine increased to 100% due to increased glomerular hyper-filtration (Kaur and Henry 2014; Valdés-Ramos et al. 2015).

(d) Iron (Fe)

Iron (Fe) is a strong pro-oxidant that can increase ROS production, thereby increasing oxidative stress. In T2DM with poor glycemic control, there is an increase in Fe levels, so that oxidative stress condition increases (Kaur and Henry 2014; Valdés-Ramos et al. 2015).

(e) Selenium (Se)

Selenium (Se) acts as insulin-like actions that function to regulate specific genes in pancreatic cells and improve islet function. In T2DM patients, Se levels decrease with a mechanism that is unknown (Kaur and Henry 2014; Valdés-Ramos et al. 2015).

(f) Vitamins

The B group of vitamins plays an important role in glucose metabolism. B vitamins are water soluble, so that in T2DM patients with poor glycemic control, there can be an increase in the excretion of B vitamins (Kaur and Henry 2014; Valdés-Ramos et al. 2015).

Vitamin A acts as a diphasic concentration-dependent effect on insulin release. Meanwhile, in T2DM patients, the levels have decreased by a mechanism that is not known (Kaur and Henry 2014; Valdés-Ramos et al. 2015).

Vitamin C is required for collagen synthesis and is an important antioxidant that the body can't produce. In T2DM patients, vitamin C levels have decreased due to increased excretion and the high need to overcome oxidative stress conditions (Kaur and Henry 2014; Valdés-Ramos et al. 2015).

Vitamin D has important role in the body. It regulates the secretion of adipokine hormone which maintains the homeostasis of lipid and glucose metabolism. Vitamin D also increases the expression of insulin receptors. When deficiency vitamin D occurs, it can decrease the expression of insulin receptors. Besides that, vitamin D maintains the mitochondrial activity to produce antioxidant endogens, so it can decrease the level of ROS. When there is deficiency in vitamin D, the level of ROS will be increase which leads to inflammatory condition and increases the level of Ca^{2+} . Overexpression of Ca^{2+} can induce apoptosis and cell death of the pancreatic β -cell. This condition can cause decreasing the secretion of insulin and cause diabetes mellitus (Berridge 2017; Kostoglou-Athanassiou et al. 2013; Martin and Campbell 2011; Wiernsperger and Rapin 2010).

Hyperhomocysteinemia and Diabetes Mellitus

HHcy is an important biomarker to increasing the risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM). Besides that, HHcy can increase the complication of T2DM. The level of Hcy can be affected by several factors, such as age, sex, genetics, duration of T2DM, glucose level, body mass index (BMI), dietary habit, therapeutic schedule, renal function, and metabolism pathway of Hcy (Platt et al. 2017; Wang et al. 2021). The main mechanisms that affected Hcy level in T2DM are as follows: (1) the resistance of insulin, besides that HHcy also contributes to the development of IR. Hcy also acts as neurotoxins. The structure of pancreatic β -cell has some similarities with the structure of neuronal cells, so it can cause dysfunction of insulin secretion (2). HHcy promotes vascular endothelial injury and microvascular damage, so it can cause disruption in microcirculation and microthrombus in the kidney, liver, etc. Increasing of Hcy levels in blood has a potential risk factor for the development of diabetic nephropathy (DN) and diabetic retinopathy (DR) (Platt et al. 2017; Wang et al. 2021).

Cognitive Dysfunction in Diabetes Mellitus

Cognitive dysfunction occurs in 19.5–21.8% of patients with T2DM. This condition can happen because of several mechanisms (Kim 2019; Kodl and Seaquist 2008; Sun et al. 2020).

1. Hyperglycemia

Hyperglycemia can decrease cognitive function through polyol pathway, increasing the formation of AGEs and diacylglycerol activation of protein kinase C and increasing glucose shunting in the hexosamine pathway. Long-term hyperglycemia can increase cerebral muscle basement membrane and so decrease the cerebral blood flow circulation and directly damage neurons. Reduced cerebral blood flow can disrupt learning and memory ability. Besides that, hyperglycemia can disrupt fibronectin (glycoprotein macromolecular in plasma and extracellular matrix) which further causes proliferation of capillaries in the brain, increases the permeability of BBB, and increases influx of inflammatory cells antibodies which attack the brain cells and cause decrease in cognitive function (Kim 2019; Kodl and Seaquist 2008; Sun et al. 2020).

2. Vascular disease

T2DM has two to six times increased risk of thrombosis. Besides that, it can cause accumulation of glutamate and lactate and decreasing cerebral blood flow. This condition increases the risk of ischemia, which leads to cognitive dysfunction (Kim 2019; Kodl and Seaquist 2008; Sun et al. 2020).

3. Hypoglycemia

Long-term severe hypoglycemia can cause multifocal/diffuse necrosis of cerebral cortex and chromogenesis of ganglion cells which can cause cognitive dysfunction (Kim 2019; Kodl and Seaquist 2008; Sun et al. 2020).

4. IR and amyloid deposition

IR or insulin deficiency can induce impairment in glucose metabolism and brain energy balance, which can increase oxidative stress, production of ROS, deoxyribonucleic acid damage, and mitochondrial dysfunction. All of these conditions can induce pro-apoptosis, pro-inflammatory, and pro amyloid beta (A β) cascade which further lead to cognitive dysfunction (Kim 2019; Kodl and Seaquist 2008; Sun et al. 2020).

Furthermore, T2DM has a correlation with the disruption of lipid metabolism, leading to the increase of total cholesterol (TC) and triglyceride (TG), which can cause endothelial dysfunction and accumulation of A β protein and further cause cognitive dysfunction. Increasing of TC can cause hippocampal synaptic transmission which can impair memory formation (Kim 2019; Kodl and Seaquist 2008; Sun et al. 2020).

Cognitive functions that are mainly affected by T2DM are memory function, psychomotor speed, and executive function (Munshi 2017).

(a) Impairment in memory function can cause several impacts in diabetic patients such as forgetting to monitor blood glucose, to take medication, to take a meal, to attend consultations, etc. These problems can be overcome by several strategies such as decreased frequency of self-monitoring and asking caregivers to help; giving pillboxes, alarm, and long-acting formulation therapy; reminders to clinic visit; etc. (Munshi 2017). (b) Impairment in executive function such as difficulty in problem-solving, difficulty stopping old behavior and starting new behavior, difficulty with mental flexibility, etc. These problems can be overcome by several strategies such as repeating the instruction and education, avoiding labeling such as "noncompliant," giving simple regimen, maintaining the old therapy if possible, asking caregivers to help, simplifying the instruction and regimen therapy, etc. (Munshi 2017).

Cognitive Function

Cognitive function is a term that refers to mental processes which are involved in the acquisition of knowledge, manipulation of information, and reasoning (Miller 2013; Hultdin 2005; Medina et al. 2001; Tripathi 2015). This function is divided into five domains, that is, attention, memory, visuospatial, language, and executive function. All of the domains cannot stand by themselves; they are interconnected with each other (Mayza and Lastri 2017). The impairment of cognitive function happens because of damage of the structure or function of the brain. It can happen because of several factors, i.e., age and some diseases such as hypertension, diabetes, dyslipidemia, nutritional disorders, vascular diseases (cerebrovascular, heart, kidney, etc.), and autoimmune disease (Valdés-Ramos et al. 2015).

There is no single ideal tool that is recommended for screening cognitive function (Hultdin 2005; Medina et al. 2001). A variety of cognitive screening tools are available for bedside/clinical assessment (Mayza and Lastri 2017). Every screening tool has its own sensitivity and specificity. Comprehensive screening test should include five domains of cognitive function. Some of screening tools will be explained below (Segal-Gidan 2013).

(a) Mini-Mental State Exam (MMSE)

MMSE has sensitivity of 69–91% and specificity of 87–99% and consists of 19 items with a maximal score of 30. Cognitive functions assessed include orientation, registration, attention, and calculation; short-term verbal recall; naming; repetition; three-step command; reading; writing; and visuospatial (Segal-Gidan 2013).

(b) Modified Mini-Mental State Exam (3MS)

3MS has sensitivity of 83–94% and specificity 85–90% and consists of 15 items with a maximal score of 100. Cognitive functions assessed include orientation, registration, attention, and calculation; short-term verbal recall; delayed recall; category fluency, executive function, and naming; repetition; three-step command; reading; writing; and visuospatial (Segal-Gidan 2013).

(c) Mini-Cog

Mini-Cog has sensitivity of 76–99% with specificity of 89–93%. It consists of two items with a maximal score of 5. Cognitive functions assessed include visuospatial, executive functioning, and short-term recall and include clock drawing (Segal-Gidan 2013).

(d) Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA)

MoCA has sensitivity of 100% and specificity of 87%. It consists of 12 items with a maximal score of 30. Cognitive functions assessed include visuospatial/ executive functioning, naming, attention, repetition, verbal fluency, abstraction, short-term verbal recall, and orientation and include clock drawing (Segal-Gidan 2013).

(e) Saint Louis University Mental Status (SLUMS)

SLUMS has sensitivity of 92–95% and specificity of 76–81%. It consists of 11 items with a maximal score of 30. Cognitive functions assessed include orientation, verbal recall, calculation, naming, attention, and executive function and include clock drawing (Segal-Gidan 2013).

(f) Clock Drawing Test

Clock drawing test has sensitivity of 88% and specificity of 71%. It consists of one item with a score of 4–10. Cognitive functions assessed include visuospatial and executive function (Segal-Gidan 2013).

Factors That Affect Cognitive Function

There are some factors that affect cognitive function, such as age, level of education, sex, physical activity, cigarettes, alcohol, depression, social factors like social activity and occupation, medical history/diseases, and BMI. Some diseases have a correlation with cognitive function such as hypertension, stroke, T2DM, and metabolic syndrome (Adamowicz et al. 2020; Brant et al. 2018; Chen and Chang 2016; De Silva and Faraci 2016; Rensma et al. 2020). Hypertension correlates with endothelial dysfunction so it causes disruption in BBB permeability, inward vascular remodeling, vascular remodeling, and rarefaction, which further causes the cognitive dysfunction (Adamowicz et al. 2020; Brant et al. 2018; Chen and Chang 2016; De Silva and Faraci 2016; Rensma et al. 2020). Stroke can occur due to bleeding or thrombosis, where this condition will cause impaired perfusion in certain regions of the brain, so that it can affect cognitive function (Adamowicz et al. 2020; Brant et al. 2018; Chen and Chang 2016; De Silva and Faraci 2016; Rensma et al. 2020).

T2DM causes structural and functional change in the brain. Structural changes that occur include collagen deposition, thickening of the basement membrane, reduced microvascular density, and loss of collateral vessels, while functional changes occur due to endothelial dysfunction (endothelium-dependent vasodilation, enhanced thrombosis, loss of BBB integrity) causing changes in myogenic response, response to increase or decrease of pressure in brain microvascular, and cognitive dysfunction. In addition, there are several conditions that correlate with DM such as IR, glucose toxicity, and inflammation. This condition causes cognitive dysfunction, as can be explained as follows (Adamowicz et al. 2020; Brant et al. 2018; Chen and Chang 2016; De Silva and Faraci 2016; Rensma et al. 2020):

- IR affects the coordination of nerve in the brain and reduces or blocks blood flow to the brain.
- Glucose toxicity causes vascular damage and reduces nerve regeneration, so it can disrupt cognitive function like memory function and attention

Metabolic syndrome correlates with low-grade chronic systemic inflammation and is associated with poor collateral supply in the pial circulation and microcirculation in leptomeninges (Adamowicz et al. 2020; Kim and Park 2017; Pengpid et al. 2019).

Hyperhomocysteinemia and Cognitive Function

Hcy acts as a neurotransmitter; it has a role as an excitatory agonist on the NMDA receptor subtype of glutamate receptors and is also involved in NMDA modulatory site. Hcy-NMDA binding can enhance calcium influx but depends on glycine concentration. In the normal level of glycine and Hcy does not cause toxicity. Meanwhile, when the level of glycine is normal but there is a HHcy, it can cause neurotoxicity. In the case of head trauma or stroke, the glycine levels will increase which can cause neurotoxic effect and enhance calcium influx; even the Hcy level is low (Ganguly and Alam 2015; Moretti and Caruso 2019).

HHcy contributed to cognitive decline, white matter damage, brain atrophy, neurofibrillary tangles as a tau protein accumulation in Alzheimer's disease, and dementia. Giving Hcy in animal models can increase the formation of β -amyloid plaque, the process similar to the onset of Alzheimer's disease. The elevated blood levels of homocysteine also contributed to the changes of integrity and function of BBB. People with hypertension mostly have a high level of homocysteine, which can increase the risk of stroke. In people with stroke, blood supply to the brain is interrupted, so resulting in neuronal cell death and loss of function in the specific brain regions (Miller 2013; Damanik et al. 2019; Kumar et al. 2017; Price et al. 2018; Smith and Refsum 2016). Besides that, HHcy causes cognitive decline and depression in patients with Parkinson disease (PD). In PD cases, Hcy mediated oxidative stress/damage in dopaminergic neurons of substantia nigra, the hallmark of the disease (Miller 2013; Damanik et al. 2019; Kumar et al. 2017; Price et al. 2018; Smith and Refsum 2016).

We can conclude that HHcy is associated with cerebrovascular disease and stroke, as previously explained that these conditions cause cognitive dysfunction. Cerebral microcirculation is very sensitive to local homocysteine levels. Increased levels of homocysteine can cause endothelial dysfunction, increase oxidative stress, and increase expression of matrix metalloproteinases, causing basement membrane irregularities, degeneration of pericyte, disruption of the BBB, and ultrastructural changes in the endothelial mitochondria (De Silva and Faraci 2016). HHcy strongly correlated with cognitive dysfunction. HHcy is also present in T2DM. So people with T2DM and HHcy have poorer cognitive function (Robbins et al. 2005).

Compliance in Diabetes Management and Cognitive Dysfunction

T2DM has a strong association with cognitive dysfunction. But HHcy is not strongly correlated with cognitive dysfunction in global condition (Damanik et al. 2019). Cognitive function is an independent factor in compliance with the treatment in T2DM (Świątoniowska-Lonc et al. 2021). This hypothesis supported by metaanalysis states that there is no association between mild cognitive dysfunction and compliance to antidiabetic therapy (Mirghani et al. 2021). Meanwhile, some literature concludes that cognitive function and psychological condition contribute to adherence of treatment in T2DM treatment, because of patient's lack of networking and social support. Cognitive dysfunction such as lack of executive function, memory, learning, attention, etc., causes difficulty in T2DM patients in adapting to complex therapeutic regimens or new therapy. Uncontrolled T2DM can increase the morbidity and mortality (Mendes et al. 2019).

Applications to Prognosis

Hcy is one of the important amino acids in the body. Hcy can be directed toward catabolic reactions to cysteine when oxidative stress is increased. This reaction is intended to produce glutathione as an endogenous antioxidant. However, if HHcy occurs, it will cause an increase in ROS production which will trigger inflammatory conditions. HHcy is strongly correlated with T2DM. HHcy can act as a risk factor for T2DM, but on the other hand HHcy can also worsen complications in T2DM. One of the complications of T2DM that occurs is cognitive dysfunction. Cognitive dysfunction can affect the compliance of T2DM management. If all of these conditions are not well controlled, it will increase the morbidity and mortality in T2DM.

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

- Cognitive dysfunction: Condition where there is impairment in one of cognitive domains
- Homocysteine: Intermediate protein between methionine and cysteine reaction
- IR: Condition when the target tissues do not respond anymore to insulin
- T2DM: Disease that is caused by IR and inflammatory condition as the effect of long-term hyperglycemia

Key Facts of Serum Homocysteine as a Biomarker in Diabetes: Links with Variables Such as Cognition

• Uncontrolled T2DM can cause several complications, such as cognitive dysfunction.

- Chronic complication occurs because of long-term inflammation and IR.
- Cognitive dysfunction occurs in 19.5–21.8% of patients with T2DM.
- Main cognitive dysfunctions that are affected in T2DM are memory function, psychomotor speed, and executive function.
- So many factors can cause inflammation; one of the factors is hyperhomocysteinemia.

Summary Points

- Metabolism changes in the brain occur because of chronic inflammation and IR.
- Hyperhomocysteinemia is one of sources of inflammation.
- Cognitive dysfunction can affect the compliance of T2DM management.
- Poor compliance inT2DM can affect the target therapy.
- · Poor glycemic control can increase the mortality and morbidity.

References

- Adamowicz K, Mazur A, Mak M, Samochowiec J, Kucharska-Mazur J. Metabolic syndrome and cognitive functions in schizophrenia – implementation of dietary intervention. Front Psychiatry. 2020;11:1–11.
- Adzovic L, Lynn AE, D'Angelo HM, Crockett AM, Kaercher RM, Royer SE, et al. Insulin improves memory and reduces chronic neuroinflammation in the hippocampus of young but not aged brains. J Neuroinflammation. 2015;12(63):1–10.
- Al Mutairi F. Hyperhomocysteinemia: clinical insights. J Cent Nerv Syst Dis. 2020;12:1-8.
- Berridge MJ. Vitamin D deficiency and diabetes. Biochem J. 2017;474(8):1321-32.
- Brant L, Bos D, Araujo LF, Ikram MA, Ribeiro AL, Barreto SM. Microvascular endothelial function and cognitive performance: the ELSA-Brasil cohort study. Vasc Med. 2018;23(3): 212–8.
- Brustolin S, Giugliani R, Félix T. Genetics of homocysteine metabolism and associated disorders. Braz J Med Biol Res. 2010;43(1):1–7.

Chen T-Y, Chang H-Y. Developmental patterns of cognitive function and associated factors among the elderly in Taiwan. Sci Rep. 2016;6(1):1–10.

- Chubarov AS. Homocysteine thiolactone: biology and chemistry. Encyclopedia. 2021;1(2):445-59.
- Damanik J, Mayza A, Rachman A, Sauriasari R, Kristanti M, Agustina PS, et al. Association between serum homocysteine level and cognitive function in middle-aged type 2 diabetes mellitus patients. PLoS One. 2019;14:1–11.
- De Silva TM, Faraci FM. Microvascular dysfunction and cognitive impairment. Cell Mol Neurobiol. 2016;36(2):241–58.
- Galicia-Garcia U, Benito-Vicente A, Jebari S, Larrea-Sebal A, Siddiqi H, Uribe KB, et al. Pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21(17):1–34.
- Ganguly P, Alam SF. Role of homocysteine in the development of cardiovascular disease. Nutr J. 2015;14(6):1–10.
- Hameed I, Masoodi SR, Mir SA, Nabi M, Ghazanfar K, Ganai BA. Type 2 diabetes mellitus: from a metabolic disorder to an inflammatory condition. World J Diabetes. 2015;6(4):598–612.

Holt RI, Cockram C, Flyvbjerg A, Goldstein BJ. Textbook of diabetes. Wiley; 2017.

Hultdin J. Homocysteine in cardiovascular disease with special reference to longitudinal changes [Dissertation]. Umea University; 2005.

- Kaur B, Henry J. Micronutrient status in type 2 diabetes: a review. Adv Food Nutr Res. 2014;71:55–100.
- Kim H-G. Cognitive dysfunctions in individuals with diabetes mellitus. Yeungnam Univ J Med. 2019;36(3):183–91.
- Kim M, Park J-M. Factors affecting cognitive function according to gender in community-dwelling elderly individuals. Epidemiol Health. 2017;39:1–10.
- Kim J, Kim H, Roh H, Kwon Y. Causes of hyperhomocysteinemia and its pathological significance. Arch Pharm Res. 2018;41(4):372–83.
- Kluijtmans LA, Young IS, Boreham CA, Murray L, McMaster D, McNulty H, et al. Genetic and nutritional factors contributing to hyperhomocysteinemia in young adults. Blood. 2003;101(7): 2483–8.
- Kodl CT, Seaquist ER. Cognitive dysfunction and diabetes mellitus. Endocr Rev. 2008;29(4):494–511.
- Kostoglou-Athanassiou I, Athanassiou P, Gkountouvas A, Kaldrymides P. Vitamin D and glycemic control in diabetes mellitus type 2. Ther Adv Endocrinol Metab. 2013;4(4):122–8.
- Kumar A, Palfrey HA, Pathak R, Kadowitz PJ, Gettys TW, Murthy SN. The metabolism and significance of homocysteine in nutrition and health. Nutr Metab. 2017;14(1):1–12.
- Maciejczyk M, Żebrowska E, Chabowski A. Insulin resistance and oxidative stress in the brain: what's new? Int J Mol Sci. 2019;20:1–18.
- Martin T, Campbell RK. Vitamin D and diabetes. Diabetes Spectrum. 2011;24(2):113-8.
- Mayza A, Lastri D. Basic neurobehavior and its examination. Kedokteran Indonesia publisher; 2017.
- Medina MÁ, Urdiales JL, Amores-Sánchez MI. Roles of homocysteine in cell metabolism: old and new functions. Eur J Biochem. 2001;268:3871–82.
- Mendes R, Martins S, Fernandes L. Adherence to medication, physical activity and diet in older adults with diabetes: its association with cognition, anxiety and depression. J Clin Med Res. 2019;11(8):583–92.
- Miller J. Homocysteine. In: Encyclopedia of human nutrition. Elsevier; 2013. p. 424-30.
- Mirghani H, Aljohani S, Albalawi A. Dementia and adherence to anti-diabetic medications: a metaanalysis. Cureus. 2021;13(4):e14611.
- Moretti R, Caruso P. The controversial role of homocysteine in neurology: from labs to clinical practice. Int J Mol Sci. 2019;20(1):231.
- Munshi MN. Cognitive dysfunction in older adults with diabetes: what a clinician needs to know. Diabetes Care. 2017;40(4):461–7.
- Nolan CJ, Prentki M. Insulin resistance and insulin hypersecretion in the metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes: time for a conceptual framework shift. Diabetes Vasc Dis Res. 2019;16(2):118–27.
- Pengpid S, Peltzer K, Susilowati IH. Cognitive functioning and associated factors in older adults: results from the Indonesian family life survey-5 (IFLS-5) in 2014–2015. Curr Gerontol Geriatr Res. 2019;2019:1–8.
- Platt DE, Hariri E, Salameh P, Merhi M, Sabbah N, Helou M, et al. Type II diabetes mellitus and hyperhomocysteinemia: a complex interaction. Diabetol Metab Syndr. 2017;9(1):1–7.
- Prentki M, Peyot M-L, Masiello P, Madiraju SM. Nutrient-induced metabolic stress, adaptation, detoxification, and toxicity in the pancreatic β-cell. Diabetes. 2020;69(3):279–90.
- Price BR, Wilcock DM, Weekman EM. Hyperhomocysteinemia as a risk factor for vascular contributions to cognitive impairment and dementia. Front Aging Neurosci. 2018;10:1–12.
- Rensma SP, van Sloten TT, Houben AJ, Köhler S, van Boxtel MP, Berendschot TT, et al. Microvascular dysfunction is associated with worse cognitive performance: the Maastricht study. Hypertension. 2020;75(1):237–45.
- Robbins MA, Elias MF, Budge MM, Brennan SL, Elias PK. Homocysteine, type 2 diabetes mellitus, and cognitive performance: the Maine-Syracuse study. Clin Chem Lab Med (CCLM). 2005;43(10):1101–6.
- Segal-Gidan F. Cognitive screening tools. Clin Rev. 2013;23(1):12-8.

- Škovierová H, Vidomanová E, Mahmood S, Sopková J, Drgová A, Červeňová T, et al. The molecular and cellular effect of homocysteine metabolism imbalance on human health. Int J Mol Sci. 2016;17(10):1–18.
- Smith AD, Refsum H. Homocysteine, B vitamins, and cognitive impairment. Annu Rev Nutr. 2016;36:211–39.
- Sun L, Diao X, Gang X, Lv Y, Zhao X, Yang S, et al. Risk factors for cognitive impairment in patients with type 2 diabetes. J Diabetes Res. 2020;2020:1–10.
- Świątoniowska-Lonc N, Polański J, Tański W, Jankowska-Polańska B. Impact of cognitive impairment on adherence to treatment and self-care in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes. 2021;14:193–203.
- Tinelli C, Di Pino A, Ficulle E, Marcelli S, Feligioni M. Hyperhomocysteinemia as a risk factor and potential nutraceutical target for certain pathologies. Front Nutr. 2019;6:1–13.
- Tripathi P. Homocysteine-the hidden factor and cardiovascular disease: cause or effect? Biochem Anal Biochem. 2015;4(4):1–5.
- Valdés-Ramos R, Ana Laura G-L, Beatriz Elina M-C, Alejandra Donaji B-A. Vitamins and type 2 diabetes mellitus. Endocr Metab Immune Disord Drug Targets. 2015;15(1):54–63.
- Varga EA, Sturm AC, Misita CP, Moll S. Homocysteine and MTHFR mutations: relation to thrombosis and coronary artery disease. Circulation. 2005;111(19):e289–e93.
- Wang J-X, You D-Y, Wang H-P, Zou C-G, Yang Y-H, Zhang D, et al. Association between homocysteine and type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Diabetes Dev Countries. 2021;2021:1–10.
- Wiernsperger N, Rapin J. Trace elements in glucometabolic disorders: an update. Diabetol Metab Syndr. 2010;2(1):1–9.
- Williams KT, Schalinske KL. Homocysteine metabolism and its relation to health and disease. Biofactors. 2010;36(1):19–24.
- Zaric BL, Obradovic M, Bajic V, Haidara MA, Jovanovic M, Isenovic ER. Homocysteine and hyperhomocysteinaemia. Curr Med Chem. 2019;26(16):2948–61.



3-Hydroxyisobutyrate (3-HIB): Features and 13 Links as a Biological Marker in Diabetes

Simon Nitter Dankel

Contents

Introduction	300
BCAA Catabolism in Adipose Tissue	301
3-HIB in Interorgan Metabolic Crosstalk	302
3-HIB Reflects Hepatic Fatty Acid Oxidation	303
Conclusion and Future Perspectives	304
Applications to Prognosis, Other Diseases, or Conditions	304
Mini-Dictionary of Terms	305
Key Facts of Diabetes	305
Summary Points	306
References	307

Abstract

Obesity and type 2 diabetes increase morbidity and mortality via altered energy metabolism, associated with altered circulatory concentrations of amino acids and lipids as well as glucose. Concentrations of 3-hydroxyisobutyrate (3-HIB), a specific intermediary metabolite in the degradation of the branched-chain amino acid (BCAA) valine, show a strong and stepwise increase in the circulation of people with prediabetes and type 2 diabetes, at least in part reflecting progression of systemic insulin resistance. Conversely, transient increases in circulatory 3-HIB concentrations during fasting are seen in healthy people, likely as a mechanism that normally contributes to cellular adaptations to fluctuating food intake. However, chronic changes in BCAA metabolism and elevations of 3-HIB may reflect a chronic perturbation in energy metabolism that underlies diet-induced pathogenic insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes.

S. N. Dankel (🖂)

Department of Clinical Science, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway e-mail: simon.dankel@uib.no

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 15

Keywords

Branched-chain amino acids · Adipose tissue · Liver · Skeletal muscle · Metabolism · Lipid storage · Mitochondria · Fatty acid uptake · Obesity · Type 2 diabetes

Abbrevia	tions
2AAA	2-Aminoadipic acid
3-HIB	3-Hydroxyisobutyrate
BCAA	Branched-chain amino acid
CoA	Coenzyme A
HIBCH	3-Hydroxyisobutyryl-CoA hydrolase
MMA	Methylmalonic acid
Pgc-1α	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-γ coactivator 1 alph
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
TAG	Triacylglycerol
TCA	Tricarboxylic acid
TTA	3-thia fatty acids

Introduction

Overweight and obesity raise the risk of hyperglycemia, a particularly strong risk factor linked to type 2 diabetes as well as many other common diseases, including cardiovascular diseases (CVD), dementia, nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, and several cancers. Obesity promotes type 2 diabetes and the risk of other diseases in large part via increased accumulation of fat in the intra-abdominal region (visceral adiposity) and in ectopic sites such as the liver, pancreas, and muscles, in close association with glucose intolerance, insulin resistance, dyslipidemia, high blood pressure, and arterial stiffness (Haslam and James 2005; Van Gaal et al. 2006). Type 2 diabetes now affects more than 450 million people worldwide, nearly 10% of the world's population, and is projected to affect 700 million people by 2045 (Saeedi et al. 2019). The primary diagnostic criterion for type 2 diabetes is glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) in the circulation of at least 48 mmol/mol (6.5%). An even greater number of people may have HbA1c in the prediabetes range (between 6 and 6.5%). Dietary or other interventions that reduce obesity and ectopic fat accumulation can lower HbA1c in patients with type 2 diabetes, allowing remission of the disease (Taylor et al. 2021). However, there is considerable individual heterogeneity in the pathogenic pathways of type 2 diabetes (Ahlqvist et al. 2020), and biological variability in response to interventions such as diet (Lean et al. 2018) and exercise (Solomon 2018), underscoring the need to identify early markers of individual disease pathways as well as indicators of appropriate individual treatments.

In recent years, the important role of altered amino acid metabolism in obesity, insulin resistance, type 2 diabetes, and other lifestyle-related conditions has become increasingly clear. Cohort studies comparing people with and without obesity,

insulin resistance, or type 2 diabetes have shown circulatory elevations particularly of branched-chain amino acids (BCAAs; leucine, isoleucine, and valine) and glutamate in these conditions, and reductions particularly in glycine (Newgard et al. 2009; Yamakado et al. 2012; McCormack et al. 2013; Batch et al. 2013; Badoud et al. 2014; Thalacker-Mercer et al. 2014; Lynch and Adams 2014; Takashina et al. 2016). Data from the cross-sectional METSIM study for 4,851 men with 7.4-year follow-up showed significant independent associations between incident type 2 diabetes and elevated circulating BCAAs and glutamate as well as alanine, tyrosine, and aspartate, linked not only to insulin resistance but also to insulin secretion (Vangipurapu et al. 2019). In a 10-year follow-up cohort of 2,519 patients with coronary heart disease and no diabetes at baseline, independent associations have additionally been observed for plasma arginine and asparagine with incident diabetes (McCann et al. 2019).

Metabolomics profiling has also revealed altered circulatory concentrations of specific intermediates of amino acid metabolism in people with obesity, insulin resistance, and/or incident type 2 diabetes, such as alpha-hydroxybutyrate (Gall et al. 2010; Ferrannini et al. 2013; Peddinti et al. 2017), 2-aminoadipic acid (2AAA) (Wang et al. 2013; Lee et al. 2019), and 3-hydroxyisobutyrate (3-HIB) (Mardinoglu et al. 2018; Andersson-Hall et al. 2018; Nilsen et al. 2020). These metabolites are formed in distinct amino acid pathways and may therefore more directly reflect specific underlying pathogenic mechanisms than the amino acids they are derived from. Moreover, such metabolites can also play an active role in metabolic homeostasis by directly modulating metabolic processes in target cells, as shown for 2AAA (Xu et al. 2019) and 3-HIB (Jang et al. 2016; Nilsen et al. 2020).

Generally, maintained activity of the early rate-limiting step in BCAA catabolism, at the level of the irreversible decarboxylation of branched-chain α -keto acids (BCKAs) catalyzed by BCKA dehydrogenase (BCKD), was recently shown to ameliorate insulin resistance in mice, with supportive causal evidence also in humans (Zhou et al. 2019). These observations highlight the therapeutic potential of targeting BCAA catabolism. However, deeper knowledge of tissue-specific alterations in BCAA metabolism in obesity and insulin resistance is needed to identify more specific targets to fully harness this potential. A mouse study using isotopic tracing revealed particularly high BCAA oxidation to fuel the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle in muscle, liver, heart, kidneys, and brown adipose tissue (Neinast et al. 2019). Interestingly, mice with insulin resistance showed a partial shift of BCAA oxidation in liver and adipose tissue toward muscle (Neinast et al. 2019).

BCAA Catabolism in Adipose Tissue

Altered adipose tissue function in obesity may contribute substantially to the altered circulating metabolite concentrations. A decade ago, Herman et al. provided in vivo evidence that circulating BCAAs are catabolized particularly in adipose tissue, to a greater degree than in skeletal muscle, and that adipose tissue transplantation could lower circulating BCAA levels by 30–50% in mice (Herman et al. 2010). At the

cellular level, in vitro studies have shown that BCAAs are mainly incorporated into proteins during the early stages of adipogenesis, but are oxidized and used for lipid synthesis in later stages of adipocyte development (Estrada-Alcalde et al. 2017). These data add to the evidence from mouse adipocyte cultures showing a switch from glucose and glutamine to BCAA utilization during adipocyte development (Green et al. 2016; Halama et al. 2016).

The mechanisms linking BCAA metabolism and lipid accumulation in adipocytes remain to be fully elucidated. Recent studies have indicated a strong positive relationship between lipid storage and extracellular levels of 3-HIB in adipocyte cultures (Nilsen et al. 2020). Specifically in the valine degradation pathway, 3-HIB is formed by removal of the coenzyme A (CoA) moiety from 3-HIB-CoA, catalyzed by 3-hydroxyisobutyryl-CoA hydrolase (HIBCH) (Shimomura et al. 1994). Free 3-HIB can leave the cell or enter the TCA cycle via further catabolism into methylmalonyl semialdehyde (MMS) toward succinyl-CoA. Consequently, addition of valine increases extracellular 3-HIB concentrations as previously shown in vitro in skeletal muscle cells and hepatocytes (Miyazaki et al. 2015). In adipose cultures, extracellular 3-HIB levels were found to increase during adipocyte differentiation, and knockdown of Hibch lowered extracellular 3-HIB concomitant with lower lipid accumulation, in both white and brown adipocytes (Nilsen et al. 2020). Furthermore, addition of 3-HIB increased fatty acid uptake in both adipocyte subtypes. On the other hand, 3-HIB addition had opposite effects on mitochondrial respiratory capacity and reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation in the white and brown adipocytes, with lower respiration and higher ROS levels in white adipocytes (Nilsen et al. 2020).

3-HIB in Interorgan Metabolic Crosstalk

These data suggest that 3-HIB may function in part as an adipocyte-derived signal, acting locally to promote lipid uptake, and possibly systemically to fine-tune wholebody energy metabolism. In skeletal muscle, 3-HIB was previously found to promote endothelial fatty acid uptake, as a possible mechanism that promotes insulin resistance (Jang et al. 2016). Thus, it is tempting to speculate that adipocyte-derived 3-HIB is involved in metabolic organ crosstalk, in part to facilitate fatty acid uptake and utilization in skeletal muscle and brown adipocytes. In conditions of active fatty acid oxidation in muscle and brown fat, this mechanism could serve to counterbalance increased white adipocyte lipid storage and help maintain energy homeostasis. The marked stepwise increase in circulatory 3-HIB concentrations in prediabetes and type 2 diabetes (Nilsen et al. 2020) might then reflect increased lipid stores, which may drive excessive lipid storage in muscle and brown fat in the absence of concomitant stimulants of fatty acid oxidation.

Although circulating 3-HIB concentrations show strong associations with obesity, insulin resistance, and type 2 diabetes, an important role for 3-HIB as a homeostatic regulator of energy metabolism is supported by several observations. First, circulatory 3-HIB concentrations increase after a 72-h fast (Avogaro and Bier 1989), as well as 6 days after bariatric surgery (Nilsen et al. 2020). A 72-h fast induces insulin resistance in skeletal muscle, diverting metabolism toward fatty acid oxidation in lieu of glucose oxidation (Vendelbo et al. 2012). Although insulin sensitivity improves 6 days after bariatric surgery (Gudbrandsen et al. 2019) at the same time as 3-HIB increases (Nilsen et al. 2020), followed by a reduction in both 3-HIB and insulin resistance after long-term fat loss at 1 year post-surgery (Nilsen et al. 2020), circulatory triacylglycerol (TAG) concentrations increase or remain unchanged 6 days post-surgery (Gudbrandsen et al. 2019). Thus, increased 3-HIB following 6 days of minimal food intake after surgery likely plays a role in metabolic adaptations. This possibility and the mechanisms involved require further investigation. Second, circulatory 3-HIB concentrations were found to be acutely lowered during a hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp in women, and protein ingestion in the clamp setting, which lowered the insulin-stimulated glucose disposal (i.e., induced insulin resistance), counteracted the decrease in 3-HIB (Harris et al. 2017). Third, 3-HIB was found to incorporate around 15–20% of a bolus of ¹³C-labeled BCAAs or valine within only 3 min after injection in mice, derived from BCAA metabolism in muscle as well as other tissues (Neinast et al. 2019). Fourth, mice overexpressing the transcriptional coactivator peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1 alpha (Pgc-1 α) in skeletal muscle, to mimic the molecular effects of exercise, show increased plasma 3-HIB concentrations, particularly in response to a valine bolus (Neinast et al. 2019). Consistently, a human exercise intervention showed a rapid increase in circulating 3-HIB after cycling and a return to baseline after 2 h (Lee et al. 2021). Additionally, 3-HIB was previously also proposed to act as an interorgan metabolite that provides a substrate for hepatic gluconeogenesis via valine degradation in skeletal muscle (Letto et al. 1986). Together, these data demonstrate a rapid and highly dynamic regulation of 3-HIB formation in response to altered nutritional and physiological states.

3-HIB Reflects Hepatic Fatty Acid Oxidation

Metabolic fatty liver, often referred to as nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), is strongly associated with insulin resistance and risk of type 2 diabetes, and this condition can be prevented by increased mitochondrial fatty acid β -oxidation (Barbier-Torres et al. 2020). Potent selective stimulators of hepatic mitochondrial fatty acid β -oxidation may therefore be hypothesized to lower circulatory 3-HIB concentrations. Accordingly, under conditions of pharmacologically induced β -oxidation by synthetic 3-thia fatty acids (TTA), male Wistar rats show a strikingly selective downregulation of hepatic *Hibch* mRNA, among several measured genes involved in BCAA catabolism, and no such effect in skeletal muscle or adipose tissue (Bjune et al. 2021). This selective change in hepatic enzyme expression corresponded to a marked decrease in circulating 3-HIB concentrations. Although the rats were lean and did not show clear changes in body weight or fat mass, these observations point to an important contribution of hepatocytes to circulatory 3-HIB levels, where hepatic 3-HIB efflux increases in conditions of reduced fatty acid oxidation. Of note, no measurements were made of 3-HIB utilization in the TCA cycle or gluconeogenesis, both of which may use 3-HIB as substrates. However, 3-HIB showed a strong inverse relationship with methylmalonic acid (MMA), downstream of the 3-HIB-derived intermediary metabolite MMS, as circulatory MMA increased strongly upon the activation of fatty acid oxidation (Bjune et al. 2021). In humans, circulatory MMA serves as a marker of vitamin B12 status, and a common missense variant in the *HIBCH* gene shows a strong association with MMA levels (Molloy et al. 2016). Thus, a switch-like mechanism may exist in the HIBCH/3-HIB/MMS pathway, where 3-HIB can either leave the cell or be converted toward MMA and the TCA cycle.

It should be noted that the metabolism of MMA is complex, as it involves B12 activity and is also derived from many other sources including propionyl-CoA derived from the BCAAs leucine and isoleucine. Hence, the cellular mechanisms underlying the inversely associated circulatory levels of 3-HIB and MMA require further investigation. Nonetheless, our experiment with TTA clearly shows that a strong increase in hepatic mitochondrial fatty acid β -oxidation corresponds to lower 3-HIB and higher MMA concentrations in the circulation, associated specifically with *Hibch* expression in the liver and not muscle or adipose tissue. Further studies are needed to elucidate these relationships and mechanisms in humans.

Conclusion and Future Perspectives

Several studies have now documented a marked increase in circulatory 3-HIB concentrations in obesity, insulin resistance, and type 2 diabetes, similar to the BCAAs themselves. However, intermediary metabolites such as 3-HIB might more directly reflect the process of BCAA catabolism, and for 3-HIB specifically in the valine degradation pathway, which may be of clinical value. Although 3-HIB appears to play a key role in the maintenance of normal physiology and energy homeostasis, and may act as a protective signaling substance as well as important metabolic substrate, altered fasting 3-HIB concentrations may provide an early sign of potentially pathological shifts in cellular energy utilization. Circulatory 3-HIB may reflect a shift toward higher white adipocyte lipid storage and decreased muscle/brown fat fatty acid oxidation in obesity and insulin resistance, and generally reduced capacity for mitochondrial fatty acid β -oxidation in the liver as well as other tissues. Further studies are needed to determine the underlying mechanisms and involved tissues that contribute to altered circulatory 3-HIB levels, in different metabolic states and according to specific physiological needs or pathophysiological processes.

Applications to Prognosis, Other Diseases, or Conditions

The available data on 3-HIB so far largely derive from studies in adults, with limited distinction between sexes or race. It will be important to determine to what extent 3-HIB may serve as a useful prognostic marker of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes for males and females, respectively, as well as for different races and genetic backgrounds. Given the importance of BCAA catabolism in core metabolic

processes, and the role of 3-HIB in lipid and energy homeostasis, assessment of circulatory 3-HIB might also have predictive value for the development of heart disease/cardiovascular diseases and other diseases associated with insulin resistance and aging, including neurodegenerative diseases. 3-HIB can also be detected in saliva, showing positive correlations to 3-HIB levels in serum and increased levels in patients with liver cirrhosis (Miyazaki et al. 2015). Because different cancer cells show distinct changes in BCAA metabolism (Mayers et al. 2016), it is also relevant to consider specific tumors as a source of circulatory and salivary 3-HIB.

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

- **Branched-chain amino acids (BCAAs)**. These are essential amino acids with key roles in core metabolic processes including anaplerotic substrate provision for tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle activity. The BCAAs are leucine, isoleucine, and valine.
- **3-Hydroxyisobutyrate (3-HIB)**. This metabolite is an intermediary degradation product of the BCAA valine. Unlike many other BCAA-derived intermediary metabolites, it does not contain a coenzyme A (CoA) moiety and can therefore leave the cell and enter the circulation.
- **Insulin resistance**. Chronic cellular resistance to the peptide hormone insulin manifests in elevated fasting insulin and often eventually also glucose concentrations in the circulation, as more insulin is required to promote insulin-stimulated glucose uptake in target tissues.
- Fatty acid oxidation. Fatty acids are sequentially degraded in peroxisomes and mitochondria largely via β-oxidation, which removes 2-carbon acetyl-CoA that are oxidized to CO₂ via the TCA cycle.
- White adipocyte. The most abundant type of adipocyte in the body, found in different body fat depots including subcutaneous and visceral adipose tissue, and which has a great capacity for storage of neutral lipids.
- **Brown adipocyte**. A type of adipocyte found in specific areas of the body including the neck, between the shoulder blades, and around the kidneys, with a high number of mitochondria and high capacity for glucose and lipid consumption via adaptive thermogenesis.

Key Facts of Diabetes

Diabetes includes different disease subgroups, including type 1 diabetes, late-onset diabetes of the young (LADA), type 2 diabetes, and monogenic diabetes (e.g., maturity-onset diabetes of the young (MODY)).

More than 450 million people have type 2 diabetes globally.

Type 2 diabetes typically involves overweight/obesity and increased fat deposition in ectopic sites such as the liver and pancreas, which is associated with the development of systemic insulin resistance. Different pathogenic processes on the cellular level may underlie the development of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes in different people, according to genetics as well as lifestyle/dietary factors.

Along with insulin resistance, hyperinsulinemia, and eventual loss of sufficient insulin production, a common feature of type 2 diabetes is elevation in circulatory branched-chain amino acids and related intermediary metabolites including 3-HIB.

Type 2 diabetes may be prevented, controlled, and in many cases reversed by consistent dietary energy and carbohydrate restriction, via loss of body fat and prevention of fat (re)gain.

Summary Points

- Obesity and type 2 diabetes are associated with elevated circulatory concentrations of amino acids, in particular the branched-chain amino acids (BCAAs).
- 3-Hydroxyisobutyrate (3-HIB) is an intermediary metabolite in the valine degradation pathway, which is formed via removal of the CoA moiety of 3-HIB-CoA by the enzyme HIBCH.



Fig. 1 Schematic overview of the valine-3-HIB pathway. 3-HIB is formed via degradation of the branched-chain amino acid valine. Enzymatic removal of the CoA moiety of 3-HIB-CoA by HIBCH allows 3-HIB to leave the cell and enter the extracellular matrix and circulation



Fig. 2 Putative role of 3-HIB in crosstalk between key metabolic organs. Principal insulinresponsive organs/cells generate 3-HIB, and the resultant extracellular 3-HIB can affect energy and lipid metabolism, locally and likely also distally via the circulation. IR = insulin resistance; T2D = type 2 diabetes

- The lack of CoA allows 3-HIB to leave its cells of origin (e.g., liver, skeletal muscle, adipocytes), giving plasma concentrations around 10–25 μmol/L.
- In prediabetes and type 2 diabetes, defined by elevations in circulatory HbA1c, 3-HIB shows stepwise higher concentrations in plasma, sometimes reaching levels above 30 μmol/L.
- Circulatory 3-HIB concentrations increase also with several days of fasting but decrease with longer-term fat loss.
- Chronic elevations of 3-HIB may reflect a chronic perturbation in energy metabolism that underlies diet-induced pathogenic insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes (Figs. 1 and 2).

References

- Ahlqvist E, Prasad RB, Groop L. Subtypes of type 2 diabetes determined from clinical parameters. Diabetes. 2020;69:2086–93.
- Andersson-Hall U, Gustavsson C, Pedersen A, et al. Higher concentrations of BCAAs and 3-HIB are associated with insulin resistance in the transition from gestational diabetes to type 2 diabetes. J Diabetes Res. 2018;2018:1–12.
- Avogaro A, Bier DM. Contribution of 3-hydroxyisobutyrate to the measurement of 3-hydroxybutyrate in human plasma: comparison of enzymatic and gas-liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry assays in normal and in diabetic subjects. J Lipid Res. 1989;30:1811–7.
- Badoud F, Lam KP, DiBattista A, et al. Serum and adipose tissue amino acid homeostasis in the metabolically healthy obese. J Proteome Res. 2014;13:3455–66.
- Barbier-Torres L, Fortner KA, Iruzubieta P, et al. Silencing hepatic MCJ attenuates non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) by increasing mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation. Nat Commun. 2020;11:3360.
- Batch BC, Shah SH, Newgard CB, et al. Branched chain amino acids are novel biomarkers for discrimination of metabolic wellness. Metabolism. 2013;62:961–9.
- Bjune MS, Lindquist C, Hallvardsdotter Stafsnes M, et al. Plasma 3-hydroxyisobutyrate (3-HIB) and methylmalonic acid (MMA) are markers of hepatic mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation in male Wistar rats. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Biol Lipids. 2021;1866:158887.
- Estrada-Alcalde I, Tenorio-Guzman MR, Tovar AR, et al. Metabolic fate of branched-chain amino acids during adipogenesis, in adipocytes from obese mice and C2C12 myotubes. J Cell Biochem. 2017;118:808–18.

- Ferrannini E, Natali A, Camastra S, et al. Early metabolic markers of the development of dysglycemia and type 2 diabetes and their physiological significance. Diabetes. 2013;62: 1730–7.
- Gall WE, Beebe K, Lawton KA, et al. Alpha-hydroxybutyrate is an early biomarker of insulin resistance and glucose intolerance in a nondiabetic population. PLoS One. 2010;5:e10883.
- Green CR, Wallace M, Divakaruni AS, et al. Branched-chain amino acid catabolism fuels adipocyte differentiation and lipogenesis. Nat Chem Biol. 2016;12:15–21.
- Gudbrandsen OA, Dankel SN, Skumsnes L, et al. Short-term effects of vertical sleeve gastrectomy and Roux-en-Y gastric bypass on glucose homeostasis. Sci Rep. 2019;9:14817.
- Halama A, Horsch M, Kastenmüller G, et al. Metabolic switch during adipogenesis: from branched chain amino acid catabolism to lipid synthesis. Arch Biochem Biophys. 2016;589:93–107.
- Harris L-ALS, Smith GI, Patterson BW, et al. Alterations in 3-hydroxyisobutyrate and FGF21 metabolism are associated with protein ingestion-induced insulin resistance. Diabetes. 2017;66: 1871–8.
- Haslam DW, James WPT. Obesity. Lancet (London, England). 2005;366:1197-209.
- Herman MA, She P, Peroni OD, et al. Adipose tissue branched chain amino acid (BCAA) metabolism modulates circulating BCAA levels. J Biol Chem. 2010;285:11348–56.
- Jang C, Oh SF, Wada S, et al. A branched-chain amino acid metabolite drives vascular fatty acid transport and causes insulin resistance. Nat Med. 2016;22:421–6.
- Lean ME, Leslie WS, Barnes AC, et al. Primary care-led weight management for remission of type 2 diabetes (DiRECT): an open-label, cluster-randomised trial. Lancet (London, England). 2018;391:541–51.
- Lee HJ, Jang HB, Kim WH, et al. 2-Aminoadipic acid (2-AAA) as a potential biomarker for insulin resistance in childhood obesity. Sci Rep. 2019;9:13610.
- Lee S, Gulseth HL, Langleite TM, et al. Branched-chain amino acid metabolism, insulin sensitivity and liver fat response to exercise training in sedentary dysglycaemic and normoglycaemic men. Diabetologia. 2021;64:410–23.
- Letto J, Brosnan ME, Brosnan JT. Valine metabolism. Gluconeogenesis from 3-hydroxyisobutyrate. Biochem J. 1986;240:909–12.
- Lynch CJ, Adams SH. Branched-chain amino acids in metabolic signalling and insulin resistance. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2014;10:723–36.
- Mardinoglu A, Gogg S, Lotta LA, et al. Elevated plasma levels of 3-hydroxyisobutyric acid are associated with incident type 2 diabetes. EBioMedicine. 2018;27:151–5.
- Mayers JR, Torrence ME, Danai LV, et al. Tissue of origin dictates branched-chain amino acid metabolism in mutant Kras-driven cancers. Science (80-). 2016;353:1161–5.
- McCann A, Giil LM, Ulvik A, et al. Plasma amino acids and incident type 2 diabetes in patients with coronary artery disease. Diabetes Care. 2019;42:1225–33.
- McCormack SE, Shaham O, McCarthy MA, et al. Circulating branched-chain amino acid concentrations are associated with obesity and future insulin resistance in children and adolescents. Pediatr Obes. 2013;8:52–61.
- Miyazaki T, Honda A, Ikegami T, et al. Simultaneous quantification of salivary 3-hydroxybutyrate, 3-hydroxyisobutyrate, 3-hydroxy-3-methylbutyrate, and 2-hydroxybutyrate as possible markers of amino acid and fatty acid catabolic pathways by LC-ESI-MS/MS. Springerplus. 2015;4:494.
- Molloy AM, Pangilinan F, Mills JL, et al. A common polymorphism in HIBCH influences methylmalonic acid concentrations in blood independently of cobalamin. Am J Hum Genet. 2016;98:869–82.
- Neinast MD, Jang C, Hui S, et al. Quantitative analysis of the whole-body metabolic fate of branched-chain amino acids. Cell Metab. 2019;29:417–29.
- Newgard CB, An J, Bain JR, et al. A branched-chain amino acid-related metabolic signature that differentiates obese and lean humans and contributes to insulin resistance. Cell Metab. 2009;9: 311–26.
- Nilsen MS, Jersin RÅ, Ulvik A, et al. 3-Hydroxyisobutyrate, a strong marker of insulin resistance in type 2 diabetes and obesity that modulates white and brown adipocyte metabolism. Diabetes. 2020;69:1903–16.
- Peddinti G, Cobb J, Yengo L, et al. Early metabolic markers identify potential targets for the prevention of type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2017;60:1740–50.
- Saeedi P, Petersohn I, Salpea P, et al. Global and regional diabetes prevalence estimates for 2019 and projections for 2030 and 2045: results from the International Diabetes Federation Diabetes Atlas, 9th edition. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2019;157:107843.
- Shimomura Y, Murakami T, Fujitsuka N, et al. Purification and partial characterization of 3-hydroxyisobutyryl-coenzyme A hydrolase of rat liver. J Biol Chem. 1994;269:14248–53.
- Solomon TPJ. Sources of inter-individual variability in the therapeutic response of blood glucose control to exercise in type 2 diabetes: going beyond exercise dose. Front Physiol. 2018;9:896.
- Takashina C, Tsujino I, Watanabe T, et al. Associations among the plasma amino acid profile, obesity, and glucose metabolism in Japanese adults with normal glucose tolerance. Nutr Metab (Lond). 2016;13:5.
- Taylor R, Ramachandran A, Yanci WS Jr, Forouhi NG. Nutritional basis of type 2 diabetes remission. BMJ. 2021;374:n1449.
- Thalacker-Mercer AE, Ingram KH, Guo F, et al. BMI, RQ, diabetes, and sex affect the relationships between amino acids and clamp measures of insulin action in humans. Diabetes. 2014;63: 791–800.
- Van Gaal LF, Mertens IL, De Block CE. Mechanisms linking obesity with cardiovascular disease. Nature. 2006;444:875–80.
- Vangipurapu J, Stancáková A, Smith U, et al. Nine amino acids are associated with decreased insulin secretion and elevated glucose levels in a 7.4-year follow-up study of 5,181 Finnish men. Diabetes. 2019;68:1353–8.
- Vendelbo MH, Clasen BFF, Treebak JT, et al. Insulin resistance after a 72-h fast is associated with impaired AS160 phosphorylation and accumulation of lipid and glycogen in human skeletal muscle. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2012;302:E190–200.
- Wang TJ, Ngo D, Psychogios N, et al. 2-Aminoadipic acid is a biomarker for diabetes risk. J Clin Invest. 2013;123:4309–17.
- Xu WY, Shen Y, Zhu H, et al. 2-Aminoadipic acid protects against obesity and diabetes. J Endocrinol. 2019;243:111–23.
- Yamakado M, Tanaka T, Nagao K, et al. Plasma amino acid profile is associated with visceral fat accumulation in obese Japanese subjects. Clin Obes. 2012;2:29–40.
- Zhou M, Shao J, Wu C-Y, et al. Targeting BCAA catabolism to treat obesity-associated insulin resistance. Diabetes. 2019;68:1730–46.



Proteomic Biomarkers: What They Are and How Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Has Similarities with Other Diseases

Karina Braga Gomes

Contents

Introduction	313
Proteomic Biomarkers and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus	314
Proteomics in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Complications	314
Diabetic Retinopathy	315
Diabetic Kidney Disease	315
Diabetic Neuropathy and Chronic Wounds	317
Proteomics in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Other Diseases	317
Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Obesity	317
Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Cardiovascular Diseases	320
Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Metabolic Diseases	321
Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Pancreatic Cancer	322
Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Neurologic Disorders	322
Conclusion	324
Applications to Prognosis and Other Diseases or Conditions	324
Applications to Prognosis	324
Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions	324
Mini-Dictionary of Terms	324
Key Factors of Proteomic Biomarkers in Diabetes Mellitus	325
Summary Points	325
References	326

Abstract

Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) is the most frequent form of diabetes, characterized by insulin resistance and impaired insulin release. Its prevalence has shown remarkable expansion worldwide, particularly in low- and middle-income countries. Diabetic complications comprise kidney disease, retinopathy, and

K. B. Gomes (🖂)

311

Department of Clinical and Toxicological Analyses, School of Pharmacy, Federal University of Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, MG, Brazil e-mail: karinabgb@ufmg.br

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 16

neuropathy. Moreover, metabolic, cardiovascular, and neurologic diseases have shared common pathways with T2DM. Proteomics is a technology involved in the quantification of overall proteins present in biological samples, as well as the study of their structures, functions, and interactions. Consequently, proteomics could be considered as the most relevant information to characterize a biological system and to propose new candidate biomarkers. This chapter goes on to discuss proteomic studies in order to characterize the T2DM profile, as well as the proteins commonly observed in T2DM, its complications, and other diseases.

Keywords

Type 2 diabetes mellitus · Proteomics · Biomarkers · Complications · Mass spectrometry · Retinopathy · Diabetic kidney disease · Neuropathy · Chronic wounds · Metabolic diseases · Obesity · Cancer · Alzheimer's disease

Abbreviations

2D PAGE	Two-dimensional polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
AD	Alzheimer's disease
AGEs	Advanced glycation end products
Apo	Apolipoprotein
CD163	Scavenger receptor cysteine-rich type 1 protein M130
CFAH	Complement factor H
CILP2	Cartilage intermediate layer protein 2
CKD	Chronic kidney disease
CTSD	Cathepsin D
CVDs	Cardiovascular diseases
DAF	Decay-accelerating factor
DKD	Diabetic kidney disease
DM	Diabetes mellitus
eGFR	Estimated glomerular filtration rate
eGPx	Extracellular glutathione peroxidase
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays
GAL4	Galectin-4
Hb1Ac	Glycated hemoglobin A1c
HFpEF	Heart failure with preserved ejection fraction
HOMA-IR	Homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance
IGFB2	Insulin-like growth factor-binding protein 2
InR	Insulin-like receptor
L1CAM	L1 cell adhesion molecule
LC	Liquid chromatography
MCI	Mild cognitive impairment
MetS	Metabolic syndrome
MMPs	Matrix metalloproteinases
MS	Mass spectrometry
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid

NAFLD	Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease
NGAL	Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin
OR	Odds ratio
PAD	Peripheral artery disease
PIP	Prolactin-induced protein
PMCA	Plasma membrane Ca + 2 ATPase
RLS	Restless leg syndrome
STAT	Signal transducer and activator of transcription
T2DM	Type 2 diabetes mellitus
THBS2	Thrombospondin-2

Introduction

In the last decades, the prevalence of diabetes mellitus (DM) has shown a remarkable increase worldwide, particularly the type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) (Cheema et al. 2020). The number of people with DM has increased more rapidly in low- and middle-income countries compared to high-income countries (WHO 2021). T2DM is the most frequent form of diabetes, characterized by insulin resistance and impaired insulin release by pancreatic β -cells (Cheema et al. 2020). Complications of DM comprise diabetic kidney disease (DKD, the major cause of renal failure), retinopathy, and neuropathy. Moreover, cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) are the main comorbidity observed in diabetic patients (Zarch et al. 2020).

Biomarker is a biological compound whose state or level determines the normal or pathological status associated with a disease or treatment response. The proteins, mainly the soluble ones, are important biomarkers because they allow the laboratory measurement to prognosis and diagnosis of acute and chronic disorders (Sohail et al. 2018). The molecular omics platforms, as proteomics, permit the identification of multi-parameter biomarkers and the development of personalized diagnostics. Nevertheless, applications of these omics technologies should attempt to clinical validation of the candidate biomarkers in huge populations, one of the main challenges in omics research (Tans et al. 2019).

Proteomics is a technology involved in the quantification of overall proteins present in a cell, tissue, or organism. The proteome characterization includes protein expression, as well as its structure and function, besides interactions and post-translational modifications. Proteins are regulators of biological function, and their levels are dependent on gene expression and mRNA (messenger ribonucleic acid) levels, as well as translational control (Aslam et al. 2017). Proteomes are more complex than the corresponding genomes, because post-translational modifications greatly contribute to a larger diversity than genes (Zhang et al. 2014). Thus, the proteomics could be considered as the most relevant information to characterize a biological system and to propose new biomarkers (Aslam et al. 2017).

Immuno-based assays that utilize the affinity of antibodies linked to a reporter (such as enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISA), luminescence, fluorescence, or radioactivity) are considered the gold standard for identification and quantification of proteins. These assays were utilized to prove the association of classic T2DM biomarkers, such as adiponectin, leptin, sex hormone-binding globulin, and vitamin E-binding protein. Nevertheless, these assays are specific for only one biomarker and do not allow untargeted measure of proteins present in the sample (Chen and Gerszten 2020). Two-dimensional polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (2D PAGE) has been used as a reference methodology for proteomic studies. However, gel-based techniques tend to be more labor-intensive and time-consuming, consequently not suitable for highthroughput analysis (Zhang et al. 2014). In turn, mass spectrometry (MS) has been considered the most important method to identify, characterize, and quantify proteins on a large scale. Because of the large variety of relative abundances and complex components commonly present in biological samples, MS allows the detection and quantification of low-abundance species based on mass-to-charge ratio (m/z), since most serum proteins are at or below the limit of detection for most immune assays. Liquid chromatography (LC) also allows continuous separation of thousands of proteins and can be performed online with MS for increased throughput (Zhang et al. 2014).

Proteomic Biomarkers and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus

Several studies have shown that proteomic analysis contributes to the identification of serum, urinary, salivary, and other tissue-specific protein biomarkers in DM (Riaz et al. 2010a; Kraniotou et al. 2018; Tans et al. 2019), which provides insights related to disease prognosis, likelihood of diabetes progression, development of complications, as well as therapy response (Chen and Gerszten 2020). Proteins related to abdominal adiposity, insulin resistance, and homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) have been shown to be associated with T2DM in many studies. Moreover, serpin peptidase inhibitor A1, growth-inhibiting protein 25, apolipoprotein A-1, galectin-1, haptoglobin, transthyretin, zinc-alpha 2-glycoprotein, prealbumin, thiolspecific antioxidant, tissue plasminogen activator, retinol-binding protein 4, cathepsin D, interleukin-1 receptor antagonist, fatty acid-binding protein 4, complement C3f, and fragments of kininogen 1 precursor were also associated with T2DM (Nowak et al. 2016; Meng et al. 2017; Sohail et al. 2018; Kim et al. 2019; Chen and Gerszten 2020). Furthermore, insulin-like growth factor-binding protein 2 levels were lower in T2DM patients compared to controls, which was also associated with a higher Hb1Ac (glycated hemoglobin A1c) levels (Noordam et al. 2020).

Proteomics in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Complications

Urine, tears, and blood proteome profile have been used to determine biomarkers for T2DM associated with complications, whose origin is the advanced glycation end products (AGEs) formation. Some studies showed that hyperglycemia is positively correlated with TNF-alpha and Beta-2 microglobulin serum levels, which suggests that the progression of T2DM and its complications, mainly DKD and retinopathy, are directly associated with inflammatory and vascular proteins (Sohail et al. 2018).

Diabetic Retinopathy

Diabetic retinopathy is one of the most common microvascular complications of T2DM. Vascular endothelial growth factor, angiotensin-converting enzyme, insulinlike growth factor, AGEs, and antiangiogenic factors are aspects related to physiopathology of retinopathy. Recently, a study presented the association of salivary biomarkers with diabetic retinopathy and its severity by MS. The autohrs observed 119 differentially expressed proteins in proliferative diabetic retinopathy group compared to non-proliferative diabetic retinopathy group, which were involved on pathways indicating increased farnesoid X receptor/retinoid X receptor activation, liver X receptor/retinoid X receptor activation, sucrose degradation V, acute phase response signaling, and regulation of actin-based motility by Rho (Chee et al. 2016).

This study showed the saliva as a possible alternative sample source for proteomic analysis related to retinopathy (Chee et al. 2016). In addition, Midena et al. (2021) applied a liquid biopsy using aqueous and vitreous humor from diabetic patients and observed, by proteomics and metabolomics analysis, that neurodegeneration, neuroinflammation, and vasculopathy are detectable in these intraocular fluids. Moreover, the concentrations of proteins and metabolites change in different stages of disease and in response to treatment, mainly in diabetic macular edema and proliferative retinopathy (Midena et al. 2021).

Another study showed that 111 proteins were downregulated, and 80 were upregulated in the aqueous humor of proliferative diabetic retinopathy patients compared to controls (senile cataract). These proteins were related to several pathways, as complement and coagulation cascades, platelet activation, focal adhesion, protein digestion and absorption, extracellular matrix-receptor interaction, human papillomavirus infection, PI3K-Akt signaling pathway, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor signaling pathways, cholesterol metabolism, vitamin digestion/ absorption, and fat digestion/absorption pathways (Xiao et al. 2021). A panel comprising four plasma proteins – apolipoprotein (Apo) AIV, complement C7, clusterin, and inter-alpha-trypsin inhibitor heavy chain H2 – was also related to early stages of diabetic retinopathy (Jin et al. 2016). Moreover, beta 2-glycoprotein I, alpha 2-HS-glycoprotein, alpha 1-acid glycoprotein, and apolipoprotein A-1 presented lower abundance in diabetic retinopathy compared to control group, but beta 2-glycoprotein I expression was gradually increased during the development of diabetic retinopathy (Liu et al. 2011).

Diabetic Kidney Disease

The physiopathology of DKD or nephropathy is complex, because prolonged hyperglycemia can provide activation of different proteins and signaling pathways, with severe morphological changes in the kidney. It is known that low concentration of urinary albumin (microalbuminuria) is detectable only when the functional impairment in the glomerulus is already in progress, but it is not enough to prevent the onset of DKD. Consequently, a proteomic analysis is important to afford new biomarkers using blood or urine without other invasive techniques (Conserva et al. 2013). As urinary proteins are derived from a variety of sources, such as plasma, secreted by the kidney, metabolism, derived from podocytes, tubules, and endosome, the urine sample became an important font to proteomic studies (Merchant and Klein 2005).

Papale et al. (2010) showed that ubiquitin and β 2-microglobulin were differentially expressed in the urine of patients with DKD, whose results were reinforced by renal biopsies. Another study showed a reduction in collagen fragments previously the onset of macroalbuminuria, which suggest that collagen could be a marker to predict progression of DKD (Zürbig et al. 2012), which was corroborated by Maahs et al. (2010) (24). Moreover, Jim et al. (2012) presented that small traces of nephrin were found in 50% of the T2DM patients with normoalbuminuria, suggesting the role of nephrin as an early biomarker of DKD. Furthermore, extracellular glutathione peroxidase (eGPx) and ApoE were found to exhibit a progressive reduction in T2DM patients with microalbuminuria and chronic renal failure (Kim et al. 2007).

Combining two-dimensional liquid chromatography/MS analysis and enzymelinked immunosorbent assay in urinary samples, Riaz et al. (2010b) showed that transthyretin, haptoglobin precursor, and α -1-microglobulin/bikunin precursor levels decreased 30.8%, 81.45%, and 55.2%, while albumin, zinc α 2 glycoprotein, E-cadherin, and retinol-binding protein 4 levels increased 486.5%, 29.23%, 693%, and 100%, respectively, in T2DM patients compared to controls. Golea-Secara et al. (2020) also investigated urinary peptides and observed that apolipoprotein AI, neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin, cytidine deaminase, S100 calciumbinding protein A8, and hemoglobin subunit delta were associated with early DKD. Upregulated fragments of blood components in urine samples of patients with DKD, such as alpha-1-antitrypsin, albumin, transthyretin, alpha-2-HS-glycoprotein, and beta-2-microglobulin, were also observed according to Alkhalaf et al. (2010). Only the collagen fragment was downregulated in urine samples of these patients (Alkhalaf et al. 2010). Differentially expressed proteins were also identified in urine from normoalbuminuric and microalbuminuric T2DM patients, such as alpha-1-antitrypsin, alpha-1-acid glycoprotein 1, and prostate stem cell antigen (Jin et al. 2012).

Another proteomic analysis identified higher plasma levels of prolactin-induced protein (PIP), thrombospondin-2 (THBS2), L1 cell adhesion molecule (L1CAM), and neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL) in T2DM patients, whereas PIP, THBS2, and NGAL were significantly higher in T2DM patients with albuminuria, while L1CAM levels were higher in T2DM patients with retinopathy (Yeh et al. 2016). Upregulated glycoproteins, such as lumican, vasorin, and retinol-binding protein 4, were also observed in T2DM with DKD using plasma samples (Bellei et al. 2008). The decreased levels of prostatic acid phosphatase precursor, ribonuclease, and kallikrein-3, as well as progressive increase of transthyretin precursor, Ig κ -chain C region, Ig κ -chain V-III region Cum, Ig κ -chain V-III region SIE, carbonic anhydrase 1, plasma retinol-binding protein, β -2-microglobulin precursor, and β -2-glycoprotein 1 levels, were observed in normoalbuminuric T2DM and DKD patients (Ahn et al. 2010).

An untargeted proteomic study, with functional analysis, showed that differentially expressed urinary proteins in patients with biopsy-proven DKD were associated with complement and coagulation pathways. Urinary protein quantification showed that C3, C9, and complement factor H (CFAH) correlated negatively with estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) decline evaluated annually; and urinary abundances of C5, decay-accelerating factor (DAF), and CD59 correlated positively with rate of eGFR decline in this same period. In addition, higher CFAH and lower DAF urinary were independently associated with higher risk of progression to end-stage renal disease (Zhao et al. 2021).

Diabetic Neuropathy and Chronic Wounds

Few studies have evaluated the proteomics of diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN), a common and severe complication of T2DM. Ising et al. (2021), using peripheral nerves, evaluated the proteins involved in decreased sural nerve action potential in T2DM patients compared to controls. A total of 2617 proteins were identified. A cluster of 500 proteins was able to differentiate T2DM subjects and healthy controls, which was related to DPN development (Ising et al. 2021).

Healing of injured tissue is a complex and impaired process in DM. A study comparing protein composition of chronic diabetic foot exudates to exudates from sites of burn healthy victims observed increased expression of S100 calcium-binding protein A8/A9. Moreover, matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) MMP1, MMP2, and MMP8 were observed to be elevated in chronic wounds from diabetics with significant impact on collagen degradation and tissue destruction. Finally, Annexin A5 was exclusively found in chronic wound exudates from DM patients (Krisp et al. 2013).

Proteomics in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Other Diseases

Several studies have investigated proteins commonly expressed in T2DM and other diseases (Table 1).

Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Obesity

The molecular mechanism underlying obesity and T2DM is not completely known. However, proteomics has helped to advance our understanding about the origin, onset, development, prevention, and treatment of these complex diseases (Alfadda et al. 2013). Alfadda et al. (2013) observed that aldo-keto reductase 1 C2, protein disulfide isomerase, prohibitin 1, profilin, beta actin, alpha crystallin B, and annexins A1, A5, and A6 were highly expressed in adipocytes from old compared to young obese patients. However, keratin type 2 cytoskeletal 1, keratin type 2 cytoskeletal 10, and hemoglobins A and B were less abundant in the first group. Moreover, signal

to reductase ulfide e Prohibitin 1 a A5 A6 A5 A6 A6 A6 A6 A6 A6 A6 A6 A6 A6 A6 A6 A6	Carcitovascular diseases Retinol-binding protein Glutathione peroxidase-3 Fatty acid-binding protein 4 protein M130 l protein M130 l protein M130 l protein M130 l protein M130 l protein 2 Cathepsin D Galectin 4 Midkine Kichey injury molecule-1 Interleukin-23 Follicle-stimulating hormone Angiopoietin-1 Eotaxin-1	Metabolic syndrome finsulin-like growth factor- binding protein 2 Leptin	Gout CXCL8	Pancreattc cancer 5100 calcium- binding protein A9 Aldehyde dehydrogenase 2 family	Kestless leg syndrome C-II Alpha-1 antitrypsin Haptoglobin Fibrinogen alpha chain Platelet factor 4 Platelet factor 4 protease C1 inhibitor proteins	Arzneimer s disease/mud cognitive impairment Haptoglobin Transthyretin Ig a-1 chain C region Ig µ chain C region Apolipoprotein Jr Apolipoprotein A-IV Apolipoprotein B-100 Apolipoprotein B-100 Apolipoprotein B-100 Apolipoprotein B-100 Apolipoprotein B-100 Apolipoprotein Calectin-3- binding protein Ceruloplasmin Apolipoprotein E Galectin-3- binding protein Complement C4 Inter-alpha-trypsin Inter-alpha-trypsin complement C4 Inter-alpha-trypsin inhibitor heavy chain 2 Pancreatic polypeptide Zinc alpha 2-glycoprotein Butyrylcholinesterase Glycogen synthase kinase-3 Glycogen synthase kinase-3 Insulin-like poptide-1 Caspase 3
y of sceptor	γ1-laminin β2-laminin					Catalase Tumor necrosis factor
eceptor	β2-laminin α1-type IV collagen					Tumor necrosis factor Leptin
se otein r-related	α2-type 1V collagen fatty acid-binding protein					Vascular endothelial growth factor A Interleukin-6 Interleukin-10

Table 1 Proteomic biomarkers differently expressed in type 2 diabetes mellitus and other diseases

Plasma membrane Ca + 2 ATPase)- interacting single-PDZ	microglobulin/ bikunin precursor Trafficking protein	C-reactive protein Fatty acid-binding protein Amyloid A1 Pamolvein
PDZ domain- containing protein 11 Cordon-bleu	Particip compression subunit 3 Pigment epithelium- derived factor	Glucose regulatory protein 78 Valosin-containing protein Calreticulin
Moesin Zinc finger protein 611 78 kDa glucose-	Tumor necrosis factor ligand superfamily member	Ubiquinol-cytochrome c reductase core protein Disulfide isomerase DnaK
regulated protein Cytochrome c oxidase subunit 6B1	15 Ubiquitin- conjugating enzyme E2 G2 Reticulon-4	Collapsin response mediator protein 2 Glutamine synthetase Proprotein convertase subtilisin Chaperonin 60
	receptor Insulin Cartilage	 T-complex protein 1 Peroxiredoxin L-3-hydroxyacyl-coenzyme A dehydrogenase Secretagogin
	intermediate layer protein 2 Apolipoprotein M	

transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) 3 was identified as the central molecule involved in this disease. These proteins are related to apoptosis, cellular senescence, and inflammatory responses, which are also commonly observed in DM (Alfadda et al. 2013). Interestingly, proteins prohibitin 1 and keratin type 2 cytoskeletal 10 are described as biomarkers for T2DM at diagnosis in obese patients (López-Villar et al. 2015).

Comparing liver samples from diabetic and non-diabetic morbid obese subjects, Valle et al. (2012) analyzed 850 proteins. They observed that 27 proteins were differentially expressed in T2DM obese subjects, whose pattern was decreased abundance in mitochondrial enzymes, proteins involved in methionine metabolism, and oxidative stress response. T2DM subjects also presented decrease of glutathione and higher levels of protein and lipid oxidative damage. Changes in proteasome subunits, retinoic acid synthesis, detoxifying enzymes, and carbohydrate metabolism were also found in this group (Valle et al. 2012).

Insulin-induced intracellular signaling pathway is very important in metabolic diseases and cellular processes related to DM. The insulin receptor and its substrates are necessary in the insulin signaling network, which insulin binds to its receptor to generate tyrosine phosphorylation cascades that consequently activate other cascades (López-Villar et al. 2015). A phosphoproteomic analysis in brown adipocytes found that the insulin effectors secreted decoy of insulin-like receptor (InR), protein kinase C binding protein, LDL receptor-related protein 6, and PMCA (plasma membrane Ca + 2 ATPase)-interacting single-PDZ protein/PDZ domain-containing protein 11, a potential calcium ATPase-binding protein, which are also involved in insulin signaling related to obesity (Kr€uger et al. 2008; López-Villar et al. 2015). Furthermore, protein cordon-bleu, moesin, zinc finger protein 611, 78 kDa glucose-regulated protein, and cytochrome c oxidase subunit 6B1 were differentially expressed in diabetic group compared to non-diabetic group in subcutaneous and visceral adipose tissue obtained from patients with morbid obesity (Fang et al. 2015).

Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Cardiovascular Diseases

Patients with T2DM are at considerable risk of developing cardiovascular disease due to both microvascular and macrovascular complications. T2DM patients with cardiovascular disease showed higher expression of plasma retinol-binding protein and glutathione peroxidase-3 compared to those without cardiovascular disease and non-diabetic controls, suggesting that inflammatory and redox state influence the pathogenesis of the cardiovascular disease in T2DM patients (García-Fontana et al. 2015). A study investigated the association of proteins previously shown to be related to diabetes [fatty acid-binding protein 4 (FABP4), scavenger receptor cysteine-rich type 1 protein M130 (CD163), insulin-like growth factor-binding protein 2 (IGFB2), cathepsin D (CTSD), plasminogen activator inhibitor 1, paraoxonase-3, and galectin-4 (GAL4)] with all-cause mortality, cardiovascular mortality, incident coronary events, and incident heart failure. Significant associations were identified between CD163, IGFBP2, GAL4, CTSD, and FABP4 with all-cause

mortality; CTSD, CD163, GAL4, and IGFBP2 with cardiovascular mortality; GAL4, FABP4, and CTSD with coronary events; and GAL4 and CTSD with heart failure (Molvin et al. 2020).

Peripheral artery disease (PAD) is one of the most prevalent macrovascular complications of DM, which affects 20–30% of patients, and is associated with a higher risk of fatal and non-fatal cardiovascular/cerebrovascular events (Fang et al. 2015). McCarthy et al. (2019) proposed a proteomics model to predict PAD in diabetic patients composed by midkine, kidney injury molecule-1, interleukin-23, follicle-stimulating hormone, angiopoietin-1, and eotaxin-1. Associated with history of hypertension, the model showed sensitivity of 84%, specificity of 75%, positive predictive value of 84%, and negative predictive value of 75% for PAD detection among patients with DM. Besides, abnormal scores in this model were associated with a shorter time to revascularization during 4.3 years follow-up (McCarthy et al. 2019).

Preil et al. (2015) analyzed non-atherosclerotic arteries collected at coronary bypass operations from patients with T2DM and controls. Basement membrane components, such as γ 1-laminin, β 2-laminin, α 1-type IV collagen, and α 2-type IV collagen, were significantly increased in patients with diabetes mellitus. In addition, the expressions of these basement membrane components were significantly lower in metformin users compared to non-users.

DM is also associated with a higher risk of hospitalization and mortality in patients with heart failure with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF). Firstly, using univariate models of proteomic analysis, Hanff et al. (2021) observed that fatty acidbinding protein, alpha-1-microglobulin/bikunin precursor, trafficking protein particle complex subunit 3, pigment epithelium-derived factor, tumor necrosis factor ligand superfamily member 15, ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E2 G2, reticulon-4 receptor, insulin, cartilage intermediate layer protein 2 (CILP2), and apolipoprotein M (ApoM) had significantly different expressions between participants with or without diabetes and HFpEF. Proteins maintained after covariate adjustment were alpha-1-microglobulin/bikunin precursor protein, which was higher in DM, and ApoM and CILP2, which are lower in DM. Finally, ApoM was significantly associated with heart failure hospitalization, the time to cardiovascular death, and aborted cardiac arrest (Hanff et al. 2021).

Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Metabolic Diseases

The metabolic syndrome (MetS) is a complex disease associated with T2DM and cardiovascular diseases, especially coronary artery disease, stroke, and heart failure. Its characteristics are increased waist circumference, hypertriglyceridemia, reduced high-density lipoprotein, hyperglycemia, and increased blood pressure (Elhadad et al. 2021). A study showed association (lowest odds ratio, OR) of insulin-like growth factor-binding protein 2 (IGFBP2) with MetS and leptin with the highest OR. IGFBP2 was the protein most strongly associated, and plasminogen activator inhibitor 1 had the largest magnitude of association with incident MeS. The best

proteins as predictive MetS biomarkers were netrin receptor and aminoacylase-1 (Elhadad et al. 2021).

Performing a proteome-wide analysis in patients with gout, a disease associated with metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease, Kienhorst et al. (2015) found high levels of the chemokine CXCL8 in these patients associated with diabetes mellitus. Besides, the role of immunologic pathways in T2DM was also observed by Abdulwahab et al. (2019), who found 62 proteins differentially expressed in T2DM compared with control subjects, mainly associated with upregulation of immunoglobulins.

Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Pancreatic Cancer

Diabetes mellitus is diagnosed in more than 80% of the pancreatic tumor cases (Fogar et al. 1994). Basso et al. (2005) evaluated proteins from pancreatic cancer cell lines and compared them with proteomics of blood from controls and chronic pancreatitis patients. They observed the presence of the S-100 calcium-binding protein only in samples from diabetic patients, which was suggested to be a pancreatic cancer-DM associated. In order to investigate the pancreatic cancer associated to DM, Wang et al. (2013) found 12 upregulated and 11 downregulated proteins in pancreatic cancer tissues from DM patients compared to controls. The proteins S100 calcium-binding protein A9 and aldehyde dehydrogenase 2 family were selected to be evaluated in other population, and the results were confirmed and validated.

Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Neurologic Disorders

Restless leg syndrome (RLS) is a neurologic disorder, considered one of the most common sleep-related movement diseases. Mondello et al. (2021), comparing RLS patients and controls, observed a pathway differentially expressed in the first group, compounded by apolipoprotein C-II, alpha-1 antitrypsin, haptoglobin, fibrinogen alpha chain, platelet factor 4, and plasma protease C1 inhibitor proteins, which were associated with the DM and its complications in other studies, suggesting a linked between RLS and DM.

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is the most common type of dementia, characterized by deposition of β -amyloid peptide, hyperphosphorylation of tau protein, neuronal loss, and neuroinflammation. Several studies suggest a relationship between AD and T2DM, although the common pathophysiological mechanisms of this interrelation are still unclear. There are some hypotheses to explain the association between AD and T2DM: hyperglycemia, which leads to glutamate-induced excitotoxicity in neuronal cells; insulin resistance, which may contribute to amyloid- β accumulation in the brain, tau phosphorylation, AGE formation, oxidative stress, and apoptosis; and inflammation, as a common pathway between these diseases (Santos et al. 2017). Moreover, hyperinsulinemia and hyperamylinemia lead to proteotoxicity and β -amyloid protein deposition (Avila-Vazquez et al. 2017).

Recently, we conducted a systematic review of studies that used proteomic methodologies for the identification of common plasma/serum proteins in AD and T2DM (Pereira et al. 2021). Our search on different databases returned 432 articles about proteomics in AD and 317 in T2DM. After applying the inclusion and exclusion criteria, as well as the quality score, 22 studies about AD and 12 about T2DM were included, resulting in 1,185 AD cases versus 1,678 controls and 834 T2DM cases versus 2,500 controls. The studies identified 205 proteomic biomarkers for AD and 149 for T2DM. An overlap was carried out in these studies, and 17 proteomic biomarkers were differentially expressed in both diseases: haptoglobin, transthyretin, Ig α -1 chain C region, Ig μ chain C region, Ig κ chain C region, apolipoprotein A-I, apolipoprotein A-IV, apolipoprotein B-100, apolipoprotein E, galectin-3-binding protein, ceruloplasmin, alpha-2 macroglobulin, complement C4, inter-alpha-trypsin inhibitor heavy chain 1, inter-alpha-trypsin inhibitor heavy chain 2. pancreatic polypeptide, and zinc alpha 2-glycoprotein. These proteins are involved in cholesterol metabolism, vitamin digestion and absorption, fat digestion and absorption, complement and coagulation cascade pathways (Pereira et al. 2021).

Another narrative review highlighted four proteins commonly involved in T2DM and AD: butyrylcholinesterase, acetylcholinesterase, glycogen synthase kinase-3, and glucagon-like peptide-1. Besides, amylin, an amyloidogenic/apoptotic cell death in insulin-producing β -cell inducer, was found in both AD and T2DM (Mirza et al. 2014).

Common differential expression of caspase 3, insulin-like growth factor 1, catalase, tumor necrosis factor, leptin, vascular endothelial growth factor A, and interleukin-6 in both AD and T2DM were also observed, as well as the correlation of these biomarkers with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) (Gholizadeh et al. 2020).

It is known that DM is one of the most important risk factors for chronic kidney disease (CKD). Examining the relationship between eGFR and neuropsychological tests, Szerlip et al. (2015) observed that lower eGFR levels were associated with worst neuropsychological scores. In addition, serum interleukin-10, factor VII, C-reactive protein, and fatty acid-binding protein proteomic profile were related to CKD-related mild cognitive impairment (MCI), a prodromal AD stage (Szerlip et al. 2015).

Interestingly, a case control study compared the AD-related proteomic profile between T2DM and controls ruled out as having milder prolonged hypoglycemia versus severe transient hypoglycemia. The results showed that, although no differential protein changes were observed in T2DM group, milder prolonged hypoglycemia caused greater AD-related protein changes than severe acute hypoglycemia in control subjects, based on amyloid A1 and pappalysin level changes (Moin et al. 2021).

A proteomic analysis of islets was carried out to determine the protein constituents of normal adult mouse islets (Nicolls et al. 2003). An important subset of the proteins identified in pancreatic islets was associated with AD pathogenesis, such as glucose regulatory protein 78, valosin-containing protein, calreticulin, ubiquinol-cytochrome c reductase core protein, protein disulfide isomerase, DnaK, collapsin response mediator protein 2, glutamine synthetase, proprotein convertase subtilisin, chaperonin 60, T-complex protein 1, peroxiredoxin, L-3-hydroxyacyl-coenzyme A dehydrogenase, and secretagogin, suggesting that these proteins play roles in both AD and type 2 diabetes (Nicolls et al. 2003).

Conclusion

Personalized medicine has the potential to improve T2DM management. The applicability of proteomics in the development of novel biomarkers in this context will contribute to T2DM diagnostics and the comprehension of its relationship with other diseases. Moreover, proteomics use will contribute to improvement in healthcare quality, identification of early-stage patients, and the implementation of preventive measures of T2DM complications. Consequently, proteomic profiles should be integrated to current healthcare systems in order to reduce the complications and delay the T2DM onset.

Applications to Prognosis and Other Diseases or Conditions

Applications to Prognosis

In this chapter, we discussed that urine, tears, and blood proteome profiles have been used to determine biomarkers for T2DM complications, whose origin is the advanced glycation end product formation. Diabetic retinopathy is one of the most common microvascular complications of T2DM, and studies showed protein profiles associated with neurodegeneration, neuroinflammation, and vasculopathy in retinopathy, which are detectable in intraocular fluids (Liu et al. 2011). In addition, it is known that microalbuminuria is detectable only when the functional impairment in the glomerulus is already in progress. Consequently, a proteomic analysis is important to afford new biomarkers using blood or urine without other invasive techniques to detect diabetic kidney disease early (Golea-Secara et al. 2020). The proteomics of diabetic peripheral neuropathy, a common and severe complication of T2DM, is an important tool to prognosis and treatment of this complication (Ising et al. 2021).

Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions

We reviewed studies that showed T2DM proteomic profile in association with other diseases, such as obesity (López-Villar et al. 2015), cardiovascular diseases (Molvin et al. 2020), metabolic syndrome (Elhadad et al. 2021), pancreatic cancer (Basso et al. 2005), and Alzheimer's disease (Pereira et al. 2021), which suggest common pathways between T2DM and these disorders.

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

Type 2 diabetes mellitus – the most frequent form of diabetes, characterized by insulin resistance and impaired insulin release by pancreatic β -cells

Proteomics – technology involved in the quantification of overall proteins present in a cell, tissue, or organism

Complications of diabetes – long-term problems that can develop gradually, related to advanced glycation end products, and can lead to serious damage if not treated

Metabolic syndrome – disease characterized by increased waist circumference, hypertriglyceridemia, reduced high-density lipoprotein, hyperglycemia, and increased blood pressure

Restless leg syndrome - a neurologic disorder, considered one of the most common sleep-related movement diseases, where the main symptom is an overwhelming urge to move your legs

Alzheimer's disease: the most frequent type of dementia, characterized by memory impairment, followed by progressive decay in other cognitive skills, leading to functional decline and loss of autonomy

Key Factors of Proteomic Biomarkers in Diabetes Mellitus

Biomarkers are biological compounds whose state or level determines the normal or pathological status associated with a disease, prognosis, or treatment response.

Proteins, mainly the soluble ones, are one of the most important biomarkers because they allow the laboratory measurement to prognosis and diagnosis of acute and chronic disorders.

Proteomics is a technology that evaluates protein expression and its structure and function, interactions, and post-translational modifications. Proteomes are more complex than the corresponding genomes, because post-translational modifications greatly contribute to the much larger diversity than genes.

Diabetes mellitus, a chronic metabolic noncommunicable disease, has reached epidemic proportions worldwide. More than 95% of all individuals with diabetes mellitus have type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM).

Proteomic technology should be integrated to current healthcare systems in order to reduce the complications and delay the T2DM onset, as well as to improve T2DM management.

Summary Points

Proteomics is a technology that allows the quantification of biomarkers (proteins) in type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM).

Some protein profiles are associated with T2DM development.

Proteomics can be used to T2DM prognosis, mainly related to diabetic complications: kidney disease, retinopathy, and neuropathy.

Protein profiles associated with T2DM can be observed in other diabetes-related diseases, such as obesity, metabolic syndrome, and cardiovascular diseases.

Neurologic disorders and cancer can share proteomic features with T2DM.

References

- Abdulwahab RA, Alaiya A, Shinwari Z, et al. LC-MS/MS proteomic analysis revealed novel associations of 37 proteins with T2DM and notable upregulation of immunoglobulins. Int J Mol Med. 2019;43(5):2118–32.
- Ahn J, Kim B, Yu M, et al. Identification of diabetic nephropathy-selective proteins in human plasma by multi-lectin affinity chromatography and LC-MS/MS. Proteomics Clin Appl. 2010;4 (6–7):644–53.
- Alfadda A, Benabdelkamel H, Masood A, et al. Proteomic analysis of mature adipocytes from obese patients in relation to aging. Exp Gerontol. 2013;48:1196–203.
- Alkhalaf A, Zürbig P, Bakker S, et al. Multicentric validation of proteomic biomarkers in urine specific for diabetic nephropathy. PLoS One. 2010;5(10):e13421.
- Aslam B, Basit M, Nisar M, et al. Proteomics: technologies and their applications. J Chromatogr Sci. 2017;55(2):182–96.
- Avila-Vazquez M, Altamirano-Bustamante N, Altamirano-Bustamante M. Amyloid biomarkers in conformational diseases at face value: a systematic review. Molecules. 2017;23(1):79.
- Basso D, Greco E, Fogar P, et al. Pancreatic cancer-associated diabetes mellitus: an open field for proteomic applications. Clin Chim Acta. 2005;357(2):184–9.
- Bellei E, Rossi E, Lucchi L, et al. Proteomic analysis of early urinary biomarkers of renal changes in type 2 diabetic patients. Proteomics Clin Appl. 2008;2(4):478–91.
- Chee C, Chang K, Loke M, et al. Association of potential salivary biomarkers with diabetic retinopathy and its severity in type-2 diabetes mellitus: a proteomic analysis by mass spectrometry. Peer J. 2016;4:e2022.
- Cheema A, Kaur P, Fadel A, et al. Integrated datasets of proteomic and metabolomic biomarkers to predict its impacts on comorbidities of Type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes. 2020;13:2409–31.
- Chen Z, Gerszten R. Metabolomics and proteomics in type 2 diabetes. Circ Res. 2020;126(11): 1613–27.
- Conserva F, Pontrelli P, Accetturo M, et al. The pathogenesis of diabetic nephropathy: focus on microRNAs and proteomics. J Nephrol. 2013;26(5):811–20.
- Elhadad M, Wilson R, Zaghlool S, et al. Metabolic syndrome and the plasma proteome: from association to causation. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2021;20(1):111.
- Fang L, Kojima K, Zhou L, et al. Analysis of the human proteome in subcutaneous and visceral fat depots in diabetic and non-diabetic patients with morbid obesity. J Proteomics Bioinform. 2015;8(6):133–41.
- Fogar P, Pasquali C, Basso D, et al. Diabetes mellitus in pancreatic cancer follow-up. Anticancer Res. 1994;14:2827–30.
- García-Fontana B, Morales-Santana S, Longobardo V, et al. Relationship between proinflammatory and antioxidant proteins with the severity of cardiovascular disease in Type 2 diabetes mellitus. Int J Mol Sci. 2015;16(5):9469–83.
- Gholizadeh E, Khaleghian A, Najafgholi Seyfi D, et al. Showing NAFLD, as a key connector disease between Alzheimer's disease and diabetes via analysis of systems biology. Gastroenterol Hepatol Bed Bench. 2020;13(Suppl1):S89–97.
- Golea-Secara A, Munteanu C, Sarbu M, et al. Urinary proteins detected using modern proteomics intervene in early type 2 diabetic kidney disease a pilot study. Biomark Med. 2020;14(16): 1521–36.
- Hanff T, Cohen J, Zhao L, et al. Quantitative proteomic analysis of diabetes mellitus in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. JACC Basic Transl Sci. 2021;6(2):89–99.
- Ising E, Åhrman E, Thomsen N, et al. Quantitative proteomic analysis of human peripheral nerves from subjects with type 2 diabetes. Diabet Med. 2021;26:e14658.
- Jim B, Ghanta M, Qipo A, et al. Dysregulated nephrin in diabetic nephropathy of type 2 diabetes: a cross sectional study. PLoS One. 2012;7(5):e36041.

- Jin J, Ku Y, Kim Y, et al. Differential proteome profiling using iTRAQ in microalbuminuric and normoalbuminuric type 2 diabetic patients. Exp Diabetes Res. 2012;2012:168602.
- Jin J, Min H, Kim S, et al. Development of diagnostic biomarkers for detecting diabetic retinopathy at early stages using quantitative proteomics. J Diabetes Res. 2016;2016:6571976.
- Kienhorst L, van Lochem E, Kievit W, et al. Gout is a chronic inflammatory disease in which high levels of Interleukin-8 (CXCL8), myeloid-related protein 8/myeloid-related protein 14 complex, and an altered proteome are associated with diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular disease. Arthritis Rheum. 2015;67(12):3303–13.
- Kim H, Cho E, Yoo J, et al. Proteome analysis of serum from type 2 diabetics with nephropathy. J Proteome Res. 2007;6(2):735–43.
- Kim S, Choi J, Yun J, et al. Proteomics approach to identify serum biomarkers associated with the pro-gression of diabetes in Korean patients with abdominal obesity. PLoS One. 2019;14: e0222032.
- Kr€uger M, Kratchmarova I, Blagoev B, et al. Dissection of the insulin signaling pathway via quantitative phosphoproteomics. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105:2451–6.
- Kraniotou C, Karadima V, Bellos G, et al. Predictive biomarkers for type 2 of diabetes mellitus: Bridging the gap between systems research and personalized medicine. J Proteome. 2018;188: 59–62.
- Krisp C, Jacobsen F, McKay M, et al. Proteome analysis reveals antiangiogenic environments in chronic wounds of diabetes mellitus type 2 patients. Proteomics. 2013;13(17):2670–81.
- Liu Y, Hu S, Wu Z, et al. Proteomic analysis of human serum from diabetic retinopathy. Int J Ophthalmol. 2011;4(6):616–22.
- López-Villar E, Martos-Moreno G, Chowen J, et al. A proteomic approach to obesity and type 2 diabetes. J Cell Mol Med. 2015;19(7):1455–70.
- Maahs D, Siwy J, Argilés A, et al. Urinary collagen fragments are significantly altered in diabetes: a link to pathophysiology. PLoS One. 2010;5(9):e13051.
- McCarthy C, Shrestha S, Ibrahim N, et al. Performance of a clinical/proteomic panel to predict obstructive peripheral artery disease in patients with and without diabetes mellitus. Open Heart. 2019;6(1):e000955.
- Meng Q, Ge S, Yan W, et al. Screening for potential serum-based proteomic biomarkers for human type 2 diabetes mellitus using MALDI-TOF MS. Proteomics Clin Appl. 2017;11(3–4):1–34
- Merchant M, Klein J. Proteomics and diabetic nephropathy. Curr Diab Rep. 2005;5(6):464-9.
- Midena E, Frizziero L, Midena G, et al. Intraocular fluid biomarkers (liquid biopsy) in human diabetic retinopathy. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol. 2021;259:3549–356.
- Mirza Z, Ali A, Ashraf G. Proteomics approaches to understand linkage between Alzheimer's disease and type 2 diabetes mellitus. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets. 2014;13(2):213–25.
- Moin A, Kahal H, Al-Qaissi A, et al. Amyloid-related protein changes associated with dementia differ according to severity of hypoglycemia. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care. 2021;9(1): e002211.
- Molvin J, Jujić A, Melander O, et al. Proteomic exploration of common pathophysiological pathways in diabetes and cardiovascular disease. ESC Heart Fail. 2020;7(6):4151–8.
- Mondello S, Kobeissy F, Mechref Y, et al. Searching for novel candidate biomarkers of RLS in blood by proteomic analysis. Nat Sci Sleep. 2021;13:873–83.
- Nicolls M, D'Antonio J, Hutton J. Proteomics as a tool for discovery: proteins implicated in Alzheimer's disease are highly expressed in normal pancreatic islets. J Proteome Res. 2003;2 (2):199–205.
- Noordam R, van Heemst D, Suhre K, et al. Proteome-wide assessment of diabetes mellitus in Qatari identifies IGFBP-2 as a risk factor already with early glycaemic disturbances. Arch Biochem Biophys. 2020;689:108476.
- Nowak C, Sundström J, Gustafsson S, et al. Protein biomarkers for insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes risk in two large community cohorts. Diabetes. 2016;65:276–84.
- Organization Global report on Diabetes 2021. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ diabetes. Accessed on August 6, 2021.

- Papale M, Di Paolo S, Magistroni R, et al. Urine proteome analysis may allow noninvasive differential diagnosis of diabetic nephropathy. Diabetes Care. 2010;33(11):2409–15.
- Pereira J, Fraga V, Santos A, et al. Alzheimer's disease and type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review of proteomic studies. J Neurochem. 2021;156(6):753-76.
- Preil S, Kristensen L, Beck H, et al. Quantitative proteome analysis reveals increased content of basement membrane proteins in arteries from patients with Type 2 diabetes mellitus and lower levels among metformin users. Circ Cardiovasc Genet. 2015;8(5):727–35.
- Riaz S, Alam S, Akhtar M. Proteomic identification of human serum biomarkers in diabetes mellitus type 2. J Pharm Biomed Anal. 2010a;51(5):1103–7.
- Riaz S, Alam S, Srai S, et al. Proteomic identification of human urinary biomarkers in diabetes mellitus type 2. Diabetes Technol Ther. 2010b;12(12):979–88.
- Santos A, Fraga V, Magalhães C, et al. Doença de Alzheimer e diabetes mellitus tipo 2: qual a relação? Rev Bras Neurol. 2017;53(4):17–26.
- Sohail W, Majeed F, Afroz A. Differential proteome analysis of diabetes mellitus type 2 and its pathophysiological complications. Diabetes Metab Syndr. 2018;12(6):1125–31.
- Szerlip H, Edwards M, Williams B. Association between cognitive impairment and chronic kidney disease in Mexican Americans. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2015;63(10):2023–8.
- Tans R, Verschuren L, Wessels H, et al. The future of protein biomarker research in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Expert Rev Proteomics. 2019;16(2):105–15.
- Valle A, Catalán V, Rodríguez A, et al. Identification of liver proteins altered by type 2 diabetes mellitus in obese subjects. Liver Int. 2012;32(6):951–61.
- Wang W, Liu X, Liu L, et al. Identification of proteins implicated in the development of pancreatic cancer-associated diabetes mellitus by iTRAQ-based quantitative proteomics. J Proteome. 2013;12(84):52–60.
- Xiao H, Xin W, Sun L, et al. Comprehensive proteomic profiling of aqueous humor proteins in proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Transl Vis Sci Technol. 2021;10(6):3.
- Yeh S, Chang W, Chuang H, et al. Differentiation of type 2 diabetes mellitus with different complications by proteomic analysis of plasma low abundance proteins. J Diabetes Metab Disord. 2016;15:24.
- Zarch S, Tezerjani M, Talebi M, et al. Molecular biomarkers in diabetes mellitus (DM). Med J Islam Repub Iran. 2020;34:28.
- Zhang Z, Wu S, Stenoien D, et al. High-throughput proteomics. Annu Rev Anal Chem (Palo Alto, Calif). 2014;7:427–54.
- Zhao L, Zhang Y, Liu F et al. Urinary complement proteins and risk of end-stage renal disease: quantitative urinary proteomics in patients with type 2 diabetes and biopsy-proven diabetic nephropathy. J Endocrinol Investig. 2021;44:2709–2723.
- Zürbig P, Jerums G, Hovind P, et al. Urinary proteomics for early diagnosis in diabetic nephropathy. Diabetes. 2012;61(12):3304–3313.58.



Salivary C-Reactive Protein as a Biomarker **1** and Implications for Diabetes

Vaithinathan Selvaraju, Jeganathan Ramesh Babu, and Thangiah Geetha

Contents

Introduction	331
Biomarkers of Type 2 Diabetes	331
C-Reactive Protein and Pathogenesis	333
Type 2 Diabetes and CRP	334
Human Saliva as Diagnostic Fluid for Biomarkers	334
Salivary Biomarkers in Type 2 Diabetes	335
Identification of Diabetes-Associated Serum Proteins Found in Saliva	335
Measurement of Diabetes-Related Serum Protein Markers in Saliva of Diabetic Patients	337
Correlation of the CRP Levels in Saliva and Serum	337
Diagnostic Methods of Salivary Biomarker Identification	339
Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)	339
Multiplex Analysis	340
Other Detection Methods	341
Applications to Prognosis, Other Diseases, or Conditions	341
Mini-dictionary of Terms	342
Key Facts of C-Reactive Protein	342
Summary Points	343
References	343

Abstract

C-reactive protein (CRP) is an acute-phase protein synthesized by the liver due to inflammation. Higher CRP concentration has been linked to the increased risk of developing diabetes. Saliva is a biofluid rich in more analytes, proteins, peptides, and an alternative for serum/plasma to identify disease markers. Increased salivary CRP concentration is due to the low-grade inflammation associated with

V. Selvaraju · J. R. Babu · T. Geetha (🖂)

Department of Nutrition, Dietetics, and Hospitality Management, Auburn University, Auburn, AL, USA

e-mail: vzs0041@auburn.edu; jeganrb@auburn.edu; thangge@auburn.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 17

type 2-diabetes (T2D). This chapter focuses on the extent of CRP in different pathogenic conditions, explicitly discussing the CRP relationship with diabetes. The circulating CRP is used as a biomarker to diagnose the extent of disease. The salivary and serum association of CRP shows a positive correlation, and it helps to include saliva as a noninvasive body fluid to measure the biomarkers. The salivary sample is easy to collect from children noninvasively, repetitive sample collection from the patients or participants to measure the CRP for early detection or to know the prognosis and therapy of the disease condition. The finding of risk factors over time reports salivary CRP as an essential biomarker to measure T2D screening.

Keywords

Biomarkers · Noninvasive · Saliva · Diagnostic fluid · C-reactive protein · Pathogenesis · Type 2-diabetes · Cardiovascular disease · Inflammation · Multiplex analyzer

Abbreviations

1,5-AG	1,5-anhydroglucitol
A2MG	α-2-macroglobulin
AD	Alzheimer's disease
ADA	American Diabetes Association
AMD	Age-related macular degeneration
AUC	Area under the curve
CHD	Coronary heart disease
CRP	C-reactive protein
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FDA-NIH	Food and Drug Administration-National Institutes of Health
GDF15	Growth differentiation factor 15
HbA1c	Hemoglobin A1c
HDL	High-density lipoprotein
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
IFG	Impaired fasting glucose
IGFBP-2	Insulin-like growth factor binding protein-2
IL-1RA	Interleukin receptor-1 antagonist
IL-6	Interleukin-6
MI	Myocardial infarction
NW	Normal weight
OW/OB	Overweight/obese
PD	Parkinson's disease
PE	Phycoerythrin
ROC	Receiver-operating characteristics
SLE	Systemic lupus erythematosus

T2D	Type 2-diabetes
TMB	Tetramethylbenzidine
TNF-αR2	Tumor necrosis factor-α receptor 2

Introduction

Biomarkers have been used in diagnosing clinical diseases for several decades. The definition of "biomarker" is established in 2016 by the Food and Drug Administration-National Institutes of Health (FDA-NIH)-collaborative working group. Biological markers are the element quantified in a biological system as a marker of normal biological activity, pathogenic exposure, and its effect on a therapeutic intervention (Biomarkers Definitions Working Group 2001; Califf 2018). The biomarkers are measured from the molecular contents, histological observations, radiographic methods, or physiological characteristics (Biomarkers Definitions Working Group 2001). They are classified based on their applications. Diagnostics markers are used to identify the right disease by its measurements in any samples. The second is monitoring biomarkers measured with intermittent time points on the same patient to find the status of the disease. Biomarkers play a vital role in clinical medicine to monitor the extent of disease. Pharmacodynamic/ response biomarkers are known as the biomarkers that change due to intervention or treatment or an environmental agent, and it is used in clinical patients and therapeutic process. The other biomarker that is present or shows the change in an individual or group during exposure to a medical outcome is a predictive biomarker. These markers are essential in the study design and operation of clinical trials. The prognostic biomarkers are used to measure the possibility of any clinical disease, occurrence, or progress of a medical condition. Prognostic biomarkers differ from predictive markers, which tends to find the effect of intervention in the patients. The biomarkers measured before or after an intervention or environmental exposure are known as safety biomarkers (Califf 2018; Chen et al. 2011).

Diabetes is one of the chronic metabolic diseases that the world is trying to control. Type 1 and type 2 diabetes developed due to the destruction of the pancreas by autoantibodies and through insulin resistance, respectively. It is one of the major health problems, and it is essential to provide its diagnosis and management. This chapter will discuss the salivary c-reactive protein for the diagnosis of diabetes.

Biomarkers of Type 2 Diabetes

The increase in diabetes prevalence requires more diagnostic markers to identify the disease and its extent of complications. The well-known biomarker for diabetes is glucose, insulin, and hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c). The advancement in omics technologies developed a new range of molecules, including genetic variants, RNA

transcripts, proteins, and small metabolites that act as biomarkers for diabetes and other diseases (Srinivasan et al. 2015). The clinical trials on type 2-diabetes (T2D) have shown their importance on biomarkers to determine the drug's or therapy's efficacy. Even though numerous biomarkers are available, spotting new biomarkers for T2D and its associated disease is difficult due to its heterogeneous nature. Several inflammatory, endothelial-specific biomarkers and markers originating from the microbiome have recently been identified for diabetic-related problems (Ahluwalia et al. 2019). Thorand et al. measured 47 biomarkers from nonfasting venous blood samples and selected six biomarkers in a panel which includes interleukin receptor-1 antagonist (IL-1RA), insulin-like growth factorbinding protein-2 (IGFBP-2), high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol, decorin, soluble E-selectin, and adiponectin that improves the prediction of T2D in the Monitoring of Trends and Determinants in Cardiovascular Disease/Cooperative Research in the Region of Augsburg (MONICA/KORA) (Thorand et al. 2021). Netrin-1, the anti-inflammatory protein, was significantly greater in impaired fasting glucose (IFG) and T2D serum samples than normal subjects by enzymelinked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Netrin was significantly positively correlated with fasting glucose, HbA1c, and insulin resistance index (Yim et al. 2018). Several studies have reported an increased expression of growth differentiation factor 15 (GDF15) in circulation and multiple tissues of prediabetes/T2D patients. GDF15 is an essential biomarker used for the early identification of metabolic disease (Berezin and Berezin 2020; Dominguez-Rodriguez et al. 2014; Lu et al. 2019; Shin et al. 2016).

The prospective study was conducted by Hu et al., on 32,826 normal women tested for inflammatory markers; later, 737 women developed diabetes and showed an increase in tumor necrosis factor- α receptor 2 (TNF- α R2), interleukin-6 (IL-6), and C-reactive protein (CRP) among diabetes-developed women compared to control subjects. This study reported CRP as the strong independent predictor of T2D (Hu et al. 2004). Irisin, a circulating myokine secreted by muscle, was measured on T2D patients exhibiting lowered expression by ELISA (Liu et al. 2013), and contrary to this report, the plasma levels in T2D patients showed an increased amount of plasma irisin and a positive association with E-selectin (Rana et al. 2017). A recent review compared six inflammatory markers, namely adiponectin, leptin, CRP, IL-6, TNF- α , and 1,5-anhydroglucitol (1,5-AG) in the saliva and serum. Adiponectin level was decreased in T2D, and contrarily, rest of the five proteins were increased in the T2D (Desai et al. 2020). American diabetes association (ADA) made HbA1c a diagnostic tool for prediabetes and diabetes patients in 2010. Recent evidence indicates that a specific profile of circulating miRNA that acts as an autocrine and endocrine regulator of gene expression could become an important biomarker to measure prediabetes and T2D. The circulating miRNA is derived from the cell-cell-communicating extracellular vesicle circulating in the human plasma. The miRNA used as a biomarker for T2D is linked to the development and progression of T2D, glucose metabolism, and insulin singling (He et al. 2007; Jimenez-Lucena et al. 2018; Karolina et al. 2011; Tavintharan et al. 2009).

C-Reactive Protein and Pathogenesis

C-reactive protein was first discovered in 1930 from blood samples of pneumococcal pneumonia patients and named as fraction C. CRP is secreted from the liver with response to a variety of inflammatory reactions and enters the bloodstream (Du Clos 2000; McCarty 1982). It is also synthesized in smooth muscle cells, lymphocytes, macrophages, endothelial cells, and adipocytes (Sproston and Ashworth 2018). CRP level increases during inflammatory conditions such as rheumatoid arthritis an autoimmune disease, cardiovascular disorder, and infection (Du Clos and Mold 2004; Sproston and Ashworth 2018). During acute phase inflammation, CRP level increases 25% in the plasma (Gabay and Kushner 1999; Morley and Kushner 1982) and increased up to 1000-fold in the serum with bacterial infection or tissue injury (Morley and Kushner 1982). The case-control study found the relationship between CRP, IL-6, and the autoimmune disease systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) on patients with the active and inactive disease showed a significant increase in hsCRP than in patients with the active and inactive disease control. The study suggested a good correlation of hsCRP and IL-6 with the SLE disease activity index (Umare et al. 2017). Within 24–72 h of acute tissue damage, the CRP levels drastically increase from 1 μ g/ml to more than 500 μ g/ml in the conditions like trauma and cancer (Ciubotaru et al. 2005).

The relationship between vascular disease and inflammation is well documented. A marked level of CRP has been released during endothelial dysfunction. Koenig et al. conducted the MONICA Augsburg Cohort Study on 936 healthy men with an age range from 45 to 64 years; samples collected and followed for 8 years showed a positive correlation between CRP levels and the incidence of coronary heart disease (CHD) in the study population (Koenig et al. 1999). Myocardial infarction (MI) occurs in some patients even without an increase in cholesterol levels. In this case, the inflammatory marker hs-CRP is a risk indicator for MI. Previous findings prove that CRP acts as a stronger predictor of LDL cholesterol in healthy subjects. In this scenario, CRP can behave as the screening molecule to prevent hyperlipidemia and cardiovascular disease (CVD) (Ridker 2003). Numerous studies discussed in the review show CRP, the interactive marker, has a positive association with heart attack, stroke, metabolic syndrome, cigarette smoke, depression, and family history of premature CHD (Karakas and Koenig 2009).

Further, an examination of tobacco smoke exposure on the healthy youth population reports the increased salivary CRP expression, which correlates with active and passive smoking status (Azar and Richard 2011). Age-related macular degeneration (AMD) is an important cause of visual impairment. Several clinical studies results report the association of serum CRP and visual disease related to AMD. The patients with AMD showed a positive correlation of CRP and cholesterol levels, LDL, and non-HDL. The results describe the elevated levels of CRP in AMD patients (Colak et al. 2012; Schaumberg et al. 2007; Seddon et al. 2004).

Meta-analysis of ten different cross-sectional studies did not show any significant difference in the serum CRP levels of Alzheimer's disease (AD) compared to normal control. At the same time, mild and moderate AD reported lower serum CRP levels

than the control population. The diagnostic value of CRP can be used as a biomarker for mild and moderate AD (Gong et al. 2016; Luan and Yao 2018). Moreover, CRP was increased in ischemic infarction but not in hemorrhagic stroke. There is more evidence warranted to confirm CRP and hemorrhagic stroke (Roudbary et al. 2011). The neurodegenerative disorder Parkinson's disease (PD) has elevated levels of CRP and correlated with increased risk of PD in a cross-sectional study (Sawada et al. 2015). Patients infected with the current pandemic SARS-CoV2 showed high levels of CRP in their blood. CRP increase in the early stage of infection was associated with a lung infection and the seriousness of the disease (Mosquera-Sulbaran et al. 2021).

Type 2 Diabetes and CRP

T2D is one of the most important metabolic diseases associated with high morbidity and mortality worldwide. T2D patients show an increased level of CRP, TNF- α , and IL-6, which activate insulin-signaling pathways resulting in insulin resistance (Phosat et al. 2017). HbA1c is glycated hemoglobin, a marker of diabetes positively correlated with an increased level of CRP in elderly patients (de Rekeneire et al. 2006; Gorska-Ciebiada et al. 2015). A cross-sectional study of Hisayama residents aged 40-79 years, who exhibit a progressive increase in CRP as fasting glucose levels increased, observed a positive correlation between CRP and prediabetic glucose (Doi et al. 2005). Another noninstitutionalized US adult's data from National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey participants exhibited a higher percentage of increased CRP and correlated with increased HbA1c (King et al. 2003). Svensson et al. conducted a nationwide Danish Centre for Strategic Research on the newly diagnosed T2D patients and showed increased CRP levels in 40% of the study patients. Among the 40% CRP-elevated patients, more women (46%) than men (34%) were reported (Svensson et al. 2014). A retrospective cross-sectional study conducted in large Korean population results showed higher mean CRP levels with comorbidities and associated with increased prevalence of hypertriglyceridemia, diabetes, and metabolic syndrome after adjusting for socioeconomic and lifestyle characteristics in the multivariable analysis (Jeong et al. 2019). The prospective observational cohort study was conducted on Rio de Janeiro Type 2 diabetes patients; the CRP level in baseline and follow-up contributed to the cardiovascular risk prediction in patients with T2D (Cardoso et al. 2016). A recent study on Japanese subjects with differing glycemic statuses revealed the association of CRP with prediabetes and elevated levels of HbA1c (Kato et al. 2019).

Human Saliva as Diagnostic Fluid for Biomarkers

Different biological samples or biofluids can be used for biomarker discovery. The biofluids include plasma, serum, urine, saliva, cerebrospinal liquid, tears, amniotic

335

fluid, and body tissue or cell extracts. Readily available biofluids are plasma, serum, urine, and saliva for diagnostic purposes. Saliva and urine have grasped more attention in biomarker discoveries in recent years due to simple sample collection, noninvasiveness, cost-effectiveness, and can be easily repeated if samples are required (De Bock et al. 2010). Saliva has been used as a noninvasive and comparatively stress-free diagnostic fluid against blood. It is the ultrafiltrate of plasma containing proteins from blood or secreted from the salivary gland (Yoshizawa et al. 2013). Saliva contains many materials such as antibodies, microbes, DNA, RNA, lipid, metabolites, and proteins that help diagnose human diseases like cancers, diabetes, obesity, and autoimmune disease. The T2D-salivary proteome consists of a differentially abundant protein related to pathways regulating metabolic (42%), immune response (11%), and the remaining percentage consisting of the rest of the functions helps detect potential biomarkers of T2D (Rao et al. 2009). Inflammation occurred by several disease conditions including obesity, oxidative stress, rheumatoid arthritis, and autoimmune disease. Most of the studies showed the commonly explored salivary marker is CRP and antioxidant status. Table 1 discusses the biomarkers present in saliva and its measurement during different disease conditions.

Salivary Biomarkers in Type 2 Diabetes

Identification of Diabetes-Associated Serum Proteins Found in Saliva

In T2D, 214 proteins are reported as the serum-/plasma-circulating biomarkers. Among these, 130 biomarkers are identified and measured in saliva. Glucose, insulin, cortisol, adipokines, and inflammatory biomarkers were primarily analyzed in the salivary samples of T2D patients. While screening the 130 salivary biomarkers, 62 have been identified in diabetes patients' saliva (Srinivasan et al. 2015). Ladgotra et al. showed a positive correlation of diabetes markers such as glucose and amylase in both serum- and saliva-biological fluid of diabetes patients compared to healthy subjects (Ladgotra et al. 2016). Guo et al. conducted a study with iron disorder and diabetes on 88 patients and showed that serum and unstimulated salivary ferritin and hepcidin levels increased in T2D than in control groups. Both salivary and serum ferritin and hepcidin showed a positive correlation. Salivary ferritin levels were equivalent to the body's iron concentration (Guo et al. 2018). The α -2-macroglobulin (A2MG) is one of the several diabetic markers found in serum and saliva. A2MG was measured in control, and diabetic patients' salivary sample showed an elevated level of A2MG in T2D. A positive correlation between A2MG and HbA1c was observed, and this study suggests that A2MG is an indicator of glycemic control in T2D patients (Aitken et al. 2015). The type 1 and 2 diabetes subjects' saliva samples were divided into five groups based on A1C levels. The global salivary proteomic analysis demonstrates the proteomic profile changes observed in the saliva associated with A1C levels (Bencharit et al.

Disease	Biomarker	Observation/regulation	References
Chronic periodontitis/ type 2 diabetes	Neopterin	Neopterin decreased in the study group	Fenol et al. (2017)
Type 2 diabetes	IL-6, CRP, and TNF-α	IL-6, CRP, and TNF-α higher than control participants	Agho et al. (2021)
Metabolic syndrome	Adiponectin and leptin	No difference between healthy subjects and metabolic syndrome patient	Thanakun et al. (2013)
Obesity and type 2 diabetes	CRP, nitric oxide, IL-1β, and glucose	The biomarkers did not show any significant difference compared to normal weight group	Janem et al. (2017)
Obesity	Interleukins, MCP-1, TNF-α, VEGF, MPO, MMP-9, adiponectin, resistin, and CRP	Salivary CRP, insulin, and leptin are found to be higher in obese children whereas adiponectin is decreased compared to normal weight children	Goodson et al. (2014)
Inflammatory arthritis	CRP	Increased CRP observed in arthritis condition compared to normal	Smith et al. (2018)
Myocardial infarction	Adiponectin and CRP	Increased CRP and decreased adiponectin observed in myocardial infarction patients with oral health and obesity	Ebersole et al. (2017)
Healthy participant with pain	NGF, CGRP, and BDNF	Measurable level of NGF, CGRP, and BDNF found	Jasim et al. (2018)
Metabolic syndrome with periodontitis	TNF-α and IL-10	TNF- α increased significantly in metabolic syndrome (MS) with chronic periodontitis (PD) or only MS or PD groups than control groups. IL-10 was significantly decreased in all groups compared to control participants	Chauhan et al. (2016)
Stress	CRP	African-American participated in a laboratory-based social- evaluative stressor task increased in response to the stressor task	Goetz and Lucas (2020)

Table 1 Salivary biomarkers and its observation in different disease

IL interleukin, *CRP* C-reactive protein, *TNF-a* tumor necrosis factor alpha, *MCP-1* monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, *VEGF* vascular endothelial growth factor, *MPO* myeloperoxidase protein, *MMP-9* matrix metalloproteinase-9, *MS* metabolic syndrome, *PD* periodontitis, *NGF* nerve growth factor, *CGRP* calcitonin gene-related peptide, and *BDNF* brain-derived neurotropic factor

2013). The comparative investigation of salivary and serum proteins showed elevated ghrelin, α -amylase, and glucose in diabetic compared to normoglycemic subjects (Aydin 2007; Gupta et al. 2015).

Measurement of Diabetes-Related Serum Protein Markers in Saliva of Diabetic Patients

Salivary glucose in healthy subjects and newly diagnosed T2D patients was positively associated with serum glucose and HbA1c (Gupta et al. 2015; Mealey and Rose 2008). A systemic review conducted on the salivary glucose measurement reported that glucose increased in T2D patients' saliva. It correlates with HbA1c values, suggesting that salivary glucose measurement can be used as a potential biomarker for diabetes (Mascarenhas et al. 2014). Measurement of insulin in young lean and overweight/obese participants after low and high carbohydrate postprandial showed a significant correlation with plasma and saliva insulin levels. This finding could be used to measure insulin in saliva samples as a noninvasive method (Myette-Cote et al. 2017). Fabre et al. exhibited a significant correlation of salivary and serum insulin (r = 0.92; p < 0.001) in boys and girls of children aged 6–14 years. However, the samples stored at -20 °C for 7 days decreased 29.8% salivary insulin levels in the preserved specimens (Fabre et al. 2012). Cortisol, the glucocorticoid hormone, is one of the essential salivary stress biomarkers. The study on overweight Latino youth at risk for type 2 diabetes found that cortisol levels had a negative effect on insulin sensitivity. In addition, cortisol shows a negative correlation with insulin resistance in the study participants' saliva (Adam et al. 2010). The longitudinal multiethnic atherosclerosis study shows black, Hispanic, and non-Hispanic white populations demonstrated association of salivary cortisol with plasma IL-6, IL-10, and TNF- α (DeSantis et al. 2012). Adipose tissues secret pro and anti-inflammatory factors, including adipokines, cytokines, and chemokines. These adipocytes are involved in insulin resistance, inflammation, and adipogenesis. Several studies demonstrate the salivary measurement of adipokines and their association with serum levels (Mamali et al. 2012; Thanakun et al. 2013; Yin et al. 2012). The advantage and disadvantages of saliva for measuring biomarkers are discussed in Table 2.

Correlation of the CRP Levels in Saliva and Serum

Several epidemiological studies focused on the importance of CRP in finding the risk of T2D in serum and saliva. CRP is an important biomarker of systemic inflammation, an independent risk factor for T2D and CVD (Desai et al. 2020; Laakso 2019; Pay and Shaw 2019). Childhood obesity increases the incidence of T2D in the adult population. In the cross-sectional study conducted on black South African children with a mean age of 9.41 ± 1.55 years (70 Males, 100 Females), the salivary CRP levels measured by the ELISA kit showed a significant increase in obese children 7.31 ± 0.93 pg/ml (n = 53) compared to normal weight (NW) 6.77 ± 0.92 pg/ml (n = 93). In addition, obese children showed a higher salivary CRP section rate of 7.25 ± 0.99 pg/ml than normal weight 6.68 ± 0.98 pg/ml. The further finding revealed that poor cardiorespiratory fitness was associated with increased CRP secretion rate of saliva in overweight/obese (OW/OB) children (Naidoo et al. 2012). The editorial by Goodson and Welty discussed the salivary CRP as

Advantages	Disadvantages
 Noninvasive and cost-effective compared to blood samples Sample collection is undemanding and does not require trained personnel to collect. It can be done by anyone and includes self-collection Easy to collect a repeated sample on the same subject Risk of exposure to deadly pathogens is less in saliva samples (for example, saliva contains factors that inhibit the infectivity of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), thus very low risk of oral transmission) There is no preprocessing technique required. Easy to ship and store 	 Saliva sample collection methods are not standardized The salivary flow rate may vary from sample to sample that affects the analytes present in it Less saliva samples were collected. The presence of proteases may affect some biomarker detection Some of the analytes present in the blood are significantly diminished or not reflected in saliva samples If infected with the periodontal lesion, the sample is contaminated with blood cells

 Table 2
 Advantages and disadvantages of saliva as a noninvasive diagnostic fluid for detection of biomarkers

biomarkers used to identify the children at the risk of T2D (Goodson and Welty 2014). Goodson et al. used a noninvasive method to measure the metabolic disease risk factor in children and found six times higher CRP, three times more elevated insulin, and leptin in OB children compared to NW children (Goodson et al. 2014). The Luminex magnetic multiplex measurement of seven analytes, including CRP on NW and OW/OB children, reported increased expression of salivary CRP and a positive association with anthropometric measurement. The receiver-operating characteristics (ROC) curve for CRP is the superiority area under the curve (AUC) compared to other obesity markers (Selvaraju et al. 2019).

The results of the cross-sectional study on the human salivary CRP in healthy, type 1, and type 2 diabetes adult patients showed a significant number of T2D patients with >6 mg/l CRP levels. The detection of high saliva CRP shows the low-grade inflammatory process in T2D patients (Dezayee and Al-Nimer 2016). The ELISA measurement of saliva and plasma reports that hypertension patients showed significantly elevated CRP and glucose levels compared to nonhypertensive patients. The results show 2.6% of hypertension patients are reported to have diabetes compared to nonhypertensive (Labat et al. 2013). Evaluation of salivary CRP in T2D patients with periodontitis was low in nondiabetic and increased in T2D patients (Abbas and Jubouri 2013). A recent study on the noninvasive diagnosis of salivary CRP and other inflammatory markers in 39 T2D and 36 healthy controls. CRP was higher in diabetic (0.05 \pm 0.04 µg/ml) than in healthy controls $(0.02 \pm 0.02 \text{ µg/ml})$ and was positively correlated with serum HbA1c levels (Agho et al. 2021). The diabetic patients with periodontal disease expressed elevated serum Hs-CRP and salivary IgA. The results show periodontal index is associated with poor glycemic control (Nazdar Mohammed et al. 2021). Table 3 summarizes the salivary CRP and its role in diabetes.

Type of diabetes	CRP levels	Participants	References
Type 2 diabetes	Means CRP levels increased compared to healthy controls	Healthy controls $(n = 36)$ and T2D $(n = 39)$ participants	Agho et al. (2021)
Type 2 diabetes and type 1 diabetes	CRP levels positive (6 mg/l) in 36% T1D and 56% T2D	Healthy subjects $(n = 25)$, T1D $(n = 25)$, and T2D (n = 50)	Dezayee and Al-Nimer (2016)
Type 2 diabetes	Salivary CRP decreased in obese with T2D compared to normal weight and obese children	Normal weight $(n = 37)$, obese $(n = 14)$, and T2D (n = 16) children	Janem et al. (2017)
Type 2 diabetes	CRP levels in diabetes and periodontitis increased with respect to healthy and chronic periodontitis patients	Healthy participant, chronic periodontitis, and periodontitis with diabetes grouped as 20 patients each	Dholey et al. (2017)
Type 1 diabetes	Salivary CRP and homocysteine did not show any significant difference between patients and controls	Healthy participant and T1D $(n = 41)$ in each group participated	Jazaeri et al. (2020)
Type 2 diabetes	Statistically significant CRP and a-amylase activity in diabetics than nondiabetic subjects	Control or nondiabetic $(n = 40)$ and diabetic $(n = 173)$ participated in the study	Omamuzo et al. (2021)
Type 2 diabetes	CRP levels impact the development of T2D compared to women with periodontitis	Women with gestational diabetes $(n = 90)$ were followed 3 years $(n = 49)$ for development of diabetes	Lima et al. (2017)

Table 3 Salivary CRP and its role in diabetes

T2D type 2 diabetes, T1D type 1 diabetes, and CRP C-reactive protein

Diagnostic Methods of Salivary Biomarker Identification

The proteomics analysis found more than 2000 different salivary proteins and peptides present in saliva. Saliva chemistry is used to diagnose and measure oral and systemic clinical parameters and therapy monitoring. Some of the methods used to detect salivary biomarkers and metabolites are discussed in Table 4.

Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)

ELISA detects the salivary biomarkers based on immunological analysis by a sandwich method in which the analyte is bound between capture and detection antibody. In brief, the saliva samples are centrifuged to remove the food particles and debris present in them. The antibody-coated ELISA plates were incubated with saliva samples and immobilized the analyte in the plate. Washing the plate removes the rest of the components present in saliva and incubated them with a secondary antibody with enzyme conjugate. This is followed by the incubation of the plate with the tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) substrate, the addition of the stop solution, and

Methodology	Biomarkers investigated	References
Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)	Interleukins (IL-6 and IL-8) Common salivary protein	Franco-Martínez et al. (2020) and Wang et al. (2016)
Immunosensor/biosensor for multiplexed measurement or continuous monitoring	Hormones, antibodies, and biomarker related to disease	Malon et al. (2014)
Lab-on-a-chip (LOC)	Capture and quantify multiple analytes especially soluble analytes present in saliva	Steigmann et al. (2020)
Digital PCR or qPCR	Copy number variants measurement for different disease conditions	Venkatapoorna et al. (2019) and Zhang et al. (2009)
Luminex magnetics multiplex assay by Luminex xMAP technology	Quantitative measurement of salivary obesity, cardiovascular disease, and inflammatory markers (e.g., CRP, resistin, CCL2/MCP-1, TNF- α , IL-6, complement factor-D, and IL-10)	Goodson et al. (2014) and Selvaraju et al. (2019)
Proteomic analysis by two-dimensional gel electrophoresis and LC-MS-MS	More than 2000 protein markers associated with obesity, diabetes, and other diseases	Bencharit et al. (2013), Katsani and Sakellari (2019), Masood et al. (2018), and Pappa et al. (2018)

 Table 4
 Salivary biomarkers measurement by different methodologies

ELISA enzyme-linked sorbent assay, *LOC* lab-on-a-chip, *IL* interleukins, *CRP* C-reactive protein, *TNF-* α tumor necrosis factor- α , *qPCR* quantitative polymerase chain reaction, and *LC-MS-MS* liquid chromatography with tandem mass spectrometry

measuring the absorbance using a microplate reader. Salivary ELISA was conducted to measure the T2D markers, including CRP (Azar and Richard 2011; Guo et al. 2018; Labat et al. 2013; Yoshizawa et al. 2013).

Multiplex Analysis

Multiplex immunoassay/multiplex magnetic assay is used to measure the biomarkers present in the saliva samples of different diseases, including T2D (Fig. 1). Centrifuged saliva was incubated with a microparticle cocktail containing different biomarker capture antibodies coated with unique infrared dye-magnetic beads. The biomarkers bind to the specific capture antibodies, incubated with biotinylated detection antibodies specific to biomarkers of interest. It forms an antigen-antibody complex incubated with phycoerythrin (PE)-conjugated streptavidin. The beads are washed and detected using a multiplex analyzer that contains dual-laser flow-based instruments. One laser detects the beads, and the second laser detects analytes-conjugated PE-derived signal and quantified based on standard curve analyzed



Fig. 1 The figure shows the diagrammatic representation of salivary analyte analysis by Multiplex analyzer. Luminex xMAP technology is used to measure a greater number of analytes in a smaller volume of samples. The two laser beams help to detect the bead used and the analytes measured

simultaneously. Several studies have used multiplex analysis to measure the salivary biomarkers (Arellano-Garcia et al. 2008; Selvaraju et al. 2019; Williamson et al. 2012).

Other Detection Methods

- **Biosensor and chip analysis:** The development of lab-on-a-chip is an electronic taste chip method. The wearable biosensor array platforms develop chemical and immunological reactions that capture single analytes in saliva and transfer the data (Christodoulides et al. 2005; Steigmann et al. 2020).
- Lab on paper: Existing diagnostic methods required sophisticated laboratory instruments and expensive reagents. Hence, cellulose and flexible transparency paper-based analytical devices detect salivary biomarkers and provide promising disease diagnosis and prevention solutions (de Castro et al. 2019; Sher et al. 2017).
- Nanoproteomics: Detection of low abundance biomarkers from saliva is difficult, and it needs high-throughput technological advancement. Nanotechnology provides sensitivity and reduces detection time, and multiplexing novel methods. Nanoproteomics presents significantly less volume detection, less assay time with low sample consumption for biomarker detection (Ray et al. 2011).

Applications to Prognosis, Other Diseases, or Conditions

CRP an inflammatory marker has more application in clinical as a predictive marker of numerous diseases in recent years. CRP levels are upregulated in inflammatory disease, cardiovascular disease, rheumatic disease, diabetes, etc. and are used as an important biomarker for predicting the disease. Results from serum/plasma CRP of patients are positively correlated with salivary CRP in a disease condition (Srinivasan et al. 2015). It is helpful to measure CRP in saliva to know the severity of diabetes and develop a reliable noninvasive biomarker. Salivary biomarkers are associated with several diseases such as pneumonia (Omran et al. 2018), systemic lupus erythematosus (Stanescu et al. 2018), asthma (Takemura et al. 2006), obesity markers (Selvaraju et al. 2019), cardiovascular disease (Ridker 2003), and diabetes (Phosat et al. 2017). New methods are developed to report the salivary CRP levels and their application to clinical studies.

Mini-dictionary of Terms

- Biomarkers: Biomarkers refer to body fluids that contain biological markers related to protein, protein fragments, metabolites, genomic materials, and cellular materials used to identify an earlier diagnosis of disease or progress of therapy.
- Saliva: Saliva is a hypotonic solution secreted from the salivary gland, and it is one of the essential body fluids for measuring biomarkers. Saliva constitutes glucose, nitrogen materials, lipid profile, proteins, hormones, amylase, enzymes, sodium, calcium, chloride, bicarbonate, and magnesium from serum. In addition, saliva contains more than 700 microorganisms.
- **C-reactive protein:** CRP is a pentameric protein secreted by the liver and has proinflammatory and inflammatory properties. Minor elevation of CRP is found in diabetes, moderate elevation in systemic inflammation and myocardial infarction, and marked and severe election in acute bacterial and viral infections.
- **Diabetes:** Diabetes shows increased blood glucose levels and is classified into two types. Type 1 diabetes does not synthesize insulin, and T2D is not utilizing or synthesizing insulin well in the body, thereby increasing blood glucose levels.
- **Noninvasive:** Noninvasive is one of the methods used to collect biological samples for diagnostic purposes. It does not require special equipment to collect biological materials.

Key Facts of C-Reactive Protein

- Diabetes is an essential metabolic disease that the world faces and is trying to control.
- Diabetes prevalence needs different diagnostic methods to find the markers to know the disease extent and early prevention.
- Saliva is one of the important body fluids which contains most of the serum contents and other biomarkers for diagnosis of disease.
- C-reactive protein synthesized from the liver during inflammatory or other disease conditions, and it is a circulating marker present in serum, saliva, and urine.
- Development of noninvasive methods gains more attention for early detection and repetitive sample collection from patients.

Summary Points

- The increasing number of diabetes patients need more new and efficiently measurable diagnostic markers to identify the disease.
- Few studies have reported that increased concentration of CRP is linked with future diabetes.
- The chapter discusses the different methodological descriptions used to measure salivary CRP.
- The salivary and serum positive correlation makes salivary CRP a noninvasive biomarker for identifying diabetes.
- Salivary CRPs are useful for repetitive sample collection on the same patient to know the prognosis and extent of therapy given to the patient.

References

- Abbas AA, Jubouri RHA. Evaluation of salivary levels of proteinaceous biomarkers matrix metalloproteinase (MMP-8) and C-reactive protein (CRP) in type 2 diabetic patients with periodontitis. J Baghdad Coll Dent. 2013;25:63–9.
- Adam TC, Hasson RE, Ventura EE, et al. Cortisol is negatively associated with insulin sensitivity in overweight Latino youth. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2010;95:4729–35.
- Agho ET, Owotade FJ, Kolawole BA, et al. Salivary inflammatory biomarkers and glycated haemoglobin among patients with type 2 diabetic mellitus. BMC Oral Health. 2021;21:101.
- Ahluwalia TS, Kilpelainen TO, Singh S, et al. Editorial: novel biomarkers for type 2 diabetes. Front Endocrinol. 2019;10:649.
- Aitken JP, Ortiz C, Morales-Bozo I, et al. Alpha-2-macroglobulin in saliva is associated with glycemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Dis Markers. 2015;2015:128653.
- Arellano-Garcia ME, Hu S, Wang J, et al. Multiplexed immunobead-based assay for detection of oral cancer protein biomarkers in saliva. Oral Dis. 2008;14:705–12.
- Aydin S. A comparison of ghrelin, glucose, alpha-amylase and protein levels in saliva from diabetics. J Biochem Mol Biol. 2007;40:29–35.
- Azar R, Richard A. Elevated salivary C-reactive protein levels are associated with active and passive smoking in healthy youth: a pilot study. J Inflamm. 2011;8:37.
- Bencharit S, Baxter SS, Carlson J, et al. Salivary proteins associated with hyperglycemia in diabetes: a proteomic analysis. Mol BioSyst. 2013;9:2785–97.
- Berezin AE, Berezin AA. Circulating cardiac biomarkers in diabetes mellitus: a new dawn for risk stratification a narrative review. Diabetes Ther. 2020;11:1271–91.
- Biomarkers Definitions Working Group. Biomarkers and surrogate endpoints: preferred definitions and conceptual framework. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2001;69:89–95.
- Califf RM. Biomarker definitions and their applications. Exp Biol Med. 2018;243:213–21.
- Cardoso CR, Leite NC, Salles GF. Prognostic importance of C-reactive protein in high cardiovascular risk patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: the Rio de Janeiro Type 2 Diabetes Cohort Study. J Am Heart Assoc. 2016;5:e004554.
- Chauhan A, Yadav SS, Dwivedi P, et al. Correlation of serum and salivary cytokines level with clinical parameters in metabolic syndrome with periodontitis. J Clin Lab Anal. 2016;30:649–55.
- Chen XH, Huang S, Kerr D. Biomarkers in clinical medicine. IARC Sci Publ. 2011;2011:303-22.
- Christodoulides N, Mohanty S, Miller CS, et al. Application of microchip assay system for the measurement of C-reactive protein in human saliva. Lab Chip. 2005;5:261–9.
- Ciubotaru I, Potempa LA, Wander RC. Production of modified C-reactive protein in U937-derived macrophages. Exp Biol Med. 2005;230:762–70.

- Colak E, Majkic-Singh N, Zoric L, et al. The role of CRP and inflammation in the pathogenesis of age-related macular degeneration. Biochem Med. 2012;22:39–48.
- De Bock M, de Seny D, Meuwis MA, et al. Challenges for biomarker discovery in body fluids using SELDI-TOF-MS. J Biomed Biotechnol. 2010;2010:906082.
- de Castro LF, de Freitas SV, Duarte LC, et al. Salivary diagnostics on paper microfluidic devices and their use as wearable sensors for glucose monitoring. Anal Bioanal Chem. 2019;411: 4919–28.
- de Rekeneire N, Peila R, Ding J, et al. Diabetes, hyperglycemia, and inflammation in older individuals: the health, aging and body composition study. Diabetes Care. 2006;29:1902–8.
- Desai P, Donovan L, Janowitz E, et al. The clinical utility of salivary biomarkers in the identification of type 2 diabetes risk and metabolic syndrome. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes. 2020;13:3587–99.
- DeSantis AS, DiezRoux AV, Hajat A, et al. Associations of salivary cortisol levels with inflammatory markers: the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2012;37: 1009–18.
- Dezayee ZM, Al-Nimer MS. Saliva C-reactive protein as a biomarker of metabolic syndrome in diabetic patients. Indian J Dent Res. 2016;27:388–91.
- Dholey M, Kole D, Rambabu D, et al. Comparative estimation of salivary and serum C-reactive protein levels in chronic periodontitis with or without type II diabetes mellitus: a clinicobiochemical study. SRM J Res Dent Sci. 2017;8:99–104.
- Doi Y, Kiyohara Y, Kubo M, et al. Relationship between C-reactive protein and glucose levels in community-dwelling subjects without diabetes: the Hisayama Study. Diabetes Care. 2005;28: 1211–3.
- Dominguez-Rodriguez A, Abreu-Gonzalez P, Avanzas P. Usefulness of growth differentiation factor-15 levels to predict diabetic cardiomyopathy in asymptomatic patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Am J Cardiol. 2014;114:890–4.
- Du Clos TW. Function of C-reactive protein. Ann Med. 2000;32:274-8.
- Du Clos TW, Mold C. C-reactive protein: an activator of innate immunity and a modulator of adaptive immunity. Immunol Res. 2004;30:261–77.
- Ebersole JL, Kryscio RJ, Campbell C, et al. Salivary and serum adiponectin and C-reactive protein levels in acute myocardial infarction related to body mass index and oral health. J Periodontal Res. 2017;52:419–27.
- Fabre B, Maccallini G, Oneto A, et al. Measurement of fasting salivary insulin and its relationship with serum insulin in children. Endocr Connect. 2012;1:58–61.
- Fenol A, Swetha VR, Krishnan S, et al. Correlation of salivary neopterin and plasma fibrinogen levels in patients with chronic periodontitis and/or type 2 diabetes mellitus. Pteridines. 2017;28: 177–83.
- Franco-Martínez L, Rubio CP, Contreras-Aguilar MD. Methodology assays for the salivary biomarkers' identification and measurement. In: Tvarijonaviciute A, Martínez-Subiela S, López-Jornet P, et al., editors. Saliva in health and disease: the present and future of a unique sample for diagnosis. Cham: Springer; 2020. p. 67–95.
- Gabay C, Kushner I. Acute-phase proteins and other systemic responses to inflammation. N Engl J Med. 1999;340:448–54.
- Goetz SM, Lucas T. C-reactive protein in saliva and dried blood spot as markers of stress reactivity in healthy African-Americans. Biomark Med. 2020;14:371–80.
- Gong C, Wei D, Wang Y, et al. A meta-analysis of C-reactive protein in patients with Alzheimer's disease. Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Dement. 2016;31:194–200.
- Goodson JM, Welty FK. Using salivary biomarkers to identify children at risk of type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Manag. 2014;4:463–5.
- Goodson JM, Kantarci A, Hartman ML, et al. Metabolic disease risk in children by salivary biomarker analysis. PLoS One. 2014;9:e98799.
- Gorska-Ciebiada M, Saryusz-Wolska M, Borkowska A, et al. C-reactive protein, advanced glycation end products, and their receptor in type 2 diabetic, elderly patients with mild cognitive impairment. Front Aging Neurosci. 2015;7:209.

- Guo LN, Yang YZ, Feng YZ. Serum and salivary ferritin and Hepcidin levels in patients with chronic periodontitis and type 2 diabetes mellitus. BMC Oral Health. 2018;18:63.
- Gupta S, Sandhu SV, Bansal H, et al. Comparison of salivary and serum glucose levels in diabetic patients. J Diabetes Sci Technol. 2015;9:91–6.
- He A, Zhu L, Gupta N, et al. Overexpression of micro ribonucleic acid 29, highly up-regulated in diabetic rats, leads to insulin resistance in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Mol Endocrinol. 2007;21:2785– 94.
- Hu FB, Meigs JB, Li TY, et al. Inflammatory markers and risk of developing type 2 diabetes in women. Diabetes. 2004;53:693–700.
- Janem WF, Scannapieco FA, Sabharwal A, et al. Salivary inflammatory markers and microbiome in normoglycemic lean and obese children compared to obese children with type 2 diabetes. PLoS One. 2017;12:e0172647.
- Jasim H, Carlsson A, Hedenberg-Magnusson B, et al. Saliva as a medium to detect and measure biomarkers related to pain. Sci Rep. 2018;8:3220.
- Jazaeri M, Abdolsamadi H, Foroozandeh M, et al. Comparison of the salivary levels of homocysteine and C-reactive protein in type 1 diabetic patients and healthy individuals. Avicenna J Dent Res. 2020;12:126–30.
- Jeong H, Baek SY, Kim SW, et al. C reactive protein level as a marker for dyslipidaemia, diabetes and metabolic syndrome: results from the Korea National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. BMJ Open. 2019;9:e029861.
- Jimenez-Lucena R, Rangel-Zuniga OA, Alcala-Diaz JF, et al. Circulating miRNAs as predictive biomarkers of type 2 diabetes mellitus development in coronary heart disease patients from the CORDIOPREV Study. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids. 2018;12:146–57.
- Karakas M, Koenig W. CRP in cardiovascular disease. Herz. 2009;34:607-13.
- Karolina DS, Armugam A, Tavintharan S, et al. MicroRNA 144 impairs insulin signaling by inhibiting the expression of insulin receptor substrate 1 in type 2 diabetes mellitus. PLoS One. 2011;6:e22839.
- Kato K, Otsuka T, Saiki Y, et al. Association between elevated C-reactive protein levels and prediabetes in adults, particularly impaired glucose tolerance. Can J Diabetes. 2019;43:40–45.e42.
- Katsani KR, Sakellari D. Saliva proteomics updates in biomedicine. J Biol Res. 2019;26:17.
- King DE, Mainous AG 3rd, Buchanan TA, et al. C-reactive protein and glycemic control in adults with diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2003;26:1535–9.
- Koenig W, Sund M, Frohlich M, et al. C-reactive protein, a sensitive marker of inflammation, predicts future risk of coronary heart disease in initially healthy middle-aged men: results from the MONICA (Monitoring Trends and Determinants in Cardiovascular Disease) Augsburg Cohort Study, 1984 to 1992. Circulation. 1999;99:237–42.
- Laakso M. Biomarkers for type 2 diabetes. Mol Metab. 2019;27S:S139-46.
- Labat C, Temmar M, Nagy E, et al. Inflammatory mediators in saliva associated with arterial stiffness and subclinical atherosclerosis. J Hypertens. 2013;31:2251–8. Discussion 2258
- Ladgotra A, Verma P, Raj SS. Estimation of salivary and serum biomarkers in diabetic and non diabetic patients a comparative study. J Clin Diagn Res. 2016;10:ZC56–61.
- Lima RPE, Cota LOM, Silva TA, et al. Periodontitis and type 2 diabetes among women with previous gestational diabetes: epidemiological and immunological aspects in a follow-up of three years. J Appl Oral Sci. 2017;25:130–9.
- Liu JJ, Wong MD, Toy WC, et al. Lower circulating irisin is associated with type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Diabetes Complicat. 2013;27:365–9.
- Lu J, Zhang Y, Dong X, et al. Association between MIC-1 and type 2 diabetes: a combined analysis. Dis Markers. 2019;2019:7284691.
- Luan YY, Yao YM. The clinical significance and potential role of C-reactive protein in chronic inflammatory and neurodegenerative diseases. Front Immunol. 2018;9:1302.
- Malon RS, Sadir S, Balakrishnan M, et al. Saliva-based biosensors: noninvasive monitoring tool for clinical diagnostics. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014:962903.
- Mamali I, Roupas ND, Armeni AK, et al. Measurement of salivary resistin, visfatin and adiponectin levels. Peptides. 2012;33:120–4.
- Mascarenhas P, Fatela B, Barahona I. Effect of diabetes mellitus type 2 on salivary glucose a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. PLoS One. 2014;9:e101706.
- Masood A, Benabdelkamel H, Alfadda AA. Obesity proteomics: an update on the strategies and tools employed in the study of human obesity. High Throughput. 2018;7:27.
- McCarty M. Historical perspective on C-reactive protein. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1982;389:1-10.
- Mealey BL, Rose LF. Diabetes mellitus and inflammatory periodontal diseases. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes. 2008;15:135–41.
- Morley JJ, Kushner I. Serum C-reactive protein levels in disease. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1982;389: 406–18.
- Mosquera-Sulbaran JA, Pedreanez A, Carrero Y, et al. C-reactive protein as an effector molecule in Covid-19 pathogenesis. Rev Med Virol. 2021;31:e2221.
- Myette-Cote E, Baba K, Brar R, et al. Detection of salivary insulin following low versus high carbohydrate meals in humans. Nutrients. 2017;9:1204.
- Naidoo T, Konkol K, Biccard B, et al. Elevated salivary C-reactive protein predicted by low cardiorespiratory fitness and being overweight in African children. Cardiovasc J Afr. 2012;23:501–6.
- Nazdar Mohammed O, Qasim HA, Raed SA-N. Values of serum C-reactive protein and salivary immunoglobulin IgA in diabetic patients: relation to the severity of periodontal disease. Duhok Med J. 2021;14:40–50.
- Omamuzo OL, Aziakpono OM, Ikechukwu OD, et al. Comparative evaluation of saliva and serum proteins in diabetics and normo-glycemics. Eur J Clin Med. 2021;2:7–12.
- Omran A, Ali M, Saleh MH, et al. Salivary C-reactive protein and mean platelet volume in diagnosis of late-onset neonatal pneumonia. Clin Respir J. 2018;12:1644–50.
- Pappa E, Vastardis H, Mermelekas G, et al. Saliva proteomics analysis offers insights on type 1 diabetes pathology in a pediatric population. Front Physiol. 2018;9:444.
- Pay JB, Shaw AM. Towards salivary C-reactive protein as a viable biomarker of systemic inflammation. Clin Biochem. 2019;68:1–8.
- Phosat C, Panprathip P, Chumpathat N, et al. Elevated C-reactive protein, interleukin 6, tumor necrosis factor alpha and glycemic load associated with type 2 diabetes mellitus in rural Thais: a cross-sectional study. BMC Endocr Disord. 2017;17:44.
- Rana KS, Pararasa C, Afzal I, et al. Plasma irisin is elevated in type 2 diabetes and is associated with increased E-selectin levels. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2017;16:147.
- Rao PV, Reddy AP, Lu X, et al. Proteomic identification of salivary biomarkers of type-2 diabetes. J Proteome Res. 2009;8:239–45.
- Ray S, Reddy PJ, Choudhary S, et al. Emerging nanoproteomics approaches for disease biomarker detection: a current perspective. J Proteomics. 2011;74:2660–81.
- Ridker PM. High-sensitivity C-reactive protein and cardiovascular risk: rationale for screening and primary prevention. Am J Cardiol. 2003;92:17K–22K.
- Roudbary SA, Saadat F, Forghanparast K, et al. Serum C-reactive protein level as a biomarker for differentiation of ischemic from hemorrhagic stroke. Acta Med Iran. 2011;49:149–52.
- Sawada H, Oeda T, Umemura A, et al. Baseline C-reactive protein levels and life prognosis in Parkinson disease. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0134118.
- Schaumberg DA, Christen WG, Buring JE, et al. High-sensitivity C-reactive protein, other markers of inflammation, and the incidence of macular degeneration in women. Arch Ophthalmol. 2007;125:300–5.
- Seddon JM, Gensler G, Milton RC, et al. Association between C-reactive protein and age-related macular degeneration. JAMA. 2004;291:704–10.
- Selvaraju V, Babu JR, Geetha T. Association of salivary C-reactive protein with the obesity measures and markers in children. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes. 2019;12:1239–47.
- Sher M, Zhuang R, Demirci U, et al. Paper-based analytical devices for clinical diagnosis: recent advances in the fabrication techniques and sensing mechanisms. Expert Rev Mol Diagn. 2017;17:351–66.

- Shin MY, Kim JM, Kang YE, et al. Association between growth differentiation factor 15 (GDF15) and cardiovascular risk in patients with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Korean Med Sci. 2016;31:1413–8.
- Smith M, Sharma P, Dahiya S. The validation of salivary C-reactive protein as a marker of inflammation in humans. Rheumatology. 2018;57:479.
- Sproston NR, Ashworth JJ. Role of C-reactive protein at sites of inflammation and infection. Front Immunol. 2018;9:754.
- Srinivasan M, Blackburn C, Mohamed M, et al. Literature-based discovery of salivary biomarkers for type 2 diabetes mellitus. Biomark Insights. 2015;10:39–45.
- Stanescu II, Calenic B, Dima A, et al. Salivary biomarkers of inflammation in systemic lupus erythematosus. Ann Anat. 2018;219:89–93.
- Steigmann L, Maekawa S, Sima C, et al. Biosensor and lab-on-a-chip biomarker-identifying technologies for oral and periodontal diseases. Front Pharmacol. 2020;11:588480.
- Svensson E, Mor A, Rungby J, et al. Lifestyle and clinical factors associated with elevated C-reactive protein among newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes mellitus patients: a cross-sectional study from the nationwide DD2 cohort. BMC Endocr Disord. 2014;14:74.
- Takemura M, Matsumoto H, Niimi A, et al. High sensitivity C-reactive protein in asthma. Eur Respir J. 2006;27:908–12.
- Tavintharan S, Chi LS, Fang SC, et al. Riboregulators and metabolic disorders: getting closer towards understanding the pathogenesis of diabetes mellitus? Curr Mol Med. 2009;9:281–6.
- Thanakun S, Watanabe H, Thaweboon S, et al. An effective technique for the processing of saliva for the analysis of leptin and adiponectin. Peptides. 2013;47:60–5.
- Thorand B, Zierer A, Buyukozkan M, et al. A panel of 6 biomarkers significantly improves the prediction of type 2 diabetes in the MONICA/KORA study population. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2021;106:e1647–59.
- Umare V, Nadkarni A, Nadkar M, et al. Do high sensitivity C-reactive protein and serum interleukin-6 levels correlate with disease activity in systemic lupus erythematosus patients? J Postgrad Med. 2017;63:92–5.
- Venkatapoorna CMK, Ayine P, Parra EP, et al. Association of salivary amylase (AMY1) gene copy number with obesity in Alabama elementary school children. Nutrients. 2019;11:1379.
- Wang H, Heo SM, Jin HY, et al. Common salivary protein 1 in serum of diabetes patients. J Clin Lab Anal. 2016;30:961–7.
- Williamson S, Munro C, Pickler R, et al. Comparison of biomarkers in blood and saliva in healthy adults. Nurs Res Pract. 2012;2012:246178.
- Yim J, Kim G, Lee BW, et al. Relationship between circulating netrin-1 concentration, impaired fasting glucose, and newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes. Front Endocrinol. 2018;9:691.
- Yin J, Gao H, Yang J, et al. Measurement of salivary resistin level in patients with type 2 diabetes. Int J Endocrinol. 2012;2012:359724.
- Yoshizawa JM, Schafer CA, Schafer JJ, et al. Salivary biomarkers: toward future clinical and diagnostic utilities. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2013;26:781–91.
- Zhang F, Gu W, Hurles ME, et al. Copy number variation in human health, disease, and evolution. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet. 2009;10:451–81.



Assessing Insulin Sensitivity in People with Type 1 Diabetes Without Euglycemic-Hyperinsulinemic Clamps

Andrzej S. Januszewski and Alicia J. Jenkins

Contents

Introduction	351
Euglycemic-Hyperinsulinemic Clamp	352
Estimation of Insulin Sensitivity	353
Estimation of GDR in Type 1 Diabetes	357
Application to Prognosis and Other Diseases or Conditions	363
Mini-Dictionary of Terms	364
Key Facts	368
Summary Points	368
References	368

Abstract

The euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp is the "gold standard" in assessing insulin sensitivity. Due to high demands on the subject, need for experienced and skilled operators, and high costs, it remains predominantly a research tool. Multiple mathematical formulae have been developed to estimate insulin sensitivity using various biomarkers. Most variables used reflect body habitus, blood pressure, HbA1c, and lipids. Although most show relatively good correlation with insulin sensitivity measures from the euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp

A. S. Januszewski (🖂)

A. J. Jenkins

The original version of this chapter was revised. The correction this chapter can be found at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2_70

NHMRC Clinical Trials Centre, The University of Sydney, Camperdown, NSW, Australia

Department of Medicine, University of Melbourne, Fitzroy, VIC, Australia e-mail: Andrzej.Januszewski@sydney.edu.au

Department of Medicine, University of Melbourne, Fitzroy, VIC, Australia e-mail: Alicia.Jenkins@sydney.edu.au

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023, corrected publication 2023 V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 18

series they are derived from, relatively few are validated using independent clamp datasets. Associations with other factors, which are usually mechanistically related to insulin resistance, such as inflammation and adiposity (reflected by adipokine levels) are also of interest, as these as well as clinical markers may suggest therapeutic targets.

Keywords

Estimation \cdot Glucose disposal rate \cdot Insulin sensitivity \cdot Equation

Abbreviati	ions	
BMI	Body mass index	
DBP	Diastolic blood pressure	
dur	Duration	
e	Estimated	
ffm	Free fat mass	
FL	Fluorescence	
G	Glucose concentration	
GDR	Glucose disposal rate	
GFR	Glomerular filtration rate	
HbA1	Glycated hemoglobin	
HbA1c	Glycated hemoglobin	
HDL-C	High-density lipoprotein cholesterol	
HOMA	Homeostatic model assessment	
HT	Hypertension	
Ι	Insulin concentration	
ICAM	Intercellular cell adhesion molecule 1	
IS	Insulin sensitivity	
ISI	Insulin sensitivity index	
ln	Natural logarithm	
М	Metabolized glucose	
MCR	Metabolic clearance rate	
mМ	mmol/L	
OGTT	Oral glucose tolerance test	
PP	Pulse pressure	
QUICKI	Quantitative insulin sensitivity check index	
RAGE	Receptor for advanced glycation end produc	ts
Si	Sensitivity index	
T1D	Type 1 diabetes	
TDD	Total daily dose of insulin	
TG	Triglycerides	
VAI	Visceral adiposity index	
WC	Waist circumference	
WH	Waist-to-height ratio	
WHR	Waist-to-hip ratio	

Introduction

While the incidence of type 1 diabetes varies widely by ethnicity, its prevalence is increasing in most countries, and this condition is associated with potential for acute and chronic complications (International Diabetes Federation 2021). As the risk of complications (hypoglycemia, micro- and macrovascular complications, and premature death) is increased by poor glycemic control and insulin resistance and costs dearly at both personal and socioeconomic levels, there is a growing interest in the assessment and treatment of low insulin sensitivity in people with type 1 diabetes (Szadkowska et al. 2008; Kilpatrick et al. 2007). The terms "insulin sensitivity" and its converse of "insulin resistance" are often used interchangeably. Even though insulin resistance is predominantly recognized in people with type 2 diabetes or pre-diabetes, there is also a wide spectrum of insulin sensitivity in people with type 1 diabetes (Szadkowska et al. 2008). As well as genetic factors, there are many other contributors to insulin resistance, including family history of type 2 diabetes; adiposity; sedentary lifestyle; growth spurts, including puberty; dysglycemia; dyslipidemia; inflammation; hyperinsulinism secondary to artificial delivery of insulin into the systemic circulation bypassing first-pass hepatic insulin clearance (Gregory et al. 2020); intercurrent illness; stress; and some drugs. This impaired response to exogenous insulin is common in in patients with type 1 diabetes and is sometimes called "double diabetes" (Teupe and Bergis 1991). Insulin sensitivity and action involves complex interplays between hepatic, peripheral, and adipose tissue metabolism and glucose utilization (Donga et al. 2015).

The euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp (or hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp) developed by DeFronzo in the late 1970s remains a "gold standard" for the assessment of insulin sensitivity in humans (Defronzo et al. 1979). A crucial aspect for the success of the clamp-derived measurements is the maintenance of steady-state conditions, defined as a period of at least 30 min, during which the coefficients of variation (standard deviation divided by mean) for blood glucose, plasma insulin, and glucose infusion rate are less than 5% (Katz et al. 2000; Singal et al. 2010). Limitations of the clamp technique are labor-intensiveness, cost, and need for experienced staff and specialized equipment; thus, clamp studies remain predominantly a research tool. The classic clamp studies quantify whole-body insulin resistance (Donga et al. 2015), but more recent research techniques, including isotope dilution (Dabelea et al. 2011; Zhang et al. 2018), enable the measurement of insulin sensitivity in the liver, skeletal muscle, and adipose tissue (Snaith et al. 2021). To facilitate the assessment of insulin sensitivity/resistance in clinical research and potentially in clinical practice, relatively simple formulae mainly based on clinically available data have been developed.

We will now overview the euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp principles and outputs and summarize existent formulae for estimating insulin resistance in clinical research and clinical practice. As well as formulae developed for use in type 1 diabetes, for completeness, we will also include formulae developed from type 2 diabetic and non-diabetic subjects.

Euglycemic-Hyperinsulinemic Clamp

The goal of the euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp is to increase circulating insulin concentration (to approx. $100 \mu U/mL$) by a continuous intravenous infusion of shortor rapid-acting human insulin and to maintain it at that level, usually for 120-180 mins. To avoid hypoglycemia, the plasma glucose concentration is maintained at euglycemic level through 20% dextrose infusion at variable rate using a negative feedback principle (Defronzo et al. 1979). The rate of dextrose infusion is guided by frequent (every 5–10 min) bedside measures of glucose and calculation of the require insulin infusion rate. At the plasma glucose steady state, the amount of infused glucose is equal to the amount of glucose uptake by the body (insulin sensitivity). The steady state is usually maintained for at least 30 min., but it is not unusual to keep it for 90 min. Maintaining euglycemia and hyperinsulinemia prevents endogenous glucose production.

The following parameters can be derived from the clamp:

- M glucose metabolized. Once euglycemia is maintained (steady state), the amount of infused glucose (to maintain euglycemia during the clamp) is equal to the amount of glucose being metabolized in the periphery (Defronzo et al. 1979).
- I insulin concentration. This reflects the amount of infused insulin required to maintain hyperinsulinemia and allowing to reach euglycemic steady state (Defronzo et al. 1979). It is usually measured during the last 30 or 60 min of a 2-h clamp.
- *M/I ratio* a measure of the amount of glucose metabolized per unit of plasma insulin concentration. For convenience of data expression, M/I can be presented either as a result of multiplying "raw" M/I by 100 or by taking log 10 value of it.
- *GDR* glucose disposal rate (mg/kg body weight/min) which is calculated using the formula:

$$GDR = \text{Glucose infusion rate} * 180 * \text{weight} - (G_{T1} - G_{T0}) * 0.095$$
(1)

In this formula, the glucose infusion rate is expressed in mM/kg/min, G is plasma glucose concentration (mM), T0 and T1 are arbitrary set intervals, 180 is a factor to convert glucose levels from mM to mg/dL, and weight is measured in kg. This measured GDR is a result of normalization of the *M* parameter to the subject's body weight (Patarrão et al. 2014).

MCR – metabolic clearance rate of glucose. Calculated by dividing glucose infusion rate by the increase in plasma glucose concentration above basal (Defronzo et al. 1979; Best et al. 1981). This parameter though is of very limited use, especially in clamps in people with type 1 diabetes (Best et al. 1981; Tajiri et al. 2011). MCR can also be calculated for insulin, using the same principles (Ahmad et al. 1994).

$$MCR_{Glucose} = \frac{Glucose \text{ infusion rate}}{Glucose \text{ concentration at steady} - \text{state}}$$
(2)

Estimation of Insulin Sensitivity

There are several clinical tools existing to estimate insulin sensitivity (Gutch et al. 2015; Patarrão et al. 2014; Soonthornpun et al. 2003). Not all are ideal for people with type 1 diabetes but will be presented here for completeness.

For example, the homeostatic model assessment (*HOMA*), a method for assessing insulin resistance from measurement of glucose and insulin (or C-peptide concentrations), is more suitable for people without diabetes or with pre-diabetes or type 2 diabetes, ideally not requiring exogenous insulin. First described in 1985, its appeal arises from the need for only a single blood sample to be assayed for insulin (or C-peptide) and glucose (Wallace et al. 2004). A HOMA Score can be calculated both for the beta cell (HOMA-Beta) and for insulin resistance (HOMA-IR). The main issue with using HOMA in type 1 diabetes is that it requires sample to be collected at steady-state glucose and insulin levels (i.e., ideally during a clamp), thus failing to provide an information about the results of insulin/glucose stimulation.

$$HOMA = \frac{\text{Fasting insulin} * \text{Fasting glucose}}{22.5} \tag{3}$$

Similar principle (and disadvantage) is applicable to quantitative insulin sensitivity check index (*QUICKI*) (Katz et al. 2000).

$$QUICKI = \frac{1}{\ln \text{Fasting insulin} + \ln \text{Fasting glucose}}$$
(4)

where insulin is measured in μ IU/mL and glucose in mM (HOMA) or mg/dL (QUICKI).

Multiple insulin sensitivity indexes have been developed over recent years. They are mostly applicable in type 2 diabetes as a common feature is that they need for blood sample(s) to be collected during an oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT). OGTT is not necessary in the diagnosis of type 1 diabetes, and its value is being diminished in the past 20 years, even for type 2 diagnosis (Davidson 2002). However, OGTT can be used to exclude the diagnosis of diabetes when hyperglycemia or glycosuria is recognized in the absence of typical causes (e.g., intercurrent illness, steroid therapy) or when the patient's condition includes renal glucosuria (Lamb 2021). Insulin sensitivity indexes derived from OGTT metrics are:

Cederholm and Wibell index (Cederholm and Wibell 1990):

$$ISI_{Cederholm} = \frac{75,000 + (G_0 - G_{120}) * 1.15 * 180 * 0.19 * weight}{120 * G_{mean} * \ln I_{mean}}$$
(5)

where 75,000 represents glucose load (mg) in OGTT and G is the plasma glucose concentration (mM) (0, fasting; 120, 2 h of OGTT; mean, average during OGTT); 1.15, factor transforming venous blood glucose to plasma values (only applicable if

glucose is not measured in plasma); 180, factor to convert glucose concentration from mM to mg/dL; 0.19, glucose space in liter per kg of body weight (measured in kg); and I, plasma insulin concentration.

- Gutt et al. index (Gutt et al. 2000), which is an adaptation of the above by omitting the constant terms and using the plasma glucose and insulin concentration from fasting (0 min) and 120 min samples from the OGTT:

$$ISI_{0,120} = \frac{75,000 + (G_0 - G_{120}) * 0.19 * \text{weight}}{120 * G_{\text{mean}} * \ln I_{\text{mean}}}$$
(6)

where glucose is measured in mg/dL and weight in kg.

Avignon et al. index (Avignon et al. 1999). Those are three indexes derived from fasting state (i.e., before OGTT, 2 h of OGTT, and averaging both):

$$Sib = \frac{10^8}{I_0 * G_0 * VD}$$
(7)

$$Si2h = \frac{10^8}{I_{120} * G_{120} * VD}$$
(8)

$$SiM = \frac{(0.137 * Sib) + Si2h}{2}$$
 (9)

where *b* denotes basal; *M* denotes mean; G and I are concentrations of glucose (mM) and insulin (mIU/L), respectively; and *VD* is the glucose distribution volume calculated as VD = 150 mL/kg of body weight (Bergman et al. 1987).

- Matsuda et al. index (Matsuda and Defronzo 1999):

$$ISI_{\text{Matsuda}} = \frac{10,000}{\sqrt{G_0 * I_0 * G_{\text{mean}} * I_{\text{mean}}}}$$
(10)

where G and I are concentrations of glucose (mM) and insulin (mIU/L), respectively (0, fasting; mean, average from 0 to 2 h of OGTT).

- *Belfiore et al. index* (Belfiore et al. 1998):

$$ISI_{Belfiore} = \frac{2}{(G_S/G_N) * (I_S/I_N) + 1}$$
(11)

where G and I are concentrations of glucose (mM) and insulin (mIU/L), respectively (S, subject values; N, normal reference values), expressed as fasting values or as areas obtained during OGTT at baseline and 2 h or at baseline, 1 h, and 2 h.

 Stumvoll et al. (2001) developed a series of indexes (insulin sensitivity and MCR, examples below) using stepwise linear regression analysis and included various clinical (OGTT sample results) and demographic parameters:

$$ISI_{\text{Stumvoll}} = 0.156 - 0.0000459 * I_{120} - 0.000321 * I_0 - 0.00541 * G_{120}$$
(12)

 $ISI_{Stumvoll} = 0.222 - 0.00333 * BMI - 0.0000779 * I_{120} - 0.000422 * age$ (13)

$$MCR_{\text{Stumvoll}} = 13.273 - 0.00384 * I_{120} - 0.0232 * I_0 - 0.463 * G_{120}$$
(14)

$$MCR_{\text{Stumvoll}} = 19.24 - 0.281 * BMI - 0.00498 * I_{120} - 0.333 * G_{120}$$
(15)

where insulin concentration was measured in pM and glucose in mM.

— McAuley et al. (2001) developed an insulin sensitivity index applicable to assess insulin resistance in 178 normoglycemic adults (25–68 years of age) undergoing euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp. Variables for an equation were selected using regression analysis with backward elimination and bootstrapped procedure with replacements. Data from measurements performed in the last 60 min of the clamp were used. Their index is reflecting M/I value (as continuous or categorical variable), with M being corrected for fat-free mass (Mffm) (Ferrannini et al. 1997). Mffm/I values during the clamp were ranging between 2.3 and 25.9 mg/kg/min and Mbw/I values (M being normalized by total body weight) 1.2–18.6 mg/kg/min. Two equations (for ISI as a continuous variable) are:

$$ln\left(\frac{M_{ffm}}{I}\right) = 3.29 - 0.25\ln(I) - 0.22\ln(BMI) - 0.28\ln(TG)$$
(16)

$$ln\left(\frac{M_{ffin}}{I}\right) = 2.63 - 0.28\ln(I) - 0.31\ln(TG)$$
(17)

And two equations for calculation ISI as categorical variable (which can be transformed into logit form to get probability of having insulin resistance defined as $ISI \le 6.3 \text{ M}*\text{mU}^{-1}*\text{L}^{-1}$) are:

$$ln\left(\frac{M_{ffm}}{I}\right) = -3.62 + 1.90\ln\left(I\right) - 0.43\ln\left(BMI\right) + 1.30\ln\left(TG\right)$$
(18)

$$ln\left(\frac{M_{ffin}}{I}\right) = -4.93 + 1.81\ln\left(I\right) + 1.24\ln\left(TG\right)$$
(19)

where *I* is the insulin concentration (mU/L); *BMI*, body mass index (kg/m²); and *TG*, triglyceride concentration (mM). The formula (17) has been shown to correlate with fasting insulin levels in type 2 diabetes (Kaur et al. 2021).

Other insulin sensitivity indexes which do not require a clamp study or an OGTT:

 Insulin-to-glucose ratio (Caro 1991) and Bennett index (Anderson et al. 1995) are indexes calculated from fasting insulin and glucose levels. The former is a simple division of fasting insulin level by fasting glucose level, whereas the latter is an inverse of the product of log transformation of fasting insulin and fasting glucose:

$$IS_{\text{Bennet}} = \frac{1}{\ln G_0 * \ln I_0} \tag{20}$$

These indexes have been showed to have ethnic differences in young non-diabetic women (Chen and Scholl 2002) and were used as one of the outcomes in randomized trial assessing effects of exercise on postprandial glucose levels (Wheeler et al. 2020).

Lipids are involved in insulin sensitivity with skeletal muscle triglyceride content correlating with insulin resistance (Ma et al. 2020), and HDL is involved in pancreatic insulin secretion (Fryirs et al. 2010). Circulating lipid levels are easier to obtain and have been used mainly in the general and type 2 diabetic population.

TG-to-HDL-C ratio has been showed as a useful parameter associated with and predicting of insulin resistance (Kannel et al. 2008) and cardiometabolic risk (Kannel et al. 2008; Di Bonito et al. 2012). It has also shown ability to predict the development of type 2 diabetes (De Leon et al. 2012) and coronary heart disease (Hadaegh et al. 2009), being associated with cardiovascular events and all-cause mortality (Bittner et al. 2009) and being an independent risk factor in predicting chronic kidney disease in healthy adults (Ho et al. 2015).

$$\frac{TG}{HDL - C} \tag{21}$$

This index was also used as a dependent variable for the identification of insulin resistance using machine learning (Chakradar et al. 2021).

Visceral adiposity index (VAI) was developed in 2010 by Amato et al. (Amato et al. 2010) to assess visceral fat function associated with cardiometabolic risk. The authors analyzed the relationship between insulin sensitivity (expressed as M value), using data from clamps of 74 subjects (adults, 30 men, 44 women, 24 with type 1 diabetes, 29 with type 2 diabetes, and 21 with bob-alcoholic fatty liver disease and polycystic ovary syndrome), and VAI and have found that they correlated negatively with R-squared (this is not adjusted R-squared) of 0.52. Additionally, M value did not correlate with either waist circumference (WC) or BMI. They have presented two formulae, separate for men and women:

$$VAI_{\text{Males}} = \left(\frac{WC}{39.68 + (1.88 * BMI)}\right) * \left(\frac{TG}{1.03}\right) * \left(\frac{1.31}{HDL - C}\right)$$
(22)

$$VAI_{\text{Females}} = \left(\frac{WC}{36.58 + (1.89 * BMI)}\right) * \left(\frac{TG}{0.81}\right) * \left(\frac{1.52}{HDL - C}\right)$$
(23)

where WC was in cm and TG and HDL-C in mM. Later the same group showed a series of cut-off values for VAI associated with visceral adipose dysfunction and cardiometabolic risk (Amato et al. 2011). It has also been shown, in a separate validation of VAI, that cut-off value of >1.84 has 82% sensitivity and 71% specificity for the detection of the metabolic syndrome in adult patients with type 1 diabetes (Ferreira-Hermosillo et al. 2020).

Both TG/HDL-C and VAI have been shown to be able to assess insulin resistance in adults with type 1 diabetes (Uruska et al. 2018).

Estimation of GDR in Type 1 Diabetes

More commonly used in the literature for people with type 1 diabetes are measures estimating the glucose disposal rate (GDR). Ideally, these should derive from a group of type 1 diabetes patients and validated in a separate series of clamp studies using a similar clamp protocol.

In type 1 diabetes, glucose utilization/insulin sensitivity/resistance assessment is sometimes assessed by the simple measure of exogenous total daily dose (TDD) of insulin/kilogram body weight. But this value does not always correlate well with clamp study results (Wallace and Matthews 2002).

The letter "e" in the formulae below indicates that it is an estimation of the parameter calculated by the equation.

Several groups, including the authors, have derived formula(e) to calculate estimated glucose disposal rate (eGDR, sometimes also called glucose distribution rate) using a range of biomarkers (clinical, demographic, and laboratory).

The first and one of the most widely used formulae is the one developed by *Williams et al.* (2000) in 2000. They performed euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamps in 24 adults with type 1 diabetes from the Pittsburgh Epidemiology of Diabetes Complications (EDC) study and used multivariate regression analysis to find a set of variables to estimate GDR, which was measured in the last 30 min of the clamp. Patients were selected based on the probability of presenting various levels of insulin resistance based on the insulin resistance scoring system (hypertension (HT), waist-hip ratio (WHR), TG and HDL-C levels, and family history of type 2 diabetes) and eligibility criteria (age > 18 yrs., HbA1 < 11.4% (HbA1c <9.4%), serum creatinine <1.5 mg/dL, and normal hemoglobin and hematocrit). The clamp GDR was between 2 and 12 mg/kg/min. Using forward stepwise regression, they obtained a model containing WHR and HT (absence (0) or presence (1), defined, in a bit unorthodox way, as BP above 140/90 mmHg or usage of any anti-hypertensive drugs):

$$eGDR = 21.17 - 14.66 * WHR - 3.96 * HT$$
 (24)

The model adjusted R-squared 0.54. The authors forced HbA1 (%) (please note it is not HbA1c) into the regression analysis and delivered the final model:

$$eGDR = 24.31 - 12.22 * WHR - 3.29 * HT - 0.57 * HbA1$$
 (25)

With adjusted R-squared of 0.57, i.e., 57% of variance of GDR observed in their clamps were explained by this model. The formula has been later adjusted to reflect usage of waist circumference (WC, cm) rather than waist-to-hip ratio (Epstein et al. 2013) and HbA1c (%) rather than HbA1 (Miller et al. 2019; Kilpatrick et al. 2007):

$$eGDR = 21.158 - 0.09 * WC - 3.407 * HT - 0.551 * HbA1c$$
(26)

$$eGDR = 24.395 - 12.971 * WHR - 3.388 * HT - 0.601 * HbA1c$$
 (27)

This original manuscript to date has been cited over 300 times (Nov 2021). The original formula, although not validated in the independent dataset, has been associated (low eGDR) with the presence of chronic diabetes complications (Chillaron et al. 2009; Lam-Chung et al. 2021) and overall mortality (Olson et al. 2002). The original formula was also later updated to use BMI rather than WC or WHR and showed an association with dyslipidemia in type 1 diabetes (Nishtala et al. 2020). eGDR calculated from this formula was predictive of mortality in adults with type 1 diabetes (Nystrom et al. 2018):

$$eGDR = 19.02 - 0.22 * BMI - 3.26 * HT - 0.61 * HbA1c$$
 (28)

The next eGDR formula was developed by *Dabelea et al.* in 2010 (Dabelea et al. 2011). The authors performed 85 euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamps in 60 youth (12–19 yrs. of age) with type 1 and 25 with type 2 with HbA1c <12%, serum creatinine <114 μ M, and normal hemoglobin and hematocrit. Data from 53 youths (39 with type 1 and 14 with type 2) were used to develop a model, using multiple linear regression approach, estimating GDR. The data from the remaining 32 subjects (21, type 1; 11, type 2) were used for model cross-validation. Clamp GDR was between approx. 1 and 15 mg/kg/min in people with diabetes and was calculated in the last 30 min of the clamp. The best model consisting of WC (cm), HbA1c (%), and TG (mg/dL) resulted in adjusted R-squared of 0.74:

$$elnGDR = 4.647 - 0.02 * WC - 0.098 * HbA1c - 0.002 * TG$$
⁽²⁹⁾

and most "practical" model (consisting of waist circumference only) resulted in adjusted R-squared of 0.59:

$$elnGDR = 3.734 - 0.022 * WC$$
 (30)

Validation of the former model in clamp studies resulted in R-squared of 0.42 for youths with diabetes and 0.38 for youths without diabetes. The paper has been cited 80 times to date (Nov 2021). The Dabelea et al. formula has been associated with glycemic control and dyslipidemia in youth with type 1 (Amor et al. 2020) and type 2 diabetes (Brady et al. 2021). The calculated eGDR was significantly lower in type

2 diabetes than in type 1 diabetes subjects, and it did not correlate with the change of eGFR in youth with diabetes in the SEARCH study (Westreich et al. 2021) nor was it different among people with type 1 diabetes treated with insulin or insulin combined with metformin (Yang et al. 2020a).

Duca et al. in 2016 presented a few formulae derived from 58 people (26 with type 1 diabetes and 32 without diabetes) and validated them in 19 people (10 with type 1 diabetes and 9 without diabetes) participating in the Coronary Artery Calcification in Type 1 Diabetes (CACTI) cohort (Duca et al. 2016). Insulin sensitivity (IS), expressed in mg/kg fat-free mass/min, range can be estimated to be between 1 and 13 mg/kg ffm/min in type 1 diabetes subjects. All the parameters were calculated from the final 30 min. of the clamp.

Their best model (eIS) for adults with type 1 diabetes included (WC (cm), TDD per kg, adiponectin (μ g/mL), TG (mM), and DBP (mmHg):

$$elnIS = 4.062 - 0.013 * WC - 1.096 * TDD + 0.02 * Adiponectin - 0.272 * TG - 0.007 * DBP$$
(31)

or if TG expressed in mg/dL:

$$elnIS = 4.062 - 0.013 * WC - 1.096 * TDD + 0.02 * Adiponectin - 0.003 * TG - 0.007 * DBP$$
(32)

This model resulted in an adjusted R-squared of 0.64. Validation of this model resulted in R-squared of 0.48 for people with type 1 diabetes. They have also suggested the model without adiponectin, with adjusted R-squared of 0.63.

$$elnIS = 4.108 - 0.013 * WC - 1.058 * TDD - 0.313 * TG - 0.008$$
$$* DBP$$
(33)

or if TG expressed in mg/dL:

$$elnIS = 4.108 - 0.013 * WC - 1.058 * TDD - 0.0035 * TG - 0.008 * DBP$$
(34)

The best model for individuals without diabetes included HbA1c (%) rather than WC and fasting glucose (G_0 , mM) rather than TDD/kg:

$$elnIS = 7.472 - 0.013 * WC - 0.25 * HbA1c - 0.357 * G_0 + 0.019$$

* Adiponectin - 0.287 * TG - 0.006 * DBP (35)

or with glucose expressed in mg/dL and TG in mg/dL:

$$elnIS = 7.472 - 0.013 * WC - 0.25 * HbA1c - 0.02 * G_0 + 0.019$$

* Adiponectin - 0.003 * TG - 0.006 * DBP (36)

And the models without adiponectin:

$$elnIS = 7.191 + 0.102 * Sex - 0.014 * WC - 0.333 * HbA1c - 0.232 * G_0 - 0.279 * TG$$
(37)

or with glucose in mg/dL and TG in mg/dL:

$$elnIS = 7.191 + 0.102 * Sex - 0.014 * WC - 0.333 * HbA1c - 0.013 * G_0 - 0.316 * 10^{-2} * TG$$
(38)

In non-diabetic subjects, the adjusted R-squared for the model was 0.63 and in validation 0.59. This manuscript has been cited 21 times to date (Nov 2021). It has been shown that eIS calculated using this formula is negatively correlated with cardiovascular risk in type 1 diabetes (Cano et al. 2020; Jensen et al. 2019) and predicts micro- and macrovascular complications in adults with type 1 diabetes (Bjornstad et al. 2016).

In 2017, *Zheng et al.* (2017) presented a formula derived from 36 adults with type 1 diabetes (16 with childhood onset and 20 with type 1 diabetes diagnosed as adults) using stepwise linear regression. GDR measured during the final 30 min of the clamp ranged between 4.2 and 11.8 mg/kg/min. The best combination of clinical parameters was containing HbA1c (%), DBP (mmHg), and WHR:

$$elnGDR = 4.964 - 0.121 * HbA1c - 0.012 * DBP - 1.409 * WHR$$
(39)

Adjusted R-squared for this model was 0.62. Authors also showed that a simple model with HbA1c only was returning an adjusted R-squared of 0.41 and addition of DBP increased R-squared to 0.56:

$$elnGDR = 3.091 - 0.141 * HbA1c$$
 (40)

$$elnGDR = 3.842 - 0.125 * HbA1c - 0.012 * DBP$$
(41)

The authors have not yet cross-validated this model. The manuscript has been cited nine times to date (Nov 2021). The formula was used in the assessment of metabolic control in people with earlier onset of type 1 diabetes, showing an increased insulin resistance (Wei et al. 2020), and in the characterization of people with fulminant type 1 diabetes (Yang et al. 2020b).

Also in 2018, *Stawiski et al.* presented a calculator for insulin resistance estimation based on neural network analysis of the results of 315 clamps performed in people aged 7.6 to 19.7 years with type 1 diabetes (Stawiski et al. 2018). Validation of their model using testing set of data (training: testing split of data 20:80 ratio) showed R-squared correlation with clamp-derived GDR of 0.66. Variables chosen by the artificial neural network procedure were BP (categorized as normal, elevated, or hypertension), Tanner stage of puberty (categorized 1 to 5), HDL-C, sex, BMI (SDS), TDD, and HbA1c. As this procedure was based on

neural network algorithm, there was no "formula" presented, but authors created a calculator based on this modelling. Unfortunately, it seems no longer to be available (Nov 2021).

Our group (Januszewski et al. 2020) published a set of formulae estimating GDR, M/I, and log M/I using clinical, demographic, and laboratory parameters (Januszewski et al. 2020, 2021). We derived them from 28 people with type 1 diabetes. The GDR range measured during the last 60 min of clamp was 1.9 to 14.1 mg/kg/min. We established that GDR, M/I, and \log_{10} M/I measured in the last 30, 60, and 90 min of the clamp correlated well with each other with correlation coefficients (Pearson) varying between 0.64 and 0.99 (all p < 0.0001) (Januszewski et al. 2020). We also measured 38 biomarkers, including novel risk factors related to inflammation and adipokines, and applied an exhaustive search procedure to derive the best model (based on adjusted R-squared criterion) estimating GDR, M/I, and \log_{10} M/I.

Our best formulae for each of those parameters were:

$$eGDR = -31.714 + 0.142 * Age + 2.399 * HDL - C + 8.613 * IneGFR - 2.051 * VAI - 0.12 * PP$$
(42)

Adjusted R-squared 0.46

$$elnGDR = 0.861 + 0.705 * Sex + 0.012 * Age - 0.101 * HbA1c + 1.204 * HDL - C - 0.017 * PP$$
(43)

Adjusted R-squared 0.40

$$eM/I = 0.052 - 0.939 * 10^{-4} * Sel + 0.506 * 10^{-3} * T1D \, dur. * 0.269$$
$$* 10^{-4} * Lens \, FL - 0.146 * 10^{-2} * BMI \tag{44}$$

Adjusted R-squared 0.51

$$eM/I = 0.015 + 0.103 * 10^{-3} * A diponectin - 0.378 * 10^{-3} * Leptin + 0.229 * 10^{-2} * RAGE - 0.062 * ICAM$$
(45)

Adjusted R-squared 0.51

$$elog_{10}M/I = -1.316 + 0.295 * Sex + 0.428 * HDL - C - 0.011 * PP + 0.008 * T1D dur. - 0.019 * WH$$
(46)

Adjusted R-squared 0.66

$$e \log_{10} M/I = -2.266 - 0.047 * CRP + 0.314 * 10^{-2} * A diponectin$$
$$-1.285 * 10^{-2} * Leptin + 0.08 * IL - 6$$
(47)

Adjusted R-squared 0.62

$$e \log_{10} M/I = -2.119 - 0.243 * TG + 0.322 * 10^{-2} * Adiponectin - 0.943$$

* $10^{-2} * Leptin + 0.077 * IL - 6$ (48)

Adjusted R-squared 0.62

$$e \log_{10} M/I = -1.299 + 0.295 * Sex + 0.546 * HDL - C - 0.029 * BMI - 0.057 * HbA1c - 0.503 * WHR$$
(49)

Adjusted R-squared 0.60

In the formulae above, the measurements, abbreviations, and units used were age (yrs.); HDL-C (mM); eGFR (calculated from Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration (CKD-EPI) formula (Levey et al. 2009)); VAI, visceral adiposity index, a gender-specific index, based on BMI, waist circumference, triglycerides, and HDL-C and which forms an indication of fat distribution and function (Amato et al. 2010); PP, pulse pressure (mmHg); sex (men = 1, woman = 0); HbA1c (%); Sel, soluble eSelectin; CD62E (ng/mL); T1D dur, type 1 diabetes duration (yrs.); Lens FL, eye lens crystalline autofluorescence (AU) (Januszewski et al. 2012); BMI, body mass index (kg/m²); adiponectin; Acrp30 (mg/mL); leptin (μ g/mL); RAGE, receptor for advanced glycation end products (ng/mL); ICAM; CD54, soluble intercellular cell adhesion molecule 1 (μ g/mL); WH, waist-to-height ratio, a measure of the distribution of body fat (Lee et al. 2008); CRP, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (mg/L); TG, triglycerides (mM); and WHR, waist-to-hip ratio. The manuscript has been cited two times to date (Nov 2021).

We initially validated our formulae statistically using internal fivefold crossvalidation (repeated 100 times) and Harrell's bootstrap-based (1000 bootstraps) optimism-corrected calculation of R-squared (Harrell et al. 1996). The former resulted in R-squared values being similar to adjusted R-square calculated from "full" model, and optimism-corrected R-squared was, not surprisingly, on average 33% lower (R-squared varying between 33% and 95% values of "full" model R-squared).

Further to that, in 2021, we have performed validation of our models and also Williams' (Williams et al. 2000), Zheng's (Zheng et al. 2017), and Dabelea's (Dabelea et al. 2011) models, using additional dataset from external source providing data from clamp studies of 104 adults with type 1 diabetes (Januszewski et al. 2021). The parameters of interest were measured during the last 30 min. of the clamp. The $elog_{10}M/I$ calculated from the two models correlated with GDR measured during the clamp with Deming R-squared of 0.31 and 0.40, respectively. In the same comparison of other GDR formulae, the Deming R-squared values (eGDR calculated from the formula vs. GDR measured during the clamp) were between 0.22 and 0.24.

All the formulae presented herein provide an approximation of GDR obtained during euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamps. It is however apparent that none of them can be used to classify a person as having low or high GDR. While useful in clinical research, the approximation of GDR with an adjusted R-squared approx. 0.60 is not accurate enough to form the basis of a clinical decision, such as the use of adjunct insulin sensitizing therapy, such as metformin, in people with type 1 diabetes (Livingstone et al. 2017). Nevertheless, all those formulae have shown reduced GDR in people with type 1 diabetes with versus without microvascular complications, in a similar way as the GDR measured in the clamp. Only McAuley et al. attempted to transform their formula into the score (logistic regression), which can be used to calculate probability of insulin resistance (determined as Mffm/I ≤ 6.3 M/mU/L) (Mcauley et al. 2001). Although their internal validation (bootstrap) showed marginal deterioration in sensitivity and specificity, it was much more prominent if Mffm/I was determined as a categorical variable. This is a common problem when formula(e) is/are derived from relatively small sample sets, which is common given the cost, labor, and expertise intensive nature of clamp studies. The approximations are not as accurate to divide individuals into two groups on a new sample set (validation set) as on the sample used to establish the score (training set).

We have assessed the ability of all five formulae presented here to discriminate between people with type 1 diabetes with clamp measured GDR <4 mg/kg/min and above and < 5.6 mg/kg/min and above. AUC (J statistics) for the former varied between 0.55 (Williams et al. 2000) and 0.64 (Januszewski et al. 2021) (elnGDR formula 43), and for the latter, the range was between 0.54 (Williams et al. 2000) and 0.76 (Januszewski et al. 2021) (elog₁₀M/I formula 49).

Application to Prognosis and Other Diseases or Conditions

Higher insulin resistance is associated with increased risk of pre-diabetes, gestational diabetes, and type 2 diabetes and can also coexist with type 1 diabetes. Insulin resistance varies widely between people and even within an individual over time. Genetic factors; body habitus; lipid levels, particularly triglyceride and HDL levels; intercurrent illness; medications; hormonal factors; pregnancy; growth spurts and other hormones, such as insulin resistance-inducing glucagon and cortisol; physical activity; and psychological stress impact insulin resistance. Other conditions associated with insulin resistance include acanthosis nigricans, polycystic ovary syndrome, and some drugs, such as steroids and chemotherapeutics used in cancer treatments.

Insulin resistance is often associated with adverse short- and long-term outcomes, including larger body habitus, need for higher insulin doses, and higher risk of chronic complications, including microvascular (retinopathy (eye), kidney, and nerve damage) and macrovascular complications (heart disease, stroke, and amputations), and of death. In type 1 diabetes, the delivery of pharmacologic doses of insulin to the subcutaneous tissues induces insulin resistance, rather than the natural endogenous delivery of lower doses of insulin.

With the diabetes pandemic and increasing prevalence of people with type 1 diabetes, an estimated one in ten adults in the world today has diabetes (International Diabetes Federation 2021). The personal and socioeconomic costs rise with complications, hence with insulin resistance. In this modern, and still evolving, era of precision medicine, the means to measure, monitor, and treat (if high) insulin resistance are desirable. Insulin clamp studies remain the gold standard, but are clearly a research tool for those with the available expertise and resources. Modern versions of clamp studies include isotopes, enabling delineation of hepatic and muscle insulin resistance. Means to estimate insulin resistance reliably are still needed for larger clinical research studies and for clinical practice. Equations, such as those presented herein (Table 1), and future even more accurate measures that are well-validated against gold standards and in various studies in different groups are desirable.

Weight loss, if needed, increased physical activity, insulin delivery means, treatment of hypertriglyceridemia, intercurrent illnesses, and adjunct therapy, currently mainly metformin and thiazolidinediones, in people with type 1 diabetes may be useful means.

At this stage, we know that insulin resistance is associated with an adverse prognosis, and we know much about some driving factors. What we need to know more are practical ways to measure it, especially in the clinic, and even more importantly the best means to prevent or treat it. We hope this chapter provides some guidance and stimulates thought and research.

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

Euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp – a research procedure in which blood insulin concentration is increased to supraphysiological levels with euglycemia maintained through intravenous glucose infusion at a variable rate. The glucose infusion rate is indicative of whole-body insulin action. Enhanced insulin action (i.e., greater insulin sensitivity) requires a greater glucose infusion rate. It is important to note that the manner in which an insulin clamp is performed can significantly affect the results obtained.

OGTT – oral glucose tolerance test. Currently the gold standard for the diagnosis of diabetes or of pre-diabetes. Interpretation is based on venous plasma glucose results obtained before and 2 h after a 75 g oral glucose load. Different glucose loads are used in some countries, and diagnostic cut-points are usually lower in pregnancy.

Adjusted R-squared – a modified version of "regular" R-squared that has been adjusted for the number of predictors in the model. Specifically, adjusted R-squared is equal to 1 - (n - 1)/(n - k - 1) * (1-R-squared), where n is the sample size and k is the number of independent variables. Adding more independent variables or predictors to a regression model tends to increase the R-squared value, which tempts makers of the model to add even more variables. This is called overfitting and can return an unwarranted high R-squared value. Adjusted R-squared is used to determine how

	ics used			r minsm/smans	1 Colorative/ Bir	ndem aenar	Sal late					
Number of			Diabetes	Blood	Insulin/		HbA1/			Body	Research	
equation	Age	Sex	duration	pressure	TDD	Glucose	HbA1c	ΤG	HDL-C	habitus	biomarkers	eGFR
3					X	X						
4					X	X						
5					X	X				X		
6					X	X				X		
7					X	X						
8					X	X						
6					X	X						
10					X	X						
11					X	X						
12					X	X						
13	x				X					X		
14					X	X						
15					X	X				X		
16					X			х		X		
17					X			х				
18					X			х		X		
19					X			Х				
20					X	X						
21								Х	X			
22								Х	X	X		
24				X						X		
25				X			X			X		
26				x			X			X		
27				x			X			X		
											(con	tinued)

Table 1 Variables used to estimate insulin sensitivity/insulin resistance/glucose disposal rate

Number of			Diabetes	Blood	Insulin/		HbA1/			Body	Research	
equation	Age	Sex	duration	pressure	TDD	Glucose	HbA1c	TG	HDL-C	habitus	biomarkers	eGFR
28				X			X			X		
29							X	x		X		
30										X		
31				X	X			x		X	X	
33				X	X			x		X		
35				X		X	X	x		X	X	
37		x				X	X	x		X		
39				X			X			X		
40							X					
41				X			X					
42	x			X					X	X		x
43	x	x		X			X		X			
44			x							X	X	
45											X	
46		x	x	X					X	X		
47											X	
48								x			X	
49		X					X		X	X		
Blood pressure: 5	SBP, DE	B as co	ntinuous variabl	es or presence	of hypertens	ion						

Body habitus: weight, WC, WHR, WH, VAI, BMI Research biomarkers: adiponectin, selectin, high-sensitivity CRP, RAGE, lens crystalline fluorescence, ICAM-1, leptin, IL-6

Table 1 (continued)

reliable the correlation is and how much it is determined by the addition of independent variables (Karch 2020).

Bootstrapped optimism-corrected prediction – a method for an estimation of "optimism" involved in the C-statistic measurement due to overfitting of the model. It requires building up a model ("original") using all available data and calculating model's performance. Then multiple subsets of samples are being created using bootstrap with replacement (containing predicting variables and response variable). The model is built again, using the same procedure, in each of the subset datasets and each "new" model's performance is calculated. Each of the "new" models is then applied to the full dataset and model performance is calculated. Optimism is defined as a difference between performance of the "original" model on the subset of data and performance of the "new" model is then reduced by this average. This result value is a nearly unbiased estimate of the expected values of the optimism that would be obtained in external validation (Harrell et al. 1996; Smith et al. 2014; Iba et al. 2021).

Deming regression – a technique for comparing two measurements (done using, e.g., two different methods) by fitting a straight line to two-dimensional data where both variables, X and Y, are measured with error. This is different from simple linear regression where only the response variable, Y, is measured with error. Deming regression is often used for method comparison studies in clinical chemistry to look for systematic differences between two measurement methods (Deming 1943).

Stepwise linear regression – a method of fitting regression models in which the choice of predictive variables is carried out by an automatic procedure. In each step, a variable is considered for addition to or subtraction from the set of explanatory variables based on some prespecified criterion (Efroymson 1960). A fundamental problem with stepwise regression is that some real explanatory variables that have causal effects on the dependent variable may happen to not be statistically significant, while nuisance variables may be coincidentally significant. As a result, the model may fit the data well in-sample, but do poorly out-of-sample (Smith 2018).

Sensitivity – the ability of a test to correctly identify person with a condition/ disease.

Specificity – the ability of a test to correctly identify person without a condition/ disease.

Cross-validation – a model validation technique aiming at assessing how the statistical model or the results of analysis will perform in an independent dataset.

Exhaustive search – an algorithm which examines every combination of variables of interest to find the best solution based on specified metrics (e.g., adjusted R-squared). The main strength is that it is guaranteed to find the best model (from specified variables). The main disadvantage is that it is computationally demanding (e.g., if one wants to get the best model containing 5 variables chosen from a dataset containing 40 variables, the procedure must calculate results of 658,008 combinations).

Key Facts

- Insulin sensitivity is most accurately measured by euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp studies but can also be estimated using mathematical formulae utilizing various biomarkers.
- Variables most often used in the calculation of insulin sensitivity are those reflecting body habitus, blood pressure, glycemia, and lipids.
- Depending on the number and type of variables used, the formulae to calculate insulin sensitivity estimates are explaining approximately 60% of the insulin sensitivity variance observed in the clamp study data from which were used to calculate these formulae.
- In independent validation studies, the insulin sensitivity estimation formulae showed lower agreement with clamp data of 20–50%.

Summary Points

- In this chapter, we have presented current approaches toward the assessment of insulin sensitivity/insulin resistance/glucose disposal rate, including in people with type 1 diabetes.
- Those measurements are done either by creating specific "new" indexes or by approximation (using various statistical techniques) of the parameters calculated from a euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp study, which remains the "gold standard" for the assessment of glucose utilization.
- It must be emphasized that the latter approach is often lacking independent validation. Although the values calculated from these formulae are showing associations with various diabetes-related pathologies, it must be noted that specific IS/IR/eGDR thresholds for the parameters calculated from these formulae have never been defined and validated.
- Given the association between insulin resistance and the development of type 2 diabetes, the chronic complications of type 1 diabetes and the availability of adjunct therapies which may mitigate insulin resistance further studies are merited.

References

- Ahmad T, Nelson R, Taylor R. Insulin sensitivity and metabolic clearance rate of insulin in cystic fibrosis. Metabolism. 1994;43:163–7.
- Amato MC, Giordano C, Galia M, Criscimanna A, Vitabile S, Midiri M, Galluzzo A, Alkamesy Study, G. Visceral adiposity index: a reliable indicator of visceral fat function associated with cardiometabolic risk. Diabetes Care. 2010;33:920–2.
- Amato MC, Giordano C, Pitrone M, Galluzzo A. Cut-off points of the visceral adiposity index (VAI) identifying a visceral adipose dysfunction associated with cardiometabolic risk in a Caucasian Sicilian population. Lipids Health Dis. 2011;10:183.

- Amor AJ, Castelblanco E, Hernandez M, Gimenez M, Granado-Casas M, Blanco J, Soldevila B, Esmatjes E, Conget I, Alonso N, Ortega E, Mauricio D. Advanced lipoprotein profile disturbances in type 1 diabetes mellitus: a focus on LDL particles. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2020;19:126.
- Anderson RL, Hamman RF, Savage PJ, Saad MF, Laws A, Kades WW, Sands RE, Cefalu W. Exploration of simple insulin sensitivity measures derived from frequently sampled intravenous glucose tolerance (FSIGT) tests. The insulin resistance atherosclerosis study. Am J Epidemiol. 1995;142:724–32.
- Avignon A, Boegner C, Mariano-Goulart D, Colette C, Monnier L. Assessment of insulin sensitivity from plasma insulin and glucose in the fasting or post oral glucose-load state. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 1999;23:512–7.
- Belfiore F, Iannello S, Volpicelli G. Insulin sensitivity indices calculated from basal and OGTTinduced insulin, glucose, and FFA levels. Mol Genet Metab. 1998;63:134–41.
- Bergman RN, Prager R, Volund A, Olefsky JM. Equivalence of the insulin sensitivity index in man derived by the minimal model method and the euglycemic glucose clamp. J Clin Invest. 1987;79:790–800.
- Best JD, Taborsky GJJR, Halter JB, Porte DJR. Glucose disposal is not proportional to plasma glucose level in man. Diabetes. 1981;30:847–50.
- Bittner V, Johnson BD, Zineh I, Rogers WJ, Vido D, Marroquin OC, Bairey-Merz CN, Sopko G. The triglyceride/high-density lipoprotein cholesterol ratio predicts all-cause mortality in women with suspected myocardial ischemia: a report from the Women's ischemia syndrome evaluation (WISE). Am Heart J. 2009;157:548–55.
- Bjornstad P, Maahs DM, Duca LM, Pyle L, Rewers M, Johnson RJ, Snell-Bergeon JK. Estimated insulin sensitivity predicts incident micro- and macrovascular complications in adults with type 1 diabetes over 6 years: the coronary artery calcification in type 1 diabetes study. J Diabetes Complicat. 2016;30:586–90.
- Brady RP, Shah AS, Jensen ET, Stafford JM, D'Agostino RBJR, Dolan LM, Knight L, Imperatore G, Turley CB, Liese AD, Urbina EM, Lawrence JM, Pihoker C, Marcovina S, Dabelea D. Glycemic control is associated with dyslipidemia over time in youth with type 2 diabetes: the SEARCH for diabetes in youth study. Pediatr Diabetes. 2021;22:951–9.
- Cano A, Llaurado G, Albert L, Mazarico I, Astiarraga B, Gonzalez-Sastre M, Martinez L, Fernandez-Veledo S, Simo R, Vendrell J, Gonzalez-Clemente JM. Utility of insulin resistance in estimating cardiovascular risk in subjects with type 1 diabetes according to the scores of the steno type 1 risk engine. J Clin Med. 2020;9(7);1–12.
- Caro JF. Clinical review 26: insulin resistance in obese and nonobese man. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1991;73:691–5.
- Cederholm J, Wibell L. Insulin release and peripheral sensitivity at the oral glucose tolerance test. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 1990;10:167–75.
- Chakradar M, Aggarwal A, Cheng X, Rani A, Kumar M, Shankar A. A non-invasive approach to identify insulin resistance with triglycerides and HDL-c ratio using machine learning. Neural Process Lett. 2021; https://doi.org/10.1007/s11063-021-10461-6
- Chen X, Scholl TO. Ethnic differences in C-peptide/insulin/glucose dynamics in young pregnant women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2002;87:4642–6.
- Chillaron JJ, Goday A, Flores-Le-Roux JA, Benaiges D, Carrera MJ, Puig J, Cano-Perez JF, Pedro-Botet J. Estimated glucose disposal rate in assessment of the metabolic syndrome and microvascular complications in patients with type 1 diabetes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2009;94:3530–4.
- Dabelea, D., D'Agostino, R. B. JR., Mason, C. C., West, N., Hamman, R. F., Mayer-Davis, E. J., Maahs, D., Klingensmith, G., Knowler, W. C. & Nadeau, K. 2011. Development, validation and use of an insulin sensitivity score in youths with diabetes: the SEARCH for diabetes in youth study. Diabetologia, 54, 78–86.
- Davidson MB. Counterpoint: the oral glucose tolerance test is superfluous. Diabetes Care. 2002;25: 1883–5.

- De Leon AC, Coello SD, Gonzalez DA, Diaz BB, Rodriguez JC, Hernandez AG, Aguirre-Jaime A, Perez Mdel C. Impaired fasting glucose, ancestry and waist-to-height ratio: main predictors of incident diagnosed diabetes in the Canary Islands. Diabet Med. 2012;29:399–403.
- Defronzo RA, Tobin JD, Andres R. Glucose clamp technique: a method for quantifying insulin secretion and resistance. Am J Phys. 1979;237:E214–23.
- Deming WE. Statistical adjustment of data. New York: Wiley; 1943.
- Di Bonito P, Moio N, Scilla C, Cavuto L, Sibilio G, Sanguigno E, Forziato C, Saitta F, Iardino MR, Di Carluccio C, Capaldo B. Usefulness of the high triglyceride-to-HDL cholesterol ratio to identify cardiometabolic risk factors and preclinical signs of organ damage in outpatient children. Diabetes Care. 2012;35:158–62.
- Donga E, Dekkers OM, Corssmit EP, Romijn JA. Insulin resistance in patients with type 1 diabetes assessed by glucose clamp studies: systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Endocrinol. 2015;173:101–9.
- Duca LM, Maahs DM, Schauer IE, Bergman BC, Nadeau KJ, Bjornstad P, Rewers M, Snell-Bergeon JK. Development and validation of a method to estimate insulin sensitivity in patients with and without type 1 diabetes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2016;101:686–95.
- Efroymson MA. Multiple regression analysis. In: Ralston A, Wilf HS, editors. Mathematical methods for digital computers. New York: Wiley; 1960.
- Epstein EJ, Osman JL, Cohen HW, Rajpathak SN, Lewis O, Crandall JP. Use of the estimated glucose disposal rate as a measure of insulin resistance in an urban multiethnic population with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2013;36:2280–5.
- Ferrannini E, Natali A, Bell P, Cavallo-Perin P, Lalic N, Mingrone G. Insulin resistance and hypersecretion in obesity. European Group for the Study of Insulin Resistance (EGIR). J Clin Invest. 1997;100:1166–73.
- Ferreira-Hermosillo A, Ibarra-Salce R, Rodriguez-Malacara J, Molina-Ayala MA. Comparison of indirect markers of insulin resistance in adult patients with double diabetes. BMC Endocr Disord. 2020;20:87.
- Fryirs MA, Barter PJ, Appavoo M, Tuch BE, Tabet F, Heather AK, Rye KA. Effects of high-density lipoproteins on pancreatic beta-cell insulin secretion. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2010;30: 1642–8.
- Gregory JM, Cherrington AD, Moore DJ. The peripheral peril: injected insulin induces insulin insensitivity in type 1 diabetes. Diabetes. 2020;69:837–47.
- Gutch M, Kumar S, Razi SM, Gupta KK, Gupta A. Assessment of insulin sensitivity/resistance. Indian J Endocrinol Metab. 2015;19:160–4.
- Gutt M, Davis CL, Spitzer SB, Llabre MM, Kumar M, Czarnecki EM, Schneiderman N, Skyler JS, Marks JB. Validation of the insulin sensitivity index (ISI(0,120)): comparison with other measures. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2000;47:177–84.
- Hadaegh F, Khalili D, Ghasemi A, Tohidi M, Sheikholeslami F, Azizi F. Triglyceride/HDLcholesterol ratio is an independent predictor for coronary heart disease in a population of Iranian men. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2009;19:401–8.
- Harrell FEJR, Lee KL, Mark DB. Multivariable prognostic models: issues in developing models, evaluating assumptions and adequacy, and measuring and reducing errors. Stat Med. 1996;15: 361–87.
- Ho CI, Chen JY, Chen SY, Tsai YW, Weng YM, Tsao YC, Li WC. Relationship between TG/HDL-C ratio and metabolic syndrome risk factors with chronic kidney disease in healthy adult population. Clin Nutr. 2015;34:874–80.
- Iba K, Shinozaki T, Maruo K, Noma H. Re-evaluation of the comparative effectiveness of bootstrap-based optimism correction methods in the development of multivariable clinical prediction models. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2021;21:9.
- International Diabetes Federation. IDF Diabetes Atlas [Online]. Brussels, Belgium. Available: http://www.diabetesatlas.org. 2021. Accessed 22 Nov 2021.
- Januszewski AS, Sachithanandan N, Karschimkus C, O'Neal DN, Yeung CK, Alkatib N, Jenkins AJ. Non-invasive measures of tissue autofluorescence are increased in Type 1 diabetes complications and correlate with a non-invasive measure of vascular dysfunction. Diabet Med. 2012;29:726–33.

- Januszewski AS, Sachithanandan N, Ward G, Karschimkus CS, O'Neal DN, Jenkins AJ. Estimated insulin sensitivity in Type 1 diabetes adults using clinical and research biomarkers. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2020;167:108359.
- Januszewski AS, Niedzwiecki P, Sachithanandan N, Ward GM, Karschimkus C, O'Neal DN, Zozulinska-Ziolkiewicz D, Uruska A, Jenkins A. 625-P: validation of formulae to estimate insulin sensitivity in Type 1 diabetes. Diabetes, 70, 625-P (2021).
- Jensen T, Bjornstad P, Johnson RJ, Sippl R, Rewers M, Snell-Bergeon JK. Copeptin and estimated insulin sensitivity in adults with and without type 1 diabetes: the CACTI study. Can J Diabetes. 2019;43:34–9.
- Kannel WB, Vasan RS, Keyes MJ, Sullivan LM, Robins SJ. Usefulness of the triglyceride-highdensity lipoprotein versus the cholesterol-high-density lipoprotein ratio for predicting insulin resistance and cardiometabolic risk (from the Framingham Offspring Cohort). Am J Cardiol. 2008;101:497–501.
- Karch J. Improving on adjusted R-squared. Collabra: Psychology; 2020. p. 6.
- Katz A, Nambi SS, Mather K, Baron AD, Follmann DA, Sullivan G, Quon MJ. Quantitative insulin sensitivity check index: a simple, accurate method for assessing insulin sensitivity in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2000;85:2402–10.
- Kaur N, Gitanjali, Garg R, Tapasvi C, Chawla S, Kaur N. Correlation of surrogate markers of insulin resistance with fasting insulin in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients: a study of Malwa population in Punjab, India. J Lab Physicians. 2021;13:238–44.
- Kilpatrick ES, Rigby AS, Atkin SL. Insulin resistance, the metabolic syndrome, and complication risk in type 1 diabetes: "double diabetes" in the diabetes control and complications trial. Diabetes Care. 2007;30:707–12.
- Lamb WH. What is the role of an oral glucose tolerance test in the workup of pediatric type 1 diabetes mellitus (DM)? [Online]. (2021). Available: https://www.medscape.com/answers/ 919999-120985/what-is-the-role-of-an-oral-glucose-tolerance-test-in-the-workup-of-pediatrictype-1-diabetes-mellitus-dm. Accessed 22 Nov 2021.
- Lam-Chung CE, Martinez Zavala N, Ibarra-Salce R, Pozos Varela FJ, Mena Ureta TS, Berumen Hermosillo F, Campos Munoz A, Janka Zires M, Almeda-Valdes P. Association of estimated glucose disposal rate and chronic diabetic complications in patients with type 1 diabetes. Endocrinol Diabetes Metab. 2021;4:e00288.
- Lee CM, Huxley RR, Wildman RP, Woodward M. Indices of abdominal obesity are better discriminators of cardiovascular risk factors than BMI: a meta-analysis. J Clin Epidemiol. 2008;61:646–53.
- Levey AS, Stevens LA, Schmid CH, Zhang YL, Castro AF 3rd, Feldman HI, Kusek JW, Eggers P, Van Lente F, Greene T, Coresh J, Ckd EPI. A new equation to estimate glomerular filtration rate. Ann Intern Med. 2009;150:604–12.
- Livingstone R, Boyle JG, Petrie JR, Team RS. A new perspective on metformin therapy in type 1 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2017;60:1594–600.
- Ma M, Liu H, Yu J, He S, Li P, Ma C, Zhang H, Xu L, Ping F, Li W, Sun Q, Li Y. Triglyceride is independently correlated with insulin resistance and islet beta cell function: a study in population with different glucose and lipid metabolism states. Lipids Health Dis. 2020;19:121.
- Matsuda M, Defronzo RA. Insulin sensitivity indices obtained from oral glucose tolerance testing: comparison with the euglycemic insulin clamp. Diabetes Care. 1999;22:1462–70.
- Mcauley KA, Williams SM, Mann JI, Walker RJ, Lewis-Barned NJ, Temple LA, Duncan AW. Diagnosing insulin resistance in the general population. Diabetes Care. 2001;24:460–4.
- Miller RG, Costacou T, Orchard TJ. Risk factor modeling for cardiovascular disease in type 1 diabetes in the Pittsburgh epidemiology of diabetes complications (EDC) study: a comparison with the diabetes control and complications trial/epidemiology of diabetes interventions and complications study (DCCT/EDIC). Diabetes. 2019;68:409–19.
- Nishtala R, Kietsiriroje N, Karam M, Ajjan RA, Pearson S. Estimated glucose disposal rate demographics and clinical characteristics of young adults with type 1 diabetes mellitus: a cross-sectional pilot study. Diab Vasc Dis Res. 2020;17:1479164120952321.
- Nystrom T, Holzmann MJ, Eliasson B, Svensson AM, Sartipy U. Estimated glucose disposal rate predicts mortality in adults with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2018;20:556–63.

- Olson JC, Erbey JR, Williams KV, Becker DJ, Edmundowicz D, Kelsey SF, Tyrrell KS, Orchard TJ. Subclinical atherosclerosis and estimated glucose disposal rate as predictors of mortality in type 1 diabetes. Ann Epidemiol. 2002;12:331–7.
- Patarrão RS, Wayne Lautt W, Paula Macedo M. Assessment of methods and indexes of insulin sensitivity. Revista Portuguesa de Endocrinologia, Diabetes e Metabolismo. 2014;9:65–73.
- Singal P, Muniyappa R, Chisholm R, Hall G, Chen H, Quon MJ, Mather KJ. Simple modeling allows prediction of steady-state glucose disposal rate from early data in hyperinsulinemic glucose clamps. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2010;298:E229–36.
- Smith G. Step away from stepwise. J Big Data. 2018;5:32.
- Smith GC, Seaman SR, Wood AM, Royston P, White IR. Correcting for optimistic prediction in small data sets. Am J Epidemiol. 2014;180:318–24.
- Snaith JR, Samocha-Bonet D, Evans J, Liu Z, Kowalski G, Bruce C, Holmes-Walker DJ, Greenfield JR. Insulin resistance in type 1 diabetes managed with metformin (INTIMET): study protocol of a double-blind placebo-controlled, randomised trial. Diabet Med. 2021;38:e14564.
- Soonthornpun S, Setasuban W, Thamprasit A, Chayanunnukul W, Rattarasarn C, Geater A. Novel insulin sensitivity index derived from oral glucose tolerance test. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2003;88:1019–23.
- Stawiski K, Pietrzak I, Mlynarski W, Fendler W, Szadkowska A. NIRCa: an artificial neural network-based insulin resistance calculator. Pediatr Diabetes. 2018;19:231–5.
- Stumvoll M, Van Haeften T, Fritsche A, Gerich J. Oral glucose tolerance test indexes for insulin sensitivity and secretion based on various availabilities of sampling times. Diabetes Care. 2001;24:796–7.
- Szadkowska A, Pietrzak I, Mianowska B, Bodalska-Lipinska J, Keenan HA, Toporowska-Kowalska E, Mlynarski W, Bodalski J. Insulin sensitivity in Type 1 diabetic children and adolescents. Diabet Med. 2008;25:282–8.
- Tajiri Y, Sato S, Yamada K. Metabolic clearance rate is a more robust and physiological parameter for insulin sensitivity than glucose infusion rate in the isoglycemic glucose clamp technique. Diabetes Technol Ther. 2011;13:1057–61.
- Teupe B, Bergis K. Epidemiological evidence for "double diabetes". Lancet. 1991;337:361-2.
- Uruska A, Zozulinska-Ziolkiewicz D, Niedzwiecki P, Pietrzak M, Wierusz-Wysocka B. TG/HDL-C ratio and visceral adiposity index may be useful in assessment of insulin resistance in adults with type 1 diabetes in clinical practice. J Clin Lipidol. 2018;12:734–40.
- Wallace TM, Matthews DR. The assessment of insulin resistance in man. Diabet Med. 2002;19: 527–34.
- Wallace TM, Levy JC, Matthews DR. Use and abuse of HOMA modeling. Diabetes Care. 2004;27: 1487–95.
- Wei X, Yang D, Luo S, Wang C, Lin Q, Yan J, Yao B, Weng J, Zheng X. Effect of onset age of diabetes on metabolic control in adult with type 1 diabetes mellitus. Chinese J Diab Mellitus. 2020;12:393–7.
- Westreich KD, Isom S, Divers J, D'Agostino R, Lawrence JM, Kanakatti Shankar R, Dolan LM, Imperatore G, Dabelea D, Mayer-Davis EJ, Mottl AK. Trajectories in estimated glomerular filtration rate in youth-onset type 1 and type 2 diabetes: the SEARCH for diabetes in youth study. J Diabetes Complicat. 2021;35:107768.
- Wheeler MJ, Green DJ, Cerin E, Ellis KA, Heinonen I, Lewis J, Naylor LH, Cohen N, Larsen R, Dempsey PC, Kingwell BA, Owen N, Dunstan DW. Combined effects of continuous exercise and intermittent active interruptions to prolonged sitting on postprandial glucose, insulin, and triglycerides in adults with obesity: a randomized crossover trial. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2020;17:152.
- Williams KV, Erbey JR, Becker D, Arslanian S, Orchard TJ. Can clinical factors estimate insulin resistance in type 1 diabetes? Diabetes. 2000;49:626–32.

- Yang D, Yan J, Deng H, Yang X, Luo S, Zheng X, Lv J, Liang W, Hong M, Wu Z, Yao B, Weng J, Xu W. Effects of metformin added to insulin in adolescents with type 1 diabetes: an exploratory crossover randomized trial. J Diabetes Res. 2020a;2020:7419345.
- Yang D, Zhou Y, Luo S, Zheng X, Ling P, Qiu L, Xu W, Liang H, Yao B, Weng J, Yan J. Clinical characteristics of fulminant type 1 diabetes compared with typical type 1 diabetes: one-year follow-up study from the Guangdong T1DM translational medicine study. J Diabetes Res. 2020b;Article ID 8726268.
- Zhang Y, Xu L, Liu X, Wang Y. Evaluation of insulin sensitivity by hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamps using stable isotope-labeled glucose. Cell Discov. 2018;4:17.
- Zheng X, Huang B, Luo S, Yang D, Bao W, Li J, Yao B, Weng J, Yan J. A new model to estimate insulin resistance via clinical parameters in adults with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2017;33(4);e2880.



Serum Betatrophin: What It Shows and How 17 It Alters in Gestational Diabetes Mellitus

Rauf Melekoglu and Ebru Celik

Contents

Gestational Diabetes Mellitus: Definition and Prevalence	377
GDM Incidence	378
GDM Risk Factors	378
GDM Treatment	378
Glucose Regulation During Healthy Pregnancy	379
GDM Physiology	379
The Adipose Tissue in the Pathophysiology of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus	380
Betatrophin	381
Betatrophin in Gestational Diabetes Mellitus	385
Applications to Prognosis, Other Diseases or Conditions	387
Applications to Prognosis	388
Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions	389
Mini Dictionary of Terms	390
Key Facts of Betatrophin	391
Summary Points	391
References	391

Abstract

Gestational diabetes mellitus is defined as diabetes mellitus diagnosed during the second or third trimester of pregnancy and not clearly associated with underlying type 1 or type 2 diabetes. According to the most recent data from the International Diabetes Federation, gestational diabetes mellitus affects 16.7% of all pregnant women, and approximately 21.1 million babies are born to pregnant women with

R. Melekoglu (🖂)

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, School of Medicine, Inonu University, Malatya, Turkey e-mail: rauf.melekoglu@inonu.edu.tr

E. Celik

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, School of Medicine, Koc University, Istanbul, Turkey e-mail: ecelik@ku.edu.tr

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 19

diabetes each year. There are many factors that contribute to the development of gestational diabetes, but the most common is beta-cell dysfunction and increased insulin resistance during pregnancy. In both animal and human studies, betatrophin has been found to be a major factor in beta cell growth and enlargement and has been associated with an increased risk of developing type 2 diabetes. While the effect of betatrophin on beta-cell proliferation in humans is still unknown, there has been growing interest in determining circulating levels of betatrophin in patients to elucidate its putative function in metabolic diseases. Several studies have shown that betatrophin concentrations are increased in both maternal serum and cord blood in pregnant women with gestational diabetes mellitus. Although there are some differences between studies, most likely due to the small sample sizes and wide range of detection rates for betatrophin levels, betatrophin is a promising diagnostic marker for gestational diabetes mellitus. Further research may help us to better understand the role of betatrophin in the pathophysiology of gestational diabetes mellitus.

Keywords

Adipokine · Angiopoietin-like protein 8 · Batokine · Betatrophin · Gestational diabetes · Insulin resistance · Lipasin · Obesity · Placental lactogen · Pregnancy · Refeeding-induced fat and liver

List of Abbreviations

	American Dichotog Association
ADA	
AKT	Protein Kinase B
AMPK	AMP-activated protein kinase
ANGPTL8	Angiopoietin-like protein 8
ASP	Acylation-stimulating protein
ATP	Adenosine Triphosphate
BMI	Body Mass Index
BMP	Bone Morphogenetic Proteins
BMP4	Bone morphogenetic protein 4
CXCL14	Chemokine Ligand 14
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FABP-4	Fatty acid-binding protein 4
FGF21	Fibroblast Growth Factor 21
GDM	Gestational Diabetes Mellitus
GLUT4	Glucose Transporter 4
HDL	High-density lipoprotein
HPLC	High-performance liquid chromatography
HOMA-IR	Homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance value
IADPSG	International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy
	Study Group
IGF-1	Insulin Growth Factor-1
IGFBP-2	Insulin-like growth factor-binding protein 2

IL	Interleukin
IRS-1	Insulin Receptor Substrate 1
LDL	Low-density lipoprotein
LPL	Lipoproetin Lipase
MALDI-TOF	Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight
METRNL	Meteorin-Like
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin
NRG4	Neuregulin-4
OGTT	Oral Glucose Tolerance Test
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase
PPAR-alpha	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor
RBP4	Retinol-binding protein 4
RIFL	Refeeding-induced fat and liver
SFRP5	Secreted Frizzled-Related Protein 5
T3	Triiodothyronine
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
UCP1	Uncoupling protein
VEGF-A	Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor A

Gestational Diabetes Mellitus: Definition and Prevalence

The American Diabetes Association (ADA) formally defines gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) as "diabetes mellitus diagnosed during the second or third trimester of pregnancy that is not definitely associated with underlying type 1 or type 2 diabetes" (American Diabetes Association 2018). However, the precise cutoff serum glucose levels for diagnosing GDM vary depending on the criteria used, and there has thus far been a lack of consistency among medical practitioners. The International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Group (IADPSG) criteria are currently recommended by the ADA, the World Health Organization, the International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics, and the Endocrine Society for the diagnosis of GDM (Chiefari et al. 2017). The IADPSG criteria were developed based on the international multicenter Hyperglycemia and Adverse Pregnancy Outcomes Trial findings, which included 23,000 pregnant women (HAPO Study Cooperative Research Group et al. 2008). The study results revealed a constant risk of unfavorable outcomes for both mother and fetus with uncontrolled maternal glycemia – even when plasma glucose levels were below the diagnostic threshold for GDM – implying that intervention criteria needed to be changed. All pregnant women should have a fasting plasma glucose test at their first prenatal visit (a value of >92 mg/dL is indicative of GDM), and if the fasting plasma glucose does not exceed 92 mg/dL, the IADPSG recommends a 2-h 75 g oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) at 24–28 weeks gestation. Since these cutoffs are lower than other previously published guidelines, they have resulted in a significant increase in the number of GDM cases and associated increased medical costs (Egan et al. 2017). Therefore, there has been considerable debate among experts about whether the IADPSG criteria should be modified to only screen at-high risk pregnant women (i.e., women over the age of 35, those with a body mass index (BMI) greater than 25 kg/m², those from high-risk ethnicities, or those with a family history of diabetes). Other studies, however, have shown that these efforts may miss a significant proportion of GDM cases while not significantly lowering treatment costs (Capula et al. 2013; Reece and Moore 2013). As a result, the IADPSG criteria are now the most widely recommended guidelines, though alternative criteria are still used in various facilities and countries.

GDM Incidence

Because of the numerous methods used for GDM screening and diagnosis, current estimates of GDM prevalence are difficult to determine. However, according to the most recent (2021) International Diabetes Federation data, GDM affects 16.7% of all pregnant women, resulting in approximately 21.1 million babies are born to pregnant women with diabetes each year (International Diabetes Federation 2021).

GDM Risk Factors

Risk factors for insulin resistance and/or diabetes include maternal age over 40, overweight or obesity, eating a Westernized diet low in micronutrients, and having a family history of diabetes mellitus. Also, several further risk factors for GDM have been consistently identified. Other risk factors that have been found related to GDM are as follows: excessive weight gain in pregnancy period, genetic polymorphism, altered in-utero microenvironment, and other insulin-resistant medical diseases such as polycystic ovarian syndrome (Plows et al. 2018).

GDM Treatment

Lifestyle modification (diet and exercise) is the only widely accepted treatment or prevention method for GDM. Furthermore, due to the common insulin resistance in this population, insulin treatment has only limited utility in the treatment of GDM. Despite the potential for new oral diabetes medications such as glyburide and metformin, there are still concerns about their long-term safety for pregnant women and their children. Therefore, they are now considered as a second-line treatment option for GDM (ACOG Practice Bulletin 2018).

Glucose Regulation During Healthy Pregnancy

At some point in every healthy pregnancy, the pregnant woman's body experiences a series of physiological changes. Additionally, there are modifications to the circulatory and respiratory systems as well as the hematologic and metabolic systems that are affected. Insulin sensitivity is one of the most important metabolic adaptations. Insulin sensitivity changes during pregnancy to accommodate the additional demands of the growing fetus inside. Adipose stores are prepared for the increased energy requirement of pregnancy by improving insulin sensitivity during early gestation. A rise in local and placental hormones, such as estrogen, progesterone, leptin, cortisol, human placental lactogen, and placental growth hormone, led to an increase in insulin resistance that occurs as the pregnancy progresses (Baz et al. 2016).

Therefore, blood glucose levels are slightly raised, and this glucose is easily transferred through the placenta to provide fetal development. In addition, this modest insulin resistance facilitates endogenous glucose synthesis and fat breakdown, resulting in an even more significant rise in maternal serum blood glucose and free fatty acid concentrations. For pregnant women, evidence from animal studies suggests that the pancreas compensates for these alterations through enhanced glucose-stimulated insulin production (Moyce and Dolinsky 2018). The fact that maternal insulin sensitivity returns to pre-pregnancy levels within a few days of delivery highlights the role of placental hormones in this process.

GDM Physiology

Chronic insulin resistance is present in the majority of cases of GDM, which is partially exacerbated by the typical insulin resistance that occurs especially during latter half of pregnancy (Fu and Retnakaran 2022). Consequently, women with this condition have higher levels of insulin resistance than healthy pregnant women, resulting in lower glucose utilization, higher glucose synthesis, and higher serum levels of free fatty acids. Excessive insulin secretion in response to high energy expenditure and high levels of insulin resistance is hypothesized to be the cause of beta-cell degeneration over time and eventually results in exhausting themselves. Given the striking similarity in etiopathology between GDM and type 2 diabetes, there has been substantial disagreement over the two conditions that should be separately considered in terms of etiology (Zajdenverg and Negrato 2017).

There are many factors that contribute to the development of GDM, but the most common is beta-cell dysfunction and increased insulin resistance throughout pregnancy. These impairments typically occur before pregnancy and can progress during pregnancy, and are associated with an increased risk of type 2 diabetes in the post-pregnancy period (Retnakaran et al. 2010).

Insulin resistance occurs when cells are unable to react to insulin stimulation effectively. In most cases, insulin resistance is caused by defects in insulin signaling,

which results in a lack of plasma membrane translocation of glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4) – the primary transporter capable of transporting glucose into the cytoplasm for energy use. In GDM, glucose uptake by insulin stimulation is reduced by 50% when compared to a healthy pregnancy (Kampmann et al. 2019). Even though insulin receptor abundance is frequently unchanged, altered insulin receptor serine/threonine phosphorylation dampens insulin signaling. Furthermore, GDM has been shown to alter the expression or phosphorylation of a number of downstream regulators of insulin signaling, including GLUT-4, insulin receptor substrate 1 (IRS-1), and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K). The majority of these molecular changes continue during pregnancy (Friedman et al. 2008). During a normal pregnancy, beta-cell hyperplasia and hypertrophy occur to meet the metabolic needs of the pregnancy. Beta-cells are unable to adapt to the demands of pregnancy during gestational diabetes, resulting in hyperglycemia when combined with decreased insulin sensitivity. Following pregnancy, beta-cell mass, serum glucose levels, and insulin receptor sensitivity all return to normal levels. Changes in beta-cell mass, insulin receptor sensitivity, and blood glucose levels may recover to normal in the postpartum period or remain impaired, putting them on a path to GDM or type 2 diabetes in subsequent pregnancies.

Furthermore, neurohormonal dysregulation has been linked to the etiology of insulin-resistant diseases like GDM. The neurohormonal system, which regulates hunger, total energy balance, and baseline metabolism, is formed by a complex network of the central nervous system (e.g., cortical regions that regulate intellectual, ocular, and reward centers) and peripheral (e.g., appetite hormones that are secreted from the gastrointestinal tract and adipose tissue) signals (Moehlecke et al. 2016). These factors contribute to GDM by influencing adipose tissue and glucose metabolism. This pathway is heavily influenced by the body's circadian system, which may explain why patients with severe sleep disorders or who work shifts are more likely to develop GDM (Facco et al. 2017). Adipokines and batokines are cell-signaling proteins that are primarily released by adipocytes and regulate neurohormonal cell metabolism.

The Adipose Tissue in the Pathophysiology of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus

Adipose tissue is a fully functional endocrine organ that secretes hundreds of bioactive chemicals known as adipokines. Adipokines have an autocrine and paracrine effect on adipocyte function, allowing adipocytes to interact intensively with the central nervous system, muscle, liver, and pancreas, as well as other organs in a neuroendocrine manner (Oh et al. 2016). Adipose tissue is divided into two depots based on their architecture and functions: brown adipose tissue and white adipose tissue. White adipose tissue is formed by unilocular cells, which have a single lipid droplet and undergo dynamic changes in response to calorie status. Excess calories are deposited in lipid vacuoles as triacylglycerol (lipogenesis), and the deposited triacylglycerol is degraded into glycerol and fatty acids (lipolysis) for use by other

tissues. On the other hand, brown adipose tissue depletes lipids in response to "heat" generated by beta-adrenergic activation or cold exposure. Adipocytes in brown adipose tissue are composed of multilocular cells with smaller lipid droplets and have a high number of mitochondria as well as an increased level of mitochondrial uncoupling protein 1, which is found in the inner membrane of the mitochondria and decouples oxidative respiratory metabolism from adenosine triphosphate (ATP) generation (Saely et al. 2012). White and brown adipose tissues both produce functional peptides and proteins known as "adipokines" and "batokines-also known as brown adipokines," respectively. Because of the structure and activity of these tissues, adipokines derived from white adipose tissue are thought to be biologically distinct from batokines derived from brown adipose tissue. These adipocyte-derived substances function similarly to hormones in that they regulate carbohydrate and lipid metabolism, insulin transmission, and inflammatory processes in various tissues, including the liver, pancreas, muscle, adipose tissue, and brain.

Adipokines are classified as either anti-inflammatory or inflammatory based on their expression levels in obesity and diabetes mellitus. Adiponectin, cardiotrophin-1, omentin-1, and secreted frizzled-related protein 5 (SFRP5) are anti-inflammatory adipokines that improve energy utilization in hepatocytes, muscle cells, pancreatic cells, and adipocytes (Jung and Jung 2021). The classification and function of adipokines are summarized in Table 1.

Batokines are produced by brown adipose tissue as well as brown-like adipose tissue. A wide range of processes, such as thermogenesis, immunity, angiogenesis, substrate consumption, and metabolic health regulation are controlled by batokines. In addition, these batokines conduct autocrine, paracrine, and endocrine actions in distant organs and tissues such as the liver, heart, musculoskeletal, brain, and white adipose tissue. The identification and characterization of factors released by adipose tissues may aid in developing therapeutic candidates for the treatment of a wide range of metabolic diseases, including obesity, diabetes mellitus, atherosclerosis, and dyslipidemia, including gestational diabetes. Table 2 summarizes batokines and their metabolic effects (Lee et al. 2019).

Betatrophin

In both animal and human studies, betatrophin has been found to be an essential factor in the growth and expansion of B-cells, and it has been linked to an increased risk of developing type 2 diabetes. Although it was initially identified as the hepatocellular carcinoma-associated protein TD26, it has also been referred to as Angiopoietin-like protein 8 (ANGPTL8), lipasin, or refeeding-induced fat and liver (RIFL) (Luo and Peng 2018). Because of its ability to stimulate beta-cell proliferation, the term "*betatrophin*" has recently gained popularity. The gene C19orf80 encodes the hormone, which belongs to the angiopoietin-like protein family (it is named as Gm6484 in mice). In humans, it has a more liver-specific expression than in mice, where it is mainly found in the liver and white and brown adipose tissues

	Adipokines	Metabolic role
Anti-inflammatory adipokines (Lower expression in obesity and diabetes mellitus)	Adiponectin	Gluconeogenesis, steatosis, inflammation, and fibrosis by activating 5' adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMPK) via AdipoR1 receptor in the liver Enhance B-oxidation, glucose uptake, and insulin sensitivity by activating the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) alpha via AdipoR2 receptor in the liver Enhance B-oxidation, glucose uptake, and insulin sensitivity via AdipoR1 and R2 receptors in the skeletal muscle Increase insulin secretion by activating AMPK and enhance B cell function and proliferation via AdipoR1 receptor in the pancreas
	Omentin-1	Enhance glucose uptake, exercise- induced insulin-sensitizing, and activated insulin receptor substrate by inhibiting the mTOR signaling pathway in the adipocytes
	SFRP5	Increase insulin sensitivity Inhibits obesity, atherosclerosis, and Wnt5a-mediated inflammation via Wnt signaling transduction by binding to Wnt protein
	Cardiotrophin- 1	Increase lipolysis and decrease adipocyte size. Improve glucose homeostasis and promote glucose uptake by insulin- stimulated phosphorylation of protein kinase B (AKT) in myotubes and adipocytes
Inflammatory adipokines (Higher	FABP-4	Increase adiposity and insulin resistance
expression in obesity and diabetes mellitus)	ASP	Enhance triglyceride synthesis, reduce fatty acid uptake Increase inflammation and insulin resistance
	RBP4	Increase inflammation and insulin
	Lipocalin-2	Increase inflammation and insulin resistance Enhance adipose tissue remodeling
	Chemerin	Increase adipogenesis and insulin resistance Atherosclerotic vascular changes, endothelial activation, reduced glucose uptake

Table 1 Classification and role of adipokines

(continued)

Adipokines	Metabolic role
Visfatin	Enhance inflammation, obesity, adiposity, insulin resistance
Leptin	Monocyte and macrophage activation Inflammatory stimuli (TNF, IL-6) in monocytes Administration of leptin normalized hyperinsulinemia, hyperglycemia, insulin resistance, lipodystrophy Fatty acid oxidation by activating AMPK in other tissues
Resistin	Decrease insulin-mediated glucose uptake in adipocytes Enhance hepatic glucose production and hepatic insulin resistance
Apelin	Inhibition of insulin secretion Deterioration of glucose metabolism Increased size of lipid droplets reduces adipocyte number Administration of apelin improves hepatic fibrosis, cardiac contractility, angiogenesis Promote glucose uptake by activating AMPK and AKT in soleus muscle
Gremlin-1	Contribute BMP4 resistance Increased in hypertrophic obesity

Table 1 (continued)

AKT, protein kinase B; AMPK, AMP-activated protein kinase; ASP, Acylation-stimulating protein; BMP4, Bone morphogenetic protein 4; FABP-4, fatty acid-binding protein 4; IL, Interleukin; mTOR, Mammalian target of rapamycin; PPAR-alpha, Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha; RBP4, Retinol-binding protein 4; SFRP5, Secreted frizzled-related protein 5, TNF, Tumor necrosis factor

(Ren et al. 2012). Betatrophin expression in mice is affected by both diet (increased synthesis induced by high-fat meal) and heat (enhanced production in cold conditions) (Fu et al. 2013a). Yi et al. administered mice an insulin receptor antagonist (\$961) for 1 week to induce carbohydrate intolerance and hyperinsulinemia. Ki67 immunohistochemistry analysis revealed a dose-dependent increase in beta cell proliferation simultaneously. Four days after the S961 therapy was discontinued, beta-cell mass growth rates returned to normal. When S961 was incubated, it had no effect on the proliferation of isolated mouse islets. According to the findings of a microarray study of those tissues, betatrophin (Gm6484) was found to be expressed at higher levels in the mice's liver and white adipose tissue after S961 treatment. Betatrophin messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) expression was also found to be higher in ob/ob and db/db mice, as well as pregnant mice. On the other hand, betatrophin levels did not increase in mice with acute beta-cell depletion caused by beta cell-specific diphtheria toxin exposure. They also showed that betatrophin hormone is secreted and found in human plasma. Overexpression of betatrophin in the liver of mice resulted in a 17-fold increase in beta-cell proliferation and a 3-fold
Batokines	Metabolic role
FGF-21	Cardioprotective effects regulate glucose and lipid metabolism and energy homeostasis, promotes thermogenesis
Т3	Contributes to many physiological processes, including metabolism, thermogenesis, development, and heart rate
IGFBP-2	Involves in cellular processes, such as proliferation and migration, and links the communication between energy metabolism and bone formation
IGF-1	Mitigates pro-inflammation and ameliorates glucose homeostasis
CXCL-14	Enables immune cells (monocytes, dendritic cells, natural killer cells) to localize at inflammatory sites in response to inflammation
VEGF-A	Promotes vascularization, enhances thermogenesis
NRG-4	Represses hepatic lipogenesis, protects hepatic steatosis and hyperlipidemia Inversely associated with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, type 2 diabetes, GDM, and metabolic syndrome
Myostatin	Negative effects on muscles and brown adipogenesis. Induction of myostatin causes impaired insulin-stimulated glucose uptake and insulin resistance
METRNL	Stimulates the recruitment of eosinophils and alternatively activated macrophages in white adipose tissue, and thus increases the level of catecholamines
BMP-8b	Promotes brown adipocyte differentiation Regulates thermogenic processes via signaling through the hypothalamus of the brain
IL-6	Brown adipose tissue-derived IL-6 is essential for the profound effects of brown adipose tissue transplantation on insulin sensitivity and glucose homeostasis.
Endothelin 1	Negatively regulates brown/beige adipogenesis, suppresses UCP1 expression and whole-body energy expenditure
SLIT2-C	Stimulates adipose thermogenesis, enhances energy expenditure, and improves glucose homeostasis
Betatrophin	Represses the activity of lipoprotein lipase, enhances pancreatic ßcell replication

 Table 2
 Summary of batokines and their metabolic effects

BMP, Bone Morphogenetic Proteins; CXCL14, Chemokine Ligand 14; FGF21, fibroblast growth factor 21; GDM, Gestational diabetes mellitus; IGF-1, Insulin Growth Factor-1; IGFBP-2, Insulin-like growth factor-binding protein 2; IL, Interleukin; METRNL, Meteorin-Like; NRG4, Neuregulin-4; T3, Triiodothyronine; UCP1, uncoupling protein; VEGF-A, Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor A

increase in beta-cell mass. Overexpression of betatrophin also resulted in lower fasting blood glucose, better glycemic control, and a normal insulin tolerance response (Yi et al. 2013).

The effect of betatrophin on human beta-cell proliferation is still unknown. Human and mouse islets were implanted under the renal capsules of mice and treated with the insulin receptor antagonist S961 to induce insulin resistance, which has previously been shown to enhance betatrophin production in hepatic tissue. Both native and transplanted mouse islets showed increased beta-cell proliferation, whereas human beta-cells were unaffected. When analyzing the age dependence of human beta-cell growth, it is worth noting that one of the five donors was only 4 years old, another was only 18, and the rest were over 40 (Espes et al. 2015). In conclusion, the involvement of betatrophin in human and mouse beta-cell proliferation has been contested; nonetheless, its role in insulin resistance has become well established, despite the need for additional research into its mode of action.

Concurrently, another study group revealed that betatrophin might inhibit lipoprotein lipase (LPL) activity in vitro. In mice, overexpression of betatrophin resulted in a fivefold increase in blood triglyceride levels. Betatrophin expression in the liver was also increased by a high-fat diet and decreased by fasting. They also demonstrated that cold modulates its expression by promoting its production in brown adipose tissue after cold exposure. According to previous studies, betatrophin is predominantly located in the liver, white and brown adipose tissues. High fat consumption and cold exposure can both increase the level of betatrophin in the body. Furthermore, betatrophin modulates plasma triglyceride levels by suppressing LPL activity, which is accomplished through its interaction with the N-terminal domain of ANGPTL3 (Fu et al. 2013b).

Betatrophin in Gestational Diabetes Mellitus

Betatrophin has been shown to be elevated in pregnant women with GDM as well as in adults with type 2 diabetes in both maternal serum and cord blood, as summarized in Table 3. Firstly, in a mouse model, betatrophin was found to be elevated during gestation. According to the findings of Yi and colleagues, mice at 18.5 date post-conception had roughly 20 times more betatrophin levels than those that were not pregnant or in their early stages of pregnancy (Yi et al. 2013). A physiological compensatory mechanism to induce beta-cell proliferation has been proposed to cause elevated betatrophin levels during pregnancy.

During pregnancy, maternal hormones vary, resulting in a decrease in insulin sensitivity comparable to that found in type 2 diabetes. Because of sufficient cell compensation, most pregnant women's serum glucose levels remain steady during pregnancy. If insulin resistance exceeds what the beta-cells can tolerate or beta-cell function declines, there is a risk of developing GDM. Increased betatrophin levels have been proposed as a way to compensate for the increased insulin requirement. In line with this idea, Ebert et al. observed that betatrophin levels were considerably more significant in women with GDM compared to healthy pregnant women (Ebert et al. 2015). They also found a lower postpartum level of betatrophin than during pregnancy. Pregnant women with GDM reported significantly higher betatrophin levels than their healthy counterparts, regardless of BMI or gestational age (Erol et al. 2015). Previous research found that women with GDM had higher levels of betatrophin than women who did not have diabetes (Wawrusiewicz-Kurylonek et al. 2015a; Xie et al. 2016). Betatrophin has been associated with insulin resistance in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus, and it has been postulated that it could be a potential novel biomarker for carbohydrate and lipid metabolism.

As a result, proposed markers like betatrophin for detecting the onset of diabetes would help us better understand the disease's underlying pathophysiology and,

lable 3 LISU OI SUUDIES UND	t invesugated	оеганторпи	I levels III pre			
Study	Country	Sample size	Sample	Method/Kit	Trimester	Result
Abdeltawab et al. (2021)	Egypt	109	Serum	Both real-time-PCR and Elabscience ELISA kit	Second/ third	Higher betatrophin level in the GDM women
Ebert et al. (2015)	Germany	148	Serum	Phoenix Pharmaceuticals ELISA kit.	Third	Higher betatrophin levels in women with GDM
Erol et al. (2015)	Turkey	90	Serum	EIAAB ELISA kit	Second	Higher betatrophin level in the GDM women
Seyhanli et al. (2021)	Turkey	60	Serum	CUSABIO ELISA kit	Second	Higher betatrophin levels in women with GDM
Gülcü Bulmuş et al. (2020)	Turkey	60	Serum	Elabscience ELISA kit	Second	Higher betatrophin levels in pregnant women with GDM
Huang et al. (2016)	China	49	Serum	EIAab Science ELISA kit	Second	Higher betatrophin level in the GDM women
Pan et al. (2019)	China	400	Serum	ElAab Science ELISA kit	Second	Higher betatrophin level in the GDM women
Wawrusiewicz- Kuryloneket et al. (2015b)	Poland	190	Serum/ cord blood	USCN Life Science ELISA kit	Third	Higher maternal and cord blood betatrophin levels in women with GDM
Trebotic et al. (2015)	Austria	40	Plasma	ElAAB ELISA kit.	Third	Higher betatrophin level in the GDM women
Xie et al. (2016)	China	54	Cord blood	EIAAB ELISA kit.	Third	Higher betatrophin level in cord blood of women with GDM
Yang et al. (2021)	China	77	Serum/ cord blood	USCNK ELISA kit	Third	Lower maternal and cord blood betatrophin levels in women with GDM
ELISA, Enzyme-linked imn	nunosorbent a	assay, GDM	, Gestational d	liabetes mellitus, PCR, Polymer	ase chain read	ction

Table 3 List of studies that investigated betatrophin levels in pregnant women with GDM

potentially, give solutions for disease prevention. Betatrophin is a promising diagnostic marker for both type 2 diabetes and GDM. The majority of research indicates that betatrophin levels are higher in patients with type 2 diabetes, type 1 diabetes, and GDM. Increased serum levels of betatrophin have also been seen in patients who are obese or have metabolic syndrome. However, certain differences exist between studies, which are most likely due to the small sample sizes and the wide range of detection kits used to test for betatrophin levels. In addition, because the majority of current research is cross-sectional, it is unknown what role betatrophin plays in the pathophysiology of diabetes and how it contributes to beta-cell proliferation and insulin resistance. Further betatrophin researches could help us better understand the biology of diabetes mellitus and other metabolic diseases, leading to new treatment options (Abu-Farha et al. 2017).

Applications to Prognosis, Other Diseases or Conditions

In recent years, there has been a rise in interest in assessing betatrophin circulating concentrations in patients as part of efforts to elucidate its putative function in metabolic disease (Fenzl et al. 2014). Betatrophin levels have been observed to be altered in a number of physiological (e.g., postprandial state) and pathological circumstances such as type 2 diabetes, type 1 diabetes, and obesity (Fu et al. 2014a). There was also a strong relationship between betatrophin levels and metabolic parameters such as BMI, blood glucose levels, insulin resistance, and serum lipid parameters like low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol and high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol, and triglyceride levels. However, the findings of these researches show a wide range of variations. Circulating betatrophin levels, for example, ranged from 0.3 ng/ml to 45 ng/ml in lean and nondiabetic patients, and levels were either raised or decreased in type 2 diabetes or obesity. Betatrophin levels were also either positively or negatively associated with insulin levels and correlated with either atherogenic lipid parameters or HDL cholesterol (Gómez-Ambrosi et al. 2014). A recent study of 30 human subjects found that associations between betatrophin and BMI can be both positive and negative, depending on whether antibodies are employed to detect the C-terminal or N-terminal betatrophin. It has been argued that evaluating separate betatrophin species using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kits that use either N- or C-terminal antibodies can resolve these contradictions (Fu et al. 2014b). The C-terminal antibody detected both full-length protein (band position corresponding to 22kD) and C terminal fragments (band position corresponding to low molecular weight) when human sera were tested by Western blot. By high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) and matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight (MALDI-TOF), the smaller pieces were identified as amino acids 118–198 and 133–198, respectively, indicating that betatrophin is likely cleaved in vivo to release the C-terminal fragments while the N-terminal fragments are eliminated (Chang et al. 2013). As a result, the N-terminal test is expected to detect the full-length protein, but the C-terminal kit analyzes the whole betatrophin molecule, which includes both the full-length protein and the C-terminal fragments. Furthermore, betatrophin levels indicated by the C-terminal kit in lean and nondiabetic subjects are higher than those reported by the N-terminal kit.

Two possible reasons have been proposed for this variation. Splicing of betatrophin transcripts is the first alternative reason. Despite the fact that the Ensemble database contains two other transcripts in addition to the 198-residue transcript ENSP00000252453: isoforms ENSP00000464941 and ENSP00000465378 (lacking 99 and 140 N-terminal amino acid residues, respectively), only the complete transcript was found in human liver (Zhang and Abou-Samra 2014), ruling out alternative splicing. Inconsistencies could also be the result of sample deterioration. Because C-terminal fragments are more stable than N-terminal fragments, they concentrate in the circulation, resulting in elevated serum total betatrophin levels. However, proteolytic regulation appears to be the most likely explanation, given the presence of proteinase cleavage sites and the related C-terminal fragments detected in vivo using mass spectrometry (Chang et al. 2013). Whichever explanation is adopted, care should be taken to examine which antibodies were employed when analyzing betatrophin ELISA data.

Numerous studies have been conducted on betatrophin, and its correlates in nondiabetic individuals. The most extensive study on betatrophin levels in nondiabetic patients found a positive correlation between betatrophin and age, BMI, waist/hip ratio, fasting plasma glucose, glycosylated hemoglobin, serum insulin levels, homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance value (HOMA-IR), and serum triglyceride levels (Espes et al. 2015).

Previous research has revealed that plasma betatrophin levels increase with age, although there is no association with fasting hyperglycemia, hemoglobin A1c, BMI, or serum lipid profile. In nondiabetic people, betatrophin and age have been found to have a positive correlation. In children over the age of 8, betatrophin levels were shown to be higher in boys than in girls with the same BMI. In individuals without diabetes, some studies reported a negative link between betatrophin levels and BMI, whereas others found a positive correlation. Consistent with recent findings on betatrophin mRNA expression in rodents, circulatory betatrophin levels in lean human individuals were found to increase 2 h after a specific meal (Espes et al. 2015; Fu et al. 2014a).

Applications to Prognosis

The betatrophin mRNA levels in the liver of the *ob/ob* and *db/db* mouse models of obesity and type 2 diabetes were found elevated in the initial study conducted by Melton et al. (Yi et al. 2013). And they found that the expression of betatrophin increased as a response to insulin resistance produced by treatment with the insulin receptor antagonist S961. A further benefit of betatrophin overexpression is an improvement in glycemic management. These data suggest that betatrophin itself does not cause insulin resistance but instead leads to increase beta-cell mass to keep glucose homeostasis normal. Therefore, an increase in betatrophin would be

expected in insulin-resistant patients to prevent the development of clinical diabetes if betatrophin plays the same or a different role in humans (Yi et al. 2013). According to a study by Chen et al., patients recently diagnosed with type 2 diabetes had higher betatrophin levels than healthy controls, patients with impaired fasting blood glucose, and patients with impaired glucose tolerance. Although postmortem studies show a reduction in beta-cell mass in patients with long-term type 2 diabetes, betatrophin is consistently associated with the duration of diabetes (Chen et al. 2015). Researchers have found no difference in glycemic control between people with type 2 diabetes who have higher or lower betatrophin levels in cross-sectional studies, and some have even found that betatrophin levels are higher in those who have poorer glycemic control (e.g., higher fasting blood glucose, HbA1c) (Fu et al. 2014a).

However, the results of these studies are influenced by the different treatment regimens used in the various research populations, and the effects of the most commonly used antidiabetic drugs on betatrophin levels remain to be determined. Two studies found a positive association between betatrophin and HOMA-IR, whereas others found a negative association. Two of these studies focused on newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes individuals, whereas the other study examined patients with newly diagnosed but early-onset type 2 diabetes. Correlations were calculated for all participants in these studies. In one study, there was no change in betatrophin levels between individuals with normal glucose tolerance and those with impaired glucose tolerance. The possible reasons for these contradictory results have been poorly described (Kong et al. 2017).

Several investigations have indicated that betatrophin levels are higher in women with GDM than in control participants, suggesting that increased insulin resistance and insulin requirements in GDM may play a role in the increase in betatrophin levels. Additionally, Natalia et al. and Wang et al. found that betatrophin levels in both maternal serum and umbilical cord blood were elevated in GDM patients. In addition, the quantity of betatrophin in cord blood proved to be higher than in maternal serum, which may indicate its role in increasing beta-cell proliferation during intrauterine life in these studies. Patients with GDM had higher levels of betatrophin in their blood, according to the results of the most recent meta-analysis (Guo and Wang 2016; Wawrusiewicz-Kurylonek et al. 2015b). Betatrophin could be a valuable tool in diagnosing GDM because of the lack of evident symptoms in women with GDM. This finding could help physicians educate GDM patients on preventing disease progression. However, in humans, the regulation and metabolism of betatrophin remain largely unexplored.

Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions

In the insulin resistance pathway, both the liver and adipose tissue produce betatrophin. The liver is a major player in the body's glucose metabolism. Another essential role that adipose tissue plays in insulin resistance is that it causes an increase in inflammation, produces free fatty acids, and inhibits the formation of adiponectin. Since obesity is associated with insulin resistance and abnormal fat metabolism, it is critical that betatrophin is also controlled by adipose tissue (O'Rahilly 2007). Studies in rodents have shown that obese rats have increased betatrophin levels. In nondiabetic subjects, a recent study found a positive correlation between betatrophin and BMI and the waist-to-hip ratio (Zhang 2012; Abu-Farha et al. 2015). In another study, betatrophin levels were found to be elevated in obese subjects but decreased after exercise (Abu-Farha et al. 2016a).

Other concomitant diseases that may affect betatrophin levels may explain some of the discrepancies in reported betatrophin levels. For example, thyroid function, polycystic ovary syndrome, and metabolic syndrome have been associated with betatrophin levels. It was recently reported that betatrophin levels were higher in individuals with metabolic syndrome than healthy controls. When stratified by the number of metabolic syndrome components, people with more metabolic syndrome components had significantly higher betatrophin levels (Abu-Farha et al. 2016b). In addition, Crujeiras et al. found that obese patients with metabolic syndrome had higher betatrophin levels, which was associated with less weight loss and dyslipidemia after a weight loss program (Crujeiras et al. 2016).

A meta-analysis conducted by Li et al. has shown that betatrophin levels are associated with type 2 diabetes. This meta-analysis included nine studies that met their criteria. Nonobese diabetics with type 2 diabetes had higher betatrophin levels than nonobese nondiabetics. Comparing obese subjects with type 2 diabetes to obese nondiabetics, there was no significant difference in serum betatrophin levels. To be clear, their meta-analysis did not include any of the more recent data showing that betatrophin levels are higher in patients with type 2 diabetes (Li et al. 2016). The newer data had a much larger sample size than previous studies. For this reason, their meta-analysis referred to the presence of a small sample size as a primary limitation of a study when interpreting the results. Also, they noticed that betatrophin levels were found to vary widely in different studies because of the use of different ELISA kits and different betatrophin concentrations (Li et al. 2016).

Mini Dictionary of Terms

- Adipokines: They are cell-signaling proteins that are secreted by adipose tissue.
- Batokines: Adipokines that are derived from brown adipose tissue.
- Homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance value: A method that measures insulin resistance and beta-cell function.
- Insulin resistance: Is a condition in which cells do not respond appropriately to the insulin hormone.
- db/db mouse: A mutant mouse that has homozygous diabetes spontaneous mutation causes obesity, chronic hyperglycemia, pancreatic beta-cell atrophy, and hypoinsulinemia,
- ob/ob mouse: A mutant mouse that overeats due to defects in the gene that produces leptin, resulting in extreme weight gain.

Key Facts of Betatrophin

- According to the most recent International Diabetes Federation data, gestational diabetes mellitus affects 16.7% of all pregnant women, resulting in approximately 21.1 million babies are born to pregnant women with diabetes each year.
- There are many factors that contribute to the development of gestational diabetes, but the most common is beta-cell dysfunction and increased insulin resistance throughout pregnancy.
- Betatrophin enhances pancreatic beta-cell replication.
- Betatrophin can inhibit the activity of lipoprotein lipase.
- The effect of betatrophin on human beta cell proliferation is still unknown.
- In recent years, there has been a rise in interest in assessing betatrophin circulating concentrations in patients as part of efforts to elucidate its putative function in metabolic diseases, including obesity, type 1, and type 2 diabetes.

Summary Points

- Insulin sensitivity changes during pregnancy due to variations in maternal hormones to accommodate the additional demands of the growing fetus.
- Betatrophin levels have been shown to be elevated in pregnant women with gestational diabetes mellitus in both maternal serum and cord blood.
- Certain differences exist between studies, which are most likely due to the small sample sizes and the wide range of detection kits used to test for betatrophin levels.
- Betatrophin is a promising diagnostic marker for gestational diabetes mellitus.
- Further research could help us better understand the role of betatrophin in the pathophysiology of gestational diabetes mellitus.

References

- Abdeltawab A, Zaki ME, Abdeldayem Y, Mohamed AA, Zaied SM. Circulating micro RNA-223 and angiopoietin-like protein 8 as biomarkers of gestational diabetes mellitus. Br J Biomed Sci. 2021;78(1):12–7.
- Abu-Farha M, Abubaker J, Al-Khairi I, Cherian P, Noronha F, Hu FB, Behbehani K, Elkum N. Higher plasma betatrophin/ANGPTL8 level in Type 2 diabetes subjects does not correlate with blood glucose or insulin resistance. Sci Rep. 2015;5:10949.
- Abu-Farha M, Sriraman D, Cherian P, AlKhairi I, Elkum N, Behbehani K, Abubaker J. Circulating ANGPTL8/betatrophin is increased in obesity and reduced after exercise training. PLoS One. 2016a;11(1):e0147367.
- Abu-Farha M, Abubaker J, Al-Khairi I, Cherian P, Noronha F, Kavalakatt S, Khadir A, Behbehani K, Alarouj M, Bennakhi A, Elkum N. Circulating angiopoietin-like protein 8 (betatrophin) association with HsCRP and metabolic syndrome. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2016b;15:25.
- Abu-Farha M, Abubaker J, Tuomilehto J. ANGPTL8 (betatrophin) role in diabetes and metabolic diseases. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2017;33(8):e2919.

- ACOG Practice Bulletin No. 190: gestational diabetes mellitus. Obstet Gynecol. 2018;131(2): e49–64.
- American Diabetes Association. 2. Classification and diagnosis of diabetes: standards of medical care in diabetes-2018. Diabetes Care. 2018;41(Suppl 1):S13–27.
- Baz B, Riveline JP, Gautier JF. Endocrinology of pregnancy: gestational diabetes mellitus: definition, aetiological and clinical aspects. Eur J Endocrinol. 2016;174(2):R43–51.
- Capula C, Chiefari E, Vero A, Arcidiacono B, Iiritano S, Puccio L, Pullano V, Foti DP, Brunetti A, Vero R. Gestational diabetes mellitus: screening and outcomes in southern Italian pregnant women. ISRN Endocrinol. 2013;2013:387495.
- Chang JK, Lyu RM, Chen XQ, Tian Q, Sabirov A, Dun SL, Dun NJ. Detection of C-terminal betatrophin peptides in human plasma and rodent liver. In: The 4th Asia-Pacific international peptide symposium. Peptide Science, Japan. Edited by Nishiuchi Y, Teshima T; 2013. p. 243–6.
- Chen X, Lu P, He W, Zhang J, Liu L, Yang Y, et al. Circulating betatrophin levels are increased in patients with type 2 diabetes and associated with insulin resistance. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2015;100(1):E96–100.
- Chiefari E, Arcidiacono B, Foti D, Brunetti A. Gestational diabetes mellitus: an updated overview. J Endocrinol Investig. 2017;40(9):899–909.
- Crujeiras AB, Zulet MA, Abete I, Amil M, Carreira MC, Martínez JA, Casanueva FF. Interplay of atherogenic factors, protein intake and betatrophin levels in obese-metabolic syndrome patients treated with hypocaloric diets. Int J Obes. 2016;40(3):403–10.
- Ebert T, Kralisch S, Wurst U, Lössner U, Kratzsch J, Blüher M, Stumvoll M, Tönjes A, Fasshauer M. Betatrophin levels are increased in women with gestational diabetes mellitus compared to healthy pregnant controls. Eur J Endocrinol. 2015;173(1):1–7.
- Egan AM, Vellinga A, Harreiter J, Simmons D, Desoye G, Corcoy R, DALI Core Investigator Group, et al. Epidemiology of gestational diabetes mellitus according to IADPSG/WHO 2013 criteria among obese pregnant women in Europe. Diabetologia. 2017;60(10):1913–21.
- Erol O, Ellidag HY, Ayik H, Ozel MK, Derbent AU, Yilmaz N. Evaluation of circulating betatrophin levels in gestational diabetes mellitus. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2015;31:652–6.
- Espes D, Martinell M, Liljebäck H, Carlsson PO. Betatrophin in diabetes mellitus: the epidemiological evidence in humans. Curr Diab Rep. 2015;15(12):104.
- Facco FL, Grobman WA, Reid KJ, Parker CB, Hunter SM, Silver RM, et al. Objectively measured short sleep duration and later sleep midpoint in pregnancy are associated with a higher risk of gestational diabetes. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2017;217(4):447.e1–447.e13.
- Fenzl A, Itariu BK, Kosi L, Fritzer-Szekeres M, Kautzky-Willer A, Stulnig TM, Kiefer FW. Circulating betatrophin correlates with atherogenic lipid profiles but not with glucose and insulin levels in insulin-resistant individuals. Diabetologia. 2014;57(6):1204–8.
- Friedman JE, Kirwan JP, Jing M, Presley L, Catalano PM. Increased skeletal muscle tumor necrosis factor-alpha and impaired insulin signaling persist in obese women with gestational diabetes mellitus 1 year postpartum. Diabetes. 2008;57(3):606–13.
- Fu J, Retnakaran R. The life course perspective of gestational diabetes: an opportunity for the prevention of diabetes and heart disease in women. EClinicalMedicine. 2022;45:101294.
- Fu Z, Yao F, Abou-Samra AB, Zhang R. Lipasin, thermoregulated in brown fat, is a novel but a typical member of the angiopoietin-like protein family. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2013a;430(3):1126–31.
- Fu Z, Yao F, Abou-Samra AB, Zhang R. Lipasin, thermoregulated in brown fat, is a novel but atypical member of the angiopoietin-like protein family. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2013b;430:1126–31.
- Fu Z, Berhane F, Fite A, Seyoum B, Abou-Samra AB, Zhang R. Elevated circulating lipasin/ betatrophin in human type 2 diabetes and obesity. Sci Rep. 2014a;4:5013.
- Fu Z, Abou-Samra AB, Zhang R. An explanation for recent discrepancies in levels of human circulating betatrophin. Diabetologia. 2014b;57(10):2232–4.
- Gómez-Ambrosi J, Pascual E, Catalán V, Rodríguez A, Ramírez B, Silva C, Gil MJ, Salvador J, Frühbeck G. Circulating betatrophin concentrations are decreased in human obesity and type 2 diabetes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2014;99(10):E2004–9.

- Gülcü Bulmuş F, Melekoğlu R, Gürsu MF, Bağcı H, Celik Kavak E, Akyol A. Evaluation of second-trimester maternal serum betatrophin levels and lipid and carbohydrate metabolism parameters in patients with gestational diabetes mellitus. Turk J Obstet Gynecol. 2020;17(1): 28–33.
- Guo H, Wang R. Changes and clinical significance of betatrophin level in plasma and cord blood in pregnant women with gestational diabetes mellitus. Hainan Med J. 2016;7(27):1070–2.
- HAPO Study Cooperative Research Group, Metzger BE, Lowe LP, Dyer AR, Trimble ER, Chaovarindr U, Coustan DR, et al. Hyperglycemia and adverse pregnancy outcomes. N Engl J Med. 2008;358(19):1991–2002.
- Huang Y, Fang C, Ma Z, Guo H, Wang R, Hu J. Betatrophin levels were increased in pregnant women with or without gestational diabetes mellitus and associated with beta cell function. Rev Bras Ginecol Obstet. 2016;38(6):287–92.
- International Diabetes Federation. IDF diabetes atlas. 10th ed. Brussels: IDF; 2021.
- Jung HN, Jung CH. The role of anti-inflammatory adipokines in cardiometabolic disorders: moving beyond adiponectin. Int J Mol Sci. 2021;22(24):13529.
- Kampmann U, Knorr S, Fuglsang J, Ovesen P. Determinants of maternal insulin resistance during pregnancy: an updated overview. J Diabetes Res. 2019;2019:5320156.
- Kong FJ, Ma LL, Li G, Chen YX, Zhou JQ. Circulating betatrophin levels and gestational diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2017;12(1):e0169941.
- Lee MW, Lee M, Oh KJ. Adipose tissue-derived signatures for obesity and type 2 diabetes: adipokines, batokines and microRNAs. J Clin Med. 2019;8(6):854.
- Li S, Liu D, Li L, Li Y, Li Q, An Z, et al. Circulating betatrophin in patients with type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis. J Diabetes Res. 2016;2016:6194750.
- Luo M, Peng D. ANGPTL8: an important regulator in metabolic disorders. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2018;9:169.
- Moehlecke M, Canani LH, Silva LO, Trindade MR, Friedman R, Leitão CB. Determinants of body weight regulation in humans. Arch Endocrinol Metab. 2016;60(2):152–62.
- Moyce BL, Dolinsky VW. Maternal β-cell adaptations in pregnancy and placental signalling: implications for gestational diabetes. Int J Mol Sci. 2018;19(11):3467.
- O'Rahilly S. Human obesity and insulin resistance: lessons from experiments of nature. Biochem Soc Trans. 2007;35:33–6.
- Oh KJ, Lee DS, Kim WK, Han BS, Lee SC, Bae KH. Metabolic adaptation in obesity and type II diabetes: myokines, adipokines and hepatokines. Int J Mol Sci. 2016;18(1):8.
- Pan R, Zhang H, Yu S, et al. Betatrophin for diagnosis and prognosis of mothers with gestational diabetes mellitus. J Int Med Res. 2019;47(2):710–7.
- Plows JF, Stanley JL, Baker PN, Reynolds CM, Vickers MH. The pathophysiology of gestational diabetes mellitus. Int J Mol Sci. 2018;19(11):3342.
- Reece EA, Moore T. The diagnostic criteria for gestational diabetes: to change or not to change? Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2013;208(4):255–9.
- Ren G, Kim JY, Smas CM. Identification of RIFL, a novel adipocyte-enriched insulin target gene with a role in lipid metabolism. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2012;303(3):E334–51.
- Retnakaran R, Qi Y, Sermer M, Connelly PW, Hanley AJ, Zinman B. Beta-cell function declines within the first year postpartum in women with recent glucose intolerance in pregnancy. Diabetes Care. 2010;33(8):1798–804.
- Saely CH, Geiger K, Drexel H. Brown versus white adipose tissue: a mini-review. Gerontology. 2012;58(1):15–23.
- Seyhanli Z, Seyhanli A, Aksun S, Pamuk BO. Evaluation of serum Angiopoietin-like protein 2 (ANGPTL-2), Angiopoietin-like protein 8 (ANGPTL-8), and high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP) levels in patients with gestational diabetes mellitus and normoglycemic pregnant women. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2021;2021:1–9.
- Trebotic LK, Klimek P, Thomas A, et al. Circulating betatrophin is strongly increased in pregnancy and gestational diabetes mellitus. PLoS One. 2015;10(9):e0136701.
- Wawrusiewicz-Kurylonek N, Telejko B, Kuzmicki M, et al. Increased maternal and cord blood betatrophin in gestational diabetes. PLoS One. 2015a;10:e0131171.

- Wawrusiewicz-Kurylonek N, Telejko B, Kuzmicki M, Sobota A, Lipinska D, Pliszka J, et al. Increased maternal and cord blood betatrophin in gestational diabetes. PLoS One. 2015b;10(6): e131171.
- Xie X, Gao H, Wu S, et al. Increased cord blood betatrophin levels in the offspring of mothers with gestational diabetes. PLoS One. 2016;11:e0155646.
- Yang F, Yang W, Wang G, Liu Y, Jin J. Association of betatrophin amounts with 25-(OH)D levels in patients with gestational diabetes mellitus. Medicine (Baltimore). 2021;100(16):e25646.
- Yi P, Park JS, Melton DA. Betatrophin: a hormone that controls pancreatic beta-cell proliferation. Cell. 2013;153(4):747–58.
- Zajdenverg L, Negrato CA. Gestational diabetes mellitus and type 2 diabetes: same disease in a different moment of life? Maybe not. Arch Endocrinol Metab. 2017;61(3):208–10.
- Zhang R. Lipasin, a novel nutritionally-regulated liver-enriched factor that regulates serum triglyceride levels. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2012;424:786–92.
- Zhang R, Abou-Samra AB. A dual role of lipasin (betatrophin) in lipid metabolism and glucose homeostasis: consensus and controversy. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2014;13:133.



Biomarkers in Disease: Diabetes Methods, 18 Discoveries, and Applications

Luiz Sérgio F. de Carvalho, Aline Ioshie Akamine Asari, Bruna Stefany Bento de Sousa Teles, Adriano de Britto Chaves Filho, and Marcos Yukio Yoshinaga

Contents

Risk Prediction of Diabetes and the Role of Lipoproteins 398 The Role of Large VLDL Particles (High Density of VLDL1 Particles) in Risk Prediction 398 The Role of Large VLDL Particles (High Density of VLDL1 Particles) in Risk Prediction 398 The Role of Large VLDL Particles (High Density of VLDL1 Particles) in Risk Prediction 398 The Role of Large VLDL Particles (High Density of VLDL1 Particles) in Risk Prediction 399 The Role of VLDL Particles and Triglycerides in Risk Prediction of Diabetes: What is 399 The Role of Genetics? 400 The Role of Large VLDL Particles (High Density of VLDL1 Particles) in Risk Prediction 400 The Role of Large VLDL Particles (High Density of VLDL1 Particles) in Risk Prediction 401 Lipidomics as Tool to Study TRL Metabolism and the Risk of Diabetes 402 Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions 404 Mini-Dictionary of Terms 402 Key Facts of Type 2 Diabetes and Hypertriglyceridemia 402	Introduction	397
The Role of Large VLDL Particles (High Density of VLDL1 Particles) in Risk Prediction 398 The Role of Large VLDL Particles (High Density of VLDL1 Particles) in Risk Prediction 399 The Role of Large VLDL Particles (High Density of VLDL1 Particles) in Risk Prediction 399 The Role of VLDL Particles and Triglycerides in Risk Prediction of Diabetes: What is 399 The Role of Genetics? 400 The Role of Large VLDL Particles (High Density of VLDL1 Particles) in Risk Prediction 400 The Role of Large VLDL Particles (High Density of VLDL1 Particles) in Risk Prediction 400 The Role of Large VLDL Particles (High Density of VLDL1 Particles) in Risk Prediction 401 Lipidomics as Tool to Study TRL Metabolism and the Risk of Diabetes 402 Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions 404 Mini-Dictionary of Terms 402 Key Facts of Type 2 Diabetes and Hypertriglyceridemia 402	Risk Prediction of Diabetes and the Role of Lipoproteins	398
of Diabetes: Results from Clinical Studies 398 The Role of Large VLDL Particles (High Density of VLDL1 Particles) in Risk Prediction 399 of Diabetes: Rationale Suggesting a Causal Role 399 The Role of VLDL Particles and Triglycerides in Risk Prediction of Diabetes: What is 399 The Role of Genetics? 400 The Role of Large VLDL Particles (High Density of VLDL1 Particles) in Risk Prediction 400 The Role of Large VLDL Particles (High Density of VLDL1 Particles) in Risk Prediction 401 Lipidomics as Tool to Study TRL Metabolism and the Risk of Diabetes 402 Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions 404 Mini-Dictionary of Terms 402 Key Facts of Type 2 Diabetes and Hypertriglyceridemia 405	The Role of Large VLDL Particles (High Density of VLDL1 Particles) in Risk Prediction	
The Role of Large VLDL Particles (High Density of VLDL1 Particles) in Risk Prediction 399 The Role of VLDL Particles and Triglycerides in Risk Prediction of Diabetes: What is 400 The Role of Genetics? 400 The Role of Large VLDL Particles (High Density of VLDL1 Particles) in Risk Prediction 400 The Role of Large VLDL Particles (High Density of VLDL1 Particles) in Risk Prediction 401 Lipidomics as Tool to Study TRL Metabolism and the Risk of Diabetes 402 Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions 404 Mini-Dictionary of Terms 402 Key Facts of Type 2 Diabetes and Hypertriglyceridemia 402	of Diabetes: Results from Clinical Studies	398
of Diabetes: Rationale Suggesting a Causal Role 399 The Role of VLDL Particles and Triglycerides in Risk Prediction of Diabetes: What is 400 The Role of Genetics? 400 The Role of Large VLDL Particles (High Density of VLDL1 Particles) in Risk Prediction 401 Lipidomics as Tool to Study TRL Metabolism and the Risk of Diabetes 402 Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions 404 Mini-Dictionary of Terms 402 Key Facts of Type 2 Diabetes and Hypertriglyceridemia 405	The Role of Large VLDL Particles (High Density of VLDL1 Particles) in Risk Prediction	
The Role of VLDL Particles and Triglycerides in Risk Prediction of Diabetes: What is 400 The Role of Genetics? 400 The Role of Large VLDL Particles (High Density of VLDL1 Particles) in Risk Prediction 401 Of Diabetes: Genetics as a Fundamental Player 401 Lipidomics as Tool to Study TRL Metabolism and the Risk of Diabetes 402 Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions 404 Mini-Dictionary of Terms 404 Key Facts of Type 2 Diabetes and Hypertriglyceridemia 405	of Diabetes: Rationale Suggesting a Causal Role	399
the Role of Genetics? 400 The Role of Large VLDL Particles (High Density of VLDL1 Particles) in Risk Prediction 400 of Diabetes: Genetics as a Fundamental Player 401 Lipidomics as Tool to Study TRL Metabolism and the Risk of Diabetes 402 Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions 404 Mini-Dictionary of Terms 404 Key Facts of Type 2 Diabetes and Hypertriglyceridemia 405	The Role of VLDL Particles and Triglycerides in Risk Prediction of Diabetes: What is	
The Role of Large VLDL Particles (High Density of VLDL1 Particles) in Risk Prediction 401 of Diabetes: Genetics as a Fundamental Player 401 Lipidomics as Tool to Study TRL Metabolism and the Risk of Diabetes 402 Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions 404 Mini-Dictionary of Terms 404 Key Facts of Type 2 Diabetes and Hypertriglyceridemia 405	the Role of Genetics?	400
of Diabetes: Genetics as a Fundamental Player 401 Lipidomics as Tool to Study TRL Metabolism and the Risk of Diabetes 402 Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions 404 Mini-Dictionary of Terms 404 Key Facts of Type 2 Diabetes and Hypertriglyceridemia 405	The Role of Large VLDL Particles (High Density of VLDL1 Particles) in Risk Prediction	
Lipidomics as Tool to Study TRL Metabolism and the Risk of Diabetes402Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions404Mini-Dictionary of Terms404Key Facts of Type 2 Diabetes and Hypertriglyceridemia405	of Diabetes: Genetics as a Fundamental Player	401
Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions 404 Mini-Dictionary of Terms 404 Key Facts of Type 2 Diabetes and Hypertriglyceridemia 405	Lipidomics as Tool to Study TRL Metabolism and the Risk of Diabetes	402
Mini-Dictionary of Terms 404 Key Facts of Type 2 Diabetes and Hypertriglyceridemia 405	Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions	404
Key Facts of Type 2 Diabetes and Hypertriglyceridemia 405	Mini-Dictionary of Terms	404
	Key Facts of Type 2 Diabetes and Hypertriglyceridemia	405
Summary Points 405	Summary Points	405
References	References	405

L. S. F. de Carvalho (\boxtimes) Laboratory of Data for Quality of Care and Outcomes Research (LaDa:QCOR), Aramari Apo Institute, Brasília, DF, Brazil e-mail: instituto@aramariapo.com; luiz.carvalho@p.ucb.br

A. I. A. Asari · B. S. B. de Sousa Teles

Department of Vascular Surgery, Institute of Strategic Management in Healthcare Federal District (IGESDF) - Hospital de Base, Brasília, DF, Brazil

A. de Britto Chaves Filho · M. Y. Yoshinaga Department of Biochemistry, Institute of Chemistry, University of São Paulo, São Paulo, SP, Brazil e-mail: adrianobcfilho@usp.br

395

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 20

Abstract

Triacylglycerol (TG)-enriched remnant lipoproteins (TRL) metabolism has a central role in cardiovascular disease, but more recently TRL particles got into evidence for their potential relationship with type 2 diabetes. TRL particle size and VLDL-triglyceride content have been implicated in the risk of type 2 diabetes and particularly a shift to larger VLDL particles (VLDL1) can improve risk prediction of type 2 diabetes. The chapter goes on to discuss research in humans that addresses these relationships, as well as potential direct and indirect mechanisms that may justify the use of TG-enriched remnant lipoprotein to predict future risk of type 2 diabetes. Obesity, insulin resistance and systemic inflammation play a role in increasing hepatic fat content and upregulating TRL particle size; however, it is less clear weather the connection VLDL1 and type 2 diabetes is direct (causal) or genetically mediated. Finally, the chapter discusses new perspectives in identifying new TG and TRL size-related biomarkers for the risk of type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular diseases, including untargeted lipidomics.

Keywords

Triacylglycerol-enriched remnant lipoproteins · TRL · TRL particle size · Triacylglycerol · Type 2 diabetes · VLDL1 · Cardiovascular diseases · Lipidomics · NMR · Mass spectrometry · Risk prediction

Abbreviations

ANGPTL3	Anti-angiopoietin-like protein 3
ApoAV	Apolipoprotein AV
ApoC3	Apolipoprotein C3
AUROC	Area under the receiver-operating characteristic curve
CV	Cardiovascular
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
DGAT1	Diacylglycerol O-Acyltransferase 1
ELSA-Brasil	Adult Health Logitudinal Study (Estudo Longitudinal de Saúde
	do Adulto) - Brazil
EPA	Eicosapentaenoic acid
Gpihbp1	Glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored HDL binding protein-1
GWAS	Genome-wide association studies
HbA1c	Glycosylated hemoglobin
HDL	High-density lipoprotein
HDL-C	High-density lipoprotein cholesterol
HOMA-IR	Homeostasis model assessment for insulin resistance
LDL	Low-density lipoprotein
LDL	Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol
LPL	Lipoprotein lipase
MTP	Microsomal triglyceride transfer protein
NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance

SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism
Srebp-1c	Sterol regulatory element-binding protein 1c
T2DM	Type 2 diabetes mellitus
TG	Triacylglycerol
TRL	Triacylglycerol-enriched remnant lipoproteins (TRL)
TNFα	Tumor necrose factor α
VLDL	Very low-density lipoprotein

Introduction

Clinical interest in the treatment of triacylglycerol (TG)-enriched remnant lipoproteins (TRL) has fluctuated between opposite extremes in recent decades. The hesitation between measuring and treating or not high levels of TRL has been driven by polarized evidence, sometimes suggesting that these lipoproteins may be causally associated with diabetes and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (CVD), and sometimes suggesting that such lipoproteins would represent only innocent bystanders of metabolism of high-density lipoproteins (HDL) (Chapman et al. 2011). Probably more important has been the stagnation on the basis of new clinical evidence or new specific therapies that could reinforce the benefit of reducing triglycerides. In addition, the measurement of TG-enriched remnant lipoproteins features other than TG content such as particle size, particle number and cholesterol content are still not commercially available in many countries.

In the 1980s and 1990s, most clinical guidelines suggested measuring and treating mild to moderately high triglyceride levels (200–500 mg/dL) (Pyorala et al. 1994). The wide interest in triglyceride-rich lipoproteins at the time was related to several factors, among them positive results from incipient clinical trials and the Zilversmith hypothesis (Zilversmit 1979), which explained atherogenesis and other metabolic diseases as a postprandial phenomenon and related to the increase in TG-enriched remnant lipoproteins.

However, from the late 1990s to recent years, most recommendations focused mainly on LDL (low-density lipoprotein) cholesterol and largely ignored the need for treatment of mild to moderately high levels of triglycerides. One of the main explanations for the lack of interest in TG-enriched remnant lipoproteins was the failure of most clinical trials with fibrates, which was interpreted by most clinicians as the failure of the "triglyceride hypothesis" (Group et al. 2014; Investigators et al. 2011). However, these clinical trials have not evaluated the effect of specific reduction of TG-enriched remnant lipoproteins on the risk diabetes.

In the last decade, the spotlight turned back to TG-enriched remnant lipoproteins, with the emergence of technologies combining niacin and EPA (CAT-2003), highdose EPA (icosapent-ethyl), anti-apoC-III antisense therapies (volanesorsen), DGAT1 inhibitors (pradigastat), anti-angiopoietin-like protein 3 (ANGPTL3) antibodies (evinacumab), MTP inhibitors (lomitapide), LPL gene therapy (alipogene tiparvovec), and many others. With that, several novel population studies in parallel revealed TG-enriched remnant lipoproteins features showed strong association with the risk of diabetes and CVD. In this context, and with the evidence from genetic studies accumulated in the last 10 years, TG-enriched remnant lipoproteins are once again gaining importance in the scenario of diabetes and CVD risk prediction.

Risk Prediction of Diabetes and the Role of Lipoproteins

Glycemic status at baseline is the most important predictor for future diabetes and individuals characterized by prediabetes show a 2- to 10-fold higher risk for diabetes compared to non-prediabetic individuals (Richter et al. 2018). Conversely, among those without pre-diabetes, the glycemic status has a smaller value and thus long-term risk prediction of diabetes in this population is much less precise (Abdul-Ghani and DeFronzo 2009). With these evidences, it becomes clear that new predictors are necessary to improve the capacity of identifying individuals at high risk of developing type 2 diabetes, especially among individuals without pre-diabetes.

Lipoproteins are key factor in trafficking lipids among tissues and particularly LDL and VLDL particles are implicated in the trafficking of lipids to pancreatic beta cells. Beta cell dysfunction is influenced by increased fatty acid content and increased plasma levels of both VLDL-triglycerides and LDL-cholesterol (Hao et al. 2007; Oh et al. 2018). Large VLDL particles usually carry an elevated content of triglycerides and animals with this phenotype show increased pancreatic cell lipotoxicity (Zhang et al. 2019). Pancreatic cell lipotoxicity is a major driver of beta cell dysfunction, thus increasing the risk of type 2 diabetes (Robertson et al. 2004). More recently, TRL particle size and VLDL-triglyceride content have been implicated in the risk of type 2 diabetes and particularly a shift from to high VLDL1 concentration with elevated TRL particle size can improve risk prediction of type 2 diabetes in individuals without pre-diabetes (Carvalho et al. 2021).

The Role of Large VLDL Particles (High Density of VLDL1 Particles) in Risk Prediction of Diabetes: Results from Clinical Studies

The ELSA-Brasil study showed that, when participants without diabetes at baseline were divided in quartiles of TRL particle diameter, those larger TRL particles showed dysfunctional glucose homeostasis and lipid metabolism (Carvalho et al. 2021). Individuals with baseline HbA1c between 39 and 46 mmol/mol (5.7–6.4%) had stronger associations with insulin resistance (HOMA-IR), waist circumference, and hsCRP as compared to those with baseline HbA1c <5.7%. The study therefore hypothesizes that individuals with pre-diabetes status, baseline HbA1c of 5.7–6.4%, could increase the hepatic release of large VLDL particles or impair their catabolism (i.e., reduced lipoprotein lipase activity) due to a number of risk factors that they present, like obesity, hepatic steatosis, insulin resistance, and heightened inflammation (Carvalho et al. 2021).

Among subjects with intermediate hyperglycemia at baseline, TRL particle size present a borderline capacity for predicting diabetes when compared to a baseline model composed by age, sex, hypertension, parental history of type 2 diabetes, waist circumference, systolic blood pressure, HbA1c, triacylglycerol and HDLcholesterol. The baseline model shows area under the receiver-operating characteristic curve (AUROC) of 0.708 [95% CI 0.685, 0.732], while the addition of TRL particle size slightly increases AUROC to 0.729 [95%CI 0.696, 0.768] (*p* for difference = 0.0647). In multivariate analyses, the study found an increase for incident diabetes by 32% in each 10 nm increment in TRLZ size (95% CI 7.3, 57.2, p = 0.0103) (Carvalho et al. 2021).

Contrarywise, TRL particle size showed the best association with diabetes risk in subjects with no glycemic abnormalities at baseline. Furthermore, TRL particle size increased the AUROC for predicting type 2 diabetes on top of the best available model in a large and multi-ethnic cohort with a sustained univariate and multivariate effect.

Although it is clear that conditions such as obesity, insulin resistance and systemic inflammation play a role in increasing hepatic fat content and upregulating TRL particle size, it is less clear weather the connection between larger VLDL particles (VLDL1) and type 2 diabetes is direct (causal) or indirect through genetic mediation. In the next paragraphs the focus is to discuss the evidence for direct or indirect associations between TRL particle size and type 2 diabetes.

The Role of Large VLDL Particles (High Density of VLDL1 Particles) in Risk Prediction of Diabetes: Rationale Suggesting a Causal Role

Inflammation stands as a critical player in the development of insulin resistance by affecting lipid metabolism in adipose tissues. Particularly, tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α pathways inhibit lipoprotein lipase in adipose cells, resulting in increased non-esterified fatty acid level and causing overproduction of intestinally derived VLDL1 by stimuli of p38-mitogen-activated protein kinase (Akash et al. 2018; Qin et al. 2007). Furthermore, TNF- α active transcriptional factor, NF-kB, actively mediate the apoptosis of pancreatic β -cells (Akash et al. 2018). Bearing these data, several anti-TNF- α treatments have been tested targeting insulin resistance mitigation and pancreatic β -cell preservation. In experimental animal studies by Borst et al. (Borst and Bagby 2002), TNF- α inhibition improved insulin resistance, while the neutralization of TNF- α in an animal model by Tzanavari et al. (2010) improved the hepatic insulin resistance. In humans, Martin-Rodriguez et al. (2019) analyzed a healthy non-diabetic Caucasian population and showed a positive correlation between HOMA-IR and hepatic triglycerides, and also between plasma TNF- α

Insulin resistance is associated with increased production of glycerol 3-phosphate via increased gluconeogenesis and triglyceride synthesis via *de novo* lipogenesis. Both mechanisms trigger the expression of sterol regulatory element binding protein 1c (SREBP_{1c}) (Browning and Horton 2004). The overlap between variations in metabolism and the change in TRL physiology in insulin resistance could clarify the reason why TRL particle size augment the predictive capacity for type 2 diabetes as compared to classic risk factors in non-prediabetic subjects. (Carvalho et al. 2021).

Many studies have suggested a potentially causal relationship between VLDL1 levels and the risk of diabetes (Qi et al. 2012). Another interesting finding is that the accumulation of fat in non-adipose tissue (e.g., liver and muscle) is highly associated with the risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus (Czech et al. 2013). All these effects are potentially due to the development of pancreatic steatosis and cytotoxicity.

In mouse, Zhang et al (2019) chose two hypertriglyceridemia models: apolipoprotein C3-transgenic (ApoC3-tg) and glycosylphosphatidylinositolanchored high-density lipoprotein binding protein-1 knockout (Gpihbp1-/-). These genetic mutations are related with lipoprotein lipase activity, which leads to severe hypertriglyceridemia. Indeed, authors found that plasma from Gpihbp1-/mice had much larger TRL particles, composed mainly of large chylomicron particles compared with ApoC3-tg mice, which has mainly small VLDL particles as adjusted by triglyceride content (Zhang et al. 2019). The pancreas of Gpihbp1-/mice suggesting that greater FFA production may predispose pancreatic necrosis, by cytotoxic effects in pancreatic acinar cells (Zhang et al. 2019).

Finally, several studies have demonstrated that decreasing the excess lipid from pancreas and liver improves insulin sensitivity, returning to a normal insulin secretion in early type 2 diabetes (Lim et al. 2011; Steven et al. 2016). Although these evidences are compelling to link TRL particle size to the risk of diabetes, they are not sufficient to state there is a causal role between these two elements. More recently, a large burden of evidence outlined a potential indirect role between TRL particle size and the risk of diabetes.

The Role of VLDL Particles and Triglycerides in Risk Prediction of Diabetes: What is the Role of Genetics?

The development of type 2 diabetes is a complex process resulting from the combination of genetic, environmental, behavioral, and aging factors. Family-based studies revealed that the complete understanding of the molecular mechanisms that are involved in the pathophysiology and susceptibility of type 2 diabetes is a challenge and is also influenced by genetic and epigenetic factors (Rich 1990). The risk of developing diabetes throughout lifespan is about 40% when one parent is affected, and this rate rises to 70% when both parents are diabetic (Rich 1990).

Genome-wide association studies (GWASs) were largely responsible for identifying more than 400 genetic variants at 250 distinct loci, including several single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) associated with the risk of type 2 diabetes (Torres et al. 2014; Qi et al. 2012; Mahajan et al. 2018). These methods were able to identify genes associated with monogenic variants of type 2 diabetes such as lipodystrophy, severe insulin resistance (in non-obese individuals), and Maturity-Onset Diabetes of the Young (MODY). However, when the same methods were used to identify the most common forms of diabetes, only a few genes were shown as relevant (Billings and Florez 2010). Despite GWASs have discovered many new genetic associations, these findings represent events of mid-frequency and common occurrences, not including rare frequency variants and minor variants of cumulative effect (Korte and Farlow 2013) {Billings and Florez 2010 #50}. Therefore, it is necessary to identify a part of the genetic variation that cannot be explained by all significant SNPs (Torres et al. 2014).

In an analysis focusing on the impact that the various polymorphisms have on the development of type 2 diabetes, a genotypic score was established to estimate the genetic predisposition to dyslipidemia based on well-established SNPs located in 95 loci for blood lipids, 25 of which had a direct influence on triglycerides. Each additional risk allele in the genotype scores of HDL cholesterol or triglycerides was associated with 2–3% increased risk for type 2 diabetes. Added the effects, this triglyceride genotype score was able to explain about 10% of the variation of plasma TRL in the evaluated population (Qi et al. 2012; Teslovich et al. 2010).

Most genetic polymorphism sites related to type 2 diabetes were identified by GWASs based on case-control cohorts of European descendants (Andersen et al. 2016). Most extensive data available comes from studies with Caucasian population, including more than 300,000 individuals, where the presence of one particular minor allele linked to rs662799 SNP associates with a 0.25 mmol/l in plasma TG levels (Triglyceride Coronary Disease Genetics et al. 2010). In other populations such as Latin American populations, the role of genetic loci in plasma TG levels and VLDL particles look more evident.

Among various polymorphisms associated with increased risk of type 2 diabetes in Latin American population the SLC16A11 gene polymorphisms have major importance. SLC16A11 messenger RNA is expressed in the liver and it influences lipid metabolism, mainly by promoting an increase in intracellular triacylglycerol levels. In an analysis that included Latin Americans, especially Mexicans, individuals that carry the risk haplotype develop type 2 diabetes approximately 2 years earlier than not carries. Another interesting finding was that the same patient had a higher incidence of type 2 diabetes, even with a body mass index nearly 1 kg/m² lower and, finally, the odds ratio for type 2 diabetes among those with the risk haplotype was higher in younger individuals (\leq 45 years) than older individuals (OR 1.48 vs. 1.11) compared to those individuals without the risk haplotype (Consortium et al. 2014).

The Role of Large VLDL Particles (High Density of VLDL1 Particles) in Risk Prediction of Diabetes: Genetics as a Fundamental Player

Due to the specificity of common single nucleotide variants among different ethnic groups that have already been subjected to genotyping, more specific variants have been identified, often with different phenotypic impacts in each ethnic group (Andersen et al. 2016). A well-documented SNP identified as rs12310367 in the apolipoprotein C3 (APOC3) is directly related to alterations in the production of the protein component of TRLs, including VLDL (Valladolid-Acebes et al. 2021).

Overexpression of APOC3 is associated with high triglyceride levels and large VLDL particles, while reduction or loss of function mutations in the gene encoding APOC3 are associated with low plasma triglyceride levels and reduced risk of ischemic cardiovascular disease (Adiels et al. 2019). In individuals with abdominal obesity, plasma triglyceride concentrations are elevated as well as the presence of VLDL1 subspecies. The catabolism of VLDL1 is mostly dependent on APOC3 concentration. Furthermore, overexpression of APOC3 has been related to the promotion of VLDL assembly and secretion in hepatocytes in genetically modified mice in vitro experiments (Boren et al. 2015).

In addition to these findings, it has been reported that APOC3 metabolism is significantly unsettled in type 2 diabetes patients. These evidences suggest that glucose homeostasis is associated with APOC3 metabolism, and that the secretion rate of APOC3 seems to be a relevant actor in increasing TRL particle size and triglyceride content observed among individuals with type 2 diabetes (Boren et al. 2020).

Finally, apolipoprotein AV (ApoAV) is also associated with TG-rich lipoproteins. APOAV gene and its genetic variants influence both plasma triglyceride levels and VLDL remodeling. In addition, ApoAV also reduces plasma triglycerides by inhibiting VLDL-TG production and stimulating lipoprotein lipase-mediated VLDL-TG hydrolysis, thus reducing VLDL particle size (Schaap et al. 2004). Two minor alleles (C1131 and Trp19) of APOAV are related to reduced activity of APOAV and results in high plasma triglyceride levels (Hubacek 2016).

These genetic polymorphisms could underlie the indirect relationship between TRL particle size and the risk of type 2 diabetes. However, as pointed out, the genetic background does not fully answer this link and it is plausible to consider that both direct and indirect effects play a role. To better understand pathways to identify more specific markers to link TRL particle size and the risk of diabetes, the next section is dedicated to discuss the perspective of using lipidomics to study TRL metabolism and its associations with diseases.

Lipidomics as Tool to Study TRL Metabolism and the Risk of Diabetes

Advances in liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS) technologies have enabled an initial characterization of the human plasma lipidome (i.e., lipidomics (Quehenberger et al. 2010, 2011; Bowden et al. 2017)) and thereby its application to the discovery of novel lipid markers and targets for treatment of metabolic diseases (Rhee et al. 2011; Stegemann et al. 2014; O'Donnell et al. 2014). A direct link between TRL and lipidomics is to ascertain specific TG species as markers of health and disease status. The importance of such data relies on the composition of specific fatty acids esterified to TG, allowing a categorization of plasma TG species into different fatty acids (i.e., short, medium, long, and very long chains or degrees of unsaturation). This information could provide essential clues on their association with and effects on blood lipids, glucose-insulin homeostasis, insulin resistance, and diabetes.



Fig. 1 Comparative analysis of five comprehensive lipidomic studies in the context of T2DM incidence. (a) Venn-diagram displaying the number of overlapping lipid species associated with T2DM incidence. (b) Detailed analysis of the number of lipids (#lipids) commonly associated with T2DM incidence to all studies, 4 or 3 out of 5 studies. Given that several lipid species belonged to TG (%TG), the average number of carbon atoms and double bonds in fatty acids linked to TG (TG-FA as X:Y, where X and Y denote the number of carbon atoms and double bonds, respectively) and the diagnostic TG species (TG sp. as X:Y) are shown (Kulkarni et al. 2017; Razquin et al. 2018; Suvitaival et al. 2018; Lu et al. 2019; Fernandez et al. 2020)

To illustrate the potential of lipidomics in predicting T2DM, a selected list of five recent papers involving a comprehensive analysis of the plasma lipidome was compared (Fig. 1). Although investigating an extensive panel of lipids (180–800 species divided into 8–24 lipid classes), these studies revealed a surprisingly low number of overlapping lipid species associated with the incidence of T2DM (Fig. 1a). Nonetheless, there is a consistent prevalence of TG species among plasma lipid classes from which concentrations are positively correlated with T2DM incidence (Fig. 1b), despite the distinct populations (e.g., METSIM, SAFHS, PREDIMED, and REACTION cohorts) and periods for T2DM incidence (ranging from 3.8 to 21.2 years) reported. The data also revealed that most of these specific TG species are linked to fatty acids containing low number of carbon atoms and double bonds, with an averaged chain length and unsaturation of ca. 17 carbons and 0.7 double bonds (Fig. 1b). While far from conclusive, the data in Fig. 1 suggest that the prevalence of such TG species characterizing cases of incident T2DM might be linked to TRL levels.

The assessment of TRL levels is challenging due to several factors including interindividual and intraindividual variation in plasma TG levels, highly heterogeneous size, density and composition of circulating TRL, and distinct sources of remnant lipoproteins (i.e., intestine or liver derived particles (Twickler et al. 2004)). The concentrations of TRL have been measured by different methods based on density, size, electrostatic charge, lipid and apolipoprotein components, or immunoaffinity (Cohn et al. 1999). For large-scale population studies, modern

methods to access TRL levels include ¹H-NMR lipoprotein spectroscopy analysis that can be applied to determine subclasses of TRL based on their size spectrum (Carvalho et al. 2021; Varga et al. 2021). The NMR is a low-cost and nondestructive technique that performs a quick analysis with highly reproducible data and free of batch analysis effects (i.e., no interaction of samples and equipment). While MS-based lipidomics is highly sensitive (can be used to monitor hundreds of compounds) and requires only a small volume of sample, there are some drawbacks in applying MS for population studies. For instance, the elevated costs associated with sample preparation (e.g., requirement for analytical internal standards to allow quantitative analysis), moderate data reproducibility and loss of sensitivity in batch analysis (due to variations in ionization process). Nonetheless, NMR lipoprotein analysis and MS-based lipidome profiling are rather complimentary (Emwas et al. 2019) and when combined may provide a powerful tool to discover new lipid markers and biological pathways relevant to TRL metabolism in a cost-effective manner. Such combined approach in large-scale studies would be ideally initiated by an NMR screening of all samples to identify divergent groups of patients, followed by a comprehensive and quantitative analysis by MS in a limited number of interesting and extreme samples. However, to advance into integrative approaches between lipidomics and other applied analytical methods (e.g., NMR or genomics), further improvements are still required, particularly concerning the standardization of methods for reporting quantitative and reproducible data (Bowden et al. 2017; Burla et al. 2018; O'Donnell et al. 2020).

Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions

In this study we review the use TRL particle size to predict the risk of type 2 diabetes and the potential mechanisms associated to this link. In summary, risk prediction of T2DM in primary prevention could be improved by using TRL particle size particularly among individuals with no abnormalities in glucose metabolism at baseline. Nonetheless, there are other potential applications for this biomarker. Of note, TRL particle size is also linked to the risk of myocardial infarction and peripheral artery disease (Duran et al. 2020), and play a major role in atherogenesis and chronic coronary artery disease (Twickler et al. 2004). Furthermore, the robust associations found between TRL particle size and the risk of type 2 diabetes offer a new perspective for the development of targeted interventions aiming to reduce TRL particle diameter and TG content per particle to control metabolic diseases.

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

- **Type 2 diabetes** A chronic condition that affects the way the body processes blood sugar, due to both peripheral resistance to insulin action and dysfunctional production of insulin by pancreatic beta cells.
- *VLDL* Very low-density lipoprotein is produced in the liver and released into the bloodstream to supply body tissues with triglycerides.

- Genetic polymorphism. Defined as the inheritance of a trait controlled by a single genetic locus with two alleles, in which the least common allele has a frequency of about 1% or greater. Genetic polymorphism is a mutation in DNA sequence among individuals, groups, or populations.
- *GWAS* A genome-wide association study is an observational study of a genomewide set of genetic variants in different individuals to see if any variant is associated with a trait/condition.
- ¹*H-NMR spectroscopy Proton NMR is a powerful tool for molecular structure characterization.*

Key Facts of Type 2 Diabetes and Hypertriglyceridemia

In the last 20 years, the number of adults diagnosed with diabetes has more than doubled as the world population has aged and become more overweight or obese Diabetes is the 7th leading cause of death in the United States

At least 60% of individuals with type 2 diabetes show hypertriglyceridemia and other types dyslipidemia

Lipoproteins such as HDL-C, LDL-C and VLDL-C are implicated as risk factors for type 2 diabetes

Increased lipid content in pancreatic beta cells may induce lipotoxicity and apoptosis, leading to insulin secretory dysfunction.

Summary Points

- *TRL particle size and VLDL-triglyceride content have been implicated in the risk of type 2 diabetes*
- Particularly a shift to larger VLDL particles (VLDL1) can improve risk prediction of type 2 diabetes
- Obesity, insulin resistance, and systemic inflammation play a role in increasing hepatic fat content and upregulating TRL particle size
- Genetic polymorphisms could explain both increased TRL particle size and the risk of type 2 diabetes
- Data from mass spectrometry studies suggest TG species characterizing cases of incident T2DM might be linked to TRL levels

References

- Abdul-Ghani MA, DeFronzo RA. Plasma glucose concentration and prediction of future risk of type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2009;32:5.
- Adiels M, Taskinen MR, Bjornson E, Andersson L, Matikainen N, Soderlund S, Kahri J, Hakkarainen A, Lundbom N, Sihlbom C, Thorsell A, Zhou H, Pietilainen KH, Packard C, Boren J. Role of apolipoprotein C-III overproduction in diabetic dyslipidaemia. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2019;21:1861–70.

- Akash MSH, Rehman K, Liaqat A. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha: role in development of insulin resistance and pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Cell Biochem. 2018;119:105–10.
- Andersen MK, Pedersen CE, Moltke I, Hansen T, Albrechtsen A, Grarup N. Genetics of type 2 diabetes: the power of isolated populations. Curr Diab Rep. 2016;16:65.
- Billings LK, Florez JC. The genetics of type 2 diabetes: what have we learned from GWAS? Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2010;1212:59–77.
- Boren J, Watts GF, Adiels M, Soderlund S, Chan DC, Hakkarainen A, Lundbom N, Matikainen N, Kahri J, Verges B, Barrett PH, Taskinen MR. Kinetic and related determinants of plasma triglyceride concentration in abdominal obesity: Multicenter Tracer Kinetic Study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2015;35:2218–24.
- Boren J, Packard CJ, Taskinen MR. The roles of ApoC-III on the metabolism of Triglyceride-Rich lipoproteins in humans. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2020;11:474.
- Borst SE, Bagby GJ. Neutralization of tumor necrosis factor reverses age-induced impairment of insulin responsiveness in skeletal muscle of Sprague-Dawley rats. Metabolism. 2002;51: 1061–4.
- Bowden JA, Heckert A, Ulmer CZ, Jones CM, Koelmel JP, Abdullah L, Ahonen L, Alnouti Y, Armando AM, Asara JM, Bamba T, Barr JR, Bergquist J, Borchers CH, Brandsma J, Breitkopf SB, Cajka T, Cazenave-Gassiot A, Checa A, Cinel MA, Colas RA, Cremers S, Dennis EA, Evans JE, Fauland A, Fiehn O, Gardner MS, Garrett TJ, Gotlinger KH, Han J, Huang Y, Neo AH, Hyotylainen T, Izumi Y, Jiang H, Jiang H, Jiang J, Kachman M, Kiyonami R, Klavins K, Klose C, Kofeler HC, Kolmert J, Koal T, Koster G, Kuklenyik Z, Kurland IJ, Leadley M, Lin K, Maddipati KR, McDougall D, Meikle PJ, Mellett NA, Monnin C, Moseley MA, Nandakumar R, Oresic M, Patterson R, Peake D, Pierce JS, Post M, Postle AD, Pugh R, Qiu Y, Quehenberger O, Ramrup P, Rees J, Rembiesa B, Reynaud D, Roth MR, Sales S, Schuhmann K, Schwartzman ML, Serhan CN, Shevchenko A, Somerville SE, St John-Williams L, Surma MA, Takeda H, Thakare R, Thompson JW, Torta F, Triebl A, Trotzmuller M, Ubhayasekera SJK, Vuckovic D, Weir JM, Welti R, Wenk MR, Wheelock CE, Yao L, Yuan M, Zhao XH, Zhou S. Harmonizing lipidomics: NIST interlaboratory comparison exercise for lipidomics using SRM 1950-Metabolites in Frozen Human Plasma. J Lipid Res. 2017;58:2275–88.
- Browning JD, Horton JD. Molecular mediators of hepatic steatosis and liver injury. J Clin Invest. 2004;114:147–52.
- Burla B, Arita M, Arita M, Bendt AK, Cazenave-Gassiot A, Dennis EA, Ekroos K, Han X, Ikeda K, Liebisch G, Lin MK, Loh TP, Meikle PJ, Oresic M, Quehenberger O, Shevchenko A, Torta F, Wakelam MJO, Wheelock CE, Wenk MR. MS-based lipidomics of human blood plasma: a community-initiated position paper to develop accepted guidelines. J Lipid Res. 2018;59: 2001–17.
- Carvalho LSF, Bensenor IM, Nogueira ACC, Duncan BB, Schmidt MI, Blaha MJ, Toth PP, Jones SR, Santos RD, Lotufo PA, Sposito AC, ELSA-Brasil study. Increased particle size of triacylglycerol-enriched remnant lipoproteins, but not their plasma concentration or lipid content, augments risk prediction of incident type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2021;64:385–96.
- Chapman MJ, Ginsberg HN, Amarenco P, Andreotti F, Boren J, Catapano AL, Descamps OS, Fisher E, Kovanen PT, Kuivenhoven JA, Lesnik P, Masana L, Nordestgaard BG, Ray KK, Reiner Z, Taskinen MR, Tokgozoglu L, Tybjaerg-Hansen A, Watts GF, Panel European Atherosclerosis Society Consensus. Triglyceride-rich lipoproteins and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol in patients at high risk of cardiovascular disease: evidence and guidance for management. Eur Heart J. 2011;32:1345–61.
- Cohn JS, Marcoux C, Davignon J. Detection, quantification, and characterization of potentially atherogenic triglyceride-rich remnant lipoproteins. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1999;19: 2474–86.
- Consortium, Sigma Type 2 Diabetes, Williams AL, Jacobs SB, Moreno-Macias H, Huerta-Chagoya A, Churchhouse C, Marquez-Luna C, Garcia-Ortiz H, Gomez-Vazquez MJ, Burtt NP, Aguilar-Salinas CA, Gonzalez-Villalpando C, Florez JC, Orozco L, Haiman CA,

Tusie-Luna T, Altshuler D. Sequence variants in SLC16A11 are a common risk factor for type 2 diabetes in Mexico. Nature. 2014;506:97–101.

- Czech MP, Tencerova M, Pedersen DJ, Aouadi M. Insulin signalling mechanisms for triacylglycerol storage. Diabetologia. 2013;56:949–64.
- Duran EK, Aday AW, Cook NR, Buring JE, Ridker PM, Pradhan AD. Triglyceride-Rich lipoprotein cholesterol, small dense LDL cholesterol, and incident cardiovascular disease. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2020;75:2122–35.
- Emwas AH, Roy R, McKay RT, Tenori L, Saccenti E, Gowda GAN, Raftery D, Alahmari F, Jaremko L, Jaremko M, Wishart DS. NMR spectroscopy for metabolomics research. Metabolites. 2019;9:123.
- Fernandez C, Surma MA, Klose C, Gerl MJ, Ottosson F, Ericson U, Oskolkov N, Ohro-Melander-M, Simons K, Melander O. Plasma lipidome and prediction of type 2 diabetes in the populationbased Malmo Diet and Cancer Cohort. Diabetes Care. 2020;43:366–73.
- Group, Hps Thrive Collaborative, Landray MJ, Haynes R, Hopewell JC, Parish S, Aung T, Tomson J, Wallendszus K, Craig M, Jiang L, Collins R, Armitage J. Effects of extendedrelease niacin with laropiprant in high-risk patients. N Engl J Med. 2014;371:203–12.
- Hao M, Head WS, Gunawardana SC, Hasty AH, Piston DW. Direct effect of cholesterol on insulin secretion: a novel mechanism for pancreatic beta-cell dysfunction. Diabetes. 2007;56:2328–38.
- Hubacek JA. Apolipoprotein A5 fifteen years anniversary: lessons from genetic epidemiology. Gene. 2016;592:193–9.
- Investigators, Aim-High, Boden WE, Probstfield JL, Anderson T, Chaitman BR, Desvignes-Nickens P, Koprowicz K, McBride R, Teo K, Weintraub W. Niacin in patients with low HDL cholesterol levels receiving intensive statin therapy. N Engl J Med. 2011;365:2255–67.
- Korte A, Farlow A. The advantages and limitations of trait analysis with GWAS: a review. Plant Methods. 2013;9:29.
- Kulkarni H, Mamtani M, Wong G, Weir JM, Barlow CK, Dyer TD, Almasy L, Mahaney MC, Comuzzie AG, Duggirala R, Meikle PJ, Blangero J, Curran JE. Genetic correlation of the plasma lipidome with type 2 diabetes, prediabetes and insulin resistance in Mexican American families. BMC Genet. 2017;18:48.
- Lim EL, Hollingsworth KG, Aribisala BS, Chen MJ, Mathers JC, Taylor R. Reversal of type 2 diabetes: normalisation of beta cell function in association with decreased pancreas and liver triacylglycerol. Diabetologia. 2011;54:2506–14.
- Lu J, Lam SM, Wan Q, Shi L, Huo Y, Chen L, Tang X, Li B, Wu X, Peng K, Li M, Wang S, Xu Y, Xu M, Bi Y, Ning G, Shui G, Wang W. High-coverage targeted lipidomics reveals novel serum lipid predictors and lipid pathway dysregulation antecedent to type 2 diabetes onset in normoglycemic Chinese adults. Diabetes Care. 2019;42:2117–26.
- Mahajan A, Taliun D, Thurner M, Robertson NR, Torres JM, Rayner NW, Payne AJ, Steinthorsdottir V, Scott RA, Grarup N, Cook JP, Schmidt EM, Wuttke M, Sarnowski C, Magi R, Nano J, Gieger C, Trompet S, Lecoeur C, Preuss MH, Prins BP, Guo X, Bielak LF, Below JE, Bowden DW, Chambers JC, Kim YJ, Ng MCY, Petty LE, Sim X, Zhang W, Bennett AJ, Bork-Jensen J, Brummett CM, Canouil M, Ec Kardt KU, Fischer K, Kardia SLR, Kronenberg F, Lall K, Liu CT, Locke AE, Luan J, Ntalla I, Nylander V, Schonherr S, Schurmann C, Yengo L, Bottinger EP, Brandslund I, Christensen C, Dedoussis G, Florez JC, Ford I, Franco OH, Frayling TM, Giedraitis V, Hackinger S, Hattersley AT, Herder C, Ikram MA, Ingelsson M, Jorgensen ME, Jorgensen T, Kriebel J, Kuusisto J, Ligthart S, Lindgren CM, Linneberg A, Lyssenko V, Mamakou V, Meitinger T, Mohlke KL, Morris AD, Nadkarni G, Pankow JS, Peters A, Sattar N, Stancakova A, Strauch K, Taylor KD, Thorand B, Thorleifsson G, Thorsteinsdottir U, Tuomilehto J, Witte DR, Dupuis J, Peyser PA, Zeggini E, Loos RJF, Froguel P, Ingelsson E, Lind L, Groop L, Laakso M, Collins FS, Jukema JW, Palmer CNA, Grallert H, Metspalu A, Dehghan A, Kottgen A, Abecasis GR, Meigs JB, Rotter JI, Marchini J, Pedersen O, Hansen T, Langenberg C, Wareham NJ, Stefansson K, Gloyn AL, Morris AP, Boehnke M, McCarthy MI. Fine-mapping type 2 diabetes loci to single-variant

resolution using high-density imputation and islet-specific epigenome maps. Nat Genet. 2018;50:1505-13.

- Martin-Rodriguez JL, Gonzalez-Cantero J, Gonzalez-Cantero A, Marti-Bonmati L, Alberich-Bayarri A, Gonzalez-Cejudo T, Gonzalez-Calvin JL. Insulin resistance and NAFLD: relationship with intrahepatic iron and serum TNF-alpha using 1H MR spectroscopy and MRI. Diabetes Metab. 2019;45:473–9.
- O'Donnell VB, Murphy RC, Watson SP. Platelet lipidomics: modern day perspective on lipid discovery and characterization in platelets. Circ Res. 2014;114:1185–203.
- O'Donnell VB, Ekroos K, Liebisch G, Wakelam M. Lipidomics: current state of the art in a fast moving field. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Syst Biol Med. 2020;12:e1466.
- Oh YS, Bae GD, Baek DJ, Park EY, Jun HS. Fatty acid-induced lipotoxicity in pancreatic beta-cells during development of type 2 diabetes. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2018;9:384.
- Pyorala K, De Backer G, Graham I, Poole-Wilson P, Wood D. Prevention of coronary heart disease in clinical practice: recommendations of the Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology, European Atherosclerosis Society and European Society of Hypertension. Atherosclerosis. 1994;110:121–61.
- Qi Q, Liang L, Doria A, Hu FB, Qi L. Genetic predisposition to dyslipidemia and type 2 diabetes risk in two prospective cohorts. Diabetes. 2012;61:745–52.
- Qin B, Qiu W, Avramoglu RK, Adeli K. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha induces intestinal insulin resistance and stimulates the overproduction of intestinal apolipoprotein B48-containing lipoproteins. Diabetes. 2007;56:450–61.
- Quehenberger O, Armando AM, Brown AH, Milne SB, Myers DS, Merrill AH, Bandyopadhyay S, Jones KN, Kelly S, Shaner RL, Sullards CM, Wang E, Murphy RC, Barkley RM, Leiker TJ, Raetz CR, Guan Z, Laird GM, Six DA, Russell DW, McDonald JG, Subramaniam S, Fahy E, Dennis EA. Lipidomics reveals a remarkable diversity of lipids in human plasma. J Lipid Res. 2010;51:3299–305.
- Quehenberger O, Armando AM, Dennis EA. High sensitivity quantitative lipidomics analysis of fatty acids in biological samples by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2011;1811:648–56.
- Razquin C, Toledo E, Clish CB, Ruiz-Canela M, Dennis C, Corella D, Papandreou C, Ros E, Estruch R, Guasch-Ferre M, Gomez-Gracia E, Fito M, Yu E, Lapetra J, Wang D, Romaguera D, Liang L, Alonso-Gomez A, Deik A, Bullo M, Serra-Majem L, Salas-Salvado J, Hu FB, Martinez-Gonzalez MA. Plasma lipidomic profiling and risk of type 2 diabetes in the PRE-DIMED Trial. Diabetes Care. 2018;41:2617–24.
- Rhee EP, Cheng S, Larson MG, Walford GA, Lewis GD, McCabe E, Yang E, Farrell L, Fox CS, O'Donnell CJ, Carr SA, Vasan RS, Florez JC, Clish CB, Wang TJ, Gerszten RE. Lipid profiling identifies a triacylglycerol signature of insulin resistance and improves diabetes prediction in humans. J Clin Invest. 2011;121:1402–11.
- Rich SS. Mapping genes in diabetes. Genetic epidemiological perspective. Diabetes. 1990;39: 1315–9.
- Richter B, Hemmingsen B, Metzendorf MI, Takwoingi Y. Development of type 2 diabetes mellitus in people with intermediate hyperglycaemia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2018;10:CD012661.
- Robertson RP, Harmon J, Tran PO, Poitout V. Beta-cell glucose toxicity, lipotoxicity, and chronic oxidative stress in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes. 2004;53(Suppl 1):S119–24.
- Schaap FG, Rensen PC, Voshol PJ, Vrins C, van der Vliet HN, Chamuleau RA, Havekes LM, Groen AK, van Dijk KW. ApoAV reduces plasma triglycerides by inhibiting very low density lipoprotein-triglyceride (VLDL-TG) production and stimulating lipoprotein lipase-mediated VLDL-TG hydrolysis. J Biol Chem. 2004;279:27941–7.
- Stegemann C, Pechlaner R, Willeit P, Langley SR, Mangino M, Mayr U, Menni C, Moayyeri A, Santer P, Rungger G, Spector TD, Willeit J, Kiechl S, Mayr M. Lipidomics profiling and risk of cardiovascular disease in the prospective population-based Bruneck study. Circulation. 2014;129:1821–31.
- Steven S, Hollingsworth KG, Small PK, Woodcock SA, Pucci A, Aribisala B, Al-Mrabeh A, Daly AK, Batterham RL, Taylor R. Weight loss decreases excess pancreatic triacylglycerol specifically in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2016;39:158–65.

- Suvitaival T, Bondia-Pons I, Yetukuri L, Poho P, Nolan JJ, Hyotylainen T, Kuusisto J, Oresic M. Lipidome as a predictive tool in progression to type 2 diabetes in Finnish men. Metabolism. 2018;78:1–12.
- Teslovich TM, Musunuru K, Smith AV, Edmondson AC, Stylianou IM, Koseki M, Pirruccello JP, Ripatti S, Chasman DI, Willer CJ, Johansen CT, Fouchier SW, Isaacs A, Peloso GM, Barbalic M, Ricketts SL, Bis JC, Aulchenko YS, Thorleifsson G, Feitosa MF, Chambers J, Orho-Melander M, Melander O, Johnson T, Li X, Guo X, Li M, Shin Cho Y, Jin Go M, Jin Kim Y, Lee JY, Park T, Kim K, Sim X, Twee-Hee Ong R, Croteau-Chonka DC, Lange LA, Smith JD, Song K, Hua Zhao J, Yuan X, Luan J, Lamina C, Ziegler A, Zhang W, Zee RY, Wright AF, Witteman JC, Wilson JF, Willemsen G, Wichmann HE, Whitfield JB, Waterworth DM, Wareham NJ, Waeber G, Vollenweider P, Voight BF, Vitart V, Uitterlinden AG, Uda M, Tuomilehto J, Thompson JR, Tanaka T, Surakka I, Stringham HM, Spector TD, Soranzo N, Smit JH, Sinisalo J, Silander K, Sijbrands EJ, Scuteri A, Scott J, Schlessinger D, Sanna S, Salomaa V, Saharinen J, Sabatti C, Ruokonen A, Rudan I, Rose LM, Roberts R, Rieder M, Psaty BM, Pramstaller PP, Pichler I, Perola M, Penninx BW, Pedersen NL, Pattaro C, Parker AN, Pare G, Oostra BA, O'Donnell CJ, Nieminen MS, Nickerson DA, Montgomery GW, Meitinger T, McPherson R, McCarthy MI, McArdle W, Masson D, Martin NG, Marroni F, Mangino M, Magnusson PK, Lucas G, Luben R, Loos RJ, Lokki ML, Lettre G, Langenberg C, Launer LJ, Lakatta EG, Laaksonen R, Kyvik KO, Kronenberg F, Konig IR, Khaw KT, Kaprio J, Kaplan LM, Johansson A, Jarvelin MR, Janssens AC, Ingelsson E, Igl W, Kees Hovingh G, Hottenga JJ, Hofman A, Hicks AA, Hengstenberg C, Heid IM, Hayward C, Havulinna AS, Hastie ND, Harris TB, Haritunians T, Hall AS, Gyllensten U, Guiducci C, Groop LC, Gonzalez E, Gieger C, Freimer NB, Ferrucci L, Erdmann J, Elliott P, Ejebe KG, Doring A, Dominiczak AF, Demissie S, Deloukas P, de Geus EJ, de Faire U, Crawford G, Collins FS, Chen YD, Caulfield MJ, Campbell H, Burtt NP, Bonnycastle LL, Boomsma DI, Boekholdt SM, Bergman RN, Barroso I, Bandinelli S, Ballantyne CM, Assimes TL, Quertermous T, Altshuler D, Seielstad M, Wong TY, Tai ES, Feranil AB, Kuzawa CW, Adair LS, Taylor HA Jr, Borecki IB, Gabriel SB, Wilson JG, Holm H, Thorsteinsdottir U, Gudnason V, Krauss RM, Mohlke KL, Ordovas JM, Munroe PB, Kooner JS, Tall AR, Hegele RA, Kastelein JJ, Schadt EE, Rotter JI, Boerwinkle E, Strachan DP, Mooser V, Stefansson K, Reilly MP, Samani NJ, Schunkert H, Cupples LA, Sandhu MS, Ridker PM, Rader DJ, van Duijn CM, Peltonen L, Abecasis GR, Boehnke M, Kathiresan S. Biological, clinical and population relevance of 95 loci for blood lipids. Nature. 2010;466:707-13.
- Torres JM, Gamazon ER, Parra EJ, Below JE, Valladares-Salgado A, Wacher N, Cruz M, Hanis CL, Cox NJ. Cross-tissue and tissue-specific eQTLs: partitioning the heritability of a complex trait. Am J Hum Genet. 2014;95:521–34.
- Triglyceride Coronary Disease Genetics, Consortium, Collaboration Emerging Risk Factors, Sarwar N, Sandhu MS, Ricketts SL, Butterworth AS, Di Angelantonio E, Boekholdt SM, Ouwehand W, Watkins H, Samani NJ, Saleheen D, Lawlor D, Reilly MP, Hingorani AD, Talmud PJ, Danesh J. Triglyceride-mediated pathways and coronary disease: collaborative analysis of 101 studies. Lancet. 2010;375:1634–9.
- Twickler TB, Dallinga-Thie GM, Cohn JS, Chapman MJ. Elevated remnant-like particle cholesterol concentration: a characteristic feature of the atherogenic lipoprotein phenotype. Circulation. 2004;109:1918–25.
- Tzanavari T, Giannogonas P, Karalis KP. TNF-alpha and obesity. Curr Dir Autoimmun. 2010;11: 145–56.
- Valladolid-Acebes I, Berggren PO, Juntti-Berggren L. Apolipoprotein CIII Is an important piece in the type-1 diabetes Jigsaw Puzzle. Int J Mol Sci. 2021;22.
- Varga TV, Liu J, Goldberg RB, Chen G, Dagogo-Jack S, Lorenzo C, Mather KJ, Pi-Sunyer X, Brunak S, Temprosa M, Group Diabetes Prevention Program Research. Predictive utilities of lipid traits, lipoprotein subfractions and other risk factors for incident diabetes: a machine learning approach in the Diabetes Prevention Program. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care. 2021;9.
- Zhang Y, He W, He C, Wan J, Lin X, Zheng X, Li L, Li X, Yang X, Yu B, Xian X, Zhu Y, Wang Y, Liu G, Lu N. Large triglyceride-rich lipoproteins in hypertriglyceridemia are associated with the severity of acute pancreatitis in experimental mice. Cell Death Dis. 2019;10:728.
- Zilversmit DB. Atherogenesis: a postprandial phenomenon. Circulation. 1979;60:473-85.



Correlations Between Renal Biomarkers and the Treatment Outcomes in Diabetes: Ophthalmic Aspects

Meng-Ju Tsai, Ivan Pochou Lai, Ming-Jui Lee, and Yi-Ting Hsieh

Contents

Introduction	413
Correlations Between Renal Biomarkers and Diabetic Retinopathy	413
Serum Creatinine and Estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate	413
Albuminuria	414
Erythropoietin	414
Correlations Between Renal Biomarkers and Diabetic Macular Edema	415
Serum Creatinine and Estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate	415
Albuminuria	415
Body Fluid Status	416
Correlations Between Renal Biomarkers and Treatment Outcomes of Diabetic Macular	
Edema	416
Serum Creatinine and Estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate	416
Albuminuria	416
Effects of Diabetic Nephropathy Treatment on Diabetic Retinopathy and Diabetic Macular	
Edema	417
Glycemic Control	417
Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 (GLP-1) Agonists	418
Dipeptidyl Peptidase-4 (DPP-4) Inhibitors	420
Sodium-Glucose Co-Transporter-2 (SGLT-2) Inhibitors	420
Renal Replacement Therapy	420
Kidney Transplantation	421
Correlations Between Renal Biomarkers and Other Ocular Manifestations in Diabetes	421
Diabetic Keratopathy and Corneal Nerve Degeneration	421
Renal Biomarkers Versus Diabetic Keratopathy	421

M.-J. Tsai

Department of Ophthalmology, Taoyuan General Hospital, Ministry of Health and Welfare, Taoyuan, Taiwan

I. P. Lai · Y.-T. Hsieh (⊠) Department of Ophthalmology, National Taiwan University Hospital, Taipei, Taiwan

M.-J. Lee National Taiwan University Hospital, Taipei, Taiwan

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2_21 411

Effects of Renal Replacement Therapy or Kidney Transplantation on Diabetic	
Keratopathy	422
Glaucoma in Diabetes	422
Renal Biomarkers Versus Glaucoma in Diabetes	423
Effects of Renal Replacement Therapy or Kidney Transplantation on Glaucoma	423
Renal Biomarkers Versus Cataract in Diabetes	423
Effects of Renal Replacement Therapy or Kidney Transplantation on Cataract	424
Conclusions	424
Applications of Renal Biomarkers to Prognosis	424
Mini-dictionary of Terms	425
Key Facts of Diabetic Retinopathy	425
Key Facts of Diabetic Macular Edema	426
Summary Points	426
References	426

Abstract

Diabetic retinopathy (DR) and diabetic nephropathy are the main microvascular complications in diabetes and often comorbid with each other. Renal biomarkers including serum creatinine, estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR), and urine albumin-to-creatinine ratio (UACR) are all associated with the incidence and severity of DR; better control of these renal biomarkers may help slow down the progression of DR. Diabetic macular edema (DME) is the leading cause of blindness resulting from DR; the main treatment is intravitreal injection of anti-vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) agents nowadays. Patients with low eGFR may have poorer visual outcome after anti-VEGF treatment for DME. Patients with albuminuria tend to have more severe serous-type macular edema at baseline, but respond well to anti-VEGF treatment. Hemodialysis is helpful for controlling macular edema in patients with end-stage renal diseases, but it might aggravate diabetic keratopathy and increase the risk of glaucoma. Renal transplant may be helpful for DR, DME, diabetic keratopathy, and glaucoma.

Keywords

Diabetic retinopathy \cdot Diabetic macular edema \cdot Diabetic nephropathy \cdot Diabetic keratopathy \cdot Glaucoma \cdot Cataract \cdot Glomerular filtration rate \cdot Proteinuria \cdot Albuminuria

Abbreviat	ions
DKD	Diabetic kidney disease
DME	Diabetic macular edema
DN	Diabetic nephropathy
DPP-4	Dipeptidyl peptidase-4
DR	Diabetic retinopathy
eGFR	Estimated glomerular filtration rate
GLP-1	Glucagon-like peptide-1
HbA1c	Glycated hemoglobin

IOP	Intraocular pressure
NPDR	Nonproliferative diabetic retinopathy
PDR	Proliferative diabetic retinopathy
SGLT-2	Sodium-glucose co-transporter-2
STDR	Sight-threatening diabetic retinopathy
T1D	Type 1 diabetes
T2D	Type 2 diabetes
UACR	Urinary albumin creatinine ratio
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

Introduction

Diabetic retinopathy (DR) is one of the main microvascular complications of diabetes. Numerous studies have demonstrated that diabetic nephropathy (DN), or diabetic kidney disease (DKD), is often comorbid with DR (Pavkov et al. 2019; Hsing et al. 2020; Park et al. 2019; Lee et al. 2014; Pedro et al. 2010; Wong et al. 2008; Wang et al. 2020a). It is of no wonder that these two microvascular complications of diabetes happen together. Therefore, renal biomarkers might be related to the development and the treatment effect of DR. Furthermore, other ocular manifestations may also happen in diabetic patients, including diabetic keratopathy, glaucoma, and cataract. In this chapter, we will review the evidences of correlations between renal biomarkers and the diabetic eye disease.

Correlations Between Renal Biomarkers and Diabetic Retinopathy

The comorbidity of DR and DN has been well known, and DN is definitely an important risk factor for the development and progression of DR. An 8-year prospective cohort study of patients with type 2 diabetes (T2D) in Taiwan revealed that abnormal renal profiles at baseline and during follow-up were both associated with the development of proliferative diabetic retinopathy (PDR) (Hsieh et al. 2018). Another longitudinal study from India also demonstrated similar results that DKD with reduced estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) or presence of albuminuria was correlated with the development of sight threatening DR (STDR) (Rajalakshmi et al. 2020). One study evaluated the scores of interstitial fibrosis and tubular atrophy (IFTA) through renal biopsy (Yamanouchi et al. 2019) and found that the IFTA score was correlated with DR severity scales (r = 0.41) (Wilkinson et al. 2003). The correlations between common renal biomarkers and DR will be discussed in details followingly.

Serum Creatinine and Estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate

Serum creatinine was found to be higher in subjects with DR than those without (Mathala et al. 2020). A higher level of serum creatinine was associated with the

development of PDR (Hsieh et al. 2018) and disruption of photoreceptors (Saxena et al. 2017) in T2D. More studies have revealed the correlations between estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) and DR. A low eGFR has been linked to the development or progression of DR in numerous studies (Hsieh et al. 2018; Man et al. 2015; Kaewput et al. 2019). However, early DR can still develop in patients with normal eGFR (Wu et al. 2015). In this study it was observed that an eGFR of 99.4 mL/min/1.73 m² or less in T2D might indicate the early stage of DR. This could be in part attributed to the phenomenon of glomerular hyperfiltration, which leads to an increase in eGFR in the early stage of diabetes (Tonneijck et al. 2017). Overtime, the hyperfiltration results in irreversible renal damage and further decline in glomerular filtration rates. The pathogenesis for glomerular hyperfiltration is complex. However, it sheds light on some inconsistent clinical findings about the associations between renal function and DR (Sabanayagam et al. 2014; Penno et al. 2012).

Albuminuria

Albuminuria is the most frequently used biomarker for DN in current literatures. Microalbuminuria has been found to be associated with the development and severity of DR in T2D patients (Hsieh et al. 2018; Manaviat et al. 2004; Lee et al. 2017; Reddy et al. 2013). Some studies suggest that microalbuminuria is a more sensitive biomarker than reduced eGFR with regard to the prediction of DR progression (Romero-Aroca et al. 2018; Chen et al. 2012). Although chronic hyperglycemia is the trigger factor for subsequent cascades resulting in both disruption of glomerular filtration barrier and blood–retinal barrier in diabetic patients, whether these events occur simultaneously remains unclear. Remission of microalbuminuria was shown to be protective for the development of PDR, while the development of DR or PDR did not result in progression of albuminuria and DR suggests that VEGF might be expressed and released into systemic circulation after glomerular injury, and then further affect the retina (Cha et al. 2004; Pawlak et al. 2008).

Erythropoietin

Reduced erythropoietin may be an indicator for early DN (Bosman et al. 2001). It is one of the various causes of anemia, which has been regarded as a risk factor for DR and DME (Wang et al. 2020a; McGill and Bell 2006). However, the role of erythropoietin is complex. Whether it is beneficial or detrimental to DR remains undetermined (Reid and Lois 2017; Davidović et al. 2019; Semeraro et al. 2014). Although once thought to be secreted by kidney in early studies, erythropoietin can also be produced in response to tissue hypoxia in many tissues including retina, and is no longer considered a specific biomarker for renal function.

Correlations Between Renal Biomarkers and Diabetic Macular Edema

Diabetic macular edema (DME) is the main cause of visual loss in patients with DR, and it is caused by increased permeability of macular retinal vessels and exudation of serous fluid and lipids into the macula. Since DME can occur at any stage of DR, other mechanisms could possibly be involved in the formation of macular edema and share the routes of pathogenesis with DR. Therefore, the renal biomarkers for DME might not be exactly the same as the biomarkers for DR.

Serum Creatinine and Estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate

While the eGFR level is correlated with the DR severity scale, the associations between eGFR and DME do not appear consistent in current studies (Hsieh et al. 2018; Man et al. 2015; Romero-Aroca et al. 2018; Temkar et al. 2018; Zhuang et al. 2019; Peng and Tsai 2018). Disparate analytical methods could be one of the reasons for such inconsistency. For example, in the study by Romero-Aroca et al. (2018), the eGFR levels were significantly higher in patients with DME or STDR than those with any DR. However, in multivariate analysis, the eGFR was no longer significantly correlated with DME or STDR. Similarly, Zhuang et al. showed that eGFR was a marker for DME in univariate analysis, but not in the multivariate models (Zhuang et al. 2019). Man et al. also found that a lower eGFR was correlated with more severe DR but not with DME, even after adjustment for essential baseline factors (Man et al. 2015).

Albuminuria

In contrast to eGFR, UACR has been shown to be a more sensitive and consistent renal biomarker in predicting DME. The severity of albuminuria has been identified as a risk factor for DME (Hsieh et al. 2018; Zhuang et al. 2019). Observations from the clinical evidences suggest that disruption of the glomerular filtration barrier seems to occur in parallel with breakdown of the blood-retinal barrier, which is the key factor for DME. Microalbuminuria was an independent factor for the presence of hard exudate and clinically significant macular edema in T2D (Ajoy Mohan et al. 2011). Interestingly, one study also showed the association between albuminuria and the patterns of macular edema (Koo et al. 2013); the level of albuminuria was the highest in serous type of macular edema than other types including diffuse, cystoid, vitreomacular adhesion, or mixed types. Patients with the serous type of DME were also found to have lower serum albumin levels, probably as a result of renal dysfunction. Low serum albumin level leads to a decrease in serum osmotic pressure, which in turn may cause body fluid overload and serous edema. This could be further demonstrated from the reports that macular edema happened in cases of renal failure without diabetes (Williams et al. 2006). It is inferred that systemic diuretics may play a role in the treatment for this type of edema (Ciardella 2004), while the effect needs to be confirmed in further clinical trials.

Body Fluid Status

Recently, volume expansion has been linked to the presence of macular edema in patients with DR (Tsai et al. 2019). This study examined the body fluid compartments and found that subjects with higher levels of extracellular fluid and overhydration were associated with the presence of macular edema, and that patients with the presence of both subretinal fluid and intraretinal cyst had the highest level of relative overhydration.

Correlations Between Renal Biomarkers and Treatment Outcomes of Diabetic Macular Edema

Serum Creatinine and Estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate

Persistent subretinal fluid following consecutive loading injections of ranibizumab for DME was more likely to be found in patients with a baseline eGFR less than 60 mL/min/1.73 m² (Tsai et al. 2017). Lai et al. (2020) found that patients with an eGFR less than 30 mL/min/1.73 m² tended to have poorer visual outcomes after 1 year of intravitreal ranibizumab injections, and Sophie et al. (2015) also confirmed that renal diseases predicted poor visual outcomes after 2-year ranibizumab treatment for DME in the RIDE and RISE clinical trials. However, another post hoc analysis from the same clinical trials revealed no correlations between serum creatinine or eGFR and visual outcomes (Singh et al. 2016), which should be related to different statistical methods used for post hoc analysis. While no data of macular perfusion were included in this study, previous researches have demonstrated that chronic kidney disease with a reduced eGFR level was correlated with larger retinal capillary nonperfusion areas and lower vessel density at macula (Min et al. 2020; Wang et al. 2020b).

Albuminuria

For patients receiving ranibizumab for DME, those with more severe proteinuria had thicker central subfield thickness at baseline, but responded better than those with normal or only mild proteinuria (Lai et al. 2020). In the post hoc analysis of several clinical trials including RIDE/RISE (Sophie et al. 2015), DRCR.net Protocol I (Bressler et al. 2012), and protocol T (Bressler et al. 2019), serous-type edema was found to respond better to anti-VEGF therapy in terms of visual and anatomic outcomes compared to cystoid-type edema. Interestingly, it was patients with serous-type edema that were prone to albuminuria (Koo et al. 2013). The formation

of serous-type edema was blamed on the destruction of blood-retinal barrier and could be exacerbated by the decreased oncotic pressure and the increased hydrostatic pressure in the setting of albuminuria (Klaassen et al. 2013; Daruich et al. 2018). Anti-VEGF agents allowed the restoration of blood-retinal barrier and diminished such synergic effects, making body fluid status a predictor of the responsiveness to anti-VEGF therapy. The same concept could also account for the fact that, when treated with anti-VEGF in a pro re nata strategy, DME patients with more severe proteinuria or albuminuria required more frequent intravitreal injections of anti-VEGF agents during the first year (Lai et al. 2020; Liu et al. 2019). This means that anti-VEGF therapy is effective in blocking the extravasation from the leaking retinal capillaries in DME. However, once the drug effect resolves, the macula will become edematous soon due to the low oncotic pressure in patients with albuminuria, so these patients will need anti-VEGF treatment with shorter intervals for DME.

Effects of Diabetic Nephropathy Treatment on Diabetic Retinopathy and Diabetic Macular Edema

Similar to all diabetes-related complications, the basic treatment for diabetic nephropathy is glycemic control. Several kinds of new-generation oral hypoglycemic agents including glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) agonists, dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP-4) inhibitors and sodium-glucose co-transporter-2 (SGLT-2) inhibitors are especially helpful in preserving kidney function. Renal replacement therapy and kidney transplantation are used for patients with end-stage renal diseases. Their effects on DR and DME will be discussed.

Glycemic Control

It has been well established that tight glycemic control can prevent the development and progression of DR. In the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT), intensive glycemic therapy to keep the HbA1c level around 7% could prevent the occurrence of DR by 76%, slow the progression of existing DR by 54%, and reduce the development of PDR by 47% over 7 years in patients with T1D compared to those aimed at HbA1c levels of around 9% (Effect of intensive diabetes treatment 1994). The United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS), which recruited patients with new-onset T2D, also demonstrated that patients who maintained HbA1c levels of around 7% benefited from 21% reduction in risk for DR in 12 years (Intensive blood-glucose control 1998). In addition, the "metabolic memory" of early intensive glycemic control provided long-lasting protective effects against diabetic retinopathy despite increasing hyperglycemia in both of the studies (Barr 2000; Holman et al. 2008). However, tighter glucose control toward even lower HbA1c levels (<7%) did not show consistent benefit to DR across studies, but posed higher risk of severe hypoglycemic events (Group AS et al. 2010; Group AC et al. 2008; Lind et al. 2019). On the other hand, a higher fluctuation of fasting glucose was found to be correlated with the development of PDR and DME (Hsieh and Hsieh 2020), indicating the importance of long-term stability in plasma glucose.

For the influence of glycemic control on the treatment outcomes of anti-VEGF therapy for DME, several studies have shown contradictory findings (Table 1). The post hoc analysis of DRCR.net protocol T and VIVID/VISTA clinical trials suggested that patients with a lower HbA1c level gained more visual improvement after treatment (Bressler et al. 2019; Singh et al. 2017), whereas such link was not seen in the DRCR.net protocol I and RISE/RIDE trials (Bressler et al. 2012; Bansal et al. 2015). On the contrary, although the aforementioned randomized controlled trials (RISE/RIDE, VISTA/VIVID, DRCR.net protocol I and protocol T) found no impact of HbA1c level on the anatomic outcome (Bressler et al. 2012, 2019; Singh et al. 2017; Bansal et al. 2015), some other prospective and retrospective studies demonstrated that patients with a lower HbA1c level had greater reduction of central foveal thickness but not better visual improvement (Ozturk et al. 2011; Wong et al. 2020; Sharma et al. 2020). Moreover, another two retrospective studies revealed that patients with a lower HbA1c level had thicker baseline central foveal thickness (Macky and Mahgoub 2013; Matsuda et al. 2014) but possessed better final vision. Such discordance between anatomical and visual outcomes is of no surprise, since central foveal thickness is not the only factor that determines visual acuity (Diabetic Retinopathy Clinical Research N et al. 2007). The reason for the diverse results of the correlations between glycemic control and treatment outcomes for DME is that hypoglycemia itself may be harmful. Several studies have revealed the U-shaped relationship between HbA1c level and cardiovascular diseases, stroke or all-cause mortality in diabetic patients (Anyanwagu et al. 2019; McAlister et al. 2020; Shen et al. 2020). Further studies are needed to clarify the role of HbA1c in its influence on anti-VEGF therapy for DME.

Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 (GLP-1) Agonists

A retrospective study found that GLP-1 agonist was capable of preventing nonproliferative diabetic retinopathy (NPDR) from evolving into STDR (Tauqeer et al. 2021). On the other hand, another retrospective study found that 30% of the patients treated with exenatide for 10 months experienced DR progression, among whom 80% of the cases had improved DR with sustained treatment (Varadhan et al. 2014). Similarly, the incidence of DR was higher for patients receiving GLP-1 agonist such as semaglutide or liraglutide in randomized trials evaluating their cardiovascular outcomes (Marso et al. 2016a, b). In response to these results, which was not seen in the SUSTAIN 1-5 trials for semaglutide, a post hoc analysis of the SUSTAIN 6 trial figured out that the worsening of DR was largely blamed on the drastic reduction of HbA1c in patients initially with preexisting DR and poor glycemic control (Vilsboll et al. 2018). Experimental studies on animal models have demonstrated that intravitreal or systemic GLP-1 agonists avoid nerve damage by preventing the activation of glial cells and maintaining the integrity of blood–retinal barrier (Pang

Table 1	1 Summary of studies evaluating the influence of glycemic control on the anti-VEGF therapy for DME. Most studies adopted baseline HbA1c as
paramete	er and attempted to find its correlations with visual and anatomic characteristics at baseline and after anti-VEGF treatment. The results were inconsisten
across th	he studies

									Change in HbA1c dı follow-up	n uring	
			Baseline Hb.	A1c<7					period		
		Follow-up	Baseline	Final	Change	Baseline	Final	Change	Final	Final	
Study	Design	period	CRT	CRT	in CRT	VA	VA	in VA	CRT	VA	Reference
RISE/ RIDE	RCT	36 months	Thicker	Thicker	N/R	N/R	N/R	N/R	N/R	N/R	(Bansal et al. 2015)
VISTA/ VIVID	RCT	100 weeks	I	I	N/R	I	I	Better	I	I	(Singh et al. 2017)
DRCR I	RCT	12 months	I	I	N/R	I	I	N/R	I	I	(Bressler et al. 2012)
DRCR T	RCT	24 months	I	I	N/R	I	I	Better	I	I	(Bressler et al. 2019)
Warid et al.	Prospective	3 months	I	I	N/R	I	1	Better	1	1	(Warid Al-Laftah et al. 2010)
Ozturk et al.	Retrospective	4–6 weeks	I	1	Better	I		N/R	1	I	(Ozturk et al. 2011)
Macky et al.	Retrospective	6 months	Thicker	N/R	I	Better	Better		N/R	N/R	(Macky and Mahgoub 2013)
Matsuda et al.	Retrospective	12 months	Thicker	N/R	N/R	N/R	Better	N/R	I	1	(Matsuda et al. 2014)
Wong et al.	Prospective	12 months	N/R	I	Better			N/R	I	I	(Wong et al. 2020)
Sharma et al.	Prospective	3 months	I	I	Better	I	I	N/R		1	(Sharma et al. 2020)
CRT central 1	retinal thickness,	N/R no signific	cant relevance	e, RCT rand	lomized contr	olled trial, V_i	4 visual a	cuity			

et al. 2018). Above all, despite the potential beneficial effect of GLP-1 agonist on retina, further clinical trials are needed to elucidate the impact of GLP-1 agonist on DR or DME.

Dipeptidyl Peptidase-4 (DPP-4) Inhibitors

Experimental studies have revealed the direct potential beneficial effects of DPP-4 inhibitors on both DN and DR (Avogaro and Fadini 2014). A double-blind randomized controlled trial showed that saxagliptin could reduce hyperperfusion of retinal capillaries, which was an early sign of DR (Ott et al. 2014). A retrospective study (Kolaczynski et al. 2016) showed that treatment with vildagliptin was associated with reduced incidences of both DN and DR compared to treatment with sulfonylurea. However, another retrospective study (Kang et al. 2021) showed that add-on DPP-4 inhibitor therapy may be associated with DR progression in patients with T2D. A post hoc analysis of VISTA and VIVID trials showed that DPP-4 inhibitor use at baseline did not influence the magnitude of visual or anatomic improvement in patients receiving aflibercept or laser treatment for DME (Rahimy et al. 2020). Further studies are needed to reveal the effect of DPP-4 inhibitors on DR progression or anti-VEGF treatment for DME.

Sodium-Glucose Co-Transporter-2 (SGLT-2) Inhibitors

A double-blind randomized controlled trial showed that dapagliflozin could reduce hyperperfusion of retinal capillaries and minimize arteriole remodeling, both of which were early signs of DR (Ott et al. 2017). Some case reports also showed that SGLT-2 inhibitors were effective in treating DME (Yoshizumi et al. 2018; Takatsuna et al. 2020). However, the "beyond blood glucose control" effect of SGLT2 inhibitors on DR or DME merits further studies.

Renal Replacement Therapy

The effect of hemodialysis on DME has remained inconclusive according current evidences (Takamura et al. 2020; Tokuyama et al. 2000; Theodossiadis et al. 2012; Kumar et al. 2021; Azem et al. 2014; Mirza et al. 2013; Matsuo 2006). While an early report demonstrated no significant improvement of fluorescein leakage after hemodialysis (Tokuyama et al. 2000), some recent studies using optical coherence tomography (OCT) revealed reduction of retinal and choroidal thickness after hemodialysis (Takamura et al. 2020; Theodossiadis et al. 2012; Mirza et al. 2013). The mechanisms for this dynamic change was not clear; but it was believed to be related to the alteration of intravascular osmotic pressure caused by hemodialysis and subsequent decrease in extracellular fluid accumulation. Among different types of macular edema, subretinal fluid was the most responsive to
hemodialysis, compared to cystoid macular edema or sponge-like swelling (Takamura et al. 2020). Data regarding peritoneal dialysis for macular edema was limited. One case report revealed that initiation of peritoneal dialysis might contribute to the resolution of persistent edema under the treatment of intravitreal injections (Ong et al. 2017).

Kidney Transplantation

Kidney transplantation may play a role in stabilization of DR in a majority of patients who have already presented with varying degrees of DR at the time of transplantation (Mittal et al. 2005; Roy et al. 2013). According to one previous report (Roy et al. 2013), although early worsening of DR might be observed in some patients, most patients had their DR stabilized 75 months after the transplantation. Overall, 60% of patients had stable DR at final follow-up. Combined pancreas and kidney transplantations may be particularly helpful in stabilization of DR for patient with T1D (Chow et al. 1999; Pearce et al. 2000). Additionally, one clinical trial (Koznarová et al. 2000) found that patients with simultaneous pancreas and kidney transplantation received less additional laser treatment than kidney transplantation alone group in patients with T1D.

Correlations Between Renal Biomarkers and Other Ocular Manifestations in Diabetes

Diabetic Keratopathy and Corneal Nerve Degeneration

Diabetic keratopathy is also an ocular complication of diabetes (Markoulli et al. 2018). Under chronic hyperglycemia, progressive axonal degeneration of corneal nerve develops because advanced glycation end products accumulate around nerve tissues and cause damage to Schwann cell and perineural collagen (Mansoor et al. 2020). Corneal sensation and tear break-up time decrease as the duration of diabetes and the HbA1c level increases (Di Zazzo et al. 2021). Neurotrophic keratopathy thus develops because of impaired sensory and trophic function. Corneal nerve degeneration is highly related to the severity of diabetic polyneuropathy (Petropoulos et al. 2013). Even in the prediabetic or early diabetic stage, small peripheral nerve degeneration may exist (Chao et al. 2020). Corneal nerve regeneration can be observed after glycemic control with decreased HbA1c in poorly controlled T2D (Ponirakis et al. 2020, 2021).

Renal Biomarkers Versus Diabetic Keratopathy

The onset of diabetic keratopathy is usually prior to the development of microalbuminuria (Petropoulos et al. 2015). A cross-sectional matched comparison study showed that a low eGFR level was associated with reduced corneal nerve fiber density, length, and fractal dimension, and UACR was negatively correlated with corneal nerve fiber density and fractal dimension (Tummanapalli et al. 2020). Hyperkalemia is another common complication noticed in chronic kidney disease and has been reported to play a role in the pathogenesis of diabetic polyneuropathy (Arnold et al. 2014). A 24-month prospective, single-blind, randomized controlled trial indicated that controlling serum potassium to a level below 4.5 mEq/L through potassium restriction and medication could slow down the progression of peripheral neuropathy (Arnold et al. 2017).

Effects of Renal Replacement Therapy or Kidney Transplantation on Diabetic Keratopathy

After hemodialysis, central corneal thickness decreases due to removal of excessive body fluid with increase in plasma osmotic pressure. However, both tear break-up time and basal tear secretion measured by Schirmer's test are also decreased, which makes the keratoepitheliopathy score increase (Jung et al. 2013). As for patients of T1D with renal failure, simultaneous pancreas and kidney transplantation can restore normoglycemia and increase eGFR postoperatively, and the operation is beneficial in recovering diabetic polyneuropathy as well. Corneal nerve regeneration with increased corneal nerve fractal dimension also lasts for 6 months after the surgery (Azmi et al. 2019).

Glaucoma in Diabetes

High oxidative stress and vascular autoregulation due to endothelial cell injury in hyperglycemic state will cause retinal ganglion cell apoptosis in diabetic patients (Wong et al. 2011). The formation of advanced glycation end products induces the extracellular matrix remodeling, which can lead to intraocular pressure (IOP) increase because of trabecular meshwork dysfunction (Wong et al. 2011). Despite these predisposing factors for glaucoma in diabetes, the relationship between diabetes and IOP increase is controversial in early studies (Oshitari et al. 2007; Bankes 1967). However, a recent retrospective study including 2524 diabetes patients and 6112 participants without diabetes showed that the IOP was significantly higher in the diabetic group than in the nondiabetic group (Luo et al. 2018). The relationship between HbA1c and glaucoma is contentious as well. Luo et al. found that a higher HbA1c level was significantly associated with a higher IOP after adjusting for the same potential confounders (Luo et al. 2018), while Johnson et al. disclosed that there was no significant association between diabetes control measured by HbA1c and the rate of visual loss or retinal nerve fiber loss in the patients with glaucoma (Johnson et al. 2021).

Renal Biomarkers Versus Glaucoma in Diabetes

Patients with chronic kidney disease also bear a higher risk of developing glaucoma, regardless of the presence of diabetes (Cho et al. 2021). A cross-sectional study showed that decrease in eGFR was associated with IOP elevation, and increase in serum creatinine was associated with increased cupping/disc ratio (Djordjevic-Jocic et al. 2014). A Korean study supported the finding that low eGFR levels were correlated with primary open-angle glaucoma (POAG), while there was no relationship between proteinuria and POAG (Shim et al. 2016). However, another study of East Asian population disclosed that decreased eGFR was not significantly correlated with POAG in the general population (Tham et al. 2020).

Effects of Renal Replacement Therapy or Kidney Transplantation on Glaucoma

A retrospective study in Taiwan disclosed that patients on dialysis had a higher risk of glaucoma, especially angle closure glaucoma (Lim et al. 2020). In the aspect of pathophysiology, hemodialysis will cause significant decrease in plasma osmolarity or relative increase in intracellular urea compared with the extracellular one, and both of them can drive the extracellular fluid to anterior chamber. These will lower the mean arterial pressure and ocular perfusion pressure, and elevate the IOP (Hu et al. 2013). In fact, the amplitude of IOP surge is also related to the speed of plasma osmolarity decrease. Sitprija et al. demonstrated that a rise in IOP would occur with a plasma osmolarity change rate of -11 mOsm/L/h, but not with a rate of -8 mOsm/L/h (SITPRIJA et al. 1964). Other groups found no significant change in IOP with slower rate of plasma osmolarity change (Gafter et al. 1985; Tokuyama et al. 1998; Samsudin et al. 2010). A meta-analysis study indicated that IOP increase during hemodialysis was related to the use of acetate dialysate, which was less frequently observed after replacing acetate dialysate with bicarbonate dialysate in the recent years (Chen et al. 2021). On the other hand, kidney transplantation has a protective effect against glaucoma. A study using Korea National Health Insurance Service Database showed that kidney transplantation could reduce the risk of primary angle closure glaucoma in patients with end-stage renal disease (Moon et al. 2021).

Renal Biomarkers Versus Cataract in Diabetes

For diabetic patients, reduction of glucose to sorbitol catalyzed by aldose reductase through a polyol pathway depicts the main pathophysiology of diabetic cataract. The intracellular accumulation of sorbitol results in hydropic lenses and apoptosis of lens epithelial cell. In addition, high glucose level in aqueous humor induces glycation of

lens proteins, leading to the generation of advance glycation end products and increased oxidative stress (Pollreisz and Schmidt-Erfurth 2010). A case-control study disclosed that victims of diabetic cataract had higher serum sodium, potassium, and chloride levels compared to cataract patients without diabetes, indicating that the rise of electrolytes may cause early cataract formation (Adiga and Harris 2017). Another case-control study not only supported the results of the previous study, but also revealed that serum magnesium level rose in patients with diabetic cataract as well (Kaliaperumal et al. 2021). A cross-sectional study revealed that low eGFR was associated with more severe cataract formation in patients with T2D (Tomić et al. 2021).

Effects of Renal Replacement Therapy or Kidney Transplantation on Cataract

For patients with end-stage renal diseases with or without diabetes, cataract is associated with hemodialysis (Kianersi et al. 2019). The beginning of hemodialysis increased the incidence of cataract surgery (Rim et al. 2016). As for recipients of kidney transplantation, cataract is also a common complication (Ślizień et al. 2020; Raczyńska et al. 2018). This may result from the usage of steroid pulse therapy after transplantation. However, a prospective study evaluating the lens optical density before the operation, 1 month after the operation, and 12 months after the operation showed that the lens opacity decreased in some area at 1 month after kidney transplantation, but then the opacity returned to the level before operation at 12 months. This indicates that kidney transplantation may be able to reverse the diabetic cataract due to better glycemic control, but the usage of steroid may further worsen the lens opacity (Öncül et al. 2021).

Conclusions

Although DN and DR are usually comorbid, different renal biomarkers might have different impacts on diabetes-related ocular diseases and their treatments. Control of DN usually results in improvement or stabilization of DR, but the treatment-associated side effects such as body fluid fluctuation or systemic steroid use might have adverse effects on various diabetic eye diseases.

Applications of Renal Biomarkers to Prognosis

The renal biomarkers can be prognostic for anatomical and probably functional outcomes after initiation of intravitreal injections for diabetic macular edema. Among the various renal biomarkers, severity of albuminuria has a more direct impact than the eGFR on the improvement of central subfield thickness after treatment for retinal edema. Previous clinical data has suggested that severe

albuminuria is linked to more frequent intravitreal injections as a result of less responsive and more severe edema (Liu et al. 2019). The correlations between renal biomarkers and visual prognosis seem to be more complex. In addition to macular thickness, macular ischemia usually predicts suboptimal visual improvement after treatment. Low eGFR in chronic kidney disease has been demonstrated as a biomarker for large non-perfusion areas and lower vascular density in the posterior pole (Min et al. 2020; Vadalà et al. 2019). While there have been reports as for resolution of edema after initiation of hemodialysis or peritoneal dialysis (Takamura et al. 2020; Theodossiadis et al. 2012; Ong et al. 2017), whether improvement of these renal biomarkers can lead to better long-term visual prognosis warrants further investigations.

Mini-dictionary of Terms

- Albuminuria: The abnormal presence of albumin in the urine. According to urine albumin-to-creatinine ratio (UACR), albuminuria can be classified into normal to mildly increased (<30 mg/g), moderately increased (30–300 mg/g), and severely increased (>300 mg/g) albuminuria.
- **Diabetic keratopathy**: A degenerative corneal disease seen in patients with diabetes that mainly causes corneal epithelial disturbances.
- **Diabetic macular edema**: A form of diabetic retinopathy that manifests as macula thickening. It is the main reason for blindness in patients with DR.
- **Diabetic retinopathy**: A microvascular complication of diabetes affecting the retina, resulting in the damage of retinal vessels, ischemic change of retina, neovascularization, and loss of vision.
- Estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR): An estimation of kidney function using serum creatinine level, age, gender, and body size without the need for 24-h urine collection.

Key Facts of Diabetic Retinopathy

- Diabetic retinopathy (DR) is one of the main microvascular complications of diabetes.
- DR is the leading cause of blindness among working-age adults in developed countries.
- Fundus manifestations include retinal hemorrhage, hard exudate, microaneurysm, macular edema, and neovascularization.
- DR can be classified as non-proliferative or proliferative DR, with the latter involved the development of neovascularization.
- The incidence of DR increased with the duration of diabetes, where 50% of type-1 diabetes patients developed DR 10 years after initial diagnosis.
- Control of blood sugar with HbA1c <7% can slow down the development and progression of DR.

Key Facts of Diabetic Macular Edema

- Diabetic macular edema (DME) accounts for the majority of blindness in DR.
- DME can occur in any stage of DR.
- DME is characterized by macular thickening in various patterns, including diffuse retinal thickening, intraretinal cyst, and subretinal fluid.
- Pathogenesis of DME involves the destruction and hyperpermeability of bloodretinal barrier, where vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) plays a crucial role.
- Intravitreal injection of anti-VEGF agents has replaced macular laser photocoagulation and become the mainstay of treatment.

Summary Points

- Renal biomarkers including serum creatinine, eGFR, and UACR are all associated with DR and its severity. Treatment for DN with better control of renal profile is associated with less progression of DR.
- DME patients with albuminuria or low serum albumin tend to have more severe serous-type macular edema at baseline. However, they respond well to anti-VEGF treatment, although more intensive injections might be needed after the loading phase due to disease recurrence.
- Body fluid status is also a biomarker for DME. Overhydration predisposes to the development of macular edema, and hemodialysis is helpful for controlling macular edema in patients with end-stage renal diseases.
- A low eGFR level is associated with poor visual outcome after anti-VEGF treatment for DME. Such association might be attributed to poor macular perfusion in diabetic patients with a low eGFR level.
- The dehydration effect of hemodialysis might enhance the severity of diabetic keratopathy, and the fluctuation of body fluid and plasma osmolarity during hemodialysis might increase the risk of glaucoma.
- Renal transplant may be helpful for DR, DME, diabetic keratopathy, and glaucoma. However, the accompanying use of steroid might result in cataract formation.

References

- Adiga US, Harris A. Serum electrolytes in cataract patients with and without diabetes mellitus. Int J Biochem Res Rev. 2017;19:1–5.
- Ajoy Mohan VK, Nithyanandam S, Idiculla J. Microalbuminuria and low hemoglobin as risk factors for the occurrence and increasing severity of diabetic retinopathy. Indian J Ophthalmol. 2011;59(3):207–10.

- Anyanwagu U, Mamza J, Donnelly R, Idris I. Relationship between HbA1c and all-cause mortality in older patients with insulin-treated type 2 diabetes: results of a large UK Cohort Study. Age Ageing. 2019;48(2):235–40.
- Arnold R, Pussell BA, Howells J, Grinius V, Kiernan MC, Lin CSY, Krishnan AV. Evidence for a causal relationship between hyperkalaemia and axonal dysfunction in end-stage kidney disease. Clin Neurophysiol. 2014;125(1):179–85.
- Arnold R, Pianta TJ, Pussell BA, Kirby A, O'Brien K, Sullivan K, Holyday M, Cormack C, Kiernan MC, Krishnan AV. Randomized, controlled trial of the effect of dietary potassium restriction on nerve function in CKD. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2017;12(10):1569–77.
- Avogaro A, Fadini GP. The effects of dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibition on microvascular diabetes complications. Diabetes Care. 2014;37(10):2884–94.
- Azem N, Spierer O, Shaked M, Neudorfer M. Effect of hemodialysis on retinal thickness in patients with diabetic retinopathy, with and without macular edema, using optical coherence tomography. J Ophthalmol. 2014;2014:709862.
- Azmi S, Jeziorska M, Ferdousi M, Petropoulos IN, Ponirakis G, Marshall A, Alam U, Asghar O, Atkinson A, Jones W, et al. Early nerve fibre regeneration in individuals with type 1 diabetes after simultaneous pancreas and kidney transplantation. Diabetologia. 2019;62(8):1478–87.
- Bankes JL. Ocular tension and diabetes mellitus. Br J Ophthalmol. 1967;51(8):557-61.
- Bansal AS, Khurana RN, Wieland MR, Wang PW, Van Everen SA, Tuomi L. Influence of glycosylated hemoglobin on the efficacy of ranibizumab for diabetic macular edema: a post hoc analysis of the RIDE/RISE trials. Ophthalmology. 2015;122(8):1573–9.
- Barr CC. Retinopathy and nephropathy in patients with type 1 diabetes four years after a trial of intensive insulin therapy, by the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial/Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications Research Group. N. Engl. J. Med 342:381–9. Surv Ophthalmol 2001. 2000;45(5):459–60.
- Bosman DR, Winkler AS, Marsden JT, Macdougall IC, Watkins PJ. Anemia with erythropoietin deficiency occurs early in diabetic nephropathy. Diabetes Care. 2001;24(3):495–9.
- Bressler SB, Qin H, Beck RW, Chalam KV, Kim JE, Melia M, Wells JA 3rd, Diabetic Retinopathy Clinical Research N. Factors associated with changes in visual acuity and central subfield thickness at 1 year after treatment for diabetic macular edema with ranibizumab. Arch Ophthalmol. 2012;130(9):1153–61.
- Bressler SB, Odia I, Maguire MG, Dhoot DS, Glassman AR, Jampol LM, Marcus DM, Solomon SD, Sun JK, Diabetic Retinopathy Clinical Research N. Factors associated with visual acuity and central subfield thickness changes when treating diabetic macular edema with anti-vascular endothelial growth factor therapy: an exploratory analysis of the protocol T randomized clinical trial. JAMA Ophthalmol. 2019;137(4):382–9.
- Cha DR, Kang YS, Han SY, Jee YH, Han KH, Han JY, Kim YS, Kim NH. Vascular endothelial growth factor is increased during early stage of diabetic nephropathy in type II diabetic rats. J Endocrinol. 2004;183(1):183–94.
- Chao C, Wang R, Jones M, Karson N, Jussel A, Smith J, Richdale K, Harrison W. The relationship between corneal nerve density and hemoglobin A1c in patients with prediabetes and type 2 diabetes. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2020;61(12):26.
- Chen YH, Chen HS, Tarng DC. More impact of microalbuminuria on retinopathy than moderately reduced GFR among type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetes Care. 2012;35(4):803–8.
- Chen S-H, Lu D-W, Ku W-C, Chuang L-H, Ferng S-H, Chen Y-J, Lu Y-H, Chai PY-C. Changes in intraocular pressure during hemodialysis: a meta-analysis. J Glaucoma. 2021;30:866.
- Cho HK, Han JC, Choi JA, Chae JE, Kim RB. Association between chronic renal disease and the risk of glaucoma development: a 12-year Nationwide Cohort Study. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2021;62(6):27.
- Chow VC, Pai RP, Chapman JR, O'Connell PJ, Allen RD, Mitchell P, Nankivell BJ. Diabetic retinopathy after combined kidney-pancreas transplantation. Clin Transpl. 1999;13(4):356–62.
- Ciardella AP. Partial resolution of diabetic macular oedema after systemic treatment with furosemide. Br J Ophthalmol. 2004;88(9):1224–5.

- Daruich A, Matet A, Moulin A, Kowalczuk L, Nicolas M, Sellam A, Rothschild PR, Omri S, Gelize E, Jonet L, et al. Mechanisms of macular edema: beyond the surface. Prog Retin Eye Res. 2018;63:20–68.
- Davidović S, Babić N, Jovanović S, Barišić S, Grković D, Miljković A. Serum erythropoietin concentration and its correlation with stage of diabetic retinopathy. BMC Ophthalmol. 2019;19 (1):227.
- Di Zazzo A, Coassin M, Micera A, Mori T, De Piano M, Scartozzi L, Sgrulletta R, Bonini S. Ocular surface diabetic disease: a neurogenic condition? Ocul Surf. 2021;19:218–23.
- Diabetic Retinopathy Clinical Research N, Browning DJ, Glassman AR, Aiello LP, Beck RW, Brown DM, Fong DS, Bressler NM, Danis RP, Kinyoun JL, et al. Relationship between optical coherence tomography-measured central retinal thickness and visual acuity in diabetic macular edema. Ophthalmology. 2007;114(3):525–36.
- Djordjevic-Jocic J, Cukuranovic R, Mitic B, Jovanovic P, Djordjevic V, Mihajlovic M, Veselinovic A, Zivkovic M, Veljkovic S, Bogdanovic D. Ocular and systemic factors associated with glaucoma in chronic kidney disease patients. Int Urol Nephrol. 2014;46 (11):2191–8.
- Effect of intensive diabetes treatment on the development and progression of long-term complications in adolescents with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus: Diabetes Control and Complications Trial. Diabetes Control and Complications Trial Research Group. J Pediatr. 1994;125(2): 177–88.
- Gafter U, Pinkas M, Hirsch J, Levi J, Savir H. Intraocular pressure in uremic patients on chronic hemodialysis. Nephron. 1985;40(1):74–5.
- Group AC, Patel A, MacMahon S, Chalmers J, Neal B, Billot L, Woodward M, Marre M, Cooper M, Glasziou P, et al. Intensive blood glucose control and vascular outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2008;358(24):2560–72.
- Group AS, Group AES, Chew EY, Ambrosius WT, Davis MD, Danis RP, Gangaputra S, Greven CM, Hubbard L, Esser BA, et al. Effects of medical therapies on retinopathy progression in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(3):233–44.
- Holman RR, Paul SK, Bethel MA, Matthews DR, Neil HA. 10-year follow-up of intensive glucose control in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2008;359(15):1577–89.
- Hsieh YT, Hsieh MC. Fasting plasma glucose variability is an independent risk factor for diabetic retinopathy and diabetic macular oedema in type 2 diabetes: an 8-year prospective cohort study. Clin Exp Ophthalmol. 2020;48(4):470–6.
- Hsieh YT, Hsieh MC. Time-sequential correlations between diabetic kidney disease and diabetic retinopathy in type 2 diabetes an 8-year prospective cohort study. Acta Ophthalmol. 2021;99 (1):e1–6.
- Hsieh YT, Tsai MJ, Tu ST, Hsieh MC. Association of abnormal renal profiles and proliferative diabetic retinopathy and diabetic macular edema in an Asian population with type 2 diabetes. JAMA Ophthalmol. 2018;136(1):68–74.
- Hsing SC, Lee CC, Lin C, Chen JT, Chen YH, Fang WH. The severity of diabetic retinopathy is an independent factor for the progression of diabetic nephropathy. J Clin Med. 2020;10(1):3.
- Hu J, Bui KM, Patel KH, Kim H, Arruda JA, Wilensky JT, Vajaranant TS. Effect of hemodialysis on intraocular pressure and ocular perfusion pressure. JAMA Ophthalmol. 2013;131(12): 1525–31.
- Intensive blood-glucose control with sulphonylureas or insulin compared with conventional treatment and risk of complications in patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 33). UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) Group. Lancet. 1998;352(9131):837–53.
- Johnson NA, Jammal AA, Berchuck SI, Medeiros FA. Effect of diabetes control on rates of structural and functional loss in patients with glaucoma. Ophthalmol Glaucoma. 2021;4(2): 216–23.
- Jung JW, Yoon MH, Lee SW, Chin HS. Effect of hemodialysis (HD) on intraocular pressure, ocular surface, and macular change in patients with chronic renal failure. Effect of hemodialysis on the ophthalmologic findings. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol. 2013;251(1):153–62.

- Kaewput W, Thongprayoon C, Rangsin R, Ruangkanchanasetr P, Mao MA, Cheungpasitporn W. Associations of renal function with diabetic retinopathy and visual impairment in type 2 diabetes: a multicenter nationwide cross-sectional study. World J Nephrol. 2019;8(2):33–43.
- Kaliaperumal R, Venkatachalam R, Sugumaran VB, Vengadapathy KV, Nagarajan P, Rangarajalu K. Impact of dyselectrolytemia in the pathogenesis of diabetic cataract. Ann Rom Soc Cell Biol. 2021;25(1):1565–71.
- Kang EY, Kang C, Wu WC, Sun CC, Chen KJ, Lai CC, Chen TH, Hwang YS. Association between add-on dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor therapy and diabetic retinopathy progression. J Clin Med. 2021;10(13):2871.
- Kianersi F, Taheri S, Fesharaki S, Fesharaki H, Mirmohammadkhani M, Pourazizi M, Ghalyani M, Moghadam RS. Ocular manifestations in hemodialysis patients: importance of ophthalmic examination in prevention of ocular sequels. Int J Prev Med. 2019;10:20.
- Klaassen I, Van Noorden CJ, Schlingemann RO. Molecular basis of the inner blood-retinal barrier and its breakdown in diabetic macular edema and other pathological conditions. Prog Retin Eye Res. 2013;34:19–48.
- Kolaczynski WM, Hankins M, Ong SH, Richter H, Clemens A, Toussi M. Microvascular outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes treated with vildagliptin vs. sulfonylurea: a retrospective study using German Electronic Medical Records. Diabetes Ther. 2016;7(3):483–96.
- Koo NK, Jin HC, Kim KS, Kim YC. Relationship between the morphology of diabetic macular edema and renal dysfunction in diabetes. Korean J Ophthalmol. 2013;27(2):98–102.
- Koznarová R, Saudek F, Sosna T, Adamec M, Jedináková T, Boucek P, Bartos V, Lánská V. Beneficial effect of pancreas and kidney transplantation on advanced diabetic retinopathy. Cell Transplant. 2000;9(6):903–8.
- Kumar K, Balasubramaniam S, Raj P, Agarwal A. Incidence of paradoxical neurosensory detachment in diabetic eyes undergoing hemodialysis for end-stage renal disease. Cureus. 2021;13(4): e14739.
- Lai IP, Huang WL, Yang CM, Yang CH, Ho TC, Hsieh YT. Renal biomarkers for treatment effect of ranibizumab for diabetic macular edema. J Diabetes Res. 2020;2020:7239570.
- Lee WJ, Sobrin L, Lee MJ, Kang MH, Seong M, Cho H. The relationship between diabetic retinopathy and diabetic nephropathy in a population-based study in Korea (KNHANES V-2, 3). Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2014;55(10):6547–53.
- Lee MK, Han KD, Lee JH, Sohn SY, Hong OK, Jeong JS, Kim MK, Baek KH, Song KH, Kwon HS. Normal-to-mildly increased albuminuria predicts the risk for diabetic retinopathy in patients with type 2 diabetes. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):11757.
- Lim C-C, Lee C-Y, Huang F-C, Huang J-Y, Hung J-H, Yang S-F. Risk of glaucoma in patients receiving hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis: a nationwide population-based cohort study. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020;17(18):6774.
- Lind M, Pivodic A, Svensson AM, Olafsdottir AF, Wedel H, Ludvigsson J. HbA1c level as a risk factor for retinopathy and nephropathy in children and adults with type 1 diabetes: Swedish population based cohort study. BMJ. 2019;366:14894.
- Liu ZY, Ma XJ, Liao DY, Liu XD, Bai L, Yao J, Xu M, Zheng YP. Association of urinary albumin excretion with central foveal thickness and intravitreal conbercept treatment frequency in patients with diabetic macular edema. Int J Ophthalmol. 2019;12(10):1598–604.
- Luo X-Y, Tan NYQ, Chee M-L, Shi Y, Tham Y-C, Wong TY, Wang JJ, Cheng C-Y. Direct and indirect associations between diabetes and intraocular pressure: the Singapore Epidemiology of Eye Diseases Study. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2018;59(5):2205–11.
- Macky TA, Mahgoub MM. The effect of glycemic control on visual and anatomic outcomes in response to therapy for diabetic macular edema. Eur J Ophthalmol. 2013;23(1):94–100.
- Man RE, Sasongko MB, Wang JJ, MacIsaac R, Wong TY, Sabanayagam C, Lamoureux EL. The association of estimated glomerular filtration rate with diabetic retinopathy and macular edema. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2015;56(8):4810–6.
- Manaviat MR, Afkhami M, Shoja MR. Retinopathy and microalbuminuria in type II diabetic patients. BMC Ophthalmol. 2004;4:9.

- Mansoor H, Tan HC, Lin MT-Y, Mehta JS, Liu Y-C. Diabetic corneal neuropathy. J Clin Med. 2020;9(12):3956.
- Markoulli M, Flanagan J, Tummanapalli SS, Wu J, Willcox M. The impact of diabetes on corneal nerve morphology and ocular surface integrity. Ocul Surf. 2018;16(1):45–57.
- Marso SP, Bain SC, Consoli A, Eliaschewitz FG, Jodar E, Leiter LA, Lingvay I, Rosenstock J, Seufert J, Warren ML, et al. Semaglutide and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2016a;375(19):1834–44.
- Marso SP, Daniels GH, Brown-Frandsen K, Kristensen P, Mann JF, Nauck MA, Nissen SE, Pocock S, Poulter NR, Ravn LS, et al. Liraglutide and cardiovascular outcomes in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2016b;375(4):311–22.
- Mathala N, Akula A, Hegde S, Bitra R, Sachedev V. Assessment of circulating biomarkers in relation to various stages of diabetic retinopathy in type 2 diabetic patients-a cross sectional study. Curr Diabetes Rev. 2020;16(4):402–9.
- Matsuda S, Tam T, Singh RP, Kaiser PK, Petkovsek D, Carneiro G, Zanella MT, Ehlers JP. The impact of metabolic parameters on clinical response to VEGF inhibitors for diabetic macular edema. J Diabetes Complicat. 2014;28(2):166–70.
- Matsuo T. Disappearance of diabetic macular hard exudates after hemodialysis introduction. Acta Med Okayama. 2006;60(3):201–5.
- McAlister FA, Zheng Y, Westerhout CM, Buse JB, Standl E, McGuire DK, Van de Werf F, Green JB, Armstrong PW, Holman RR, et al. Association between glycated haemoglobin levels and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease: a secondary analysis of the TECOS randomized clinical trial. Eur J Heart Fail. 2020;22(11): 2026–34.
- McGill JB, Bell DS. Anemia and the role of erythropoietin in diabetes. J Diabetes Complicat. 2006;20(4):262–72.
- Min JW, Kim HD, Park SY, Lee JH, Park JH, Lee A, Ra H, Baek J. Relationship between retinal capillary nonperfusion area and renal function in patients with type 2 diabetes. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2020;61(14):14.
- Mirza ZB, Sreekanth S, Gibson JM, Dasgupta I. Optical coherence tomography confirmed resolution of macular edema in a diabetic patient after hemodialysis. Retin Cases Brief Rep. 2013;7(3): 245–7.
- Mittal NS, Bajwa GS, Sandhu JS. Diabetic retinopathy before and after renal transplantation: a longitudinal study. Transplant Proc. 2005;37(5):2077–9.
- Moon JJ, Kim YW, Oh B-L, Han K, Kim DK, Joo KW, Kim YS, Park KH, Lee H, Kim YC, et al. Nationwide glaucoma incidence in end stage renal disease patients and kidney transplant recipients. Sci Rep. 2021;11(1):7418.
- Öncül H, Günay E, Ay N. Evaluation of changes in lens optical densitometry using Pentacam HR after renal transplantation: a prospective study. Photodiagn Photodyn Ther. 2021;35:102423.
- Ong SS, Thomas AS, Fekrat S. Improvement of recalcitrant diabetic macular edema after peritoneal dialysis. Ophthalmic Surg Lasers Imaging Retina. 2017;48(10):834–7.
- Oshitari T, Fujimoto N, Hanawa K, Adachi-Usami E, Roy S. Effect of chronic hyperglycemia on intraocular pressure in patients with diabetes. Am J Ophthalmol. 2007;143(2):363–5.
- Ott C, Raff U, Schmidt S, Kistner I, Friedrich S, Bramlage P, Harazny JM, Schmieder RE. Effects of saxagliptin on early microvascular changes in patients with type 2 diabetes. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2014;13:19.
- Ott C, Jumar A, Striepe K, Friedrich S, Karg MV, Bramlage P, Schmieder RE. A randomised study of the impact of the SGLT2 inhibitor dapagliflozin on microvascular and macrovascular circulation. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2017;16(1):26.
- Ozturk BT, Kerimoglu H, Adam M, Gunduz K, Okudan S. Glucose regulation influences treatment outcome in ranibizumab treatment for diabetic macular edema. J Diabetes Complicat. 2011;25 (5):298–302.
- Pang B, Zhou H, Kuang H. The potential benefits of glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists for diabetic retinopathy. Peptides. 2018;100:123–6.

- Park HC, Lee YK, Cho A, Han CH, Noh JW, Shin YJ, Bae SH, Kim H. Diabetic retinopathy is a prognostic factor for progression of chronic kidney disease in the patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. PLoS One. 2019;14(7):e0220506.
- Pavkov ME, Harding JL, Chou CF, Saaddine JB. Prevalence of diabetic retinopathy and associated mortality among diabetic adults with and without chronic kidney disease. Am J Ophthalmol. 2019;198:200–8.
- Pawlak K, Mysliwiec M, Pawlak D. Oxidative stress, phosphate and creatinine levels are independently associated with vascular endothelial growth factor levels in patients with chronic renal failure. Cytokine. 2008;43(1):98–101.
- Pearce IA, Ilango B, Sells RA, Wong D. Stabilisation of diabetic retinopathy following simultaneous pancreas and kidney transplant. Br J Ophthalmol. 2000;84(7):736–40.
- Pedro RA, Ramon SA, Marc BB, Juan FB, Isabel MM. Prevalence and relationship between diabetic retinopathy and nephropathy, and its risk factors in the North-East of Spain, a population-based study. Ophthalmic Epidemiol. 2010;17(4):251–65.
- Peng YJ, Tsai MJ. Impact of metabolic control on macular thickness in diabetic macular oedema. Diab Vasc Dis Res. 2018;15(2):165–8.
- Penno G, Solini A, Zoppini G, Orsi E, Zerbini G, Trevisan R, Gruden G, Cavalot F, Laviola L, Morano S, et al. Rate and determinants of association between advanced retinopathy and chronic kidney disease in patients with type 2 diabetes: the Renal Insufficiency And Cardiovascular Events (RIACE) Italian multicenter study. Diabetes Care. 2012;35(11):2317–23.
- Petropoulos IN, Alam U, Fadavi H, Asghar O, Green P, Ponirakis G, Marshall A, Boulton AJM, Tavakoli M, Malik RA. Corneal nerve loss detected with corneal confocal microscopy is symmetrical and related to the severity of diabetic polyneuropathy. Diabetes Care. 2013;36 (11):3646–51.
- Petropoulos IN, Green P, Chan AWS, Alam U, Fadavi H, Marshall A, Asghar O, Efron N, Tavakoli M, Malik RA. Corneal confocal microscopy detects neuropathy in patients with type 1 diabetes without retinopathy or microalbuminuria. PLoS One. 2015;10(4):e0123517.
- Pollreisz A, Schmidt-Erfurth U. Diabetic cataract pathogenesis, epidemiology and treatment. J Ophthalmol. 2010;2010:608751.
- Ponirakis G, Abdul-Ghani MA, Jayyousi A, Almuhannadi H, Petropoulos IN, Khan A, Gad H, Migahid O, Megahed A, DeFronzo R, et al. Effect of treatment with exenatide and pioglitazone or basal-bolus insulin on diabetic neuropathy: a substudy of the Qatar Study. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care. 2020;8(1):e001420.
- Ponirakis G, Abdul-Ghani MA, Jayyousi A, Zirie MA, Al-Mohannadi S, Almuhannadi H, Petropoulos IN, Khan A, Gad H, Migahid O, et al. Insulin resistance limits corneal nerve regeneration in patients with type 2 diabetes undergoing intensive glycemic control. J Diabetes Invest. 2021;12:2002.
- Raczyńska D, Ślizień M, Bzoma B, Dębska-Ślizień A, Glasner L, Raczyńska K. A 10-year monitoring of the eyesight in patients after kidney transplantation. Medicine. 2018;97(6):– e9822.
- Rahimy E, Baker K, Thompson D, Saroj N, Vivid, Investigators VS. Impact of systemic dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor use in diabetic macular edema. Ophthalmic Surg Lasers Imaging Retina. 2020;51(4):226–34.
- Rajalakshmi R, Shanthi Rani CS, Venkatesan U, Unnikrishnan R, Anjana RM, Jeba Rani S, UmaSankari G, Sivaprasad S, Raman R, Mohan V. Correlation between markers of renal function and sight-threatening diabetic retinopathy in type 2 diabetes: a longitudinal study in an Indian clinic population. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care. 2020;8(1):e001325.
- Reddy SC, Kihn YM, Nurjahan MI, Ramil A. Retinopathy in type 2 diabetic patients with microalbuminuria. Nepal J Ophthalmol. 2013;5(1):69–74.
- Reid G, Lois N. Erythropoietin in diabetic retinopathy. Vis Res. 2017;139:237-42.
- Rim TH, Yoon CY, Park HW, Chung EJ. Association between starting hemodialysis for end-stage renal disease and incident cataract surgery: a 12-Year Nationwide Cohort Study. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2016;57(3):1112–9.

- Romero-Aroca P, Baget-Bernaldiz M, Navarro-Gil R, Moreno-Ribas A, Valls-Mateu A, Sagarra-Alamo R, Barrot-De La Puente JF, Mundet-Tuduri X. Glomerular filtration rate and/or ratio of urine albumin to creatinine as markers for diabetic retinopathy: a ten-year follow-up study. J Diabetes Res. 2018;2018:5637130.
- Roy R, Das MK, Pal BP, Ganesan S, Raman R, Sharma T. The effects of renal transplantation on diabetic retinopathy: clinical course and visual outcomes. Indian J Ophthalmol. 2013;61(10): 552–6.
- Sabanayagam C, Foo VH, Ikram MK, Huang H, Lim SC, Lamoureux EL, Tai ES, Wong TY. Is chronic kidney disease associated with diabetic retinopathy in Asian adults? J Diabetes. 2014;6 (6):556–63.
- Samsudin A, Mimiwati Z, Soong T, Ahmad Fauzi MS, Zabri K. Effect of haemodialysis on intraocular pressure. Eye. 2010;24(1):70–3.
- Saxena S, Ruia S, Prasad S, Jain A, Mishra N, Natu SM, Meyer CH, Gilhotra JS, Kruzliak P, Akduman L. Increased serum levels of urea and creatinine are surrogate markers for disruption of retinal photoreceptor external limiting membrane and inner segment ellipsoid zone in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Retina. 2017;37(2):344–9.
- Semeraro F, Cancarini A, Morescalchi F, Romano MR, dell'omo R, Ruggeri G, Agnifili L, Costagliola C. Serum and intraocular concentrations of erythropoietin and vascular endothelial growth factor in patients with type 2 diabetes and proliferative retinopathy. Diabetes Metab. 2014;40(6):445–51.
- Sharma S, Joshi SN, Karki P. HbA1c as a predictor for response of bevacizumab in diabetic macular oedema. BMJ Open Ophthalmol. 2020;5(1):e000449.
- Shen Y, Shi L, Nauman E, Katzmarzyk P, Price-Haywood E, Bazzano A, Nigam S, Hu G. Association between hemoglobin A1c and stroke risk in patients with type 2 diabetes. J Stroke. 2020;22(1):87–98.
- Shim SH, Sung K-C, Kim JM, Lee MY, Won YS, Kim JH, Park KH. Association between renal function and open-angle glaucoma: the Korea National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2010–2011. Ophthalmology. 2016;123(9):1981–8.
- Singh RP, Habbu K, Ehlers JP, Lansang MC, Hill L, Stoilov I. The impact of systemic factors on clinical response to ranibizumab for diabetic macular edema. Ophthalmology. 2016;123(7): 1581–7.
- Singh RP, Wykoff CC, Brown DM, Larsen M, Terasaki H, Silva FQ, Saroj N, Gibson A, Vitti R, Kayshap S, et al. Outcomes of diabetic macular edema patients by baseline hemoglobin A1c: analyses from VISTA and VIVID. Ophthalmol Retina. 2017;1(5):382–8.
- SITPRIJA V, HOLMES JH, ELLIS PP. Changes in intraocular pressure during hemodialysis. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 1964;3(3):273–84.
- Ślizień M, Bzoma B, Raczyńska D, Biedunkiewicz B, Śledziński Z, Dębska-Ślizień A, Glasner L. Ophthalmologic diseases in kidney transplant recipients: a single-center prospective study. Transplant Proc. 2020;52(8):2417–22.
- Sophie R, Lu N, Campochiaro PA. Predictors of functional and anatomic outcomes in patients with diabetic macular edema treated with ranibizumab. Ophthalmology. 2015;122(7):1395–401.
- Takamura Y, Matsumura T, Ohkoshi K, Takei T, Ishikawa K, Shimura M, Ueda T, Sugimoto M, Hirano T, Takayama K, et al. Functional and anatomical changes in diabetic macular edema after hemodialysis initiation: one-year follow-up multicenter study. Sci Rep. 2020;10(1):7788.
- Takatsuna Y, Ishibashi R, Tatsumi T, Koshizaka M, Baba T, Yamamoto S, Yokote K. Sodiumglucose cotransporter 2 inhibitors improve chronic diabetic macular edema. Case Rep Ophthalmol Med. 2020;2020:8867079.
- Tauqeer Z, Bracha P, Hua P, Cui QN, VanderBeek BL. Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists are associated with decreased risk of progression from non-proliferative diabetic retinopathy to vision threatening diabetic retinopathy. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2021;62(8):1122.
- Temkar S, Karuppaiah N, Takkar B, Bhowmik D, Tripathi M, Ramakrishnan S, Sharma YR, Vohra R, Chawla R, Venkatesh P. Impact of estimated glomerular filtration rate on diabetic macular edema. Int Ophthalmol. 2018;38(3):1043–50.

- Tham Y-C, Tao Y, Zhang L, Rim THT, Thakur S, Lim ZW, Chee ML, Bikbov MM, Kazakbaeva GM, Wang N. Is kidney function associated with primary open-angle glaucoma? Findings from the Asian Eye Epidemiology Consortium. Br J Ophthalmol. 2020;104(9):1298–303.
- Theodossiadis PG, Theodoropoulou S, Neamonitou G, Grigoropoulos V, Liarakos V, Triantou E, Theodossiadis GP, Vlahakos DV. Hemodialysis-induced alterations in macular thickness measured by optical coherence tomography in diabetic patients with end-stage renal disease. Ophthalmologica. 2012;227(2):90–4.
- Tokuyama T, Ikeda T, Sato K. Effect of plasma colloid osmotic pressure on intraocular pressure during haemodialysis. Br J Ophthalmol. 1998;82(7):751–3.
- Tokuyama T, Ikeda T, Sato K. Effects of haemodialysis on diabetic macular leakage. Br J Ophthalmol. 2000;84(12):1397–400.
- Tomić M, Vrabec R, Ljubić S, Bulum T, Prkačin I, Rahelić D. Renal function is associated with cataract development in patients with type 2 diabetes. Acta Clin Croatica. 2021;60(Suppl 1): 18–23.
- Tonneijck L, Muskiet MH, Smits MM, van Bommel EJ, Heerspink HJ, van Raalte DH, Joles JA. Glomerular hyperfiltration in diabetes: mechanisms, clinical significance, and treatment. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2017;28(4):1023–39.
- Tsai MJ, Hsieh YT, Shen EP, Peng YJ. Systemic associations with residual subretinal fluid after ranibizumab in diabetic macular edema. J Ophthalmol. 2017;2017:4834201.
- Tsai MJ, Cheng CK, Wang YC. Association of body fluid expansion with optical coherence tomography measurements in diabetic retinopathy and diabetic macular edema. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2019;60(10):3606–12.
- Tummanapalli SS, Issar T, Yan A, Kwai N, Poynten AM, Krishnan AV, Willcox MD, Markoulli M. Corneal nerve fiber loss in diabetes with chronic kidney disease. Ocul Surf. 2020;18(1):178– 85.
- Vadalà M, Castellucci M, Guarrasi G, Terrasi M, La Blasca T, Mulè G. Retinal and choroidal vasculature changes associated with chronic kidney disease. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol. 2019;257(8):1687–98.
- Varadhan L, Humphreys T, Walker AB, Varughese GI. The impact of improved glycaemic control with GLP-1 receptor agonist therapy on diabetic retinopathy. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2014;103 (3):e37–9.
- Vilsboll T, Bain SC, Leiter LA, Lingvay I, Matthews D, Simo R, Helmark IC, Wijayasinghe N, Larsen M. Semaglutide, reduction in glycated haemoglobin and the risk of diabetic retinopathy. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2018;20(4):889–97.
- Wang J, Xin X, Luo W, Wang R, Wang X, Si S, Mo M, Shao B, Wang S, Shen Y, et al. Anemia and diabetic kidney disease had joint effect on diabetic retinopathy among patients with type 2 diabetes. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2020a;61(14):25.
- Wang W, He M, Gong X, Wang L, Meng J, Li Y, Xiong K, Li W, Huang W. Association of renal function with retinal vessel density in patients with type 2 diabetes by using swept-source optical coherence tomographic angiography. Br J Ophthalmol. 2020b;104(12):1768–73.
- Warid Al-Laftah FA, Elshafie M, Alhashimi M, Pai A, Farouq M. Pretreatment clinical variables associated with the response to intravitreal bevacizumab (Avastin) injection in patients with persistent diabetic macular edema. Saudi J Ophthalmol. 2010;24(4):133–8.
- Wilkinson CP, Ferris FL 3rd, Klein RE, Lee PP, Agardh CD, Davis M, Dills D, Kampik A, Pararajasegaram R, Verdaguer JT. Proposed international clinical diabetic retinopathy and diabetic macular edema disease severity scales. Ophthalmology. 2003;110(9):1677–82.
- Williams MA, McGimpsey S, Mullholland DA. Cystoid macular oedema and renal failure. Med Hypotheses. 2006;66(4):861–2.
- Wong TY, Cheung N, Tay WT, Wang JJ, Aung T, Saw SM, Lim SC, Tai ES, Mitchell P. Prevalence and risk factors for diabetic retinopathy: the Singapore Malay Eye Study. Ophthalmology. 2008;115(11):1869–75.
- Wong VH, Bui BV, Vingrys AJ. Clinical and experimental links between diabetes and glaucoma. Clin Exp Optom. 2011;94(1):4–23.

- Wong WM, Chee C, Bhargava M, Chai C, Lin H, Zhao P, Ariadarma Mangunkusumo E, Naing T, Yuen YS, Wong TY, et al. Systemic factors associated with treatment response in diabetic macular edema. J Ophthalmol. 2020;2020:1875860.
- Wu J, Geng J, Liu L, Teng W, Liu L, Chen L. The relationship between estimated glomerular filtration rate and diabetic retinopathy. J Ophthalmol. 2015;2015:326209.
- Yamanouchi M, Mori M, Hoshino J, Kinowaki K, Fujii T, Ohashi K, Furuichi K, Wada T, Ubara Y. Retinopathy progression and the risk of end-stage kidney disease: results from a longitudinal Japanese cohort of 232 patients with type 2 diabetes and biopsy-proven diabetic kidney disease. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care. 2019;7(1):e000726.
- Yoshizumi H, Ejima T, Nagao T, Wakisaka M. Recovery from diabetic macular edema in a diabetic patient after minimal dose of a sodium glucose co-transporter 2 inhibitor. Am J Case Rep. 2018;19:462–6.
- Zhuang X, Cao D, Yang D, Zeng Y, Yu H, Wang J, Kuang J, Xie J, Zhang S, Zhang L. Association of diabetic retinopathy and diabetic macular oedema with renal function in southern Chinese patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a single-centre observational study. BMJ Open. 2019;9 (9):e031194.



20

Serum Paraoxonase 1 as a Biomarker: Features and Applications in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus

Berrin Öztaş, Fatma Ceyla Eraldemir, and Hale Maral Kır

Contents

Introduction	436
Structure of PON1	438
Functions and Physiological Roles of PON1	439
PON1 Polymorphisms	440
PON1 Polymorphisms in T2DM	441
PON1 and T2DM	442
Conclusions	443
Application in Other Diseases or Conditions	443
Mini-Dictionary of Terms	444
Key Facts	444
Summary Points	444
References	444

Abstract

Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) is a complex metabolic and endocrine disorder. Many factors are responsible for the formation and complications of T2DM. One of them is oxidative stress (OS). Recent studies show that paraoxonase (PON)1 activity, an antioxidant enzyme, plays a role in the onset and clinical progression of T2D. In addition to antioxidant properties of PON1, cardioprotective properties have also been demonstrated. These effects have been explained through many cellular mechanisms. At the same time, changes in enzyme activity as a result of PON1 polymorphism have been associated with the development and progression of T2DM. The decrease in PON1 activity has been shown not only in T2DM but also in many diseases such as Alzheimer's and obesity. Both molecular mechanisms and clinical evidence suggest a strong association between PON1 and T2DM.

B. Öztaş (⊠) · F. C. Eraldemir (⊠) · H. M. Kır

Department of Medical Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine, Kocaeli University, Kocaeli, Turkey e-mail: berrin.oztas@kocaeli.edu.tr; ceyla.eraldemir@kocaeli.edu.tr; halemaral@kocaeli.edu.tr

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 22

Keywords

Type 2 diabetes mellitus · Paraoxonase · Oxidative stress · Polymorphism · Highdensity lipoprotein · Low-density lipoprotein

Abbreviations	
ApoA-I	Apolipoprotein A-I
ApoJ	Apolipoprotein J
Ca	Calcium
CAD	Coronary artery disease
GLUT4	Glucose transporter 4
HbA1c	Glycosylated hemoglobin
HCTL	Homocysteine thiolactone
HDL	High-density lipoprotein
HOMA-IR	Homeostatic model of assessment-insulin resistance
HTLase	Homocysteine thiolactonase
IR	Insulin resistance
IRS-1	Insulin receptor substrate-1
LDL	Low-density lipoprotein
MCP-1	Monocyte chemotactic protein-1
MUFA	Monounsaturated fatty acids
OS	Oxidative stress
ox-LDL	Oxidized-LDL
PON	Paraoxonase
PUFA	Polyunsaturated fatty acids
SNPs	Single nucleotide polymorphisms
T2DM	Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus

Introduction

Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) is a condition that occurs as a result of insufficient β -cell insulin secretion in the context of insulin resistance (IR). It is thought that the defect in insulin secretion is influenced by many factors, such as genetics, inflammation, and metabolic stress. However, although the process leading to β -cell dysfunction and death in T2DM has not yet been well defined (American Diabetes Association 2021), oxidative stress (OS) is thought to be an important factor (Galicia-Garcia et al. 2020). In clinical and experimental studies of T2DM, it has been shown that prooxidants and OS-induced tissue damage biomarkers increase, while enzymatic and nonenzymatic antioxidant levels decrease (Rehman and Akash 2017). It is also thought that OS may cause IR by suppressing insulin secretion from pancreatic β cells and reducing glucose uptake in muscle and adipose tissue (McEvoy et al. 2015; Rudich et al. 1998). The role of oxidative stress in the development mechanism of T2DM is summarized in Fig. 1.

The paraoxonase (*PON*) gene family consists of three members, *PON1*, *PON2*, and *PON3*, and all three are located on the long arm of human chromosome 7 (Mahrooz et al. 2018). The amino acid sequences of PONs enzymes are very similar to each other. In addition, the types of substrates in which all three enzymes show enzymatic activity in a single active site are different. PON1 exhibits lactonase, thiolactonase, aryldialkylphosphatase, arylesterase, and paraoxonase activity, while PON2 exhibits lactonase and very low arylesterase activity. PON3 has high lactonase and weak arylesterase activity, but almost no paraoxonase activity (Fig. 2). In addition, although some substrates hydrolyzed by all three PONs are common, the specificity of each enzyme to the substrates may be different. Some substrates of PON1 are phenyl acetate, paraoxon, dihydrocoumarin, and homocysteine thiolactone (Taler-Verčič et al. 2020). While PON1 and PON3 are bound to high-density lipoprotein (HDL) in the circulation, PON2 is located intracellularly.



Fig. 1 The role of oxidative stress in the development mechanism of T2DM



Fig. 2 Enzymatic activity of PON1, PON2, PON3. Notes: **↑**:high activity; **↑**:low activity; **↓**:no activity

All three members of this family have antioxidant properties (Mahrooz et al. 2018). PON1 is a glycoprotein with antioxidant and anti-inflammatory effects. Released into the circulation after synthesis, PON1 binds to cell membranes in many tissues and protects them against lipid peroxidation (Deakin et al. 2002a). It also shows antioxidant and atheroprotective effects by preventing low-density lipoprotein (LDL) oxidation of PON1 (Rosenblat et al. 2006).

In T2DM it has been shown that PON1 levels are significantly reduced (Crow et al. 2018; Moya and Máñez 2018). Moreover, it has been found that PON1 activity is inversely proportional to the duration of the disease and metabolic parameters such as plasma glucose concentration, glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1c) concentration, and homeostatic model of assessment-insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) values, and it has been suggested that the decrease in PON1 activity may contribute to the progression of the disease (Gasecka et al. 2020; Karakaya et al. 2018). The relationship between T2DM and PON1 has been studied through many mechanisms, since PON1 interacts with many cellular pathways. In addition, since similar mechanisms are also effective in the development of diabetes complications, one of the biomarkers examined in the early diagnosis and/or follow-up of these complications is PON1 (Gasecka et al. 2020). At the same time, it has been evaluated that some polymorphisms of *PON1* may be an important factor contributing to the risk of T2DM development (Shokri et al. 2020).

In this chapter, we briefly summarized the structure of PON1, its physiological role, and the association between *PON1* polymorphism and T2DM.

Structure of PON1

PON1 is a protein with a molecular weight of approximately 43 KDa and containing 354 amino acids. It is synthesized in the kidneys and intestines, and especially in the liver (Furlong et al. 2016). PON1 is a calcium (Ca)-dependent hydrolase and is involved in the hydrolysis of a number of organophosphorus insecticides such as parathion, diazinon, and chlorpyrifos, as well as various substrates such as aromatic esters, aromatic and aliphatic lactones, and carbonates (Draganov et al. 2005). PON1 is a six-bladed β -propeller with a central tunnel containing two calcium ions approximately 7.4 Å apart. One of these Ca ions is structural, is located deeper in the central tunnel, and is important for the conformational stability of PON1. The other Ca ion has a catalytic role and is located below the active site gap and takes part in substrate positioning and ester bond activation (Blaha-Nelson et al. 2017).

There are three helices (H1, H2, H3) located in the active site of PON1 and H1 and H2 have a critical role in the interactions of PON1 with the membrane-like surface of HDL (Shunmoogam et al. 2018). PON1-HDL is associated with apolipoprotein A-I (ApoA-I) and apolipoprotein J (ApoJ) (Meneses et al. 2019). ApoA-I is a lipoprotein responsible for the stability of the PON1-HDL interaction (Sorenson et al. 1999) while ApoJ acts as a cytoprotective extracellular chaperone for antioxidant enzymes, including PON1 (See et al. 2018; Meneses et al. 2019).

Functions and Physiological Roles of PON1

Antioxidant enzymes play a key role in striking an oxidant–antioxidant balance. PON1 is a protein with antioxidant properties. It is thought to show this effect in two ways. The first of these is via a cytoprotective effect, by hydrolyzing phospholipid hydroperoxides. Another effect is thought to be through the prevention of oxidative change of LDL (Levy et al. 2007). Even if the catalytic Ca ion is removed from the structure of PON1, which is a Ca-dependent hydrolase, its effect on LDL does not change. This suggests that there may be different active sites in PON1 that protect LDL from oxidation (Aviram et al. 1998).

It has been shown that PON1 contributes to the regulation of glucose metabolism by affecting fasting blood glucose levels and insulin sensitivity, and upregulated the expression of glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4) in muscle. PON1 is thought to regulate the expression and translocation of GLUT4 through inhibition of p38MAPK activity. As a result, this leads to decreased insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1) serine phosphorylation and increased IRS-1 tyrosine phosphorylation (Koren-Gluzer et al. 2013) (Fig. 3). In addition, it was determined that PON1 regulated glycolysis, especially through 3-phosphoglycerate, phosphoenolpyruvate, and lactate (García-Heredia et al. 2013).

The effects of PON1 on lipid metabolism have also been reported. In PON1deficient mice it has been reported that there was a decrease in polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) decreased and an increase in monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA) increased resulting in a decreased PUFA/MUFA ratio decreased together with a decrease in glycerol and 3-hydroxybutyrate. In addition, a decrease in carnitine levels, which is necessary for the transport of long-chain fatty acids to the mitochondria, was also detected. This change in carnitine levels has been associated with suppression of fatty acid oxidation (García-Heredia et al. 2013).







In addition, PON1 hydrolyzes homocysteine thiolactone (HCTL). HCTL is a toxic metabolite formed by the enzymatic conversion of homocysteine in all cell types. It can interact with lysines to alter protein structures, leading to protein inactivation and dysfunction. Increased HCTL levels have been associated with many diseases, including T2DM (Taler-Verčič et al. 2020; Gu et al. 2008). The physiological effects of PON1 are summarized in Fig. 4.

PON1 Polymorphisms

The *PON1* gene is a polymorphic gene with more than 400 single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) identified (Mahrooz et al. 2019). Shokri et al. reported that these polymorphisms affect the enzyme phenotype, and approximately 60% of the changes in enzyme concentration and specific activity are due to genetic factors which include these polymorphisms (Shokri et al. 2020). Four functional SNPs known to affect PON1 levels have been identified in the PON1 gene. Two of these are in the coding region (at Q192R and L55M), and two are in the promoter sequence(-162 A/G and -108 C/T) (Brophy et al. 2001). It has been reported that the -108 C/T polymorphism is responsible for approximately 12% of the changes in enzyme activity, while the Q192R, L55M and -162 A/G polymorphisms only account for approximately 3% of the effect (Kim et al. 2012) (Fig. 5). The Q192R polymorphism results from the substitution of glutamine at codon 192 with arginine. Allozymes resulting from this polymorphism have been shown to have different protective effects on LDL oxidation (Shokri et al. 2020). The L55M polymorphism is the result of substitution of leucine with methionine at codon 55. This polymorphism has been reported to cause changes in the structure of PON1 (Chiu et al. 2004).



Fig. 5 Effect of single nucleotide polymorphism on the activity of PON1. The -108 C/T polymorphism is responsible for approximately 12% of the changes in PON1 enzyme activity, and the Q192R, L55M, and -162 A/G polymorphisms are responsible for approximately 3%

PON1 Polymorphisms in T2DM

The relationship between PON1 polymorphisms and T2DM and its complications is not yet clear. Gomathi et al. suggested that the Q192R and L55M polymorphisms of PON1 may affect insulin resistance by reducing paraoxonase-1 concentration and regulating GLUT-4 expression (Gomathi et al. 2018). Another study found that the 192 RR and 55 LL genotypes of PON1 were associated with higher PON1 activity than the OO and MM genotypes, and thus may be more protective against lipid peroxidation. In addition, it was stated that higher prevalence of QQ and MM genotypes in diabetes may be associated with poorer glucose control and therefore advanced nonenzymatic glycation and more oxidative stress (Flekac et al. 2008). Zargari et al. reported that the PON1-Q192R variant had a positive effect on antioxidant capacity in T2DM (Zargari et al. 2016). Deakin et al., in their study on the role of PON1 Q192R and L55M polymorphisms in glucose metabolism, showed that the L55M polymorphism had an independent relationship with the results of the glucose tolerance test. They reported that the L55M polymorphism could affect glucose uptake, thus the MM genotype expressed increased insulin secretion compared to the LL genotype (Deakin et al. 2002b).

In contrast, it has also been suggested that the relationship between PON1 activity and T2DM may be independent of the Q192R, L55M, and -108 C/T polymorphism (Inoue et al. 2000). In addition, it should be noted that gender (Mahrooz et al. 2018) and race/ethnic differences (Luo et al. 2018) may also have an effect on the relationship between PON1 polymorphisms and T2DM susceptibility.

PON1 and T2DM

Since PON1 plays a role in the antioxidant system by preventing the oxidation of LDL, as well as its cytoprotective effect by hydrolyzing phospholipid hydroperoxides, changes in circulating PON1 levels and activity have been associated with many diseases associated with oxidative stress (Navab et al. 1997; Rosenblat et al. 2006; Levy et al. 2007; Meneses et al. 2019).

Chronic hyperglycemia can induce reactive oxygen species and increase OS. Lipid oxidation and lipid peroxide formation are induced due to increased OS (Baynes 1991). PON1 is a protein that has the ability to neutralize lipid peroxides and hydrogen peroxide (Moya and Máñez 2018). Many studies have shown that PON1 level and activity decrease in diabetic patients (Crow et al. 2018; Moya and Máñez 2018). This situation can be due to different mechanisms. One mechanism may be that the reductions in HDL seen in patients with diabetes may cause PON1 to dissociate from HDL and affect its stability. A further mechanism may be that the potential increase in oxidized lipids due to OS may contribute to PON1 inactivation in people with diabetes (Rosenblat et al. 2006). It has also been shown that the activity of PON1 decreases as a result of enzymatic and nonenzymatic glycation. This may reduce PON1 activity in patients with T2DM (Yu et al. 2017). Moreover, PON1 polymorphisms may play a role in the risk of developing diabetes (Farbstein and Levy 2010).

It is known that dyslipidemia develops in T2DM. In this disease, the lipid profile changes, triglycerides and LDL-cholesterol plasma levels increase, and HDL-cholesterol levels and antioxidant activity decrease (Soran et al. 2016). PON1, an antioxidant enzyme associated with HDL, is thought to be associated with the antioxidant and antiatherogenic properties of this lipoprotein (Shokri et al. 2020). Studies have shown that PON1 is also effective in the development and prevention of cardiovascular complications of T2DM. It can do this through different mechanisms, such as lowering plasma oxidized-LDL (ox-LDL) levels, decreasing the ability of macrophages to take up ox-LDL, reducing foam cell formation, promoting macrophage cholesterol efflux, or inhibiting monocyte chemotactic protein 1 (MCP-1) synthesis (Mackness and Mackness 2015; Ng et al. 2008; Rozenberg et al. 2008). Another putative mechanism may be that the decrease in PON1 activity seen in vascular complications of diabetes leads to a decrease in homocysteine thiolactonase (HTLase) activity, resulting in increased HCTL levels, and thus contributing to atherosclerosis in patients with diabetes (Kosaka et al. 2005) (Fig. 6).

PON1 is one of the promising early biomarkers for prediction or detection of early diabetes-related neurodegenerative diseases and neurovascular complications, such as diabetic retinopathy, diabetic neuropathy, and stroke (Gasecka et al. 2020). Mackness et al. reported that low serum PON1 activity may be associated with a tendency toward increased lipid peroxidation in patients with T2DM complicated with retinopathy (Mackness et al. 2000). In another study, HDL-PON1 activity was found to be decreased in patients with T2DM who had either new-onset or overt nephropathy. Decreased PON1 activity has been associated with decreased antioxidant capacity of HDL and thus its inability to protect LDL from oxidation (Li and Gu 2009).



T2DM

Fig. 6 PON1 can reduce the development of cardiovascular complications of T2DM by many cellular mechanisms

Conclusions

T2DM is one of the most common metabolic disorders worldwide. OS has been implicated as an important factor in the development and progression of T2DM. Decreases in the concentration and activity of antioxidant PON1 may contribute to the development of both T2DM and the complications of T2DM. However, it should be noted that PON1 activity may vary between healthy individuals and also varies in many different diseases. In addition, it should be remembered that there may be a relationship between the changes in PON1 activity caused by PON1 polymorphism and the development of T2DM, and that the activity of PON1 may decrease due to mechanisms such as nonenzymatic glycation in patients with T2DM. However, further work is needed to clarify the mechanisms and functions of PON1 in T2DM.

Application in Other Diseases or Conditions

PON1, an antioxidant effective enzyme, has been associated with many other diseases besides T2DM. It has been associated with atherosclerosis, especially because it causes a decrease in ox-LDL levels and MCP-1 inhibition (Mackness et al. 2004). Another mechanism, associated with coronary artery disease (CAD) and atherosclerosis, is that increased malondialdehyde production due to decreased PON1 activity may adversely affect the function of endothelial HDL in patients with CAD (Annema and von Eckardstein 2016). In addition, another of the atheroprotective effects of PON1 may be that it modulates cholesterol efflux from macrophages (Rosenblat et al. 2006). In studies, a decrease in PON1 activity has been associated with many cancer types, including breast, lung, pancreatic, stomach, colorectal, and ovarian cancer, as well as in Alzheimer's disease, obesity, and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (Eraldemir et al. 2019; Meneses et al. 2019).

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

- Glucose transporter 4 (GLUT-4): GLUT4 is an insulin-regulated glucose transporter that mediates the transport of glucose to skeletal muscle and adipose tissue.
- **Glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1c)**: HbA1c is a molecule formed by nonenzymatic binding of hemoglobin and glucose inside the cell, used in the diagnosis of diabetes mellitus.
- **Insulin resistance**: Insulin resistance is a pathological condition in which body cells do not respond properly to the hormone insulin.
- Paraoxonase: PON1 is an antioxidant effective protein.
- **Polymorphism**: Polymorphism is a difference in DNA sequence among individuals or groups.
- **Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus**: Type 2 diabetes is a chronic disease characterized by elevated levels of blood glucose.

Key Facts

- Structure of PON1
- · Functions and physiological roles of PON1
- PON1 polymorphisms
- PON1 polymorphisms in T2DM
- PON1 and Type 2 Diabetes

Summary Points

- Oxidative stress plays an important role in the development and progression of T2DM and its complications.
- PON1 is an antioxidant and interacts with many cellular pathways.
- Serum PON1 levels are generally observed to be low in T2DM patients.
- Serum PON1 levels are also generally low in complications of T2DM, such as diabetic retinopathy, neuropathy, and nephropathy.
- Although there are still conflicting results, the available evidence to date suggests that the Q192R and L55M polymorphisms of PON1 are associated with T2DM.

References

- American Diabetes Association. 2. Classification and Diagnosis of Diabetes: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes-2021. Diabetes care. 2021;44(Suppl 1):S15–33.
- Annema W, von Eckardstein A. Dysfunctional high-density lipoproteins in coronary heart disease: implications for diagnostics and therapy. Trans Res. 2016;173:30–57.
- Aviram M, Billecke S, Sorenson R, Bisgaier C, Newton R, Rosenblat M, et al. Paraoxonase active site required for protection against LDL oxidation involves its free sulfhydryl group and is

different from that required for its arylesterase/paraoxonase activities: selective action of human paraoxonase allozymes Q and R. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1998;18(10):1617–24.

- Baynes JW. Role of oxidative stress in development of complications in diabetes. 1991;40(4):405–12.
- Blaha-Nelson D, Krüger DM, Szeler K, Ben-David M, Kamerlin SCL. Active site hydrophobicity and the convergent evolution of paraoxonase activity in structurally divergent enzymes: the case of serum paraoxonase 1. J Am Chem Soc. 2017;139(3):1155–67.
- Brophy VH, Hastings MD, Clendenning JB, Richter RJ, Jarvik GP, Furlong CE. Polymorphisms in the human paraoxonase (PON1) promoter. Pharmacogenetics. 2001;11(1):77–84.
- Chiu KC, Chuang L-M, Chu A, Lu J, Hu J, Fernando S. Association of paraoxonase 1 polymorphism with beta-cell function: a case of molecular heterosis. Pancreas. 2004;28(4):e96–103.
- Crow JA, Meek EC, Wills RW, Chambers JE. A case-control study: the association of serum paraoxonase 1 activity and concentration with the development of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2018;34(3):e2967.
- Deakin S, Leviev I, Gomaraschi M, Calabresi L, Franceschini G, James RW. Enzymatically active paraoxonase-1 is located at the external membrane of producing cells and released by a high affinity, saturable, desorption mechanism. J Biol Chem. 2002a;277(6):4301–8.
- Deakin S, Leviev I, Nicaud V, Brulhart Meynet M-C, Tiret L, James RW. Paraoxonase-1 L55M polymorphism is associated with an abnormal oral glucose tolerance test and differentiates high risk coronary disease families. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2002b;87(3):1268–73.
- Draganov DI, Teiber JF, Speelman A, Osawa Y, Sunahara R, La Du BN. Human paraoxonases (PON1, PON2, and PON3) are lactonases with overlapping and distinct substrate specificities. J Lipid Res. 2005;46(6):1239–47.
- Eraldemir FC, Üren N, Kum T, Erbay B, Şahin D, Ergül E, et al. Association of serum paraoxonase 1 activities, polymorphisms and oxidative stress in breast cancer patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Med Biochem. 2019;38(3):368–75.
- Farbstein D, Levy AP. The genetics of vascular complications in diabetes mellitus. Cardiol Clin. 2010;28(3):477–96.
- Flekac M, Skrha J, Žídková K, Lacinová Z, Hilgertová J. Paraoxonase 1 gene polymorphisms and enzyme activities in diabetes mellitus. Physiol Res. 2008;57(5):717–26.
- Furlong CE, Marsillach J, Jarvik GP, Costa LG. Paraoxonases-1, -2 and -3: what are their functions? Chem Biol Interact. 2016;259(Pt B):51-62.
- Galicia-Garcia U, Benito-Vicente A, Jebari S, Larrea-Sebal A, Siddiqi H, Uribe KB, et al. Pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21(17):6275.
- García-Heredia A, Kensicki E, Mohney RP, Rull A, Triguero I, Marsillach J, et al. Paraoxonase-1 deficiency is associated with severe liver steatosis in mice fed a high-fat high-cholesterol diet: a metabolomic approach. J Proteome Res. 2013;12(4):1946–55.
- Gasecka A, Siwik D, Gajewska M, Jaguszewski MJ, Mazurek T, Filipiak KJ, et al. Early biomarkers of neurodegenerative and neurovascular disorders in diabetes. J Clin Med. 2020;9(9):2807.
- Gomathi P, Iyer AC, Murugan PS, Sasikumar S, Raj NBAJ, Ganesan D, et al. Association of paraoxonase-1 gene polymorphisms with insulin resistance in South Indian population. Gene. 2018;650:55–9.
- Gu W, Lu J, Yang G, Dou J, Mu Y, Meng J, et al. Plasma homocysteine thiolactone associated with risk of macrovasculopathy in Chinese patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Adv Ther. 2008;25(9):914–24.
- Inoue M, Suehiro T, Nakamura T, Ikeda Y, Kumon Y, Hashimoto K. Serum arylesterase/ diazoxonase activity and genetic polymorphisms in patients with type 2 diabetes. Metab Clin Exp. 2000;49(11):1400–5.
- Karakaya P, Ozdemir B, Mert M, Okuturlar Y. Relation of Paraoxonase 1 activity with biochemical variables, brachial artery intima-media thickness in patients with diabetes with or without obesity. Obes Facts. 2018;11(1):56–66.
- Kim DS, Burt AA, Ranchalis JE, Richter RJ, Marshall JK, Nakayama KS, et al. Dietary cholesterol increases paraoxonase 1 enzyme activity. J Lipid Res. 2012;53(11):2450–8.

- Koren-Gluzer M, Aviram M, Hayek T. Paraoxonase1 (PON1) reduces insulin resistance in mice fed a high-fat diet, and promotes GLUT4 overexpression in myocytes, via the IRS-1/Akt pathway. Atherosclerosis. 2013;229(1):71–8.
- Kosaka T, Yamaguchi M, Motomura T, Mizuno K. Investigation of the relationship between atherosclerosis and paraoxonase or homocysteine thiolactonase activity in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus using a commercially available assay. Clinica Chimica Acta. 2005;359 (1–2):156–62.
- Levy E, Trudel K, Bendayan M, Seidman E, Delvin E, Elchebly M, et al. Biological role, protein expression, subcellular localization, and oxidative stress response of paraoxonase 2 in the intestine of humans and rats. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2007;293(6):G1252–61.
- Li C, Gu Q. Protective effect of paraoxonase 1 of high-density lipoprotein in type 2 diabetic patients with nephropathy. Nephrology (Carlton). 2009;14(5):514–20.
- Luo J-Q, Ren H, Liu M-Z, Fang P-F, Xiang D-X. European versus Asian differences for the associations between paraoxonase-1 genetic polymorphisms and susceptibility to type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Cell Mol Med. 2018;22(3):1720–32.
- Mackness M, Mackness B. Human paraoxonase-1 (PON1): gene structure and expression, promiscuous activities and multiple physiological roles. Gene. 2015;567(1):12–21.
- Mackness B, Durrington PN, Abuashia B, Boulton AJ, Mackness MI. Low paraoxonase activity in type II diabetes mellitus complicated by retinopathy. Clinical science (London, England : 1979). 2000;98(3):355–63.
- Mackness B, Hine D, Liu Y, Mastorikou M, Mackness M. Paraoxonase-1 inhibits oxidised LDL-induced MCP-1 production by endothelial cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2004;318(3):680–3.
- Mahrooz A, Hashemi-Soteh MB, Heydari M, Boorank R, Ramazani F, Mahmoudi A, et al. Paraoxonase 1 (PON1)-L55M among common variants in the coding region of the paraoxonase gene family may contribute to the glycemic control in type 2 diabetes. Clinica Chimica Acta. 2018;484:40–6.
- Mahrooz A, Mackness M, Bagheri A, Ghaffari-Cherati M, Masoumi P. The epigenetic regulation of paraoxonase 1 (PON1) as an important enzyme in HDL function: the missing link between environmental and genetic regulation. Clin Biochem. 2019;73:1–10.
- McEvoy B, Sumayao R, Slattery C, McMorrow T, Newsholme P. Cystine accumulation attenuates insulin release from the pancreatic β-cell due to elevated oxidative stress and decreased ATP levels. J Physiol. 2015;593(23):5167–82.
- Meneses MJ, Silvestre R, Sousa-Lima I, Macedo MP. Paraoxonase-1 as a regulator of glucose and lipid homeostasis: impact on the onset and progression of metabolic disorders. Int J Mol Sci. 2019;20(16):4049.
- Moya C, Máñez S. Paraoxonases: metabolic role and pharmacological projection. Naunyn Schmiedeberg's Arch Pharmacol. 2018;391(4):349–59.
- Navab M, Hama-Levy S, Van Lenten BJ, Fonarow GC, Cardinez CJ, Castellani LW, et al. Mildly oxidized LDL induces an increased apolipoprotein J/paraoxonase ratio. J Clin Invest. 1997;99(8):2005–19.
- Ng DS, Chu T, Esposito B, Hui P, Connelly PW, Gross PL. Paraoxonase-1 deficiency in mice predisposes to vascular inflammation, oxidative stress, and thrombogenicity in the absence of hyperlipidemia. Cardiovasc Pathol. 2008;17(4):226–32.
- Rehman K, Akash MSH. Mechanism of generation of oxidative stress and pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes mellitus: how are they interlinked? J Cell Biochem. 2017;118(11):3577–85.
- Rosenblat M, Karry R, Aviram M. Paraoxonase 1 (PON1) is a more potent antioxidant and stimulant of macrophage cholesterol efflux, when present in HDL than in lipoprotein-deficient serum: relevance to diabetes. Atherosclerosis. 2006;187(1):74–81.
- Rozenberg O, Shiner M, Aviram M, Hayek T. Paraoxonase 1 (PON1) attenuates diabetes development in mice through its antioxidative properties. Free Radic Biol Med. 2008;44(11):1951–9.
- Rudich A, Tirosh A, Potashnik R, Hemi R, Kanety H, Bashan N. Prolonged oxidative stress impairs insulin-induced GLUT4 translocation in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Diabetes. 1998;47(10):1562–9.

- Seo JA, Kang M-C, Ciaraldi TP, Kim SS, Park KS, Choe C, et al. Circulating ApoJ is closely associated with insulin resistance in human subjects. Metab Clin Exp. 2018;78:155–66.
- Shokri Y, Variji A, Nosrati M, Khonakdar-Tarsi A, Kianmehr A, Kashi Z, et al. Importance of paraoxonase 1 (PON1) as an antioxidant and antiatherogenic enzyme in the cardiovascular complications of type 2 diabetes: genotypic and phenotypic evaluation. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2020;161:108067.
- Shunmoogam N, Naidoo P, Chilton R. Paraoxonase (PON)-1: a brief overview on genetics, structure, polymorphisms and clinical relevance. Vasc Health Risk Manag. 2018;14:137–43.
- Soran H, Schofield JD, Adam S, Durrington PN. Diabetic dyslipidaemia. Curr Opin Lipidol. 2016;27(4):313–22.
- Sorenson RC, Bisgaier CL, Aviram M, Hsu C, Billecke S, La Du BN. Human serum Paraoxonase/ Arylesterase's retained hydrophobic N-terminal leader sequence associates with HDLs by binding phospholipids : apolipoprotein A-I stabilizes activity. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1999;19(9):2214–25.
- Taler-Verčič A, Goličnik M, Bavec A. The structure and function of paraoxonase-1 and its comparison to paraoxonase-2 and -3. Molecules (Basel, Switzerland). 2020;25(24):5980.
- Yu W, Liu X, Feng L, Yang H, Yu W, Feng T, et al. Glycation of paraoxonase 1 by high glucose instigates endoplasmic reticulum stress to induce endothelial dysfunction in vivo. Sci Rep. 2017;7:45827.
- Zargari M, Sharafeddin F, Mahrooz A, Alizadeh A, Masoumi P. The common variant Q192R at the paraoxonase 1 (PON1) gene and its activity are responsible for a portion of the altered antioxidant status in type 2 diabetes. Exp Biol Med (Maywood). 2016;241(14):1489–96.



The Ratio of Omega-6/Omega-3 Fatty Acid: 21 Implications and Application as a Marker to Diabetes

Shilpa S. Shetty, N. Suchetha Kumari, and Remya Varadarajan

Contents

Introduction	451
Fatty Acids	451
General Metabolism of n-3 and n-6 PUFA	453
PUFA Composition and Cell Membrane	454
Role of PUFA in Cellular Function	454
Diet and Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids	456
Omega-6/Omega-3 Ratio	457
Significance of Omega-6/Omega-3 Ratio in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus	458
Applications to Prognosis, Other Diseases, or Conditions	460
Obesity	460
Cardiovascular Diseases	461
Cancer	461
Pulmonary Disorders	461
Skin	461
Brain-Related Functions	462
Autoimmune Disease	462
Key Facts	462
Summary	463
References	464

S. S. Shetty (⊠) · R. Varadarajan Central Research Laboratory, K.S. Hegde Medical Academy, Nitte (Deemed to be University), Deralakatte, Karnataka, India e-mail: shilpajshetty@nitte.edu.in

N. Suchetha Kumari Department of Biochemistry/Central Research Laboratory, K.S. Hegde Medical Academy, Nitte (Deemed to be University), Deralakatte, Karnataka, India e-mail: kumarin@nitte.edu.in

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2_23 449

Abstract

Omega-3 and omega-6 groups of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) are non-interconvertible and metabolically and functionally different, with key opposing metabolic activities in human physiology. The PUFA content of the cell membrane is mostly determined by dietary intake. They are a component of the cellular membrane, improving its fluidity and PUFAs must be released from the membrane by phospholipases in order for signal transmission to occur. Longchain polyunsaturated fatty acids exert their anti-inflammatory effects by inhibiting lipogenesis and increasing the production of resolvins and protectins. n-3 PUFAs mediate some of these effects by antagonizing n-6 PUFA-induced proinflammatory prostaglandin E formation. Today's industrialized societies with Westernized diet styles have higher overall energy intake, and n-6 PUFAs, but lower energy expenditure. Omega-3 PUFA attenuates ER stress and increases mitochondrial fatty acid β -oxidation and mitochondrial uncoupling. There is competition between omega-3 fatty acids and omega-6 for desaturation enzymes. The unbalanced omega 6/omega 3 ratio in favor of omega 6 PUFAs contributes to the prevalence of atherosclerosis, obesity, and diabetes. n-3 PUFAs are considered to be more protective against inflammation compared with omega 6 PUFA, suggesting the importance of maintaining an ideal balance.

Keywords

PUFA · Omega-3 · Omega-6 · Desaturase · Diet · Diabetes mellitus · Resolvins · Protectins · Maresins · Anti-inflammatory · Arachidonic acid · Alpha-linolenic acid · Linoleic acid · Docosahexaenoic acid · Eicosapentaenoic acid · Docosahexaenoic acid · Prostaglandins

Abbreviations

17-HpDHA	17-hydroperoxydocosahexaenoic acid
17S-HDHA	17(S)-hydroxy Docosahexaenoic Acid
5-HEPE	5-Hydroxyeicosapentaenoic acid
ALA	Alpha-linolenic acid
ARA	Arachidonic acid
DGLA	Dihomo-γ-linolenic acid
DHA	Docosahexaenoic acid
EPA	Eicosapentaenoic acid
ETA	Eicosatetraenoic acid
GPR120	G protein-coupled receptor 120
IR	Insulin Resistance
LA	Linoleic acid
LC-PUFA	Long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids
LTB_4	Leukotriene B4
LTs	Leukotrienes
MaR	Maresins

NEFA	Non-esterified fatty acids
PD	Protectins
PGE ₂	Prostaglandin E2
PGs	Prostaglandins
PPAR-γ	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma
PUFA	Polyunsaturated fatty acids
Rv	Resolvins
SPM	Specialized proresolving mediators
T2DM	Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus
TAG	Triacylglycerol
TNF-α	Tumor Necrosis Factor alpha
TXA ₂	Thromboxane A2
Δ	Delta
ω	Omega

Introduction

Diabetes mellitus is fast gaining the status of a potential epidemic in India with more than 62 million diabetic individuals currently diagnosed with the disease (Joshi and Parikh 2007; Kumar et al. 2013). In 2000, India (31.7 million) topped the world with the highest number of people with diabetes mellitus followed by China (20.8 million) and the United States (17.7 million) in second and third place, respectively (Kaveeshwar and Cornwall 2014). Insulin resistance (IR) is a key characteristic of type 2 diabetes (T2DM). Improved risk prediction and understanding of the pathogenesis of insulin resistance are needed. Several factors have implication in the etiology of insulin resistance deciphering it as a multifaceted disease.

Lipidomics is a tool that has been used comparatively less in understanding disease pathologies (Shevchenko and Simons 2010). Lipidomics, a subset of metabolomics, provides an understanding of the role of lipids toward the development of obesity and health-related complications, such as Insulin Resistance (IR) and type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM) (Shevchenko and Simons 2010). This is because circulating lipids reflect an individual's lifestyle (e.g., diet and exercise) as well as their gene and protein activity, all of which can influence IR and T2DM (Schaeffer et al. 2006; Garaulet et al. 2001).

Fatty Acids

Fatty acids (FAs) serve many critical physiological functions including energy reserves, structural components of cell membranes, precursors of eicosanoids, and regulators of gene expression (Nagy and Tiuca 2017; Shetty et al. 2019). Fatty acids influence translocation of glucose transporters and insulin receptor binding and signaling in addition to cell membrane fluidity and permeability. Thus, it is suggestive that FAs may play an essential role in the development of insulin resistance and

type 2 diabetes mellitus. Fatty acids are hydrocarbon chains that have a carboxylic group on one end and a methyl group on the other end.

- (A) **Saturated fatty acids (SFAs)**: SFAs do not have double bonds within their carbon backbone. These fatty acids contain 12–22 carbon atoms.
- (B) **Unsaturated fatty acids**: Unsaturated fatty acids have one or multiple double bonds. These fatty acids have a chain length of 16–22.

The unsaturated fatty acids are further classified into:

(I) Mono-unsaturated fatty acids (MUFAs) having one double bond.

MUFAs can be further divided into *cis* and *trans* subclasses, with the prefix denoting the orientation of the double bond.

(II) Polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) having multiple double bonds. PUFAs can be further categorized into omega 3 (n-3) and omega 6 (n-6) FAs depending on the position of their first double bond from the methylated end. Within these classes, there exist a number of FAs that vary by the length of their carbon backbone and, in the PUFA class, the number of double bonds that they possess.

In the systemic nomenclature of polyunsaturated fatty acids, the Greek letter omega (ω) is used to represent methyl end and delta (Δ) is used to represent carboxylic end. Polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) are fatty acids with a backbone that contains more than one double bond. PUFAs are classified as omega-3 (n-3) or omega-6 (n-6) based on the position of the terminal double bond in proximity to the molecule's terminal methyl end (Fig. 1). Human beings have the ability to synthesize all fatty acids needed by the body except, linoleic acid (LA, C18:2n-6) and alpha-linolenic acid (ALA, C18:3n-3), (Abbadi et al. 2004). Hence these fatty acids are called essential fatty acids. There comes the significance of providing LA and ALA through the diet. Once we provide it through diet, LA is the precursor for the biosynthesis of n-6 series and ALA is the precursor for the biosynthesis of n-3 series. LA and ALA can be converted to other PUFAs by adding double bonds and acyl chains via desaturases and elongases, respectively. PUFAs with a



Fig. 1 Structure of w-3 and w-6 PUFA

-		Carbon skeleton and number of	Carboxyl	Omega
Common name	Systematic name	double bonds	end reference	family
Linoleic acid (LA)	<i>all-cis</i> -9,12- Octadecadienoic acid	18:2	$\Delta^{9,12}$	ω-6
α-linolenic acid (ALA)	<i>all-cis</i> -9,12,15- Octadecatrienoic acid	18:3	$\Delta^{9,12,15}$	ω-3
γ – linolenic acid (GLA)	<i>all-cis</i> -6,9,12- Octadecatrienoic acid	18:3	$\Delta^{6,9,12}$	ω-6
Eicosatrienoic acid (ETA) (Dihomo-gamma- linolenic acid) DGLA	<i>all-cis</i> -8,11,14- Eicosatrienoic acid	20:3	$\Delta^{8,11,14}$	ω-6
Arachidonic acid (AA)	<i>all-cis</i> -5,8,11,14- Eicosatetraenoic acid	20:4	$\Delta^{5,8,11,14}$	ω-6
Eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA)	<i>all-cis-</i> 5,8,11,14,17- Eicosapentaenoic acid	20:5	$\Delta^{5,8,11,14,17}$	ω-3
Docasahexaenoic acid (DHA)	<i>all-cis</i> - 4,7,10,13,16,19- Docosahexaenoic acid	22:6	$\Delta^{4,7,10,13,16,19}$	ω-3

Table 1 List of common n-3 and n-6 PUFA

C=C double bond between the 6th and 7th carbon positions, counting from the terminal methyl end, are referred to as ω -6 PUFAs, while those with the double bond between the 3rd and 4th carbon positions are referred to as ω -3 PUFAs. The letter "n" is also used to indicate where the double bond is located. The physical, metabolic, and physiological properties of PUFAs are greatly influenced by the position of double bonds. According to the systematic nomenclature for PUFAs, indication of the location of double bonds with reference to the first carbon in the carboxylate group is done, for example, when you write 18:2 $\Delta^{9,12}$ for linoleic acid (Table 1); it represents double bonds between carbon 9 and 10, between 12 and 13 carbons.

General Metabolism of n-3 and n-6 PUFA

Linoleic acid and α -linolenic acid are employed as a precursor (Fig. 3), during the production of n-3 and n-6 LC-PUFAs (Di Pasquale 2009; Russo 2009), where they are competitively metabolized in two different routes employing shared enzymes (Sokoła-Wysoczańska et al. 2018). Because they lack the conversion enzymes, n-3-desaturases, mammalian cells, including humans, are unable to convert n-6 to n-3 PUFAs (Ruiz-López et al. 2012). As a result, these two groups are



Fig. 2 Elongation and desaturation of Omega-3 and Omega-6 fatty acids

non-interconvertible and metabolically and functionally different, with key opposing metabolic activities in human physiology. Relative plasma levels of individual FAs explain the conversion rates between different FAs and allows estimation of the activity of key enzymes such as the FA desaturases, which seem to play a role in the development of T2DM (Russo 2009) (Fig. 2).

PUFA Composition and Cell Membrane

While the protein makeup of a cell is dictated by genetics, the PUFA content of the cell membrane is mostly determined by dietary intake (Hashimoto and Hossain 2018). Clearly, when humans consume diets that are higher in EPA (Eicosapentaenoic acid) and DHA (Docosahexaenoic acid), the Arachidonic acid (AA) in the cell membranes of almost all cells, including platelets, erythrocytes, neutrophils, monocytes, and liver cells, is partially replaced by these PUFAs (Simopoulos 1994). Inflammation, immunity, blood vessels, and platelets are all controlled in an antagonistic manner by derivatives of n-6 and n-3 PUFAs. In general, n-6 promotes inflammation, platelet aggregation, and vasoconstriction, whereas n-3 promotes vasodilation and inhibits inflammation and platelet aggregation (Bentsen 2017).

Role of PUFA in Cellular Function

In general, n-3 and n-6 PUFAs help the body perform the following three physiologic processes (Burdge 2006) – (1) A rise in β -oxidation. TAG PUFAs modulate transcription factors, which improves fatty acid oxidation, in addition to providing as



Fig. 3 Role of PUFA in cellular function

a source of fuel. (2) They are a component of the cellular membrane, allowing them to set up and control it, improving its fluidity. Membrane proteins' position, quantity, and function are all optimized by their fluidity. (3) They assist in the transmission of signals. PUFAs must be released from the membrane by phospholipases (Fig. 3) in order for signal transmission to occur. In the cytoplasm, PUFAs influence gene expression either directly or indirectly through lipid mediator substances such as octadecadienoids (C18), eicosanoids (C20), and docosanoids (C22) (Burdge 2006; Balic et al. 2020; Mariamenatu and Abdu 2021).

Previous research has established that long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids specifically eicosapentaenoic acid (20:5n-3, (LC-PUFAs), EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (22:6n-3, DHA), are precursors of signaling molecules (bioactive lipid mediators) and essential components of cell membranes in animals and humans (Casula et al. 2013; Dyall 2015; Weiser et al. 2016; Calder 2018). Eicosanoids, resolvins, and protectins, which are generated from EPA and DHA (Calder 2013), evidently function through receptors. RvD1, RvD2, PDX, RvE1, and 5-HEPE, bioactive lipids generated from EPA or DHA, have recently been shown to influence insulin resistance and pancreatic-cell function. RvD1 reduces tissue inflammation and thereby increases insulin sensitivity (Bathina and Das 2021).

Recent studies also indicate anti-inflammatory and insulin-sensitizing effects of these fatty acids in metabolic disorders. Classically, n-3 PUFAs mediate some of these effects by antagonizing n-6 PUFA (arachidonic acid)-induced proinflammatory prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) formation. The lowering of nuclear factor-B activation is another well-known method by which n-3 PUFAs exert their anti-inflammatory effects. This transcription factor is a strong inducer of proinflammatory cytokine production, such as interleukin 6 and tumor necrosis factor- α (Fig. 4), which are both reduced by EPA and DHA. Other research suggests that n-3 PUFAs reduce inflammation by inhibiting lipogenesis and increasing the production of resolvins and protectins. Although the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes is related to



Fig. 4 Omega-3 PUFA effects on insulin sensitivity

pro-inflammatory mechanisms (Yary et al. 2016), DGLA, which is metabolized to the anti-inflammatory eicosanoid, prostaglandin (PG) E1, via the cyclooxygenase (COX) pathway, and pro-inflammatory arachidonic acid, prostaglandin 2- series-thrombaxane A2, leukotrienes B4 was associated positively with type 2 diabetes risk (FBS, HbA1c, insulin, and HOMA-IR) (Kim et al. 2011; Yary et al. 2016; Shetty et al., 2020).

Diet and Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids

According to Simopoulos (2006, 2008), the whole human diet, including energy intake and expenditure, changed agricultural revolution (10,000 years ago). However, considerable changes in the human diet have occurred since the industrial revolution (150–160 years ago), particularly in the kind and amount of both essential and conditionally essential fatty acids. Today's industrialized societies with Westernized diet styles have higher overall energy intake, n-6 PUFAs, but lower energy expenditure, as well as lower intake of n-3 PUFAs, complex carbo-hydrates and fiber, fruits and vegetables, protein, antioxidants, calcium, and vita-min D (Simopoulos 2011).

Year	n-6/n-3 ratio
1935 and 1939 (Chaves et al. 2019)	8.4/1
1985 (Chaves et al. 2019)	10.3/ 1–12.4/1
2001 and 2011 (Simopoulos 2002, 2004, 2008, 2010, 2011; Molendi-Coste et al. 2011)	15–16.7/1
2016–2018 (Sokoła-Wysoczańska et al. 2018; Simopoulos 2016)	20/1
2019 (Chaves et al. 2019)	50/1

Table 2 Evolutionary norms of the n-6 to n-3 PUFA

To date, several studies have been extensively done regarding the ratio of n-6 to n-3 and it is thought that our forefathers absorbed n-6 and n-3 in a 1-2/1 ratio during the Paleolithic period (evolutionary times), which is considered to be a perfect and balanced ratio (Simopoulos 2004, 2006, 2008; Bhardwaj et al. 2016). But during the course of human evolution, there has been a gradual change in the evolutionary norms of the n-6 to n-3 PUFA ratio followed by a drastic change in diet pattern due to Industrial Revolution (Table 2).

Overall, these studies indicate that intake of n-6 PUFAs has increased and that of n-3 has decreased, resulting in a large increase in the n-6/n-3 ratio, which is now 20–50 times that of evolutionary times. This shift in the n-6/n-3 ratio is perhaps critical more than any other dietary factor, since it can contribute toward significant physiological changes in the human body. Much of the instability in n-6/n-3 ratio in body tissue may result in systemic inflammation, as well as in overweight/obesity, all of which contribute to an epidemic of diet-related chronic noncommunicable diseases like coronary heart disease, hypertension, cancer, type 2 diabetes, arthritis, and other autoimmune and possibly neurodegenerative diseases (Chaves et al. 2019).

Omega-6/Omega-3 Ratio

Aquatic habitats are considered as the biosphere's primary supply of LC-PUFAs (Pereira et al. 2004) because only specific taxa of algae can efficiently synthesize EPA and DHA from beginning (de novo). The EPA and DHA produced by algae are transmitted to higher trophic level species, such as invertebrates and fish, and eventually to terrestrial consumers, such as humans, via trophic chains. Given the origin of n-3 LC-PUFA in the marine environment, it is no surprise that practically all of the EPA and DHA in our diet come from fish (Gladyshev and Sushchik 2019) and seafood, traditionally from capture fisheries. The evidences presented thus far supports the idea that most animals can only get ALA from food because it is generated by plants (Uttaro 2006; Zhou et al. 2011). It is worth noting that, unlike EPA and DHA, which are produced by algae, ALA is produced by terrestrial vascular plants and is the primary component of chloroplast photosynthetic membranes (Harwood 1996; Sayanova and Napier 2004; Ward and Singh 2005; Ruiz-Lopez et al. 2012).
However, with an ever-increasing global population, demand for fish and seafood has steadily increased, and aquaculture has increasingly filled this demand, with fish and seafood farming. As a result, almost all of the EPA and DHA present in fish come from their diet, natural prey organisms in wild-caught food fish, or fish feed in farmed fish (Tocher 2015). The only method to assure that farmed fish had high levels of EPA and DHA was to add these fatty acids in the feed, which necessitated large amounts of fish oil and fishmeal, the majority of which originated from limited and depleting marine resources (FAO 2016). Modern aquaculture produces fish that contain fewer n-3 PUFAs than fish grown naturally in the wild oceans, rivers, and lakes (Mariamenatu and Abdu 2021).

Significance of Omega-6/Omega-3 Ratio in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus

The proposed mechanism of how omega 3 improves insulin sensitivity is that omega-3 PUFA attenuates ER stress and increases mitochondrial fatty acid β -oxidation and mitochondrial uncoupling with subsequent decrease in lipid accumulation and ROS production (Fig. 4) (Ertunc and Hotamisligil 2016), thereby improving insulin sensitivity by downregulation of inflammasome/inflammatory processes (Lepretti et al. 2018). Mfn2 is involved in mitochondrial dynamics homeostasis and MAM integrity maintenance, and omega 3 is said to have a positive effect on Mfn2. Omega 3 PUFA have also positive effects on Mfn2 involved in maintenance of mitochondrial dynamics homeostasis and MAM integrity (Lepretti et al. 2018).

EPA and DHA regulate insulin sensitivity (Akt phosphorylation), glucose utilization, in part mediated by PPAR-y and AMPK activation (Perez-Matute et al. 2007). AMPK is a recognized therapeutic target for T2DM (Wang and Chan 2015) and is the main target activated by metformin. EPA and DHA are involved in the regulation and secretion of adipokines involved in intermediate metabolism, energy homeostasis, and lipid and glucose metabolism. DHA prevents inflammation and lipotoxicity, restoring insulin sensitivity (Mazoochian et al. 2018). Other mechanisms involved in the modulation of insulin secretion from pancreatic β - cells by omega 3 fatty acids are directly by lipid raft structure and function alteration and indirectly by inhibition of the expression of pro-inflammatory mediators in adipose tissue and promotion of adipokine production (Mansouri et al. 2018). Omega-3 PUFAs inhibit inflammatory cytokine and eicosanoids production from AA and induce adipokine production from adipose tissue and directly affects β -cell function by binding to PPARs, GPR40, and GPR120 thereby promoting insulin secretion (Mansouri et al. 2018) (Fig. 5). Clària et al. (2017) found that white adipose tissue is critical for maintaining metabolic and energy balance, also AA, EPA, and DHA all have an impact on this balance. Clària et al. (2017) showed specialized pro-resolving mediator production in white adipose tissues at increased levels of EPA and DHA. The biological mechanisms by which different types of PUFAs might affect glucose metabolism remain to be elucidated (Tsurutani et al. 2018).



Fig. 5 Omega-3-mediated systemic effects in metabolic pathways

Previously, the association of higher serum total omega-3 PUFA and D5D activity were associated with a lower risk of incident T2DM, and higher GLA and DGLA levels and D6D activity were associated with a higher risk (Das 1994). Studies also have demonstrated that, a defect in the activity of the enzymes D6 and D5 desaturases, key enzymes in PUFA metabolism, is a factor in the development of insulin resistance syndrome (Hainault et al. 1993). Therefore, factors affecting the activity of these desaturases may have public health implications.

Overall, the increase in free fatty acid composition in the body concerning insulin resistance can be deciphered with the insulin binding to its insulin receptor. In normal condition, binding of insulin to its receptor in the adipose tissue cell membrane triggers intracellular signal that suppress the activity of HSL (hormone sensitive lipase), an intracellular enzyme from adipocyte, which hydrolysis lipids such as triglycerides. When an individual is insulin resistant, there is an intracellular signal suppression, thereby increasing HSL activity that hydrolysis TG to glycerol and free fatty acids (FFA), which in turn is released to the circulation in blood and moves toward the liver. These fatty acids are taken up by the liver hepatocytes and are channeled to their secretary pathways. Due to insulin resistance esterification increases. The enzyme LPL (Lipoprotein lipase) in the blood vessels hydrolysis monoglycerides and FFA. This process continues thereby increasing the fatty acid composition (Hainault et al. 1993; Mori et al. 1997; Peyron-Caso et al. 2002; Rimoldi et al. 2001; Mathias et al. 2014; Wu et al. 2014). There is always a competition between omega-3 fatty acids and omega-6 for the desaturation enzymes. ALA is preferred by both fatty acid desaturase 1 (FADS1) and fatty acid desaturase 2 (FADS2) to LA (Simopoulos 2009). In a physiological state, a balance between the omega 6 and omega 3 fatty acids is less inflammatory in terms of gene expression (Simopoulos 2015), prostaglandin and leukotriene metabolism, and interleukin-1 (IL-1) production (Simopoulos 2015). The unbalanced omega 6/omega 3 ratio in favor of omega 6 PUFAs is highly prothrombotic and pro-inflammatory, which

contributes to the prevalence of atherosclerosis, obesity, and diabetes (Simopoulos 2015).

The properties of omega-6 and omega-3 fatty acids in the diet are a determinant of biochemical efficiency, which is essential in providing the optimal conditions for human development as described previously, enzymes involved in the metabolism of the LA and ALA are shared. There is competition between them and the omega-6 and omega-3 fatty acids also regulate each other (Day et al. 2017). Increase in omega-3 PUFA results in reduced synthesis of highly pro-inflammatory eicosanoids from AA. PGs (one-series) from DGLA are anti-inflammatory eicosanoids; however, the amount of DGLA in the body is about tenfold lower than that of AA. According to reports, the target ratio of omega 6: omega 3 ratio for health should be 1:1 to 2: (Day et al. 2017). From the study, the omega 6: omega 3 ratio in nondiabetic subjects was 4:1 and in diabetic subjects the ratio was 13:1. Despite the intake of low-fat diet by the Indian population, CAD incidence is high and high omega-6/omega-3 ratios may be the culprit. The Indo-Mediterranean Diet Heart Study findings, as well as other intervention trials and epidemiological studies have indicated that a dietary modification may induce positive changes in the dietary omega-6/omega-3 fat ratio (Day et al. 2017). Thus, n-3 PUFAs are considered to be more protective against inflammation compared with omega 6 PUFAs, suggesting the importance of maintaining an ideal balance.

Applications to Prognosis, Other Diseases, or Conditions

While the human diet has evolved dramatically over the last 10,000 years, our DNA has remained relatively unchanged. It.is not unexpected that newly established Western diets poor in -3 PUFAs and abundant in -6 PUFAs promote the development of many chronic inflammatory disorders, given that humans are naturally accustomed to the food on which they evolved, and their genetic patterns were created. A Western diet with a higher omega 6 intake and omega-6/3 ratio bolsters pathogenesis of many diseases like cancer, cardiovascular disease, inflammatory and autoimmune diseases, whereas lower a low omega-6/omega-3 ratio may revert the adverse effects.

Obesity

Increased obesity in the progeny is linked to high consumption of omega-6 fatty acids during the perinatal period. The level of AA in adipose tissue has been linked to children's BMI and overweight status in human research. High omega-6/omega-3 fatty acids in the membrane phospholipids of umbilical cord red blood cells (RBCs) were linked to high subscapular skin-fold thickness at 3 years of age. Studies on intervention with a combination of -6, gamma-linolenic acid (GLA), and -3 long-chain PUFAs appear to have the most potential for reducing inflammatory processes, which could be helpful for treating inflammatory skin illnesses such as atopic dermatitis, psoriasis, and acne. Along with physical activity, a balanced omega-6/

omega-3 ratio of 1–2/1 is one of the most important dietary factors in preventing obesity. In the treatment of obesity, a lower omega-6/omega-3 ratio should be considered. EPA and DHA supplementation has been proven in animal and human trials to be protective against obesity and to prevent weight gain in obese animals and humans (Donahue et al. 2011). Studies in rats fed with high lipid diets, including omega-3 PUFAs, showed a reduction in visceral (epididymal and/or retroperitoneal), and the impact was dose-dependent (Simopoulos et al. 2016).

Cardiovascular Diseases

Over the last 20 years, fatty acid supplementation has been extensively researched and documented in treating cardiovascular and cerebrovascular disorders such as coronary artery disease (CAD), arrhythmia, and cerebral vascular accident (CVA) (Simopoulos et al. 2016).

Cancer

Given the importance of fatty acids (FAs) in cancer development, finding treatments that target FA metabolic reprogramming has piqued clinical interest. A major chunk of inhibitors developed target enzymes specifically involved in de novo FA synthesis and exogenous lipid uptake, but there is also renewed interest in delineating synergistically how specific dietary interventions may improve the efficacy of existing cancer therapeutics (Koundouros and Poulogiannis 2020).

Pulmonary Disorders

In an asthmatic population, Broughton et al. (1997) investigated the efficacy of omega-3 fatty acids at a 10/1 to 5/1 omega-6/omega-3 ratio in alleviating methacholine-induced respiratory distress. Methacholine-induced respiratory discomfort increased when omega-3 levels were low. In 40% of the test patients (responders), changes in urine 5-series leukotriene excretion indicated treatment success and a dose change, but nonresponders experienced a further reduction in respiratory capacity. Adams et al. (2019) has also demonstrated omega 3 protective against asthma. A 4-series to 5-series of 1 urinary ratio produced by omega-3 fatty acid consumption may predict respiratory improvement (Simopoulos 2016).

Skin

There is an increasing number of promising studies in favor of supplementing with a combination of GLA and -3 LC-PUFAs, which shows the most significant promise in reducing inflammatory processes and improving chronic inflammatory diseases,

including chronic inflammatory skin diseases such as AD, psoriasis, acne, and to a lesser extent hidradenitis suppurativa.

Brain-Related Functions

According to evidence from multiple cross-sectional studies, an increase in omega-6 to omega-3 fatty acids (FAs) may have a deleterious effect on cognition in old age (Andruchow et al. 2017). Studies have also shown that children with epilepsy have aberrant omega-3 to omega-6 serum level ratios, which is linked to cognitive impairment, based on our data. Early detection of cognitive impairment and appropriate intervention are required to improve quality of life and prevent learning difficulties and social problems in these children. According to National Health and nutrition examination Survey (NHANES) 2011–2014, intake of dietary -3 and -6 fatty acids may be inversely related to poor cognitive performance (Dong et al. 2020).

Humans produce proinflammatory cytokines such as interferon gamma (IFNc), TNFa, IL-6, and IL-1 in response to psychological stress. Overproduction of proinflammatory cytokines is caused by an imbalance of omega-6 and omega-3 PUFA in the peripheral circulation. Changes in fatty acid content are thought to play a role in the pathophysiology of major depression (Simopoulos 2016).

Autoimmune Disease

Clinical studies on genetic mouse models have delineated the underlying mechanisms and function of omega fatty acids and their metabolites in prevention and treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), type 1 diabetes, rheumatoid arthritis, and multiple sclerosis over the past decade (Li et al. 2019).

Key Facts

- Linoleic acid and α -linolenic acid are employed as a precursor during the production of n-3 and n-6 LC-PUFAs.
- LA and ALA are not interconvertible and compete for the rate-limiting $\Delta 6$ -desaturase in the synthesis of long-chain PUFA.
- The parent molecules for the formation of eicosanoids are AA (omega-6) and EPA (omega-3). Eicosanoids from AA exhibit characteristics that are fundamentally opposed to those of EPA.
- Increased dietary omega-6 EFA intake alters the physiological state to one that is prothrombotic, proconstrictive, and proinflammatory.
- PUFAs influence gene expression either directly or indirectly through lipid mediator substances such as octadecadienoids (C18), eicosanoids (C20), and docosanoids (C22).

- Today's industrialized societies with Westernized diet styles have higher overall energy intake of n-6 PUFAs, but lower energy expenditure and lower intake of n-3 PUFAs.
- As a result, lowering omega-6 intake and increasing omega-3 intake is critical in the prevention and management of chronic disease. Furthermore, for homeostasis and optimal growth, the ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 fatty acids is critical.

Summary

- Insulin resistance (IR) is a key characteristic of type 2 diabetes (T2DM). Improved risk prediction and understanding of insulin resistance are needed. Lipidomics provides an understanding of the role of lipids toward the development of obesity and health-related complications.
- Fatty acids are hydrocarbon chains that have a carboxylic group on one end and a methyl group on the other end. Polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) are fatty acids with a backbone that contains more than one double bond. The physical, metabolic, and physiological properties of PUFAs are greatly influenced by the position of double bonds.
- Linoleic acid and α -linolenic acid are employed as a precursor to n-3 and n-6 LC-PUFAs. These two groups of PUFAs are non-interconvertible and metabolically and functionally different, with key opposing metabolic activities in human physiology.
- The PUFA content of the cell membrane is mostly determined by dietary intake. In general, n-6 promotes inflammation, platelet aggregation, and vasoconstriction, whereas n-3 promotes vasodilation and inhibits inflammation.
- PUFAs modulate transcription factors, which improves fatty acid oxidation, in addition to providing as a source of fuel. They are a component of the cellular membrane, allowing them to set up and control it, improving its fluidity. PUFAs must be released from the membrane by phospholipases in order for signal transmission to occur.
- Long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (LC-PUFAs) exert their antiinflammatory effects by inhibiting lipogenesis and increasing the production of resolvins and protectins. N-3 PUFAs mediate some of these effects by antagonizing n-6 PUFA (arachidonic acid)-induced proinflammatory prostaglandin E formation.
- The whole human diet, including energy intake and expenditure, changed agricultural revolution. However, considerable changes in the human diet have occurred since the industrial revolution. Today's industrialized societies with Westernized diet styles have higher overall energy intake, n-6 PUFAs, but lower energy expenditure.
- The ratio of PUFA to PUFA in the human body is 20–50 times that of evolutionary times. This shift in the n-6/n-3 ratio is perhaps critical more than any other dietary factor, since it can contribute toward significant physiological changes in the human body.

- Most animals can only get EPA and DHA from food because it is generated by plants. Aquaculture has filled this demand, with fish and seafood farming. Modern aquaculture produces fish that contain fewer n-3 PUFAs than fish grown naturally in the wild.
- Omega-3 PUFA attenuates ER stress and increases mitochondrial fatty acid β-oxidation and mitochondrial uncoupling, thereby improving insulin sensitivity by downregulation of inflammasome/inflammatory processes. Omega 3 PUFA have also positive effects on Mfn2 involved in homeostasis and MAM integrity.
- EPA and DHA regulate insulin sensitivity, glucose utilization, and lipotoxicity. AMPK is a recognized therapeutic target for T2DM and is the main target activated by metformin. Omega-3 PUFAs inhibit inflammatory cytokine and eicosanoids production from AA and induce adipokine production from adipose tissue.
- There is competition between omega-3 fatty acids and omega-6 for desaturation enzymes. The unbalanced omega 6/omega 3 ratio in favor of omega 6 PUFAs contributes to the prevalence of atherosclerosis, obesity, and diabetes. N-3 PUFAs are considered to be more protective against inflammation compared with omega 6 PUFA, suggesting the importance of maintaining an ideal balance.

References

- Abbadi A, Domergue F, Bauer J, et al. Biosynthesis of very- long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids in transgenic oilseeds: constraints on their accumulation. Plant Cell. 2004;16(10):2734–48.
- Adams S, Lopata A, Smuts C, Baatjies R, Jeebhay M. Relationship between serum omega-3 fatty acid and asthma endpoints. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2019;16(1):43. https://doi.org/10. 3390/ijerph16010043.
- Andruchow ND, Konishi K, Shatenstein B, Bohbot VD. A lower ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 fatty acids predicts better hippocampus-dependent spatial memory and cognitive status in older adults. Neuropsychology. 2017;31(7):724–34.
- Bahgat A, Elhady M, Aziz AA, Youness ER, Zakzok E. Omega-6/omega-3 ratio and cognition in children with epilepsy. Ann Pediatría (English Ed). 2019;91(2):88–95.
- Balic A, Vlasic KD, Zuzul B, Marinovic B, Bukvic MZ. Omega-3 versus omega-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids in the prevention and treatment of inflammatory skin diseases. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21 (3):741, article 0741.
- Bathina S, Das UN. Resolvin D1 decreases severity of streptozotocin-induced type 1 diabetes mellitus by enhancing BDNF levels, reducing oxidative stress, and suppressing inflammation. Int J Mol Sci. 2021;22(4):1516.
- Bentsen H. Dietary polyunsaturated fatty acids, brain function and mental health. Microb Ecol Health Dis. 2017;28(Suppl 1):article 1281916.
- Bhardwaj K, Verma N, Trivedi R, Bhardwaj S, Shukla N. Significance of ratio of omega-3 and omega-6 in human health with special reference to flaxseed oil. Int J Biol Chem. 2016;10 (1–4):1–6.
- Broughton KS, Johnson CS, Pace BK, Liebman M, Kleppinger KM. Reduced asthma symptoms with n-3 fatty acid ingestion are related to 5-series leukotriene production. Am J Clin Nutr. 1997;65(4):1011–7. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/65.4.1011

- Burdge G. Metabolism of α -linolenic acid in humans. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fat Acids. 2006;75(3):161–8.
- Calder PC. Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and inflammatory processes: nutrition or pharmacology? Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2013;75(3):645–62.
- Calder PC. Very long-chain n-3 fatty acids and human health: fact, fiction and the future. Proc Nutr Soc. 2018;77:52–72.
- Casula M, Soranna D, Catapano AL, Corrao G. Longterm effect of high dose omega-3 fatty acid supplementation for secondary prevention of cardiovascular outcomes: a meta-analysis of randomized, double blind, placebo-controlled trials. Atheroscler Suppl. 2013;14:243–51.
- Chaves H, Singh RB, Khan S, Wilczynska A, Takahashi T. The role of functional food security in global health. Elsevier, 2019. High omega-6/omega-3 fatty acid ratio diets and risk of noncommunicable diseases: is the tissue, the main issue? p. 217–59.
- Clària J, López-Vicario C, Rius B, Titos E. Pro-resolving actions of SPM in adipose tissue biology. Mole Aspects Med. 2017;58:83–92. ISSN 0098-2997.
- Das UN. Insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia: are they secondary to an alteration in the metabolism of essential fatty acids? Med Sci Res. 1994;22:243–5.
- Das UN. A defect in the activity of Delta6 and Delta5 desaturases may be a factor predisposing to the development of insulin resistance syndrome. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fat Acids. 2005;72:343–50.
- Day EA, Ford RJ, Steinberg GR. AMPK as a therapeutic target for treating metabolic diseases. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2017;28:545–60.
- Di Pasquale MG. The essentials of essential fatty acids. J Diet Suppl. 2009;6(2):143-61.
- Donahue SM, Rifas-Shiman SL, Gold DR, Jouni ZE, Gillman MW, Oken E. Prenatal fatty acid status and child adiposity at age 3 years: results from a US pregnancy cohort. Am J Clin Nutr. 2011;93:780–8.
- Dong X, Li S, Chen J. Association of dietary ω -3 and ω -6 fatty acids intake with cognitive performance in older adults: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 2011–2014. Nutr J. 2020;19(25):1.
- Dyall SC. Long-chain omega-3 fatty acids and the brain: a review of the independent and shared effects of EPA, DPA and DHA. Front Aging Neurosci. 2015;7:52.
- Ertune ME, Hotamisligil GS. Lipid signaling and lipotoxicity in metaflammation: indications for metabolic disease pathogenesis and treatment. J Lipid Res. 2016;57:2099–114.
- Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO). The state of the world fisheries and aquaculture 2016. Contributing to food security and nutrition for all. Rome: FAO; 2016. 200p. ISBN 978-92-5-109185-2.
- Garaulet M, Perez-Llamas F, Perez-Ayala M, Martinez P, de Medina FS, Tebar FJ, et al. Site Q specific differences in the fatty acid composition of abdominal adipose tissue in an obese population from a Mediterranean area: relation with dietary fatty acids, plasma lipid profile, serum insulin, and central obesity. Am J Clin Nutr. 2001;74(5):585–91.
- Gladyshev MI, Sushchik NN. Long-chain omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids in natural ecosystems and the human diet: assumptions and challenges. Biomol Ther. 2019;9(9):485.
- Hainault I, Carlotti M, Hajduch E, Guichard C, Lavau M. Fish oil in a high lard diet prevents obesity, hyperlipemia, and adipocyte insulin resistance in rats. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1993;683:98–101.
- Harwood JL. Recent advances in the biosynthesis of plant fatty acids. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1996;1301:7–56.
- Hashimoto M, Hossain S. Fatty acids: from membrane ingredients to signalling molecules. In: Biochemistry and health benefits of fatty acids. IntechOpen; 2018.
- Joshi SR, Parikh RM. India diabetes capital of the world: now heading towards hypertension. J Assoc Physicians India. 2007;55:323–4.
- Kaveeshwar SA, Cornwall J. The current state of diabetes mellitus in India. Australas Med J. 2014;7 (1):45–8.
- Kim OY, Lim HH, Yang LI, Chae JS, Lee JH. Fatty acid desaturase (FADS) gene polymorphisms and insulin resistance in association with serum phospholipid polyunsaturated fatty acid

composition in healthy Korean men: cross-sectional study. Nutr Metabol. 2011;8(1). https://doi. org/10.1186/1743-7075-8-24.

- Koundouros N, Poulogiannis G. Reprogramming of fatty acid metabolism in cancer. Br J Cancer. 2020;122:4–22. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41416-019-0650-z.
- Kumar A, Goel MK, Jain RB, Khanna P, Chaudhary V. India towards diabetes control: key issues. Australas Med J. 2013;6(10):524–31.
- Lepretti M, Martucciello S, Burgos Aceves MA, Putti R, Lionetti L. Omega-3 fatty acids and insulin resistance: focus on the regulation of mitochondria and endoplasmic reticulum stress. Nutrients. 2018;10(3):350.
- Li X, Bi X, Wang S, Zhang Z, Li F, Zhao AZ. Therapeutic potential of ω-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids in human autoimmune diseases. Front Immunol. 2019;10:2241.
- Mansouri V, Javanmard SH, Mahdavi M, Tajedini MH. Association of polymorphism in fatty acid desaturase gene with the risk of type 2 diabetes in Iranian population. Adv Biomed Res. 2018;7:98.
- Mariamenatu AH, Abdu EM. Overconsumption of omega-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) versus deficiency of omega-3 PUFAs in modern-day diets: the disturbing factor for their "balanced antagonistic metabolic functions" in the human body. J Lipids. 2021;2021: 8848161.
- Mathias RA, Pani V, Chilton FH. Genetic variants in the FADS gene: implications for dietary recommendations for fatty acid intake. Curr Nutr Rep. 2014;3:139–48.
- Mazoochian L, Sadeghi MHM, Pourfarzam M. The effect of FADS2 gene rs174583 polymorphism on desaturase activities, fatty acid profile, insulin resistance, biochemical indices, and incidence of type 2 diabetes. J Res Med Sci. 2018;23:47.
- Molendi-Coste O, Legry V, Leclercq IA. Why and how meet n-3 PUFA dietary recommendations?. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2011;2011:1–11. https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/364040.
- Mori Y, Murakawa Y, Katoh S, Hata S, Yokoyama J, Tajima N, et al. Influence of highly purified eicosapentaenoic acid ethyl ester on insulin resistance in the Otsuka long-Evans Tokushima fatty rat, a model of spontaneous non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Metabolism. 1997;46:1458–64.
- Nagy L, Tiuca I-D. Importance of fatty acids in physiopathology of human body, fatty acids [Internet]. Intech Open; 2017. https://www.intechopen.com/books/fatty-acids/importance-of-fatty-acids-in-physiopathology-of-human-body
- Pereira SL, Leonard AE, Huang YS, Chuang LT, Mukerji P. Identification of two novel microalgal enzymes involved in the conversion of the omega3-fatty acid, eicosapentaenoic acid, into docosahexaenoic acid. Biochem J. 2004;384:357–66.
- Perez-Matute P, Perez-Echarri N, Martinez JA, Marti A, Moreno-Aliaga MJ. Eicosapentaenoic acid actions on adiposity and insulin resistance in control and high-fat-fed rats: role of apoptosis, adiponectin and tumour necrosis factor-alpha. Br J Nutr. 2007;97:389–98.
- Peyron-Caso S, Fluteau-Nadler M, Kabir M, Guerre-Millo A, Quignard-Boulange G. Regulation of glucose transport and transporter 4 (GLUT-4) in muscle and adipocytes of sucrose-fed rats: effects of N-3 poly and monounsaturated fatty acids. Horm Metab Res. 2002;34:360–6.
- Rimoldi OJ, Finarelli GS, Brenner RR. Effects of diabetes and insulin on hepatic delta 6 desaturase gene expression. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2001;283:323–6.
- Ruiz-López N, Sayanova O, Napier JA, Haslam RP. Metabolic engineering of the omega-3 long chain polyunsaturated fatty acid biosynthetic pathway into transgenic plants. J Exp Bot. 2012;63 (7):2397–410.
- Ruiz-Lopez N, Sayanova O, Napier JA, Haslam RP. Metabolic engineering of the omega-3 long chain polyunsaturated fatty acid biosynthetic pathway into transgenic plants. J Exp Bot. 2012;63:2397–410.
- Russo GL. Dietary n-6 and n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids: from biochemistry to clinical implications in cardiovascular prevention. Biochem Pharmacol. 2009;77(6):937–46.
- Sayanova OV, Napier JA. Eicosapentaenoic acid: biosynthetic routes and the potential for synthesis in transgenic plants. Phytochemistry. 2004;65:147–58.
- Schaeffer L, Gohlke H, Muller M, Heid IM, Palmer LJ, Kompauer, et al. Common genetic variants of the FADS1 FADS2 gene cluster and their reconstructed haplotypes are associated with the fatty acid composition in phospholipids. Hum Mol Genet. 2006;15(11):1745–56.

- Shetty S, Devi UH, Kumari SN. Fatty acid desaturase 2 (FADS2) gene polymorphism in type 2 diabetes mellitus- a case- control study. RJPBCS. 2019;10(1):537–43.
- Shetty SS, Praveen SKN, Shetty K. ω -6/ ω -3 fatty acid ratio as an essential predictive biomarker in the management of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Nutrition. 2020;79-80110968. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.nut.2020.110968
- Shevchenko A, Simons K. Lipidomics: coming to grips with lipid diversity. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2010;11(8):593–8.
- Simopoulos AP. Is insulin resistance influenced by dietary linoleic acid and trans fatty acids? Free Rad Biol Med. 1994;17(4):367–72.
- Simopoulos AP. The importance of the ratio of omega-6/omega-3 essential fatty acids. Biomed Pharmacother. 2002;56(8):365–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0753-3322(02)00253-6
- Simopoulos AP. Omega-6/omega-3 essential fatty acid ratio and chronic diseases. Food Rev Int. 2004;20(1):77–90.
- Simopoulos AP. Evolutionary aspects of diet, the omega- 6/omega-3 ratio and genetic variation: nutritional implications for chronic diseases. Biomed Pharmacother. 2006;60(9):502–7.
- Simopoulos AP. The importance of the omega-6/omega-3 fatty acid ratio in cardiovascular disease and other chronic diseases. Exp Biol Med. 2008;233(6):674–88.
- Simopoulos AP. Omega-6/omega-3 essential fatty acids: biological effects. World Rev Nutr Diet. 2009;99:1–16. https://doi.org/10.1159/000192755. Epub 2009 Jan 9. PMID: 19136835.
- Simopoulos AP. Genetic variants in the metabolism of omega-6 and omega-3 fatty acids: their role in the determination of nutritional requirements and chronic disease risk. Exp Biol Med. 2010;235(7):785–95. https://doi.org/10.1258/ebm.2010.009298
- Simopoulos AP. Healthy agriculture, healthy nutrition, healthy people, vol. 102. Karger Publishers; 2011. Importance of the omega-6/omega-3 balance in health and disease: evolutionary aspects of diet; p. 10–21.
- Simopoulos AP. The impact of the Bellagio report on healthy agriculture, healthy nutrition, healthy people: scientific and policy aspects and the international network of centers for genetics, nutrition and fitness for health. J Nutrigenet Nutrigenom. 2015;7:189–209.
- Simopoulos AP. An increase in the omega-6/omega-3 fatty acid ratio increases the risk for obesity. Nutrients. 2016;8(3):128. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu8030128.
- Sokoła-Wysoczańska E, Wysoczański T, Wagner J, et al. Polyunsaturated fatty acids and their potential therapeutic role in cardiovascular system disorders a review. Nutrients. 2018;10(10): article 1561.
- Tocher DR. Omega-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids and aquaculture in perspective. Aquaculture. 2015;449:94–107.
- Tsurutani Y, Inoue K, Sugisawa C, Saito J, Omura M, Nishikawa T. Increased serum dihomo-γ-linolenic acid levels are associated with obesity, body fat accumulation, and insulin resistance in Japanese patients with type 2 diabetes. Int Med. 2018;57(20):2929–35.
- Uttaro AD. Biosynthesis of polyunsaturated fatty acids in lower eukaryotes. IUBMB Life. 2006;58: 563–71.
- Wang X, Chan CB. n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and insulin secretion. J Endocrinol. 2015;224 (3):R97–R106.
- Ward OP, Singh A. Omega-3/6 fatty acids: alternative sources of production. Process Biochem. 2005;40:3627–5652.
- Weiser MJ, Butt CM, Mohajeri MH. Docosahexaenoic acid and cognition throughout the lifespan. Nutrients. 2016;8:99.
- Wu Y, Ding Y, Tanaka Y, Zhang W. Risk factors contributing to type 2 diabetes and recent advances in the treatment and prevention. Int J Med Sci. 2014;11(11):1185–200.
- Yary T, Voutilainen S, Tuomainen T-P, Ruusunen A, Nurmi T, Virtanen JK. Am J Clin Nutr. 2016;103(5):1337–43. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.115.128629
- Zhou X-R, Green AG, Singh SP. *Caenorhabditis elegans* Δ 12-desaturase FAT-2 is a bifunctional desaturase able to desaturate a diverse range of fatty acid substrates at the Δ 12 and Δ 15 positions. J Biol Chem. 2011;286:43644–50.



Engulfment and Cell Motility Protein (ELMO)-1 as a Biomarker in Type II Diabetes

Elfiani Elfiani, Anggelia Puspasari, and Zulkhair Ali

Contents

Introduction	470
A Genetic Variant of ELMO-1 as the Risk for DN in T2DM	471
The Role of ELMO-1 in Diabetic Nephropathy, Studies in the Animal Model, and Cell	
Culture	472
ELMO-1 in Circulation and Renal Tissue in Humans as a Potential Biomarker of DN	
in T2DM	477
Application to Prognosis, Other Diseases or Condition	478
Mini-Dictionary	480
Key Facts	480
Key Facts of Albuminuria	480
Key Facts of ELMO-1 Protein	480
Key Facts of ELMO-1 Genetic Variant rs741301	481
Summary Points	481
References	481

Abstract

Increasing prevalence of T2DM in parallel with increased prevalence of DN, which leading cause of ESRD and T2DM. Albuminuria as a standard biomarker

E. Elfiani (🖂)

A. Puspasari

Z. Ali

Department of Internal Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Sriwijaya, Palembang, Indonesia e-mail: Zulkhair33@gmail.com

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2_59 469

Department of Internal Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Raden Mattaher General Hospital, Universitas Jambi, Jambi, Indonesia

Department of Medical Biology and Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Universitas Jambi, Jambi, Indonesia e-mail: anggelia.puspasari@unja.ac.id

to monitoring the progression of DN know has been challenging due to its ability to detect early renal lesions, monitoring the progression of renal lesion and treatment to prevent ESRD. Discover novel biomarker performed recently to focus on finding ideal marker of a cellular process that can reflect the renal function and histology appearance of DN progression. This chapter presented a review of ELMO-1 as one of the candidates of a biomarker of DN progression, which is reporting in genomic, transcriptomic and metabolomic levels. Previous studies reported genetic variant of ELMO-1 as risk susceptibility for suffering in DN, which replicated in many populations worldwide. In addition, genetically modified animal models and cell lines that have increased ELMO-1 expression reported worsening DN progression. Parallel with animal study, ELMO-1 protein was associated with a marker of declining renal function in T2DM patients.

Keywords

Albuminuria · Biomarker · Diabetic Nephropathy · ELMO-1 · End-Stage Renal Diseases · Extracellular matrix · Genetic Variant · Intron · Stress Oxidative · Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus

Abbreviations

ACR	Albumin creatinine ratio
ARMS-PCR	reaction
DN	Diabetic nephropathy
ECM	Extracellular matrix
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
ELMO-1	Engulfment and cell motility protein
ESRD	End-stage renal diseases
GWAS	Genome-wide association study
ILK	Integrin like kinase
NADH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PCR-RFLP	Polymerase chain reaction-restriction fragment length
TIDM	Ture 2 diabates mellitus
	Type 2 diabetes mentus
TGF-B	Transforming growth factor- B
TUNEL	Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labelling

Introduction

The prevalence of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM) is increasing worldwide, which cause increasing the prevalence of diabetic nephropathy as the most frequent of microvascular complications. Diabetic nephropathy (DN) is the leading cause of end-stage renal diseases (ESRD) and mortality in T2DM. This cause burden of health cost and patient's quality of life (Koye et al. 2018; Persson and Rossing 2018).

Finding such an ideal biomarker that could monitor disease progression was needed to understand pathophysiology better and enhance treatment.

The ideal biomarker for the diseases should be non-invasive, easy to measure, inexpensive, readily available sources, high sensitivity to detect early renal lesions of DN, high specificity, monitor the treatment, risk stratification, and possess prognostic value and biologically plausible. The biomarker for DN used widely does not yet meet those ideal criteria for biomarker (Biomarkers Definitions Working Group 2001; Bennett and Devarajan 2017).

Albuminuria has been using widely for monitoring DN progression. Recently, the interpretation of this marker is challenging. The previous study reported that microalbuminuria could regress to normo-albuminuria. Patients who have declined glomerular filtration rate $< 60 \text{ ml/minute/m}^2$ was not suffering microalbuminuria. In addition, patients with normo-albuminuria may have a histopathology appearance that reflected nephropathy (Currie et al. 2014; MacIsaac et al. 2014; Persson and Rossing 2018). Histopathology appearance of DN was glomerular-based membrane thickening, epithelial to mesenchymal transition, a vascular injury which leads to glomerular sclerosis that describes the best for DN progression. The cellular process occurred before and continued in parallel with decline renal function. Unfortunately, it could detect from renal biopsy, a relatively invasive procedure that needs enormous resources to be performed (Roshan and Stanton 2013; Gonzalez Suarez et al. 2013; Espinel et al. 2015). The discovery of an ideal biomarker for DN recently focus on the marker of a cellular process associated with renal function and histology appearance, which promise a potency as an ideal biomarker of DN (Batlle 2003; Currie et al. 2014; Uwaezuoke 2017; Lee and Lam 2015).

Engulfment and cell motility protein (ELMO)-1 was known before as a protein that had played a role in apoptosis and cell migration. Then Genome-wide association study (GWAS) tagging that the genetic variant of the ELMO-1 gene is associated with DN in Japanese (Shimazaki et al. 2005). That phenotype and genotype association study replicate in many other populations worldwide and potentiate as a genetic risk associated DN (Leak et al. 2009; Mehrabzadeh et al. 2016; Mooyaart et al. 2011; Omar et al. 2021; Pezzolesi et al. 2009; Wu et al. 2013). Furthermore, the role of ELMO-1 protein in DN progression has been investigating in various animal models and cell cultures. This protein plays a role in depositing extracellular matrix, cell apoptosis, increasing oxidative stress (Hathaway et al. 2016; Sharma et al. 2016; Shimazaki et al. 2006). A study in humans reported the correlation of ELMO-1 with a clinical marker of renal function in T2DM (Elfiani et al. 2020). It showed the potential of ELMO-1 as a biomarker in T2DM.

A Genetic Variant of ELMO-1 as the Risk for DN in T2DM

The genetic variant is an unmodified risk factor for the diseases, but the screening can identify the risk for diseases or predict the prognosis for diseases (Baptista 2005; Frezzo et al. 2003). Meta-analysis and review studies reported the ELMO-1 genetic

variant as a risk factor for diabetic nephropathy in diabetes patients (Mooyaart et al. 2011; Wei et al. 2018).

A genetic variant of ELMO-1 was first studied associated with DN in T2DM in the Japanese population. The genetic variant in intron 18 + 9170 A/G (rs741301) was the strongest associated with DN in T2DM. Patients with GG genotype are more susceptible (OR: 95%CI; 2.67:1.71-4.16) for suffering DN (Shimazaki et al. 2005). These results are replicating by studies performed in Chinese, Iranian, South Indian, and Egyptian (Bodhini et al. 2016; Omar et al. 2021; Hou et al. 2019; Mehrabzadeh et al. 2016; Wu et al. 2013). A study in Jingzou Chinese reported the different risk allele. The patients who have the A allele are more susceptible to suffering DN (Table 1) (Wu et al. 2013).

The others studies in North Indian, Egyptian, and Tunisian Arab reported this genetic variant rs741301 as the risk for T2DM but not DN in T2DM. The A allele is more susceptible to suffering T2DM than the G allele in South India (Turki et al. 2018; Omar et al. 2021; Yadav et al. 2014). In addition, a study in Malaysia and Mexican Americans reported this genetic variant not associated with the risk of DN in T2DM patients (Table 1) (Kim et al. 2010.; Yahya et al. 2019).

Another genetic variant associated with DN in T2DM located in the intron 13, intron 20 and 3' flanking region was DN genetic risk factor (Table 2). The genetic variants rs1345365 and rs10951509 located in the intron 13 are associated with DN in T2DM African American, American Indian population, Chinese Han, which has minor allele as a protective factor (Hanson et al. 2010; Hou et al. 2019; Leak et al. 2009). In addition, genetic variant rs10255208 located in the 3' flanking region and rs7782979 located in intron 20 associated with DN in the Chinese Han population (Hou et al. 2019).

The functional study of this intronic genetic variant is not yet elucidated. However, the intron is not a coding region, but it induced an aberrant splicing site. Which could cause exon skipping, cryptic splice site utilization for enhancers, and silencers that influence the stability and level of protein that encode (Pagani and Baralle 2004; Cooper 2010). In addition, it could change modulator protein binding. Shimazaki et al. presumed GCR-1 protein is compatible with the sequences of rs741301. This protein is a modulator protein induced by high glucose concentration. This protein binding to sequences of this genetic variant could control the transcriptional activity of the glycolytic enzyme in response to the alteration of extracellular glucose concentration. It may explain the function of this genetic variant as a risk factor for DN (Shimazaki et al. 2005).

The Role of ELMO-1 in Diabetic Nephropathy, Studies in the Animal Model, and Cell Culture

The ELMO-1 protein is known for its role in engulfing apoptotic cells and controlling cell migration. Then ELMO-1 binding Dock180 activated the Rac-GEF pathway, which contributed to the rearrangement of microtubules (Grimsley et al. 2004; Gumienny et al.

			Risk allele	
Author	Subject	Genotyping Methods	allele)	OR (95% CI
Shimazaki et al. (2006)	Japanese, 466 T2DM DN as case group and 266 T2DM non-DN as a control group.	DNA sequencing and TaqMan assay	G (A)	2.67(1.71-4.16)
Mooyaart et al. (2011)	Asian population	Meta-analysis of 2 studies in Asia population involved 546 T2DM with DN and 334 T2DM without DN		1.58 (1.28–1.94)
Wu et al. (2013)	Jiangzou Chinese, 123 T2DM with DN and 77 without DN.	MassARRAY	A (G)	1.89 (1.22–2.95)
Yadav et al. (2014)	North Indians, 215 T2DM, 202 T2DM with DN and 197 healthy control.	Taqman allele discrimination assay	G (A)	1.43 (1.1–1.88) for T2DM but not statistically significant as a risk for DN.
Mehrabzadeh et al. (2016)	Iranian, 100 T2DM without DN, 100 with DN and 100 healthy control.	Tetra ARMS PCR	G (A)	1.7 (1.17–2.63)
Bodhini et al. (2016)	South Indian population, 583 T2DM with DN and 601 T2DM without DN	MassARRAY system	A (G)	1.75 (1.20–2.55) for AG 1.48 (1.02–2.55) for GG
Hou et al. (2019)	Chinese Han, 660 T2DM with DN and 665 T2DM without DN	PCR-RFLP	G (A)	1.75 (1.19–2.28)
Bayoumy et al. (2019)	Egyptian, 200 T2DM with DN, 200 T2DM without DN and 100 healthy control	RT PCR allele discrimination technique	G (A)	1.82 (1.12–3.41) for DN in T2DM not statistically significant for risk of T2DM.
Yahya et al. (2019)	652 Chinese, Malays, and Indians reside in Negeri Sembilan Malaysia, suffering T2DM with or without DN.	MassARRAY system		Not statistically significant as a risk for DN in T2DM

 Table 1
 ELMO-1 genetic variant rs741301 associated with T2DM and diabetic nephropathy

(continued)

			Risk allele (non-risk	
Author	Subject	Genotyping Methods	allele)	OR (95% CI
Omar et al. (2021)	Egyptian, 100 T2DM with DKD, 102 T2DM without DN and 102 healthy control	RT PCR allele discrimination technique	G (A)	2.366 (1.450–3.859) for T2DM but not statistically significant as a risk for DN.

Table 1 (continued)

ARM-PCR: Amplification-refractory mutation system- polymerase chain reaction; CI: Confident interval; DN: Diabetic nephropathy; OR: Odds ratio; PCR-RFLP: Polymerase chain reaction-restriction fragment length polymorphism; RT-PCR: Real-Time PCR; T2DM: Type 2 Diabetes mellitus

2001). Independent of that pathway, Shimazaki et al. 2006 reported the role of this protein in DN pathophysiology, which contributed to excess deposition of extracellular matrix and lack of cell adhesive to ECM (Shimazaki et al. 2006).

Rat model for chronic glomerulonephritis showed increased expression of ELMO-1 protein in renal cortex and glomeruli than the control without chronic glomerulonephritis. Modified COS cell culture, which has ELMO-1 overexpression, showed increased fibronectin and integrin like kinase (ILK). These two proteins are components of the deposition of the ECM and adhesive cell propertied to ECM. Furthermore, the COS cells were transfected with siRNA targeting ELMO-1 and ILK having fibronectin suppression (Shimazaki et al. 2006).

Another study used genetically modified Akita mice (type 1 diabetes model with hyperglycemia) with various grades of systemic ELMO-1 (30–200%) in all tissue. They reported renal function and renal histopathology appearance, including albuminuria, glomerulosclerosis and glomerular base membrane (GBM) thickening worse parallel with increased expression of ELMO-1. This study reported it was influenced by increasing expression of TGF-ß, endothelin-1 and marker of stress oxidative NADPH oxidase-4 and reduced erythrocytes level of glutathione (Hathaway et al. 2016). This event might be through the ELMO-1 activated Rac pathway in vascular-related diseases, which induced increased stress oxidative by activation NAD(P)H oxidase (Kakoki et al. 2019; Yoshida et al. 2014). The study mention before also reported the ELMO-1 level to 30% sufficient to prevent glomerular injury caused by hyperglycemia. The ELMO-1 has potency as a DN therapeutic marker and even therapy target (Hathaway et al. 2016).

In addition, ELMO-1 protein inhibits cell adhesion into the extracellular matrix, altering effacement of podocytes foot process, increased apoptosis podocytes associated with altering of glomerular filtration barrier (Hathaway et al. 2016; Sharma et al. 2016). Those pathology associated with decline renal function in DN. Zebrafish model for hyperglycemia showed the detrimental effect of their renal analogue organ due to loss of podocytes cell caused by increased apoptosis, effacement podocytes foot process associated with loss of glomerular barrier. This event rescue with genetic modified targeting ELMO-1 overexpression and inhibitor of Pancaspase (Sharma et al. 2016). All the studies summary present in Table 3.

Author	Subject	Genotyping Methods	SNP	Risk allele (non-risk allele)	OR (95% CI
Leak	African	DNA	Intron	G (A)	The odds ratio
(2009)	T2DM-ESRD as case group	sequencing	Intron 13 rs1981740	C (A)	allele as protective
	and 1160 non-diabetic		Intron 13 rs10951509	G (A)	allele between 0.77–0.84
	of 2 set groups.		Intron 13 rs2058730	T (C)	
Hanson et al.	American Indian,	AD-PCR in conjunction	Intron 13 rs1345365	A (G)	2.42 (1.35–4.32)
(2010)	141 T2DM with nephropathy and 416 without nephropathy in a family study of 257 sibships. The ESRD subject was 107 cases, and 108 subject controls not suffering nephropathy	with the 7000 Sequence Detection System or the iPLEX assay.	Intron 13 rs10951509	A (G)	2.42 (1.31–4.48)
Kim et al. (2010)	Mexican American, 455 T2Dm with DN and 437 T2DM without DN	Not mention clearly	46 SNP in ELMO-1 gene		Not statistically significant as the risk of DN in T2DM
Turki et al. (2018)	Tunisian Arabs, 600 patients with normoglycemic as control and 900 T2DM patients	PCR-RFLP	Intron 20 rs7782979	A (C)	The higher percentage of AA and CA genotype in T2DM than CC genotype in males subject
Hou et al. (2019)	Chinese Han, 660 T2DM with DN and	PCR-RFLP	3' flanking- region rs10255208	G (A)	1.41 (1.06–1.92)
	665 T2DM without DN		Intron 13 rs1345365	G (A)	1.24 (0.77–1.95)
			Intron 20 rs7782979	A (C)	1.23 (0.82–1.76)

Table 2 ELMO-1 genetic variant located in various intron associated with diabetic nephropathy

AD-PCR: Allelic discrimination PCR; CI: Confident interval; DN: Diabetic nephropathy; OR: Odds ratio; PCR-RFLP: Polymerase chain reaction-restriction fragment length polymorphism; T2DM: Type 2 Diabetes mellitus

Author	Subject	Methods	Result
Shimazaki et al. (2006)	Rat model for chronic glomerulonephritis (uni-nephrectomy with the injection of anti- Thy1.1 antibody	In situ hybridization	The expression of ELMO- 1 significantly increased in the renal cortex and glomeruli in the rat model for chronic glomerulonephritis than control mouse model.
	Modified COS cells that have overexpression of ELMO1 and siRNA targeting ELMO-1	RT-PCR, ELISA, western blot and cell- adhesion assay	In COS cells which overexpressed ELMO-1 increased fibronectin, integrin-linked kinase (ILK) expression and inhibited cell adhesion to the extracellular matrix. The COS cells, which transfected siRNA targeting ELMO-1 and ILK, caused fibronectin suppression.
Sharma et al. (2016)	Genetically modified zebrafish model with PDX1 knockdown (hyperglycemia model) and CRISPR/Cas9 (knockout) of ELMO-1.	RT PCR, TUNEL assay	The animal model caused the detrimental effect of pronephric structure and function, podocytes foot processes, glomerular filtration barrier. Those conditions significantly rescue via ELMO-1 overexpression and Pancaspase inhibitor.
Hathaway et al. (2016)	Genetic modified (Ins ^{2Akita)} mice model for DM which have various grades of ELMO-1 in all tissue (30–200%)	RT PCR, not to mention methods for plasma protein analysis and glutathione.	Albuminuria, glomerulosclerosis and GBM thickening severity increased in parallel with ELMO-1 expression. Parallel with that event, this study reported an increase of TGF-ß, endothelin-1, NADPH oxidase-4 gene expression. In addition, the increased plasma level of cystatin C, lipid peroxide, TGF-ß and reduced erythrocytes level of glutathione also founded.

Table 3 The ELMO-1 plays a role in DN progression; studies in the animal model and cell culture

ELISA: Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; GBM: Glomerular base membrane; NADPH: Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide; RT-PCR: Real-Time PCR; TGF Transforming growth factor; TUNEL: Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labelling



Fig. 1 Increased ELMO-1 expression in hyperglycemia milieu induced diabetic nephropathy. Hyperglycemia milieu in diabetes mellitus induced increasing ELMO-1 expression. The increasing ELMO-1 induced increasing expression marker of fibrogenesis and epithelial-mesenchymal transition, stress oxidative and reduction cell adhesive to ECM. These cellular processes lead to diabetic nephropathy

In summary, hyperglycemia milieu, which occurred in T2DM, induced increased expression of ELMO-1 protein. The increased ELMO-1 induced marker of fibrogenesis, epithelial-mesenchymal transition, stress oxidative, and reduction cell adhesive propertied to ECM. These processes explain the biological plausibility of ELMO-1 protein plays a role in diabetic nephropathy (Fig. 1).

ELMO-1 in Circulation and Renal Tissue in Humans as a Potential Biomarker of DN in T2DM

To their best of authors literature searching, studies ELMO-1 protein in humanrelated to DN still limited, summaries in Table 4. The study by Sharma et al. 2016 reported that the expression of ELMO-1 in renal of diabetic, non-diabetic and polycystic kidneys did not significantly differ. Podocytes, tubules, and glomerular

Author	Subject	Methods	Result
Sharma et al. (2016)	Kidney section from non-diabetic ($n = 5$), diabetic type 2 ($n = 5$) and polycystic kidney diseases ($n = 5$)	IHC and fluoro-IHC	ELMO-1 is expressed in podocytes, tubules and is almost absent in glomerular endothelial cells. ELMO-1 expression remained unchanged within the kidney of T2DM and polycystic diseases.
Elfiani et al. (2020)	Plasma of T2DM with various albuminuria grade. Non albuminuria ($n = 20$), microalbuminuria ($n = 20$), macroalbuminuria ($n = 20$)	Sandwich ELISA for human ELMO-1	The macroalbuminuria patients have higher plasma ELMO-1 than microalbuminuria. Plasma ELMO-1 had a positive correlation with ACR. Plasma ELMO-1 had a negative correlation with GFR.

Table 4 The ELMO-1 studies in human-associated with DN

ELISA: Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; IHC: Immuno-histopathology Chemistry; T2DM: Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus

endothelial cells express the ELMO-1. The limitation of this study was limited number of kidney sections were involved, and not known if the renal diabetic sample was suffering DN (n = 15) (Sharma et al. 2016).

Another study performed by Elfiani et al. 2020 reported plasma levels of ELMO-1 to have a positive correlation with ACR and a negative correlation with GFR in T2DM. In addition, significantly higher levels of plasma ELMO-1 in macroalbuminuria than microalbuminuria or normoalbuminuria (Elfiani et al. 2020). The plasma level of ELMO-1 was not correlated with plasma glucose level, different from with previous in-vitro study which reported high glucose enhanced ELMO-1 expression in cell culture (Shimazaki et al. 2006).

Application to Prognosis, Other Diseases or Condition

This chapter review studies of ELMO-1 in genomic, transcriptomic and proteomic level associated with DN in T2DM in the human, animal model and cell line. The genetic variant of rs741301 may be applied as risk screening in T2DM patients to predict DN. It can apply in Asia and Europe but not in American (Bodhini et al. 2016; Hou et al. 2019; Kim et al. n.d.; Mehrabzadeh et al. 2016; Mooyaart et al. 2011; Shimazaki et al. 2005; Wu et al. 2013; Yadav et al. 2014). The ELMO-1 genetic variant that tends to be associated with DN in the American population is the genetic variant located at intron 13 (Hanson et al. 2010; Leak et al. 2009). Furthermore, increased systemic ELMO-1 level in the animal model and cell line parallel with increased severity of histopathology and decline renal function marker associated with DN. Those studies reported events associated with increased excess ECM deposition and oxidative stress marker, two major pathways in DN pathophysiology (Hathaway et al. 2016; Sharma et al. 2016; Shimazaki et al. 2006). To the best of our

	,	
Biomarker criteria	Research was performed	Further research needed
Non-invasive, easy to measure, inexpensive, readily available sources	As shown by Elfiani et al., the sample for measure ELMO-1 was plasma with ELISA in the previous study. As a summary in Table 3, systemic ELMO-1 plasma level reflected renal changes in DN.	Further research with the urinary sample was needed.
High sensitivity and specificity to detect early renal lesion of DN	The data is not yet available.	Further research with more significant sample number and multicenter, compared with other and gold standard of plasma ELMO-1 as a biomarker of DN
Able to treatment monitoring, diseases risk stratification and possess prognostic value	As shown by Hathaway et al., the animal study reported that grading of ELMO-1 expression parallel with worsening of DN marker.	Further study in humans which specific cut of point of ELMO- 1 for monitoring and predict prognostic of DN
Biologically plausible	Summary in Fig. 1	Another biology plausible of ELMO-1. It might be the role of ELMO-1 in immunology response related to apoptotic and immune cell migration caused by DN pathology changes.

Table 5 Insight of ELMO-1 discoveries biomarker for DN

literature searching, one study in the human reported a correlation of ELMO-1 with two typical decline renal function markers (ACR and estimated GFR) (Elfiani et al. 2020). The previous studies above strengthen the evidence that ELMO-1 may apply as a biomarker of DN progression in T2DM. The circulating ELMO-1 might be used as a DN progression biomarker, although further studies are still needed to elucidate if the ELMO-1 meet the ideal biomarker for monitoring DN progression.

Answering the question is ELMO-1 a DN progression biomarker in T2DM, the author tried their best to conclude based on previous studies written before (Table 5). Previous studies measure the plasma level and renal expression of ELMO-1, which both showed can represent the DN progression (Elfiani et al. 2020; Hathaway et al. 2016). In addition, the previous studies have proven the biology plausibility of ELMO-1 in DN progression, which is in summary in Fig. 1 (Hathaway et al. 2016; Sharma et al. 2016; Shimazaki et al. 2006). The methods used are familiar but need specific laboratories resources. Since these methods are not used widely, the price is relatively high (Tabels 1, 2 and 3). The study mentioned above is a preclinical study that cannot yet compare the sensitivity and specificity of ELMO-1 with other biomarkers. The ELMO-1 might be able to monitor the severity of the diseases, treatment value, and prognostic value showed as reported by genetically

modified animal study with various grades of ELMO-1 expression showed various grades of histopathology and renal function marker (Hathaway et al. 2016). This gene was reported as a genetic marker of DN (Table 1). Further research in humans which investigated the sensitivity and specificity of this biomarker for DN progression was needed.

Mini-Dictionary

Albuminuria is the amount of albumin that appears in the urine, the albumin normally not passed the glomerular barrier.

Estimated GFR is the estimated rate of glomerular filtrate blood, measured with a specific equation mainly based on serum creatinine.

Genetic variant is changes of DNA sequences that may affect protein which encodes.

Diabetic nephropathy is a disease associated with renal structural and functional changes associated with diabetes.

Extracellular matrix is a non-cellular component present within the tissue which involved in cellular homeostasis.

Key Facts

Key Facts of Albuminuria

- Albuminuria is widely used as a clinical marker for diabetic nephropathy progression.
- Progression of normo-albuminuria to micro-albuminuria and macro-albuminuria reflected progression to worse of DN progression.
- Unfortunately, the accuracy of this biomarker as DN progression become doubtful.
- A previous study reported that 21–62% of T2DM patients with microalbuminuria regress to albuminuria.
- In addition, more than 30% patient with decline GFR has normo-albuminuria.
- Normo-albuminuria patients have various grading of typical histopathology appearance reflected of DN

Key Facts of ELMO-1 Protein

- ELMO-1, known as protein, plays a role in cell viability and migration.
- A study with cell lines reported increased ELMO-1 expression in hyperglycemia conditions.
- Further study showed increased plasma level and tissue level of ELMO-1 associated with DN progression.

- This protein is expressed in glomerular, podocytes cells, and tubular parts of renal tissue.
- Excess deposition of extracellular matrix and stress oxidative were found parallel with increased ELMO-1 in DN progression.

Key Facts of ELMO-1 Genetic Variant rs741301

- This genetic variant is located in the non-coding region of the ELMO-1 gene, in which adenosine (A) substitute guanosine (G).
- This genetic variant may affect protein transcription and protein stability although located in a non-coding region (intron).
- Genotype and phenotype association studies in various populations reported this genetic variant as the risk for DN susceptibility in T2DM patients.
- Patients who have risk allele are more susceptible 1.43–2.67 times for suffering DN than non-risk allele.
- The risk allele was different beyond the population. The G allele more pronounces as a risk allele than the A allele.

Summary Points

- ELMO-1 genetic variant rs741301 associated with susceptibility for suffering DN in Asian and European populations.
- 2. ELMO-1 genetic variant located in intron 13 associated with susceptibility for suffering DN in the American population
- Increased system ELMO-1 associated with severity of DN in T2DM through excess deposition of ECM, decreased cell adhesive properties to ECM, increased stress oxidative, influence podocytes apoptosis, and foot process effacement in the animal model and cell line.
- 4. Plasma ELMO-1 at the protein level have potency as a biomarker that can predict the severity of DN in T2DM patients. It is associated with a decline in renal function markers.
- 5. Further study in a human was needed to strengthen the evidence of using ELMO-1 as a biomarker to treat DN.

References

- Baptista PV. Principles in genetic risk assessment. Ther Clin Risk Manag. 2005;1(1):15–20. https:// doi.org/10.2147/tcrm.1.1.15.53606.
- Batlle D. Clinical and cellular markers of diabetic nephropathy. Kidney Int. 2003;63(6):2319–30. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1755.2003.00053.
- Bayoumy N, El-Shabrawi M, Leheta O, Abo El-Ela A, Omar H. FP521 GG genotype of ELMO1 gene is associated with diabetic nephropathy. Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation, 2019; 34 (Supplement_1), gfz106-FP521. https://doi.org/10.1093/ndt/gfz106.FP521

- Bennett MR, Devarajan P. Characteristics of an ideal biomarker of kidney diseases. In: Edelstein CL, editor. Biomarkers of kidney disease. 2nd ed. Academic; 2017. p. 1–20.
- Biomarkers Definitions Working Group. Biomarkers and surrogate endpoints: preferred definitions and conceptual framework. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2001;69(3):89–95. https://doi.org/10.1067/ mcp.2001.113989.
- Bodhini D, Chidambaram M, Liju S, et al. Association of rs11643718 SLC12A3 and rs741301 ELMO1 variants with diabetic nephropathy in south Indian population. Ann Hum Genet. 2016;80(6):336–41. https://doi.org/10.1111/ahg.12174.
- Cooper DN. Functional intronic polymorphisms: buried treasure awaiting discovery within our genes. Hum Genomics. 2010;4(5):284–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-7364-4-5-284.
- Currie G, McKay G, Delles C. Biomarkers in diabetic nephropathy: present and future. World J Diabetes. 2014;5(6):763–76. https://doi.org/10.4239/wjd.v5.i6.763.
- Elfiani E, Nasrul E, Yanwirasti Y, Ali Z, Puspasari A. Plasma levels of the engulfment and cell motility Protein-1 are associated with kidney damage in diabetic nephropathy: a single-center pilot study in Indonesia population. Open Access Maced J Med Sci. 2020;8(A):418–22.
- Espinel E, Agraz I, Ibernon M, Ramos N, Fort J, Serón D. Renal biopsy in type 2 diabetic patients. J Clin Med. 2015;4(5):998–1009. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm4050998.
- Frezzo TM, Rubinstein WS, Dunham D, Ormond KE. The genetic family history as a risk assessment tool in internal medicine. Genet Med. 2003;5(2):84–91. https://doi.org/10.1097/ 01.GIM.0000055197.23822.5E.
- Gonzalez Suarez ML, Thomas DB, Barisoni L, Fornoni A. Diabetic nephropathy: is it time yet for routine kidney biopsy? World J Diabetes. 2013;4(6):245–55. https://doi.org/10.4239/wjd.v4.i6.245.
- Grimsley CM, Kinchen JM, Tosello-Trampont AC, Brugnera E, Haney LB, Lu M, Chen Q, Klingele D, Hengartner MO, Ravichandran KS. Dock180 and ELMO1 proteins cooperate to promote evolutionarily conserved Rac-dependent cell migration. J Biol Chem. 2004;279(7): 6087–97. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M307087200.
- Gumienny TL, Brugnera E, Tosello-Trampont AC, Kinchen JM, Haney LB, Nishiwaki K, Walk SF, Nemergut ME, Macara IG, Francis R, Schedl T, Qin Y, Van Aelst L, Hengartner MO, Ravichandran KS. CED-12/ELMO, a novel member of the CrkII/Dock180/Rac pathway, is required for phagocytosis and cell migration. Cell. 2001;107(1):27–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0092-8674(01)00520-7.
- Hanson RL, Millis MP, Young NJ, Kobes S, Nelson RG, Knowler WC, DiStefano JK. ELMO1 variants and susceptibility to diabetic nephropathy in American Indians. Mol Genet Metab. 2010;101(4):383–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymgme.2010.08.014.
- Hathaway CK, Chang AS, Grant R, Kim HS, Madden VJ, Bagnell CR Jr, Jennette JC, Smithies O, Kakoki M. High Elmo1 expression aggravates and low Elmo1 expression prevents diabetic nephropathy. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2016;113(8):2218–22. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1600511113.
- Hou Y, Gao Y, Zhang Y, et al. Interaction between *ELMO1* gene polymorphisms and environment factors on susceptibility to diabetic nephropathy in Chinese Han population. Diabetol Metab Syndr. 2019;11:97. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13098-019-0492-0.
- Kakoki M, Bahnson EM, Hagaman JR, Siletzky RM, Grant R, Kayashima Y, Li F, Lee EY, Sun MT, Taylor JM, Rice JC, Almeida MF, Bahr BA, Jennette JC, Smithies O, Maeda-Smithies N. Engulfment and cell motility protein 1 potentiates diabetic cardiomyopathy via Rac-dependent and Rac-independent ROS production. JCI Insight. 2019;4(12):e127660. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.127660.
- Kim S, Abboud HE, Pahl MV, Tayek J, Snyder S, Tamkin J, Alcorn H Jr, Ipp E, Nast CC, Elston RC, Iyengar SK, Adler SG. Examination of association with candidate genes for diabetic nephropathy in a Mexican American population. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2010;5(6):1072–8. https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN.06550909.
- Koye DN, Magliano DJ, Nelson RG, Pavkov ME. The global epidemiology of diabetes and kidney disease. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis. 2018;25(2):121–32. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.ackd.2017.10.011.
- Leak TS, Perlegas PS, Smith SG, Keene KL, Hicks PJ, Langefeld CD, Mychaleckyj JC, Rich SS, Kirk JK, Freedman BI, Bowden DW, Sale MM. Variants in intron 13 of the ELMO1 gene are associated with diabetic nephropathy in African Americans. Ann Hum Genet. 2009;73(2): 152–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-1809.2008.00498.x.

- Lee CH, Lam KS. Biomarkers of progression in diabetic nephropathy: the past, present and future. J Diabetes Invest. 2015;6(3):247–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/jdi.12329.
- MacIsaac RJ, Ekinci EI, Jerums G. Progressive diabetic nephropathy. How useful is microalbuminuria?: contra. Kidney Int. 2014;86(1):50–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/ki.2014.98.
- Mehrabzadeh M, Pasalar P, Karimi M, Abdollahi M, Daneshpour M, Asadolahpour E, Razi F. Association between ELMO1 gene polymorphisms and diabetic nephropathy in an Iranian population. J Diabetes Metab Disord. 2016;15:43. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40200-016-0265-3.
- Mooyaart AL, Valk EJ, van Es LA, Bruijn JA, de Heer E, Freedman BI, Dekkers OM, Baelde HJ. Genetic associations in diabetic nephropathy: a meta-analysis. Diabetologia. 2011;54(3): 544–53. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-010-1996-1.
- Omar TA, Zewain SK, Ghonaim MM, et al. Role of engulfment and cell motility 1 (ELMO1) gene polymorphism in development of diabetic kidney disease. Egypt J Med Hum Genet. 2021;22: 49. https://doi.org/10.1186/s43042-021-00167-8.
- Pagani F, Baralle FE. Genomic variants in exons and introns: identifying the splicing spoilers. Nat Rev Genet. 2004;5(5):389–96. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg1327.
- Persson F, Rossing P. Diagnosis of diabetic kidney disease: state of the art and future perspective. Kidney Int Suppl. 2018;8(1):2–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.kisu.2017.10.003.
- Pezzolesi MG, Katavetin P, Kure M, Poznik GD, Skupien J, Mychaleckyj JC, Rich SS, Warram JH, Krolewski AS. Confirmation of genetic associations at ELMO1 in the GoKinD collection supports its role as a susceptibility gene in diabetic nephropathy. Diabetes. 2009;58(11): 2698–702. https://doi.org/10.2337/db09-0641.
- Roshan B, Stanton RC. A story of microalbuminuria and diabetic nephropathy. J Nephropathol. 2013;2(4):234–40. https://doi.org/10.12860/JNP.2013.37.
- Sharma K, Heckler K, Stoll S, et al. ELMO1 protects renal structure and ultrafiltration in kidney development and under diabetic conditions. Sci Rep. 2016;6:37172. https://doi.org/10.1038/ srep37172.
- Shimazaki A, Kawamura Y, Kanazawa A, Sekine A, Saito S, Tsunoda T, Koya D, Babazono T, Tanaka Y, Matsuda M, Kawai K, Iiizumi T, Imanishi M, Shinosaki T, Yanagimoto T, Ikeda M, Omachi S, Kashiwagi A, Kaku K, Iwamoto Y, Kawamori R, Kikkawa R, Nakajima M, Nakamura Y, Maeda S. Genetic variations in the gene encoding ELMO1 are associated with susceptibility to diabetic nephropathy. Diabetes. 2005;54(4):1171–8. https://doi.org/10.2337/ diabetes.54.4.1171.
- Shimazaki A, Tanaka Y, Shinosaki T, Ikeda M, Watada H, Hirose T, Kawamori R, Maeda S. ELMO1 increases expression of extracellular matrix proteins and inhibits cell adhesion to ECM. Kidney Int. 2006;70(10):1769–76. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ki.5001939.
- Turki A, Mzoughi S, Mtitaoui N, Khairallah M, Marmouch H, Hammami S, Mahjoub T, Almawi WY. Gender differences in the association of ELMO1 genetic variants with type 2 diabetes in Tunisian Arabs. J Endocrinol Investig. 2018;41(3):285–91. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40618-017-0734-7.
- Uwaezuoke SN. The role of novel biomarkers in predicting diabetic nephropathy: a review. Int J Nephrol Renovasc Dis. 2017;17(10):221–31. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJNRD.S143186.
- Wei L, Xiao Y, Li L, Xiong X, Han Y, Zhu X, Sun L. The susceptibility genes in diabetic nephropathy. Kidney Dis (Basel). 2018;4(4):226–37. https://doi.org/10.1159/000492633.
- Wu HY, Wang Y, Chen M, Zhang X, Wang D, Pan Y, Li L, Liu D, Dai XM. Association of ELMO1 gene polymorphisms with diabetic nephropathy in Chinese population. J Endocrinol Investig. 2013;36(5):298–302. https://doi.org/10.3275/8525.
- Yadav AK, Kumar V, Dutta P, Bhansali A, Jha V. Variations in CCR5, but not HFE, ELMO1, or SLC12A3, are associated with susceptibility to kidney disease in north Indian individuals with type 2 diabetes. J Diabetes. 2014;6(6):547–55. https://doi.org/10.1111/1753-0407.12128.
- Yahya MJ, Ismail PB, Nordin NB, Akim ABM, Yusuf WSBM, Adam NLB, Yusoff MJ. Association of CCL2, CCR5, ELMO1, and IL8 polymorphism with diabetic nephropathy in Malaysian type 2 diabetic patients. Int J Chronic Dis. 2019;2019:2053015. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/2053015.
- Yoshida S, Ishizawa K, Ayuzawa N, Ueda K, Takeuchi M, Kawarazaki W, Fujita T, Nagase M. Local mineralocorticoid receptor activation and the role of Rac1 in obesity-related diabetic kidney disease. Nephron Exp Nephrol. 2014;126(1):16–24. https://doi.org/10.1159/000358758.



Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor and Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor A: Biomarkers Potential in Diabetes

23

Yulia Karakulova and Tamara Filimonova

Contents

Introduction	487
Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor: Mechanisms of Action and Functions	487
Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor A: Mechanisms of Action and Functions	489
Diagnostic and Therapeutic Potential of Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor in Metabolic	
Disturbances of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus	490
Study of Serum Concentrations of BDNF in Human Populations	493
Inflammation and Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor	494
Diagnostic and Therapeutic Potential of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor and Type	
2 Diabetes Mellitus	495
Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus and Growth Factors	496
Serum BDNF and VEGFA as Biomarkers of Diabetes Complications	497
Study of Serum Concentrations of BDNF and VEGFA in Human Populations in Diabetic	
Polyneuropathy	499
Differences in Serum Levels of Neurotrophins in Diabetic Polyneuropathy in Type 1 and Type	
2 Diabetes Mellitus	502
Modulation of Neuropathic Pain by BDNF in Diabetic Neuropathy	503
Central Nervous System Disturbances in DM: The Role of Growth Factors	503
Applications to Prognosis, Other Diseases, or Conditions	504
Key Facts of Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor and Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor A:	
Biomarkers' Potential in Diabetes	505
Mini-Dictionary of Terms	506
Summary Points	506
References	507

Abstract

Previously, brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) have been studied only in diabetic neuropathy or vascular

485

Y. Karakulova (🖂) · T. Filimonova (🖂)

Department of Neurology and Medical Genetics, Academician Ye.A.Vagner Perm State Medical University, Perm, Russia

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 60

complications in diabetes. Recent numerous studies have investigated their role in metabolic control, inflammatory response, and involvement in reducing insulin resistance, leptin levels, and even glycemic regulation as direct points of the multifaceted pathogenesis of diabetes mellitus. Since these growth factors are widely produced by various types of tissues and organs, BDNF and VEGF are highly sensitive to damage of tissues involved in the pathogenesis of diabetes. Thus, serum levels of BDNF and VEGF can be considered as valid biomarkers of diabetes mellitus. However, there are still many open questions, for instance, the specific levels of the factors in human serum at different stages of diabetes and its complications, the certain role in formation of obesity, and neuropathic pain. Factors capable of altering serum neurotrophin concentrations remain unexplored. In addition, current medicine requires researches devoted to abilities to modulate intracellular reactions triggered by the interaction of neurotrophins and their receptors, as a treatment for neuropathic pain, restoration of nerve fibers and other tissues, as well as regulation of glycemic control, bypassing the side negative proliferative reactions of hyperactivation of growth factors.

Keywords

Brain-derived neurotrophic factor · Vascular endothelial growth factor · Diabetes mellitus · Diabetic polyneuropathy · Tropomyosin-related kinase B receptor · Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2

Abbreviation	S
--------------	---

AKT	RAC-alpha serine/threonine-protein kinase
BAD	BCL2-associated agonist of cell death
BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
Bcl-2	B-cell lymphoma 2
B-Raf	Kinase signaling pathway MAPK/ERK
CaMKII	Calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
c-Fos	Pro-oncogenic protein Fos
c-Myc	Pro-oncogenic protein Myc
CREB	Cyclic AMP-sensitive bound protein
CRP	C-reactive protein
ENMG	Electroneuromyography
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase
GSK-3b	Glycogen synthase kinase 3b
GABA	Gammaaminophenylbutyric acid
IP3	Inositol triphosphate
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
m-TOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin
NGF	Nerve growth factor
PI3K	Phosphoinositide 3-kinases
PLCγ	Phosphoinositide phospholipase C

TrkB	Tropomyosin-related kinase B receptor
VEGFA	Vascular endothelial growth factor A
VEGFR2	Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2

Introduction

Growth factors are integral participants in pathogenesis of diabetic polyneuropathy as basic mechanisms of nervous system adaptation to pathological conditions. Brainderived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGFA) have been studied quite well in a variety of diseases, including both central and peripheral nervous systems and cardiovascular disorders. The pathogenesis of diabetes implies damage to the nervous system and the development of microangiopathic complications from the earliest stages. Given these data, these neurotrophins can be valuable in predicting diabetes and its complications.

Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor: Mechanisms of Action and Functions

Brain-derived neurotrophic factor is a protein belonging to the neurotrophin family. The mechanisms of its action have been studied in sufficient detail and used in the study of the pathogenesis of many diseases of a nervous system. The main functions of a brain-derived neurotrophin in peripheral nervous system (PNS) are the prevention of apoptosis and the provision of regenerative processes, in particular the induction of dendritic branching and axonal sprouting in the direction of target cells (Benarroch 2015). In the central nervous system (CNS), BDNF regulates synaptic transmission, including both rapid signal transmission and the phenomenon of long-term potentiation cognitive functions (Lamb et al. 2015). In addition BDNF ensures the maintenance of viability, differentiation, and proliferation of neurons of various neurotransmitter modalities (dopaminergic, cholinergic, GABA and glutamatergic, serotonergic) (Numakawa et al. 2018).

Neuroplasticity effects of BDNF are mediated by its interaction with the highly specific tropomyosin-related kinase B (TrkB) receptor. This receptor contains an intracellular protein kinase domain, ligand-binding leucine-rich extracellular repeats, and transmembrane immunoglobulin-like domains (Sasi et al. 2017). The receptor is produced by structures of both CNS and PNS and is found in the brain cortex, hippocampus, brain stem, thalamus, retina, and spinal cord, along with spinal and cranial ganglia and Meissner's corpuscles (Gupta et al. 2013). In addition to the nervous system, the receptor has been isolated in skeletal muscle, kidney, and pancreas.

Integration of BDNF and its TrkB receptor mediates intracellular signaling cascades of interrelated responses, as shown in Fig. 1. One of the main signaling pathways triggered by the neurotrophin receptor system is the ERK (Ras-ERK, MAPK / ERK) pathway: the key regulatory subunit Shc activates the expression



Fig. 1 Cascade of intracellular signalling reactions mediated by an interaction between BDNF and \mbox{TrkB}

of the Ras membrane protein, which includes the sequential activation of various MAPK/ERK kinases, which ultimately activates the ERK1/2 enzyme, which diffuses into the cytoplasm, where it interacts with signaling kinases of ribosomal proteins, subsequently penetrating into the nucleus, where it induces the transcription of the c-Fos and c-Myc genes, the products of which are responsible for cell proliferation, survival, and differentiation (Guo et al. 2018). The second signaling pathway activated by Shc-protein is the PI3K/AKT/mTOR signaling pathway. Under the action of the enzyme phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K), AKT kinase and m-TOR (mammalian target of rapamycin) protein responsible for the cell cycle at different phases and the organization of the actin cytoskeleton are activated. The activity of GSK-3b (glycogen synthase kinase 3b), a protein necessary for survival, is increased; in addition, the content of BAD, a functional agonist of Bcl-2 (B-cell lymphoma 2), a promoter of apoptosis and cell death, decreases (Yu and Cui 2016). The PI3K/AKT/mTOR signaling pathway is necessary for cell growth and metabolism and inhibits apoptosis. The third major mechanism of the BDNF/TrkB cascade is the activation of phosphatidylinositol-specific phospholipase C (PLC γ). Through the formation of IP3 from PLC γ , calcium ions are released from the intracellular pool, which triggers important calcium-dependent reactions, in particular the activation of calmodulin-dependent protein kinase CaMKII, the main regulator of synaptic plasticity (Guo et al. 2018). This mechanism is necessary for long-term potentiation, which is the basis of memory.

However, the expression and, accordingly, the zones of influence of brain-derived neurotrophic factor are not confined by central and peripheral systems only. The main non-neuronal structures expressing BDNF are skeletal muscles, activated immune cells, endothelial and liver cells, and adipocytes. BDNF biosynthesis occurs in human megakaryocytes; subsequently, the factor is accumulated and expressed by platelets and is found in serum (Sasi et al. 2017). Taking into account the wide expression of BDNF, this factor has many zones of influence and additional functions and, due to this, is a potential biomarker of pathological processes involving the tissues synthesizing it. In particular, its role in carbohydrate metabolism and energy homeostasis in diabetes mellitus is being actively studied.

Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor A: Mechanisms of Action and Functions

Vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGFA) was described as the first member in the family of vascular endothelial growth factor. Later, VEGF-B, involved in embryonic angiogenesis; VEGF-C and VEGF-D, responsible for lymphangiogenesis; and placenta growth factor (PIGF) were identified. This factor is expressed mainly by endothelial cells, as the name suggests, but monocytes, macrophages, platelets, neurons, nephrocytes, myofibroblasts, and epithelial cells can also produce it. Expression of vasculoendothelial growth factor occurs in response to hypoxia, as well as under the influence of pro-oncogenes, pro-inflammatory cytokines (TGF-alpha, TNF-alpha, fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), interleukin-1), and matrix metalloproteinases (MMP) (Vempati et al. 2014).

Three main receptors with tyrosine kinase activity have been identified for vasculoendothelial growth factor – VEGFR-1, VEGFR-2, and VEGFR-3. VEGFR-2 appears to mediate almost all of the observed responses of endothelial cells to VEGF, while the type 1 receptor has a ligand-binding role for signaling

through VEGFR-2 (Peach et al. 2018). These receptors can exist in both transmembrane and free form. In addition, free forms are considered as endogenous inhibitors of the action of vascular endothelial factor, since the ligand enters the "trap" in the serum, does not reach the membrane receptors of the endothelial cells, and cannot carry out a cascade of intracellular signaling responses for survival (Ebos et al. 2004).

Similar to TrkB activation, after ligand binding, the intracellular portion of the VEGFR2 receptor dimerizes and undergoes a phosphorylation reaction, as illustrated in Fig. 2. Unlike other types of tyrosine kinase receptors, which mainly use the RAS activation pathway, VEGFR2 acts to a greater extent through the activation of phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K) (Shibuya 2011). Activation of this signaling pathway promotes the survival of endothelial cells by inhibiting apoptosis, enhancing the antioxidant defense of the cell, and potentiating DNA synthesis, while the cascade of signaling reactions mediated by the activation of Shc2 and MAP kinases induces the proliferation of endothelial cells and arteriogenesis (Guo et al. 2017). In addition, VEGF interacts with endothelial NO synthase (eNOS) and enhances NO production, promoting vasodilation.

The activity of vascular endothelial growth factor has been studied most widely in the functioning of the cardiovascular system (Cahill and Redmond 2016). Originally discovered as the main triggering mechanism of angiogenesis, VEGF has shown itself to be a factor in the protection and restoration of cardiomyocytes in myocardial infarction, ensuring collateral circulation in ischemic strokes, and vascular remodeling in arterial hypertension. An increase in the expression of free receptor and VEGF in serum has been demonstrated during the progression of chronic heart failure. Vascular growth factor potentiates migration and division of endothelial cells, provides chemotaxis of macrophages, and enhances NO expression and, accordingly, vasodilating properties. In addition, VEGF promotes hyperpermeability of endothelial cells, which leads to profound changes in the extracellular matrix and creates even more favorable conditions for angiogenesis.

The role of vasculoendothelial growth factor in dyslipidemia and in the progression of atherosclerosis was studied. Oxidized low-density lipoproteins are absorbed by macrophages and initiate the formation of foam cells. Given the incidence of micro- and macroangiopathic complications in type 2 diabetes, this factor may be a potential marker for the development of diabetes and its vascular manifestations.

Diagnostic and Therapeutic Potential of Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor in Metabolic Disturbances of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus

The history of the study of growth factors in diabetes mellitus begins from experimental neurological studies demonstrating good regenerative capabilities of nerve growth factor and its family of neurotrophins in various damages of peripheral nervous system (Foster et al. 1994). This knowledge could not fail to suggest the need to study growth factors in diabetic polyneuropathy from the standpoint of



Fig. 2 Cascade of intracellular signalling reactions mediated by an interaction between VEGF and VEGFR2

damage and restoration of nerve fibers. Later, the hypothesis was confirmed in several studies (Apfel 1999; Kennedy et al. 1998).

In subsequent studies, attempts to find the relationship between metabolic disorders in diabetes and the expression of brain-derived neurotrophic factor were made. T. Nakagawa and coauthors put forward a new hypothesis that BDNF has endocrine capabilities, in particular can decrease blood glucose and hyperphagia in experimental rat models with obesity. The authors describe the hypoglycemic effect of BDNF was more pronounced in young rodent with hyperinsulinemia and that BDNF enhanced the hypoglycemic effect of insulin in mice with streptozocin-induced diabetes. Afterwards, it was suggested that the implementation of the hypoglycemic activity of BDNF requires the participation of endogenous or exogenous insulin (Nakagawa et al. 2002).

The involvement of BDNF in metabolic control is not limited to the relationship with insulin and glucose: there is evidence of mutual regulation with the production of leptin, an active hormone-regulating eating behavior. In rat models with leptin receptor deficiency, administration of BDNF reduced hyperphagia and hyperglycemia (Tonra et al. 1999; Ono et al. 2000). At the same time, another group of Japanese researchers (Maekawa et al. 2013) demonstrated that low BDNF production in the ventromedial hypothalamus is associated with blood glucose levels, increased leptin secretion, and visceral fat mass in a rat model with type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM). In their study, BDNF administration significantly reduced plasma leptin levels for a long time in hyperleptinemic T2DM rats. Komori T. and coauthors also reported that BDNF synthesis is inhibited by leptin (Komori et al. 2006). Thus, BDNF dysfunction is integral part in counteracting hyperleptinemia, leptin resistance, and improving central regulation of energy metabolism in obesity.

Experimental studies have demonstrated a beneficial effect on reducing insulin resistance in laboratory animals. Laboratory mice with streptozocin-induced diabetes mellitus received intracerebral injections of BDNF into the nucleus of the hypothalamus, which reduced hyperglycemia. However, in an experiment on obese animals without diabetes, a similar effect (improvement of glycemia) was not observed (Ono et al. 1997). This may indicate an indirect effect of BDNF on the normalization of carbohydrate metabolism by reducing insulin resistance in peripheral tissues.

In a study of Kuroda A on obese laboratory rats, which also received BDNF injections, a decrease in fasting and postprandial glycemia levels was demonstrated, and the mechanism was also described in detail – exogenous BDNF is able to increase the expression of hepatic glucokinase, which reduces gluconeogenesis and decreases insulin resistance (Kuroda et al. 2003).

Another study showed the BDNF protective effect for pancreatic beta cells: Yamanaka M et al. studied mice with obesity and diabetes, one group received injections of BDNF, the second – a placebo. According to the results of the study, the first group was characterized by a lower concentration of glucose, a lower concentration of pancreatic glucagon, and an increased level of pancreatic insulin and a histologically larger area of insulin-producing cells of the pancreas islet, compared with the placebo group (Yamanaka et al. 2008). In addition, the potential regenerative effect of brain-derived neurotrophin was discussed in the article by Hristova MG (2017), in particular due to the possibility of activation of the neurogenin gene by the BDNF, which subsequently leads to the regeneration of beta cells and increased insulin secretion.

Study of Serum Concentrations of BDNF in Human Populations

At the same time, experimental models of diabetes in animals cannot be considered unambiguously as representative models of diabetes mellitus and its complications for humans. The uncontrolled course of experimental diabetes in laboratory mice leads to their dehydration and severe catabolic state, as a result of which growth factors act more as local factors for canceling the catabolic stage in the affected limb than by changing conditions specifically associated with the multifactorial pathogenesis of diabetes mellitus in humans. Currently, clinical studies devoted the role of BDNF; VEGF in type 2 diabetes mellitus in human populations show conflicting data.

Thus, several studies have revealed a low concentration of BDNF in the serum of patients with type 2 diabetes compared with healthy controls (Krabbe et al. 2007; Li et al. 2016; Zhen et al. 2013; He and Wang 2014). These results were also observed by Fujinami A. and coauthors (Fujinami et al. 2008), who, in their study, moreover, demonstrated sex differences in concentrations: the group of women with type 2 diabetes was characterized by a higher level of BDNF compared to men with type 2 diabetes; however, in the healthy group, such differences were also found. The authors explain the obtained results by differences in estrogens, which can alter glucose metabolism. Indeed, several independent investigators have described the potential modulating effect of estradiol on the neurotrophin expression (Sohrabji et al. 1995). So, in an experimental study which studied mice subjected to oophorectomy, comparing treatment with estradiol and placebo, the group of mice treated with estradiol was characterized by greater expression of brain-derived neurotrophin than the control group (Yi et al. 2016). In addition, sex differences in the levels of BDNF can be interpreted by a key role of sex hormones in glucose metabolism and a modulating effect on the development of insulin resistance.

Several researchers obtained completely opposite results – they demonstrated higher levels of BDNF in serum in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus than in healthy controls (Boyuk et al. 2014). At the same time, the control group in the study had a lower body weight, a smaller waist circumference, which could affect the results of the study.

Japanese researchers also obtained similar data: the level of BDNF was significantly higher in patients with type 2 diabetes than in the control group, correlated with BMI, subcutaneous fat area, and glycemic and triglyceride levels (Suwa et al. 2006). Opposite research data can be explained by the lack of a unified study design, heterogeneous samples, different severities of the disease, presence or absence of complications of diabetes mellitus, bad habits, lifestyle, weight, which can also change the concentration of neurotrophins, as well as the duration and severity of hyperglycemia, the presence of concomitant pathology and hormonal changes. At the moment, correlations between the duration of hyperglycemia and the decrease of neurotrophin concentration and the increase in insulin resistance are confirmed facts. Nevertheless, the question remains unclear, what is primary, increasing insulin resistance, which reduces the production of growth factors or a deficiency of neurotrophins, aggravates the severity of insulin resistance.

Inflammation and Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor

Systemic inflammation plays a central role in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes and its complications (Eyileten et al. 2017). The exact mechanisms are still not fully understood. The main donors of circulating inflammatory cytokines in diabetes are hepatocytes, macrophages, and adipocytes, an increase in the expression of interleukin-1 β , interleukin-6, and acute phase markers such as c-reactive protein (CRP) (Pradhan et al. 2001). Several clinical studies have observed positive correlations between increased levels of brain-derived neurotrophic factor and increased expression of interleukin-6 in type 2 diabetes and in some other clinical diseases (Eyileten et al. 2016).

Krabbe K.S. and coauthors in their study determined the positive correlation between low levels of BDNF and CRP in patients with type 2 diabetes, regardless of obesity. However, in the control group such a correlation was not found (Krabbe et al. 2007). Thus, the connection between neurotrophin and inflammatory conditions, which play an important role in the progression of diabetes mellitus, is confirmed.

Currently, there is a scientific debate about the effect of hypercoagulation on the release of BDNF by platelets into plasma and, accordingly, plasma concentrations of BDNF. It has been proven that along with the state of hypercoagulation, with type 2 diabetes, platelet hyperreactivity occurs, which is most likely manifested in metabolic imbalance and systemic inflammation (Yazbek et al. 2003; Ferreiro et al. 2010).

In addition, in their study, Lorgis L and coauthors observed an increase in the level of BDNF and β -selectin, which is a biomarker of inflammation and platelet activation, in patients with myocardial infarction (Lorgis et al. 2010).

Also, research groups of Lim H. and Neubauer H. proposed to consider p-selectin levels as predictive markers of BDNF in patients with diabetes (Lim and Blann 2004; Neubauer et al. 2010).

Thus, altering serum neurotrophin's concentrations and considering them as diagnostic markers still have many pitfalls. In particular, a more in-depth study of the pathogenic and physiological aspects of type 2 diabetes is needed, changing the concentration of BDNF, as well as qualitative data generalization, such as systematic review and meta-analyses.

The only systematic review was performed by Davarpanah, M et al. (2021), who analyzed 16 of 167 studies and concluded that diabetic patients had lower serum BDNF levels than healthy controls. Correlations between the level of BDNF and glycemic parameters were not confirmed – these correlations were not considered in all studies included in the meta-analysis. This systematic review has a number of other limitations: the studies included in the review were of a heterogeneous design; researchers took into account a different number of potential factors that could affect the concentration of brain-derived neurotrophic factor; in addition, the sizes of study samples were small and differed in demographic parameters and the duration of diabetes mellitus. In some of the reviewed studies, BDNF was studied in blood plasma; in others it was detected in serum. The authors failed to conduct a gender



Fig. 3 Potential effects of BDNF in diabetes mellitus

stratified analysis. Thus, more standardized studies and further meta-analyses are needed to investigate the relationship between BDNF and DM in humans.

In their recent study, Furukawa et al. studied in more detail the role of altered levels of BDNF in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Researchers have studied the influence of one of the driving forces of the pathogenesis of hyperglycemia – the end products of glycation (AGE) – on the release of BDNF and came to the assumption that the expression of brain neurotrophin induced by AGE is a system of biological defense in the early stages of diabetes, and a chronic increase in AGE may result in depletion of BDNF reserves during the progression of diabetes (Furukawa et al. 2017). It is the first trying to explain the specific mechanisms of changes neurotrophins' concentrations in pathogenesis of DM.

The functions of BDNF in diabetes mellitus discussed in this and the next subchapters are schematically demonstrated in Fig. 3.

Diagnostic and Therapeutic Potential of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus

Most studies devoted the role of VEGF in the development of diabetes mellitus, concerning primarily its macroangiopathic complications. According to basic research and systematic reviews, vascular endothelial growth factor appears as an important agent in the development and progression of endothelial dysfunction and vascular complications of diabetes (Mahdy et al. 2010).

It has been proven to increase VEGF in hyperlipidemia, which can provoke atherosclerotic processes in the vessels and aggravate the course of diabetes (Jiang
et al. 2019). Overexpression of VEGF, according to a number of studies, correlates with hypertension (Touyz et al. 2017).

In addition, it has been hypothesized the potential involvement of VEGF in the development of metabolic syndrome (Mazidi et al. 2017).

According to Zhang Q (Zhang et al. 2018), serum VEGF levels correlated with the level of glucose, glycated hemoglobin, and the percentage of T1-helpers, which also indicates the relationship of VEGF with inflammatory mechanisms and metabolic control.

The hypothesis that the relationship between VEGF and diabetes may be more complex and indirect than it seems is also held by a group of French researchers, who analyzed French and Danish populations regarding the variability of VEGF gene polymorphisms and the risks of diabetes: despite the dispersion of free VEGF circulating in the blood, no association was found between polymorphisms and the risk of type 2 diabetes and its complications (Bonnefond et al. 2013).

However, more and more current research confirms correlations between increased serum VEGFA levels, a glycemic control, an inflammation, and macroangiopathic complications (Hanefeld et al. 2016). In the Tunisian population, genetic polymorphisms of the VEGFA gene have been studied; it has been proven altered polymorphisms affect the expression of VEGFA and correlate with fasting glycemia, cholesterol, triglycerides, and glycated hemoglobin levels (Sellami et al. 2018).

The results of a recent study by Platania C. (Platania et al. 2019) are promising. The authors proved that overexpression of 8 dysregulated microRNAs affecting the expression of vasculoendothelial growth factor, brain-derived neurotrophin, and CREB1 occurs long before the onset of vasculopathy in the diabetic retina.

In a small study by Sugimoto K, skin sections were examined by confocal microscopy; the authors report the development of subepidermal microvascular proliferation and impaired VEGF production before the onset of overt clinical neuropathy, retinopathy, or nephropathy in patients with type 2 diabetes (Sugimoto et al. 2019).

Schematic representation of the role of the vascular endothelial factor in the development of diabetes and its complications is illustrated in Fig. 4.

Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus and Growth Factors

There is much less research evidence for type 1 diabetes and concentrations of growth factors. An experimental study demonstrated a decrease in the expression level of superoxide dismutase, a major component of antioxidant defense, and brainderived neurotrophic factor in the brain of rats with type 1 diabetes (Xia et al. 2014). In patients with type 1 diabetes, the increased serum BDNF concentration was detected compared with healthy controls, and in both groups, the level of neurotrophin increased after exercise (Tonoli et al. 2015). However, in the population of Chinese children with type 1 diabetes, the decrease of serum BDNF was found, which correlated with poorer cognitive function and poor glycemic control (Chen et al. 2021).



Fig. 4 Potential role of VEGFA in diabetes mellitus

Autoimmune and inflammatory processes leading to the destruction of the pancreas have a paramount importance in the pathogenesis of type 1 diabetes. A recent experimental study of Bathina S demonstrated a positive effect of the antiinflammatory metabolite RVD1 on the course of streptozocin-induced type 1 diabetes in laboratory rats, restoration of altered levels of brain-derived neurotrophic factor, interleukin-6, and tumor necrosis factor-alpha in plasma, as well as increased levels of BDNF in the brain, pancreas and liver (Bathina and Das 2021).

Serum BDNF and VEGFA as Biomarkers of Diabetes Complications

Despite the fact that the study of the role of neurotrophins in the pathogenesis of diabetes began with their study in diabetic neuropathy, the problem of neuroplasticity in the structure of neurological disorders in diabetes remains relevant to this day.

Damage to the nervous system occurs from the earliest stages of hyperglycemia and progresses steadily with the course of diabetes. First of all, autonomous thin C-fibers have been involved in process, which leads to dysregulation of adaptation processes in the body, disorders of the basic functions of internal organs, primarily the cardiovascular system, which leads to the development of deadly complications such as a fixed pulse, uncontrolled arterial hypertension, and painless myocardial ischemia (Tesfaye et al. 2010). Another common manifestation of damage to the nervous system is distal symmetric polyneuropathy (DPN) of upper and lower extremities. Damage of lower extremities is associated with the development of diabetic foot syndrome (DFS). Any impairment to the nervous system is a difficultto-treat condition, the restoration of nerve fibers occurs slowly and directly depends on the length of the nerve fiber and the coordinated work of the mechanisms of neuroplasticity (Feldman et al. 2019). Shematic representation of pathogenesis of diabetic polyneuropathy is shown in Fig. 5.

The variety of pathways for damage to the nervous system opens up many potential biomarkers. One of the key points of compensation of pathogenic damaging links is the work of neuroplasticity and its key players – growth factors as the main mechanisms of adaptation of neural structures to pathological conditions (Leinninger et al. 2004). Since the discovery of neurotrophic factors, ideas about the possibility of their use as biomarkers of diabetic polyneuropathy have been expressed.

In particular, growth factors have been studied in diabetic neuropathy since the 1990s. In early experimental models of mice with streptozocin-induced diabetes, an increase in BDNF and TrkB expression in damaged sural nerves was determined immunohistochemically, which correlated with the regenerative capacity of nerve fibers (Zochodne 1996; McMahon and Priestley 1995).



Fig. 5 Pathogenesis of diabetic polyneuropathy

In rat models of streptozocin-induced diabetes, an increase in the content of VEGF in the nerve fiber and the posterior spinal ganglia, as well as the dependence of its synthesis on insulin treatment, were demonstrated (Samii et al. 1999).

In an experimental model of ischemic polyneuropathy, gene therapy with vascular endothelial growth factor, carried out by direct transfer of VEGF DNA into ischemic muscle, prevents nerve conduction disturbances, in contrast to the comparison group with a similar degree of ischemia (Schratzberger et al. 2000). It was reported that vascular endothelial growth factor also stimulated migration and prevented ischemia-induced apoptosis of Schwann cells in which VEGFR2 receptors directly appeared. Later, the same group of researchers conducted a similar design study in laboratory mice with streptozocin-induced diabetes. Twelve weeks after the VEGF gene transfer, nerve conduction disturbance was completely restored both in respect of unmyelinated sensory fibers and motor myelinated according to electroneuromyography results. In addition, blood flow and the number of endoneurial vessels were restored to levels observed in non-diabetic animals. These data suggest that, in addition to restoring blood flow in ischemic nerve fibers, VEGF can directly contribute to the survival of peripheral nerve fibers. These functional characteristics make it possible to consider VEGF as a direct neurotrophic factor in diabetic polyneuropathy.

In addition, the neurotrophic activity of vascular endothelial growth factor was confirmed in the study by Sondell M; in the experiment, VEGF stimulated axonal sprouting and increased cell survival and proliferation of Schwann cells in the peripheral nervous system (Sondell et al. 1999). However, some authors have doubt we can use the vascular endothelial growth factor as a biomarker of neural tissue damage in diabetes. Since vascular endothelial growth factor is involved in the pathogenesis of multiple complications in diabetes, therefore, increased expression of VEGF may be just an universal response to damage and cannot be considered specific for neurodegeneration (Veves and King 2001).

Nevertheless, the experimental study, conducted by Taylor SL, on exogenous administration of low doses of VEGF to diabetic laboratory mice deficient in VEGF and its cognate receptor in the hippocampus demonstrated restoration of factor expression and improved memory (Taylor et al. 2015). The results of the study allow us to judge the vascular endothelial factor as a potential neuroprotective factor in diabetes mellitus.

Study of Serum Concentrations of BDNF and VEGFA in Human Populations in Diabetic Polyneuropathy

Independent groups of Chinese and Russian scientists have proven the possibility of using serum levels of brain-derived neurotrophic factor as a diagnostic marked of DPN.

Thus, in the Sun Q study (Sun et al. 2018), serum levels of brain neurotrophin and nerve growth factor were studied in three groups: patients with diabetic polyneuropathy, a group of patients with type 2 diabetes without polyneuropathy, and a

healthy control group. The levels of the considered factors were significantly lower in the group of patients with DPN and correlated with the course of the disease, C-peptide, and the level of glycated hemoglobin.

Karakulova Yu.V. et al. studied serum concentration of BDNF and VEGFA at various stages of diabetic polyneuropathy: subclinical, stage of clinical manifestations and in diabetic foot syndrome, as well as in a group of patients with diabetes without clinical and electrophysiological signs of DPN and in a healthy control group (Karakulova and Filimonova 2021). Serum levels of BDNF and VEGFA in the group of patients with diabetes without DPN did not differ from the group of healthy controls. In other groups, differences in concentrations were obtained, for example, patients with subclinical stage of DPN had increased levels of BDNF compared to healthy controls, serum levels of patients with clinically pronounced DPN symptoms were also high and correlated with the severity of neuropathic pain, while in the group of patients with diabetic foot syndrome, an absolute deficiency of the both growth factors in serum was obtained, a demonstrated in Figs. 6 and 7, accordingly. These results were explained by the authors as the initial activation of compensatory processes of neuroplasticity with an increase in the expression of brain-derived neurotrophic factor and vascular endothelial growth factor in response to damage to peripheral nerve fibers, the subsequent role of the BDNF in the formation of central sensitization of neuropathic pain, and, at a later stage, complete



Fig. 6 Comparative contents of BDNF in the studied groups. (Images are used with permission of the authors)



Fig.7 Comparative contents of VEGFA in the studied groups. (Images are used with permission of the authors)

depletion of reserves of growth factors with decompensation of the process and pronounced clinical and electrophysiological parameters of DPN.

In recent studies, the dominant role in progression of diseases' pathogenesis is assigned to a defect in the receptor apparatus of growth factors. In particular, Karakulova Yu.V with coauthors (Karakulova and Filimonova 2021) studied the concentrations of highly specific receptors TrkB and vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR2) along with the determination of serum concentrations of BDNF and VEGFA. There was the significant increase in TrkB in patients with DPN, regardless of the form, compared to those without DPN and in the healthy control group. However, no statistically significant differences were revealed among the various subgroups of DPN patients. Graphic representation of the concentrations is shown in Fig. 8. The serum level of VEGFR2 significantly increases only at the stage of clinical manifestation of DPN; in other subgroups, its concentration was comparable to that of healthy controls. Since the TrkB receptor is intramembrane and does not have active forms in the blood, its detection in serum can be considered a marker of nerve fiber damage, which was confirmed by the correlations obtained in the study - an increase in TrkB level may indicate an initial direct damage to the nerve fiber, which correlates with a decrease in the conduction rate along the nerve



Fig. 8 Comparative contents of TrkB in the study. (Images are used with permission of the authors)

and an increase in distal latency according to the results of electroneuromyography of lower extremities. In addition, the authors also suggested using the level of TrkB as a predictor of the development of diabetic foot syndrome.

Further research will investigate how brain neurotrophin signaling overlaps with angiogenic factors, as well as identify vectors for targeting one of the factors with potentiation of the effects of the other as possible therapeutic targets for diabetic polyneuropathy.

Differences in Serum Levels of Neurotrophins in Diabetic Polyneuropathy in Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus

There is insufficient scientific evidence about differences in concentrations of BDNF and VEGF in diabetic neuropathy in type 1 and type 2 diabetes. There is a hypothesis according to which the pathogenesis of DPN in type 1 and type 2 diabetes differs so much that the authors propose to consider them as two different diseases (Callaghan et al. 2012). This hypothesis is supported by data on the absence of clinical and electroneuromyographic improvements in patients with type 2 diabetes and DPN, with one glycemic control, while such

monotherapy is sufficient to control clinical and electrophysiological changes in DPN with type 1 diabetes (Feldman et al. 2017). This issue requires additional in-depth study.

Modulation of Neuropathic Pain by BDNF in Diabetic Neuropathy

The role of BDNF and other neurotrophic factors in the generation of pain syndrome and positive sensory symptoms in diabetic polyneuropathy has been studied, but this theory has not received proper development in the future. BDNF expression was detected in presynaptic spinal neurons under the influence of pain impulses, as a result of which the neurotrophin is currently positioned as a mediator of central sensitization in neuropathic pain syndrome. Scientific opinions on the type of receptor involved in the formation and maintenance of neuropathic pain are currently divided. According to one point of view, transmission of the cerebral neurotrophin signal through nonspecific p75 promotes sensitization by releasing sphingosine-1-phosphate, modulating K + -ion channels, and increasing neuronal excitability (Obata et al. 2006). However, the authors acknowledge that the exact mechanisms of action of BDNF-p75 remain unclear. Since the expression of tyrosine kinase Fyn, which activates sodium channels and neuronal hyperexcitability, depends on the activation of both types of receptors, both trkB and p75, it is difficult to understand which pathway leads to sensitization (Hildebrand et al. 2016). Taken together, these results indicate that BDNF can enhance action potential through a variety of ion channels. The second point of view is based on the transmission of signals through the specific receptor TrkB. This theory is supported by the results of experimental studies, according to which mice lacking trkB exhibit a decreased response to pain and tactile stimuli (Cappoli et al. 2020).

Central Nervous System Disturbances in DM: The Role of Growth Factors

As for the brain damage in diabetes mellitus, only experimental data in animal models about a content of neurotrophins in the central nervous system are available at the moment. Studies show that the concentration of BDNF is reduced in the central nervous system of animals with modulated diabetes mellitus, and this deficiency can be compensated through aerobic exercise through endurance training (Eyileten et al. 2017). Some studies describe intrathecal injection of BDNF in animal model with T2DM, yet the number is limited and only based on neuropathic pain caused by diabetes. As for the human population, the measurement of growth factors in the central nervous system is technically impossible, and the concentrations of neurotrophins in the peripheral blood, according to most researchers, are not equivalent to those in the central nervous system (Rozanska et al. 2020).

Applications to Prognosis, Other Diseases, or Conditions

The neuroprotective effects of growth factors underlie the development of a strategy for controlling the signaling system of neurotrophic factors in treatment of diabetic polyneuropathy. Exogenous administration of BDNF in early neuropathy in rats with streptozotocin-induced diabetes provoked the significant improvement in nerve conduction. However, the use of neurotrophic therapy in the human population fell short of expectations. The first discovered neurotrophin, nerve growth factor (NGF), was tested first in a 3-phase clinical study of patients with DPN who received a 3-mg injection of recombinant NGF. The results showed no significant clinical improvement; changes in the patient's condition were only associated with local irritation at the injection site (Apfel et al. 1998). Further, a two-phase, double, placebocontrolled, randomized study was conducted in two experimental groups of people. The first received recombinant NGF at a dosage of 0.1 mg/kg and the second 0.3 mg/kg for 6 months, 3 times/week in the form of subcutaneous injections. Significant side effects were obtained in the form of paresthesias, hyperalgesia in the injection zone, and myalgia (Apfel 2002). The subsequent implementation of the third phase of this study, which consisted in the introduction of recombinant NGF in a lower dosage, allowed minimizing side effects; however, contrary to expectations, it did not demonstrate a therapeutic effect. Attempts have also been made to use a recombinant brain-derived neurotrophin for the treatment of diabetic polyneuropathy, but no visible improvement has been obtained (Wellmer et al. 2001). Cross-activation of p75-receptor, inflammatory reactions, high susceptibility of BDNF to proteolytic enzymes, and instability in the external environment determine the limitations of its therapeutic potential.

Despite the unsatisfactory results of the use of recombinant neurotrophins in diabetic polyneuropathy in humans, research in this area continues. Further studies are aimed at modulating the activity of specific receptors bypassing the action of growth factors by creating specific agonists based on neuropeptides. At present, encouraging results have been obtained with the use of TrkB agonists in the treatment of Alzheimer's, Huntington's, Parkinson's disease, traumatic brain injury, and even during physiological aging (Notaras and van den Buuse 2019).

Trials of VEGF genetic therapy in a treatment of diabetic foot are also promising. However, such studies are limited, firstly, by the mitogenic effect of VEGF and the possibility of developing proliferative processes, and secondly, by the inability to treat one vascular deposition without aggravating the other. Thus, for peripheral angiopathy and polyneuropathy, enhanced angiogenesis is required, but the question remains whether systemic treatment can aggravate proliferative retinopathy, and vice versa (Zubair and Ahmad 2019).

Several experimental studies in animals have shown the possibility of increasing the level of BDNF through aerobic physical activity. In the work of Tang and coauthors (Tang et al. 2017), the direct mechanism of this connection was studied in more detail: the study compared a group of rats with diabetes and a group of healthy rats in physical rest and the same groups that were subjected to physical exertion – climbing stairs and a treadmill. A group of diabetic rats without exercise

was characterized by a reduced level of BDNF and the cAMP-response element binding protein (CREB) gene in the hippocampus and decreased learning and memory ability compared with the normal control group. Groups of rats exposed to aerobic exercise showed higher levels of these parameters, as well as increased expression of the brain neurotrophin receptor in the hippocampus. Thus, the effect of physical activity on the learning ability of animals with diabetes was demonstrated, and this phenomenon could be associated with the activation of the BDNF/TrkB/ CREB signaling pathway.

Clinical studies in a population of healthy people have demonstrated higher levels of serum granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF) in individuals actively engaged in physical activity and sports compared with healthy individuals leading a sedentary lifestyle. In addition, people with active lifestyles showed the best results in memorization and memory. However, no significant differences in BDNF concentration were obtained (Flöel et al. 2010).

In addition to the ability to enhance the production of endogenous BDNF, there is evidence of the possibility of activating its specific receptor TrkB without the participation of a ligand, that is, brain-derived neurotrophin. In particular, this effect can be achieved by a stimulation of G-protein coupled receptors, such as adenosine receptor 2A or dopamine receptor type 1 (Assaife-Lopes et al. 2010; Iwakura et al. 2008). Besides, there is evidence of autophosphorylation of the TrkB, but the exact mechanisms and trigger factors are still not clear (Middlemas et al. 1994). Thus, there are promising possibilities for controlling the receptor apparatus by modulating signals outside the presence of a growth factor. This scientific direction requires additional research.

Key Facts of Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor and Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor A: Biomarkers' Potential in Diabetes

- Recently increased interest in the development of novel biomarkers of diabetes mellitus and its complications is due to the high global prevalence and high mortality rate according to the World Health Organization, 463 million people with diabetes were registered throughout the world in 2019.
- According to the IDF Diabetes Atlas 9th edition, 1 in 2 adults with diabetes is undiagnosed (232 million people)
- The sharply increased incidence of type 2 diabetes is due to the prevalence of urbanization, a sedentary lifestyle, malnutrition, obesity, and bad habits.
- At the time of diagnosis of diabetes mellitus, a person may already manifest severe labor-intensive complications that increase mortality. Early diagnosis would prevent the development of complications by taking preventive therapeutic measures.
- Numerous studies have proven the metabotropic role of the brain-derived neurotrophic factor, while the vasculoendotelial growth factor is capable of exhibiting neuroprotective activity and, along with BDNF, participates in glycemic control, inflammatory reactions, and metabolic disorders developing in diabetes.

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

Advanced glycation end products – proteins or lipids that undergo pathological reactions after irreversible binding with excess carbohydrates

Central sensitization - a pathological process in structures of central nervous system developing due to a damage of pain pathways and leading to the development of chronic neuropathic pain

Gluconeogenesis – a group of metabolic reactions of glucose formation from non-carbohydrate precursors

Insulin resistance – a dysfunction of insulin receptors with the inability to properly capture the ligand and ensure its functions – glucose utilization

Leptin - an active hormone-regulating eating behavior

Neuroplasticity – a property of nervous systems to change under an experience, as well as to restore damaged structures in response to external influences

Neuropathic pain - a type of pain syndrome that occurs directly in damage of various areas of sensory pathways of nervous system and characterized by specific sensations, usually described as shooting, burning, or tingling

Pancreatic beta cells - insulin-producing cells of the pancreas islet

p75 – low-affinity receptor for all neurotrophins, which provides the opposite role to high-affinity receptors, for example, p75 can trigger apoptosis

Streptozocin-induced diabetes – the most studied experimental model of diabetes, used in laboratory animals, by the administration of substances toxic for pancreas beta cells

Summary Points

Numerous experimental and clinical studies confirm the relationship of the altered amount of brain-derived neurotrophic factor with the development of insulin resistance, obesity, and inflammation in the context of diabetes mellitus. Brain neurotrophin is able to modulate neuropathic pain in the development of diabetic neuropathy. Deficiency of BDNF can underlie in the progression of irreversible damage to the structures of central and peripheral nervous systems. Experimental data on the participation of BDNF in the protection of pancreatic beta cells are promising. However, clinical studies in the human population so far show conflicting data and require additional research and meta-analyzes.

Vascular endothelial growth factor is a powerful angioprotective agent, its deficiency in diabetes mellitus provokes the development of endothelial dysfunction, micro- and macroangiopathic complications of the disease. In addition, VEGF is able to influence inflammatory cascades and metabolic control in diabetes mellitus. Considering the variety of functions, knowledge, and potential in relation to the nervous system, VEGFA was chosen as the object of further studying as the marker of diabetes mellitus and its neurological manifestations.

Thus, on the basis of various data, BDNF and VEGF can be classified as potential biomarkers in predicting the development of T2DM and may play a special role in

the treatment of this disorder and its complications. Peripheral measurements of BDNF and VEGFA in a blood provide a potential way to study the pathogenesis of the disease. Further researches are needed generating novel insight how to optimally modulate neurotrophins mediated signaling for discovery of novel therapeutics to improve diabetes and its complications.

References

- Apfel SC. Neurotrophic factor and diabetic peripherial neuropathy. Eur. Neurol. 1999;41:27–34. https://doi.org/10.1159/000052077.
- Apfel SC. Nerve growth factor for the treatment of diabetic neuropathy: what went wrong, what went right, and what does the future hold? Int Rev Neurobiol. 2002;50:393–413.
- Apfel SC, Kessler JA, Adornato BT, Litchy WJ, Sanders C, Rask CA, NGF Study Group. Recombinant human nerve growth factor in the treatment of diabetic polyneuropathy. Neurology. 1998;51(3):695–702.
- Assaife-Lopes N, Sousa VC, Pereira DB, Ribeiro JA, Chao MV, Sebastião AM. Activation of adenosine A2A receptors induces TrkB translocation and increases BDNF-mediated phospho-TrkB localization in lipid rafts: implications for neuromodulation. J Neurosci. 2010;30(25): 8468–80.
- Bathina S, Das UN. Resolvin D1 decreases severity of streptozotocin-induced type 1 diabetes mellitus by enhancing BDNF levels, reducing oxidative stress, and suppressing inflammation. Int J Mol Sci. 2021;22(4):1516.
- Benarroch EE. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor: regulation, effects, and potential clinical relevance. Neurology. 2015;84(16):1693–704.
- Bonnefond A, Saulnier PJ, Stathopoulou MG, et al. What is the contribution of two genetic variants regulating VEGF levels to type 2 diabetes risk and to microvascular complications ? PLoS One. 2013;8(2):e55921.
- Boyuk B, Degirmencioglu S, Atalay H, Guzel S, Acar A, Celebi A, Ekizoglu I, Simsek C. Relationship between levels of brain-derived neurotrophic factor and metabolic parameters in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Diabetes Res. 2014;2014:978143.
- Cahill PA, Redmond EM. Vascular endothelium gatekeeper of vessel health. Atherosclerosis. 2016;248:97–109.
- Callaghan BC, Hur J, Feldman EL. Diabetic neuropathy: one disease or two ? Curr Opin Neurol. 2012;25(5):536–41.
- Cappoli N, Tabolacci E, Aceto P, Dello Russo C. The emerging role of the BDNF-TrkB signaling pathway in the modulation of pain perception. J Neuroimmunol. 2020;349:577406.
- Chen HJ, Lee YJ, Huang CC, Lin YF, Li ST. Serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor and neurocognitive function in children with type 1 diabetes. J Formos Med Assoc. 2021;120(1 Pt 1):157–64.
- Davarpanah M, Shokri-mashhadi N, Ziaei R, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of association between brain-derived neurotrophic factor and type 2 diabetes and glycemic profile. Sci Rep. 2021;11:13773.
- Ebos JM, Bocci G, Man S, et al. A naturally occurring soluble form of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 detected in mouse and human plasma. Mol Cancer Res. 2004;2(6):315–26.
- Eyileten C, Zaremba M, Janicki PK, Rosiak M, Cudna A, Kapłon-Cieślicka A, Opolski G, Filipiak KJ, Kosior DA, Mirowska-Guzel D, Postula M. Serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor is related to platelet reactivity but not to genetic polymorphisms within BDNF encoding gene in patients with type 2 diabetes. Med Sci Monit. 2016;7(22):69–76.
- Eyileten C, Kaplon-Cieslicka A, Mirowska-Guzel D, Malek L, Postula M. Antidiabetic effect of brain-derived neurotrophic factor and its association with inflammation in type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Diabetes Res. 2017;2017:2823671.

- Feldman EL, Nave KA, Jensen TS, Bennett DLH. New horizons in diabetic neuropathy: mechanisms, bioenergetics, and pain. Neuron. 2017;93(6):1296–313.
- Feldman EL, Callaghan BC, Pop-Busui R, et al. Diabetic neuropathy. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2019;5(1):42. Published 2019 Jun 13
- Ferreiro JL, Gómez-Hospital JA, Angiolillo DJ. Platelet abnormalities in diabetes mellitus. Diab Vasc Dis Res. 2010;7(4):251–9.
- Flöel A, Ruscheweyh R, Krüger K, Willemer C, Winter B, Völker K, Lohmann H, Zitzmann M, Mooren F, Breitenstein C, Knecht S. Physical activity and memory functions: are neurotrophins and cerebral gray matter volume the missing link? NeuroImage. 2010;49(3):2756–63.
- Foster E, Robertson B, Fried K. trkB-like immunoreactivity in rat dorsal root ganglia following sciatic nerve injury. Brain Res. 1994;659(1–2):267–71.
- Fujinami A, Ohta K, Obayashi H, Fukui M, Hasegawa G, Nakamura N, Kozai H, Imai S, Ohta M. Serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: relationship to glucose metabolism and biomarkers of insulin resistance. Clin Biochem. 2008;41(10–11):812–7.
- Furukawa K, Fuse I, Iwakura Y, Sotoyama H, Hanyu O, Nawa H, Sone H, Takei N. Advanced glycation end products induce brain-derived neurotrophic factor release from human platelets through the Src-family kinase activation. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2017;16(1):20.
- Guo D, Wang Q, Li C, Wang Y, Chen X. VEGF stimulated the angiogenesis by promoting the mitochondrial functions. Oncotarget. 2017;8(44):77020–7.
- Guo W, Nagappan G, Lu B. Differential effects of transient and sustained activation of BDNF-TrkB signaling. Dev Neurobiol. 2018;78(7):647–59.
- Gupta VK, You Y, Gupta VB, Klistorner A, Graham SL. TrkB receptor signalling: implications in neurodegenerative, psychiatric and proliferative disorders. Int J Mol Sci. 2013;14(5):10122–42.
- Hanefeld M, Appelt D, Engelmann K, Sandner D, Bornstein SR, Ganz X, Henkel E, Haase R, Birkenfeld AL. Serum and plasma levels of vascular endothelial growth factors in relation to quality of glucose control, biomarkers of inflammation, and diabetic nephropathy. Horm Metab Res. 2016;48(8):529–34.
- He M, Wang J. Decreased serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor in Chinese patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin Shanghai. 2014;46(5):426–7.
- Hildebrand ME, Xu J, Dedek A, Li Y, Sengar AS, Beggs S, Lombroso PJ, Salter MW. Potentiation of synaptic GluN2B NMDAR currents by Fyn Kinase is gated through BDNF-mediated disinhibition in spinal pain processing. Cell Rep. 2016;17(10):2753–65.
- Hristova MG. Genotrophic effect of neurotrophins restart of β-cell regeneration in diabetes mellitus. Med Hypotheses. 2017;107:9–11.
- Iwakura Y, Nawa H, Sora I, Chao MV. Dopamine D1 receptor-induced signaling through TrkB receptors in striatal neurons. J Biol Chem. 2008;283(23):15799–806.
- Jiang H, Toscano JF, Schiraldi M, et al. Differential expression of vascular endothelial growth factor-A165 isoforms between intracranial atherosclerosis and moyamoya disease. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis. 2019;28(2):360–8.
- Karakulova YV, Filimonova TA. Biomarkers for the development and progression of diabetic polyneuropathy. Neurosci Behav Physiol. 2021;51:444–9.
- Kennedy AJ, Wellmer A, Facer P, et al. Neurotrophin-3 is increased in skin in human diabetic neuropathy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1998;65(3):393–5.
- Komori T, Morikawa Y, Nanjo K, Senba E. Induction of brain-derived neurotrophic factor by leptin in the ventromedial hypothalamus. Neuroscience. 2006;139:1107–15.
- Krabbe KS, Nielsen AR, Krogh-Madsen R, et al. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2007;50:431–8.
- Kuroda A, Yamasaki Y, Matsuhisa M, Kubota M, Nakahara I, Nakatani Y, Hoshi A, Gorogawa S, Umayahara Y, Itakura Y, Nakagawa T, Taiji M, Kajimoto Y, Hori M. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor ameliorates hepatic insulin resistance in Zucker fatty rats. Metabolism. 2003;52(2):203–8.
- Lamb YN, McKay NS, Thompson CS, Hamm JP, Waldie KE, Kirk IJ. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor Val66Met polymorphism, human memory, and synaptic neuroplasticity. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Cogn Sci. 2015;6(2):97–108.

- Leinninger GM, Vincent AM, Feldman EL. The role of growth factors in diabetic peripheral neuropathy. J Peripher Nerv Syst. 2004;9(1):26–53.
- Li B, Lang N, Cheng ZF. Serum levels of brain-derived neurotrophic factor are associated with diabetes risk, complications, and obesity: a cohort study from Chinese patients with type 2 diabetes. Mol Neurobiol. 2016;53(8):5492–9.
- Lim HS, Blann AD. Lip GY soluble CD40 ligand, soluble P-selectin, interleukin-6, and tissue factor in diabetes mellitus: relationships to cardiovascular disease and risk factor intervention. Circulation. 2004;109(21):2524–8.
- Lorgis L, Amoureux S, de Maistre E, et al. Serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor and platelet activation evaluated by soluble P-selectin and soluble CD-40-ligand in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Fundamental & Clinical Pharmacology. 2010;24(4):525–530. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-8206.2009.00790.x.
- Maekawa F, Fujiwara K, Toriya M, Maejima Y, Nishio T, Toyoda Y, Nohara K, Yashiro T, Yada T. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor in VMH as the causal factor for and therapeutic tool to treat visceral adiposity and hyperleptinemia in type 2 diabetic Goto-Kakizaki rats. Front Synaptic Neurosci. 2013;2(5):7.
- Mahdy RA, Nada WM, Hadhoud KM, El-Tarhony SA. The role of vascular endothelial growth factor in the progression of diabetic vascular complications. Eye (Lond). 2010;24(10):1576–84.
- Mazidi M, Rezaie P, Kengne AP, Stathopoulou MG, Azimi-Nezhad M, Siest S. VEGF, the underlying factor for metabolic syndrome; fact or fiction? Diabetes Metab Syndr. 2017;11 (Suppl 1):S61–4.
- McMahon SB, Priestley JV. Peripheral neuropathies and neurotrophic factors: animal models and clinical perspectives. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 1995;5(5):616–24.
- Middlemas DS, Meisenhelder J, Hunter T. Identification of TrkB autophosphorylation sites and evidence that phospholipase C-gamma 1 is a substrate of the TrkB receptor. J Biol Chem. 1994;269(7):5458–66.
- Nakagawa T, Ono-Kishino M, Sugaru E, Yamanaka M, Taiji M, Noguchi H. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) regulates glucose and energy metabolism in diabetic mice. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2002;18(3):185–91.
- Neubauer H, Setiadi P, Günesdogan B, Pinto A, Börgel J, Mügge A. Influence of glycaemic control on platelet bound CD40-CD40L system, P-selectin and soluble CD40 ligand in type 2 diabetes. Diabet Med. 2010;27(4):384–90.
- Notaras M, van den Buuse M. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF): novel insights into regulation and genetic variation. Neuroscientist. 2019;25(5):434–54.
- Numakawa T, Odaka H, Adachi N. Actions of brain-derived Neurotrophin factor in the neurogenesis and neuronal function, and its involvement in the pathophysiology of brain diseases. Int J Mol Sci. 2018;19(11):3650.
- Obata K, Katsura H, Sakurai J, Kobayashi K, Yamanaka H, Dai Y, Fukuoka T, Noguchi K. Suppression of the p75 neurotrophin receptor in uninjured sensory neurons reduces neuropathic pain after nerve injury. J Neurosci. 2006;26(46):11974–86.
- Ono M, Ichihara J, Nonomura T, Itakura Y, Taiji M, Nakayama C, Noguchi H. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor reduces blood glucose level in obese diabetic mice but not in normal mice. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1997;238(2):633–7.
- Ono M, Itakura Y, Nonomura T, et al. Intermittent administration of brain-derived neurotrophic factor ameliorates glucose metabolism in obese diabetic mice. Metabolism. 2000;49:129–33.
- Peach CJ, Mignone VW, Arruda MA, et al. Molecular pharmacology of VEGF-A isoforms: binding and signaling at VEGFR2. Int J Mol Sci. 2018;19(4):1264.
- Platania CBM, Maisto R, Trotta MC, et al. Retinal and circulating miRNA expression patterns in diabetic retinopathy: an in silico and in vivo approach. Br J Pharmacol. 2019;176(13):2179–94.
- Pradhan AD, Manson JE, Rifai N, Buring JE, Ridker PM. C-reactive protein, interleukin 6, and risk of developing type 2 diabetes mellitus. JAMA. 2001;286(3):327–34.
- Rozanska O, Uruska A, Zozulinska-Ziolkiewicz D. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor and diabetes. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21(3):841. Published 2020 Jan 28

- Samii A, Unger J, Lange W. Vascular endothelial growth factor expression in peripheral nerves and dorsal root ganglia in diabetic neuropathy in rats. Neurosci Lett. 1999;262:159–62.
- Sasi M, Vignoli B, Canossa M, Blum R. Neurobiology of local and intercellular BDNF signaling. Pflugers Arch. 2017;469(5–6):593–610.
- Schratzberger P, Schratzberger G, Silver M, Curry C, Kearney M, Magner M, Alroy J, Adelman LS, Weinberg DH, Ropper AH, Isner JM. Favorable effect of VEGF gene transfer on ischemic peripheral neuropathy. Nat Med. 2000;6(4):405–13.
- Sellami N, Lamine LB, Turki A, Sarray S, Jailani M, Al-Ans AK, Ghorbel M, Mahjoub T, Almawi WY. Association of VEGFA variants with altered VEGF secretion and type 2 diabetes: a casecontrol study. Cytokine. 2018;106:29–34.
- Shibuya M. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and its receptor (VEGFR) signaling in angiogenesis : a crucial target for anti- and pro-angiogenic therapies. Genes Cancer. 2011;2(12): 1097–105.
- Sohrabji F, Miranda RC, Toran-Allerand CD. Identification of a putative estrogen response element in the gene encoding brain-derived neurotrophic factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995;92(24): 11110–4.
- Sondell M, Lundborg G, Kanje M. Vascular endothelial growth activity factor has neurotrophic and stimulates axonal outgrowth, enhancing cell survival and Schwann cell proliferation in the peripheral nervous system. J Neurosci. 1999;19(14):5731–40.
- Sugimoto K, Murakami H, Deguchi T, Arimura A, Daimon M, Suzuki S, Shimbo T, Yagihashi S. Cutaneous microangiopathy in patients with type 2 diabetes: impaired vascular endothelial growth factor expression and its correlation with neuropathy, retinopathy and nephropathy. J Diabetes Investig. 2019;10(5):1318–31.
- Sun Q, Tang DD, Yin EG, et al. Diagnostic significance of serum levels of nerve growth factor and brain derived neurotrophic factor in diabetic peripheral neuropathy. Med Sci Monit. 2018;24:5943–5950. Published 2018 Aug 26. https://doi.org/10.12659/MSM.909449.
- Suwa M, Kishimoto H, Nofuji Y, Nakano H, Sasaki H, Radak Z, Kumagai S. Serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor level is increased and associated with obesity in newly diagnosed female patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Metabolism. 2006;55(7):852–7.
- Tang L, Kang YT, Yin B, Sun LJ, Fan XS. Effects of weight-bearing ladder and aerobic treadmill exercise on learning and memory ability of diabetic rats and its mechanism. Zhongguo Ying Yong Sheng Li Xue Za Zhi. 2017;33(5):436–40.
- Taylor SL, Trudeau D, Arnold B, Wang J, Gerrow K, Summerfeldt K, Holmes A, Zamani A, Brocardo PS, Brown CE. VEGF can protect against blood brain barrier dysfunction, dendritic spine loss and spatial memory impairment in an experimental model of diabetes. Neurobiol Dis. 2015;78:1–11.
- Tesfaye S, Boulton AJ, Dyck PJ, et al. Diabetic neuropathies: update on definitions, diagnostic criteria, estimation of severity, and treatments [published correction appears in Diabetes Care. 2010 Dec; 33 (12): 2725]. Diabetes Care. 2010;33(10):2285–93.
- Tonoli C, Heyman E, Buyse L, Roelands B, Piacentini MF, Bailey S, Pattyn N, Berthoin S, Meeusen R. Neurotrophins and cognitive functions in T1D compared with healthy controls: effects of a high-intensity exercise. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab. 2015;40:20–7.
- Tonra JR, Ono M, Liu X, et al. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor improves blood glucose control and alleviates fasting hyperglycemia in C57BLKS-Lepr (db) / lepr (db) mice. Diabetes. 1999;48:588–94.
- Touyz RM, Lang NN, Herrmann J, van den Meiracker AH, Danser AHJ. Recent advances in hypertension and cardiovascular toxicities with vascular endothelial growth factor inhibition. Hypertension. 2017;70(2):220–6.
- Vempati P, Popel AS, Mac Gabhann F. Extracellular regulation of VEGF: isoforms, proteolysis, and vascular patterning. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2014;25(1):1–19.
- Veves A, King GL. Can VEGF reverse diabetic neuropathy in human subjects? J Clin Investig. 2001;107(10):1215–8.

- Wellmer A, Misra VP, Sharief MK, Kopelman PG, Anand P. A double-blind placebo-controlled clinical trial of recombinant human brain-derived neurotrophic factor (rhBDNF) in diabetic polyneuropathy. J Peripher Nerv Syst. 2001;6(4):204–10.
- Xia X, Zhang Q, Liu R, Wang Z, Tang N, Liu F, Huang G, Jiang X, Gui G, Wang L, Sun X. Effects of 20-hydroxyecdysone on improving memory deficits in streptozotocin-induced type 1 diabetes mellitus in rat. Eur J Pharmacol. 2014;5(740):45–52.
- Yamanaka M, Itakura Y, Tsuchida A, Nakagawa T, Taiji M. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) prevents the development of diabetes in prediabetic mice. Biomed Res. 2008;29(3): 147–53.
- Yazbek N, Bapat A, Kleiman N. Platelet abnormalities in diabetes mellitus. Coron Artery Dis. 2003;14:365–71.
- Yi H, Bao X, Tang X, Fan X, Xu H. Estrogen modulation of calretinin and BDNF expression in midbrain dopaminergic neurons of ovariectomised mice. J Chem Neuroanat. 2016;77:60–7.
- Yu JS, Cui W. Proliferation, survival and metabolism: the role of PI3K/AKT/mTOR signalling in pluripotency and cell fate determination. Development. 2016;143(17):3050–60.
- Zhang Q, Fang W, Ma L, Wang ZD, Yang YM, Lu YQ. VEGF levels in plasma in relation to metabolic control, inflammation, and microvascular complications in type-2 diabetes: a cohort study. Medicine (Baltimore). 2018;97(15):e0415.
- Zhen YF, Zhang J, Liu XY, Fang H, Tian LB, Zhou DH, Kosten TR, Zhang XY. Low BDNF is associated with cognitive deficits in patients with type 2 diabetes. Psychopharmacology. 2013;227(1):93–100.
- Zochodne DW. Neurotrophins and other growth factors in diabetic neuropathy. Semin Neurol. 1996;16(2):153–61.
- Zubair M, Ahmad J. Role of growth factors and cytokines in diabetic foot ulcer healing: a detailed review. Rev Endocr Metab Disord. 2019;20(2):207–17.



The Role of Glycated Albumin as a Biomarker of Glycemic Control in Diabetes and Chronic Kidney Disease

Shanel Raghubeer, Don M. Matshazi, Dipuo D. Motshwari, Cecil J. Weale, Rajiv T. Erasmus, and Tandi E. Matsha

Contents

Introduction	515
Albumin Discovery and Structure	515
Albumin Glycation Process	516
Diabetes Mellitus (DM)	518
Diabetes Mellitus and Glycation	518
The Use of Glycated Albumin in Monitoring Metabolic Control	520
Pitfalls of Conventional Measures of Glycemia	521
Fructosamine and Glycated Albumin	522
CKD and Diabetes	524
HbA1c for Glycemic Control in CKD	524
GA and Dialysis	526
Challenges and Pitfalls in the Measurement of Glycated Albumin	530
Conclusions, Limitations, and Recommendations	531
Applications to Prognosis and Other Diseases and Conditions	531
Key Facts of Glycated Albumin	532
Mini-Dictionary of Terms	532
Summary Points	532
References	533

513

Shanel Raghubeer, Don M. Matshazi, Dipuo D. Motshwari and Cecil J. Weale contributed equally with all other contributors.

S. Raghubeer (🖂) · D. M. Matshazi · D. D. Motshwari · C. J. Weale · R. T. Erasmus · T. E. Matsha SAMRC/CPUT Cardiometabolic Health Research Unit, Department of Biomedical Sciences, Faculty of Health and Wellness Sciences, Cape Peninsula University of Technology, Bellville, South Africa

e-mail: raghubeers@cput.ac.za; matshazid@cput.ac.za; 219403643@mycput.ac.za; wealec@cput.ac.za; rte@sun.ac.za; matshat@cput.ac.za

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 61

Abstract

Albumin is the most abundant protein found in plasma and constitutes approximately 60% of all proteins in the blood. This high molecular weight protein maintains the pH balance and osmotic pressure of blood. Albumin transports metabolic products and performs antioxidant functions. Glycated albumin (GA) is produced during the glycation of proteins and constitutes 80% of glycation reactions in plasma. GA has become useful in the monitoring of blood glucose levels and is often used with glycated hemoglobin measurements. The measurement of GA is favored in patients with hemoglobinopathies or those receiving dialysis. This chapter will discuss the advantages and disadvantages of GA use, including its role in diabetes control and in diabetes-associated complications.

Keywords

Glycated albumin · Diabetes · Chronic kidney disease · Dialysis · Glycated hemoglobin · Biomarkers · Fructosamine · Glycation products · Hyperglycemia

ns				
American Diabetes Association				
Advanced glycation end products				
Body mass index				
Continuous glucose monitoring				
Chronic kidney disease				
Cardiovascular diseases				
Diabetic kidney disease				
Diabetes mellitus				
End-stage kidney disease				
Federal Drug Association				
Glycated albumin				
Glomerular filtration rate				
Glycated hemoglobin				
High-performance liquid chromatography				
Intracellular adhesion molecule 1				
International Diabetes Federation				
Kilodaltons				
Low-to-middle-income countries				
Oral glucose tolerance test				
Red blood cell				
Reference interval				
Reactive oxygen species				
Type 1 diabetes mellitus				
Type 2 diabetes mellitus				
Vascular cell adhesion molecule 1				

Introduction

515

Albumin is a high molecular weight protein composed of a single polypeptide chain. It is the main protein found in plasma and constitutes approximately 60% of all proteins in the blood. The concentration of albumin in the blood is roughly 35–50 g/L, with a half-life of 14–20 days (Anguizola et al. 2013; Danese et al. 2015). Albumin functions to maintain pH balance and the osmotic pressure of blood and acts as a transporter of metabolic products, including drugs and ions. Further, albumin is known to function in an antioxidant capacity (Ueda and Matsumoto 2015). Glycated albumin (GA) is the higher glycated portion of fructosamine, which is produced during the spontaneous, nonenzymatic glycation of proteins (Anguizola et al. 2013). GA is the main serum fructosamine and constitutes 80% of the total glycation reactions in plasma (Anguizola et al. 2013). In recent decades, GA has gained popularity as a method to monitor blood glucose levels, either as an alternative to or in conjunction with glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c). This chapter will discuss the characteristics, uses, benefits, and pitfalls of GA measurement regarding diabetes and associated complications.

Albumin Discovery and Structure

Albumin was one of the first proteins to be discovered and studied. Paracelsus is credited with the precipitation of serum albumin from urine as far back as the year 1500, and almost four centuries later, August Gürber successfully crystallized the protein in 1894 (Fig. 1) (Hamilton 2021). Ever since, knowledge about the structure of the protein and its various interactions with many molecules continues to grow, more than 600 years after its initial discovery. The total blood plasma protein content of healthy individuals is between 35 and 50 g/L (Rondeau and Bourdon 2011). While human blood plasma is composed of a wide range of proteins, albumin is its main constituent, accounting for 60% of the total protein. This makes albumin the most abundant protein in circulation, and its importance is demonstrated by its crucial role in maintaining the body's physiological homeostasis. It accomplishes this by performing many crucial tasks, including the maintenance of colloidal osmotic pressure in the vasculature (Danese et al. 2015).



Fig. 1 Albumin history. Schematic showing the history of albumin from the fourth century to date

Over 30 years ago, the work of Carter and colleagues gave rise to the initial resolution of the three-dimensional structure of albumin (Carter et al. 1989). Albumin is a high molecular weight, globular protein of size 65–70 kDa, made up of a single polypeptide chain, with over 580 amino acid residues (mostly lysine and arginine). Albumin also comprises 35 lysine residues, which are involved in the stabilization of the molecule through the formation of 17 disulfide bridges (Carter et al. 1989). Overall, the structure of albumin is organized into three homologous domains (I, II, and III) connected in a helix (67% alpha-helices, 23% extended chains, and 10% beta-turns) (He and Carter 1992; Anguizola et al. 2013) to form a heart-shaped molecule, with each domain composed of two sub-domains (A and B) that have common structural motifs. Sub-domain A consists of six helices, while sub-domain B consists of four helices (Kragh-Hansen et al. 2006). Albumin's lysine and arginine residues, primarily lysine 525, increase susceptibility to glycation (Shaklai et al. 1984).

Albumin Glycation Process

Glycation, sometimes referred to as the Maillard reaction, is a nonenzymatic reaction in which the carbonyl group of a reducing sugar (glucose, galactose, fructose) or its breakdown products react with the free amino group of a protein (Anguizola et al. 2013; Singh et al. 2014). In the case of glycated albumin, the sugars bind to the free amino groups found on albumin, which are often arginine, lysine, or cysteine (Danese et al. 2015). The result is the reversible formation of a Schiff base product (Fig. 2) and, after Amadori rearrangement (carbohydrate modification), a more



Fig. 2 The Maillard reaction. The process of glycation from its early stages during Amadori product formation to the advanced stages, with the formation of advanced glycation end products (AGEs)

stable ketoamine. These are products of the early stages of glycation. However, when these products are further modified through cleavage, oxidation, and rearrangement reactions, irreversible conjugates called advanced glycation end products (AGEs) are formed. Oxidation of adducts on glycated proteins or free amino acid residues leads to the formation of intermediate compounds, which can enhance cysteine residue modification or react with lysine or arginine, culminating in the formation of AGEs (Anguizola et al. 2013).

The structure of albumin enables the molecule to perform its various functions, including hormone, nutrient, and ion transport and pH and osmotic blood pressure maintenance (Freitas et al. 2017). Owing to its flexibility, albumin can alter its configuration to suit the molecule to which it is bound. However, when glycation occurs, this induces modifications to the protein's three-dimensional conformation and binding properties (Rondeau and Bourdon 2011), rendering it unable to effectively carry out its functions (Bourdon et al. 1999). For instance, the oxidation process that accompanies albumin glycation leads to a reduction in the antioxidant properties of albumin (Rondeau and Bourdon 2011).

Due to albumin's relatively longer half-life and its availability in greater quantities, it is highly susceptible to the glycation process (Rondeau and Bourdon 2011) and as a result has become an interesting biomarker target for short-term to intermediate monitoring of blood glucose control (Anguizola et al. 2013; Danese et al. 2015). As previously mentioned, one of albumin's main functions is the transport of different molecules to various sites in the body, which is made possible by the ligand-binding properties of albumin. Albumin can bind and transport drugs to their target sites. However, the glycation of albumin significantly alters the protein's tertiary structural conformation, subsequently affecting its ability to bind to several ligands (Shaklai et al. 1984). Clinically, the glycation of albumin influences the pharmacodynamics of drugs taken for various medical conditions, thereby influencing drug efficacy. This is because the glycation process may reduce albumin's binding affinity to the drugs, which was reported by Soudahome and colleagues, who found that glycated albumin's affinity for liraglutide (a drug with good efficiency in the management of type 2 diabetes) was reduced in diabetes patients, thus complicating the patient management process (Gajahi Soudahome et al. 2018).

Glycation is a major nonenzymatic alteration to which albumin is exposed throughout its life span, resulting in an inevitable impact on the body's metabolism (Rondeau and Bourdon 2011). For instance, GA may cause irreversible organ damage to the kidneys. This is because at higher levels, GA uptake is enhanced and is transported across the glomerular vasculature, where it is taken up by epithelial and specialized cells of the mesangium, and contributes to pro-oxidant molecule and type IV collagen formation in these cells, culminating in the initiation of kidney pathology (diabetic nephropathy) (Ziyadeh and Cohen 1993; Rondeau and Bourdon 2011). The pathological effects exerted by GA are also evident in cardio-vascular diseases (CVDs), where it has been reported to promote platelet activation and aggregation, as well as the expression of intracellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) and vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM-1), processes which are essential in the buildup of atherosclerotic plaques. In hyperglycemic conditions,

protein glycation leads to the development of AGEs, which accumulate inside cells and affect extra- and intracellular spaces. Due to their distinct ability to form crosslinkages with various molecules in the extracellular matrix basement membrane, AGEs contribute to micro- and macrovascular complications, as well as the atherosclerosis process (Goldin et al. 2006). Additionally, various complications of diabetes, including retinopathy and neuropathy, have been associated with GA (Nathan et al. 2014).

Diabetes Mellitus (DM)

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a group of heterogeneous metabolic disorders characterized by the presence of hyperglycemia. This hyperglycemia may be attributed to insulin secretion impairment, defective insulin action, or both (Punthakee et al. 2018). Chronic hyperglycemia is associated with long-term microvascular complications affecting the eyes, kidneys, and nerves, as well as macrovascular complications, subsequently leading to increased risk of CVD development (Punthakee et al. 2018). Of the different types of DM, type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) are the most common. T1DM accounts for approximately 10% of all diabetes cases, while T2DM accounts for the majority of cases (approximately 90%) (International Diabetes Federation 2019). DM is a major global burden, with approximately 463 million diabetes patients reported worldwide in 2019 (International Diabetes Federation 2019).

Previously only considered a public health crisis in high-income countries, recent years have demonstrated increased prevalence of DM in low-to-middle-income countries (LMICs) as well, with an estimated 79% of people living with diabetes residing in LMICs. The International Diabetes Federation (IDF) reported that the African region specifically may witness a 143% increase in the number of people diagnosed with DM by 2045. Furthermore, South Africa exhibited the highest age-adjusted prevalence of DM, the highest number of deaths, as well as the highest diabetes-related expenditure (23% of the total health budget), of all countries within the African region (Fig. 3) (International Diabetes Federation 2019).

Diabetes Mellitus and Glycation

DM is dependent on a combination of environmental factors, as well as genetic factors associated with impaired insulin secretion and insulin resistance (Kohei 2010). Most individuals with T2DM are elderly, with visceral obesity (linked to insulin resistance, as well as lack of exercise), and have a family history of DM. Furthermore, these individuals usually present with hypertension (Baynes 2015). In states of obesity and hyperglycemia, there are elevated levels of glycation (Nowotny et al. 2015). Although this process may occur under normal circumstances, protein glycation is accelerated in hyperglycemic states, as a result of elevated circulating glucose levels (Nowotny et al. 2015).



Fig. 3 Regional and national prevalence of type 2 diabetes mellitus. South Africa exhibits the highest prevalence, the highest number of diabetes-related deaths, and the highest diabetes-related expenditure of all countries within the African region

Glucose also has the ability to interact with, and bind to, various classes of proteins, ranging from blood proteins to tissue-specific proteins (Welsh et al. 2016). For instance, reactions with the amino groups of hemoglobin in red blood cells (RBCs) result in the formation of HbA1c (Little and Sacks 2009). Similar interactions occur with blood proteins, resulting in the subsequent formation of a group of stable ketoamines called fructosamines, which is the collective measure of all glycated proteins circulating in the blood (Danese et al. 2015). Although not widely used, the clinical relevance of fructosamine estimation is growing, with proposals motivating its use in short-term glycemic assessment, as well as studies revealing strong predictive capabilities for diabetes development and microvascular complications (Parrinello and Selvin 2014; Selvin et al. 2014). GA measurement has also been proposed as an attractive alternative marker for glycemia, in comparison to conventional measures, with various research endeavors revealing associations between elevated GA levels and T2DM (Bourdon et al. 1999; Ribeiro et al. 2016; Dorcely et al. 2017).

Glycation of tissue-specific proteins also occurs, propelled by the increased concentrations of oxidizing agents, as well as reactive oxygen species (ROS), characteristic of hyperglycemic environments, yielding irreversible glyco-oxidation products, also known as AGEs (Peppa et al. 2003). AGEs are toxic compounds, contributing to the underlying inflammation and oxidative stress characteristic of hyperglycemic states, and the mechanisms involved include macrophage stimulation, promoting resultant cell death, cellular adhesion, and differentiation impairment, as well as stimulating immune cell migration to sites of inflammation (Nowotny et al. 2015). Increasing evidence suggests that AGEs are involved in

mechanisms promoting diabetic complications, such as nephropathy, retinopathy, and neuropathy, and monitoring AGE accumulation may yield predictive capabilities for the development and progression of diabetes-associated complications (Peppa et al. 2003; Nowotny et al. 2015; Chume et al. 2019).

The Use of Glycated Albumin in Monitoring Metabolic Control

The glycation of proteins is more pronounced in hyperglycemic conditions relative to normoglycemia (Rondeau and Bourdon 2011). Once albumin is glycated, it becomes detrimental to the homeostatic balance of the body. The strong involvement of GA in the development of diabetes-related complications and its contribution to the development of cardiovascular diseases have been previously reported (Rondeau and Bourdon 2011). While HbA1c is a good indicator of chronic hyperglycemia over a 4-month period and is routinely used to diagnose and monitor diabetes patients, its use does not always provide an accurate blood glucose control picture in individuals with rapidly changing blood glucose concentrations and in patient groups whose RBC turnover is altered (Chume et al. 2019).

A study showed that, relative to GA, HbA1c may not be as reliable a marker for monitoring diabetes patients with advanced kidney disease, because these patients have low RBC counts (indicating anemia). Thus, while glucose may be abundant, there may not be enough hemoglobin to bind. In addition, the RBCs of these patients may not live long enough to bind with glucose to form HbA1c (Inaba et al. 2007). A study by Nathan et al. showed that, relative to HbA1c, GA was a superior indicator of poor glycemic control among diabetes patients on dialysis (Nathan et al. 2014). Over time, GA may prove to be worthy of further investigation as a biomarker for blood glucose control monitoring for the following reasons:

- Being an extracellular protein, albumin reacts with glucose approximately ten times more than hemoglobin does (Arasteh et al. 2014).
- GA has a half-life of 21 days and can be used as an indicator of the short-term glycemic picture.
- It correlates well with complications of diabetes, as is the case with HbA1c.
- GA is not affected by hemolytic processes and/or hemoglobinopathies, as is the case with HbA1c (Chume et al. 2019).
- Unlike with conventional blood glucose testing (fasting blood glucose test), a fasting blood sample is not required for GA measurement. While patients are encouraged to fast before a blood sample is collected, their compliance cannot always be guaranteed. As such, a test that removes that possible discrepancy warrants further investigation.

Overall, the measurement of GA is a potentially useful method that may fill the void left when HbA1c and self-blood glucose measurement are not viable options due to the patient group under consideration. While studies show the impressive performance of GA as a diagnostic marker for diabetes (Chume et al. 2019), it is

important that instead of being touted as a replacement for HbA1c, GA should serve as a complementary test to HbA1c, so as to further clarify the glycemic picture and advise clinical steps with respect to patient management and/or treatment efficacy. To this effect, Chume et al. showed that although HbA1c and GA were associated with microvascular complications, the relationship strengthened when the glycemic indicators were analyzed in combination (Chume et al. 2019). Currently, the global implementation of GA as a sole biomarker for the diagnosis and monitoring of diabetes, though promising, is a distant reality. However, evidence shows that progress is being made, particularly in Japan, where a group from the country developed an accurate, automated enzymatic GA measurement assay, which is now being used in Japanese clinical settings (Kouzuma et al. 2002). The wide use of GA in screening for diabetes is certainly being promoted on the East Asian island, with various studies in Japanese populations showing evidence that supports the need to consider GA for screening and diagnostic purposes in diabetes (Yoshiuchi et al. 2008; Furusyo et al. 2011; Ikezaki et al. 2015). Despite this work, various challenges still need to be overcome if GA is to be universally accepted as an equal, if not superior, to HbA1c in blood glucose monitoring.

Pitfalls of Conventional Measures of Glycemia

Current methods of glycemic screening include assessing fasting blood glucose and performing the oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT), the latter considered the gold standard for diagnosing T2DM. However, the OGTT is considered cumbersome and lengthy, taking at least 2 h to perform (Stolk et al. 1995). Extensive pre-examination preparation is needed prior to conducting the OGTT, such as a suitable diet within 3 days of the test, as well as overnight fasting, the night before. Patients have reported poor tolerance, with common symptoms experienced, such as nausea and hampered gastric emptying.

Measuring HbA1c has been supported for routine use in glycemic monitoring by the American Diabetes Association (ADA) since 1988 (American Diabetes Association 1989). Concentrations of HbA1c are dependent on the concentration of circulating glucose in the bloodstream. Furthermore, HbA1c concentration is affected by the life span of RBCs, with the life span averaging approximately 120 days. As such, assessing HbA1c provides information on an individual's glycemic picture, spanning 8–12 weeks prior to the test (Hirst et al. 2014). A diagnosis of type 2 diabetes may be defined by an HbA1c reading $\geq 6.5\%$, whereas prediabetes is defined by a reading of 5.7–6.4% (Inaba et al. 2007; Arasteh et al. 2014). Concerns have arisen regarding the accuracy of HbA1c, with mounting evidence suggesting that results may be influenced by several factors, such as age, ethnicity, and hemoglobin abnormalities, ultimately affecting the reliability of the test (Kouzuma et al. 2002; Furusyo et al. 2011). A study reported an increase in HbA1c levels of approximately 0.1% for every 10-year increase in age, in normotolerant individuals, while Hispanic individuals exhibited inherently higher HbA1c levels (0.12%) in comparison to non-Hispanic Caucasians with normal glucose tolerance (Davidson and Schriger 2010). Similar differences have been reported in African Americans compared to non-Hispanic Caucasians, alluding that HbA1c overestimates glucose concentration in African Americans (Kirk et al. 2006). A 2011 study conducted in South Africa determined that a lower cutoff of 6.1% was more sensitive in mixed ancestry individuals, in contrast to the globally accepted cutoff of 6.5%, further demonstrating ethnic variations in HbA1c (Zemlin et al. 2011). Hemoglobin variants, such as hemoglobin C, S, E, and D, are commonly identified variants contributing to interferences in HbA1c measurement. Of these variants, hemoglobin S is highly prevalent among Africans, measuring 20–40% in certain African ethnic groups (Stolk et al. 1995; Florkowski 2013).

Fructosamine and Glycated Albumin

In light of the concerns regarding the use of HbA1c as an accurate measure of glycemia, the hunt for alternative blood-based markers has led to the acknowledgment of fructosamine and GA, as either potential replacement markers or complementary markers, to be used in conjunction with currently used glycemic indices, such as HbA1c (Welsh et al. 2016). HbA1c presents a reflection of long-term glucose metabolism, over a period of 8–12 weeks, whereas measured fructosamine, which includes GA, provides a short-term reflection of mean glucose concentration. Circulating blood proteins, such as albumin, exhibit higher rates of glycation in comparison to their intracellular hemoglobin counterparts (Fig. 4), which is due to the direct exposure of these proteins to glucose, thereby suggesting that GA levels may represent a more accurate glycemic portrait, in relation to HbA1c (Freitas et al. 2017). A study conducted by Takahashi and colleagues cross-sectionally examined the relationship between GA and HbA1c in type 2 diabetes patients to assess the changes in GA and HbA1c levels in individuals following intensive insulin therapy



Fig. 4 Schematic showing the glycation of albumin and hemoglobin. Circulating albumin is more susceptible to glycation in comparison to intracellular hemoglobin since albumin experiences greater contact with glucose in circulation during hyperglycemic conditions

(Takahashi et al. 2007). Their observations were weak overall but significantly correlated between both markers. However, GA demonstrated a more rapid reduction, in comparison to HbA1c, in participants on insulin therapy. They ultimately motivated for the use of GA in monitoring short-term glycemic changes (Takahashi et al. 2007). As previously mentioned, a key determinant of HbA1c efficiency is the presence of hemoglobinopathies (Klonoff 2020). Contrastingly, reports have illustrated that GA is advantageous in that its measurement is unaffected by anemias, or abnormal hemoglobin (Furusyo and Hayashi 2013). An investigation aimed at assessing the relationships between indices of iron metabolism with both HbA1c and GA levels, in normal glucotolerant individuals with iron deficiency anemia, iron-deficient states, and normal iron states. Significant inverse relationships were determined between these markers and HbA1c, as well as significant differences in HbA1c levels between those with anemia and iron-deficient states, compared to those with normal iron states. No significant differences were observed in GA levels between the subgroups, signifying no influence on the overall accuracy of GA determination in glucose control (Koga et al. 2010).

Studies have also illustrated the superiority of glycemic monitoring using GA, compared to HbA1c, in patients presenting with diabetic complications (American Diabetes Association 2014; Selvin et al. 2014). Selvin et al. aimed to compare the performance of GA and fructosamine, versus HbA1c, in the identification of incident diabetes, as well as common diabetes-associated complications (Selvin et al. 2014). During the study, some participants eventually developed diabetes, and researchers observed that GA, fructosamine, and HbA1c demonstrated similar significant associations with risk of incident diabetes. In participants already diagnosed with diabetes, GA, fructosamine, and HbA1c levels demonstrated similar associations with risk of developing complications, such as retinopathy and chronic kidney disease (CKD). The investigators therefore proposed the incorporation of GA and fructosamine as additional markers for glycemic assessment (Selvin et al. 2014).

Circulating GA can be affected by disease states involving increased protein loss, such as nephrotic syndrome, as well as states of hampered protein synthesis, such as liver cirrhosis; thus, in these instances, it is not advisable to solely rely on GA measurement as an indicator of glycemic control (Bloomgarden et al. 2008; Danese et al. 2015). Additionally, due to the absence of a standardized assay for routine use in laboratory detection of GA, the reference intervals (RIs) are dependent on the detection method used; however, there is a mutual agreement among all detection methods that GA concentration is increased two- to fivefold in diabetes patients versus normotolerant individuals (Freitas et al. 2017). Ethnic variations in GA levels have also been reported between African and Caucasian Americans, with higher mean GA in African Americans versus Caucasian Americans (Kohzuma et al. 2011). Irrespectively, the overall benefits of measured GA justify its recognition and implementation in current strategies, particularly in financially constrained settings, such as Africa. Due to limited resources, there is a need for cost-effective testing methods, and GA has the advantage of being an economical alternative to expensive techniques, such as HbA1c testing (Danese et al. 2015). Studies evaluating the effectiveness of GA in African settings are lacking. A study headed by Zemlin et al. evaluated the discriminatory power of GA in comparison to HbA1c, in distinguishing prediabetes and type 2 diabetes in South Africa. Sample-specific optimal thresholds were determined for both markers, and conclusions established an overall poor performance of GA in distinguishing either prediabetes or diabetes (Zemlin et al. 2019). A more recent study, also conducted in South Africa, determined otherwise, promoting the use of GA as a measure of dysglycemia (Peer et al. 2021). Taken altogether, there is corroborative evidence recommending GA as a prospective alternative, or adjunct in glycemic monitoring. With further studies backing this, as well as determining corrective measures for known influencing factors, these results may ultimately reinforce its inclusion in diagnostic strategies for dysglycemia, improving health outcomes worldwide.

CKD and Diabetes

CKD is a global public health concern affecting approximately 9.1% of the adult population worldwide (Bikbov et al. 2020). It is associated with increased risk of end-stage kidney disease (ESKD), CVD-related complications, and premature death (Bansal et al. 2017; Bikbov et al. 2020). Diabetes mellitus is a leading cause of CKD, accounting for approximately 40-50% of ESKD cases (Burrows et al. 2017). Studies have shown that diabetes-related death is often attributed to the development of kidney disease-related complications (Afkarian et al. 2013). Apart from being a cause of CKD, DM may also occur due to established CKD, which may exacerbate loss of kidney function, promoting progression toward ESKD. This is particularly concerning regarding the expected increase in DM prevalence globally, as this will increase ESKD incidence and subsequently increase the number of people requiring renal replacement therapy, thereby causing an economic strain on healthcare systems, particularly in developing regions, such as Africa and Asia (Liyanage et al. 2015). Therefore, it is essential to prevent the progression of DM to long-term microvascular complications, such as CKD, in order to reduce the enormous burden of ESKD and CVDs. Clinical evidence demonstrated that intensive blood glucose control may lead to good clinical outcomes in diabetes patients. Two landmark clinical trial prospective studies, the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT) and the UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS), reported that intensive blood glucose control, as reflected by lower HbA1c and plasma glucose, has prevented or delayed the progression to diabetic nephropathy, diabetic retinopathy, and CVD outcomes in T1DM and T2DM, respectively (UKPDS Group 1998; Nathan et al. 2014). The evidence from these trials supported HbA1c as a widely used gold standard marker for assessing long-term glycemic control in clinical practice (UKPDS Group 1998; Nathan et al. 2014).

HbA1c for Glycemic Control in CKD

HbA1c is a product of nonenzymatic binding of an aldehyde group of glucose to the N-terminal valine amino acid of the hemoglobin beta chain (Jeppsson et al. 2002). It was discovered in the late 1960s in a study investigating novel hemoglobin variants

in blood, which identified that an "unusual hemoglobin," now called HbA1c, was increased in diabetes patients (Rahbar et al. 1969). HbA1c has several advantages, which makes it a preferable option; however, HbA1c also has several drawbacks that may limit its use in clinical settings. It has poor diagnostic performance in pregnant women and certain racial groups and is affected by several factors, such as age, hemoglobinopathies, hypertriglyceridemia, alcohol consumption, and certain anemias (World Health Organization 2011; Sacks et al. 2011; Speeckaert et al. 2014). Moreover, the clinical utility of HbA1c may be affected in the presence of certain disease conditions, such as CKD (World Health Organization 2011).

CKD, particularly at advanced stages, affects the life span of erythrocytes, thereby affecting the glycation of hemoglobin independent of plasma glucose. These factors can reduce or elevate the levels of HbA1c, thereby overestimating or underestimating glycemic control in these individuals. Erythrocyte life span and production are reduced in CKD, with 20–50% reductions observed in individuals on hemodialysis, resulting from high rates of erythrocyte lysis and loss of blood during the procedure (Vos et al. 2012). This reduction will in turn lead to falsely reduced HbA1c levels and overestimation of glycemic control. Frequent blood transfusions and treatment with iron supplements or erythropoietin-stimulating agents may lead to reduced HbA1c levels, due to enhanced erythropoiesis, which increases the proportion of young erythrocytes with reduced rates of glycation compared to older erythrocytes (Ng et al. 2010; Vos et al. 2012).

Anemia resulting from iron and/or vitamin B deficiency is a common feature in CKD; it is associated with an increased proportion of old erythrocytes, which subsequently increases the levels of HbA1c independent of glycemic effects, thereby underestimating glycemic control (Ng et al. 2010). The high levels of uremia and metabolic acidosis in CKD are associated with increased formation of carbamylated hemoglobin, which cannot be distinguished from HbA1c and thus interferes with HbA1c measurements when using certain analytical methods, such as high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), thereby falsely elevating HbA1c levels (Speeckaert et al. 2014). Moreover, studies have shown that the use of HbA1c for glycemic monitoring in diabetes patients with advanced CKD or on dialysis may be harmful, as it may result in an increased risk of hypoglycemia requiring hospitalization (Hodge et al. 2017). This may be due to reduced insulin clearance by the kidneys, resulting in prolonged insulin function, or by impaired kidney gluconeogenesis and other hypoglycemic agents. As a result of these factors, HbA1c values might not reflect the variability in glucose levels or the associated risk of complications. Therefore, interpretation of HbA1c levels in the presence of CKD should be performed with caution to avoid under/overestimation of glycemic control status.

Although clinical evidence suggest that establishing lower HbA1c levels by intensive glycemic control can prevent or delay the development of microvascular complications, reduce the risk of ESKD (Wong et al. 2016), and reduce the risk of morbidity and mortality in diabetic individuals on dialysis (Lee et al. 2016), other trials have shown that intensive glycemic control was associated with increased risk of CVD-related death and all-cause mortality in diabetes patients with CKD (early stages) when compared to those with normal kidney function (ACCORD Study Group 2008). Moreover, others found that intensive glycemic control had no

beneficial effect in preventing or delaying cardiovascular complications in patients with both diabetes and CKD (Patel et al. 2008). Despite the doubt surrounding the use of HbA1c in CKD, the ADA and Federal Drug Association (FDA) still recommend the use of HbA1c as a conventional marker of long-term glycemic control with HbA1c target value of <7% to prevent or delay progression to micro- and macro-vascular complications in diabetes patients with or without CKD (American Diabetes Association 2016). Continuous glucose monitoring (CGM) has recently been recommended as an alternative marker for glycemic control monitoring in cases where HbA1c levels are uncertain, such as in the presence of CKD (Navaneethan et al. 2021). However, CGM is costly for clinical routine use and cumbersome to perform in individuals on dialysis (Navaneethan et al. 2021).

Other studies have investigated glycated proteins, primarily GA, as an alternative marker for the assessment of glycemic control in patients receiving dialysis or those with diabetes or advanced CKD (Table 1). Vos and colleagues assessed the markers of glycemic control in diabetes patients with CKD stage 4 or 5 and found that GA reflected glycemic control more accurately than fructosamine in diabetes patients with advanced CKD, whereas HbA1c showed poor correlation with mean blood glucose concentration (Vos et al. 2012). Similarly, Bellia et al. (2019) assessed the capability of HbA1c and GA to evaluate long-term glycemic control in diabetes patients with advanced CKD stage 4 or 5 with severe anemia and found that GA was the best marker (Bellia et al. 2019).

GA and Dialysis

Dialysis is the process of removing wastes and surplus water from the blood. This process is generally performed on patients with compromised kidney function. Hemodialysis uses a machine or artificial kidney, involves blood vessel access via the arm, and is often performed for patients without residual renal function. Peritoneal dialysis involves the use of the peritoneal membrane as a filter and is generally recommended for younger patients (Vadakedath and Kandi 2017). Hemodialysis replaces the functions of the kidney, but only to a certain extent, via diffusion and ultrafiltration (Vadakedath and Kandi 2017). CKD occurs over months to years and may progress to ESKD. These patients then require toxin removal, as kidney functions have decreased to ineffective levels. Prior to dialysis treatment, kidney function must be assessed to determine functionality. CKD can be diagnosed by assessing kidney function through the measurement of blood urea nitrogen or serum creatinine, a protein degradation byproduct, which estimates the glomerular filtration rate (GFR) (Vadakedath and Kandi 2017). Dialysis is typically recommended when the GFR falls below 15 mL/min/1.73 m². During dialysis, wastes and excess water are removed using a dialyzer and external filter containing a semi-permeable membrane. A counter-current flow gradient is then created to separate wastes, with blood flowing in one direction and dialyzer fluid flowing in the opposite direction. Solute particles diffuse across the membrane, and waste products (urea and creatinine) diffuse down the concentration gradient into the dialysate. Hemodialysis requires

Author	Country	Study cohort	Assov	Outcomo
Inaba et al. (2007)	Japan	1731 individuals (828 hemodialysis patients, 538 hemodialysis patients with type 2 DM and 365 patients with type 2 DM and normal kidney function)	Casual plasma glucose, HbA1c and GA	GA was a better marker for assessment of glycemic control in hemodialysis patients with diabetes, while HbA1c underestimated glycemic control in this population
Vos et al. (2012)	New Zealand	Diabetes patients with CKD stage 4 and 5 or on dialysis	HbA1c, GA, and fructosamine	GA reflected glycemic control more accurately than fructosamine and HbA1c in diabetes patients on dialysis
Bellia et al. (2019)	Italy	81 CKD patients at stage 4 or 5, patients with moderate or severe anemia	GA, HbA1c, and fasting plasma glucose	GA was a better marker for evaluating glycemic control in diabetes patients with severe anemia, whereas HbA1c showed no association with fasting plasma glucose in these patients
Hanai et al. (2020)	Japan	841 chronic hemodialysis patients with diabetes, followed up for 3.1 years	HbA1c and GA	GA was a better predictor of all-cause and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease mortality when compared to HbA1c in this population
Peacock et al. (2008)	USA	258 hemodialysis patients with DM and 49 diabetes patients with normal kidney function	HbA1c, CGM, and GA	GA reflects glycemic control more accurately in hemodialysis patients, while HbA1c underestimated glycemic control status
Hayashi et al. (2016)	Japan	41 type 2 DM patients on hemodialysis and 56 type 2 DM patients with normal kidney function	CGM, HbA1c, and GA	HbA1c was a superior marker for glycemic control monitoring in diabetes individuals on hemodialysis as compared to GA
Copur et al. (2021)	USA	1665 diabetes patients (without CKD (724), with moderate (464), severe (268) and very severe CKD (268))	HbA1c, GA, and fructosamine	GA or fructosamine showed no additional advantage over HbA1c for glycemic monitoring in diabetes patients with severe CKD

Table 1 Observational studies assessing alternative markers for glycemic control monitoring in patients with diabetes or advanced CKD or receiving dialysis

surgical access to large blood vessels and poses several additional health risks to patients, such as risk of infection and further inflammation (Murea et al. 2019).

Chronic inflammation is known to disrupt kidney function and promote accumulation of toxins, leading to ESKD. Dialysis may assist the kidney in regaining functionality by removing these toxins (Vadakedath and Kandi 2017). However, inflammation contributes to oxidative stress in dialysis patients. The dialysis membrane can become permeable to granulocytes, as it is subjected to interaction with IgG and complement components, initiating an immunological response. Granulocytes then promote ROS release. The kidney then activates macrophages and glomerular cells, resulting in further free radical production, which can eventually lead to multi-organ failure and death. The excessive production of ROS subsequently affects DM and CVDs, requiring increased intervention and therapeutic options for patients (Vadakedath and Kandi 2017). Many DM patients undergo dialysis due to the development of DKD, a microvascular complication of DM. which can lead to ESKD. HbA1c measurement is currently the gold standard for glycemic control and in monitoring the progression of DKD in DM patients. However, the use of HbA1c is flawed in patients with CKD (Copur et al. 2021), as they often present with anemia, vitamin or iron deficiencies, and reduced half-life of erythrocytes, which directly affect glycation of hemoglobin and may produce entirely unreliable results (Inaba et al. 2007). Glycated albumin has been recommended as an improved alternative to the use of HbA1c, especially for dialysis patients with DM. GA can be used as a biomarker to monitor and screen for DM and has been associated with the prediction of long-term disease outcomes (Freitas et al. 2017). HbA1c measurement is influenced by hemoglobin metabolism and is thus not recommended in certain clinical conditions due to interference in result interpretation (Sacks et al. 2002). However, fructosamine or GA levels are not affected by the concentration of other serum proteins and are specific to albumin glycation rates. HbA1c is further affected by hemolytic processes, while GA is not. This is of particular interest regarding patients with anemia or other hemoglobinopathies, as well as pregnant patients (Kim et al. 2010). DM or gestational DM patients would benefit from glycemic monitoring using GA, as opposed to HbA1c, since GA is not influenced by reduced iron levels toward the third trimester (Hashimoto et al. 2010). Therefore, GA is the preferred alternative to HbA1c during conditions that disrupt erythrocyte half-life or the structures and characteristics of hemoglobin (Fig. 5) (Freitas et al. 2017).

In patients with DM and CKD, HbA1c may not be entirely reliable, since patients may present with erythropoietin deficiency, develop anemia, or require blood transfusions, all of which will affect accurate HbA1c readings. During increased proteinuria, often seen in CKD, serum albumin levels are reduced and may produce inaccurate GA results. However, GA is measured as a ratio of glycated to total albumin, which may improve result accuracy during proteinuria (Danese et al. 2015). Thus, test choice is crucial for glycemic monitoring. GA sensitivity is considered better than that of HbA1c, since GA formation occurs over 2–4 weeks, while HbA1c formation occurs across the life span of erythrocytes (Koga 2014). This enhances GA sensitivity to alterations in blood glucose levels, which is



Fig. 5 Metabolic diseases and glycation products. Schematic indicating the relationships between chronic kidney disease, dialysis, diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, and glycation products (in relation to iron levels)

beneficial for monitoring and controlling DM treatment efficacy, such as drugs or insulin doses, as GA levels are influenced faster than HbA1c levels (Hsu et al. 2015).

HbA1c was assessed in hemodialysis patients, with GA and CGM used as references, and results showed that HbA1c measurements underestimated mean blood glucose levels in these patients (Peacock et al. 2008). Studies have found reduced erythrocyte life span in hemodialysis patients, which translates to reduced HbA1c measurements due to glycation occurring throughout the life span of erythrocytes (Vos et al. 2011), while the degree of GA indicates the mean blood glucose levels for the previous 3 weeks. Hematological factors that affect HbA1c readings do not affect that of GA; therefore, GA is considered more accurate and reliable for patients undergoing dialysis (Yajima et al. 2017). However, the hepatic turnover of albumin and albumin synthesis during proteinuria must be considered prior to interpretation of results (Okada et al. 2011). Peacock et al. conducted a study involving 307 diabetic subjects, 258 of which were undergoing dialysis and 49 without renal disease. These results indicated that dialysis significantly impacted HbA1c levels but did not impact the concentration of GA (Peacock et al. 2008). GA measurements accurately reflected glucose homeostasis in diabetic patients undergoing hemodialysis, while HbA1c levels underestimated glycemic control (Peacock et al. 2008). Several studies have agreed with the findings of Peacock et al., indicating that GA measurements are far superior in assessing glycemic control in diabetes patients receiving hemodialysis (Inaba et al. 2007; Gan et al. 2018).

In advanced glycation stages, oxidative and irreversible events produce stable, heterogenous compounds known as AGEs, which in turn increase oxidative stress and promote inflammatory cascades by activating NF κ B (Freitas et al. 2017). Inflammatory kidney conditions are further exacerbated by these processes, which severely impact dialysis patients. Therefore, GA has been proposed as a biomarker of disease progression and disease outcomes, since GA is a precursor to AGEs and may increase oxidative stress, inflammation, and growth factor release (Cohen 2003;

Tan et al. 2007; Jun et al. 2018). GA may further serve as a potential treatment target for kidney disease in DM patients receiving dialysis. Furthermore, GA levels can also predict all-cause mortality in these patients. Research has shown that increased GA levels are better predictors of cardiovascular disease events and all-cause and cardiovascular mortality compared to HbA1c (Copur et al. 2021).

Taken together, research has clearly demonstrated the potential that GA measurement holds to aid in glycemic control for DM patients, especially those undergoing dialysis. GA may further be used to monitor treatment efficacy and disease progression, as well as predict the risks of future events. The role of GA should be investigated further at various CKD stages and observed in patients with DM and CKD at all stages of the disease. Further research is required involving dialysis patients across varying ethnicities and geographic locations.

Challenges and Pitfalls in the Measurement of Glycated Albumin

The vast differences in the methods used to measure GA present the possibility of measuring different glycation sites. This lack of standardization of GA determination methods presents a challenge, as inter-study findings may be difficult to compare if different methods were used to determine GA levels. Besides these methods being labor-intensive, making them difficult to adopt for routine use, they are also not available in most laboratories, further precluding their adoption for routine use in the laboratory measurement of GA (Furusyo and Hayashi 2013).

The early detection of a sustained increased in blood glucose is important, as corrective measures can be timeously implemented and complications due to chronic hyperglycemia can be avoided. In contrast to HbA1c, the short half-life of GA makes it a suitable biomarker for this purpose. In addition, it is not affected by RBC survival and hemoglobin metabolism disorders. However, in individuals with diseases like hypothyroidism, where the protein turnover is low, the measurement of GA as a glycemic control indicator may produce misleading results as the degree of glycation is influenced by low protein levels and may not mirror blood glucose concentrations (Furusyo and Hayashi 2013).

Previously, the use of GA as a biomarker of hyperglycemia was hampered by the lack of clearly defined cutoff values and RIs, as large-scale clinical trials to that effect had yet to be conducted (George and Erasmus 2018). However, more recently, more community-centric work has been conducted to mitigate this shortcoming. Using an enzymatic method to measure GA levels in healthy individuals in South Africa, Matsha and colleagues reported a RI of 10.7–15.2% for GA, noting the confounding effects of body mass index (BMI), sex, and ethnicity on the RI values (Matsha et al. 2019). Interestingly, these findings were echoed in a similar study conducted in the USA, where a RI of 10.1–15.1% was reported, citing BMI, sex, and race as confounding factors (Selvin et al. 2018). However, because of the population-centric nature of these RIs for GA, their applicability for clinical use remains a challenge.

Conclusions, Limitations, and Recommendations

In summary, glycated albumin has many advantages for glycemic monitoring, either as an alternative to or used in conjunction with HbA1c measurements. GA can be used to measure mean glycemia and evaluate glycemic variations, with greater sensitivity and reliability than HbA1c. GA exhibits rapid production and turnover for short-term and transient glucose monitoring, as well as treatment monitoring (Freitas et al. 2017), and GA measurement is recommended for hemodialysis patients. Interestingly, ethnic diversity plays a role in the successful use of GA in glycemic monitoring (Selvin et al. 2011). Further research is required to determine factors that interfere with GA values and to what extent. With the development of new, more standardized tests, the use of GA as a measure of glycemic control is becoming more appealing, especially in certain patients where the use of HbA1c is inaccurate and unreliable, such as patients that are pregnant, undergoing dialysis, or presenting with hemoglobinopathies. GA tests are becoming more affordable and require fewer specialized laboratory equipment. The methodology, kits, and protocols used for GA measurements should be investigated further to streamline and standardize testing procedures. Additionally, standardized, internationally accepted RIs and cutoff values are required to promote the use of GA measurement in diabetes.

Applications to Prognosis and Other Diseases and Conditions

Herein, we review the functions and uses of glycated albumin, including advantages and disadvantages of its use in patients with diabetes. We compare the differences between glycated albumin and glycated hemoglobin and their uses in glycemic control in patients with diabetes, and kidney and cardiovascular diseases. We discuss the limitations and advantages associated with using glycated albumin measurements while considering the influence of hemoglobinopathies, iron deficiency, and pregnancy. We further explore the use of glycated albumin as a biomarker to monitor glycemic control and optimize treatment options for patients with diabetes and other associated diseases, including chronic kidney disease, end-stage kidney disease, micro- and macrovascular illnesses, and cardiovascular complications. The use of glycated albumin is preferred in patients with hemoglobinopathies and those receiving dialysis, as the results are reliable and more accurate compared to the use of glycated hemoglobin alone for glycemic monitoring (Peacock et al. 2008; Ribeiro et al. 2016). Conditions that disrupt albumin metabolism, such as thyroid disorders, kidney disease, proteinuria, and liver cirrhosis, influence glycated albumin results. Further, age, obesity, triglyceride levels, inflammatory conditions, and smoking may affect GA levels (Danese et al. 2015). Further research is required to completely verify and standardize this method of glycemic control.

Key Facts of Glycated Albumin

- GA is formed as a result of glucose binding to albumin during elevated blood glucose circulation.
- GA has been proposed to replace or complement conventional testing measures for diabetes.
- With a half-life of 21 days, GA can be used as an indicator of shortterm glycemic control, crucial for risk assessment and implementation of interventions.
- Benefits of its measure have also been observed in diabetes-associated complications, such as CKD, particularly in persons on dialysis.
- Despite growing promise, the lack of standardization is a hindrance for routine use of GA for screening and monitoring purposes.

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

- *Glycation:* nonenzymatic attachment of a carbohydrate to other biological molecules, such as proteins or lipids
- Advanced glycation end products: biomolecules (lipids, proteins) that become glycated due to long-term exposure to reducing sugars
- *Pharmacodynamics:* the effects of a drug on the body
- · Hemoglobinopathies: diseases affecting red blood cells
- *Hemodialysis:* the artificial removal of wastes from the blood via an artificial kidney, in patients with kidney failure

Summary Points

- Albumin is an important component of blood and functions in various body processes that are essential for life.
- States of increased circulating glucose, such as diabetes, promote reactions between sugar and albumin, subsequently producing GA.
- Measuring GA has been touted as more efficient than HbA1c in short-term glycemic monitoring due to its faster turnover, and it remains uninfluenced by factors that affect HbA1c accuracy.
- GA has proven efficiency in glycemic monitoring in patients with end-stage kidney disease and patients receiving dialysis.
- Currently, the determination of reference intervals for GA hinders its clinical applicability in blood glucose monitoring.
- HbA1c remains the more universally accepted biomarker, although the use of GA is gaining impetus, particularly in Japan.
References

- ACCORD Study Group. Effects of intensive glucose lowering in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2008;358:2545–59. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0802743.
- Afkarian M, Sachs MC, Kestenbaum B, et al. Kidney disease and increased mortality risk in type 2 diabetes. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2013;24:302–8. https://doi.org/10.1681/ASN.2012070718.
- American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care for patients with diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Care. 1989;12:365–8. https://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.12.5.365.
- American Diabetes Association. Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Care. 2014;37(Suppl 1):S81–90. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc14-S081.
- American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care in diabetes 2016 abridged for primary care providers. Clin Diabetes. 2016;34:3–21. https://doi.org/10.2337/diaclin.34.1.3.
- Anguizola J, Matsuda R, Barnaby OS, et al. Review: glycation of human serum albumin. Clin Chim Acta. 2013;425:64–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cca.2013.07.013.
- Arasteh A, Farahi S, Habibi-Rezaei M, Moosavi-Movahedi AA. Glycated albumin: an overview of the in vitro models of an in vivo potential disease marker. J Diabetes Metab Disord. 2014;13:49. https://doi.org/10.1186/2251-6581-13-49.
- Bansal N, Katz R, Robinson-Cohen C, et al. Absolute rates of heart failure, coronary heart disease, and stroke in chronic kidney disease: an analysis of 3 community-based cohort studies. JAMA Cardiol. 2017;2:314–8. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamacardio.2016.4652.
- Baynes HW. Classification, pathophysiology, diagnosis and management of diabetes mellitus. J Diabetes Metab. 2015;6:541. https://doi.org/10.4172/2155-6156.1000541.
- Bellia C, Cosma C, Lo Sasso B, et al. Glycated albumin as a glycaemic marker in patients with advanced chronic kidney disease and anaemia: a preliminary report. Scand J Clin Lab Invest. 2019;79:293–7. https://doi.org/10.1080/00365513.2019.1613673.
- Bikbov B, Purcell CA, Levey AS, et al. Global, regional, and national burden of chronic kidney disease, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet. 2020;395:709–33.
- Bloomgarden ZT, Inzucchi SE, Karnieli E, Le Roith D. The proposed terminology "A(1c)-derived average glucose" is inherently imprecise and should not be adopted. Diabetologia. 2008;51: 1111–4. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-008-1027-7.
- Bourdon E, Loreau N, Blache D. Glucose and free radicals impair the antioxidant properties of serum albumin. FASEB J. 1999;13:233–44. https://doi.org/10.1096/fasebj.13.2.233.
- Burrows NR, Hora I, Geiss LS, et al. Incidence of end-stage renal disease attributed to diabetes among persons with diagnosed diabetes – United States and Puerto Rico, 2000–2014. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2017;66:1165–70. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6643a2.
- Carter DC, He XM, Munson SH, et al. Three-dimensional structure of human serum albumin. Science. 1989;244:1195–8. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.2727704.
- Chume FC, Kieling MH, Correa Freitas PA, et al. Glycated albumin as a diagnostic tool in diabetes: an alternative or an additional test? PLoS One. 2019;14:e0227065. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0227065.
- Cohen MP. Intervention strategies to prevent pathogenetic effects of glycated albumin. Arch Biochem Biophys. 2003;419:25–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.abb.2003.08.012.
- Copur S, Siriopol D, Afsar B, et al. Serum glycated albumin predicts all-cause mortality in dialysis patients with diabetes mellitus: meta-analysis and systematic review of a predictive biomarker. Acta Diabetol. 2021;58:81–91. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00592-020-01581-x.
- Danese E, Montagnana M, Nouvenne A, Lippi G. Advantages and pitfalls of fructosamine and glycated albumin in the diagnosis and treatment of diabetes. J Diabetes Sci Technol. 2015;9: 169–76. https://doi.org/10.1177/1932296814567227.
- Davidson MB, Schriger DL. Effect of age and race/ethnicity on HbA1c levels in people without known diabetes mellitus: implications for the diagnosis of diabetes. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2010;87:415–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2009.12.013.

- Dorcely B, Katz K, Jagannathan R, et al. Novel biomarkers for prediabetes, diabetes, and associated complications. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes. 2017;10:345–61. https://doi.org/10.2147/DMSO. S100074.
- Florkowski C. HbA1c as a diagnostic test for diabetes mellitus reviewing the evidence. Clin Biochem Rev. 2013;34:75–83.
- Freitas PAC, Ehlert LR, Camargo JL. Glycated albumin: a potential biomarker in diabetes. Arch Endocrinol Metab. 2017;61:296–304. https://doi.org/10.1590/2359-3997000000272.
- Furusyo N, Hayashi J. Glycated albumin and diabetes mellitus. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2013;1830: 5509–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2013.05.010.
- Furusyo N, Koga T, Ai M, et al. Utility of glycated albumin for the diagnosis of diabetes mellitus in a Japanese population study: results from the Kyushu and Okinawa Population Study (KOPS). Diabetologia. 2011;54:3028–36. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00125-011-2310-6.
- Gajahi Soudahome A, Catan A, Giraud P, et al. Glycation of human serum albumin impairs binding to the glucagon-like peptide-1 analogue liraglutide. J Biol Chem. 2018;293:4778–91. https:// doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M117.815274.
- Gan T, Liu X, Xu G. Glycated albumin versus HbA1c in the evaluation of glycemic control in patients with diabetes and CKD. Kidney Int Rep. 2018;3:542–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ekir. 2017.11.009.
- George JA, Erasmus RT. Haemoglobin A1c or glycated albumin for diagnosis and monitoring diabetes: an African perspective. Indian J Clin Biochem. 2018;33:255–61. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s12291-018-0755-9.
- Goldin A, Beckman JA, Schmidt AM, Creager MA. Advanced glycation end products. Circulation. 2006;114:597–605. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.621854.
- Hamilton JA. Albumin. In: AccessScience. McGraw-Hill Education. 2021. https://doi.org/10.1036/ 1097-8542.021100. https://www.accessscience.com/content/albumin/021100.
- Hanai K, Akamatsu M, Fujimori A, et al. Usefulness of glycated albumin as a predictor of mortality in chronic hemodialysis patients with diabetes: a multi-center, prospective cohort study. Ren Replace Ther. 2020;6:17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41100-020-00264-1.
- Hashimoto K, Osugi T, Noguchi S, et al. A1C but not serum glycated albumin is elevated because of iron deficiency in late pregnancy in diabetic women. Diabetes Care. 2010;33:509–11. https:// doi.org/10.2337/dc09-1954.
- Hayashi A, Takano K, Masaki T, et al. Distinct biomarker roles for HbA(1c) and glycated albumin in patients with type 2 diabetes on hemodialysis. J Diabetes Complicat. 2016;30:1494–9. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2016.08.015.
- He XM, Carter DC. Atomic structure and chemistry of human serum albumin. Nature. 1992;358: 209–15. https://doi.org/10.1038/358209a0.
- Hirst JA, Stevens RJ, Farmer AJ. Changes in HbA1c level over a 12-week follow-up in patients with type 2 diabetes following a medication change. PLoS One. 2014;9:e92458. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0092458.
- Hodge M, McArthur E, Garg AX, et al. Hypoglycemia incidence in older adults by estimated GFR. Am J kidney Dis. 2017;70:59–68. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.ajkd.2016.11.019.
- Hsu P, Ai M, Kanda E, et al. A comparison of glycated albumin and glycosylated hemoglobin for the screening of diabetes mellitus in Taiwan. Atherosclerosis. 2015;242:327–33. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2015.07.037.
- Ikezaki H, Furusyo N, Ihara T, et al. Glycated albumin as a diagnostic tool for diabetes in a general Japanese population. Metabolism. 2015;64:698–705. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2015. 03.003.
- Inaba M, Okuno S, Kumeda Y, et al. Glycated albumin is a better glycemic indicator than glycated hemoglobin values in hemodialysis patients with diabetes: effect of anemia and erythropoietin injection. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2007;18:896–903. https://doi.org/10.1681/ ASN.2006070772.
- International Diabetes Federation. IDF diabetes atlas. 9th ed. Brussels: International Diabetes Federation; 2019.

- Jeppsson J-O, Kobold U, Barr J, et al. Approved IFCC reference method for the measurement of HbA1c in human blood. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2002;40:78–89. https://doi.org/10.1515/CCLM. 2002.016.
- Jun JE, Hur KY, Lee Y-B, et al. Glycated albumin predicts the development of early diabetic nephropathy in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Metab. 2018;44:178–80.
- Kim C, Bullard KM, Herman WH, Beckles GL. Association between iron deficiency and A1C levels among adults without diabetes in the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1999–2006. Diabetes Care. 2010;33:780–5. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc09-0836.
- Kirk JK, D'Agostino RBJ, Bell RA, et al. Disparities in HbA1c levels between African-American and non-Hispanic white adults with diabetes: a meta-analysis. Diabetes Care. 2006;29:2130–6. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc05-1973.
- Klonoff DC. Hemoglobinopathies and hemoglobin A1c in diabetes mellitus. J Diabetes Sci Technol. 2020;14:3-7.
- Koga M. Glycated albumin; clinical usefulness. Clin Chim Acta. 2014;433:96–104. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cca.2014.03.001.
- Koga M, Saito H, Mukai M, et al. Influence of iron metabolism indices on glycated haemoglobin but not glycated albumin levels in premenopausal women. Acta Diabetol. 2010;47(Suppl 1):65– 9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00592-009-0123-6.
- Kohei KAK. Pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes and its treatment policy. Jpn Med Assoc J. 2010;53:41-6.
- Kohzuma T, Yamamoto T, Uematsu Y, et al. Basic performance of an enzymatic method for glycated albumin and reference range determination. J Diabetes Sci Technol. 2011;5:1455–62. https://doi.org/10.1177/193229681100500619.
- Kouzuma T, Usami T, Yamakoshi M, et al. An enzymatic method for the measurement of glycated albumin in biological samples. Clin Chim Acta. 2002;324:61–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0009-8981(02)00207-3.
- Kragh-Hansen U, Watanabe H, Nakajou K, et al. Chain length-dependent binding of fatty acid anions to human serum albumin studied by site-directed mutagenesis. J Mol Biol. 2006;363: 702–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2006.08.056.
- Lee MJ, Kwon YE, Park KS, et al. Glycemic control modifies difference in mortality risk between hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis in incident dialysis patients with diabetes: results from a nationwide prospective cohort in Korea. Medicine. 2016;95:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1097/MD. 00000000003118.
- Little RR, Sacks DB. HbA1c: how do we measure it and what does it mean? Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes. 2009;16:113–8. https://doi.org/10.1097/MED.0b013e328327728d.
- Liyanage T, Ninomiya T, Jha V, et al. Worldwide access to treatment for end-stage kidney disease: a systematic review. Lancet. 2015;385:1975–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14) 61601-9.
- Matsha TE, Korf M, Erasmus RT, et al. Reference interval determination for glycated albumin in defined subgroups of a South African population. Ann Clin Biochem. 2019;56:480–7. https:// doi.org/10.1177/0004563219847234.
- Murea M, Geary RL, Davis RP, Moossavi S. Vascular access for hemodialysis: a perpetual challenge. Semin Dial. 2019;32:527–34. https://doi.org/10.1111/sdi.12828.
- Nathan DM, McGee P, Steffes MW, et al. Relationship of glycated albumin to blood glucose and HbA1c values and to retinopathy, nephropathy, and cardiovascular outcomes in the DCCT/ EDIC study. Diabetes. 2014;63:282. https://doi.org/10.2337/DB13-0782.
- Navaneethan SD, Zoungas S, Caramori ML, et al. Diabetes management in chronic kidney disease: synopsis of the 2020 KDIGO clinical practice guideline. Ann Intern Med. 2021;174:385–94.
- Ng JM, Cooke M, Bhandari S, et al. The effect of iron and erythropoietin treatment on the A1C of patients with diabetes and chronic kidney disease. Diabetes Care. 2010;33:2310–3. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc10-0917.
- Nowotny K, Jung T, Höhn A, et al. Advanced glycation end products and oxidative stress in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Biomolecules. 2015;5:194–222. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom5010194.

- Okada T, Nakao T, Matsumoto H, et al. Influence of proteinuria on glycated albumin values in diabetic patients with chronic kidney disease. Intern Med. 2011;50:23–9. https://doi.org/10. 2169/internalmedicine.50.4129.
- Parrinello CM, Selvin E. Beyond HbA1c and glucose: the role of nontraditional glycemic markers in diabetes diagnosis, prognosis, and management. Curr Diab Rep. 2014;14:548. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11892-014-0548-3.
- Patel A, Mac Mahon S, Chalmers J, et al. Intensive blood glucose control and vascular outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2008;358:2560–72. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa0802987.
- Peacock TP, Shihabi ZK, Bleyer AJ, et al. Comparison of glycated albumin and hemoglobin A (1c) levels in diabetic subjects on hemodialysis. Kidney Int. 2008;73:1062–8. https://doi.org/10. 1038/ki.2008.25.
- Peer N, George J, Lombard C, et al. Associations of glycated albumin and fructosamine with glycaemic status in urban black South Africans. Clin Chim Acta. 2021;519:291–7. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cca.2021.05.014.
- Peppa M, Uribarri J, Vlassara H. Glucose, advanced glycation end products, and diabetes complications: what is new and what works. Clin Diabetes. 2003;21:186–7. https://doi.org/10.2337/ diaclin.21.4.186.
- Punthakee Z, Goldenberg R, Katz P. Definition, classification and diagnosis of diabetes, prediabetes and metabolic syndrome. Can J Diabetes. 2018;42(Suppl 1):S10–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jcjd.2017.10.003.
- Rahbar S, Blumenfeld O, Ranney HM. Studies of an unusual hemoglobin in patients with diabetes mellitus. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1969;36:838–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-291x (69)90685-8.
- Ribeiro RT, Macedo MP, Raposo JF. HbA1c, fructosamine, and glycated albumin in the detection of dysglycaemic conditions. Curr Diabetes Rev. 2016;12:14–9. https://doi.org/10.2174/ 1573399811666150701143112.
- Rondeau P, Bourdon E. The glycation of albumin: structural and functional impacts. Biochimie. 2011;93:645–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biochi.2010.12.003.
- Sacks DB, Bruns DE, Goldstein DE, et al. Guidelines and recommendations for laboratory analysis in the diagnosis and management of diabetes mellitus. Clin Chem. 2002;48:436–72.
- Sacks DB, Arnold M, Bakris GL, et al. Guidelines and recommendations for laboratory analysis in the diagnosis and management of diabetes mellitus. Clin Chem. 2011;57:e1–e47. https://doi. org/10.1373/clinchem.2010.161596.
- Selvin E, Steffes MW, Ballantyne CM, et al. Racial differences in glycemic markers: a crosssectional analysis of community-based data. Ann Intern Med. 2011;154:303–9. https://doi.org/ 10.7326/0003-4819-154-5-201103010-00004.
- Selvin E, Rawlings AM, Grams M, et al. Fructosamine and glycated albumin for risk stratification and prediction of incident diabetes and microvascular complications: a prospective cohort analysis of the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) study. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2014;2:279–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(13)70199-2.
- Selvin E, Warren B, He X, et al. Establishment of community-based reference intervals for fructosamine, glycated albumin, and 1,5-anhydroglucitol. Clin Chem. 2018;64:843–50. https://doi.org/10.1373/clinchem.2017.285742.
- Shaklai N, Garlick RL, Bunn HF. Nonenzymatic glycosylation of human serum albumin alters its conformation and function. J Biol Chem. 1984;259:3812–7.
- Singh VP, Bali A, Singh N, Jaggi AS. Advanced glycation end products and diabetic complications. Korean J Physiol Pharmacol. 2014;18:1–14. https://doi.org/10.4196/kjpp.2014.18.1.1.
- Speeckaert M, Van Biesen W, Delanghe J, et al. Are there better alternatives than haemoglobin A1c to estimate glycaemic control in the chronic kidney disease population? Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2014;29:2167–77. https://doi.org/10.1093/ndt/gfu006.
- Stolk RP, Orchard TJ, Grobbee DE. Why use the oral glucose tolerance test? Diabetes Care. 1995;18:1045–9. https://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.18.7.1045.

- Takahashi S, Uchino H, Shimizu T, et al. Comparison of glycated albumin (GA) and glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) in type 2 diabetic patients: usefulness of GA for evaluation of short-term changes in glycemic control. Endocr J. 2007;54:139–44. https://doi.org/10.1507/endocrj. k06-103.
- Tan ALY, Forbes JM, Cooper ME. AGE, RAGE, and ROS in diabetic nephropathy. Semin Nephrol. 2007;27:130–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semnephrol.2007.01.006.
- Ueda Y, Matsumoto H. Recent topics in chemical and clinical research on glycated albumin. J Diabetes Sci Technol. 2015;9:177–82. https://doi.org/10.1177/1932296814567225.
- UKPDS Group. Intensive blood-glucose control with sulphonylureas or insulin compared with conventional treatment and risk of complications in patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 33). UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) Group. Lancet. 1998;352:837–53.
- Vadakedath S, Kandi V. Dialysis: a review of the mechanisms underlying complications in the management of chronic renal failure. Cureus. 2017;9:e1603. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus. 1603.
- Vos FE, Schollum JB, Coulter CV, et al. Red blood cell survival in long-term dialysis patients. Am J kidney Dis. 2011;58:591–8. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.ajkd.2011.03.031.
- Vos FE, Schollum JB, Coulter CV, et al. Assessment of markers of glycaemic control in diabetic patients with chronic kidney disease using continuous glucose monitoring. Nephrology. 2012;17:182–8. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1797.2011.01517.x.
- Welsh KJ, Kirkman MS, Sacks DB. Role of glycated proteins in the diagnosis and management of diabetes: research gaps and future directions. Diabetes Care. 2016;39:1299–306. https://doi.org/ 10.2337/dc15-2727.
- Wong MG, Perkovic V, Chalmers J, et al. Long-term benefits of intensive glucose control for preventing end-stage kidney disease: ADVANCE-ON. Diabetes Care. 2016;39:694–700.
- World Health Organization. Use of glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) in diagnosis of diabetes mellitus: abbreviated report of a WHO consultation. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011.
- Yajima T, Yajima K, Hayashi M, et al. Serum albumin-adjusted glycated albumin as a better indicator of glycemic control in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients with short duration of hemodialysis. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2017;130:148–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres. 2017.05.020.
- Yoshiuchi K, Matsuhisa M, Katakami N, et al. Glycated albumin is a better indicator for glucose excursion than glycated hemoglobin in type 1 and type 2 diabetes. Endocr J. 2008;55:503–7. https://doi.org/10.1507/endocrj.k07e-089.
- Zemlin AE, Matsha TE, Hassan MS, Erasmus RT. HbA1c of 6.5% to diagnose diabetes mellitus does it work for us? – the Bellville South Africa study. PLoS One. 2011;6:e22558. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0022558.
- Zemlin AE, Barkhuizen M, Kengne AP, et al. Performance of glycated albumin for type 2 diabetes and prediabetes diagnosis in a South African population. Clin Chim Acta. 2019;488:122–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cca.2018.11.005.
- Ziyadeh FN, Cohen MP. Effects of glycated albumin on mesangial cells: evidence for a role in diabetic nephropathy. Mol Cell Biochem. 1993;125:19–25. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF00926830.

Part III

Genetic, Molecular, and Cellular Variables



Epigenetics and 5-Hydroxymethylcytosines **25** as a Biomarker in Type 2 Diabetes

Chang Zeng and Wei Zhang

Contents

Introduction	543
Novel Epigenetic Modifications beyond DNA Methylation	544
Technical Advances Enable Discovery of Hydroxymethylation Biomarkers	546
TAB-Seq	546
oxBS-Seq	547
The 5hmC as Novel Epigenetic Biomarkers for T2D Complications	549
Vascular Complications	549
Diabetic Retinopathy	551
Diabetic Nephropathy	553
Conclusions	554
Applications to Prognosis	555
Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions	555
Mini-Dictionary of Terms	555
Key Facts of Diabetic Complications	556
Summary Points	556
References	556

Abstract

Type 2 diabetes (T2D) is a lifelong chronic condition that impairs the body's normal function of regulating and using sugar (glucose) for energy. Continuous high blood sugar levels will eventually damage vital organs and lead to complications in various systems such as the circulatory, immune, and nervous systems. Complications associated with T2D affect quality of life and are the leading causes of death, thus representing a major public health burden. Considering the complex nature of T2D and complication development, exploiting epigenetic

C. Zeng · W. Zhang (⊠)

Department of Preventive Medicine, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, USA

e-mail: chang.zeng@northwestern.edu; wei.zhang1@northwestern.edu

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 26

modifications holds the promise of detecting powerful biomarkers for the early detection of complications and providing potential targets for therapeutic intervention. Impressively, advances in epigenetic profiling during the past 20 years have allowed biomarker discovery targeting not only 5-methylcytosines (5mC), the most investigated epigenetic system to date, but also novel epigenetic modifications, particularly 5-hydroxymenthylcytosines (5hmC). Notably, the 5hmC are biochemically stable cytosine modifications that show a distinct genomic distribution and gene regulatory function from 5mC. Earlier studies have implicated 5hmC in complex diseases including cancer and cardiovascular diseases and explored their biomarker value using circulating cell-free DNA (cfDNA) derived from plasma. Considering the need for convenient epigenetic tools in clinical applications, in this chapter, we focus our discussion on the most recent advances in detecting 5hmC biomarkers for diabetic complications using a liquid biopsy- (i.e., cfDNA)-based approach. These technical breakthroughs lay the foundation of integrating novel epigenetic biomarkers in the care of T2D patients to improve clinical outcomes.

Keywords

Type 2 diabetes \cdot Diabetic complication \cdot Epigenetics \cdot Biomarker \cdot Methylation \cdot Hydroxymethylation \cdot Liquid biopsy \cdot Cell-free DNA \cdot Diabetic retinopathy \cdot Diabetic nephropathy \cdot Diabetic vascular diseases

Abbreviations

5caC	5-Carboxylcytosine
5fC	5-Formalcytosine
5hmC	5-Hydroxymethylcytosine
5mC	5-Methylcytosine
ALT	Alanine transaminase
AST	Aspartate transaminase
AUC	Area under the curve
BS-Seq	Bisulfite sequencing
BUN	Blood urea nitrogen
cfDNA	Cell-free DNA
DN	Diabetic nephropathy
DR	Diabetic retinopathy
eGFR	Estimated glomerular filtration rate
GFR	Glomerular filtration rate
HbA1c	Glycated hemoglobin
HDL-C	HDL cholesterol
IGF1R	Insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor
IL-10	Interleukin-10
LDL-C	LDL cholesterol
NGS	Next-generation sequencing
NPRD	Non-proliferative diabetic retinopathy

Oxidative bisulfite sequencing
Proliferative diabetic retinopathy
Type 2 diabetes
Tet-assisted bisulfite sequencing

Introduction

Type 2 diabetes (T2D) is a lifelong chronic condition that features the impairment of regulation and use of sugar (glucose) for energy in the human body, with an estimated patient population of approximately 500 million, corresponding to 6-7% of the global population (Khan et al. 2020). Continuous high blood sugar levels, if not controlled, will eventually cause damages to vital organs and lead to complications in various systems such as the circulatory, immune, and nervous systems (Kolluru et al. 2012). T2D-associated complications may affect quality of life and cause death and disability, thus representing a major health burden (Khan et al. 2020). For example, for diabetic retinopathy (DR), a retinal vascular disorder caused by T2D and the leading cause of blindness, a previous epidemiological study indicated that more than four million US adults 40 years and older had DR and 1 of every 12 persons with T2D in this age group may have advanced, vision-threatening retinopathy (Kempen et al. 2004). In comparison, it is estimated that ~25% of diabetic patients will eventually develop diabetic nephropathy (DN), a serious kidney disease that is a leading cause of chronic kidney disease in Western societies (Gheith et al. 2015). As a matter of fact, T2D is responsible for \sim 30–40% of all end-stage renal disease cases in the United States (Umanath and Lewis 2018).

Strikingly, accompanying the trend of adoption of Westernized lifestyle in developing countries and the epidemic of obesity in developed countries, together with an aging population, it is expected that complications associated with T2D will continue to increase substantially as a major public health problem (Deshpande et al. 2008; Wu et al. 2014). Though existing laboratory tests and biomarkers such as proteinuria, GFR (glomerular filtration rate), albumin, and glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) are useful in the diagnosis and monitoring of T2D-associated complications, there are currently no sensitive and specific biomarkers that can predict the early development of T2D-associated complications (Colhoun and Marcovecchio 2018; Galindo et al. 2020; Laakso 2019). Therefore, more powerful and convenient clinical tools that can exploit the complex nature of T2D and the development of complications (Fig. 1), i.e., the pathogenesis of T2D and complications is affected by a variety of genetic and non-genetic factors, are urgently needed (Forbes and Cooper 2013; Reddy and Natarajan 2011; Reddy et al. 2015; Sandholm and Groop 2018). Of particular interest are epigenetic biomarkers, e.g., cytosine modifications, that likely reflect earlier processes in the pathogenesis of T2D-associated complications when the genetics of T2D complications is difficult to define, considering the complexity and heterogeneity of these disorders (Gloyn and Drucker 2018; Kato and Natarajan 2014).



Fig. 1 The complex nature of T2D-associated complications. This figure shows the molecular mechanisms underlying hyperglycemia-induced tissue damage, which is the root cause of T2D-associated complications. High-glucose conditions induce the expression of growth factors, cytokines, advanced glycation end product (AGE), and oxidized products to promote diabetic tissue damage through signaling pathways and epigenetic regulations, which contribute to the progression of T2D-associated complications. For example, hyperglycemia can damage blood vessels and nerves in the peripheral nervous system, causing diseases including but not limited to retinopathy, nephropathy, and neuropathy

Notably, recent progress in liquid biopsy-based clinical tools for diagnosis and prognosis in other human complex diseases including cancer and cardiovascular disease (Heitzer et al. 2017; Rossi and Ignatiadis 2019; Zeng et al. 2019a), such as those based on novel epigenetic information, specifically 5-hydroxymethylcytosines (5hmC) in circulating cell-free DNA (cfDNA) derived from plasma (Figs. 2 and 3), has also opened up exciting opportunities for more effective management of T2D and early detection of T2D-associated complications (Han et al. 2021; Yang et al. 2019). Considering the convenience for future clinical implementation and the robust progress made by the research community during the past several years, in this chapter, we would like to introduce 5hmC and enabling technologies and then focus our discussion on exploiting this emerging epigenetic modification in cfDNA for the early detection of T2D-associated complications. We also provide perspectives for addressing the challenges toward clinical implementation in the field.

Novel Epigenetic Modifications beyond DNA Methylation

DNA methylation, i.e., the methylation of 5'-cytosines in CpG dinucleotides (5-methylcytosines or 5mC) in the human genome, has been the most investigated epigenetic modification (Fig. 2) (Laird 2003). The 5mC has been implicated



Fig. 2 5-Hydroxymethylcytosines are demethylated products of 5-methylcytosines. This figure shows the methylation of the DNA base cytosine to 5-methylcytosine and 5-hydroxymethylcytosine. Cytosine (C) can be methylated by the DNA methyltransferase family enzymes (DNMTs) to become 5-methylcytosine (5mC). Catalyzed by the Ten-Eleven Translocation (TET) family of enzymes, 5mC can be further demethylated to 5-hydroxymethylation (5hmC). Typically in the human genome, 8%–10% of cytosines are methylated, while only 0.4%–1% are hydroxymethylated, depending on tissues and cell states



Fig. 3 Origins of circulating cell-free DNA (cfDNA). This figure shows the tissue origins and production mechanisms of circulating cfDNA. Circulating cfDNA is stable and fragmented cellular DNA released from cells into the bloodstream via mechanisms like apoptosis, necrosis, and active secretion. In healthy individuals, cfDNA is primarily derived from the apoptotic hematopoietic cells, whereas in diseased patients, cfDNA can come from affected tissues and their microenvironment, thus reflecting the epigenetic signatures of the affected tissues and microenvironments

in various biological processes and the pathogenesis of human complex diseases (Gokul and Khosla 2013; Laird 2003; Tost 2009). Conventional bisulfite conversion base microarray platforms or next-generation sequencing (NGS) approaches for 5mC profiling, however, do not distinguish 5mC from other less abundant modified cytosines (Barros-Silva et al. 2018). Therefore, previous studies on "5mC"/"DNA methylation" and complex diseases have limitations in that the findings are not specific to the types of modified cytosines profiled in their samples.

Notably, recent molecular biology indicated that the 5hmC, the second most abundant modified cytosines in the human genome, are biochemically stable epigenetic markers, not simply oxidized intermediate products of the 5mC (Fig. 2) (Branco

et al. 2011; Ito et al. 2011; Tahiliani et al. 2009). Interestingly, the genomic distributions of the 5hmC and 5mC are distinct from each other (Nestor et al. 2012; Zeng et al. 2019b). While the 5mC are known to be enriched in promoters and repress gene expression, the 5hmC are more likely to be located in gene bodies and enhancer markers, thus marking active expression (Han et al. 2016; Song et al. 2012; Zeng et al. 2019b). In addition, a recent analysis of 19 human tissues from 10 organs by Cui et al. shows that the 5hmC modifications are highly tissue specific and associated with genes specifically expressed in different tissues, suggesting the potential of using the 5hmC modifications to reveal whole-body phenotypes, such as a systematic chronic condition like T2D (Cui et al. 2020). Compared to the 5mC, the 5hmC may represent 1-10% of modified cytosines, still offering sufficient interrogative sites in the human genome for biomarker discovery (Fig. 2) (Branco et al. 2011; Nestor et al. 2012; Tahiliani et al. 2009). In contrast, although there are other modified cytosines in the human genome, such as 5fC (5-formalcytosine), these rare modified cytosines are under the detection level of current profiling technologies for clinically feasible biospecimens (Fig. 2) (Branco et al. 2011; Ito et al. 2011). Therefore, to understand the epigenetic mechanisms of complex diseases and exploit epigenetic modifications for their biomarker potential, enabling technologies that can sensitively and robustly profile 5hmC are critical for their clinical implementation (Table 1).

Technical Advances Enable Discovery of Hydroxymethylation Biomarkers

During the past decade, several profiling strategies have been proposed to measure 5hmC modification levels such as the Tet-assisted bisulfite sequencing (TAB-Seq) and oxidative bisulfite sequencing (oxBS-Seq) approaches (Table 1) (Booth et al. 2013; Yu et al. 2012). These two protocols were developed to detect and quantify genome-wide 5hmC at nucleotide resolution through modified sodium bisulfite sequencing (BS-Seq).

TAB-Seq

In the TAB-Seq protocol, 5hmC is first protected by β -glucosyltransferase (β -GT)mediated glucosylation, and the genomic DNA is then treated with a recombinant Tet enzyme followed by sodium bisulfite conversion and PCR amplification. During this process, 5mC is converted to 5caC (5-carboxylcytosine) first and then to uracil (which is read as thymine [T] during sequencing), whereas glycosylated 5hmC remains untouched and reads as C (Yu et al. 2012). Therefore, a direct measurement of 5hmC abundance is gained from a single TAB-Seq run, while, in contrast to TAB-Seq, 5hmC abundance can only be inferred from oxBS-Seq, which will be discussed further thereinafter (Table 1).

Technique	Approach	Platform	Advantages	Disadvantages
Whole-genome TAB-Seq (Yu et al. 2012) (direct measurement) Whole-genome oxBS- Seq (Booth et al. 2012; Booth et al. 2013) (information	Bisulfite conversion- based	NGS	Whole-genome Single nucleotide resolution Absolute methylation value	High sequencing depth required Input >500 ng DNA Computationally expensive
RRBS TAB-Seq (Hahn et al. 2015) (direct measurement) RRBS oxBS-Seq (Skvortsova et al. 2017) (inference)	-		Single nucleotide resolution Absolute methylation value ~60 million PE reads/sample	Lack of coverage in non-CpG island regions
TAB-Array (Nazor et al. 2014) (direct measurement)oxBS-Array (Stewart et al. 2015) (inference)	-	Array	Single nucleotide resolution absolute methylation value cost-effective	Coverage in targeted regions input >500 ng DNA
5hmC-Seal (Song et al. 2011) (direct measurement)	Pull-down	NGS	Input 5 ng DNA (1000 cells) Excellent genomic coverage High specificity for 5hmC ~30 million PE reads/sample	Lower resolution Subjected to enrichment bias

 Table 1 Genome-wide profiling technologies for 5-hydroxymethylation. This table summarizes and compares different genome-wide profiling techniques for 5hmC

oxBS-Seq

In the oxBS-Seq protocol, 5hmC is selectively oxidized to 5fC with an oxidizing agent (Booth et al. 2013). After the subsequent sodium bisulfite treatment of the genomic DNA, 5fC (derived from 5hmC) and cytosine are converted to uracil and read as T, while 5mC remains unchanged and reads as C. Therefore, a direct measurement of 5mC abundance is gained from a single oxBS-Seq run. The abundance of 5hmC is then inferred by subtracting the 5mC abundance from the total 5hmC and 5mC abundance measured from BS-Seq (Table 1) (Booth et al. 2013).

Although the original protocols for the TBA-Seq and oxBS-Seq were for the NGS platforms, both approaches have been implemented in microarrays, e.g., by integrating with the Illumina Infinium arrays to provide the TAB-Array and oxBS-Array (e.g., oxBS-450 K) protocols (Table 1) (Nazor et al. 2014; Stewart et al. 2015). Previous studies using these technologies have explored 5hmC biomarker potential in various diseases such as pancreatic cancer using the TAB-Array and glioblastoma using the oxBS-Array (Table 1) (Johnson et al. 2016; Zeng et al. 2019b).



Fig. 4 The workflow of the 5hmC-Scal assay. This figure shows the general workflow of the 5hmC-Scal, a highly sensitive, chemical selective labeling technique to detect and quantify 5hmC in small amount of DNA. Briefly, purified cfDNA from plasma is ligated with Illumina sequencing adaptors. The 5hmC-containing cfDNA fragments are selectively labeled with a biotin group, followed by capturing on the avidin beads, PCR amplification, and next-generation sequencing (NGS)

Notably, these "gold standard" technologies (i.e., TAB-Seq and oxBS-Seq) require large amount of input DNA materials (e.g., 50–100 ng) that are often prohibitive for precious clinical biospecimens, particularly liquid biopsies like circulating cfDNA samples that feature only a few nanograms of DNA in clinically feasible amount of plasma (e.g., 5–10 mL) (Table 1) (Zeng et al. 2019a). Therefore, more sensitive profiling technologies for limited DNA input are necessary for exploring the biomarker potential of 5hmC in liquid biopsies and will be critical for future implementation in the clinic setting.

Specifically, the nano-hmC-Seal technology (i.e., 5hmC-Seal) was developed for highly sensitive 5hmC profiling taking advantage of the NGS (Table 1) (Fig. 4) (Han et al. 2016; Song et al. 2011). Briefly, cfDNA or fragmented genomic DNA is first repaired and ligated with adaptors. Next, the T4 bacteriophage enzyme β -glucosyltransferase (β -GT) is used to transfer an engineered glucose moiety containing an azide group to 5hmC in duplex DNA. A biotin tag is then installed onto the azide group using Huisgen cycloaddition ("Click") chemistry. Finally, 5hmC-containing DNA fragments with biotin tags are efficiently captured by avidin beads. A cDNA library is then constructed through PCR amplification and subjected to the NGS. Because of the sensitivity of chemical labeling, the 5hmC-Seal method is highly sensitive and reproducible (Fig. 4) (Han et al. 2016; Song et al. 2011).

The 5hmC-Seal method has been explored in cfDNA samples from healthy individuals and patients with various diseases including liver cancer, glioblastoma, lymphoma, colorectal cancer, multiple myeloma, pancreatic cancer, lung cancer, as well as cardiovascular disease (Cai et al. 2019, 2021; Chiu et al. 2019; Gao et al. 2019; Han et al. 2021; Li et al. 2017; Song et al. 2017; Yang et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2018). Of particular interest are findings in diabetic complications using the 5hmC-Seal approach, which will be discussed in more detail in the following section.

The 5hmC as Novel Epigenetic Biomarkers for T2D Complications

Epigenetic contributors have been implicated in the development of diabetic complications, e.g., microvascular complications (Kumari et al. 2020; Reddy and Natarajan 2011). However, currently, they lack epigenetics-based tools that can sensitively and specifically detect these complications and monitor their progression. Taking advantage of the enabling technology, i.e., the 5hmC-Seal, several recent studies as discussed in this section have reported progress in exploring the 5hmC biomarkers for different T2D-associated complications using plasma-derived cfDNA samples (Han et al. 2021; Yang et al. 2019). The general study design (Fig. 5) is to compare genome-wide 5hmC profiles in cfDNA samples from cases (e.g., T2D patients with a particular complication) and controls (e.g., patients without the complication of interest). Together with differential analysis for more informative modified genomic features (e.g., gene bodies), machine learning algorithms are used to perform further variable selection and build models that target to distinguish cases from controls. Pathway and functional annotation analysis is used to implicate the identified 5hmc features in T2D-associated complications.

Vascular Complications

Study background – Because macrovascular and microvascular events associated with T2D are long-term complications and are the major causes for T2D-related disability and mortality, Yang et al. reasoned that a clinically convenient, non-invasive approach that can detect these complications in T2D patients would improve the patient's quality of life and contribute to the reduction of mortality and T2D-related healthcare burden through potential preventive interventions, if these complications are detected at stages that can still be intervened (Yang et al. 2019).

Methods – The 5hmC-Seal method was used to obtain genome-wide 5hmC profiles in a set of 62 patients with T2D, among whom 40 had vascular complications and 12 T2D patients had no complications (Yang et al. 2019). Specifically, among the 50 patients with vascular complications, 34 patients had so-called single vascular complications, i.e., these patients were diagnosed with only one type of vascular complication (macrovascular events, n = 24; microvascular events, n = 10), and 16 patients had multiple vascular complications (Yang et al. 2019). These patients were randomly assigned into a training set and an independent testing set, and then the 5hmC-based models were trained in the training set of samples, followed by validation in the testing samples (Yang et al. 2019). The 5hmC-Seal data were summarized into gene bodies for differential modification analysis and further feature selection using the elastic net regularization, a flexible machine learning algorithm for genomic data and multivariable logistic regression models (Yang et al. 2019).

Results – In the training samples, Yang et al. identified 135 gene bodies with differentially modified 5hmC levels between patients with and without vascular



Fig. 5 The case-control study design to detect epigenetic biomarkers for T2D-associated complications. This figure shows the general case-control study design to detect cfDNA-derived epigenetic biomarkers for T2D-associated complications utilizing the 5hmC-Seal technique. Briefly, in order to develop a model for detecting cases (e.g., T2D patients with a particular complication of interest), differential analysis is used to identify a list of most informative candidate marker features; these candidate marker features are further selected to build a final panel of 5hmC marker features by applying statistical models or machine learning algorithms to distinguish cases from controls. Implicated genes or genomic features can be explored for their functional relevance through pathway or network analysis

complications (Yang et al. 2019). In contrast, they identified 159 differentially modified gene bodies between those patients with single and multiple vascular complications (Yang et al. 2019). Machine learning-based feature selection indicated a final panel of 16 genes that showed distinguishing capacity between patients with vascular complications, regardless of micro- or macrovascular events, and those with no complications (Yang et al. 2019). Between patients with single and multiple vascular events, Yang et al. also identified a panel of 13 gene bodies that separated these patients with different complication burdens (Yang et al. 2019). Combining the 5hmCbased diagnostic models in cfDNA and various clinical variables validated the biomarker potential of 5hmC for T2D-associated vascular complications in independent samples (Yang et al. 2019). Specifically, in the testing set, the AUC (area under the curve) of the 5hmC-based diagnostic model significantly outperformed laboratory variables including HbA1c, ALT, AST, eGFR, BUN, LDL-C, and HDL-C (Yang et al. 2019). Yang et al. further performed multivariable analysis to show that the 5hmC-based diagnostic models were an independent indicator for distinguishing patients with vascular complications from those without (Yang et al. 2019). Using publicly available functional annotation databases, many differentially modified genes were shown to have functions relevant to T2D-associated vascular complications (Yang et al. 2019). For example, functional annotation analysis of the 135 differentially modified gene bodies associated with vascular complications indicated enrichment of such pathways as signaling by insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor (IGF1R) and interleukin-10 (IL-10), which are relevant to insulin resistance and inflammation, thus relevant to T2D-associated complications (Yang et al. 2019). In contrast, those differentially modified gene bodies associated with developing multiple complications were found to be enriched in such pathways as cell-cell junction, collagen formation, metabolism, and cellular responses to stress (Yang et al. 2019).

Conclusions – The genome-wide 5hmC profiles in cfDNA from patients with T2D-associated vascular complications and those T2D with no complications, after controlling potential confounders (e.g., diabetic duration, age), showed differential modifications that could be exploited as potential biomarkers for the early detection of vascular complications or as monitoring tools in T2D patients integrated with routine care, considering the convenience of a blood-based test and non-invasiveness. In addition, it is possible to further differentiate T2D-associated vascular complications with different features (e.g., single vs. multiple complication events) (Yang et al. 2019).

Diabetic Retinopathy

Study background – The previous study by Yang et al. did not distinguish different types of vascular complications (Yang et al. 2019). To further explore the 5hmC-based biomarkers for a specific vascular complication, Han et al. recently published a case-control study that aimed to explore the 5hmC biomarkers for diabetic

retinopathy (DR), a common microvascular complication in patients with T2D (Han et al. 2021). Mechanistically, DR is caused by damage to the small blood vessels, thus being a type of microvascular complication, of the light-sensitive tissue at the back of the retina in the eye (Han et al. 2021). DR is the leading cause of blindness and may severely affect the patient's quality of life and increase the burden of health and family care. Therefore, clinically convenient tools that can be integrated into routine care and monitoring of T2D patients could help improve the detection, prevention, and treatment of this severe complication. The primary goal of Han et al. was to profile 5hmC in cfDNA and compare the profiles between patients and controls to investigate whether differential 5hmC features could be detected to be associated with DR, thus providing the basis for future biomarker development in cfDNA for this complication (Han et al. 2021).

Methods – The 5hmC-Seal method was used to profile genome-wide 5hmC profiles in 70 cfDNA samples in total form 35 T2D patients with DR, including 27 patients with NPDR (non-proliferative DR) and 8 patients with PDR (proliferative DR), together with and 35 age-, gender-, and diabetic duration-matched T2D patients without DR or other apparent complications (e.g., cardiovascular diseases, nephropathy) (Han et al. 2021). Differentially modified 5hmC features (i.e., summarized in gene bodies) were identified between cases and controls using the multivariable logistic regression models (Han et al. 2021). A machine learning algorithm was used to evaluate whether a subset of the differentially modified 5hmC features could be used to generally represent DR, compared to controls (Han et al. 2021).

Results - Specifically, out of the whole-genome features they compared between case and controls, a three-gene signature comprised of MESP1, LY6G6D, and LINC01556 associated with DR was detected using the elastic net regularizationbased feature selection and the multivariable logistic regression models (Han et al. 2021). Notably, the 5hmC-based model for DR demonstrated high accuracy to distinguish T2D patients with DR from those T2D controls with no DR or other complications, after controlling covariates such as age, gender, and diabetic duration, showing an AUC of 91.4% with a 95% confidence interval of 84.3-98.5%, significantly outperforming various risk factors and clinical variables (e.g., fasting glucose, blood pressure, triglycerides, and total cholesterol), for which the AUC ranges were 52.7-72.8% (Han et al. 2021). Likely limited by the sample size that was dominant with NPDR, the 5hmC-based model for DR showed comparable performance between patients with PDR and NPDR, compared to controls (Han et al. 2021). Interestingly, Han et al. tested DR patients from Yang et al. in the previous study to evaluate the performance of their 5hmC-based model for DR. Specifically, in this external testing set (i.e., Yang et al.), their three-gene 5hmC-based model for DR detected five out of six DR patients and predicted seven out of eight non-DR patients with other microvascular complications (Han et al. 2021). Therefore, these findings suggested that the detected 5hmC-based model for DR by Han et al. potentially reflected specific epigenetic characteristics to DR only (Han et al. 2021). Since the majority of the study subjects in Han et al. were patients with NPDR, the 5hmC marker panel they detected represented the first study that linked 5hmC to early stage of DR, thus laying the foundation for future exploration of the implications of these emerging epigenetic marks in the prevention of DR (Han et al. 2021). Interestingly, *LY6G6D*, one of the final model genes, indicated relatively higher distinguishing capacity for PDR compared to the other two model genes (Han et al. 2021). *LY6G6D*, a gene involved in filopodia functions of fibroblasts and hypoxia-related strain response, therefore, appeared to be implicated in PDR (Han et al. 2021).

Conclusions – Han et al. further demonstrated that the 5hmC-Seal method in cfDNA could reflect 5hmC alterations specific to DR, a specific microvascular complication common in T2D patients, laying the foundation for future biomarker development for this severe complication (Han et al. 2021). In addition, this study, although focusing on one specific microvascular complication, suggested the potential of using 5hmC-based biomarkers to separate different types of microvascular complications, considering that specific 5hmC features were identified to be associated with RD (Han et al. 2021). Finally, although limited by the sample size, this study provided promising results to future investigations that aim to distinguish non-proliferative early stage (i.e., NPDR) and the proliferative late stage (i.e., PDR), which is critical for the precise care of this complication (Han et al. 2021).

Diabetic Nephropathy

Study background – Like other vascular complications, long-term damages that developed in the kidney, i.e., diabetic nephropathy (DN), a specific microvascular complication, represent a severe complication in patients with T2D. As a matter of fact, DN has become the most frequent cause of end-stage renal disease in most countries (Alicic et al. 2017; Umanath and Lewis 2018). Prediction of DN development can ultimately improve the patient's quality of life and reduce the burden of health and family care. Therefore, clinically convenient, non-invasive biomarkers for DN are urgently needed to control this severe complication in T2D patients. In the 2020 Annual Meeting of the American Diabetes Association, Zeng et al. presented a study that aimed to explore the 5hmC biomarkers for DN in cfDNA (Zeng et al. 2020).

Method – Genome-wide 5hmC profiles in 66 cfDNA samples from a set of 12 T2D patients with DN, 29 T2D patients with non-DN complications (non-DN, e.g., retinopathy and macrovascular complications), 14 T2D controls with no complications (T2D), and 11 controls without T2D were obtained using the 5hmC-Seal method and the NGS as described in previous studies (Zeng et al. 2020). Pair-wise comparisons between patients with DN and non-DN patients were performed to identify differentially modified 5hmC features as summarized in gene bodies, followed by feature selection to build a 5hmC-based model for DN using machine learning-based feature selection (Zeng et al. 2020).

Results – A panel of 271 differentially modified genes were detected between T2D patients with no complications and DN (Zeng et al. 2020). Pathway and functional annotation analysis suggested that these differentially modified 5hmC features were involved in pathways relevant to the synthesis of bile acids and bile salts, fatty acid metabolism, mitochondrial gene expression, and ion transport (Zeng et al. 2020). In

addition, a four-gene 5hmC marker panel (*DNAH1*, *RAB11FIP4*, *POLRMT*, *RAB36*) was found to be differentially modified among T2D patients with no complications, T2D patients with DN, and T2D patients with non-DN complications (Zeng et al. 2020). Further analysis indicated that this four-gene signature showed capacity for differentiating DN from T2D controls with an AUC of 83% and 95% confidence interval of 66–100%, or from healthy individuals with an AUC of 83% and 95% confidence interval of 64–100%, or from all combined non-DN patients with an AUC of 88% and 95% confidence interval of 76–100% (Zeng et al. 2020).

Conclusions – In this small sample size pilot study, the 5hmC features in cfDNA were further explored for their biomarker potential in a very specific microvascular complication associated with T2D, i.e., DN. Preliminary findings by Zeng et al. demonstrated that specific 5hmC features differentially modified between DN and controls involving relevant pathways were likely to be detected from cfDNA samples (Zeng et al. 2020). The 5hmC profiles in cfDNA reflected epigenetic changes in T2D patients with DN indicated the potential to be a clinically convenient, non-invasive approach for monitoring the presence of DN in high-risk T2D patients (Zeng et al. 2020).

Conclusions

Previous studies as described above showcased the current progress made by the research community to take advantage of novel epigenetic technologies for biomarker discovery for T2D-associated complications. There are several limitations in these studies. Firstly, the sample size of the current studies is still small. A robust biomarker panel or model will need to be developed and confirmed in larger sample size studies in the future. Secondly, although several major T2D-associated complications have been explored in the previous studies, future investigations will be necessary to be expanded to other major complication types, e.g., the nervous system (Han et al. 2021; Yang et al. 2019; Zeng et al. 2020). Additionally, with the expansion to more complication types, future investigations will be able to evaluate whether the 5hmC-based biomarkers are complication type-specific. Thirdly, although the 5hmC-Seal method is a highly sensitive and robust technology for profiling genome-wide 5hmC profiles, its pull-down nature does not provide information at base resolution. Future advances in enabling technologies may likely achieve highly sensitive 5hmC measuring at the base resolution for clinically feasible amount of input materials. Finally, although this chapter was focused on 5hmC, future investigations of other genetic and epigenetic biomarkers may need to be integrated to provide a more comprehensive signature of T2D-associated complications, considering the complex nature of these conditions.

In conclusion, with the advances in enabling technologies and our improved understanding of the epigenetic mechanisms for T2D and its complications, the research community is making progress with the ultimate goal of developing novel epigenetic tools that can be implemented in the clinical setting to improve the clinical care of patients with T2D and the patient's quality of life.

Applications to Prognosis

In this chapter, novel epigenetic biomarkers, specifically 5hmC in cfDNA for diabetic complications caused by T2D, have been reviewed (Han et al. 2021; Yang et al. 2019; Zeng et al. 2020). Although the current progress has been made in the diagnostic value of these epigenetic biomarkers for diabetic complications, it is reasonable to hypothesize that 5hmC biomarkers in cfDNA would have prognostic value as well, considering the complex nature of clinical outcomes. As a matter of fact, a few pilot studies using the 5hmC-Seal technique and the NGS have suggested prognostic value of 5hmC in cfDNA in oncology (Chiu et al. 2019). The research community is expected to make breakthroughs in this field in the near future.

Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions

In this chapter, several recent studies investigating 5hmC biomarkers in cfDNA for complications associated with T2D have been reviewed (Han et al. 2021; Yang et al. 2019; Zeng et al. 2020). In particular, the 5hmC-Seal technology, together with the NGS, was used in these studies to profile genome-wide 5hmC profiles in cfDNA derived from plasma (Li et al. 2017; Song et al. 2011). Due to its non-invasiveness and technical performance (e.g., high sensitivity), this technology has the potential to be utilized in other biomarker discovery research and holds the promise as a clinically useful tool in diagnosis, prognosis, and surveillance (Li et al. 2017). Considering the critical roles of epigenetic modifications in both normal biological processes and disease pathogenesis, biomarker discovery targeting these molecular targets and future advances in enabling technologies will have impact on other diseases and conditions, including those diabetic complications that have not been investigated yet.

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

- *Complex disease*. A condition that is affected by multiple genetic and non-genetic factors.
- Complication. A complication is an unfavorable result of a disease or treatment.
- **5-Methylcytosine.** A methylated form of cytosine (i.e., modified cytosine) in the DNA and the most common cytosine modification.

- **5-Hydroxymethylcytosine.** A hydroxymethylated form of cytosine in the DNA, whose distribution and function are distinct from 5-methylcytosine, and the second most common cytosine modification.
- Cell-free DNA. DNA fragments in the bloodstream that are not encapsulated in a cell or organelle.

Key Facts of Diabetic Complications

- T2D is a chronic condition by which the human body loses normal functions of regulating and using sugar as energy.
- T2D affects hundreds of millions of the global population.
- Long-time high levels of blood sugar in uncontrolled T2D cause damages to the human body, leading to complications.
- Common complications caused by T2D include kidney disease, nerve problems, heart disease and stroke, eye disease, foot problems, gum disease, and skin conditions.

Severer complications caused by T2D are the leading causes of disability and death.

Summary Points

- Complications caused by T2D affect a significant proportion of global population, being the leading causes for disability and death.
- Complications associated with T2D are complex diseases that are caused by multiple genetic and non-genetic factors.
- Emerging epigenetic modifications, particularly 5hmC, have been implicated in gene regulation and disease pathogenesis.
- Technical advances have begun to allow biomarker discovery that exploits 5hmC in the human genome, especially in clinically convenient biospecimens (e.g., cfDNA).
- Previous studies, though limited by, for example, the relatively small sample size, provided novel insights into epigenetic biomarkers for T2D-associated complications.
- Future investigations will need to further refine and validate the previous findings in larger populations.

References

- Alicic RZ, Rooney MT, Tuttle KR. Diabetic kidney disease: challenges, progress, and possibilities. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2017;12(12):2032–45.
- Barros-Silva D, Marques CJ, Henrique R, et al. Profiling dna methylation based on next-generation sequencing approaches: new insights and clinical applications. Genes (Basel). 2018;9(9):429.

- Booth MJ, Branco MR, Ficz G, et al. Quantitative sequencing of 5-methylcytosine and 5-hydroxymethylcytosine at single-base resolution. Science. 2012;336(6083):934–7.
- Booth MJ, Ost TW, Beraldi D, et al. Oxidative bisulfite sequencing of 5-methylcytosine and 5-hydroxymethylcytosine. Nat Protoc. 2013;8(10):1841–51.
- Branco MR, Ficz G, Reik W. Uncovering the role of 5-hydroxymethylcytosine in the epigenome. Nat Rev Genet. 2011;13(1):7–13.
- Cai J, Chen L, Zhang Z, et al. Genome-wide mapping of 5-hydroxymethylcytosines in circulating cell-free dna as a non-invasive approach for early detection of hepatocellular carcinoma. Gut. 2019;68(12):2195–205.
- Cai J, Zeng C, Hua W, et al. An integrative analysis of genome-wide 5-hydroxymethylcytosines in circulating cell-free dna detects noninvasive diagnostic markers for gliomas. Neurooncol Adv. 2021;3(1):vdab049.
- Chiu BC, Zhang Z, You Q, et al. Prognostic implications of 5-hydroxymethylcytosines from circulating cell-free dna in diffuse large b-cell lymphoma. Blood Adv. 2019;3(19):2790–9.
- Colhoun HM, Marcovecchio ML. Biomarkers of diabetic kidney disease. Diabetologia. 2018;61(5): 996–1011.
- Cui XL, Nie J, Ku J, et al. A human tissue map of 5-hydroxymethylcytosines exhibits tissue specificity through gene and enhancer modulation. Nat Commun. 2020;11(1):6161.
- Deshpande AD, Harris-Hayes M, Schootman M. Epidemiology of diabetes and diabetes-related complications. Phys Ther. 2008;88(11):1254–64.
- Forbes JM, Cooper ME. Mechanisms of diabetic complications. Physiol Rev. 2013;93(1):137-88.
- Galindo RJ, Beck RW, Scioscia MF, et al. Glycemic monitoring and management in advanced chronic kidney disease. Endocr Rev. 2020;41(5):756–74.
- Gao P, Lin S, Cai M, et al. 5-hydroxymethylcytosine profiling from genomic and cell-free dna for colorectal cancers patients. J Cell Mol Med. 2019;23(5):3530–7.
- Gheith O, Farouk N, Nampoory N, et al. Diabetic kidney disease: worldwide difference of prevalence and risk factors. J Nephropharmacol. 2015;5(1):49–56.
- Gloyn AL, Drucker DJ. Precision medicine in the management of type 2 diabetes. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2018;6(11):891–900.
- Gokul G, Khosla S. Dna methylation and cancer. Subcell Biochem. 2013;61:597-625.
- Hahn MA, Li AX, Wu X, et al. Single base resolution analysis of 5-methylcytosine and 5-hydroxymethylcytosine by rrbs and tab-rrbs. Methods Mol Biol (Clifton). 2015;1238:273–87.
- Han D, Lu X, Shih AH, et al. A highly sensitive and robust method for genome-wide 5hmc profiling of rare cell populations. Mol Cell. 2016;63(4):711–9.
- Han L, Chen C, Lu X, et al. Alterations of 5-hydroxymethylcytosines in circulating cell-free dna reflect retinopathy in type 2 diabetes. Genomics. 2021;113(1 Pt 1):79–87.
- Heitzer E, Perakis S, Geigl JB, et al. The potential of liquid biopsies for the early detection of cancer. NPJ Precis Oncol. 2017;1(1):36.
- Ito S, Shen L, Dai Q, et al. Tet proteins can convert 5-methylcytosine to 5-formylcytosine and 5-carboxylcytosine. Science. 2011;333(6047):1300–3.
- Johnson KC, Houseman EA, King JE, et al. 5-hydroxymethylcytosine localizes to enhancer elements and is associated with survival in glioblastoma patients. Nat Commun. 2016;7:13177.
- Kato M, Natarajan R. Diabetic nephropathy emerging epigenetic mechanisms. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2014;10(9):517–30.
- Kempen JH, O'Colmain BJ, Leske MC, et al. The prevalence of diabetic retinopathy among adults in the United States. Arch Ophthalmol. 2004;122(4):552–63.
- Khan MAB, Hashim MJ, King JK, et al. Epidemiology of type 2 diabetes global burden of disease and forecasted trends. J Epidemiol Glob Health. 2020;10(1):107–11.
- Kolluru GK, Bir SC, Kevil CG. Endothelial dysfunction and diabetes: effects on angiogenesis, vascular remodeling, and wound healing. Int J Vasc Med. 2012;2012:918267.
- Kumari N, Karmakar A, Ganesan SK. Targeting epigenetic modifications as a potential therapeutic option for diabetic retinopathy. J Cell Physiol. 2020;235(3):1933–47.
- Laakso M. Biomarkers for type 2 diabetes. Mol Metab. 2019;27s(Suppl):S139-s146.

- Laird PW. The power and the promise of dna methylation markers. Nat Rev Cancer. 2003;3(4):253–66.
- Li W, Zhang X, Lu X, et al. 5-hydroxymethylcytosine signatures in circulating cell-free dna as diagnostic biomarkers for human cancers. Cell Res. 2017;27(10):1243–57.
- Nazor KL, Boland MJ, Bibikova M, et al. Application of a low cost array-based technique tab-array for quantifying and mapping both 5mc and 5hmc at single base resolution in human pluripotent stem cells. Genomics. 2014;104(5):358–67.
- Nestor CE, Ottaviano R, Reddington J, et al. Tissue type is a major modifier of the 5-hydroxymethylcytosine content of human genes. Genome Res. 2012;22(3):467–77.
- Reddy MA, Natarajan R. Epigenetic mechanisms in diabetic vascular complications. Cardiovasc Res. 2011;90(3):421–9.
- Reddy MA, Zhang E, Natarajan R. Epigenetic mechanisms in diabetic complications and metabolic memory. Diabetologia. 2015;58(3):443–55.
- Rossi G, Ignatiadis M. Promises and pitfalls of using liquid biopsy for precision medicine. Cancer Res. 2019;79(11):2798–804.
- Sandholm N, Groop PH. Genetic basis of diabetic kidney disease and other diabetic complications. Curr Opin Genet Dev. 2018;50:17–24.
- Skvortsova K, Zotenko E, Luu P-L, et al. Comprehensive evaluation of genome-wide 5-hydroxymethylcytosine profiling approaches in human dna. Epigenetics Chromatin. 2017;10(1):16.
- Song CX, Szulwach KE, Fu Y, et al. Selective chemical labeling reveals the genome-wide distribution of 5-hydroxymethylcytosine. Nat Biotechnol. 2011;29(1):68–72.
- Song CX, Yi C, He C. Mapping recently identified nucleotide variants in the genome and transcriptome. Nat Biotechnol. 2012;30(11):1107–16.
- Song CX, Yin S, Ma L, et al. 5-hydroxymethylcytosine signatures in cell-free dna provide information about tumor types and stages. Cell Res. 2017;27(10):1231–42.
- Stewart SK, Morris TJ, Guilhamon P, et al. Oxbs-450k: a method for analysing hydroxymethylation using 450k beadchips. Methods (San Diego). 2015;72:9–15.
- Tahiliani M, Koh KP, Shen Y, et al. Conversion of 5-methylcytosine to 5-hydroxymethylcytosine in mammalian dna by mll partner tet1. Science. 2009;324(5929):930–5.
- Tost J. Dna methylation: an introduction to the biology and the disease-associated changes of a promising biomarker. Methods Mol Biol. 2009;507:3–20.
- Umanath K, Lewis JB. Update on diabetic nephropathy: core curriculum 2018. Am J Kidney Dis. 2018;71(6):884–95.
- Wu Y, Ding Y, Tanaka Y, et al. Risk factors contributing to type 2 diabetes and recent advances in the treatment and prevention. Int J Med Sci. 2014;11(11):1185–200.
- Yang Y, Zeng C, Lu X, et al. 5-hydroxymethylcytosines in circulating cell-free dna reveal vascular complications of type 2 diabetes. Clin Chem. 2019;65(11):1414–25.
- Yu M, Hon GC, Szulwach KE, et al. Tet-assisted bisulfite sequencing of 5-hydroxymethylcytosine. Nat Protoc. 2012;7(12):2159–70.
- Zeng C, Stroup EK, Zhang Z, et al. Towards precision medicine: advances in 5-hydroxymethylcytosine cancer biomarker discovery in liquid biopsy. Cancer Commun (Lond). 2019a;39(1):12.
- Zeng C, Zhang Z, Wang J, et al. Application of the high-throughput tab-array for the discovery of novel 5-hydroxymethylcytosine biomarkers in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Epigenomes. 2019b;3(3):16.
- Zeng C, Yang Y, Zhang Z, et al. 304-or: 5-hydroxymethylcytosines in circulating cell-free dna reveal diabetic nephropathy. Diabetes. 2020;69(Supplement 1):304-OR.
- Zhang J, Han X, Gao C, et al. 5-hydroxymethylome in circulating cell-free dna as a potential biomarker for non-small-cell lung cancer. Genomics Proteomics Bioinformatics. 2018;16(3): 187–99.



Adult Stem Cells as a Biomarker in Diabetes **26**

Scott Cohen and Sabyasachi Sen

Contents

Introduction	560
Why Adult Stem Cells	561
Effect of Exercise on Endothelial Progenitor Cells (EPCs)	562
Effects on EPC	562
Age Is Another Major Factor Behind Reduction of EPC Numbers	562
Effect of Novel Diabetes Medications on Endothelial Progenitor Cells (EPCs)	563
Effect of HIV Medication Regimens on Endothelial Progenitor Cells (EPCs)	565
Effects on Exercise on MSCs	566
Conclusion	568
Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions	568
Mini-dictionary of Terms	569
References	570

Abstract

Obesity, diabetes, and cardiovascular diseases (CVD) are increasing rapidly worldwide. It is important to know the effect of exercise, medications for chronic diseases such as diabetes, HIV, and obesity on adult stem cells. Adult stem cells play a major role in remodeling of the body and tissue regeneration but may have an important role as a biomarker. In this review we will focus mainly on two adult stem/progenitor cells such as endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) and mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs). These two-adult precursor/stem cells are easily obtained from peripheral blood or adipose tissue depots, as the case may be and are precursors to endothelium and mesenchymal tissue (fat, bone, muscle, and

S. Cohen \cdot S. Sen (\boxtimes)

Department of Medicine, The George Washington University, School of Medicine and Health Sciences, Washington, DC, USA

Department of Medicine, Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Washington, DC, USA e-mail: scott.cohen@va.gov; ssen1@gwu.edu; sabyasachi.sen@va.gov

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 28

cartilage), respectively. They both are key players in maintenance of cardiovascular homeostasis and can act as a useful biomarker in prediabetes, diabetes, and several disorders that impact metabolism.

Keywords

Endothelial progenitor cells · Mesenchymal stromal cells · Adult stem cells · Biomarkers · Diabetes · Obesity · Cardiovascular diseases

٨h	hrow	/iati	one
AD	Diev	/iau	OIIS

ADMA	Asymmetric dimethyl arginine
ASCs	Adult stem cells
CAD	Coronary artery disease
CVD	Cardiovascular diseases
DM2	Type 2 diabetes
DPP	Diabetes prevention program
DPP-4	Dipeptidyl peptidase 4
EPCs	Endothelial progenitor cells
INSTI	Integrase inhibitors
MSCs	Mesenchymal stromal cells
NNRTIs	Non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors
SET	Supervised exercise training
SGLT2i	Sodium glucose channel inhibitors
TBI	Traumatic brain injury
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

Introduction

At present obesity, diabetes, hypertension, stroke, and coronary artery diseases (CAD) are rising dangerously, worldwide. According to NIDDK, one in three adults are obese and two in every three adults are overweight and obese (NIDDK 2014). WHO estimated 422 billion people are suffering from diabetes (World Health Organization 2017). The CDC also anticipates that one out of three adults suffer from hypertension. One out of every 20 deaths are due to stroke and one out of every four deaths are due to CAD in the USA (Center for disease control and prevention 2016; Center for disease control and prevention 2017a; Center for disease control and prevention 2017b). According to the CDC, 84 million Americans also have prediabetes (Center for disease control and prevention 2017c), a condition associated with increased risk of type 2 diabetes (DM2), cardiovascular disease (CVD) which includes hypertension, CAD and stroke. In addition to causes of mortality, these health conditions are associated with a large economic burden. The CDC estimates that the annual medical cost of obesity in the USA was \$147 billion dollars (NIDDK 2014). The American Diabetes Association reported that it costs \$245 billion dollars to treat diabetes and related complications in the USA (American Diabetes Association 2013). According to the CDC, approximately \$46 billion was used to treat hypertension, \$34 billion for stroke and \$200 billion for heart disease (Center for disease control and prevention 2016; Center for disease control and prevention 2017a; Center for disease control and prevention 2017b).

Diabetes medications and a non-pharmaceutical approach such as exercise has been shown to be effective in decreasing the cardiovascular risks associated with obesity and diabetes. The US Diabetes Prevention Program (DPP) validated that physical exercise significantly reduced the risk of developing CVD (The Diabetes Prevention Program Research Group 2002). According to the CDC, physical exercise not only reduced the risk of developing diabetes and CVD, but also helped to reduce body weight and even reduced the risk of developing certain cancers (Center for disease control and prevention 2015). In addition, exercise also strengthens bones and muscles, improves mental health and daily activity, and increases balance, thereby preventing falls. In combination with dietary changes, exercise increases life expectancy irrespective of age, ethnicity, body shape, or body mass (Center for disease control and prevention 2015).

Exercise and lifestyle changes have been shown to reduce chances of progressing from prediabetes to diabetes. It is however important to ascertain ideal biomarkers to detect the effect of both exercise and diabetes medications. The effect of exercise has been studied extensively using body composition parameters such as muscle mass, fat mass, weight, physical fitness (cardiovascular capacity, strength, agility, flexibility), heart rate, and blood pressure (Palacios et al. 2015). Currently, the standard practice for monitoring effect of exercise is by analyzing plasma or serum biochemistry. However, it may be more informative to study cells such as adult stem cells (ASCs) to observe the effect at a cellular level.

Why Adult Stem Cells

Stem cells are nonspecialized cells which can differentiate into specialized organ or tissue specific cells. Predominantly, stem cells are divided embryonic and somatic or adult stem cells. The roles of stem cells on embryonic development have remained the main focus in regenerative medicine for a long time compared to ASCs. ASCs can be found in a variety of tissues including bone marrow, peripheral blood, blood vessels, skeletal muscle, adipose, and brain by forming niche for specific and multi-tasking work. For Human Endothelial Progenitor Cells (EPCs) and MSCs, bone marrow is the main reservoir. Peripheral blood contains approximately 1% of MNCs as EPCs. MSCs can be obtained from bone marrow, and adipose tissue has also been well established for MSC production (Hass et al. 2011). Predominantly, ASCs are responsible for daily tissue or cell maintenance, remodeling and regeneration of multiple tissues, and especially to replenish cell death from apoptosis (Yoder 2012). Often, adult stem cells (ASCs) respond to tissue-specific signals by migrating to a closer proximity of the injury site. Exercise can influence these adult stem cells function and fate by altering extracellular matrix composition, and inflammation

(Van Craenenbroeck and Conraads 2010). In addition, exercise also promotes migratory capacity of stem cells.

Effect of Exercise on Endothelial Progenitor Cells (EPCs)

Effects on EPC

EPCs are circulating cells, abundantly available in peripheral blood, bone marrow, and umbilical cord. Most commonly, EPCs are defined by cell surface markers such as CD34+ or CD34+/KDR+ or CD34+/KDR+/CD133+. EPCs play an important role in angiogenesis and neovascularization, predominantly, by incorporation into the endothelium or by its paracrine properties that favor de novo vessel formation (Boppart et al. 2015). CVD and diabetes often lead to vascular damage, and EPCs play a vital role in repair and regeneration of blood vessels. The benefit of physical activity can be enhanced by healthy nutrition, and both can synergistically help to prevent or reverse the outcome of poor CVD outcomes of diabetes (Francois et al. 2018).

Metabolic disorders like diabetes dramatically decrease EPC number and impair its function. On the other hand, it is well established that the increase of EPC number and function is beneficial for both diabetes and CVD. Physical activity increases the production and increases circulating numbers of EPCs. Studies have showed that EPC production is partially dependent on nitric oxide (NO) production that may be secondary to its anti-apoptotic effect (Laufs et al. 2004; Steiner et al. 2005; Jenkins et al. 2009). Similarly, it is also reported that exercise helps to reduce PI3-kinasemediated apoptosis, which depends on nitric oxide. PGE1-mediated upregulation of EPC is also linked to the improvement of EPC function and improved angiogenesis (Gensch et al. 2007). Another study showing improvement of EPC number may be related and preceded by an increase in plasma VEGF. They showed in patients with coronary artery disease (CAD), exercise induces a short-term myocardial ischemia which increases EPC numbers, depending on VEGF (Adams et al. 2004a). In addition to this study, patients with chronic heart failure show increased EPC counts by increasing not only plasma VEGF but also SDF-1 levels post exercise (Sarto et al. 2007). Rise of CD34+/VEGFR2+ cell number may be influenced by alterations in oxidative stress (Witkowski et al. 2010).

Age Is Another Major Factor Behind Reduction of EPC Numbers

The CD34+/KDR+EPC numbers are two times higher in younger patient populations compared to older groups at the resting state. Studies showed that exercise increased the number of EPCs in middle age and older persons (Hoetzer et al. 2007). Interestingly, another study showed exercise increased the number of EPCs independent of age group (Thijssen et al. 2006).

Exercise not only increases the number of EPCs but also improves the function of EPCs. Sen et al. (2015) showed a 6-week exercise program improves $CD34^+$ cell function by increasing the migration of EPCs to the chemotactic factor SDF-1 α which leads to enhanced vasculoneogenesis (Sen et al. 2015). It is also reported that exercise substantially influenced SDF-1 α levels over time (Van Craenenbroeck et al. 2011). In addition, studies have shown atherosclerotic plaque decline in response to exercise (Ajijola et al. 2009). It has been reported that supervised exercise training (SET) boosts the circulating EPC counts and reduces asymmetric dimethylarginine (ADMA) levels that leads to increased angiogenesis and improved endothelial function and decrease atherosclerosis. Therefore, cell mobilization induced by exercise and reduction of ADMA may serve as a physiologic mechanism repair for atherosclerosis (Schlager et al. 2011; Van Craenenbroeck et al. 2010; Rehman et al. 2004).

In patients with hypertension, exercise reduces impairment of EPC, which promotes neovascularization to heal injury as a result of chronic hypertension (Fernandes et al. 2012). In an interesting review Wahl et al. summarized the process of EPC function. They discussed exercise promoting mechanical stress to the tissue and vasculature. This mechanical force directly or indirectly regulates EPCs fate. Collectively, exercise promotes the release of growth factors and other molecules like IL6 and NO which facilitate EPC differentiation and production from bone marrow and also helps to promote migration and homing in the hypoxic tissue to improve angiogenesis and vasculogenesis (Wahl et al. 2008).

Expectedly, the benefit of exercise is time-dependent. Duration of exercise directly manipulates circulating EPCs numbers (Adams et al. 2004b). It has been reported that intensive and moderate exercise activity for 30 minutes increases circulating EPC number but this outcome is not seen when the time of exercise is reduced to 10 minutes (Laufs et al. 2005) and that a maximal bout of exercise stimulates a significant shift in CD34+ cells toward CD34+/KDR+ cells.

Effect of Novel Diabetes Medications on Endothelial Progenitor Cells (EPCs)

As mentioned above, EPCs can act as a cellular biomarker that is more reliable than serum-based markers for estimating and following endothelial dysfunction in early type 2 diabetes patients. Thus, investigating EPCs could help develop a cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk estimation (Adams et al. 2004b; Laufs et al. 2005; Dore et al. 2018).

Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP-4) inhibitors, a popular class of antidiabetic medications, have been shown to achieve improved glycemic control by lowering HbA1C, without causing hypoglycemia, and are weight neutral (American Diabetes Association 2013; The Diabetes Prevention Program Research Group 2002; Center for disease control and prevention 2015). Because DPP-4 degrades particular incretins, such as SDF-1a, its inhibition is also linked with a potential mechanism to prevent vascular diseases. However, there are limited data demonstrating the potential cardiovascular effects of these medications. Only a few studies using either sitagliptin or saxagliptin have shown an increase in endothelial progenitor cells, and thus potential cardiovascular benefits, with DPP-4 therapy.

Metformin has commonly been used as the first-line pharmacologic agent for treating diabetes and prediabetes as per the American Diabetes Association guidelines. Metformin improves glycemic control by decreasing hepatic glucose production, decreasing glucose absorption in the intestines and stomach, and increasing insulin-mediated glucose uptake (American Diabetes Association 2013; The Diabetes Prevention Program Research Group 2002; Center for disease control and prevention 2015). Metformin has shown cardioprotective effects by increasing endothelial progenitor cells and CFU-Hill's colonies in type 1 diabetes, and is known to also have cardioprotective properties in type 2 diabetes (Dore et al. 2018).

The upregulation of SDF-1 α and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), both chemotactic factors in serum, increases mobilization and recruitment of EPCs in the face of acute ischemic injury for repair and regeneration (Dore et al. 2018). It is postulated that DPP-4 inhibitors may increase EPCs mobilization from the bone marrow via their role in increased SDF-1 α presence in serum. Since poor viability and impaired function of EPCs in early diabetes will ultimately affect the repair and regeneration of the endothelium, prompt intervention may help to reduce or reverse cardiovascular risk by improving EPCs survival and function above and beyond adequate glucose metabolism control.

We conducted a study (Dore et al. 2018) where we investigated whether the addition of *saxagliptin*, a DPP-IV inhibitor, to metformin affects the number, function, and gene expression of peripheral blood-derived CD34+ cells in addition to improving glycemic control in Type 2 diabetes patients. In this 12-week, double-blind, randomized placebo-controlled trial, 42 subjects already taking metformin 1–2 grams/day were randomized to placebo or saxagliptin 5 mg. Subjects aged 40–70 years with diabetes for <10 years, with no known cardiovascular disease, BMI 25–39.9, HbA1C 6–9% were included. We evaluated EPCs' number, function, surface markers, and gene expression. We also investigated arterial stiffness, blood biochemistries, resting energy expenditure, and body composition parameters. A mixed model regression to examine saxagliptin vs placebo, accounting for within-subject autocorrelation, was done with SAS (p < 0.05).

Although there was no significant increase in CD34+ cell number, CD31+ cells percentage increased. Saxagliptin increased migration (in response to SDF1 α) with a trend of higher colony formation count. MNCs cytometry showed a higher percentage of CXCR4 double positivity for both CD34 and CD31 positive cells, indicating a functional improvement. Gene expression analysis showed an upregulation in CD34 + cells for antioxidant SOD1 (p < 0.05) and a downregulation in CD34- cells for IL-6 (p < 0.01). For arterial stiffness, both augmentation index and systolic blood pressure measures went down in saxagliptin subjects (p < 0.05). We concluded that Saxagliptin, a novel DPP4 inhibitor when administered orally, in combination with metformin, can help improve cellular and biochemical parameters of endothelial function in early diabetes before macrovascular complications appear. We also established that CD34+ cells can act as a valuable biomarker (Dore et al. 2018).

We conducted another study (Nandula et al. 2021) using a novel agent from a class of diabetes medications called *sodium glucose channel inhibitors (SGLT2i) such as Canagliflozin (CG) on CD34+ ve progenitor cells.* We investigated whether the addition of canagliflozin (CG), an SGLT2 inhibitor to metformin and/or insulin, would affect the number, function, and gene expression of peripheral blood-derived CD34+ cells in addition to improving glycemic control in Type 2 diabetes patients.

In this pilot study 29 subjects taking metformin and/or Insulin were enrolled in a 16-week, double-blind, randomized placebo matched trial, with a low dose 100 mg CG as the intervention group compared to matched placebo. Type 2 diabetes subjects (30–70 years old), with hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) of 7–10%, were enrolled. CD34 +ve cell number, migratory function, gene expression along with vascular parameters such as arterial stiffness, serum biochemistry pertaining to cardiometabolic health, resting energy expenditure, and body composition were measured. Data were collected at week 0, 8, and 16. A mixed model regression analysis was done. and *p*-values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant. Our results showed that a significant expression of CXCR4 receptor (a cell surface receptor for a prominent chemotactic factor stromal derived factor-1) with a concomitant increase in migratory function of CD34+ve cells was observed in CG treated group as compared to the placebo group. Gene expression analysis of CD34+ve cells showed an increase in expression of antioxidants (superoxide dismutase 2 or SOD2, Catalase, and Glutathione Peroxidase, or GPX) and notable endothelial markers (PECAM1, VEGF-A, and NOS3). A significant reduction in glucose and HbA1c levels were observed along with improved systolic and diastolic blood pressure in the CG group. A significant increase in adiponectin (p = 0.006) was also noted in the treatment group. Urinary exosomal protein leak in urine, examining podocyte health (podocalyxin, Wilm's tumor, and nephrin), showed a reduction with CG. We concluded that even at a low dose Canagliflozin has a beneficial effect on CD34+ cell function, serum biochemistry, and urinary podocyte-specific exosomes in type 2 diabetes.

Effect of HIV Medication Regimens on Endothelial Progenitor Cells (EPCs)

With these promising results using CD34+ cells as a biomarker in type 2 diabetes, as described above, we went on to investigate the effect of different therapeutic regimens used in another chronic disease that causes systemic inflammation, metabolic dysfunction including lipodystrophies, and cardiovascular disease such as HIV (Elzarki et al. 2022) in subjects without diabetes.

Our goal was to determine the effects of an integrase inhibitor (INSTI) in comparison to non-INSTI based regimens such as non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NNRTIs)-based regimens on cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk in HIV+ patients without an overt history of CVD or diabetes, with normal CD4:CD8 count. For CVD risk assessment, we primarily used hematopoietic CD34+ progenitor cells, as a biomarker. We enrolled 19 male subjects ages 32–61 years with BMI

21.0-36.0. This was a single time point, cross-sectional, observational study. Subjects were enrolled under two groups (either on INSTI-based regimen with 13 subjects or NNRTI (non-INSTI)-based regimens with 6 subjects) who were taking stable doses of HAART. The medication regimens were a combination of one NRTI (typically tenofovir-emtricitabine) plus one INSTI or NNRTI. Our outcome measures were focused on cardiovascular and endothelial cell function and systemic inflammation. Our primary outcome measures were peripheral blood-derived hematopoietic progenitor cell number (CD34 and CD133 positive), CD34+ cell function, and gene expression studies. Our secondary outcomes were arterial stiffness measures and serum-based markers of inflammation. Our results indicated a significant increase in percentage number of progenitor cells, and CD133+ cells (p = 0.004) along with an increase of double progenitor mark positive CD133+/CD34+ progenitor cell population was observed in INSTI group as compared to NNRTI group, by flow cytometry, mRNA gene expression for antioxidant gene catalase along with a trend toward a decrease in gene expression of inflammatory marker IL6 (p = 0.06) was observed in CD34+ from INSTI group vs NNRTI group. The plasma IL-6 and CRP levels did not change significantly between the groups. Neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio (NLR), an important marker of inflammation, was noted to be lower in the INSTI group. A mean fasting glucose level was also lower in the INSTI group compared to NNRTI group (p = 0.03). Interestingly, Urine-Microalbumin levels were higher in the INSTI group compared to NNRTI group (p = 0.08), while eGFR levels were significantly lower in the INSTI group (p = 0.002). The arterial stiffness measures did not show statistically significant differences between the two groups. We concluded that the INSTI regimen may provide a better CVD risk profile compared to NNRTI-based HAART regimen; however, the increased albuminuria along with lower eGFR noted in INSTI group is of concern. Similar to other studies (Dore et al. 2018; Nandula et al. 2021) this study demonstrated that noncellular results (both plasma values and microalbuminuria) did not show a statistically significant difference, during the short period of study/intervention however our cellular results, based on CD34+ cells actually did show statistically significant differences in number and gene expressions assays. Our results once again demonstrated that cellular results may be of more value even if the cohort size is small, compared to noncellular results, though the latter is more commonly used clinically (Elzarki et al. 2022).

Effects on Exercise on MSCs

Mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) are multipotent cells that can differentiate into osteoblasts, adipocytes, and chondrocytes. Sources of obtaining MSC vary from umbilical cord blood, bone marrow, adipose tissue, pancreatic islet, fetal liver to the lung (Zuk et al. 2001; Agricultural and biological sciences "Genetic engineering - an insight into the strategies and applications" 2016). Often, MSCs are defined by specific markers such as CD44, VD73, CD90, CD105 but not CD31, CD34, CD45 (Dominici et al. 2006). Studies have showed that exercise may facilitate MSC

migration by increasing IL6 and recruiting stem cells at the site of injury (Schmidt et al. 2009). It was reported that the MSC secretome is responsible for hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (HSPC) mobilization and proliferation and exercise induce homing of HSPCs to extramedullary sites (Emmons et al. 2016).

Often, the effect of MSC transplantation increased with exercise. Shin et al. showed treadmill exercise increased therapeutic MSC transplantation in traumatic brain injury (TBI) in a rat model (Shin et al. 2016). It has also been reported that exercise increased the efficiency of MSC transplantation in cerebral ischemic rats by reducing apoptosis (Zhang et al. 2015). Another study showed stromal vascular fraction, a well-known mixed population enriched with MSCs, and exercise together help to improve pain in patients with knee osteoarthritis (Gibbs et al. 2015). Another group of scientists reported that exercise facilitates MSC transplantation in idiopathic osteonecrosis (ION) of the femoral head by increasing vascularization in bone graft (Aoyama et al. 2015).

Exercise plays a vital role in differentiation of multipotent MSCs. It is reported that exercise promotes bone differentiation in MSCs. Li et al. indicate mechanical force increased osteogenic differentiation by increasing RUX2 and OXS, and at the same time, it is responsible for the reduction of PPAR γ -2 and C/EBP α which indicates reduced adipogenesis (Li et al. 2015). The effect of exercise on osteogenesis was observed for bone marrow-derived MSCs (Liu et al. 2017). Another study that we conducted showed exercise promotes osteogenic differentiation in the veteran population post-exercise. Interestingly, bone differentiation markers such as RUNX, ALPL, and osteocalcin upregulated significantly which indicates osteogenic differentiation (Kundu et al. 2019). Cook et al. discussed how signaling pathways manipulate MSC differentiation. Both BMP and WNT signaling pathways play an important role in MSC differentiation. WNT signaling promotes osteogenic differentiation by upregulating RUNX and inhibiting PPAR γ . On the other hand, BMPs activate osteogenic differentiation by activating RUNX (Cook and Genever 2013).

Maredziak et al. showed exercise is increasing bone marrow-derived MSC number. This group also reported elevated alkaline phosphatase, osteopontin, and osteocalcin which directly indicate increased musculoskeletal function (Marędziak et al. 2015) in mice. It is reported that exercise promotes activation and differentiation of skeletal muscle cells by promoting growth factors such as IGF-1, MGF, FGF, HGF, IL6, and signaling molecule NO (Wahl et al. 2008). It is also reported that exercise may improve cartilage repair followed MSC transplantation (Yamaguchi et al. 2016).

Similar to exercise, weight-reducing diabetes medications may also alter the MSC differentiation pathway. However, placebo-matched studies to elucidate such effects are warranted. Therefore, the MSC differentiation pathway away from adipogenesis and toward osteogenesis may act as a useful biomarker to monitor the effect of exercise and diabetes medications in subjects with diabetes. This may usher in assessing individual responses to exercise and diabetes medications.

Other biomarkers that may be important to highlight include extracellular vesicles or exosomes in serum and urine to monitor complications of diabetes. In

our study, we quantified urine exosome-based podocyte proteins in order to monitor podocyte inflammation (in the context of diabetic nephropathy) secondary to diabetes medications (Nandula et al. 2021; Awal et al. 2020).

Podocytes play a critical role in the formation of the glomerular filtration barrier and damage to these specialized terminally differentiated epithelial cells leads to proteinuria and progressive chronic kidney disease. Research suggests urinary exosomes are a more sensitive biomarker of early injury to podocytes being detected in the urine before traditional measures including albuminuria and total proteinuria (Burger et al. 2014; Kwon et al. 2017; Gilani et al. 2017). Recent studies show urinary exosomes of podocyte-specific proteins are increased in early diabetic kidney disease (Burger et al. 2014), preeclampsia (Kwon et al. 2017), and renovascular disease (Gilani et al. 2017). Additional research is needed to determine sensitive biomarkers for early diabetic injury. Significantly, these biomarkers can potentially assist clinicians in identifying the patients who would most benefit from the multitude of newly approved therapeutic agents for treatment of diabetic kidney disease including SGLT2 inhibitors, GLP-1 agonists, and mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists.

Another important biomarker that appears to change in response to alterations in metabolism appears to be the *study of gut microbiome*. Gut microbiome in combination with artificial intelligence and machine learning could be the cutting-edge technology for prediction of disease progression such as prediabetes to diabetes or even prediction of positive response to a medication intervention, in the context of diabetes therapeutics (Hopson et al. 2020). Machine learning and novel biomarkers may also help in our fight toward the global COVID-19 pandemic, a disease which seems to have a significant association with metabolic dysregulation (Gogate et al. 2021; Gogate et al. 2022).

Conclusion

Adult progenitor/stem cells can prove to be an effective and efficient biomarker, not only to monitor exercise but also to monitor response to medications. They appear to be relatively unexplored in the realm of metabolic disorders.

Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions

Inflammatory diseases including obesity, diabetes, HIV, and cardiovascular disease have reached epidemic proportions worldwide and have a significant impact on morbidity and mortality. There is a critical need to identify biomarkers of these disease states to target therapies at an earlier stage prior to irreversible injury. Endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs, defined as CD34+) from hematopoietic lineage and adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells, or AD-MSCs, can serve as such a biomarker and can monitor response to therapeutic interventions including exercise and medications. Both EPCs and AD-MSCs are easy and safe to obtain from subjects. Exercise can influence EPCs and ASC function by altering extracellular matrix composition, and inflammation. Exercise also promotes migratory capacity of adult progenitor and stem cells. Physical activity increases the production and function of EPCs. Duration of exercise directly manipulates the number of circulating EPCs. Exercise may also help to facilitate MSC migration by increasing IL6 and recruiting stem cells to the site of injury. Exercise plays a vital role in differentiation of multipotent MSCs. EPCs can act as a cellular biomarker for cardiovascular diseases that is more reliable than serum-based markers for estimating the degree of endothelial cell dysfunction in early type 2 diabetes patients. ASCs have the potential to revolutionize the management of patients with a variety of metabolic and obesity-related disorders and also pro-inflammatory diseases. Further investigation of clinical entities using EPCs and ASCs are urgently needed.

Mini-dictionary of Terms

Endothelial Progenitor Cells Circulating cells available in peripheral blood, bone marrow, and umbilical cord and are defined by cell surface markers such as CD34+ or CD34+/KDR+ or CD34+/KDR+/CD133+. They play an important role in angiogenesis and neovascularization.

Exosomes An extracellular vesicle that contains constituents (protein, DNA, and RNA) of the cells that produce them.

Gut Microbiome Microorganisms that live in the digestive system and have an impact on health.

Mesenchymal stromal cells Multipotent cells that can differentiate into osteoblasts, adipocytes, and chondrocytes and can be differentiated from bone, fat, and cartilage.

Stem Cells Nonspecialized cells which can differentiate into specialized organ or tissue-specific cells.

Key Facts

- Stem cells are divided into embryonic and somatic or adult stem cells.
- EPCs and MSCs are responsible for daily tissue or cell maintenance and replenishment of cell death from apoptosis.
- Both EPCs and MSCs (particularly AD-MSCs) can serve as key biomarkers of metabolic disorders, inflammatory diseases including the response to therapeutic interventions in these disorders such as exercise, dietary modifications, and medications.
- Exercise can influence both EPC and AD-MSC function by altering extracellular matrix composition, inflammation, and promoting the migratory capacity of stem cells.

• Other biomarkers being explored include plasma and urinary exosomes and also the gut microbiome.

Summary Points

- Obesity, prediabetes, diabetes, HIV, and cardiovascular diseases are worldwide epidemics that have a profound impact on morbidity and mortality.
- It is essential to monitor the effects of exercise and various therapeutic agents for the treatment of these diseases.
- Adult stem cells play a major role in remodeling of the body and tissue regeneration and may have an important role as a biomarker.
- EPCs and MSCs can serve as a biomarker of disease activity including in diabetes, obesity, HIV, and cardiovascular disease.
- These adult stem cells (ASCs) are easily obtained from peripheral blood or adipose tissue depots, and are precursors to endothelium and mesenchymal tissue.
- Other potential biomarkers to explore in this area include plasma/urine exosomes and the gut microbiome.
- Additional biomarkers for diagnosis and prognosis in chronic pro-inflammatory diseases are urgently needed to aid in the management of these increasingly prevalent cardiometabolic diseases such prediabetes, diabetes, and obesity.

References

- Adams V, Lenk K, Linke A, Lenz D, Erbs S, Sandri M, Tarnok A, Gielen S, Emmrich F, Schuler G, Hambrecht R. Increase of circulating endothelial progenitor cells in patients with coronary artery disease after exercise-induced ischemia. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2004a;24(4): 684–90.
- Adams V, Lenk K, Linke A, Lenz D, Erbs S, Sandri M, Tarnok A, Gielen S, Emmrich F, Schuler G, Hambrecht R. Increase of circulating endothelial progenitor cells in patients with coronary artery disease after exercise-induced ischemia. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2004b;24(4): 684–90.
- Agricultural and biological sciences "Genetic engineering an insight into the strategies and applications". In: Domingues CC, Kundu N, Dore FJ, Sen S, editors. Genetic modification of stem cells in diabetes and obesity. Inteck; 2016.
- Ajijola OA, Dong C, Herderick EE, Ma Q, Goldschmidt-Clermont PJ, Yan Z. Voluntary running suppresses proinflammatory cytokines and bone marrow endothelial progenitor cell levels in apolipoprotein-E-deficient mice. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2009;11(1):15–23.
- American Diabetes Association. Economic costs of diabetes in the U.S. in 2012. Diabetes Care. 2013;36(4):1033–46.
- Aoyama T, Fujita Y, Madoba K, Nankaku M, Yamada M, Tomita M, Goto K, Ikeguchi R, Kakinoki R, Matsuda S, Nakamura T, Toguchida J. Rehabilitation program after mesenchymal stromal cell transplantation augmented by vascularized bone grafts for idiopathic osteonecrosis of the femoral head: a preliminary study. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2015;96(3):532–9.
- Awal HB, Nandula SR, Domingues CC, Dore FJ, Kundu N, Brichacek B, Fakhri M, Elzarki A, Ahmadi N, Safai S, Fosso M, Amdur RL, Sen S. Linagliptin, when compared to placebo, improves CD34+ve endothelial progenitor cells in type 2 diabetes subjects with chronic kidney disease taking
metformin and/or insulin: a randomized controlled trial. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2020;19(1):72. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12933-020-01046-z. PMID: 32493344; PMCID: PMC7271387.

- Boppart MD, De Lisio M, Witkowski S. Exercise and stem cells. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci. 2015;135:423–56.
- Burger D, Thibodeau JF, Holterman CE, Burns KD, Touyz RM, Kennedy CR. Urinary podocyte microparticles identify prealbuminuric diabetic glomerular injury. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2014;25: 1401–7.
- Center for disease control and prevention. Physical activity and health. 2015. https://www.cdc.gov/ physicalactivity/basics/pa-health/index.htm
- Center for disease control and prevention. High blood pressure facts. 2016. https://www.cdc.gov/ bloodpressure/facts.htm
- Center for disease control and prevention. Stroke fact sheet. 2017a. https://www.cdc.gov/stroke/ facts.htm
- Center for disease control and prevention. Heart disease fact. 2017b. https://www.cdc.gov/ heartdisease/facts.htm
- Center for disease control and prevention. National diabetes statistics report. 2017c. https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/data/statistics/statistics-report.html
- Cook D, Genever P. Regulation of mesenchymal stem cell differentiation. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2013;786:213–29.
- Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, Krause D, Deans R, Keating A, Prockop D, Horwitz E. Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy. 2006;8(4): 315–7.
- Dore FJ, Domingues CC, Ahmadi N, Kundu N, Kropotova Y, Houston S, Rouphael C, Mammadova A, Amdur RL, Sen S. The synergistic effects of saxagliptin and metformin on CD34+ endothelial progenitor cells in early type 2 diabetes patients: a randomized clinical trial. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2018;17:65. PMID: 29724198.
- Elzarki AF, Nandula SR, Awal H, Simon GL, Sen S. Cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk assessment of HIV medication regimens using hematopoietic CD34+ progenitor cells. Stem Cell Research & Therapy. Accepted for publication on 7th Feb 2022.
- Emmons R, Niemiro GM, Owolabi O, De Lisio M. Acute exercise mobilizes hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells and alters the mesenchymal stromal cell secretome. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2016;120(6):624–32.
- Fernandes T, Nakamuta JS, Magalhães FC, Roque FR, Lavini-Ramos C, Schettert IT, Coelho V, Krieger JE, Oliveira EM. Exercise training restores the endothelial progenitor cells number and function in hypertension: implications for angiogenesis. J Hypertens. 2012;30(11):2133–43.
- Francois ME, Pistawka KJ, Halperin FA, Little JP. Cardiovascular benefits of combined interval training and post-exercise nutrition in type 2 diabetes. J Diabetes Complicat. 2018;32(2): 226–33.
- Gensch C, Clever Y, Werner C, Hanhoun M, Böhm M, Laufs U. Regulation of endothelial progenitor cells by prostaglandin E1 via inhibition of apoptosis. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2007;42(3):670–7.
- Gibbs N, Diamond R, Sekyere EO, Thomas WD. Management of knee osteoarthritis by combined stromal vascular fraction cell therapy, platelet-rich plasma, and musculoskeletal exercises: a case series. J Pain Res. 2015;9(8):799–806.
- Gilani SI, Anderson UD, Jayachandran M, Weissgerber TL, Zand L, White WM, Milic N, Suarez MLG, Vallapureddy RR, Nääv Å, Erlandsson L, Lieske JC, Grande JP, Nath KA, Hansson SR, Garovic VD. Urinary extracellular vesicles of podocyte origin and renal injury in preeclampsia. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2017;28:3363–72.
- Gogate N, Lyman D, Crandall KA, Kahsay R, Natale DA, Sen S, Mazumder R. COVID-19 biomarkers in research: extension of the OncoMX cancer biomarker data model to capture biomarker data from other diseases. bioRxiv [Preprint]. 2020 Sep 10:2020.09.09.196220.

https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.09.09.196220. Update in: Brief Bioinform. 2021 May 20; PMID: 32935101; PMCID: PMC7491515.

- Gogate N, Lyman D, Bell A, Cauley E, Crandall KA, Joseph A, Kahsay R, Natale DA, Schriml LM, Sen S, Mazumder R. COVID-19 biomarkers and their overlap with comorbidities in a disease biomarker data model. Brief Bioinform. 2021;22(6):bbab191. https://doi.org/10.1093/bib/ bbab191. PMID: 34015823; PMCID: PMC8195003.
- Hass R, Kasper C, Böhm S, Jacobs R. Different populations and sources of human mesenchymal stem cells (MSC): a comparison of adult and neonatal tissue-derived MSC. Cell Commun Signal. 2011;9:12.
- Hoetzer GL, Van Guilder GP, Irmiger HM, Keith RS, Stauffer BL, DeSouza CA. Aging, exercise, and endothelial progenitor cell clonogenic and migratory capacity in men. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2007;102(3):847–52.
- Hopson LM, Singleton SS, David JA, Basuchoudhary A, Prast-Nielsen S, Klein P, Sen S, Mazumder R. Bioinformatics and machine learning in gastrointestinal microbiome research and clinical application. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci. 2020;176:141–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/ bs.pmbts.2020.08.011. Epub 2020 Sep 30. PMID: 33814114.
- Jenkins NT, Witkowski S, Spangenburg EE, Hagberg JM. Effects of acute and chronic endurance exercise on intracellular nitric oxide in putativeendothelial progenitor cells: role of NAPDH oxidase. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2009;297(5):H1798–805.
- Kaviani M, Keshtkar S, Soleimanian S, Sabet Sarvestani F, Azarpira N, Pakbaz S. Susceptibility to metabolic diseases in COVID-19: to be or not to be an issue. Front Mol Biosci. 2022;9:803314. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmolb.2022.803314. PMID: 35187079; PMCID: PMC8852768.
- Kundu N, Domingues CC, Nylen ES, Paal E, Kokkinos P, Sen S. Endothelium-derived factors influence differentiation of fat-derived stromal cells post-exercise in subjects with prediabetes. Metab Syndr Relat Disord. 2019. https://doi.org/10.1089/met.2018.0121. PMID: 31017504.
- Kwon SH, Woollard JR, Saad A, Garovic VD, Zand L, Jordan KL, Textor SC, Lerman LO. Elevated urinary podocyte-derived extracellular microvesicles in renovascular hypertensive patients. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2017;32:800–7.
- Laufs U, Werner N, Link A, Endres M, Wassmann S, Jürgens K, Miche E, Böhm M, Nickenig G. Physical training increases endothelial progenitor cells, inhibits neointima formation, and enhances angiogenesis. Circulation. 2004;109(2):220–6.
- Laufs U, Urhausen A, Werner N, Scharhag J, Heitz A, Kissner G, Böhm M, Kindermann W, Nickenig G. Running exercise of different duration and intensity: effect on endothelial progenitor cells in healthy subjects. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil. 2005;12(4):407–14.
- Li R, Liang L, Dou Y, Huang Z, Mo H, Wang Y, Yu B. Mechanical strain regulates osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. Biomed Res Int. 2015;2015:873251.
- Liu SY, He YB, Deng SY, Zhu WT, Xu SY, Ni GX. Exercise affects biological characteristics of mesenchymal stromal cells derived from bone marrow and adipose tissue. Int Orthop. 2017;41(6):1199–209.
- Marędziak M, Śmieszek A, Chrząstek K, Basinska K, Marycz K. Physical activity increases the total number of bone-marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells, enhances their osteogenic potential, and inhibits their adipogenic properties. Stem Cells Int. 2015;2015:379093.
- Nandula SR, Kundu N, Awal HB, Brichacek B, Fakhri M, Aimalla N, Elzarki A, Amdur RL, Sen S. Role of Canagliflozin on function of CD34+ve endothelial progenitor cells (EPC) in patients with type 2 diabetes. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2021;20(1):44. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12933-021-01235-4. PMID: 33581737; PMCID: PMC7881606.
- NIDDK, NIH, Overweight and obesity statistics, 2014. https://www.niddk.nih.gov/healthinformation/health-statistics/overweight-obesity
- Palacios G, Pedrero-Chamizol R, Palacios N, Maroto-Sánchez B, Aznar S, González-Gross M, on behalf of EXERNET Study Group. Biomarkers of physical activity and exercise. Nutr Hosp. 2015;31(Suppl 3):237–44.
- Rehman J, Li J, Parvathaneni L, Karlsson G, Panchal VR, Temm CJ, Mahenthiran J, March KL. Exercise acutely increases circulating endothelial progenitor cells and monocyte-/macro-phage-derived angiogenic cells. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2004;43(12):2314–8.

- Sarto P, Balducci E, Balconi G, Fiordaliso F, Merlo L, Tuzzato G, Pappagallo GL, Frigato N, Zanocco A, Forestieri C, Azzarello G, Mazzucco A, Valenti MT, Alborino F, Noventa D, Vinante O, Pascotto P, Sartore S, Dejana E, Latini R. Effects of exercise training on endothelial progenitor cells in patients with chronic heart failure. J Card Fail. 2007;13(9):701–8.
- Schlager O, Giurgea A, Schuhfried O, Seidinger D, Hammer A, Gröger M, Fialka-Moser V, Gschwandtner M, Koppensteiner R, Steiner S. Exercise training increases endothelial progenitor cells and decreases asymmetric dimethylarginine in peripheral arterial disease: a randomized controlled trial. Atherosclerosis. 2011;217(1):240–8.
- Schmidt A, Bierwirth S, Weber S, Platen P, Schinköthe T, Bloch W. Short intensive exercise increases the migratory activity of mesenchymal stem cells. Br J Sports Med. 2009;43(3):195–8.
- Sen S, Witkowski S, Lagoy A, Islam AM. A six-week home exercise program improves endothelial function and CD34⁺ circulating progenitor cells in patients with pre-diabetes. J Endocrinol Metab. 2015;5(1–2):163–71.
- Shin MS, Park HK, Kim TW, Ji ES, Lee JM, Choi HS, Kim MY, Kim YP. Neuroprotective effects of bone marrow stromal cell transplantation in combination with treadmill exercise following traumatic brain injury. Int Neurourol J. 2016;20(Suppl 1):S49–56.
- Steiner S, Niessner A, Ziegler S, Richter B, Seidinger D, Pleiner J, Penka M, Wolzt M, Huber K, Wojta J, Minar E, Kopp CW. Endurance training increases the number of endothelial progenitor cells in patients with cardiovascular risk and coronary artery disease. Atherosclerosis. 2005;181(2):305–10.
- The Diabetes Prevention Program Research Group. Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin. N Engl J Med. 2002;346:393–403.
- Thijssen DH, Vos JB, Verseyden C, van Zonneveld AJ, Smits P, Sweep FC, Hopman MT, de Boer HC. Haematopoietic stem cells and endothelial progenitor cells in healthy men: effect of aging and training. Aging Cell. 2006;5(6):495–503.
- Van Craenenbroeck EM, Conraads VM. Endothelial progenitor cells in vascular health: focus on lifestyle. Microvasc Res. 2010;79(3):184–92.
- Van Craenenbroeck EM, Beckers PJ, Possemiers NM, Wuyts K, Frederix G, Hoymans VY, Wuyts F, Paelinck BP, Vrints CJ, Conraads VM. Exercise acutely reverses dysfunction of circulating angiogenic cells in chronic heart failure. Eur Heart J. 2010;31(15):1924–34.
- Van Craenenbroeck EM, Bruyndonckx L, Van Berckelaer C, Hoymans VY, Vrints CJ, Conraads VM. The effect of acute exercise on endothelial progenitor cells is attenuated in chronic heart failure. Eur J Appl Physiol. 2011;111(9):2375–9.
- Wahl P, Brixius K, Bloch W. Exercise-induced stem cell activation and its implication for cardiovascular and skeletal muscle regeneration. Minim Invasive Ther Allied Technol. 2008;17(2): 91–9.
- Witkowski S, Lockard MM, Jenkins NT, Obisesan TO, Spangenburg EE, Hagberg JM. Relationship between circulating progenitor cells, vascular function and oxidative stress with long-term training and short-term detraining in older men. Clin Sci (Lond). 2010;118(4): 303–11.
- World Health Organization. Fact sheet. Diabetes. 2017. http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/ fs312/en/.
- Yamaguchi S, Aoyama T, Ito A, Nagai M, Iijima H, Tajino J, Zhang X, Kiyan W, Kuroki H. The effect of exercise on the early stages of mesenchymal stromal cell-induced cartilage repair in a rat osteochondral defect model. PLoS One. 2016;11(3):e0151580.
- Yoder MC. Human endothelial progenitor cells. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2012;2(7): a006692. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a006692. PMID: 22762017.
- Zhang YX, Yuan MZ, Cheng L, Lin LZ, Du HW, Chen RH, Liu N. Treadmill exercise enhances therapeutic potency of transplanted bone mesenchymal stem cells in cerebral ischemic rats via anti-apoptotic effects. BMC Neurosci. 2015 Sep 5;16:56. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2015;96(3): 532–9.
- Zuk PA, Zhu M, Mizuno H, Huang J, Futrell JW, Katz AJ, Benhaim P, Lorenz HP, Hedrick MH. Multilineage cells from human adipose tissue: implications for cell-based therapies. Tissue Eng. 2001;7(2):211–28.



The Search for Immunological Biomarkers in Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus (T1DM) and Multiple Sclerosis (MS): Th40 Cells Provide a Common Autoimmune Link

David H. Wagner

Contents

Mini Dictionary of Terms	590
Key Facts	590
Summary Points	591
References	591

Abstract

Biomarkers to predict autoimmune disease onset or predict progression are sorely lacking. A specific T cell subset present in peripheral blood of human subjects and mouse models called Th40, CD4⁺ helper T cells that express the CD40 receptor, are emerging as diagnostic in type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) and multiple sclerosis (MS). Th40 cell number expansions predate symptoms in both T1DM and MS in human subjects. Th40 cells prove pathogenicity by transferring T1DM in the diabetes preclinical mouse model and transferring severe symptoms in the MS mouse model. Th40 cells undergo a process called TCR revision, altering TCR expression in the periphery, constituting a mechanism that increases immune diversity to invaders like viruses, but also may increase the existence of self-antigen reactive T cells. Th40 cells are indicative of systemic inflammation and in combination with other markers, HLA and chemokine receptor expressions, can be diagnostic for specific autoimmune diseases.

Keywords

Biomarker \cdot Th40 cell \cdot Type 1 diabetes mellitus \cdot Multiple sclerosis \cdot T cell receptor revision

D. H. Wagner (🖂)

e-mail: David.Wagner@CUAnschutz.edu; DHW@OP-T.com

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

Department of Medicine, The University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, USA

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 29

Abbrevia	tions
AAb	Autoantibody
APC	Antigen presenting cell
CNS	Central nervous system
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid
DC	Dendritic cell
DKA	Diabetic ketoacidosis
GAD	Glutamic acid decarboxylase
GWAS	Genome-wide association studies
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen
IAP	Islet-associated peptide
IFNγ	Interferon gamma
IL	Interleukin
INS	Insulin
LADA	Latent autoimmune diabetes in adults
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
MS	Multiple sclerosis
T1DM	Type 1 diabetes mellitus
T2DM	Type 2 diabetes mellitus
TCR	T cell receptor
Th	T helper
TNFα	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
TREC	T cell receptor excision circle

A central tenet of autoimmune disease is that cells of the immune system become activated to attack self-tissue resulting in often debilitating tissue damage. Normally immune cells identify and eliminate pathogens including viruses, bacteria, and fungus. Type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) arises because immune cells attack the beta cells within pancreatic islets leading to loss of insulin production. Multiple sclerosis (MS) arises because immune cells attack the central nervous system leading to loss of myelin, the neuronal protective sheath. Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) arises when immune cells target and damage synovial tissue in joints. Other diseases including Hashimoto's thyroiditis, ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease, lupus, etc. similarly involve tissue-related attacks. While each autoimmune disease presents with a primary pathology all have overlapping secondary pathologies. For example, T1DM, MS, RA, and lupus, all result in cardiovascular disease complications including high risk for atherosclerosis, coronary artery disease, and peripheral artery disease (Schofield et al. 2019; Haubitz 2007; Magyari and Sorensen 2020; Logstrup et al. 2020; Semb et al. 2021). These examples demonstrate how pernicious autoimmunity becomes, i.e., pathologies extending beyond the characteristic, diagnostic pathology. Secondary pathologies involve the same immune cell types that initiated the original pathology.

A major shortfall throughout autoimmune diseases is reliable biomarkers that predict disease onset, predict disease progression, or possibly indicate disease remission. Biomarkers that indicate any of these disease transitions would improve treatment options or indicate necessary treatment option changes that would improve overall outcomes. The general approach has been to focus on specific tissue-related biomarkers associated with individual autoimmune diseases. Arguably, a more comprehensive biomarker approach, e.g., examination of immune cell potential biomarkers in multiple autoimmune diseases, may yield more useful information. An immune cell type, CD4⁺ helper T cells that express the CD40 receptor and hence referred to as Th40 cells, has arisen as a common feature in multiple autoimmune diseases (Vaitaitis et al. 2010, 2013, 2014, 2017a, b, 2019a, b; Wagner 2017; Amit et al. 2016; Liu et al. 2015; Waid et al. 2008, 2014; Deng et al. 2014; Torres et al. 2014; Vaitaitis and Wagner 2008, 2010, 2013; Van Eenennaam et al. 2002). This review explores how Th40 cells develop, relate to autoimmunity specifically focusing on T1DM and MS, and drive auto-inflammation. A more specific approach for associating biomarkers with specific autoimmune diseases is proposed.

The search for unique biomarkers – type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM): Because of the unique pathologies associated with individual autoimmune diseases the search for biomarkers has focused on the specific pathology. T1DM biomarker searches have focused on pancreatic islet markers; ideally that would be detected in blood, allowing easy access. The classic initial diagnostic is consistently elevated serum glucose that eventually spills into urine. T1DM symptoms include increased fatigue, polydipsia, polyuria, and occasional quotidian fever; all are indirectly related to persistent hyperglycemia. However, glucose elevations occur independently of diabetes. During high stress, release of catecholamines and stress hormones stimulate glucose production and interfere with tissue disposal of glucose (Halter et al. 1984). Consistently elevated blood glucose and a failed oral glucose tolerance test are necessary indicators of diabetes. Like T1DM, type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) involves similar symptoms and hyperglycemia. The clinical difference is that T1DM arises from autoimmune damage to islet beta cell insulin production and T2DM involves insulin resistance. Inflammatory pathways are associated with T2DM, but it is not considered autoimmune. One major issue is that type 1 and type 2 are misdiagnosed surprisingly too often. Even with advances in current diagnostic capabilities, a retrospective study of 3030 diabetic patients found misdiagnosis occurred in 25% of participants (Munoz et al. 2019). Other individual studies have found misdiagnosis as high as 35% (report from the American Diabetes Association). The consequences of misdiagnosis can be severe with diabetic ketoacidosis (DKA) more likely to arise when diabetes is misdiagnosed; DKA poses severe consequences to patients including significantly increased risk of death (Bao et al. 2019). In fact, DKA is the leading cause of death in pediatric T1 DM (Munoz et al. 2019; Peng et al. 2021).

Genetic contributors have been identified in T1DM. The most highly associated genes are the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) loci (Pugliese et al. 2016; Barrett et al. 2009; Valdes et al. 2005). T1DM associates with *HLA-DRB1*03*, (DR3), *DRB1*04*, (DR4) *DQA1*05:01-DQB1*02:01* (DQ2), and *DQA1*03-DQB1*03:02* (DQ8). Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) also indicate CLTA-4, PTPN22, and IL2RA1 as contributory (Barrett et al. 2009). Adding genome-wide SNP typing

analysis an additional 19 loci including IL-2, IL-7R, TNFAIP3, CD226, IL-18R, and CCR5 were identified (Barrett et al. 2009). Except for the insulin locus, all other loci associate with effector immune cells that are found in other autoimmune diseases, making specificity difficult. The discovery of the involvement of the insulin locus in GWAS led to a series of four different clinical trials attempting to use insulin or insulin-derived peptides for tolerance therapy; all those trials failed (Bleich and Wagner 2018). Further studies developed small peptides derived from suspected contributor proteins such as GAD65 (Mangada et al. 2009) to attempt tolerance induction. These tolerance induction approaches were successful in the NOD mouse model; yet to date, none have translated to the human clinic.

One biomarker proposal came after the observation that during T1DM autoantibodies (AAb) were detected in peripheral blood. Antibodies that recognize insulin (INS), GAD65, IA-2, or ZnT8 (zinc transporter) have been associated with diabetes development and are presumed to be unique to diabetes. Some diabetic subjects and some first-degree relatives of T1DM subjects demonstrated one or more of those AAbs. With the greater number of AAbs detected, it was presumed that the risk of developing T1DM increased. Retrospective study showed however that detection of multiple AAbs was highly diagnostic in children 5 years of age or younger, but diagnostic significance rigor in older children failed (Battaglia et al. 2015; Lampasona and Liberati 2016; Michels et al. 2015). This also was true for adult onset T1DM. The average age of diabetes onset in 2011 for children was reported to be 9.25 down from 10.5 years of age (Sella et al. 2011), thus true juvenile diabetes onset is getting younger. Adult T1DM or latent autoimmune diabetes in adults (LADA) is increasing very rapidly and average age of onset is 35 years (Weber et al. 2011). While many hopes were pinned on AAbs as high-quality diagnostic tools, the results have proven disappointing.

The search for unique biomarkers – multiple sclerosis: Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a neurodegenerative disease that is classically autoimmune. T cells, B cells, and macrophages infiltrate the central nervous system (CNS), establish inflammation, and create lesions. The etiology remains unknown although like T1DM, genetic predisposition with environmental contributors and immune cell activation and dysfunction are involved (Vaitaitis and Wagner 2008). Clinically, MS is characterized by discrete episodes of neurologic dysfunction. The severity and the type of attack varies between patients. Diagnosis requires a series of clinical observations and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scans that define lesions located mainly in the periventricular white matter, posterior fossa, spinal cord, and in subcortical locations of the brain (Logstrup et al. 2020). Diagnostic criteria for MS were established and require that lesions exhibit dissemination in time and/or space (Van Eenennaam et al. 2002; Halter et al. 1984). The variety of symptoms ranging from blurred vision, headaches, paraparesis, and severe paralvsis reflect multifocal lesions and result from interruption of myelinated tracts in the CNS. The distinct disease courses include clinically isolated syndrome (CIS) defined by limited symptom occurrence (usually only one) but may include detection of one or more lesions by MRI (Van Eenennaam et al. 2002); approximately 50% of CIS progress to relapsing/remitting MS (RMS) (Van Eenennaam et al. 2002). RMS accounts for approximately 80% of cases and is defined by recurrent neurologic symptoms with full or partial recovery and lack of disease progression between relapses (Van Eenennaam et al. 2002). Almost 50% of diagnosed RMS subjects will progress to secondary progressive MS (SPMS) by 15 years and approximately 90% convert to SPMS after 25 years (Van Eenennaam et al. 2002). SPMS is a neurodegenerative, continuous progression, e.g., lesion increases in time and space, and may involve occasional remissions or plateaus but always relapses afterward (Logstrup et al. 2020). Primary progressive MS (PPMS) is rarer and more neurodegenerative at onset with occasional plateaus but no sustained remission (Van Eenennaam et al. 2002).

Like T1DM, the best described biomarker thus far has been HLA haplotype. MS is associated with HLA-DRB1*1501 (DR15 previously DQ2) and DRB5*01-DQB1*0602 (DQ6) predominantly, it also is associated with DR4 and DQ2 (Waid et al. 2014). There are reports that T1D and MS have mutually exclusive HLA haplotypes, with T1D carrying an MS protective haplotype (Pugliese et al. 2016). However, recent findings of T1D and MS co-occurrence (Anaya et al. 2006; Marrosu et al. 2004; Tettey et al. 2015) that are continually expanding in number must be accounted for. Unlike T1DM, AAbs have not been described in MS. During MS, oligoclonal bands in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) were detected (Link and Huang 2006). However, the presence of oligoclonal bands in CSF occurs in patients with chronic or post-acute inflammatory diseases, including MS, of the central nervous system. Thus, oligoclonal bands are not unique to MS. The oligoclonal bands are IgG, the same immunoglobulin class as AAbs in T1DM, and for many years attempts to discover antigen specificity relative to CNS was attempted with no success (Giovannoni 2014; Hartung et al. 2019). A recent report found that the oligoclonal bands reacted to a range of individual peptides with epitopes sharing sequence homologies with proteins of viral origin, and proteins involved in cell stress, apoptosis, and inflammatory processes (Giovannoni 2014; Hartung et al. 2019). In other words, the oligoclonal bands IgGs react with proteins associated with tissue damage. The disappointment is that the IgGs are not CNS-specific antigens, the way AAbs in T1 DM are specific to known islet antigens. Like in MS, AAbs in T1DM appear to relate to tissue damage, not disease progression. Other molecules have been described in the CSF of MS patients including neurofilament, myelin basic protein (MBP), glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), tau protein, neuronal cell adhesion molecule (NCAM), and the growth-associated protein (GAP-43). However, the value of measuring these constituents for both diagnostic and prognostic purposes or for following response to therapy has not been determined (Magliozzi and Cross 2020).

Th40 cells – an autoimmune link: Historically, the CD40 receptor typically was associated with antigen presenting cells. It was first described on B cells, where it induces cell proliferation, and antibody class switching (Hollenbaugh et al. 1992). B cells also are an antigen presenting cell (APC) subclass and CD40 expression was later detected on macrophages and dendritic cells (DC), the other cells constituting APCs. In macrophages, CD40 engagement results in inflammatory cytokine production, nitric oxide production, and oxidative stress induction (Rizvi et al. 2008).

One of the identified ligands for CD40 is CD154 which was initially shown to be expressed on activated T cells. The original description of CD154 first called gp39 was T cell/B cell activation molecule (TBAM) (Foy et al. 1996; Foy et al. 1995). Because CD40 was first described on B cells, and its primary ligand was described on T cells, the inference was that their respective expression was cell type restricted, which turned out to be untrue. CD40 expression has been described in detail on T cells (Vaitaitis et al. 2010, 2013, 2014, 2017a, b, 2019a, b; Wagner 2017; Amit et al. 2016; Liu et al. 2015; Waid et al. 2008, 2014; Deng et al. 2014; Torres et al. 2014; Vaitaitis and Wagner 2008, 2010, 2013), neuronal cells, endothelium, and adipocytes, and CD154 is expressed on APC and platelets that are the primary source of CD154 (El Fakhry et al. 2012; Yashiro et al. 2009; Hassan et al. 2009; Alturaihi et al. 2015). A primary mechanism of action of CD40 on T cells is to induce inflammatory cytokines (Vaitaitis et al. 2014, 2017a, b, 2019b; Waid et al. 2014), induce RAG1 and RAG2, the gene recombination molecules responsible for rearranging T cell receptors (Vaitaitis et al. 2017b; Vaitaitis and Wagner 2013; Wagner 2016), and prevent Fas-mediated apoptosis in T cells isolated from autoimmune conditions (Vaitaitis and Wagner 2008, 2013; Waid et al. 2008).

Effector T cells carrying a specific T cell receptor (TCR) interact with specific antigens presented by antigen presenting cells (Fig. 1). The classic antigen presentation approach is that a resident APC takes up antigens and then processes and presents them through the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I or class II molecules (Fig. 1). The human immune equivalents are human leukocyte antigen (HLA) A, B, C (class I), and D (R, S, Q, U, class II). T cells sample the APC + antigen (Ag) complex and when the T cell carrying the appropriate TCR recognizes that APC/Ag, activation cascade is set in place. Step 1 of immune activation is antigen restricted and TCR expression dependent (Bretscher 1999). The activated effector T cells produce cytokines including IFN γ that is released into the milieu. As shown in Fig. 1, naïve T cells expressing the IFNy receptor interact to induce CD40 (Kooy et al. 1999). CD40 expressing CD4 cells also develop in the thymus (Wagner et al. 1999, 2002; Carter et al. 2012; Wagner 2007) and survive positive and negative selection. In autoimmune-prone mice, thymic Th40 cells significantly (p < 0.002) are increased compared to non-autoimmune controls (Vaitaitis and Wagner 2013; Carter et al. 2012). Th40 cells express a broad repertoire of TCR molecules although clonal expansions within Th40 population occur in autoimmune diseases (Vaitaitis and Wagner 2013; Carter et al. 2012).

The TCR is composed of a discrete alpha and a discrete beta molecule that are generated and expressed during thymic development (Rubin and Kretz-Rommel 2001). The processes of positive and negative selection are meant to assure that only T cells carrying appropriately useful TCR molecules exit the thymus and populate the periphery (Romagnani 2006). This process fails occasionally, and self-antigen reactive T cells escape the thymus (Kishimoto and Sprent 2001). An additionally important and overlooked process that occurs in Th40 cells is TCR revision (Wagner 2016; Wagner and D.H. 2007; Kuklina 2006; Cooper et al. 2003). This is the process through which fully mature Th40 cells alter TCR expression in the periphery after exiting the thymus. Immunological dogma long has incorrectly



Fig. 1 *Cartoon describing generation of Th40 cells.* Effector T cells interact with antigen presenting cells to become activated. Once activated the effector T cell releases IFN γ . Naïve T cells interact with IFN γ to induce CD40 expression, creating Th40 cells. (Figures created by Biorender)

held that once a TCR is expressed in the thymus, it cannot be altered. This dogma is not only illogical but disrupts basic tenets of conservation of biological energy.

A portion of CD4⁺ T cells under inflammatory conditions become induced to express the CD40 receptor (Wagner 2017; Vaitaitis et al. 2014, 2017b) (Fig. 1). Another mechanism of action for CD40 on T cells is induction of the RAG1/RAG2 recombination machinery responsible for altering TCR expression (Vaitaitis et al. 2017b, 2003; Vaitaitis and Wagner 2013) (Fig. 2). When CD40 is engaged by CD154 (Fig. 2), the RAG proteins are induced (Vaitaitis and Wagner 2013; Vaitaitis et al. 2003; Waid et al. 2004). During thymic development, loci within the TCR genes, beta first then alpha, are bound by the RAG1/RAG2 heterodimer at specific sequences (Yannoutsos et al. 2001). A RAG heterodimer complex binds to a site and a second complex binds to a site further downstream. The two RAG heterodimer complexes come together creating a DNA loop. In the thymus, a splicease component of RAG1/RAG2 cleaves the DNA creating a TCR excision circle (TREC) (Zou et al. 2007). This event happens relatively randomly in each developing thymocyte,



Fig. 2 *T cell receptor revision.* Th40 cells express TCR alpha/beta molecules. When CD154 engages CD40 the RAG1/RAG2 proteins become induced. The heterodimer binds to DNA in the TCR locus and produces an alternate mRNA for TCR. The Th40 cell expresses a new TCR. Viral infections generate numerous antigens and when CD154 becomes available post-activation, conditions for TCR revision become strong. An altered TCR increases antigen recognition diversity.

thus any given thymocyte has a different TCR than its neighboring cells. This process creates diversity in the T cell repertoire. But because the entire gene is not spliced, additional alterations in the TCR genes can occur. In the thymus, second and third attempts at expressing novel TCR molecules is TCR editing (Santori et al. 2002). In peripheral Th40 cells, the RAG complex performs much the same process (Vaitaitis et al. 2003, 2017b; Vaitaitis and Wagner 2013; Wagner 2016). In peripheral T cell beta gene revision TRECs have been reported (Zou et al. 2007). In the alpha gene, TRECs were not reported (Vaitaitis et al. 2003, 2017b; Vaitaitis and Wagner 2013; Wagner 2016). The hypothesis was posed that in the periphery, the RAG complex binds TCR gene DNA in the same manner as in the thymus, with two of the complexes coming together to create looped DNA. It is hypothesized that rather than splicing the DNA, the RNA polymerase simply reads through the junction at the RAG complexes and the total DNA remains intact. This process preserves biological conservation, allowing TCR revision to occur more often and as needed, during a viral infection, for example.

Using a T cell clone with defined alpha (Va1)/beta (Vb4) molecules, after CD40 induced RAG1/RAG2 expression the clones expressed different TCR alpha and beta molecules (Vaitaitis et al. 2017b; Vaitaitis and Wagner 2013; Ali et al. 2003; McMahan and Fink 2000). TCR revision does not target recent thymic emigrants (Cooper et al. 2003), demonstrating that the process occurs in mature peripheral T

cells. TCR revision as a mechanism of action has both overall positive and negative consequences. During an infection when multiple foreign body antigens are generated, the ability to alter TCR expression is highly useful (Fig. 2). During a viral infection the natural immune response generates activated T cells that express CD154 (Jenkins et al. 2008). Antigen presenting cells and endothelial cells also express CD154 (Wagner 2017; Wagner et al. 2004).Thus a highly localized concentration of CD40 expressing T cells and of CD154 develops setting the stage for robust CD154–CD40 interactions including the ideal conditions for TCR revision (Fig. 2). This process is particularly beneficial given the mutability of viruses. There are reports that some individuals have protection against SARS-CoV-2 because of an exposure to a much less harmful corona virus variant or even to a previous virus of unknown origin (Balzan 2020). Protection to SARS-CoV-2 could have arisen from a previous viral exposure that caused TCR revision that consequentially resulted in a T cell capable of managing this corona virus.

The negative consequences of TCR revision include generation of autoantigen reactive T cells (Vaitaitis and Wagner 2013; Wagner 2007, 2016). Humans have evolved exceptional immunity to viruses given their myriad number and mutability making them such formidable foes. The price to pay for such strong viral immunity would be susceptibility to autoimmunity, under the current hypothesis. Because T cells remain susceptible to the rules of MHC interaction, the generation of TCR molecules in the periphery that do not conform to the rules of thymic positive selection will undergo death-by-neglect in the periphery. However, the constraints of negative selection, removal of self-antigen reactive developing T cells, may not apply in the periphery at least in all individuals. Peripheral negative selective pressures may occur in most individuals, but in those predisposed to autoimmunity, peripheral negative selective pressures would be lacking. Thus, a mechanism for development of autoreactive T cells in the periphery emerges. Clearly, the generation of a self-antigen reactive T cell in the periphery alone is not sufficient for autoimmune disease development. There have been multiple attempts over years to associate a particular virus with an autoimmune disease. For example, Epstein-Barr virus associated with MS (Tselis 2012), or coxsackie virus with T1D (Roep et al. 2002), etc. Rather than the proposed molecular mimicry hypothesis that does not survive fine statistical analysis, perhaps multiple viral exposures under autoimmune promoting genetic and environmental conditions are culprits. That is, multiple viral exposures leading to repeated TCR revisions thus generating a cadre of self-antigen reactive T cells provide an important component to autoimmune development under the right conditions. In this case, the right conditions are pathogenic, not evolutionarily advantageous. Again, this action alone would not be sufficient to establish autoimmunity, other components must be involved.

Th40 cells produce inflammatory cytokines through CD40, but through CD28 cells produce regulatory cytokines: Th40 cells behave like conventional T cells to produce cytokines when activated through the TCR/CD3 complex aided by co-stimulation (Vaitaitis et al. 2014, 2017a, b, 2019b; Waid et al. 2014). The classically defined conventional T cell co-stimulus molecule is CD28, although other T cell costimulatory molecules have been described (Wagner 2017). An

important mechanism of action for CD40 on Th40 cells is co-stimulation (Fig. 3). CD40 engagement on Th40 cells results in production and secretion of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines including IFN γ , TNF α , IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-17a, IL-21, IL-22, MIP-1 α , and MCP-1 (Vaitaitis et al. 2014, 2017a, b, 2019b; Waid et al. 2014). Interestingly, Th40 cells produce IFN γ and IL-17 concomitantly (Vaitaitis et al. 2013, 2017b; Waid et al. 2014). A study using the NOD mouse T1DM model showed that adoptive transfer of IFN γ producing T cells caused T1DM; IL-17 producing cells also caused T1DM but with delayed kinetics (Bending et al.



Fig. 3 *CD40 drives inflammatory while CD28 drives regulatory cytokines.* An APC, dendritic cell, activates with an effector cell through TCR–MHC, signal 1, and CD28–CD80/CD86 interaction to express CD154. Th40 cells receive signal 1 signals through an APC. The rapid increase in CD154 provides a co-stimulus to Th40 cells to induce inflammatory cytokines. When the CD154 levels decrease as antigen is cleared, the Th40 cell can interact with a dendritic cell, receive signal 2 through CD28, and produce regulatory cytokines

2009). When those effector cells were isolated after diabetes onset, all IL-17 producing cells had converted to IFNy producing cells (Bending et al. 2009). This finding suggests that in vivo Th17 cells are precursors to Th1 inflammatory cells. Th40 cells bridge the gap between Th17 and Th1 (Waid et al. 2014; Vaitaitis et al. 2013). When CD28 is engaged on Th40 cells regulatory cytokines including IL-10, IL-4, and TGF β are produced (Vaitaitis et al. 2014, 2019b; Waid et al. 2014) (Fig. 3). Co-engagement of CD40 and CD28 results in a mix of cytokines, some inflammatory and some regulatory, depending upon which signal is strongest, CD40 or CD28. This suggests that a quantitative difference in costimulatory molecule exposure dictates the direction of inflammatory versus regulatory conditions. Another interesting observation is that Th40 cells also can express FoxP3 (Vaitaitis et al. 2013; Waid et al. 2008), the transcription factor associated with regulatory T cells. Th40 cells exposed to TGFp became FoxP3⁺ and CD40 engagement reduced FoxP3 expression (Vaitaitis et al. 2013). These observations suggest that rather than being exclusively regulated by classic Tregs, Th40 cells are capable of self-regulation. This opens alternate considerations for inflammatory versus regulatory conditions.

Alternate proposal for T cell inflammatory versus regulatory cytokine polariza*tion:* At exposure the virus capsid surface proteins dictate the cell types that will be infected through interaction with various proteins on the host cell surface. The virus enters the cell through receptor-mediated uptake. After initial infection, tissueresident dendritic cells (DC) and macrophages (innate immune cells) uptake eventual viral antigens, and process and present those antigens on HLA-A, B, C, and D molecules. DCs and macrophages migrate to local lymph nodes to allow T cell sampling of antigens. The initial interaction in the lymph node will discover appropriate TCR bearing cells that become activated. Activated T cells proliferate and begin to produce IFN γ and other cytokines. IFN γ levels induce CD40 expression on naïve CD4⁺ T cells creating Th40 cells (Fig. 1). Macrophages and DC at the site of infection become activated to secrete chemokines that will attract more T cells bearing the responsive chemokine receptor, from the regional lymph nodes. At the site of infection, Th40 cells carrying appropriately responsive TCRs interact with local APC and proliferate. Activated human T cells can express HLA molecules (Wilczynski 2006), therefore an activated T cell can interact with Th40 cells (Fig. 3). During this early stage of infection, CD154 and CD40 become abundant in the localized milieu. Th40 TCR interactions will be predominant from APC, but the large number of activated T cells can provide bystander levels of CD154. Thus, Th40 cells can interact directly with APC through TCR/CD3 and MHC but also CD40 on Th40 cells can interact with bystander CD154 from the activated T cells (Fig. 3). This process facilitates rapid production of moderate to high levels of inflammatory cytokines by Th40 cells.

An additional mechanism is that some of the Th40 cells undergo TCR revision as discussed earlier. This process increases T cell diversity at the site, improving response to the infection. Over time as antigen sources deplete, activated T cell numbers decrease, thus CD154 availability rapidly decreases and Th40 cells will now preferentially interact with CD80 (B7.1) and CD86 (B7.2) found on residual APC to reduce inflammatory cytokine production and increase regulatory cytokine

production (Fig. 3). Also, revision will stop. As the infection is controlled, Th40 cells recede in number and a portion convert to memory phenotype (Vaitaitis et al. 2019a; Waid et al. 2014). As stated above, a negative consequence of TCR revision is that some of the revised T cells can be self-antigen responsive. If this happens in a subject who is predisposed to autoimmunity, along with developing self-reactive T cells, additional autoimmune contributors facilitate the development of autoimmune disease. This hypothesis accounts for association of various viruses with autoimmune diseases as has been proposed multiple times. A major difference in this hypothesis versus previous suggestions is that any virus would create the conditions described above. Therefore, EBV could perform these actions in subjects who develop MS, and coxsackie B could do the same in eventual T1DM, but so could SARS-CoV-2, influenzas, etc. In fact, there are now descriptions of COVID-19 subjects developing autoimmune conditions (Taherifard et al. 2021; Zamani et al. 2021; Khamsi 2021; Nersesjan et al. 2021; Tariq et al. 2021; Dotan et al. 2021; Dalakas 2020; Grabbe et al. 2020). The scenario described above would contribute to autoimmune development, but multiple additional factors would also be required for autoimmune diseases to develop.

Th40 cells in T1DM: Th40 cells first were related to autoimmune disease using the NOD mouse model for T1DM (Vaitaitis et al. 2003, 2013, 2014, 2017a; Vaitaitis and Wagner 2008, 2010, 2012, 2013; Waid et al. 2004, 2007, 2008; Wagner et al. 2002; Carter et al. 2012). NOD mice spontaneously develop T1DM although with some sex bias; females generally have 80% incidence and males exhibit about 25% incidence, which is opposed to human T1DM that shows no sex bias. NOD mice diabetes development is like human, with progressive infiltration of pancreatic islets by immune cells leading to loss of insulin. In 3-week-old NOD mice, prior to insulitis, there is an expansion of Th40 cells localized to the pancreatic lymph nodes (Waid et al. 2004). As mice progress toward T1DM, levels of Th40 cells in the periphery expand in number (Waid et al. 2004). Well prior to diabetes onset, Th40 cells can be isolated directly from pancreatic islets. Pathogenicity was confirmed by adoptive transfer of Th40 cells from diabetic mice to NOD/SCID recipients (Vaitaitis et al. 2013, 2017a; Vaitaitis and Wagner 2008, 2010, 2013; Waid et al. 2004, 2008, Wagner et al. 2002; Carter et al. 2012). Also, Th40 cells isolated from prediabetic mice transfer diabetes. Th40 cells did not require activation and the majority achieved memory T cell status (Vaitaitis et al. 2010; Carter et al. 2012; Vaitaitis and Wagner 2012). Examination of human T1DM subjects showed that peripheral blood Th40 cell numbers were significantly expanded compared to non-autoimmune healthy controls, and the majority of Th40 cells were memory phenotype (Vaitaitis et al. 2019b; Waid et al. 2007; Siebert et al. 2008). The Th40 cell expansion was independent of HLA haplotype. That is, if a subject was diabetic, regardless of haplotype, Th40 cells were expanded. In HC that carried haplotypes associated with T1DM, Th40 cell numbers remained at control levels (Waid et al. 2007). Th40 cells from human diabetic subjects responded to islet antigens including insulin peptides, GAD65 peptide, and responded robustly to human islets (Waid et al. 2007). TrialNet, a study from the NIH and the American Diabetes Association, along with JDRF, is conducting a pre-T1DM natural history study. First-degree relatives and subjects carrying at risk haplotypes are recruited. Th40 levels were measured in 65 pre-T1DM subjects (Vaitaitis et al. 2019b). The peripheral blood Th40 cell numbers represented a range, with some subjects having Th40 cell numbers equivalent to T1DM patient samples, and others at HC levels (Vaitaitis et al. 2019b). As with T1DM there was a wide range of HLA haplotypes represented in all pre-T1DM subjects. The older pre-T1DM subjects, potentially pre-LADA, within the DR4/DR4 or DQ8/DQ8 groups were more likely to have increased Th40 cell numbers (Vaitaitis et al. 2019b). This suggests combinational pre-LADA biomarker(s).

Th40 cells in multiple sclerosis: Like T1DM, MS develops over time and like T1DM, the strongest genetic link for MS is HLA haplotype. HLA-DRB1*1501, HLA-DQB1*0602, and HLA-DQA1*0102 alleles are strongly associated with MS (Kalman and Lublin 1999). In a random sampling of 48 relapsing-MS (RMS) patients the HLA haplotype alleles proved to be quite diverse. As was true in other reports, HLA-DRB1*1501, HLA-DQB1*0602, and HLA-DQA1*0102 were evident and DRB1*1501 was the more prominent (Waid et al. 2014). However, DRB1*0404 and DRB1*0403 that typically associate with T1DM were found in numerous MS subjects (Waid et al. 2014). Th40 levels were elevated in RMS subjects regardless of HLA haplotype and as in T1DM, MS subjects carrying HLA alleles other than those associated with MS still had elevated Th40 cell numbers (Waid et al. 2014). As in T1DM, HC subjects that carried HLA-DRB1*1501, HLA-DOB1*0602, and HLA-DOA1*0102 alleles but did not present with MS had normal Th40 cell numbers. Pathogenicity of Th40 cells from MS subjects was assessed by classic antigen recall experiments. A subset of Th40 cells from RMS subjects recognized and responded to CNS-associated antigens in a classic antigen recall assay while Th40 cells from HC did not respond (Waid et al. 2014). Th40 cells from a small group of RMS subjects also responded to isolated human islets. Islets are encompassed by Schwann cells that are attacked during diabetogenesis (Winer et al. 2003). To address mechanism of action of Th40 cells during MS, reverse translation experiments using the experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) model were done (Vaitaitis et al. 2017b, 2019a).

Once initiated, the EAE model progresses similarly to human MS. An immune response directed to CNS-derived antigens creates lesions in the brain and spinal cord that rapidly progress to severe outcomes (Hertzenberg et al. 2013; Hussain et al. 2014). The protocol for EAE disease induction involves challenge with CNS-derived antigens, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG), myelin basic protein (MBP), or proteolipoprotein (PLP). Strong inflammatory conditions are established by complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA) composed of mycobacterial products suspended in mineral oil. Mice given MOG challenge with incomplete Freund's adjuvant (IFA, mineral oil with no inflammation inducing agents) do not develop disease (Visser et al. 2005). An important mechanism was induced expansion of Th40 cell numbers in the periphery (Vaitaitis et al. 2017b). CFA also primes innate dendritic cells through the toll-like receptors (TLR) (Visser et al. 2005). At 3 days post-CFA administration, Th40 cells expand from control levels to pathogenic levels, equivalent to levels observed in active disease RMS patients (Vaitaitis et al.

2017b, 2019a; Waid et al. 2014). Th40 cell numbers remain at pathogenic levels throughout the disease course. Longitudinal studies, over 8 years, of MS patients show sustained, elevated Th40 cell numbers in the PBMC. In EAE, symptoms arise at day 11 and progress from mild to severe within 2 weeks. At necropsy brains and spinal cords are infiltrated by Th40 cells (Vaitaitis et al. 2017b, 2019a). When Th40 cells were isolated from stage 3, early severe symptom mice, and transferred to SCID recipients (complete lack of lymphocytes), severe stage 4 symptoms could be induced with a single CFA treatment. Therapeutic approaches using antibodies directed against CD154, the CD40 receptor, prevent EAE induction and improve EAE preclinical scores (Howard et al. 1999, 2002a, b), suggesting that therapeutic target of Th40 cells would be beneficial.

Correlating the immune inflammation in autoimmune disease: Immune cells + HLA + chemokines + chemokine receptors: Both T1DM and MS, as discussed, represent how specific immune cells contribute to unique pathology outcomes. By focusing on a specific helper T cell, commonality between autoimmune diseases is discovered. Th1, Th2, and Th17 cells each are defined by the cytokines that they produce and secrete. There are no cell surface markers that differentiate them. Th1 and Th17 cells each contribute to autoimmune disease development, however there are studies showing that in vivo Th17 cells are precursor to Th1 (Bending et al. 2009; Scholzen et al. 2009; Cooke 2006). There always has been difficulty isolating Th17 cells from active disease in humans. Th17 cells were only described after in vitro generation; naïve CD4⁺ cells treated with anti- $CD3 + TGF\beta$ (creating regulatory T cells) that then are treated with IL-6 and anti-IL-4. This protocol cannot occur in vivo (Kimura and Kishimoto 2010; Weaver et al. 2006). CD4⁺ cells that express CD40 bridge the gap between Th1 and Th17 (Vaitaitis et al. 2017a, b; Waid et al. 2014). In preclinical mouse models of T1DM and MS, Th40 cell expansions in the periphery predate symptoms (Vaitaitis et al. 2017a, b). In human T1DM Th40 cell number expansions are universal and are elevated to pathogenic numbers in a subset of pre-T1DM, a portion of whom have gone on to develop T1DM (Vaitaitis et al. 2019b; Waid et al. 2007; Siebert et al. 2008). Th40 cell number expansions occur in MS (Waid et al. 2014). This expansion occurs in the early form of MS, clinically isolated syndrome, and in the progressive courses. SPMS and PPMS (observations and submitted manuscript, 2021).

Given the overall difficulty locating specific autoimmune disease biomarkers a combinational approach may be required. Th40 cell expansions indicate systemic inflammation. The elevated numbers in autoimmune disease are significantly higher than seen during infections (Waid et al. 2007, 2014). Infectious inflammation is temporary and once resolved, Th40 cell numbers recede. Th40 cell numbers in HC range from 13% to 25%; infectious disease range is 28–38%; T1DM range is 42–58%; and MS range is 34–90%. The lower Th40 numbers in MS reflects use of disease modulating therapies that target immune cells. Because HLA genes correlate with certain aspects of autoimmunity, they could be used as an indicator. However, clear drawbacks exist, HLA haplotypes are not diagnostic as discussed above. There are overlaps in HLA haplotypes between diseases (Waid et al. 2007, 2014). Also, there are subjects who develop disease without any of the "appropriate" HLA molecules.

Another consideration is chemokine and chemokine receptor expression. Chemokines are secreted molecules that direct immune cells to a specific inflammation site. At a site of infection/tissue damage/inflammation chemokines are secreted by resident innate immune cells, endothelium and epithelium. Immune cells including Th40 cells from local lymph nodes respond to the chemokine trail migrating to the site of damage. Chemokines associated with MS include CXCL12 and CXCL13 (Huber and Irani 2015; Krumbholz et al. 2006), and the interferon inducible chemokine IP-10 (Balashov et al. 1999). Chemokine receptors associated with MS include CCR2, CCR5 (Sato et al. 2012), CXCR3 (Cunill et al. 2018), CXCR4, and CXCR7 (Chu et al. 2017). Chemokine receptors associated with T1DM include CXCR5 (Liu et al. 2019), CXCR4, and CXCR3 (Waid et al. 2007; Chu et al. 2015). There are overlaps in chemokine receptor expressions between MS and T1 DM, but there are unique receptors as well.

Summary: Each autoimmune disease is distinct. There are, however, common features when specific immune components are considered. Many diseases have identified autoantibodies. In T1DM four AAbs have been identified and in subjects 5 years of age or younger there is strong disease predictive correlation with AAbs while in older subjects the rigor fails (Krischer et al. 2021). In MS, IgG oligocloncal bands are in the cerebrospinal fluid, but specificity is toward viruses and cell deathassociated proteins (Giovannoni 2014). Thus, AAbs seem to indicate tissue damage, but do not correlate further to autoimmune disease development. Some autoimmunities, RA, and lupus, for example, have oxidative and nitric stress elements generated by activated macrophages, yet an associated biomarker has not arisen. Pathogenic T cells are common to all autoimmune diseases. Th1 and Th17 cells were indicated as major inflammation mediators. Until the discovery of CD40 expression on Th1 and Th17 cells, no common cell surface biomarker existed. Th40 cells are present at significantly (p < 0.001) elevated numbers in autoimmune diseases and are proving to be a peripheral blood biomarker for systemic inflammation. Th40 cell number expansions in preclinical mice models and in some pre-autoimmune categories of T1DM and MS indicate this cell type expansion occurs early. Because Th40 cells have an expanded TCR repertoire, their tissue targets are varied. In a subgroup of subjects, Th40 cells become expanded in number and remain expanded indefinitely; clear evidence of the pathogenicity of Th40 cells has been established (Vaitaitis et al. 2010, 2013, 2014, 2017a, b, 2019a, b; Wagner 2017; Waid et al. 2014; Vaitaitis and Wagner 2008, 2013). CD40 on Th40 cells preferentially induces inflammatory cytokines while CD28 preferentially induces regulatory cytokines (Vaitaitis et al. 2014, 2017a, b, 2019b, Waid et al. 2014). This crucial observation has been overlooked for many years. Previously all cytokine production was attributed to CD28.

Another feature of Th40 cells is TCR revision, which has distinct positive and negative attributes. TCR revision during a viral infection expands the TCR repertoire at a localized infection site, which aides in eliminating an infection more rapidly. In addition, revision provides downstream protection against future viral infections. The downside includes potential for developing self-tissue reactive T cells. In most subjects these autoaggressive T cells are eliminated by additional revisions or by

other regulatory control mechanisms. In some subjects regulatory mechanisms are faulty, resulting in persistent autoaggressive T cells. The search for specific viruses as causal in autoimmune disease has not held statistical rigor. The idea may be correct but in a more general sense. In autoimmune disease–prone subjects (all the features of autoimmunity clearly are yet to be discovered) multiple viral exposures lead to multiple TCR revisions, some of which are autoaggressive. In the absence of appropriate peripheral regulatory mechanisms these self-reactive T cells expand in number and lead to tissue destruction, e.g., autoimmunity. This hypothesis would account for the growing number of viruses, now including SARS-CoV-2, that contribute to autoimmune disease.

Mini Dictionary of Terms

- *Type 1 diabetes mellitus:* T1DM is a classic autoimmune disease. Immune cells including T and B cells macrophages and dendritic cells invade the islets of the pancreas leading to loss of insulin production. Systemic inflammation creates numerous clinical problems. There are no treatments.
- *Multiple sclerosis:* MS is a neurological disease that also is autoimmune. Immune cells invade the central nervous system leading to multiple clinical outcomes ranging in severity. The disease occurs in multiple courses beginning as a chronic disease that has remissions, but ultimately becomes progressive leading to more severe outcomes.
- *TCR revision*: It is the process by which mature T cells alter T cell receptor expression. The TCR provides the T cell with antigen specificity. When CD40 is engaged on Th40 cells under appropriate conditions, signals are delivered to induce changes in TCR expression. Depending upon the configuration of the TCR determines how the T cell will respond to an antigen. TCR revision has positive and negative consequences.
- *Th40 cells*: Th40 cells are created when the CD40 receptor is induced on CD4+ helper T cells. Inflammatory conditions during an infection or during autoimmunity create Th40 cells. CD40 on T cells induces inflammatory cytokines while CD28 on T cells induces regulatory cytokines.
- *Autoantibody*: It is an immunoglobulin molecule that can bind to a self-antigen. Antibodies normally target pathogens like viruses, but under autoimmune disease conditions, antibodies develop that target various self-tissues. Autoantibodies are a marker for tissue damage.

Key Facts

• Type 1 diabetes mellitus affects 1.25 million Americans and with the incidence increasing by 200,000 yearly. The incidence varies worldwide with an incidence of 0.1/100,000 in China and Venezuela and 36.8/100,000 in Sardinia and France.

- Multiple sclerosis affects almost 2.5 million worldwide and incidence is increasing by 200,000 yearly. Like diabetes disease incidence occurs in hot spots with higher incidence closer to the global poles and lower incidence at the equator. The reason is unknown.
- Th40 cells are a biomarker common to both diseases. Because of T cell receptor expression differences, the cells specifically attack different tissues. The increase in Th40 cells represent the systemic inflammation of each disease.
- There are no cures for T1DM or MS and while current treatment options target various immune components, not CD40 however, the diseases remain prevalent and progressive.

Summary Points

- This chapter focuses on defining a common biomarker in type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) and multiple sclerosis (MS).
- Th40 cells develop in the periphery, have a diverse T cell receptor (TCR) repertoire, and under normal conditions their numbers remain low.
- During infection Th40 cell numbers increase but reduce in number over time; however, during systemic autoimmune inflammation Th40 cell numbers increase dramatically and do not reduce in number over time.
- CD40 on Th40 cells drives inflammatory cytokine production, while CD28 drives regulatory cytokines.
- Current biomarkers for T1DM and MS, HLA haplotype, genes identified by GWAS, and tissue-associated proteins do not hold diagnostic power.
- Viral infections increase peripheral Th40 cell numbers.
- Th40 cells can undergo TCR revision, alteration of the existing T cell receptor (TCR); this process increases the diversity of T cells responding to an infection and can account for the development of T cells able to respond to future infections.
- TCR revision can increase the risk of developing self-antigen reactive T cells that can promote autoimmune disease.

References

- Ali M, Weinreich M, Balcaitis S, Cooper CJ, Fink PJ. Differential regulation of peripheral CD4+ T cell tolerance induced by deletion and TCR revision. J Immunol. 2003;171(11):6290–6.
- Alturaihi H, Hassan GS, Al-Zoobi L, Salti S, Darif Y, Yacoub D, El Akoum S, Oudghiri M, Merhi Y, Mourad W. Interaction of CD154 with different receptors and its role in bidirectional signals. Eur J Immunol. 2015;45(2):592–602.
- Amit C, Payal C, Baghel US, Aakash D. Synthesis, cytotoxic evaluation, docking and QSAR study of *N*-(4-oxo-2-(4-((5-aryl-1,3,4-thiadiazol-2-yl)amino)phenyl)thiazolidin-3-yl) benzamides as antitubulin agents. Curr Top Med Chem. 2016;16(22):2509–20.
- Anaya JM, Gomez L, Castiblanco J. Is there a common genetic basis for autoimmune diseases? Clin Dev Immunol. 2006;13(2–4):185–95.

- Balashov KE, Rottman JB, Weiner HL, Hancock WW. CCR5(+) and CXCR3(+) T cells are increased in multiple sclerosis and their ligands MIP-1alpha and IP-10 are expressed in demyelinating brain lesions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999;96(12):6873–8.
- Balzan M. Low incidence and mortality from SARS-CoV-2 in Southern Europe. Proposal of a hypothesis for Arthropod borne Herd immunity. Med Hypotheses. 2020;143:110121.
- Bao YK, Ma J, Ganesan VC, McGill JB. Mistaken identity: missed diagnosis of type 1 diabetes in an older adult. Med Res Arch. 2019;7(8):1962.
- Barrett JC, Clayton DG, Concannon P, Akolkar B, Cooper JD, Erlich HA, Julier C, Morahan G, Nerup J, Nierras C, et al. Genome-wide association study and meta-analysis find that over 40 loci affect risk of type 1 diabetes. Nat Genet. 2009;41(6):703–7.
- Battaglia M, Nigi L, Dotta F. Towards an earlier and timely diagnosis of type 1 diabetes: is it time to change criteria to define disease onset? Curr Diab Rep. 2015;15(12):115.
- Bending D, De La Pena H, Veldhoen M, Phillips JM, Uyttenhove C, Stockinger B, Cooke A. Highly purified Th17 cells from BDC2.5NOD mice convert into Th1-like cells in NOD/SCID recipient mice. J Clin Invest. 2009;119:565–72.
- Bleich D, Wagner DH. Challenges to reshape the future of type 1 diabetes research. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2018;103(8):2838–42.
- Bretscher P. A two-step, two-signal model for the primary activation of precursor helper T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999;96:185–90.
- Carter J, Vaitaitis GM, Waid DM, Wagner DH Jr. CD40 engagement of CD4+ CD40+ T cells in a neo-self antigen disease model ablates CTLA-4 expression and indirectly impacts tolerance. Eur J Immunol. 2012;42(2):424–35.
- Chu PY, Walder K, Horlock D, Williams D, Nelson E, Byrne M, Jandeleit-Dahm K, Zimmet P, Kaye DM. CXCR4 antagonism attenuates the development of diabetic cardiac fibrosis. PLoS One. 2015;10(7):e0133616.
- Chu T, Shields LBE, Zhang YP, Feng SQ, Shields CB, Cai J. CXCL12/CXCR4/CXCR7 chemokine axis in the central nervous system: therapeutic targets for remyelination in demyelinating diseases. Neuroscientist. 2017;23(6):627–48.
- Cooke A. Th17 cells in inflammatory conditions. Rev Diabet Stud. 2006;3(2):72-5.
- Cooper CJ, Orr MT, McMahan CJ, Fink PJ. T cell receptor revision does not solely target recent thymic emigrants. J Immunol. 2003;171(1):226–33.
- Cunill V, Massot M, Clemente A, Calles C, Andreu V, Nunez V, Lopez-Gomez A, Diaz RM, Jimenez MLR, Pons J, et al. Relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis is characterized by a T follicular cell pro-inflammatory shift, reverted by dimethyl fumarate treatment. Front Immunol. 2018;9:1097.
- Dalakas MC. Inflammatory myopathies: update on diagnosis, pathogenesis and therapies, and COVID-19-related implications. Acta Myol. 2020;39(4):289–301.
- Deng G, Carter J, Traystman RJ, Wagner DH, Herson PS. Pro-inflammatory T-lymphocytes rapidly infiltrate into the brain and contribute to neuronal injury following cardiac arrest and cardiopulmonary resuscitation. J Neuroimmunol. 2014;274(1–2):132–40.
- Dotan A, Muller S, Kanduc D, David P, Halpert G, Shoenfeld Y. The SARS-CoV-2 as an instrumental trigger of autoimmunity. Autoimmun Rev. 2021;20:102792.
- El Fakhry Y, Alturaihi H, Yacoub D, Liu L, Guo W, Leveille C, Jung D, Khzam LB, Merhi Y, Wilkins JA, et al. Functional interaction of CD154 protein with alpha5beta1 integrin is totally independent from its binding to alphaIIbbeta3 integrin and CD40 molecules. J Biol Chem. 2012;287(22):18055–66.
- Foy TM, Page DM, Waldschmidt TJ, Schoneveld A, Laman JD, Masters SR, Tygrett L, Ledbetter JA, Aruffo A, Claassen E, et al. An essential role for gp39, the ligand for CD40, in thymic selection. J Exp Med. 1995;182:1377–88.
- Foy T, Aruffo A, Bajorath J, Buhlmann J, Noelle R. Immune regulation by CD40 and its ligand gp39. Annu Rev Immunol. 1996;14:591–617.
- Giovannoni G. Cerebrospinal fluid analysis. Handb Clin Neurol. 2014;122:681-702.
- Grabbe S, Beissert S, Enk A. Systemic immunosuppression in times of COVID-19: do we need to rethink our standards? J Dtsch Dermatol Ges. 2020;18(8):810–3.

- Halter JB, Beard JC, Porte D Jr. Islet function and stress hyperglycemia: plasma glucose and epinephrine interaction. Am J Phys. 1984;247(1 Pt 1):E47–52.
- Hartung HP, Graf J, Aktas O, Mares J, Barnett MH. Diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: revisions of the McDonald criteria 2017 – continuity and change. Curr Opin Neurol. 2019;32(3):327–37.
- Hassan GS, Merhi Y, Mourad WM. CD154 and its receptors in inflammatory vascular pathologies. Trends Immunol. 2009;30(4):165–72.
- Haubitz M. Exploring new territory: the move towards individualised treatment. Lupus. 2007;16(3): 227–31.
- Hertzenberg D, Lehmann-Horn K, Kinzel S, Husterer V, Cravens PD, Kieseier BC, Hemmer B, Bruck W, Zamvil SS, Stuve O, et al. Developmental maturation of innate immune cell function correlates with susceptibility to central nervous system autoimmunity. Eur J Immunol. 2013;43 (8):2078–88.
- Hollenbaugh D, Grosmaire LS, Kullas CD, Chalupny NJ, Braesch-Andersen S, Noelle RJ, Stamenkovic I, Ledbetter JA, Aruffo A. The human T cell antigen gp39, a member of the TNF gene family, is a ligand for the CD40 receptor: expression of a soluble form of gp39 with B cell co-stimulatory activity. EMBO J. 1992;11(12):4313–21.
- Howard LM, Miga AJ, Vanderlugt CL, Dal Canto MC, Laman JD, Noelle RJ, Miller SD. Mechanisms of immunotherapeutic intervention by anti-CD40L (CD154) antibody in an animal model of multiple sclerosis. J Clin Invest. 1999;103(2):281–90.
- Howard LM, Dal Canto MC, Miller SD. Transient anti-CD154-mediated immunotherapy of ongoing relapsing experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis induces long-term inhibition of disease relapses. J Neuroimmunol. 2002a;129(1–2):58–65.
- Howard LM, Ostrovidov S, Smith CE, Dal Canto MC, Miller SD. Normal Th1 development following long-term therapeutic blockade of CD154-CD40 in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Clin Invest. 2002b;109(2):233–41.
- Huber AK, Irani DN. Targeting CXCL13 during neuroinflammation. Adv Neuroimmune Biol. 2015;6(1):1–8.
- Hussain RZ, Hayardeny L, Cravens PC, Yarovinsky F, Eagar TN, Arellano B, Deason K, Castro-Rojas C, Stuve O. Immune surveillance of the central nervous system in multiple sclerosis – relevance for therapy and experimental models. J Neuroimmunol. 2014;276(1–2):9–17.
- Jenkins SJ, Perona-Wright G, MacDonald AS. Full development of Th2 immunity requires both innate and adaptive sources of CD154. J Immunol. 2008;180(12):8083–92.
- Kalman B, Lublin FD. The genetics of multiple sclerosis. A review. Biomed Pharmacother. 1999;53 (8):358–70.
- Khamsi R. Rogue antibodies could be driving severe COVID-19. Nature. 2021;590(7844):29-31.
- Kimura A, Kishimoto T. IL-6: regulator of Treg/Th17 balance. Eur J Immunol. 2010;40(7):1830-5.
- Kishimoto H, Sprent J. A defect in central tolerance in NOD mice. Nat Immunol. 2001;2(11): 1025–31.
- Kooy AJ, Prens EP, Van Heukelum A, Vuzevski VD, Van Joost T, Tank B. Interferon-gammainduced ICAM-1 and CD40 expression, complete lack of HLA-DR and CD80 (B7.1), and inconsistent HLA-ABC expression in basal cell carcinoma: a possible role for interleukin-10? J Pathol. 1999;187(3):351–7.
- Krischer JP, Liu X, Lernmark A, Hagopian WA, Rewers MJ, She JX, Toppari J, Ziegler AG, Akolkar B, Group TS. Characteristics of children diagnosed with type 1 diabetes before vs after 6 years of age in the TEDDY cohort study. Diabetologia. 2021;64:2247–57.
- Krumbholz M, Theil D, Cepok S, Hemmer B, Kivisakk P, Ransohoff RM, Hofbauer M, Farina C, Derfuss T, Hartle C, et al. Chemokines in multiple sclerosis: CXCL12 and CXCL13 up-regulation is differentially linked to CNS immune cell recruitment. Brain. 2006;129(Pt 1):200–11.
- Kuklina EM. Revision of the antigen receptor of T-lymphocytes. Biochemistry (Mosc). 2006;71(8): 827–37.
- Lampasona V, Liberati D. Islet Autoantibodies. Curr Diab Rep. 2016;16(6):53.
- Link H, Huang YM. Oligoclonal bands in multiple sclerosis cerebrospinal fluid: an update on methodology and clinical usefulness. J Neuroimmunol. 2006;180(1–2):17–28.

- Liu H, Meuwissen TH, Sorensen AC, Berg P. Upweighting rare favourable alleles increases longterm genetic gain in genomic selection programs. Genet Sel Evol. 2015;47:19.
- Liu S, Liu X, Xiong H, Wang W, Liu Y, Yin L, Tu C, Wang H, Xiang X, Xu J, et al. CXCL13/ CXCR5 signaling contributes to diabetes-induced tactile allodynia via activating pERK, pSTAT3, pAKT pathways and pro-inflammatory cytokines production in the spinal cord of male mice. Brain Behav Immun. 2019;80:711–24.
- Logstrup BB, Ellingsen T, Pedersen AB, Darvalics B, Olesen KKW, Botker HE, Maeng M. Cardiovascular risk and mortality in rheumatoid arthritis compared with diabetes mellitus and the general population. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2020;60:1400–9.
- Magliozzi R, Cross AH. Can CSF biomarkers predict future MS disease activity and severity? Mult Scler. 2020. https://doi.org/10.1177/1352458519871818.
- Magyari M, Sorensen PS. Comorbidity in multiple sclerosis. Front Neurol. 2020;11:851.
- Mangada J, Pearson T, Brehm MA, Wicker LS, Peterson LB, Shultz LD, Serreze DV, Rossini AA, Greiner DL. Idd loci synergize to prolong islet allograft survival induced by costimulation blockade in NOD mice. Diabetes. 2009;58(1):165–73.
- Marrosu MG, Motzo C, Murru R, Lampis R, Costa G, Zavattari P, Contu D, Fadda E, Cocco E, Cucca F. The coinheritance of type 1 diabetes and multiple sclerosis in Sardinia cannot be explained by genotype variation in the HLA region alone. Hum Mol Genet. 2004;13(23):2919–24.
- McMahan C, Fink P. Receptor revision in peripheral T cells creates a diverse V beta repertoire. J Immunol. 2000;165:690206907.
- Michels A, Zhang L, Khadra A, Kushner JA, Redondo MJ, Pietropaolo M. Prediction and prevention of type 1 diabetes: update on success of prediction and struggles at prevention. Pediatr Diabetes. 2015;16(7):465–84.
- Munoz C, Floreen A, Garey C, Karlya T, Jelley D, Alonso GT, McAuliffe-Fogarty A. Misdiagnosis and diabetic ketoacidosis at diagnosis of type 1 diabetes: patient and caregiver perspectives. Clin Diabetes. 2019;37(3):276–81.
- Nersesjan V, Amiri M, Lebech AM, Roed C, Mens H, Russell L, Fonsmark L, Berntsen M, Sigurdsson ST, Carlsen J, et al. Central and peripheral nervous system complications of COVID-19: a prospective tertiary center cohort with 3-month follow-up. J Neurol. 2021;268:3086–104.
- Peng W, Yuan J, Chiavaroli V, Dong G, Huang K, Wu W, Ullah R, Jin B, Lin H, Derraik JGB, et al. 10-year incidence of diabetic ketoacidosis at type 1 diabetes diagnosis in children aged less than 16 years from a large regional center (Hangzhou, China). Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2021;12:653519.
- Pugliese A, Boulware D, Yu L, Babu S, Steck AK, Becker D, Rodriguez H, DiMeglio L, Evans-Molina C, Harrison LC, et al. HLA-DRB1*15:01-DQA1*01:02-DQB1*06:02 haplotype protects autoantibody-positive relatives from type 1 diabetes throughout the stages of disease progression. Diabetes. 2016;65(4):1109–19.
- Rizvi M, Pathak D, Freedman JE, Chakrabarti S. CD40-CD40 ligand interactions in oxidative stress, inflammation and vascular disease. Trends Mol Med. 2008;14(12):530–8.
- Roep BO, Hiemstra HS, Schloot NC, De Vries RR, Chaudhuri A, Behan PO, Drijfhout JW. Molecular mimicry in type 1 diabetes: immune cross-reactivity between islet autoantigen and human cytomegalovirus but not coxsackie virus. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2002;958:163–5.
- Romagnani S. Regulation of the T cell response. Clin Exp Allergy. 2006;36(11):1357-66.
- Rubin RL, Kretz-Rommel A. A nondeletional mechanism for central T-cell tolerance. Crit Rev Immunol. 2001;21(1–3):29–40.
- Santori FR, Arsov I, Lilic M, Vukmanovic S, Lili M. Editing autoreactive TCR enables efficient positive selection. J Immunol. 2002;169(4):1729–34.
- Sato W, Tomita A, Ichikawa D, Lin Y, Kishida H, Miyake S, Ogawa M, Okamoto T, Murata M, Kuroiwa Y, et al. CCR2(+)CCR5(+) T cells produce matrix metalloproteinase-9 and osteopontin in the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. J Immunol. 2012;189(10):5057–65.
- Schofield J, Ho J, Soran H. Cardiovascular risk in type 1 diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Ther. 2019;10 (3):773–89.
- Scholzen A, Mittag D, Rogerson SJ, Cooke BM, Plebanski M. Plasmodium falciparum-mediated induction of human CD25Foxp3 CD4 T cells is independent of direct TCR stimulation and requires IL-2, IL-10 and TGFbeta. PLoS Pathog. 2009;5(8):e1000543.

- Sella T, Shoshan A, Goren I, Shalev V, Blumenfeld O, Laron Z, Chodick G. A retrospective study of the incidence of diagnosed type 1 diabetes among children and adolescents in a large health organization in Israel, 2000–2008. Diabet Med. 2011;28(1):48–53.
- Semb AG, Rollefstad S, Ikdahl E, Wibetoe G, Sexton J, Crowson C, van Riel P, Kitas G, Graham I, Rantapaa-Dahlqvist S, et al. Diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular risk management in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: an international audit. RMD Open. 2021;7(2):e001724.
- Siebert JC, Inokuma M, Waid DM, Pennock ND, Vaitaitis GM, Disis ML, Dunne JF, Wagner DH Jr, Maecker HT. An analytical workflow for investigating cytokine profiles. Cytometry A. 2008;73(4): 289–98.
- Taherifard E, Taherifard E, Movahed H, Mousavi MR. Hematologic autoimmune disorders in the course of COVID-19: a systematic review of reported cases. Hematology. 2021;26(1):225–39.
- Tariq S, Van Eeden C, Tervaert JWC, Osman MS. COVID-19, rheumatic diseases and immune dysregulation-a perspective. Clin Rheumatol. 2021;40(2):433–42.
- Tettey P, Simpson S Jr, Taylor BV, van der Mei IA. The co-occurrence of multiple sclerosis and type 1 diabetes: shared aetiologic features and clinical implication for MS aetiology. J Neurol Sci. 2015;348(1–2):126–31.
- Torres AJ, Dorsey CL, Hudnall TW. Preparation and use of carbonyl-decorated carbenes in the activation of white phosphorus. J Vis Exp. 2014;92:e52149.
- Tselis A. Epstein-Barr virus cause of multiple sclerosis. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2012;24(4):424-8.
- Vaitaitis GM, Wagner DH Jr. High distribution of CD40 and TRAF2 in Th40 T cell rafts leads to preferential survival of this auto-aggressive population in autoimmunity. PLoS One. 2008;3(4): e2076.
- Vaitaitis GM, Wagner DH Jr. CD40 glycoforms and TNF-receptors 1 and 2 in the formation of CD40 receptor(s) in autoimmunity. Mol Immunol. 2010;47(14):2303–13.
- Vaitaitis GM, Wagner DH Jr. Galectin-9 controls CD40 signaling through a Tim-3 independent mechanism and redirects the cytokine profile of pathogenic T cells in autoimmunity. PLoS One. 2012;7(6):e38708.
- Vaitaitis GM, Wagner DH Jr. CD40 interacts directly with RAG1 and RAG2 in autoaggressive T cells and Fas prevents CD40-induced RAG expression. Cell Mol Immunol. 2013;10(6):483–9.
- Vaitaitis GM, Poulin M, Sanderson RJ, Haskins K, Wagner DH Jr. Cutting edge: CD40-induced expression of recombination activating gene (RAG) 1 and RAG2: a mechanism for the generation of autoaggressive T cells in the periphery. J Immunol. 2003;170(7):3455–9.
- Vaitaitis G, Waid DM, Wagner DH Jr. The expanding role of TNF-receptor super family member CD40 (tnfrsf5) in autoimmune disease: focus on Th40 cells. Curr Immunol Rev. 2010;6(2):130–6.
- Vaitaitis GM, Carter JR, Waid DM, Olmstead MH, Wagner DH Jr. An alternative role for Foxp3 as an effector T cell regulator controlled through CD40. J Immunol. 2013;191(2):717–25.
- Vaitaitis GM, Olmstead MH, Waid DM, Carter JR, Wagner DH Jr. A CD40-targeted peptide controls and reverses type 1 diabetes in NOD mice. Diabetologia. 2014;57(11):2366–73.
- Vaitaitis GM, Waid DM, Yussman MG, Wagner DH Jr. CD40-mediated signalling influences trafficking, T-cell receptor expression, and T-cell pathogenesis, in the NOD model of type 1 diabetes. Immunology. 2017a;152(2):243–54.
- Vaitaitis GM, Yussman MG, Waid DM, Wagner DH Jr. Th40 cells (CD4+CD40+ Tcells) drive a more severe form of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis than conventional CD4 T cells. PLoS One. 2017b;12(2):e0172037.
- Vaitaitis GM, Yussman MG, Wagner DH Jr. A CD40 targeting peptide prevents severe symptoms in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Neuroimmunol. 2019a;332:8–15.
- Vaitaitis GM, Rihanek M, Alkanani AK, Waid DM, Gottlieb PA, Wagner DH, Type 1 Diabetes TrialNet Study G. Biomarker discovery in pre-type 1 diabetes; Th40 cells as a predictive risk factor. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2019b;104:4127–42.
- Valdes AM, Wapelhorst B, Concannon P, Erlich HA, Thomson G, Noble JA. Extended DR3-D6S273-HLA-B haplotypes are associated with increased susceptibility to type 1 diabetes in US Caucasians. Tissue Antigens. 2005;65(1):115–9.
- Van Eenennaam H, Vogelzangs JH, Lugtenberg D, Van Den Hoogen FH, Van Venrooij WJ, Pruijn GJ. Identity of the RNase MRP- and RNase P-associated Th/to autoantigen. Arthritis Rheum. 2002;46(12):3266–72.

- Visser L, Jan de Heer H, Boven LA, van Riel D, van Meurs M, Melief MJ, Zahringer U, van Strijp J, Lambrecht BN, Nieuwenhuis EE, et al. Proinflammatory bacterial peptidoglycan as a cofactor for the development of central nervous system autoimmune disease. J Immunol. 2005;174(2):808–16.
- Wagner DH. Of the multiple mechanisms leading to type 1 diabetes, T cell receptor revision may play a prominent role (is type 1 diabetes more than a single disease?). Clin Exp Immunol. 2016;185(3):271–80.
- Wagner J, D.H. Reshaping the T cell repertoire: TCR editing and TCR revision for good and for bad. Clin Immunol. 2007;I123:1–6.
- Wagner DH Jr. Re-shaping the T cell repertoire: TCR editing and TCR revision for good and for bad. Clin Immunol. 2007;123(1):1–6.
- Wagner DH Jr. Overlooked mechanisms in type 1 diabetes etiology: how unique costimulatory molecules contribute to diabetogenesis. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2017;8:208.
- Wagner DH Jr, Newell E, Sanderson RJ, Freed JH, Newell MK. Increased expression of CD40 on thymocytes and peripheral T cells in autoimmunity: a mechanism for acquiring changes in the peripheral T cell receptor repertoire. Int J Mol Med. 1999;4(3):231–42.
- Wagner DH Jr, Vaitaitis G, Sanderson R, Poulin M, Dobbs C, Haskins K. Expression of CD40 identifies a unique pathogenic T cell population in type 1 diabetes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99(6):3782–7.
- Wagner AH, Guldenzoph B, Lienenluke B, Hecker M. CD154/CD40-mediated expression of CD154 in endothelial cells: consequences for endothelial cell-monocyte interaction. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2004;24(4):715–20.
- Waid DM, Vaitaitis GM, Wagner DH Jr. Peripheral CD4loCD40+ auto-aggressive T cell expansion during insulindependent diabetes mellitus. Eur J Immunol. 2004;34(5):1488–97.
- Waid DM, Wagner RJ, Putnam A, Vaitaitis GM, Pennock ND, Calverley DC, Gottlieb P, Wagner DH Jr. A unique T cell subset described as CD4loCD40+ T cells (TCD40) in human type 1 diabetes. Clin Immunol. 2007;124(2):138–48.
- Waid DM, Vaitaitis GM, Pennock ND, Wagner DH Jr. Disruption of the homeostatic balance between autoaggressive (CD4+CD40+) and regulatory (CD4+CD25+FoxP3+) T cells promotes diabetes. J Leukoc Biol. 2008;84(2):431–9.
- Waid DM, Schreiner T, Vaitaitis G, Carter JR, Corboy JR, Wagner DH Jr. Defining a new biomarker for the autoimmune component of multiple sclerosis: Th40 cells. J Neuroimmunol. 2014;270 (1–2):75–85.
- Weaver CT, Harrington LE, Mangan PR, Gavrieli M, Murphy KM. Th17: an effector CD4 T cell lineage with regulatory T cell ties. Immunity. 2006;24(6):677–88.
- Weber P, Ambrosova P, Canov P, Weberova D, Kuklinek P, Meluzinova H, Matejovska-Kubesova H, Cejkova P, Bielakova K, Cerna M. GAD antibodies in T1D and LADA – relations to age, BMI, c-peptide, IA-2 and HLA-DRB1*03 and DRB1*04 alleles. Adv Gerontol. 2011;24(2):312–8.
- Wilczynski JR. Immunological analogy between allograft rejection, recurrent abortion and pre-eclampsia – the same basic mechanism? Hum Immunol. 2006;67(7):492–511.
- Winer S, Tsui H, Lau A, Song A, Li X, Cheung RK, Sampson A, Afifiyan F, Elford A, Jackowski G, et al. Autoimmune islet destruction in spontaneous type 1 diabetes is not beta-cell exclusive. Nat Med. 2003;9(2):198–205.
- Yannoutsos N, Wilson P, Yu W, Chen HT, Nussenzweig A, Petrie H, Nussenzweig MC. The role of recombination activating gene (RAG) reinduction in thymocyte development in vivo. J Exp Med. 2001;194(4):471–80.
- Yashiro K, Matsumoto Y, Ihara H, Suzuki Y, Kondo K, Urano T, Umemura K. Involvement of platelet activation by P2Y12 receptor in the development of transplant arteriosclerosis in mice. Transplantation. 2009;87(5):660–7.
- Zamani B, Moeini Taba SM, Shayestehpour M. Systemic lupus erythematosus manifestation following COVID-19: a case report. J Med Case Rep. 2021;15(1):29.
- Zou HY, Ma L, Meng MJ, Yao XS, Lin Y, Wu ZQ, He XW, Wang JF, Wang XN. Expression of recombination-activating genes and T cell receptor gene recombination in the human T cell leukemia cell line. Chin Med J. 2007;120(5):410–5.



28

Epigenetically Modified DNA Fragments

What They Are and How They Can Be Used as Biomarkers of Diabetes Pathogenesis and Risk

Sarah A. Tersey and Raghavendra G. Mirmira

Contents

Introduction	598
Epigenetic Modifications	598
Cell-Free DNA and Epigenetically Modified DNA Fragments	599
Technologies for DNA Methylation Detection	600
Differentially Methylated cfDNA as a Biomarker for β-Cell Death	601
Advancing Technologies to Measure Differentially Methylated cfDNA	603
Differentially Methylated cfDNA Beyond T1D	605
Limitations to Measuring Differentially Methylated cfDNA as a Biomarker	
for β-Cell Death	606
Applications to Prognosis, Other Diseases, or Conditions	607
Mini-Dictionary of Terms	609
Key Facts of Diabetes	609
Key Facts of Cell-Free DNA (cfDNA)	609
Summary Points	609
References	610

Abstract

Islet β -cell death is a hallmark of both type 1 and type 2 diabetes, resulting in decreased insulin levels. In recent years, circulating cell-free epigenetically modified DNA fragments arising from β -cells have been used to measure β -cell death as a biomarker for diabetes development and progression. Here, we review epigenetically modified DNA fragments, technologies to measure them, and usage of the tools to evaluate β -cell death in type 1 diabetes, type 2 diabetes, gestational diabetes, and islet cell transplantation.

S. A. Tersey (🖂) · R. G. Mirmira

Department of Medicine, University of Chicago, Chicago, IL, USA e-mail: stersey@uchicago.edu; rmirmira@medicine.bsd.uchicago.edu; mirmira@uchicago.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 31

Keywords

Epigenetics · Cell-free DNA · Methylation · β -Cell death · Type 1 diabetes · Type 2 diabetes · Gestational diabetes · Islet transplantation · Insulin · Digital PCR · Methylation-specific PCR · Bisulfite conversion

AŁ	br	evi	iati	on	S

cfDN4	cell_free DNA
CIDINA	
dPCR	digital polymerase chain reaction
lncRNA	long noncoding RNA
miRNA	microRNA
mRNA	messenger RNA
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
qPCR	quantitative polymerase chain reaction
T1D	Type 1 diabetes
T2D	Type 2 diabetes

Introduction

Both type 1 diabetes (T1D) and type 2 diabetes (T2D) are characterized by progressive β -cell failure. In T1D, this is typically caused by an autoimmune assault against the β -cells. By the time of diagnosis, β -cell mass is reduced by 70–80%; however, this loss occurs slowly over years, long before diagnosis with evidence of β -cell apoptosis (Marhfour et al. 2012; Campbell-Thompson et al. 2016). It has also been shown that individuals with T2D also have a significant reduction in β -cell mass with an increase in β -cell apoptosis (Sakuraba et al. 2002; Kahn 2003; Butler et al. 2003).

Through various mechanisms of cell death, predominately thought to be due to apoptosis, cellular DNA is shed into the bloodstream and other body fluids as cell-free DNA (cfDNA) (Jahr et al. 2001). As circulating cfDNA originates from dying cells, it thus reflects ongoing cell death taking place in the body (Wan et al. 2017). This concept, combined with the fact that epigenetic modifications are tissue specific, led to the concept of tracking tissue-specific cellular death through the methylation status of specific genes found in cfDNA. The use of epigenetic marks has revolutionized the field of noninvasive molecular diagnosis (Gai and Sun 2019; Rahat et al. 2020). This chapter will focus on the use of epigenetic marks, specifically DNA methylation, in cfDNA during the pathogenesis of diabetes as a measure of β -cell death.

Epigenetic Modifications

Epigenetics is the study of how cells control gene activity without changing the DNA sequence. Chemical modifications of DNA alter DNA accessibility and chromatin structure and thereby regulate or alter gene transcription rates. Chemical

modifications are highly variable among different individuals, in different tissues within an individual, and within different cells within a given tissue. There are three main types of epigenetic modifications that impact gene expression: DNA methylation, histone modification (methylation, acetylation, phosphorylation), and noncoding RNAs.

DNA methylation refers to the addition of a methyl group (-CH₃), typically to the fifth carbon atom of a cytosine ring. The conversion of a cytosine base to a 5-methylcytosine is catalyzed by DNA methyltransferases. Generally, this happens to cytosine residues that lie next to a guanine base resulting in what is known as CpG methylation. DNA methylation results in suppression of gene transcription in most cases. The methylation status of specific genes is very tissue and cell-type specific (Moss et al. 2018).

Histones are proteins that condense and package DNA into nucleosomes. Modifications to the histones impact gene transcription, chromosome packaging, DNA damage, and DNA repair (Bannister and Kouzarides 2011). Histone acetylation is mostly associated with a chromatin structure that is open and therefore accessible to transcription factors, increasing gene transcription. Histone methylation is the transfer from S-adenosyl-L-methionine of one to three methyl groups to lysine or arginine residues of histone proteins. Histone methylation is associated with both activation and repression of transcription. Histone phosphorylation occurs when histone kinases take phosphate groups from ATP and add them to the hydroxyl group of target amino-acid side chains. Histone phosphorylation is important for chromosome condensation during cell division, DNA repair, and transcription regulation.

Noncoding RNAs are a cluster of RNAs that do not encode functional proteins (Wei et al. 2017). MicroRNAs (miRNAs) interact primarily with the 3' untranslated region of target messenger RNAs (mRNA) to induce mRNA degradation and translational repression; however, they have also been shown to interact with the 5' untranslation region, coding sequences, and gene promoters. Under specific conditions, miRNAs can activate translation or regulate transcription (O'Brien et al. 2018). Long noncoding RNAs (lncRNAs) are transcripts that are longer than 200 base pairs and modulate gene expression and function through epigenetic regulation of chromatin structure. lncRNAs also regulate posttranscriptional mechanism including transcript splicing, mRNA decay, and protein translation. Unlike miRNAs, lncRNAs are unique in that their function does not require specific sequences (Yeh et al. 2020).

Cell-Free DNA and Epigenetically Modified DNA Fragments

In 1948, Mandel and Metais first detected the presence of cell-free nucleic acids in human blood (Mandel and Metais 1948). In 1977, elevated circulating cfDNA levels in patients with cancer were first reported (Leon et al. 1977). cfDNA is released from cells through apoptosis, necrosis, and active secretion (Jahr et al. 2001; Thierry et al. 2016). In healthy individuals, cfDNA is mainly attributed to lymphoid and myeloid tissues (Snyder et al. 2016), while in various physiological/pathological conditions,

the associated or affected tissues would release additional cfDNAs into the blood resulting in elevated cfDNA (Mok 1971; Rodrigues Filho et al. 2014; De Vlaminck et al. 2015). In 1989, Stroun et al. reported that some of the cfDNA in cancer patients originated from cancer cells (Stroun et al. 1989), and in 1994, the first mutated cfDNA was identified in plasma from cancer patients (Sorenson et al. 1994).

Circulating cfDNA molecules are highly degradable and predominantly occur as small size (roughly 100–200 base pairs) as double-stranded DNA (Grabuschnig et al. 2020; Heitzer et al. 2020). The half-life of circulating cfDNA is between 16 mins and 2.5 h (Chused et al. 1972; Tamkovich et al. 2006; Diehl et al. 2008). Circulating cfDNA retains its epigenetic marks, allowing for the detection of tissue-specific DNA fragments (Snyder et al. 2016; Lehmann-Werman et al. 2016). Notably, methylation of specific regions of DNA is highly conserved in specific tissue and cell types (Song et al. 2009). In 1999, Wong et al. described a pattern of differentially methylated cfDNA in the plasma of cancer patients of the p16 gene (Wong et al. 1999), leading to the first use of differentially methylated cfDNA as a potential biomarker. In 2011, Akirav et al. reported the first use of a differentially methylated cfDNA assay to look at β -cell death (Akirav et al. 2011) (Table 1).

Technologies for DNA Methylation Detection

Bisulfite conversion-based methods are the current "gold standards" for DNA methylation studies. Treatment of denatured DNA with sodium bisulfite leads to deamination of the unmethylated cytosines into uracils, while the methylated cytosines remain unaffected (Fig. 1) (Frommer et al. 1992). The bisulfite-converted DNA can then be used in PCR or sequencing assays to determine the initial methylation status of the DNA template.

For measurement of known differentially methylated targets after bisulfite conversion, there are several different PCR- and sequencing-based methods available (Kurdyukov and Bullock 2016). Methylation-specific PCR uses two distinct methylation-specific primer sets for detecting the DNA of interest. The first primer is methylation-specific and will amplify bisulfite-converted methylated DNA and untreated DNA, while the second primer is unmethylation-specific and will amplify bisulfite-converted unmethylated DNA (Herman et al. 1996). Methylation-specific PCR has been combined with high-resolution melting as DNA that was originally methylated retains the cytosine residues that have a higher melting point, and therefore the level of methylation is correlated with a higher melting profile (Wojdacz et al. 2008). Multiplexing probe-based quantitative PCR (qPCR) allows for using methylation-unspecific primers along with methylation-specific probes of different fluorescent properties (typically FAM and VIC) to allow for the measurement of both unmethylated and methylated DNAs using the same primers. Digital PCR has further advanced the specificity and sensitivity of methylation-specific PCR by allowing for absolute quantification through partitioning the reaction (Mao et al. 2019). Bisulfite-converted DNA can also be used for the amplification of the region of interest followed by sequencing. Another technology that has been successful for

Study	Technique	Gene	Disease
(Akirav et al. 2011)	qPCR	INS	T1D
(Husseiny et al. 2012)	qPCR	INS	T1D
(Lebastchi et al. 2013)	qPCR	INS	T1D
(Fisher et al. 2013)	qPCR	INS	T1D
(Husseiny et al. 2014)	qPCR	INS	T1D
			Islet transplantation
(Usmani-Brown et al. 2014)	dPCR	INS	T1D
(Herold et al. 2015)	dPCR	INS	T1D
(Fisher et al. 2015)	dPCR	INS	T1D
(Lehmann-Werman et al. 2016)	DNA seq	INS	T1D
			Islet transplantation
(Olsen et al. 2016)	qPCR	IAPP	T1D
(Tersey et al. 2016)	dPCR	INS	T1D
(Kenna et al. 2016)	qPCR	INS	Gestational diabetes
(Bellin et al. 2017)	dPCR	INS	Islet transplantation
(Sklenarova et al. 2017)	dPCR	GCK, INS	T1D
(Tersey et al. 2018)	dPCR	INS	T2D
(Mulukutla et al. 2018)	dPCR	INS	Ketosis-prone diabetes
(Roels et al. 2019)	dPCR	INS	Islet transplantation
(Farr et al. 2019)	dPCR	INS	T1D
(Neyman et al. 2019)	dPCR	INS	T1D
(Simmons et al. 2019)	dPCR	INS	T1D
(Speake et al. 2020)	dPCR	INS	Islet transplantation
	DNA seq		
(Neiman et al. 2020)	DNA seq	INS	T1D
			Islet transplantation
(Syed et al. 2020)	dPCR	INS, CHTOP	T1D
			T2D
(Arosemena et al. 2021)	dPCR	INS	T2D
(Gitelman et al. 2021)	dPCR	INS	T1D

Table 1 Published studies using differentially methylated cfDNA to measure β-cell death

low-throughput assays is pyrosequencing. The level of methylation for each CpG site within the sequenced region is estimated based on the signal intensities for incorporated dGTP and dATP resulting in quantitative data (Tost and Gut 2007).

Differentially Methylated cfDNA as a Biomarker for β-Cell Death

Based on techniques and approaches developed for measuring differentially methylated cfDNA in cancer and pregnancy, it was proposed that DNA species arising from dying β -cells could be measured in the circulation of individuals with ongoing β -cell death (Fig. 2). As insulin is almost exclusively expressed in islet β -cells, the gene encoding preproinsulin (*INS* in humans) is largely unmethylated in β -cells and



Fig. 2 β -Cell-specific cell-free DNA. Upon β -cell death, fragmented DNA with β -cell-specific epigenetic marks is released into the bloodstream. (Created with Biorender)

methylated in all other cell types (Kuroda et al. 2009). Akirav and colleagues developed the first assay to measure unmethylated *INS* DNA using a nested PCR procedure followed by SYBR-green qPCR using methylation-specific primers to measure the quantity of unmethylated versus methylated *Ins1* in mouse cell lines and diabetic mouse models, as well as unmethylated versus methylated *INS* in plasma samples from individuals with recent-onset T1D (Akirav et al. 2011). Akirav and colleagues found that DNA derived from β -cells was 60–80% unmethylated at seven different CpG locations on the mouse *Ins1* gene compared to 10–30% unmethylated

in liver cells. Next, they used two different models of diabetes in mice. In the first model, a high-dose streptozotocin injection induces rapid β -cell death. They found that β -cell death, as measured using a ratio of unmethylated-methylated *Ins1* DNA, was increased at both 8 and 24 h after injection, prior to the increase of blood glucose at 24 h after injection. The second mouse model they used is the NOD mouse, which develops spontaneous diabetes between 12 and 25 weeks of age and exhibits β -cell stress as early as 6 weeks of age (Tersey et al. 2012). The authors found that the unmethylated-methylated *Ins1* DNA ratio was increased at 14 weeks of age prior to increased blood glucose levels. Next, they compared cfDNA isolated from serum from control individuals and individuals diagnosed with T1D within 1 year and found an increased ratio of unmethylated-methylated *INS* DNA in the individuals with new-onset T1D (Akirav et al. 2011). This work stimulated the future development of new techniques to measure β -cell death using differentially methylated cfDNA.

Shortly after the introduction of using differentially methylated cfDNA, the first study using it as a marker for β -cell death in a clinical trial was published in 2013. Lebastchi et al. showed that while placebo- and teplizumab-treated subjects had a similar level of unmethylated *INS* DNA at baseline, the teplizumab-treated subjects but not the placebo-treated subjects had a decreased level of unmethylated *INS* DNA at the 1-year endpoint (Lebastchi et al. 2013), suggesting reduced β -cell death after teplizumab treatment. These data suggest that it may be possible to use a β -cell death biomarker as a treatment outcome to study the use of diabetes therapeutics; however, this potential use has not been studied yet.

In 2015, Herold et al. showed that individuals with high risk of T1D, as determined by having dysglycemia and two autoantibodies present, had significantly elevated unmethylated-methylated *INS* cfDNA ratio compared to individuals with no risk or individuals with T1D (Herold et al. 2015). They also showed that individuals that progressed to developing diabetes within a 3–4-year follow-up had increased β -cell death as measured by unmethylated-methylated *INS* cfDNA. Syed et al. found that autoantibody-negative first-degree relatives have increased unmethylated and methylated *INS* cfDNA suggesting β -cell death maybe genetic and occurs long before the presence of diabetes (Syed et al. 2020) (Fig. 3). These data suggest that a β -cell death biomarker might be utilized to determine which individuals may be at risk for T1D.

Advancing Technologies to Measure Differentially Methylated cfDNA

Up until this point, prior methods used SYBR-Green PCR methodologies to correlate the appearance of unmethylated human *INS* or mouse *Ins1/2* cfDNA to dying β -cells. SYBR-Green PCR methodologies have several limitations, including high background signals and the need for several primer combinations and repeated PCR assays to assess multiple DNA targets in a single sample. Fisher et al. first described and used a dual fluorescent probe-based multiplex PCR approach to measure both



Fig. 3 β -Cell death in youth with T1D. cfDNA was isolated from serum obtained from normal unrelated control youth, youth with new-onset T1D, and autoantibody-negative first-degree relative (FDR) youth. (a) Unmethylated *INS* DNA; (b) methylated *INS* DNA. (Graphs are modified from Syed et al. (2020) under the open-access Creative Common BY license)

unmethylated and methylated *Ins2* cfDNAs in a single PCR reaction and eliminated the need to run multiple PCRs for comparison and increased sensitivity (Fisher et al. 2013) (Fig. 4). Usmani-Brown et al. moved the technology another step forward increasing sensitivity even further with the introduction of digital PCR (Usmani-Brown et al. 2014). Digital PCR allows for absolute quantification through partitioning the reaction into thousands of reaction samples (droplets), significantly increasing the sensitivity of the reaction from a single sample (Farr et al. 2019). Lehman-Werman et al. developed a new methodology using sequencing to identify more CpG sites and increased specificity of their assay over others (Lehmann-Werman et al. 2016).

In addition to advancing the PCR technologies, studies have also improved upon the methodology by using different CpG sites. Olsen et al. hypothesized that *IAPP* (amylin) would be specifically unmethylated in β -cells as it is expressed predominately in β -cells and released alongside insulin. They discovered several CpG sites that were differentially unmethylated in β -cells and designed primers that sat over five different sites in mouse and two different sites in humans compared to only one different site in past studies. Using these *IAPP* primers, they found increased β -cell death in individuals with recent-onset T1D compared to control individuals (Olsen et al. 2016). Along the same lines, Sklenarova et al. hypothesized and discovered β -cell-specific unmethylated CpG sites in the *GCK* (glucokinase) gene. However, when used in clinical samples, they found no differences among unmethylated *GCK* DNA in their samples from individuals with diabetes or prediabetes (autoantibody positive), but found a significant increase in methylated *GCK* DNA in the individuals with T1D (Sklenarova et al. 2017).



Fig. 4 Assays to measure differentially methylated cfDNA. (a) qPCR after nested PCR; (b) multiplex qPCR; (c) digital multiplex PCR; (d) methyl-DNA-seq. (Created with Biorender)

The aforementioned studies examined genes known to be transcribed into proteins that are almost exclusively expressed by β -cells. Syed et al. used an unbiased approach and assessed DNA methylation from 64 human islet preparations and leveraged data from 27 publicly available non-islet human tissues and identified 6201 differentially methylated sites specific to human islets (Syed et al. 2020). They went on to further examine 24 different sites across 5 different genes and found *CHTOP* to be the most uniformly unmethylated in β -cells compared to other tissue types. Interestingly, CHTOP is not exclusively expressed in β -cells. Both unmethylated and methylated *INS*, but only methylated *CHTOP* DNA, were elevated in individuals with new-onset T1D as well as autoantibody-negative firstdegree relatives and proposed that the increased methylated DNA is due to increased inflammation which they also found to be increased in individuals with sepsis (Syed et al. 2020).

Differentially Methylated cfDNA Beyond T1D

While most of the published studies have focused on using differentially methylated cfDNA to measure β -cell death during the pathogenesis of T1D, some have used the developed assays during other conditions of β -cell death. During islet transplantation, it is expected that the transplanted islets have a significant fraction of lysed β -cells and that the immediate posttransplant period exhibits instant blood-mediated inflammatory reaction to islet death (Bennet et al. 2000). Fisher et al. used a mouse model of human islet xenotransplantation (into mice) and showed that unmethylated human *INS* DNA was released immediately into the circulation (Fisher et al. 2015). It has also been shown that the levels of unmethylated *INS* DNA increased acutely

following islet transplantation and that this signal subsides within hours to days following transplantation (Husseiny et al. 2014; Bellin et al. 2017; Roels et al. 2019; Speake et al. 2020; Neiman et al. 2020).

T2D develops secondary to insufficient insulin secretion in the context of insulin resistance in peripheral tissues; however, clinical manifestations of the disease occur only after substantial loss of functional β -cell mass. Tersey et al. first examined β -cell death in T2D by cell-free DNA using a mouse model of diet-induced obesity and dysglycemia (Tersey et al. 2018). While these mice do not develop frank diabetes, they are a good model of prediabetes. They found that β -cell death was episodic during the development of obesity and glucose intolerance with an increase in unmethylated Ins2 cfNA. Similarly, Syed et al. observed that in obese youth, there is an increase in β -cell death with an increase in unmethylated *INS* and *CHTOP* cfDNA; however, when the obese youth cohort was stratified into groups with differing glycemic control, there was no difference among these cross-sectional cohorts, suggesting that the overall increase in unmethylated cfDNA species in the obese youth reflect differences largely driven by weight (Syed et al. 2020) (Fig. 4a, b). However, in obese adults, Arosemena et al. found no differences in unmethylated INS cfDNA compared to lean controls (Arosemena et al. 2021) (Fig. 4c, d). These data suggest that β -cell death is exhibited episodically during obesity and T2D progression, and longitudinal cohorts need to be studied.

Similar to T2D, in gestational diabetes, the ability of the β -cells to control glucose levels is impaired due to an overall insulin resistant, increased insulin demand, and impaired β -cell function. To determine if gestational diabetes was due to increased β -cell death, Kenna et al. used a differentially methylated *INS* cfDNA assay to measure β -cell death in women with gestational diabetes during the second and third trimesters and compared to nonpregnant women, pregnant women, and post-partum women with normal pregnancies (Kenna et al. 2016). They found that pregnancy alone slightly increased β -cell death and was significantly reduced in women with gestational diabetes compared to those with normal pregnancies. Postpartum levels were similar to nonpregnant levels (Kenna et al. 2016).

Limitations to Measuring Differentially Methylated cfDNA as a Biomarker for β -Cell Death

While accurate and sensitive detection of differentially methylated cfDNA is improving, it remains challenging to measure for a number of different reasons. Regardless of assay and disease status, the amount of β -cell DNA in circulation is extremely low. Additionally, the amount of blood that is/can be obtained from a single visit is limited, resulting in small yields of cfDNA after isolation. Also, cfDNA is vulnerable to contamination by the lysed blood cells if not processed soon after blood collection (Pös et al. 2020). Different types of cfDNA isolation protocols result in varying yields leading to significant variations in cfDNA (Sorber et al. 2017). Another major limitation to measuring methylated cfDNA is the short half-life. The half-life of cell-free DNA has been reported to be approximately 2 h (Chused et al. 1972; Tamkovich et al. 2006; Diehl et al. 2008). This means that any given blood sample only has cfDNA from β -cells that have died very recently, and one cross-sectional sample is most likely not a good indication of what is happening during disease progression.

All of the current studies require bisulfite conversion of isolated circulating DNA prior to utilization in the assays. However, bisulfite conversion is known to cause the degradation of the input DNA, which results in loss of usable cfDNA (Grunau et al. 2001). Additionally, the increased guanine-cytosine content makes PCR primer design and sequencing more challenging (Gai and Sun 2019).

The majority of the current β -cell death assays use different methylated sites along the *INS* gene or promoter. A limitation to that is that these sites along the *INS* gene are only approximately 80–90% unmethylated in β -cell DNA (Syed et al. 2020). Several newer assays have started using different genes and using unbiased methods to find CpG sites that might show more specificity to the β -cell (Fig. 5).

Applications to Prognosis, Other Diseases, or Conditions

To date, circulating differentially methylated cfDNA is still in development as a tool for diabetes. In the case of T1D, differentially methylated cfDNA studies have identified evidence of β -cell death in the early phases of the disease and decreases of β -cell death after positive therapeutic intervention. This leads to the proposal that differentially methylated cfDNA assays have the potential to be used as both a biomarker for identifying individuals at high-risk of developing T1D and as an outcome biomarker of therapeutic benefit. In the case of T2D, it is still unclear if measurable β -cell death is occurring. More studies using longitudinal datasets in humans are required to determine the usefulness of differentially methylated cfDNA in the settings of obesity, dysglycemia, and T2D. For islet transplantation, studies have shown a significant increase in β -cell death directly after transplantation; however, it remains to be determined if these assays will be useful in determining the individual therapeutic benefit of a specific transplantation.

Measurement of differentially methylated cfDNA has been long been utilized in other diseases and conditions. Prior to its use in diabetes, differentially methylated cfDNA was used in predominately cancer patients and for fetal analysis in pregnant women. DNA methylation in combination with liquid biopsy is extremely powerful in identifying circulating epigenetic biomarkers of clinical importance. In cancer, the incidence of aberrant methylation of specific CpG islands is high in tumor samples and can thus be easily detected by using genome-wide screening technologies, in contrast to cancer-specific mutation, which are both rare and spread out among many different positions in tumor DNA (Lianidou 2016). However, the number of clinical tests that are commercially available is relatively low (Lianidou 2021). In fetal testing, differentially methylated specific cfDNA marks have shown promise in determining the sex of the fetus and risk for severe preeclampsia, preterm birth, and intrauterine growth restriction (Hui and Chiu 2016).


Fig. 5 β -Cell death in youth and adults with obesity and T2D. cfDNA was isolated from serum obtained from normal lean and obese youth and adults stratified further into cohorts based on glycemic control NGT (lean and normal glucose tolerance), OB-NGT (obese and normal glucose tolerance), IGT (impaired glucose tolerance), T2D AAb- (type 2 diabetes, autoantibody negative), and T2D AAb+ (type 2 diabetes, autoantibody positive). (a) Unmethylated *INS* DNA in youth; (b) methylated *INS* DNA in youth; (c) unmethylated *INS* DNA in stratified youth; (d) methylated *INS* DNA in stratified youth; (e) unmethylated *INS* DNA in adults; (f) methylated *INS* DNA in adults; (g) unmethylated *INS* DNA in stratified adults; (h) methylated *INS* DNA in stratified adults. **P* <0.05 for the comparisons indicated. (Graphs are modified from Syed et al. (2020) and Arosemena et al. (2021) under the open-access Creative Common BY license)

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

- **Bisulfite conversion**. Treatment of denatured DNA with sodium bisulfite leading to deamination of the unmethylated cytosine into uracil, while the methylated cytosine residues remain unaffected
- Cell-free DNA (cfDNA). Fragmented cellular DNA that has been released into the circulation after apoptosis, necrosis, or active secretion
- **Epigenetics**. The study of how cells control gene activity without changing the DNA sequence
- Methylation. An epigenetic mechanism involving the transfer of a methyl group onto the C5 position of the cytosine to form 5-methylcytosine
- β-cells. An endocrine cell located within the islets of Langerhans within the pancreas that synthesis and secrete insulin

Key Facts of Diabetes

- Over 422 million people have diabetes.
- Diabetes is the major cause of blindness, kidney failure, heart attacks, stroke, and lower limb amputation.
- *Type 1 diabetes results from the autoimmune destruction of* β *-cells.*
- Type 2 diabetes results from impaired insulin resistance leading to β -cell dys-function and death.
- β -Cell death occurs during the pathogenesis of both type 1 and type 2 diabetes.

Key Facts of Cell-Free DNA (cfDNA)

- *cfDNA is primarily released from cell upon conditions of apoptosis, necrosis, and active secretion.*
- *cfDNA is highly degradable and have a short half-life of 16 mins–2 h.*
- cfDNA is double stranded and on average 100–200 base pairs in length.
- cfDNA retains its epigenetic marks.
- *cfDNA* has been used to measure cell death from serum/plasma samples and as a biomarker for disease status.

Summary Points

- Epigenetics is the study of how cells control gene activation and repression without changing the DNA sequence through chemical modifications of DNA to alter DNA accessibility and chromatic structure.
- Cellular DNA is released into the circulation upon cell death and maintains its epigenetic marks, allowing for the determination of cell-type-specific cfDNA as a marker of cell death.

- The insulin (*INS*) gene is approximately 80–90% unmethylated in β -cells and 10–20% unmethylated in all other cell types allowing for the measurement of β -cell death.
- Early studies have utilized methylation-specific *INS* DNA assays and reported elevations in unmethylated *INS* cfDNA in individuals with T1D, T2D, and after islet transplantation.
- The development of cfDNA as a biomarker for the risk of diabetes is still ongoing.

References

- Akirav EM, Lebastchi J, Galvan EM, et al. Detection of β cell death in diabetes using differentially methylated circulating DNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108:19018–23. https://doi.org/10. 1073/pnas.1111008108.
- Arosemena M, Meah FA, Mather KJ, et al. Cell-free DNA fragments as biomarkers of islet β-cell death in obesity and type 2 diabetes. Int J Mol Sci. 2021;22:2151. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms22042151.
- Bannister AJ, Kouzarides T. Regulation of chromatin by histone modifications. Cell Res. 2011;21: 381–95. https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2011.22.
- Bellin MD, Clark P, Usmani-Brown S, et al. Unmethylated insulin DNA is elevated after total pancreatectomy with islet autotransplantation: assessment of a novel beta cell marker. Am J Transplant. 2017;17:1112–8. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.14054.
- Bennet W, Groth CG, Larsson R, et al. Isolated human islets trigger an instant blood mediated inflammatory reaction: implications for intraportal islet transplantation as a treatment for patients with type 1 diabetes. Ups J Med Sci. 2000;105:125–33. https://doi.org/10.1517/03009734000000059.
- Butler AE, Janson J, Bonner-Weir S, et al. β-Cell deficit and increased β-cell apoptosis in humans with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes. 2003;52:102–10. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.52.1.102.
- Campbell-Thompson M, Fu A, Kaddis JS, et al. Insulitis and β-cell mass in the natural history of type 1 diabetes. Diabetes. 2016;65:719–31. https://doi.org/10.2337/db15-0779.
- Chused TM, Steinberg AD, Talal N. The clearance and localization of nucleic acids by New Zealand and normal mice. Clin Exp Immunol. 1972;12:465–76.
- De Vlaminck I, Martin L, Kertesz M, et al. Noninvasive monitoring of infection and rejection after lung transplantation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2015;112:13336–41. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.1517494112.
- Diehl F, Schmidt K, Choti MA, et al. Circulating mutant DNA to assess tumor dynamics. Nat Med. 2008;14:985–90. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.1789.
- Farr RJ, Wong WKM, Maynard C-L, et al. Comparative analysis of diagnostic platforms for measurement of differentially methylated insulin DNA. J Biol Methods. 2019;6:e113. https:// doi.org/10.14440/jbm.2019.280.
- Fisher MM, Perez Chumbiauca CN, Mather KJ, et al. Detection of islet β-cell death in vivo by multiplex PCR analysis of differentially methylated DNA. Endocrinology. 2013;154:3476–81. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2013-1223.
- Fisher MM, Watkins RA, Blum J, et al. Elevations in circulating methylated and unmethylated preproinsulin DNA in new-onset type 1 diabetes. Diabetes. 2015. https://doi.org/10.2337/ db15-0430.
- Frommer M, McDonald LE, Millar DS, et al. A genomic sequencing protocol that yields a positive display of 5-methylcytosine residues in individual DNA strands. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1992;89:1827–31. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.89.5.1827.

- Gai W, Sun K. Epigenetic biomarkers in cell-free DNA and applications in liquid biopsy. Genes (Basel). 2019;10:32. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes10010032.
- Gitelman SE, Bundy BN, Ferrannini E, et al. Imatinib therapy for patients with recent-onset type 1 diabetes: a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 2 trial. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2021. S2213-8587(21)00139-X. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(21)00139-X.
- Grabuschnig S, Bronkhorst AJ, Holdenrieder S, et al. Putative origins of cell-free DNA in humans: a review of active and passive nucleic acid release mechanisms. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21:8062. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21218062.
- Grunau C, Clark SJ, Rosenthal A. Bisulfite genomic sequencing: systematic investigation of critical experimental parameters. Nucleic Acids Res. 2001;29:E65. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/29. 13.e65.
- Heitzer E, Auinger L, Speicher MR. Cell-free DNA and apoptosis: how dead cells inform about the living. Trends Mol Med. 2020;26:519–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2020.01.012.
- Herman JG, Graff JR, Myöhänen S, et al. Methylation-specific PCR: a novel PCR assay for methylation status of CpG islands. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996;93:9821–6. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.93.18.9821.
- Herold KC, Usmani-Brown S, Ghazi T, et al. β cell death and dysfunction during type 1 diabetes development in at-risk individuals. J Clin Investig. 2015;125:1163–73. https://doi.org/10.1172/ JCI78142.
- Hui WWI, Chiu RWK. Noninvasive prenatal testing beyond genomic analysis: what the future holds. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol. 2016;28:105–10. https://doi.org/10.1097/GCO. 00000000000252.
- Husseiny MI, Kuroda A, Kaye AN, et al. Development of a quantitative methylation-specific polymerase chain reaction method for monitoring beta cell death in type 1 diabetes. PLoS One. 2012;7:e47942. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0047942.
- Husseiny MI, Kaye A, Zebadua E, et al. Tissue-specific methylation of human insulin gene and PCR assay for monitoring beta cell death. PLoS One. 2014;9:e94591. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0094591.
- Jahr S, Hentze H, Englisch S, et al. DNA fragments in the blood plasma of cancer patients: quantitations and evidence for their origin from apoptotic and necrotic cells. Cancer Res. 2001;61:1659–65.
- Kahn SE. The relative contributions of insulin resistance and beta-cell dysfunction to the pathophysiology of Type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2003;46:3–19. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-002-1009-0.
- Kenna LA, Olsen JA, Spelios MG, et al. β-Cell death is decreased in women with gestational diabetes mellitus. Diabetol Metab Syndr. 2016;8:60. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13098-016-0175-z.
- Kurdyukov S, Bullock M. DNA methylation analysis: choosing the right method. Biology (Basel). 2016;5:3. https://doi.org/10.3390/biology5010003.
- Kuroda A, Rauch TA, Todorov I, et al. Insulin gene expression is regulated by DNA methylation. PLoS One. 2009;4(e):6953. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0006953.
- Lebastchi J, Deng S, Lebastchi AH, et al. Immune therapy and β-cell death in type 1 diabetes. Diabetes. 2013;62:1676–80. https://doi.org/10.2337/db12-1207.
- Lehmann-Werman R, Neiman D, Zemmour H, et al. Identification of tissue-specific cell death using methylation patterns of circulating DNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016;113:E1826–34. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1519286113.
- Leon SA, Shapiro B, Sklaroff DM, Yaros MJ. Free DNA in the serum of cancer patients and the effect of therapy. Cancer Res. 1977;37:646–50.
- Lianidou ES. Gene expression profiling and DNA methylation analyses of CTCs. Mol Oncol. 2016;10:431–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molonc.2016.01.011.
- Lianidou E. Detection and relevance of epigenetic markers on ctDNA: recent advances and future outlook. Mol Oncol. 2021;15:1683–700. https://doi.org/10.1002/1878-0261.12978.

- Mandel P, Metais P. Nuclear acids in human blood plasma. C R Seances Soc Biol Fil. 1948;142: 241–3.
- Mao X, Liu C, Tong H, et al. Principles of digital PCR and its applications in current obstetrical and gynecological diseases. Am J Transl Res. 2019;11:7209–22.
- Marhfour I, Lopez XM, Lefkaditis D, et al. Expression of endoplasmic reticulum stress markers in the islets of patients with type 1 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2012;55:2417–20. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s00125-012-2604-3.
- Mok CH. Zoster-like disease in infants and young children. N Engl J Med. 1971;285:294. https:// doi.org/10.1056/NEJM197107292850520.
- Moss J, Magenheim J, Neiman D, et al. Comprehensive human cell-type methylation atlas reveals origins of circulating cell-free DNA in health and disease. Nat Commun. 2018;9:5068. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-07466-6.
- Mulukutla SN, Tersey SA, Hampe CS, et al. Elevated unmethylated and methylated insulin DNA are unique markers of A+ β + ketosis prone diabetes. J Diabetes Complicat. 2018;32:193–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2017.10.013.
- Neiman D, Gillis D, Piyanzin S, et al. Multiplexing DNA methylation markers to detect circulating cell-free DNA derived from human pancreatic β cells. JCI Insight. 2020;5:136579. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.136579.
- Neyman A, Nelson J, Tersey SA, et al. Persistent elevations in circulating INS DNA among subjects with longstanding type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2019;21:95–102. https://doi.org/10. 1111/dom.13489.
- O'Brien J, Hayder H, Zayed Y, Peng C. Overview of MicroRNA biogenesis, mechanisms of actions, and circulation. Front Endocrinol. 2018;9:402. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2018. 00402.
- Olsen JA, Kenna LA, Spelios MG, et al. Circulating differentially methylated amylin DNA as a biomarker of β-cell loss in type 1 diabetes. PLoS One. 2016;11:e0152662. https://doi.org/10. 1371/journal.pone.0152662.
- Pös Z, Pös O, Styk J, et al. Technical and methodological aspects of cell-free nucleic acids analyzes. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21:8634. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21228634.
- Rahat B, Ali T, Sapehia D, et al. Circulating cell-free nucleic acids as epigenetic biomarkers in precision medicine. Front Genet. 2020;11:844. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2020.00844.
- Rodrigues Filho EM, Simon D, Ikuta N, et al. Elevated cell-free plasma DNA level as an independent predictor of mortality in patients with severe traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma. 2014;31:1639–46. https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2013.3178.
- Roels S, Costa OR, Tersey SA, et al. Combined analysis of GAD65, miR-375, and unmethylated insulin DNA following islet transplantation in patients with T1D. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2019;104:451–60. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2017-02520.
- Sakuraba H, Mizukami H, Yagihashi N, et al. Reduced beta-cell mass and expression of oxidative stress-related DNA damage in the islet of Japanese Type II diabetic patients. Diabetologia. 2002;45:85–96. https://doi.org/10.1007/s001250200009.
- Simmons KM, Fouts A, Pyle L, et al. Unmethylated insulin as an adjunctive marker of beta cell death and progression to type 1 diabetes in participants at risk for diabetes. Int J Mol Sci. 2019;20:E3857. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20163857.
- Sklenarova J, Petruzelkova L, Kolouskova S, et al. Glucokinase gene may be a more suitable target than the insulin gene for detection of β cell death. Endocrinology. 2017;158:2058–65. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2016-1923.
- Snyder MW, Kircher M, Hill AJ, et al. Cell-free DNA comprises an in vivo nucleosome footprint that informs its tissues-of-origin. Cell. 2016;164:57–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015. 11.050.
- Song F, Mahmood S, Ghosh S, et al. Tissue specific differentially methylated regions (TDMR): changes in DNA methylation during development. Genomics. 2009;93:130–9. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ygeno.2008.09.003.

- Sorber L, Zwaenepoel K, Deschoolmeester V, et al. A comparison of cell-free DNA isolation kits: isolation and quantification of cell-free DNA in plasma. J Mol Diagn. 2017;19:162–8. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jmoldx.2016.09.009.
- Sorenson GD, Pribish DM, Valone FH, et al. Soluble normal and mutated DNA sequences from single-copy genes in human blood. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 1994;3:67–71.
- Speake C, Ylescupidez A, Neiman D, et al. Circulating unmethylated insulin DNA as a biomarker of human beta cell death: a multi-laboratory assay comparison. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2020;105:dgaa008. https://doi.org/10.1210/clinem/dgaa008.
- Stroun M, Anker P, Maurice P, et al. Neoplastic characteristics of the DNA found in the plasma of cancer patients. OCL. 1989;46:318–22. https://doi.org/10.1159/000226740.
- Syed F, Tersey SA, Turatsinze J-V, et al. Circulating unmethylated CHTOP and INS DNA fragments provide evidence of possible islet cell death in youth with obesity and diabetes. Clin Epigenetics. 2020;12:116. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-020-00906-5.
- Tamkovich SN, Cherepanova AV, Kolesnikova EV, et al. Circulating DNA and DNase activity in human blood. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2006;1075:191–6. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1368.026.
- Tersey SA, Nishiki Y, Templin AT, et al. Islet β-cell endoplasmic reticulum stress precedes the onset of type 1 diabetes in the nonobese diabetic mouse model. Diabetes. 2012;61:818–27. https://doi.org/10.2337/db11-1293.
- Tersey SA, Nelson JB, Fisher MM, Mirmira RG. Measurement of differentially methylated INS DNA species in human serum samples as a biomarker of islet β cell death. J Vis Exp. 2016. https://doi.org/10.3791/54838.
- Tersey SA, Levasseur EM, Syed F, et al. Episodic β-cell death and dedifferentiation during dietinduced obesity and dysglycemia in male mice. FASEB J. 2018. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj. 201800150RR.
- Thierry AR, El Messaoudi S, Gahan PB, et al. Origins, structures, and functions of circulating DNA in oncology. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2016;35:347–76. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10555-016-9629-x.
- Tost J, Gut IG. DNA methylation analysis by pyrosequencing. Nat Protoc. 2007;2:2265–75. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2007.314.
- Usmani-Brown S, Lebastchi J, Steck AK, et al. Analysis of beta cell death in Type 1 diabetes by droplet digital PCR. Endocrinology. 2014. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2014-1150.
- Wan JCM, Massie C, Garcia-Corbacho J, et al. Liquid biopsies come of age: towards implementation of circulating tumour DNA. Nat Rev Cancer. 2017;17:223–38. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrc.2017.7.
- Wei J-W, Huang K, Yang C, Kang C-S. Non-coding RNAs as regulators in epigenetics (Review). Oncol Rep. 2017;37:3–9. https://doi.org/10.3892/or.2016.5236.
- Wojdacz TK, Dobrovic A, Hansen LL. Methylation-sensitive high-resolution melting. Nat Protoc. 2008;3:1903–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2008.191.
- Wong IH, Lo YM, Zhang J, et al. Detection of aberrant p16 methylation in the plasma and serum of liver cancer patients. Cancer Res. 1999;59:71–3.
- Yeh C-F, Chang Y-CE, Lu C-Y, et al. Expedition to the missing link: long noncoding RNAs in cardiovascular diseases. J Biomed Sci. 2020;27:48. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12929-020-00647-w.



Urinary Glucose Excretion as a Biomarker for Precision Medicine in Diabetes

Shinsuke Noso and Hiroshi Ikegami

Contents

Introduction	616
The Role of the Kidney in Glucose Homeostasis	617
Physiology of Glucosuria	617
Clinical Determinants of Urinary Glucose Excretion in the Diabetic State	618
Sodium-Glucose Cotransporters and Glucosuria	620
Mutations in the SGLT2 Gene and Urinary Glucose Excretion	621
Common Variants of the SGLT2 Gene	621
SLC5A2 and Diabetes-Related Phenotypes	622
Association of SGLT2 Gene with Susceptibility to Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus	623
Application to Prediction	625
SLC5A2 rs9934336 Polymorphism as a Genetic Marker of Diabetes-Related	
Phenotypes	625
Mini-Dictionary of Terms	625
Key Facts of Urinary Glucose Excretion	626
Summary Points	626
References	626

Abstract

Glucosuria has been recognized as a classical biomarker for poor glycemic control among individuals with diabetes. However, the development of sodium-glucose transport protein 2 (SGLT2) inhibitors has made diabetologists reconsider glucosuria as an alternative biomarker to achieve better glycemic control and prevent renal and cardiovascular outcomes. Since inter-individual variations are often observed in the amount of urinary glucose excretion and the efficacy of SGLT2 inhibitors, the determinants of urinary glucose excretion need to be

e-mail: noso@med.kindai.ac.jp; ikegami@med.kindai.ac.jp

615

S. Noso (🖂) · H. Ikegami

Department of Endocrinology, Metabolism and Diabetes, Faculty of Medicine, Kindai University, Osaka, Japan

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 32

analyzed to further understand this biomarker, leading to the establishment of precision medicine using SGLT2 inhibitors. In this chapter, the clinical and genetic determinants of urinary glucose excretion, including the SGLT2 gene encoded by *SLC5A2*, are summarized, and its clinical usefulness is discussed for precision medicine in diabetes.

Keywords

Glucosuria · Urinary glucose excretion · Diabetes mellitus · SLC5A2 · Single nucleotide polymorphism · Association study · Meta-analysis · Multiple regression analysis · SGLT2 inhibitor · Blood glucose · eGFR · Sex

Abbreviation	S
AUC	area under the curve
CGM	continuous glucose monitoring
eGFR HOMA-IR	estimated glomerular filtration rate homeostasis model assessment insulin resistance
SGLT	sodium-glucose transporter
SNP	solute carrier 5A2 single nucleotide polymorphism

Introduction

Glucosuria is one of the most prominent symptoms of hyperglycemia and is a wellknown noninvasive and convenient biomarker of diabetes mellitus with poor glycemic control. Hence, it is frequently used to screen for juvenile diabetes at school age for public health (Kim and Lee 2017; Urakami et al. 2005, 2006). In renal blood flow, glucose is excreted into the urine when the blood glucose level continuously increases above the threshold of glucose reabsorption in the renal proximal tubules. Although the average threshold is considered to be approximately 160-180 mg/dL, large inter-individual differences in the threshold and amount of urinary glucose excretion have been observed. In order to better manage blood glucose and prevent chronic complications associated with diabetes mellitus, the measurements of HbA1c and the self-measurement of blood glucose are considered as suitable biomarkers, particularly for individuals with blood glucose levels below the threshold of glucosuria. Therefore, the detection of glucose through urinalysis has not played a pivotal role in the management of blood glucose in diabetes mellitus in the past decades until the development of SGLT2 (sodium-glucose transporter 2) inhibitors as a novel pharmacological intervention. SGLTs are predominantly expressed in the proximal tubule of the kidney and transport glucose from the glomerular filtrate into the circulation, resulting in the elimination of glucosuria under normal conditions. Since the genetic mutations in the SGLT2 gene can cause familial renal glucosuria even with normal blood glucose levels, this gene could be an attractive candidate as a genetic determinant for urinary glucose excretion and the development of diabetes mellitus. Accumulating evidence has revealed the contribution of the SGLT2 gene as an independent genetic factor to the inter-individual differences in urinary glucose excretion and its association with the susceptibility to type 2 diabetes. Thus, in this chapter, we summarize the clinical and genetic determinants of urinary glucose excretion as a biomarker for diabetes mellitus and highlight the genetic association of the SGLT2 gene with type 2 diabetes.

The Role of the Kidney in Glucose Homeostasis

The kidney plays a critical role in glucose homeostasis in both physiological and pathological conditions (Meyer et al. 2002). Glucose utilization and production contribute to glucose metabolism in the kidney, similar to other organs, such as the skeletal muscles and adipose tissues. The renal medulla is mainly responsible for glucose uptake from the circulation and utilization for energy requirements (Gerich et al. 2001). Relative to the total glucose utilized by the whole body, the kidney consumes approximately 5-10% in the fasting state and 10-15% in the postprandial state (Gerich 2010). Most of the energy in the kidney is spent reabsorbing glucose from the glomerular filtrate in the proximal convoluted tubule of the renal cortex, although free fatty acids, rather than glucose, are the main source of energy in the renal cortex. On the other hand, glucose is synthesized from lactate, glutamine, alanine, and glycerol in the renal cortex since it contains the key enzymes for gluconeogenesis, such as glucose 6-phosphatase, fructose 1,6-diphosphatase, and phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (Gerich et al. 2001; Guder and Ross 1984). Renal glucose production accounts for approximately 40% of total glucose release in the whole body (Gerich et al. 2001), and this is known to increase in individuals with type 2 diabetes, contributing to the elevated blood glucose levels (Eid et al. 2006; Meyer et al. 1998).

In addition to the production and utilization of glucose, the kidney plays a notable and unique role in glucose homeostasis by returning glucose from the urine to the circulation. The reabsorption of glucose from the glomerular filtrate occurs in the proximal tubules of the renal cortex (Gamba et al. 1994; Gerich et al. 2001; Stumvoll et al. 1995).

Physiology of Glucosuria

Glucosuria refers to the physiological excretion of glucose into the urine due to its excessive levels in the glomerular filtrate (primary urine), which is beyond the threshold of glucose excretion at the kidney's proximal tubule (Cowart and Stachura 1990). In healthy individuals, approximately 180 g/day of glucose is filtered by the glomeruli of both kidneys. Then, the glucose in the primary urine is completely absorbed by the SGLTs in the proximal tubules, resulting in the non-detection of glucose in the urine under normal conditions. Owing to the noninvasive and

inexpensive nature of urinalysis, the measurement of glucosuria is highly versatile for the early medical detection of asymptomatic diabetes mellitus at schools and workplaces in several countries (Kim and Lee 2017; Urakami et al. 2005, 2006).

Although the average threshold of urinary glucose excretion is 160–180 mg/dL in healthy individuals, this is known to vary inter-individually, ranging from 140 to 200 mg/dL (Peters and Van Slyke 1946). The average threshold of urinary glucose excretion is higher in the diabetic state than in the physiological condition, leading to a reduced urinary glucose excretion and elevated blood glucose levels (Freitas et al. 2008; Mogensen 1971; Rahmoune et al. 2005). In addition to the increase in the average threshold of urinary glucose excretion in patients with diabetes mellitus, the inter-individual variation of the thresholds also markedly extends, ranging from 54 to 300 mg/dL of blood glucose (Griffin et al. 1979; Johansen et al. 1984; Lawrence 1940; Malone et al. 1976; Robertson and Gray 1953; Service et al. 1972; Walford et al. 1980). Various clinical factors, such as blood glucose level, age, and sex, can influence the thresholds of glucosuria in individuals with diabetes mellitus. The significance of each factor on glucosuria, however, should be analyzed by multivariate analysis after precisely measuring the urinary glucose excretion using the 24-h urine collection.

Clinical Determinants of Urinary Glucose Excretion in the Diabetic State

Among the various clinical factors that affect urinary glucose excretion, the blood glucose level is the strongest independent determinant in diabetes mellitus by multiple regression analysis (β , standard partial regression coefficient: 0.41) (Monobe et al. 2021). The higher the levels of blood glucose, the larger the amount of urinary glucose excretion in the diabetic state. Monobe et al. tested various indices related to blood glucose levels, such as HbA1c, fasting blood glucose, average blood glucose, and area under the curve (AUC) of continuous glucose monitoring. When the significance of these indices was compared by multiple correlation coefficients in a simple regression analysis, the AUC of continuous glucose monitoring showed the strongest correlation with urinary glucose excretion (multiple correlation coefficient: 0.57). This was followed by the average blood glucose levels by 4 points a day (before meals and before bedtime, 0.48) and the fasting blood glucose levels (0.35). HbA1c showed a relatively weak but significant correlation with urinary glucose excretion (0.29) (Monobe et al. 2021).

Besides blood glucose, other clinical factors are also considered to affect the threshold of glucosuria and the amount of urinary glucose excretion. The renal threshold of glucose excretion is reported to increase in older individuals with diabetes mellitus (Butterfield et al. 1967; Peters and Van Slyke 1946). Similar to previous studies, a significant negative correlation between age and urinary glucose excretion was confirmed by simple regression analysis in individuals with diabetes mellitus (multiple correlation coefficient: -0.24) (Monobe et al. 2021). The relationships between urinary glucose excretion and average blood glucose were studied using



Fig. 1 Correlation between urinary glucose excretion and average blood glucose, stratified according to the age tertiles

age tertiles (Fig. 1). Although urinary glucose excretion seems to decrease with age, inter-individual variations were still observed within each tertile, suggesting the contribution of alternative determinants to the amount of urinary glucose excretion. Since renal function physiologically declines with aging, renal function (estimated glomerular filtration rate [eGFR]) is also an important determinant of urinary glucose excretion. A clear positive correlation was observed between eGFR and urinary glucose excretion (multiple correlation coefficient: 0.31), indicating that the amount of urinary glucose excretion is reduced by a decline in eGFR (Monobe et al. 2021). When the participants in Fig. 1 were stratified according to the tertiles of eGFR, urinary glucose excretion was markedly reduced in the lowest tertile (Fig. 2, right panel). This observation suggests that a decrease in renal function raises the renal threshold of glucose absorption in the proximal tubule due to reduced glomerular filtrate, leading to a decrease in urinary glucose excretion. In contrast, the urinary glucose excretion in preserved renal function, depicted by the highest and middle tertiles of eGFR (Fig. 2, left and middle panels), is likely to be affected by the renal function and the blood glucose levels. These observations were further supported by the evidence that eGFR is the second independent determinant (β , standard partial regression coefficient: 0.28) of urinary glucose excretion by multivariate analysis, following the average blood glucose levels (β 0.41) (Monobe et al. 2021). Contrary to the significant correlation between eGFR and urinary glucose excretion, age was dismissed as an independent variable of urinary glucose excretion, indicating that eGFR is a major determinant of age-dependent reduction of urinary glucose excretion.



Fig. 2 Correlation between urinary glucose excretion and average blood glucose, stratified according to the eGFR tertiles

Previous studies have consistently reported that the threshold of glucosuria is higher in women than in men (Butterfield et al. 1967; Peters and Van Slyke 1946), suggesting that sex is a critical determinant of urinary glucose excretion. A multivariate analysis has validated that sex was the second strongest determinant (β 0.28) of urinary glucose excretion in patients with diabetes mellitus, following average blood glucose. This indicates that there is a higher urinary glucose excretion in men than in women (Monobe et al. 2021). An animal study reported that the SGLT2 protein was more dominantly expressed in the kidneys of female rats despite the similar expression levels of mRNA in both sexes, highlighting the posttranscriptional regulation by the sex hormones (Sabolic et al. 2012). This observation supports the possible mechanism by which the dominant expression of SGLT2 protein raises the threshold of urinary glucose excretion in females. Monobe et al. also reported that no significant correlation with urinary glucose excretion was observed for the duration of diabetes, urine volume, and body mass index by simple regression analysis (Monobe et al. 2021).

Sodium-Glucose Cotransporters and Glucosuria

Glucose in the glomerular filtrate is reabsorbed at the proximal tubule of the renal cortex by SGLTs. The SGLTs are encoded by the solute carrier 5 (SLC5), a subfamily of sodium/substrate symporter genes (Wright et al. 2007), and transport glucose through the luminal membrane of the epithelial cells in the proximal tubule

by coupling with the inward diffusion of sodium ions. SGLT2, an isoform of SGLT encoded by *SLC5A2*, is almost entirely expressed in the S1 segment of the proximal tubule, which mediates the absorption of more than 90% of the glucose from the glomerular filtrate under physiological conditions. Meanwhile, SGLT1 is expressed in the more distal segments (S2–S3) of the proximal tubule and completely absorbs the residual glucose (less than 10%) from the primary urine (Wright 2001).

The renal threshold of glucose reabsorption is reported to be elevated under diabetic conditions (Freitas et al. 2008; Mogensen 1971; Rahmoune et al. 2005). In the diabetic state, the expression of SGLT2 is upregulated in the renal proximal tubules by three times compared to the healthy controls (Rahmoune et al. 2005). The upregulation of the SGLT2 protein increases the reabsorption of glucose from the glomerular filtrate into circulation, leading to the hyperglycemic state. As a result, abundant glucose flows into the proximal tubule through glomerular filtration under hyperglycemic conditions, and eventually, the high amount of glucose in the primary urine overcomes the upregulated threshold of reabsorption by SGLT proteins.

Mutations in the SGLT2 Gene and Urinary Glucose Excretion

Some genetic mutations in *SLC5A2*, the gene that encodes SGLT2, are responsible for familial renal glucosuria caused by reduced reabsorption of glucose in the proximal tubule, leading to chronic glucosuria even under normal glycemic conditions. Individuals with homozygous or compound heterozygous mutations in *SLC5A2* develop severe glucosuria, while those with heterozygous mutations only present with mild glucosuria (Calado et al. 2006, 2008; Santer et al. 2003). Despite the lifetime presence of prolonged glucosuria, familial renal glucosuria is considered to be a benign condition and is not associated with critical complications or severe outcomes (Santer and Calado 2010). Regarding the mutations of SLC5A2 in individuals with type 2 diabetes, approximately 3% of the Chinese population have been reported to suffer from renal glucosuria, complicated by type 2 diabetes. Another 3% of individuals showed extremely low urinary glucose excretion with type 2 diabetes, which may affect the diabetes-related phenotypes, such as body mass index and blood glucose levels (Gong et al. 2017). Sequence analysis identified a novel mutation in SLC5A2, V359G, in an individual with extremely low urinary glucose excretion. Individuals with lower glucose excretion show higher BMI, prevalence of hypertension, fasting plasma glucose levels, and HOMA-IR (homeostasis model assessment insulin resistance) values than those with renal glucosuria (Gong et al. 2017).

Common Variants of the SGLT2 Gene

In addition to rare mutations, common genetic variants in *SLC5A2* also affect the renal threshold of glucosuria and diabetes-related phenotypes, such as blood glucose levels and even susceptibility to type 2 diabetes (Drexel et al. 2019; Enigk et al. 2011; Monobe et al. 2021; Zimdahl et al. 2017). According to the HapMap database,

rs118162329



rs3813007

Tag SNPs in SLC5A2

rs9934336

Asian populations

Fig. 3 Tag single nucleotide polymorphisms in SLC5A2 (SGLT2 gene) between the European and Asian populations. (Reproduced with permission from Noso S: J Diabetes Investig. 12: 728-737, 2021)

rs3813008

Enigk et al. have reported that rs9934336, rs3813007, rs3813008, and rs3116150 are the tag single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) of SLC5A2 in the European populations (Enigk et al. 2011). Among these SNPs, rs9934336, rs3813007, and rs3813008 are the common tag SNPs across ethnicities in European and Asian populations based on the 1000-genome database (Fig. 3) (Enigk et al. 2011; Monobe et al. 2021).

SLC5A2 and Diabetes-Related Phenotypes

With respect to the relationship between the common variants of SLC5A2 and diabetes-related phenotypes, rs9934336, a tag SNP located in intron 5 of SLC5A2 (Fig. 3), was reported to be significantly associated with blood glucose levels after glucose load in nondiabetic individuals (normal glucose tolerance, impaired fasting glucose, and impaired glucose tolerance) (Enigk et al. 2011). In this study, a significant reduction was observed in the 30-min and 120-min AUC of blood glucose after the 75-g oral glucose tolerance test in individuals with the A allele of rs9934336. Similarly, Drexel et al. showed that *SLC5A2* rs9934336 was significantly associated with diabetes-related phenotypes in a total cohort study, including nondiabetic individuals and patients with type 2 diabetes, with the A allele of rs9934336. It was associated with lower HbA1c, fasting glucose, and 120-min glucose levels (Drexel et al. 2019). Considering the function of SGLT2 protein encoded by SLC5A2 in glucose reabsorption at the renal proximal tubule, the SLC5A2 polymorphisms could be indirectly related to the reduction of the blood glucose level owing to the increased amount of urinary glucose excretion. However, urinary glucose excretion is largely affected by clinical determinants, such as average blood glucose, renal



function, and sex as shown by Monobe et al. (2021). Therefore, these confounding factors should be considered when investigating the contribution of genetic factors. A multiple regression analysis including these clinical determinants clarified that the *SLC5A2* rs9934336 is also an independent determinant ($\beta = 0.17$, p = 0.02) of urinary glucose excretion in individuals with diabetes mellitus (Monobe et al. 2021). Monobe et al. reported that the amount of urinary glucose excretion was significantly higher in individuals with A/A + G/A genotypes than in those with the G/G allele (Fig. 4), further supporting the hypothesis that the A allele of rs9934336 contributes to increased urinary glucose excretion and reduced blood glucose levels. With respect to molecular function, rs9934336 was estimated to create a possible splicing enhancer site as an intronic SNP. Alternatively, another functional variant in linkage disequilibrium with rs9934336 may affect SGLT2 protein dysfunction.

Association of SGLT2 Gene with Susceptibility to Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus

In addition to the correlation of a common variant (rs9934336) in *SLC5A2* with blood glucose levels and urinary glucose excretion, several association studies between *SLC5A2* polymorphisms and susceptibility to type 2 diabetes mellitus have been reported to date (Drexel et al. 2019; Enigk et al. 2011; Monobe et al.



Allelic odds ratio for allele A

Fig. 5 Meta-analysis of the association studies investigating *SLC5A2* rs9934336 and susceptibility to type 2 diabetes mellitus. (Reproduced with permission from Noso S: *J Diabetes Investig.* 12: 728–737, 2021)

2021; Zimdahl et al. 2017). A meta-analysis of these association studies has clarified that the rs9934336 polymorphism of SLC5A2 was significantly associated with susceptibility to type 2 diabetes mellitus, highlighting the protective role of the A allele against the development of diabetes mellitus (Fig. 5; summary odds ratio, 0.86; 95% confidence interval, 0.78-0.94, p<0.002). Although these studies included the European and Asian populations as distinct ethnicities, no heterogeneity between the studies was observed ($I^2 = 0.0\%$), suggesting that genetic heterogeneity does not exist in the association of SLC5A2 with susceptibility to type 2 diabetes across different populations. However, there was a difference in the risk allele frequencies (G allele) between the European (74.7%) (Drexel et al. 2019) and Asian populations (87.4%) (Monobe et al. 2021). This indicates that more Asian individuals have reduced urinary glucose excretion. Drexel et al. performed an additional association study of SLC5A2 variants with the incidence of cardiovascular events, but no significant association was observed for the tag SNPs, including rs9934336. According to a recent meta-analysis of the results from randomized outcome trials, Asian populations may have greater benefit for cardiovascular death and heart failure from SGLT2 inhibitors in comparison with European populations (Lee et al. 2021), suggesting a possible link between higher frequencies of the G allele of rs9934336 and greater benefit of SGLT2 inhibitors in Asian populations. Further studies are needed to clarify the association between the rs9934336 polymorphism and cardiovascular events in Asian populations.

Taken together, the data regarding *SLC5A2* rs9934336 polymorphism with diabetes-related phenotypes indicate that the A allele of rs9934336 is likely to be associated with lower blood glucose levels due to the increased urinary glucose excretion caused by SGLT2 protein dysfunction. As such, it acts as a protective allele against the development of type 2 diabetes mellitus (Fig. 6).



Fig. 6 Schema of links of alleles of SLC5A2 rs9934336 and diabetes-related phenotypes

Application to Prediction

SLC5A2 rs9934336 Polymorphism as a Genetic Marker of Diabetes-Related Phenotypes

As described above, accumulating evidence strongly indicates that the *SLC5A2* rs9934336 polymorphism could be a useful biomarker in predicting the amount of urinary glucose excretion, blood glucose levels, and susceptibility to type 2 diabetes. Based on these hypotheses, individuals harboring the G allele of rs9934336 could be predicted to have reduced urinary glucose excretion, leading to hyperglycemia and type 2 diabetes mellitus in the future. Hwang et al. reported that a better response to SGLT2 inhibitors is expected for individuals with reduced urinary glucose excretion in the Asian population (Hwang et al. 2019). Therefore, this novel biomarker may contribute to the selection of diabetic individuals with better response to pharmacologic intervention by SGLT2 inhibitors and the establishment of prediction and prevention of cardiovascular events and heart failure as chronic complications of diabetes mellitus.

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

- **Glucosuria**: Glucose in the urine resulting from excess glucose beyond the threshold of glucose reabsorption at the renal proximal tubule.
- **Gluconeogenesis**: A metabolic pathway that generates glucose from noncarbohydrate carbon substrates. It mainly occurs in the liver and kidney.
- **Glomerular filtrate**: The blood is filtered across the capillary walls of the glomerulus in the kidney into Bowman's capsule. The filtrate then enters the renal proximal tubule of the nephron.

- **Primary urine**: The fraction of blood plasma that is filtered by the glomerulus, also known as the glomerular filtrate.
- Sodium-glucose transport protein 2 (SGLT2): Encoded by solute carrier 5 (SLC5), this transports glucose through the luminal membrane of the epithelial cells in the proximal tubule by coupling with the inward diffusion of sodium ions. SGLT2, an isoform of SGLT that is encoded by *SLC5A2*, is almost entirely expressed in the S1 segment of the proximal tubule.
- **Single nucleotide polymorphism**: A single nucleotide variant in the genome sequence, with a minor allele frequency of more than 1% in the general population.

Key Facts of Urinary Glucose Excretion

- Urinary glucose excretion is determined by the average blood glucose, eGFR, sex, and *SLC5A2* rs9934336.
- *SLC5A2* rs9934336 is associated with blood glucose levels, urinary glucose excretion, and susceptibility to type 2 diabetes mellitus.

Summary Points

- Urinary glucose excretion is determined by average blood glucose, renal function, sex, and *SLC5A2* rs9934336.
- *SLC4A2* rs9934336 is associated with blood glucose, urinary glucose excretion, and the susceptibility to type 2 diabetes mellitus.
- Lower urinary glucose excretion, predicted by *SLC5A2* rs9934336, is a possible biomarker for the development of type 2 diabetes mellitus and the efficacy of SGLT2 inhibitor.

References

- Butterfield WJ, Keen H, Whichelow MJ. Renal glucose threshold variations with age. Br Med J. 1967;4:505–7.
- Calado J, Loeffler J, Sakallioglu O, Gok F, Lhotta K, Barata J, Rueff J. Familial renal glucosuria: SLC5A2 mutation analysis and evidence of salt-wasting. Kidney Int. 2006;69:852–5.
- Calado J, Sznajer Y, Metzger D, Rita A, Hogan MC, Kattamis A, Scharf M, Tasic V, Greil J, Brinkert F, Kemper MJ, Santer R. Twenty-one additional cases of familial renal glucosuria: absence of genetic heterogeneity, high prevalence of private mutations and further evidence of volume depletion. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2008;23:3874–9.
- Cowart SL, Stachura ME. Glucosuria. In: Walker HK, Hall WD, Hurst JW, editors. Clinical methods: the history, physical, and laboratory examinations. Boston: Butterworths; 1990.

- Drexel H, Leiherer A, Saely CH, Brandtner EM, Geiger K, Vonbank A, Fraunberger P, Muendlein A. Are SGLT2 polymorphisms linked to diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular disease? Prospective study and meta-analysis. Biosci Rep. 2019;39:BSR20190299.
- Eid A, Bodin S, Ferrier B, Delage H, Boghossian M, Martin M, Baverel G, Conjard A. Intrinsic gluconeogenesis is enhanced in renal proximal tubules of Zucker diabetic fatty rats. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2006;17:398–405.
- Enigk U, Breitfeld J, Schleinitz D, Dietrich K, Halbritter J, Fischer-Rosinsky A, Enigk B, Müller I, Spranger J, Pfeiffer A, Stumvoll M, Kovacs P, Tönjes A. Role of genetic variation in the human sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 gene (SGLT2) in glucose homeostasis. Pharmacogenomics. 2011;12:1119–26.
- Freitas HS, Anhê GF, Melo KF, Okamoto MM, Oliveira-Souza M, Bordin S, Machado UF. Na(+) -glucose transporter-2 messenger ribonucleic acid expression in kidney of diabetic rats correlates with glycemic levels: involvement of hepatocyte nuclear factor-1alpha expression and activity. Endocrinology. 2008;149:717–24.
- Gamba G, Miyanoshita A, Lombardi M, Lytton J, Lee WS, Hediger MA, Hebert SC. Molecular cloning, primary structure, and characterization of two members of the mammalian electroneutral sodium-(potassium)-chloride cotransporter family expressed in kidney. J Biol Chem. 1994;269:17713–22.
- Gerich JE. Role of the kidney in normal glucose homeostasis and in the hyperglycaemia of diabetes mellitus: therapeutic implications. Diabet Med. 2010;27:136–42.
- Gerich JE, Meyer C, Woerle HJ, Stumvoll M. Renal gluconeogenesis: its importance in human glucose homeostasis. Diabetes Care. 2001;24:382–91.
- Gong S, Guo J, Han X, Li M, Zhou L, Cai X, Zhu Y, Luo Y, Zhang S, Zhou X, Ma Y, Ji L. Clinical and genetic features of patients with type 2 diabetes and renal glycosuria. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2017;102:1548–56.
- Griffin NK, Smith MA, Jenkins PA, Werther G, Baum JD. Relationship between urinary and blood glucose in diabetic children. Arch Dis Child. 1979;54:371–4.
- Guder WG, Ross BD. Enzyme distribution along the nephron. Kidney Int. 1984;26:101–11.
- Hwang YC, Kim JH, Lee BW, Lee WJ. A lower baseline urinary glucose excretion predicts a better response to the sodium glucose cotransporter 2 inhibitor. Diabetes Metab J. 2019;43:898–905.
- Johansen K, Svendsen PA, Lørup B. Variations in renal threshold for glucose in Type 1 (insulindependent) diabetes mellitus. Diabetologia. 1984;26:180–2.
- Kim MS, Lee DY. Urinary glucose screening for early detection of asymptomatic Type 2 diabetes in Jeonbuk Province Korean schoolchildren. J Korean Med Sci. 2017;32:985–91.
- Lawrence RD. Renal threshold for glucose: normal and in diabetics. Br Med J. 1940;1:766-8.
- Lee MMY, Ghouri N, Mcguire DK, Rutter MK, Sattar N. Meta-analyses of results from randomized outcome trials comparing cardiovascular effects of SGLT2is and GLP-1RAs in Asian versus white patients with and without Type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2021;44:1236–41.
- Malone JI, Rosenbloom AL, Grgic A, Weber FT. The role of urine sugar in diabetic management. Am J Dis Child. 1976;130:1324–7.
- Meyer C, Stumvoll M, Nadkarni V, Dostou J, Mitrakou A, Gerich J. Abnormal renal and hepatic glucose metabolism in type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Clin Invest. 1998;102:619–24.
- Meyer C, Dostou JM, Welle SL, Gerich JE. Role of human liver, kidney, and skeletal muscle in postprandial glucose homeostasis. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2002;282:E419–27.
- Mogensen CE. Maximum tubular reabsorption capacity for glucose and renal hemodynamics during rapid hypertonic glucose infusion in normal and diabetic subjects. Scand J Clin Lab Invest. 1971;28:101–9.
- Monobe K, Noso S, Babaya N, Hiromine Y, Taketomo Y, Niwano F, Yoshida S, Yasutake S, Minohara T, Kawabata Y, Ikegami H. Clinical and genetic determinants of urinary glucose excretion in patients with diabetes mellitus. J Diabetes Investig. 2021;12:728–37.
- Peters JP, Van Slyke DD. Quantitative clinical chemistry interpretations. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins; 1946.

- Rahmoune H, Thompson PW, Ward JM, Smith CD, Hong G, Brown J. Glucose transporters in human renal proximal tubular cells isolated from the urine of patients with non-insulin-dependent diabetes. Diabetes. 2005;54:3427–34.
- Robertson JA, Gray CH. Mechanism of lowered renal threshold for glucose in diabetes. Lancet. 1953;265:12–5.
- Sabolic I, Vrhovac I, Eror DB, Gerasimova M, Rose M, Breljak D, Ljubojevic M, Brzica H, Sebastiani A, Thal SC, Sauvant C, Kipp H, Vallon V, Koepsell H. Expression of Na+-D-glucose cotransporter SGLT2 in rodents is kidney-specific and exhibits sex and species differences. Am J Phys Cell Phys. 2012;302:C1174–88.
- Santer R, Calado J. Familial renal glucosuria and SGLT2: from a Mendelian trait to a therapeutic target. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2010;5:133–41.
- Santer R, Kinner M, Lassen CL, Schneppenheim R, Eggert P, Bald M, Brodehl J, Daschner M, Ehrich JH, Kemper M, Li Volti S, Neuhaus T, Skovby F, Swift PG, Schaub J, Klaerke D. Molecular analysis of the SGLT2 gene in patients with renal glucosuria. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2003;14:2873–82.
- Service, F. J, Molnar GD, Taylor WF. Urine glucose analyses during continuous. JAMA. 1972;222: 294–8.
- Stumvoll M, Chintalapudi U, Perriello G, Welle S, Gutierrez O, Gerich J. Uptake and release of glucose by the human kidney. Postabsorptive rates and responses to epinephrine. J Clin Invest. 1995;96:2528–33.
- Urakami T, Kubota S, Nitadori Y, Harada K, Owada M, Kitagawa T. Annual incidence and clinical characteristics of type 2 diabetes in children as detected by urine glucose screening in the Tokyo metropolitan area. Diabetes Care. 2005;28:1876–81.
- Urakami T, Owada M, Kitagawa T. Recent trend toward decrease in the incidence of childhood type 2 diabetes in Tokyo. Diabetes Care. 2006;29:2176–7.
- Walford S, Page MM, Allison SP. The influence of renal threshold on the interpretation of urine tests for glucose in diabetic patients. Diabetes Care. 1980;3:672–4.
- Wright EM. Renal Na(+)-glucose cotransporters. Am J Physiol Ren Physiol. 2001;280:F10-8.
- Wright EM, Hirayama BA, Loo DF. Active sugar transport in health and disease. J Intern Med. 2007;261:32–43.
- Zimdahl H, Haupt A, Brendel M, Bour L, Machicao F, Salsali A, Broedl UC, Woerle HJ, Häring HU, Staiger H. Influence of common polymorphisms in the SLC5A2 gene on metabolic traits in subjects at increased risk of diabetes and on response to empagliflozin treatment in patients with diabetes. Pharmacogenet Genomics. 2017;27:135–42.



Secreted Frizzled-Related Proteins 4 and 5: **30** What They Are and Can They Be Used as a Biomarker in Gestational Diabetes Mellitus

Rik H. J. Beernink and Joost H. N. Schuitemaker

Contents

Glucose Homeostasis During Pregnancy	631
Gestational Diabetes Mellitus	631
Adverse Pregnancy Outcomes GDM and Treatment	632
Secreted Frizzled-Related Protein Family	633
Secreted Frizzled-Related Protein Family During Pregnancy	635
sFRP4 and sFRP5 in Glucose Homeostasis	636
Biomarker for Gestational Diabetes Mellitus	640
Applications to Prognosis	641
Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions	642
Mini-Dictionary of Terms	642
Key Facts of Secreted Frizzled-Related Proteins 4 and 5: What They Are and Can They Be	
Used as a Biomarker in Gestational Diabetes Mellitus	643
Key Facts of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus	643
Key Facts of Secreted Frizzled-Related Proteins (sFRPs)	643
Summary Points	643
References	644

Competing Interests Both authors are employed by IQ Products BV.

R. H. J. Beernink (🖂)

Department of Analytical Biochemistry, Groningen Research Institute of Pharmacy, University of Groningen, Groningen, The Netherlands e-mail: r.h.j.beernink@rug.nl

J. H. N. Schuitemaker

Division of Medical Biology, Department of Pathology and Medical Biology, University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen, The Netherlands e-mail: j.h.n.schuitemaker@umcg.nl

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2_33 629

Abstract

During pregnancy the maternal metabolic profile changes from an anabolic to a catabolic state, however some women are unable to sufficiently adapt their metabolic profile and develop a *de novo* hyperglycemic state, called gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM). Since the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes related to GDM are already present during the diagnosis of GDM, there is a search for a method to earlier predict its development in order to start a (therapeutic) intervention. Secreted frizzled-related protein 4 (sFRP4) and secreted frizzled-related protein 5 (sFRP5) are two antagonistic proteins for the Wingless and Int-1 (Wnt) signaling pathway and both are possibly involved in the development of diabetes. In addition, they are associated with the development of the placenta and differential expression of both proteins is observed in various pregnancy-related disorders. Therefore, this chapter describes the glucose homeostasis during pregnancy, the definition of GDM, and evaluate the role of sFRP4 and sFRP5 in the development of diabetes and their (potential) association with the development of GDM.

Keywords

Secreted frizzled-related protein 4 \cdot Secreted frizzled-related protein 5 \cdot Wingless and Int-1 signaling pathways \cdot Glucose homeostasis during pregnancy \cdot Gestational diabetes mellitus

Appreviations	
APC	Adenomatosis polyposis coli
BMI	Body mass index
CAMKII	Calmodulin-dependent kinase II
CK-1a	Casein kinase-1
Dsh	Dishevelled
FZD	Frizzled transmembrane receptors
GDM	Gestational diabetes mellitus
GLP-1	Glucagon-like peptide-1
GLUT4	Glucose transporter 4
GSK3β	Glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta
IADPSG	International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study
	Groups
IL-1β	Interleukin-1 ^β
IRS-1	Insulin receptor substrate-1
JNK	C-Jun N-terminal kinase
NFκB	Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
OGTT	Oral glucose tolerance test
PCP pathway	Planar cell polarity pathway
PI3k	Phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase
PIP ₂	Phosphatidylinositol 4.5-bisphosphate

PIP ₃	Phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate
РКС	Protein kinase C
PLC	Phospholipase C
sFRP4	Secreted frizzled-related protein 4
sFRP5	Secreted frizzled-related protein 5
T1DM	Type 1 diabetes mellitus
T2DM	Type 2 diabetes mellitus
TCF	T cell factor
TNFα	Tumor necrosis factor α
Wnt pathway	Wingless and Int-1-type signaling pathways
Wnt5a	Noncanonical Wingless-type family member 5a

Glucose Homeostasis During Pregnancy

In general, a glucose tolerance can be caused through two ways: a reduced tissue sensitivity for insulin or insufficient secretion of insulin. During pregnancy both physiological actions are changing in order to fulfill the metabolic demands of the mother and offspring. The maternal metabolic profile during pregnancy can be roughly divided into an anabolic and catabolic state, whereby the early gestation has a more anabolic characteristic and the late gestation a more catabolic characteristic (McIntyre et al. 2019). The early anabolic state results in more maternal fat storage in order to fulfill the fetal and maternal nutrition demands at the end of pregnancy. Throughout the pregnancy, maternal tissue sensitivity for insulin gradually decreases which might even go to 50% of normal expected values (Sonagra et al. 2014; Catalano et al. 1998). This decline is partly mediated by hormonal factors of the placenta, such as increased levels of estrogen, progesterone, and lactogen. To (partly) compensate this reduced sensitivity, there is an increased production of insulin to mediate a normoglycemic environment, but overall there is still an insulin-resistant state at the end of the pregnancy (Catalano et al. 1999). This resistance will result in more maternal use of fats for her energy demands and more available carbohydrates for the rapidly growing fetus (Sonagra et al. 2014). However, some women develop an abnormal insulin sensitivity, are unable to compensate the decreasing sensitivity with sufficient insulin secretion or experience a combination of these two, and, subsequently, develop a hyperglycemic state during pregnancy, called gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) (McIntyre et al. 2019).

Gestational Diabetes Mellitus

GDM is the detection of a *de novo* hyperglycemia during pregnancy, generally detected in the late second trimester or early third trimester and the disorder resolves most of the time after birth (McIntyre et al. 2019). Whereas type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) is an autoimmune disease destroying the β -cells and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) is characterized by an inability to produce sufficient insulin to

compensate the present insulin resistance, GDM is most likely caused by a combination of β -cell dysfunction, insulin resistance, placental-hormones, oxidative stress, and/or general present inflammatory state during pregnancy (Plows et al. 2018; Chiefari et al. 2017). For example, minor β -cell defects are normally not directly exposed in nonpregnant women, but they can be revealed during a metabolic stress condition, such as pregnancy. Next, the placenta is a major regulator of glucose homeostasis during pregnancy through the secretion of hormones and cytokines. Recent studies also identified that GDM placentas and uncomplicated placentas are significantly different on protein levels (Plows et al. 2018). Removal of this metabolic stress and/or the placenta is most likely the reason why GDM resolves postpregnancy and therefore studies suggest that GDM might be different from T1DM and T2DM (Plows et al. 2018; Egan et al. 2020; Chiefari et al. 2017).

Currently, there is no worldwide agreement of an uniform diagnostic definition for GDM (Benhalima et al. 2015). For example, GDM is diagnosed in the Netherlands when there is a fasting glucose level of \geq 7.0 mmol/L or after 2 h a glucose level of \geq 7.8 mmol/L after taking a 75 g oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT). Whereas other countries use other criteria, such as the International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups (IADPSG), where GDM is diagnosed when a fasting glucose of \geq 5.1 mmol/l or after an OGTT, glucose levels of \geq 10.0 mmol/l after 1 h or \geq 8.5 mmol/l after 2 h are present. According to most guidelines, an OGTT is currently only performed based on maternal risk factors such as advanced maternal age, body mass index (BMI), ethnicity, or first-degree family history of diabetes mellitus (McIntyre et al. 2019). Due to this nonuniformity and the diverged presence of risk factors around the world, national GDM prevalence rates are ranging from 1 to >30% (McIntyre et al. 2019).

Adverse Pregnancy Outcomes GDM and Treatment

Diabetes during pregnancy increases the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes for both mother and offspring with, for example, increased risk for preeclampsia and macrosomia (i.e., excessive fetal growth). This macrosomia is caused by the hyperglycemic environment during GDM, which is the main nutrient source for the fetus, and free fatty acids (FFAs) from maternal lipoproteins. These maternal FFAs cross the placenta and together with the fetal metabolized FFAs from the hyperglycemic environment they are stored as lipids in the fetal white adipose tissue with macrosomia as a result (McIntyre et al. 2019). More important, this macrosomia is often already observed when GDM is diagnosed with an OGTT (Sovio et al. 2016). Therefore, there is a search for a method to earlier predict the development of GDM, since this might give the possibility for more intensive pregnancy monitoring with extra health care visits, glucose monitoring, and fetal ultrasonography. In 2013, the World Health Organization showed in a systematic review that treatment of GDM reduces the direct adverse pregnancy outcomes (Guideline WHO 2014). Management of GDM starts with general lifestyle advices such as a healthy diet and regular exercise and if unsuccessful, the women are set on glucose-lowering medication (Rasmussen et al. 2020). Moreover, GDM women and their offspring have a higher risk of cardiovascular diseases or metabolic syndrome later in life (Farahvar et al. 2019). Thus, diagnosis gives the possibility to (better) monitor these women and offspring more intensively than uncomplicated pregnancies after birth.

Multiple studies have already shown an improved early risk assessment of GDM by including one or more biochemical markers in the current prediction models, such as single-nucleotide polymorphism of genes, metabolites, or proteins, likely because they are more related to the pathophysiological pathways of GDM than just demographic risk factors (Abell et al. 2015; White et al. 2016; McIntyre et al. 2019). One intensively researched protein group are adipokines, which are proteins secreted by adipocytes in white adipose tissue and commonly associated with metabolic diseases, however no adipokine did not yet showed sufficient clinical utility for early GDM prediction (Al-Badri et al. 2015). Recently published studies suggest that secreted frizzled receptor 4 (sFRP4) and secreted frizzled receptor 5 (sFRP5) might also contribute to the prediction of GDM in the first and early second trimester (Oztas et al. 2016; Schuitemaker et al. 2020; Baldane et al. 2018). Although they are described as an adipokine, both are also expressed by other organs such as the pancreas and endometrium (Pawar and Rao 2018; Wang et al. 2020).

Secreted Frizzled-Related Protein Family

In total, the secreted frizzled-related protein (sFRP) family comprises five secreted glycoproteins, sFRP1 to sFRP5, and all are modulators of the Wingless and Int-1-type (Wnt) signaling pathway. The protein family consists of two subgroups on the basis of sequence homology; sFRP1, sFRP2, and sFRP5 from the subfamily 1Sarp and sFRP3 and sFRP4 from the subfamily FrzB (Pawar and Rao 2018). Wnts agonists are ligands which can bind to frizzled transmembrane receptors (FZD) and sFRPs interact either with Wnts ligand to prevent them from binding to the FZD or they block the receptor by binding the FZD (Surana et al. 2014). The Wnt pathway can be subdivided in three biological pathways; the β -catenin-dependent (canonical) pathway and two β -catenin-independent (noncanonical) pathways and in all three pathways the cytosolic protein Dishevelled (Dvl) plays a crucial role. Dvl is a cytoplasmic phosphoprotein which is activated after FZD activation and regulates the downstream effect in the cell (Gao and Chen 2010). All three pathways are not autonomous and there are degrees of overlap and interaction (Weidinger and Moon 2003).

In the inactivated state of the canonical pathway (i.e., β -catenin-dependent pathway), β -catenin is bound by a large protein complex (Fig. 1a). This multiprotein complex consists of serine threonine kinase glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3), axin, adenomatosis polyposis coli (APC), casein kinase-1 (CK-1 α), and phosphorylated ERK (pERK). In this protein complex β -catenin gets phosphorylated, ubiquitinated, and subsequently degraded by a proteasome. When the Wnt agonist binds the extracellular N-terminal cysteine-rich domain of a FZD and co-receptor LRP5/6, the canonical pathway is activated. Upon activation of the receptors, their signal is transmitted via a direct interaction to the intracellular Dvl protein and this



Fig. 1 Signaling pathway of nonactivated canonical (a), activated canonical (a), and noncanonical (b) What signaling pathways. In the absence of What or in the event of antagonism by sFRP (a), the cytosolic concentration of free β -cat is controlled by the GSK complex in the canonical Wnt signaling pathway. This GSK complex consists of GSK-3, axin, APC, CK-1 α , and pERK. In this protein complex β -cat gets phosphorylated, ubiquitinated, and subsequently degraded by a proteosome. When a Wnt agonist binds the extracellular N-terminal cysteine-rich domain of a FZD and co-receptor LRP5/6, the canonical pathway is activated. Upon activation of the receptors, their signal is transmitted via a direct interaction to the cytosolic Dvl protein and this disrupts the GSK destruction complex, preventing the degradation of β -cat. Without degradation, the β -cat is translocated to the nucleus and interacts with a member of the TCF family to form a complex. The formation of this complex will result in gene transcription. The noncanonical pathway consists of the Wnt/PCP and Wnt/Ca²⁺ pathway and in both signaling pathways β -cat is not involved (b). Upon activation of Wnt/PCP pathway with the co-receptor ROR2, the receptor recruits the cytosolic Dyl protein. Dvl can subsequently form a complex with RAC and this activates JNK. In the Wnt/Ca²⁺ pathway, activation will again result in activated Dvl followed by an intracellular Ca²⁺ release by the endoplasmic reticulum after several kinase steps. These increased Ca^{2+} levels activate, among other factors, calcineurin and CAMKII and subsequently the activation of the transcription factor NFkB next to other transcription factors

disrupts the GSK destruction complex. By doing this, the GSK complex is unable to phosphorylate β -catenin and without degradation, the β -catenin is translocated to the nucleus. In the nucleus the protein interacts with a member of the T cell factor (TCF) family to form a complex. The formation of this complex will result in promotion of Wnt-responsive genes such as c-Myc, cyclin D1, and PPAR δ , which are responsible for, among other biological processes, increased cell division, regulation of cell cycle progression, and energy metabolism. The TCF family consists of four members and in absence of β -catenin there is no transcription of the genes (Jin 2008).

The noncanonical pathways operate completely independent of β -catenin and consist of the planar cell polarity (PCP) pathway and the Wnt/Ca²⁺ pathway, whereby activation of the latter results in activated phospholipase C (PLC) and calcium release from the endoplasmic reticulum. This release can activate, among

other factors, calmodulin-dependent kinase II (CAMKII) and calcineurin, which will induce the transcription of genes (Fig. 1b). The PCP pathway is activated via binding of Wnt to the FZD receptor and forming a complex with the ROR co-receptor (Fig. 1b). Through several kinase steps and complexes, the cytoskeleton and cell migration can be regulated, but activation can also result in activation of C-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK). JNK is a stress-activated kinase with increased activity in metabolic disorders (Bretón-Romero et al. 2016). All three Wnt pathways play an important role in regulating cell proliferation, fetal development, maintenance, and differentiation of stem/progenitor cells, but also dysregulation of the Wnt signaling has been associated with several diseases such as carcinoma, myocardial infarction, diabetes, and pregnancy-related disorders (Luo et al. 2007; Clevers and Nusse 2012; Tepekoy et al. 2015). Although the Wnt pathway is physiologically widespread, the focus in this chapter will be on their role during pregnancy and the development of (gestational) diabetes mellitus.

Secreted Frizzled-Related Protein Family During Pregnancy

Studies suggest that the sFRP family play a crucial role during pregnancy, especially in the preimplantation, implantation of the fetus, and development of the placenta (Tepekoy et al. 2015). Studies also demonstrated that 14 of the 19 known Wnt ligands and 8 frizzled receptors are present in the human placenta, which supports this idea, and another study also concluded that dysregulation of sFRPs are associated with infertility, endometriosis, and choriocarcinoma (Sonderegger et al. 2007, 2010).

Of all five identified secreted glycoproteins members, sFRP4 and sFRP5 are not only related to the implantation and development of the placenta, but also their differential expression is associated with pregnancy-related disorders. The sFRP4 protein consists of 346 amino acids and contains a cysteine-rich domain with homologous properties to the extracellular domain of the frizzled proteins, making it an antagonist for the Wnt signaling pathway. The protein is also known by its synonym "frizzled-related protein human endometrium." Further, its expression by the pancreas is stimulated by interleukin-1ß (IL-1ß) and it is suggested that the protein is regulated by estrogen and progesterone, both important proteins during the menstrual cycle and pregnancy (Mahdi et al. 2012; Fujita et al. 2002). Increased levels of SFRP4 were, among other disorders, detected in reduced placental growth and preeclampsia, which is a pregnancy-related disorder wherein the penetration of the trophoblast cells into the maternal myometrium is insufficient (White et al. 2009; Hewitt et al. 2006). Trophoblast cells are the first cells to differentiate from the fertilized egg and develop into a large part of the placenta after implementation. An insufficient penetration will result in an abnormal placental development and later during pregnancy in oxidative stress and an inflammatory state (Rana et al. 2019). sFRP5 contains 311 amino acids and also has a Wnt antagonistic cysteine-rich domain. The protein is also known as secreted apoptosis-related protein 3 and sFRP5 knockout mice also showed insufficient trophoblast differentiation with

oxidative stress and inflammation as result (Bao et al. 2020). Both oxidative stress and persistent low-grade inflammation are also observed in GDM pregnancies (Lappas et al. 2011; Hoch et al. 2019).

sFRP4 and sFRP5 in Glucose Homeostasis

Next to a possible biological role of sFRP4 and sFRP5 in oxidative stress and inflammation during pregnancy, the Wnt signaling pathway is also associated with diabetes. Its pathways are involved in pancreatic β-cell proliferation and insulin production, and also in the production of glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1), which is an intestinal hormone and responsible for rapid insulin secretion after a meal prior to the elevation of blood glucose levels (Jin 2008; Chiang et al. 2012). Recent genome studies also showed that polymorphisms in TCF-4 is associated with a major risk of T2DM and reduced insulin secretion (Grant et al. 2006; Schäfer et al. 2007). In addition, studies specifically associated differential expression of sFRP4 and sFRP5 with the development of diabetes (Liu et al. 2018; Ouchi et al. 2010; Wang et al. 2020; Pawar and Rao 2018; Wilson 2013). For sFRP4, increased levels are widely published to be associated with an increased risk of diabetes (Bergmann and Sypniewska 2014; Pawar and Rao 2018; Wilson 2013; Bukhari et al. 2019). sFRP4 has been described to a lesser extent as adipokine as sFRP5 and it plays a role in the glucose metabolism through two biological pathways. First, the protein suppresses the exocytosis of insulin through reducing the expression of calcium ion channels in pancreatic β-cells (Mahdi et al. 2012; Bergmann and Sypniewska 2014) (Fig. 2a). Normally, the release of insulin is triggered by the metabolism of glucose, which increases the ADP/ATP ratio within the cell. This increase closes the ATP-sensitive potassium channels and, as result, the potential across the membrane becomes more positive through the intracellular accumulation of the potassium ions. Because of this potential change, voltage-dependent calcium channels open and cause a calcium influx. This influx subsequently triggers insulin vesicle exocytosis. It is not completely clear through which signaling pathway this reduction of calcium ion channels is realized, but increased sFRP4 results in decreased cytosolic active β -catenin and studies showed that β -catenin is also involved in surface expression of calcium-activated potassium channels (Bian et al. 2011). Further, Sorrenson et al. (2016) showed in *in vitro* β -cell models and in *in vivo* isolated mice β -cells and pancreatic islets that reduced β -catenin protein levels suppress glucose- and incretinstimulated insulin secretion by dysregulating the localization and fusion of insulin vesicles with the plasma membrane (Fig. 2a). This regulation was independent of the transcriptional effect of the β-catenin/TCF complex and the authors suggest that reduced β-catenin might be responsible for attenuated intracellular actin remodeling, which is required for insulin secretion. Thus, antagonizing the Wnt/β-catenin by increased sFRP4 levels in diabetes might result in less active cytosolic β -catenin and dysregulated insulin translocation and secretion.

The uptake of glucose, and therefore the sensitivity for insulin, is regulated by insulin target tissue. Normally, insulin activates the transmembrane tyrosine kinase



Fig. 2 The effect of increased sFRP4 levels on the glucose homeostasis in pancreatic β -cells (a) and hepatocytes (b). Increased sFRP4 affects insulin secretion in pancreatic β -cells in two ways (a). Normally, the release of insulin is triggered by the metabolism of glucose, which increases the ADP/ATP ratio within the cell (1), and this increase closes the ATP-sensitive potassium channels (2). As result, the potential across the membrane becomes more positive through the intracellular accumulation of the potassium ions. Because of this potential change, voltage-dependent Ca²⁺ channels open and cause a Ca^{2+} influx (3). This influx subsequently triggers insulin vesicle exocytosis (4). Although the exact biological pathway is unknown, increased sFRP4 levels are associated with reduced Ca^{2+} channel expression in pancreatic β -cells and thereby a reduced capability to secrete insulin. Second, increased sFRP4 will antagonize the Wnt/beta-catenin pathway resulting in reduced cytosolic active beta-catenin and beta-catenin is needed for the translocation of insulin vesicles to the cell membrane. In hepatocytes, increased sFRP4 levels affect the glucose homeostasis and lipogenesis (b). The responsible receptor and mediators for these effects are not yet known, but sFRP4-stimulated hepatocytes show decreased levels of IRS-1. Normally, IRS-1 activation will eventually result in glucose uptake after various kinase reactions. In addition, IRS-1 also activates Akt and this kinase is responsible for the deactivation of GSK3β through serine phosphorylation and activation of FoxO1. Reduced deactivation of GSK3β and reduced activation of FoxO1 are associated with decreased glycogen synthesis and increased lipogenesis, respectively

insulin receptor on target tissue through autophosphorylation of its intracellular tyrosine residues (Lee and Pilch 1994). This generates an intracellular binding site for insulin receptor substrate 1 (IRS-1), which is also subsequently activated through tyrosine phosphorylation. Tyrosine phosphorylated IRS-1 will interact and form a complex with phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3k) and this kinase will converse phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP₂) into phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate (PIP₃) by adding another phosphate group. The PIP₃ will activate several kinases, including Akt (i.e., protein kinase B), which will translocate glucose transporter (GLUT) vesicles to the cell membrane. This translocation will eventually result in diffusion of glucose into the cell. Two other proteins that are phosphorylated

by Akt are forkhead box protein O1 (FoxO1) and glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta (GSK3 β). FoxO1 contributes to multiple metabolic pathways to regulate systemic and hepatic glucose metabolism and GSK3 β plays a role in glycogen synthesis (Zhang et al. 2006; Beurel et al. 2015). To note, GSK3 β also has an important role in the phosphorylation of β -catenin and the subsequent degradation. Next to the antagonizing effect of insulin on glucose production by the liver, insulin also promotes fatty acid synthesis (i.e., lipogenesis) in the liver.

Hörbelt et al. (2019) showed in in vitro and in vivo models that sFRP4 is associated with both increased insulin resistance and lipogenesis through reduced expression of (activated) IRS-1, GSK3β, and FoxO1 in hepatocytes (i.e., liver cells) (Fig. 2b). Reduced expression of IRS-1 will eventually result in reduced Akt activation, but also in decreased GLUT translocation and reduced glucose influx. Reduced Akt levels will subsequently result in reduced phosphorylated GSK3ß and FoxO1. While most kinases are activated after phosphorylation, both GSK3 α and GSK3ß are inactivated after serine phosphorylation (Lee and Kim 2007). Less and inactivation of GSK3ß is subsequently responsible for reduced enzymatic conversion of glucose to glycogen, which might keep blood glucose levels high. Next to FoxO1's effect on hepatic glucose production, it is demonstrated that it has a role in lipid synthesis since inhibition of FoxO1 in isolated hepatocytes was needed for increased lipogenesis (Matsumoto et al. 2006; Titchenell et al. 2016). The observed reduction of FoxO1 by sFRP4 in the study of Hörbelt et al. (2019) might be an alternative explanation for the insulin paradox which is observed in diabetes; insulin fails to suppress glucose levels through the liver, since the liver is considered insulin resistant, but on the other hand the other biological effect of insulin, lipogenesis, is increased in a diabetic liver (Titchenell et al. 2016). This increased lipogenesis might be caused by a pathway which does not depend on insulin, such as increased sFRP4 levels. However, it was not investigated in this study via which receptor and mediators sFRP4 caused these effects. Moreover, increased sFRP4 levels are already observed several years before the diagnosis of T2DM and this is the reason why sFRP4 is a possible marker of early pancreatic β -cell dysfunction, insulin resistance, and/or the development of diabetes (Mahdi et al. 2012).

In diabetes and obesity, decreased levels of sFRP5 are in majority present, though also contradictory results are available (Oztas et al. 2016; Wang et al. 2020). Compared to sFRP4, sFRP5 is a more typical adipokine and although the effect of sFRP5 in the Wnt signaling pathway is widespread, its association with obesity, inflammation, and metabolic complications in literature is mainly related to its interaction with Wingless-type family member 5a (Wnt5a) in both noncanonical signaling pathways (Ouchi et al. 2010; Koutaki et al. 2021). The activation of the noncanonical Wnt5A/PCP will result in activated JNK and when it is activated, it can phosphorylate various serine amino acids of IRS-1, such as serine 307 and serine 312 (Lee et al. 2003; Aye et al. 2013). This phosphorylation blocks the possibility to activate IRS-1 through tyrosine phosphorylation by the insulin receptor (Fig. 3). After insulin binds and activates the insulin receptor, tyrosine phosphorylation of IRS-1 is needed to recruit PI3k and to eventually take up glucose and produce glycogen after various intrinsic tyrosine kinase activities (Liu et al. 2018; Draznin

Fig. 3 The effect of decreased sFRP5 levels on the glucose homeostasis in insulin target tissue. Decreased sFRP5 levels are in insulin target tissue responsible for more Wnt/PCP activation. This results in activated JNK and serine phosphorylation of IRS-1. By doing this, the IRS-1 is blocked and cannot interact anymore with PI3K. At the end, this will result in less insulin-sensitive tissue and reduced glucose uptake



Insulin target tissue

2006). Thus, the observed decreased sFRP5 levels in diabetes and obesity cause less antagonism of Wnt5a and, therefore, more activated JNK is present, which will result in more blocked IRS-1 (Wang et al. 2020; Liu et al. 2018). This effect of decreased sFRP5 levels can be found in all insulin target tissues: liver, skeletal muscle, and adipose cells. Blocking of IRS-1 through serine phosphorylation is also caused by pro-inflammatory factors, such as tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α) and IL-1 β . Both factors are also increased during diabetes and associated with the development of insulin resistance (Akash et al. 2018; Jager et al. 2007). In addition, IL-1 β is negatively correlated with sFRP5 levels and it strongly induces sFRP4 expression in the pancreatic β -cells (Liu et al. 2018; Plows et al. 2018; Mahdi et al. 2012). Next to decreased IRS-1 expression, decreased IRS-1 tyrosine phosphorylation is also observed in skeletal muscle tissue of GDM pregnancies, possibly caused by increased sFRP4 and decreased sFRP5 levels, respectively, next to other factors (Friedman et al. 1999). Moreover, there was a significant lower glucose uptake of 25% in these tissues.

Besides its effect on insulin resistance, sFRP5 also has an anti-inflammatory effect and therefore, decreased sFRP5 levels are associated with a pro-inflammatory state (Koutaki et al. 2021). Fuster et al. (2015) concluded that the noncanonical pathway through Wnt5A contributes to obesity-induced insulin

resistance independent of adipogenesis and adipose tissue expansion. Through less antagonizing of Wnt5A, the Wnt5A/Ca²⁺ and Wnt5A/PCP are more activated and this results in increased transcription of pro-inflammatory genes such as nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NFKB) with insulin resistance in adipose tissue as a result (De 2011; Fuster et al. 2015). Ouchi et al. (2010) also confirmed this anti-inflammatory effect in sFRP5 knockout mice by feeding them a high-fat diet, which resulted in increased adipose tissue inflammation, metabolic dysfunction, and also insulin resistance. After injection of sFRP5, tissue inflammation reduced and insulin sensitivity improved. This dual biological effect of sFRP5 on the glucose homeostasis and regulation of inflammatory factors can also be linked to the complex interplay between insulin resistance and a chronic low-grade inflammation which is observed in diabetes (Wang et al. 2020). All these published in vitro, in vivo, and human cohort studies indicate that both sFRP4 and sFRP5 might have a role in the development of diabetes. Together with the fact that sFRP4 and sFRP5 are possibly involved in a successful pregnancy, both proteins might also be associated with the development of GDM.

Biomarker for Gestational Diabetes Mellitus

sFRP4 is in three studies described in relation with GDM. Baldane et al. (2018) showed in a cross-sectional case-control cohort study with 41 control pregnancies and 35 GDM pregnant women an increased level of sFRP4 in the late second trimester in overweight women (BMI 29.07 \pm 3.26 and 28.33 \pm 4.01 kg/m², GDM vs controls, respectively). Samples were collected at the moment of OGTT, so in these cases GDM was already present. Next to increased sFRP4 levels, increased prorenin levels were also observed. Yuan et al. (2018) performed a longitudinal study with in total 526 pregnant women, whereof 97 cases were diagnosed with GDM. Longitudinal blood samples were collected at 16-18 weeks, 24-28 weeks, and just before/during delivery (i.e., 37-41 weeks). sFRP4 levels were significantly increased in GDM pregnancies compared to the control group at all time points. In both groups, the levels were significantly lower during delivery (i.e., 37-41 weeks) compared to 16-18 weeks and 24-28 weeks collected samples. This decrease might be related to the fact that the pregnant women in both groups went from an anabolic to catabolic state in this period to better fulfill the nutritional demand of the offspring. Since BMI is one of the major predictors to develop GDM and this study was performed with a lean BMI cohort (22.00 \pm 3.43 and 20.98 ± 2.80 kg/m² for GDM and control pregnancies, respectively), it is interesting that sFRP4 levels still showed a distinction between GDM and uncomplicated pregnancies in this cohort. To note, both discussed studies were performed in the second trimester or later and a marker should, preferably, have a predictive value in the first trimester, since this gives the possibility to better monitor high-risk pregnancies and the glucose levels of these pregnancies. Second, the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes of GDM are, in most cases, already present at the moment of GDM diagnosis in the second trimester or later (Sovio et al. 2016). Schuitemaker et al. (2020) performed a nested case-control study in the first trimester, whereby 50 GDM pregnancies and 100 control pregnancies were included. To note, the pregnancies were matched on maternal age (\pm 2 years) and BMI (\pm 2 kg/m²), which are both major risk factors for the development of GDM. In this slightly overweight cohort (26.6 \pm 5.6 and 26.2 \pm 5.0 kg/m²), again significantly increased sFRP4 levels were observed but this time in the first trimester.

For sFRP5, there is only one study available which evaluated whether sFRP5 levels are significantly different in GDM pregnancies compared to uncomplicated pregnancies (Oztas et al. 2016). This study was a prospective, cross-sectional, case-control study with 40 GDM pregnancies and 44 control pregnancies. Analyzed samples were collected in the first trimester (i.e., 10–14 weeks) and women were matched on age and prepregnancy BMI. In this study there was an association of decreased sFRP5 levels with the development of GDM later during pregnancy, but no association was observed to predict adverse pregnancy outcomes related to GDM. The decreased levels of sFRP5 in GDM matched with another well-investigated anti-inflammatory biomarker for GDM in the first trimester, adiponectin (Plows et al. 2018; Lorenzo-Almorós et al. 2019). However, caution should be taken when drawing conclusions, as there is only one publication available about sFRP5 and GDM.

In conclusion, a handful studies currently suggest a predictive role of sFRP4 and sFRP5 in the first trimester for the development of GDM. It is important to note that the clinical presentation of GDM is still absent in the first trimester and a timely (therapeutic) intervention is beneficial for the adverse pregnancy outcomes. Since both proteins are already well investigated in diabetes and associated with a successful pregnancy, they are worth-interesting candidates to be further evaluated in larger and clinically more heterogeneous cohorts to confirm their predictive role for the development of GDM.

Applications to Prognosis

In this chapter secreted frizzled-related protein 4 (sFRP4) and secreted frizzledrelated protein 5 (sFRP5) have been reviewed in association with diabetes and gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM). The available studies show how sFRP4 and sFRP5 have an effect on insulin resistance and hyperglycemia, but a few studies used mainly *in vitro* models and animal studies and therefore it is interesting to evaluate whether these effects are also observed in human tissue. However, the increased sFRP4 levels and decreased sFRP5 serum levels are already associated with diabetes and GDM in human cohort studies. A few studies suggest that this differential expression of these proteins is already observed in the first trimester of the pregnancy while the onset, and diagnosis, of GDM is mainly observed in the late second or early third trimester (Schuitemaker et al. 2020; Oztas et al. 2016). Therefore, increased sFRP4 levels and decreased sFRP5 levels in the first trimester might be prognostic for the development of GDM. When sFRP4 and/or sFRP5 have a predictive power, a (therapeutic) intervention can be started or glycose levels can be monitored more intensively.

Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions

In this chapter secreted frizzled-related protein 4 (sFRP4) and secreted frizzledrelated protein 5 (sFRP5) are associated with the development of gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM). Differential expression of sFRP4 is also associated with other obstetrical and gynecological disorders such as increased levels of sFRP4 in preeclampsia and decreased levels of sFRP4 in polycystic ovary syndrome (Zhang et al. 2013; Piltonen et al. 2013). The authors related this to possible progesterone resistance and predisposed reduced endometrial receptivity. An overlap of these markers in obstetrical disorders is more often seen and a possible reason for this is, for example, that preeclampsia and GDM seem to have a partially shared etiology (Odenkirk et al. 2020). In addition, GDM pregnancies also have an increased risk of preeclampsia and the disorders also share some common risk factors (McIntyre et al. 2019; Phipps et al. 2016). Next to obstetrical and gynecological disorders, sFRP4 is in literature related to various carcinoma, such as pancreatic ductal adeno, prostate, and colorectal carcinoma (Bernreuther et al. 2020; Busuttil et al. 2021; Natarajan et al. 2020; Huang et al. 2010). On the other hand, sFRP5 is more often related to cardiovascular and inflammatory diseases (Wang et al. 2020; Tong et al. 2019). Just like in diabetes, the predominantly inverse association of sFRP5 with the disorders is observed. sFRP5 is not as clearly associated in literature with pregnancy disorders as sFRP4, but it is worth mentioning that decreased sFRP5 was also correlated with the metabolic inflammation in polycystic ovary syndrome and elevated sFRP5 levels were observed during preeclampsia (Zhang et al. 2021, 2022).

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

- **Gestational diabetes mellitus**. The detection of a *de novo* hyperglycemia during pregnancy, generally detected in the late second trimester or early third trimester and resolves after birth.
- Wnt signaling pathway. The Wingless and Int-1 (Wnt) signaling pathways consist of three signal transduction pathways and they are involved in various biological processes, such as carcinogenesis, embryonic development, and cell proliferation.
- Wnt/beta-catenin pathway. This Wnt pathway does involve β-catenin and activation results in translocation of β-catenin into the nucleus and after interaction with T cell factor (TCF), β-catenin-related genes are transcripted.
- Wnt/noncanonical pathways. These Wnt pathways do not involve β-catenin and consist of the Wnt/Ca²⁺ and Wnt/planar cell polarity pathways. Among other processes, they regulate calcium release from the endoplasmic reticulum to control intracellular calcium levels, activate C-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), polymerize actin, and regulate transcription of pro-inflammatory factors.
- Secreted frizzled-related proteins. A protein family which are mainly antagonists of the Wnt signaling pathway through binding the agonist of the frizzledrelated receptors and/or blocking the frizzled receptors by binding the receptor.

Key Facts of Secreted Frizzled-Related Proteins 4 and 5: What They Are and Can They Be Used as a Biomarker in Gestational Diabetes Mellitus

Key Facts of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus

Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) is one of the most common pregnancy-related disorders.

There is no worldwide agreement when to screen for GDM and its diagnostic definition and, therefore, worldwide prevalence rates are ranging from 1 to > 30%.

Most pregnant women get tested for GDM at 24-28 weeks of pregnancy.

Major risk factors for testing GDM are maternal age, body mass index, ethnicity, and family history of diabetes.

Short-term consequences of GDM are macrosomia (i.e., excessive weight gain of the fetus), increased risk of cesarian section, development of preeclampsia, and neonatal hypoglycemia.

Long-term consequences of GDM are primarily increased risk of developing T2DM, metabolic syndrome, and cardiovascular diseases for mother and T2DM, obesity, and cardiovascular diseases for the offspring later in life.

Key Facts of Secreted Frizzled-Related Proteins (sFRPs)

sFRPs consist of five extracellular glycoproteins and are antagonists of the Wingless and Int-1 (Wnt) signaling pathways.

All five members are approximately 300 amino acids long and contain a cysteinerich domain, which is responsible for their antagonistic property in the Wnt pathway.

The Wnt signaling pathway consists of the canonical Wnt pathway and two noncanonical pathways: the planar cell polarity pathway and calcium pathway.

Activation of the canonical Wnt pathway results in gene transcription through translocation of β -catenin to the nucleus.

The Wnt/planar cell polarity pathway, also called C-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) pathway, regulates the cytoskeleton and activation of JNK.

The Wnt/calcium pathway regulates the calcium inside the cell through calcium release from the endoplasmic reticulum, activation of downstream kinases, and transcription of pro-inflammatory genes.

The Wnt signaling pathways are involved in various biological processes, such as embryonic development and cell differentiation, but also carcinogenesis and diabetes.

Summary Points

 Gestational diabetes mellitus is the detection of a *de novo* hyperglycemia during pregnancy, generally detected in the late second trimester or early third trimester and resolves after birth.

- Secreted frizzled-related protein 4 (sFRP4) and secreted frizzled-related protein 5 (sFRP5) are two antagonistic proteins for the Wingless and Int-1 (Wnt) signaling pathways and both are possibly involved in the development of diabetes.
- In both diabetes and GDM increased levels of sFRP4 and decreased levels of sFRP5 are observed before and during the disease.
- sFRP4 and sFRP5 are also related to the implantation and development of the placenta and their differential expression is associated with other pregnancyrelated disorders, such as reduced placental growth and preeclampsia.
- sFRP4 plays a role in the glucose metabolism by suppressing the exocytosis of insulin of pancreatic beta cells.
- Second, sFRP4 increases the insulin-stimulated hepatic lipogenesis and hepatic insulin resistance by reducing insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1) and forkhead box protein O1 (FOXO1).
- Decreased sFRP5 levels are responsible for reduced insulin sensitivity through blocking intracellular insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1).
- Second, decreased sFRP5 levels will result in more activation of the noncanonical Wnt5A pathways and this pathway is associated with pro-inflammatory reactions.
- Both sFRP4 and sFRP5 are well investigated in diabetes but their role during pregnancy to a lesser extent and, therefore, these proteins are interesting candidates to be further evaluated in larger and clinically more heterogeneous cohorts to confirm their (predictive) role for the development of GDM.

References

- Abell SK, De Courten B, Boyle JA, Teede HJ. Inflammatory and other biomarkers: role in pathophysiology and prediction of gestational diabetes mellitus. Int J Mol Sci. 2015;16:13442–73.
- Akash MSH, Rehman K, Liaqat A. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha: role in development of insulin resistance and pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Cell Biochem. 2018;119:105–10.
- Al-Badri MR, Zantout MS, Azar ST. The role of adipokines in gestational diabetes mellitus. Ther Adv Endocrinol Metab. 2015;6:103–8.
- Aye ILMH, Jansson T, Powell TL. Interleukin-1β inhibits insulin signaling and prevents insulinstimulated system A amino acid transport in primary human trophoblasts. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2013;381:46–55.
- Baldane S, Ipekci SH, Kebapcilar AG, Abusoglu A, Beyhekim H, Ilhan TT, Unlu A, Kebapcilar A. Prorenin and secreted frizzled-related protein 4 levels in women with gestational diabetes mellitus. Bratisl Lek Listy. 2018;119:450–3.
- Bao H, Liu D, Xu Y, Sun Y, Mu C, Yu Y, Wang C, Han Q, Liu S, Cai H, Liu F, Kong S, Deng W, Cao B, Wang H, Wang Q, Lu J. Hyperactivated Wnt-β-catenin signaling in the absence of sFRP1 and sFRP5 disrupts trophoblast differentiation through repression of Ascl2. BMC Biol. 2020;18:151.
- Benhalima K, Mathieu C, Damm P, Van Assche A, Devlieger R, Desoye G, Corcoy R, Mahmood T, Nizard J, Savona-Ventura C, Dunne F. A proposal for the use of uniform diagnostic criteria for gestational diabetes in Europe: an opinion paper by the European Board & College of Obstetrics and Gynaecology (EBCOG). Diabetologia. 2015;58:1422–9.
- Bergmann K, Sypniewska G. Secreted frizzled-related protein 4 (SFRP4) and fractalkine (CX3CL1) potential new biomarkers for β -cell dysfunction and diabetes. Clin Biochem. 2014;47:529–32.
- Bernreuther C, Daghigh F, Möller K, Hube-Magg C, Lennartz M, Lutz F, Rico SD, Fraune C, Dum D, Luebke AM, Eichenauer T, Möller-Koop C, Schlomm T, Wittmer C, Huland H,
Heinzer H, Graefen M, Haese A, Burandt E, Tsourlakis MC, Clauditz TS, Höflmayer D, Izbicki JR, Simon R, Sauter G, Minner S, Steurer S, Meiners J. Secreted frizzled-related protein 4 (SFRP4) is an independent prognostic marker in prostate cancers lacking TMPRSS2: ERG fusions. Pathol Oncol Res. 2020;26:2709–22.

- Beurel E, Grieco SF, Jope RS. Glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK3): regulation, actions, and diseases. Pharmacol Ther. 2015;148:114–31.
- Bian S, Bai JP, Chapin H, Le Moellic C, Dong H, Caplan M, Sigworth FJ, Navaratnam DS. Interactions between β-catenin and the HSlo potassium channel regulates HSlo surface expression. PLoS One. 2011;6:e28264.
- Bretón-Romero R, Feng B, Holbrook M, Farb MG, Fetterman JL, Linder EA, Berk BD, Masaki N, Weisbrod RM, Inagaki E, Gokce N, Fuster JJ, Walsh K, Hamburg NM. Endothelial dysfunction in human diabetes is mediated by Wnt5a-JNK signaling. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2016;36:561–9.
- Bukhari SA, Yasmin A, Zahoor MA, Mustafa G, Sarfraz I, Rasul A. Secreted frizzled-related protein 4 and its implication in obesity and type-2 diabetes. IUBMB Life. 2019;71:1701–10.
- Busuttil RA, George J, House CM, Lade S, Mitchell C, Di Costanzo NS, Pattison S, Huang YK, Tan P, Cheong JH, Rha SY, Boussioutas A. SFRP4 drives invasion in gastric cancer and is an early predictor of recurrence. Gastric Cancer. 2021;24:589–601.
- Catalano PM, Drago NM, Amini SB. Longitudinal changes in pancreatic beta-cell function and metabolic clearance rate of insulin in pregnant women with normal and abnormal glucose tolerance. Diabetes Care. 1998;21:403–8.
- Catalano PM, Huston L, Amini SB, Kalhan SC. Longitudinal changes in glucose metabolism during pregnancy in obese women with normal glucose tolerance and gestational diabetes mellitus. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1999;180:903–16.
- Chiang YT, Ip W, Jin T. The role of the Wnt signaling pathway in incretin hormone production and function. Front Physiol. 2012;3:273.
- Chiefari E, Arcidiacono B, Foti D, Brunetti A. Gestational diabetes mellitus: an updated overview. J Endocrinol Investig. 2017;40:899–909.
- Clevers H, Nusse R. Wnt/β-catenin signaling and disease. Cell. 2012;149:1192-205.
- De A. Wnt/Ca2+ signaling pathway: a brief overview. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin Shanghai. 2011;43:745–56.
- Draznin B. Molecular mechanisms of insulin resistance: serine phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate-1 and increased expression of p85alpha: the two sides of a coin. Diabetes. 2006;55: 2392–7.
- Egan AM, Dow ML, Vella A. A review of the pathophysiology and management of diabetes in pregnancy. Mayo Clin Proc. 2020;95:2734–46.
- Farahvar S, Walfisch A, Sheiner E. Gestational diabetes risk factors and long-term consequences for both mother and offspring: a literature review. Expert Rev Endocrinol Metab. 2019;14:63–74.
- Friedman JE, Ishizuka T, Shao J, Huston L, Highman T, Catalano P. Impaired glucose transport and insulin receptor tyrosine phosphorylation in skeletal muscle from obese women with gestational diabetes. Diabetes. 1999;48:1807–14.
- Fujita M, Ogawa S, Fukuoka H, Tsukui T, Nemoto N, Tsutsumi O, Ouchi Y, Inoue S. Differential expression of secreted frizzled-related protein 4 in decidual cells during pregnancy. J Mol Endocrinol. 2002;28:213–23.
- Fuster JJ, Zuriaga MA, Ngo DT, Farb MG, Aprahamian T, Yamaguchi TP, Gokce N, Walsh K. Noncanonical Wnt signaling promotes obesity-induced adipose tissue inflammation and metabolic dysfunction independent of adipose tissue expansion. Diabetes. 2015;64:1235–48.
- Gao C, Chen YG. Dishevelled: the hub of Wnt signaling. Cell Signal. 2010;22:717-27.
- Grant SF, Thorleifsson G, Reynisdottir I, Benediktsson R, Manolescu A, Sainz J, Helgason A, Stefansson H, Emilsson V, Helgadottir A, Styrkarsdottir U, Magnusson KP, Walters GB, Palsdottir E, Jonsdottir T, Gudmundsdottir T, Gylfason A, Saemundsdottir J, Wilensky RL, Reilly MP, Rader DJ, Bagger Y, Christiansen C, Gudnason V, Sigurdsson G, Thorsteinsdottir U, Gulcher JR, Kong A, Stefansson K. Variant of transcription factor 7-like 2 (TCF7L2) gene confers risk of type 2 diabetes. Nat Genet. 2006;38:320–3.

- Guideline, World Health Organization. Diagnostic criteria and classification of hyperglycaemia first detected in pregnancy: a World Health Organization guideline. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2014;103:341–63.
- Hewitt DP, Mark PJ, Dharmarajan AM, Waddell BJ. Placental expression of secreted frizzled related protein-4 in the rat and the impact of glucocorticoid-induced fetal and placental growth restriction. Biol Reprod. 2006;75:75–81.
- Hoch D, Gauster M, Hauguel-de Mouzon S, Desoye G. Diabesity-associated oxidative and inflammatory stress signalling in the early human placenta. Mol Asp Med. 2019;66:21–30.
- Hörbelt T, Knebel B, Fahlbusch P, Barbosa D, de Wiza DH, Van de Velde F, Van Nieuwenhove Y, Lapauw B, Thoresen GH, Al-Hasani H, Müller-Wieland D, Ouwens DM, Kotzka J. The adipokine sFRP4 induces insulin resistance and lipogenesis in the liver. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol basis Dis. 2019;1865:2671–84.
- Huang D, Yu B, Deng Y, Sheng W, Peng Z, Qin W, Du X. SFRP4 was overexpressed in colorectal carcinoma. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2010;136:395–401.
- Jager J, Grémeaux T, Cormont M, Le Marchand-Brustel Y, Tanti J-F. Interleukin-1β-induced insulin resistance in adipocytes through down-regulation of insulin receptor substrate-1 expression. Endocrinology. 2007;148:241–51.
- Jin T. The WNT signalling pathway and diabetes mellitus. Diabetologia. 2008;51:1771-80.
- Koutaki D, Michos A, Bacopoulou F, Charmandari E. The emerging role of Sfrp5 and Wnt5a in the pathogenesis of obesity: implications for a healthy diet and lifestyle. Nutrients. 2021;13:2459.
- Lappas M, Hiden U, Desoye G, Froehlich J, Hauguel-de Mouzon S, Jawerbaum A. The role of oxidative stress in the pathophysiology of gestational diabetes mellitus. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2011;15:3061–100.
- Lee J, Kim MS. The role of GSK3 in glucose homeostasis and the development of insulin resistance. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2007;77(Suppl 1):S49–57.
- Lee J, Pilch PF. The insulin receptor: structure, function, and signaling. Am J Phys. 1994;266: C319–34.
- Lee YH, Giraud J, Davis RJ, White MF. c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) mediates feedback inhibition of the insulin signaling cascade. J Biol Chem. 2003;278:2896–902.
- Liu LB, Chen XD, Zhou XY, Zhu Q. The Wnt antagonist and secreted frizzled-related protein 5: implications on lipid metabolism, inflammation, and type 2 diabetes mellitus. Biosci Rep. 2018;38
- Lorenzo-Almorós A, Hang T, Peiró C, Soriano-Guillén L, Egido J, Tuñón J, Lorenzo Ó. Predictive and diagnostic biomarkers for gestational diabetes and its associated metabolic and cardiovascular diseases. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2019;18:140.
- Luo J, Chen J, Deng ZL, Luo X, Song WX, Sharff KA, Tang N, Haydon RC, Luu HH, He TC. Wnt signaling and human diseases: what are the therapeutic implications? Lab Investig. 2007;87:97–103.
- Mahdi T, Hänzelmann S, Salehi A, Muhammed SJ, Reinbothe TM, Tang Y, Axelsson AS, Zhou Y, Jing X, Almgren P, Krus U, Taneera J, Blom AM, Lyssenko V, Jonathan Lou S, Esguerra OH, Eliasson L, Derry J, Zhang E, Wollheim CB, Groop L, Renström E, Rosengren AH. Secreted frizzled-related protein 4 reduces insulin secretion and is overexpressed in type 2 diabetes. Cell Metab. 2012;16:625–33.
- Matsumoto M, Han S, Kitamura T, Accili D. Dual role of transcription factor FoxO1 in controlling hepatic insulin sensitivity and lipid metabolism. J Clin Invest. 2006;116:2464–72.
- McIntyre HD, Catalano P, Zhang C, Desoye G, Mathiesen ER, Damm P. Gestational diabetes mellitus. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2019;5:47.
- Natarajan A, Sudha Bandla S, Damodaran M, Sundaram S, Venkatesan V. Study on the SFRP4 gene polymorphism and expression in prostate cancer. J Genet. 2020;99:86.
- Odenkirk MT, Stratton KG, Gritsenko MA, Bramer LM, Webb-Robertson BM, Bloodsworth KJ, Weitz KK, Lipton AK, Monroe ME, Ash JR, Fourches D, Taylor BD, Burnum-Johnson KE, Baker ES. Unveiling molecular signatures of preeclampsia and gestational diabetes mellitus with multi-omics and innovative cheminformatics visualization tools. Mol Omics. 2020;16: 521–32.

- Ouchi N, Higuchi A, Ohashi K, Oshima Y, Gokce N, Shibata R, Akasaki Y, Shimono A, Walsh K. Sfrp5 is an anti-inflammatory adipokine that modulates metabolic dysfunction in obesity. Science. 2010;329:454–7.
- Oztas E, Ozler S, Ersoy E, Ersoy AO, Tokmak A, Ergin M, Uygur D, Danisman N. Prediction of gestational diabetes mellitus by first trimester serum secreted frizzle-related protein-5 levels. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2016;29:1515–9.
- Pawar NM, Rao P. Secreted frizzled related protein 4 (sFRP4) update: a brief review. Cell Signal. 2018;45:63–70.
- Phipps E, Prasanna D, Brima W, Jim B. Preeclampsia: updates in pathogenesis, definitions, and guidelines. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2016;11:1102–13.
- Piltonen TT, Chen J, Erikson DW, Spitzer TL, Barragan F, Rabban JT, Huddleston H, Irwin JC, Giudice LC. Mesenchymal stem/progenitors and other endometrial cell types from women with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) display inflammatory and oncogenic potential. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013;98:3765–75.
- Plows JF, Stanley JL, Baker PN, Reynolds CM, Vickers MH. The pathophysiology of gestational diabetes mellitus. Int J Mol Sci. 2018;19:3342.
- Rana S, Lemoine E, Granger JP, Karumanchi SA. Preeclampsia: pathophysiology, challenges, and perspectives. Circ Res. 2019;124:1094–112.
- Rasmussen L, Poulsen CW, Kampmann U, Smedegaard SB, Ovesen PG, Fuglsang J. Diet and healthy lifestyle in the management of gestational diabetes mellitus. Nutrients. 2020;12:3050.
- Schäfer SA, Tschritter O, Machicao F, Thamer C, Stefan N, Gallwitz B, Holst JJ, Dekker JM, Hart LM t, Nijpels G, van Haeften TW, Häring HU, Fritsche A. Impaired glucagon-like peptide-1induced insulin secretion in carriers of transcription factor 7-like 2 (TCF7L2) gene polymorphisms. Diabetologia. 2007;50:2443–50.
- Schuitemaker JHN, Beernink RHJ, Franx A, Cremers T, Koster MPH. First trimester secreted frizzled-related protein 4 and other adipokine serum concentrations in women developing gestational diabetes mellitus. PLoS One. 2020;15:e0242423.
- Sonagra AD, Biradar SM, Dattatreya K, Jayaprakash Murthy DS. Normal pregnancy- a state of insulin resistance. J Clin Diagn Res. 2014;8:CC01–C3.
- Sonderegger S, Husslein H, Leisser C, Knöfler M. \Complex expression pattern of Wnt ligands and frizzled receptors in human placenta and its trophoblast subtypes. Placenta. 2007;28(Suppl A): S97–S102.
- Sonderegger S, Pollheimer J, Knöfler M. Wnt signalling in implantation, decidualisation and placental differentiation review. Placenta. 2010;31:839–47.
- Sorrenson B, Cognard E, Lee KL, Dissanayake WC, Fu Y, Han W, Hughes WE, Shepherd PR. A critical role for β -catenin in modulating levels of insulin secretion from β -cells by regulating actin cytoskeleton and insulin vesicle localization. J Biol Chem. 2016;291:25888–900.
- Sovio U, Murphy HR, Smith GC. Accelerated fetal growth prior to diagnosis of gestational diabetes mellitus: a prospective cohort study of nulliparous women. Diabetes Care. 2016;39:982–7.
- Surana R, Sikka S, Cai W, Shin EM, Warrier SR, Tan HJ, Arfuso F, Fox SA, Dharmarajan AM, Kumar AP. Secreted frizzled related proteins: implications in cancers. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2014;1845:53–65.
- Tepekoy F, Akkoyunlu G, Demir R. The role of Wnt signaling members in the uterus and embryo during pre-implantation and implantation. J Assist Reprod Genet. 2015;32:337–46.
- Titchenell PM, Quinn WJ, Mingjian L, Chu Q, Wenyun L, Li C, Chen H, Monks BR, Chen J, Rabinowitz JD, Birnbaum MJ. Direct hepatocyte insulin signaling is required for lipogenesis but is dispensable for the suppression of glucose production. Cell Metab. 2016;23:1154–66.
- Tong S, Ji Q, Du Y, Zhu X, Zhu C, Zhou Y. Sfrp5/Wnt pathway: a protective regulatory system in atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. J Interf Cytokine Res. 2019;39:472–82.
- Wang D, Zhang Y, Shen C. Research update on the association between SFRP5, an antiinflammatory adipokine, with obesity, type 2 diabetes mellitus and coronary heart disease. J Cell Mol Med. 2020;24:2730–5.
- Weidinger G, Moon RT. When Wnts antagonize Wnts. J Cell Biol. 2003;162:753-5.

- White L, Suganthini G, Friis R, Dharmarajan A, Charles A. Expression of secreted frizzled-related protein 4 in the primate placenta. Reprod BioMed Online. 2009;18:104–10.
- White SL, Lawlor DA, Briley AL, Godfrey KM, Nelson SM, Oteng-Ntim E, Robson SC, Sattar N, Seed PT, Vieira MC, Welsh P, Whitworth M, Poston L, Pasupathy D. Early antenatal prediction of gestational diabetes in obese women: development of prediction tools for targeted intervention. PLoS One. 2016;11:e0167846.
- Wilson C. SFRP4 a biomarker for islet dysfunction? Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2013;9:65.
- Yuan XS, Zhang M, Wang HY, Jiang J, Yu B. Increased secreted frizzled-related protein 4 and ficolin-3 levels in gestational diabetes mellitus women. Endocr J. 2018;65:499–508.
- Zhang W, Patil S, Chauhan B, Guo S, Powell DR, Le J, Klotsas A, Matika R, Xiao X, Franks R, Heidenreich KA, Sajan MP, Farese RV, Stolz DB, Tso P, Koo SH, Montminy M, Unterman TG. FoxO1 regulates multiple metabolic pathways in the liver: effects on gluconeogenic, glycolytic, and lipogenic gene expression. J Biol Chem. 2006;281:10105–17.
- Zhang Z, Zhang L, Zhang L, Jia L, Wang P, Gao Y. Association of Wnt2 and sFRP4 expression in the third trimester placenta in women with severe preeclampsia. Reprod Sci. 2013;20:981–9.
- Zhang Y, Ran Y, Kong L, Geng L, Huang H, Zhang H, Hu J, Qi H, Chen Y. Decreased SFRP5 correlated with excessive metabolic inflammation in polycystic ovary syndrome could be reversed by metformin: implication of its role in dysregulated metabolism. J Ovarian Res. 2021;14:97.
- Zhang Y, Ran Y, Ma Y, Huang H, Chen Y, Qi H. Elevated serum SFRP5 levels during preeclampsia and its potential association with trophoblast dysfunction via Wnt/β-catenin suppression. Reprod Sci. 2022;29:163–172.

Check for updates

31

Insights into the World of MicroRNAs

miR-1281, a Novel Biomarker of Diabetic Retinopathy

Marta Greco, Eusebio Chiefari, Maria Mirabelli, Alessandro Salatino, Salvatore Andrea Pullano, Antonio Aversa, Daniela Patrizia Foti, and Antonio Brunetti

Contents

Introduction	650
miRNA Biogenesis	652
Circulating miRNAs	657
Circulating miRNAs and Diabetes	658
Circulating miRNAs and DR	659
miR-1281 as a Novel Circulating Biomarker in Patients with DR	660
Conclusions	662
Key Facts of miRNAs	663
Summary Points	664
References	664

Abstract

Diabetic retinopathy (DR) is the most common microvascular complication of diabetes mellitus and the leading cause of vision loss in middle-aged, economically active people. So far, many modifiable and unmodifiable factors have been implicated in the pathogenesis of DR. Among them, microRNAs (miRNAs) – small non-coding RNA molecules that regulate gene expression – have shown to play an important role. Recent studies have identified differentially expressed circulating miRNAs in diabetic patients with and without DR, suggesting their potential use as noninvasive tools to early detect or predict DR progression. Although the actual knowledge is limited, understanding the molecular mechanism(s) linking miRNAs to DR could lead to novel diagnostic

M. Greco · E. Chiefari · M. Mirabelli · A. Salatino · S. A. Pullano · A. Brunetti (🖂) Department of Health Sciences, University "Magna Græcia", Catanzaro, Italy e-mail: brunetti@unicz.it

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2_34

and therapeutic approaches for this invalidating complication of diabetes. The present chapter aims to summarize the role of miRNAs, and in particular of miR-1281, in the pathogenesis of DR and their promising use as disease-related biomarkers.

Keywords

Diabetic retinopathy \cdot Circulating biomarkers \cdot Angiogenesis \cdot MicroRNAs \cdot miR-1281

Abbreviatio	ns
AGEs	Advanced glycation end products
AGO	Argonaute
ARPE-19	Human retinal pigment epithelial cells
DGCR8	DiGeorge syndrome critical region 8
DR	Diabetic retinopathy
EPAC	Exchange protein directly activated by cAMP
HIF	Hypoxia-inducible factor
HIF1AN	Hypoxia-inducible factor-1a inhibitor
HUVEC	Human umbilical vein endothelial cells
Luc	Luciferase
miRNAs	MicroRNAs
PKA	Protein kinase A
PKC	Protein kinase C
RAAS	Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system
RISC	RNA-induced silencing complex
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
TRBP	TAR RNA binding protein
UTR	Untranslated region
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

Introduction

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are an evolutionarily conserved class of short (~19–22 nucleotides) noncoding single-stranded RNAs generated from genomic DNA (Bartel 2004), which modulate several important cellular processes, including tissue growth and development (Johnston and Hobert 2003; Zhao et al. 2005), cell proliferation and differentiation (Cheng et al. 2005; Chen et al. 2006), glucose metabolism (Chiefari et al. 2021), apoptosis (Cheng et al. 2005), senescence (Inukai and Slack 2013), and immune response (Chiefari et al. 2021). Consistent with these observations, miRNA dysregulation is widely involved in the pathophysiology of a number of complex human diseases, such as obesity, type 2 diabetes mellitus and related cardiovascular disease, cancer, and neurodegenerative disorders (Ardekani and Naeini 2010).

In general, miRNAs are expressed in tissue-specific patterns and exert negative posttranscriptional regulation. By binding target sites in the 3' untranslated region (3' UTR) of mRNAs, these molecules may act as gene silencers and can induce the degradation of protein-coding transcripts through the recruitment of deadenylases and decapping factors. On the other hand, miRNAs can also interact with other regions of the gene, including 5' UTR, promoters, and coding sequences, so that may also affect gene transcription (Broughton et al. 2016).

The detailed mechanisms by which miRNAs regulate posttranscriptional expression of target genes need to be explored further. According to the current literature, mature miRNAs shuttle between nucleus and cytoplasm, at which levels their regulatory activities on transcription and/or translation of target genes occur (Makarova et al. 2016). Certain miRNAs are also released into the extracellular space and into biological fluids and taken up by recipient cells, often located distantly from the released sites, thereby acting like chemical messengers or hormones that mediate cell-cell communication and interactions (Makarova et al. 2016). The discovery of stable, extracellular miRNAs in blood plasma and serum samples, known as circulating miRNAs, has generated great interest in their potential use as noninvasive biomarkers for the identification and monitoring of diseases and related complications (Cortez et al. 2011). Recent investigations in this context suggest that, different from other RNA species, circulating miRNAs are highly resistant to RNase-mediated degradation, given that they are able to migrate in packed microvesicles and other intercellular structures that protect miRNA molecules from the endogenous RNase activity of the extracellular environment. Aberrant expression of circulating miRNAs has been linked to the development of many human tumors, as well as to the pathogenesis of common cardiovascular, neurodegenerative, and metabolic diseases, including type 2 diabetes (Chiefari et al. 2021; Ardekani and Naeini 2010). Furthermore, the dysregulation of specific miRNAs could take part in the inflammatory and endothelial dysfunctions that are associated with the occurrence of vascular complications in patients with diabetes (Zhang et al. 2017).

From what is known, type 2 diabetes mellitus is a complex form of diabetes that is characterized by chronically high levels of blood glucose, in which peripheral insulin resistance and insulin secretory dysfunction of the pancreatic beta cell are the major metabolic defects. If uncontrolled by lifestyle changes and pharmacological interventions, chronically sustained hyperglycemia may result in the development of multisystemic chronic complications, including microvascular (i.e., retinopathy, nephropathy, and neuropathy) and macrovascular complications (i.e., stable angina, acute coronary syndrome, cerebrovascular events, and peripheral arterial disease), which are associated with high morbidity and mortality in affected individuals (Mirabelli et al. 2019a, b; Palella et al. 2020). Today, type 2 diabetes is certainly well recognized as a major global health concern. It is estimated that by 2030 more than half a billion people worldwide will suffer from diabetes, with huge economic costs and negative impact on human health and well-being (Shaw et al. 2010). The accumulation of body fat, especially visceral fat, is negatively correlated with peripheral insulin sensitivity, and obesity is regarded as a key risk factor for type 2 diabetes and other conditions related to obesity, including the metabolic syndrome, which increases the risk of type 2 diabetes and coronary heart disease (Mirabelli et al. 2021a, b; Arcidiacono et al. 2020).

Diabetic retinopathy (DR) is among the most shattering microvascular complications of diabetes mellitus, as it may cause severe vision impairment and blindness in affected patients (Yau et al. 2012). Epidemiological studies have established that the increase in DR risk is particularly influenced by the duration of diabetes and by the efficacy of glycemic control (Yau et al. 2012). Also, as an established microangiopathic lesion of diabetes, DR may cluster with other traditional complications of diabetes, such as diabetic nephropathy and diabetic neuropathy, in which prolonged exposure to hyperglycemia is now recognized as the primary factor causing vascular damage in diabetes (El-Asrar et al. 2001).

The application of noninvasive biomarkers for the early detection of type 2 diabetes and identification of patients who are most at risk of complications should greatly improve diabetes management and care, as targeted interventions by clinicians might prevent or limit patients' vision loss and vascular damage. Recently, within the diabetes scientific community, much attention has been focused on circulating miRNAs as biomarkers for type 2 diabetes and its complications, and some of the miRNAs discovered so far in this field have even the potential for future therapeutic applications. In this regard, certain miRNAs have been identified to be involved in the neovascularization and augmentation of vascular permeability in retinal vessels by impinging on the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) signaling pathway whose abnormal activation is a crucial event in DR and vascular damage (Chiefari et al. 2016). However, to date, only a few studies have investigated the progressive changes in circulating miRNA levels in patients destined to develop DR, using a longitudinal prospective design (Gong and Su 2017). Furthermore, sample populations in crosssectional studies have often been of limited size, and some findings have not been replicated in other investigations. Clinical trials and observational investigations in large multiracial cohorts and standardization of circulating profiling technologies (Marzi et al. 2016) are now almost indispensable requirements to advance our knowledge on this topic and provide robust evidence for causal associations between miRNA biomarkers and the risk of DR. Table 1 summarizes the main results of human and preclinical studies addressing the potential roles and applications of aberrant circulating miRNAs in DR (Liu et al. 2019; Chen et al. 2017a; Jiang et al. 2017; Gomaa et al. 2017; Zou et al. 2017; Chen et al. 2017b; Santovito et al. 2021; Smit-McBride et al. 2020; Liu et al. 2018; Greco et al. 2020).

On the basis of these premises, in this chapter, we provide a brief overview of circulating miRNA biogenesis and functions and describe how miR-1281, a circulating miRNA signature for DR, has been identified and characterized by our group as an early biomarker of DR in patients with type 2 diabetes (Greco et al. 2020).

miRNA Biogenesis

The first miRNA, named lin-4, was discovered in the nematode worm *Caenorhabditis elegans* in 1993 (Lee et al. 1993). Since then, there has been a molecular biological revolution, and many of the components that participate in miRNA biogenesis and the basic principles of miRNA functions have been brought

	marida nun arei au guirea mon ainnie io i				
Extracellular	-		DR-related expression	-	c f
mIKNA	Study type	Specimen(s)	change	Results	Ref.
miR-126	Cross-sectional study ^a (50 patients with proliferative DR and 30 controls with	Vitreous humor and blood plasma	Upregulated	Expression of miR-126 was inversely correlated with	(Liu et al. 2019)
	idiopathic macular hole)			angiogenic factors (i.e., VEGF).	
				Upregulation of circulating miP_176 was found in	
				proliferative DR patients	
				relative to nondiabetic controls	
miR-21	Preclinical study (diabetic db/db mouse)	Mouse retina	Upregulated	In the <i>db/db</i> mouse model of	(Chen
				diabetes, retinal upregulation of	et al.
				miR-21 related with reduced	2017a)
				levels of PPARα, probably due	
				to protein translation-inhibitory	
	Proce continual chidu ^a (65 diabatio	Dlood alocmo	I Inraculated	Girouloting mir 91 levels ware	(Tiona
		pinon piasilla	Opreguiated		
	patients without DR, 73 patients with			positively correlated with DK	et al. 2017)
	noupronnet auve DA, 31 partents with proliferative DR 115 normoglycemic			seventy and minuenced by olycemic indices	
	controls)				
miR-200b	Cross-sectional study ^b (30 patients with	Vitreous humor	Upregulated	Both miR-200b and VEGF	(Gomaa
	proliferative DR and 29 controls with			levels were increased in the	et al. 2017)
	idiopathic macular hole)			vitreous humor of patients with	
				proliferative DR, but without	
				significant correlation between	
				them. miR-200b may be	
				involved in the pathogenesis of	
				proliferative DR through	
				VEGF-independent	
				mechanisms	

 Table 1
 Selection of studies addressing the role and applications of circulating miRNAs in DR

(continued)

Table 1 (continu	ued)				
Extracellular miRNA	Study type	Specimen(s)	DR-related expression change	Results	Ref.
miR-93	Cross-sectional study ^a (75 patients with DR, 65 diabetic patients without DR, 127 normoglycemic controls)	Blood plasma	Upregulated	Upregulation of mir-93 related with the presence of DR, as well as with a longer duration of diabetes, glycemic indices, and circulating inflammatory markers (i.e., TNF-0, VEGF)	(Zou et al. 2017)
miR-146a	Preclinical study (transgenic mouse)	Mouse retina	Downregulated	miR-146a was downregulated in retinal tissue of diabetic wild- type mice, causing the production of inflammatory cytokines and extracellular matrix proteins. Overexpression of mir-146a in in vitro cultured endothelial cells and in diabetic transgenic mice prevented glucose- induced injury and inflammation	(Chen et al. 2017b)
miR-25-3p miR-320b	Cross-sectional study ^a (20 patients with DR, 10 diabetic patients without DR, 10 normoglycemic controls)	Blood plasma	Upregulated	Higher levels of circulating miR-25-3p and miR-320b related with DR and DR severity. A possible biological relevance of these miRNAs in metabolic processes and endothelial cell proliferation was suggested by bioinformatic gene ontology analysis	(Santovito et al. 2021)

miR-495-3p	Cross-sectional study ^a (20 patients with DR, 10 diabetic patients without DR, 10 normoglycemic controls)	Blood plasma	Downregulated	Lower levels of circulating miR-495-3p related with DR and DR severity. A possible biological relevance of this miRNA in metabolic processes and endothelial cell proliferation was suggested by bioinformatic gene ontology analvsis	(Santovito et al. 2021)
Let-7b, miR-320b, mir-762, and miR-4488	Cross-sectional study ^b (16 patients with DR, 10 controls with idiopathic macular holes or other non-diabetes related retinopathies)	Aqueous humor, vitreous humor, and blood plasma	Upregulated or downregulated depending on the bodily fluid type	DR related with altered expression of circulating let-7b, miR-320b, miR-762, and miR-4488. Each of these miRNAs could be either upregulated or downregulated in a unique manner, depending on the kind of body fluid	(Smit- McBride et al. 2020)
miR-211	Cross-sectional study (40 patients with DR, 40 diabetic patients without DR, 40 normoglycemic controls)	Blood serum	Upregulated	Among several differentially expressed circulating miRNAs, upregulation of miR-211 specifically related with DR	(Liu et al. 2018)
	Preclinical study (diabetic rats)	Rat retina	Upregulated	Upregulation of miR-211 related with vessel proliferation and reduced levels of SIRT1 proteins in retinal tissue of diabetic, insulinopenic rats	(Liu et al. 2018)
					(continued)

Table 1 (contin	ued)				
Extracellular			DR-related expression		
miRNA	Study type	Specimen(s)	change	Results	Ref.
miR-1281	Two-step cross-sectional study ^a (miRNA profiling step: 5 male patients with nonproliferative DR and 5 matched diabetic patients without DR; individual validation step: 20 patients with nonproliferative DR; 30 diabetic patients without DR)	Blood serum	Upregulated	A mong several significantly upregulated circulating miRNAs in DR, miR-1281 emerged as the one being not influenced by other potential factors (i.e., gender, age, duration of diabetes). Extracellular release of miR-1281 by retinal epithelial cells, exposed to high glucose, stimulated the proliferation and migration of endothelial cells by interfering on the expression of VEGFA and activation of the HIF-1 α pathway	(Greco et al. 2020)
arran dictation	and the second of the second				

^aType 2 diabetes mellitus was the cause of DR; type 1 diabetes mellitus was the cause of DR ^bEnrollment criteria included both types of diabetes

M. Greco et al.

to light. miRNAs are known to be transcribed from genomic DNA sequences into primary transcripts termed "pri-miRNAs," which are then processed into precursor miRNAs (pre-miRNAs), and finally mature miRNAs (O'Brien et al. 2018). However, it is worth mentioning that the current model for miRNA biogenesis comprises both canonical and alternative routes. In the predominant canonical route, miRNAs are processed from parental pri-miRNA transcripts by a cleavage mechanism involving two members of the RNase III family of enzymes, Drosha and Dicer, with a specific subcellular location (nuclear and cytoplasm, respectively) (Okada et al. 2009). Within the nucleus, Drosha endonuclease, in association with the RNA-binding protein DGCR8, cleaves the pri-miRNA into pre-miRNA that is then exported by Exportin 5 to the cytoplasm, where it is cleaved further by Dicer endonuclease, in association with its RNA-binding partner, TRBP, giving rise to mature double-stranded miRNA duplexes with the length of ~20 nucleotide (Zhang et al. 2004). The small RNA duplex is loaded into an Argonaute (AGO) protein, which is a key factor in the nuclear assembly of the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC), and executes its effects by base-pairing with target mRNA. Maturation of RISC occurs following a process termed "strand selection" during which miRNA duplexes unwind and one of the two strands, the so-called guide strand, is incorporated in the mature RISC, whereas the other strand "passenger strand" of miRNA is usually degraded (O'Brien et al. 2018). Based on the direction of the starting filament, each RNA duplex can generate two miRNAs; the 5p strand originates from the 5' end of the pre-miRNA hairpin, whereas the 3p strand is generated from the 3' end. In addition to this classical pathway, many non-canonical miRNA biogenesis pathways have been described which are independent from Drosha or Dicer (Bogerd et al. 2010). As an example of miRNAs originating from non-canonical biogenesis pathways, mirtrons are a type of non-canonical miRNAs that mature through alternative steps that bypass Drosha processing and cleavage (Ruby et al. 2007). In this case, the intermediate pre-miRNA – defined by the entire length of the intron sequence from which it has origin – is excised by splicing and subsequently linearized by a debranching enzyme. This processing pathway leads to the generation of small RNAs that can repress matched targets, and there is evidence that this function can be mediated at least in part via the RNA-induced silencing complex effector AGO1. Therefore, as already pointed out (Ameres and Zamore 2013), miRNAs of mirtron origin may well represent an alternate source of miRNAclass regulatory RNAs (Ameres and Zamore 2013).

Circulating miRNAs

The first evidence for the presence of miRNAs in the extracellular environment was provided in 2008 (Mitchell et al. 2008). After this initial discovery, circulating miRNA molecules were detected in multiple biological fluids, including blood plasma and serum (Chen et al. 2008; Arroyo et al. 2011), cerebrospinal fluid (Cogswell et al. 2008), saliva (Gallo et al. 2012), breast milk (Zhou et al. 2012), and urine, and proved to show specific (in spatial and/or temporal terms) expression

signatures in response to both physiological and pathological stimuli (Weber et al. 2010). Soon it became clear that extracellular miRNAs have hormone-like behaviors, thereby modulating the activity of target recipient cells in either autocrine, paracrine, or endocrine manners (Iftikhar and Carney 2016). A large part of extracellular miRNAs are secreted in the extracellular fluid and transported to target cells within microvesicles, such as exosomes and apoptotic bodies (Gallo et al. 2012), or via binding proteins, including AGO2 protein (Arroyo et al. 2011) and high- and low-density lipoproteins (Vickers et al. 2011). It is now widely accepted that both membrane-enclosed microvesicles and miRNA-protein complexes ensure miRNA resistance to the action of extracellular ribonucleases, thus preventing them from premature degradation and shortened lifespan. Apoptotic bodies are the largest type of microparticles (0.5-2 µm) vehiculating miRNAs, which derive from cells undergoing apoptotic death (Thum and Condorelli 2015). The mechanism(s) for the uptake of miRNAs encapsulated in extracellular vesicles or conjugated to protein complexes by recipient cells are not completely clear, but several possibilities have been proposed including endocytosis, micropinocytosis, phagocytosis, or direct fusion of microparticles with plasma membranes. Also, some miRNAs can even interact with cell surface receptors on the recipient cells (Xu et al. 2013), thus acting with a hormone-like mechanism. Altogether these findings suggest that circulating miRNAs might play an important role as mediators of intercellular communications and may regulate critical mRNA targets and gene programs even in cells distantly located from their site of production (Rayner and Hennessy 2013). Owing to the high stability of miRNAs in mammalian biological fluids, and their efficient recovery and analysis by quantitative real-time PCR (gRT-PCR) and microarray platforms, the potential of circulating miRNAs as biomarkers for both diabetes monitoring and early identification of diabetes-related microvascular complications, including DR, has aroused great interest among researchers and clinicians working in this field.

Circulating miRNAs and Diabetes

Chronic sustained hyperglycemia in diabetes mellitus plays a major role in blood vessel injury and inflammation, as it may increase the production of advanced glycation end products (AGEs) (Brownlee et al. 1988), the activation of protein kinase C (PKC) and polyol pathways, and the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Sima 2003), along with abnormal activation of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS) (Gilbert et al. 2003). Extracellular miRNAs may not only contribute to a more accurate assessment of the metabolic profile in diabetes mellitus but may also participate to physiological processes in tissues or organs, such as the blood vessels, brain, kidney, and heart, that are negatively affected by chronically elevated blood glucose. Also, some miRNAs appear to be specific for certain selected forms of diabetes and are involved in the regulation of pancreatic beta-cell insulin production and secretion (Karolina et al. 2011; Poy et al. 2004; Tang et al. 2009), as well as in glucose utilization by the insulin-sensitive tissues skeletal muscle, liver, and adipose tissue (Chiefari et al. 2021).

The potential application of miRNAs in diabetes mellitus is strengthened by numerous recent studies, including the report by Chen et al. (Chen et al. 2008), demonstrating that circulating miRNAs with significantly different expression profiles were selected through the Illumina/Solexa sequencing method in patients with type 2 diabetes compared to normal glucose-tolerant subjects. After that, by using the microarray technology, Zampetaki et al. identified a characteristic signature of serum miRNAs (namely, miR-15a, miR-28-3p, miR-29b, miR-126, and miR-223), whose expression was downregulated in normoglycemic individuals who went on to develop type 2 diabetes over a 10-year period (Zampetaki et al. 2010). Likewise, in a subsequent study, the upregulation of seven miRNAs (namely, miR-9, miR-29a, miR-30d, miR-34a, miR-124a, miR-146a, and miR-375) was observed in patients with overt type 2 diabetes, when compared with subjects with prediabetes (Kong et al. 2011). Other studies in more recent years have focused on circulating miRNA profiling. However, it seems that the results obtained are not consistent. Certainly, what deserves a special attention in this research context is the fact that some circulating miRNAs are deregulated in individuals with impaired glucose tolerance, compared with people with normal glucose tolerance, even before the onset of overt type 2 diabetes, thus suggesting that variations in serum miRNAs may indeed reflect the progressive worsening of glycemic status. In particular, by comparing the plasma expression profiles of miRNAs between patients with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes and patients with prediabetes, Yan et al. provided evidence that miR-1249, miR-320b, and miR-572 may serve as novel potential biomarkers for the diagnosis of type 2 diabetes in its early presymptomatic stage (Yan et al. 2016). Among miRNAs that have been reported to have a role in the pathogenesis of diabetes and its complications, miR-126-3p is the most well documented. miR-126 has been classified as an angiogenic miRNA or "angiomiR" because of its involvement in vascular regeneration and mobilization of hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells. This is one of the first miRNAs whose plasma levels have been found to be significantly reduced both in patients with type 2 diabetes and in patients at high risk of type 2 diabetes, suggesting miR-126 as a potential biomarker to predict type 2 diabetes in susceptible individuals (Zhang et al. 2015).

Circulating miRNAs and DR

As a leading cause of vision loss among working-age adults, DR is often the first microvascular complication of diabetes. It is also well known that patients diagnosed with DR may face an increased risk of other micro- and macrovascular complications of diabetes, when compared to subjects without DR, and, thus, the decline in life quality and expectancy can be expected to be fairly rapid in these individuals (Kramer et al. 2011). The pathogenesis of DR involves a variety of complex mechanisms related to inflammation, oxidative stress, and aberrant angiogenesis. Although limited, there is evidence that miRNAs may play a fundamental role during the early stages of DR, including endothelial cell injury, vascular leakage, vessel growth, and oxidative stress response of retinal cells to glucose stimuli. Most

of the studies addressing specific miRNAs and their role in DR are in vitro studies, which refer to retinal tissues from animal models or to endothelial cells exposed to high glucose conditions to mimic a diabetic environment (Mortuza et al. 2014; Yan et al. 2015; McArthur et al. 2011). Up to now, only a few studies have analyzed DR-related miRNAs in human specimens, particularly from patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus. In a groundbreaking clinical research study published in 2016, a panel of 29 candidate serum miRNAs, previously defined as diabetes-related, was tested in 2 independent cohorts of matched patients with type 1 diabetes, with and without nonproliferative DR at baseline. Two angiogenic miRNAs, miR-27b and miR-320a, were identified as potential biomarkers for new-onset DR and progression of DR (Zampetaki et al. 2016). It is worth emphasizing, however, that dysregulated miRNAs associated with DR do circulate not only in blood but also in the vitreous and aqueous humor of the eye (Ragusa et al. 2013). Among miRNAs mediating oxidative stress-related tissue damage in DR. miR-7, miR-15a, miR-27b. miR-100, miR-145, miR-195, miR-200b, miR-365, miR-383, and miR-455-5p were identified as the most relevant (Li et al. 2020). In particular, Garcia-Morales et al. have shown that experimental exposure to hypoxic environment increased the expression of miR-7 in human umbilical vein endothelial cells and mouse retina, leading to vascular hyperpermeability (Garcia-Morales et al. 2017). In line with this, as demonstrated by multiple authors, including our own group, hypoxia can increase oxidative stress and damage endothelial intercellular adhesion by affecting key signaling pathways that are activated in response to hypoxia-inducible factors (HIFs) and/or non-coding RNAs (i.e., protein kinase A, PKA, pathway, and exchange protein directly activated by cAMP, EPAC, pathway) (Garcia-Morales et al. 2017; Arcidiacono et al. 2017; Messineo et al. 2016).

In 2019, by using a high-throughput RNA-Seq analysis, Li et al. evidenced that miR-4448, miR-338-3p, miR-190a-5p, miR-485-5p, and miR-9-5p were differentially expressed in serum from nonproliferative DR patients and type 2 diabetic patients without DR (Li et al. 2019). However, the limited sample size and failure of patient matching on some clinical variables (i.e., age and gender) may have affected, at least in part, the lack of research reproducibility in these studies. So far, no circulating miRNA has been unequivocally linked to DR, so that we are still far from a consensus on the extent to which miRNA signatures may serve as predictors of diabetic complications. The heterogeneity of methodologies employed in these studies to detect circulating miRNAs and the different diagnostic criteria adopted for DR, along with variations in disease severity at the time of ophthalmological examination, may explain at least part of this lack of agreement.

miR-1281 as a Novel Circulating Biomarker in Patients with DR

In 2020, by adopting a two-step cross-sectional study design, complemented by in vitro experiments, we developed an original research approach aimed at identifying circulating miRNAs differentially expressed in patients with type 2 diabetes, with and without DR, and at evaluating their predictive and pathogenic role for this

diabetic complication (Greco et al. 2020). In the first part of the cross-sectional study, fasting serum samples from ten randomly selected matched male patients with type 2 diabetes, either with or without nonproliferative DR (in the absence of other diabetic microvascular complications), were pooled and used for miRNA profiling. As differences in miRNA expression have been reported between the sexes, female patients were excluded to avoid the influence of sex steroid hormones, such as estrogens, on miRNAs (Sharma and Eghbali 2014). miRNAs were recovered from the aqueous phase of pooled sera by using a commercial silica-based column system (miRNeasy – Qiagen) and spiking in an exogenous, synthetic miRNA mimic (Caenorhabditis elegans miR-39) to allow for normalization and estimation of miRNA extraction and reverse transcription efficiency. By adopting an arbitrary threshold of at least twofold changes, we observed that, out of 372 potentially detectable miRNA on a pre-designed miRNA array (i.e., miScript miRNA PCR Array Human Serum & Plasma 384HC - Qiagen), 40 were significantly upregulated, and 3 were downregulated in pooled sera of DR patients with respect to non-DR patients. In an attempt to perform a more stringent selection of circulating miRNAs predictive of DR, only the ones showing at least fivefold changes were chosen for the second part of the study. In this further step, individual validation of the most relevant miRNAs was conducted by qRT-PCR in all study participants from an extended cohort of unrelated type 2 diabetic patients with nonproliferative DR (n = 20) and new age- and BMI-matched controls (n = 30). In this group of clinically well-characterized diabetic patients, the overexpression of five circulating miRNAs was found significantly correlated with early DR, and, among them, miR-1281 was identified as the best predictor of DR, as shown by multiple linear regression analysis and receiver operating characteristic (ROC) analysis. Thus, we focused our attention on this specific miRNA and performed extensive in vitro studies in which human retinal pigment epithelial cells (ARPE-19) and human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) were exposed to standard (5 mM) or high (25 mM) glucose concentration and cell migration ability and VEGFA expression were measured after a 48-h incubation period. In both cell models, exposure to a condition of hyperglycemia, as the one mimicked by the addition of 25 mM glucose to the media, was able to increase the intracellular levels of miR-1281. Nonetheless, retinal and endothelial cells considerably differed in their behavior and responsiveness to glucose changes, given that secreted levels of miR-1281 were upregulated in the supernatant of high glucose-treated ARPE-19 cells, but not of HUVEC cells. In both cell lines, exposure to high glucose resulted in the upregulation of VEGFA mRNA and protein expression compared with low glucose-treated cells, thus suggesting that a link may indeed exist between diabetes-induced dysfunction of the retinal epithelial tissue, enhanced extracellular release of miR-1281, and hyperexpression of VEGFA, a mitogen which plays a role in DR, by inducing vascular permeability and neovascularization of retinal vessels. To investigate the plausibility of this pathogenetic hypothesis, we examined the effect of increasing amounts (0-250 µL) of conditioned medium enriched in ARPE-19-secreted miR-1281 on VEGFA expression in HUVEC endothelial cells. After 48 h of treatment under these conditions, we observed that VEGFA mRNA and protein expression increased in

HUVEC cells in a dose-dependent manner. Similar results were obtained by treating HUVEC cells with miR-1281 mimic (150 ng for 48 h), thereby consistently supporting the hypothesis that early vascular damage in patients with DR is mediated, at least in part, by the overexpression of miR-1281 and its involvement in the upregulation of VEGFA.

Next, to test whether the VEGFA gene promoter could be under the control of miR-1281, HUVEC cells were transiently co-transfected with the luciferase (Luc) reporter plasmid, VEGF 2.6-Luc, together with miR-1281 mimic. In these dual-luciferase assays, treatment of human endothelial cells with miR-1281 mimic was proven to induce a significant increase in VEGFA promoter-driven Luc activity, which was paralleled by an increase in VEGFA protein abundance, thereby indicating that miR-1281 activates VEGFA gene transcription.

How miR-1281 can orchestrate this complex scenario is not clear, and more investigation is needed before firm conclusion can be drawn. The TargetScan bioinformatic prediction algorithm revealed that miR-1281 could potentially target 3' UTR sequences of the hypoxia-inducible factor-1 α inhibitor (HIF1AN), thereby accelerating its mRNA decay. The accumulation of HIF-1a due to miR-1281induced degradation of HIF1AN would increase HIF-1 α (a master regulator of hypoxia) and enhance the transcription of hypoxia-responsive genes, including VEGFA. Furthermore, assessment of cell migration by wound healing assays of HUVEC cell monolayer revealed that directional cell migration was increased in miR-128-treated cells, in which wound closure was enhanced relative to untreated control cells, thus supporting the postulated role of miR-1281 in promoting retinal endothelial dysfunction, which results in the development of DR (Fig. 1). Whether miR-1281 has a functional role in glucose-induced retinal damage by VEGFA via HIF-1 α is yet to be proved. However, if our interpretation is correct, this would mean that miR-1281 is a novel pathogenetic biomarker of retinal microangiopathic damage in patients with diabetes, which may help in explaining how chronic hyperglycemia could abnormally induce VEGFA expression in retinal cells. It also has to be considered that, in addition to VEGFA, other downstream targets of HIF-1 α , which are involved in the directional migration of retinal endothelial cells, such as adhesion molecules, might be involved as well (Olson et al. 1997). Whether the expression of these molecules can be affected by miR-1281 is an interesting issue that could be addressed in the future.

Conclusions

DR is a highly invalidating disease that is associated with enormous social and health burdens. The identification of novel noninvasive circulating biomarkers of DR, such as miR-1281, could potentially allow early diagnosis of this microvascular complication of diabetes mellitus and support programs of personalized surveillance in at-risk patients. Furthermore, the evidence for a pathogenetic role of miR-1281 would also sustain its potential as a target for future therapeutic strategies (i.e., the use of antagomirs). However, more investigation is needed to better characterize the



Fig. 1 Diabetic retinopathy and miR-1281. (a) Human eye structure with focus on the retina under normal conditions. (b) Retinal damage in response to the rise of blood glucose. (c) Postulated cross-talk between retinal epithelial and endothelial cells in DR: miR-1281 is released in the extracellular space by retinal epithelial cells exposed to hyperglycemia and binds to the 3' UTR sequence of the HIF1AN transcript in endothelial cells, leading to the upregulation of both HIF-1 α and VEGFA

molecular and functional relationship between miR-1281, HIF-1 α , and VEGFArelated angiogenic pathways, whereas studies with larger cohorts of patients are required to validate the role of miR-1281 in a clinical setting. Finally, in order to improve research reproducibility and definitively establish circulating miRNAs as clinically reliable disease biomarkers, it becomes fundamental to standardize both sample collection and preparation procedures and the analytical methodologies in order to obtain comparable results.

Key Facts of miRNAs

- miRNAs are in control of production, processing, and/or degradation of target mRNAs and encoded proteins.
- Mechanistic functions of miRNAs can be assessed bioinformatically and/or in in vitro studies. A growing number of databases and algorithms (i.e., *TargetScan*) are available to predict miRNA-binding sites on protein-coding genes and their associated networks. Experimental validation of these putative miRNA-mRNA interactions is mandatory.

- miRNAs can be secreted in the extracellular fluid and transported to target cells within microvesicles or through binding proteins. Some miRNAs can even interact with cell surface receptors, thereby emerging as novel cellular messengers in endocrinology.
- Circulating miRNAs show high stability in biological fluids; therefore, they can be seen as potential biomarkers for type 2 diabetes and related diseases.
- Dysregulated miRNAs have a role in the pathophysiology of diabetes and diabetic microvascular complications. Their modulation may represent a novel therapeutic target.

Summary Points

- Patients with DR display an increased risk of morbidity and mortality from cardiovascular diseases and other diabetic microvascular complications.
- Extracellular miRNAs in blood plasma, serum, and ocular fluids from patients with DR may represent novel noninvasive biomarkers for the early identification and monitoring of this condition.
- Certain extracellular miRNAs involved in the pathogenesis of DR and other diabetic microvascular complications could induce vascular damage by modulating VEGFA expression and are thus termed "angiomiRs."
- Recent in vitro studies show that miR-1281 is released in the extracellular space by retinal cells in response to hyperglycemia and affects endothelial cell migration by regulating the HIF-1α/VEGFA signaling pathway.
- Elevated levels of miR-1281 in blood plasma appear to be specifically associated with DR in patients with type 2 diabetes.

References

- Ameres SL, Zamore PD. Diversifying microRNA sequence and function. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2013;14(8):475–88.
- Arcidiacono B, Chiefari E, Laria AE, Messineo S, Bilotta FL, Britti D, Foti DP, Foryst-Ludwig A, Kintscher U, Brunetti A. Expression of matrix metalloproteinase-11 is increased under conditions of insulin resistance. World J Diabetes. 2017;8(9):422–8.
- Arcidiacono B, Chiefari E, Foryst-Ludwig A, Currò G, Navarra G, Brunetti FS, Mirabelli M, Corigliano DM, Kintscher U, Britti D, Mollace V, Foti DP, Goldfine ID, Brunetti A. Obesity-related hypoxia via miR-128 decreases insulin-receptor expression in human and mouse adipose tissue promoting systemic insulin resistance. EBioMedicine. 2020;59:102912.
- Ardekani AM, Naeini MM. The role of MicroRNAs in human diseases. Avicenna J Med Biotechnol. 2010;2(4):161–79.
- Arroyo JD, Chevillet JR, Kroh EM, Ruf IK, Pritchard CC, Gibson DF, Mitchell PS, Bennett CF, Pogosova-Agadjanyan EL, Stirewalt DL, Tait JF, Tewari M. Argonaute2 complexes carry a population of circulating microRNAs independent of vesicles in human plasma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108(12):5003–8.
- Bartel DP. MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. Cell. 2004;116(2):281-97.

- Bogerd HP, Karnowski HW, Cai X, Shin J, Pohlers M, Cullen BR. A mammalian herpesvirus uses noncanonical expression and processing mechanisms to generate viral MicroRNAs. Mol Cell. 2010;37(1):135–42.
- Broughton JP, Lovci MT, Huang JL, Yeo GW, Pasquinelli AE. Pairing beyond the seed supports MicroRNA targeting specificity. Mol Cell. 2016;64(2):320–33.
- Brownlee M, Cerami A, Vlassara H. Advanced glycosylation end products in tissue and the biochemical basis of diabetic complications. N Engl J Med. 1988;318(20):1315–21.
- Chen JF, Mandel EM, Thomson JM, Wu Q, Callis TE, Hammond SM, Conlon FL, Wang DZ. The role of microRNA-1 and microRNA-133 in skeletal muscle proliferation and differentiation. Nat Genet. 2006;38(2):228–33.
- Chen X, Ba Y, Ma L, Cai X, Yin Y, Wang K, Guo J, Zhang Y, Chen J, Guo X, Li Q, Li X, Wang W, Zhang Y, Wang J, Jiang X, Xiang Y, Xu C, Zheng P, Zhang J, ... Zhang CY (2008) Characterization of microRNAs in serum: a novel class of biomarkers for diagnosis of cancer and other diseases. Cell Res, 18(10): 997–1006.
- Chen Q, Qiu F, Zhou K, Matlock HG, Takahashi Y, Rajala R, Yang Y, Moran E, Ma JX. Pathogenic role of microRNA-21 in diabetic retinopathy through downregulation of PPARα. Diabetes. 2017a;66(6):1671–82.
- Chen S, Feng B, Thomas AA, Chakrabarti S. miR-146a regulates glucose induced upregulation of inflammatory cytokines extracellular matrix proteins in the retina and kidney in diabetes. PLoS One. 2017b;12(3):e0173918.
- Cheng AM, Byrom MW, Shelton J, Ford LP. Antisense inhibition of human miRNAs and indications for an involvement of miRNA in cell growth and apoptosis. Nucleic Acids Res. 2005;33 (4):1290–7.
- Chiefari E, Ventura V, Capula C, Randazzo G, Scorcia V, Fedele M, Arcidiacono B, Nevolo MT, Bilotta FL, Vitiello M, Palmieri C, Gulletta E, Fusco A, Foti D, Vero R, Brunetti A. A polymorphism of HMGA1 protects against proliferative diabetic retinopathy by impairing HMGA1-induced VEGFA expression. Sci Rep. 2016;6:39429.
- Chiefari E, Mirabelli M, La Vignera S, Tanyolaç S, Foti DP, Aversa A, Brunetti A. Insulin resistance and cancer: in search for a causal link. Int J Mol Sci. 2021;22(20):11137.
- Cogswell JP, Ward J, Taylor IA, Waters M, Shi Y, Cannon B, Kelnar K, Kemppainen J, Brown D, Chen C, Prinjha RK, Richardson JC, Saunders AM, Roses AD, Richards CA. Identification of miRNA changes in Alzheimer's disease brain and CSF yields putative biomarkers and insights into disease pathways. J Alzheimers Dis. 2008;14(1):27–41.
- Cortez MA, Bueso-Ramos C, Ferdin J, Lopez-Berestein G, Sood AK, Calin GA. MicroRNAs in body fluids – the mix of hormones and biomarkers. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2011;8(8):467–77.
- El-Asrar AM, Al-Rubeaan KA, Al-Amro SA, Moharram OA, Kangave D. Retinopathy as a predictor of other diabetic complications. Int Ophthalmol. 2001;24(1):1–11.
- Gallo A, Tandon M, Alevizos I, Illei GG. The majority of microRNAs detectable in serum and saliva is concentrated in exosomes. PLoS One. 2012;7(3):e30679.
- Garcia-Morales V, Friedrich J, Jorna LM, Campos-Toimil M, Hammes HP, Schmidt M, Krenning G. The microRNA-7-mediated reduction in EPAC-1 contributes to vascular endothelial permeability and eNOS uncoupling in murine experimental retinopathy. Acta Diabetol. 2017;54(6):581–91.
- Gilbert RE, Krum H, Wilkinson-Berka J, Kelly DJ. The renin-angiotensin system and the long-term complications of diabetes: pathophysiological and therapeutic considerations. Diabet Med. 2003;20(8):607–21.
- Gomaa AR, Elsayed ET, Moftah RF. MicroRNA-200b expression in the vitreous humor of patients with proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Ophthalmic Res. 2017;58(3):168–75.
- Gong Q, Su G. Roles of miRNAs and long noncoding RNAs in the progression of diabetic retinopathy. Biosci Rep. 2017;37(6):BSR20171157.
- Greco M, Chiefari E, Accattato F, Corigliano DM, Arcidiacono B, Mirabelli M, Liguori R, Brunetti FS, Pullano SA, Scorcia V, Fiorillo AS, Foti DP, Brunetti A. MicroRNA-1281 as a novel circulating biomarker in patients with diabetic retinopathy. Front Endocrinol. 2020;11:528.
- Iftikhar H, Carney GE. Evidence and potential in vivo functions for biofluid miRNAs: from expression profiling to functional testing: potential roles of extracellular miRNAs as indicators

of physiological change and as agents of intercellular information exchange. BioEssays. 2016;38:367–78. https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.201500130.

Inukai S, Slack F. MicroRNAs and the genetic network in aging. J Mol Biol. 2013;425(19):3601-8.

- Jiang Q, Lyu XM, Yuan Y, Wang L. Plasma miR-21 expression: an indicator for the severity of Type 2 diabetes with diabetic retinopathy. Biosci Rep. 2017;37(2):BSR20160589.
- Johnston RJ, Hobert O. A microRNA controlling left/right neuronal asymmetry in Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature. 2003;426(6968):845–9.
- Karolina DS, Armugam A, Tavintharan S, Wong MT, Lim SC, Sum CF, Jeyaseelan K. MicroRNA 144 impairs insulin signaling by inhibiting the expression of insulin receptor substrate 1 in type 2 diabetes mellitus. PLoS One. 2011;6(8):e22839.
- Kong L, Zhu J, Han W, Jiang X, Xu M, Zhao Y, Dong Q, Pang Z, Guan Q, Gao L, Zhao J, Zhao L. Significance of serum microRNAs in pre-diabetes and newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes: a clinical study. Acta Diabetol. 2011;48(1):61–9.
- Kramer CK, Rodrigues TC, Canani LH, Gross JL, Azevedo MJ. Diabetic retinopathy predicts all-cause mortality and cardiovascular events in both type 1 and 2 diabetes: meta-analysis of observational studies. Diabetes Care. 2011;34:1238–44.
- Lee RC, Feinbaum RL, Ambros V. The C. elegans heterochronic gene lin-4 encodes small RNAs with antisense complementarity to lin-14. Cell. 1993;75(5):843–54.
- Li Z, Dong Y, He C, Pan X, Liu D, Yang J, Sun L, Chen P, Wang Q. RNA-Seq revealed novel non-proliferative retinopathy specific circulating MiRNAs in T2DM patients. Front Genet. 2019;10:531.
- Li X, Zi-Wei Y, Wang Y, Yu-Hong F, Gao X-Y. MicroRNAs: potential targets in diabetic retinopathy. Horm Metab Res. 2020;52:142–8.
- Liu HN, Cao NJ, Li X, Qian W, Chen XL. Serum microRNA-211 as a biomarker for diabetic retinopathy via modulating Sirtuin 1. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2018;505(4):1236–43.
- Liu R, Liu CM, Cui LL, Zhou L, Li N, Wei XD. Expression and significance of MiR-126 and VEGF in proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2019;23(15):6387–93.
- Makarova JA, Shkurnikov MU, Wicklein D, Lange T, Samatov TR, Turchinovich AA, Tonevitsky AG. Intracellular and extracellular microRNA: An update on localization and biological role. Prog Histochem Cytochem. 2016;51(3–4):33–49.
- Marzi MJ, Montani F, Carletti RM, Dezi F, Dama E, Bonizzi G, Sandri MT, Rampinelli C, Bellomi M, Maisonneuve P, Spaggiari L, Veronesi G, Bianchi F, Di Fiore PP, Nicassio F. Optimization and standardization of circulating MicroRNA detection for clinical application: the miR-test case. Clin Chem. 2016;62(5):743–54.
- McArthur K, Feng B, Wu Y, Chen S, Chakrabarti S. MicroRNA-200b regulates vascular endothelial growth factor-mediated alterations in diabetic retinopathy. Diabetes. 2011;60:1314–23.
- Messineo S, Laria AE, Arcidiacono B, Chiefari E, Luque Huertas RM, Foti DP, Brunetti A. Cooperation between HMGA1 and HIF-1 contributes to hypoxia-induced VEGF and Visfatin gene expression in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Front Endocrinol. 2016;7:73.
- Mirabelli M, Chiefari E, Caroleo P, Vero R, Brunetti FS, Corigliano DM, Arcidiacono B, Foti DP, Puccio L, Brunetti A. Long-term effectiveness and safety of SGLT-2 inhibitors in an Italian cohort of patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Diabetes Res. 2019a;2019:3971060.
- Mirabelli M, Chiefari E, Caroleo P, Arcidiacono B, Corigliano DM, Giuliano S, Brunetti FS, Tanyolaç S, Foti DP, Puccio L, Brunetti A. Long-term effectiveness of Liraglutide for weight management and glycemic control in Type 2 diabetes. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2019b;17(1):207.
- Mirabelli M, Chiefari E, Tocci V, Caroleo P, Giuliano S, Greco E, Luque RM, Puccio L, Foti DP, Aversa A, Brunetti A. Clinical effectiveness and safety of once-weekly GLP-1 receptor agonist Dulaglutide as add-on to metformin or metformin plus insulin Secretagogues in obesity and Type 2. Diab J Clin Med. 2021a;10(5):985.
- Mirabelli M, Chiefari E, Tocci V, Greco E, Foti D, Brunetti A. Gestational diabetes: implications for fetal growth, intervention timing, and treatment options. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2021b;60:1–10.

- Mitchell PS, Parkin RK, Kroh EM, Fritz BR, Wyman SK, Pogosova-Agadjanyan EL, Peterson A, Noteboom J, O'Briant KC, Allen A, Lin DW, Urban N, Drescher CW, Knudsen BS, Stirewalt DL, Gentleman R, Vessella RL, Nelson PS, Martin DB, Tewari M. Circulating microRNAs as stable blood-based markers for cancer detection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105(30): 10513–8.
- Mortuza R, Feng B, Chakrabarti S. miR-195 regulates SIRT1-mediated changes in diabetic retinopathy. Diabetologia. 2014;57:1037–46.
- O'Brien J, Hayder H, Zayed Y, Peng C. Overview of MicroRNA biogenesis, mechanisms of actions, and circulation. Front Endocrinol. 2018;9:402.
- Okada C, Yamashita E, Lee SJ, Shibata S, Katahira J, Nakagawa A, Yoneda Y, Tsukihara T. A highresolution structure of the pre-microRNA nuclear export machinery. Science (New York, NY). 2009;326(5957):1275–9.
- Olson JA, Whitelaw CM, McHardy KC, Pearson DW, Forrester JV. Soluble leucocyte adhesion molecules in diabetic retinopathy stimulate retinal capillary endothelial cell migration. Diabetologia. 1997;40:1166–71.
- Palella E, Cimino R, Pullano SA, Fiorillo AS, Gulletta E, Brunetti A, Foti DP, Greco M. Laboratory parameters of hemostasis, adhesion molecules, and inflammation in Type 2 diabetes mellitus: correlation with glycemic control. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020;17(1):300.
- Poy MN, Eliasson L, Krutzfeldt J, Kuwajima S, Ma X, Macdonald PE, Pfeffer S, Tuschl T, Rajewsky N, Rorsman P, Stoffel M. A pancreatic islet-specific microRNA regulates insulin secretion. Nature. 2004;432:226–30.
- Ragusa M, Caltabiano R, Russo A, Puzzo L, Avitabile T, Longo A, Toro MD, Di Pietro C, Purrello M, Reibaldi M. MicroRNAs in vitreous humor from patients with ocular diseases. Mol Vis. 2013;19:430–40.
- Rayner KJ, Hennessy EJ. Extracellular communication via microRNA: lipid particles have a new message. J Lipid Res. 2013;54(5):1174–81.
- Ruby JG, Jan CH, Bartel DP. Intronic microRNA precursors that bypass Drosha processing. Nature. 2007;448(7149):83–6.
- Santovito D, Toto L, De Nardis V, Marcantonio P, D'Aloisio R, Mastropasqua A, De Cesare D, Bucci M, Paganelli C, Natarelli L, Weber C, Consoli A, Mastropasqua R, Cipollone F. Plasma microRNA signature associated with retinopathy in patients with type 2 diabetes. Sci Rep. 2021;11(1):4136.
- Sharma S, Eghbali M. Influence of sex differences on microRNA gene regulation in disease. Biol Sex Differ. 2014;5(1):3.
- Shaw JE, Sicree RA, Zimmet PZ. Global estimates of the prevalence of diabetes for 2010 and 2030. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2010;87(1):4–14.
- Sima AA. New insights into the metabolic and molecular basis for diabetic neuropathy. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2003;60(11):2445–64.
- Smit-McBride Z, Nguyen AT, Yu AK, Modjtahedi SP, Hunter AA, Rashid S, Moisseiev E, Morse LS. Unique molecular signatures of microRNAs in ocular fluids and plasma in diabetic retinopathy. PLoS One. 2020;15(7):e0235541.
- Tang X, Muniappan L, Tang G, Ozcan S. Identification of glucose-regulated miRNAs from pancreatic beta cells reveals a role for miR-30d in insulin transcription. RNA. 2009;15:287–93.
- Thum T, Condorelli G. Long noncoding RNAs and microRNAs in cardiovascular pathophysiology. Circ Res. 2015;116(4):751–62.
- Vickers KC, Palmisano BT, Shoucri BM, Shamburek RD, Remaley AT. MicroRNAs are transported in plasma and delivered to recipient cells by high-density lipoproteins. Nat Cell Biol. 2011;13: 423–33.
- Weber JA, Baxter DH, Zhang S, Huang DY, Huang KH, Lee MJ, Galas DJ, Wang K. The microRNA spectrum in 12 body fluids. Clin Chem. 2010;56(11):1733–41.
- Xu J, Chen Q, Zen K, Zhang C, Zhang Q. Synaptosomes secrete and uptake functionally active microRNAs via exocytosis and endocytosis pathways. J Neurochem. 2013;124(1):15–25.

- Yan B, Yao J, Liu JY, Li XM, Wang XQ, Li YJ, Tao ZF, Song YC, Chen Q, Jiang Q. IncRNA-MIAT regulates microvascular dysfunction by functioning as a competing endogenous RNA. Circ Res. 2015;116(7):1143–56.
- Yan S, Wang T, Huang S, Di Y, Huang Y, Liu X, Luo Z, Han W, An B. Differential expression of microRNAs in plasma of patients with prediabetes and newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes. Acta Diabetol. 2016;53:1–10.
- Yau JW, Rogers SL, Kawasaki R, Lamoureux EL, Kowalski JW, Bek T, Chen SJ, Dekker JM, Fletcher A, Grauslund J, Haffner S, Hamman RF, Ikram MK, Kayama T, Klein BE, Klein R, Krishnaiah S, Mayurasakorn K, O'Hare J, Orchard TJ, ... Meta-Analysis for Eye Disease (META-EYE) Study Group (2012) Global prevalence and major risk factors of diabetic retinopathy. Diabetes Care, 35(3): 556–564.
- Zampetaki A, Kiechl S, Drozdov I, Willeit P, Mayr U, Prokopi M, Mayr A, Weger S, Oberhollenzer F, Bonora E, Shah A, Willeit J, Mayr M. Plasma microRNA profiling reveals loss of endothelial miR-126 and other microRNAs in type 2 diabetes. Circ Res. 2010;107(6): 810–7.
- Zampetaki A, Willeit P, Burr S, Yin X, Langley SR, Kiechl S, Klein R, Rossing P, Chaturvedi N, Mayr M. Angiogenic microRNAs linked to incidence and progression of diabetic retinopathy in type 1 diabetes. Diabetes. 2016;65(1):216–27.
- Zhang H, Kolb FA, Jaskiewicz L, Westhof E, Filipowicz W. Single processing center models for human Dicer and bacterial RNase III. Cell. 2004;118(1):57–68.
- Zhang T, Li L, Shang Q, Lv C, Wang C, Su B. Circulating miR-126 is a potential biomarker to predict the onset of type 2 diabetes mellitus in susceptible individuals. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2015;463:60–3.
- Zhang Y, Sun X, Icli B, Feinberg MW. Emerging roles for MicroRNAs in diabetic microvascular disease: novel targets for therapy. Endocr Rev. 2017;38(2):145–68.
- Zhao Y, Samal E, Srivastava D. Serum response factor regulates a muscle-specific microRNA that targets Hand2 during cardiogenesis. Nature. 2005;436(7048):214–20.
- Zhou Q, Li M, Wang X, Li Q, Wang T, Zhu Q, Zhou X, Wang X, Gao X, Li X. Immune-related microRNAs are abundant in breast milk exosomes. Int J Biol Sci. 2012;8(1):118–23.
- Zou HL, Wang Y, Gang Q, Zhang Y, Sun Y (2017) Plasma level of miR-93 is associated with higher risk to develop type 2 diabetic retinopathy. Graefe's archive for clinical and experimental ophthalmology = Albrecht von Graefe's Archiv fur klinische und experimentelle Ophthalmologie, 255(6): 1159–1166.



Genomic Ancestry as Biomarkers

Links with Diabetic Retinopathy

Deborah Conte Santos

Contents

Introduction	670
How to Determine Ethnicity?	672
How to Assess Genetic Ancestry?	672
Short Tandem Repeats (STRs)	673
SNPs	673
INDELs	673
AIMs	674
The Role of Ancestry in DR: What Do We Know so Far?	674
Conclusions	676
Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions	676
Mini-Dictionary of Terms	676
Key Facts of Genomic Ancestry as a Biomarker in Diabetic Retinopathy	677
Summary Points	677
References	677

Abstract

The influence of ethnicity on diabetic retinopathy has been studied for decades with controversial results. Different populations report different prevalence for diabetic retinopathy, demonstrating a possible correlation. With the advent of genetics, it has become clear that self-reported ethnicity does not correlate with genomic ancestry. The chapter goes on to discuss research in genomic ancestry (and ethnicity) and diabetic retinopathy.

Diabetes Unit, Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brasil

D. C. Santos (\boxtimes)

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), Biomarkers in Diabetes, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications,

Keywords

Genomic ancestry · Ethnicity · SNPs · INDELs · AIMs · Type 1 diabetes · Type 2 diabetes · Microvascular complications · Diabetic retinopathy · Eye · Retina · Biomarker · Genetics

Abbreviati	ions
ACE	Angiotensin-converting enzyme
AIMs	Ancestry informative markers
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DR	Diabetic retinopathy
GWAS	Genome-wide association study
INDELs	Insert/deletion polymorphism
NOS 3	Endothelial nitric oxide synthase
NPDR	Nonproliferative diabetic retinopathy
RAGE	Advanced glycation end-product receptors
SNPs	Single nucleotide polymorphism
T1D	Type 1 diabetes
T2D	Type 2 diabetes
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

Introduction

Diabetic retinopathy (DR) is one of the most feared chronic complications in type 1 and type 2 diabetes due to its potential for vision impairment or permanent vision loss. Besides being a preventable cause, DR is one of the leading causes of blindness in the working-age population (Leasher et al. 2016; Steinmetz et al. 2021). The prevalence of DR varies among different areas of the globe and ethnicities (Zhang et al. 2010; Federation 2019). A recent meta-analysis showed the lowest prevalence in Asia (16.9%) and South/Central America (13.3%) and higher prevalence in Africa (35.9%), North America/Caribbean (33.3%), and the Middle East/North Africa (32.9%), as shown in Fig. 1 (Teo et al. 2021). Differences in prevalence can also be found within the country. In the USA, prevalence can vary from 36.5% to 77.6% in type 1 diabetes and from 28.5% to 40.3% in type 2 diabetes (Lee et al. 2015). In China, the Northwest region has the highest prevalence of DR among the diabetes population (19.4%), while the East shows the lowest (17.7%) (Song et al. 2018). Several factors can explain those differences, such as the diagnosis criteria, the capacity of screening, and differences in ethnicity.

Patients with type 1 diabetes are more likely to present DR than patients with type 2 diabetes (Barometer 2017; Federation 2019). The global estimated prevalence in type 1 diabetes patients is 25%, while type 2 patients show a prevalence of 16% (Barometer 2017). A recent study in a youth population of type 1 and type 2 diabetes patients in the USA showed that T1D individuals had a higher prevalence of DR than



Fig. 1 Prevalence of diabetic retinopathy in different countries. (Teo et al. 2021)

T2D (20,1% vs. 7,2%, respectively). In addition, patients with T1D developed DR sooner than T2D patients (Wang et al. 2017). In Europe, the difference between type 1 and type 2 prevalence of DR is also present (54.4% vs. 25%, respectively) (Li et al. 2020).

Several large studies in different populations have well-established classic risk factors for DR (Sjølie et al. 1997; Stratton et al. 2001; Zheng et al. 2012; Gerstein et al. 2013; Melo et al. 2018; Hainsworth et al. 2019). Hyperglycemia, hypertension, and diabetes duration are the highest risk factors for developing DR. Therefore, achieving sustained good glycemic and blood pressure control is essential to prevent DR in type 1 and type 2 diabetes. However, those factors account for only 10% of the risk of developing DR (Klein et al. 1998). In clinical practice, it is often observed that some patients with long diabetes and inadequate glycemic control do not present any DR, and some patients develop early DR despite reasonable glycemic control. Therefore, other factors (genetics or environmental) have to be considered when accessing the risk for DR.

Multiple genetic markers have been studied in the last decade, some with controversial results. These heterogenic results might be explained by differences in the diagnosis criteria of DR, the type of methodology used, and differences in the ethnic background of the studied populations. Regarding the kind of methodologies, the most used are linkage analysis, candidate gene study, GWAS (genome-wide association study), and WES (whole-exome sequencing). As for positive association results, polymorphisms of the genes associated with oxidative stress and inflammation are the most common, such as AKR1B1, VEGF, RAGE, NOS3, and ACE (Simó-Servat et al. 2013). Other studied genes showed low reproducibility and weak associations (Cabrera et al. 2020).

Hence, the study of genetic biomarkers should be associated with studying the background ethnicity of the populations. In this chapter, we will discuss the role of genomic ancestry as a biomarker of DR.

How to Determine Ethnicity?

The determination of ethnicity based on self-reported color/race comes with many biases and, at some point, can acquire negative connotations and prejudice. Several studies have demonstrated that skin color cannot predict an individual genetic ancestry (Bryc et al. 2015; Batai et al. 2021).

Although self-reported color/race has been primarily used to determine ethnicity, with the advent of genetic methodologies, it is clear that self-reported color/race does not correlate with ancestry, especially in highly admixed populations. Also, the imprecise use of ethnicity might lead to misclassifications and impaired communications of genomic research results (Bonham et al. 2018).

A recent study on 9138 subjects referred to carrier screening identified discrepancies between self-reported ethnicity and genetic ancestry. Only one-third of the participants that presented Mediterranean genomic ancestry self-reported this on requisition forms. The highest degree of ancestral admixture was present in patients who self-reported Latin American (Shraga et al. 2017).

A study analyzed individuals' STR-Y chromosome and mitochondrial DNA ancestry markers in 120 participants self-declared as White and 50 as Brown. The results show a significant presence of Caucasian ancestry in both groups with the STR-Y chromosome analysis, while the mitochondrial DNA showed similar proportions of the three principal ancestries (Caucasian, African, and Amerindian) (Ferreira et al. 2006). In another study that compared self-reported race and mitochondrial DNA, they found a significant presence of African ancestry (37.6%) in the self-reported White group (Cardena et al. 2013).

A large study in Brazil showed high degrees of genomic ancestry diversity with the great contribution of the European ancestry, followed by the African and a low percentage of Amerindian ancestry (Lima-Costa et al. 2015).

Another study in Brazil with type 1 diabetes patients showed that even the group self-declared Black had a median proportion of European ancestry of almost 40%. In the same study, only 6.3% of the patients had a European contribution higher than 95% (Gomes et al. 2018).

In addition, several factors could influence self-reported ethnicity, including access to work, social background, and social policies (Paschetta et al. 2021). Therefore, public health key decisions such as drug administration, therapy design, and clinical trials should not be based exclusively on self-reported ethnicity. A survey with Brazilian students showed that self-classification of race varied across short intervals, indicating how the environment could influence it and how imprecise it can be (Santos et al. 2009). Therefore, the study of genetic markers for DR should include genomic ancestry analysis to better report the results and provide more external validation to their findings.

How to Assess Genetic Ancestry?

Genomic ancestry can be assessed basically by three different methodologies: short tandem repeats (STRs), single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), and insertion-deletions (INDELs). The primary rationale presented by all methods is to estimate

the proportions of ancestry presented in the genome of the individuals, comparing them to an established reference population. Genomic ancestry can be used at an individual or population level and should account for population differences when reporting disease associations (Fujimura and Rajagopalan 2011). Nevertheless, genomic ancestry cannot be seen as a tool to determine an individual's ethnicity/ race as a discrete category. The concept of an individual's ethnicity/race relates to several other determinants (social identity, socioeconomic status, health) that should be considered (Bonham et al. 2018).

Short Tandem Repeats (STRs)

The study of ancestry with STRs can analyze either maternal (mitochondrial DNA, mtDNA) or paternal inheritance (Y chromosome). The non-recombining portion of the Y chromosome (NRY) is transmitted practically intact through the paternal strains but is present only in males (Jobling and Tyler-Smith 2003). Mitochondrial DNA can be found in both males and females. It provides information on the direct female ancestral line as the mitochondria come exclusively from the mothers, and the mtDNA stays intact in the mitochondria during meiosis. Therefore, the Y chromosome and mtDNA marker analysis can reveal the individual's single ancestral lines and establish an ancestral population's mating pattern (Kayser 2017).

SNPs

Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) represent a replacement in a nucleotide in DNA sequencing and are the most common type of genetic variation. It is estimated that an individual's genome has, on average, four to five million SNPs. Some SNPs are linked to a specific ancestry/ethnicity and are used as a reference to estimate the proportion of different ancestries of a given individual by comparing the genotypes found (Sampson et al. 2011).

The development of genotyping technologies led to an increase in genome-wide association study (GWAS) (Pereira et al. 2012). GWAS uses high-density genotyped data of millions of polymorphism markers, allowing not only estimates of ancestry but also several associated disease biomarkers. Although very informative, this method is very costly. Due to limited funding in several countries, as an alternative, there are validated small sets of SNPs to predict ancestry accurately (Sampson et al. 2011).

INDELs

Insertion-deletions (INDELs) represent length changes/mutations in a genomic sequence that could be used to identify a specific population in the context of population genetics. INDEL genotyping is simple, requiring a PCR followed by capillary electrophoresis, whereas SNPs need more specific sequencing methods (Pereira et al. 2012).

AIMs

Ancestry informative markers (AIMs) are genetic markers that present substantially different frequencies between different populations (Phillips et al. 2007). They could be a single polymorphism, INDELs, or STRs from the Y chromosome. A group of AIMs can identify the genomic ancestry of an individual. The result comes from comparing the individual AIMs and the characteristic AIMs from a reference population, generating a spectrum of proportions of ancestries using a statistical probability modeling approach (Pritchard et al. 2000; Qu et al. 2012). The result, for example, of an individual's ancestry might be described as 10% Native American, 50% European, and 40% African. AIMs are specially used in the population genetics field to assess admixed population structure (Pereira et al. 2012). They are less expensive than GWAS or other dense SNP genotyping and could easily be interpreted and analyzed, becoming an essential tool in disease association studies.

The Role of Ancestry in DR: What Do We Know so Far?

The study of ethnicity and ancestry as a risk factor for DR shows conflicting results (Sivaprasad et al. 2012a). DR prevalence and progression vary within different ethnical groups (Emanuele et al. 2009; Lee et al. 2015). The vast majority of the studies do not separate between the types of diabetes and use different DR diagnosis criteria. Moreover, few studies were performed in admixed populations, and ethnicity is based on self-reported information.

A summary of the studies published in the last years and the type of information used to define ethnicity/ancestry are shown in Table 1. Only three studies used genomic ancestry to assess ethnicity in evaluating DR risk factors (Gao et al. 2014; Tandon et al. 2015; Santos et al. 2020). Two of them were performed in type 2 diabetes patients from two different cohorts in the USA, and the AIM-SNP genotyping method was used. The first one, in 944 type 2 diabetes Latinos (135 with severe DR and 809 with moderate, mild, or no DR), showed that Native-American ancestry was associated with severe DR (proliferative or severe nonproliferative DR) (Gao et al. 2014). The other studied a group of 305 African-Americans with PDR and 1135 controls with nonproliferative DR or no DR. In this study, African genomic ancestry was associated with PDR only in the univariate analysis but not after controlling for sociodemographic factors (Tandon et al. 2015). The third study was conducted in 414 Brazilian type 1 diabetes patients divided into 176 with severe DR (PDR or severe nonproliferative) and 238 without DR matched by diabetes duration. Genomic ancestry was assessed by 46-AIMs/INDELs. They found a positive association between African genomic ancestry and severe DR even after adjusting for sociodemographic variables (Santos et al. 2020).

Several studies reported positive associations between self-reported ethnicity and DR. A study from a South African population showed that the prevalence of DR was higher in Blacks compared to Indians (55.6 vs. 45.5%, respectively) and that the Blacks presented the onset of DR earlier than Indians (13.0 + -4.6 years vs. 18.0 + -4.6 years,

	I			•		
	Type of				Ethnicity	
Reference	diabetes	Number of patients (N)	Country	Year	assessment	Results
Santos et al.	TDI	176 PDR or severe NPDR/	Brazil	2020	AIMs/	African genomic ancestry as a risk factor
(2020)		238 no DR			INDELS	
Gao et al. (2014)	TD2	135 PDR or severe NPDR / 809 other DRs or no DR	USA	2014	SNPs	Native-American ancestry as a risk factor
Tandon et al.	TD2	305 PDR/1135 other DRs	USA	2015	AIMs/	African ancestry as a risk for PDR, but no
(2015)		or no DR			SNPs	association after adjustments
Zhang et al.	TD1/	1006 diabetes patients	USA	2010	Self-	Non-Hispanic Blacks have higher prevalence of DR
(2010)	TD2				reported	than non-Hispanic Whites
Varma et al.	TD1/	1038 diabetes patients	USA	2015	Self-	Non-Hispanic Blacks have higher prevalence of
(2014)	TD2				reported	DME than non-Hispanic Whites
Raymond et al.	TD2	421 South Asians/614	UK	2009	Self-	South Asians have higher prevalence of DR than
(2009)		White Europeans			reported	White Europeans
Wong et al.	TD1/	778 diabetes patients	USA	2006	Self-	Blacks and Hispanics are more prone to any DR
(2006)	TD2				reported	than Whites, but no association after adjustments
Sivaprasad,	TD1/	50,285 diabetes patients	UK	2012	Self-	South Asians and Blacks are more likely to have
Gupta et al.	TD2				reported	visual impairments than Whites
(2012b)						
Tan et al. (2018)	T1D/	2877 diabetes patients	Singapore	2018	Self-	Indian ethnicity as a risk factor for any DR
	TD2				reported	(vs. Chinese)
Motala et al.	TD1/	219 diabetes patients	South Africa	2001	Self-	Higher prevalence and early onset of DR in Blacks
(2001)	TD2		(Durban)		reported	than Indians
Klein et al.	TID	200 diabetes patients	USA	1994	Self-	Higher prevalence of DR in Whites compared to
(1994)					reported	A frican-Americans
T1D, type 1 diabete.	s; TD2, type	e 2 diabetes; PDR, proliferative	diabetic retinopa	thy; NPI	DR, nonprolife	rative diabetic retinopathy; DR, diabetic retinopathy;
AIMs, ancestry info	mative man	kers; INDELs, insert/deletions; 3	SNPs, single nuc	leotide p	olymorphism;	DME, diabetes macular edema

P < 0.05) (Motala et al. 2001). Two studies from the USA demonstrated that non-Hispanic Blacks had a higher prevalence of DR and diabetic macular edema than Whites (Zhang et al. 2010; Varma et al. 2014). Another study on type 2 diabetes from the UK found that South Asians had a higher prevalence of DR than Whites (Raymond et al. 2009). In contrast, another study showed White ethnicity as a risk factor for the development and progression of DR compared to African-Americans (Klein et al. 1994).

Multi-ethnic cohorts including Whites, Blacks, South Asians, and Hispanics performed in the USA (Wong et al. 2006) and the UK (Sivaprasad, Gupta et al. 2012b) did not show an association between ethnicity and DR. Nevertheless, the UK cohort found that South Asians were more prone to visual impairment than Blacks. Moreover, the Singapore Epidemiology of Eye Diseases Study (Tan et al. 2018) demonstrated that Indians had a higher prevalence of DR than Chinese.

Conclusions

In conclusion, the study of DR biomarkers should consider the analysis of genomic ancestry to mitigate the lack of reproducibility found throughout the years. Moreover, genomic ancestry could be a risk factor per se. Future studies are needed to validate these findings and improve better screening for high-risk populations.

Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions

Genomic ancestry might be studied as an independent risk factor (biomarker) for other diabetic complications and diseases with a similar physiopathological base. Moreover, genomic ancestry applies to all genetic studies of several diseases and should be used to stratify the studied populations and improve the quality and homogeneity of reporting results.

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

- Self-reported ethnicity. A categorization of race is that the individual sees himself as belonging to a specific race group. Cultural, economic, and social aspects can influence it.
- Genomic ancestry. Uses genetic markers to infer the proportions of ancestry lineages of an individual.
- Statistical probability modeling approach. This term refers to a statistical analysis that calculates the genetic distances of an individual ancestry marker to a reference population, generating the proportions of genomic ancestries that belong to that individual or population.
- Mitochondrial DNA. The mitochondria present in the human cell cytoplasm come primarily from the maternal egg. Mitochondria have genetic material that

does not suffer a lot of mutation, being an important tool for genealogical research.

Key Facts of Genomic Ancestry as a Biomarker in Diabetic Retinopathy

- Ancestry informative markers (AIMs) are genetic markers that present substantially different frequencies between different populations.
- A group of AIMs can identify the genomic ancestry of an individual.
- They could be a single polymorphism, INDELs, or STRs from the Y chromosome.
- An individual's ancestry might be described as 10% Native American, 50% European, and 40% African.
- AIMs are specially used in the population genetics field to assess admixed populations' structure.

Summary Points

- The prevalence of DR varies with ethnicities from 13.3% (South/Central America) to 35.9% (Africa).
- There is a lack of reproducibility in the study of biomarkers for diabetic retinopathy.
- Self-reported race/ethnicity is not appropriate for reporting associations of genetic diseases as it does not correlate with genomic ancestry.
- In type 2 diabetes patients, Native-American genomic ancestry was associated with severe DR, whereas in type 1 patients, African genomic ancestry presented as a risk factor for DR.
- Regarding self-reported ethnicity studies, a wide range of results is reported (Blacks vs. Indians; Whites vs. African-Americans; South Asians vs. Blacks; Indians vs. Chinese).

References

- Barometer DR. The diabetic retinopathy barometer report: global findings. International Federation on Ageing: Toronto; 2017.
- Batai K, Hooker S, Kittles RA. Leveraging genetic ancestry to study health disparities. Am J Phys Anthropol. 2021;175(2):363–75.
- Bonham VL, Green ED, Perez-Stable EJ. Examining how race, ethnicity, and ancestry data are used in biomedical research. JAMA. 2018;320(15):1533–4.
- Bryc K, Durand EY, Macpherson JM, Reich D, Mountain JL. The genetic ancestry of african americans, latinos, and european Americans across the United States. Am J Hum Genet. 2015;96(1):37–53.

- Cabrera AP, Monickaraj F, Rangasamy S, Hobbs S, McGuire P, Das A. Do genomic factors play a role in diabetic retinopathy? J Clin Med. 2020;9(1):216.
- Cardena MMSG, Ribeiro-dos-Santos Â, Santos S, Mansur AJ, Pereira AC, Fridman C. Assessment of the relationship between self-declared ethnicity, mitochondrial haplogroups and genomic ancestry in Brazilian individuals. PLoS One. 2013;8(4):e62005.
- Emanuele N, Moritz T, Klein R, Davis MD, Glander K, Khanna A, Thottapurathu L, Bahn G, Duckworth W, Abraira C. Ethnicity, race, and clinically significant macular edema in the Veterans Affairs Diabetes Trial (VADT). Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2009;86(2):104–10.

Federation., I. D. IDF diabetes atlas. 9th ed. Brussels: International Diabetes Federation; 2019.

- Ferreira LB, Mendes-Junior CT, Wiezel CEV, Luizon MR, Simões AL. Y-STR diversity and ethnic admixture in White and Mulatto Brazilian population samples. Genet Mol Biol. 2006;29(4): 605–7.
- Fujimura JH, Rajagopalan R. Different differences: the use of 'genetic ancestry' versus race in biomedical human genetic research. Soc Stud Sci. 2011;41(1):5–30.
- Gao X, Gauderman WJ, Marjoram P, Torres M, Chen Y-DI, Taylor KD, Rotter JI, Varma R. Native American ancestry is associated with severe diabetic retinopathy in Latinos. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2014;55(9):6041–5.
- Gerstein HC, Ambrosius WT, Danis R, Ismail-Beigi F, Cushman W, Calles J, Banerji M, Schubart U, Chew EY, A. S. Group. Diabetic retinopathy, its progression, and incident cardiovascular events in the ACCORD trial. Diabetes Care. 2013;36(5):1266–71.
- Gomes MB, Gabrielli AB, Santos DC, Pizarro MH, Barros BSV, Negrato CA, Dib SA, Porto LC, Silva DA. Self-reported color-race and genomic ancestry in an admixed population: a contribution of a nationwide survey in patients with type 1 diabetes in Brazil. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2018;140:245–52.
- Hainsworth DP, Bebu I, Aiello LP, Sivitz W, Gubitosi-Klug R, Malone J, White NH, Danis R, Wallia A, Gao X. Risk factors for retinopathy in type 1 diabetes: the DCCT/EDIC study. Diabetes Care. 2019;42(5):875–82.
- Jobling MA, Tyler-Smith C. The human Y chromosome: an evolutionary marker comes of age. Nat Rev Genet. 2003;4(8):598–612.
- Kayser M. Forensic use of Y-chromosome DNA: a general overview. Hum Genet. 2017;136(5): 621–35.
- Klein R, Rucker CS, Santiago JV. Retinopathy in African Americans and whites with insulindependent diabetes mellitus. Arch Intern Med. 1994;154:2597–602.
- Klein R, Klein BEK, Moss SE, Cruickshanks KJ. The Wisconsin epidemiologic study of diabetic retinopathy: XVII: the 14-year incidence and progression of diabetic retinopathy and associated risk factors in type 1 diabetes11Proprietary interest: none. Ophthalmology. 1998;105(10):1801–15.
- Leasher JL, Bourne RRA, Flaxman SR, Jonas JB, Keeffe J, Naidoo K, Pesudovs K, Price H, White RA, Wong TY. Global estimates on the number of people blind or visually impaired by diabetic retinopathy: a meta-analysis from 1990 to 2010. Diabetes Care. 2016;39(9):1643–9.
- Lee R, Wong TY, Sabanayagam C. Epidemiology of diabetic retinopathy, diabetic macular edema and related vision loss. Eye Vision. 2015;2(1):1–25.
- Li JQ, Welchowski T, Schmid M, Letow J, Wolpers C, Pascual-Camps I, Holz FG, Finger RP. Prevalence, incidence and future projection of diabetic eye disease in Europe: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Epidemiol. 2020;35(1):11–23.
- Lima-Costa MF, Rodrigues LC, Barreto ML, Gouveia M, Horta BL, Mambrini J, Kehdy FSG, Pereira A, Rodrigues-Soares F, Victora CG. Genomic ancestry and ethnoracial self-classification based on 5,871 community-dwelling Brazilians (The Epigen initiative). Sci Rep. 2015;5:98012, 1–7.
- Melo LGN, Morales PH, Drummond KRG, Santos DC, Pizarro MH, Barros BSV, Mattos TCL, Pinheiro AA, Mallmann F, Leal FSL. Current epidemiology of diabetic retinopathy in patients with type 1 diabetes: a national multicenter study in Brazil. BMC Public Health. 2018;18(1):989.
- Motala AA, Pirie FJ, Gouws E, Amod A, Omar MAK. Microvascular complications in South African patients with long duration diabetes mellitus. S Afr Med J. 2001;91(11):987–92.

- Paschetta C, de Azevedo S, Ramallo V, Cintas C, Pérez O, Navarro P, Bandieri L, Sánchez MQ, Adhikari K, Bortolini MC. The impact of socioeconomic and phenotypic traits on selfperception of ethnicity in Latin America. Sci Rep. 2021;11(1):1–11.
- Pereira R, Phillips C, Pinto N, Santos C, dos Santos SEB, Amorim A, Carracedo Á, Gusmão L. Straightforward inference of ancestry and admixture proportions through ancestryinformative insertion deletion multiplexing. PLoS One. 2012;7(1):e29684.
- Phillips C, Salas A, Sanchez JJ, Fondevila M, Gomez-Tato A, Alvarez-Dios J, Calaza M, de Cal MC, Ballard D, Lareu MV. Inferring ancestral origin using a single multiplex assay of ancestryinformative marker SNPs. Forensic Sci Int Genet. 2007;1(3–4):273–80.
- Pritchard JK, Stephens M, Donnelly P. Inference of population structure using multilocus genotype data. Genetics. 2000;155(2):945–59.
- Qu H-Q, Li Q, Xu S, McCormick JB, Fisher-Hoch SP, Xiong M, Qian J, Jin L. Ancestry informative marker set for han chinese population. G3: Genes| Genomes|Genetics. 2012;2(3):339–41.
- Raymond NT, Varadhan L, Reynold DR, Bush K, Sankaranarayanan S, Bellary S, Barnett AH, Kumar S, O'Hare JP. Higher prevalence of retinopathy in diabetic patients of South Asian ethnicity compared with white Europeans in the community: a cross-sectional study. Diabetes Care. 2009;32(3):410–5.
- Sampson JN, Kidd KK, Kidd JR, Zhao H. Selecting SNPs to identify ancestry. Ann Hum Genet. 2011;75(4):539–53.
- Santos RV, Fry PH, Monteiro S, Maio MC, Rodrigues JC, Bastos-Rodrigues L, Pena SDJ. Color, race, and genomic ancestry in Brazil: dialogues between anthropology and genetics. Curr Anthropol. 2009;50(6):787–819.
- Santos DC, de Melo LGN, Pizarro MH, Barros BS, Negrato CA, Porto LC, Silva DA, Drummond KRG, Muniz LH, Mattos TCL. Genomic ancestry as a risk factor for diabetic retinopathy in patients with type 1 diabetes from an admixed population: a nested case–control study in Brazil. Acta Diabetol. 2020;57:1–9.
- Shraga R, Yarnall S, Elango S, Manoharan A, Rodriguez SA, Bristow SL, Kumar N, Niknazar M, Hoffman D, Ghadir S. Evaluating genetic ancestry and self-reported ethnicity in the context of carrier screening. BMC Genet. 2017;18(1):1–9.
- Simó-Servat O, Hernández C, Simó R. Genetics in diabetic retinopathy: current concepts and new insights. Curr Genomics. 2013;14(5):289–99.
- Sivaprasad S, Gupta B, Crosby-Nwaobi R, Evans J. Prevalence of diabetic retinopathy in various ethnic groups: a worldwide perspective. Surv Ophthalmol. 2012a;57(4):347–70.
- Sivaprasad S, Gupta B, Gulliford MC, Dodhia H, Mohamed M, Nagi D, Evans JR. Ethnic variations in the prevalence of diabetic retinopathy in people with diabetes attending screening in the United Kingdom (DRIVE UK). PLoS One. 2012b;7(3):e32182.
- Sjølie AK, Stephenson J, Aldington S, Kohner E, Janka H, Stevens L, Fuller J, Karamanos B, Tountas C, Kofinis A. Retinopathy and vision loss in insulin-dependent diabetes in Europe: the EURODIAB IDDM Complications Study. Ophthalmology. 1997;104(2):252–60.
- Song P, Yu J, Chan KY, Theodoratou E, Rudan I. Prevalence, risk factors and burden of diabetic retinopathy in China: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Glob Health. 2018;8(1)010803, 1–16.
- Steinmetz JD, Bourne RRA, Briant PS, Flaxman SR, Taylor HRB, Jonas JB, Abdoli AA, Abrha WA, Abualhasan A, Abu-Gharbieh EG. Causes of blindness and vision impairment in 2020 and trends over 30 years, and prevalence of avoidable blindness in relation to VISION 2020: the Right to Sight: an analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study. Lancet Glob Health. 2021;9(2):e144–60.
- Stratton IM, Kohner EM, Aldington SJ, Turner RC, Holman RR, Manley SE, Matthews DR. UKPDS 50: risk factors for incidence and progression of retinopathy in Type II diabetes over 6 years from diagnosis. Diabetologia. 2001;44(2):156–63.
- Tan GS, Gan A, Sabanayagam C, Tham YC, Neelam K, Mitchell P, Wang JJ, Lamoureux EL, Cheng C-Y, Wong TY. Ethnic differences in the prevalence and risk factors of diabetic retinopathy: the Singapore Epidemiology of Eye Diseases Study. Ophthalmology. 2018;125(4):529–36.

- Tandon A, Chen CJ, Penman A, Hancock H, James M, Husain D, Andreoli C, Li X, Kuo JZ, Idowu O. African ancestry analysis and admixture genetic mapping for proliferative diabetic retinopathy in African Americans. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2015;56(6):3999–4005.
- Teo ZL, Tham Y-C, Yu MCY, Chee ML, Rim TH, Cheung N, Bikbov MM, Wang YX, Tang Y, Lu Y. Global prevalence of diabetic retinopathy and projection of burden through 2045: systematic review and meta-analysis. Ophthalmology. 2021;
- Varma R, Bressler NM, Doan QV, Gleeson M, Danese M, Bower JK, Selvin E, Dolan C, Fine J, Colman S. Prevalence of and risk factors for diabetic macular edema in the United States. JAMA Ophthalmol. 2014;132(11):1334–40.
- Wang SY, Andrews CA, Herman WH, Gardner TW, Stein JD. Incidence and risk factors for developing diabetic retinopathy among youths with type 1 or type 2 diabetes throughout the United States. Ophthalmology. 2017;124(4):424–30.
- Wong TY, Klein R, Islam FMA, Cotch MF, Folsom AR, Klein BEK, Sharrett AR, Shea S. Diabetic retinopathy in a multi-ethnic cohort in the United States. Am J Ophthalmol. 2006;141(3):446–55.
- Zhang X, Saaddine JB, Chou C-F, Cotch MF, Cheng YJ, Geiss LS, Gregg EW, Albright AL, Klein BEK, Klein R. Prevalence of diabetic retinopathy in the United States, 2005–2008. JAMA. 2010;304(6):649–56.
- Zheng Y, Lamoureux EL, Lavanya R, Wu R, Ikram MK, Wang JJ, Mitchell P, Cheung N, Aung T, Saw S-M. Prevalence and risk factors of diabetic retinopathy in migrant Indians in an urbanized society in Asia: the Singapore Indian eye study. Ophthalmology. 2012;119(10):2119–24.


Hp1-1 as a Genetic Marker in Diabetes: Measures, Applications, and Correlations

33

Agnieszka Filipek 💿

Contents

Key Facts of Haptoglobin Phenotype	683
Introduction	683
Structure and Polymorphic Variants of Haptoglobin	684
Biological Functions of Haptoglobin	685
Correlations of Haptoglobin	686
The Relationship Between the Haptoglobin Variant and Cardiovascular Disease	690
The Relationship Between the Haptoglobin Variant and the Development of Diabetic	
Complications	691
Relationship Between the Haptoglobin Variant and Neurodegenerative Diseases	692
The Relationship Between the Haptoglobin Variant and the Development of Infection	693
The Relationship Between the Haptoglobin Variant and the Development	
of Immune-Mediated Diseases	695
Conclusion	696
Summary Points	697
References	698

Abstract

In humans, the acute phase protein, haptoglobin, exists in two basic genotypes: Hp1 and Hp2, which gives three phenotypes: Hp1-1, Hp2-1, and Hp2-2. Homozygous individuals possess type 1 alleles encoding Hp and are characterized by high expression of Hp1-1. The Hp2-2 phenotype is present in homozygous individuals who only have type 2 alleles. Heterozygous individuals have type 1 and type 2 alleles, which is associated with high expression of Hp2-1. The structural structure of haptoglobin chains determines its properties and functions. Hp1-1 short chains easily imply complexes with hemoglobin and enhance the production

A. Filipek (🖂)

Department of Pharmacognosy and Molecular Basis of Phytotherapy, Faculty of Pharmacy, Medical University of Warsaw, Warsaw, Poland e-mail: afilipek@wum.edu.pl

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 62

of anti-inflammatory markers, i.e., CD163, IL-10, and HO-1. Consequently, Hp1-1 plays a protective role by reducing oxidative stress and chronic inflammation in the body. In contrast, Hp2-2 is a long-chain protein which makes it difficult to complex hemoglobin. Free hemoglobin increases the production of ROS, which increases inflammation, which can lead to the development of many diseases, including complications in people with type 2 diabetes, such as cardiovascular disease, retinopathy, and nephropathy. It has been suggested that the Hp2-2 phenotype is also associated with the increase in bacterial and viral infections, which are one of the causes of higher mortality in people with diabetes. In this review, we also demonstrated an ambiguous role for haptoglobin in, for example, neurodegenerative diseases where Hp2-2 appears to be protective. Nevertheless, we suggest that the Hp1-1 phenotype may be a valuable genetic marker in assessing the possibility of various complications in people with diabetes mellitus.

Keywords

Hp1-1 \cdot Hp2-1 \cdot Hp2-2 \cdot Hemoglobin \cdot Genetic marker \cdot Diabetes \cdot Cardiovascular complications

Abbreviations	
APOEA1	Apolipoprotein A1
APOEE4	Apolipoprotein E4
CAD	Coronary Artery Disease
CD	Crohn's Disease
CD163	Scavenger receptor 163
CD4	Scavenger receptor 4
CVD	Cardiovascular Disease
EGF	Epidermal Growth Factor
EGF-Hb	Complex of Epidermal Growth Factor with Haemoglobin
EGFR	Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor
Glu	Glutamine
Hb	Hemoglobin
HbA1c	Glycated hemoglobin
HDL	High-Density Lipoprotein
HIV-1	Human Immunodeficiency Virus type 1
HO-1	Heme Oxygenase 1
Нр	Haptoglobin
Hp1-1	Haptoglobin phenotype 1-1
Hp2-1	Haptoglobin phenotype 2-1
Hp2-2	Haptoglobin phenotype 22-2
Hp-Hb	Complex of haptoglobin with hemoglobin
IL-10	Interleukin 10
IL-6	Interleukin 6
IRSD	Iron-Regulated Surface Determinants
LDL	Low-Density Lipoprotein

Lys	Lysine
M1	Proinflammatory macrophage type M1
M2	Anti-inflammatory macrophage type M2
MMP/ADAMS	Matrix Metalloproteinases/A Disintegrin And Metalloproteinase
MS	Metabolic Syndrome
NO	Nitric Oxide
OS	Oxidative Stress
PAR2	Protease-Activated Receptor 2
preHp1	Prehaptoglobin 1
preHp2	Prehaptoglobin 2 (zonulin)
PSC	Primary Sclerosing Cholangitis
RA	Rheumatoid Arthritis
sCD163	Soluble form of CD163
Th1	Lymphocytes 1
Th2	Lymphocytes 2
TJ	Tight Junctions
TNFα	Tumor Necrosis Factor α
UC	Ulcerative Colitis

Key Facts of Haptoglobin Phenotype

- 1. Haptoglobin is an acute phase protein that is responsible for the uptake and removal of free hemoglobin in the blood by forming a complex with hemoglobin (Hp-Hb).
- 2. Two main haptoglobin polymorphs have been identified: Hp1 and Hp2, and three phenotypes: Hp1-1, Hp2-1, Hp2-2.
- 3. Haptoglobin is made up of four chains: two a and two p.
- 4. The structure of the chains determines the biological properties of the haptoglobin phenotypes.
- 5. Long chains of Hp2-2 with difficulty form a complex with Hb, which leads to an increase in oxidative stress and inflammation, and consequently contributes to the possible increase in the development of complications in diabetic patients.
- 6. Hp1-1 has protective properties because, as a low-mass molecule, it easily complexes with hemoglobin, activates the CD163 scavenging receptor and enhances the production of anti-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-10, which may limit the development of inflammatory diseases in the population.
- 7. Therefore, Hp1-1 can be considered an important and independent marker of diseases such as diabetes and its complications, e.g., cardiovascular diseases.

Introduction

Current epidemiological studies indicate that approximately 400 million people worldwide are affected by type 2 diabetes, and it is forecast that by 2035, this number will increase to over 700 million (Khan et al. 2020). Diabetes causes chronic

inflammation, which in turn leads to multiorgan complications that are a consequence of dysfunctional microcirculation and macroangiopathy. Glycemic disturbances cause changes in the functionality of the vascular mucosa and are the primary reason for the accelerated development of cardiovascular diseases, including atherosclerosis. It has been observed that in over 70% of cases, mortality in people with type 2 diabetes is associated with accelerated atherosclerotic changes (Moreno and Fuster 2004).

Over many years of research, the haptoglobin (Hp) genotype has been elucidated to play a pivotal role in cardiovascular risk. However, whether the Hp genotype is a significant marker in people with type 2 diabetes is unknown.

Structure and Polymorphic Variants of Haptoglobin

In the1940s, a protein called haptoglobin was discovered and described for the first time. Haptoglobin is an acute phase protein responsible for the uptake of free hemoglobin (Hb) in the plasma in the form of a haptoglobin-hemoglobin complex (Hp-Hb). This haptoglobin-hemoglobin complex is not filtered, preventing the loss of valuable iron in the urine and consequently preventing kidney damage. On the other hand, Hp-Hb, with the participation of macrophages, is removed by the reticuloendothelial system (primarily by the spleen) and thus inhibits the harmful oxidative activity of free hem by detoxifying reactive oxygen and nitrogen species.

Structurally, haptoglobin consists of two alpha chains ($\alpha 1$, $\alpha 2$) and two beta chains (β), covalently linked by a disulfide bond. Two basic haptoglobin polymorphs have been identified and described, designated Hp1 and Hp2, with three primary phenotypes: Hp1-1, Hp2-1, and Hp2-2. Homozygous individuals have type 1 alleles encoding Hp and are characterized by high expression of Hp1-1. The Hp2-2 phenotype occurs in homozygous people who have only type 2 alleles. Heterozygous people have both type 1 and 2 alleles, which are associated with high expression of Hp2-1.

In humans, the haptoglobin gene is located on the l6q22 chromosome that the first allele of the coding gene locus consists of 5 exons and 7 exons for allele 2. The Hp1 allele builds chains in two variants, differing by one amino acid. The Hp1F chain contains glutamine (Glu), while lysine (Lys) is present on the Hp1S chain. The Hp2 allele is presumed to exist only in humans and is formed by the duplication of intragenic exons 3 and 4 through the exchange of genetic material between non-homologous DNA crossing-over chromosomes of the Hp1F and Hp1S alleles. Therefore, the products of the Hp2 allele are longer chains with 388 amino acids as opposed to Hp1 (329 amino acids). In fact, in humans, the Hp1 and Hp2 alleles give rise to Hp1-1 dimers consisting of two $\alpha\beta$ chains, Hp2-1 heterooligomers and Hp2-2 oligomers, which form covalent trimers and oligomers with more extensive $\alpha\beta$ chains (Fig. 1) (Polticelli et al. 2008).

In humans, hepatocytes are primarily responsible for the production of haptoglobin, but the skin, lungs, kidneys, and, more recently, adipocytes have also been



Fig. 1 Structures of haptoglobin phenotypes. This figure shows possible structural variants for the three haptoglobin phenotypes: Hp1-1, Hp2-1, and Hp2-2. (Source: own materials)

shown to produce this protein. Moreover, Hp expression has been detected in adipose tissue in other species, i.e.: rats and cattle.

The presence of Hb in human plasma is a physiological condition associated with intravascular hemolysis dependent on the breakdown of senescent erythrocytes. However, the condition becomes pathological in inflammatory diseases, autoimmune diseases, infectious diseases, such as malaria, dengue, or hemorrhagic fever, and in hereditary diseases, such as sickle cell anemia. The normal range of haptoglobin in the plasma is from 0.3–2.0 g/L. Abnormal concentrations are quite difficult to interpret. In inflammation or tissue damage, the Hp concentration increases many times above the normal range within 2 days, returning to normal after approximately 1 week. On the other hand, in acute hemolysis, Hp levels drop sharply and may return to normal within a week. This is due to large amounts of hemoglobin being released by lysis from erythrocytes that form complexes with haptoglobin (Shih et al. 2014).

Biological Functions of Haptoglobin

The structure of haptoglobin phenotypes determines its biological functions and properties. The short homodimeric chains of haptoglobin render Hp1-1 with a low molecular weight (86 kDa), which in turn facilitates the formation of complexes with

Hp-Hb. In contrast, the extensive multimeric chains forming Hp2-2 (170–900 kDa) and Hp2-1 (86–300 kDa) significantly increase its molecular weight, making it difficult to interact with hemoglobin and difficult to form the Hp-Hb complex. As a result, haptoglobin 2-2 is less protective and significantly increases the risk of cardiovascular complications, such as myocardial infarction, stroke, and kidney disease. It therefore seems that Hp may be a valuable genetic marker, especially in people with type 2 diabetes (Filipek et al. 2015; Stempkowska et al. 2020).

Note that although haptoglobin is present in all mammals, its polymorphic variants have only been identified in humans. The previously mentioned Hp1 and Hp2 variants are found primarily in European and American populations. It is known that the Hp2-1 variant (48%) is the most popular in the Western European population, and the Hp2-2 phenotype occurs in approximately 36% of the population. However, Hp1-1 is present in only 16% of the population. A different distribution of haptoglobin variants has been confirmed in Asia. Almost 90% of East and South Asian populations are characterized by the presence of Hp2-2 (Wobeto et al. 2008). Less popular variants of haptoglobin have also been discovered in these parts of the world. A haptoglobin polymorphism called HpDel has been identified in East and West Asian populations (Mongolia, China, Korea, Japan). The HpDel phenotype contains the Hp gene deletion allele minus a mass of 28 kb. Studies have confirmed that HpDel homozygotes do not produce haptoglobin and are phenotypically nonhaptoglobinemic. In turn, HpDel heterozygotes are characterized by a decreased level of haptoglobin compared to people who have one of the basic Hp variants. Moreover, in people with HpDel (especially homozygotes), anaphylactic shock may occur if a blood transfusion is needed (Soejima et al. 2015).

It is probable that the deletion removing the Hp genes resulted in the Hp0 phenotype, which was detected in a Brazilian population. It has been suggested that a higher incidence of haptoglobin loss (HP0) is observed in patients with leukemia (Campregher et al. 2004). Another form of haptoglobin, Hp3-Johnson, which is a triple tandem repeat of the same stretch of DNA in a duplicate of the Hp2 gene, was detected for the first time in Japan. The Hp-Johnson variant consists α 1 chain or α 2 chains and an α 3 chain, which has three times higher molecular weight than α 1 chain. Hence, heterozygous Hp-Johnson is also written as Hp1-Johnson and Hp2-Johnson (Okazaki et al. 1998).

Correlations of Haptoglobin

Approximately 10% of free hemoglobin in humans is eliminated as the Hp-Hb complex, and 90% is eliminated by erythrophagocytosis. The CD163 macrophage scavenger receptor is actively involved in binding the Hp-Hb complex.

In humans, the CD163 (130 kDa) membrane protein is composed of a large extracellular region consisting of nine cysteine-rich class B domains, one transmembrane member and a C-terminus of varying length. There are four isoforms of the CD163 receptor. Three of them are well understood and encode CD163 proteins with different C-termini. The receptor form with the shortest terminal portion most

intensively mediates Hp-Hb endocytosis due to having the highest surface expression. In contrast, the other two isoforms of the CD163 receptor are involved in signal transduction during the intracellular response (Nielsen et al. 2006) (Fig. 2). Expression of the CD163 receptor is likely restricted to mature M2 macrophages, since CD163 activity has only been demonstrated on anti-inflammatory macrophages that appear during chronic inflammation, in the acute phase of infection, and during wound healing. The Hp-Hb complex links with CD163 through a high affinity bond that requires the presence of calcium ions (Ca²⁺). CD163 has a greater affinity for Hp-Hb complexes containing a multimeric chain with the Hp1F phenotype than for complexes of hemoglobin and dimeric haptoglobin with the Hp1S phenotype. Therefore, CD163 readily binds complexes with Hp-Hb in which haptoglobin of the 1-1 phenotype is present. In contrast, in the case of Hp2-2, the CD163 receptor binds with difficulty to this Hp-Hb complex, which in turn results in an exacerbation of inflammation that is associated with endovascular hemolysis products.

During the process of endocytosis of the Hp-Hb complex, the hem subunit of hemoglobin is broken down by the enzyme hem oxygenase (HO). Of the 3 isoforms of HO, only hem oxidase 1 (HO-1) has an antioxidant effect throughout the human body by stimulating the degradation of free hem to carbon monoxide (CO), iron ions (Fe), and biliverdin, which is immediately degraded to bilirubin. As a result, HO-1 lowers the concentration of iron ions and induces the synthesis of ferritin. This process eliminates the generation of hydroxyl radicals, which are formed in the Fenton reaction from hydrogen peroxide with Fe^{2+} . Although there are many conflicting scientific reports, it is



long tail of CD163 receptor - variant 2

amino acids sequence of C-terminus - position 1110-1156

Fig. 2 The variants of CD163 receptor. ER - extracellular region, TR - transmembrane region, IR - intracellular region. This figure shows possible variants of the CD163 receptor. Each variant of the CD163 receptor is made up of an extracellular region (scavenger receptor class B domain), a transmembrane region, and a different length of an intracellular region (C-terminus tail). (Source: own materials)

believed that HO-1 has potent anti-inflammatory and cytoprotective properties (normal kidney cells, mucous membranes, lungs). Moreover, HO-1 protects tissues from oxidative damage and allows iron to be reused to build new hemoglobin particles.

Enhanced CD163 expression is induced by proinflammatory cytokines, such as interleukin 1 (IL-1) and interleukin 6 (IL-6). In contrast, interleukin 4 (IL-4), transforming necrotic factor α (TNF- α), and interferon- γ (IFN- γ) inhibit the activity of this receptor. However, recent studies have confirmed that the expression of CD163 and the possibility of forming complexes with Hb and various Hp phenotypes are also dependent on other anti-inflammatory mediators, e.g., interleukin 10 (IL-10) or transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGF- β). IL-10 is a 37 kDa homodimeric protein. In humans, the IL-10 receptor consists of two IL-10-1R chains and two IL-10-2R chains. Each of them contains 178 amino acids in various configurations. IL-10 activity is autoregulated through a negative feedback loop dependent on autocrine stimulation of the IL-10 receptor (Mosser and Zhang 2008). Moreover, it has been shown that high expression of the IL-10 receptor stimulates the activity of CD163 and the secretion of intracellular HO-1. The close correlation between CD163, IL-10, and HO-1 is effective in preventing not only oxidative tissue damage caused by free hemoglobin but also in attenuating the severity of inflammation.

As previously mentioned, CD163 is a macrophage membrane receptor. Natural factors (e.g., LPS, inflammatory mediators) facilitate detachment of the extracellular region, resulting in the appearance of a soluble form of CD163 (sCD163) in the plasma. The extracellular fragment is cleaved near the transmembrane segment of the membrane form of CD163 by recombination of SRCR domains 1-9. Many scientists are inclined to hypothesize that the concentration of sCD163 in the blood corresponds to the total pool of CD163 expression. It has been suggested that sCD163 activity is associated with inflammation, and sCD163 secretion depends on the anti-inflammatory and alternative activity of macrophages becoming the M2 phenotype. On the other hand, there are many scientific studies confirming the lack of a relationship between the membrane form of CD163 and its soluble form (sCD163).

In humans, under physiological conditions, sCD163 occurs in quite high concentrations, averaging 1.9 mg/L. In pathological conditions, levels of sCD163 secretion are significantly increased in patients with sepsis, pneumonia, myeloid leukemia and other diseases associated with increased monocyte proliferation. Increased levels of sCD163 were also observed in patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA), but a higher concentration of the soluble form of the receptor was measured in the synovial fluid than in the serum. It was also confirmed that there is no correlation between sCD163 and CRP concentrations in RA patients, suggesting that sCD163 may not directly reflect the acute inflammatory phase. In 2006, an attempt was made to determine whether sCD163 is a marker of atherosclerosis. Approximately 150 patients were examined, primarily men aged 63 ± 11 years. The results revealed a significant increase in concentrations of sCD163 in the plasma of patients with advanced coronary disease. In this study, the concentration of sCD163 was correlated with the concentration of CRP and was independent of the age and sex of the patients. In contrast, in 2009, results were published that were completely different. The most common cause of ACS is the rupture of unstable plaques, which in turn causes microhemorrhages. The released hemoglobin acts a strong proinflammatory stimulus due to the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS). Free hemoglobin activates the entire cascade of metabolism, including an increase in CD163 expression on macrophages. However, whether the concentration of sCD163 is also increasing is uncertain. In a 2009 study, no statistically significant differences were found in different groups of patients with ACS (those with no cardiac changes, those with ACS but not STEMI, and those with ACS and STEMI). The authors speculated that factors such as Toll-like receptors and ADAMs metalloproteinase - present in coronary artery disease inactivate the CD163 receptor, which in turn leads to the loss of cross-linking ability and the lack of a soluble form in the serum. Moreover, the CD163 receptor also loses its ability to bind to Hp-Hb complexes. Studies in groups of patients with type 2 diabetes also did not reach a definite answer regarding sCD163. In 2020, contrary to previous studies (2007), a close correlation was demonstrated between CD163 expression and the concentration of sCD163 in the plasma. In patients with Hp1-1, significantly higher levels of sCD163 were observed compared to patients with Hp2-1 and Hp2-2. Nevertheless, low concentrations of sCD163 in people with Hp2-1 and 2-2 may result from both an increase in CD163 expression (no correlation) and/or a decrease in CD163 synthesis. In people with type 2 diabetes, the Hp2-2 phenotype is closely correlated with the exacerbation of oxidative stress and inflammatory processes, which may result in increased expression of the CD163 receptor. However, it should be remembered that the protease receptors present in chronic pathological conditions may inhibit the release of the soluble form of CD163 from the surface of mature macrophages (Stempkowska et al. 2020; Levy et al. 2007).

An important role of haptoglobin is the modulation of lymphocytes in the immune system. Helper lymphocytes (Th) exist in two major subpopulations, Th1 and Th2. The primary role of Th1 lymphocytes is their participation in cellular responses, including in neoplastic and allergic diseases, viral infections, and protozoal diseases. Typical mediators produced by Th1 cells include interleukin 2 (IL-2), IFN- γ and TNF- α , which are associated with cytotoxic and inflammatory activities. Th2 lymphocytes play a key role in humoral responses, producing, among other things, IL-4 and IL-10. The nature of the Th1/Th2 equilibrium shift in favor of one subpopulation is characteristic of pathological states.

In 2003, in cellular and animal models, the relationship between the genotype of haptoglobin and the production of cytokines by lymphocytes was demonstrated for the first time. Hp1-1 and Hp2-1 have been shown to potentiate the production of II-6 and IL10 to a much greater extent than Hp2-2. This activates Th2 and promotes a humoral response (Arredouani et al. 2003). In another study (2007), it was confirmed that the Hp1-Hb complex stimulates the secretion of IL-6 and IL-10 in contrast to the Hp2-Hb complex. Moreover, the release of these cytokines has been shown to be dependent on the CD163 receptor and the activity of casein kinase II. The Hp1 genotype modulates the balance of inflammatory (Th1) and anti-inflammatory (Th2) cytokines toward Th2 in macrophages stimulated by free hemoglobin (Guetta et al. 2007). These findings allow for a better understanding of the individual differences in an organism's response to microhemorrhage. They also suggest that people with Hp1-1 and 2-1 are better protected against infections.

The Relationship Between the Haptoglobin Variant and Cardiovascular Disease

There is a strong link between inflammation and oxidative stress (OS). The development of many inflammatory diseases (diabetes, atherosclerosis, cancer) is promoted by excessive oxidative activity. In the absence or under limited cleansing mechanisms, free Hb catalyzes the formation of free radicals, which in turn promote the oxidation of LDL cholesterol. The oxidized fraction of LDL is absorbed by macrophages and consequently forms lipid deposits in the walls of the arteries. Fatty deposits (atherosclerotic plaques) clog the blood vessels that supply blood to the heart and brain, increasing the risk of a heart attack or stroke. Studies have confirmed that in the case of Hp2-2 homozygotes, increased oxidative stress, dependent on free hemoglobin, significantly increases the risk of atherosclerotic plaque rupture and vascular thrombosis (Kalet-Litman et al. 2010).

In turn, the high-density lipoprotein (HDL) fraction is involved in reverse cholesterol transport and is responsible for cholesterol removal from macrophages. Due to its anti-atherosclerotic properties, HDL is recognized as a strong predictor of cardiovascular events. However, in type 2 diabetes, HDL often changes its properties, exacerbating inflammation and atherosclerotic changes. Moreover, deepening HDL dysfunction leads to an increase in cholesterol deposits in the artery walls and in early atherosclerosis. We can find an explanation for this state in several studies. Hemoglobin is an HDL protein and binds to apolipoprotein A-1 (APOEA1). Due to its structure and functions, the Hp genotype determines the properties of HDL. Allele 1 (Hp1-1) is reduced and forms a strong bond with Hb. As a result, HDL increases the outflow of cholesterol from macrophages. In contrast to Hp1-1, allele 2 (Hp2-2) binds poorly to Hb and increases the oxidation of HDL by Hb, resulting in a decreased ability to remove cholesterol from macrophages. Thus, we have strong evidence that the Hp2-2 phenotype increases HDL-associated Hb and correlates with the severity of vascular endothelial dysfunction in diabetic patients. On the other hand, it should be assumed that the Hp1-1 phenotype promotes proper APOEA1 signaling in endothelial cells, which increases repair functions, among others, by promoting the activation of nitric oxide (NO) synthase (Asleh et al. 2006, 2008, 2019; Watanabe et al. 2009).

The role of haptoglobin genotypes as an independent marker of cardiovascular disease (CVD) is still inconsistent. Several studies have shown no association between Hp polymorphisms and CVD. For example, Hp2-2 was found to be associated with the development of atherosclerotic plaques only in the carotid arteries but correlated with reduced blood triglycerides (Adams et al. 2013). Levy et al. (2004) found no correlation between Hp phenotype and the incidence of coronary heart disease. Moreover, people with diabetes and the haptoglobin Hp2-1 and Hp2-2 variants had a reduced number of coronary events. In a population study by Bruneck (a group of approximately 800 patients diagnosed with cardiovascular disease), Pechlaner et al. (2014) did not confirm a relationship between the haptoglobin phenotype and the risk of CVD in people with diabetes.

The hypothesis that there is no correlation between haptoglobin polymorphisms and the risk of cardiovascular disease has been refuted in many other studies. Acute myocardial infarction occurred 5 times more often in diabetic patients with Hp2-2 than in those without diabetes (Levy et al. 2002). This was likely related to several processes specific to diabetic conditions. Chronic hyperglycemia causes changes in the erythrocyte cell membrane, which leads to a reduction in erythrocyte viability. Additionally, it accelerates dysfunctional changes in the vascular endothelium. Glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c), which is elevated in people with diabetes, has been shown to be involved in the oxidation of both LDL and HDL. In addition, HbA1c enters into association with the Hp-Hb complex, which significantly enhances its oxidizing effect on lipoproteins and, consequently, leads to an increase in hemolysis, damage to the endothelium, and an increase in the concentration of glycated hemoglobin itself. The pro-oxidative properties of HbA1c are enhanced in the presence of Hp2-2 due to the impairment of the Hp2-2 protein to stabilize the hem in the glycated hemoglobin molecule. This relationship has been confirmed in several independent, long-term clinical trials. It was shown that patients with Hp2-2 and HbA1c > 6.5%were greater than 10 times more likely to develop coronary heart disease than Hp1-1 homozygotes with or without diabetes. Moreover, in Hp2-2 homozygotes with glycated hemoglobin concentrations below 6.5%, despite being diagnosed with diabetes, no increase in coronary events was observed (Cahill et al. 2013, 2015).

In turn, long-term (approximately 12 years) prospective studies in which over 300,000 people from the Swedish population participated proved that the Hp2-2 phenotype significantly increased the risk of acute myocardial infarction, stroke, and heart failure by 400%, 200%, and 150%, respectively. Moreover, a greater risk was observed in male than in female patients (Holme et al. 2009).

The potential protective properties of the Hp1-1 phenotype against the risk of heart disease in people with type 1 diabetes have been demonstrated in subsequent long-term prospective studies. After 18 years of research, it was found that the number of incidents of coronary artery disease (CAD) was decreased by fourfold in people with type 1 diabetes who had the Hp1-1 phenotype compared to people diagnosed with type 1 diabetes who had the Hp2-2 phenotype. In subsequent studies, as well as during 22 years of observation, there was a minimal trend toward lowering blood pressure and the incidence of stroke in people with Hp1-1 compared to Hp2-2 homozygotes. It should be noted that in the case of carotid embolism, much better protective effects of the Hp1-1 phenotype were demonstrated in silent brain infarcts (SBIs) than in lacunar strokes (Costacou et al. 2008, 2014, 2015; Staals et al. 2008).

The Relationship Between the Haptoglobin Variant and the Development of Diabetic Complications

In addition to cardiovascular disease, the primary complications associated with diabetes are retinopathy and nephropathy. Diabetic nephropathy comprises a structural and functional change in the kidney directly caused by hyperglycemia. The risk

of kidney damage is increased 12–17-fold in diabetic patients compared to healthy subjects. In a study of over 100 people with type 1 or type 2 diabetes and normal blood pressure values, none of the Hp1-1 homozygous patients developed symptoms of diabetic nephropathy. However, in those with Hp2-2 and Hp2-1, an increase in macroalbuminuria was observed in 35% and 27% of the examined people, respectively (Nakhoul et al. 2001). After 25 years of follow-up, Costacou T. and Orchard T.J. (2016) confirmed that the Hp2-2 variant increased cardiorenal mortality in patients with type 1 diabetes. However, in another study, no correlation was found between the haptoglobin variant and markers of diabetic nephropathy, i.e., microalbuminuria, macroalbuminuria and cystatin C. Therefore, scientists hypothesized that the protective properties of haptoglobin may be dependent on the age of the patient and the duration of diabetes mellitus. This was confirmed by showing that Hp1-1 protects against mortality in geriatric patients (>60 years of age) with chronic renal failure (Awadallah et al. 2008; Burbea et al. 2004a, b; Costacou et al. 2009).

A very common complication of diabetes is diabetic retinopathy, which occurs in more than half of patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes. High blood glucose levels and frequently accompanying high blood pressure may increase blood flow. As a result of these processes, the membrane of the eyeball thickens, blocking the flow of fluids to and from the retina. In addition, the process of angiogenesis is intensified, the resulting blood vessels are easily damaged, and micro-bleeding occurs. Increasing inflammation can lead to visual impairment and even loss of vision. Data on the relationship between haptoglobin variants and the incidence of retinopathy are very limited. In a single study involving only 45 patients with type 2 diabetes and normal blood pressure, it was shown that retinopathy was more common in the Hp2-2 group (approximately 79% of patients) than in the Hp2-1 heterozygous group (approximately 44% of patients) (Mogarekar and Hampe 2013). On the other hand, Wu et al. (2017) performed a thorough meta-analysis of available research results from different regions of the world. Ultimately, it was not possible to confirm the hypothesis.

Relationship Between the Haptoglobin Variant and Neurodegenerative Diseases

Type 2 diabetes often results in cognitive decline, which increases with age and can lead to dementia (vascular dementia) and the development of neurodegenerative diseases, such as Parkinson's disease or Alzheimer's disease. Although the underlying mechanism of these diseases is not fully understood, it is believed that chronic hyperglycemia exacerbates oxidative stress, resulting in cerebrovascular disease and leading to microtrauma and neuronal death in the brain.

In the context of Parkinson's disease, it has been suggested that the Hp2 genotype is associated with a higher susceptibility to the idiopathic form of the disease (Costa-Mallen et al. 2015). In addition, in an animal model, a significant increase in the concentration of haptoglobin in the cerebrospinal fluid has been demonstrated in rats with induced neurodegenerative changes (Argüelles et al. 2010).

Cohort studies did not confirm a direct protective role of the Hp1-1 phenotype in Alzheimer's disease (Eikelenboom et al. 1984; Matsuyama et al. 1986). This is due to the pathological pathways of diabetes and Alzheimer's disease being different, as diabetes is primarily a peripheral disease, while Alzheimer's disease affects the central nervous system. However, it is known that the Hp1-1 variant effectively removes free hemoglobin and thus reduces chronic oxidative stress and inflammation in the body. It should therefore be assumed that in people with Hp1-1 and diabetes, neurodegenerative changes in the brain will progress much slower than in people with Hp2-2. Moreover, a common pathological mechanism between diabetes and Alzheimer's disease has been identified. One of the major risk factors is the deposition of beta-amyloid (βA) on the surface of nerve fibers, resulting in the appearance of protein aggregates and βA fibers in the brain. The βA proteins and the hyperphosphorylated tau proteins are neurotoxic. This process leads to the loss of nerve fibers and the appearance of cognitive issues in the elderly (Pereira et al. 2021). The E4 isoform of apolipoprotein E, which forms a complex with β , plays a special protective role. In fact, APOE4 removes βA and protects nerve fibers from its toxic effects. Spagnuolo et al. (2014) suggested that haptoglobin readily binds to APOE4 to displace βA , which in turn reduces the anti-neurodegenerative effect of APOE4. Unfortunately, data on the correlation between Hp and APOE are very limited, and it is not known what phenotype of Hp promotes complexes with APOE more. Based on the information described above, we can only speculate that Hp2-2 may have a greater affinity for APOE4 than Hp1-1. In particular, there are reports showing the lack of a protective role of the hippocampus against uncontrolled glycemia in elderly patients with Hp1-1 and type 2 diabetes (Livny et al. 2017).

Serious neurological consequences can also be the result of aneurysm rupturing in the abdominal aorta, thoracic system, or brain. The relationship between diabetes and aneurysms has not been well established. Moreover, many epidemiological studies have paradoxically reported a reduced risk of aneurysm rupture in people with type 1 or type 2 diabetes. This is related to the small diameter of the aorta in diabetic patients. The primary risk factors for aortic development and rupture are a large vessel diameter and a high rate of lesion growth (Radak et al. 2016). Nevertheless, it should be emphasized that in patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage, the Hp2 genotype increases the risk of complications of cerebral hypoxia with negative consequences (Blackburn et al. 2010).

The Relationship Between the Haptoglobin Variant and the Development of Infection

Another complication in diabetes is bacterial, fungal and viral infections. People with diabetes have reduced immunity and are more likely to develop the disease than healthy people. As mentioned earlier, the Hp2-2 phenotype increases susceptibility to infection, and the pathway is dependent on cells of the immune system, i.e., T lymphocytes, monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells. Dysfunction of the immune system is conducive to the development of many diseases, which, especially in people with

diabetes, may be life-threatening. Iron is necessary for the proliferation of bacteria from many species, including Escherichia coli, Yersinia enterocolitica, Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium, Staphylococcus epidermidis, Staphylococcus aureus, and Corvnebacterium diphtheriae (Cross et al. 2015; Gianquinto et al. 2019). It can therefore be assumed that in the case of the Hp2 gene, hemoglobin unrelated to Hp supplies iron ions, which promotes the multiplication of many bacterial strains, including Staphylococcus aureus, which is responsible for the development of infections in soft tissues, the upper respiratory tract or the urinary tract (Pishchany et al. 2010; Dunyach-Remy et al. 2016). Iron recovery by S. aureus is mediated by receptor proteins called iron-regulated surface determinants (IRSD) and involves active hem extraction from Hb, transport, and release in bacterially infected plasma. Mikkelsen, Runager, and Andersen (2020) proposed Hp as a factor that directly inhibits receptor-mediated iron uptake by staphylococci. This mechanism is based on the formation of the Hp-Hb-IRSD complex, which means that the receptors lose their activity and are unable to extract hem from hemoglobin. Unfortunately, the authors of the study did not investigate the haptoglobin polymorphism. We can only assume that the properties described above have the Hp1-1 phenotype. However, this is not certain.

Despite these findings, the genetic variability of haptoglobin and its impact on infections is not conclusive. This is due to its pleiotropic nature, including immunomodulatory functions or participation in iron metabolism. In vitro studies have indicated the potential protective role of Hp2-2 and, to a lesser extent, Hp2-1 against *Streptococcus pyogenes*. The Hp2 gene promotes bacterial agglutination, and furthermore, this process is not correlated with iron uptake (Delanghe et al. 1998). In another study, Wasserzug et al. (2007) demonstrated that the Hp2 protein can more readily bind to the T antigen *Streptococcus aureus* and limit the multiplication of bacteria.

Returning to the fact that the structure of Hp2-2 does not allow the inhibition of oxidative stress or inflammation mediated by free hemoglobin, an animal model study reported a greater likelihood of developing acute respiratory syndrome in transgenic mice with a murine homologue of human HP2. Hp2-2 individuals were found to develop more severe acute pneumonia, damage to the lung endothelium, and mortality than Hp1-1 mice. In a prospective cohort study, the same team of researchers confirmed that Hp2-2 homozygotes are statistically more likely to develop sepsis than 1-1 homozygotes or 2-1 heterozygotes (Kerchberger et al. 2019).

With respect to other diseases, an association has been demonstrated between the Hp2-2 phenotype and increased mortality in tuberculosis and leprosy (Kasvosve et al. 2000; Seboka et al. 2017). However, in the case of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV), Hp2-2 homozygotes were shown to have a significantly reduced number of CD4-positive mononuclear cells. Therefore, the authors suggested a worse HIV-1 prognosis for Hp2-2 individuals. Interestingly, a protective role of HP0 was reported. Carriers of the Hp0 deletion gene had a significantly greater number of immune cells (CD4), which may be associated with a better prognosis in HIV-1 (Quaye et al. 2000). In contrast, Hp2-2 was associated with a reduction in the clinical symptoms of malaria, which may suggest a potential protective role for this genotype (Atkinson et al. 2007). Additionally, in the case of COVID-19, the Hp2 allele is assumed to play a favorable role due to its enhanced immune activity (Bandyopadhyay et al. 2021).

The Relationship Between the Haptoglobin Variant and the Development of Immune-Mediated Diseases

As mentioned earlier, an important role of haptoglobin is to regulate immune cells. In this context, an association has also been demonstrated between haptoglobin genotype and immune-related diseases. In a group of approximately 2000 patients with gastrointestinal diseases, i.e., ulcerative colitis (UC), Crohn's disease (CD), and primary sclerosing cholangitis (PSC), it was shown that there was a higher incidence of Hp2 in CD and UC patients than in controls. The same authors performed ex vivo studies to confirm the protective role of the Hp1 gene in experimental colitis. The pathway was dependent on Th1 and Th17 inhibition (Márquez et al. 2012). Paradoxically, the Hp1-1 phenotype has been identified as a potential risk factor in osteoarthritis of the knee and, to a lesser extent, in rheumatoid arthritis (RA) (Fernández-Costa et al. 2006). However, the results of studies from the 1980s clearly indicated a higher frequency of Hp2-2 in people with an acute course of RA (Dahlqvist and Fröhlander 1985).

Autoimmune diseases of the gastrointestinal tract cause inflammation of the intestines, which leads to an increase in their permeability and loss of the protective barrier between the host and external factors. More recently, zonulin has been identified as an inactive precursor to Hp2 and has been called prehaptoglobin 2 (preHp2). In fact, zonulin is a protein that modulates the permeability of the gastrointestinal wall, and its elevated concentration in the blood or feces is a marker of leaky gut. This phenomenon has been observed, in people suffering from diseases such as allergies, celiac disease, type 1 and 2 diabetes, obesity, rheumatoid arthritis, multiple sclerosis, or other autoimmune diseases, e.g., inflammatory bowel diseases. Research shows that zonulin levels correlate with glucose levels, blood dyslipidemia, inflammation, and insulin resistance (Fasano 2012).

Structurally, preHp1 and preHp2 are single-chain precursor proteins that, as a result of chain cuts (alpha and beta) and the formation of disulfide bridges, build mature forms of haptoglobin with appropriate phenotypes. Data on Hp precursor functions is very limited. There is some research into zonulin but not preHp1. In contrast to the split Hp2 double chain, single chain preHp2 destroys the intestinal barrier. The biological activity of the primary and mature forms results from different folding of the proteins in the chains. The pathological mechanism of preHp2 first involves activation of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) either directly through PAR2 or indirectly through the release of MMP/ADAMS. Moreover, the cellular enzyme tryptase IV cleaves zonulin into two subunits, eliminating one of the three disulfide bonds necessary to maintain EGF activity. Consequently, EGFR loses its ability to bind EGF. This molecule forms a complex with hemoglobin (EGF-Hb) and, intensifying inflammation, loosens the tight junctions (TJs) between intestinal epithelial cells (Fasano 2012; Vanuytsel et al. 2013; Zhang et al. 2017).

Environmental and genetic factors as well as cellular autoimmunity may correlate with metabolic syndrome (MS), which promotes the development of type 2 diabetes and atherosclerosis, significantly increasing the risk of cardiovascular complications. In the context of insulin resistance, it has been suggested that the Hp2 allele is associated with a poorer response to glucose load, leading to increased blood glucose levels and reduced tissue sensitivity to insulin (Ricotti et al. 2020). Moreover, it was found that, in contrast to Hp1-1, the Hp2-2 phenotype strongly inhibited abdominal fat reduction and increased insulin resistance in obese women. The mechanism depends on the function of the Hp2 genotype and the production of proinflammatory cytokines (IL-6, TNF- α), which recruit proinflammatory monocytes/macrophages in white adipose tissue, causing chronic inflammation of adipocytes (Tanga et al. 2020).

Conclusion

In conclusion, recently, the haptoglobin genotype has been identified as an important and independent marker of diabetes, cardiovascular disease, and sickle cell disease. Hp2-2 contributes to an increase in complications because, due to its structure, it does not easily from Hp-Hb complexes, which in turn leads to an increase in oxidative stress and inflammation. Hp1-1, on the other hand, has protective properties because, as a low-mass molecule, it easily complexes with hemoglobin, activates the CD163 scavenging receptor and enhances the production of anti-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-10, which may limit the development of diseases in the population (Fig. 3). However, a review of the studies clearly shows that the relationship between Hp and the risk of complications or disease development is not linear. The Hp1-1 phenotype promotes repair functions, reduces inflammation, and protects LDL and HDL fractions from oxidation, ensuring their proper function. This biological activity is necessary in cardiovascular disease and appears to be one of the most common complications of type 2 diabetes. In addition, the Hp1-1 protein plays a key role in infectious diseases such as tuberculosis, influenza, HIV, and noncommunicable diseases such as Alzheimer's disease, nephropathy, insulin resistance, and obesity and in bacterial infections, e.g., sepsis. In other diseases, such as malaria, rheumatoid arthritis, and COVID-19, the Hp1-1 phenotype plays an unclear role. Scientists suggest that the course of the disease is more severe in people with Hp1-1, as opposed to Hp2-2.

Can we modify the functions of haptoglobin by considering it a genetic marker? There seem to be such possibilities. There are vitamins (e.g., vitamin E) and compounds of natural origin (e.g., oleacein) that attenuate the pathological activity of Hp. Vitamin E is known to be a powerful antioxidant. It is therefore suggested that it reduces oxidative stress and inhibits the development of complications in people with type 2 diabetes who have the Hp2-2 genotype. In a cohort study of approximately 1500 patients, a significant reduction in coronary events, such as stroke and myocardial infarction, was observed after several months of vitamin E administration (Somer and Levy 2021). Other compounds with similar biological activities are polyphenols. The recently discovered oleacein is a secoidoid that is found in unfiltered extra virgin olive oil. Additionally, oleacein can be isolated from the leaves of Olea europea (Oleaceae) and Ligustrum vulgare (Oleacea). Oleacein has been shown to have powerful antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties. In addition, oleacein can modify the functions of macrophages, changing their phenotype from M1



Fig. 3 Proposed scheme of biological activity of various haptoglobin phenotypes. In the case of Hp1-1: hemoglobin formed as a result of the breakdown of erythrocytes (ER) is bound in a complex with Hp1-1 and, with the participation of the CD136 scavenger receptor (only on mature antiinflammatory macrophages M2), immediately removed from the body. As a result, we obtain a protective effect through increased antioxidant activity and anti-inflammatory (e.g., IL-10, HO-1). In the case of Hp2-2, the clearance is disturbed, which causes an increase in oxidative stress, which results in the activation of pro-inflammatory factors. It is known that chronic oxidative stress and inflammation lead to an increase in the possibility of developing complications, especially in people with type 2 diabetes, such as: retinopathy, nephropathy, bacterial and viral infections, ischemic heart disease, atherosclerosis, stroke or heart attack. This figure shows a diagram of the biological activity of two haptoglobin phenotypes: Hp1-1 and Hp2-2. (Source: Stempkowska et al. 2020)

(proinflammatory) to M2 (anti-inflammatory). Moreover, oleacein increases the activity of anti-inflammatory factors, i.e., the expression of II-10, HO-1, and CD163, which modulates the functions of Hp2-2, leading to the formation of complexes with Hb and a reduction in oxidative stress (Filipek et al. 2015, 2017). Oleacein has also been shown to be effective in reducing the progression of early (reduction of foam cells) and late atherosclerotic (stabilization of atherosclerotic plaque) lesions, which is extremely important in people with diabetes (Filipek et al. 2015, 2017).

Summary Points

1. Haptoglobin is an acute phase protein that is responsible for the uptake and removal of free hemoglobin in the blood by forming a complex with hemoglobin (Hp-Hb).

- 2. Two main haptoglobin polymorphs have been identified: Hp1 and Hp2, and three phenotypes: Hp1-1, Hp2-1, Hp2-2.
- 3. Long chains of Hp2-2 with difficulty form a complex with Hb, which leads to an increase in oxidative stress and inflammation, and consequently contributes to the possible increase in the development of complications in diabetic patients.
- 4. Hp1-1 has protective properties because, as a low-mass molecule, it easily complexes with hemoglobin, activates the CD163 scavenging receptor and enhances the production of anti-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-10, which may limit the development of inflammatory diseases in the population.
- 5. The Hp1-1 phenotype promotes repair functions, reduces inflammation, protects LDL and HDL fractions from oxidation, thus ensuring their proper functioning.
- 6. The Hp1-1 protein plays a key role in cardiovascular disease, infectious diseases such as tuberculosis, influenza, and HIV, and non-communicable diseases such as Alzheimer's, nephropathy, insulin resistance, obesity, and in bacterial infections, e.g., sepsis.
- 7. Therefore, Hp1-1 can be considered an important and independent marker in people with type 2 diabetes.

References

- Adams JN, Cox AJ, Freedman BI, et al. Genetic analysis of haptoglobin polymorphisms with cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes in the diabetes heart study. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2013;12:31–40.
- Argüelles S, Venero JL, Garcia-Rodriguez S, et al. Use of haptoglobin and transthyretin as potential biomarkers for the preclinical diagnosis of Parkinson's disease. Neurochem Int. 2010;57: 227–34.
- Arredouani M, Matthijs P, Van Hoeyveld E, et al. Haptoglobin directly affects T cells and suppresses T helper cell type 2 cytokine release. Immunology. 2003;108:144–51.
- Asleh R, Miller-Lotan R, Aviram M, et al. Haptoglobin genotype is a regulator of reverse cholesterol transport in diabetes in vitro and in vivo. Circ Res. 2006;99:1419–25.
- Asleh R, Blum S, Kalet-Litman S, et al. Correction of HDL dysfunction in individuals with diabetes and the haptoglobin 2-2 genotype. Diabetes. 2008;57:2794–800.
- Asleh LAP, Levy NS, et al. Haptoglobin phenotype is associated with high-density lipoproteinbound hemoglobin content and coronary endothelial dysfunction in patients with mild nonobstructive coronary artery disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2019;39:774–86.
- Atkinson SH, Mwangi TW, Uyoga SM, et al. The haptoglobin 2-2 genotype is associated with a reduced incidence of plasmodium falciparum malaria in children on the coast of Kenya. Clin Infect Dis. 2007;44:802–9.
- Awadallah SM, Saleh SA, Shaqra QMA, et al. Association of haptoglobin phenotypes with markers of diabetic nephropathy in Type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Diabetes Complicat. 2008;22:384–8.
- Bandyopadhyay AR, Chatterjee D, Ghosh K. Haptoglobin (hp) polymorphism and covid-19: a review. Innovat Int J Med Pharm Sci. 2021;6:1–4.
- Blackburn SL, Kumar PT, McBride D, et al. Unique contribution of haptoglobin and haptoglobin genotype in aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Front Physiol. 2010;9:1–12.
- Burbea Z, Nakhoul F, Rosenberg S, et al. Role of haptoglobin phenotype in end-stage kidney disease. Nephron Exp Nephrol. 2004a;97:e71–6. https://doi.org/10.1159/000078408.
- Burbea Z, Nakhoul F, Zoabi R, et al. Haptoglobin phenotype as a predictive factor of mortality in diabetic haemodialysis patients. Ann Clin Biochem. 2004b;41:469–73.

- Cahill LE, Levy AP, Stephanie E, et al. Haptoglobin genotype is a consistent marker of coronary heart disease risk among individuals with elevated glycosylated hemoglobin. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013;61:728–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2012.09.063.
- Cahill LE, Jensen MK, Chiuve SE, et al. The risk of coronary heart disease associated with glycosylated hemoglobin of 6.5% or greater is pronounced in the haptoglobin 2-2 genotype. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2015;66:1791–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/jjacc.2015.07.076.
- Campregher PV, Lorand-Metze I, Grotto HZW, et al. Haptoglobin phenotypes in Brazilian patients with leukemia. J Bras Patol Med Lab. 2004;40:307–9. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1676-24442004000500005.
- Costacou T, Orchard TJ. The Haptoglobin genotype predicts cardio-renal mortality in type 1 diabetes. J Diabetes Complicat. 2016;30:221–6.
- Costacou T, Ferrell RE, Orchard TJ. Haptoglobin genotype: a determinant of cardiovascular complication risk in type 1 diabetes. Diabetes. 2008;57:1702–6. https://doi.org/10.2337/ db08-0095.
- Costacou T, Ferrell RE, Ellis D, et al. Haptoglobin genotype and renal function decline in type 1 diabetes. Diabetes. 2009;58:2904–9. https://doi.org/10.2337/db09-0874.
- Costacou T, Secrest AM, Ferrell RE, et al. Haptoglobin genotype and cerebrovascular disease incidence in type 1 diabetes. Diab Vasc Dis Res. 2014;11:335–42.
- Costacou T, Rosano C, Aizenstein H, et al. The haptoglobin 1 allele correlates with white matter hyperintensities in middle-aged adults with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes. 2015;64:654–9.
- Costa-Mallen P, Zabetian CP, Agarwal P, et al. Haptoglobin phenotype modifies serum iron levels and the effect of smoking on Parkinson disease risk. Parkinsonism Relat Disord. 2015;21:1087–92.
- Cross JH, Bradbury RS, Fulford AJ, et al. Oral iron acutely elevates bacterial growth in human serum. Sci Rep. 2015;5:16670.
- Dahlqvist SR, Fröhlander N. Haptoglobin groups and rheumatoid arthritis. Hum Hered. 1985;35: 207–11. https://doi.org/10.1159/000153546.
- Delanghe J, Langlois M, Ouyang J, et al. Effect of haptoglobin phenotypes on growth of Streptococcus pyogenes. Clin Chem Lab Med. 1998;36:691–6. https://doi.org/10.1515/CCLM. 1998.122.
- Dunyach-Remy C, Essebe CN, Sotto A, et al. Staphylococcus aureus toxins and diabetic foot ulcers: role in pathogenesis and interest in diagnosis. Toxins (Basel). 2016;8:209.
- Eikelenboom P, Vink-Starreveld ML, Jansen W, et al. C3 and haptoglobin polymorphism in dementia of the Alzheimer type. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 1984;69:140–2. https://doi.org/10. 1111/j.1600-0447.1984.tb02478.x.
- Fasano A. Zonulin, regulation of tight junctions, and autoimmune diseases. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2012;1258:25–33. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2012.06538.x.
- Fernández-Costa C, Calamia V, Fernández-Puente P, et al. The haptoglobin genotype Hp 1-1 is a new potential risk factor for knee osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr Cartil. 2006;24:S63eS534.
- Filipek A, Czerwińska ME, Kiss AK, et al. Oleacein enhances anti-inflammatory activity of human macrophages by increasing CD163 receptor expression. Phytomedicine. 2015;22:1255–61.
- Filipek A, Czerwińska ME, Kiss AK, et al. Oleacein may inhibit destabilization of carotid plaques from hypertensive patients. Impact on high mobility group protein-1. Phytomedicine. 2017;32:68–73.
- Gianquinto E, Moscetti I, De Bei O, et al. Interaction of human hemoglobin and semi-hemoglobins with the Staphylococcus aureus hemophore IsdB: a kinetic and mechanistic insight. Sci Rep. 2019;9:18629. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-54970-w.
- Guetta J, Strauss M, Levy NS, et al. Haptoglobin genotype modulates the balance of Th1/Th2 cytokines produced by macrophages exposed to free hemoglobin. Atherosclerosis. 2007;191: 48–53.
- Holme I, Aastveit AH, Hammar N, et al. Haptoglobin and risk of myocardial infarction, stroke, and congestive heart failure in 342,125 men and women in the Apolipoprotein MOrtality RISk study (AMORIS). Ann Med. 2009;41:522–32. https://doi.org/10.1080/07853890903089453.
- Kalet-Litman S, Moreno PR, Levy AP. The Haptoglobin 2-2 genotype is associated with increased redox active hemoglobin derived iron in the atherosclerotic plaque. Atherosclerosis. 2010;209: 28–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2009.09.002.

- Kasvosve I, Gomo ZAR, Mvundura E, et al. Haptoglobin polymorphism and mortality in patients with tuberculosis. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2000;4:771–5.
- Kerchberger VE, Bastarache JA, Shaver CM, et al. Haptoglobin-2 variant increases susceptibility to acute respiratory distress syndrome during sepsis. JCI Insight. 2019;4:e131206. https://doi.org/ 10.1172/jci.insight.131206.
- Khan MAB, Hashim MJ, King JK, et al. Epidemiology of type 2 diabetes global burden of disease and forecasted trends. J Epidemiol Glob Health. 2020;10:107–11.
- Levy AP, Hochberg I, Jablonski K, et al. Haptoglobin phenotype is an independent risk factor for cardiovascular disease in individuals with diabetes: the strong heart study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2002;40:1984–90.
- Levy AP, Larson MG, Corey D, et al. Haptoglobin phenotype and prevalent coronary heart disease in the Framingham offspring cohort. Atherosclerosis. 2004;172:361–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.atherosclerosis.2003.10.014.
- Levy AP, Purushothaman KR, Levy NS, et al. Downregulation of the hemoglobin scavenger receptor in individuals with diabetes and the Hp 2-2 genotype. Circ Res. 2007;101:106–10.
- Livny A, Ravona-Springer R, Heymann A, et al. Haptoglobin 1-1 genotype modulates the association of glycemic control with hippocampal volume in elderly individuals with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes. 2017;66:2927–32.
- Márquez L, Shen C, Cleynen I, et al. Effects of haptoglobin polymorphisms and deficiency on susceptibility to inflammatory bowel disease and on severity of murine colitis. Gut. 2012;61: 528–34. https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.2011.240978.
- Matsuyama SS, Cripe AT, Joseph J. Haptoglobin phenotypes in dementia of the Alzheimer type. Hum Hered. 1986;36:93–6. https://doi.org/10.1159/000153606.
- Mikkelsen JH, Runager K, Andersen CBF. The human protein haptoglobin inhibits IsdH-mediated heme-sequestering by Staphylococcus aureus. J Biol Chem. 2020;295:1781–91.
- Mogarekar MR, Hampe MH. Haptoglobin2-2 phenotype is an additional risk factor of retinopathy in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Indian J Hum Genet. 2013;19:154–8.
- Moreno PR, Fuster V. New aspects in the pathogenesis of diabetic atherothrombosis. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2004;44:2293–300.
- Mosser DM, Zhang X. Interleukin-10: new perspectives on an old cytokine. Immunol Rev 2008;226:205–218 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00706.x
- Nakhoul FM, Zoabi R, Kanter Y, et al. Haptoglobin phenotype and diabetic nephropathy. Diabetologia. 2001;44:602–4. https://doi.org/10.1007/s001250051666.
- Nielsen MJ, Madsen M, Holger J, et al. The macrophage scavenger receptor CD163: endocytic properties of cytoplasmic tail variants. J Leukoc Biol. 2006;79:837–45.
- Okazaki T, Omura K, Kadohno N, et al. Identification and quantitative analysis of haptoglobin Johnson heterozygote. Clin Chim Acta. 1998;270:169–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0009-8981 (97)00203-9.
- Pechlaner R, Kiechl S, Willeit P, et al. Haptoglobin 2-2 genotype is not associated with cardiovascular risk in subjects with elevated glycohemoglobin – results from the Bruneck Study. J Am Heart Assoc. 2014;3:e000732. https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.n3.000732.
- Pereira JD, Fraga VG, Santos ALM. Alzheimer's disease and type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review of proteomic studies. J Neurochem. 2021;156:753–76.
- Pishchany G, McCoy AL, Torres VJ, et al. Specificity for human hemoglobin enhances Staphylococcus aureus infection. Cell Host Microbe. 2010;8:544–50.
- Polticelli F, Bocedi A, Minervini G, et al. Human haptoglobin structure and function a molecular modelling study. FEBS J. 2008;275:5648–56. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2008. 06690.x.
- Quaye IK, Brandful J, Ekuban FA, et al. Haptoglobin polymorphism in human immunodeficiency virus infection: Hp0 phenotype limits depletion of CD4 cell counts in HIV-1-seropositive individuals. J Infect Dis. 2000;181:1483–5. https://doi.org/10.1086/315377.
- Radak D, Tanaskovic S, Katsiki N, et al. Protective role of diabetes mellitus on abdominal aortic aneurysm pathogenesis: myth or reality? Curr Vasc Pharmacol. 2016;14:196–200.

- Ricotti R, De Feudis M, Peri C, et al. Haptoglobin phenotypes are associated with the postload glucose and insulin levels in pediatric obesity. Int J Endocrinol. 2020;2020:1–8. https://doi.org/ 10.1155/2020/6035138.
- Seboka N, Bekele E, Nigussie S, et al. Haptoglobin polymorphism, plasma haptoglobin level and ABO blood group in leprosy patients. J Coast Life Med. 2017;5:550–5.
- Shih AWY, McFarlane A, Verhovsek M. Haptoglobin testing in hemolysis: measurement and interpretation. Am J Hematol. 2014;89:443–7. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajh.23623.
- Soejima M, Agusa T, Iwata H, et al. Haptoglobin genotyping of Vietnamese: global distribution of HP del, complete deletion allele of the HP gene. Leg Med (Tokyo). 2015;17:14–6. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.legalmed.2014.08.004.
- Somer S, Levy AP. The role of haptoglobin polymorphism in cardiovascular disease in the setting of diabetes. Int J Mol Sci. 2021;22:1–10.
- Spagnuolo MS, Maresca B, La Marca V, et al. Haptoglobin interacts with apolipoprotein E and betaamyloid and influences their crosstalk. ACS Chem Neurosci. 2014;5:837–47. https://doi.org/10. 1021/cn500099f.
- Staals J, Bons JAP, van Oostenbrugge RJ, et al. A SELDI-TOF-MS study in lacunar stroke with subsequent haptoglobin phenotyping. Curr Neurovasc Res. 2008;5:93–8. https://doi.org/10. 2174/156720208784310187.
- Stempkowska A, Walicka M, Franek E, et al. Hp1-1 as a genetic marker regulating inflammation and the possibility of developing diabetic complications in patients with type 2 diabetes cohort studies. Genes. 2020;24:1253.
- Tanga KY, Huangab S-Y, Chengc T-M, et al. Haptoglobin phenotype influences the effectiveness of diet-induced weight loss in middle-age abdominally obese women with metabolic abnormalities. Clin Nutr. 2020;39:225–33.
- Vanuytsel T, Vermeire S, Cleynen I. The role of Haptoglobin and its related protein, Zonulin, in inflammatory bowel disease. Tissue Barriers. 2013;1:e27321.
- Wasserzug O, Blum S, Klement E, et al. Haptoglobin 1-1 genotype and the risk of life-threatening streptococcus infection: evolutionary implications. J Infect. 2007;54:4–10.
- Watanabe J, Grijalva V, Hama S, et al. Hemoglobin and its scavenger protein haptoglobin associate with apoA-1-containing particles and influence the inflammatory properties and function of high density lipoprotein. J Biol Chem. 2009;284:18292–301. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109. 017202.
- Wobeto VPDA, Zaccariotto TR, Sonati MF. Polymorphism of human haptoglobin and its clinical importance. Genet Mol Biol. 2008;31:602–20. https://doi.org/10.1590/ s1415-47572008000400002.
- Wu H, Wu H, Shi L, et al. The association of haptoglobin gene variants and retinopathy in type 2 diabetic patients: a meta-analysis. J Diabetes Res. 2017;2017:2195059. https://doi.org/10. 1155/2017/2195059.
- Zhang B, Tian Y, Jiang P, et al. MicroRNA-122a regulates zonulin by targeting EGFR in intestinal epithelial dysfunction. Cell Physiol Biochem. 2017;42:848–58.

Part IV

Functional Variables, Physiological Variables, and Platforms



Day-by-Day Home Blood Pressure Monitoring as a Biomarker in Diabetes



Links with Functional Variables [eGFR and Albuminuria]

Daisuke Suzuki, Satoshi Hoshide, and Kazuomi Kario

Contents

Introduction	707
Diabetes and BPV	708
Different Types of BPV and Related Evidence	708
Day-by-Day HBPV and Target Organ Damage or CVD	710
Current Status of DKD	711
Association Between HBP, Day-by-Day HBPV, and DKD	713
Perspectives on HBPM	718
Conclusion	718
Applications to Prognosis and Other Diseases or Conditions	718
Applications to Prognosis	718
Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions	719
Mini-Dictionary of Terms (5–15 terms)	719
Key Facts	719
Summary Points	721
References	721

D. Suzuki

Department of Medicine, Division of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Jichi Medical University Saitama Medical Center, Saitama, Japan e-mail: middleroad0619@jichi.ac.jp

S. Hoshide · K. Kario (⊠) Division of Cardiovascular Medicine, Department of Medicine, Jichi Medical University School of Medicine, Tochigi, Japan e-mail: hoshide@jichi.ac.jp; kkario@jichi.ac.jp

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2_36 705

Division of Cardiovascular Medicine, Department of Medicine, Jichi Medical University School of Medicine, Tochigi, Japan

Abstract

Home blood pressure (HBP) is an indispensable tool for hypertension management, because both increased mean HBP and day-by-day HBP variability (HBPV) have been associated with target organ damage and cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk independent of office blood pressure (OBP). Although hypertension is an important risk factor for diabetic kidney disease (DKD), data are sparse regarding the association between HBP or HBPV and DKD. The J-HOP study demonstrated that increased mean HBP levels were associated with albuminuria in both patients with and without diabetes, while increased day-by-day HBPV was associated with decreased renal function only in patients with diabetes. The burden of BP level and BPV may differ according to the phenotype of DKD, as classified by albuminuria and the estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR). HBP management using information and communication technology would provide a new strategy for risk stratification and prevention of CKD in the future.

Keywords

Albuminuria · CVD · Day-by-day HBPV · Diabetes · DKD · eGFR · HBP · ICT · OBP · Target organ damage

Abbreviations

ABPM	Ambulatory blood pressure monitoring
AOBP	Automated office blood pressure
ARV	Average real variability
baPWV	Brachial-ankle pulse wave velocity
BP	Blood pressure
BPV	Blood pressure variability
cfPWV	Carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity
COVID-19	Coronavirus disease 2019
CV	Coefficient of variation
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
DKD	Diabetic kidney disease
eGFR	Estimated glomerular filtration rate
ESRD	End-stage renal disease
HBP	Home blood pressure
HBPM	Home blood pressure monitoring
HBPV	Home blood pressure variation
HF	Heart failure
HSBP	Home systolic blood pressure
ICT	Information and communication technology
NT-pro BNP	N-terminal pro brain-type natriuretic peptide
OBP	Office blood pressure
PWV	Pulse wave velocity
RAAS	Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system

SBP	Systolic blood pressure
SD	Standard deviation
SHATS	Systemic hemodynamic atherothrombotic syndrome
UACR	Urine albumin-to-creatinine ratio
VIM	Variability independent of the mean

Introduction

Hypertension and diabetes are major causes of microvascular diseases (e.g., kidney disease, retinopathy) and macrovascular disease (e.g., stroke, heart failure (HF), and coronary artery disease) (Umemura et al. 2019; American Diabetes 2021a, b). A previous study demonstrated that diabetes and hypertension are independent risk factors for stroke and the risk is enhanced when both are present (Hu et al. 2005). Thus, in patients with diabetes, optimal blood pressure (BP) control is an important component of the management to prevent cardiovascular disease (CVD). However, the Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes Blood Pressure (ACCORD-BP) trial showed that lowering systolic blood pressure (SBP) to <120 mmHg did not reduce the composite outcome (nonfatal myocardial infarction, nonfatal stroke, and cardiovascular death) compared with lowering SBP to <140 mmHg in diabetic patients (Accord Study Group et al. 2010). Another study on diabetic patients reported that the home blood pressure (HBP) level was associated with CVD events, but office blood pressure (OBP) was not (Ushigome et al. 2021). This discrepancy may be explained by the different methodologies of BP measurement. In clinical practice, as an out-of-office BP measurement, ambulatory blood pressure monitoring (ABPM) and HBP measurement are recommended for the diagnosis and management of hypertension (Umemura et al. 2019; Whelton et al. 2018; Williams et al. 2018; Kario et al. 2019; Hoshide et al. 2020). In real-world settings, HBP measurement is preferable, because ABPM is more invasive and less convenient for both physicians and patients despite a number of studies showing that ABPM is clinically relevant (Kario et al. 2019; Umemura et al. 2019). The Ohasama study was the first to show that HBP was more predictive of mortality than OBP in a large cohort from the general population (Ohkubo et al. 1998). The Home Blood Pressure Measurement with Olmesartan Naive Patients to Establish Standard Target Blood Pressure (HONEST) study, a large study that included more than 20,000 Japanese patients with essential hypertension who were newly administered olmesartan, demonstrated that morning HBP was a predictor of coronary artery disease and stroke (Kario et al. 2016). The Japan Morning Surge-Home Blood Pressure (J-HOP) study, a nationwide observational study that enrolled over 4,000 Japanese patients with at least 1 cardiovascular risk factor or a history of CVD, showed that morning HBP improved the discrimination of stroke beyond that achieved by OBP and other cardiovascular risk factors (Hoshide et al. 2016). Thus, HBP measurement has been associated with a risk of CVD independent of OBP, and its predictive ability is better than that of OBP (Ohkubo et al. 1998; Kario et al. 2016; Hoshide et al. 2016).

HBPM can be used to measure blood pressure variability (BPV), and the difference between morning and evening BP levels or maximum mean HBP has been associated with risk for stroke or other CVDs (Narita et al. 2021b; Fujiwara et al. 2021). HBPM can also detect seasonal BPV. This is important, because BP levels have been associated with temperature (Umishio et al. 2021; Kubozono et al. 2021), and there are differences in the BPV pattern between seasons (Narita et al. 2020, 2021a). In addition, HBPM is available to measure BP every day over the long term, thereby allowing the assessment of day-by-day BP variability. Increased day-by-day home blood pressure variation (HBPV) has been associated with both target organ damages and new onset of CVD independent of the mean HBP level (Ishiyama et al. 2020; Godai et al. 2020; Hoshide et al. 2018). However, to accurately evaluate multiple home BP readings and easily utilize them in clinical practice, an information and communication technology (ICT)-based system is essential.

Diabetic kidney disease (DKD) has been attracting attention, because the phenotype of DKD has changed due to aging and use of RAAS blockers (Hirakawa et al. 2017). The phenotypes of DKD are divided into DKD with albuminuria, lower eGFR, or both. Albuminuria is associated with new onset of CVD events (Schmieder et al. 2007). Lower eGFR is associated with increased mortality (Hallan et al. 2012). Hypertension is one of the most important risks for DKD. Although the prevention and improvement of albuminuria and lower eGFR are important, whether lower BP control prevents the progression of DKD has been debated. There is scant evidence that intensive BP treatment improves renal outcome and the target BP for DKD differs among the different guidelines (Whelton et al. 2018; Williams et al. 2018; Georgianos and Agarwal 2021). Thus, DKD and related CVD events may not be linked to mean BP level, but rather to other BP parameters. A recent paper reported that not mean BP but BPV was associated with lower eGFR in diabetes patients (Suzuki et al. 2020). BPV may thus be a more important BP parameter than mean BP in patients with DKD.

In this chapter, we discuss the clinical significance of BPV for diabetes, with a particular focus on DKD.

Diabetes and BPV

Different Types of BPV and Related Evidence

Because BP fluctuates over both the short and long term, BPV is classified into some categories: beat-to-beat, diurnal, day-by-day, visit-to-visit, seasonal, and yearly BPV (Fig. 1) (Kario 2015). In general, BPV is a temporal response to diverse environmental stimulations, including physical and mental stressors that allow the cardio-vascular system to function properly (Cuspidi et al. 2021; Parati et al. 2020). However, a sustained increase in BPV may represent a change in cardiovascular mechanisms, which may itself lead to target organ damage and cardiovascular events (Parati et al. 2020). Currently, there are several indexes of BPV that are variously evaluated by OBP, HBP, or ABPM. The associations among these BPV indexes are



Fig. 1 Type of BPV. BPV includes diurnal, day-by-day, visit-to-visit, seasonal, and yearly. This variability could be detected by ABPM, OBP, and HBP. BPV is associated with target organ damage and CVD, independent of BP level

Table 1 Characteristics of BPV in patients with diabetes

Nocturnal hypertension
Non-dipper/riser pattern
Masked hypertension
Orthostatic BP dysregulation (orthostatic hypotension and hypertension)
Postprandial hypotension

not strong, suggesting that each BPV index may represent a different aspect of BPV (Abellan-Huerta et al. 2018). A previous study showed that each of these BPV indexes is associated with CVD and the prognostic power of BPV for CVD was higher than that of mean BP (Stevens et al. 2016). However, that study was unable to determine which BPV index was most effective for the prediction of CVD.

Previous studies reported that patients with diabetes were more likely to have unique BPV patterns, such as nocturnal hypertension, a non-dipper/riser pattern, orthostatic BP dysregulation (orthostatic hypotension and hypertension), or postprandial hypotension, compared to those without diabetes (Table 1) (de la Sierra et al. 2009; Cuspidi et al. 2017; Chang et al. 2018; Yoshinari et al. 2001; Thoonkuzhy and Rahman 2020). These BPV patterns in diabetic patients may be explained by autonomic neuropathy and progressed arterial stiffness (Eguchi et al. 2020, 2021a; Hoshide et al. 2021, 2008, 2012; Fujiwara et al. 2020). For example, both riser and non-dipper patterns have been associated with target organ damage and CVD (Komori et al. 2017; Kario et al. 2020). The Japan Ambulatory Blood Pressure Monitoring Prospective (JAMP) study, a nationwide multicenter observational study including patients with at least one CVD risk factor, demonstrated that every 20 mmHg increase in nighttime SBP led to an increase in the risks of CVD (hazard ratio 1.21; 95%CI 1.03–1.41) and HF (hazard ratio 1.36; 95%CI 1.08–1.71) and abnormal diurnal BPV (i.e., a riser pattern) was related to higher risks of CVD (hazard ratio 1.48; 95%CI 1.05–2.08) and HF (hazard ratio 2.45; 95%CI 1.34–4.48) compared with normal diurnal BPV (a dipper pattern) (Kario et al. 2020).

In diabetic patients, several studies have reported that higher BPV confers a risk for CVD (Cardoso et al. 2021; Kilpatrick et al. 2010; Hata et al. 2013; Wan et al. 2017; Kaze et al. 2021; Yu et al. 2019). In patients with type 2 diabetes, increased short-term BPV such as that measured by the standard deviation (SD) of ABPM, particularly daytime diastolic BPV, was a risk for new onset of CVD and mortality, but not for microvascular disease (neuropathy, retinopathy, and nephropathy) (Cardoso et al. 2021). In patients with type 1 diabetes, both the OBP level and visit-to-visit BPV assessed by office BP were independent predictors of the development of nephropathy (Kilpatrick et al. 2010). In patients with type 2 diabetes, visit-to-visit BPV was a risk factor for microvascular disease (retinopathy or new or progression nephropathy), CVD events, and mortality (Hata et al. 2013; Wan et al. 2017; Kaze et al. 2021; Yu et al. 2019). Thus, BPV may be an important biomarker of CVD in patients with diabetes.

Day-by-Day HBPV and Target Organ Damage or CVD

Day-by-day HBPV is one of the types of BPV assessed by HBP. Day-by-day HBPV can be evaluated using the SD, coefficient of variation (CV), average real variability (ARV), or variability independent of the mean (VIM) as a statistical method. As shown in Fig. 2, SD is the standard deviation of the BP measured on each day, and



Fig. 2 Day-by-day HBPV index. SD is the standard deviation of the BP measured on each day, and CV is SD divided by the mean BP. ARV is estimated as the absolute difference between each of the BP values on consecutive days

CV is the SD divided by the mean BP. ARV is estimated as the absolute difference between each of the BP readings on consecutive days, and unlike when determining SD and CV, the order of BP measurements is also taken into account when determining ARV (Hoshide et al. 2018). SD, CV, and ARV are partially related to the BP level, and correcting for BP may not completely remove the influence of BP level. The VIM, which is an index of day-by-day HBPV unrelated to mean BP, was estimated by a fitting curve using the mean SBP and SD of SBP (Dolan and O'Brien 2010). Because VIM is not a clinical measurement but a statistical tool (Dolan and O'Brien 2010), it is not suitable for use by physicians in clinical practice.

Each of these day-by-day HBPV indices is considered to be a predictor of the risk of target organ damage and onset of CVD, but it is unclear which index is the best prognostic marker. The J-HOP study showed that the adjusted hazard ratios (95%CI) of a 1-SD increase in SD, CV, ARV, and VIM of day-by-day HBPV for the risk of CVD were 1.32 (95%CI 1.14–1.53), 1.32 (1.14–1.52), 1.25 (1.10–1.41), and 1.32 (1.14–1.52), respectively. Thus, there was no remarkable difference in the risk of CVD among day-by-day HBPM indexes (Hoshide et al. 2018).

Current Status of DKD

DKD is one of the risk factors for end-stage renal disease (ESRD) in patients with diabetes. Although the definition of DKD is still under discussion (Hirakawa et al. 2017), previous studies defined DKD as kidney disease accompanied with diabetes mellitus, regardless of renal biopsy (Hirakawa et al. 2017; Yokoyama et al. 2020). The DKD phenotypes include DKD with albuminuria, lower eGFR, or both (Fig. 3). Classically, diabetic nephropathy was initially characterized by the presence of albuminuria in patients with diabetes. Subsequently, the patient with albuminuria develops macroalbuminuria and experiences a decrease in eGFR, leading to ESRD (Nelson et al. 1996; Gaede et al. 1999). This pathway is based on the glomerular hypertension pathway. Glomerular hypertension, caused by various factors such as diabetes, leads to irreversible nephron damage and progression of DKD (Brenner et al. 1996; Tonneijck et al. 2017). However, some diabetic patients show a decrease in eGFR without the appearance of albuminuria.

RAAS blockers are innovative drugs for DKD. RAAS blockers reduce intraglomerular pressure and result in albumin excretion (Leoncini et al. 2020). Several studies have reported that the use of RAAS blockers reduces albuminuria in patients with diabetes (Viberti et al. 2002; Haneda et al. 2004). Epidemiologically, the prevalence of DKD without albuminuria has increased, and the prevalence of mortality in patients with DKD without albuminuria increased in 2007–2010 compared to that in 1988–1994 (Kramer et al. 2018). Pathologically, kidney tissue in patients with DKD with albuminuria undergoes changes such as mesangial extracellular matrix accumulation and glomerular basement membrane thickening (Gnudi et al. 2016), whereas kidney tissue in patients with DKD without albuminuria is characterized by progresses to vascular and tubulointerstitial lesions like those in hypertension-associated nephrosclerosis (Shimizu et al. 2014). DKD leads to ESRD



Fig. 3 Phenotypes of DKD and risk of CVD and rapid eGFR decline. DKD is classified into four phenotypes according to the presence or absence of albuminuria and reduced eGFR. Each of the four phenotypes may have a different risk of CVD and rapid eGFR decline. Classically, the decline in eGFR occurs after the appearance of albuminuria. However, there are types of eGFR decrease without albuminuria. Each pathway has risk factors

irrespective of the presence of albuminuria. The different phenotypes of DKD are characterized by different pathologies, and these pathologies in turn make different contributions to CVD occurrence and renal disease progression.

However, it remains a matter of debate whether DKD patients without albuminuria have worse prognosis compared to those with albuminuria. The Renal Insufficiency and Cardiovascular Events Italian Multicentre (RIACE) study reported that both patients with albuminuria but not lower eGFR and patients with lower eGFR but not albuminuria had higher CVD risk than those without either albuminuria or lower eGFR in an Italian population (adjusted hazard ratio, 1.45; 95%CI 1.33–1.58 and 1.58; 95%CI 1.43-1.75, respectively) (Penno et al. 2018). In a study enrolling Japanese patients with diabetes (the Japan Diabetes Clinical Data Management [JDDM] study), the patients with albuminuria but not lower eGFR had higher CVD risk than those without either albuminuria or lower eGFR (adjusted hazard ratio 1.75; 95%CI 1.32–2.3), whereas those with lower eGFR but not albuminuria did not have a higher risk of CVD (adjusted hazard ratio 1.06; 95%CI 0.63–1.79) (Yokoyama et al. 2020). This discrepancy may be explained by differences in the race or background of patients. Enrolled patients in the RIACE study were older and higher SBP levels than those in the JDDM. Age and hypertension are strongly linked to arteriosclerosis. In diabetic patients with advanced arteriosclerosis, DKD represented as lower eGFR may be a higher risk for CVD, regardless of the presence of albuminuria.

However, a previous study reported that the risk of eGFR decline in patients with lower eGFR but not albuminuria was lower than that in patients with albuminuria but not lower eGFR (Yokoyama et al. 2020). Another study showed that diabetic patients with albuminuria and lower eGFR had a higher rate of eGFR decline than those with lower eGFR but not albuminuria (Kove et al. 2018). Those studies suggested that the presence of albuminuria would be a determinant of eGFR decline, i.e., DKD progression. Moreover, other reports found that 10% of type 1 diabetic patients without albuminuria experienced a rapid decline of eGFR [>3.3% per year (this value means 2.5th percentile of the distribution of renal function decline in the general population (Lindeman et al. 1985; Krolewski et al. 2014))] as calculated by the combination of serum creatinine and cystatin C and the risks for rapid decline of eGFR were lower level of baseline eGFR; higher age; higher levels of uric acid, SBP, and tumor necrosis factor receptor 1 or 2; and higher diabetes duration in patients with type 1 diabetes and non-albuminuria (Krolewski et al. 2014). Another study demonstrated that advanced arterial stiffness assessed by baPWV was also associated with lower eGFR in patients without albuminuria (Kume et al. 2019). A multicenter, open-label study demonstrated that intensive therapy for multifactorial factors such as high glucose, BP, and lipid levels reduced the incidence of renal outcome compared with a standard treatment group (hazard ratio 0.68; 95%CI 0.56–0.82) in diabetic patients (Ueki et al. 2017). Especially, intensive glucose control alone was not sufficient to realize an improvement in renal outcome compared to a standard treatment group (Ueki et al. 2017; Advance Collaborative Group et al. 2008; Perkovic et al. 2013). To prevent DKD progression, total cardiovascular risk management is necessary.

Association Between HBP, Day-by-Day HBPV, and DKD

The J-HOP study examined whether the mean home BP level and the day-by-day HBPV have different associations with albuminuria and lower eGFR in patients with and without diabetes (Suzuki et al. 2020). The results showed that, in both patient groups, increased mean home BP levels were associated with albuminuria, while increased day-by-day HBPV was associated with lower eGFR only in the patients with diabetes (Fig. 4 and Table 2) (Suzuki et al. 2020). Depending on the phenotype of DKD classified by albuminuria and eGFR, there may be differences in the burden between the BP level and BPV (Suzuki et al. 2020).

Association Between HBP Level and Albuminuria

Hypertension is one of the most important risk factors for albuminuria. Increased OBP has also been associated with albuminuria and progression of albuminuria (Schmitz et al. 1994). Mean HSBP levels have also been associated with albuminuria, and this association has been observed independent of the OBP level (Suzuki et al. 2020). This association has also been confirmed in other populations (Matsumoto et al. 2017; Gaborieau et al. 2008). In patients with uncontrolled morning HBP, the titration of bedtime dosing of an alpha-adrenergic blocker significantly reduced morning HBP and albuminuria, and the reduction in morning HBP was associated with decreased albuminuria (Kario et al. 2008). Moreover, the



Fig. 4 Association between increased average HBP or increased day-by-day HBPV and albuminuria or decreased eGFR. Increased HBP was associated with albuminuria. On the other hand, increased day-by-day HBPV was associated with decreased eGFR only in patients with diabetes

administration of a RAAS blocker at bedtime reduced morning HBP and albuminuria, but there was no significant difference in the reduction of morning HBP between the administration of a RAAS blocker at bedtime and in the morning (Kario et al. 2010). Interestingly, however, the reduction in albuminuria was greater by the administration of a RAAS blocker at bedtime than by morning administration (Kario et al. 2010).

Association Between Day-by-Day Home BPV and Albuminuria

The J-HOP study demonstrated that day-by-day HSBP was not associated with albuminuria in patients with diabetes (Suzuki et al. 2020). On the other hand, the KAMOGAWA study, which enrolled 858 patients with type 2 diabetes, revealed that day-by-day HSBP as evaluated by CV was associated with albuminuria independent of CVD risks, including mean HBP level (Ushigome et al. 2011). The KAMOGAWA study also reported that day-by-day morning home SBP was a predictor for the progression of albuminuria, but day-by-day home evening SBP was not (Ushigome et al. 2018). This discrepancy may be explained by differences in the study populations. Namely, the rate of antihypertensive medication use and the mean HBP in the J-HOP study were higher than those in the KAMOGAWA study. This suggests day-by-day HBPV may have an impact on albuminuria in populations with relatively good HBP control. However, further research will be needed to determine whether HBPV is useful as a predictor of progression of albuminuria.

Association Between HBP Level and eGFR

The J-HOP study also showed that the mean HSBP level was not associated with lower eGFR, independent of CVD risks including OBP in patients with diabetes (Suzuki et al. 2020). Other previous studies also found that there was no association between the OBP level and eGFR in other populations. In a study on 150 patients

	T continue	ATT Lamonda	Ę			CED.				
	Log-tran	stormed UA	CK			eurk				
<u> </u>	Without	diabetes	With diabe	etes		Without d	iabetes	With diab	etes	
	(n = 315)	(26	(n = 1034)	((n = 3197)	<u> </u>	(n = 1034)	(1	
variables	β	b	β	p	p for interaction	β	p	β	b	p for interaction
rning SBP										
srage BP, per 1SD	0.211	<0.001	0.276	<0.001	0.062	0.189	0.560	0.742	0.254	0.828
; per 1SD	0.024	0.225	0.018	0.674	0.526	-0.432	0.119	-1.373	0.011	0.103
V, per 1SD	0.037	0.069	0.112	0.014	0.097	-0.338	0.245	-1.650	0.003	0.055
ening SBP										
srage BP, per 1SD	0.172	< 0.001	0.257	< 0.001	0.036	-0.848	0.006	-0.837	0.184	0.872
, per 1SD	0.003	0.861	-0.017	0.689	0.416	-0.042	0.881	-1.169	0.030	0.029
V, per 1SD	0.019	0.361	-0.018	0.686	0.588	-0.084	0.771	-1.206	0.030	0.043
V, per ISD	0.019	0.361	-0.018	0.686	0.588	-0.084	0.771	1	1.206	1.206 0.030

Table 2 Multiple linear regression analysis of SBP variables for log-transformed UACR and eGFR. The models of average BP included age, sex, BMI, hyperlipidemia, prevalent cardiovascular disease, antihypertensive drug, and office SBP. The models of CV and ARV included the covariates used in the model of average BP and the average moming or evening SBP. The Revolue evenesces the risk associated with a 1-SD increases in the evel antiony variables (Survivi et al. with CKD patients, OBP was not associated with lower eGFR (Nakano et al. 2015). In a meta-analysis, a reduction in OBP did not reduce the risk of renal outcome defined by ESRD, transplantation, or death (Ettehad et al. 2016). Not only higher SBP but also lower SBP was associated with faster declines of eGFR, i.e., the J-curve phenomenon (Jafar et al. 2003). Renal failure is caused by multiple pathological mechanisms, and both lower and higher BP may contribute to its formation (Ettehad et al. 2016).

Association Between Day-by-Day Home BPV and eGFR

In the J-HOP study, the association between an increase in day-by-day home BPV and lower eGFR was confirmed in patients with diabetes, but not in those without (Suzuki et al. 2020). In a cross-sectional study of 268 patients with type 2 diabetes, increased day-by-day HSBP was also associated with lower eGFR (Nishimura et al. 2013). However, in a study of 135 patients with stage 3–5 CKD, day-by-day HBPV was not related with progression of CKD (Okada et al. 2012). These previous studies suggest that day-by-day HBPV may be associated with lower eGFR only in patients with diabetes.

In order to explain the association between HBPV and renal function, we propose the concept of SHATS to describe the relationship between hemodynamic stress, including BPV, and vascular disease (Fig. 5) (Kario 2015, 2019).

While hemodynamic stress is composed of BPV and central/focal BP, vascular disease is composed of large artery disease and strain vessel disease. Exaggerated hemodynamic stress leads to a progression of vascular disease, and, in a vicious cycle, progression of vascular disease itself leads to an increase in hemodynamic stress. In addition, this cycle is further accelerated by risk factors such as diabetes, dyslipidemia, thrombotic risk, inflammation, and CKD (Kario 2013). In this way,



Fig. 5 The concept of systemic hemodynamic atherothrombotic syndrome. Hemodynamic stress such as BPV and vascular disease form a synergistic vicious circle and result in target organ damage and CVD events. Diabetes is one of the risk factors of SHATS

hemodynamic stress and vascular disease have a negative synergistic effect on each other, exacerbating their respective elements and resulting in target organ damage and cardiovascular events. Specifically, the J-HOP study also demonstrated that a group with higher baPWV (>1800 cm/s), which is widely used as surrogate marker of arterial stiffness, exhibited a greater association between a higher day-by-day HBPV index and NT-pro BNP than did a group with lower baPWV (<1800 cm/s) and there was an interaction between day-by-day HBP variability and NT-pro BNP according to the presence of higher baBWV (Ishiyama et al. 2020). In addition, the day-by-day HBPV index was associated with new onset of CVD events only in the higher baPWV group (>1800 cm/s) and not in lower baPWV group (<1800 cm/s) (Ishiyama et al. 2021). To improve this negative synergistic cycle, an improvement of each component is necessary. Diabetes is one of the risk factors of SHATS. Therefore, in patients with diabetes, the exaggerated BPV is not fully absorbed by vessels but rather is transmitted to organs, causing damage. In diabetic patients, evidence that glucose variability confers a risk of macrovascular and microvascular events has accumulated (Hirakawa et al. 2014; Jang et al. 2019). Forms of glucose variability such as postprandial hyperglycemia have been shown to cause an increase of oxidative stress and result in injury to endothelial cells and artery damage (Monnier et al. 2006).

As we discussed above, day-by-day HBPV would be useful as a biomarker of DKD. On the other hand, the evidence about day-by-day HBPV as a risk factor is limited, in part because there is insufficient evidence about specific treatments for dayby-day HBPV (Fig. 6). For example, one study showed that a fix-dose combination of



Fig. 6 Current status and perspectives on HBPV. HBPV is associated with target organ damage and CVD beyond the HBP level. However, HBPV is not yet widely used in clinical practice. It is important to accumulate evidence for practical use and to reduce CVD events in the future

cilnidipine and valsartan reduced SD, CV, and ARV of morning HBP (Kario et al. 2021b). It is anticipated that future studies will establish treatments that reduce day-byday HBPM and thereby the incidence of target organ damage and CVD.

Perspectives on HBPM

ICT-based multisensor home and ambulatory BP monitoring (IMS-ABPM) has been developed (Kario et al. 2017) and would provide various benefits to healthcare providers and patients (Kario et al. 2017). On March 11, 2011, the Great East Japan earthquake occurred. In the disaster area, a web-based HBP monitoring system (the Disaster CArdiovascular Prevention [DCAP] Network) was introduced and used to perform BP control with web-based HBP monitoring, which achieved strict home BP control in the patients with disaster hypertension and minimized seasonal BPV over the long term (Nishizawa et al. 2017). With the current threat of COVID-19, there is a growing demand for online medicine and telemedicine. HBPM using ICT can provide both patients and clinicians with sufficient information for risk management. In addition, HBPM can be taken over several consecutive days across a period of time, while other BP measurements such as ABPM and OBP can only be taken on one specific day and may not take into account day-by-day variations. HBPM is a relatively simple-to-use and low-cost measurement. From this point of view, ICT modalities such as HBPM would be a useful tool for BP control in clinical practice for all patients (Kario 2021).

Conclusion

The results about the association between day-by-day HBPV and DKD suggest that day-by-day HBPV may be useful as a biomarker of diabetes. Therefore, the assessment of HBPV would contribute to the prevention of ESRD or CVD. HBPM using ICT management allows more appropriate risk management. On the other hand, the pathological threshold of HBPV and related specific treatments remain a challenge.

Applications to Prognosis and Other Diseases or Conditions

Applications to Prognosis

This chapter demonstrated the association between HBP or HBPV and albuminuria or renal function according to the presence or absence of diabetes (Suzuki et al. 2020). Increased mean BP levels were associated with albuminuria irrespective of the presence of diabetes, while increased day-by-day HBPV was associated with decreased renal function only in patients with diabetes. The pathogenesis of DKD is linked to hypertension, but the mechanism underlying this link is not fully understood. In addition, the pathological findings, risk of CVD, and rate of eGFR decline
differ according to the DKD phenotype. Thus, the burden of BP level and BPV may also differ according to the DKD phenotype. BPV may be useful in risk stratification and predicting prognosis for DKD.

Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions

In this chapter, we reviewed the association between day-by-day HBPV and target organ damage or CVD. Increased day-by-day HBPV was associated with new-onset CVD, independent of CVD risk factors, including mean HSBP level and target organ damage (Hoshide et al. 2018). The J-HOP study also demonstrated that a higher baPWV (\geq 1800 cm/s) group had greater values of the day-by-day HBPV index than a lower baPWV group (<1800 cm/s) (Ishiyama et al. 2020). In addition, day-by-day HBPV was associated with NT-pro BNP only in the higher baPWV group, and there was an interaction between day-by-day HBPV and the NT-pro BNP according to the presence of higher baPWV (Ishiyama et al. 2020). Hemodynamic stress such as day-by-day HBPV and arterial stiffness may form a synergistic vicious cycle with each other, resulting in target organ damage and CVD (the SHATS hypothesis). Day-by-day HBPV could be a biomarker for predicting of CVD in clinical practice.

Mini-Dictionary of Terms (5–15 terms)

- **CVD:** Includes such conditions as angina pectoris, myocardial infarction, and stroke.
- **Nephrosclerosis:** A condition for which arteriosclerosis in the kidney is the main pathology. Hypertension is one of the most common causes of nephrosclerosis.
- **Non-dipper pattern:** Normally, nighttime BP is 10–20% lower than daytime BP. A non-dipper pattern is often defined as a 0–10% decrease in BP from daytime to nighttime. Sometimes, the non-dipper pattern also includes the riser pattern.
- Masked hypertension: A normal OBP level and high out-of-office BP level.
- **Target organ damage:** Includes kidney and cardiovascular damages. Surrogate marker indicators for target organ damage include UACR, eGFR, the left ventricular mass index, and NT-pro BNP.
- **Riser pattern:** A form of abnormal BPV in which nighttime BP is higher than daytime BP.

Key Facts

Key facts of albuminuria: In the past, albuminuria was measured by 24-hour urine collection, but recently, albuminuria measured by spot urine is often validated and used as an alternative measure (Bakris 2001). Because albuminuria measured by spot urine can be influenced by many factors, such as exercise and dehydration (Bakris 2001), multiple measurements are recommended. Microalbuminuria is

defined as 30 mg/gCr \leq UACR < 300 mg/gCr, and macroalbuminuria is defined as UACR \geq 300 mg/gCr (Levin and Stevens 2014). Albuminuria is associated with new onset of hypertension, CVD event, and ESRD (Wang et al. 2005; Schmieder et al. 2007). In general, patients with diabetic nephropathy with macroalbuminuria experience a decline in eGFR (Nelson et al. 1996).

Key facts of OBP: OBP is the gold standard method of BP measurement in daily practice. OBP levels are associated with new onset of CVD (Umemura et al. 2019). OBP is measured twice, at least 1–2 minutes apart, and if the two readings are more than 5 mmHg apart, an additional measurement is recommended (Umemura et al. 2019). BP levels measured by OBP are variable and easily affected by the white-coat effect. Recently, a method called AOBP has been developed. This method can be performed in a quiet environment by a patient alone and can exclude the white-coat effect; it has already been used in many clinical studies (Umemura et al. 2019).

Key facts of ABPM: ABPM is available to measure BP every 15–30 minutes under free conditions on a specific day (Umemura et al. 2019). The evaluation of BP is divided into 24-hour BP, nighttime BP, and daytime BP. Diurnal BPV is assessed. In addition, by combining OBP with ABPM, masked hypertension and white-coat hypertension can be detected, and these phenotypes of hypertension have different clinical significance (Umemura et al. 2019). While ABPM is more predictive of CVD events than OBP, it also has several disadvantages, such as sleep disturbance, discomfort, and cost issues.

Key facts of eGFR: eGFR is calculated by creatinine, gender, and age (Matsuo et al. 2009). If available, inulin clearance or creatinine clearance is accurate and recommended for the evaluation of renal function. The presence of high muscle mass is associated with a higher creatinine level, which results in lower eGFR. In subjects of 45 years or older, the decline in eGFR takes place at twice the rate compared with that in younger subjects (Poggio et al. 2009). Lower eGFR is associated with increased mortality (Hallan et al. 2012).

Key facts of HBP (see main text): HBP is better than OBP in predicting CVD events (Ohkubo et al. 1998; Kario et al. 2016; Hoshide et al. 2016). HBP is usually measured in the morning and evening, with morning HBP being particularly useful for predicting CVD events (Kario et al. 2016; Hoshide et al. 2016). HBP is also highly reproducible. In general, wrist-type BP measurement has not been admitted in the guidelines, because of inadequate arterial compression and inaccuracy. HBP is usually measured in the upper arm. Recently, a validated wrist-type BP measurement device was developed.

Key facts of PWV: PWV is the speed at which arterial pulse from the heart is transmitted to the artery in waves (pulsations) (Tanaka et al. 2018). PWV is used as one of the indicators of arterial stiffness. PWV measurements are mainly evaluated by carotid-femoral PWV (cfPWV) and brachial-ankle PWV (baPWV) (Tanaka et al. 2018). Both increased cfPWV and baPWV have been associated with conventional cardiovascular risk factors (Tanaka et al. 2018). In addition, increased PWV has been shown to be a predictor of CVD events (Tanaka et al. 2018). baPWV \geq 1800 cm/s (Tanaka et al. 2018) and cfPWV \geq 1000 cm/s (Van Bortel et al. 2012) have often been proposed as cut-offs for high risk of CVD.

Summary Points

- In diabetes patients, ACCORD-BP showed that lowering SBP to <120 mmHg did not reduce the composite outcome (nonfatal myocardial infarction, nonfatal stroke, and cardiovascular death) compared with lowering SBP to <140 mmHg in diabetes patients.
- Hypertension is associated with a risk of DKD, but the degree to which hypertension contributes to DKD has not been fully understood.
- The use of OBP (including AOBP) alone is not sufficient for hypertension management.
- Both HBP and HBPV have been associated with target organ damage and CVD events independent of OBP, and thus HBPM is more important for risk stratification than OBP.
- In patients with diabetes, the characteristics of blood pressure variation are nocturnal hypertension, non-dipper/riser pattern, orthostatic hypotension, and postprandial hypotension.
- DKD phenotypes include DKD with albuminuria, lower eGFR, or both.
- CVD risk and renal outcome differ according to DKD phenotype.
- In DKD without albuminuria, eGFR generally declines at a slower rate, but in some cases, eGFR declines at a faster rate, which is related to hypertension in this pathway.
- · Day-by-day HBPV is also associated with target organ damage and CVD.
- There is not enough information about the associations among HBP, HBPV, albuminuria, and renal function.
- The J-HOP study demonstrated that in diabetic patient groups, increased mean BP levels were associated with albuminuria, while increased day-by-day HBPV values were associated with decreased renal function.
- Depending on the DKD phenotype classified by albuminuria and eGFR, the burden posed by BP level and BPV in patients with DKD may be different.
- Assessment of BP using ICT management would provide more appropriate risk management.

References

- Abellan-Huerta J, Prieto-Valiente L, Montoro-Garcia S, Abellan-Aleman J, Soria-Arcos F. Correlation of blood pressure variability as measured by clinic, self-measurement at home, and ambulatory blood pressure monitoring. Am J Hypertens. 2018;31(3):305–12. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajh/hpx183.
- American Diabetes A. 10. Cardiovascular disease and risk management: standards of medical Care in Diabetes-2021. Diabetes Care. 2021a;44(Suppl 1):S125–50. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc21-S010.
- American Diabetes A. 11. Microvascular complications and foot care: standards of medical Care in Diabetes-2021. Diabetes Care. 2021b;44(Suppl 1):S151–67. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc21-S011.
- Bakris GL. Microalbuminuria: what is it? Why is it important? What should be done about it? J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich). 2001;3(2):99–102. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1524-6175.2001.00442.x.

- Brenner BM, Lawler EV, Mackenzie HS. The hyperfiltration theory: a paradigm shift in nephrology. Kidney Int. 1996;49(6):1774–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/ki.1996.265.
- Cardoso CRL, Salles GC, Leite NC, Salles GF. Prognostic impact of short-term ambulatory blood pressure variability for microvascular and macrovascular outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes: the Rio de Janeiro type 2 Diabetes cohort study. J Hypertens. 2021;39(5):935–46. https://doi.org/10.1097/HJH.00000000002710.
- Chang J, Hou YP, Wu JL, Fang XY, Li SL, Liu MB, et al. Blood pressure circadian rhythms and adverse outcomes in type 2 diabetes patients diagnosed with orthostatic hypotension. J Diabetes Investig. 2018;9(2):383–8. https://doi.org/10.1111/jdi.12691.
- Cuspidi C, Sala C, Tadic M, Gherbesi E, De Giorgi A, Grassi G, et al. Clinical and prognostic significance of a reverse dipping pattern on ambulatory monitoring: an updated review. J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich). 2017;19(7):713–21. https://doi.org/10.1111/jch.13023.
- Cuspidi C, Carugo S, Tadic M. Blood pressure variability and target organ damage regression in hypertension. J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich). 2021;23(6):1159–61. https://doi.org/10.1111/jch. 14208.
- de la Sierra A, Redon J, Banegas JR, Segura J, Parati G, Gorostidi M, et al. Prevalence and factors associated with circadian blood pressure patterns in hypertensive patients. Hypertension. 2009;53(3):466–72. https://doi.org/10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.108.124008.
- Dolan E, O'Brien E. Blood pressure variability: clarity for clinical practice. Hypertension. 2010;56(2):179-81. https://doi.org/10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.110.154708.
- Eguchi K, Ishikawa J, Hoshide S, Pickering TG, Schwartz JE, Shimada K, et al. Night time blood pressure variability is a strong predictor for cardiovascular events in patients with type 2 diabetes. Am J Hypertens. 2009;22(1):46–51. https://doi.org/10.1038/ajh.2008.294.
- Ettehad D, Emdin CA, Kiran A, Anderson SG, Callender T, Emberson J, et al. Blood pressure lowering for prevention of cardiovascular disease and death: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Lancet. 2016;387(10022):957–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01225-8.
- Fujiwara T, Hoshide S, Kanegae H, Kario K. Cardiovascular event risks associated With masked nocturnal hypertension defined by home blood pressure monitoring in the J-HOP nocturnal blood pressure study. Hypertension. 2020;76(1):259–66. https://doi.org/10.1161/HYPER-TENSIONAHA.120.14790.
- Fujiwara T, Hoshide S, Kanegae H, Kario K. Clinical impact of the maximum mean value of home blood pressure on cardiovascular outcomes: a novel indicator of home blood pressure variability. Hypertension. 2021:HYPERTENSIONAHA12117362. https://doi.org/10.1161/HYPER-TENSIONAHA.121.17362.
- Gaborieau V, Delarche N, Gosse P. Ambulatory blood pressure monitoring versus self-measurement of blood pressure at home: correlation with target organ damage. J Hypertens. 2008;26(10): 1919–27. https://doi.org/10.1097/HJH.0b013e32830c4368.
- Gaede P, Vedel P, Parving HH, Pedersen O. Intensified multifactorial intervention in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and microalbuminuria: the steno type 2 randomised study. Lancet. 1999;353(9153):617–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(98)07368-1.
- Georgianos PI, Agarwal R. Hypertension in chronic kidney disease (CKD): diagnosis, classification, and therapeutic targets. Am J Hypertens. 2021;34(4):318–26. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajh/ hpaa209.
- Gnudi L, Coward RJM, Long DA. Diabetic nephropathy: perspective on novel molecular mechanisms. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2016;27(11):820–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tem.2016. 07.002.
- Godai K, Kabayama M, Gondo Y, Yasumoto S, Sekiguchi T, Noma T, et al. Day-to-day blood pressure variability is associated with lower cognitive performance among the Japanese community-dwelling oldest-old population: the SONIC study. Hypertens Res. 2020;43(5): 404–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41440-019-0377-5.
- Group AC, Patel A, MacMahon S, Chalmers J, Neal B, Billot L, et al. Intensive blood glucose control and vascular outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2008;358(24): 2560–72. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0802987.

- Group AS, Cushman WC, Evans GW, Byington RP, Goff DC Jr, Grimm RH Jr, et al. Effects of intensive blood-pressure control in type 2 diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med. 2010;362(17): 1575–85. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1001286.
- Hallan SI, Matsushita K, Sang Y, Mahmoodi BK, Black C, Ishani A, et al. Age and association of kidney measures with mortality and end-stage renal disease. JAMA. 2012;308(22):2349–60. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2012.16817.
- Haneda M, Kikkawa R, Sakai H, Kawamori R, Candesartan in Diabetic Nephropathy Study, G. Antiproteinuric effect of candesartan cilexetil in Japanese subjects with type 2 diabetes and nephropathy. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2004;66(1):87–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres. 2004.02.015.
- Hata J, Arima H, Rothwell PM, Woodward M, Zoungas S, Anderson C, et al. Effects of visit-to-visit variability in systolic blood pressure on macrovascular and microvascular complications in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: the ADVANCE trial. Circulation. 2013;128(12):1325–34. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.002717.
- Hirakawa Y, Arima H, Zoungas S, Ninomiya T, Cooper M, Hamet P, et al. Impact of visit-to-visit glycemic variability on the risks of macrovascular and microvascular events and all-cause mortality in type 2 diabetes: the ADVANCE trial. Diabetes Care. 2014;37(8):2359–65. https:// doi.org/10.2337/dc14-0199.
- Hirakawa Y, Tanaka T, Nangaku M. Mechanisms of metabolic memory and renal hypoxia as a therapeutic target in diabetic kidney disease. J Diabetes Investig. 2017;8(3):261–71. https://doi.org/10.1111/jdi.12624.
- Hoshide S, Matsui Y, Shibasaki S, Eguchi K, Ishikawa J, Ishikawa S, et al. Orthostatic hypertension detected by self-measured home blood pressure monitoring: a new cardiovascular risk factor for elderly hypertensives. Hypertens Res. 2008;31(8):1509–16. https://doi.org/10.1291/hypres.31.1509.
- Hoshide S, Parati G, Matsui Y, Shibazaki S, Eguchi K, Kario K. Orthostatic hypertension: home blood pressure monitoring for detection and assessment of treatment with doxazosin. Hypertens Res. 2012;35(1):100–6. https://doi.org/10.1038/hr.2011.156.
- Hoshide S, Yano Y, Haimoto H, Yamagiwa K, Uchiba K, Nagasaka S, et al. Morning and evening home blood pressure and risks of incident stroke and coronary artery disease in the Japanese general practice population: the Japan morning surge-home blood pressure study. Hypertension. 2016;68(1):54–61. https://doi.org/10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.116.07201.
- Hoshide S, Yano Y, Mizuno H, Kanegae H, Kario K. Day-by-day variability of home blood pressure and incident cardiovascular disease in clinical practice: the J-HOP study (Japan morning surgehome blood pressure). Hypertension. 2018;71(1):177–84. https://doi.org/10.1161/HYPER-TENSIONAHA.117.10385.
- Hoshide S, Kario K, Tomitani N, Kabutoya T, Chia YC, Park S, et al. Highlights of the 2019 Japanese Society of Hypertension Guidelines and perspectives on the management of Asian hypertensive patients. J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich). 2020;22(3):369–77. https://doi.org/10. 1111/jch.13763.
- Hoshide S, Kanegae H, Kario K. Nighttime home blood pressure as a mediator of N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide in cardiovascular events. Hypertens Res. 2021; https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41440-021-00667-5.
- Hu G, Sarti C, Jousilahti P, Peltonen M, Qiao Q, Antikainen R, et al. The impact of history of hypertension and type 2 diabetes at baseline on the incidence of stroke and stroke mortality. Stroke. 2005;36(12):2538–43. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.STR.0000190894.30964.75.
- Ishiyama Y, Hoshide S, Kanegae H, Kario K. Increased arterial stiffness amplifies the association between home blood pressure variability and cardiac overload: the J-HOP Study. Hypertension. 2020;75(6):1600–6. https://doi.org/10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.119.14246.
- Ishiyama Y, Hoshide S, Kanegae H, Kario K. Impact of home blood pressure variability on cardiovascular outcome in patients with arterial stiffness: results of the J-HOP study. J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich). 2021; https://doi.org/10.1111/jch.14327.
- Jafar TH, Stark PC, Schmid CH, Landa M, Maschio G, de Jong PE, et al. Progression of chronic kidney disease: the role of blood pressure control, proteinuria, and angiotensin-converting

enzyme inhibition: a patient-level meta-analysis. Ann Intern Med. 2003;139(4):244–52. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-139-4-200308190-00006.

- Jang JY, Moon S, Cho S, Cho KH, Oh CM. Visit-to-visit HbA1c and glucose variability and the risks of macrovascular and microvascular events in the general population. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1): 1374. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-37834-7.
- Kario K. Orthostatic hypertension-a new haemodynamic cardiovascular risk factor. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2013;9(12):726–38. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneph.2013.224.
- Kario K. Systemic hemodynamic atherothrombotic syndrome: a blind spot in the current management of hypertension. J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich). 2015;17(5):328–31. https://doi.org/10. 1111/jch.12505.
- Kario K. Systemic hemodynamic atherothrombotic syndrome (SHATS): diagnosis and severity assessment score. J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich). 2019;21(7):1011–5. https://doi.org/10.1111/ jch.13542.
- Kario K. State-of-the-art review: home blood pressure monitoring: current status and new developments. Am J Hypertens. 2021; https://doi.org/10.1093/ajh/hpab017.
- Kario K, Matsui Y, Shibasaki S, Eguchi K, Ishikawa J, Hoshide S, et al. An alpha-adrenergic blocker titrated by self-measured blood pressure recordings lowered blood pressure and microalbuminuria in patients with morning hypertension: the Japan Morning Surge-1 Study. J Hypertens. 2008;26(6):1257–65. https://doi.org/10.1097/HJH.0b013e3282fd173c.
- Kario K, Hoshide S, Shimizu M, Yano Y, Eguchi K, Ishikawa J, et al. Effect of dosing time of angiotensin II receptor blockade titrated by self-measured blood pressure recordings on cardiorenal protection in hypertensives: the Japan morning surge-target organ protection (J-TOP) study. J Hypertens. 2010;28(7):1574–83. https://doi.org/10.1097/HJH. 0b013e3283395267.
- Kario K, Saito I, Kushiro T, Teramukai S, Tomono Y, Okuda Y, et al. Morning home blood pressure is a strong predictor of coronary artery disease: the HONEST Study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2016;67(13):1519–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2016.01.037.
- Kario K, Tomitani N, Kanegae H, Yasui N, Nishizawa M, Fujiwara T, et al. Development of a new ICT-based multisensor blood pressure monitoring system for use in hemodynamic biomarkerinitiated anticipation medicine for cardiovascular disease: the national IMPACT program project. Prog Cardiovasc Dis. 2017;60(3):435–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcad.2017.10.002.
- Kario K, Shimbo D, Hoshide S, Wang JG, Asayama K, Ohkubo T, et al. Emergence of home blood pressure-guided Management of Hypertension Based on global evidence. Hypertension. 2019: HYPERTENSIONAHA11912630. https://doi.org/10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.119.12630.
- Kario K, Hoshide S, Mizuno H, Kabutoya T, Nishizawa M, Yoshida T, et al. Nighttime blood pressure phenotype and cardiovascular prognosis: practitioner-based Nationwide JAMP Study. Circulation. 2020;142(19):1810–20. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.049730.
- Kario K, Hoshide S, Nagai M, Okawara Y, Kanegae H. Sleep and cardiovascular outcomes in relation to nocturnal hypertension: the J-HOP Nocturnal Blood Pressure Study. Hypertens Res. 2021a; https://doi.org/10.1038/s41440-021-00709-y.
- Kario K, Matsuda S, Nagahama S, Kurose Y, Sugii H, Teshima T, et al. Single-pill combination of cilnidipine, an 1–/n-type calcium channel blocker, and valsartan reduces the day-by-day variability of morning home systolic blood pressure in patients with treated hypertension: a sub-analysis of the HOPE-combi survey. J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich). 2021b;23(2):392–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/jch.14178.
- Kaze AD, Santhanam P, Erqou S, Yuyun M, Bertoni AG, Ahima RS, et al. Long-term variability of blood pressure, cardiovascular outcomes, and mortality: the look AHEAD study. Am J Hypertens. 2021; https://doi.org/10.1093/ajh/hpaa210.
- Kilpatrick ES, Rigby AS, Atkin SL. The role of blood pressure variability in the development of nephropathy in type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2010;33(11):2442–7. https://doi.org/10.2337/ dc10-1000.
- Komori T, Eguchi K, Saito T, Hoshide S, Kario K. Riser pattern is a novel predictor of adverse events in heart failure patients With preserved ejection fraction. Circ J. 2017;81(2):220–6. https://doi.org/10.1253/circj.CJ-16-0740.

- Koye DN, Magliano DJ, Reid CM, Jepson C, Feldman HI, Herman WH, et al. Risk of progression of Nonalbuminuric CKD to end-stage kidney disease in people With Diabetes: the CRIC (Chronic Renal Insufficiency Cohort) Study. Am J Kidney Dis. 2018;72(5):653–61. https:// doi.org/10.1053/j.ajkd.2018.02.364.
- Kramer H, Boucher RE, Leehey D, Fried L, Wei G, Greene T, et al. Increasing mortality in adults With Diabetes and low estimated glomerular filtration rate in the absence of albuminuria. Diabetes Care. 2018;41(4):775–81. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc17-1954.
- Krolewski AS, Niewczas MA, Skupien J, Gohda T, Smiles A, Eckfeldt JH, et al. Early progressive renal decline precedes the onset of microalbuminuria and its progression to macroalbuminuria. Diabetes Care. 2014;37(1):226–34. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc13-0985.
- Kubozono T, Akasaki Y, Kawasoe S, Ojima S, Kawabata T, Makizako H, et al. The relationship between home blood pressure measurement and room temperature in a Japanese general population. Hypertens Res. 2021;44(4):454–63. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41440-020-00564-3.
- Kume S, Araki SI, Ugi S, Morino K, Koya D, Nishio Y, et al. Secular changes in clinical manifestations of kidney disease among Japanese adults with type 2 diabetes from 1996 to 2014. J Diabetes Investig. 2019;10(4):1032–40. https://doi.org/10.1111/jdi.12977.
- Leoncini G, Viazzi F, De Cosmo S, Russo G, Fioretto P, Pontremoli R. Blood pressure reduction and RAAS inhibition in diabetic kidney disease: therapeutic potentials and limitations. J Nephrol. 2020;33(5):949–63. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40620-020-00803-3.
- Levin A, Stevens PE. Summary of KDIGO 2012 CKD guideline: behind the scenes, need for guidance, and a framework for moving forward. Kidney Int. 2014;85(1):49–61. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/ki.2013.444.
- Lindeman RD, Tobin J, Shock NW. Longitudinal studies on the rate of decline in renal function with age. J Am Geriatr Soc. 1985;33(4):278–85. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.1985. tb07117.x.
- Matsumoto S, Ushigome E, Matsushita K, Fukuda T, Mitsuhashi K, Majima S, et al. Home blood pressure variability from the stored memory is correlated With albuminuria, but from the logbook is not. Am J Hypertens. 2017;30(10):993–8. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajh/hpx095.
- Matsuo S, Imai E, Horio M, Yasuda Y, Tomita K, Nitta K, et al. Revised equations for estimated GFR from serum creatinine in Japan. Am J Kidney Dis. 2009;53(6):982–92. https://doi.org/10. 1053/j.ajkd.2008.12.034.
- Monnier L, Mas E, Ginet C, Michel F, Villon L, Cristol JP, et al. Activation of oxidative stress by acute glucose fluctuations compared with sustained chronic hyperglycemia in patients with type 2 diabetes. JAMA. 2006;295(14):1681–7. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.295.14.1681.
- Nakano C, Morimoto S, Nakahigashi M, Kusabe M, Ueda H, Someya K, et al. The relationships between visit-to-visit blood pressure variability and renal and endothelial function in chronic kidney disease. Hypertens Res. 2015;38(3):193–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/hr.2014.163.
- Narita K, Hoshide S, Fujiwara T, Kanegae H, Kario K. Seasonal variation of home blood pressure and its association With target organ damage: the J-HOP study (Japan morning surge-home blood pressure). Am J Hypertens. 2020;33(7):620–8. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajh/ hpaa027.
- Narita K, Hoshide S, Kanegae H, Kario K. Seasonal variation in masked nocturnal hypertension: the J-HOP Nocturnal Blood Pressure Study. Am J Hypertens. 2021a;34(6):609–18. https://doi. org/10.1093/ajh/hpaa193.
- Narita K, Hoshide S, Kario K. Difference between morning and evening home blood pressure and cardiovascular events: the J-HOP study (Japan Morning Surge-Home Blood Pressure). Hypertens Res. 2021b; https://doi.org/10.1038/s41440-021-00686-2.
- Nelson RG, Bennett PH, Beck GJ, Tan M, Knowler WC, Mitch WE, et al. Development and progression of renal disease in Pima Indians with non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Diabetic Renal Disease Study Group. N Engl J Med. 1996;335(22):1636–42. https://doi.org/ 10.1056/NEJM199611283352203.
- Nishimura M, Kato Y, Tanaka T, Todo R, Tone A, Yamada K, et al. Significance of estimating the glomerular filtration rate for the management of hypertension in type 2 diabetes with microalbuminuria. Hypertens Res. 2013;36(8):705–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/hr.2013.22.

- Nishizawa M, Hoshide S, Okawara Y, Matsuo T, Kario K. Strict blood pressure control achieved using an ICT-based home blood pressure monitoring system in a catastrophically damaged area after a disaster. J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich). 2017;19(1):26–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/jch. 12864.
- Ohkubo T, Imai Y, Tsuji I, Nagai K, Kato J, Kikuchi N, et al. Home blood pressure measurement has a stronger predictive power for mortality than does screening blood pressure measurement: a population-based observation in Ohasama, Japan. J Hypertens. 1998;16(7):971–5. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004872-199816070-00010.
- Okada T, Matsumoto H, Nagaoka Y, Nakao T. Association of home blood pressure variability with progression of chronic kidney disease. Blood Press Monit. 2012;17(1):1–7. https://doi.org/10. 1097/MBP.0b013e32834f7125.
- Parati G, Torlasco C, Pengo M, Bilo G, Ochoa JE. Blood pressure variability: its relevance for cardiovascular homeostasis and cardiovascular diseases. Hypertens Res. 2020;43(7):609–20. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41440-020-0421-5.
- Penno G, Solini A, Orsi E, Bonora E, Fondelli C, Trevisan R, et al. Non-albuminuric renal impairment is a strong predictor of mortality in individuals with type 2 diabetes: the renal insufficiency and cardiovascular events (RIACE) Italian multicentre study. Diabetologia. 2018;61(11):2277–89. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-018-4691-2.
- Perkovic V, Heerspink HL, Chalmers J, Woodward M, Jun M, Li Q, et al. Intensive glucose control improves kidney outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes. Kidney Int. 2013;83(3):517–23. https://doi.org/10.1038/ki.2012.401.
- Poggio ED, Rule AD, Tanchanco R, Arrigain S, Butler RS, Srinivas T, et al. Demographic and clinical characteristics associated with glomerular filtration rates in living kidney donors. Kidney Int. 2009;75(10):1079–87. https://doi.org/10.1038/ki.2009.11.
- Schmieder RE, Schrader J, Zidek W, Tebbe U, Paar WD, Bramlage P, et al. Low-grade albuminuria and cardiovascular risk: what is the evidence? Clin Res Cardiol. 2007;96(5):247–57. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00392-007-0510-3.
- Schmitz A, Vaeth M, Mogensen CE. Systolic blood pressure relates to the rate of progression of albuminuria in NIDDM. Diabetologia. 1994;37(12):1251–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00399799.
- Shimizu M, Furuichi K, Yokoyama H, Toyama T, Iwata Y, Sakai N, et al. Kidney lesions in diabetic patients with normoalbuminuric renal insufficiency. Clin Exp Nephrol. 2014;18(2):305–12. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10157-013-0870-0.
- Stevens SL, Wood S, Koshiaris C, Law K, Glasziou P, Stevens RJ, et al. Blood pressure variability and cardiovascular disease: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ. 2016;354:i4098. https:// doi.org/10.1136/bmj.i4098.
- Suzuki D, Hoshide S, Kario K. Associations between day-by-day home blood pressure variability and renal function and albuminuria in patients With and without Diabetes. Am J Hypertens. 2020;33(9):860–8. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajh/hpaa091.
- Tanaka A, Tomiyama H, Maruhashi T, Matsuzawa Y, Miyoshi T, Kabutoya T, et al. Physiological diagnostic criteria for vascular failure. Hypertension. 2018;72(5):1060–71. https://doi.org/10. 1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.118.11554.
- Thoonkuzhy C, Rahman M. New insights on chronotherapy in hypertension: is timing everything? Curr Hypertens Rep. 2020;22(4):32. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11906-020-1032-x.
- Tonneijck L, Muskiet MH, Smits MM, van Bommel EJ, Heerspink HJ, van Raalte DH, et al. Glomerular hyperfiltration in diabetes: mechanisms, clinical significance, and treatment. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2017;28(4):1023–39. https://doi.org/10.1681/ASN.2016060666.
- Ueki K, Sasako T, Okazaki Y, Kato M, Okahata S, Katsuyama H, et al. Effect of an intensified multifactorial intervention on cardiovascular outcomes and mortality in type 2 diabetes (J-DOIT3): an open-label, randomised controlled trial. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2017;5(12):951–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(17)30327-3.
- Umemura S, Arima H, Arima S, Asayama K, Dohi Y, Hirooka Y, et al. The Japanese Society of hypertension guidelines for the management of hypertension (JSH 2019). Hypertens Res. 2019;42(9):1235–481. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41440-019-0284-9.

- Umishio W, Ikaga T, Kario K, Fujino Y, Suzuki M, Ando S, et al. Impact of indoor temperature instability on diurnal and day-by-day variability of home blood pressure in winter: a nationwide smart wellness housing survey in Japan. Hypertens Res. 2021; https://doi.org/10.1038/s41440-021-00699-x.
- Ushigome E, Fukui M, Hamaguchi M, Senmaru T, Sakabe K, Tanaka M, et al. The coefficient variation of home blood pressure is a novel factor associated with macroalbuminuria in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Hypertens Res. 2011;34(12):1271–5. https://doi.org/10.1038/hr.2011.128.
- Ushigome E, Matsumoto S, Oyabu C, Kitagawa N, Tanaka T, Hasegawa G, et al. Prognostic significance of day-by-day variability of home blood pressure on progression to macroalbuminuria in patients with diabetes. J Hypertens. 2018;36(5):1068–75. https://doi.org/10. 1097/hjh.00000000001657.
- Ushigome E, Kitagawa N, Kitagawa N, Tanaka T, Hasegawa G, Ohnishi M, et al. Predictive power of home blood pressure measurement for cardiovascular outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes: KAMOGAWA-HBP study. Hypertens Res. 2021;44(3):348–54. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41440-020-00584-z.
- Van Bortel LM, Laurent S, Boutouyrie P, Chowienczyk P, Cruickshank JK, De Backer T, et al. Expert consensus document on the measurement of aortic stiffness in daily practice using carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity. J Hypertens. 2012;30(3):445–8. https://doi.org/10.1097/ HJH.0b013e32834fa8b0.
- Viberti G, Wheeldon NM, MicroAlbuminuria Reduction With VSI. Microalbuminuria reduction with valsartan in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a blood pressure-independent effect. Circulation. 2002;106(6):672–8. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.cir.0000024416.33113.0a.
- Wan EY, Fung CS, Yu EY, Fong DY, Chen JY, Lam CL. Association of Visit-to-Visit Variability of systolic blood pressure With cardiovascular disease and mortality in primary care Chinese patients With type 2 Diabetes-a retrospective population-based cohort study. Diabetes Care. 2017;40(2):270–9. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc16-1617.
- Wang TJ, Evans JC, Meigs JB, Rifai N, Fox CS, D'Agostino RB, et al. Low-grade albuminuria and the risks of hypertension and blood pressure progression. Circulation. 2005;111(11):1370–6. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.0000158434.69180.2D.
- Whelton PK, Carey RM, Aronow WS, Casey DE Jr, Collins KJ, Dennison Himmelfarb C, et al. 2017 ACC/AHA/AAPA/ABC/ACPM/AGS/APhA/ASH/ASPC/NMA/PCNA guideline for the prevention, detection, evaluation, and Management of High Blood Pressure in adults: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association task force on clinical practice guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2018;71(19):e127–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2017. 11.006.
- Williams B, Mancia G, Spiering W, Agabiti Rosei E, Azizi M, Burnier M, et al. 2018 ESC/ESH Guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension: the task force for the management of arterial hypertension of the European Society of Cardiology and the European Society of Hypertension: the task force for the management of arterial hypertension of the European Society of Cardiology and the European Society of Hypertension. J Hypertens. 2018;36(10): 1953–2041. https://doi.org/10.1097/HJH.000000000001940.
- Yokoyama H, Araki SI, Kawai K, Yamazaki K, Shirabe SI, Sugimoto H, et al. The prognosis of patients With type 2 Diabetes and Nonalbuminuric diabetic kidney disease is not always poor: implication of the effects of coexisting macrovascular complications (JDDM 54). Diabetes Care. 2020;43(5):1102–10. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc19-2049.
- Yoshinari M, Wakisaka M, Nakamura U, Yoshioka M, Uchizono Y, Iwase M. Orthostatic hypertension in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2001;24(10):1783–6. https://doi.org/10. 2337/diacare.24.10.1783.
- Yu ZB, Li D, Chen XY, Zheng PW, Lin HB, Tang ML, et al. Association of Visit-to-Visit Variability of blood pressure with cardiovascular disease among type 2 diabetes mellitus patients: a cohort study. Diabetes Metab J. 2019;43(3):350–67. https://doi.org/10.4093/dmj.2018.0108.



Methods for Measuring Blood Pressure and Applications to Diabetes

35

A Focus on Children, Adolescents, and Young Adults

Andriani Vazeou and George S. Stergiou

Contents

Introduction	730
Diagnosis of Hypertension and Blood Pressure Measurement	733
Office Blood Pressure Measurement	734
Types of OBPM	734
Devices for OBPM	735
Number of Measurements per Occasion	736
Blood Pressure Measurement Technique	737
Twenty-Four-Hour Ambulatory Blood Pressure Monitoring (Table 1)	738
Home Blood Pressure Monitoring (Table 2)	740
Applications to Prognosis	742
Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions	742
Mini-Dictionary of Terms	742
Key Facts of "Methods for Measuring Blood Pressure and Applications to Diabetes: A Focus	
on Children, Adolescents, and Young Adults"	742
Summary Points	743
References	743

Abstract

The prevalence of hypertension in youth with diabetes is higher than in the nondiabetic individuals. Hypertension is a major cardiovascular risk factor in diabetes and contributes to the development of macro- and microvascular complications. Blood pressure (BP) measurement is essential for diagnosing hypertension. Office BP measurement is widely used but can be misleading. Twenty-

A. Vazeou (🖂)

Diabetes Centre, A' Department of Pediatrics, P&A Kyriakou Children's Hospital, Athens, Greece G. S. Stergiou

Hypertension Center STRIDE-7, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, School of Medicine, Third Department of Medicine, Sotiria Hospital, Athens, Greece e-mail: gstergi@med.uoa.gr

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 37

four-hour ambulatory monitoring is recommended for detecting white-coat, masked, and non-dipping hypertension, yet it is not easily available in primary care. Home BP monitoring is more easily accessible in primary care, yet it is scarcely investigated in children, particularly those with diabetes. Proper measurement BP methodology and devices validated specifically in children should be used with all methods. In this chapter theoretical and practical information and guidance is provided for measuring office, ambulatory, and home BP in children, adolescents, and young adults with diabetes.

Keywords

Ambulatory monitoring · Blood pressure · Clinic · Diabetes · Hypertension · Measurement · Methodology · Pediatric · Blood pressure self-measurement

Abbreviations

AAP	American Academy of Pediatrics
ABPM	Ambulatory blood pressure monitoring
BP	Blood pressure
ESH	European Society of Hypertension
HBPM	Home blood pressure monitoring
KiGGS	German Health Interview and Examination Survey for Children and Adolescents
OBPM	Office blood pressure measurement
T1D	Type 1 diabetes
T2D	Type 2 diabetes

Introduction

Hypertension during childhood is an independent predictor of adult hypertension and a major cardiovascular risk factor (Sun et al. 2007). It has been reported that over the last decades, there has been a rise in the prevalence of hypertension in children and adolescents in the general population, which has been attributed to the increase of the prevalence of obesity and changes in lifestyle, such as reduced physical activity and increased inactivity time, such as the time children spend in front of a screen (television personal computer or mobile phone) (Lurbe et al. 2016; Flynn et al. 2017; Rosner et al. 2013; Din-Dzietham et al. 2007; Muntner et al. 2004; Torrance et al. 2007; Kosti and Panagiotakos 2006; Tzotzas and Krassas 2004).

Longitudinal studies have shown that elevated blood pressure during childhood and adolescence often progresses to hypertension in adult life, the so-called "tracking" phenomenon (Bao et al. 1995; Vos et al. 2003; Kollias et al. 2012). Therefore, primary hypertension in adults has its roots in childhood and adolescence (Lurbe et al. 2016; Lurbe 2003; Flynn et al. 2017; Chen and Wang 2008).

Hypertension is a strong predictor for death and cardiovascular outcomes in adults with type 1 diabetes (T1D) and type 2 diabetes (T2D) (Petrie et al. 2018)

(Rawshani et al. 2019). It has a greater impact on cardiovascular disease in diabetic patients than in nondiabetic individuals (Stamler et al. 1993). Furthermore, hypertension in youths and young adults with diabetes increases the risk for diabetes-related complications in adulthood (Dabelea et al. 2017). Despite the remarkable improvements that have been achieved in the last decades in diabetes care and the increase in life expectancy, adults with T1D have a tenfold increase in cardiovascular disease risk, and earlier onset of it compared with the general population (Shah et al. 2020; Miller et al. 2016; Rawshani et al. 2017; Rawshani et al. 2018). Furthermore, studies in adults have shown a four- to sevenfold increase in mortality rates compared with the general population, when systolic and diastolic BPs are >130 and 90 mmHg, respectively (Orchard et al. 2001).

Like adults, children with T1D are at increased risk of developing atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease before the age of 30 years (Expert Panel on Integrated Guidelines for Cardiovascular et al. 2011). This has been attributed to differences in several cardiovascular risk factors such as hyperglycemia, dyslipidemia, obesity, smoking, and hypertension (Donaghue et al. 2018). In children and adolescents with T1D and T2D, hypertension plays a major role, not only as a factor with great impact in developing macrovascular (cardiovascular) disease but also as a risk factor associated with the development of microvascular complications, such as nephrop-athy and retinopathy (Donaghue et al. 2018).

The prevalence of clinical hypertension in children and adolescents in the general population is ~3.5% and that of "elevated BP" (formerly termed "prehypertension") is ~2.2%–3.5%, with considerably higher rates among overweight and obese individuals (Flynn et al. 2017).

In children with T1D, the prevalence of office hypertension has been reported higher than in those without diabetes (Knerr et al. 2008; Margeirsdottir et al. 2008). In that population the prevalence of hypertension ranges from 4 to 16% as shown in large-scale studies. However, a recent analysis of 79,849 children and adolescents with T1D (Diabetes Prospective Follow-Up Registry) showed that with the application of new AAP 2017 criteria, the prevalence of hypertension increased to 44.1% (Margeirsdottir et al. 2008; Dost et al. 2020; Rodriguez et al. 2010; Schwab et al. 2006; Fornari et al. 2020; Nambam et al. 2016; Sun et al. 2007).

As in the general population, doubling of the rate of hypertension within a decade has been reported in a recent large-scale study originating from the DPV database (Dost et al. 2020). In 2008 the prevalence of hypertension was 4% and 13.9% in prepubertal children and adolescents, respectively, and in 2013 increased to 20% (both children and adolescents) and in 2018 to 29.5% (both children and adolescents) (according to the KiGGS criteria) (Dost et al. 2020; Knerr et al. 2008; Dost et al. 2014). The authors attributed this increase to several factors, including different cutoffs for hypertension set at the 97th percentile in the first paper instead of 95th percentile in the most recent one, the possible increase of obesity or overweight prevalence and the greater awareness of hypertension (Dost et al. 2020).

In children with T2D, the prevalence of hypertension in the TODAY study was 33.8% during average follow-up of 3.9 years (Copeland et al. 2011). Male sex and higher BMI significantly increased the risk of hypertension (Copeland et al. 2011).

Similar results (36%) were shown in an Australian study within 1.3 years of T2D diagnosis (Eppens et al. 2006). Higher rates of hypertension (65%) in T2D children were found in the SEARCH study with longer diabetes duration (Eppens et al. 2006; Zeitler et al. 2018). Youths and young adults with T2D have a higher age-adjusted prevalence of hypertension than youths and young adults with T1D (35.6% vs. 14.8%) (Koebnick et al. 2020; Dabelea et al. 2017). According to a recent study for each 0.01 unit of annual increase in waist-to-height ratio, adjusted relative risk for hypertension was 1.53 (95% CI 1.36–1.73) and 1.20 (95% CI 1.00–1.43) for youths with T1D and T2D, respectively (Koebnick et al. 2020). Furthermore, youths and young adults with T2D have a higher age-adjusted prevalence of macrovascular markers, such as arterial stiffness and hypertension, than youths and young adults with T1D (Dabelea et al. 2017). It has been suggested that central obesity is the key factor which could explain the higher burden of macrovascular outcomes in youths with T2D versus those with T1D (Dabelea et al. 2017).

Early recognition and treatment of hypertension in children and adolescents with T1D and T2D are of great importance since they affect future morbidity and mortality.

The classification of hypertension largely depends on the normative data, the thresholds used, and the BP measurement methodology (Dost et al. 2020). The accuracy of BP evaluation is crucial for the reliable diagnosis and management of hypertension, and recent guidelines put considerable emphasis on their appropriate implementation (Flynn et al. 2017; Lurbe et al. 2016). Inadequate BP evaluation often leads to overdiagnosis, with consequent unnecessary investigations and longterm treatment, or underdiagnosis, with consequent undertreatment and exposure to future cardiovascular disease risk (Flynn et al. 2017; Lurbe et al. 2016; Flynn and Falkner 2017). Large studies have shown that a considerable percentage of children and adolescents with diabetes and hypertension are undertreated. Among patients with diabetes diagnosed with hypertension, only 52% were receiving ACE inhibitors/ARB therapy in T1D Exchange database, and 50% were reported in another study from the Netherlands (Nambam et al. 2016; Ahmadizar et al. 2018). Furthermore, a very low percentage of patients was receiving antihypertensive treatment in the German/Austrian DPV registry reported in two studies at different time periods (2.5% and 6.5%, respectively) (Dost et al. 2020; Schwab et al. 2006). The abovementioned low percentages suggest that there is either therapeutic inertia or underdiagnosis of hypertension, or most likely both.

In a recent study from 52 centers in the SWEET international database which hosts centers of reference and collaborative centers of children and adolescents with diabetes around the world, it was shown that most pediatric diabetes centers use adequate methodology and devices for OBPM, which was in line with the current guidelines; however, there was heterogeneity among them (Gerasimidi-Vazeou et al. 2020). The authors concluded that action should be taken for further improvement and wider implementation of the current hypertension guidelines, with great emphasis on the use of BP devices validated specifically in children (Gerasimidi-Vazeou et al. 2020). Furthermore, a questionnaire has been developed which can highlight the weaknesses in the methodology and technology used in diabetes centers and

clinics for diagnosing hypertension. In addition, this could be a useful tool in hypertension research in pediatric diabetes (Gerasimidi-Vazeou et al. 2020).

This chapter provides theoretical and practical information and guidance on the methods used for measuring office, ambulatory, and home BP in children, adolescents, and young adults with diabetes.

Diagnosis of Hypertension and Blood Pressure Measurement

Three classic methods are currently used for diagnosing hypertension: office BP measurement (OBPM), ambulatory BP monitoring (ABPM), and home BP monitoring (HBPM).

OBPM is the most well-studied method and the most widely available and used in routine clinical practice. However, hypertension diagnosis, based solely on OBPM, is often misleading (Stergiou et al. 2019). This is mainly due to the white-coat and the masked hypertension phenomena, which are common in adults and in children, but also due to the poor reproducibility of office BP measurement and observer-related factors and errors (Lurbe et al. 2016; Stergiou et al. 2019; Flynn et al. 2017; Urbina et al. 2008; Williams et al. 2018; Stergiou et al. 2002; Whelton et al. 2018b).

The gold-standard method for hypertension diagnosis in children and adolescents is the 24-hour ABPM, which however is not widely accessible in primary care (Flynn et al. 2017; Flynn and Falkner 2017; Lurbe et al. 2016).

On the other hand, HBPM is widely available and recommended for diagnosing hypertension in adults, yet in children and adolescents it is not recommended as there is little evidence on its clinical utility (Flynn et al. 2017). However, in the last 15 years, research data regarding HBPM in children are accumulating, which support its usefulness in clinical practice. It should be underlined that HBPM is much more widely available than ABPM in primary care and seems to be feasible and well accepted for the evaluation of elevated BP in children (Stergiou et al. 2019).

Hypertension in children is defined as BP equal to or above the 95th percentile for age, sex, and height, whereas in adolescents (age \geq 13 years), it is defined as SBP \geq 130 and/or diastolic BP (DBP) \geq 80 mmHg. "Elevated BP" (previously known as "prehypertension") is defined as BP \geq 90th percentile for age, sex, and height to <95th percentile or 120/80 mmHg to <95th percentile (whichever is lower), or from the age of 13 years as BP 120/<80 to 129/<80 mmHg (Donaghue et al. 2018; Flynn et al. 2017).

The updated definitions of BP categories and stages and the normative data according to age, sex, and height according to OBPM, ABPM, and HBPM are thoroughly described in the latest US and European guidelines (Flynn et al. 2017; Lurbe et al. 2016).

According to the ISPAD (International Society for Pediatric and Adolescent Diabetes) guidelines in children, BP should be measured "at least" annually, while the ADA (American Diabetes Association) and the AAP (American Academy of Pediatrics) state that in children and adolescents with diabetes, BP should be

measured at each clinical visit (Flynn et al. 2017; Flynn and Falkner 2017; Donaghue et al. 2018; American Diabetes 2019).

European guidelines also recommend that children from 3 years of age, who are seen in a medical setting, should have their BP measured (Lurbe et al. 2016). All guidelines agree that hypertension should be confirmed in multiple measurements, on at least three separate occasions (Flynn et al. 2017; Lurbe et al. 2016; Donaghue et al. 2018).

It should be underlined that recent data in adults have shown that the environmental temperature must be considered in clinical hypertension research, when evaluating or comparing BP measurements taken on different occasions throughout different seasons (Gepts et al. 2020; Stergiou et al. 2020b). Clinical trials using office or out-of-office BP measurements as efficacy measures, which last long enough to be influenced by seasonal ambient temperature change, need to be adjusted for the expected seasonal variation in BP (Gepts et al. 2020, Stergiou et al. 2020b). Seasonal BP changes are evident using all daytime BP measurement methods, but not with nighttime ambulatory BP (Kollias et al. 2020).

Similarly, studies from pediatric cohorts have shown seasonal changes in BP ranging from 3.4 to 5.9 mmHg (or 0.5-1.5 mmHg per -1 °C difference in environmental temperature) in systolic BP with a peak in fall or winter (Stergiou et al. 2020b). Potential mechanisms and mediators of seasonal BP variation include sympathetic nervous system activation with an increase of urinary and plasma norepinephrine levels in cold season. These data strongly suggest an important effect of ambient temperature on BP in children (Stergiou et al. 2020b).

Office Blood Pressure Measurement

OBPM is an unstable measurement method affected by multiple factors, which have a major impact on its level, reproducibility, and diagnostic and prognostic value (Stergiou et al. 2018b). In childhood BP may vary considerably between office visits, even within the same visit, due to several factors related to the patient, the observer, the device, and the procedure. A recent review of 328 studies in adults identified 27 sources of inaccuracy related to the above factors (Kallioinen et al. 2017).

Types of OBPM

There are several types of OBPM, depending on the device type, conditions, observer's presence, and the number of readings (Stergiou et al. 2018b). The four main OBP types are:

(i) Auscultatory OBPM in clinical practice: This is a poorly standardized and highly variable method which considerably overestimates BP resulting in overdiagnosis (Stergiou et al. 2018b). Moreover, the auscultatory devices might induce a systematic error with time which is not evident without calibration (Stergiou et al. 2018b).

- (ii) Automated attended OBPM in clinical practice: When such measurements are taken in standardized conditions (few minutes resting, no talking, three or more measurements), they give similar OBPM values as "unattended automated OBPM" (Stergiou et al. 2018b). However, in clinical practice, issues such as lack of rest period, inappropriate body and arm position, and talking during or between the measurements are common and might increase OBPM (Stergiou et al. 2018b).
- (iii) Research setting OBPM: Carefully standardized research setting OBPM has reasonable reproducibility and association with indices of preclinical organ damage which can be quite close to those with ABPM. This method provides lower BP values than casual office measurements. Obtaining such measurements in routine clinical practice is unrealistic (Stergiou et al. 2018b).
- (iv) Unattended automated OBPM: This standardized OBPM method obtains several automated BP measurements while the patient remains alone in the examination room and provides lower BP values than casual office measurements. However, it may not be applicable in all primary care settings, as it requires a special device, more time, and office space. Furthermore, the threshold for hypertension diagnosis is lower and rather uncertain with scarce outcome data (Stergiou et al. 2018b). This is a useful method to standardize OBPM in primary care because observer errors are avoided, talking of the patient during and between measurements is avoided, and it ensures that a standard protocol (e.g., triplicate measurement) is followed (Stergiou et al. 2018b).

It is evident that all the abovementioned OBPM types have different standardization levels, different reproducibility, different clinical relevance, and different thresholds for hypertension diagnosis (Stergiou et al. 2018b; Stergiou et al. 2018d). It has been shown that, despite the use of automated devices, which eliminate the observer errors, primary care OBPM is higher and more unstable than research setting OBPM (Tang et al. 2018).

Devices for OBPM

The European and US guidelines recommend manual auscultatory BP measurement for diagnosing hypertension in the office (Flynn et al. 2017; Lurbe et al. 2016). However, electronic devices are now widely used. According to current guidelines, if hypertension is detected by the oscillometric method, it must be confirmed by the auscultatory one (Flynn et al. 2017, Lurbe et al. 2016).

For the diagnosis and management of hypertension in children, adolescents, and young adults, only upper-arm cuff devices should be used, not wrist-cuff, finger-cuff, or cuffless devices (Flynn et al. 2017, Lurbe et al. 2016).

Current guidelines recommend using only validated devices in children and adolescents (Lurbe et al. 2016; Flynn et al. 2017) (Stergiou et al. 2017a). Children are regarded a special population for BP monitor validation, requiring separate validation studies (Stergiou et al. 2017a). There are data suggesting that an electronic

BP monitor which has been successfully validated in adults might be inaccurate in children (Stergiou et al. 2017a).

Unfortunately, in a recent paper, it was shown that only 38% of pediatric diabetes centers from the SWEET consortium use electronic OBPM devices validated specifically in children, whereas 81% use devices validated in adults. Overall, only 50% of centers use either auscultatory devices or electronic ones specifically validated for children (Gerasimidi-Vazeou et al. 2020). Action should be taken to improve accuracy of BP measurement using proper equipment at different pediatric diabetes centers and clinics all over the world.

Lists of properly validated oscillometric devices for adults and specifically for children are available on the Internet (see www.stridebp.org, www.bhsoc.org). The international nonprofit organization STRIDE BP (www.stridebp.org), which operates in affiliation with the International Society of Hypertension, the European Society of Hypertension, and the World Hypertension League, provides updated lists of accurate devices for children and adults which fulfill established criteria (Stergiou et al. 2020a; Stergiou et al. 2017a).

It should be noted that for environmental reasons, mercury sphygmomanometers are being banned from clinical use. The automated electronic (oscillometric) devices have the advantage of eliminating observer bias and error, yet they may not be accurate and require separate validation in children. Unfortunately, few of them have been adequately tested in children and proved to be accurate (Stergiou et al. 2013). Aneroid devices provide a mercury-free alternative to BP measurements by auscultation, whereas oscillometric (automated) devices are increasingly becoming the norm in clinical practice due to their ease of use (Duncombe et al. 2017). However, for the evaluation of the published evidence on the accuracy of electronic BP devices, only independent and carefully designed, validation studies that meticulously applied an established validation protocol should be taken into consideration (Stergiou et al. 2017b). In a review of 38 studies investigating the accuracy of oscillometric and aneroid BP devices compared with the mercury sphygmomanometer in children, only 3 studies compared BP using aneroid and mercury devices and found comparable results (Duncombe et al. 2017). There was great heterogeneity among published studies included in the review, which is in part attributed to differences in device brand, study setting, and observer training.

Number of Measurements per Occasion

Studies in adults have used the mean of two measurements per occasion, while the NHANES analytic guidelines recommend using the mean of the second and third blood pressure readings out of three (Egan et al. 2010). Others recommend additional measurements, if the initial is above normal (Handler et al. 2012).

The current guidelines suggest that the initial BP measurement could be oscillometric or manual auscultatory (by using a mercury or aneroid sphygmomanometer (Flynn et al. 2017).

According to the 2017 guidelines for children, it is suggested to perform two additional oscillometric or auscultatory BP measurements, if the initial one is elevated (\geq 90th percentile) and use their average (Flynn et al. 2017). Oscillometric BP readings, particularly initial readings, tend to be higher than auscultatory readings and thus may overestimate BP and hypertension (Handler et al. 2012). Others support the assessment of at least three repeated oscillometric measurements in a single sitting to avoid inaccurate assessment (Negroni-Balasquide et al. 2016). An interval or 1–3 min between the measurements should be allowed with auscultatory and automated method (Lurbe et al. 2016; Stergiou et al. 2021b).

It should be mentioned, however, that measuring BP in toddlers is tricky, due to difficult cooperation and issues with both auscultatory and automated methods (Gerasimidi-Vazeou et al. 2020).

Blood Pressure Measurement Technique

According to the recent US and European guidelines, BP should be measured on the right arm by using standard measurement practices, unless the child has atypical aortic arch anatomy, which of course is very rare (Flynn et al. 2017). To detect possible differences, it is recommended at first visit to measure blood pressure in both arms (Lurbe et al. 2016). In cases with considerable and consistent interarm BP difference, vascular evaluation is required, and BP of the arm with the higher value should be used (Lurbe et al. 2016).

OBP should be measured in a sitting position after 3–5-min resting, with feet flat on the floor, the back leaning against the back of the chair, in a quiet room without destruction, and without speaking during the procedure (Flynn et al. 2017).

BP measurement should always be taken with the appropriate cuff size for the individual's arm circumference (Lurbe et al. 2016; Flynn et al. 2017). The inflatable bladder length should cover 80-100% of the individual's arm circumference and the width 40% of the arm circumference ($4 \times 8 \text{ cm}, 6 \times 12 \text{ cm}, 9 \times 18 \text{ cm}, 10 \times 24 \text{ cm}$) (Lurbe et al. 2016, Flynn et al. 2017). A large cuff applied on a small arm (i.e., adult cuff applied in children) may result in BP underestimation by up to 30 mmHg (O'Brien et al. 2003; Iyriboz et al. 1994). On the other hand, a small bladder applied to a big arm (i.e., a small cuff applied to an obese adolescent arm) might overestimate BP by up to 30 mmHg (Iyriboz et al. 1994; O'Brien et al. 2003).

Elevated body mass index in children and adolescents is associated with an increase in the midarm circumference, requiring the use of a larger cuff (standard size or large) to obtain accurate BP measurements (Flynn et al. 2017).

For precise determination of the correct cuff size, the midarm circumference should be measured at the midpoint between the acromion of the scapula and olecranon of the elbow, with the shoulder in a neutral position and the elbow flexed to 90° (Flynn et al. 2017).

The Korotkov sound I (when the first rhythmic sound appears) is used to estimate systolic BP, and sound V (when the sounds disappear) is used for

diastolic. When the sounds persist too close or up to 0 mmHg, then the Korotkov sound IV (when the sounds become muffled) is used to estimate diastolic BP (Stergiou et al. 2018a).

Twenty-Four-Hour Ambulatory Blood Pressure Monitoring (Table 1)

It is widely recognized that OBPM alone is often insufficient for the reliable diagnosis of hypertension (Flynn et al. 2017). Twenty-four-hour ABPM is currently recommended in ESH and AAP guidelines as mandatory for the diagnosis of hypertension in children, yet it is not available in most settings (Flynn et al. 2017). A recent report from the SWEET cohort showed that only 57% of centers refer to expert hypertension centers for ABPM children with elevated BP in three office visits, as current guidelines recommend. This analysis also showed that the use of ABPM is often inadequate, which could be attributed to the lack of standard strategy, or lack of specific knowledge, since children with elevated BP were referred to expert centers, which eventually decide for using ABPM (Gerasimidi-Vazeou et al. 2020).

ABPM has superior reproducibility and association with preclinical organ damage than OBPM (O'Brien et al. 2013). Particularly in diabetic children, it can detect subtle alterations, such as slight BP increases and a blunted nocturnal BP decline, early in the course of the disease, while OBPM might still be normal (Lurbe et al. 2002). It has been shown that in adolescents with T1D, an increase in nighttime systolic ABP preceded the development of microalbuminuria (Lurbe et al. 2002). A study in adolescents and young adults with T1D without hypertension or overt proteinuria showed that nighttime systolic ABP gave the strongest association with albuminuria (Stergiou et al. 2009), whereas another study in adolescents with diabetes T1D showed nighttime systolic ABP to be associated with arterial stiffness and microalbuminuria (Duzova et al. 2019).

According to the US guidelines, if OBP remains at stage 1 hypertension level after three office visits, ABPM should be performed (if available) (Flynn et al. 2017). ABPM is also useful after treatment initiation for the evaluation of resistant hypertension, for the assessment of 24-hour BP control in children with target organ damage, and when overtreatment is suspected (Flynn et al. 2017). Moreover, ABPM is mandatory for the detection of "white-coat hypertension," "masked hypertension," and the "non-dipping" pattern (Flynn et al. 2017; Urbina et al. 2008; Lurbe et al. 2016;

Use an automated upper-arm cuff device validated specifically in children
Use cuff of appropriate size according to individual's arm circumference
Perform on a routine day
Straighten and relax the arm when measuring BP
Calculate awake and asleep BP according to the individual's sleeping times

 Table 1
 Methodology for 24-hour ambulatory blood pressure monitoring

Sorof et al. 2001; Sorof 2000; Sorof and Portman 2000; Stabouli et al. 2005). Studies in general population with samples of children and adolescents using either ABPM or HBPM showed that when office BP measurements are used for screening, one of two children with elevated office BP appear to have white-coat hypertension, while many children with masked hypertension will be missed (Stergiou et al. 2018c). Even with carefully taken OBPM in a hypertension clinic, white-coat hypertension is as common as sustained hypertension, and children with masked hypertension are often missed (Stergiou et al. 2018c). Furthermore, ABPM has the potential to improve the detection of children at increased cardiovascular risk, but unfortunately, to date, ABPM has not been widely adopted, and robust normative values are lacking (Flynn 2011).

The US guidelines provide clear recommendations for using ABPM to confirm the need of treatment initiation in untreated individuals or treatment titration in treated ones (Flynn et al. 2017).

The European guidelines provide similar recommendations for out-of-office BP monitoring, yet they give two options for diagnosing hypertension: based on repeated OBPM using an auscultatory or electronic (oscillometric) device on several visits and on ABPM provided that these measurements are logistically and economically feasible (Lurbe et al. 2016).

An ABPB device that has been validated specifically in children should be selected, together with a cuff of appropriate size according to the individual's arm circumference (Flynn et al. 2017). Few ambulatory monitors have been successfully validated in children (lists of validated devices may be found at www.stridebp.org and www.bhsoc.org). The accuracy of automated oscillometric BP measuring devices in children is imperfect, and accuracy is not any better for ABPM than it is for home or office monitors (Stergiou et al. 2017a).

ABPM should be performed on a routine, preferably school day (Stergiou et al. 2013). The results are evaluated by calculating the 24-hour, daytime, and nighttime BP average (Stergiou et al. 2013). Actual awake and asleep time should be calculated according to the individual's diaries during 24-hour ABPM (Stergiou et al. 2013). As in the case of OBPM, ABPM in children is evaluated by using percentile normalcy tables according to gender and height or age based on a single study, which used an oscillometric device (Spacelabs 90,207) which appeared to have questionable accuracy in two validation studies in children (Kronish et al. 2017) (Stergiou et al. 2018c). Daytime and/or nighttime ambulatory blood pressure values between the 90th and 95th percentile are considered borderline, while values above the 95th percentile suggest hypertension (Stergiou et al. 2018c).

ABPM is unfortunately limited to hypertension specialists – mainly in pediatric nephrology centers (Flynn 2011; Ostchega et al. 2017). Barriers to performing ABPM in primary care have been recognized. In a recent survey in the USA, the top-ranked barriers in adults were challenges in accessing ABPM and cost. Indeed, the cost of the devices is high, ABPM is inadequately reimbursed in many countries, and there are concerns about the willingness or abilities of patients to successfully perform ABPM and its accuracy and benefits (Kronish et al. 2017; Stergiou et al. 2018c). There are still gaps in access and knowledge regarding the optimal implementation of ABPM in children (Flynn et al. 2017).

Home Blood Pressure Monitoring (Table 2)

Although in the adults HBPM is recommended as a reliable alternative to ABPM for the evaluation of both untreated and treated individuals (Stergiou et al. 2021b; Parati et al. 2021), in children the evidence on HBPM is limited, and therefore this method is not recommended for decision-making in pediatric hypertension (Stergiou et al. 2021b; Flynn et al. 2017). According to AAP recommendations, HBPM may be a useful adjunct to OBPM and ABPM after hypertension has been diagnosed (Flynn et al. 2017).

However, 70% of pediatric nephrologists prefer HBPM in the evaluation of children with hypertension or renal disease, and 64% of them consider it as more important than OBPM (Bald and Hoyer 2001; Woroniecki and Flynn 2005). HBPM appears to be a reliable screening tool for white-coat hypertension and is also a useful as a realistic alternative for clinical practice where often ABPM is not available (Stergiou et al. 2018c). Two studies comparing HBPM against ABPM (taken as reference method) for detecting white-coat hypertension in children showed high sensitivity and specificity (74–89% and 91–92%, respectively) which are in line with studies in adults (Whelton et al. 2018a).

HBPM is also useful for the long-term follow-up of children treated for hypertension (Stergiou et al. 2018c). In this case HBPM appears to be more suitable, acceptable by children and adolescents, and cost-effective than ABPM (Stergiou et al. 2013, 2018c; Parati et al. 2008).

In addition to the abovementioned indications, the European guidelines recommend HBPM in conditions where strict BP control is mandatory (high-risk patients) and in clinical trials (Lurbe et al. 2016).

For masked hypertension, the AAP guidelines repeatedly emphasize the usefulness of ABPM, yet most of such children are unlikely to be subjected to ABPM due to their low office BPs (Flynn et al. 2017). In contrast to studies in adults, two studies in children have shown that HBPM has high specificity (92–96%) but low sensitivity (36–38%) in detecting masked hypertension (Parati et al. 2008); therefore, for the diagnosis of masked hypertension in children, ABPM is recommended (Stergiou et al. 2008; Wuhl et al. 2004).

A recent study showed that in the SWEET centers, the HBPM methodology has great heterogeneity and is frequently inadequate, and only 39% of centers reported using validated electronic HBPM devices (Gerasimidi-Vazeou et al. 2020). However, there are barriers for utilizing HBPM in primary care as well, such as using

Use an automated upper-arm cuff device validated specifically in children		
Use cuff of appropriate size according to individual's arm circumference		
Monitor for 6–7 days (not less than 3)		
Take duplicate morning and evening measurements after 5-min sitting rest		
Avoid talking during and between measurements		
Evaluate the average of all readings after discarding those of the first day		

 Table 2
 Methodology for home blood pressure monitoring

devices validated in children, following the appropriate measurement procedure, reliability of reported BP readings, out-of-pocket costs of the devices, and time needed to instruct and supervise patients (Stergiou et al. 2018c; Kronish et al. 2017).

Automated oscillometric upper-arm cuff devices are recommended for HPBM. Devices that have been successfully validated specifically in children should be used with a cuff size appropriate for the child's arm circumference. The inflatable bladder length should cover 80-100% of the individual's arm circumference and the width 40-50%, or otherwise according to the manufacturers' instructions supported by validation study. Few automated devices for HBPM have been successfully validated in children (updated lists of properly validated devices may be found at www. stridebp.org and www.bhsoc.org). Wrist devices have not been validated in children and should not be used, as well as cuffless BP devices (Stergiou et al. 2018c). Measurements should be performed by parents in young children, or selfmeasurements in adolescents. HBPM should be monitored on 6-7 routine school days, in a quiet room, with back supported, arm resting at heart level, feet flat on the floor, and avoid talking during and between measurements (Stergiou et al. 2018c). Duplicate morning and evening measurements should be taken on each day (before drug intake if treated) after 5-min sitting rest and 1 min between readings (Stergiou et al. 2018c).

For the interpretation of HBPM results, the average of all measurements should be calculated after discarding the first day and evaluated using the normalcy table for home blood pressure in children after a study of 778 children aged 6–18 years, in a Greek school (Stergiou et al. 2007). Average home BP above the 95th percentile suggests hypertension (Stergiou et al. 2007).

A recent study suggested that the reproducibility of home BP in children and adolescents is similar to 24-hour ABPM and superior to OBPM and daytime or asleep ABPM (Stergiou et al. 2021a). The authors concluded that these findings have major implications in diagnosing hypertension in children in clinical practice by using ABPM and HBPM and in designing clinical research trials in pediatric hypertension (Stergiou et al. 2021a). It has also been suggested that HBPM and ABPM give comparable associations in young individuals with preclinical organ damage, which are superior to those by OBPM (Zeniodi et al. 2020).

Novel HBPM devices allow automated BP monitoring during nighttime sleep, and recently a single study showed that nighttime HBPM is feasible in children (Stambolliu et al. 2021). In this study the agreement between nighttime HBPM and ABPM in identifying individuals with nighttime hypertension (\geq 95th percentile for nighttime ABP) was 82% ($\kappa = 0.49$; P < 0.01) and non-dippers 57% ($\kappa = 0.19$; P = 0.03). The authors concluded that in children and adolescents, nighttime HBPM gives similar values with nighttime ABPM and similar associations with indices of preclinical organ damage (Stambolliu et al. 2021).

It should be noted that, in contrast to adults, whose home BP and daytime ambulatory BP have similar levels, children and adolescents have considerably higher daytime ambulatory BP levels, probably due to the high level of physical activity of the young individuals during the day (Stergiou et al. 2018c).

Applications to Prognosis

Compliance of the pediatric diabetes centers and clinics with the recent US and European guidelines for the diagnosis of hypertension in children and adolescents will facilitate the accurate diagnosis of hypertension to initiate early treatment.

Furthermore, use of validated devices for measuring BP in pediatric diabetes centers and clinics will improve the accuracy of hypertension diagnosis. Improvement of BP measurement accuracy will minimize overdiagnosis of hypertension, with consequent unnecessary investigations and long-term treatment, or underdiagnosis, with consequent undertreatment and exposure to future disease risk.

Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions

The accurate BP measurement for the diagnosis of hypertension in children and adolescents and young adults with diabetes will improve future morbidity and mortality from cardiovascular disease and microvascular complications of diabetes in adulthood.

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

White-coat hypertension: elevated office and low out-of-office BP (ambulatory and/or home)

Masked hypertension: low office and elevated out-of-office BP (ambulatory and/or home)

"Non-dipping" pattern: nighttime (asleep) BP decline <10% compared to daytime (awake) levels

Key Facts of "Methods for Measuring Blood Pressure and Applications to Diabetes: A Focus on Children, Adolescents, and Young Adults"

- Hypertension affects a large proportion of children, adolescents, and young adults with diabetes.
- A considerable proportion of children and adolescents with hypertension remains untreated due to misdiagnosis or physicians' inertia.
- Proper methodology for BP measurement according to the recent US and European guidelines is imperative for the accurate diagnosis of hypertension.
- Only devices specifically validated for children should be used for the diagnosis of hypertension in pediatric diabetes centers and clinics.
- Action should be taken to improve compliance of diabetes centers and clinics with the recent guidelines to improve the accuracy of hypertension diagnosis and minimize future morbidity and mortality risk.

Summary Points

- The accuracy of BP measurement and the use of appropriate BP measurement methodology and devices in children and adolescents with diabetes are of utmost importance for the accurate diagnosis and management of hypertension.
- OBPM is the most widely used method in clinical practice; however, hypertension diagnosis, based solely on OBPM, is often misleading.
- ABPM is currently considered mandatory for the diagnosis of hypertension in children; however, it is not accessible in most settings in primary care.
- HBPM can facilitate the diagnosis of hypertension when ABPM is not available and can be particularly useful in following children treated for hypertension.
- · More research on HBPM in children is urgently needed.

References

- Ahmadizar F, Souverein P, De Boer A, Maitland-Van Der Zee AH. Undertreatment of hypertension and hypercholesterolaemia in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes: long-term followup on time trends in the occurrence of cardiovascular disease, risk factors and medications use. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2018;84:776–85.
- American Diabetes Association. 13. Children and adolescents: standards of medical care in diabetes-2019. Diabetes Care. 2019;42:S148–64.
- Bald M, Hoyer PF. Measurement of blood pressure at home: survey among pediatric nephrologists. Pediatr Nephrol. 2001;16:1058–62.
- Bao W, Threefoot SA, Srinivasan SR, Berenson GS. Essential hypertension predicted by tracking of elevated blood pressure from childhood to adulthood: the Bogalusa Heart Study. Am J Hypertens. 1995;8:657–65.
- Chen X, Wang Y. Tracking of blood pressure from childhood to adulthood: a systematic review and meta-regression analysis. Circulation. 2008;117:3171–80.
- Copeland KC, Zeitler P, Geffner M, Guandalini C, Higgins J, Hirst K, Kaufman FR, Linder B, Marcovina S, Mcguigan P, Pyle L, Tamborlane W, Willi S, TODAY Study Group. Characteristics of adolescents and youth with recent-onset type 2 diabetes: the Today cohort at baseline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96:159–67.
- Dabelea D, Stafford JM, Mayer-Davis EJ, D'agostino R Jr, Dolan L, Imperatore G, Linder B, Lawrence JM, Marcovina SM, Mottl AK, Black MH, Pop-Busui R, Saydah S, Hamman RF, Pihoker C, SEARCH for Diabetes in Youth Research Group. Association of Type 1 Diabetes vs type 2 Diabetes diagnosed during childhood and adolescence with complications during teenage years and young adulthood. JAMA. 2017;317:825–35.
- Din-Dzietham R, Liu Y, Bielo MV, Shamsa F. High blood pressure trends in children and adolescents in national surveys, 1963 to 2002. Circulation. 2007;116:1488–96.
- Donaghue KC, Marcovecchio ML, Wadwa RP, Chew EY, Wong TY, Calliari LE, Zabeen B, Salem MA, Craig ME. ISPAD clinical practice consensus guidelines 2018: microvascular and macrovascular complications in children and adolescents. Pediatr Diabetes. 2018;19(Suppl 27): 262–74.
- Dost A, Molz E, Krebs A, Bechtold S, Kapellen T, Rohrer T, Raile K, Fritsch M, Schwab KO, Holl R. Pulse pressure in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes mellitus in Germany and Austria. Pediatr Diabetes. 2014;15:236–43.
- Dost A, Bechtold S, Fink K, Bonfig W, Wiemann D, Kapellen TM, Witsch M, Schwab KO, Holl RW, Initiative DPV-Science and the German Diabetes Research Center. 2017 American

Academy of Pediatrics Clinical Practice Guideline: impact on prevalence of arterial hypertension in children and adolescents with type 1 Diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2020;43:1311–8.

- Duncombe SL, Voss C, Harris KC. Oscillometric and auscultatory blood pressure measurement methods in children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Hypertens. 2017;35:213–24.
- Duzova A, Karabay Bayazit A, Canpolat N, Niemirska A, Kaplan Bulut I, Azukaitis K, Karagoz T, Oguz B, Erdem S, Anarat A, Ranchin B, Shroff R, Djukic M, Harambat J, Yilmaz A, Yildiz N, Ozcakar B, Buscher A, Lugani F, Wygoda S, Tschumi S, Zaloszyc A, Jankauskiene A, Laube G, Galiano M, Kirchner M, Querfeld U, Melk A, Schaefer F, Wuhl E, for the 4C Study Consortium. Isolated nocturnal and isolated daytime hypertension associate with altered cardiovascular morphology and function in children with chronic kidney Disease findings from the Cardiovascular Comorbidity in Children with Chronic Kidney Disease Study. J Hypertens. 2019;37: 2247–55.
- Egan BM, Zhao Y, Axon RN. US trends in prevalence, awareness, treatment, and control of hypertension, 1988–2008. JAMA. 2010;303:2043–50.
- Eppens MC, Craig ME, Cusumano J, Hing S, Chan AK, Howard NJ, Silink M, Donaghue KC. Prevalence of diabetes complications in adolescents with type 2 compared with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2006;29:1300–6.
- Expert Panel on Integrated Guidelines for Cardiovascular Health and Risk Reduction in Children and Adolescents; National Heart, Lung, & Blood, Institute. Expert panel on integrated guidelines for cardiovascular health and risk reduction in children and adolescents: summary report. Pediatrics. 2011;128(Suppl 5):S213–56.
- Flynn JT. Ambulatory blood pressure monitoring in children: imperfect yet essential. Pediatr Nephrol. 2011;26:2089–94.
- Flynn JT, Falkner BE. New clinical practice guideline for the management of high blood pressure in children and adolescents. Hypertension. 2017;70:683–6.
- Flynn JT, Kaelber DC, Baker-Smith CM, Blowey D, Carroll AE, Daniels SR, De Ferranti SD, Dionne JM, Falkner B, Flinn SK, Gidding SS, Goodwin C, Leu MG, Powers ME, Rea C, Samuels J, Simasek M, Thaker VV, Urbina EM, Subcommittee on Screening and Management of High Blood Pressure in Children. Clinical practice guideline for screening and management of high blood pressure in children and adolescents. Pediatrics. 2017;140.
- Fornari E, Piona C, Rabbone I, Cardella F, Mozzillo E, Predieri B, Lo Presti D, Cherubini V, Patera IP, Suprani T, Bonfanti R, Cauvin V, Lombardo F, Zucchini S, Zanfardino A, Giani E, Reinstadler P, Minuto N, Buganza R, Roppolo R, Marigliano M, Maffeis C. Cardiovascular risk factors in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes in Italy: a multicentric observational study. Pediatr Diabetes. 2020;21:1546–55.
- Gepts T, Nguyen AM, Cleland C, Wu W, Pham-Singer H, Shelley D. Accounting for blood pressure seasonality alters evaluation of practice-level blood pressure control intervention. Am J Hypertens. 2020;33:220–2.
- Gerasimidi-Vazeou A, Birkebaek NH, Iotova V, Cherubini V, Piccini B, Biester T, Stipancic G, Jefferies C, Maffeis C, Stergiou GS, SWEET Study Group. Blood pressure measurement methodology and technology in the Sweet diabetes centers: an international SWEET database survey. Pediatr Diabetes. 2020;21:1537–45.
- Handler J, Zhao Y, Egan BM. Impact of the number of blood pressure measurements on blood pressure classification in US adults: NHANES 1999-2008. J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich). 2012;14:751–9.
- Iyriboz Y, Hearon CM, Edwards K. Agreement between large and small cuffs in sphygmomanometry: a quantitative assessment. J Clin Monit. 1994;10:127–33.
- Kallioinen N, Hill A, Horswill MS, Ward HE, Watson MO. Sources of inaccuracy in the measurement of adult patients' resting blood pressure in clinical settings: a systematic review. J Hypertens. 2017;35:421–41.
- Knerr I, Dost A, Lepler R, Raile K, Schober E, Rascher W, Holl RW, Diabetes Data Acquisition System For Prospective Surveillance Scientific Initiative Germany & Austria. Tracking and prediction of arterial blood pressure from childhood to young adulthood in 868 patients with

type 1 diabetes: a multicenter longitudinal survey in Germany and Austria. Diabetes Care. 2008;31:726-7.

- Koebnick C, Imperatore G, Jensen ET, Stafford JM, Shah AS, Mottl AK, Bell RA, Dabelea D, Liese AD, Marcovina SM, D'agostino RB Jr, Urbina EM, Lawrence JM. Progression to hypertension in youth and young adults with type 1 or type 2 diabetes: the SEARCH for Diabetes in Youth Study. J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich). 2020;22:888–96.
- Kollias A, Pantsiotou K, Karpettas N, Roussias L, Stergiou GS. Tracking of blood pressure from childhood to adolescence in a Greek cohort. Eur J Pub Health. 2012;22:389–93.
- Kollias A, Kyriakoulis KG, Stambolliu E, Ntineri A, Anagnostopoulos I, Stergiou GS. Seasonal blood pressure variation assessed by different measurement methods: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Hypertens. 2020;38:791–8.
- Kosti RI, Panagiotakos DB. The epidemic of obesity in children and adolescents in the world. Cent Eur J Public Health. 2006;14:151–9.
- Kronish IM, Kent S, Moise N, Shimbo D, Safford MM, Kynerd RE, O'beirne R, Sullivan A, Muntner P. Barriers to conducting ambulatory and home blood pressure monitoring during hypertension screening in the United States. J Am Soc Hypertens. 2017;11:573–80.
- Lurbe E. Childhood blood pressure: a window to adult hypertension. J Hypertens. 2003;21:2001-3.
- Lurbe E, Redon J, Kesani A, Pascual JM, Tacons J, Alvarez V, Batlle D. Increase in nocturnal blood pressure and progression to microalbuminuria in type 1 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2002;347:797– 805.
- Lurbe E, Agabiti-Rosei E, Cruickshank JK, Dominiczak A, Erdine S, Hirth A, Invitti C, Litwin M, Mancia G, Pall D, Rascher W, Redon J, Schaefer F, Seeman T, Sinha M, Stabouli S, Webb NJ, Wuhl E, Zanchetti A. 2016 European Society of Hypertension guidelines for the management of high blood pressure in children and adolescents. J Hypertens. 2016;34:1887–920.
- Margeirsdottir HD, Larsen JR, Brunborg C, Overby NC, Dahl-Jorgensen K, Norwegian Study Group For Childhood Diabetes. High prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes: a population-based study. Diabetologia. 2008;51:554–61.
- Miller RG, Mahajan HD, Costacou T, Sekikawa A, Anderson SJ, Orchard TJ. A contemporary estimate of total mortality and cardiovascular disease risk in young adults with type 1 Diabetes: the Pittsburgh Epidemiology of Diabetes Complications Study. Diabetes Care. 2016;39:2296– 303.
- Muntner P, He J, Cutler JA, Wildman RP, Whelton PK. Trends in blood pressure among children and adolescents. JAMA. 2004;291:2107–13.
- Nambam B, Dubose SN, Nathan BM, Beck RW, Maahs DM, Wadwa RP, Tamborlane WV, Foster NC, Miller KM, Haller MJ, Network TDEC. Therapeutic inertia: underdiagnosed and undertreated hypertension in children participating in the T1D Exchange Clinic Registry. Pediatr Diabetes. 2016;17:15–20.
- Negroni-Balasquide X, Bell CS, Samuel J, Samuels JA. Is one measurement enough to evaluate blood pressure among adolescents? A blood pressure screening experience in more than 9000 children with a subset comparison of auscultatory to mercury measurements. J Am Soc Hypertens. 2016;10:95–100.
- O'brien E, Asmar R, Beilin L, Imai Y, Mallion JM, Mancia G, Mengden T, Myers M, Padfield P, Palatini P, Parati G, Pickering T, Redon J, Staessen J, Stergiou G, Verdecchia P, European Society of Hypertension Working Group on Blood Pressure Monitoring. European Society of Hypertension recommendations for conventional, ambulatory and home blood pressure measurement. J Hypertens. 2003;21:821–48.
- O'brien E, Parati G, Stergiou G, Asmar R, Beilin L, Bilo G, Clement D, De La Sierra A, De Leeuw P, Dolan E, Fagard R, Graves J, Head GA, Imai Y, Kario K, Lurbe E, Mallion JM, Mancia G, Mengden T, Myers M, Ogedegbe G, Ohkubo T, Omboni S, Palatini P, Redon J, Ruilope LM, Shennan A, Staessen JA, Vanmontfrans G, Verdecchia P, Waeber B, Wang J, Zanchetti A, Zhang Y, European Society of Hypertension Working Group on Blood Pressure Monitoring. European Society of Hypertension paper on ambulatory blood pressure monitoring. J Hypertens. 2013;31:1731–68.

- Orchard TJ, Forrest KY, Kuller LH, Becker DJ, Pittsburgh Epidemiology of Diabetes Complications Study. Lipid and blood pressure treatment goals for type 1 diabetes: 10-year incidence data from the Pittsburgh Epidemiology of Diabetes Complications Study. Diabetes Care. 2001;24:1053–9.
- Ostchega Y, Zhang G, Kit BK, Nwankwo T. Factors associated with home blood pressure monitoring among US adults: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2011–2014. Am J Hypertens. 2017;30:1126–32.
- Parati G, Stergiou GS, Asmar R, Bilo G, De Leeuw P, Imai Y, Kario K, Lurbe E, Manolis A, Mengden T, O'brien E, Ohkubo T, Padfield P, Palatini P, Pickering T, Redon J, Revera M, Ruilope LM, Shennan A, Staessen JA, Tisler A, Waeber B, Zanchetti A, Mancia G, ESH Working Group on Blood Pressure Monitoring. European Society of Hypertension guidelines for blood pressure monitoring at home: a summary report of the second international consensus conference on home blood pressure monitoring. J Hypertens. 2008;26:1505–26.
- Parati G, Stergiou GS, Bilo G, Kollias A, Pengo M, Ochoa JE, Agarwal R, Asayama K, Asmar R, Burnier M, De La Sierra A, Giannattasio C, Gosse P, Head G, Hoshide S, Imai Y, Kario K, Li Y, Manios E, Mant J, McManus RJ, Mengden T, Mihailidou AS, Muntner P, Myers M, Niiranen T, Ntineri A, O'brien E, Octavio JA, Ohkubo T, Omboni S, Padfield P, Palatini P, Pellegrini D, Postel-Vinay N, Ramirez AJ, Sharman JE, Shennan A, Silva E, Topouchian J, Torlasco C, Wang JG, Weber MA, Whelton PK, White WB, Mancia G, Working Group on Blood Pressure Monitoring and Cardiovascular Variability of the European Society of Hypertension. Home blood pressure monitoring: methodology, clinical relevance and practical application: a 2021 position paper by the Working Group on Blood Pressure Monitoring and Cardiovascular Variability of the European Society of Hypertension. J Hypertens. 2021;39:1742–67.
- Petrie JR, Guzik TJ, Touyz RM. Diabetes, hypertension, and cardiovascular disease: clinical insights and vascular mechanisms. Can J Cardiol. 2018;34:575–84.
- Rawshani A, Rawshani A, Franzen S, Eliasson B, Svensson AM, Miftaraj M, McGuire DK, Sattar N, Rosengren A, Gudbjornsdottir S. Mortality and cardiovascular disease in type 1 and type 2 Diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2017;376:1407–18.
- Rawshani A, Sattar N, Franzen S, Rawshani A, Hattersley AT, Svensson AM, Eliasson B, Gudbjornsdottir S. Excess mortality and cardiovascular disease in young adults with type 1 diabetes in relation to age at onset: a nationwide, register-based cohort study. Lancet. 2018;392:477–86.
- Rawshani A, Rawshani A, Sattar N, Franzen S, McGuire DK, Eliasson B, Svensson AM, Zethelius B, Miftaraj M, Rosengren A, Gudbjornsdottir S. Relative prognostic importance and optimal levels of risk factors for mortality and cardiovascular outcomes in type 1 Diabetes mellitus. Circulation. 2019;139:1900–12.
- Rodriguez BL, Dabelea D, Liese AD, Fujimoto W, Waitzfelder B, Liu L, Bell R, Talton J, Snively BM, Kershnar A, Urbina E, Daniels S, Imperatore G, SEARCH Study Group. Prevalence and correlates of elevated blood pressure in youth with diabetes mellitus: the Search for diabetes in youth study. J Pediatr. 2010;157:245–251 e1.
- Rosner B, Cook NR, Daniels S, Falkner B. Childhood blood pressure trends and risk factors for high blood pressure: the NHANES experience 1988–2008. Hypertension. 2013;62:247–54.
- Schwab KO, Doerfer J, Hecker W, Grulich-Henn J, Wiemann D, Kordonouri O, Beyer P, Holl RW, DPV Initiative of the German Working Group for Pediatric Diabetology. Spectrum and prevalence of atherogenic risk factors in 27,358 children, adolescents, and young adults with type 1 diabetes: cross-sectional data from the German diabetes documentation and quality management system (DPV). Diabetes Care. 2006;29:218–25.
- Shah VN, Bailey R, Wu M, Foster NC, Pop-Busui R, Katz M, Crandall J, Bacha F, Nadeau K, Libman I, Hiers P, Mizokami-Stout K, Dimeglio LA, Sherr J, Pratley R, Agarwal S, Snell-Bergeon J, Cengiz E, Polsky S, Mehta SN. Risk factors for Cardiovascular Disease (CVD) in adults with type 1 Diabetes: findings from prospective real-life T1D Exchange Registry. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2020;105(5):e2032–e2038.
- Sorof JM. White coat hypertension in children. Blood Press Monit. 2000;5:197-202.
- Sorof JM, Portman RJ. White coat hypertension in children with elevated casual blood pressure. J Pediatr. 2000;137:493–7.

- Sorof JM, Poffenbarger T, Franco K, Portman R. Evaluation of white coat hypertension in children: importance of the definitions of normal ambulatory blood pressure and the severity of casual hypertension. Am J Hypertens. 2001;14:855–60.
- Stabouli S, Kotsis V, Toumanidis S, Papamichael C, Constantopoulos A, Zakopoulos N. White-coat and masked hypertension in children: association with target-organ damage. Pediatr Nephrol. 2005;20:1151–5.
- Stambolliu E, Kollias A, Bountzona I, Ntineri A, Servos G, Vazeou A, Stergiou GS. Nighttime home blood pressure in children: association with ambulatory blood pressure and preclinical organ damage. Hypertension. 2021;77:1877–85.
- Stamler J, Vaccaro O, Neaton JD, Wentworth D. Diabetes, other risk factors, and 12-yr cardiovascular mortality for men screened in the multiple risk factor intervention Trial. Diabetes Care. 1993;16:434–44.
- Stergiou GS, Baibas NM, Gantzarou AP, Skeva I, Kalkana CB, Roussias LG, Mountokalakis TD. Reproducibility of home, ambulatory, and clinic blood pressure: implications for the design of trials for the assessment of antihypertensive drug efficacy. Am J Hypertens. 2002;15:101–4.
- Stergiou GS, Yiannes NG, Rarra VC, Panagiotakos DB. Home blood pressure normalcy in children and adolescents: the Arsakeion School study. J Hypertens. 2007;25:1375–9.
- Stergiou GS, Nasothimiou E, Giovas P, Kapoyiannis A, Vazeou A. Diagnosis of hypertension in children and adolescents based on home versus ambulatory blood pressure monitoring. J Hypertens. 2008;26:1556–62.
- Stergiou GS, Alamara C, Drakatos A, Stefanidis CJ, Vazeou A. Prediction of albuminuria by different blood pressure measurement methods in type 1 diabetes: a pilot study. Hypertens Res. 2009;32:680–4.
- Stergiou GS, Vazeou A, Stefanidis CJ, Kapogiannis A, Georgakopoulos D, Stabouli S, Douma S, Doumas M, Zebekakis P, Makris T, Tsioufis CP, Manolis A. Practical recommendations for the diagnosis, investigation and management of hypertension in children and adolescents: hellenic society of hypertension consensus document. Hell J Cardiol. 2013;54:199–211.
- Stergiou GS, Boubouchairopoulou N, Kollias A. Accuracy of automated blood pressure measurement in children: evidence, issues, and perspectives. Hypertension. 2017a;69:1000–6.
- Stergiou GS, Kollias A, Boubouchairopoulou N, Ntineri A, O'brien, E. Evidence on the accuracy of automated blood pressure monitors in children: quantity versus quality. J Hypertens. 2017b;35: 896–7.
- Stergiou GS, Dolan E, Kollias A, Poulter NR, Shennan A, Staessen JA, Zhang ZY, Weber MA. Blood pressure measurement in special populations and circumstances. J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich). 2018a;20:1122–7.
- Stergiou GS, Kyriakoulis KG, Kollias A. Office blood pressure measurement types: different methodology-different clinical conclusions. J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich). 2018b;20:1683–5.
- Stergiou GS, Ntineri A, Kollias A, Stambolliu E, Kapogiannis A, Vazeou A, Stefanidis CJ, Soldatou A. Home blood pressure monitoring in pediatric hypertension: the US perspective and a plan for action. Hypertens Res. 2018c;41:662–8.
- Stergiou GS, Palatini P, Asmar R, Bilo G, De La Sierra A, Head G, Kario K, Mihailidou A, Wang J, Mancia G, O'brien E, Parati G. Blood pressure monitoring: theory and practice. European Society of Hypertension Working Group on blood pressure Monitoring and cardiovascular variability teaching course proceedings. Blood Press Monit. 2018d;23:1–8.
- Stergiou G, Stambolliu E, Bountzona I, Ntineri A, Kollias A, Vazeou A, Soldatou A. Home blood pressure monitoring in children and adolescents: systematic review of evidence on clinical utility. Curr Hypertens Rep. 2019;21:64.
- Stergiou GS, O'brien E, Myers M, Palatini P, Parati G, STRIDE BP Scientific Advisory Board. STRIDE BP: an international initiative for accurate blood pressure measurement. J Hypertens. 2020a;38:395–9.
- Stergiou GS, Palatini P, Kollias A, Kyriakoulis KG, Myers M, O'brien E, Parati G, Modesti PA. Seasonal blood pressure variation: A neglected confounder in clinical hypertension research and practice. Am J Hypertens. 2020b;33:595–6.

- Stergiou GS, Bountzona I, Alamara C, Vazeou A, Kollias A, Ntineri A. Reproducibility of office and out-of-office blood pressure measurements in children: implications for clinical practice and research. Hypertension. 2021a;77:993–1000.
- Stergiou GS, Palatini P, Parati G, O'brien E, Januszewicz A, Lurbe E, Persu A, Mancia G, Kreutz R, European Society of Hypertension, C., The European Society of Hypertension Working Group on Blood Pressure, M. & Cardiovascular, V. 2021 European Society of Hypertension practice guidelines for office and out-of-office blood pressure measurement. J Hypertens. 2021b;39: 1293–302.
- Sun SS, Grave GD, Siervogel RM, Pickoff AA, Arslanian SS, Daniels SR. Systolic blood pressure in childhood predicts hypertension and metabolic syndrome later in life. Pediatrics. 2007;119: 237–46.
- Tang O, Juraschek SP, Appel LJ, Cooper LA, Charleston J, Boonyasai RT, Carson KA, Yeh HC, Miller ER 3rd. Comparison of automated clinical and research blood pressure measurements: implications for clinical practice and trial design. J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich). 2018;20:1676– 82.
- Torrance B, McGuire KA, Lewanczuk R, Mcgavock J. Overweight, physical activity and high blood pressure in children: a review of the literature. Vasc Health Risk Manag. 2007;3:139–49.
- Tzotzas T, Krassas GE. Prevalence and trends of obesity in children and adults of South Europe. Pediatr Endocrinol Rev. 2004;1(Suppl 3):448–54.
- Urbina E, Alpert B, Flynn J, Hayman L, Harshfield GA, Jacobson M, Mahoney L, Mccrindle B, Mietus-Snyder M, Steinberger J, Daniels S, American Heart Association Atherosclerosis, Hypertension and Obesity in Youth Committee of the Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young. Ambulatory blood pressure monitoring in children and adolescents: recommendations for standard assessment: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Atherosclerosis, Hypertension, and Obesity in Youth Committee of the council on cardiovascular disease in the young and the council for high blood pressure research. Hypertension. 2008;52:433–51.
- Vos LE, Oren A, Bots ML, Gorissen WH, Grobbee DE, Uiterwaal CS. Does a routinely measured blood pressure in young adolescence accurately predict hypertension and total cardiovascular risk in young adulthood? J Hypertens. 2003;21:2027–34.
- Whelton PK, Carey RM, Aronow WS, Casey DE Jr, Collins KJ, Dennison Himmelfarb C, Depalma SM, Gidding S, Jamerson KA, Jones DW, Maclaughlin EJ, Muntner P, Ovbiagele B, Smith SC Jr, Spencer CC, Stafford RS, Taler SJ, Thomas RJ, Williams KA Sr, Williamson JD, Wright JT Jr. 2017 ACC/AHA/AAPA/ABC/ACPM/AGS/APhA/ASH/ASPC/NMA/PCNA Guideline for the Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Management of High Blood Pressure in Adults: A report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines. Hypertension. 2018a;71:e13–e115.
- Whelton PK, Carey RM, Aronow WS, Casey DE Jr, Collins KJ, Dennison Himmelfarb C, Depalma SM, Gidding S, Jamerson KA, Jones DW, Maclaughlin EJ, Muntner P, Ovbiagele B, Smith SC Jr, Spencer CC, Stafford RS, Taler SJ, Thomas RJ, Williams KA Sr, Williamson JD, Wright JT Jr. 2017 ACC/AHA/AAPA/ABC/ACPM/AGS/APhA/ASH/ASPC/NMA/PCNA Guideline for the Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Management of High Blood Pressure in Adults: executive summary: A report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines. Hypertension. 2018b;71:1269–324.
- Williams B, Mancia G, Spiering W, Agabiti Rosei E, Azizi M, Burnier M, Clement D, Coca A, De Simone G, Dominiczak A, Kahan T, Mahfoud F, Redon J, Ruilope L, Zanchetti A, Kerins M, Kjeldsen S, Kreutz R, Laurent S, Lip GYH, McManus R, Narkiewicz K, Ruschitzka F, Schmieder R, Shlyakhto E, Tsioufis K, Aboyans V, Desormais I, List of Authors/Task Force, M. 2018 practice guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension of the European Society of Hypertension and the European Society of Cardiology: ESH/ESC Task Force for the Management of Arterial Hypertension. J Hypertens. 2018;36:2284–309.

- Woroniecki RP, Flynn JT. How are hypertensive children evaluated and managed? A survey of North American pediatric nephrologists. Pediatr Nephrol. 2005;20:791–7.
- Wuhl E, Hadtstein C, Mehls O, Schaefer F, Escape Trial, Group. Home, clinic, and ambulatory blood pressure monitoring in children with chronic renal failure. Pediatr Res. 2004;55:492–7.
- Zeitler P, Arslanian S, Fu J, Pinhas-Hamiel O, Reinehr T, Tandon N, Urakami T, Wong J, Maahs DM. ISPAD clinical practice consensus guidelines 2018: type 2 diabetes mellitus in youth. Pediatr Diabetes. 2018;19(Suppl 27):28–46.
- Zeniodi ME, Ntineri A, Kollias A, Servos G, Moyssakis I, Destounis A, Harokopakis A, Vazeou A, Stergiou GS. Home and ambulatory blood pressure monitoring in children, adolescents and young adults: comparison, diagnostic agreement and association with preclinical organ damage. J Hypertens. 2020;38:1047–55.



Carotid Bodies: Use of Chemosensitivity as a Biomarker in Prediabetes

36

Silvia V. Conde, Marlene Lages, Maria P. Guarino, and Joana F. Sacramento

Contents

The Carotid Bodies	753
Role of CB in Metabolic Diseases	755
CB Dysfunction in Prediabetes and Type 2 Diabetes	755
What Is the Trigger for CB Dysfunction in Metabolic Diseases?	757
Evaluation of CB Chemosensitivity in Humans	758
Evaluation of Hypertonicity of Peripheral Chemoreceptors	759
Evaluation of Hyperreflexivity of Peripheral Chemoreceptors	760
Biomarkers of Prediabetes	761
Hyperinsulinemia and Obesity as Risk Factors for Prediabetes	761
Early Diagnosis of Prediabetes	761
CB Chemosensitivity as a Biomarker of Prediabetes	764
Evaluation of CB Hypertonicity by the Dejours Test	764
CBmeter: A New Medical Device for Early Detection of Prediabetes	764
Future Perspectives	767
Applications to Prognosis, Other Diseases, or Conditions	768
Mini-Dictionary of Terms	768
Key Facts of Carotid Bodies: Use of Chemosensitivity as a Biomarker in Prediabetes	769
Summary Points	769
References	770

S. V. Conde (🖂) · J. F. Sacramento

e-mail: silvia.conde@nms.unl.pt; joana.sacramento@nms.unl.pt

M. Lages · M. P. Guarino ciTechCare, Polytechnic of Leiria, Leiria, Portugal e-mail: marlene.c.lages@ipleiria.pt; maria.guarino@ipleiria.pt

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

CEDOC, NOVA Medical School, Faculdade de Ciências Médicas, Universidade NOVA de Lisboa, Lisbon, Portugal

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2_38

Abstract

The carotid bodies (CBs) play a role as metabolic sensors being deeply involved in the genesis of dysmetabolic states. CB activity was shown to be increased in prediabetes and type 2 diabetes animal models and also in prediabetic patients. Furthermore, abolishment of CB activity, via carotid sinus nerve surgical resection, both prevents and reverses pathological metabolic disease features in animal models.

Herein, we review in a concise manner the pathways linking CB chemoreceptor dysfunction to the pathogenesis of metabolic diseases and describe the methods available to evaluate CB chemosensitivity, postulated to be directly related to metabolic dysfunction. Moreover, we describe the biomarkers used to diagnose prediabetes and introduce the CB, as a novel biomarker for its early screening. A final section is devoted to debate the applications of CB chemosensitivity evaluation, not only as a biomarker for early screening of prediabetes but also to identify subgroups of patients that will benefit from therapeutics directed to modulate CB activity.

Keywords

Carotid body \cdot Prediabetes \cdot Insulin resistance \cdot Glucose metabolism \cdot Obesity \cdot Carotid body chemosensitivity \cdot Hypoxic ventilatory response \cdot Dejours test \cdot CBmeter

Abbreviations

ADA	American Diabetes Association
BMI	Body mass index
CB	Carotid body
CCA	Common carotid artery
CSN	Carotid sinus nerve
EASD	European Association for the Study of Diabetes
FINDRISC	Finnish Diabetes Risk Score
FiO2	Oxygen fraction in inspired air
HbA1c	Glycated hemoglobin
HF	High fat
HOMA	Homeostatic model assessment
HR	Heart rate
HVR	Hypoxic ventilatory response
IDF	International Diabetes Federation
IFG	Impaired fasting glucose
iGlu	Interstitial glucose
IGT	Impaired glucose tolerance
IL	Interleukin
NTS	Nucleus of tractus solitarius
OGTT	Oral glucose tolerance test

OSA	Obstructive sleep apnea
RR	Respiratory rate
SNS	Sympathetic nervous system
SpO ₂	Peripheral oxygen saturation
T2D	Type 2 diabetes
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
WHO	World Health Organization

The pathophysiological mechanisms underlying the genesis and progression of metabolic diseases, such as obesity and type 2 diabetes (T2D), are complex and go beyond the undoubtedly important triumvirate of an increasingly sedentary lifestyle, changes in diet, and genetic predisposition. The nervous system, both centrally and peripherally, plays a role in the generation and maintenance of these diseases (Ruud et al. 2017), with the parasympathetic and sympathetic branches of the autonomic nervous system becoming deregulated at target key efferent organs. A particular emphasis has been given to the overactivation of the sympathetic nervous system (SNS) as a major contributor to these dysmetabolic states (Lambert et al. 2010, 2015; Thorp and Schlaich 2015), with the dysfunction of the carotid body (CB), a sensory organ located in the neck that regulates sympathetic activity, emerging as a new pathological mechanism behind the emergence of metabolic diseases (Conde et al. 2017b, 2018, 2020).

The Carotid Bodies

The CBs are paired chemoreceptor organs, located in the bifurcation of the common carotid artery into the internal and external branches, an area of high blood flow (Fig. 1). Receiving blood supply from a small branch of the external carotid artery, the CB is the organ with the largest blood flow of the entire organism, oscillating between 1.5 and 2 l/100 g/min (for a review see Gonzalez et al. 2010). In agreement, the density of capillaries within the CB represents 25–33% of the surface of histological sections obtained from organs perfused at normal (80–100 mmHg) pressure.

The CBs are synaptically connected with their sensory nerve, the carotid sinus nerve (CSN), which projects to petrosal ganglion and joins the glossopharyngeal nerve before it enters the cranium, more specifically in the nucleus of tractus solitarius (NTS) at the medulla oblongata. The CSN also integrates filaments of the vagus nerve and sympathetic innervation proving efferent parasympathetic and sympathetic influence over the CB (Gonzalez et al. 1994).

Classically, the CBs are defined as sensors of changes in arterial blood gases such as O_2 and CO_2 , but they also sense alterations in blood pH. Hypoxia, hypercapnia, and acidosis activate the CB leading to the release of neurotransmitters that act on the CSN either to generate action potentials or to inhibit its activity (Gonzalez et al. 1994). The action potentials generated postsynaptically are integrated into the NTS to induce cardiorespiratory responses aimed at normalizing blood gases, via hyperventilation (Gonzalez et al. 1994), and at regulating blood pressure and cardiac performance, via activation of the sympathetic nervous system (Marshall 1994) (Fig. 1).





The CB is organized into glomeruli, clusters of cells in close contact with an abundant network of capillaries and connective tissue. Each glomerulus contains chemoreceptor cells, also known as glomus or type I cells, derived from the neural crest, and synaptically connected with the sensory nerve endings of the CSN (Gonzalez et al. 1994). These cells are enveloped by type II cells or sustentacular cells. While in the past these type II cells were thought to have a merely supportive role for type I cells, recently it was demonstrated that type II cells exhibit properties of stem cells that proliferate and differentiate into new type I cells in response to hypoxia (Pardal et al. 2007). CB type I cells contain secretory vesicles with several neurotransmitters, catecholamines (dopamine and norepinephrine), serotonin, ace-tylcholine, neuropeptides (substance P and enkephalins), and ATP, but also modulators, such as adenosine (for a review see Conde et al. 2017a). Type I cells express several voltage-ligand-gated ion channels and contain voltage-dependent Na⁺, Ca²⁺, and K⁺ currents (López-Barneo 2018).

Role of CB in Metabolic Diseases

Metabolic syndrome, T2D, and obesity are metabolic diseases that affect millions of individuals worldwide (IDF 2021; WHO 2021). The CBs have metabolic sensing functions, being involved in the regulation of glucose homeostasis and peripheral insulin sensitivity (for a review see Conde et al. 2018; Joyner et al. 2018) and in the control of lipid and carbohydrate metabolism (for a review see Conde et al. 2014, 2017a).

CB Dysfunction in Prediabetes and Type 2 Diabetes

In the last decade, a lot of data has been generated supporting CB dysfunction as a new pathological mechanism associated with metabolic diseases and that CB/CSN modulation may be a new therapeutic target for treating these conditions (Fig. 2). Our group has shown that the abolishment of CB activity, through CSN resection or via bilateral electrical neuromodulation of the CSN in rodents, prevents the development of insulin resistance and glucose intolerance induced by hypercaloric diets and reversed dysmetabolism in animal models of metabolic diseases (Ribeiro et al. 2013; Sacramento et al. 2017, 2018). Additionally, CSN resection normalized the heightened sympathetic activity observed in metabolic disease animal models, measured through electrophysiological recordings at the superior cervical chain (Cracchiolo et al. 2019a); assessment of plasma and adrenal medulla catecholamines, and analysis of heart rate variability (Ribeiro et al. 2013; Sacramento et al. 2017). In agreement with these preclinical data, 20 sessions of hyperbaric oxygen therapy, an intervention that dramatically reduces peripheral chemoreceptor activity (Lahiri and DeLaney 1975) was shown to improve fasting glucose and postprandial glucose levels in T2D patients (Vera-Cruz et al. 2015).



Fig. 2 Schematic representation of the vicious cycle involving carotid body (CB) dysfunction and the development and maintenance of metabolic diseases. Increased levels of insulin, leptin, and inflammatory cytokines induced by hypercaloric diets promote an increase in the CB chemosensitivity leading to an augment in sympathetic nervous system (SNS) activity that promotes metabolic dysfunction in adipose tissue, pancreas, liver, and skeletal muscle, contributing to the development of metabolic diseases, as type 2 diabetes, obesity, and metabolic syndrome

In the same line of evidence, prediabetes patients exhibited higher CB activity – measured as the cardiorespiratory response to transient hyperoxia, also known as the Dejours test (please see section "Evaluation of Hypertonicity of Peripheral Chemo-receptors") – that correlates with fasting insulin and insulin resistance (Cunha-Guimaraes et al. 2020). Also, CB dysfunction, ascertained as CB weight, % of CB chemoreceptor cells, CB tyrosine hydroxylase activity, CB release of catechol-amines, CSN activity, and ventilatory parameters, was found to be higher in animal models of prediabetes and T2D (Ribeiro et al. 2013; Dos Santos et al. 2018; Cracchiolo et al. 2019a, b). This increase in CB weight and % of type I cells in metabolic disease animals is in accordance with an augment of 20–25% in the size of CB size found in patients with diabetes mellitus (Cramer et al. 2014).
Supporting the hypothesis that CB dysfunction is associated with metabolic diseases, Paleczny et al. (2016) showed that overweight or obese men exhibit CB-mediated increase in blood pressure, without changes in respiratory and heart rate responses, effects that correlated with hyperinsulinemia and insulin resistance.

Altogether, the data suggest that CB dysfunction may be related to metabolic mediator signaling pathway abnormalities particularly those that affect the autonomic nervous system such as insulin and leptin.

What Is the Trigger for CB Dysfunction in Metabolic Diseases?

Insulin

In 1962, Pereda and collaborators (Pereda et al. 1962) observed that insulin administration into the carotid artery elicited a higher increase in sympathetic activity than the systemic administration of insulin in anesthetized dogs, suggesting a possible role for systemic insulin in SNS activity. Later evidence suggested that insulin indeed might act on the CB, not only to regulate SNS tonus but also to induce changes in ventilatory parameters. Indeed, both systemic and intracarotid insulin administrations increase ventilation in a dose-dependent manner, both in animals (Bin-Jaliah et al. 2004; Ribeiro et al. 2013) and humans (Ward et al. 2007; Barbosa et al. 2018). This effect is independent of hypoglycemia as it was maintained during an euglycemic clamp (Ribeiro et al. 2013; Barbosa et al. 2018) with stable plasma glucose levels and totally due to an effect on the CB since it was lost in CSN-resected animals (Ribeiro et al. 2013). In agreement, insulin receptors were demonstrated to be present in the whole CB and to become phosphorylated in response to insulin (Ribeiro et al. 2013). In physiological concentrations, insulin also elicited a neurosecretory response in type I cells, evaluated by the augment in intracellular calcium levels and by the release of dopamine and ATP from the whole CB (Ribeiro et al. 2013). Additionally, Vidal et al. (2019) described that intracarotid administration of insulin stimulates hepatic glycogenesis, confirming that glucose homeostasis is modulated by insulin action on the CB.

The strong scientific evidence that insulin activates the CBs in animal models combined with the findings that CB activity correlates with fasting insulin and insulin resistance in prediabetes patients is a strong supporter of the hypothesis that hyperinsulinemia is one of the main stimuli contributing to CB dysfunction present in metabolic diseases.

Leptin

Leptin is an adipocyte-derived hormone that regulates food intake and energy consumption by acting on the hypothalamus (Blüher and Mantzoros 2015). This hormone also plays a role in immunity, inflammation (Berger and Polotsky 2018), and the central control of breathing (Tankersley et al. 1998; O'Donnell et al. 1999) also modulating sympathetic activity (Eikelis et al. 2003).

Leptin and leptin receptors are present at the CBs, particularly in type I cells (Ribeiro et al. 2018; Caballero-Eraso et al. 2019; for a review see Sacramento et al. 2020). Leptin administration in rodents increases minute ventilation and hypoxic

ventilatory responses (Olea et al. 2015; Ribeiro et al. 2018; Caballero-Eraso et al. 2019), effects that are abolished by CSN denervation (Caballero-Eraso et al. 2019). Moreover, CSN resection reduces spontaneous ventilation induced by acute intracarotid leptin administration, confirming the contribution of CB for both leptin effects on basal ventilation and in response to acute hypoxia (Sacramento et al. 2020). However, chronic leptin administration for 7 days in rats augmented the ventilatory responses to hypoxia without changing resting respiratory parameters. These effects were also abolished by CSN resection (Yuan et al. 2018), suggesting opposite effects of acute and chronic leptin administration on basal ventilation. Moreover, in a prediabetes animal model, obtained by feeding the animals with high-fat (HF) diet for 3 weeks, the leptin effect on basal ventilation was smaller when compared with control animals (Ribeiro et al. 2018) and not modified by CSN resection (Sacramento et al. 2020), suggesting that leptin may be involved in the CB overactivation in the initial stages of dysmetabolism, as prediabetes and overweight, but that resistance to leptin signaling and blunting leptin responses might develop with chronic hyperleptinemia. In fact, the effect of leptin on CB activity may explain why an obese model of prediabetes exhibits higher increase in spontaneous ventilation, ischemic hypoxia-induced hyperventilation, CB weight, and tyrosine hydroxylase expression, comparing with lean model of prediabetes (Ribeiro et al. 2013).

Additionally, in obesity and T2D, there may be humoral factors, apart from insulin and leptin, contributing to the cycle that leads to CB malfunctioning. In metabolic diseases adipose tissue becomes dysfunctional (Matafome and Seiça, 2017) releasing pro-inflammatory cytokines and decreasing its physiological production of anti-inflammatory cytokines (Booth et al. 2016). CBs contain tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), IL-6, and their respective receptors (Lam et al. 2012; Mkrtchian et al. 2012; Kåhlin et al. 2014), and these pro-inflammatory cytokines modulate the excitability of type I cells, the release of CB neurotransmitters, and the CSN chemosensory discharge (Zapata et al. 2011; Porzionato et al. 2013) suggesting that the pro-inflammatory state that characterizes metabolic diseases may also contribute to CB dysfunction and maintenance of dysmetabolism.

Evaluation of CB Chemosensitivity in Humans

Several techniques, *ex vivo* or *in vivo*, with different degrees of invasiveness, have been employed in anesthetized and conscious animals to evaluate CB chemosensitivity, either directly or indirectly. Expression of tyrosine hydroxylase in CB type I cells, intracellular Ca²⁺ upon CB type I cell stimulation, neurotransmitter release, and the *ex vivo* evaluation of the electrophysiological activity of the CSN have been widely used post-mortem to evaluate CB activity (e.g., Ribeiro et al. 2013; Sacramento et al. 2019). In vivo CSN electrophysiological recordings (Cracchiolo et al. 2019b) and ventilatory responses to hypoxia in both anesthetized (Ribeiro et al. 2013, Pijacka et al. 2016) and conscious animals, using plethysmographic recordings (Quintero et al. 2016), have also been widely used. *In vitro* and *ex vivo* techniques have been also used to investigate human CB morphology and function (Ortega-Sáenz et al. 2013; Kåhlin et al. 2014); however difficulties in obtaining samples and high variability due to parameters as sex, age, and pathologies among others have limited the knowledge obtained from these post-mortem studies with the additional drawback that these techniques do not provide a real-time evaluation of CB chemosensitivity. Currently, the most reliable methods to evaluate CB chemosensitivity are based on the evaluation of cardiorespiratory responses in basal conditions, and in response to challenge tests like hypoxia.

Evaluation of Hypertonicity of Peripheral Chemoreceptors

Hypertonicity of CB chemoreceptors, i.e., increased basal activity, has emerged as one of the key pathological features associated with several sympathetic mediated diseases, such as heart failure, essential hypertension, hypertension associated with obstructive sleep apnea (OSA), and metabolic diseases – obesity, metabolic syndrome, and T2D (Conde et al. 2017b). This highlights the importance of having reliable and reproducible methods to evaluate this parameter.

Tonic CB chemosensitivity can be assessed by the Dejours test (Dejours 1962), and by the use of low doses of dopamine, based on the ability of this mediator to blunt both basal CB activity (Conde et al. 2008) and the hypoxic ventilatory response (HVR) (Welsh et al. 1978; Bascom et al. 1991; Limberg et al. 2016).

In the Dejours test, ventilatory parameters are measured while subjects breathe room air (21%O2; normoxia) followed by a short period of 100%O2 (hyperoxia) (Dejours 1962, 1963). Hyperoxia blunts CB activation and when applied during a few seconds results in a decrease in ventilation, which is as high as CB chemosensitivity (Dejours 1962, 1963). CB chemosensitivity is expressed as a percentage of change in respiratory frequency during hyperoxia in relation to the normoxic period. This method is very convenient to employ, reproducible among repetitions (Cunha-Guimaraes et al. 2020), and free of secondary factors (Dejours 1962).

Administration of low doses of dopamine can also be used to assess CB chemosensitivity, since dopamine decreases basal and evoked CB activity (Gonzalez et al. 1994; Conde et al. 2008) and blunts the ventilatory response to hypoxia (Welsh et al. 1978; Bascom et al. 1991; Limberg et al. 2016). In this test, dopamine (1–4 ug. Kg⁻¹.min⁻¹) is administered intravenously, and the cardiorespiratory parameters in basal conditions and in response to hypoxia are assessed (for a review see Limberg et al. 2016). In healthy volunteers dopamine reduces heart rate variability (HVR), blood pressure, and total peripheral resistance in all concentrations tested; however, when subjects were clustered into low and high CB chemosensitivity, only high doses of dopamine significantly decreased HVR (Limberg et al. 2016), which may limit the definition of a standard dose to be used for evaluation of CB chemosensitivity. This might be of particular importance when evaluating CB sensitivity in pathological conditions, since it is expected that CB activity correlates with disease severity, making it difficult to titrate dopamine doses according to disease stage.

Moreover, high doses of dopamine lead to secondary effects, such as increases in blood pressure and in respiratory frequency during spontaneous ventilation (Limberg et al. 2016). Altogether these factors may limit the use of dopamine to evaluate CB chemosensitivity and in particular for identification and characterization of subgroups of pathological conditions.

Evaluation of Hyperreflexivity of Peripheral Chemoreceptors

Hypoxic ventilatory response (HVR) has been the most used method to assess an acute response from peripheral chemoreceptors (Niewinski et al. 2014; Tubek et al. 2016). Apart from HVR, hypercapnic responses have also been used (Chua and Coats 1995; Niewinski 2016) by submitting volunteers to a switch from normoxic air (room air) to hypoxia (usually 100% N2), or hypercapnia, during a few seconds, followed by rebreathing of normoxic air. Peripheral chemosensitivity is as high as the increase in minute ventilation versus the decrease in peripheral oxygen saturation (SpO2) or increase in end-tidal PCO2.

The use of adenosine to stimulate the CBs has also been described as a method to selectively evaluate CB chemosensitivity and to assess CB ablation effects (Tubek et al. 2016). Adenosine is a short half-life purine nucleoside (Moser et al. 1989; Berne et al. 1974), produced within the CB (Conde and Monteiro 2004), involved in hypoxic CB chemoresponses (Conde et al. 2012; Sacramento et al. 2019) and stimulating ventilation in animals and humans through CB activation (Watt and Routledge 1985; Monteiro and Ribeiro 1987; Watt et al. 1987, Uematsu et al. 2000; Tubek et al. 2016). In agreement with the excitatory effects of adenosine in the CB (Conde et al. 2012, 2017a; Sacramento et al. 2019), Tubek et al. (2016) described that unilateral intracarotid stimulation of the CB with adenosine produces a dosedependent increase in minute ventilation, systolic blood pressure, and mean arterial pressure combined with a decrease in heart rate in conscious humans, effects that are abolished by CB ablation. Moreover, the authors found that individual chemosensitivity to adenosine correlates directly with HVR, suggesting that adenosine may be used to test CB chemosensitivity (Tubek et al. 2016). However, since the effect of adenosine on ventilation is dependent on the proximity of adenosine administration to the CB (Watt and Routledge 1985; Watt et al. 1987), intracarotid adenosine administration to evaluate CB chemosensitivity is a highly invasive methodology and should not be considered as an alternative for routine assessment of CB activity.

Apart from the methods based on cardiorespiratory changes in response to challenge tests, computed tomography angiography has also been used to evaluate the size of CBs in patients (Nair et al. 2013; Cramer et al. 2014; Welch et al. 2017). CB dimension has been postulated to correlate with CB function and with the progression of sympathetic CB-mediated diseases (Cramer et al. 2014). Cramer et al. (2014) found that patients with diabetes mellitus, hypertension, and congestive heart failure exhibit 20–25% larger CBs in relation to controls, a finding that is not present in other CB diseases, such as paragangliomas. However, the use of CB size may not be directly correlated with an exaggerated CB function, since patients with

OSA, a condition in which there is an increased tonic activity of the CB combined with increased sympathetic activity (Prabhakar 2016), do not exhibit increased CB size after age adjustment (Welch et al. 2017). It remains to be established if the evaluation of CB size by computed tomography angiography or other imaging techniques might be useful for the early detection of CB dysfunction and monitoring of disease progression.

Biomarkers of Prediabetes

Hyperinsulinemia and Obesity as Risk Factors for Prediabetes

Prediabetes is already recognized as a significant metabolic state. Prediabetes includes impaired fasting glucose (IFG), impaired glucose tolerance (IGT), or both conditions, which involves a high risk of developing T2D (ADA 2021). The dysregulation of insulin secretion or clearance results in chronically elevated levels of insulin, a condition referred to as hyperinsulinemia, which is common in people with obesity or other metabolic disorders (Thomas et al. 2019). In this situation, fasting insulin increases from normal glucose tolerance to IGT to T2D (Ferrannini et al. 2005; Thomas et al. 2019). The average risk of developing T2D increases by 0.7% per year in individuals with normal glucose levels and 5–10% per year when there is IFG or IGT (Mata-Cases et al. 2015). Besides predisposing people to a high probability of developing diabetes in the future, individuals with prediabetes also have an increased risk of developing other pathologies that are usually related to this condition, including diabetic neuropathy, nephropathy, and macrovascular complications (Tabák et al. 2012).

In addition to hyperinsulinemia, obesity is also considered a major risk factor for prediabetes and, consequently, for T2D. Currently, adipose tissue is recognized as an endocrine organ that produces and releases a range of adipokines, including TNF- α and IL-6. The increased production of these adipokines has been associated with the impairment of insulin sensitivity and the development of T2D (Khaodhiar et al. 2009).

The progression from prediabetes to diabetes is not certain, and its early identification followed by the implementation of preventive measures may reduce its onset and the subsequent risk of complications. Therefore, early diagnosis is critical in the mitigation of diabetes complications and associated comorbidities.

Early Diagnosis of Prediabetes

The number of individuals with prediabetes is expected to rise substantially and is estimated to affect 417.3 million people by 2030 and 486.1 million by 2045 according to the projections of IDF (International Diabetes Federation 2021). This exponential growth in numbers is also due to the increasing rates of obesity since a raised BMI is a well-known risk factor for developing diabetes (Zimmet et al. 2001; Algoblan et al. 2014).

Current recommendations from the American Diabetes Association (ADA) for screening are almost exclusively focused on adults who are overweight (BMI > kg 25 kg/m^2) or obese (BMI > 30 kg/m^2), at least up to 45 years of age, when screening is recommended to everyone. This approach can compromise the detection of this pathology in healthy and normal-weight people (ADA 2021). Also, prediabetes and T2D may be completely symptomless, which, combined with the fact that it is generally impossible to determine the exact time of the onset of this condition. leads to an extensive pre-diagnostic period. The lack of regular screening for prediabetes and early stages of diabetes leads to glucose intolerance progress going unnoticed, and many people end up with early diabetes complications and a higher cardiovascular disease risk when their condition is finally diagnosed (Hu et al. 2002). In the years before diabetes is identified, there is a rise in cardiovascular disease events, health resources, and costs (Olson et al. 2015). Therefore, the development of effective and accurate methods for diagnosing prediabetes is required to reduce the risk of this condition progressing to diabetes with complications associated.

The screening and detection of diabetes in the early stages of the natural disease course is critical for preventive management through strategies that currently can include lifestyle modifications and pharmacological therapeutics. Several predictive models have been tested in the search for the most precise approach to detect undiagnosed diabetes. These approaches include combinations of patient-reported questionnaires with objective measures, such as but not limited to age, body mass index (BMI), glucose, and glycated hemoglobin (Lindström and Tuomilehto 2003; Wilson et al. 2007).

Questionnaires and Scales

The IDF and the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD) recommend the use of simple and practical questionnaires and scales to identify individuals at increased risk of developing diabetes, necessitating closer surveillance, and to limit the proportion of the population in need of diagnostic glucose tolerance tests (Alberti et al. 2007; Tankova et al. 2011). The EASD further emphasizes that screening for diabetes potential can be efficiently performed using a noninvasive risk score combined subsequently with an oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) in those at high risk (Cosentino et al. 2020).

Several scales have been developed and validated to stratify the risk of developing the disease (Tankova et al. 2011; Buijsse et al. 2011), such as the Finnish Diabetes Risk Score (FINDRISC) which is one of the most used scales. This tool was developed in 2001 by the Finnish National Diabetes Program, and it is based on eight questions regarding variables related to the risk of developing diabetes, and it estimates the probability of developing diabetes over the next 10 years (Schwarz et al. 2009; Buijsse et al. 2011; Mata-Cases et al. 2015). This could be an effective questionnaire to be filled by the patients as it has been successfully implemented as a simple screening tool to assess diabetes risk and diagnose previously unrecognized diabetes in several European populations (Paulweber et al. 2010). The FINDRISC questionnaire may also be important to assess modifiable risk factors that are assessed by this scale, such as overweight and obesity. Also, abdominal fat is assessed by measuring waist circumference, which may be a better indicator of the risk of developing diabetes than just BMI (Alberti et al. 2007). The ADA developed the Diabetes Risk Test, which is another option to assess the suitability of testing for diabetes or prediabetes in asymptomatic adults based on their age, gender, weight, level of physical activity, and medical history. A score of 5 or higher indicates an increased risk for having T2D, but this questionnaire does not stratify the risk according to the different answers (ADA 2021). However, one of the main limitations of screening for prediabetes using questionnaires is the associated bias, as it is dependent on the patient's response. Also, the measures and risk index obtained with this type of method are more subjective. In contrast, the use of biochemical or physiological assessments can improve the performance and accuracy of screening models that are based on noninvasive measures (Buijsse et al. 2011; Waugh et al. 2013).

Biochemical Markers

The World Health Organization (WHO) and the ADA have guidelines for screening prediabetes based on the assessment of the levels of IGT and IFG. Both entities have defined in their guidelines the same thresholds for IGT; however, the ADA guidelines recommend a lower threshold for IFG than the WHO guidelines (WHO 2006; ADA 2021). This decision was made to attempt to improve the concordance between the IFG and IGT estimated prevalence from the two guidelines. Impaired fasting glucose is considered a marker of hepatic insulin resistance, and it is a more important predictor of diabetes risk than skeletal muscle insulin resistance described by IGT (Yip et al. 2017).

The assessment of IFG is based on the level of fasting plasma glucose, whereas IGT is determined using the 2-h plasma glucose during a 75 g oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT). Although the OGTT is considered the gold-standard test to assess glucose tolerance, generally, it is not recommended to use this test as a mass screening of prediabetes and T2D. The OGTT is an invasive procedure that requires multiple blood draws, it is expensive, and it can also be inconvenient to both the patients and healthcare providers.

Glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) can also be used as a biomarker of prediabetes. According to the ADA, values between 5.7% and 6.4% are considered prediabetes (ADA 2021). This test has the advantage that it can be performed without the need for a fasting period, unlike the fasting plasma glucose or the OGTT. Furthermore, as this biomarker is an indirect measure of mean blood glucose values over 3 months, it eliminates day-to-day variability as a confounding factor in the assessment of IGT or IFG (Sequeira and Poppitt 2017). Nevertheless, this biomarker also presents some limitations, including moderate sensitivity and specificity, and it can also be inaccurate since HbA1c may be affected by ethnicity, hemoglobin variants, and other clinical conditions (Barry et al. 2017; Dorcely et al. 2017; Hostalek 2019). The use of a single biomarker has inherent limitations; thus, the identification of additional biomarkers should be explored, allowing a combination more likely to precisely identify those at a higher risk for developing prediabetes. Prediabetes screening actions are an essential practice to prevent the progression of this state and to further control the prevalence of T2D and its complications. However, traditional methods involving the determination of capillary blood glucose, the isolated assessment of body weight, and other parameters did not show to be sufficiently discriminatory regarding the risk of the disease. As such, it is essential to investigate new screening methods that take into account the etiology of this pathology and that, in addition, allow detecting diabetes even in the asymptomatic stage.

The growing evidence shows that equally the early diagnosis and the adoption of therapeutic measures to improve glycemic control after the disease has set in allow for important reductions in the incidence, complications, and comorbidities of this pathology (Tuso 2014). These measures should include strategies that encompass the prevention of diabetes through the reduction of known risk factors, and the identification of groups at increased risk for developing diabetes.

CB Chemosensitivity as a Biomarker of Prediabetes

Evaluation of CB Hypertonicity by the Dejours Test

Using the two-breath Dejours test, in which patients breathe 100% O2 during two breaths after a room air breathing period, Cunha-Guimaraes et al. (2020) tested CB hypertonicity in prediabetic patients. CB hypertonicity was measured as the % of decrease in respiratory rate (RR) produced by 100%O2, being the RR decrease as higher as CB chemosensitivity. The authors found that prediabetic patients (n = 33), characterized by HbA1c levels between 5.7% and 6.4%, by increased insulin resistance measured through the homeostatic model assessment (HOMA), and by increased glucose intolerance through increased glycemia levels 2 h post-OGTT, showed higher decreases in RR meaning higher CB chemosensitivity than non-prediabetic volunteers (Cunha-Guimaraes et al. 2020). Moreover, increased CB chemosensitivity correlated with fasting plasma insulin levels and with HOMA index in prediabetes patients. Altogether the results suggest that CB chemosensitivity may represent a novel noninvasive functional biomarker to forecast early metabolic disease.

CBmeter: A New Medical Device for Early Detection of Prediabetes

Although knowing that evaluation of CB activity may represent a novel noninvasive functional biomarker to forecast early metabolic disease (Cunha-Guimaraes et al. 2020), the field is still lacking a noninvasive and easy-to-use equipment designed to detect changes in CB activity. Our team developed a prototype, the CBmeter, which consists of a set of modules for the acquisition of the physiological signals: a peripheral oxygen saturation sensor; a sensor for respiratory rate assessment; an ECG sensor for heart rate evaluation; a sensor for noninvasive glucose monitoring; and a module of integration of physiological signals (Fig. 3). The prototype also includes a new analytical methodology that combines the analysis of all the



Fig. 3 Layout of the CBmeter prototype, a device designed to measure physiological signals related to carotid body activity. The prototype of the device includes a sensor to measure peripheral oxygen saturation sensor (a); a sensor to measure cardiothoracic movements to determine the respiratory rate (b); an ECG sensor to assess heart rate (c); a sensor for continuous glucose monitoring (d); and a module for acquisition and integration of physiological signals (e)

CB-activity indirect measurements, allowing to quantify the risk of developing metabolic disease in healthy individuals, and also monitoring the evolution of the metabolic disease in people diagnosed with prediabetes and T2D.

The CBmeter evaluates the decrease in ventilation caused by two successive inspirations of oxygen fraction in inspired air (FiO2) of 100%, a decrease that is proportional to the chemosensor activity of CBs (Wehrwein et al. 2010, 2015). The device will allow the correlation between subtle alterations of the chemoreceptors with the silent development of metabolic diseases. The evaluation of the activity of the CBs through this methodology implies the performance of two provocation tests. For one of the tests, the team developed a standard mixed meal to raise glucose levels with specific characteristics – CBmeal.

Data analysis will be performed using software designed for this purpose – CBview (Brito et al. 2018).

At the functional level, the device is simple to use, having automatic or manual adjustment mechanisms, to ensure a surface of contact or permanent access with the wearer's skin, but without causing any discomfort and restrictions on freedom of movement. Its primary functions are the continuous monitoring of physiological parameters in a noninvasive manner, heart rate (HR), RR, and SpO2, with additional modules that allow recording of other physiological parameters of interest such as glucose levels in sweat. As a noninvasive medical device, the sensors are used to take measurements on the surface of the skin. With a prototype developed by our team, we performed a clinical study on healthy volunteers (n = 25) recruited at the Health Services of Polytechnic of Castelo Branco and prediabetic volunteers (n = 8), recruited at the Hospital Centre of Leiria. CB activity was assessed by continuous



Fig. 4 Graphics comparing the mean values of the physiological variables evaluated with the CBmeter device between the control group and the prediabetic/diabetic group. Physiological

monitoring of HR, RR, SpO2, and interstitial glucose (iGlu) in response to a hyperoxic challenge through the administration for 10 s of 100% medicinal oxygen and during the intake of a standard mixed meal (65% of carbohydrates, 23% of protein, and 12% of lipids). The physiological signals were acquired with the CBmeter prototype and processed using the CBview. The results obtained with the CBmeter showed that the mean values of iGlu and HR, but not RR or SpO2, were significantly different between healthy volunteers and prediabetes patients (repeated measures ANOVA with a Greenhouse-Geisser correction, F = 13.450, p = 0.006, and F = 6.415, p < 0.05, respectively) (Fig. 4). Post hoc tests using the Bonferroni correction revealed that glucose values significantly increase after ingestion of the mixed meal in both groups (p = 0.038 and p = 0.013, respectively). Comparing clusters of RR values between healthy and prediabetes volunteers, we observe significant differences in RR values at time points corresponding to the hyperoxia challenge (p = 0.007) (Fig. 4b). Post hoc tests using the Bonferroni correction revealed that HR values increase after meal ingestion although the values were not statistically significant among the two groups tested (Fig. 4c). As such, the diabetes group appears to be more sensitive to oxygen in terms of both RR and HR decreases. This means that their CBs respond much more effectively to oxygen than controls, which indicates that there is overactivation of these organs. We concluded that the CBmeter detects different patterns of cardiorespiratory and metabolic variations in response to hyperoxia and to a mixed meal in healthy and prediabetic volunteers. The data confirm that CB activity is altered in prediabetes patients and that the CBmeter may be a useful tool for the early diagnosis of dysmetabolism in asymptomatic patients.

Future Perspectives

Diabetes is a worldwide problem, with a total of approximately 422 million people diagnosed, numbers projected to increase by 25% in 2030 and 51% in 2045 (Saeedi et al. 2019). Between 2000 and 2016, there was a 5% increase in the world's diabetes mortality, and in 2019, about 1.5 million deaths were directly caused by diabetes.

Early diagnosis of this pathology allows timely intervention, reducing the risk of developing complications and reducing the mortality rate. In addition to health gains, early diagnosis also reduces the high costs and the burden on healthcare professionals. As such, it is considered that the development of new early

Fig. 4 (continued) variables were assessed: at baseline (0–10 min); after an hyperoxic 100% oxygen challenge at t = 10 min; and after a mixed meal challenge performed between 20 and 30th minute. Left panel shows mean values of glucose excursion curves in control and prediabetic patients (F = 13.450, p = 0.006; repeated measures ANOVA with a Greenhouse-Geisser correction). Middle panel shows mean values of respiratory rate (RR) (F = 2.765, p = 0.080; repeated measures ANOVA with a Greenhouse-Geisser correction). Right panel shows mean values of heart rate that were statistically significantly different when using an ANOVA with repeated measures with a Greenhouse-Geisser correction (F = 6.415, p < 0.05)

diagnostic methodology will have a high impact on society. Therefore, a methodology that provides early screening of CB dysfunction may represent a biomarker of subclinical disease development allowing timely lifestyle interventions and therapeutic approaches that prevent progression of the disease and associated comorbidities. Evaluation of CB chemosensitivity, particularly through a minimally invasive, easy-to-use, and designed for primary healthcare setting device, like the CBmeter will contribute to diminish the high numbers of diabetes incidence. Moreover, assessment of CB chemosensitivity will allow screening patients with CB-associated metabolic dysfunctions that will benefit from CB-targeted therapeutics.

Applications to Prognosis, Other Diseases, or Conditions

In this chapter the chemosensitivity of the carotid body (CB) has been reviewed as an early biomarker for the diagnosis of metabolic diseases and to follow its progression. Chemosensitivity of the CB was shown to be increased in prediabetes patients and to be directly correlated with fasting insulin levels and with insulin resistance (Cunha-Guimaraes et al. 2020). Preliminary studies using the CBmeter, a device that combines sensors to assess heart rate, respiratory rate, peripheral oxygen saturation, and glucose levels to determine the respiratory and metabolic chemoreflex of the carotid bodies after performing provocation tests, allowed to noninvasively associate the function of the carotid bodies with the diagnosis of endocrine disruption.

This kind of methodology might be used to forecast not only metabolic diseases but also other diseases associated with CB dysfunction and that originates increased CB chemosensitivity, namely, essential hypertension, obstructive sleep apnea, and heart failure.

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

- Carotid body chemosensitivity includes carotid body hypertonicity and hyperreflexia or one of these.
- · Carotid body hypertonicity increased carotid body basal activity.
- Carotid body hyperreflexia increased response of the carotid body to acute stimuli, e.g., hypoxia.
- **Carotid sinus nerve** a branch of the glossopharyngeal nerve that contains the afferent fibers of chemoreceptors in the carotid body, being these fibers integrated in the nucleus of tractus solitarius.
- **CBmeal** a standard mixed meal composed of 65% of carbohydrates, 23% of protein, and 12% of lipids that is administered to induce an increase in blood glucose levels to assess the metabolic chemoreflex of the carotid bodies.
- CBmeter a device that combines sensors to assess heart rate, respiratory rate, peripheral oxygen saturation, and glucose levels to determine the respiratory and metabolic chemoreflex of the carotid bodies after performing provocation tests.

- **CBview** a novel software, developed using MatLab, which analyzes the records of physiological responses mediated by the carotid bodies to provocation tests.
- **Hypoxic ventilatory response** defined as the increase in ventilation induced by hypoxia allowing the body to respond adequately to a low oxygen pressure.
- Impaired fasting glucose is defined as fasting plasma glucose levels of 100–125 mg/dL (5.6–6.9 mmol/L).
- Impaired glucose tolerance blood glucose levels are increased beyond normal levels, specifically glucose levels of 140–199 mg/dL (7.8–11.0 mmol/L) 2 h after a 75 g oral glucose tolerance test.
- Oral glucose tolerance test is used to diagnose disturbances in glucose metabolism or insulin resistance, and it consists of the oral administration of liquid containing 75 g of glucose after overnight fasting.
- **Prediabetes** a condition in which subjects have blood glucose levels higher than normal, but not high enough to be classified as diabetes.

Key Facts of Carotid Bodies: Use of Chemosensitivity as a Biomarker in Prediabetes

- The CB is a peripheral chemosensory organ that exhibits metabolic sensing properties, being deeply involved in glucose homeostasis.
- CB dysfunction is involved in the genesis of insulin resistance and glucose intolerance since the abolishment of its activity via the resection or electrical modulation of its sensitive nerve, the CSN, prevents and reverses the development of these pathological features in animal models of metabolic disease.
- CB activity was shown to be increased in animal models of metabolic disease.
- Prediabetes patients exhibit increased CB chemosensitivity, i.e., increased CB activity that correlates with fasting insulin levels and with insulin resistance.
- Prediabetes has a prevalence of around 28%, and it is recognized as an important metabolic state that predisposes people to a higher probability of developing diabetes in the future.
- Early screening of prediabetes allows the implementation of preventive measures that reduce the number of cases that progress to diabetes as well as the percentage of comorbidities and costs associated with this pathology.
- The CBmeter is a novel and innovative device that allows associating the function of the carotid bodies with the diagnosis of endocrine disruption, which is currently not part of common clinical practice.

Summary Points

• CB chemosensitivity is increased in prediabetes and T2D animal models and prediabetic patients, an effect abolished after CSN resection or electrical modulation in rodents.

- Hyperinsulinemia, hyperleptinemia, and inflammation contribute to CB overactivation leading to an increase in sympathetic nervous system activity promoting the development of metabolic diseases such as metabolic syndrome, obesity, and T2D.
- The evaluation of CB activity might be used as an early diagnostic tool for metabolic dysfunction and its severity and to characterize metabolic disease patients, in order to identify the subjects that will benefit from CB/CSN modulation.
- The CBmeter is a new noninvasive device that assesses interstitial glucose, respiratory rate, heart rate, and oxygen saturation in real time and synchronously enabling associating the function of the carotid bodies with the diagnosis of endocrine disruption.

References

- Alberti KGMM, Zimmet P, Shaw J. International Diabetes Federation: a consensus on type 2 diabetes prevention. Diabet Med. 2007;24:451–63. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1464-5491. 2007.02157.X.
- Algoblan A, Alalfi M, Khan M. Mechanism linking diabetes mellitus and obesity. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes Targets Ther. 2014;7:587. https://doi.org/10.2147/DMSO.S67400.
- American Diabetes Association. Classification and diagnosis of diabetes: standards of medical care in diabetes – 2021. Diabetes Care. 2021;44:S15–33. https://doi.org/10.2337/DC21-S002.
- Barbosa TC, Kaur J, Holwerda SW, et al. Insulin increases ventilation during euglycemia in humans. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2018;315:84–9. https://doi.org/10.1152/ ajpregu.00039.2018.-Evidence.
- Barry E, Roberts S, Oke J, et al. Efficacy and effectiveness of screen and treat policies in prevention of type 2 diabetes: systematic review and meta-analysis of screening tests and interventions. BMJ. 2017;356. https://doi.org/10.1136/BMJ.I6538.
- Bascom DA, Clement ID, Dorrington KL, Robbins PA. Effects of dopamine and domperidone on ventilation during isocapnic hypoxia in humans. Respir Physiol. 1991;85:319–28. https://doi. org/10.1016/0034-5687(91)90071-P.
- Berger S, Polotsky VY. Leptin and leptin resistance in the pathogenesis of obstructive sleep apnea: a possible link to oxidative stress and cardiovascular complications. Oxidative Med Cell Longev. 2018;2018:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/5137947.
- Berne RM, Rubio R, Curnish RR. Release of adenosine from ischemic brain. Circ Res. 1974;35: 262–71. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.RES.35.2.262.
- Bin-Jaliah I, Maskell PD, Kumar P. Indirect sensing of insulin-induced hypoglycaemia by the carotid body in the rat. J Physiol. 2004;556:255–66. https://doi.org/10.1113/JPHYSIOL.2003.058321.
- Blüher M, Mantzoros CS. From leptin to other adipokines in health and disease: facts and expectations at the beginning of the 21st century. Metabolism. 2015;64:131–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.METABOL.2014.10.016.
- Booth A, Magnuson A, Fouts J, Foster MT. Adipose tissue: an endocrine organ playing a role in metabolic regulation. Horm Mol Biol Clin Investig. 2016;26:25–42. https://doi.org/10.1515/ HMBCI-2015-0073.
- Brito GC, Fonseca-Pinto R, Guarino MP, et al. CBView: merging data in metabolic diagnosis. Procedia Comput Sci. 2018;138:244–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2018.10.035.
- Buijsse B, Simmons RK, Griffin SJ, Schulze MB. Risk assessment tools for identifying individuals at risk of developing type 2 diabetes. Epidemiol Rev. 2011;33:46–62. https://doi.org/10.1093/ EPIREV/MXQ019.

- Caballero-Eraso C, Shin M-K, Pho H, et al. Leptin acts in the carotid bodies to increase minute ventilation during wakefulness and sleep and augment the hypoxic ventilatory response. J Physiol. 2019;597:151–72. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP276900.
- Chua TP, Coats AJS. The reproducibility and comparability of tests of the peripheral chemoreflex: comparing the transient hypoxic ventilatory drive test and the single-breath carbon dioxide response test in healthy subjects. Eur J Clin Investig. 1995;25:887–92. https://doi.org/10.1111/J. 1365-2362.1995.TB01962.X.
- Conde SV, Gonzalez C, Batuca JR, et al. An antagonistic interaction between A2B adenosine and D2 dopamine receptors modulates the function of rat carotid body chemoreceptor cells. J Neurochem. 2008;107:1369–81. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1471-4159.2008.05704.X.
- Conde SV, Monteiro EC. Hypoxia induces adenosine release from the rat carotid body. J Neurochem. 2004;89:1148–56. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1471-4159.2004.02380.X.
- Conde SV, Monteiro EC, Rigual R, et al. Hypoxic intensity: a determinant for the contribution of ATP and adenosine to the genesis of carotid body chemosensory activity. J Appl Physiol. 2012;112:2002–10. https://doi.org/10.1152/JAPPLPHYSIOL.01617.2011.
- Conde SV, Monteiro EC, Sacramento JF. Purines and carotid body: new roles in pathological conditions. Front Pharmacol. 2017a;8:913. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2017.00913.
- Conde SV, Ribeiro MJ, Melo BF, et al. Insulin resistance: a new consequence of altered carotid body chemoreflex? J Physiol. 2017b;595:31–41. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP271684.
- Conde SV, Sacramento JF, Guarino MP. Carotid body: a metabolic sensor implicated in insulin resistance. Physiol Genomics. 2018;50:208–14. https://doi.org/10.1152/ PHYSIOLGENOMICS.00121.2017.
- Conde SV, Sacramento JF, Guarino MP, et al. Carotid body, insulin, and metabolic diseases: unraveling the links. Front Physiol. 2014;5:418. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2014.00418.
- Conde SV, Sacramento JF, Martins FO. Immunity and the carotid body: implications for metabolic diseases. Bioelectron Med. 2020;61(6):1–20. https://doi.org/10.1186/S42234-020-00061-5.
- Cosentino F, Grant PJ, Aboyans V, et al. The Task Force for diabetes, pre-diabetes, and cardiovascular diseases of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD). Eur Heart J. 2020;41:255–323. https://doi.org/10.1093/ EURHEARTJ/EHZ486.
- Cracchiolo M, Sacramento JF, Mazzoni A, et al. High frequency shift in carotid sinus nerve and sympathetic nerve activity in type 2 diabetic rat model *. In: 9th international IEEE/EMBS conference on neural engineering (NER). IEEE; 2019a. p. 498–501.
- Cracchiolo M, Sacramento JF, Mazzoni A, et al. Decoding neural metabolic markers from the carotid sinus nerve in a type 2 diabetes model. IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng. 2019b;27: 2034–43. https://doi.org/10.1109/TNSRE.2019.2942398.
- Cramer JA, Wiggins RH, Fudim M, et al. Carotid body size on CTA: correlation with comorbidities. Clin Radiol. 2014;69:e33–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CRAD.2013.08.016.
- Cunha-Guimaraes JP, Guarino MP, Timóteo AT, et al. Carotid body chemosensitivity: early biomarker of dysmetabolism in humans. Eur J Endocrinol. 2020;182:549–57. https://doi.org/ 10.1530/EJE-19-0976.
- Dejours P. Chemoreflexes in breathing. Physiol Rev. 1962;42:335–58. https://doi.org/10.1152/ PHYSREV.1962.42.3.335.
- Dejours P. Control of respiration by arterial chemoreceptors. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1963;109:682–95. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1749-6632.1963.TB13497.X.
- Dorcely B, Katz K, Jagannathan R, et al. Novel biomarkers for prediabetes, diabetes, and associated complications. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes Targets Ther. 2017;10:345–61. https://doi.org/10. 2147/DMSO.S100074.
- Eikelis N, Schlaich M, Aggarwal A, et al. Interactions between leptin and the human sympathetic nervous system. Hypertension. 2003;41:1072–9. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.HYP.0000066289. 17754.49.
- Ferrannini E, Gastaldelli A, Miyazaki Y, et al. β-Cell function in subjects spanning the range from normal glucose tolerance to overt diabetes: a new analysis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2005;90: 493–500. https://doi.org/10.1210/JC.2004-1133.

- Gonzalez C, Agapito MT, Rocher A, et al. A revisit to O2 sensing and transduction in the carotid body chemoreceptors in the context of reactive oxygen species biology. Respir Physiol Neurobiol. 2010;174:317–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resp.2010.09.002.
- Gonzalez C, Almaraz L, Obeso A, Rigual R. Carotid body chemoreceptors: from natural stimuli to sensory discharges. Physiol Rev. 1994;74:829–98. https://doi.org/10.1152/PHYSREV.1994.74. 4.829.
- Hostalek U. Global epidemiology of prediabetes present and future perspectives. Clin Diabetes Endocrinol. 2019;51(5):1–5. https://doi.org/10.1186/S40842-019-0080-0.
- Hu FB, Stampfer MJ, Haffner SM, et al. Elevated risk of cardiovascular disease prior to clinical diagnosis of type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2002;25:1129–34. https://doi.org/10.2337/ DIACARE.25.7.1129.
- International Diabetes Federation. IDF Diabetes Atlas. 10th ed; 2021. https://diabetesatlas.org/. Accessed on 03 March 2022
- Joyner MJ, Limberg JK, Wehrwein EA, Johnson BD. Role of the carotid body chemoreceptors in glucose homeostasis and thermoregulation in humans. J Physiol. 2018;596:3079–85. https://doi. org/10.1113/JP274354.
- Kåhlin J, Mkrtchian S, Ebberyd A, et al. The human carotid body releases acetylcholine, ATP and cytokines during hypoxia. Exp Physiol. 2014;99:1089–98. https://doi.org/10.1113/ EXPPHYSIOL.2014.078873.
- Khaodhiar L, Cummings S, Apovian CM. Treating diabetes and prediabetes by focusing on obesity management. Curr Diab Rep. 2009;9:348. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11892-009-0055-0.
- Lahiri S, DeLaney RG. Relationship between carotid chemoreceptor activity and ventilation in the cat. Respir Physiol. 1975;24:267–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/0034-5687(75)90018-3.
- Lam S-Y, Liu Y, Ng K-M, et al. Chronic intermittent hypoxia induces local inflammation of the rat carotid body via functional upregulation of proinflammatory cytokine pathways. Histochem Cell Biol. 2012;137:303–17. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00418-011-0900-5.
- Lambert EA, Straznicky NE, Dixon JB, Lambert GW. Should the sympathetic nervous system be a target to improve cardiometabolic risk in obesity? Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2015;309: H244–58. https://doi.org/10.1152/AJPHEART.00096.2015.
- Lambert GW, Straznicky NE, Lambert EA, et al. Sympathetic nervous activation in obesity and the metabolic syndrome – causes, consequences and therapeutic implications. Pharmacol Ther. 2010;126:159–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2010.02.002.
- Limberg JK, Johnson BD, Holbein WW, et al. Interindividual variability in the dose-specific effect of dopamine on carotid chemoreceptor sensitivity to hypoxia. J Appl Physiol. 2016;120:138–47. https://doi.org/10.1152/JAPPLPHYSIOL.00723.2015.
- Lindström J, Tuomilehto J. The diabetes risk score. Diabetes Care. 2003;26:725–31. https://doi.org/ 10.2337/DIACARE.26.3.725.
- López-Barneo J. Oxygen sensing and stem cell activation in the hypoxic carotid body. Cell Tissue Res. 2018;3722(372):417–25. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00441-017-2783-9.
- Marshall JM. Peripheral chemoreceptors and cardiovascular regulation. Physiol Rev. 1994;74:543– 94. https://doi.org/10.1152/PHYSREV.1994.74.3.543.
- Mata-Cases M, Artola S, Escalada J, et al. Consensus on the detection and management of prediabetes. Consensus and Clinical Guidelines Working Group of the Spanish Diabetes Society. Rev Clínica Española (English Ed). 2015;215:117–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. rceng.2014.10.001.
- Matafome P, Seiça R. Function and dysfunction of adipose tissue. Adv Neurobiol. 2017;19:3–31. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-63260-5 1.
- Mkrtchian S, Kåhlin J, Ebberyd A, et al. The human carotid body transcriptome with focus on oxygen sensing and inflammation – a comparative analysis. J Physiol. 2012;590:3807–19. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2012.231084.
- Monteiro E, Ribeiro J. Ventilatory effects of adenosine mediated by carotid body chemoreceptors in the rat. Naunyn Schmiedeberg's Arch Pharmacol. 1987;335:143–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF00177715.

- Moser G, Schrader J, Deussen A. Turnover of adenosine in plasma of human and dog blood. Am J Phys. 1989;256. https://doi.org/10.1152/AJPCELL.1989.256.4.C799.
- Nair S, Gupta A, Fudim M, et al. CT angiography in the detection of carotid body enlargement in patients with hypertension and heart failure. Neuroradiology. 2013;55:1319–22. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/S00234-013-1273-3.
- Niewinski P. Carotid body modulation in systolic heart failure from the clinical perspective. J Physiol. 2016;595:53–61. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP271692.
- Niewinski P, Tubek S, Banasiak W, et al. Consequences of peripheral chemoreflex inhibition with low-dose dopamine in humans. J Physiol. 2014;592:1295–308. https://doi.org/10.1113/ JPHYSIOL.2013.266858.
- O'Donnell CP, Schaub CD, Haines AS, et al. Leptin prevents respiratory depression in obesity. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 1999;159:1477–84. https://doi.org/10.1164/ajrccm.159.5.9809025.
- Olea E, Ribeiro MJ, Gallego-Martin T, et al. The carotid body does not mediate the acute ventilatory effects of leptin. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2015;860:379–85. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-18440-1_43.
- Olson DE, Zhu M, Long Q, et al. Increased cardiovascular disease, resource use, and costs before the clinical diagnosis of diabetes in veterans in the southeastern U.S. J Gen Intern Med. 2015;30: 749–57. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11606-014-3075-7.
- Ortega-Sáenz P, Pardal R, Levitsky K, et al. Cellular properties and chemosensory responses of the human carotid body. J Physiol. 2013;591:6157–73. https://doi.org/10.1113/JPHYSIOL.2013. 263657.
- Paleczny B, Siennicka A, Zacharski M, et al. Increased body fat is associated with potentiation of blood pressure response to hypoxia in healthy men: relations with insulin and leptin. Clin Auton Res. 2016;262(26):107–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10286-015-0338-2.
- Pardal R, Ortega-Sáenz P, Durán R, López-Barneo J. Glia-like stem cells sustain physiologic neurogenesis in the adult mammalian carotid body. Cell. 2007;131:364–77. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.cell.2007.07.043.
- Paulweber B, Valensi P, Lindström J, et al. A European evidence-based guideline for the prevention of type 2 diabetes. Horm Metab Res. 2010;42:S3–S36. https://doi.org/10.1055/S-0029-1240928.
- Pereda SA, Eckstein JW, Abboud FM. Cardiovascular responses to insulin in the absence of hypoglycemia. Am J Phys. 1962;202:249–52. https://doi.org/10.1152/AJPLEGACY.1962.202.2.249.
- Pijacka W, Moraes DJA, Ratcliffe LEK, et al. Purinergic receptors in the carotid body as a new drug target for controlling hypertension. Nat Med. 2016;2210(22):1151–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nm.4173.
- Porzionato A, Macchi V, De Caro R, Di Giulio C. Inflammatory and immunomodulatory mechanisms in the carotid body. Respir Physiol Neurobiol. 2013;187:31–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. resp.2013.02.017.
- Prabhakar NR. Carotid body chemoreflex: a driver of autonomic abnormalities in sleep apnoea. Exp Physiol. 2016;101:975–85. https://doi.org/10.1113/EP085624.
- Quintero M, Olea E, Conde SV, et al. Age protects from harmful effects produced by chronic intermittent hypoxia. J Physiol. 2016;594:1773–90. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP270878.
- Ribeiro MJ, Sacramento JF, Gallego-Martin T, et al. High fat diet blunts the effects of leptin on ventilation and on carotid body activity. J Physiol. 2018;596:3187–99. https://doi.org/10.1113/ JP275362.
- Ribeiro MJ, Sacramento JF, Gonzalez C, et al. Carotid body denervation prevents the development of insulin resistance and hypertension induced by Hypercaloric diets. Diabetes. 2013;62:2905–16. https://doi.org/10.2337/DB12-1463.
- Ruud J, Steculorum SM, Brüning JC. Neuronal control of peripheral insulin sensitivity and glucose metabolism. Nat Commun. 2017;8:15259. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms15259.
- Sacramento JF, Andrzejewski K, Melo BF, et al. Exploring the mediators that promote carotid body dysfunction in type 2 diabetes and obesity related syndromes. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21:5545. https://doi.org/10.3390/IJMS21155545.

- Sacramento JF, Chew DJ, Melo BF, et al. Bioelectronic modulation of carotid sinus nerve activity in the rat: a potential therapeutic approach for type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2018;613(61):700– 10. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00125-017-4533-7.
- Sacramento JF, Olea E, Ribeiro MJ, et al. Contribution of adenosine and ATP to the carotid body chemosensory activity in ageing. J Physiol. 2019;597:4991–5008. https://doi.org/10.1113/ JP274179.
- Sacramento JF, Ribeiro MJ, Rodrigues T, et al. Functional abolition of carotid body activity restores insulin action and glucose homeostasis in rats: key roles for visceral adipose tissue and the liver. Diabetologia. 2017;60:158–68. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00125-016-4133-Y.
- Saeedi P, Petersohn I, Salpea P, et al. Global and regional diabetes prevalence estimates for 2019 and projections for 2030 and 2045: results from the international diabetes federation diabetes atlas, 9th edition. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2019;157:107843. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres. 2019.107843.
- Dos Santos E, Sacramento JF, Melo BF, Conde SV. Carotid body dysfunction in diet-induced insulin resistance is associated with alterations in its morphology. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2018;1071:103–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-91137-3 13.
- Schwarz PEH, Li J, Reimann M, et al. The Finnish Diabetes Risk Score is associated with insulin resistance and progression towards type 2 diabetes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2009;94:920–6. https://doi.org/10.1210/JC.2007-2427.
- Sequeira IR, Poppitt SD. HbA1c as a marker of prediabetes: a reliable screening tool or not. Insights Nutr Metab. 2017;1:21–29
- Tabák AG, Herder C, Rathmann W, et al. Prediabetes: a high-risk state for diabetes development. Lancet. 2012;379:2279–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60283-9.
- Tankersley CG, O'Donnell C, Daood MJ, et al. Leptin attenuates respiratory complications associated with the obese phenotype. J Appl Physiol. 1998;85:2261–9. https://doi.org/10.1152/ JAPPL.1998.85.6.2261.
- Tankova T, Chakarova N, Atanassova I, Dakovska L. Evaluation of the Finnish Diabetes Risk Score as a screening tool for impaired fasting glucose, impaired glucose tolerance and undetected diabetes. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2011;92:46–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2010. 12.020.
- Thomas DD, Corkey BE, Istfan NW, Apovian CM. Hyperinsulinemia: an early indicator of metabolic dysfunction. J Endocr Soc. 2019;3:1727–47. https://doi.org/10.1210/js.2019-00065.
- Thorp AA, Schlaich MP. Relevance of sympathetic nervous system activation in obesity and metabolic syndrome. J Diabetes Res. 2015;2015:1–11. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/341583.
- Tubek S, Niewinski P, Reczuch K, et al. Effects of selective carotid body stimulation with adenosine in conscious humans. J Physiol. 2016;594:6225–40. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP272109.
- Tuso P. Prediabetes and lifestyle modification: time to prevent a preventable disease. Perm J. 2014;18:88–93. https://doi.org/10.7812/TPP/14-002.
- Uematsu T, Kozawa O, Matsuno H, et al. Pharmacokinetics and tolerability of intravenous infusion of adenosine (SUNY4001) in healthy volunteers. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2000;50:177–81. https:// doi.org/10.1046/J.1365-2125.2000.00214.X.
- Vera-Cruz P, Guerreiro F, Ribeiro MJ, et al. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy improves glucose homeostasis in type 2 diabetes patients: a likely involvement of the carotid bodies. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2015;860:221–5. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-18440-1_24.
- Vidal ML, Luis CFJ, Chávez HRT, et al. Insulin in the carotid sinus increases suprahepatic and arterial glucose levels. Rev Cuba Invest Biomed. 2019;38:e102.
- Ward DS, Voter WA, Karan S. The effects of hypo- and hyperglycaemia on the hypoxic ventilatory response in humans. J Physiol. 2007;582:859–69. https://doi.org/10.1113/JPHYSIOL.2007. 130112.
- Watt A, Reid P, Stephens M, Routledge P. Adenosine-induced respiratory stimulation in man depends on site of infusion. Evidence for an action on the carotid body? Br J Clin Pharmacol. 1987;23:486–90. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2125.1987.TB03081.X.

- Watt A, Routledge P. Adenosine stimulates respiration in man. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 1985;20:503–6. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2125.1985.TB05108.X.
- Waugh N, Shyangdan D, Taylor-Phillips S, et al. Screening for type 2 diabetes: a short report for the National Screening Committee. Health Technol Assess. 2013;17:1–89. https://doi.org/10.3310/ HTA17350.
- Wehrwein EA, Basu R, Basu A, et al. Hyperoxia blunts counterregulation during hypoglycaemia in humans: possible role for the carotid bodies? J Physiol. 2010;588:4593–601. https://doi.org/10. 1113/JPHYSIOL.2010.197491.
- Wehrwein EA, Limberg JK, Taylor JL, et al. Effect of bilateral carotid body resection on the counterregulatory response to hypoglycaemia in humans. Exp Physiol. 2015;100:69–78. https:// doi.org/10.1113/EXPPHYSIOL.2014.083154.
- Welch BT, Petersen-Jones HG, Eugene AR, et al. Impact of sleep disordered breathing on carotid body size. Respir Physiol Neurobiol. 2017;236:5–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RESP.2016. 10.013.
- Welsh MJ, Heistad DD, Abboud FM. Depression of ventilation by dopamine in man. Evidence for an effect on the chemoreceptor reflex. J Clin Invest. 1978;61:708–13. https://doi.org/10.1172/ JCI108983.
- Wilson PWF, Meigs JB, Sullivan L, et al. Prediction of incident diabetes mellitus in middle-aged adults: the Framingham Offspring Study. Arch Intern Med. 2007;167:1068–74. https://doi.org/ 10.1001/ARCHINTE.167.10.1068.
- Word Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. Nutrition, overweight and obesity: factsheet on Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs): health targets. 2021.
- World Health Organization. Definition and diagnosis of diabetes mellitus and intermediate hyperglycemia. 2006.
- Yip WCY, Sequeira IR, Plank LD, Poppitt SD. Prevalence of pre-diabetes across ethnicities: a review of impaired fasting glucose (IFG) and impaired glucose tolerance (IGT) for classification of Dysglycaemia. Nutrients. 2017;9:1273. https://doi.org/10.3390/NU9111273.
- Yuan F, Wang H, Feng J, et al. Leptin signaling in the carotid body regulates a hypoxic ventilatory response through altering TASK Channel expression. Front Physiol. 2018;9:249. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fphys.2018.00249.
- Zapata P, Larraín C, Reyes P, Fernández R. Immunosensory signalling by carotid body chemoreceptors. Respir Physiol Neurobiol. 2011;178:370–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resp.2011.03.025.
- Zimmet P, Alberti KGMM, Shaw J. Global and societal implications of the diabetes epidemic. Nature. 2001;414:782–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/414782a.



37

Optical Coherence Tomography Angiography for Biomarker Indices in Diabetes

Eun Young Choi and Min Kim

Contents

Introduction		
Principles of Optical Coherence Tomography Angiography	778	
Visualization Methods of Optical Coherence Tomography Angiography	779	
Diabetic Retinopathy	779	
Optical Coherence Tomography Angiography Features of Diabetic Retinopathy	780	
Diabetic Eyes Without Clinical Retinopathy	780	
Correlation with Other Biomarkers of Diabetic Retinopathy	781	
Nonproliferative Diabetic Retinopathy	781	
Proliferative Diabetic Retinopathy	783	
Diabetic Macular Edema	783	
Applications to Prognosis and Other Diseases or Conditions	784	
Application to Diabetic Retinopathy Screening and Its Monitoring	784	
Application to Retinal Vascular Diseases	785	
Limitations of OCTA	785	
Mini-Dictionary of Terms		
Key Facts of Optical Coherence Tomography Angiography (OCTA) in Diabetic		
Retinopathy (DR)	786	
Summary Points	786	
References		

Abstract

Optical coherence tomography angiography (OCTA) visualizes the structure and flow of retinal vasculature using motion contrast. Diabetic retinopathy (DR), commonly present in one-third of the patients with diabetes, is a major microvascular complication of diabetes mellitus caused by retinal ischemia and vascular hyperpermeability. Microvasculature changes, such as foveal avascular zone enlargement

E. Y. Choi \cdot M. Kim (\boxtimes)

Department of Ophthalmology, Gangnam Severance Hospital, Institute of Vision Research, Yonsei University College of Medicine, Seoul, South Korea e-mail: minkim76@yuhs.ac; minkim76@gmail.com

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2_39

and decrease in vascular density of the deep capillary plexus, have been identified in diabetic eyes without clinical retinopathy. OCTA of nonproliferative DR shows morphologically well-defined microaneurysms and intraretinal vascular shunts around perfusion dropouts at the deep capillary plexus level. In proliferative DR, OCTA visualizes detailed features and extent of neovascularization in response to anti-vascular endothelial factor and laser treatment. Diabetes-induced microvascular changes can be quantified by OCTA, and significant correlations have been shown with serum biomarkers representing pancreatic β -cell function and insulin sensitivity. Compared to conventional fluorescein angiography, OCTA can be performed more safely in patients with impaired renal function and can provide high-contrast vascular images. OCTA limitations on projection artifacts, segmentation errors, and data differences between equipment remain to be addressed.

Keywords

Diabetic retinopathy \cdot Foveal avascular zone \cdot Neovascularization \cdot Optical coherence tomography angiography \cdot Vascular density

Abbreviations

DM	Diabetes mellitus
DME	Diabetic macular edema
DR	Diabetic retinopathy
FAZ	Foveal avascular zone
FFA	Fluorescein angiography
HbA1c	Glycated hemoglobin
HOMA	Homeostasis model assessment
ILM	Inner limiting membrane
NPDR	Nonproliferative diabetic retinopathy
OCT	Optical coherence tomography
OCTA	Optical coherence tomography angiography
ONH	Optic nerve head
PDR	Proliferative diabetic retinopathy
PRP	Panretinal photocoagulation
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

Introduction

Principles of Optical Coherence Tomography Angiography

Optical coherence tomography (OCT) generates the structure of the retina or anterior segments of the eye by measuring the interference of the reflected scanning beam from ocular tissues (Spaide et al. 2018). OCT angiography (OCTA) is a functional extension of structural OCT and produces high-resolution images that help visualize the structure and flow of vasculature in a noninvasive and rapid manner (Spaide et al.

2015). The principle of OCTA is to visualize the vasculature by detecting motion contrast from circulating blood cells. OCTA involves acquiring multiple B-scans from the same retinal location. Decorrelation data on motion contrast are combined into cross-sectional images, which are used to produce volumetric data.

The acquisition time for each B-scan is determined by the A-scan rate multiplied by the number of A-scans per B-scan (Spaide et al. 2018). The fly-back time is measured when the OCT beam is scanned back to its initial position. Therefore, B-scans can be repeated after a time delay, that is, interscan time, which is the sum of the acquisition time and fly-back time. The interscan time is critical for motion contrast detection. Shortening the interscan time decreases sensitivity to blood cell flow and reduces the effects of unwanted eye movements. Conversely, the sensitivity improves by increasing the interscan time.

Visualization Methods of Optical Coherence Tomography Angiography

Segmentation of volumetric data projecting OCTA over axial depth ranges enables a separate enface view of vasculature corresponding to each retinal layer and the choriocapillaris (Choi et al. 2017). However, enface OCTA images are extremely susceptible to segmentation error, especially in retinas with pathology. The cross-sectional OCTA view allows quick capturing of the depth of vascular pathology and provides precise information on flow. In addition to enface display, examining cross-sectional images helps evaluate the potential for segmentation errors and projection artifacts inherent in enface imaging.

Diabetic Retinopathy

Diabetic retinopathy (DR) is a major microvascular complication of diabetes mellitus (DM) and a predictor of other life-threatening end-organ complications (Aminian et al. 2020). DR occurs in approximately one-third of the patients with diabetes (Mohamed et al. 2007), and approximately 10% of them develop vision-threatening retinopathy (Klein 2008). Hyperglycemia causes a series of events that lead to retinal vascular endothelial dysfunction. The resulting retinal ischemia and an increase in vascular permeability enhanced by hypertension are two important common pathways underlying the development and progression of DR (Curtis et al. 2009). DR has a significant impact on the retinal vasculature; therefore, OCTA has a broad application in patients with diabetes. DR can be graded into two major stages, including early-stage nonproliferative DR (NPDR) and advanced-stage proliferative DR (PDR). Clinical grading of DR has been dependent on vascular features in color fundus photographs as well as fundus fluorescein angiography (FFA) (Flaxel et al. 2020). Characteristic signs of NPDR are retinal hemorrhage, microaneurysm, cotton wool spots, hard exudate, intraretinal microvascular abnormalities, and venous beading (Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study Research 2020). Neovascularization of the retina or iris is a

hallmark feature of proliferative DR (Stitt et al. 2016). Changes in the retinal microvasculature that occur before the first clinical signs of DR appear may play an important role as a biomarker of DM.

Optical Coherence Tomography Angiography Features of Diabetic Retinopathy

Diabetic Eyes Without Clinical Retinopathy

OCTA can reveal microvascular changes in diabetic eyes without clinical retinopathy (Fig. 1). The foveal avascular zone (FAZ) is an avascular region located in the foveal center and reflects the degree of macular ischemia in DR. Enlargement of the FAZ is confirmed using OCTA in diabetic eyes without clinical retinopathy (de Carlo et al. 2015). In addition to the FAZ expansion, a decrease in retinal vascular density can be detected, especially in the deep capillary plexus (Al-Sheikh et al. 2016; Carnevali et al. 2017; Scarinci et al. 2018). In patients with a long history of DM, a reduction in the capillary plexus has also been observed in the superficial layer before the onset of clinical signs of DR (Choi et al. 2020; Vujosevic et al. 2019). OCTA may be used as a DR screening tool before it is clinically detectable.



Fig. 1 Enface optical coherence tomography angiography images of the deep capillary plexus in patients with different stages of diabetic retinopathy. Segmentation slab of the deep capillary plexus is defined from the outer border of the inner plexiform layers to the outer plexiform layers. A healthy control (**a**). An eye with no clinical diabetic retinopathy (**b**) shows minimal change in the foveal avascular zone (FAZ), nonproliferative diabetic retinopathy (**c**), and proliferative diabetic retinopathy (**d**). As diabetic retinopathy progresses, FAZ expansion and microcapillary dropouts become more prominent

Microaneurysms are observed as dilated dots on the retinal capillary walls of various sizes and morphologies (Al-Sheikh et al. 2016; Dimitrova et al. 2017). Unlike FFA, OCTA can detect microaneurysms by each retinal layer, more commonly located in the deep capillary plexus rather than the superficial layer (Couturier et al. 2015). Because of the flow requirements of OCTA to detect a microaneurysm, not all microaneurysms can be detected using OCTA, and OCTA detection rates are usually lower than FFA (Matsunaga et al. 2015; Couturier et al. 2015).

Correlation with Other Biomarkers of Diabetic Retinopathy

Long duration of diabetes is one of the main factors that increases the risk of developing DR (Fong et al. 2003). However, a correlation between the duration of DM and microvascular impairment detected by OCTA has not been reported (Carnevali et al. 2017; Choi et al. 2020). The level of glycemic control and tolerance to diabetes are independent contributing factors for the development of DR. However, glucose levels, glycated albumin, and glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c), well-known serum biomarkers for glycemic control (Vujosevic et al. 2019; Jenkins et al. 2015), have limited correlation with initial microvascular changes (Choi et al. 2020). Pancreatic β -cell function and insulin sensitivity are assessed by various markers, such as C-peptide and insulin levels, and homeostasis model assessment (HOMA) values (Ludvigsson 2013; Hirata et al. 2015). Among these serum biomarkers, low insulin levels and HOMA values have been shown to have an inverse correlation with the levels of macular microvascular impairment (Choi et al. 2020).

Nonproliferative Diabetic Retinopathy

In eyes with NPDR, diabetes-induced vascular lesions can be observed in detail using OCTA (Fig. 2). Enlargement of the FAZ is detected more prominently in the deep capillary plexus than in the superficial capillary plexus (Takase et al. 2015; Di et al. 2016). OCTA can reveal the abrupt capillary margins of FAZ with more blind ends than that observed on FFA (Tam et al. 2012; Takase et al. 2015). The FAZ area is inversely correlated with central macular thickness (Lupidi et al. 2017; Samara et al. 2015). In addition to FAZ enlargement, OCTA can be used to assess the changes in non-perfusion areas caused by capillary dropout during DR progression (Couturier et al. 2015; Zhang et al. 2016). Non-perfusion areas are detected more in the superficial capillary plexus, and the severity of non-perfusion areas is related to vascular abnormalities in the deep capillary plexus, such as FAZ enlargement and microaneurysms (Couturier et al. 2015). More severe non-perfusion areas of the deep capillary plexus are associated with impairment of the outer retinal structures (Nesper et al. 2017). Adjacent to the capillary dropouts, intraretinal microvascular abnormalities are found as vascular shunts in severe NPDR. Preretinal collaterals can be detected in more advanced stages of NPDR. Vascular loops with larger caliber than that of neovascularization are observed in OCTA at the preretinal level, while



Fig. 2 Images of a patient with nonproliferative diabetic retinopathy and macular edema. (a) Color photography of microaneurysm hard exudates. (b) Early-frame fluorescein angiography (FFA) showing some microaneurysms around a local perfusion defect. Detailed changes in the foveal microvasculature are difficult to discriminate. (c) Near-infrared images showing low reflectance for cystoid edema and high reflectance for microaneurysms. (d) An 8.8-mm-wide horizontal B-scan with layer segmentations to indicate thickening due to leakage. (e) Enface optical coherence tomography angiography images $(4.3 \times 1.9 \text{ mm})$ of the superficial capillary plexus (e) and deep capillary plexus (f). Panel (e) presents enlargement of the foveal avascular zone with capillary loss; panel (f) shows impaired microvasculature around the fovea adjacent to some microaneurysms that are not visible on the FFA

they show no leakage in the late-phase FFA (Matsunaga et al. 2015). Decreased vascular density was observed on OCTA in the superficial and deep capillary plexus and choroidal capillary layer (Al-Sheikh et al. 2016; Bradley et al. 2016; Choi et al. 2020). The reduction in vascular density is more significant according to the severity of NPDR (Bhanushali et al. 2016). Therefore, quantification of vascular density by OCTA can be used as an objective biomarker of macular ischemia and DR severity.

Decreased vascular density in the deep capillary plexus is associated with thinning of the ganglion cell-inner plexiform layer, which reflects retinal neurodegeneration (Hafner et al. 2019). Choriocapillaris flow impairment was observed in DR and was correlated with DR severity and photoreceptor damage (Choi et al. 2017; Dodo et al. 2017). Reduced optic nerve head (ONH) vascularity was also reported as a change preceding retinal nerve fiber layer impairment in early-stage DR (Li et al. 2019). With the progression of DR, OCTA may reveal more pronounced choriocapillary ischemia (Li et al. 2019), which might lead to the disruption of the outer retinal photoreceptor layers (Dodo et al. 2017).

Proliferative Diabetic Retinopathy

PDR is defined as the presence of neovascularization and/or vitreous hemorrhage. Neovascularization is characterized by pathologic angiogenesis that grows from the retina into the vitreous and is found on the ONH or elsewhere adjacent to the non-perfusion areas (Matsunaga et al. 2015; de Carlo et al. 2016a). FFA can detect neovascularization, while detailed visualization of its morphology can be limited by fluorescein leakage. By using enface angiograms combined with B-scans, OCTA can reveal detailed morphological features along with the location and extent of neovascularization (Hwang et al. 2015) (Fig. 3).

Intravitreal anti-vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) injection and panretinal photocoagulation (PRP) are the mainstays of PDR treatment and act by reducing retinal neovascularization. OCTA is widely used to monitor changes in pathologic angiogenesis after treatment because it can demonstrate the capillary network without dye injection. A significant reduction in neovascularization was shown on OCTA within 2 weeks of anti-VEGF treatment, and a further decrease was observed in the area after 4 weeks (Ishibazawa et al. 2015). The remaining abnormal new vessels were reperfused and enlarged with irregular vasculature after 8 weeks. Similar changes in neovascularization were observed using OCTA 2 months after PRP treatment (Ishibazawa et al. 2016). OCTA can discriminate the location of neovascularization and help predict treatment response in advance. Neovascularization below the inner limiting membrane (ILM), which is more affected by retinal circulation, tends to regress with PRP treatment, whereas that above the ILM is more sensitive to anti-VEGF treatment (Chatziralli et al. 2016).

Diabetic Macular Edema

Diabetic macular edema (DME) is the most common cause of visual impairment in diabetic eyes, especially in NPDR (Dervenis et al. 2017). DME appears on OCT as oval blackout areas surrounded by abruptly stopping capillaries (Lee et al. 2016; de Carlo et al. 2016b), thus being morphologically different from non-perfusion areas. DME eyes have a lower vascular density, larger FAZ area, and more micro-aneurysms in the deep capillary plexus than non-DME eyes (Lee et al. 2016).



Fig. 3 Images of a patient with proliferative diabetic retinopathy with neovascularization. Enface optical coherence tomography angiography images (6×6 mm) of the superficial capillary plexus show (**a1**) the loop-like complex structures of neovascularization on the vascular arcade and (**b1**) neovascularization of the optic disc. Cross-sectional scans at the corresponding areas reveal the neovascularization lesion with blood flow projecting into the vitreous space (**a2** and **b2**)

After intravitreal anti-VEGF injections, which are one of the main treatments for DME, foveal cystoid spaces decrease, followed by replacement with retinal tissues (de Carlo et al. 2016b). The response to anti-VEGF treatment has been shown to be poorer in eyes with DME and lower vascular density, larger FAZ area, and more microaneurysms in the deep capillary plexus (Lee et al. 2016). Therefore, OCTA can be used to predict the response of DME to anti-VEGF agents.

Applications to Prognosis and Other Diseases or Conditions

Application to Diabetic Retinopathy Screening and Its Monitoring

The qualitative visualization by OCTA on microvascular changes following DR has improved our understanding of the pathophysiology of DR. Compared to FFA, OCTA provides higher contrast images of diabetic changes in the microvasculature without the risk of images being obscured by fluorescein leakage. OCTA can also provide cross-sectional views that allow the detection of the vertical location of diabetic neovascularization. Since OCTA does not require administration of contrast dye, it can be repeated safely even in patients who are not indicated for FFA because of renal dysfunction.

Wide-field OCTA can improve the early detection of non-perfusion and neovascularization in the peripheral retina, while swept-source OCTA allows better visualization of the choriocapillaris by deeper signal penetration. In addition, OCTA enables quantitative measurements in each capillary plexus of the superficial and deep retinal and choroidal layers. This capability of OCTA is used as a tool for screening DR before it is clinically detectable and for monitoring DR progression. Therapeutic planning of each DR case by predicting treatment response is also a possible use of OCTA. It also emphasizes that the information on microvascular changes obtained through OCTA might serve as an important biomarker for retinal neurodegeneration as well as systemic diabetic control.

Application to Retinal Vascular Diseases

In addition to diabetic retinopathy, OCTA is also useful for retinal vascular diseases, especially for assessing perfusion changes and therapeutic effects. Retinal vein occlusion showed no significant improvement in vascular perfusion after anti-VEGF treatment (Sellam et al. 2017; Mastropasqua et al. 2017). Paracentesis in a case of retinal artery occlusion and anti-VEGF injection in a case of ocular ischemic syndrome showed dramatic improvement in retinal blood flow (Choi et al. 2018).

Limitations of OCTA

In addition to the abovementioned strengths, OCTA has some limitations. OCT artifacts can be caused by projection artifacts, segmentation errors, low signal strength, local signal loss, and eye movement (Spaide et al. 2018). The artifacts need to be considered for the correct interpretation of OCTA images. In contrast to FFA, OCTA cannot visualize differences in vascular permeability or changes in leakage. Quantitative information from OCTA mainly reflects the structure of the vascular network and not the actual state of blood flow. The comparison of acquired data from different OCTA instruments is also limited, as each result highly depends on the scan protocols, signal processing, and methods used to generate the OCTA images.

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

• **Optical coherence tomography angiography.** A noninvasive imaging technique that allows rapid generation of three-dimensional angiographic images of the retinal and choroidal vasculature.

- **Diabetic retinopathy.** A complication of diabetes caused by hyperglycemiainduced damage to the blood vessels in the retina and can lead to pathologic neovascularization.
- Fovea avascular zone. A specified region located at the center of the macula with the highest density of cone photoreceptors. It is devoid of retinal capillaries and is vascularized by the choroidal blood vessels.
- **Neovascularization.** Abnormal formation of new blood vessels, usually in the form of microvascular networks, to serve as collateral perfusion in response to local ischemia.
- Vascular endothelial growth factor. A signaling protein that promotes the growth of new blood vessels plays a central role in mediating microvascular and macrovascular pathology in diabetes.
- **Panretinal photocoagulation.** A type of laser treatment for the eye with newly developed abnormal blood vessels in the retina.

Key Facts of Optical Coherence Tomography Angiography (OCTA) in Diabetic Retinopathy (DR)

- OCTA noninvasively visualizes the structure and flow of retinal vasculature layer by layer.
- DR, a major microvascular complication of diabetes mellitus, causes various abnormalities in the retinal vasculature.
- OCTA can be used as a screening tool for DR in patients with diabetes.
- It can detect enlargement of the foveal avascular zone (FAZ) and decrease in vascular density of the deep capillary plexus before presentation of clinically significant retinopathy.
- These changes become more pronounced with the progression of DR and are well correlated with serum biomarkers representing pancreatic β -cell function and insulin sensitivity.
- Quantification of vascular density by OCTA can be used as an objective biomarker of macular ischemia and DR severity.
- In the nonproliferative stage of DR, microaneurysms and intraretinal vascular shunts have higher contrast in OCTA than in fundus fluorescein angiography.
- Detailed visualization of diabetic neovascularization is also enabled by OCTA in the proliferative stage.
- OCTA can be safely repeated without the use of contrast media, making it suitable for monitoring the progression of DR and assessing the therapeutic response in patients with diabetes, especially those with renal dysfunction.

Summary Points

• DR has a significant impact on the retinal vasculature; thus, OCTA can have a wide range of applications in this field.

- Enlargement of the FAZ and decrease in the vascular density of the deep capillary plexus can be observed using OCTA prior to the onset of clinical retinopathy.
- OCTA can be used as a tool for screening DR before it is clinically detectable.
- These changes in the microvasculature can be used as biomarkers of pancreatic β-cell function and insulin sensitivity.
- Morphologic features and the extent of diabetic vascular abnormalities are well visualized by OCTA without the risk of images being obscured by dye leakage.
- Microaneurysms and intraretinal vascular shunts are observed in the nonproliferative stage, and neovascularization of the disc head and retina elsewhere is detected in the proliferative stage, which makes OCTA suitable for monitoring DR progression in patients with diabetes in whom the use of contrast media is contraindicated.
- OCTA can be used not only to evaluate but also to predict the therapeutic effect in DR cases.
- Microvascular changes can be quantified by OCTA and serve as an objective biomarker of macular ischemia and DR severity.
- However, the quantified data depend on the scanning equipment, protocols, and image processing methods.
- OCTA image interpretation should consider artifacts mainly caused by projection, segmentation errors, low signal strength, and eye movement.

References

- Al-Sheikh M, Akil H, Pfau M, Sadda SR. Swept-source OCT angiography imaging of the foveal avascular zone and macular capillary network density in diabetic retinopathy. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2016;57(8):3907–13.
- Aminian A, Zajichek A, Arterburn DE, Wolski KE, Brethauer SA, Schauer PR, Nissen SE, Kattan MW. Predicting 10-year risk of end-organ complications of type 2 diabetes with and without metabolic surgery: a machine learning approach. Diabetes Care. 2020;43(4):852–9.
- Bhanushali D, Anegondi N, Gadde SG, Srinivasan P, Chidambara L, Yadav NK, Sinha Roy A. Linking retinal microvasculature features with severity of diabetic retinopathy using optical coherence tomography angiography. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2016;57(9):OCT519–25.
- Bradley PD, Sim DA, Keane PA, Cardoso J, Agrawal R, Tufail A, Egan CA. The evaluation of diabetic macular ischemia using optical coherence tomography angiography. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2016;57(2):626–31.
- Carnevali A, Sacconi R, Corbelli E, Tomasso L, Querques L, Zerbini G, Scorcia V, Bandello F, Querques G. Optical coherence tomography angiography analysis of retinal vascular plexuses and choriocapillaris in patients with type 1 diabetes without diabetic retinopathy. Acta Diabetol. 2017;54(7):695–702.
- Chatziralli IP, Sergentanis TN, Sivaprasad S. Prediction of regression of retinal neovascularisation after panretinal photocoagulation for proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol. 2016;254(9):1715–21.
- Choi W, Waheed NK, Moult EM, Adhi M, Lee B, De Carlo T, Jayaraman V, Baumal CR, Duker JS, Fujimoto JG. Ultrahigh speed swept source optical coherence tomography angiography of retinal and choriocapillaris alterations in diabetic patients with and without retinopathy. Retina. 2017;37(1):11–21.
- Choi EY, Lee SC, Kim M. Optical coherence tomography angiography before and after bevacizumab injection in ocular ischemic syndrome. Retina. 2018;38(3):e23–5.

- Choi EY, Park SE, Lee SC, Koh HJ, Kim SS, Byeon SH, Kim M. Association between clinical biomarkers and optical coherence tomography angiography parameters in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2020;61(3):4.
- Couturier A, Mané V, Bonnin S, Erginay A, Massin P, Gaudric A, Tadayoni R. Capillary plexus anomalies in diabetic retinopathy on optical coherence tomography angiography. Retina. 2015;35(11):2384–91.
- Curtis TM, Gardiner TA, Stitt AW. Microvascular lesions of diabetic retinopathy: clues towards understanding pathogenesis? Eye. 2009;23(7):1496–508.
- de Carlo TE, Chin AT, Bonini Filho MA, Adhi M, Branchini L, Salz DA, Baumal CR, Crawford C, Reichel E, Witkin AJ, Duker JS, Waheed NK. Detection of microvascular changes in eyes of patients with diabetes but not clinical diabetic retinopathy using optical coherence tomography angiography. Retina. 2015;35(11):2364–70.
- de Carlo TE, Bonini Filho MA, Baumal CR, Reichel E, Rogers A, Witkin AJ, Duker JS, Waheed NK. Evaluation of preretinal neovascularization in proliferative diabetic retinopathy using optical coherence tomography angiography. Ophthalmic Surg Lasers Imaging. 2016a;47(2): 115–9.
- de Carlo TE, Chin AT, Joseph T, Baumal CR, Witkin AJ, Duker JS, Waheed NK. Distinguishing diabetic macular edema from capillary nonperfusion using optical coherence tomography angiography. Ophthalmic Surg Lasers Imaging Retina. 2016b;47(2):108–14.
- Dervenis N, Mikropoulou AM, Tranos P, Dervenis P. Ranibizumab in the treatment of diabetic macular edema: a review of the current status, unmet needs, and emerging challenges. Adv Ther. 2017;34(6):1270–82.
- Di G, Weihong Y, Xiao Z, Zhikun Y, Xuan Z, Yi Q, Fangtian D. A morphological study of the foveal avascular zone in patients with diabetes mellitus using optical coherence tomography angiography. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol. 2016;254(5):873–9.
- Dimitrova G, Chihara E, Takahashi H, Amano H, Okazaki K. Author response: quantitative retinal optical coherence tomography angiography in patients with diabetes without diabetic retinopathy. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2017;58(3):1767.
- Dodo Y, Suzuma K, Ishihara K, Yoshitake S, Fujimoto M, Yoshitake T, Miwa Y, Murakami T. Clinical relevance of reduced decorrelation signals in the diabetic inner choroid on optical coherence tomography angiography. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):5227.
- Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study Research Group. Grading diabetic retinopathy from stereoscopic color fundus photographs an extension of the modified Airlie House classification: ETDRS report number 10. Ophthalmology. 2020;127(4S):S99–S119.
- Flaxel CJ, Adelman RA, Bailey ST, Fawzi A, Lim JI, Vemulakonda GA, Ying GS. Diabetic retinopathy preferred practice pattern(R). Ophthalmology. 2020;127(1):P66–P145.
- Fong DS, Aiello L, Gardner TW, King GL, Blankenship G, Cavallerano JD, Ferris FL III, Klein R, American Diabetes A. Diabetic retinopathy. Diabetes Care. 2003;26(Suppl 1):S99–S102.
- Hafner J, Karst S, Sacu S, Scholda C, Pablik E, Schmidt-Erfurth U. Correlation between corneal and retinal neurodegenerative changes and their association with microvascular perfusion in type II diabetes. Acta Ophthalmol. 2019;97(4):e545–50.
- Hirata T, Higashiyama A, Kubota Y, Nishimura K, Sugiyama D, Kadota A, Nishida Y, Imano H, Nishikawa T, Miyamatsu N, Miyamoto Y, Okamura T. HOMA-IR values are associated with glycemic control in Japanese subjects without diabetes or obesity: the KOBE study. J Epidemiol. 2015;25(6):407–14.
- Hwang TS, Jia Y, Gao SS, Bailey ST, Lauer AK, Flaxel CJ, Wilson DJ, Huang D. Optical coherence tomography angiography features of diabetic retinopathy. Retina. 2015;35(11):2371–6.
- Ishibazawa A, Nagaoka T, Takahashi A, Omae T, Tani T, Sogawa K, Yokota H, Yoshida A. Optical coherence tomography angiography in diabetic retinopathy: a prospective pilot study. Am J Ophthalmol. 2015;160(1):35–44 e1.
- Ishibazawa A, Nagaoka T, Yokota H, Takahashi A, Omae T, Song YS, Takahashi T, Yoshida A. Characteristics of retinal neovascularization in proliferative diabetic retinopathy imaged by optical coherence tomography angiography. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2016;57(14):6247–55.

- Jenkins AJ, Joglekar MV, Hardikar AA, Keech AC, O'Neal DN, Januszewski AS. Biomarkers in diabetic retinopathy. Rev Diabet Stud. 2015;12(1–2):159–95.
- Klein R. Epidemiology of diabetic retinopathy. In: Duh E, editor. Diabetic retinopathy. Totowa: Humana Press; 2008.
- Lee J, Moon BG, Cho AR, Yoon YH. Optical coherence tomography angiography of DME and its association with anti-VEGF treatment response. Ophthalmology. 2016;123(11):2368–75.
- Li L, Almansoob S, Zhang P, Zhou YD, Tan Y, Gao L. Quantitative analysis of retinal and choroid capillary ischaemia using optical coherence tomography angiography in type 2 diabetes. Acta Ophthalmol. 2019;97(3):240–6.
- Ludvigsson J. C-peptide in diabetes diagnosis and therapy. Front Biosci. 2013;5:214-23.
- Lupidi M, Coscas G, Coscas F, Fiore T, Spaccini E, Fruttini D, Cagini C. Retinal microvasculature in nonproliferative diabetic retinopathy: automated quantitative optical coherence tomography angiography assessment. Ophthalmic Res. 2017;58(3):131–41.
- Mastropasqua R, Toto L, Di Antonio L, Borrelli E, Senatore A, Di Nicola M, Di Martino G, Ciancaglini M, Carpineto P. Optical coherence tomography angiography microvascular findings in macular edema due to central and branch retinal vein occlusions. Sci Rep. 2017;7:40763.
- Matsunaga DR, Yi JJ, Koo LOD, Ameri H, Puliafito CA, Kashani AH. Optical coherence tomography angiography of diabetic retinopathy in human subjects. Ophthalmic Surg Lasers Imaging. 2015;46(8):796–805.
- Mohamed Q, Gillies MC, Wong TY. Management of diabetic retinopathy: a systematic review. JAMA. 2007;298(8):902–16.
- Nesper PL, Scarinci F, Fawzi AA. Adaptive optics reveals photoreceptor abnormalities in diabetic macular ischemia. PLoS One. 2017;12(1):e0169926.
- Samara WA, Say EA, Khoo CT, Higgins TP, Magrath G, Ferenczy S, Shields CL. Correlation of foveal avascular zone size with foveal morphology in normal eyes using optical coherence tomography angiography. Retina. 2015;35(11):2188–95.
- Scarinci F, Picconi F, Giorno P, Boccassini B, De Geronimo D, Varano M, Frontoni S, Parravano M. Deep capillary plexus impairment in patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus with no signs of diabetic retinopathy revealed using optical coherence tomography angiography. Acta Ophthalmol. 2018;96(2):e264–5.
- Sellam A, Glacet-Bernard A, Coscas F, Miere A, Coscas G, Souied EH. Qualitative and quantitative follow-up using optical coherence tomography angiography of retinal vein occlusion treated with anti-VEGF: optical coherence tomography angiography follow-up of retinal vein occlusion. Retina. 2017;37(6):1176–84.
- Spaide RF, Fujimoto JG, Waheed NK. Optical coherence tomography angiography. Retina. 2015;35(11):2161–2.
- Spaide RF, Fujimoto JG, Waheed NK, Sadda SR, Staurenghi G. Optical coherence tomography angiography. Prog Retin Eye Res. 2018;64:1–55.
- Stitt AW, Curtis TM, Chen M, Medina RJ, McKay GJ, Jenkins A, Gardiner TA, Lyons TJ, Hammes HP, Simo R, Lois N. The progress in understanding and treatment of diabetic retinopathy. Prog Retin Eye Res. 2016;51:156–86.
- Takase N, Nozaki M, Kato A, Ozeki H, Yoshida M, Ogura Y. Enlargement of foveal avascular zone in diabetic eyes evaluated by en face optical coherence tomography angiography. Retina. 2015;35(11):2377–83.
- Tam J, Dhamdhere KP, Tiruveedhula P, Lujan BJ, Johnson RN, Bearse MA Jr, Adams AJ, Roorda A. Subclinical capillary changes in non-proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Optom Vis Sci. 2012;89(5):E692–703.
- Vujosevic S, Muraca A, Alkabes M, Villani E, Cavarzeran F, Rossetti L, De Cilla S. Early microvascular and neural changes in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus without clinical signs of diabetic retinopathy. Retina. 2019;39(3):435–45.
- Zhang M, Hwang TS, Dongye C, Wilson DJ, Huang D, Jia Y. Automated quantification of nonperfusion in three retinal plexuses using projection-resolved optical coherence tomography angiography in diabetic retinopathy. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2016;57(13):5101–6.



Urinary Profiling with Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry

Applications to Prediabetes in Animal Models

Lay-Harn Gam

Contents

Introduction	792
Urine as Diagnosis Specimen	793
Animal Model in Studying Human Disease	793
Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry	794
Application of Orthogonal Partial Least Squares Discriminant Analysis (OPLA-DA)	
to Prediabetes Diagnosis	795
Benefits of Physical Activity and Dietary Control	797
Proteomics Analysis of Urinary Proteins	799
Common Protein Biomarkers for Diagnosis of Diabetes	800
Application of Major Urinary Proteins and Histone H4 as Prediabetes Biomarker Proteins	801
Conclusion	803
Key Facts of Prediabetes	803
Mini-Dictionary Terms	803
Summary Points	804
References	804

Abstract

Prediabetes is a metabolic syndrome characterized by an elevated blood sugar. About 5–10% of prediabetes developed into diabetes. Prediabetes usually goes unnoticed as it is symptomless; however, it can be diagnosed by measuring the blood glucose levels, which is done invasively and therefore is not a favorable device by many. Noninvasive diagnosis tools by using urine specimens are desired. Urine contains useful biomarkers, namely, metabolites and proteins, that can be used to indicate the progression of prediabetes. Liquid chromatography separation coupled with mass spectrometry detector is useful in analyzing both small molecule metabolites and also macromolecule proteins. In addition,

791

L.-H. Gam (🖂)

School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Universiti Sains Malaysia, Minden, Penang, Malaysia e-mail: layharn@usm.my

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 42

OPLS-DA patterns of the urinary profiles of metabolites may also be used as indicator for prediabetes. This approach can be used to evaluate the state of disease by using urine specimen; furthermore, the impact of diet on the state of prediabetes disease can also be evaluated.

Keywords

 $\label{eq:prediabetes} Prediabetes \,\cdot\, Animal \,study \,\cdot\, Urinary \,metabolites \,\cdot\, Urinary \,proteins \,\cdot\, Mass \\ spectrometry \,analysis$

Abbreviations	
ESI	Electrospray ionization
FBG	Fasting blood glucose
GLUT2	Glucose transporter 2
GLUT4	Glucose transporter 4
HFD	High-fat diet
LC	Liquid chromatography
LC-MS	Liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry
LC-MS/MS	Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry
MUPs	Major urinary proteins
NA	Nicotinamide
ND	Normal diet
OPLS-DA	Orthogonal partial least squares discriminant analysis
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
STZ	Streptozotocin
T2DM	Type 2 diabetes mellitus

Introduction

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (US) reported that prediabetes affects 37% and 29% of male and female, respectively, of aged >18 years. Prediabetes is a component of metabolic syndromes characterized by elevated blood sugar, although not high enough to be grouped as diabetes. The cause of prediabetes is related closely to genetic factor and lifestyle. Prediabetes case is on the rise, indicating that lifestyle is the main factor contributing to the state of prediabetes. About 5-10% of prediabetes developed into diabetes; therefore, active physical activity and control dietary intake are necessary to prevent the progression of the disease. People with prediabetes can live with it for years without noticing it; this is because there's no symptom to indicate the condition. In general, people will aware that they are prediabetes through routine blood testing; nevertheless, routine blood testing is not a routine practice for many. This is because it is an invasive testing, making it not favorable by many. In view of this, urine will provide a good source of testing; therefore, a good urinary testing device will be desired to achieve this goal.

Urine as Diagnosis Specimen

Urine is a transparent, sterile, and vellowish-colored fluid produced by mammals. Urine is the primary route to eliminate water-soluble waste products such as sugars, urea, inorganic salts, organic acids, creatinine, ammonia, various toxins, and products of metabolism breakdown (Bouatra et al. 2013). Urine can be collected noninvasively and longitudinally (Wald 2017). Furthermore, urine lacks homeostasis mechanism (Gao 2013); therefore, it is a rich bio-fluid for medical diagnostic (Khamis et al. 2017). There are approximately 4500 metabolites detected in urine, associated with close to 600 human conditions such as obesity, diabetes, cancer, inflammation, etc. (Bouatra et al. 2013; Khamis et al. 2017; Miller et al. 2019). Besides diseases, intrinsic factors (age, gender, and hormonal status) and extrinsic factors (lifestyle, diet, and exercise) will affect the composition of urinary metabolites (Wu and Gao 2015). Dietary intake can affect kidney filtration and tubular reabsorption by interfering with the acid-base balance, water levels, electrolyte, and various metabolisms in the body. Urine provides a more sensitivity indicator on changes in diet compared to blood or saliva (Walsh et al. 2006). Therefore, urine has been used in discovery of biomarkers related to dietary exposure or food intervention through urinary metabolomics studies (Gibbons et al. 2015; May et al. 2013; Pujos-Guillot et al. 2013). On the other hand, urinary proteins are composed of $\sim 70\%$ proteins that are originated from kidney and urinary tract, while 30% of the urinary proteins are originated from blood plasma (Xiao et al. 2019). Urinary protein is less complex compared to plasma protein although valuable proteins, peptides, and amino acids (Xiao et al. 2019) can be identified from urinary proteins that serve as valuable biomarkers for diagnosis tools (Gao 2013). Urinary biomarkers have been used as early diagnosis and prognosis of various diseases, including diabetes, cancer (skin, brain, lung, liver, and bone cavity), neurodegenerative diseases, respiratory diseases, renal diseases, as well as diseases related to the liver and pancreas (Gao 2019).

Animal Model in Studying Human Disease

Rats are the most widely utilized models in biomedical research. This is due to their genetic and physiological similarity to humans (Worp et al. 2010). Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) in the animal model could be induced via a combination of streptozotocin (STZ) and nicotinamide (NA) (Masiello et al. 1998). STZ mainly targets pancreatic β -cells and is transported into β -cells through the glucose transporter 2 (GLUT2) (Wu and Yan 2015). The exposure of β -cells to STZ results in DNA damage and causes increased activity of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase to repair DNA. However, excessive activity of this enzyme leads to β -cell necrosis (Szkudelski 2012). STZ indicates destruction of Langerhans islet cells irreversibly and induces diabetes in rats. Nicotinamide could protect β -cells by inhibiting the poly(ADP-ribose) activity (Masiello et al. 1998). Hence, an optimal dosage of STZ and NA can be used to induce T2DM in animals. NA could partially protect β -cells

against the β -cytotoxic effect of STZ (Szkudelski 2012). Through this process, some of the rats formed T2DM; however, some of these induced rats are presented with a condition of prediabetes; according to the definition of its fasting blood glucose (FBG) levels, when FBG was >7 mmol/L, it is diabetes, but when FBC was between 5.6 and 6.9 mmol/L, this indicates the state of prediabetes. Previous study stated that STZ-induced diabetic rats produce more urine compared to the normal rats (Akbarzadeh et al. 2007). This phenomenon is called polyuria. Polyuria occurs when the kidney fails to respond to antidiuretic hormone, arginine vasopressin, resulting in excretion of a large amount of diluted urine (approximately 40 ml/kg/ 24 h) (Kavanagh and Uy 2019). In general, volume of urine collected in 24 h from diabetic rats was much higher compared to that of control rats and prediabetes rats.

Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry

Liquid chromatography coupled with mass spectrometry detector is widely used in analysis of metabolomics and proteomics. The LC-MS instruments combined protocols of liquid chromatography and mass spectrometry in separating and analyzing analytes. Reversed-phase LC columns are usually used in chromatography for separation of the mixture of analytes (Milac et al. 2012). In proteomics analysis, nano LC has gain popularity because of its enhanced sensitivity (Gama et al. 2013). Nano LC with low i.d. (0.1 mm or lower) has a lower degree of band dilution and is able to concentrate samples before entering MS (Wilson et al. 2015). In urinary metabolomics analysis, an analytical column (4.6 mm i.d.) is usually sufficient, provided that the volume of urine is not a limiting factor. An LC-MS/MS instrument is made up of an ionization source, an ion-inlet and focusing component, a first massfiltering device, a collision chamber, a second mass-filtering device, and an ion-impact detector (Grebe and Singh 2011). An ionization source is needed to prepare the analytes into charged gas particles before entering MS. In electrospray ionization (ESI), high voltage around 2-6 kV is applied allowing dispersion of sample solution into highly charged droplets, whereby these droplets will progressively desolvate into gaseous ions before entering to MS; this is done with the aid of drying gas and heated capillary (Banerjee and Mazumdar 2012). The general principle of tandem MS involves the isolation of precursor ions in the first mass analyzer and fragments them in a collision chamber to yield product ions which will be analyzed by the second mass analyzer (Madeira and Florêncio 2012). MS/MS analysis provides the spectra of the fragment ions of a precursor ion, which can be a peptide in proteomic analysis. These spectra which are associated with the fragmentation of the peptide can be used to calculate the amino acid sequence of the peptide and thereafter give identification to the protein due to the unique amino acid sequence of each protein. This approach has been used in protein identification (Soares et al. 2012). The downstream analysis of the data obtained to identify the proteins can be done by using software and database search engines, for example, MASCOT, X!Tandem, MassQuant, PeaksDB, and MS-GF+ (Verheggen et al. 2020). On the other hand, metabolomics analysis is usually sufficient by using LC-MS. The
base peak chromatogram profiles can be used for identification of the disease condition by subjecting them to statistical analysis tools such as OPLS-DA. Nevertheless, standard markers may be needed for the purpose of identification of the unknown markers.

Application of Orthogonal Partial Least Squares Discriminant Analysis (OPLA-DA) to Prediabetes Diagnosis

Numerous metabolites such as lysophosphatidylcholines (Urpi-Sarda et al. 2015), phenylalanine (Tam et al. 2017), 5'-methylthioadenosine (Zhang et al. 2016), cyclic adenosine monophosphate (Zhang et al. 2016), and acetylhistidine (Zhang et al. 2016) have been detected in both urine and blood at different concentrations and were identified as biomarkers for the occurrence and risk development of T2DM and prediabetes in both human and animal models (Sas et al. 2015). Besides the use of specific biomarkers as indicators, the profiling of mass chromatogram of urine as a whole can also be used as indicators for the state of disease.

Orthogonal partial least squares discriminant analysis (OPLS-DA) has been widely used in the analysis of omics data that are untargeted (Wang et al. 2019). It is most useful when the generated urinary profiles cannot be singularly used to differentiate the disease condition. In an experimental designed, it is hoped that the treatment effect is equal for all subjects; nevertheless, within treatment variation depicts the average effect of treatment leads to systematic remainder variation, which is not related to the treatment (Wiklund et al. 2008), causing challenges in extracting knowledge from these data. In this situation, the urinary metabolite profiles can be used to generate OPLS-DA score, from which the control, diabetic, and pre-diabetic rats can be differentiated. Urine is a better source of liquid specimen because urine collection can be done noninvasively and therefore reduces the risk of infection (Miller and Peters 2019). Furthermore, urine contains many stable metabolic end products and fewer protein complexes and lipids, while blood is highly dynamic, and blood sample handling can introduce pronounced changes to the metabolome (Emwas et al. 2015). Therefore, sampling of urine is preferable, as it will be safer, have better reproducibility, and be noninvasive.

The progression of diabetes has been shown to alter the urinary metabolite profile which led to the identification of relevant biomarkers (Tam et al. 2017; Guan et al. 2013). In a previous study conducted in the author's laboratory, LC-MS analysis of urine coupled with OPLS-DA statistical analysis tool has been shown to give unique patterns of OPLS-DA that separate healthy, prediabetes, and diabetes conditions.

A three-dimensional comparison between urinary OPLS-DA of control rats, prediabetes rats, and diabetes rats was carried out (Lee et al. 2020). In general, less separation between the two intended groups indicates closer similarity in the metabolic states. Such analysis has shown that the metabolic state of pre-diabetic rats is more similar to control rats and that a clear metabolic shift upon progression to full diabetes was observed (Fig. 1). A separation was observed between the control and prediabetes rats fed on the same healthy diet, indicating different biochemical processes between



Fig. 1 Orthogonal partial least squares discriminant analysis (OPLS-DA) score scatterplots of control, diabetic, and pre-diabetic urine samples derived from data collected from UPLC/ESI-QTOF-MS operated in positive ionization mode. NR, control (non-induced); DR, induced diabetic; PDR, pre-diabetic; NC, fed with normal chow diet; HFD, fed with high-fat diet. (Figure obtained from Lee et al. 2020, The International Union of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology and Wiley-Blackwell Publisher)

normal and prediabetes rats that led to differences in urinary metabolite profiles. OPLS-DA for pre-diabetic rats with healthy diet responded to metformin as less separation was observed when compared to control rats fed with healthy diet. The less separation means the higher similarity between the two groups of comparison. This indicates an improved form of the disease. Furthermore, metformin treatment has been shown to benefiting the prediabetes condition as a clear separation between prediabetes group and prediabetes groups treated with metformin was detected (Fig. 2), this is supported by the FBG levels where upon metformin treatment, the FBG of prediabetes rats were reduced to the same levels as control rats. In pre-diabetic rats fed with healthy diet, metformin helps to normalize the urinary metabolite profile toward the pattern seen as control rats. On the contrary, in pre-diabetic rats fed with high-fat diet, a clear separation from normal rats remained even after treated with metformin indicating prediabetes condition is not improved with metformin treatment if high-fat diet is consumed daily. The effect of high-fat diet on prediabetes rats was more profound than the healthy diet, where a distinct separation was observed between the prediabetes rats and control rats fed with high-fat diet when compared with the corresponding groups fed with healthy diet.

Prediabetes marks the early commencement of T2DM; we found that the OPLS-DA pattern separates between healthy diet and high-fat diet in prediabetes, and the latter is more similar to that of diabetics. In addition, unlike diabetes rats, prediabetes rats fed with NC responded to metformin treatment. Therefore, using the combination of urinary metabolite analysis by LC-MS and OPLS-DA, profile patterns for healthy, diabetes, and prediabetes not only can be used as a diagnostic tool to diagnose prediabetes condition. Furthermore, the shift of OPLS-DA score has been shown proportional to the impact of diet and lead to progression or regression of prediabetes condition, where, if proper care and precaution are given at prediabetes stage, diabetes can be avoided. Therefore, this approach can be used as a reference for the prevention of progression of prediabetes to T2DM.

Benefits of Physical Activity and Dietary Control

Physical activity along with dietary control is beneficial in managing blood glucose and maintaining good health in people living with prediabetes (Colberg et al. 2016). Most glucose uptake occurs in the skeletal muscle, and the translocation of glucose transporter (GLUT) carrier proteins, particularly GLUT4, is important in regulating glucose transport. Its level determines insulin sensitivity (Hughes et al. 1993). At rest, glucose uptake is insulin-dependent, while exercise stimulates the muscles to utilize the glucose, which is made available by intramuscular glycogenesis and therefore increases glucose uptake (Colberg et al. 2010). Both aerobic and resistance (strength) exercises have been linked to improved blood glucose control by increasing the glucose uptake in muscle via insulin-independent mechanisms that increase GLUT4 abundance and translocation. After exercise, glucose uptake into contracting muscle remains elevated and active for a few hours (Goodyear and Kahn 1998). Hence, regular aerobic and resistance exercise improves insulin sensitivity and insulin action in muscle tissue of prediabetes patients. Physical exercise also strengthens the endurance of cells, tissues, and organs to oxidative stress and increases energy metabolism, vascularization, and neurotrophic synthesis (Chen



Fig. 2 Orthogonal partial least squares discriminant analysis (OPLS-DA) score scatterplots of pre-diabetic rat models treated with metformin. NR, control (non-induced); DR, induced diabetic; PDR, pre-diabetic; NC, fed with normal chow diet; HFD, fed with high-fat diet. (Figure obtained from Lee et al. 2020, The International Union of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology and Wiley-Blackwell Publisher)

et al. 2016). People living with diabetes and prediabetes should regularly exercise to prevent progression of complications including Alzheimer's disease and cardiovascular and kidney diseases. In conclusion, metformin could potentially be used together with a healthy diet and regular exercise to help prevent the progression of prediabetes into diabetes.

Proteomics Analysis of Urinary Proteins

Urine can also be subjected to urinary protein analysis; it is a useful approach for identification of protein biomarkers for diagnosis or monitoring the progression of disease condition, namely, the progression of prediabetes to diabetes. Protein is the functional component of cell; therefore, protein not only can serve as a diagnosis biomarker; the identity or function of unique or differential excretion of urinary proteins between disease and healthy conditions can also indicate cellular disorder caused by the disease state. Proteins are present at low quantity in urine; therefore, concentrating the purification of urine is needed before analysis. Sample preparation can be done by salt precipitation using ammonium sulfate. Ammonium sulfate salt is relatively inexpensive and can prevent denaturation of proteins (Burgess 2009). Increasing salt saturation leads to increment of water surface tension as well as hydrophobic interaction between protein and water, which caused solubility of protein to decrease and then promote the aggregation of proteins (Wingfield 1998). However, solubility of proteins varies as a function of ammonium sulfate concentration (Burgess 2009). In the author laboratory, 45% salt saturation was found to give the best urinary protein yield.

Urinary protein mixture is not complex as compared to protein mixtures obtained from cells or tissues. Therefore, good urinary protein separation can sufficiently be achieved by one-dimensional gel electrophoresis, where the proteins are separated into discrete fractions of protein bands. Methods such as SDS-PAGE (sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis) and tricine gel electrophoresis can be used to achieve this purpose. SDS-PAGE is a simple yet reliable method to resolve proteins by molecular weights. Glycine SDS-PAGE is commonly used to resolve proteins above 10 kDa, while tricine SDS-PAGE is used for resolving the lower molecular weight peptides. This is due to the stacking limit in stacking gel of tricine shifts to a low molecular mass range when glycine is substituted with tricine, whereby tricine migrates much faster than glycine in stacking gel due to its higher pKa value (Schägger and Von Jagow 1987). The unique or differential excretion protein bands can be identified by comparison of the protein profiles of control and prediabetes urine; these protein bands can be excised individually and subjected to in-gel digestion using trypsin, and the resulted peptides can be analyzed using LC-MS/MS method as described earlier. The MS/MS spectrum can be subjected to protein database search, from which the identity of the protein is made known.

Common Protein Biomarkers for Diagnosis of Diabetes

The classical biomarkers used for clinical diagnosis of diabetes included glycated hemoglobulin (HbA1c) and glycated albumin (GA). The level of HbA1c reflects the average plasma glucose for a period of ~2–3 months; therefore, using HbA1c was said to be a better reference value than fasting glucose level, which only represents blood glucose level at a single time point (Vaishya et al. 2018). Moreover, HbA1c has a greater pre-analytical stability, and it is less affected by perturbation (Dorcely et al. 2017). Nevertheless, the levels of HbA1c are affected by red blood cell titre; reduced red blood cell turnover associated with iron, vitamin B12, and folate deficiency anemia can cause false elevation of HbA1c (Lee 2015). HbA1c was first introduced by ADA in 2009, and it was widely used for diagnosis of T2DM since then with thresholds of HbA1c $\geq 6.5\%$ (American Diabetes Association 2019).

Another biomarker that was used to index glycemic control is glycated albumin (GA). GA is defined as the ratio of serum GA to total albumin. GA has greater glycation speed than HbA1c although it has a shorter life span than the latter; hence, it is used to measure a shorter duration of glycemic control (within 2–3 weeks) (Lee 2015). GA levels is interfered by liver cirrhosis and hypothyroidism; furthermore, low GA levels were also observed in people with increased BMI, body fat mass, visceral adiposity, and obesity (Dorcely et al. 2017). All these reasons make the use of this classical biomarker inconclusive for prediction of T2DM progression (Vaishya et al. 2018).

Urine is formed from blood plasma by ultrafiltration process in the kidney and then excreted through the urinary tract. Thus, the urinary proteome may reflect the functions of the related organ, namely, the kidney. There are multiple reports on the potential urinary biomarkers that can be used to predict complications related to diabetes, particularly diabetic nephropathy (DN). Increased excretion of Ig kappa light chain, transthyretin, and plasma retinol-binding protein has been associated with the impairment of kidney tubular reabsorption function in patients with diabetes (normoalbuminuric) (Bellei et al. 2008). Elevated levels of albumin, retinol binding protein 4, zinc- α 2-glycoprotein, and E-cadherin and downregulation of bikunin precursor and haptoglobin precursor were observed in the progression of diabetes to diabetic nephropathy (Riaz et al. 2010). Urinary biomarkers such as transferrin, type IV collagen, N-acetyl-β-D-glucosaminidase, ceruloplasmin, free light chains, and kidney injury molecule 1 were reported in the progression of renal dysfunction (Currie et al. 2014; Matheson et al. 2010). Urinary biomarkers that reflect inflammatory response, namely, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, tumor necrosis factor- α , vascular endothelial growth factor and transforming growth factor- β , and a few oxidative stress biomarkers, which include 8-hydroxy-2'deoxyguanosine, α -1acid glycoprotein, and pentosidine, have been proposed to be used in the monitoring of diabetes-related kidney disease (Currie et al. 2014; Matheson et al. 2010). Moreover, peptides, such as histidine triad nucleotide-binding protein, bifunctional aminoacyl-tRNA synthetase, and clusterin precursor protein, have been identified in the urine of diabetes patients (Chu et al. 2013). Biomarker for diabetic nephropathy,

CKD273, was said to be useful in determining the prognosis of diabetic nephropathy (Klein et al. 2016). The increased excretion of several urinary proteins or peptides, namely, transthyretin, Ig kappa chain C region, cystatin C, and ubiquitin, can be the early signs of tubular damage, before macroalbuminuria is established (Patel and Kalia 2019). All of these identified urinary biomarkers are advantageous as detection tools for T2DM and associated renal complications.

Application of Major Urinary Proteins and Histone H4 as Prediabetes Biomarker Proteins

In the author's laboratory, tricine-PAGE urinary protein profiles for healthy, prediabetes, and diabetes rats were analyzed (Teh et al. 2020a, b). Figure 3 shows the gel profile of control and diabetes rats, while Fig. 4 shows the gel profile of control and prediabetes rats. As can be seen in Fig. 4, control rats and prediabetes rats shared many similarities, while the diabetes rats have quite a different profile from the control and prediabetes rats; attention can be drawn to band 10, a 15.9 kDa peptide; band 11, a 14.9 kDa peptide; and band 13, a 9.8 kDa peptide. These three protein bands were consistently detected in healthy and prediabetes rats, while they were not detected in diabetes rats. The excretion of the three bands in the animals was not



Fig. 3 Tricine SDS-PAGE of rat urinary proteins from diabetic groups and control groups. Lane 1, nondiabetic rat fed with ND (G1); Lane 2, diabetic rat fed with ND (G3); Lane 3, diabetic rat fed with ND with metformin treatment (G5); Lane 4, nondiabetic rat fed with HFD (G2); Lane 5, diabetic rat fed with HFD (G4); Lane 6, diabetic rat fed with HFD with metformin treatment (G6); Lane 7, protein ladder. (Figure obtained from Teh et al. 2020a Journal of Scientific and Technical Research)



Fig. 4 Tricine SDS-PAGE of rat urinary proteins from pre-diabetic groups and control groups. Lane 1, nondiabetic rat fed with ND (G1); Lane 2, Pre-diabetic rat fed with ND (G7); Lane 3, pre-diabetic rat fed with ND with metformin treatment (G9); Lane 4, nondiabetic rat fed with HFD (G2); Lane 5, pre-diabetic rat fed with HFD (G8); Lane 6, pre-diabetic rat fed with HFD with metformin treatment (G10). (Figure obtained from Teh et al. 2020a Journal of Scientific and Technical Research)

Table 1 Identified protein list. (Table obtained from Teh et al. 2020a Journal of Scientific and Technical Research)

Band label	Protein	Accession	-10logP	MW (kDa)
10	Major urinary protein	P02761	94.26	15.9
11	Major urinary protein	P02761	95.78	14.9
13	Histone H4	P62806	89.85	9.8

affected by the diet intakes (healthy or high-fat diet) and treatment with metformin. Therefore, these three bands can be used as biomarkers to monitor the progression of prediabetes to diabetes state. The similarity of healthy and prediabetes rats' urine profiles also indicated a closer resemblance of these two groups of animals physiologically compared to the diabetes animals. The three bands were excised and digested in-gel using trypsin; the LC-MS/MS analysis indicated that both bands 10 and 11 were major urinary proteins while band 13 was histone H4 protein (Table 1).

Major urinary proteins (MUPs) are produced in the liver, transported to the kidney through the bloodstream, and excreted in urine. Circulating MUPs involve in glucose metabolism by suppressing hepatic gluconeogenesis as well as improving energy expenditure and insulin sensitivity in skeletal muscles (Zhou and Rui 2010). In this study, MUPs were found in normal rats and prediabetes rat, but not found in

diabetes rats. The study has reported that insulin plays a regulatory role in hepatic synthesis of MUPs and insulin deficiency might be the reason of the suppression of this protein (Roy et al. 1980). Moreover, several proteomics studies on diabetic rats also identified a downregulated expression of MUPs in urine, kidney, and renal mitochondria (Sharma and Tikoo 2014).

Histone H4 is one of the core structural units of nucleosomes which take parts in regulating gene expressions. Histones are small positively charged proteins. This characteristic encourages their excretion into the urine; this is because histones can pass through the kidney's Bowman's space from the bloodstream (Kawai et al. 2016). The suppression of histone H4 in diabetes rats' urine as compared to the normal and prediabetes rats has not been reported previously. However, studies on epigenetic mechanisms of diabetes have suggested that the pathogenesis of diabetes is related to histone posttranslational modifications, which influence genetic expression of this protein in the organs associated with diabetic complications (Kato and Natarajan 2014; Reddy et al. 2013; Sayyed et al. 2010). Hence, the direct mechanism causing the suppression of histone in diabetic rat urine needs further investigations.

Conclusion

Recently, diagnosis of progression of prediabetes to diabetes is carried out invasively, where blood glucose level is measured. In author's laboratory, the use of urine for diagnosis purpose has been demonstrated. Metabolite profiles of urine by LC-MS analysis coupled with OPLS-DA or using of reliable urinary protein biomarkers may be an alternative way for diagnosis of diabetic in a friendlier and noninvasive environment. It may not be able to totally replace the current diagnosis test by using blood glucose; nevertheless, it can be used as a screening method for early detection of prediabetes condition and also for monitoring the progression of prediabetes to diabetes, especially among the elderly and in the diabetic-epidemic areas.

Key Facts of Prediabetes

- Prediabetes affects 37% and 29% of male and female.
- About 5–10% of prediabetes developed into diabetes.
- Prediabetes is related closely to genetic factor and lifestyle.
- Prediabetes case is on the rise.
- Lifestyle is the main factor contributing to the state of prediabetes.

Mini-Dictionary Terms

• **Prediabetes:** A metabolic syndrome demonstrated by elevated fasting blood glucose. A precondition of diabetes and it can progress into diabetes.

- Metabolites urinary profile: Base peak chromatogram of liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry analysis of metabolites in urine.
- Urinary protein profile: The pattern of urinary proteins as separated according to their respective molecular weights by using gel electrophoresis technique.
- Orthogonal partial least squares discriminant analysis (OPLS-DA): It is a useful statistical analysis device to generate usable information from a challenging and non-systematic data.
- **Biomarker:** An indicator obtained from human specimens that can reliably use to indicate the state of disease.

Summary Points

- Prediabetes is on the rise mainly due to lifestyle of individuals.
- A noninvasive method by using urine specimen is highly desired to provide early diagnosis of prediabetes before the progression of the disease.
- Separation and analysis techniques, namely, liquid chromatography and gel electrophoresis coupled with mass spectrometric analysis, provided good platforms in analysis of biomarkers.
- Urinary metabolite profiles by LC-MS analysis when coupled with OPLS-DA generate a distinct pattern for diagnosis of prediabetes and also its progression into diabetes.
- Urinary protein biomarker proteins can be identified from unique or differentially excretion of proteins, which can be used to indicate the state and progression of prediabetes.

References

- Akbarzadeh A, Norouzian D, Mehrabi MR, Jamshidi S, Farhangi A, Verdi AA, Rad BL. Induction of diabetes by streptozotocin in rats. Indian J Clin Biochem. 2007;22(2):60–4.
- American Diabetes Association. (2019). 2. Classification and diagnosis of diabetes: standards of medical care in diabetes – 2019. Diabetes Care, 42(Supplement 1), S13-S28.
- Banerjee S, Mazumdar S. Electrospray ionization mass spectrometry: a technique to access the information beyond the molecular weight of the analyte. Int J Anal Chem. 2012;2012:1–40.
- Bellei E, Rossi E, Lucchi L, Uggeri S, Albertazzi A, Tomasi A, Iannone A. Proteomic analysis of early urinary biomarkers of renal changes in type 2 diabetic patients. PROTEOMICS–Clin Appl. 2008;2(4):478–91.
- Bouatra S, Aziat F, Mandal R, Guo AC, Wilson MR, Knox C, Bjorndahl TC, Krishnamurthy R, Saleem F, Liu P, Dame ZT, Poelzer J, Huynh J, Yallou FS, Psychogios N, Dong E, Bogumil R, Roehring C, Wishart DS. The human urine metabolome. PLoS One. 2013;8(9):e73076. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0073076.
- Burgess RR. Protein precipitation techniques. Methods Enzymol. 2009;463:331-42.
- Chen WW, Zhang X, Huang WJ. Role of physical exercise in Alzheimer's disease. Biomed Rep. 2016;4(4):403–7.
- Chu L, Fu G, Meng Q, Zhou H, Zhang M. Identification of urinary biomarkers for type 2 diabetes using bead-based proteomic approach. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2013;101(2):187–93.

- Colberg SR, Sigal RJ, Fernhall B, Regensteiner JG, Blissmer BJ, Rubin RR, et al. Exercise and type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2010;33(12):2692–6.
- Colberg SR, Sigal RJ, Yardley JE, Riddell MC, Dunstan DW, Dempsey PC, et al. Physical activity / exercise and diabetes: a position statement of the American Diabetes Association. Diabetes Care. 2016;39:2065–79.
- Currie G, McKay G, Delles C. Biomarkers in diabetic nephropathy: present and future. World J Diabetes. 2014;5(6):763.
- Dorcely B, Katz K, Jagannathan R, Chiang SS, Oluwadare B, Goldberg IJ, Bergman M. Novel biomarkers for prediabetes, diabetes, and associated complications. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes Targets Therapy. 2017;10:345.
- Emwas A, Luchinat C, Turano P, Tenori L, Salek RM, Ryan D, et al. Standardizing the experimental conditions for using urine in NMR-based metabolomic studies with a particular focus on diagnostic studies: a review. Metabolomics. 2015;11(4):872–94.
- Gama MR, Collins CH, Bottoli CB. Nano-liquid chromatography in pharmaceutical and biomedical research. J Chromatogr Sci. 2013;51(7):694–703.
- Gao Y. Urine an untapped goldmine for biomarker discovery? Sci China Life Sci. 2013;56(12): 1145–6. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11427-013-4574-1.
- Gao Y. Part II urinary biomarkers of diseases. Urine: promising biomarker source for early disease detection, 2019. p. 75–189.
- Gibbons H, McNulty BA, Nugent AP, Walton J, Flynn A, Gibney MJ, Brennan L. A metabolomics approach to the identification of biomarkers of sugar-sweetened beverage intake. Am J Clin Nutr. 2015;101(3):471–7. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.114.095604.
- Goodyear LJ, Kahn BB. Exercise, glucose transport, and insulin sensitivity. Annu Rev Med. 1998;49(1):235-61.
- Grebe SK, Singh RJ. LC-MS/MS in the clinical laboratory–where to from here? Clin Biochem Rev. 2011;32(1):5–31.
- Guan M, Xie L, Diao C, Wang N, Hu W, Zheng Y, et al. Systemic perturbations of key metabolites in diabetic rats during the evolution of diabetes studied by urine metabonomics. PLoS One. 2013;8(4):1–10.
- Hughes VA, Fiatarone MA, Fielding RA, Kahn BB, Ferrara CM, Shepherd P, et al. Exercise increases muscle GLUT-4 levels and insulin action in subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. Am J Phys. 1993;264(6 Pt 1):E855–62.
- Kato M, Natarajan R. Diabetic nephropathy emerging epigenetic mechanisms. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2014;10(9):517.
- Kavanagh C, Uy N. Nephrogenic diabetes insipidus. Pediatr Clin N Am. 2019;66(1):227–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcl.2018.09.006.
- Kawai C, Kotani H, Miyao M, Ishida T, Jemail L, Abiru H, Tamaki K. Circulating extracellular histones are clinically relevant mediators of multiple organ injury. Am J Pathol. 2016;186(4):829–43.
- Khamis MM, Adamko DJ, El-Aneed A. Mass spectrometric based approaches in urine metabolomics and biomarker discovery. Mass Spectrom Rev. 2017;36(2):115–34. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/mas.21455.
- Klein J, Bascands J-L, Mischak H, Schanstra JP. The role of urinary peptidomics in kidney disease research. Kidney Int. 2016;89(3):539–45.
- Lee J-E. Alternative biomarkers for assessing glycemic control in diabetes: fructosamine, glycated albumin, and 1, 5-anhydroglucitol. Annals of Pediatric Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2015;20(2): 74–8.
- Lee Y-F, Sim X-Y, The Y-H, Ismail MN, Greimel P, Murugaiyah V, Ibrahim B, Gam L-H. The effects of high-fat diet and metformin on urinary metabolites in diabetes and prediabetes rat models. Biotechnol Appl Biochem. 2020; https://doi.org/10.1002/bab.2021.
- Madeira PJA, Florêncio MH. Applications of tandem mass spectrometry: from structural analysis to fundamental studies. Tandem Mass Spectrometry–Appl Princ. 2012;33(2):1–27.
- Masiello P, Broca C, Gross R, Royem M, Manteghettim M, Hillarire-Buysm D, et al. Experimental NIDDM: development of a new model in adult rats administered streptozotocin and nicotinamide. Diabetes. 1998;47:224–9.

- Matheson A, Willcox MD, Flanagan J, Walsh BJ. Urinary biomarkers involved in type 2 diabetes: a review. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2010;26(3):150–71.
- May DH, Navarro SL, Ruczinski I, Hogan J, Ogata Y, Schwarz Y, Levy L, Holzman T, McIntosh MW, Lampe JW. Metabolomic profiling of urine: response to a randomised, controlled feeding study of select fruits and vegetables, and application to an observational study. Br J Nutr. 2013;110(10):1760–70. https://doi.org/10.1017/S000711451300127X.
- Milac TI, Randolph TW, Wang P. Analyzing LC-MS/MS data by spectral count and ion abundance: two case studies. Stat Interface. 2012;5(1):75–87.
- Miller IJ, Peters SR, Overmyer KA, Paulson BR, Westphall MS, Coon JJ. Real-time health monitoring through urine metabolomics. NPJ Digital Med. 2019;2(1):109. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41746-019-0185-y.
- Patel DN, Kalia K. Characterization of low molecular weight urinary proteins at varying time intervals in type 2 diabetes mellitus and diabetic nephropathy patients. Diabetol Metab Syndr. 2019;11(1):1–11.
- Pujos-Guillot E, Hubert J, Martin J-F, Lyan B, Quintana M, Claude S, Chabanas B, Rothwell JA, Bennetau-Pelissero C, Scalbert A, Comte B, Hercberg S, Morand C, Galan P, Manach C. Mass spectrometry-based metabolomics for the discovery of biomarkers of fruit and vegetable intake: citrus fruit as a case study. J Proteome Res. 2013;12(4):1645–59. https://doi.org/10.1021/ pr300997c.
- Reddy MA, Park JT, Natarajan R. Epigenetic modifications in the pathogenesis of diabetic nephropathy. Semin Nephrol. 2013;33(4):341–53.
- Riaz S, Alam SS, Akhtar MW. Proteomic identification of human serum biomarkers in diabetes mellitus type 2. J Pharm Biomed Anal. 2010;51(5):1103–7.
- Roy AK, Chatterjee B, Prasad MS, Unakar N. Role of insulin in the regulation of the hepatic messenger RNA for α (2u)-globulin in diabetic rats. J Biol Chem. 1980;255(23):11614–8.
- Sas KM, Karnovsk A, Michailidis G, Pennathu S. Metabolomics and diabetes: analytical and computational approaches. Diabetes. 2015;64:718–32.
- Sayyed SG, Gaikwad AB, Lichtnekert J, Kulkarni O, Eulberg D, Klussmann S, Anders H-J. Progressive glomerulosclerosis in type 2 diabetes is associated with renal histone H3K9 and H3K23 acetylation, H3K4 dimethylation and phosphorylation at serine 10. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2010;25(6):1811–7.
- Schägger H, Von Jagow G. Tricine-sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis for the separation of proteins in the range from 1 to 100 kDa. Anal Biochem. 1987;166(2):368–79.
- Sharma V, Tikoo K. Stage-specific quantitative changes in renal and urinary proteome during the progression and development of streptozotocin-induced diabetic nephropathy in rats. Mol Cell Biochem. 2014;388(1–2):95–111.
- Soares R, Pires E, Almeida AM, Santos R, Gomes R, Koči K, Coelho AV. Tandem mass spectrometry of peptides. Tandem Mass Spectrometry Appl Princ. 2012:35–56.
- Szkudelski T. Streptozotocin–nicotinamide-induced diabetes in the rat. Characteristics of the experimental model. Exp Biol Med. 2012;237(5):481–90.
- Tam ZY, Ng SP, Tan LQ, Lin CH, Rothenbacher D, Klenk J, et al. Metabolite profiling in identifying metabolic biomarkers in older people with late-onset type 2 diabetes mellitus. Sci Rep. 2017;7 (1):1–12.
- Teh YH, Sim X-Y, Lee Y-F, Ahmad W, Murugaiyah V, Ibrahim B, Ismail MN, Greimel P, Gam LH. Potential urinary disease marker for diabetes. J Scientific Tech Res. 2020a; https://doi.org/ 10.26717/BJSTR.2020.28.004665.
- Teh Y-H, Sim X-Y, Lee Y-F, Ahmad W, Murugaiyah V, Ibrahim B, Ismail MN, Greimel P, Gam L-H. Urinary protein profile changes in diabetic rats and pre-diabetic rats fed with high-fat diets. Biomed Res Therapy. 2020b;7(1):3593–601.
- Vaishya S, Sarwade RD, Seshadri V. MicroRNA, proteins, and metabolites as novel biomarkers for prediabetes, diabetes, and related complications. Front Endocrinol. 2018;9:180.

- van der Worp HB, Howells DW, Sena ES, Porritt MJ, Rewell S, O'Collins V, Malcolm RM. Can animal models of disease reliably inform human studies? PLoS Med. 2010; https://doi.org/10. 1371/journal.pmed.1000245.
- Verheggen K, Ræder H, Berven FS, Martens L, Barsnes H, Vaudel M. Anatomy and evolution of database search engines – a central component of mass spectrometry based proteomic workflows. Mass Spectrom Rev. 2020;39(3):292–306.
- Wald C. Diagnostics: a flow of information. Nature. 2017;551(7679):S48–50. https://doi.org/10. 1038/551S48a.
- Walsh MC, Brennan L, Malthouse JPG, Roche HM, Gibney MJ. Effect of acute dietary standardization on the urinary, plasma, and salivary metabolomic profiles of healthy humans. Am J Clin Nutr. 2006;84(3):531–9.
- Wang Z, Liu X, Liu X, Sun H, Guo Z, Zheng G, et al. UPLC-MS based urine untargeted metabolomic analyses to differentiate bladder cancer from renal cell carcinoma. BMC Cancer. 2019;19(1):1–11.
- Wiklund S, Johansson E, Sjöström L, Mellerowicz EJ, Edlund U, Shockcor JP, et al. Visualization of GC/TOF-MS-based metabolomics data for identification of biochemically interesting compounds using OPLS class models. Anal Chem. 2008;80(1):115–22.
- Wilson SR, Vehus T, Berg HS, Lundanes E. Nano-LC in proteomics: recent advances and approaches. Bioanalysis. 2015;7(14):1799–815.
- Wingfield P. Protein precipitation using ammonium sulfate. Curr Protoc Protein Sci. 1998;13(1):A. 3F. 1–8.
- Wu J, Gao Y. Physiological conditions can be reflected in human urine proteome and metabolome. Expert Rev Proteomics. 2015;12(6):623–36. https://doi.org/10.1586/14789450.2015.1094380.
- Wu J, Yan LJ. Streptozotocin-induced type 1 diabetes in rodents as a model for studying mitochondrial mechanisms of diabetic β cell glucotoxicity. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes Targets Therapy. 2015;8:181–8.
- Xiao X, Zou L, Sun W. Human urine proteome: a powerful source for clinical research. In: Gao Y, editors. Urine. 2019. p. 9–24.
- Zhou Y, Rui L. Major urinary protein regulation of chemical communication and nutrient metabolism. Vitam Horm. 2010, 83 Elsevier:151–63.



39

Physiologic Measures in Diabetes: QTc Prolongation

Lauren Ehrhardt-Humbert and Matthew J. Singleton

Contents

Introduction	810
ECG and the Myocardial Action Potential	810
QT Interval	811
Genetics of the QT Interval	812
Early ECG Changes in Diabetes	812
Glycemic Variability and the QT Interval	812
QT Interval in Diabetes Mellitus	814
QT Interval and Sudden Cardiac Death	814
QT Interval and Atrial Fibrillation	814
QT Dispersion	815
Pathologic Q Waves: Diabetic Risk of Silent Myocardial Infarction	815
REGARDS Study	815
Applications to Prognosis and Other Diseases or Conditions	816
Mini-Dictionary of Terms	816
Key Facts of QT Interval	816
Key Facts of Atrial Fibrillation	817
Key Facts of Malignant Arrhythmias	817
Key Facts of Sudden Cardiac Death	817
Summary Points	818
References	818

Abstract

Cardiovascular disease is the leading cause of mortality in diabetes, necessitating biomarkers beyond traditional methods to stratify risk in these populations. Glycemic variability and prolonged hyperglycemia have been linked to diabetic

L. Ehrhardt-Humbert

Wake Forest School of Medicine, Winston-Salem, NC, USA e-mail: lehrhard@wakehealth.edu

M. J. Singleton (⊠) WellSpan Health, York, PA, USA

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 44 809

complications and increased risk of mortality. Early in the disease process, pathologic changes to the heart occur and can be captured with noninvasive methods including an electrocardiogram (ECG). Prolonged repolarization of cardiac myocytes, represented by a prolonged QT interval on ECG, predisposes the heart to arrhythmias and sudden cardiac death. Notably, variations in the QT interval such as prolonged QT interval and increased QT dispersion have been linked to increased all-cause mortality in those with diabetes.

Keywords

Diabetes mellitus · Hyperglycemia · QT interval · QT prolongation · Long QT syndrome · Short QT syndrome · QT dispersion · All-cause mortality · Sudden cardiac death · Malignant arrhythmia · Silent myocardial infarction · Atrial fibrillation

Abbreviations

AV node	Atrioventricular node
CPR	Cardiopulmonary resuscitation
DM	Diabetes mellitus
ECG	Electrocardiogram
QTc	Corrected QT interval
SA node	Sinoatrial node
SCD	Sudden cardiac death

Introduction

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a chronic systemic disease with many comorbidities including renal and cardiovascular diseases. Cardiovascular disease, the leading cause of mortality in patients with diabetes mellitus, is complex and treatable. The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) study found that those with undiagnosed diabetes, pre-diabetes, and diagnosed diabetes had a 1.3 and 3.1 times higher rate of hospitalization. Cardiovascular causes were one of the highest excess rates of hospitalization (Schneider et al. 2016). Thus, biomarkers of cardiovascular risk beyond traditional measures are needed. A routine 12-lead electrocardiogram (ECG) is a cost-effective method to identity early cardiac disease and stratify cardiovascular risk (Mould et al. 2021; Singleton et al. 2021b). This chapter will discuss the QT interval and the role of QTc prolongation in predicting all-cause mortality in diabetes.

ECG and the Myocardial Action Potential

Cardiac myocytes undergo electrical-mechanical coupling, a phenomenon in which myocytes contract in a synchronous manner in response to electrical action potentials in pacemaker cells. The action potential of cardiac myocytes is characterized into five



phases that correspond to movement of ions and a change in voltage (Priest and Mcdermott 2015). Phase 0 begins when inward voltage-gated sodium channels open causing a rapid upstroke and depolarization of the cell. Phase 1, the initial repolarization, occurs when those voltage-gated sodium channels are inactivated and voltage-gated potassium channels open. Slow calcium influx through voltage-gated channels balances out potassium efflux to create a plateau in Phase 2. Calcium inside the myocyte triggers release of calcium from the sarcoplasmic reticulum which facilitates actin and myosin interaction for contraction. Phase 3 starts as the calcium channels close, voltage-gated slow delayed rectifier potassium channels open, and a massive efflux of potassium ions occurs. Phase 4 completes the cycle as an effective refractory period dominated by potassium channels (Fig. 1). Each of the phases correlates to amplitude changes on the ECG (Bednar et al. 2001; Priest and Mcdermott 2015).

QT Interval

The QT interval correlates to the duration of the depolarization, mechanical contraction, and repolarization of the ventricles (Parts and Were 2009). It consists of a QRS complex, which measures His-Purkinje fiber depolarization, and the JT interval which measures ventricular repolarization. The T wave reflects serial repolarization of the myocardial layers (epicardium and endocardium) from the apex of the heart to the base of the ventricles (Bednar et al. 2001; Priest and Mcdermott 2015). The QT interval is often reported as "QTc," or the QT interval corrected for heart rate. Normal values for the QT interval vary by genetics, gender, age, and comorbidities. In a review by Viskin, QTc interval is typically below 440 ms for males and below 460 ms for females. This can be prolonged for many reasons (drugs, congenital disorders, electrolyte imbalances, etc.) and has been used to indicate a variety of pathologies (Viskin 2009). Prolonged QT intervals indicate delayed cardiac repolarization and increased vulnerability to life-threatening malignant ventricular arrhythmias.

Genetics of the QT Interval

More than 17 genes have been linked to prolonged QT. Two well-described congenital syndromes include Romano-Ward syndrome (autosomal dominant) and Jervell and Lange-Nielsen syndrome (autosomal recessive form with deafness). Short QT syndrome is very rare and is described as a QT interval below 330 ms (Postema and Wilde 2014). The most clinically significant concern in a patient with prolonged QT is development of fatal arrhythmias such as torsade de pointes and subsequent ventricular fibrillation. Lehtinen et al. looked at common single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in sodium and potassium channel genes in those with diabetes and found that genetic variants may be associated with the QT interval duration (Lehtinen et al. 2009). The relationship between genetic variants and QT interval was reproduced in a Finnish study surveying 15 common SNPs (Noseworthy et al. 2011).

Early ECG Changes in Diabetes

Even before cardiac involvement is clinically evident in diabetes, fibrotic changes in the basal area of the left ventricle have been observed. Inverted T waves in lead I and aVL indicate fibrosis of the midventricular area, for example. Sinus tachycardia, ST segment changes, and QT dispersion have also been observed early in the course of diabetes (Stern and Sclarowsky 2009). The EURODIAB Insulin-Dependent Diabetes Mellitus Complications Study (EURODIAB IDDM) followed 3250 subjects with type 1 diabetes for an average of 30 years and found that left ventricular hypertrophy was as much as three times more prevalent in those with diabetes than the general population (Giunti et al. 2005) (Fig. 2). They also found that the QT interval duration was independently associated with HbA1c (Veglio et al. 1999).

Glycemic Variability and the QT Interval

Glycemic variability and chronic sustained hyperglycemia are significant risk factors for diabetic complications and are linked to increased mortality (Singleton et al. 2020e). Prolonged QTc intervals indicate a prolonged cardiac repolarization which



Fig. 2 Cardiac conduction system. This figure illustrates electrical circuit components of the conduction system of the heart. Pacemaker cells in the SA node fire first and the signal travels through the AV node (bundle of His), bundle branches, and Purkinje fibers

can cause cardiac arrhythmias and sudden cardiac death, which are highly prevalent in type 2 diabetes (Yang et al. 2017). In a study of 2904 individuals with type 2 diabetes, those with prolonged QTc interval had greater post-prandial glucose and fasting plasma glucose levels (Su et al. 2017). A separate study of 18 subjects found that there were several alterations in ECGs in a hypoglycemic state (Laitinen et al. 2008). Hypoglycemia is thought to trigger sympathetic overactivation and catecholamine secretion which causes electrolyte disturbances, dysregulation of atrioventricular conduction, ventricular depolarization, and ventricular repolarization. Catecholamines such as epinephrine have been shown to directly prolong the QTc interval and induce T wave flattening (Struthers et al. 1983). A relative shortening of the PR interval, depression of the ST segment, and decreased T wave area were also observed in the setting of hypoglycemia.

QT Interval in Diabetes Mellitus

Various studies have attempted to categorize markers of cardiac disease as predictors of mortality. The Strong Heart Study showed that after correction for age, sex, and other risk factors, ST segment depression and QTc interval predicted all-cause mortality in American Indians (Okin et al. 2000, 2004). The Diabetes Heart Study showed that the QTc interval is an independent predictor of all-cause mortality in those with type 2 diabetes (Cox et al. 2014). This study also showed that the QT duration correlates with the amount of coronary artery calcium and is driven by QRS rather than the JT interval and that QRS duration is associated with all-cause mortality in type 2 diabetes (Nelson et al. 2008; Singleton et al. 2020a). As diabetes progresses, microvascular complications such as nephropathy and retinopathy arise. A study of 219 patients in Tokyo with type 2 diabetes found that as the severity of microvascular complications increased, the QTc prolongation also increased (Kobayashi et al. 2018).

QT Interval and Sudden Cardiac Death

Prolongation of the QT interval has been associated with increased risk for sudden cardiac death in several population-based cohort studies (Noseworthy et al. 2011). The association between QT abnormalities and acute and chronic cardiac ischemia has been well defined (Peters et al. 1990; Dekker et al. 2004). A study by O'Neal et al. examined the risk of SCD for each QT interval component (R-wave onset to R-peak, R-peak to R-wave end, ST-segment, T-wave onset to T-peak, and T-peak to T-wave end). In this study, they found that prolongation of the T-wave onset to T-peak component had the strongest association with SCD (O'Neal et al. 2017). The Oregon Sudden Unexpected Death study also found a significant correlation between QTc prolongation and sudden cardiac death in those with diabetes (Chugh et al. 2009). It has also been shown that analysis of the QT interval is superior to the RR interval and ankle brachial pressure index in predicting cardiac death in diabetes (Rana et al. 2005).

QT Interval and Atrial Fibrillation

There is also an emerging body of evidence that the QT interval may be a marker of heightened risk of atrial fibrillation, especially in patients with diabetes (Mandyam et al. 2013). Atrial fibrillation is an irregular heartbeat in which the atrium and ventricles do not contract in a coordinated manner. This is particularly important, as atrial fibrillation is independently associated with increased mortality (Ehrhardt-Humbert et al. 2020; Singleton et al. 2020d) and patients with diabetes already have a heightened risk of atrial fibrillation, and there are risk factors for incident atrial fibrillation that are modifiable (Mayl et al. 2020; Singleton et al. 2020a, 2021a),

as well as some that are not (Dhaliwal et al. 2020). Atrial fibrillation increases the risk of developing blood clots which can result in stroke, heart attack, and SCD.

QT Dispersion

QT dispersion is defined as the difference between the maximum and minimum QT interval. QT dispersion has been proposed as a marker for malignant ventricular arrhythmias and is more prevalent in long QT syndromes (Yamaguchi et al. 2003). Sawicki et al. found in long-term follow-up that QT dispersion is an independent predictor of cardiac, cerebrovascular, and total mortality in non-insulin-dependent diabetes (Sawicki et al. 1998). A cross-sectional study of 501 patients with type 2 diabetes defined the prevalence of prolonged QT interval and QT dispersion as well as their clinical and metabolic predictors. It was found that the prevalence of prolonged QT interval and QT dispersion (r = 0.36). It was also found that those with prolonged QT interval had a higher age, BMI, prevalence of coronary heart disease, retinopathy, and polyneuropathy (Ninkovic et al. 2016).

Pathologic Q Waves: Diabetic Risk of Silent Myocardial Infarction

Pathologic Q waves are a negative deflection of the QRS complex toward the negative pole of the lead axis and are observed in myocardial injury, ventricular enlargement, altered ventricular conduction, and physiologic and positional effects. Clinicians utilize pathologic Q waves for detection of myocardial damage such as a myocardial infarction, which is one of the leading causes of death in diabetes. A pathologic Q-wave on ECG can be indicative of prior ischemic damage to the myocardium and may suggest a higher-risk patient population (Singleton et al. 2020b). Diabetes is complicated by development of neuropathy and more severe atherosclerosis which creates the perfect setup for an asymptomatic ischemic cardiac event, or a silent myocardial infarction (SMI). Those with diabetes have impaired nociception and are less likely to present with chest pain when having a heart attack. One study found that SMI with significant lesions occurs in over 20% of male type 2 diabetic patients who are asymptomatic (Janand-Delenne et al. 1999). Identifying SMI in diabetes is important as those individuals may benefit from therapies to mitigate risk.

REGARDS Study

Several studies have further strengthened the link between diabetes and poor cardiovascular health. The Reasons for Geographic and Racial Differences in Stroke (REGARDS) study is a longitudinal study of 30,000 African-American and Caucasian adults to determine causes for excess stroke mortality (Howard et al. 2005). A secondary analysis of the data provided risk ratios between elevated fasting glucose levels and poor cardiovascular health. Ideal cardiovascular health was associated with a dose-dependent lower risk of diabetes with normal fasting glucose but not for impaired fasting glucose levels (Joseph et al. 2019).

Applications to Prognosis and Other Diseases or Conditions

The QT interval is obtained through noninvasive means and can be obtained in both outpatient and emergent settings. While reading an ECG often requires a cardiologist, a computer readily interprets the duration of the QT interval. Any physician is able to delineate a prolonged QT interval on such studies, making this biomarker applicable and available to most clinical settings. In the same way that other calculators and biomarkers help to stratify risk in other diseases, we believe the QT interval can play an integral part in stratifying risk of all-cause mortality in those with diabetes. Additionally, because prolonged QT interval and increased QT dispersion could signify subclinical heart disease, one could utilize the QT interval as a means of assessing cardiac damage in those with increased risk of heart disease. For example, in persons with history of smoking, hyperlipidemia, and hypertension, regular surveillance of the QT interval may stratify patients to a higher risk category of mortality due to heart disease than previous indicators. In those patients, clinicians can utilize shared decision-making regarding the use of medications or other interventions to further reduce the risk of heart disease and all-cause mortality.

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

- Atrial Fibrillation: Irregular heartbeat in which the atrial chambers beat out of coordination with the ventricles.
- **Diabetic Neuropathy:** Hyperglycemia damages the blood vessels that supply the nerves. Long nerves such as those supplying the feet are often damaged first.
- **Diabetic Retinopathy**: Hyperglycemia-induced damage to microvasculature supplying the retina, most often manifested as increased proliferation of vasculature of the eye. This leads to blurry vision, vision loss, and eventually blindness.
- **QT Interval:** Segment of the QRS-T wave corresponding to the duration of repolarization of the ventricles from the apex to the base of the heart.
- QT Dispersion: Difference between minimum and maximum QT interval duration.

Key Facts of QT Interval

- The QT interval corresponds to depolarization (ventricular systole, isovolumetric contraction) and repolarization of the ventricles (isovolumetric relaxation).
- Typical QT interval durations are below 440 ms for men and 460 ms for women.

- Several genes are correlated with prolonged QT intervals.
- Prolonged QT intervals translate to delayed repolarization of the heart which increases the risk of fatal arrhythmias such as torsades de pointes.
- Congenital short QT syndrome is rare and associated with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation, ventricular fibrillation, and sudden cardiac death.

Key Facts of Atrial Fibrillation

- Irregular heartbeat occurs when the atria and ventricles are not electromechanically coupled.
- Decreased coordinated contraction of the atrium leads to decreased laminar flow exiting the atrium. Stagnant blood can form clots which can travel to the brain, extremities, or other parts of the body.
- Due to risk of clots, the CHA₂DS₂-VASc Score is used to calculate the risk of stroke in those with afib. Those at high risk are placed on oral anticoagulation medication such as warfarin.
- Stretching of the atrium due to increased blood return from the lungs or decreased blood flow exiting the left side of the heart can predispose the atrium to atrial fibrillation.
- Atrial fibrillation can occur in brief episodes, known as paroxysmal atrial fibrillation, or can be a chronic condition.
- When indicated, anti-arrhythmogenics such as amiodarone and procainamide are used to slow electrical conduction through the heart.
- Rate control medications such as calcium channel blockers and beta blockers are used to slow the heart rate.

Key Facts of Malignant Arrhythmias

- Malignant arrhythmias are those that can result in sudden cardiac death.
- These include ventricular fibrillation, ventricular tachycardia, and torsades de pointes.
- These occur from myocardial disease, structural cardiac abnormalities, congenital arrhythmias, electrolyte imbalances, drugs, and some infections.
- Patients experiencing one of these malignant arrhythmias are hemodynamically unstable and quickly develop cardiovascular collapse.
- Treatment of these may include urgent defibrillation, CPR, and electrolyte correction.

Key Facts of Sudden Cardiac Death

• Sudden cardiac death (SCD) is not a myocardial infarction (blockage of coronary arteries causing oxygen deprivation to the heart).

- SCD occurs when electrical activity of the heart becomes fast and irregular, such as in a malignant arrhythmia.
- The heart experiences uncoordinated contraction between the atrium and ventricles. The chambers flutter or quiver rather than contract, leading to decreased blood flow.
- The heart rate becomes too fast to allow for sufficient filling of the heart between contractions, resulting in reduced cardiac output.
- A person experiencing this may have symptoms of dizziness, light-headedness, and increased rate of breathing and may lose consciousness.
- Emergent CPR and defibrillation are needed for resuscitation.

Summary Points

- Diabetes mellitus is associated with increased risk of cardiovascular disease and all-cause mortality.
- Glycemic variability causes stress on cardiac myocytes, leading to structural damage and conduction disturbances.
- Diabetes is associated with increased prevalence of prolonged QT interval and increased QT dispersion.
- Prolonged QT interval predisposes the heart to malignant arrhythmias including ventricular tachycardia, ventricular fibrillation, and torsades de pointes.
- Malignant arrhythmias can result in sudden cardiac death.
- Prolonged QT interval is associated with increased risk of atrial fibrillation which leads to increased risk of stroke and heart attack.
- Regular surveillance of QT interval in those with diabetes may aid in stratifying risk of all-cause mortality in those populations.

References

Bednar MM, Harrigan EP, Anziano RJ, et al. The QT interval. Prog Cardiovasc Dis. 2001;43:1-45.

- Chugh SS, Reinier K, Singh T, et al. Determinants of prolonged QT interval and their contribution to sudden death risk in coronary artery disease: the Oregon Sudden Unexpected Death Study. Circulation. 2009;119:663–70. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.108.797035.
- Cox AJ, Azeem A, Yeboah J, et al. Heart rate-corrected QT interval is an independent predictor of all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in individuals with type 2 diabetes: the Diabetes Heart Study. Diabetes Care. 2014;37:1454–61. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc13-1257.
- Dekker JM, Crow RS, Hannan PJ, et al. Heart rate-corrected QT interval prolongation predicts risk of coronary heart disease in black and white middle-aged men and women: the ARIC Study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2004;43:565–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2003.09.040.
- Dhaliwal KK, Upadhya B, Soliman EZ, et al. Association of P-wave axis with incident atrial fibrillation in diabetes mellitus (from the ACCORD trial). Am J Cardiol. 2020;128:191–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AMJCARD.2020.05.009.
- Ehrhardt-Humbert L, Upadhya B, Bhave PD, et al. P-wave axis is associated with all-cause mortality in diabetes: the ACCORD trial. J Electrocardiol. 2020;60:184–7. https://doi.org/10. 1016/J.JELECTROCARD.2020.04.023.
- Giunti S, Bruno G, Veglio M, et al. Electrocardiographic left ventricular hypertrophy in type 1 diabetes: prevalence and relation to coronary heart disease and cardiovascular risk factors:

the EURODIAB IDDM Complications Study. Diabetes Care. 2005;28:2255–7. https://doi.org/ 10.2337/diacare.28.9.2255.

- Howard VJ, Cushman M, Pulley LV, et al. The reasons for geographic and racial differences in stroke study: objectives and design. Neuroepidemiology. 2005;25:135–43. https://doi.org/10. 1159/000086678.
- Janand-Delenne B, Savin B, Habib G, et al. Silent myocardial ischemia in patients with diabetes: who to screen. Diabetes Care. 1999;22:1396–400. https://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.22.9.1396.
- Joseph JJ, Bennett A, Tcheugui JBE, et al. Ideal cardiovascular health, glycaemic status and incident type 2 diabetes mellitus: the REasons for Geographic and Racial Differences in Stroke (REGARDS) Study. Diabetologia. 2019;62:426–37. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-018-4792-y.
- Kobayashi S, Nagao M, Asai A, et al. Severity and multiplicity of microvascular complications are associated with QT interval prolongation in patients with type 2 diabetes. J Diabetes Investig. 2018;9:946–51. https://doi.org/10.1111/jdi.12772.
- Laitinen T, Lyyra-Laitinen T, Huopio H, et al. Electrocardiographic alterations during hyperinsulinemic hypoglycemia in healthy subjects. Ann Noninvasive Electrocardiol. 2008;13: 97–105. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1542-474X.2008.00208.x.
- Lehtinen AB, Daniel KR, Shah SA, et al. Relationship between genetic variants in myocardial sodium and potassium channel genes and QT interval duration in diabetics: the Diabetes Heart Study. Ann Noninvasive Electrocardiol. 2009;14:72–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1542-474X. 2008.00276.x.
- Mandyam MC, Soliman EZ, Alonso A, et al. The QT interval and risk of incident atrial fibrillation. Heart Rhythm. 2013;10:1562–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.HRTHM.2013.07.023.
- Mayl JJ, German CA, Bertoni AG, et al. Association of alcohol intake with hypertension in type 2 diabetes mellitus: the ACCORD trial. J Am Heart Assoc. 2020;9:e017334. https://doi.org/10. 1161/JAHA.120.017334.
- Mould SJ, Soliman EZ, Bertoni AG, et al. Association of T-wave abnormalities with major cardiovascular events in diabetes: the ACCORD trial. Diabetologia. 2021;64:504–11. https:// doi.org/10.1007/S00125-020-05337-8.
- Nelson MR, Daniel KR, Carr JJ, et al. Associations between electrocardiographic interval durations and coronary artery calcium scores: the Diabetes Heart Study. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2008;31:314–21. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-8159.2008.00991.x.
- Ninkovic VM, Srdjan MN, Ninkovic M, et al. Prevalence and risk factors for prolonged QT interval and QT dispersion in patients with type 2 diabetes. Acta Diabetol. 2016;53:737–44. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00592-016-0864-y.
- Noseworthy PA, Havulinna AS, Porthan K, et al. Common genetic variants, QT interval, and sudden cardiac death in a Finnish population-based study. Circ Cardiovasc Genet. 2011;4: 305–11. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCGENETICS.110.959049.
- O'Neal WT, Singleton MJ, Roberts JD, et al. Association between QT-interval components and sudden cardiac death: the ARIC Study (Atherosclerosis Risk In Communities). Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2017;10:e005485. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCEP.117.005485.
- Okin PM, Devereux RB, Howard BV, et al. Assessment of QT interval and QT dispersion for prediction of all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in American Indians: the Strong Heart Study. Circulation. 2000;101:61–6. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.101.1.61.
- Okin PM, Devereux RB, Lee ET, et al. Electrocardiographic repolarization complexity and abnormality predict all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in diabetes: the Strong Heart Study. Diabetes. 2004;53:434–40. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.53.2.434.
- Parts I, Were VI. AHA/ACCF/HRS recommendations for the standardization and interpretation of the electrocardiogram endorsed by the International Society for Computerized Electrocardiology other members of the Standardization and Interpretation of the Electrocardiogram. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2009;53:1003–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2008.12.014.
- Peters RW, Byington RP, Barker A, Yusuf S. Prognostic value of prolonged ventricular repolarization following myocardial infarction: the BHAT experience. J Clin Epidemiol. 1990;43:167–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/0895-4356(90)90180-W.

- Postema P, Wilde A. The measurement of the QT interval. Curr Cardiol Rev. 2014;10:287–94. https://doi.org/10.2174/1573403X10666140514103612.
- Priest BT, Mcdermott JS. Cardiac ion channels. Channels. 2015; https://doi.org/10.1080/19336950. 2015.1076597.
- Rana BS, Lim PO, Naas AAO, et al. QT interval abnormalities are often present at diagnosis in diabetes and are better predictors of cardiac death than ankle brachial pressure index and autonomic function tests. Heart. 2005;91:44–50. https://doi.org/10.1136/hrt.2003.017632.
- Sawicki PT, Kiwitt S, Bender R, Berger M. The value of QT interval dispersion for identification of total mortality risk in non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. J Intern Med. 1998;243:49–56. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2796.1998.00259.x.
- Schneider ALC, Kalyani RR, Golden S, et al. Diabetes and prediabetes and risk of hospitalization: the Atherosclerosis Risk In Communities (ARIC) Study. Diabetes Care. 2016;39:772–9. https:// doi.org/10.2337/dc15-1335.
- Singleton MJ, German C, Hari KJ, et al. QRS duration is associated with all-cause mortality in type 2 diabetes: the Diabetes Heart Study. J Electrocardiol. 2020a;58:150–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jelectrocard.2019.11.053.
- Singleton MJ, German CA, Bertoni AG, et al. Association of silent myocardial infarction with major cardiovascular events in diabetes: the ACCORD trial. Diabetes Care. 2020b;43:E45–6. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc19-2201.
- Singleton MJ, German CA, Soliman EZ, et al. Body mass index, sex, and incident atrial fibrillation in diabetes: the ACCORD trial. JACC Clin Electrophysiol. 2020c;6:1713–20. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.JACEP.2020.08.008.
- Singleton MJ, Imtiaz-Ahmad M, Kamel H, et al. Association of atrial fibrillation without cardiovascular comorbidities and stroke risk: from the REGARDS Study. J Am Heart Assoc. 2020d;9: 16380. https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.120.016380.
- Singleton MJ, Soliman EZ, Bertoni AG, et al. Effect of intensive glycemic and blood pressure control on QT prolongation in diabetes: the ACCORD trial. Diabetes. 2020e;69:2186–93. https://doi.org/10.2337/DB20-0401.
- Singleton MJ, German CA, Carnethon M, et al. Race, body mass index, and the risk of atrial fibrillation: the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. J Am Heart Assoc. 2021a;10:1–13. https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.120.018592.
- Singleton MJ, German CA, Soliman EZ, et al. The utility of silent myocardial infarction on electrocardiogram as an ASCVD risk enhancer for primary prevention: the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. J Electrocardiol. 2021b;65:105–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelectrocard.2021. 01.018.
- Stern S, Sclarowsky S. The ECG in diabetes mellitus. Circulation. 2009;120:1633-6.
- Struthers AD, Whitesmith R, Reid JL. Metabolic and haemodynamic effects of increased circulating adrenaline in man. Effect of labetalol, an alpha and beta blocker. Br Heart J. 1983;50: 277–81. https://doi.org/10.1136/hrt.50.3.277.
- Su JB, Yang X-H, Zhang X-L, et al. The association of long-term glycaemic variability versus sustained chronic hyperglycaemia with heart rate-corrected QT interval in patients with type 2 diabetes. PLoS One. 2017;12:e0183055. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0183055.
- Veglio M, Borra M, Stevens LK, et al. The relation between QTc interval prolongation and diabetic complications. The EURODIAB IDDM Complication Study Group. Diabetologia. 1999;42(1): 68–75.
- Viskin S. The QT interval: too long, too short or just right. Heart Rhythm. 2009;6:711–5. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.hrthm.2009.02.044.
- Yamaguchi M, Shimizu M, Ino H, et al. T wave peak-to-end interval and QT dispersion in acquired long QT syndrome: a new index for arrhythmogenicity. Clin Sci. 2003;105:671–6. https://doi. org/10.1042/CS20030010.
- Yang XH, Bin SJ, Zhang XL, et al. The relationship between insulin sensitivity and heart ratecorrected QT interval in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetol Metab Syndr. 2017;9:69. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s13098-017-0268-3.



40

Biomarkers of Myocardial Fibrosis in Diabetes, Echocardiography, and Magnetic Resonance Imaging

Per Lav Madsen

Contents

Introduction	823
Heart Disease in Diabetes	823
Myocardial Fibrosis in Diabetes	827
Cardiac Metabolism in Diabetes	827
The Heart's Interaction with the Peripheral Circulation	827
The Myocardial Extracellular Volume	828
Animal Models of Cardiac Fibrosis in Diabetes	828
Magnetic Resonance Imaging of Fibrosis and the Extracellular Volume	829
The Two CMR Techniques of Fibrosis Quantitation	829
Tissue T1 Times	830
Gadolinium Contrast	831
Myocardial Blood Flow Determination with CMR	832
Determination of the Extracellular Volume	832
The Late Gadolinium Enhancement Technique	832
CMR Determination of Fibrosis in Cardiomyopathies	834
Ischemic Versus Non-ischemic Cardiomyopathy with LGE	834
Extracellular Volume and Fibrosis in Diabetes by CMR	835
Cardiac Fibrosis and Extracellular Volume in Patients with T2DM	835
Relation of Cardiac Fibrosis to Markers of Diastolic Function	836
Myocardial Blood Flow in T2DM	837
The Relation of Fibrosis to Myocardial Blood Flow	837
Looking to the Future	840
Longitudinal Studies	840
CMR for Screening of DM Patients?	840
Validation of Serum Biomarkers of Fibrosis	841
Applications to Prognosis	841

P. L. Madsen (🖂)

e-mail: per.madsen.02@regionh.dk

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

Department of Cardiology, Herlev-Gentofte Hospital, Copenhagen University Hospital, Herlev, Denmark

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2_45

Key Facts of Diabetic Cardiomyopathy	842
Key Facts of Cardiac Magnetic Resonance Imaging of Fibrosis	843
Mini-Dictionary of Terms	843
Summary Points	844
References	845

Abstract

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is associated with cardiomyopathy. Cardiomyopathy in DM can be from ischemic heart disease or related purely to DM-related myocardial changes. The non-ischemic variant of cardiomyopathy ("diabetic cardiomyopathy") is in animals related to myocardial hypertrophy, vascular rarefaction, and expansion of the extracellular volume by glycated hemoglobin and fibrosis, and recent echocardiography and magnetic resonance imaging studies in humans are in line with this. In patients with type 2 DM, the left ventricle becomes stiff with concentric remodeling. Myocardial blood flow can increase only threefold during stress, whereas it is normally fivefold. Normally 25% of the myocardium is taken up by the extracellular volume, but in T2DM patients this fraction is increased, in some patients to values >40%. Myocardial fibrosis and maximal myocardial blood flow are inversely correlated, and in some patients virtual "islands of fibrosis" can be detected. These areas probably reflect the fibrotic islands initially described by Rubler et al. (Am J Cardiol 30:595-602, 1972) in the autopsy studies defining "diabetic cardiomyopathy." Longitudinal studies are now pursued to determine the importance of myocardial hypoperfusion and myocardial fibrosis.

Keywords

Diastolic function · Echocardiography · Heart failure · Heart failure with reduced ejection fraction · Heart failure with preserved ejection fraction · Magnetic resonance imaging · Myocardial fibrosis · Myocardial extracellular volume · Myocardial blood flow · Gadolinium contrast · Type 1 diabetes mellitus · Type 2 diabetes mellitus

A I		• •	•	
An	pre	viai	סוי	ns
	~···			

AGE	Advanced glycation end product
CMR	Cardiovascular magnetic resonance imaging
DM	Diabetes mellitus
ECV	Extracellular volume
GLP1	Glucagon-like peptide-1
HF	Heart failure
HFpEF	Heart failure with preserved ejection fraction
HFrEF	Heart failure with reduced ejection fraction
IHD	Ischemic heart disease
LGE	Late gadolinium hyperenhancement
LV	Left ventricle

LVEF	Left ventricle ejection fraction
MOLLI	Modified Look-Locker inversion recovery pulse sequence
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
SGLT2	Sodium-glucose transport protein 2
ShMOLLI	Shortened MOLLI
T1DM	Type 1 diabetes mellitus
T2DM	Type 2 diabetes mellitus

Introduction

Heart Disease in Diabetes

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is associated with among others kidney failure, retinopathy, and peripheral neuropathy, but the significantly shortened life span of a person with DM is largely associated with the induced heart disease. The heart disease in DM can be divided into two forms: ischemic heart disease (IHD) and a non-ischemic heart disease not dependent on DM-related acceleration of the coronary atheromatosis process. A DM patient with heart disease often suffers from both, but can suffer from one independently of the other. DM has long been known to be associated with IHD, and guidelines describe DM as a cardiovascular disease necessitating treatment with antihypertensives, statins, and a vigilant focus on development of significant myocardial ischemia. Even if IHD does not develop, however, DM patients may develop heart failure (HF) from myocardial changes brought about by DM itself. The three overarching phenotypical changes that can be seen in animal and autopsy studies are myocardial vascular rarefaction, left ventricle (LV) hypertrophy, and disperse myocardial fibrosis. These facts are far less recognized in clinical medicine than the wellknown HF in DM-associated IHD. DM is often associated with hypertension that in itself is associated with both myocardial hypertrophy and diastolic dysfunction (and further acceleration of the atheromatosis process). While DM may indeed in older age, and notably so if associated with IHD, be associated with HF with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF; left ventricle (LV) ejection fraction <40%), most patients with DM do not readily develop overt pump failure with dilated poorly contracting ventricles, but later develop a HF that despite a normal or near-normal ejection fraction leaves patients with signs of heart failure notably from diastolic (filling) problems of their stiff and thickened myocardium.

Heart Failure with Preserved Ejection Fraction

This latter situation is overarchingly referred to as HF with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF). The sodium-glucose transport protein 2 (SGLT2) antagonist empagliflozin (well-known to be of importance in T2DM) has recently been shown to be of benefit for patients with HFpEF both with and without DM (Anker et al. 2021). In general, however, the overarching term of HFpEF for all patients with signs of HF but seemingly normal pumping chamber function is not always helpful as has before the SGLT2 antagonist trial been demonstrated indirectly in a number of

previously futile randomized studies. In retrospect, such studies have probably lumped patients with very different kinds of LV filling problems. Thus, a number of patients classified under this overarching term of HFpEF probably have very different reasons for their respective HF symptoms and signs. There is a large difference between a patient with signs of diastolic dysfunction based on amyloidosis of the heart and a patient with diastolic dysfunction based on myocardial disperse fibrosis and hypoperfusion from small vessel disease. And the treatment of the underlying cause of their common symptoms should differ. While echocardiographic biomarkers of HFpEF have long been demonstrated (Jørgensen et al. 2019), overall treatments of HFpEF have been disappointing, and it now seems timely to more precisely determine underlying reasons for HFpEF in different patient populations. In comparison with HFrEF patients, patients with HFpEF do not develop "hard endpoints" (e.g., myocardial infarction, admittance to hospital with congestion, or death) as early and frequently. Hence, there is a grave need to develop and evaluate biomarkers of myocardial hypoperfusion and notably the underlying fibrosis in order for immediate evaluation of DM patients suspected of HFpEF and for interventional randomized studies to be able to address these underlying phenotypic aspects of heart disease in patients with DM. Although shorter-term success may be obtained with treatment related to final pathophysiological pathways, medium- and longer-term treatment success must be expected to differ significantly and may successfully require careful considerations of early underlying myocardial pathophysiological causes.

Imaging Biomarkers of Myocardial Function in Diabetes and HFpEF

In this chapter, imaging biomarkers of myocardial hypoperfusion and fibrosis with cardiovascular magnetic resonance imaging (CMR) are reviewed, and their relation to noninvasive biomarkers of cardiac filling problems is evaluated. The studies are mainly concerned with recent CMR studies that have opened up a door for concomitant evaluation and quantification of two important overarching pathophysiological factors associated with the stiffened and hypertrophic heart noted in patients with DM: myocardial hypoperfusion and myocardial disperse fibrosis expanding the extracellular volume. With such noninvasive imaging biomarkers, it will be possible to detect the underlying causes of suspected HF in a patient with DM, and in the future hopefully make it possible in randomized studies to evaluate the impact of chosen interventions on myocardial blood flow and fibrosis, and implicitly eventually initiate treatment more relevant for the particular patient in question. Initially the underlying causes of diabetic heart disease as demonstrated in animal studies and previous human studies are shortly reviewed and explained. Thereafter the CMR technique by which myocardial fibrosis is evaluated is reviewed and lastly recent CMR studies on myocardial perfusion and fibrosis in T2DM patients are presented. Reviewing the past, but looking to the future, further studies including longitudinal studies and associated studies of serum biomarkers of fibrosis are discussed.

Epidemiology of Diabetic Heart Disease

HF is strongly associated with DM. The Framingham Heart Study early demonstrated 2.4- and 5.1-times increase in the incidence of HF in men and women with DM respectively in comparison with an age-matched cohort adjusted for hypertension, obesity, ischemic heart disease, and dyslipidemia (Kannel and McGee 1979; Kannel 2011). In general, in HF cohorts, including both HFrEF and HFpEF, the prevalence of DM ranges from 10% to 47% (From et al. 2006; Shindler et al. 1996; Cleland et al. 2003; Dei Cas et al. 2015; Sandesara et al. 2018). The prevalence of DM is higher in patients hospitalized with HF, with some reports of >40% (Greenberg et al. 2007). In patients with DM, the prevalence of HF is between 9% and 22%, which is four times higher than in the general population, and the prevalence is even higher in patients with DM who are older than 60 years (Nichols et al. 2004; Bertoni et al. 2004; Boonman-de Winter et al. 2012; Thrainsdottir et al. 2005). Thus, it has long been known that DM is a significant risk factor for cardiovascular disease, but the specific cardiovascular changes seen with DM are still incompletely understood and hence difficult to treat. With glucagon-like peptide-1(GLP1) receptor agonists and SGLT2 receptor antagonists, there is light at the end of the tunnel, but so far conventional antiglycemic therapy has added little improvement if any to cardiovascular disease of patients with DM, and even after treatment with antihypertensives and statins patients with DM still have a significantly increased risk of myocardial infarction and HF.

Diabetic Cardiomyopathy

DM, on its own, is associated with a cardiomyopathy, often simply termed "diabetic cardiomyopathy," not founded on the acceleration of IHD. The association of heart disease with DM had been noted before, but as the first, the Danish physician Lundbæk in 1954 specifically noted vascular dysfunction in patients with DM (Lundback 1954), and in 1969 he as the first suggested a "diabetic cardiomyopathy" (Lundbaek 1969), i.e., a variant of heart disease related more to DM per se than the often accompanying atherosclerotic and IHD. In 1972, Rubler et al. on autopsy of DM patients proved Lundbæk right (Rubler et al. 1972). Rubler et al. autopsied patients with DM, who had died from congestive HF with edema of the lungs and dilated hearts, and demonstrated that even though these patients had significant myocardial "islands" of fibrosis, they did not have significant atheromatosis of the coronary arteries. Instead Rubler et al. found that these patients too suffered from myocardial hypertrophy and found that the "islands" of myocardial fibrosis were associated with microvascular wall thickening from accumulation of acid mucopolysaccharides ("advanced glycation end products," AGEs). From then on it was understood that HF in DM could in fact be associated with myocardial fibrosis, not related to significant ischemia from an otherwise often accompanying IHD or indeed previous myocardial infarctions.

Treatment of Diabetes in Relation to Cardiomyopathy

It sometimes seems as if these early studies have been forgotten, and with previous techniques fibrosis of the heart could only be demonstrated in autopsy and animal studies. Hence, early clinical and imaging studies of cardiovascular disease in DM have often focused on the accompanying IHD. This has not been irrational since DM is indeed associated with a significant overrepresentation of morbidity and premature mortality from IHD, and IHD is indeed a prevalent risk in DM. Further studies using PET and myocardial scintigraphy have demonstrated often widespread myocardial perfusion defects even in DM patients not presenting with angina. DM is still associated with significant coronary disease, but it seems that adhering to modern era guidelines, the risk of IHD may be declining in DM, and treatment of such with notably antihypertensive medication and statins has significantly prolonged lives in patients with DM. The STENO2 studies have demonstrated that overall the more successful treatment of T2DM patients is not glucose-lowering therapy by insulin but a multifactorial intervention notably involving statins and antihypertensives (Gaede et al. 2003). Improved treatment of coronary atheromatosis in patients with DM is indeed warranted, but even after treatment of such, patients with DM still end up with HF. Such HF may, as shown by Rubler et al., be classic HF with dilated weakly contracting ventricles (as suggested from the report today, Rubler's patients would probably have been diagnosed with HFrEF), and DM is indeed related to "nonischemic" HFrEF (i.e., HFrEF with normal coronary arteries) (Bertoni et al. 2004; Kannel 2011), but this is usually only seen with old age. Reports of HF in DM mainly describe a cardiac phenotype with a small left ventricle (LV) with concentric hypertrophy, a normal or near-normal LVEF, and elevated LV filling pressures (diastolic dysfunction) (Jørgensen et al. 2019). With signs of HF, these pts. are labeled as having HFpEF (For a comprehensive review, please see Ng et al. 2021). Compared with DM-associated myocardial dysfunction, the "obese phenotype" of HFpEF is less well recognized and little explored, but several studies have demonstrated an association between obesity and LV structural and functional changes (Ng et al. 2021), and part of the problem may relate to not only DM but also to obesity changing notably the afterload faced by the ventricles of the heart by increased arterial blood pressure and lowered distensibility of conductance arteries. Obesity is an important risk factor for T2DM, and in the light of newly established treatments of obesity (notably gastric bypass and the GLP1 receptor analogues), it is important to understand to what degree cardiovascular changes seen with T2DM are associated with DM per se or the added cardiovascular burden of obesity is associated with for example stiff peripheral conductance arteries and hence the added afterload for the LV.

Treatment of HFpEF

The distinction between HFrEF and HFpEF is important since treatment of HFrEF has for long been well-established with repeated and still ongoing successes, but randomized controlled trials in HFpEF have hitherto been disappointing, with positive influence only from perhaps treatment with spironolactone and now firmly established from the SGLT2 antagonist empagliflozin (Anker et al. 2021). GLP1 receptor agonists and SGLT2 antagonists are important new treatment options in obesity and T2DM, but for most patients with diabesity-related stiffening of the LV, no specific treatment is known, except for advice on exercise, weight loss and by halting development of IHD with statins, smoking cessation, and antihypertensive medication. To address diabesity-related heart disease, it will be important to understand the underlying phenotypic causes in more detail and preferably so in larger populations where follow-up studies with adequate statistical power are possible.

Myocardial Fibrosis in Diabetes

Cardiac Metabolism in Diabetes

Studies of underlying factors have focused on IHD that in itself can induce diastolic dysfunction and the specific consequences of hyperglycemia, insulin resistance, increased free fatty acids, tissue inflammation, oxidative stress, and activation of the sympathetic nervous system and the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (for a comprehensive review, please see Jia et al. 2016). In short, hyperinsulinemia and oxidative stress promote expression of "hypertrophy genes" and reduce nitric oxide bioavailability and sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ pump activity. The latter give rise to a stiff isoform of the cytoskeletal "scaffolding" protein titin, and increased interstitial collagen crosslinked by AGEs. Insulin resistance makes adenosine triphosphate production more reliant on fatty acid metabolism that requires a higher oxygen uptake than glucose metabolism does, and the myocardial adenosine triphosphate to phosphocreatine ratio is lowered in T2DM and obese patients (Scheuermann-Freestone et al. 2003). This places diabesity patients with hypertrophy and myocardial vascular rarefaction at jeopardy. In patients with autonomic neuropathy, myocardial contractile and relaxation kinetics are reduced, and some have impaired heart rate increment with exercise. Also, impaired cardiac interaction with the peripheral circulation ("ventriculo-arterial coupling") poses an additional risk (Ng et al. 2021; Kyhl et al. 2021).

The Heart's Interaction with the Peripheral Circulation

Thus, in diabesity cardiac function must be related to the heart's interaction with aspects of the peripheral circulation notably the blood pressure (often high) and conductance artery distensibility (often low) both independently affecting afterload for the left ventricle, and the latter negatively influencing left ventricular filling even in normal subjects without arterial hypertension or myocardial hypertrophy (Kyhl et al. 2021). Cardiac output and blood volume are suggested to be large, but on the other hand the blood volume of the heart and lungs may be compressed from excessive pressure from the outside (high pulmonary pressure, stiff thorax, high epi- and pericardial fat content) (Obokata et al. 2017). It is little studied how the cardiac output is redistributed to peripheral organs, and the general fitness level is often not adequately taken into consideration. The problem is that T2DM patients have stiff hearts, but it cannot be determined why.

The Myocardial Extracellular Volume

Typically, myocardial tissue is composed of approximately 75% myocardial intracellular tissue, which consists of myocardial cells and blood cells, whereas 25% consists of the extracellular volume (ECV), i.e. the space between all cells, including plasma in the vasculature. The myocardial interstitial space accounts for approximately 90% of the ECV and is composed of fibrillary proteins (elastin and collagen I and III), non-fibrillary proteins (aminoglycans, fibronectin, and laminin), bioactive proteins (transforming growth factor beta and matrix metalloproteinases), and cells (fibroblasts and resident monocytes). Animal studies suggest that disperse fibrosis of the myocardial ECV is in fact an important part of "diabetic cardiomyopathy." Patients with DM, but without significant macrovascular disease, are known to display microvascular small intramyocardial arteries and arterioles. In DM, collagen is deposited perivascularly with thickening and sclerosis of smaller myocardial arteries with little possibility for dilatation.

Numerous histopathologic studies have now demonstrated that cardiac fibrosis in DM patients can occur independently of coronary atherosclerosis or hypertension. Regan and co-workers (1977) showed that patients with adult-onset DM do indeed exhibit extensive perivascular, interstitial, and even replacement fibrosis, even in the absence of hypertension or coronary artery disease. Myocardial fibrosis in patients with DM is often accompanied by cardiomyocyte hypertrophy and by evidence of microvascular abnormalities, including thickening of the capillary basement membrane (Kawaguchi et al. 1997). DM-associated interstitial fibrosis has been described in both T1DM and T2DM, is associated with accumulation of both type I and III collagen, and involves both the left and right ventricles (Nunoda et al. 1985). Relations between DM-associated fibrosis and cardiac function have not been systematically investigated, but in a study examining biopsies from patients with HF in the absence of coronary disease, DM was associated with increased collagen levels only in patients with reduced ejection fraction (van Heerebeek et al. 2008). DM is also associated with accentuation of fibrotic changes in patients with other cardiac conditions. Thus, in patients with aortic stenosis, diabetes is associated with worse myocardial stiffness and increased myocardial collagen content (Falcao-Pires et al. 2011).

Animal Models of Cardiac Fibrosis in Diabetes

Animal models of T1DM provide strong support to the association between T1DM and myocardial fibrosis, and in both mice and rats, streptozotocin-induced T1DM is associated with interstitial myocardial fibrosis, accompanied by cardiomyocyte hypertrophy, induction of pro-fibrotic and hypertrophy-associated genes, and micro-vascular rarefaction (Cavalera et al. 2014; Shen and Bornfeldt 2007; Ares-Carrasco et al. 2009). Pro-fibrotic effects of T1DM on the myocardium have also been demonstrated in larger animal models including mongrel dogs (Regan et al. 1981) and rhesus monkeys (Haider et al. 1981). Cardiac fibrosis has also been documented

in experimental animal models of T2DM. Db/db mice express a truncated leptin receptor and are resistant to the central effects of leptin and develop severe obesity and T2DM at 1–2 months of age. In db/db mice, cardiac fibrosis accompanied by cardiomyocyte hypertrophy and diastolic dysfunction is seen at 4–6 months of age (Biernacka et al. 2015; Huynh et al. 2012). Genetic models of T2DM in the rat also exhibit cardiac fibrosis. Zucker rats have a leptin receptor missense mutation and develop severe obesity and insulin resistance. These animals develop perivascular myocardial fibrosis, associated with cardiomyocyte hypertrophy and diastolic dysfunction (Fredersdorf et al. 2004).

Magnetic Resonance Imaging of Fibrosis and the Extracellular Volume

The role of diffuse reactive fibrosis and overt myocardial scarring characterized by accumulation of myocardial collagen in the extracellular spatium has long been identified as an important factor in the etiologies of different cardiomyopathies with either reduced or preserved ejection fraction. The myocardial interstitium has therefore become a subject of intense focus in most cardiomyopathies including diabetic cardiomyopathy, and techniques have been vigorously sought to visualize and quantitate such fibrosis and the associated expansion of the extracellular spatium. The diffuse nature of the structural changes associated with diffuse fibrosis made it difficult to detect except in pathology studies and in invasive studies using biopsies. Except in special circumstances, however, biopsies have never really been a viable option in everyday clinical patient management, and detection and quantification of fibrosis from biopsies are prone to sampling error since fibrotic areas do not necessarily affect all of the myocardium. With CMR, especially so with the use of gadolinium for contrast, it has become possible to noninvasively image and quantify the myocardial interstitium and hence to detect fibrosis. It is not an overstatement to say that the technique(s) of CMR determination of fibrosis has revolutionized imaging cardiology and the interest in applying CMR with gadolinium contrast for clinical and research studies in cardiology has long increased (near-) exponentially.

The Two CMR Techniques of Fibrosis Quantitation

Determination of cardiac fibrosis with CMR rests largely on two related techniques. Either virtual "islands of fibrosis" (scars) of the myocardium are visualized and quantified with the so-called late gadolinium hyperenhancement (LGE) technique or diffuse fibrosis (increased ECV) is quantified with so-called "T1 mapping" technique. With the LGE technique, "islands of fibrosis" are depicted (usually on "whiteon-black" images), and with the T1 mapping techniques, disperse myocardial fibrosis is quantitated pixel by pixel (square in image) and visualized on colorcoded maps. The techniques are related but are for pedagogical reasons best explained as two different techniques. Both techniques build on the principle that different tissues (e.g., normal vs. fibrotic or scarred myocardium) have different T1 times. The following simple though still slightly tedious explanation of the differences in MR acquisition techniques can be omitted, as long as it is remembered that these two overarching principles exist and are now both used extensively in clinical studies and in cardiac research on cardiac fibrosis. Different well-described cardio-myopathies display areas of LGE in different patterns. These patterns are often quite easily discernible laying the foundation for phenotypic classification of the cardio-myopathy of a patient presenting with HF. For example, a patient with ischemic cardiomyopathy will show subendocardial LGE, whereas a patient with myocarditis will show subepicardial LGE areas. The T1 mapping technique often complements the LGE technique and is increasingly used in the study of cardiomyopathies where only diffuse fibrosis is present but no discernible phenotypic pattern using the LGE technique may be present.

Tissue T1 Times

In general, the techniques rely on the fact that different tissues either naturally or after administration of a contrast will have different T1 times. Protons that are "flipped" by a radio-signal in the longitudinal magnetic field of an MRI scanner will return after the radio signal has ceased to their normal position with a tissuespecific T1 time. The duration of the T1 time will depend on the "ease" by which the protons are allowed to flip back, as the relative ease is related to how easily they are allowed to give up their heightened energy level to the surroundings. The recalibration of proton spins after the radio-frequency pulse has ceased quite closely follows an exponential function, and hence can be characterized by a time constant. The T1 time is the time after which the system has recalibrated approximately 63%. The T1 time length measures what is referred to as the longitudinal or "spin-lattice" (since it is mainly related to the protons interacting with the surroundings, in general referred to as the lattice) relaxation time. If the T1 time of a tissue can be determined (or if the difference between T1 times of different myocardial tissue samples is used to produce contrast in an image), it will bring about important information of the tissue composition and hopefully a quite precise phenotyping of the myocardium.

Gold-standard determination of T1 time is in theory interesting, but such a goldstandard determination is time-consuming, since it requires a large number of so-called inversion pulses. In general such a study may take more than 20 min. In 1970, however, Look and Locker proposed a method to measure T1 relaxation times quite closely to real T1 times by acquiring data successively after magnetization inversion with a relatively simple scheme. The scheme proposed by Look and Locker (1970) was much less time-consuming than the gold-standard technique and therefore suddenly made T1 determination of clinical relevance. The method originally suggested by Look and Locker has since been refined, and acquisition times have been shortened further. The latter is important for research and everyday clinical work since acquisitions will have to be performed during breath-holds (otherwise, diaphragmatic movements will make the heart move too much) and some patients with heart or pulmonary disease struggle with long breath-holds. Today a number of different pulse sequences exist that determine T1 time with short acquisition times. One of the most popular is the modified Look-Locker inversion recovery pulse sequence that allows measurement of T1 times in a single breath-hold over 17 successive heartbeats (Higgins and Moon 2014). This may still be too long for some elderly breathless patients to endure (i.e., this sequence will take 17 s at a heart rate of 60 bpm), and often variations are used with shortened breath-hold durations and reduced sensitivity to heart rate, such as the "5(3)3 scheme" (describing how many and how often during a heartbeat pulses are applied). The shortened MOLLI (ShMOLLI) scheme uses sequential inversion recovery measurements with a single breath-hold of only nine successive heartbeats and a conditional fitting algorithm to account for the short recovery period between inversion pulses. Such shortened schemes make T1 mapping useful in most patients from outpatient clinics.

Gadolinium Contrast

With T1 mapping phenotypically different areas of the heart are discerned by mapping of each voxel's (each cube of the myocardium) T1 time. T1 mapping is performed both without contrast ("native T1 mapping") and after administration of gadolinium contrast. It is important to maximize the difference between two adjacent (but phenotypically truly different) tissues and hence lower interrater discrepancy (noise). Significantly larger variations in T1 times between normal myocardium and fibrosed myocardium with increased ECV can be accomplished by the administration of a paramagnetic contrast, and in cardiovascular magnetic resonance imaging, gadolinium contrast is used. Two physicians, equally well-educated, will find it easier to agree (i.e., have lower interpersonal discordance) on an image where the fibrosed tissue stands out as "white on black" instead of on an image where fibrosed tissue is light gray than a normally slightly darker gray normal myocardium. Gadolinium is the most often used artificial contrast agent in cardiac magnetic resonance imaging. Gadolinium is administered in a chelated form and is contraindicated in patients with poor kidney function (e-GFR <30 ml/min/ 1.73 m²). Gadolinium is effectively a "T1 shortener," and important information can be obtained if the intravascular and intramyocardial behavior of gadolinium is taken into account. Within 8–10 min after intravenous administration of gadolinium, it will have washed through the normal myocardium, but will have diffused into the extracellular spatium of the myocardium and will take longer to diffuse out of this extracellular space again. Chelated gadolinium accumulates in and is slower to wash out of fibrotic areas, and fibrotic areas will therefore appear with a substantially shorter T1 time than normal myocardium after gadolinium administration. Often color-encoded T1 maps are generated in which the pixel (a square in the image) values represent the T1 in each voxel (a cube in the myocardium) rather than a signal intensity in arbitrary units. T1 maps can depict even relatively small variations of T1 within the heart muscle and thereby highlight tissue pathology. T1 mapping without
administration of gadolinium ("native" T1 mapping) is sensitive to myocardial edema, iron overload, and the presence of myocardial infarcts and scarring, but overall the significantly shortened T1 signal associated with gadolinium can be used to quantitate and image the extracellular space.

Myocardial Blood Flow Determination with CMR

If the first pass of gadolinium through the heart and myocardium is imaged with ultrafast MRI sequences, the temporary enhancement offered by gadolinium can be used to determine myocardial blood flow (Sørensen et al. 2020a, b). It is usually performed during rest and during pharmacological vasodilatation with adenosine (Fig. 2). On par with CMR, myocardial blood flow can also be assessed in DM with, for example, positron emission tomography, but CMR has the distinct advantage to other techniques in DM that it will in the same scan precisely quantitate two of the theoretical most prominent factors underlying diabetic cardiomyopathy: myocardial blood flow and myocardial fibrosis. Myocardial blood flow determination with CMR is considered a noninvasive reference standard on par with PET. Since CMR in the same scan quantifies these, and also heart and vascular function, a comprehensive CMR scan will in DM patients quantitate most relevant parameters for noninvasive evaluation of cardiovascular function.

Determination of the Extracellular Volume

Taking the difference between native and post-contrast T1 mapping into consideration, it is possible to determine the precise percentage of extracellular space of cardiac tissue (Arheden et al. 1999; Flett et al. 2010). This technique is built on the principle that at (near-)equilibrium after an infusion of gadolinium, the gadolinium concentration will be the same in serum, as it is in the extracellular space. Hence, the differences between the naive T1 signal (reflecting both intracellular and extracellular myocardial tissues (and blood)) and the post-contrast T1 signal (reflecting mainly extracellular myocardial tissue (and serum) since as said gadolinium is (temporarily) pooled extracellularly) will reflect the relative expansion of the ECV. The percentage of myocardial tissue taken up by the ECV can therefore be determined if only the hematocrit is known. This technique has the advantage that any systematic errors affecting the precise T1 signal should affect T1 mapping of myocardial tissue and blood to the same degree and hence level out such differences.

The Late Gadolinium Enhancement Technique

LGE technique images are produced from the relative difference between normal (myocardium without gadolinium accumulation) and fibrotic (myocardial tissue with excessive gadolinium concentration) areas by choosing a specific time point of imaging

where the normal myocardial will not show a signal whereas the LGE hyperenhanced areas will appear much brighter (usually such images will show fibrotic area as white areas or islands in the normal black myocardium) (Figs. 1 and 2). The precise time point



Fig. 1 One normal subject [1] and patients with typical ischemic late gadolinium hyperenhancement (LGE) lesions from previous myocardial infarcts [2, 3]. LV short-axis and long-axis images from the same patients. Normal myocardium appears black, whereas fibrotic areas appear white (white arrows). Ischemic lesions subendocardial/transmural, and in the area of ischemic LGE, there is thinning of the myocardium. (From Bojer et al. (2020a) (open access))



Fig. 2 Subendocardial scar visualized by late gadolinium enhancement (**a**) and coherent subendocardial perfusion defect visualized on perfusion sequence (**b**). (From Sørensen et al. (2020a)(open access))

after which an additional impulse is added after the initial is chosen from images produced with different repetition times based on the original Look-Locker sequence to make certain that at this repetition time, the signal from normal myocardium is "nulled" (i.e., does not display a signal). The difference hence mainly relates to the normal myocardium in LGE images, where often an abundant amount of fibrosis can be found that does not appear white in the white-on-black LGE images. This is visually pleasing to the eye and easily produces robust images of clinical importance. The T1 mapping images are actually equivalent, but now the nulled (black) normal tissue will demonstrate and quantitate the "shades of gray" (or whichever color coding is chosen).

CMR Determination of Fibrosis in Cardiomyopathies

LGE is now a reference standard for noninvasive imaging of myocardial scar and focal fibrosis in both ischemic and non-ischemic cardiomyopathies and makes up for a large fraction of clinical cases in clinical cardiac MRI. The method has a particular value in the differential diagnosis of ischemic versus non-ischemic cardiomyopathy based on the location and transmural extent of scar. Based upon specific LGE patterns in combination with phenotypic determination from film images, some of the non-ischemic cardiomyopathies can be further differentiated. This has recently become of particular interest in patients with DM since these patients often not only have concomitant IHD but have also recently been demonstrated to sometimes display quite specific non-ischemic lesions of importance for heart function not generally seen in other non-ischemic cardiomyopathies. DM is complex in the sense that in most patients, the cardiomyopathy is non-ischemic, i.e., not explained by significant underlying ischemic disease, but on the other hand DM is well-known to be associated with IHD and hence a significant number of patients will show both. LGE change as determined with CMR was early shown to precisely delineate histopathological changes in acute myocardial infarction, and has been demonstrated to reflect prognosis (Schelbert et al. 2015).

Ischemic Versus Non-ischemic Cardiomyopathy with LGE

In ischemic cardiomyopathy perfusion is significantly lowered and usually so in a pattern reflecting previous myocardial infarctions. With an abrupt cessation of the perfusion of a coronary artery, necrosis will initially manifest in the subendocardial part of the affected myocardial segment as a small LGE hyperenhancement. If the coronary artery is not re-perfused (with thrombolysis or percutaneous transluminal angioplasty), thereafter the subendocardial LGE hyperenhancement will spread laterally, and thereafter it will progress in a transmural fashion (Figs. 1 and 2). With time the segment will become akinetic, the LGE will become transmural, and the segment will in line with later fibrotic contraction become thinned. With dilated non-ischemic cardiomyopathy, often the mid-myocardial layers will become fibrosed with thin longitudinally running LGE changes. In hypertrophic

cardiomyopathy LGE changes can often be seen in the hypertrophied areas associated with disarrayed myocytes. In all these cardiomyopathies, the finding of LGE is associated with worse prognosis.

Extracellular Volume and Fibrosis in Diabetes by CMR

Myocardial scars (replacement fibrosis) have previously been documented in DM patients referred to CMR for clinical indications, but systematic studies on cohorts of unselected DM patients are still scarce, and findings of fibrotic areas in DM patients have been suggested to reflect silent coronary events (Kwong et al. 2008; Turkbey et al. 2011). Building on the knowledge from animal and previous pathophysiological studies in humans, DM, even if not significantly associated with ischemic heart disease, may be associated with lowered myocardial blood flow, significant diffuse fibrosis, and perhaps even islands of myocardial fibrosis not related to previous infarcts. CMR studies have now been undertaken to more precisely document LGE and myocardial blood flow changes in larger patient cohorts with T2DM not necessarily documented with previous cardiac disease. Zeng et al. (2017) in rabbits made diabetic with alloxan documented that T1 mapping quantitated induced myocardial diffuse fibrosis in DM well. Ng et al. (2012) documented that patients with T2DM may have diffuse myocardial fibrosis as evidenced with the T1 mapping technique. Consequently, imaging is now suggested to increase in patients with obesity and DM (diabesity) to help combat the increased burden of these (Ng et al. 2021).

Cardiac Fibrosis and Extracellular Volume in Patients with T2DM

One way to document the importance of fibrosis and the associated rarefaction of myocardial smaller vessels with subsequent myocardial hypoperfusion will be to CMR scan larger cohorts of patients with DM and follow them up in order to see the relative impact of the two on cardiac function and outcome. Bojer et al. (2020a) in a 264-pt. strong cohort of nonselected patients with T2DM as the first documented specific non-ischemic lesions with CMR. The cohort had increased echocardiographic markers of impaired LV relaxation but not yet dilated left atrium, and no patient was documented to have HF. 78.4% of these unselected T2DM patients had no LGE lesions, and 11.0% had ischemic LGE lesions (only approximately half of these had previously been suspected of ischemic heart disease) (Fig. 2). Of interest, however, a number of patients (9.5%) had LGE hyperenhancement lesions that were not subendocardial or transmural and hence could not be attributed to previous infarcts (1.1% of patients had both previous infarcts and non-ischemic lesions) (Fig. 3). Such non-ischemic LGE lesions were usually found in the mid-myocardium of the inferolateral basal segments of the LV. The LGE lesions were not as dense as the thoroughly fibrotic subendocardial lesions associated with previous myocardial infarction, and were associated with neither hypokinesis nor



Fig. 3 Four DM2 patients (**a**–**d**) with typical non-ischemic late gadolinium hyperenhancement (LGE) lesions with LV short-axis and long-axis images. Non-ischemic lesions are located mid-myocardial, basal and lateral, or inferolateral. In segments with non-ischemic LGE lesions, the myocardium remains thick. (From Bojer et al. (2020a) (open access))

thinning of the myocardial segment in question. With T1 mapping technique, it was documented that expansion of the ECV was often substantial in patients with T2DM (Bojer et al. 2020a; Sørensen et al. 2020a). In an age- and gender-matched cohort without DM, the ECV was 26.1 (SD 1.5) %, whereas as a group it was significantly higher in T2DM without LGE non-ischemic lesions at 28.8 (SD 2.7) % and even higher in patients with T2DM and LGE non-ischemic lesion at 30.4 (SD 3.1) % (Sørensen et al. 2020). The range was wide, and patients with concomitant IHD had ECV of 32.2 (SD 3.8) % as some patients could be found with ECV above 40% of the total myocardium.

Relation of Cardiac Fibrosis to Markers of Diastolic Function

In comparison with patients without LGE lesions, patients with non-ischemic LGE lesions had increased myocardial mass $(150 \pm 34 \text{ vs.} 133 \pm 33 \text{ g}; P = 0.02)$, increased left atrial volume, and increased biomarkers of myocardial stress (NT-proBNP (8.9 (5.9–19.7) vs. 5.9 (5.9–10.1) µmol/L; P = 0.02) and high-sensitive troponin (15.6 (13.0–26.1) vs. 13.0 (13.0–14.6) ng/L; P = 0.007)) (Bojer et al. 2020a). Whereas diabetic cardiomyopathy firstly and in most patients probably only affect diastolic measures of the heart, Bojer et al. (2020b) recently demonstrated that patients with an extracellular volume in the highest quartile (>31.4% of the myocardium) had a slightly lowered LVEF of 60 (SD 10) % in comparison with all patients with normal or less increased extracellular volume of 64 (SD 7) %. In line with most animal experiments where fibrosis has been seen, the fibrosis of the T2DM patients was significantly associated with echocardiographic signs of diastolic dysfunction (average E/e' at 9.9 (8.7–12.6) vs. 8.8 (7.4–10.7) in patients without;

P = 0.04) (Bojer et al. 2020a). The patients with non-ischemic LGE lesions had higher prevalence of retinopathy (48 vs. 25%, P = 0.009) and autonomic neuropathy (52 vs. 30.5%, P = 0.005) than the patients without such lesions. Taking the wellperformed animal and human autopsy studies into consideration, it is likely that this expansion of the ECV is related to the widespread combination of AEGs and fibrosis found in the myocardium of patients with DM. Further, it is probably so that the high ECV demonstrable with T1 mapping technique will eventually become so manifest as to be viewed as localized "islands of fibrosis" with the LGE technique.

Myocardial Blood Flow in T2DM

In the same cohort, Sørensen et al. (2020a, b, c) quantified myocardial blood flow with CMR, and myocardial blood flow was documented to be often severely lowered in DM. With precise CMR quantification of blood flow, blood flow is quantified both at rest and with maximal coronary vasodilatation (accomplished with intravenous adenosine; 140 microg/kg/min). Sørensen et al. (2020a, b, c) showed that in T2DM, the resting blood flow is elevated at 0.81 (SD 0.19) mL/min/g vs. 0.63 (SD 0.12) mL/min/g in normal age- and gender-matched subjects. On the other hand, the myocardial blood flow could be maximally increased with adenosine to only 2.41 (SD 0.90) mL/min/g in T2DM vs. 3.11 (SD 0.81) mL/min/g in normal subjects. The increased resting myocardial blood flow probably largely reflects the larger resting oxygen need of the heart in DM (where heart rate and systolic arterial blood pressure are higher). Thus, the possibility in T2DM to increase myocardial blood flow with stress is significantly hampered as reflected by a myocardial stress index (the ratio between maximally attainable and resting myocardial blood flow) of 5.1 (SD 1.5) in normal subjects but only 3.0 (SD 1.2) in patients with T2DM. Albuminuria and retinopathy were associated with reduced myocardial blood flow during stress in a multiple regression analysis (Fig. 4).

The Relation of Fibrosis to Myocardial Blood Flow

Of interest the maximally attainable myocardial blood flow and ECV covary inversely (R2 of 0.37; Fig. 5); i.e., the higher the extracellular volume fraction (the more fibrosis and AEGs), the lower the maximally attainable myocardial blood flow. Any discussion on causality is obviously made difficult by the fact that this is a cross-sectional study, and hence this covariation could in theory be seen with fibrosis leading to low myocardial blood flow, or low blood flow leading to abundant fibrosis, – or from T2DM being associated with more common factors influencing both to the same degree. Here the animal studies may be of some help. On the one hand, since histology studies have documented that fibrosis in T2DM is often centered around smaller myocardial arteries, it is likely that it is the "fibrotic sheets of the vessels" that limit the maximally attainable myocardial blood flow. On the other hand, it is equally likely that relative ischemia in situations of myocardial stress will contribute to even more



Fig. 4 Mean myocardial perfusion indexes with 95% confidence intervals according to the degree of albuminuria (top) and retinopathy (bottom) in 193 patients with T2DM and 25 normal age- and gender-matched controls. (From Sørensen et al. (2020a) (open access))

fibrosis. Both an increased ECV and myocardial hypoperfusion were associated with diastolic dysfunction, but as documented from animal studies, this may also have been from associated problems, for example, induction of the stiff isoform of titin. It is



Fig. 5 (a) MBF at rest and during stress in patients with T2DM and in control subjects. (b–d): MBF at rest and during stress in patients with type 2 diabetes with and without various diabetes complications: albuminuria (b), autonomic neuropathy (ANP) (c), and retinopathy (d). (e) Correlation between MBF during stress and myocardial ECV in patients with T2DM. (From Sørensen et al. (2020c) (open access))

likely, however, that addressing both myocardial hypoperfusion and expansion of the ECV will prove of value for improvement of diastolic problems. Thus, ischemia (that will be seen with myocardial stress once the maximally attainable myocardial blood flow is lowered significantly) is well-documented to influence the early (adenosine triphosphate-related) unwinding of the LV, and fibrosis must be expected to limit distension of the LV during diastasis.

Looking to the Future

Longitudinal Studies

With the present CMR data on notably myocardial blood flow and myocardial fibrosis and knowing full well from animal studies and pathology and mechanistic studies in humans how this should affect cardiac function, it is now important to establish their relative and precise importance for longer-term outcome in T2DM. Will myocardial hypoperfusion or fibrosis, or both, be of importance for long-term outcome in T2DM, or will they add little to prognosis besides what is already well-established from, for example, echocardiographic measures of diastolic dysfunction, myocardial hypertrophy, and measures of LV afterload (arterial blood pressure and conductance artery distensibility; Kyhl et al. 2021)? Having demonstrated the significant myocardial hypoperfusion seen in T2DM patients and the often significantly elevated extracellular volumes seen, it will now be important to conduct follow-up studies of these patients. It would be important to ascertain if increased fibrosis or lowered myocardial blood flow (or both) should be addressed in intervention studies.

CMR for Screening of DM Patients?

The possibility of CMR with determination of myocardial blood flow and fibrosis is shown to be of value for prediction of cardiovascular outcome; CMR scans may be considered for screening of patients with T2DM in the same way that such patients are routinely evaluated with respect to, for example, eye and kidney function. In this respect it would be important to link imaging findings to interventions. In this respect GLP1 receptor agonists and SGLT2 antagonists have attracted attention and are being evaluated in randomized CMR studies. Recently Bojer et al. (2021b) in a double-blind randomized CMR study documented that weight loss induced by the GLP1 receptor agonist liraglutide did not improve peak filling of the LV (a CMR parameter of LV filling; Bojer et al. 2021a) and hence cannot in the short term be expected to improve cardiac function in T2DM. Improvement of cardiac function – also in the short term – now seems of considerable higher interest with the SGLT2 antagonists that in randomized studies have proven of value for HF treatment in patients both with and without DM (Anker et al. 2021). Randomized mechanistic CMR studies are now ongoing to understand the not yet well-understood but apparently beneficial importance of increasing glucose excretion by the kidneys.

Validation of Serum Biomarkers of Fibrosis

Serum biomarkers of cardiac dysfunction have long been sought, since they obviously offer an immediate window to cardiac problems measured with few problems and potentially with a high degree of precision. The greatest success in biomarkers have been with serum biomarkers of myocardial necrosis, notably CKMB and troponin. Other biomarkers are used to reflect cardiac dysfunction, notably atrial and brain natriuretic peptides. Atrial natriuretic peptide is released from atria in response to increased atrial volume, and brain natriuretic peptide reflects ventricular dysfunction. Atrial natriuretic peptide is mainly used in research, whereas brain natriuretic peptide has been well-established to reflect cardiac dysfunction. Notably, however, brain natriuretic peptide is low in patients with diabesity probably related to the increased dispersion volume of obesity. Hence, in T2DM brain natriuretic peptide will increase in response to overt heart failure, but may not be expected to adequately reflect subclinical cardiac dysfunction. Biomarkers reflecting fibrosis and increased fibroblast activation are now vigorously sought to potentially determine established or ongoing fibrosis formation of the heart, and in patients with T2DM recently Sørensen et al. (2020b) linked a biomarker of fibroblast activation (fibroblast growth factor 23) to impaired cardiac diastolic function and lowered myocardial blood flow during adenosine stress (Fig. 6).

For serum biomarkers of myocardial small vessel disease and myocardial fibrosis, it is a fundamental problem that biomarkers under evaluation must still be expected to suffer from being biomarkers of, for example, all body fibrosis. Hence, increased values, currently being evaluated up against CMR-determined fibrosis, may reflect more widespread organ fibrosis and perhaps not only myocardial. Future studies will, if initial studies are confirmative of the possibility to reflect organ fibrosis by blood-borne biomarkers of fibrosis, be needed to seek out biomarkers with more specificity against the myocardium.

Applications to Prognosis

In this study the technique of magnetic resonance imaging of myocardial blood flow and myocardial fibrosis in diabetes mellitus has been reviewed. Animal studies and pathology studies and previous mechanistic studies in humans have demonstrated that myocardial hypoperfusion (not necessarily related to ischemic heart disease, i.e., atheromatosis of the coronary arteries) and myocardial fibrosis are important and prognostically important aspects of "diabetic cardiomyopathy" (stiff and thickened heart with poor diastolic function). Cross-sectional studies with magnetic resonance imaging have documented that myocardial hypoperfusion and myocardial fibrosis are indeed prevalent (and correlated) in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and that both affect diastolic function of the heart. These magnetic resonance imaging biomarkers are now applied in investigating prognosis in type 2 diabetes patients.



Fig. 6 Fibroblast growth factor 23 in 193 patients with T2DM receiving treatment with GLP1 analogues alone or in combination with other anti-diabetes medication compared to those who did not receive treatment with GLP1 analogues (**a**). Fibroblast growth factor 23 in patients with and without peripheral neuropathy (**b**). Correlation between fibroblast growth factor and myocardial perfusion reserve (MPR) (**c**) and fibroblast growth factor and E/e* as a measure of cardiac diastolic function (**d**). (From Sørensen et al. (2020c) (open access))

Key Facts of Diabetic Cardiomyopathy

- Diabetes mellitus is associated with a high number of different organ dysfunction, but the significantly lowered life span of a patient with diabetes is related to heart disease.
- Diabetes mellitus is associated not only with ischemic heart disease but also with a variant of a non-ischemic cardiomyopathy (i.e., not related to atherosclerosis of the coronary arteries or indeed previous myocardial infarctions) known as "diabetic cardiomyopathy."
- Features of diabetic cardiomyopathy include cardiac hypertrophy and diastolic dysfunction (cardiac dysfunction with impaired ease of filling of the LV and consequent increased end-diastolic pressure) but not necessarily systolic dysfunction.
- Diabetes patients with signs of heart failure would therefore often be described as having "heart failure with preserved ejection fraction," the precise underlying cause of which is not well-described.
- The cardiac hypertrophy in diabetes is related to the often accompanying arterial hypertension, but the profound metabolic derangement associated with type 2 diabetes mellitus may set the scene for a large range of myocardial changes.
- Animal studies describe vascular rarefaction and widespread fibrosis in the diabetic heart.

Key Facts of Cardiac Magnetic Resonance Imaging of Fibrosis

- Cardiovascular magnetic resonance imaging is a noninvasive technique with few contraindications and is therefore suitable for examination of cardiac function in patients with diabetes.
- With magnetic resonance imaging, cardiac function (including systolic and diastolic function) can be determined, and with the use of chelated gadolinium for contrast, myocardial blood flow and myocardial fibrosis can be determined, all in the same scan.
- Magnetic resonance imaging of myocardial blood flow and quantification of myocardial fibrosis are built on T1-weighted sequences. T1 is the time after with protons ("flipped" in the static magnetic field of the MR scanner by a radio-frequency pulse) have equilibrated 63%.
- The T1 time of a tissue in question will be influenced by its amount of fibrosis. The difference between normal and fibrotic myocardium can be maximized by the use of chelated gadolinium for contrast since chelated gadolinium (with a proper selection of scan time) will temporarily accumulate in fibrotic tissue and since gadolinium will significantly lower the T1 time.
- With magnetic resonance imaging, population studies can be performed documenting not only cardiac function but also quantitative measures of myo-cardial blood flow and fibrosis.
- Magnetic resonance imaging has now been used to document significantly lowered myocardial blood flow in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. In an unselected cohort of patients with type 2 diabetes, the perfusion index (ratio between the resting value and the maximally attainable value) will be lowered to approximately 3, whereas it is usually approximately 5.
- Magnetic resonance imaging has now documented significant diffuse fibrosis in a number of patients and in some patients (the patients with the highest values for extracellular volume (fibrosis) virtual islands of fibrosis.
- Such islands of fibrosis, not related to previous infarcts, are usually found in the mid-myocardium of the inferolateral and basal parts of the left ventricle, and are associated with particularly poor left ventricle diastolic dysfunction and probably represent myocardial areas of fibrosis previously described during autopsy studies in patients with diabetes mellitus, who had died from congestive heart disease but without signs of significant ischemic heart disease.

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

- Gadolinium The most often used artificial contrast used for cardiovascular magnetic resonance imaging studies. Gadolinium is effectively a "T1 shortener," and vessels or myocardium containing gadolinium will in appropriate images therefore appear bright ("hyperenhanced").
- Heart failure with preserved ejection fraction Heart failure with a preserved ejection fraction, i.e., heart failure symptoms despite an LVEF close to the normal of at least 55%.

- Heart failure with reduced ejection fraction Heart failure with an impaired left ventricle ejection fraction below 40% (normally above 55%).
- Myocardial blood flow The amount of blood traversing the heart muscle per minute per 100 g. The myocardial blood flow is determined from mathematical (Fermi) deconvolution of the myocardial first-pass perfusion signal by gadolinium contrast.
- **Myocardial extracellular volume** The volume of the myocardium not taken up by cardiomyocytes. It is normally around 26 (SD 1.5) % but may in T2DM increase >40% secondary to expansion by collagen, glycated hemoglobins, and water.
- **Myocardial fibrosis** Collagen in combination with glycated hemoglobin and water expanding the myocardial extracellular volume.

Summary Points

- Diabetes mellitus (both type 1 and type 2) is significantly associated with cardiomyopathy, which can be ischemic or non-ischemic.
- The non-ischemic variant of cardiomyopathy (known as "diabetic cardiomyopathy") is related to myocardial hypertrophy and vascular rarefaction with expansion of the extracellular volume by glycated hemoglobin and widespread diffuse fibrosis.
- Patients with DM and signs of cardiomyopathy are usually examined with echocardiography and possibly coronary CT/coronary angiography if significant coronary atheromatosis is suspected, but such techniques will not document the known underlying pathogenetic factors of myocardial hypoperfusion and myocardial fibrosis.
- With magnetic resonance imaging using gadolinium contrast, it is possible to noninvasively quantitate myocardial blood flow and myocardial fibrosis in the same study and obtain precise knowledge on cardiac and vascular function.
- In a cohort of patients with type 2 DM, resting myocardial blood flow is elevated (reflecting the increased pulse-pressure product of patients with DM), whereas the maximally attainable myocardial blood flow (with adenosine) is significantly lowered.
- In patients with T2DM, the vascular rarefaction results in an ability to increase myocardial blood flow only threefold during stress, whereas it is normally fivefold.
- In normal subjects as determined with T1 mapping technique, 25% of the myocardium is taken up by the extracellular volume, but in T2DM patients this fraction will increase, in a few patients to values >40%.
- In some patients with high extracellular volumes, virtual islands of fibrosis can be detected with the late gadolinium contrast technique.
- These areas probably reflect the fibrotic islands initially described by Rubler et al. (1972) in the pathology studies initially describing diabetic cardiomyopathy.

• Follow-up studies are now pursued in order to determine the relative importance of myocardial hypoperfusion and myocardial fibrosis in the prognosis of patients with T2DM.

References

- Anker SD, Butler J, Filippatos G, et al. Empagliflozin in heart failure with a preserved ejection fraction. N Engl J Med. 2021. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2107038. Online ahead of print.
- Ares-Carrasco S, Picatoste B, Benito-Martin A, et al. Myocardial fibrosis and apoptosis, but not inflammation, are present in long-term experimental diabetes. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2009;297:H2109–19.
- Arheden H, Saeed M, Higgins CB, et al. Measurement of the distribution volume of gadopentetate dimeglumine at echo-planar MR imaging to quantify myocardial infarction: comparison with 99mTc-DTPA autoradiography in rats. Radiology. 1999;211:698–708.
- Bertoni AG, Hundley WG, Massing, et al. Heart failure prevalence, incidence, and mortality in the elderly with diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2004;27:699–703.
- Biernacka A, Cavalera M, Wang J, et al. Smad3 signaling promotes fibrosis while preserving cardiac and aortic geometry in obese diabetic mice. Circ Heart Fail. 2015;8:788–98.
- Bojer AS, Sørensen MH, Vejlstrup N, et al. Distinct non-ischemic myocardial late gadolinium enhancement lesions in patients with type 2 diabetes. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2020a;19:184.
- Bojer AS, Sørensen MH, Gaede P, Madsen PL. Diastolic and systolic function of diabetic cardiomyopathy are affected by diffuse myocardial fibrosis: a cardiac MRI study. Abstract presented at the ESC congress 2020b.
- Bojer AS, Sørensen MH, Gaede P, et al. Left ventricular diastolic function studied with magnetic resonance imaging: a systematic review of techniques and relation to established measures of diastolic function. Diagnostics (Basel). 2021a;11:1282.
- Bojer AS, Sørensen MH, Bjerre J, et al. Metabolic improvement with short-term, glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonist treatment does not improve cardiac diastolic dysfunction in patients with type 2 diabetes: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2021b. https://doi.org/10.1111/dom.14480. Online ahead of print.
- Boonman-de Winter LJ, Rutten FH, Cramer MJ, et al. High prevalence of previously unknown heart failure and left ventricular dysfunction in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2012;55:2154–62.
- Cavalera M, Wang J, Frangogiannis NG. Obesity, metabolic dysfunction, and cardiac fibrosis: pathophysiological pathways, molecular mechanisms, and therapeutic opportunities. Transl Res. 2014;164:323–35.
- Cleland JG, Swedberg K, Follath FK, et al. The EuroHeart Failure Survey Programme: a survey on the quality of care among patients with heart failure in Europe, part 1: patient characteristics and diagnosis. Eur Heart J. 2003;24:442–63.
- Dei Cas A, Fonarow GC, Gheorghiade M, et al. Concomitant diabetes mellitus and heart failure. Curr Probl Cardiol. 2015;40:7–43.
- Falcao-Pires I, Hamdani N, Borbely A, et al. Diabetes mellitus worsens diastolic left ventricular dysfunction in aortic stenosis through altered myocardial structure and cardiomyocyte stiffness. Circulation. 2011;124:1151–9.
- Flett AS, Hayward MP, Ashworth MT, et al. Equilibrium contrast cardiovascular magnetic resonance for the measurement of diffuse myocardial fibrosis. Preliminary validation in humans. Circulation. 2010;122:138–44.
- Fredersdorf S, Thumann C, Ulucan C, et al. Myocardial hypertrophy and enhanced left ventricular contractility in Zucker diabetic fatty rats. Cardiovasc Pathol. 2004;13:11–9.
- From AM, Leibson CL, Bursi F, et al. Diabetes in heart failure: prevalence and impact on outcome in the population. Am J Med. 2006;119:591–9.

- Gaede P, Vedel P, Larsen N, et al. Multifactorial intervention and cardiovascular disease in patients with type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2003;348:383–93.
- Greenberg BH, Abraham WT, Albert NM, et al. Influence of diabetes on characteristics and outcomes in patients hospitalized with heart failure: a report from the Organized Program to Initiate Lifesaving Treatment in Hospitalized Patients with Heart Failure (OPTIMIZE-HF). Am Heart J. 2007;154:277.e1–277. [published correction appears in Am Heart J. 2007;154:646].
- Haider B, Yeh CK, Thomas G, et al. Influence of diabetes on the myocardium and coronary arteries of rhesus monkey fed an atherogenic diet. Circ Res. 1981;49:1278–88.
- Higgins DM, Moon JC. Review of T1 mapping methods: comparative effectiveness including reproducibility issues. Curr Cardiovasc Imaging Reports. 2014;7:9252.
- Huynh K, Kiriazis H, Du XJ, et al. Coenzyme Q10 attenuates diastolic dysfunction, cardiomyocyte hypertrophy and cardiac fibrosis in the db/db mouse model of type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2012;55:1544–53.
- Jia G, DeMarco VG, Sowers JR. Insulin resistance and hyperinsulinaemia in diabetic cardiomyopathy. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2016;12:144–53.
- Jørgensen PG, Biering-Sørensen T, Møgelvang R, et al. Predictive value of echocardiography in Type 2 diabetes. EHJ Cardiovasc Imaging. 2019;20:687–93.
- Kannel WB. Framingham study insights on diabetes and cardiovascular disease. Clin Chem. 2011;57:338–9.
- Kannel WB, McGee DL. Diabetes and cardiovascular disease. The Framingham study. JAMA. 1979;241:2035–8.
- Kawaguchi M, Techigawara M, Ishihata T, et al. A comparison of ultrastructural changes on endomyocardial biopsy specimens obtained from patients with diabetes mellitus with and without hypertension. Heart Vessel. 1997;12:267–74.
- Kwong RY, Sattar H, Wu H, et al. Incidence and prognostic implication of unrecognized myocardial scar characterized by cardiac magnetic resonance in diabetic patients without clinical evidence of myocardial infarction. Circulation. 2008;118:1011–20.
- Kyhl K, von Huth S, Bojer A, et al. Conductance artery stiffness impairs atrio-ventriculo-arterial coupling before manifestation of arterial hypertension or left ventricular hypertrophic remodelling. Sci Rep. 2021;11:14467.
- Look DC, Locker DR. Time saving in measurement of NMR and EPR relaxation times. Rev Sci Instrum. 1970;41:250.
- Lundbaek K. Diabetic angiopathy: a specific vascular disease. Lancet. 1954;266:377-9.
- Lundbaek K. Is there a diabetic cardiopathy? In: Schettler G, editor. Pathogenetische faktoren des myokardinfarkts. Stuttgart: Schattauer; 1969. p. 63–71.
- Ng AC, Auger D, Delgado V, et al. Association between diffuse myocardial fibrosis by cardiac magnetic resonance contrast-enhanced T(1) mapping and subclinical myocardial dysfunction in diabetic patients: a pilot study. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging. 2012;5:51–9.
- Ng ACT, Delgado V, Borlaug BA, et al. Diabesity: the combined burden of obesity and diabetes on heart disease and the role of imaging. Nat Rev Cardiol. 2021;18:291–304.
- Nichols GA, Gullion CM, Koro CE, et al. The incidence of congestive heart failure in type 2 diabetes: an update. Diabetes Care. 2004;27:1879–84.
- Nunoda S, Genda A, Sugihara N, et al. Quantitative approach to the histopathology of the biopsied right ventricular myocardium in patients with diabetes mellitus. Heart Vessel. 1985;1:43–7.
- Obokata M, Reddy YNV, Pislaru SV, et al. Evidence supporting the existence of a distinct obese phenotype of heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. Circulation. 2017;136:6–19.
- Regan TJ, Lyons MM, Ahmed SS, et al. Evidence for cardiomyopathy in familial diabetes mellitus. J Clin Invest. 1977;60:884–99.
- Regan TJ, Wu CF, Yeh CK, et al. Myocardial composition and function in diabetes. The effects of chronic insulin use. Circ Res. 1981;49:1268–77.
- Rubler SJ, Dlugash YZ, Yuceoglu T, et al. New type of cardiomyopathy associated with diabetic glomerulosclerosis. Am J Cardiol. 1972;30:595–602.

- Sandesara PB, O'Neal WT, Kelli HM, et al. The prognostic significance of diabetes and microvascular complications in patients with heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. Diabetes Care. 2018;41:150–5.
- Schelbert EB, Piehler KM, Zareba KM, et al. Myocardial fibrosis quantified by extracellular volume is associated with subsequent hospitalization for heart failure, death, or both across the spectrum of ejection fraction and heart failure stage. J Am Heart Assoc. 2015;4:e002613.
- Scheuermann-Freestone M, Madsen PL, Manners D, et al. Abnormal cardiac and skeletal muscle energy metabolism in patients with type 2 diabetes. Circulation. 2003;107:3040–6.
- Shen X, Bornfeldt KE. Mouse models for studies of cardiovascular complications of type 1 diabetes. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2007;1103:202–17.
- Shindler DM, Kostis JB, Yusuf S, et al. Diabetes mellitus, a predictor of morbidity and mortality in the studies of left ventricular dysfunction (SOLVD) trials and registry. Am J Cardiol. 1996;77: 1017–20.
- Sørensen MH, Bojer AS, Broadbent DA, et al. Cardiac perfusion, structure, and function in type 2 diabetes mellitus with and without diabetic complications. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2020a;21:887–95.
- Sørensen MH, Bojer AS, Jørgensen NR, et al. Fibroblast growth factor-23 is associated with imaging markers of diabetic cardiomyopathy and anti-diabetic therapeutics. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2020b;19:158.
- Sørensen MH, Bojer AS, Pontoppidan JRN, et al. Reduced myocardial perfusion reserve in type 2 diabetes is caused by increased perfusion at rest and decreased maximal perfusion during stress. Diabetes Care. 2020c;43:1285–92.
- Thrainsdottir IS, Aspelund T, Thorgeirsson G, et al. The association between glucose abnormalities and heart failure in the population-based Reykjavik study. Diabetes Care. 2005;28:612–6.
- Turkbey EB, Backlund JY, Genuth S, et al. Myocardial structure, function, and scar in patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus. Circulation. 2011;124:1737–46.
- van Heerebeek L, Hamdani N, Handoko ML, et al. Diastolic stiffness of the failing diabetic heart: importance of fibrosis, advanced glycation end products, and myocyte resting tension. Circulation. 2008;117:43–51.
- Zeng M, Qiao Y, Wen Z, et al. The association between diffuse myocardial fibrosis on cardiac magnetic resonance T1 mapping and myocardial dysfunction in diabetic rabbits. Sci Rep. 2017;7:44937.



Measures of Endothelial Function in Type 2 **Diabetes: A Focus on Non-circulatory Methods of Measurement**

Caroline Wei Shan Hoong

Contents

Introduction 8	850
Noncirculatory Measures of Endothelial Function 8	851
Venous Occlusion Plethysmography (VOP)	852
Flow-Mediated Dilatation	854
Peripheral Artery Tonometry (PAT)	856
Aortic Pulse Wave Velocity (PWV)	856
Laser Doppler Flowmetry (LDF)	859
Skin Autofluorescence (SAF)	860
Applications to Diabetes	860
Mini-dictionary of Terms 8	861
Key Facts of Endothelial Dysfunction in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus 8	861
Summary Points 8	861
References 8	862

Abstract

The endothelium is a vital organ important for regulating vascular homeostasis. Endothelial dysfunction in type 2 diabetes has been linked to the development of micro- and macrovascular complications. In particular, its association with the onset of cardiovascular events has prompted the development of numerous methodologies to evaluate endothelial function. This chapter describes the noncirculatory methods of measurement of endothelial dysfunction, such as venous occlusion plethysmography, flow-mediated dilatation, peripheral artery tonometry, aortic pulse wave velocity, and laser Doppler flowmetry. We discuss their applicability and evidence for use in T2DM. Flow-mediated dilatation and pulse wave velocity are currently among the most widely used and validated techniques for cardiovascular risk stratification in patients with T2DM, as they correlate with

849

C. W. S. Hoong (\boxtimes)

Division of Endocrinology, Department of Medicine, Woodlands Health, Singapore, Singapore e-mail: caroline hoong@whc.sg

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), Biomarkers in Diabetes, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications,

glycemic control and cardiovascular risk factors. Main disadvantages of these vasomotor techniques are the need for a skilled technician, operating time, and physiological variation, limiting them currently to the research setting.

Keywords

Endothelial dysfunction · Diabetes · Sheer stress · Vasomotor function · Cardiovascular events · Flow-mediated dilatation · Peripheral artery tonometry · Reactive hyperemia · Pulse wave velocity · Augmentation index · Laser Doppler flowmetry

A	bk	ore	via	itio	ns
A	bk	ore	via	itio	ns

AGEs	Advanced glycation end products
AIx	Augmentation index
AP	Augmentation pressure
BMI	Body mass index
cfPWV	Carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity
EPC	Endothelial progenitor cell
ESRF	End-stage renal failure
FMD	Flow-mediated dilatation
LDF	Laser Doppler flowmetry
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
NO	Nitric oxide
PAT	Peripheral artery tonometry
PP	Pulse pressure
PU	Perfusion unit
PWA	Pulse wave amplitude
PWV	Pulse wave velocity
RHI	Reactive hyperemia index
SAF	Skin autofluoresescence
SGLT2	Sodium-glucose cotransporter-2
T2DM	Type 2 diabetes mellitus
VOP	Venous occlusion plethysmography

Introduction

The vascular endothelium plays an important role in maintenance of vascular homeostasis, regulating vascular tone, angiogenesis, and coagulation. Endothelial dysfunction is characterized by an impairment of these physiological functions, predisposing to vascular inflammation, atherosclerosis, and end-organ damage (Avogaro et al. 2011).

Endothelial dysfunction is well-recognized to occur in both type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), contributing to their micro- and macrovascular complications and multisystemic involvement. The pathogenesis is complex – ranging

Methodology	Noninvasive
	Easy to perform
	Objective
	Standardized
	Cost-effective
Results	Reproducible
	Accurate
	Valid reference ranges
Utility	Aids prognostication of vascular diseases
	Adds incremental value over traditional risk factors
	Reversible with intervention for monitoring of therapy
	Predicts risk sufficiently to change recommended therapy
	Improves clinical outcomes

 Table 1
 Characteristics of the ideal technique for measurement of endothelial function

from hyperglycemia-induced oxidative stress, endothelial cell apoptosis, and defective endothelial progenitor cell (EPC) mobilization and survival (Fiorentino et al. 2013; McClung et al. 2005; Menegazzo et al. 2012). Present at an early stage of T2DM, endothelial dysfunction has also been observed with prediabetes and the insulin-resistant state preceding the onset of diabetes and development of frank hyperglycemia (Wasserman et al. 2018). In contrast, younger adults with type 1 diabetes have preserved endothelial function till much later on in the progression of disease (Heier et al. 2018).

Endothelial dysfunction is characterized by a reduced bioavailability of vasodilators and an increase in endothelium-derived contraction factors, resulting in a loss of endothelium-mediated vaso-relaxation in response to sheer stress and pharmacodynamic stimulation (Bonetti et al. 2003). This chapter aims to describe the noncirculatory methods of measurement of endothelial function and discuss their clinical utility in T2DM. An ideal technique for measurement of endothelial function should be noninvasive, reproducible, accurate, easy to perform, standardized, costeffective, can be objectively measured, have valid reference ranges, correlates with the prognosis of vascular diseases, improves risk stratification above current traditional risk factors, is reversible with intervention, predicts risk sufficiently to change recommended therapy, and improves clinical outcomes (Table 1) (Flammer et al. 2012; Vlachopoulos et al. 2015). As such, the ideal technique should be able to guide the clinician toward adequate primary or secondary prevention of vascular disease.

Noncirculatory Measures of Endothelial Function

Endothelium-dependent vasomotion is a widely used method for assessment of endothelial function. An impaired vasomotor response was first demonstrated by Ludmer et al. in 1986 by the demonstration of paradoxical acetylcholine-induced vasoconstriction as measured by coronary angiography in subjects with coronary atherosclerosis (Ludmer et al. 1986). This led to interest in the measurement of

coronary endothelial function as a manifestation of atherosclerosis, by various techniques including the use of intravascular ultrasound and quantitative coronary angiography to image coronary vasoactive reactivity (Puri et al. 2013), as well as the measurement of coronary blood flow during maximal coronary hyperemia with provocative stimuli (Stoller and Seiler 2017; Díez-delhoyo et al. 2015).

These techniques are primarily limited by their invasive nature, rendering them inappropriate in the asymptomatic patient without clinical indication for coronary angiography. Less invasive techniques have since been derived to assess the vascular function in peripheral vascular beds, in particular the forearm circulation, and their use has been extended beyond coronary artery disease (CAD) to the evaluation of a multitude of diseases involving macrovascular and microvascular dysfunction. As the assessment of coronary endothelial function in CAD is not the intended focus of our discussion, more detailed attention will be given to peripheral techniques of assessing endothelial function in T2DM, given its multisystemic involvement. Importantly, these less invasive tests involving the peripheral circulation (usually the brachial artery and forearm circulation) have been found to correspond to the coronary endothelial function and are both predictive of cardiovascular disease (Takase et al. 1998; Takase et al. 2005; Matsuzawa et al. 2015). Table 2 gives a summary of a comparison of noncirculatory measures of endothelial function.

Standardization of environmental conditions and adequate subject preparation are important for the reproducible measures of vasomotor function, since many factors such as food, exercise, caffeine, alcohol, menstrual status, temperature, drugs, and mental stress may affect measurements (Keogh et al. 2005; D'Urzo et al. 2018). Hence, guidelines recommend that subjects should be fasted for >6 h, avoid exercise for >24 h, refrain from alcohol and caffeine for >12 h, and avoid smoking for >6 h (Thijssen et al. 2019). Subjects should be supine and relaxed for >10–15 min in a quiet temperature-controlled room. If drugs are taken, a time off the medication of 4 times the half-life of the drug is recommended (Thijssen et al. 2019), particularly if they are known to interfere with vascular function, for example, nitrates, calcium channel blockers, metformin, and SGLT2 inhibitors (Velmurugan et al. 2016; Oshima et al. 2005; Hamidi Shishavan et al. 2017; Zainordin et al. 2019).

Venous Occlusion Plethysmography (VOP)

One of the oldest methods to study human vascular physiology, VOP, is based on the principle of forearm volume increase when venous outflow from the arm is interrupted while arterial inflow continues. The hands are excluded from the circulation by inflation of a wrist cuff 50 mmHg above systolic blood pressure, as blood flow to the hands has different physiology from forearm blood flow, and comprise of multiple arteriovenous shunts through the skin (Whitney 1953). The study is performed with subjects supine and relaxed at ambient temperature of 22–26 °C in order to keep arterial perfusion pressure constant, with the forearm positioned above the level of the heart. Venous return is occluded by an upper arm cuff which inflates to 40 mmHg (above venous pressure but below diastolic pressure), for ten intervals

Technique	Vascular bed	Advantages	Disadvantages
Venous occlusion plethysmography	Forearm vasculature	Easy access Well-validated Allows local infusion of vasoactive medications for study of dose-dependency Reproducible if setup is controlled	Semi-invasive Significant inter-subject variability Lack of standardized methodology Time-consuming
Flow-mediated dilatation	Brachial artery	Noninvasive Reproducible Accurate Availability of standardized protocol Many CV outcome studies	Steep operator learning curve Technically challenging Poor reproducibility if not performed in a standardized manner Relatively expensive
Peripheral artery tonometry	Finger microvasculature	Noninvasive Simple to perform Less operator- dependent Automated Reproducible Some CVV outcome studies	Less well-established PAT signal can be influenced by variable nonendothelial-dependent factors Single-use probes required
Pulse wave velocity	Large conduit artery usually aorta	Noninvasive Relatively simple to perform Reproducible Accurate Well-validated Many CV outcome studies	Need to expose groin for cfPWV Many different sites of measurement
Laser doppler flowmetry	Skin microvasculature	Noninvasive Simple	Relatively expensive Sensitive to movement artifacts Steep operator learning curve Not solely indicative of endothelial function, also represents global microvascular response

 Table 2
 Comparison of noncirculatory measures of endothelial function

followed by 5 s of deflation for emptying of forearm veins (Wilkinson and Webb 2001). Strain gauges around the forearm detect changes in forearm volume by a change in electrical resistance in response to arm circumference change. Flow is usually expressed in milliliters per 100 ml volume of forearm per minute (Benjamin et al. 1995) and reflects the contractile tone of the vascular smooth muscle. This is compared to the contralateral arm which acts as a control, in response to local infusion of vasoactive substances into the brachial artery. The technique is still

considered minimally invasive but is generally well tolerated since the infusion of substances takes place some distance away from the coronary vasculature.

After a period of forearm ischemia, reactive hyperemia occurs as demonstrated by a surge in forearm blood flow which then gradually returns to baseline. Forearm blood flow can be used to calculate forearm vascular resistance; however, this assumes laminar blood flow and may be misleading if baseline blood pressure differs between subjects, as blood pressure differences affect smooth muscle contraction. Expressing data as percentage change in ratio of forearm blood flow in infused versus control arms can overcome the challenges of between group comparisons for good reproducibility (Benjamin et al. 1995).

Previously considered the gold standard for the study of vascular endothelial function, VOP is impractical in the clinical setting and has largely been replaced by noninvasive methods such as flow-mediated dilatation (FMD) which is now more widely used.

Flow-Mediated Dilatation

Sheer stress induced by an increase in blood flow after a period of ischemia acts on the endothelium to result in FMD via the release of nitric oxide (NO). FMD is measured by high resolution B-mode ultrasound imaging of the diameter change of a conduit artery, typically the brachial artery (Fig. 1). The brachial artery is occluded by a blood pressure cuff situated above the antecubital fossa which is inflated usually to \geq 50 mmHg above systolic pressure (or between 200 and 300 mmHg) for 5 min. Its release induces reactive hyperemia, reflected by an increase in blood flow and sheer stress. FMD is expressed as the change in diameter after stimulation at approximately 60–180 s post cuff deflation as a percentage of baseline prior to cuff inflation (Barac et al. 2007; Thijssen et al. 2019). This endothelium-dependent vasodilatation due to sheer stress, largely mediated by nitric oxide, is distinct from endothelium-independent smooth muscle-mediated vasodilatation, for example, induced by sublingual nitroglycerin.

Ideally, a conduit vessel diameter between 2.5–5 mm would give the best accuracy and reproducibility with imaging. Vessels too small have large percentage changes in diameter despite only small absolute measurement changes, overestimating endothelial function, while vessels too large do not dilate significantly even with normal endothelial function. Alternative conduit arteries that can be studied include the femoral and radial arteries if the brachial artery is unsuitable. If lower limb arteries are used, it is important to consider that peak dilatation may occur later than 180 s postcuff deflation (Thijssen et al. 2008). Variations of FMD with the cuff position either distal or proximal to the imaged artery have been used, which were no different in their prognostic value for cardiovascular events (Matsuzawa et al. 2015).

The main advantage of this method is its noninvasive nature. Furthermore, FMD has shown accuracy even at submillimeter readings and is highly reproducible. However, strict experimental conditions need to be standardized to limit within-subject variability. If performed carefully, the overall coefficient of variation is 1.8%,



Fig. 1 Flow-mediated dilatation: longitudinal section of the brachial artery in 2D-mode. The graph shows the diameter of the artery at baseline (**a**), during 5 min of cuff inflation (**b**), and vasodilation during reactive hyperemia (**c**). (From "Endothelial dysfunction in cardiovascular disease and Flammer syndrome – similarities and differences" by Barthelmes et al. 2017, licensed under CC BY 4.0 (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/))

with significant day-to-day variation but little between weeks or months (Sorensen et al. 1995). Since its development in 1992 (Celermajer et al. 1992), FMD has become the most commonly used method to evaluate vascular endothelial function noninvasively. Practice guidelines have been developed by the American College of Cardiology in 2002 (Corretti et al. 2002) and the European Society of Cardiology in 2019 (Thijssen et al. 2019) for standardization to reduce intraoperator variability.

Another advantage lies in its rapid response with intervention, allowing the study of these pharmacological agents in the treatment of endothelial dysfunction (Charakida et al. 2010). For example, some glucose-lowering agents including metformin, sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 (SGLT2) inhibitors, and thiazolidinediones have shown improvement in endothelial function using FMD (Shigiyama et al. 2017; Stojanović et al. 2016; Romualdi et al. 2008). However, whether these translate to clinical outcomes need to be further evaluated. FMD has been

extensively studied to be associated with established cardiovascular risk factors including diabetes, smoking, and hypertension, as well as existing cardiovascular disease. Meta-analyses have linked impaired brachial FMD with the development of future cardiovascular events (Inaba et al. 2010; Xu et al. 2014). However, the evidence for the incremental value of FMD above estimation by traditional cardiovascular risk factors, for example, the Framingham risk score, is conflicting and has not been well-established (Yeboah et al. 2009; Park et al. 2014; Peters et al. 2012). Furthermore, FMD measurements require significant specialized training; hence, currently its use is primarily confined to the research setting.

Peripheral Artery Tonometry (PAT)

PAT, also known as finger plethysmography, is an alternative noninvasive measure of endothelial function developed in 2003 (Kuvin et al. 2003). Like FMD, PAT is also based on the principal of reactive hyperemia after transient arterial occlusion. The PAT measures the beat-to-beat arterial pulse wave amplitude (PWA) at the fingertip (Fig. 2). A finger probe on the distal index finger applies a uniform pressure of 70 mmHg to avoid venous pooling which can induce reflex vasoconstriction. One probe is sited on the arm undergoing hyperemia testing and another on the contralateral arm. The reactive hyperemia index (RHI) is the average PWA for 1 min occurring 60 s after the onset of reactive hyperemia, divided by the average PWA at baseline preocclusion, and normalized against that from the contralateral arm (Kuvin et al. 2003).

Compared to FMD, PAT is seen to be more simplified, less technically challenging, requiring less training to perform and is less operator-dependent (Kuvin et al. 2003). Like FMD, RHI obtained by PAT correlates with cardiovascular risk factors and is predictive of cardiovascular events (Kuvin et al. 2003; Matsuzawa et al. 2015). However, results on FMD and PAT are not directly interchangeable and appear to measure distinct aspects of cardiovascular risk (Fukumoto et al. 2021; Hamburg et al. 2011). This may reflect the different circulations assessed – FMD measures macrovascular endothelial function of conduit arteries, while PAT examines the microvascular endothelial response of the peripheral resistance arteries. It is hypothesized that different vascular beds of various vessel sizes may have different physiological response to ischemia or differing sensitivity to early damage by specific cardiovascular risk factors, for example, FMD is more sensitive to risk factors such as age, smoking, and hypertension while RHI is more sensitive to body mass index (BMI) and diabetes (Hamburg et al. 2011).

Aortic Pulse Wave Velocity (PWV)

Aortic PWV is widely used as a measure of arterial stiffness, which is an early marker of arterial remodeling (Segers et al. 2020). PWV, expressed in m/s, is determined by dividing the distance between two sites along a vascular segment



Fig. 2 Peripheral artery tonometry: PWA recordings. PAT at baseline (green), during cuff occlusion and during reactive hyperemia (red): (a) Healthy individual with no cardiovascular risk factors showing a steady-state PAT signal, complete disappearance of the signal during cuff inflation, followed by an increased PAT signal during recovery (hyperemia); (b) individual with CAD showing a blunted finger PAT response during reactive hyperemia; and (c) PAT recording from the contralateral finger not undergoing reactive hyperemia testing in the same patient with CAD. (From "Assessment of peripheral vascular endothelial function with finger arterial pulse wave amplitude" by Kuvin et al. 2003 with permission)

by the time taken for the pulse waveform to transit between these two sites (speed = distance/time). The higher the PWV, the greater the degree of arterial stiffness, since waves travel faster in a rigid tube with a loss of compliance. Increased PWV has been shown to correlate inversely with endothelial function as measured by FMD (McEniery et al. 2006; Jadhav and Kadam 2005). However, arterial stiffness is not synonymous with endothelial function and limited studies have used PWV to assess endothelial dysfunction. To assess endothelial function, PWV can be combined with pharmacological stimuli such as inhaled salbutamol, with a blunted augmentation index (AIx) response observed in subjects with endothelial dysfunction (Stoner et al. 2012; Wilkinson et al. 2002; Hayward et al. 2002).

AIx is calculated from the proportion of augmentation pressure (AP) divided by the central pulse pressure (PP) (Fig. 3). This represents the proportion of central PP that is attributed to the arterial reflected wave, which is not only a measure of arterial stiffness but also reflects the diameter and elasticity of small arteries and arterioles. This indicates



Fig. 3 Aortic pulse pressure waveform. Augmentation index is defined as the augmentation pressure as a percentage of the pulse pressure. (From "Assessments of Arterial Stiffness and Endothelial Function Using Pulse Wave Analysis" by Stoner et al. 2012, licensed under CC BY 3.0 (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/))

abnormalities of the microcirculation including calcification of small arterioles and impaired endothelium-mediated dilatation (Soga et al. 2008). AIx is influenced by vasoactive drugs independently of PWV (Kelly et al. 2001). AIx increases with age and also varies with mean arterial pressure, body height, and heart rate, so these factors should be corrected for prior to interpretation (Stoner et al. 2012). AIx can also be directly measured by applanation tonometry at the common carotid artery, where a greater AIx is a predictor of cardiovascular mortality in end-stage renal failure (ESRF) patients, even in patients with normal PWV (London et al. 2001).

In T2DM however, AIx may be less valuable in predicting cardiovascular outcomes, due to the preferential stiffening of central over peripheral arteries (Kimoto et al. 2003; Wu et al. 2016). As AIx is a ratio of AP to PP, a greater PP due to central stiffening may result in normal AIx in T2DM despite the presence of generalized arterial stiffening and endothelial dysfunction (Zhang et al. 2011).

Various locations for aortic PWV measurements can be obtained, most commonly not only from the carotid to femoral artery (cfPWV), but also branchial-ankle, aortic root-descending artery, ascending aorta-femoral, finger-toe, or heart-femoral arteries. Arterial pulse waveforms can be detected by applanation tonometry, ultrasound doppler, cuff-based oscillometry, or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) (Cavalcante et al. 2011; Wilkinson et al. 2020). PWV has been shown to be accurate, reproducible, well-validated, and noninvasive (Sutton-Tyrrell et al. 2001). Importantly, aortic PWV has been established to be an independent predictor of cardiovascular events and all-cause mortality (Vlachopoulos et al. 2010; Hametner et al. 2021), with prognostic value above and beyond the traditional Framingham risk score, especially in younger individuals with intermediate cardiovascular risk (Ben-Shlomo et al. 2014; Wilkinson et al. 2020). A PWV reduction of 1 m/s is associated with an adjusted relative risk of 0.71 for all-cause mortality (Guerin et al. 2001). Its ability to predict cardiovascular events and mortality was also demonstrated in patients with diabetes and glucose intolerance (Cruickshank et al. 2002; Gajdova et al. 2017). In T2DM, increased aortic stiffness is also associated with microvascular complications (Cardoso et al. 2009; Kim et al. 2012).

The simplicity of use and operator-dependence is dependent upon the sites used, for example, carotid-femora is easier to image than ascending aorta-femoral location (Sutton-Tyrrell et al. 2001), and brachial-ankle PWV is simpler than cfPWV despite its limitations (Sugawara and Tanaka 2015). The method is relatively easy to use, with accurate readings easily performed after a short learning period. A methodological consensus has been published for the measurement of cfPWV (Van Bortel et al. 2012), which remains the most well-validated method, with a value >10 m/s representing higher cardiovascular risk in the latest European Society of Cardiology hypertension guidelines (Williams et al. 2018). Despite its evidence for prognostication, the authors conclude that it is not practical enough to be recommended for routine clinical use (Williams et al. 2018).

Laser Doppler Flowmetry (LDF)

LDF is a noninvasive method of assessing alterations in the microvascular function of the skin, which is postulated to reflect systemic vascular dysfunction early in the development of cardiovascular disease (Holowatz et al. 2008). LDF is based on the change in wavelength of light when it is reflected by moving red blood cells in the microvasculature. Measurements are expressed as flux, in perfusion units (PU) or millivolts (1PU = 10 mV). LDF probes can be placed on the medial aspect of the forearm on intact skin.

This can be measured before and after stimulation, for example, by postocclusive hyperemia induced by brief arterial occlusion with a cuff placed on the upper arm. Unlike in other vascular beds, endothelial-derived factors such as nitric oxide and prostaglandins do not play an important vasodilatory role in cutaneous reactive hyperemia, but rather this is dependent on sensory nerves and calcium-activated potassium channels (Lorenzo and Minson 2007; Zhao et al. 2004). Hence, cutaneous reactive hyperemia as measured by LDF may represent a complex microvascular response which may not be entirely endothelium-dependent.

LDF in combination with intradermal administration of acetylcholine by iontophoresis has also been studied, involving the local transfer of charged substances across the skin with a weak electric current to induce endothelium-dependent vasodilatation. This method is said to be better for assessing cutaneous microcirculatory endothelial function than reactive hyperemia (Rossi et al. 2004) and has been found to correlate well with FMD (Debbabi et al. 2010). Local thermal hyperemia has been shown to be impaired in diabetes (Fuchs et al. 2016); however, this may be more reflective of damage to the neurogenic cutaneous vasodilator rather than endothelial dysfunction (Wick et al. 2006; Stansberry et al. 1999).

Currently, clinical use of LDF in diabetes is limited by a lack of measurement standardization, variability in parameters used leading to low reproducibility, significant intrasubject variability, differences in devices used, need for special data processing software, and a highly qualified operator (Barac et al. 2007; Kulikov et al. 2017). Like other techniques of assessing vasomotor responses, it is also prone to fluctuations in experimental conditions and subject positioning.

Skin Autofluorescence (SAF)

The measurement of cutaneous advanced glycation end products (AGEs) by SAF is a noncirculatory measure of endothelial function that is detailed in the next chapter under AGEs.

Applications to Diabetes

Individuals with diabetes have impaired endothelial function. In the hyperglycemic state, there is impaired metabolic homeostasis that results in chronic inflammation, oxidative stress, procoagulability, and impaired vascular repair, inciting proatherosclerotic changes to the vessel wall (Xu and Zou 2009). This is evidenced by reduced vascular reactivity as measured by VOP, FMD, and PAT, and increased arterial stiffness as measured by PWV (Petrofsky et al. 2005; Clarkson et al. 1996; Mori et al. 2019; Elias et al. 2017). FMD and PWV are among the most widely used and validated techniques for cardiovascular risk stratification in patients with T2DM (Villano et al. 2020; Naka et al. 2012; Cruickshank et al. 2002). The disadvantage of FMD and PAT is the need for a skilled technician, limiting these techniques currently to the research setting.

Importantly, cfPWV correlates with glycemic control, with improvement in arterial stiffness observed in individuals who attained better glycemic control, together with improvements in blood pressure and heart rate (Ferreira et al. 2015). In patients with well-controlled T2DM, FMD and serum NO levels were higher, highlighting the importance of glycemic control on endothelial function (Kotb et al. 2012). Furthermore, FMD tertile is an independent predictor of the presence of significant coronary artery stenosis in patients with poor glycemic control but not for those with glucose-lowering agents and exercise (Shigiyama et al. 2017; Stojanović et al. 2016; Romualdi et al. 2008; Sugiyama et al. 2018; Baier et al. 2021; Dawson et al. 2013). The clinical implications are that interventions that lead to improved endothelial function as evidenced by aortic de-stiffening or improved vasoreactivity may be associated with reduced morbidity or mortality in T2DM.

The availability of multiple methods which address various aspects of endothelial physiology allows for a thorough approach for assessing endothelial function in T2DM. Although these techniques correlate with CV risk and some have been validated for CV risk stratification, their main disadvantage relates to the labor-intensiveness and need for standardized protocols for each analysis, preventing wide-spread clinical use.

Mini-dictionary of Terms

- Augmentation index. Ratio of augmentation pressure over pulse pressure, indicating proportion of central pulse pressure that is attributed to the arterial reflected wave. This reflects arterial stiffness as well as the diameter and elasticity of small arteries and arterioles.
- Flow-mediated dilatation. A noninvasive measure of endothelial function based on endothelium-dependent vasodilatation induced by increased sheer stress after a period of arterial occlusion in the forearm.
- Laser Doppler flowmetry. A noninvasive assessment of skin microvascular function, based on the change in wavelength of light when it is reflected by moving red blood cells.
- **Pulse wave velocity**. The speed of an arterial waveform as it transits across an arterial segment, indicating the degree of arterial stiffness and remodeling.
- **Reactive hyperemia**. The transient increase in blood flow that occurs following a brief period of ischemia induced by arterial occlusion. This reflects peripheral microvascular function.
- Skin autofluorescence. A noninvasive biomarker of cumulative skin-advanced glycation end products. It serves as an indicator of glycemic stress and correlates with diabetes-associated vascular complications.

Key Facts of Endothelial Dysfunction in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus

- Endothelial dysfunction is a state of systemic endothelial activation characterized by impaired endothelium-dependent vasodilatation.
- This also represents a procoagulatory, proinflammatory, and proatherogenic profile that serves as a marker of increased cardiovascular risk.
- T2DM is associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular disease, which may be attributed to endothelial dysfunction as an early step in this pathogenic process.
- Hyperglycemia induces adverse effects on vascular biology, leading to oxidative stress, apoptosis, vascular injury, and impaired vasomotor responses.
- In patients with T2DM, halting or reversing endothelial dysfunction may be a critical target for preventing the onset of atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease.

Summary Points

- Endothelial dysfunction, well-recognized to occur in T2DM, is characterized by a loss of endothelium-mediated vaso-relaxation in response to sheer stress and pharmacodynamic stimulation.
- Venous occlusion plethysmography is one of the earliest methods of assessing endothelium-dependent vasomotion but is limited by its semi-invasiveness and time-consuming setup.

- Flow-mediated dilatation is a widely utilized noninvasive method of assessing endothelial function, which has shown good accuracy and reproducibility, and correlates well with cardiovascular outcomes. However, standardized environmental conditions and subject preparation need to be adhered to.
- Peripheral artery tonometry is an alternative noninvasive measure of endothelial function also based on the concept of reactive hyperemia, often seen to be more simple and less technically challenging than FMD. However, FMD and PAT results are not interchangeable and may reflect the different circulations – for example, macrovascular versus microvascular endothelial function of conduit versus peripheral resistance arterioles, respectively.
- Aortic pulse wave velocity and augmentation index indicate a degree of arterial stiffness, which correlates inversely with endothelial function.
- Laser doppler flowmetry assesses a complex cutaneous microvascular response which may not be entirely endothelium-dependent. The technique is currently limited by a lack of standardization leading to low reproducibility.

References

- Avogaro A, Albiero M, Menegazzo L, et al. Endothelial dysfunction in diabetes: the role of reparatory mechanisms. Diabetes Care. 2011;34(Suppl 2):S285–90.
- Baier JM, Funck KL, Vernstrøm L, et al. Low physical activity is associated with impaired endothelial function in patients with type 2 diabetes and controls after 5 years of follow-up. BMC Endocr Disord. 2021;21(1):189.
- Barac A, Campia U, Panza JA. Methods for evaluating endothelial function in humans. Hypertension. 2007;49(4):748–60.
- Barthelmes J, Nägele MP, Ludovici V, et al. Endothelial dysfunction in cardiovascular disease and Flammer syndrome-similarities and differences. EPMA J. 2017;8(2):99–109.
- Benjamin N, Calver A, Collier J, et al. Measuring forearm blood flow and interpreting the responses to drugs and mediators. Hypertension. 1995;25(5):918–23.
- Ben-Shlomo Y, Spears M, Boustred C, et al. Aortic pulse wave velocity improves cardiovascular event prediction: an individual participant meta-analysis of prospective observational data from 17,635 subjects. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2014;63(7):636–46.
- Bonetti PO, Lerman LO, Lerman A. Endothelial dysfunction: a marker of atherosclerotic risk. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2003;23(2):168–75.
- Cardoso CRL, Ferreira MT, Leite NC, et al. Microvascular degenerative complications are associated with increased aortic stiffness in type 2 diabetic patients. Atherosclerosis. 2009;205(2): 472–6.
- Cavalcante JL, Lima JAC, Redheuil A, et al. Aortic stiffness: current understanding and future directions. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011;57(14):1511–22.
- Celermajer DS, Sorensen KE, Gooch VM, et al. Non-invasive detection of endothelial dysfunction in children and adults at risk of atherosclerosis. Lancet. 1992;340(8828):1111–5.
- Charakida M, Masi S, Lüscher TF, et al. Assessment of atherosclerosis: the role of flow-mediated dilatation. Eur Heart J. 2010;31(23):2854–61.
- Chen S, Shen Y, Liu Y-H, et al. Impact of glycemic control on the association of endothelial dysfunction and coronary artery disease in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2021;20(1):64.
- Clarkson P, Celermajer DS, Donald AE, et al. Impaired vascular reactivity in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus is related to disease duration and low density lipoprotein cholesterol levels. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1996;28(3):573–9.

- Corretti MC, Anderson TJ, Benjamin EJ, et al. Guidelines for the ultrasound assessment of endothelial-dependent flow-mediated vasodilation of the brachial artery: a report of the International Brachial Artery Reactivity Task Force. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2002;39(2):257–65.
- Cruickshank K, Riste L, Anderson SG, et al. Aortic pulse-wave velocity and its relationship to mortality in diabetes and glucose intolerance: an integrated index of vascular function? Circulation. 2002;106(16):2085–90.
- D'Urzo KA, King TJ, Williams JS, et al. The impact of menstrual phase on brachial artery flowmediated dilatation during handgrip exercise in healthy premenopausal women. Exp Physiol. 2018;103(2):291–302.
- Dawson EA, Green DJ, Cable NT, et al. Effects of acute exercise on flow-mediated dilatation in healthy humans. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2013;115(11):1589–98.
- Debbabi H, Bonnin P, Ducluzeau PH, et al. Noninvasive assessment of endothelial function in the skin microcirculation. Am J Hypertens. 2010;23(5):541–6.
- Díez-delhoyo F, Gutiérrez-Ibañes E, Loughlin G, et al. Coronary physiology assessment in the catheterization laboratory. World J Cardiol. 2015;7(9):525–38.
- Elias MF, Crichton GE, Dearborn PJ, et al. Associations between type 2 diabetes mellitus and arterial stiffness: a prospective analysis based on the Maine-Syracuse study. Pulse (Basel). 2017;5(1–4):88–98.
- Ferreira MT, Leite NC, Cardoso CRL, et al. Correlates of aortic stiffness progression in patients with type 2 diabetes: importance of glycemic control: the Rio de Janeiro Type 2 Diabetes Cohort Study. Diabetes Care. 2015;38(5):897–904.
- Fiorentino TV, Prioletta A, Zuo P, et al. Hyperglycemia-induced oxidative stress and its role in diabetes mellitus related cardiovascular diseases. Curr Pharm Des. 2013;19(32):5695–703.
- Flammer AJ, Anderson T, Celermajer DS, et al. The assessment of endothelial function. Circulation. 2012;126(6):753–67.
- Fuchs D, Dupon PP, Schaap LA, et al. The association between diabetes and dermal microvascular dysfunction non-invasively assessed by laser Doppler with local thermal hyperemia: a systematic review with meta-analysis. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2016;16(1):11.
- Fukumoto K, Takemoto Y, Norioka N, et al. Predictors of the effects of smoking cessation on the endothelial function of conduit and digital vessels. Hypertens Res. 2021;44(1):63–70.
- Gajdova J, Karasek D, Goldmannova D, et al. Pulse wave analysis and diabetes mellitus. A systematic review. Biomed Pap Med Fac Univ Palacky Olomouc Czech Repub. 2017;161(3): 223–33.
- Guerin AP, Blacher J, Pannier B, et al. Impact of aortic stiffness attenuation on survival of patients in end-stage renal failure. Circulation. 2001;103(7):987–92.
- Hamburg NM, Palmisano J, Larson MG, et al. Relation of brachial and digital measures of vascular function in the community: the Framingham heart study. Hypertension. 2011;57(3):390–6.
- Hametner B, Wassertheurer S, Mayer CC, et al. Aortic pulse wave velocity predicts cardiovascular events and mortality in patients undergoing coronary angiography. Hypertension. 2021;77(2): 571–81.
- Hamidi Shishavan M, Henning RH, van Buiten A, et al. Metformin improves endothelial function and reduces blood pressure in diabetic spontaneously hypertensive rats independent from glycemia control: comparison to vildagliptin. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):10975.
- Hayward CS, Kraidly M, Webb CM, et al. Assessment of endothelial function using peripheral waveform analysis: a clinical application. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2002;40(3):521–8.
- Heier M, Espeland CN, Brunborg C, et al. Preserved endothelial function in young adults with type 1 diabetes. PLoS One. 2018;13(10):e0206523.
- Holowatz LA, Thompson-Torgerson CS, Kenney WL. The human cutaneous circulation as a model of generalized microvascular function. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2008;105(1):370–2.
- Inaba Y, Chen JA, Bergmann SR. Prediction of future cardiovascular outcomes by flow-mediated vasodilatation of brachial artery: a meta-analysis. Int J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2010;26(6):631–40.
- Jadhav UM, Kadam NN. Non-invasive assessment of arterial stiffness by pulse-wave velocity correlates with endothelial dysfunction. Indian Heart J. 2005;57(3):226–32.

- Kelly RP, Millasseau SC, Ritter JM, et al. Vasoactive drugs influence aortic augmentation index independently of pulse-wave velocity in healthy men. Hypertension. 2001;37(6):1429–33.
- Keogh JB, Grieger JA, Noakes M, et al. Flow-mediated dilatation is impaired by a high-saturated fat diet but not by a high-carbohydrate diet. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2005;25(6):1274–9.
- Kim WJ, Park C-Y, Park SE, et al. The association between regional arterial stiffness and diabetic retinopathy in type 2 diabetes. Atherosclerosis. 2012;225(1):237–41.
- Kimoto E, Shoji T, Shinohara K, et al. Preferential stiffening of central over peripheral arteries in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes. 2003;52(2):448–52.
- Kotb NA, Gaber R, Salah W, et al. Relations among glycemic control, circulating endothelial cells, nitric oxide, and flow mediated dilation in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes. 2012;120(8):460–5.
- Kulikov DA, Glazkov AA, Kovaleva YA, et al. Prospects of laser Doppler flowmetry application in assessment of skin microcirculation in diabetes. Diabetes Mellitus. 2017;20(4):279–85.
- Kuvin JT, Patel AR, Sliney KA, et al. Assessment of peripheral vascular endothelial function with finger arterial pulse wave amplitude. Am Heart J. 2003;146(1):168–74.
- London GM, Blacher J, Pannier B, et al. Arterial wave reflections and survival in end-stage renal failure. Hypertension. 2001;38(3):434–8.
- Lorenzo S, Minson CT. Human cutaneous reactive hyperaemia: role of BKCa channels and sensory nerves. J Physiol. 2007;585(Pt 1):295–303.
- Ludmer PL, Selwyn AP, Shook TL, et al. Paradoxical vasoconstriction induced by acetylcholine in atherosclerotic coronary arteries. N Engl J Med. 1986;315(17):1046–51.
- Matsuzawa Y, Kwon T-G, Lennon RJ, et al. Prognostic value of flow-mediated vasodilation in brachial artery and fingertip artery for cardiovascular events: a systematic review and metaanalysis. J Am Heart Assoc. 2015;4(11):e002270.
- McClung JA, Naseer N, Saleem M, et al. Circulating endothelial cells are elevated in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus independently of HbA(1)c. Diabetologia. 2005;48(2):345–50.
- McEniery CM, Wallace S, Mackenzie IS, et al. Endothelial function is associated with pulse pressure, pulse wave velocity, and augmentation index in healthy humans. Hypertension. 2006;48(4):602–8.
- Menegazzo L, Albiero M, Avogaro A, et al. Endothelial progenitor cells in diabetes mellitus. Biofactors. 2012;38(3):194–202.
- Mori H, Okada Y, Kawaguchi M, et al. A study of the vascular endothelial function in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and rheumatoid arthritis. Intern Med. 2019;58(10):1383–90.
- Naka KK, Papathanassiou K, Bechlioulis A, et al. Determinants of vascular function in patients with type 2 diabetes. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2012;11:127.
- Oshima T, Ozono R, Yano Y, et al. Beneficial effect of T-type calcium channel blockers on endothelial function in patients with essential hypertension. Hypertens Res. 2005;28(11):889–94.
- Park K-H, Han SJ, Kim H-S, et al. Impact of Framingham risk score, flow-mediated dilation, pulse wave velocity, and biomarkers for cardiovascular events in stable angina. J Korean Med Sci. 2014;29(10):1391–7.
- Peters SAE, den Ruijter HM, Bots ML. The incremental value of brachial flow-mediated dilation measurements in risk stratification for incident cardiovascular events: a systematic review. Ann Med. 2012;44(4):305–12.
- Petrofsky J, Lee S, Cuneo M. Effects of aging and type 2 diabetes on resting and post occlusive hyperemia of the forearm; the impact of rosiglitazone. BMC Endocr Disord. 2005;5(1):4.
- Puri R, Nicholls SJ, Nissen SE, et al. Coronary endothelium-dependent vasoreactivity and atheroma volume in subjects with stable, minimal angiographic disease versus non–ST-segment–elevation myocardial infarction. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging. 2013;6(5):674–82.
- Romualdi D, Costantini B, Selvaggi L, et al. Metformin improves endothelial function in normoinsulinemic PCOS patients: a new prospective. Hum Reprod. 2008;23(9):2127–33.
- Rossi M, Ricco R, Carpi A. Spectral analysis of skin laser Doppler blood perfusion signal during cutaneous hyperemia in response to acetylcholine iontophoresis and ischemia in normal subjects. Clin Hemorheol Microcirc. 2004;31(4):303–10.

- Segers P, Rietzschel ER, Chirinos JA. How to measure arterial stiffness in humans. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2020;40(5):1034–43.
- Shigiyama F, Kumashiro N, Miyagi M, et al. Effectiveness of dapagliflozin on vascular endothelial function and glycemic control in patients with early-stage type 2 diabetes mellitus: DEFENCE study. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2017;16(1):84.
- Soga J, Nakamura S, Nishioka K, et al. Relationship between augmentation index and flowmediated vasodilation in the brachial artery. Hypertens Res. 2008;31(7):1293–8.
- Sorensen KE, Celermajer DS, Spiegelhalter DJ, et al. Non-invasive measurement of human endothelium dependent arterial responses: accuracy and reproducibility. Br Heart J. 1995;74(3):247–53.
- Stansberry KB, Peppard HR, Babyak LM, et al. Primary nociceptive afferents mediate the blood flow dysfunction in non-glabrous (hairy) skin of type 2 diabetes: a new model for the pathogenesis of microvascular dysfunction. Diabetes Care. 1999;22(9):1549–54.
- Stojanović M, Prostran M, Radenković M. Thiazolidinediones improve flow-mediated dilation: a meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2016;72(4):385–98.
- Stoller M, Seiler C. Reactive myocardial hyperaemia for functional assessment of coronary stenosis severity. EuroIntervention. 2017;13(2):e201–9.
- Stoner L, Young JM, Fryer S. Assessments of arterial stiffness and endothelial function using pulse wave analysis. Int J Vasc Med. 2012;2012:903107.
- Sugawara J, Tanaka H. Brachial-ankle pulse wave velocity: myths, misconceptions, and realities. Pulse (Basel). 2015;3(2):106–13.
- Sugiyama S, Jinnouchi H, Kurinami N, et al. The SGLT2 inhibitor dapagliflozin significantly improves the peripheral microvascular endothelial function in patients with uncontrolled type 2 diabetes mellitus. Intern Med. 2018;57(15):2147–56.
- Sutton-Tyrrell K, Mackey RH, Holubkov R, et al. Measurement variation of aortic pulse wave velocity in the elderly. Am J Hypertens. 2001;14(5):463–8.
- Takase B, Uehata A, Akima T, et al. Endothelium-dependent flow-mediated vasodilation in coronary and brachial arteries in suspected coronary artery disease. Am J Cardiol. 1998;82(12):1535–9, A7–8.
- Takase B, Hamabe A, Satomura K, et al. Close relationship between the vasodilator response to acetylcholine in the brachial and coronary artery in suspected coronary artery disease. Int J Cardiol. 2005;105(1):58–66.
- Thijssen DHJ, Dawson EA, Black MA, et al. Heterogeneity in conduit artery function in humans: impact of arterial size. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2008;295(5):H1927–34.
- Thijssen DHJ, Bruno RM, van Mil ACCM, et al. Expert consensus and evidence-based recommendations for the assessment of flow-mediated dilation in humans. Eur Heart J. 2019;40(30): 2534–47.
- Van Bortel LM, Laurent S, Boutouyrie P, et al. Expert consensus document on the measurement of aortic stiffness in daily practice using carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity. J Hypertens. 2012;30(3):445–8.
- Velmurugan S, Gan JM, Rathod KS, et al. Dietary nitrate improves vascular function in patients with hypercholesterolemia: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study123. Am J Clin Nutr. 2016;103(1):25–38.
- Villano A, Mencarelli E, Melita V, et al. Endothelial dysfunction and cardiovascular outcome in asymptomatic patients with type 2 diabetes: a pilot study. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2020;36(1): e3215.
- Vlachopoulos C, Aznaouridis K, Stefanadis C. Prediction of cardiovascular events and all-cause mortality with arterial stiffness: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2010;55(13):1318–27.
- Vlachopoulos C, Xaplanteris P, Aboyans V, et al. The role of vascular biomarkers for primary and secondary prevention. A position paper from the European Society of Cardiology Working Group on peripheral circulation: endorsed by the Association for Research into Arterial Structure and Physiology (ARTERY) Society. Atherosclerosis. 2015;241(2):507–32.

- Wasserman DH, Wang TJ, Brown NJ. The vasculature in prediabetes. Circ Res. 2018;122(8): 1135–50.
- Whitney RJ. The measurement of volume changes in human limbs. J Physiol. 1953;121(1):1-27.
- Wick DE, Roberts SK, Basu A, et al. Delayed threshold for active cutaneous vasodilation in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2006;100(2):637–41.
- Wilkinson IB, Webb DJ. Venous occlusion plethysmography in cardiovascular research: methodology and clinical applications. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2001;52(6):631–46.
- Wilkinson IB, Hall IR, MacCallum H, et al. Pulse-wave analysis: clinical evaluation of a noninvasive, widely applicable method for assessing endothelial function. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2002;22(1):147–52.
- Wilkinson IB, Mäki-Petäjä KM, Mitchell GF. Uses of arterial stiffness in clinical practice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2020;40(5):1063–7.
- Williams B, Mancia G, Spiering W, et al. 2018 ESC/ESH guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension: the task force for the management of arterial hypertension of the European Society of Cardiology and the European Society of Hypertension. J Hypertens. 2018;36(10): 1953–2041.
- Wu S, Zhou Y, Li Y, et al. Type 2 diabetes compromises the value of non-invasively measured augmentation index in predicting the severity of coronary artery disease: a hospital-based observational study. BMC Cardiovasc Disord. 2016;16(1):216.
- Xu J, Zou M-H. Molecular insights and therapeutic targets for diabetic endothelial dysfunction. Circulation. 2009;120(13):1266–86.
- Xu Y, Arora RC, Hiebert BM, et al. Non-invasive endothelial function testing and the risk of adverse outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2014;15(7):736–46.
- Yeboah J, Folsom AR, Burke GL, et al. Predictive value of brachial flow-mediated dilation for incident cardiovascular events in a population-based study: the multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis. Circulation. 2009;120(6):502–9.
- Zainordin NA, Hatta SFWM, Mohamed Shah FZ, et al. Effects of dapagliflozin on endothelial dysfunction in type 2 diabetes with established ischemic heart disease (EDIFIED). J Endocr Soc. 2019;4(1):bvz017.
- Zhang M, Bai Y, Ye P, et al. Type 2 diabetes is associated with increased pulse wave velocity measured at different sites of the arterial system but not augmentation index in a Chinese population. Clin Cardiol. 2011;34(10):622–7.
- Zhao JL, Pergola PE, Roman LJ, et al. Bioactive nitric oxide concentration does not increase during reactive hyperemia in human skin. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2004;96(2):628–32.



867

Measures of Endothelial Function in Type **42** 2 Diabetes: A Focus on Circulatory Biomarkers

Caroline Wei Shan Hoong

Contents

Introduction	869
Circulatory Biomarkers as Measures of Endothelial Function	869
Nitric Oxide Metabolites and Asymmetric Dimethylarginine (ADMA)	869
High-Sensitivity C-Reactive Protein (hsCRP)	871
Adhesion Molecules and Chemokines	872
Endothelial Progenitor Cells (EPC)	873
Endothelial Microparticles (EMP)	874
Advanced Glycosylation End Products	875
Endocan	877
External Counterpulsation (ECP) Therapy on Measures of Endothelial Function	877
Applications to Diabetes	878
Mini-Dictionary of Terms	879
Summary Points	880
References	880

Abstract

Endothelial dysfunction occurs early in the development of atherosclerosis and predicts the development of cardiovascular events in T2DM. The identification of patients with preclinical atherosclerosis allows for risk stratification and targeted intervention for primary prevention. The use of circulating biomarkers of endothelial function is a promising alternative for clinical use, in comparison to vasomotor techniques described in the previous chapter, which are more cumbersome and operator-dependent. This chapter describes the measurement of circulatory biomarkers of endothelial function and their evidence for use in T2DM. Of these, high-sensitivity CRP is currently the most utilized and validated serum biomarker for cardiovascular risk stratification, while other circulating

C. W. S. Hoong (🖂)

Division of Endocrinology, Department of Medicine, Woodlands Health, Singapore, Singapore e-mail: caroline hoong@whc.sg

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2_68

biomarkers such as asymmetric dimethylarginine, VCAM-1, ICAM-1, advanced glycosylation end products, circulating endothelial progenitor cells, endothelial microparticles, and endocan hold promise as novel biomarkers of different aspects of endothelial dysfunction in T2DM, provided their quantification can be standardized and validated. Lastly, we highlight the use of external counterpulsation as an example of a therapeutic modality that can be employed to modulate these measures of endothelial function.

Keywords

Endothelial dysfunction · Diabetes · Cardiovascular risk · Circulatory biomarkers · Nitric oxide · Asymmetric dimethylarginine · High-sensitivity CRP · Advanced glycosylation end products · Adhesion molecules · Endothelial progenitor cells · Endothelial microparticles · External counterpulsation

Abbreviations

ADMA	Asymmetric dimethylarginine
AGEs	Advanced glycation end products
Akt	Protein kinase B
AU	Arbitrary units
COX-2	Cyclooxygenase-2
ECP	External counterpulsation
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EMP	Endothelial microparticles
eNOS	Endothelial nitric oxide synthase
EPCs	Endothelial progenitor cells
ESRF	End-stage renal failure
ET-1	Endothelin-1
FMD	Flow-mediated dilatation
FoxO1	Forkhead box O1
HbA1c	Glycated hemoglobin
HPLC	High-performance liquid chromatography
hsCRP	High-sensitivity C-reactive protein
ICAM-1	Intracellular adhesion molecule-1
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide synthase
LC-MS	Liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry
MCP-1	Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1
NF-kB	Nuclear factor kappa B
NO	Nitric oxide
PWV	Pulse wave velocity
RAGE	Receptor for advanced glycation end products
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SAF	Skin autofluorescence
T2DM	Type 2 diabetes mellitus
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor-α
VCAM-1 Vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 VEGF Vascular endothelial growth factor

Introduction

Endothelial dysfunction predicts the development of cardiovascular events (Maruhashi et al. 2018). Its presence has also been observed patients without clinical atherosclerosis (Clarkson et al. 1997; Poredoš and Ježovnik 2015; Juonala et al. 2004) and correlates to the duration and progression of known cardiovascular risk factors (Clarkson et al. 1996; Hashimoto et al. 2021). As endothelial dysfunction occurs at an early stage in the atherosclerotic process, the identification of patients with preclinical disease allows for risk stratification and targeted intervention. Hence, the measurement of surrogate biomarkers of endothelial dysfunction have been of much research interest in recent years.

The previous chapter described the use of endothelial vasomotion, based on the principle of reactive hyperemia, as well as arterial stiffness and skin microvascular function as various representations of endothelium function. A broader functional assessment of the endothelium would encompass the study of endothelial-derived molecules which modulate other aspects of endothelial biology such as adhesion, inflammation, thrombosis, and repair. These circulating markers may complement the physiological vasomotor assessments of endothelial function. Furthermore, the simplicity of venous blood draw is an advantage over non-circulatory methods of assessment previously described which are far more labor-intensive. This chapter aims to describe the circulatory biomarkers as measures of endothelial function and discuss their clinical utility in type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM). Subsequently, we highlight external counterpulsation (ECP) as an example of a therapeutic modality that holds promise in the modulation of various non-circulatory as well as circulatory measures of endothelial function.

Circulatory Biomarkers as Measures of Endothelial Function

Nitric Oxide Metabolites and Asymmetric Dimethylarginine (ADMA)

Nitric oxide (NO) is a potent vasodilator derived from L-arginine and is one of the most important regulators of vascular tone. NO is produced by the activation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) by the effect of chemical agonists and shear stress on endothelial chemoreceptors and mechanoreceptors, respectively (Gutiérrez et al. 2013). Reduced NO bioavailability is one of the cardinal features of endothelial dysfunction, implicated in the upregulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and inflammatory cytokine production leading to the expression of adhesion molecules and activation of platelet adhesion and aggregation.

However, the measurement of NO is difficult because of its short half-life of a few seconds. It forms rapid chemical reactions with many biomolecules, for example,

nitrite and nitrate in the presence of oxygen (Csonka et al. 2015). Furthermore, circulating serum NO may not represent endothelial-derived NO in the vascular bed of interest, as eNOS-independent reduction of dietary or other endogenous sources of nitrates may also contribute (Csonka et al. 2015). Samples should be obtained in the fasted state, and careful preparation is required including blood deproteinization and reduction by the Griess reaction (Sun et al. 2003; Bryan and Grisham 2007; Metel'skaia and Gumanova 2005). Studies have quantified serum NO derivatives by high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), ultraviolet spectrophotometry or electrochemical methods (Möller et al. 2019), but results should be interpreted with caution, bearing in mind sampling conditions and preparation.

The NOS-NO pathway is complex – while eNOS (mainly expressed in endothelial cells and cardiomyocytes) constitutionally regulates vascular function in physiological states, transcription of inducible NO synthase (iNOS) is induced in pro-oxidative, pro-inflammatory states in cells ranging from endothelial cells. leucocytes, vascular smooth muscle cells, cardiomyocytes, and fibroblasts, which leads to pathological remodeling (Farah et al. 2018). In the absence of sufficient substrate L-arginine, cofactors and a suitable redox environment, NOS uncoupling occurs, leading to peroxynitrite and superoxide formation and oxidative stressinduced endothelial dysfunction (Varadharaj et al. 2015). In the clinical setting, serum NO metabolites have inconsistently been associated with cardiovascular outcomes (Bahadoran et al. 2019; Gumanova et al. 2017; Maas et al. 2017). Hence, the unlike in vitro quantification of NO in human endothelial cells stimulated from eNOS activity, prognostic interpretation of circulating serum NO metabolites on endothelial function and cardiovascular outcomes must take into account an iNOSinduced endogenous source of NO metabolites, accumulation in renal dysfunction, as well as exogenous exposure from diet and medication (Bahadoran et al. 2019).

Closely intertwined with the NO pathway is ADMA which acts as a circulating endogenous inhibitor of NO synthase by competing with L-arginine as the substrate, blocking the synthesis of NO for endothelial homeostasis. ADMA reduces endothelium-dependent vasodilatation and increases systemic vascular resistance (Achan et al. 2003). Its levels are inversely correlated with endothelial function as measured by flow-mediated dilatation (FMD) (Juonala et al. 2007). Elevated ADMA has been associated with carotid intima-media thickness, hypertension, peripheral artery disease, renal disease, and diabetic microvascular complications, and is postulated to lead to accelerated atherosclerosis (Bai et al. 2013; Yamagishi et al. 2008; Aldámiz-Echevarría and Andrade 2012; Gamil et al. 2020; Wilson et al. 2010).

In patients with T2DM, glucose-lowering therapy is associated with improvement in endothelium-dependent dilatation and a reduction in plasma ADMA levels (Yasuda et al. 2006; Asagami et al. 2002). Studies suggest that ADMA may be an important biomarker for the development of cardiovascular disease and all-cause mortality (Willeit et al. 2015; Zhou et al. 2017). As ADMA levels fall within a narrow range, good analytical precision is required to distinguish between normal and elevated (Tsikas 2008). HPLC is most often used but can be time consuming; enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) is faster but less reliable (Boelaert et al. 2016; Martens-Lobenhoffer et al. 2005). Even though reference ranges are now available (Németh et al. 2017), standardization of techniques are required before ADMA can be reliably used as a biomarker for routine clinical practice (Tain and Hsu 2017).

High-Sensitivity C-Reactive Protein (hsCRP)

As a central orchestrator of endothelial dysfunction and atherosclerosis, vascular inflammation facilitates the interactions between cell adhesion molecules, chemotactic proteins, macrophages, modified lipoproteins that incite damage to the arterial wall, and progression of atherosclerotic plaques. hsCRP has emerged as validated measure of cardiovascular inflammation and an independent predictor of cardiovascular events both for primary and secondary prevention (Ridker et al. 2008; Carrero et al. 2019; Emerging Risk Factors Collaboration [ERFC] et al. 2010; ERFC 2012). hsCRP can be measured with an inexpensive high-sensitivity assay, is readily available, and has an established use in clinical guidelines (Arnett et al. 2019).

However, evidence is inconsistent, with some studies reporting only little incremental value for the prediction of cardiovascular events in addition to conventional risk factors (Danesh et al. 2004; Wilson et al. 2005). As CRP is an acute-phase reactant, elevated levels may not always be specific for cardiovascular disease. Furthermore, in patients with diabetes, its predictive value for CV disease is more controversial (Best et al. 2005; Kengne et al. 2012; Biasucci et al. 2009), deserving further study. Current lipid guidelines suggest the use of hsCRP as a cardiovascular risk enhancer, with levels >2.0 mg/l favoring the initiation of moderate-intensity statin in those with intermediate cardiovascular risk (Grundy et al. 2019). Some experts suggest a higher CRP threshold for predicting adverse outcome in T2DM (Bertoluci and Rocha 2017). In the EXAMINE trial in T2DM patients, baseline hsCRP >3.0 mg/dl predicted the development of major adverse cardiovascular events (Fig. 1, Hwang et al. 2018).

CRP is not only a predictor of CV risk but also a modulator of the endothelial dysfunction (Verma et al. 2003a). It inhibits eNOS activity while upregulating endothelin-1 (ET-1) (Hein et al. 2009), facilitates endothelial cell apoptosis and the release of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1, and limits endothelial progenitor cell survival and differentiation (Chen et al. 2008; Verma et al. 2004). T2DM has been widely accepted to represent a state of low-grade systemic inflammation (Ziegler 2005; Duncan et al. 2003). The proatherogenic effects of CRP in endothelial cells are exaggerated in the hyperglycemic state (Verma et al. 2003b). In subjects with metabolic syndrome, hsCRP is associated with an increased risk of developing T2DM, and its levels correlate with the degree of beta-cell dysfunction and insulin resistance (Pfützner and Forst 2006).

In addition, endothelial dysfunction plays an important role in the microvascular complications of diabetes. In the kidneys, glomerular endothelial cells, afferent and efferent arterioles are targets of vascular inflammation in diabetic nephropathy (Cheng and Harris 2014). hsCRP levels predicts incident diabetic nephropathy and



Fig. 1 T2DM patients with hsCRP > 3 mg/l have the highest risk of cardiovascular events. Time to the primary endpoint (major cardiovascular events) according to baseline hsCRP in the EXAMINE trial. From "High-sensitivity C-reactive protein, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes in the EXAMINE (Examination of Cardiovascular Outcomes with Alogliptin versus Standard of Care) trial" by Hwang et al. (2018), licensed under CC BY-NC-ND 4.0 (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/)

correlates with the degree of microalbumin secretion and severity of nephropathy, as well as other metabolic parameters of cardiovascular risk in T2DM (Sinha et al. 2019; Shaheer et al. 2017).

Adhesion Molecules and Chemokines

Intracellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1), and E-selectin are adhesion molecules expressed by endothelial cells that are upregulated by cytokine activation. They facilitate the interaction between leucocytes and endothelial cells. Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) is a chemotactic cytokine produced by endothelial cells that mediate the activation of monocytes and T-cells and proliferation of vascular smooth muscle cells. These molecules contribute to vascular inflammation in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. Circulating levels of ICAM-1, VCAM-1, E-selectin, and MCP-1 can be measured in the serum and have been found to correlate with T2DM, metabolic syndrome, and development of cardiovascular disease (Chacón et al. 2007; Rubin et al. 2008; Hwang et al. 1997; Georgakis et al. 2019; Gregg et al. 2018; Rabkin et al. 2013; Song et al. 2007). Importantly, the predictive value of a raised MCP-1 for recurrent cardiovascular events is additionally prognostic over hsCRP levels (de Lemos et al. 2003; Blanco-Colio et al. 2021).

High glucose levels increase MCP-1 release, ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 expression, enhancing monocyte activation and interaction with the endothelium (Haubner et al.

2007; Luo et al. 2008; Ceriello et al. 1998). Hyperglycemia incites a series of metabolic activity within the cell that leads to the production of advanced glycation end products (AGEs) and ROS (Rhee and Kim 2018). AGEs disrupt glomerular homeostasis by inducing apoptosis of mesangial cells and stimulating MCP-1 and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) secretion, leading to glomerular hyperfiltration (Yamagishi and Matsui 2010). The role of MCP-1 in progression of diabetic nephropathy has been demonstrated in human and animal studies (Tesch 2008; Murea et al. 2012; Tilak et al. 2010). Urinary MCP-1 independently predicts the risk of deterioration in renal function over urinary protein/creatinine ratio in patients with diabetes (Tam et al. 2009). In addition, adhesion molecules VCAM-1, ICAM-1, E-selectin, and chemokine MCP-1 are implicated in the pathogenesis of other diabetic microvascular complications such as diabetic retinopathy (Taghavi et al. 2019; Noda et al. 2012); however, these studies are largely preclinical studies and derived from vitreous samples. The evidence for serum MCP-1 as a biomarker for diabetic retinopathy and neuropathy is sparse currently but appears promising (Ozturk et al. 2009; Mussa et al. 2021)). Serum VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 are also emerging as potential biomarkers for predicting the development of microvascular and macrovascular complications in patients with T2DM (Bruno et al. 2008; Jude et al. 2002; Liu et al. 2015; Hegazy et al. 2020).

Endothelial Progenitor Cells (EPC)

Endothelial function reflects the homeostasis between endothelial damage and repair. EPCs are derived from the bone marrow. As they have the capacity to differentiate into mature endothelial cells, EPCs provide a circulating pool which can be easily mobilized at sites of endothelial damage, proliferate, and repair vascular endothelium. The number of circulating EPCs hence represents endogenous reserves to maintain and restore endothelial function, correlating well with vascular function as measured by flow-mediated dilatation (Hill et al. 2003). EPCs are quantified by flow cytometry based on surface expression of CD34 and CD133, and the endothelial marker VEGF-receptor 2 (Fadini et al. 2012). Accumulating evidence point towards circulating EPC number and function as biomarkers of cardiovascular risk, independent of traditional risk factors (Rigato et al. 2016; Werner et al. 2005). As an indicator of endothelial dysfunction, reduced and/or dysfunctional circulating EPCs are associated with peripheral artery disease, CAD, heart failure, and ischemic stroke (Lee and Poh 2014; Zhao et al. 2019), as well as increased cardiovascular risk in conditions associated with chronic inflammation such as systemic lupus erythematosus, rheumatoid arthritis, and T2DM (Menegazzo et al. 2012; Kahlenberg et al. 2011; Adawi et al. 2018; Fadini et al. 2017).

T2DM is associated with reduced numbers and functional impairment of circulating EPCs, demonstrating reduced mobilization from the bone marrow, diminished capacity for proliferation, adhesion to activated endothelial cells, and integration into vascular structures (Tepper et al. 2002; van Ark et al. 2012; Westerweel et al. 2013). In addition, circulating EPC levels negatively correlate with glycemic control and degree of arterial stiffness (Yue and Lau 2011a). The reasons behind these observations are complex and multifactorial. A high glucose environment has been associated with triggering EPC apoptosis and enhancing senescence in vitro via the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase and NO-dependent mechanisms (Chen et al. 2007; Kuki et al. 2006), while retardation of EPC growth and differentiation is modulated by the protein kinase B (Akt)/forkhead box O1 (FoxO1) pathway (Marchetti et al. 2006). AGEs in a hyperglycemic state can also impair the migration and adhesion of EPCs (Li et al. 2012). Downregulation of EPCs in T2DM was paralleled by a reduction in sirtuin-1 levels in early EPCs, being more pronounced in those with poor glycemic control (Balestrieri et al. 2013). Inhibition of sirtuin-1 signaling has been linked to the vascular remodeling, inflammation, and endothelial dysfunction (Man et al. 2019).

Mechanisms are yet to be fully elucidated; despite this, evidence is compelling for the involvement of EPCs in the pathogenesis of endothelial dysfunction in diabetes. In patients with T2DM, circulating EPC count predicts microvascular outcomes of nephropathy, retinopathy, and neuropathy (Rigato et al. 2015). Furthermore, it is associated with peripheral vascular complications and development of long-term cardiovascular outcomes in T2DM (Fadini et al. 2005, 2017). The use of some antidiabetic medications such as metformin, sitagliptin, pioglitazone, and canagliflozin have been associated with a restoration of EPC number and function (Ahmed et al. 2016; Yu et al. 2019; Esposito et al. 2011; Nandula et al. 2021). Besides its use as a prognostic indicator in conditions associated with endothelial dysfunction, recent interest has developed in its potential for therapeutic intervention (Pyšná et al. 2019; Kundu et al. 2021). The emergence of EPC-based therapies in particular for diabetes-associated ischemic complications such as acute myocardial infarction or critical limb ischemia are reviewed elsewhere (Dubský et al. 2017; Terriaca et al. 2021).

Endothelial Microparticles (EMP)

Microparticles are small submicron membrane vesicles released from platelets, leucocytes, and endothelium during cellular stress (VanWijk et al. 2003). They are quantified in the blood by flow cytometry. In a recent meta-analysis, patients with T2DM were found to have higher levels of EMPs than patients without diabetes (Li et al. 2016). Release of EMPs can be induced by inflammatory cytokines, ROS, thrombin, and plasminogen activator inhibitor (Leroyer et al. 2010). Activated endothelial cells release EMPs into the circulation, which further promotes the progression of endothelial dysfunction by their pro-inflammatory, procoagulant, and proapoptotic effects (Deng et al. 2016). Hence, elevated circulating EMP levels reflect endothelial injury and serve as a surrogate measure of vascular dysfunction.

EMPs are not only bystanders but also mediators of vascular dysfunction. EMPs inhibit the release of endothelial NO when obtained from patients with end-stage renal failure (ESRF), but not from healthy controls (Amabile et al. 2005). EMPs from patients with diabetes and vascular complications induce vascular hypoactivity,

via the induction of pro-inflammatory proteins, inducible NO-synthase, cyclooxygenase-2, and nuclear factor kappa B (NF-kB) activation (Tesse et al. 2005). Furthermore, EMPs increase in parallel with endothelial dysfunction in patients with diabetes correlate negatively with flow-mediated dilatation and may identify diabetes patients at risk of cardiovascular disease (Feng et al. 2010; Koga et al. 2005). This makes it a potential biomarker for vascular risk in T2DM.

However, its use in routine clinical practice is limited by a lack of standardization in measurement, including control of pre-analytical factors such as blood collection, sample transportation, washing steps, centrifugation, and storage temperature (Ayers et al. 2011; van Ierssel et al. 2010). Its quantification by flow cytometry is also variably influenced by the threshold for particle size detection, instrument settings, and the choice of specific antibodies (Robert et al. 2012; Duval et al. 2010). Developing standardized high-sensitivity flow cytometry protocols are important for ensuring reproducibility before they can be reliably used as clinical prognostic markers.

Advanced Glycosylation End Products

AGEs are a heterogenous group of macromolecules that increase in tissues with age from the nonenzymatic glycation of lipids and proteins, and its accumulation is accelerated in chronic diseases such as hypertension and diabetes (Ramasamy et al. 2011). In the vascular wall, AGEs modify collagen and elastin, upregulate inflammation in the extracellular matrix, leading to increased arterial stiffness (Senatus and Schmidt 2017).

In diabetes, high glucose levels result in glycation of plasma proteins and collagens, which alter their molecular conformation and interfere with their function. Increased AGEs have been linked to endothelial dysfunction in diabetes (Fig. 2) with resultant micro- and macrovascular complications (Singh et al. 2014). ACEs bind to their receptor RAGE on endothelial cells which leads to a cascade of signaling events that lead to enhanced oxidative stress, endothelial activation and expression of adhesion molecules, translocation of macrophages, and reduction of NO-dependent vaso-dilatation (Singh et al. 2014; Stirban et al. 2013).

Serum and plasma AGE levels have been strongly correlated with cardiovascular disease in clinical studies, particularly in patients with diabetes (Kiuchi et al. 2001; Saremi et al. 2017; Kilhovd et al. 1999). Measurement of AGEs in serum/plasma has been traditionally performed by HPLC or liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS) (Ashraf et al. 2015), but these are cumbersome for a large number of clinical samples. ELISA allows for more rapid detection. However, results are dependent on sample preparation, antibody affinity, and are limited by a lack of standardization and limited reproducibility (Ashraf et al. 2015; de Vos et al. 2016). Furthermore, their levels can be influenced by variable clearance in chronic kidney disease (Busch et al. 2010).

While AGEs can also be detected using immunohistochemical staining of a variety of tissues and cells, the need for invasive biopsies to obtain tissue samples makes it less convenient for use as a biomarker in clinical studies. Skin AGEs can be



Fig. 2 The role of AGEs in cardiovascular complications in diabetes. Under hyperglycemic conditions, the balance between AGE formation and clearance is impaired, thereby resulting in increased AGEs. AGEs interact with AGE receptors to promote the development of diabetic cardiovascular complications such as endothelial dysfunction and atherosclerosis. From "Advanced Glycation End Products: Potential Mechanism and Therapeutic Target in Cardiovascular Complications under Diabetes" by Yang et al. (2019), licensed under CC BY 4.0 (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/)



Fig. 3 Skin autofluorescence by AGE reader. (a) Autofluorescence reader in a clinical setting. (b) Schematic view of the autofluorescence reader. From "AGEs, autofluorescence and renal function" by Gerrits et al. (2009) with permission

measured noninvasively by SAF (skin autofluorescence) by the AGE Reader (DiagnOptics Technologies BV, Groningen, the Netherlands) as described by Meerwaldt et al. (2005). This is due to the autofluorescent properties of several AGEs. A skin surface area on the arm of approximately 4cm² is illuminated by multiple light-emitting diodes, and the autofluorescent light emitted is captured with a spectrometer and expressed in arbitrary units (AUs) (Fig. 3). Reference values exist for Caucasians and Asians (Lutgers et al. 2006; Yue et al. 2011b). SAF has been shown to be higher in patients with T2DM and is associated with the presence and severity of diabetes-associated vascular complications (Lutgers et al. 2006). As the half-life of skin collagen is 15 years, skin AGE levels may provide a longer-term

indicator of glycemic stress compared to glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) (Verzijl et al. 2000). AGEs as measured by SAF have shown to correlate with vascular stiffening across all levels of glycemia (Birukov et al. 2021) and is additionally predictive of cardiovascular events in patients with T2DM (Lutgers et al. 2009). While measurement of AGEs by SAF remains as a promising biomarker for vascular dysfunction in diabetes, the majority of AGEs are not fluorescent and are thus not detected, and importantly, its use is limited in individuals with dark skin and the influence of creams and sunscreens, as well as conditions inducing severe vasoconstriction or vasodilatation (Ashraf et al. 2015; Noordzij et al. 2011).

Endocan

Endocan, or endothelial cell-specific molecule-1, is a soluble proteoglycan secreted by activated vascular endothelium, and regulates cell adhesion, differentiation, migration, and neovascularization (Kali and Shetty 2014). Many studies have demonstrated the use of plasma endocan levels as a novel biomarker of endothelial dysfunction and inflammation in multiple pathological states ranging from sepsis to T2DM, hypertension, cancer, autoimmune disease, chronic kidney disease, and cardiovascular disease, and correlated with inflammation severity and survival in these conditions (Pauly et al. 2016; Oktar et al. 2019; Kim et al. 2020; Balamir et al. 2018; Icli et al. 2016; Musialowska et al. 2018; Cox et al. 2015; Pawlak et al. 2015; Poon et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2021). In T2DM, serum endocan levels are elevated in those with subclinical atherosclerosis as determined by carotid intima-media thickness, and positively correlates with HbA1c, suggesting the potential use of serum endocan as a biomarker for the early diagnosis of macrovascular injury in T2DM (Lv et al. 2017). ELISA kits are currently available for the measurement of serum endocan primarily in the research setting. As a relatively novel biomarker, more studies are needed to validate its use for the prognostication of micro- and macrovascular complications of T2DM.

External Counterpulsation (ECP) Therapy on Measures of Endothelial Function

ECP is described here as an illustrative example of a therapeutic modality which improves measures of endothelial function and how it translates to clinical outcomes. ECP is a noninvasive electrocardiogram-synchronized circulatory assist device for the treatment of ischemic cardiovascular disease. ECP is performed by sequential inflation of 3 cuffs on the lower extremities for improved hemodynamics and flow velocity which generates sheer stress with each compression/decompression cycle (Fig. 4). ECP therapy is typically delivered in 35 1-h sessions over 7 weeks.

ECP has been shown to induce the release of the vasodilator NO and reduce vasoconstrictors such as ET-1, with improvement in vascular reactivity (Shechter et al. 2003), and promote vasculogenesis (Bonetti et al. 2003). While some of the benefits for symptomatic angina relate to immediate hemodynamic effects, other



Fig. 4 Diastolic augmentation during ECP generates shear stress. (a) ECP treatment involves a set of cuffs wrapped around the lower extremities connected to an air compressor. (b) Blood velocity waveforms at the common carotid artery in a cardiac cycle before and during ECP, extracted from the images of ultrasound flow velocity spectrum. From "The Hemodynamic Effect of Enhanced External Counterpulsation Treatment on Atherosclerotic Plaque in the Carotid Artery: A Framework of Patient-Specific Computational Fluid Dynamics Analysis" by Du et al. (2020), licensed under CC BY 4.0 (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/)

benefits also derive from its ability to improve arterial stiffness and peripheral endothelial function, reducing oxygen demand (Braith et al. 2010). This is evidenced by improved pulse wave velocity (PWV), improved FMD, changes in endothelialderived vasoactive agents such as an increase in NO, reduction in ET-1 and ADMA levels, as well as reduced circulating measures of inflammation such as hsCRP, MCP-1, TNF- α , and VCAM-1 (Braith et al. 2010; Casey et al. 2011). Furthermore, ECP therapy-induced improvement in FMD correlated with an increase in circulating EPCs and colony-forming capacity (Barsheshet et al. 2008; Liang et al. 2021), attenuating hypertensive vascular injury. These mechanisms likely underscore the ability of ECP to restore vascular endothelial integrity.

In T2DM, the benefits of ECP are less well established. A handful of studies report an improvement in fasting glucose, HbA1c, insulin resistance, and markers of oxidative stress and inflammation (Sardina et al. 2016a, b). However, another study in T2DM patients showed no improvement in reactive hyperemia (Hoong et al. 2020). In subjects with CAD undergoing ECP, the presence of diabetes was one of the factors associated with treatment failure (Erdling et al. 2008; Lawson et al. 2003). It is possible that only subgroups of patients with diabetes may benefit, such as those with longer duration of diabetes, greater degree of endothelial dysfunction, or higher insulin resistance at baseline (Hoong et al. 2020). More studies are required to clarify the use of ECP in patients with diabetes.

Applications to Diabetes

As a balance of vascular damage and repair occurs in the pathogenesis of endothelial dysfunction, circulating markers such as serum AGE, EMPs, and EPCs demonstrate the importance of vascular homeostasis in maintaining endothelial function. Besides

their role in predicting macrovascular complications, they may be additionally useful in predicting the development of microvascular complications in diabetes. In particular, measurement of circulating EPCs provide not only provide prognostic information on risk stratification in diabetes, but also appear to be promising in its role in as cell-based therapy for diabetes patients with critical limb ischemia (Beltrán-Camacho et al. 2021). This is especially important given high rates of amputation in patients with diabetic foot complications, leading to significant morbidity. These methods highlight endothelial dysfunction as an important target for the prevention and treatment of cardiovascular complications in diabetes (Lerman and Zeiher 2005).

The role of chronic inflammation in endothelial dysfunction and cardiovascular risk is highlighted by recent trials with the anti-inflammatory therapy canakinumab. Canakinumab is an interleukin-1ß inhibitor, which demonstrated large reductions in hsCRP and interleukin-6, paralleled by a lower incidence of recurrent cardiovascular events in patients with and without diabetes, despite little change in HbA1c (Ridker et al. 2017, 2012). Other circulating measures of chronic inflammation such as MCP-1, ICAM-1, and VCAM-1 also appear promising for cardiovascular risk stratification and target organ damage in diabetes.

Circulating biomarkers of endothelial function hold promise for the widespread clinical use for cardiovascular risk stratification and prognostication of microvascular complications in T2DM due to convenience and ease of measurement; however, adequate standardization and validation are required before they can be routinely applied and interpreted. Further studies are needed to identify populations that will benefit the most from these methods of risk stratification either individually or in combination, and to clarify whether any benefits from specific treatments are derived from an improvement in endothelial function.

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

- Asymmetric dimethylarginine. Analogue of L-arginine, a circulating endogenous inhibitor of nitric oxide synthase, hence blocking nitric oxide synthesis and impairing endothelial function.
- Advanced glycosylation end products. A group of proteins and lipids that result from glycation after exposure to sugars. Their accumulation in the vasculature is harmful and implicated in aging and in the pathogenesis of chronic diseases such as hypertension and diabetes.
- **Endothelial progenitor cells.** Circulating progenitor cells that have the capacity to differentiate into mature endothelial cells. They represent endogenous reserves to maintain and restore endothelial function.
- Endothelial microparticles. Small membrane vesicles released from platelets, leucocytes, and endothelium during cellular stress, reflecting degree of endothelial injury.
- External counterpulsation. A noninvasive circulatory device involving inflation
 of pumps on the lower extremities, generating sheer stress with each compressiondecompression cycle and improving peripheral endothelial function.

Summary Points

- Endothelial dysfunction in T2DM represents a pro-atherogenic state that predisposes to heightened cardiovascular risk.
- Circulating biomarkers complement the physiological vasomotor assessments of endothelial function.
- Some of these biomarkers additionally provide prognostic information on the development of cardiovascular disease in T2DM, for example, ADMA, hsCRP, ICAM-1, VCAM-1, E-selectin, MCP-1, circulating EPCs, EMPs, AGEs, and endocan.
- hsCRP is a well-validated measure of cardiovascular risk. In T2DM, this represents chronic low-grade vascular inflammation exaggerated by the hyperglycemic state and higher thresholds may apply.
- Lower circulating EPCs and their functional impairment in T2DM reflect the degree of endothelial dysfunction in the hyperglycemic state. Circulating EPC count negatively correlates with glycemic control and predicts the development of micro- and macrovascular complications in T2DM.
- The convenience of a blood test offers the possibility of widespread adoption to guide clinical risk stratification over and beyond traditional cardiovascular risk factors; however, reference ranges and methodologies first require adequate standardization and validation before their routine use.
- External counterpulsation is a promising therapeutic modality that improves many measures of endothelial function, primarily in use for coronary artery disease. Its benefit in T2DM is currently investigational and deserves further study.

References

- Achan V, Broadhead M, Malaki M, et al. Asymmetric dimethylarginine causes hypertension and cardiac dysfunction in humans and is actively metabolized by dimethylarginine dimethylaminohydrolase. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2003;23(8):1455–9.
- Adawi M, Pastukh N, Saaida G, et al. Inhibition of endothelial progenitor cells may explain the high cardiovascular event rate in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. QJM. 2018;111(8):525–9.
- Ahmed FW, Rider R, Glanville M, et al. Metformin improves circulating endothelial cells and endothelial progenitor cells in type 1 diabetes: MERIT study. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2016;15(1):116.
- Aldámiz-Echevarría L, Andrade F. Asymmetric dimethylarginine, endothelial dysfunction and renal disease. Int J Mol Sci. 2012;13(9):11288–311.
- Amabile N, Guérin AP, Leroyer A, et al. Circulating endothelial microparticles are associated with vascular dysfunction in patients with end-stage renal failure. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2005;16(11): 3381–8.
- Arnett DK, Blumenthal RS, Albert MA, et al. 2019 ACC/AHA guideline on the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association task force on clinical practice guidelines. Circulation. 2019;140(11):e596–646.
- Asagami T, Abbasi F, Stuelinger M, et al. Metformin treatment lowers asymmetric dimethylarginine concentrations in patients with type 2 diabetes. Metabolism. 2002;51(7):843–6.
- Ashraf JM, Ahmad S, Choi I, et al. Recent advances in detection of AGEs: immunochemical, bioanalytical and biochemical approaches. IUBMB Life. 2015;67(12):897–913.

- Ayers L, Kohler M, Harrison P, et al. Measurement of circulating cell-derived microparticles by flow cytometry: sources of variability within the assay. Thromb Res. 2011;127(4):370–7.
- Bahadoran Z, Mirmiran P, Tahmasebinejad Z, et al. Serum nitric oxide metabolites and hard clinical endpoints: a population-based prospective study. Scand Cardiovasc J. 2019;53(4):176–82.
- Bai Y, Sun L, Du L, et al. Association of circulating levels of asymmetric dimethylarginine (ADMA) with carotid intima-media thickness: evidence from 6168 participants. Ageing Res Rev. 2013;12(2):699–707.
- Balamir I, Ates I, Topcuoglu C, et al. Association of endocan, ischemia-modified albumin, and hsCRP levels with endothelial dysfunction in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Angiology. 2018;69(7): 609–16.
- Balestrieri ML, Servillo L, Esposito A, et al. Poor glycaemic control in type 2 diabetes patients reduces endothelial progenitor cell number by influencing SIRT1 signalling via platelet-activating factor receptor activation. Diabetologia. 2013;56(1):162–72.
- Barsheshet A, Hod H, Shechter M, et al. The effects of external counter pulsation therapy on circulating endothelial progenitor cells in patients with angina pectoris. Cardiology. 2008;110(3):160–6.
- Beltrán-Camacho L, Rojas-Torres M, Durán-Ruiz MC. Current status of angiogenic cell therapy and related strategies applied in critical limb ischemia. Int J Mol Sci. 2021;22(5):2335.
- Bertoluci MC, Rocha VZ. Cardiovascular risk assessment in patients with diabetes. Diabetol Metab Syndr. 2017;9(1):25.
- Best LG, Zhang Y, Lee ET, et al. C-reactive protein as a predictor of cardiovascular risk in a population with a high prevalence of diabetes: the strong heart study. Circulation. 2005;112(9): 1289–95.
- Biasucci LM, Liuzzo G, Della Bona R, et al. Different apparent prognostic value of hsCRP in type 2 diabetic and nondiabetic patients with acute coronary syndromes. Clin Chem. 2009;55(2):365–8.
- Birukov A, Cuadrat R, Polemiti E, et al. Advanced glycation end-products, measured as skin autofluorescence, associate with vascular stiffness in diabetic, pre-diabetic and normoglycemic individuals: a cross-sectional study. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2021;20(1):110.
- Blanco-Colio LM, Méndez-Barbero N, Pello Lázaro AM, et al. MCP-1 predicts recurrent cardiovascular events in patients with persistent inflammation. J Clin Med. 2021;10(5):1137.
- Boelaert J, Schepers E, Glorieux G, et al. Determination of asymmetric and symmetric dimethylarginine in serum from patients with chronic kidney disease: UPLC-MS/MS versus ELISA. Toxins (Basel). 2016;8(5):E149.
- Bonetti PO, Holmes DR, Lerman A, et al. Enhanced external counterpulsation for ischemic heart disease: what's behind the curtain? J Am Coll Cardiol. 2003;41(11):1918–25.
- Braith RW, Conti CR, Nichols WW, et al. Enhanced external counterpulsation improves peripheral artery flow-mediated dilation in patients with chronic angina. Circulation. 2010;122(16): 1612–20.
- Bruno CM, Valenti M, Bertino G, et al. Plasma ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 levels in type 2 diabetic patients with and without microalbuminuria. Minerva Med. 2008;99(1):1–5.
- Bryan NS, Grisham MB. Methods to detect nitric oxide and its metabolites in biological samples. Free Radic Biol Med. 2007;43(5):645–57.
- Busch M, Franke S, Rüster C, et al. Advanced glycation end-products and the kidney. Eur J Clin Investig. 2010;40(8):742–55.
- Carrero JJ, Andersson Franko M, Obergfell A, et al. hsCRP level and the risk of death or recurrent cardiovascular events in patients with myocardial infarction: a healthcare-based study. J Am Heart Assoc. 2019;8(11):e012638.
- Casey DP, Beck DT, Nichols WW, et al. Effects of enhanced external counterpulsation on arterial stiffness and myocardial oxygen demand in patients with chronic angina pectoris. Am J Cardiol. 2011;107(10):1466–72.
- Ceriello A, Falleti E, Motz E, et al. Hyperglycemia-induced circulating ICAM-1 increase in diabetes mellitus: the possible role of oxidative stress. Horm Metab Res. 1998;30(3):146–9.
- Chacón MR, Fernández-Real JM, Richart C, et al. Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 in obesity and type 2 diabetes. Insulin sensitivity study. Obesity. 2007;15(3):664–72.

- Chen YH, Lin SJ, Lin FY, et al. High glucose impairs early and late endothelial progenitor cells by modifying nitric oxide-related but not oxidative stress-mediated mechanisms. Diabetes. 2007;56(6):1559–68.
- Chen C, Nan B, Lin P, et al. C-reactive protein increases plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 expression in human endothelial cells. Thromb Res. 2008;122(1):125–33.
- Cheng H, Harris RC. Renal endothelial dysfunction in diabetic nephropathy. Cardiovacsc Hematol DIsord Drug Targets. 2014;14(1):22–33.
- Clarkson P, Celermajer DS, Donald AE, et al. Impaired vascular reactivity in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus is related to disease duration and low density lipoprotein cholesterol levels. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1996;28(3):573–9.
- Clarkson P, Celermajer DS, Powe AJ, et al. Endothelium-dependent dilatation is impaired in young healthy subjects with a family history of premature coronary disease. Circulation. 1997;96(10): 3378–83.
- Cox LAE, van Eijk LT, Ramakers BPC, et al. Inflammation-induced increases in plasma endocan levels are associated with endothelial dysfunction in humans in vivo. Shock. 2015;43(4):322–6.
- Csonka C, Páli T, Bencsik P, et al. Measurement of NO in biological samples. Br J Pharmacol. 2015;172(6):1620–32.
- Danesh J, Wheeler JG, Hirschfield GM, et al. C-reactive protein and other circulating markers of inflammation in the prediction of coronary heart disease. N Engl J Med. 2004;350(14):1387–97.
- de Lemos JA, Morrow DA, Sabatine MS, et al. Association between plasma levels of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 and long-term clinical outcomes in patients with acute coronary syndromes. Circulation. 2003;107(5):690–5.
- de Vos LC, Lefrandt JD, Dullaart RPF, et al. Advanced glycation end products: an emerging biomarker for adverse outcome in patients with peripheral artery disease. Atherosclerosis. 2016;254:291–9.
- Deng F, Wang S, Zhang L. Endothelial microparticles act as novel diagnostic and therapeutic biomarkers of diabetes and its complications: a literature review. Biomed Res Int. 2016;2016: e9802026.
- Dubský M, Jirkovská A, Bem R, et al. Cell therapy of critical limb ischemia in diabetic patients state of art. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2017;126:263–71.
- Du J, Wu G, Wu B, et al. The haemodynamic effect of enhanced external counterpulsation treatment on atherosclerotic plaque in the carotid artery: a framework of patient-specific computational fluid dynamics analysis. Cardiol Res Pract 2020;5903790.
- Duncan BB, Schmidt MI, Pankow JS, et al. Low-grade systemic inflammation and the development of type 2 diabetes: the atherosclerosis risk in communities study. Diabetes. 2003;52(7): 1799–805.
- Duval A, Helley D, Capron L, et al. Endothelial dysfunction in systemic lupus patients with low disease activity: evaluation by quantification and characterization of circulating endothelial microparticles, role of anti-endothelial cell antibodies. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2010;49(6):1049–55.
- Emerging Risk Factors Collaboration, Kaptoge S, Di Angelantonio E, et al. C-reactive protein concentration and risk of coronary heart disease, stroke, and mortality: an individual participant meta-analysis. Lancet. 2010;375(9709):132–40.
- Emerging Risk Factors Collaboration, Kaptoge S, Di Angelantonio E, et al. C-reactive protein, fibrinogen, and cardiovascular disease prediction. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(14):1310–20.
- Erdling A, Bondesson S, Pettersson T, et al. Enhanced external counter pulsation in treatment of refractory angina pectoris: two year outcome and baseline factors associated with treatment failure. BMC Cardiovasc Disord. 2008;8:39.
- Esposito K, Maiorino MI, Di Palo C, et al. Effects of pioglitazone versus metformin on circulating endothelial microparticles and progenitor cells in patients with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes a randomized controlled trial. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2011;13(5):439–45.
- Fadini GP, Miorin M, Facco M, et al. Circulating endothelial progenitor cells are reduced in peripheral vascular complications of type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2005;45(9): 1449–57.

- Fadini GP, Losordo D, Dimmeler S. Critical re-evaluation of endothelial progenitor cell phenotypes for therapeutic and diagnostic use. Circ Res. 2012;110(4):624–37.
- Fadini GP, Rigato M, Cappellari R, et al. Long-term prediction of cardiovascular outcomes by circulating CD34+ and CD34+CD133+ stem cells in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2017;40(1):125–31.
- Farah C, Michel LYM, Balligand J-L. Nitric oxide signalling in cardiovascular health and disease. Nat Rev Cardiol. 2018;15(5):292–316.
- Feng B, Chen Y, Luo Y, et al. Circulating level of microparticles and their correlation with arterial elasticity and endothelium-dependent dilation in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Atherosclerosis. 2010;208(1):264–9.
- Gamil S, Erdmann J, Schwedhelm E, et al. Increased serum levels of asymmetric dimethylarginine and symmetric dimethylarginine and decreased levels of arginine in sudanese patients with essential hypertension. Kidney Blood Press Res. 2020;45(5):727–36.
- Georgakis MK, Malik R, Björkbacka H, et al. Circulating monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 and risk of stroke. Circ Res. 2019;125(8):773–82.
- Gerrits EG, Smit AJ, Bilo HJ. AGEs, autofluorescence and renal function. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2009;24(3):710–3.
- Gregg LP, Tio MC, Li X, et al. Association of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 with death and atherosclerotic events in chronic kidney disease. Am J Nephrol. 2018;47(6):395–405.
- Grundy SM, Stone NJ, Bailey AL, et al. 2018 AHA/ACC/AACVPR/AAPA/ABC/ACPM/ADA/ AGS/APhA/ASPC/NLA/PCNA guideline on the management of blood cholesterol: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines. Circulation. 2019;139(25):e1082–143.
- Gumanova NG, Deev AD, Zhang W, et al. Serum nitrite and nitrate levels, NOx, can predict cardiovascular mortality in the elderly in a 3-year follow-up study. Biofactors. 2017;43(1):82–9.
- Gutiérrez E, Flammer AJ, Lerman LO, et al. Endothelial dysfunction over the course of coronary artery disease. Eur Heart J. 2013;34(41):3175–81.
- Hashimoto H, Maruhashi T, Yamaji T, et al. Smoking status and endothelial function in Japanese men. Sci Rep. 2021;11(1):95.
- Haubner F, Lehle K, Münzel D, et al. Hyperglycemia increases the levels of vascular cellular adhesion molecule-1 and monocyte-chemoattractant-protein-1 in the diabetic endothelial cell. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2007;360(3):560–5.
- Hegazy GA, Awan Z, Hashem E, et al. Levels of soluble cell adhesion molecules in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients with macrovascular complications. J Int Med Res. 2020;48(4):0300060519893858.
- Hein TW, Singh U, Vasquez-Vivar J, et al. Human C-reactive protein induces endothelial dysfunction and uncoupling of eNOS in vivo. Atherosclerosis. 2009;206(1):61–8.
- Hill JM, Zalos G, Halcox JPJ, et al. Circulating endothelial progenitor cells, vascular function, and cardiovascular risk. N Engl J Med. 2003;348(7):593–600.
- Hoong CWS, Tan MLS, Kao SL, et al. Effects of external counter-pulsation on endothelial function assessed by peripheral artery tonometry, levels of glycaemia and metabolic markers in individuals with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Metab Syndr. 2020;14(6):2139–45.
- Hwang S-J, Ballantyne CM, Sharrett AR, et al. Circulating adhesion molecules VCAM-1, ICAM-1, and E-selectin in carotid atherosclerosis and incident coronary heart disease cases. Circulation. 1997;96(12):4219–25.
- Hwang YC, Morrow DA, Cannon CP, et al. High-sensitivity C-reactive protein, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes in the EXAMINE (Examination of Cardiovascular Outcomes with Alogliptin versus Standard of Care) trial. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2018;20(3):654–9.
- Icli A, Cure E, Cure MC, et al. Endocan levels and subclinical atherosclerosis in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Angiology. 2016;67(8):749–55.
- Jude EB, Douglas JT, Anderson SG, et al. Circulating cellular adhesion molecules ICAM-1, VCAM-1, P- and E-selectin in the prediction of cardiovascular disease in diabetes mellitus. Eur J Intern Med. 2002;13(3):185–9.

- Juonala M, Viikari JSA, Laitinen T, et al. Interrelations between brachial endothelial function and carotid intima-media thickness in young adults: the cardiovascular risk in young Finns study. Circulation. 2004;110(18):2918–23.
- Juonala M, Viikari JSA, Alfthan G, et al. Brachial artery flow-mediated dilation and asymmetrical dimethylarginine in the cardiovascular risk in young Finns study. Circulation. 2007;116(12): 1367–73.
- Kahlenberg JM, Thacker SG, Berthier CC, et al. Inflammasome activation of IL-18 results in endothelial progenitor cell dysfunction in systemic lupus erythematosus. J Immunol. 2011;187(11):6143–56.
- Kali A, Shetty KSR. Endocan: a novel circulating proteoglycan. Indian J Pharmacol. 2014;46(6): 579–83.
- Kengne AP, Batty GD, Hamer M, et al. Association of C-reactive protein with cardiovascular disease mortality according to diabetes status: pooled analyses of 25,979 participants from four U.K. prospective cohort studies. Diabetes Care. 2012;35(2):396–403.
- Kilhovd BK, Berg TJ, Birkeland KI, et al. Serum levels of advanced glycation end products are increased in patients with type 2 diabetes and coronary heart disease. Diabetes Care. 1999;22(9): 1543–8.
- Kim JS, Ko GJ, Kim YG, et al. Plasma endocan as a predictor of cardiovascular event in patients with end-stage renal disease on hemodialysis. J Clin Med. 2020;9(12):E4086.
- Kiuchi K, Nejima J, Takano T, et al. Increased serum concentrations of advanced glycation end products: a marker of coronary artery disease activity in type 2 diabetic patients. Heart. 2001;85(1):87–91.
- Koga H, Sugiyama S, Kugiyama K, et al. Elevated levels of VE-cadherin-positive endothelial microparticles in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and coronary artery disease. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2005;45(10):1622–30.
- Kuki S, Imanishi T, Kobayashi K, et al. Hyperglycemia accelerated endothelial progenitor cell senescence via the activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase. Circ J. 2006;70(8): 1076–81.
- Kundu N, Nandula SR, Asico LD, et al. Transplantation of apoptosis-resistant endothelial progenitor cells improves renal function in diabetic kidney disease. J Am Heart Assoc. 2021;10(7): e019365.
- Lawson WE, Kennard ED, Hui JCK, et al. Analysis of baseline factors associated with reduction in chest pain in patients with angina pectoris treated by enhanced external counterpulsation. Am J Cardiol. 2003;92(4):439–43.
- Lee PSS, Poh KK. Endothelial progenitor cells in cardiovascular diseases. World J Stem Cells. 2014;6(3):355–66.
- Lerman A, Zeiher AM. Endothelial function. Circulation. 2005;111(3):363-8.
- Leroyer AS, Anfosso F, Lacroix R, et al. Endothelial-derived microparticles: biological conveyors at the crossroad of inflammation, thrombosis and angiogenesis. Thromb Haemost. 2010;104(3): 456–63.
- Li H, Zhang X, Guan X, et al. Advanced glycation end products impair the migration, adhesion and secretion potentials of late endothelial progenitor cells. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2012;11:46.
- Li S, Wei J, Zhang C, et al. Cell-derived microparticles in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Cell Physiol Biochem. 2016;39(6):2439–50.
- Liang J, Shi J, Wei W, et al. External counterpulsation attenuates hypertensive vascular injury through enhancing the function of endothelial progenitor cells. Front Physiol. 2021;11:1864.
- Liu JJ, Yeoh LY, Sum CF, et al. Vascular cell adhesion molecule-1, but not intercellular adhesion molecule-1, is associated with diabetic kidney disease in Asians with type 2 diabetes. J Diabetes Complicat. 2015;29(5):707–12.
- Luo P, Tan Z-H, Zhang Z-F, et al. Scutellarin isolated from Erigeron multiradiatus inhibits high glucose-mediated vascular inflammation. Yakugaku Zasshi. 2008;128(9):1293–9.
- Lutgers HL, Graaff R, Links TP, et al. Skin autofluorescence as a noninvasive marker of vascular damage in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2006;29(12):2654–9.

- Lutgers HL, Gerrits EG, Graaff R, et al. Skin autofluorescence provides additional information to the UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) risk score for the estimation of cardiovascular prognosis in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetologia. 2009;52(5):789–97.
- Lv Y, Zhang Y, Shi W, et al. The association between endocan levels and subclinical atherosclerosis in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Am J Med Sci. 2017;353(5):433–8.
- Maas R, Xanthakis V, Göen T, et al. Plasma nitrate and incidence of cardiovascular disease and all-cause mortality in the community: the Framingham offspring study. J Am Heart Assoc. 2017;6(11):e006224.
- Man AWC, Li H, Xia N. The role of sirtuin1 in regulating endothelial function, arterial remodeling and vascular aging. Front Physiol. 2019;10:1173.
- Marchetti V, Menghini R, Rizza S, et al. Benfotiamine counteracts glucose toxicity effects on endothelial progenitor cell differentiation via Akt/FoxO signaling. Diabetes. 2006;55(8):2231–7.
- Martens-Lobenhoffer J, Westphal S, Awiszus F, et al. Determination of asymmetric dimethylarginine: liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry or ELISA? Clin Chem. 2005;51(11):2188–9.
- Maruhashi T, Soga J, Fujimura N, et al. Endothelial dysfunction, increased arterial stiffness, and cardiovascular risk prediction in patients with coronary artery disease: FMD-J (Flow-Mediated Dilation Japan) study A. J Am Heart Assoc. 2018;7(14):e008588.
- Meerwaldt R, Links T, Graaff R, et al. Simple noninvasive measurement of skin autofluorescence. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2005;1043:290–8.
- Menegazzo L, Albiero M, Avogaro A, et al. Endothelial progenitor cells in diabetes mellitus. Biofactors. 2012;38(3):194–202.
- Metel'skaia VA, Gumanova NG. Screening as a method for determining the serum level of nitric oxide metabolites. Klin Lab Diagn. 2005;6:15–8.
- Möller MN, Rios N, Trujillo M, et al. Detection and quantification of nitric oxide–derived oxidants in biological systems. J Biol Chem. 2019;294(40):14776–802.
- Murea M, Register TC, Divers J, et al. Relationships between serum MCP-1 and subclinical kidney disease: African American-Diabetes Heart Study. BMC Nephrol. 2012;13(1):148.
- Musialowska D, Zbroch E, Koc-Zorawska E, et al. Endocan concentration in patients with primary hypertension. Angiology. 2018;69(6):483–9.
- Mussa BM, Srivastava A, Al-Habshi A, et al. Inflammatory biomarkers levels in T2DM Emirati patients with diabetic neuropathy. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes. 2021;14:3389–97.
- Nandula SR, Kundu N, Awal HB, et al. Role of Canagliflozin on function of CD34+ve endothelial progenitor cells (EPC) in patients with type 2 diabetes. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2021;20(1):44.
- Németh B, Ajtay Z, Hejjel L, et al. The issue of plasma asymmetric dimethylarginine reference range – a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2017;12(5):e0177493.
- Noda K, Nakao S, Ishida S, et al. Leukocyte adhesion molecules in diabetic retinopathy. J Ophthalmol. 2012;2012:e279037.
- Noordzij MJ, Lefrandt JD, Graaff R, et al. Dermal factors influencing measurement of skin autofluorescence. Diabetes Technol Ther. 2011;13(2):165–70.
- Oktar SF, Guney I, Eren SA, et al. Serum endocan levels, carotid intima-media thickness and microalbuminuria in patients with newly diagnosed hypertension. Clin Exp Hypertens. 2019;41(8):787–94.
- Ozturk BT, Bozkurt B, Kerimoglu H, et al. Effect of serum cytokines and VEGF levels on diabetic retinopathy and macular thickness. Mol Vis. 2009;15:1906–14.
- Pauly D, Hamed S, Behnes M, et al. Endothelial cell-specific molecule-1/endocan: diagnostic and prognostic value in patients suffering from severe sepsis and septic shock. J Crit Care. 2016;31(1):68–75.
- Pawlak K, Mysliwiec M, Pawlak D. Endocan the new endothelial activation marker independently associated with soluble endothelial adhesion molecules in uraemic patients with cardiovascular disease. Clin Biochem. 2015;48(6):425–30.
- Pfützner A, Forst T. High-sensitivity C-reactive protein as cardiovascular risk marker in patients with diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Technol Ther. 2006;8(1):28–36.

- Poon PY-K, Ng JK-C, Fung WW-S, et al. Relationship between plasma endocan level and clinical outcome of Chinese peritoneal dialysis patients. Kidney Blood Press Res. 2019;44(5):1259–70.
- Poredoš P, Ježovnik MK. Markers of preclinical atherosclerosis and their clinical relevance. Vasa. 2015;44(4):247–56.
- Pyšná A, Bém R, Němcová A, et al. Endothelial progenitor cells biology in diabetes mellitus and peripheral arterial disease and their therapeutic potential. Stem Cell Rev Rep. 2019;15(2): 157–65.
- Rabkin SW, Langer A, Ur E, et al. Inflammatory biomarkers CRP, MCP-1, serum amyloid alpha and interleukin-18 in patients with HTN and dyslipidemia: impact of diabetes mellitus on metabolic syndrome and the effect of statin therapy. Hypertens Res. 2013;36(6):550–8.
- Ramasamy R, Yan SF, Schmidt AM. Receptor for AGE (RAGE): signaling mechanisms in the pathogenesis of diabetes and its complications. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2011;1243:88–102.
- Rhee SY, Kim YS. The role of advanced glycation end products in diabetic vascular complications. Diabetes Metab J. 2018;42(3):188–95.
- Ridker PM, Danielson E, Fonseca FAH, et al. Rosuvastatin to prevent vascular events in men and women with elevated C-reactive protein. N Engl J Med. 2008;359(21):2195–207.
- Ridker PM, Howard CP, Walter V, et al. Effects of interleukin-1β inhibition with canakinumab on hemoglobin A1c, lipids, C-reactive protein, interleukin-6, and fibrinogen: a phase IIb randomized, placebo-controlled trial. Circulation. 2012;126(23):2739–48.
- Ridker PM, Everett BM, Thuren T, et al. Antiinflammatory therapy with canakinumab for atherosclerotic disease. N Engl J Med. 2017;377(12):1119–31.
- Rigato M, Bittante C, Albiero M, et al. Circulating progenitor cell count predicts microvascular outcomes in type 2 diabetic patients. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2015;100(7):2666–72.
- Rigato M, Avogaro A, Fadini GP. Levels of circulating progenitor cells, cardiovascular outcomes and death. Circ Res. 2016;118(12):1930–9.
- Robert S, Lacroix R, Poncelet P, et al. High-sensitivity flow cytometry provides access to standardized measurement of small-size microparticles – brief report. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2012;32(4):1054–8.
- Rubin D, Claas S, Pfeuffer M, et al. s-ICAM-1 and s-VCAM-1 in healthy men are strongly associated with traits of the metabolic syndrome, becoming evident in the postprandial response to a lipid-rich meal. Lipids Health Dis. 2008;7(1):32.
- Sardina PD, Martin JS, Avery JC, et al. Enhanced external counterpulsation (EECP) improves biomarkers of glycemic control in patients with non-insulin-dependent type II diabetes mellitus for up to 3 months following treatment. Acta Diabetol. 2016a;53(5):745–52.
- Sardina PD, Martin JS, Dzieza WK, et al. Enhanced external counterpulsation (EECP) decreases advanced glycation end products and proinflammatory cytokines in patients with non-insulin-dependent type II diabetes mellitus for up to 6 months following treatment. Acta Diabetol. 2016b;53(5):753–60.
- Saremi A, Howell S, Schwenke DC, et al. Advanced glycation end products, oxidation products, and the extent of atherosclerosis during the VA diabetes trial and follow-up study. Diabetes Care. 2017;40(4):591–8.
- Senatus LM, Schmidt AM. The AGE-RAGE axis: implications for age-associated arterial diseases. Front Genet. 2017;8:187.
- Shaheer AK, Tharayil JK, Krishna PW. A comparative study of high sensitivity C-reactive protein and metabolic variables in type 2 diabetes mellitus with and without nephropathy. J Clin Diagn Res. 2017;11(9):BC01–4.
- Shechter M, Matetzky S, Feinberg MS, et al. External counterpulsation therapy improves endothelial function in patients with refractory angina pectoris. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2003;42(12):2090–5.
- Singh VP, Bali A, Singh N, et al. Advanced glycation end products and diabetic complications. Korean J Physiol Pharmacol. 2014;18(1):1–14.
- Sinha SK, Nicholas SB, Sung JH, et al. hs-CRP is associated with incident diabetic nephropathy: findings from the Jackson heart study. Diabetes Care. 2019;42(11):2083–9.

- Song Y, Manson JE, Tinker L, et al. Circulating levels of endothelial adhesion molecules and risk of diabetes in an ethnically diverse cohort of women. Diabetes. 2007;56(7):1898–904.
- Stirban A, Gawlowski T, Roden M. Vascular effects of advanced glycation endproducts: clinical effects and molecular mechanisms. Mol Metab. 2013;3(2):94–108.
- Sun J, Zhang X, Broderick M, et al. Measurement of nitric oxide production in biological systems by using Griess reaction assay. Sensors. 2003;3(8):276–84.
- Taghavi Y, Hassanshahi G, Kounis NG, et al. Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1/CCL2) in diabetic retinopathy: latest evidence and clinical considerations. J Cell Commun Signal. 2019;13(4):451–62.
- Tain Y-L, Hsu C-N. Toxic dimethylarginines: asymmetric dimethylarginine (ADMA) and symmetric dimethylarginine (SDMA). Toxins. 2017;9(3):92.
- Tam FWK, Riser BL, Meeran K, et al. Urinary monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) and connective tissue growth factor (CCN2) as prognostic markers for progression of diabetic nephropathy. Cytokine. 2009;47(1):37–42.
- Tepper OM, Galiano RD, Capla JM, et al. Human endothelial progenitor cells from type II diabetics exhibit impaired proliferation, adhesion, and incorporation into vascular structures. Circulation. 2002;106(22):2781–6.
- Terriaca S, Fiorelli E, Scioli MG, et al. Endothelial progenitor cell-derived extracellular vesicles: potential therapeutic application in tissue repair and regeneration. Int J Mol Sci. 2021;22(12): 6375.
- Tesch GH. MCP-1/CCL2: a new diagnostic marker and therapeutic target for progressive renal injury in diabetic nephropathy. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. 2008;294(4):F697–701.
- Tesse A, Martínez MC, Hugel B, et al. Upregulation of proinflammatory proteins through NF- κ B pathway by shed membrane microparticles results in vascular hyporeactivity. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2005;25(12):2522–7.
- Tilak P, Khashim Z, Kumpatla S, et al. Clinical significance of urinary Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein-1 (uMCP-1) in Indian type 2 diabetic patients at different stages of diabetic nephropathy. Int J Diabet Mellitus. 2010;2(1):15–9.
- Tsikas D. A critical review and discussion of analytical methods in the L-arginine/nitric oxide area of basic and clinical research. Anal Biochem. 2008;379(2):139–63.
- van Ark J, Moser J, Lexis CPH, et al. Type 2 diabetes mellitus is associated with an imbalance in circulating endothelial and smooth muscle progenitor cell numbers. Diabetologia. 2012;55(9): 2501–12.
- van Ierssel SH, Van Craenenbroeck EM, Conraads VM, et al. Flow cytometric detection of endothelial microparticles (EMP): effects of centrifugation and storage alter with the phenotype studied. Thromb Res. 2010;125(4):332–9.
- VanWijk MJ, VanBavel E, Sturk A, et al. Microparticles in cardiovascular diseases. Cardiovasc Res. 2003;59(2):277–87.
- Varadharaj S, Porter K, Pleister A, et al. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase uncoupling: a novel pathway in OSA induced vascular endothelial dysfunction. Respir Physiol Neurobiol. 2015;207:40–7.
- Verma S, Buchanan MR, Anderson TJ. Endothelial function testing as a biomarker of vascular disease. Circulation. 2003a;108(17):2054–9.
- Verma S, Wang C-H, Weisel RD, et al. Hyperglycemia potentiates the proatherogenic effects of C-reactive protein: reversal with rosiglitazone. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2003b;35(4):417–9.
- Verma S, Kuliszewski MA, Li S-H, et al. C-reactive protein attenuates endothelial progenitor cell survival, differentiation, and function: further evidence of a mechanistic link between C-reactive protein and cardiovascular disease. Circulation. 2004;109(17):2058–67.
- Verzijl N, DeGroot J, Thorpe SR, et al. Effect of collagen turnover on the accumulation of advanced glycation end products. J Biol Chem. 2000;275(50):39027–31.
- Werner N, Kosiol S, Schiegl T, et al. Circulating endothelial progenitor cells and cardiovascular outcomes. N Engl J Med. 2005;353(10):999–1007.

- Westerweel PE, Teraa M, Rafii S, et al. Impaired endothelial progenitor cell mobilization and dysfunctional bone marrow stroma in diabetes mellitus. PLoS One. 2013;8(3):e60357.
- Willeit P, Freitag DF, Laukkanen JA, et al. Asymmetric dimethylarginine and cardiovascular risk: systematic review and meta-analysis of 22 prospective studies. J Am Heart Assoc. 2015;4(6): e001833.
- Wilson PWF, Nam B-H, Pencina M, et al. C-reactive protein and risk of cardiovascular disease in men and women from the Framingham heart study. Arch Intern Med. 2005;165(21):2473–8.
- Wilson AM, Shin DS, Weatherby C, et al. Asymmetric dimethylarginine correlates with measures of disease severity, major adverse cardiovascular events and all-cause mortality in patients with peripheral arterial disease. Vasc Med. 2010;15(4):267–74.
- Yamagishi S, Matsui T. Advanced glycation end products, oxidative stress and diabetic nephropathy. Oxidative Med Cell Longev. 2010;3(2):101–8.
- Yamagishi S, Ueda S, Nakamura K, et al. Role of asymmetric dimethylarginine (ADMA) in diabetic vascular complications. Curr Pharm Des. 2008;14(25):2613–8.
- Yang P, Feng J, Peng Q, et al. Advanced glycation end products: potential mechanism and therapeutic target in cardiovascular complications under diabetes. Oxidative Med Cell Longev. 2019;2019:9570616.
- Yasuda S, Miyazaki S, Kanda M, et al. Intensive treatment of risk factors in patients with type-2 diabetes mellitus is associated with improvement of endothelial function coupled with a reduction in the levels of plasma asymmetric dimethylarginine and endogenous inhibitor of nitric oxide synthase. Eur Heart J. 2006;27(10):1159–65.
- Yu G, Liu P, Shi Y, et al. Sitagliptin stimulates endothelial progenitor cells to induce endothelialization in aneurysm necks through the SDF-1/CXCR4/NRF2 signaling pathway. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2019;10:823.
- Yue WS, Lau KK, Siu CW, et al. Impact of glycemic control on circulating endothelial progenitor cells and arterial stiffness in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2011a;10:113.
- Yue X, Hu H, Koetsier M, et al. Reference values for the Chinese population of skin autofluorescence as a marker of advanced glycation end products accumulated in tissue. Diabet Med. 2011b;28(7):818–23.
- Zhang H, Shen Y-W, Zhang L-J, et al. Targeting endothelial cell-specific molecule 1 protein in cancer: a promising therapeutic approach. Front Oncol. 2021;11:2002.
- Zhao W, Zhao L, Liao J, et al. Early risk assessment of circulating endothelial progenitor cells and plasma stromal cell-derived factor-1 for nondisabling ischemic cerebrovascular events. BMC Neurol. 2019;19(1):22.
- Zhou S, Zhu Q, Li X, et al. Asymmetric dimethylarginine and all-cause mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):44692.
- Ziegler D. Type 2 diabetes as an inflammatory cardiovascular disorder. Curr Mol Med. 2005;5(3): 309–22.

Part V

Biomarkers in Specific Conditions or Scenarios of Diabetes



Biomarkers of Diabetes-Induced Nephropathy



Bamidele Stephen Ajilore and Bosede Olaitan Ajilore

Contents

Introduction	893
Overview of Pathogenesis of Diabetic Nephropathy	893
Stages of Diabetic Nephropathy	894
First Stage	894
Second Stage	895
Third Stage	895
Fourth Stage	895
Fifth Stage	895
Conventional Biomarker of Diabetic Nephropathy	895
New Biomarkers of Diabetic Nephropathy	896
Biomarkers of Glomerular Damage	896
Biomarkers of Tubular Damage	898
Inflammatory Biomarkers	900
Biomarkers of Oxidative Stress Associated with Diabetic Nephropathy	901
Future Perspectives in the Diagnosis and Prognosis of Diabetic Nephropathy	903
NADPH Oxidase	903
MicroRNA (miRNAs)	903
Proteomics	903
Metabolomics	904
Genomics	904

B. S. Ajilore (⊠)

B. O. Ajilore

Osun State Primary Health Care Development Board, Osogbo, Nigeria

891

Department of Medical Biochemistry, Faculty of Basic Medical Sciences, College of Health Sciences, Osun State University, Osogbo, Nigeria e-mail: bamidele.ajilore@uniosun.edu.ng

Department of Maternal and Child Health Nursing, Faculty of Nursing Sciences, College of Health Sciences, Ladoke Akintola University of Technology, Ogbomoso, Nigeria

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2_46

Mini-Dictionary of Terms	904
Key Facts of Biomarkers of Diabetes-Induced Nephropathy	905
Summary Points	905
References	905

Abstract

Diabetic nephropathy (DN) is the leading cause of end stage renal disease. Therefore, the assessment of renal function and early diagnosis of glomerular and tubular injuries is very important measure in the management of type 1 and type 2 diabetic patients. The diagnosis of DN for years has been routinely determined by the presence of microalbuminuria (MA). Several studies have showed that presence of MA may be transient and does not necessarily reflect permanent kidney damage. There could also be glomerulo-tubular damage in diabetic patient without presenting with albuminuria. Decline in the renal function, cellular and extracellular derangements in both the glomerulus and tubules has been associated with array of biological markers which could be of help in the diagnosis, prognosis, and the overall management of the affected patients. Identifying more biomarkers of both research and clinical importance to diagnose and predict progression of kidney damage in diabetics is necessary.

Keywords

Diabetes · Diabetic kidney disease · Diabetic nephropathy · Biomarkers

Abbreviati	ons							
AGE	Advanced glycated end-products							
AUC	Area under curve							
DAG	Diacyl glycerol							
DKD	Diabetic kidney disease							
DM	Diabetic mellitus							
DN	Diabetic nephropathy							
ECM	Extracellular matrix							
GFR	Glomerular filtration rate							
IgG	Immunoglobulin G							
L-PGDS	Lipocalin-type prostaglandin D synthase							
MA	Microalbuminuria							
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase							
NADPH	Nicotinamide adenine di-nucleotide phosphate hydrogen							
NF-кb	Nuclear factor kappa b							
РКС	Protein kinase C							
RAGE	Receptors for advanced glycated end-products							
ROS	Reactive oxygen species							
TGF-β1	Tumor growth factor beta 1							
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor							

Introduction

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is an oxidative and metabolic disorder of carbohydrate primarily, but metabolism of protein and lipids are affected in complicated cases (Ajilore et al. 2021). It is characterized by increase in blood sugar above normal level due to absolute or relative insulin deficiency. The primary factor in the development of diabetic complications is persistent chronic hyperglycemia (Aronson and Rayfield 2002). DM is associated with diseases of the eyes, kidney, heart, and liver. Some of the associated biochemical complications are hypoglycemia, hyperglycemic crisis, diabetic ketoacidosis, and hyperglycemic hyperosmolar state. Diabetic kidney disease (nephropathy) is a leading cause of chronic renal failure with increase in both morbidity and mortality. It is characterized by decreased glomerular filtration rate (GFR), increased glomerular basement membrane thickness, collapsed glomerulus, tubulo-interstitial fibrosis, decreased excretion of albumin, and decreased creatinine clearance (Bonventre 2012; Letizia et al. 2017; Ajilore and Adesokan 2018). Persistent and uncontrolled hyperglycemia generates oxidative stress responsible for the development of pathological features of diabetic disorder of the kidney (Ajilore and Adesokan 2018). Recent researches have provided new insights into the dynamics of diagnostic and prognostic biomarkers of diabetic nephropathy. This chapter focuses on the different biomarkers being used in the assessment of various stages of diabetic kidney disease.

Overview of Pathogenesis of Diabetic Nephropathy

Hyperglycemia-induced tissue damage (Alter et al. 2012) is the main insult responsible for pathological changes in the nephron of diabetic patients (Fang et al. 2012). There is oxidative stress when there is imbalance between prooxidant and antioxidant equilibrium (intracellular antioxidants and antioxidant enzymes) (Palacios 2011). Persistent hyperglycemia causes superoxide overproduction in the electron transport chain in the mitochondria which serves as the main mechanism for the development of diabetes at the molecular level. There is also evidence of increase in NADPH oxidase activity which is responsible for ROS production in the diabetic kidney disease (Jomova et al. 2011).

Activation of protein kinase C (PKC) pathway results as well in the production of ROS in diabetes. In addition, ROS has been reported to activate PKC, MAPK, JAK/STAT, and transcription factors (NF- κ b, AP-1, and SP-1) and upregulate TGF- β 1 and fibronectin levels leading to extracellular matrix (ECM) accumulation seen in diabetic disease of the kidney. NADPH oxidase activity is also implicated in the development of diabetic disease of the kidney. PKC has also been demonstrated to be involved in the activation of NADPH oxidase by high blood glucose and free fatty (Jomova et al. 2011). PKC inhibitors effectively inhibit hyperglycemia and free fatty acid-induced ROS generation. The signaling pathways being regulated by ROS



Fig. 1 Pathogenesis of diabetic kidney disease. Hyperglycemia-induced tissue damage via activation of signaling pathways. *TGF* tumor growth factor, *DAG* diacyl glycerol, *AGE* advanced glycated end-products, *ROS* reactive oxygen species

are suggested to be responsible for deposition of ECM in diabetic kidney disease. Hyperglycemia generates ROS which activate signal transduction cascades (PKC, MAPK, and JAK/STAT) and transcription factors (NF-kB, AP-1, and Sp1) and upregulates TGF-B1 and fibronectin in renal cells. Besides its function in upregulating synthesis of ECM, ROS are also involved in the degradation of ECM and also in transition of epithelium and mesenchyme in the tubular epithelial cells which leads the widening of glomerular space and that of tubule-interstitial expansion (Bai et al. 2012). It has been shown that ROS that are dichlorofluorescein sensitive increases in the glomerulus in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats (Wang et al. 2012). Another pathophysiology for the development and progression of diabetic disease of the kidney is through advanced glycated end-products (AGE). AGE produce ROS directly or through its receptor, and ROS also promote formation of AGE (Lai et al. 2012). When receptor for AGE (RAGE) is overexpressed, development of diabetic kidney and eye diseases are exaggerated. RAGE can also be inhibited by formation of AGE formation. Intracellular antioxidants can also inhibit upregulation of TGF- β and fibronectin induced by hyperglycemia (Lin et al. 2018) and thereby reduce the resulting oxidative stress by increasing activities of antioxidant enzymes (Fig. 1).

Stages of Diabetic Nephropathy

Disease of the kidney in DM affects about 25–40% of type 1. There are five stages of diabetic kidney disease based on the evaluation of the renal function to explain the progression of the disease.

First Stage

There is hyperfiltration from increased demand on the neurons. This leads to increase in rate of filtration of the glomerulus (GFR) and glomerular hypertrophy.

Second Stage

In the second stage, GFR remains elevated or normal, but the assault to the glomerulus has progressed. There is significant microalbuminuria due to persistent hyperfiltration. This is evidenced by expansion of the mesangium or thickening of the basement membrane. Patients in the second stage excrete >30 mg urine albumin per day. If microalbuminuria persists, chronic disease of the kidney is developed. It is advisable that all DM patients should go for routine microalbuminuria yearly.

Third Stage

In stage 3, microallbuminuria persists and the damage to the glomerulus has progressed to clinical albuminuria. The patient urine is tested positive using dipstick at this stage. The urine contains >300 mg of albumin per day. Development of hypertension usually occurs during the third stage. There is also sclerosis of the mesangium.

Fourth Stage

This occurs in the late stage of DM. There is overt-proteinuria and hypertension. There is also progressive sclerosis of the glomerulus with increasing microalbuminuria. The kidney begins to fail since capability to filter has started to decline, and there is also increase in urea nitrogen and creatinine in blood. Ten percent of GFR is lost every year.

Fifth Stage

This is the chronic stage of renal disease. Glomerular fitration rate, GFR, is <10 mL/min). There is glomerular fibrosis and sclerosis. Renal replacement therapy (i.e., hemodialysis, dialysis of the peritoneum, renal transplantation) is the mainstay of treatment (Romesh 2000).

Conventional Biomarker of Diabetic Nephropathy

Microalbuminuria is the earliest standard routine biomarker to detect diabetic nephropathy (DN) in the early stage. Its accuracy is a subject of concerns because not all diabetics with microalbuminuria will end up with end-stage renal disease (Adler et al. 2003). There could be renal dysfunction before the appearance of microalbuminuria in few cases, but the presence of microalbuminuria suggests ongoing kidney damage (Uwaezuoke 2017).

New Biomarkers of Diabetic Nephropathy

Biomarkers of DN are classified based on the source and pathological changes involved into the following:

- A. Glomerular damage biomarkers
- B. Tubular damage biomarkers
- C. Inflammatory biomarkers
- D. Oxidative stress biomarkers

It is of note that the classification above is dynamic. There is an overlap in the classification. An inflammatory biomarker could be as well listed under biomarkers for glomerular damage, etc. The sensitivity and specificity of any biomarker can be assessed according to its diagnostic accuracy using AUC (area under curve) criteria.

Biomarkers of Glomerular Damage

The following are markers of damage to the glomerulus: transferrin, IgG, immunoglobulin G ceruloplasmin, type IV collagen, laminin, glycosaminoglycans (GAGs), lipocalin-type prostaglandin D synthase (L-PGDS), fibronectin, podocytespodocalyxin, and VEGF (Table 1). Appearance of transferrin in the urine during DN progression is positively associated with albumin-creatinine ratio (ACR) but negatively correlated to glomerular filtration rate (GFR) (Al-Rubeaan et al. 2017). Transferrin is a protein with molecular weight of 76.5 kDa. This is responsible for its low ionic load which allows it to freely pass through the glomerular membrane (Narita et al. 2004; Ito et al. 2008). Urinary transferrin has been demonstrated as a more reliable glomerular biomarker than albuminuria.

Immunoglobulin G (IgG) is an anionic protein in the serum with molecular weight of 150 kDa which is synthesized secondary to immune response. Its high molecular weight makes it difficult to pass the glomerular barrier (Gohda et al. 2012). IgG can be excreted in urine of non-albuminuric type 2 diabetes (DM) patient simultaneously with high levels of urinary transferrin and ceruloplasmin (Narita et al. 2004). Ceruloplasmin is a negatively charged copper-carrying protein with relatively high molecular weight (HMW) of 151 kDa. Its high molecular weight and its being negatively charged make it difficult to pass the glomerulus. It is secreted in the urine simultaneously with increased transferrin IgG in non-albuminuric type 2 DM patient (Narita et al. 2004). High level of ceruloplasmin in urine has positive correlation albumin excretion and predicts the development of microalbuminuria in previously non-albuminuric type 2 diabetes patients.

Type IV collagen is a constituent of glomerular basement membrane and mesangial matrix. It is also seen in proximal tubular cells and podocytes (Adler et al. 2000). Its elevated level is seen in normoalbuminuric type 1 DM patients. Type IV collagen synthesis is stimulated by persistent hyperglycemia and its excretion may be an early indicator diabetic renal injury (Fiseha 2015). Type IV collagen in the

			Dra miara	Method	
Biomarker	T1DM	T2DM	albuminuria	Detection	Clinical Significance
Transferrin	+	+	+	Urine	Predictor of early stage; increased before development of microalbuminuria
Immunoglobulin G	+	+	+	Urine	Associated with the progression of glomerular diffuse lesions
Ceruloplasmin	+	+	+	Urine	Suggest renal hemodynamic changes, such as increased interglomerular hydraulic pressure
Type IV collagen	+	+	+	Urine	Predictor of advanced stage of DN; associated with a faster decline in eGFR
Laminin	+	+	+	Urine	Has association with NAG (N-acetyl-beta- D-glucosaminidase) and alpha-1- microglobulin
Glycosaminoglycans	+	+	+	Urine	Associated with other tubular markers
Lipocalin-type prostaglandin D synthase		+	+	Urine	It predicts renal lesions, but less relevant as an early biomarker of DN
Fibronectin	+	+	-	Urine	
Podocytes- podocalyxin, and VEGF	+	+	_	Serum/ urine	Predictor of progression; increased during the earlier stage of DN and shown to significantly correlate with urinary albumin excretion

 Table 1 Glomerular biomarkers associated with diabetic nephropathy

TIDM type 1 diabetes mellitus, T2DM type 2 diabetes mellitus + = Presence, - = Absence

urine could also be an indicator renal damage in type 2 DM patient (Okonogi et al. 2001). High level type IV collagen excretion in urine has also been reported in pre-diabetic normoalbuminuric patients (Takizawa et al. 1998). Urinary type IV collagen has also been found to show more sensitivity than albuminuria (Kotajima et al. 2000).

Laminin is an HMW glycoprotein with 400-900 kDa. It is a constituent of the glomerular basement membrane and mesangium. Increased excretion of laminin in urine of normoalbuminuric type 2 DM patients is positively associated with N-acetyl-beta-D-glucosaminidase, alpha-1-microglobulin, and type IV collagen excretion (Banu et al. 1995; Papadopoulou-Marketou et al. 2017). Glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) are low molecular weight (LMW) (13 and 30 kDa) constituents of glomerular basement membrane, tubular basement membrane, and extracellular matrix. Their excretions in the urine are also seen in normoalbuminuric DM patients. High level of GAGs in the urine is associated with excretion of tubular markers like Tamm-Horsfall protein, which expresses a distal tubular dysfunction as well (Ueta et al. 1995; Torffvit 1999). L-PGDS is an LMW (20–31 kDa) secretory protein of the lipocalin family which is implicated in the metabolism of arachidonic acid and synthesis of prostaglandins. It is a glomerular biomarker which reflects increased permeability. High urine level of L-PGDS is seen in normoalbuminuric type 2 DM patients and it is a very useful biomarker to predict future development of albuminuria (Cohen-Bucay and Viswanathan 2012; Davani et al. 2015).

Fibronectin, an HMW protein with 440 kDa, is a constituent of glomerular extracellular matrix. High urinary level has been implicated in macroalbuminuric types 1 and 2 DM patients. It is associated with progressive diffused glomerular lesions like glomerulosclerosis and fibrosis (Takahashi 1995; Fagerudd et al. 1997; Cao et al. 2016). Nephrin is a transmembrane protein found in the slit diaphragm of the glomerular filtration barrier while podocalyxin, a transmembrane protein member of the CD34 family is the main component of the glycocalyx of podocytes in the glomerulus (Lever and Sheer 2010; Hara et al. 2012). Wang et al. (2007) have described the presence of nephrin in the urine of type 2 DM patients with proteinuria and reduced GFR. Presence of nephrin in urine (nephrinuria) is as a result of slit diaphragm injury related to injury of the podocytes and is considered as a biomarker of early injury of the glomerulus in types 1 and 2 diabetic patients. In DN, nephrinuria could be caused by nephrin dysregulation in DM patients even before appearance of microalbuminuria (Patari et al. 2003; Jim et al. 2012). VEGF (Vascular endothelial growth factor) is also a podocyte biomarker that is affected in podocyte impairment in DM (Petrica et al. 2014).

Biomarkers of Tubular Damage

Microalbuminuria which is the gold standard biomarker for glomerular injury in DN has also been considered as biomarker of tubular injury in DN. The tubular biomarkers discussed under this section have proved that tubular injury can be present early in DN, even before glomerular injury. These biomarkers include neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL), α -1-microglobulin, kidney injury molecule 1 (KIM-1), N-acetyl- β -D-glucosaminidase (NAG), cystatin C, and liver-type fatty acid-binding protein (L-FABP) (Table 2).

Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin NGAL is an LMW protein (25 kDa) that belongs to the lipocalin protein family which is mainly produced in the renal

			Dra miara	Method	
Biomarker	T1DM	T2DM	albuminuria	Detection	Clinical Significance
Neutrophil gelatinase- associated lipocalin	+	+	+	Serum/ urine	High level reflects structural damage of renal cells
α-1- microglobulin	_	+	+	Urine	It predicts early tubular injury in normoalbuminuric diabetic patient
Kidney injury molecule-1	_	+	+	Urine	It predicts early tubular injury in normoalbuminuric diabetic patient
N-acetyl-β-D- glucosaminidase (NAG)	+	+	+	Serum/ urine	Predictor of early stage DN; associated with normoalbuminuric and micro-albuminuric stages; increased in parallel with the severity of disease
Cystatin C	_	+	+	Urine/ serum	It is useful for early detection of the decrease in glomerular filtration rate
Liver-type fatty acid-binding protein (L-FABP)	+	+	+	Urine	The values of urinary L-FABP increase with the decline of renal function. It is an independent predictor of the progression of DN

Table 2 Tubular biomarkers associated with diabetic nephropathy

TIDM type 1 diabetes mellitus, T2DM type 2 diabetes mellitus + = Presence, - = Absence

tubules when there is structural kidney injury (but a lesser amount is also produced in the lung, trachea, stomach, and colon) and excreted in urine (Devarajan 2010; Thrailkill et al. 2010; Nauta et al. 2011). Serum NGAL is found in early tubulointerstitial damage even in non-albuminuric diabetic patients (Lacquaniti et al. 2013; Papadopoulou-Marketou et al. 2014). Urinary NGAL can be used to differentiate intrinsic acute kidney injury (AKI) from pre-renal acute injury. In AKI, urinary NGAL concentration is increased before increased in serum creatinine concentration (Mishra et al. 2004). Urinary NGAL is a marker of structural damage and not of renal function since increase in its level could occur in the absence of deficit in the renal function (Papadopoulou-Marketou et al. 2017). NGAL can also be produced to a lesser extent in other tissues like heart but it is excreted in the urine (Devarajan 2010). Therefore, high level of this biomarker in the serum could be a prognosis of cardiovascular co-morbidity (Papadopoulou-Marketou et al. 2017). Alpha-1-microglobulin is an LMW serum protein (27-kDa). This favor it being filtered easily through the glomerulus but reabsorbed in the proximal tubule. Tubular dysfunction in DN leads to alteration in its reabsorption with increased excretion in the urine (Kubisz et al. 2015; Papadopoulou-Marketou et al. 2017). Alpha-1-microglobulin is cheap and effective biomarker to predict DN in early stages of DM (Shore et al. 2010). Kidney injury molecule-1 (KIM-1) is a membrane protein found in the proximal convoluted tubular cells. This membrane glycoprotein is a sensitive biomarker for acute kidney injury and its increased level in urine has been observed in normoalbuminuric type 2 DM patient (Bonventre 2014). Urinary level of KIM-1 increases as albuminuria increases (Uwaezuoke 2017).

N-acetyl-B-D-glucosaminidase (NAG) is a proximal tubular cell lysosomal enzyme (Gluhovschi et al. 2016). NAG is a reliable prognostic marker of diabetic kidney injury. Its HMW impairs its being freely passed through the glomerular filtration barrier, hence its increased level in urine (Ajilore et al. 2021). NAG is excreted in urine throughout the course of DM in both type 1 and type 2 individuals, and even before the appearance of microalbuminuria (Kim et al. 2016). Cystatin C is a protein of LMW (13 kDa) which is produced by the body's nucleated cells (Jeon et al. 2011). Its LMW makes it to be easily filtered by the glomerulus but it is reabsorbed by the proximal tubular cells where it is metabolized. Cystatin C serum level is neither dependent on the muscle mass nor the diet as it is observed in case creatinine (Agnieszka et al. 2015). Serum cystatin is a sensitive biomarker in detection of mild glomerular injury while urinary cystatin C indicates tubular injury. It increases early in diabetes and prediabetic nephropathy (Gluhovschi et al. 2016). Liver-type fatty acid-binding protein (L-FABP) is a LMW (14 kDa) protein involved in the metabolism of long-chain fatty acids (Papadopoulou-Marketou et al. 2014). It is expressed primarily in the liver but can be expressed secondarily in renal proximal tubular cells in case of tubular injury. The urinary excretion of this protein is elevated in patients even before the development of glomerular damage or albuminuria (Campion et al. 2017).

Inflammatory Biomarkers

In DN, inflammation of the kidney results in the release of inflammatory cells (interleukins and cytokines) such as TNF- α , MCP-1, TGF- β 1, IL-1 β , IL-6, and IL-8 that aggravates the tissue injury (Table 3). TNF- α , an important cytokine, is produced by macrophages, renal tubular cells, and glomerular mesangial cells during hyperglycemia. TNF- α causes accumulation of extracellular matrix in glomerulus and tubules leading to alteration of glomerular filtration, tubular permeability, and reabsorption (Campion et al. 2017). Clinical studies have shown that serum and urinary concentrations of TNF- α in diabetic patients with renal dysfunction increases with progression of the disease. Serum and urinary TNF- α could predict the progression of DN to ESRD independent of albuminuria status of the diabetic patient (Gohda et al. 2012; Niewczas et al. 2012).

Biomarker Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha (TNF-α)	T1DM +	T2DM +	Pre micro- albuminuria +	Method of Detection Serum/ urine	Clinical Significance Predictor of DN progression to ESRD and GFR loss; associated with the presence and severity of microalbuminuric stage
Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein-1 (MCP-1)	+	+	+	Urine	Predictor of progressive renal disease; correlated significantly with albuminuria levels; accelerate nephropathy by increasing inflammation and fibrosis; potential for therapeutic target for treating DN
Tumor Growth Factor Beta TGF-β1	+	+	_	Serum	Predictor of DN progression to ESRD; associated with macroalbuminuria and risk of mortality
Interleukins (IL-1β, IL-6, IL-8, IL-18)	+	+		Serum/ urine	Predictor of DN progression; strongly associated with future risk of early progressive renal decline

 Table 3
 Inflammatory biomarkers associated with diabetic nephropathy

TIDM type 1 diabetes mellitus, T2DM type 2 diabetes mellitus + = Presence, - = Absence

The infiltration of inflammatory cells like monocytes and macrophages in DM is the hallmark of the progression to DN. Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein-1 (MCP-1) is a cytokine secreted by mononuclear leukocytes, cortical tubular epithelial cells, and podocytes during inflammation of the kidney, glomerulo-tubular damage, fibrosis, and atrophy (Wada et al. 2000).

Biomarkers of Oxidative Stress Associated with Diabetic Nephropathy

Oxidative stress is key to the development and progression of kidney disease in diabetes mellitus (Ha and Lee 2001; Gluhovschi et al. 2016). Few biomarkers found in this class are 8-oxo-7,8-dihydro-2-deoxyguanosine (8oHdG), haptoglobin (Hp), pentosidine, uric acid, and redox-regulating protein, p66Shc (Table 4). 8-oxo-7,8-dihydro-2-deoxyguanosine (8oHdG) is found in the urine of diabetic patient. The production of 8oHdG is as a result of oxidative damage to DNA, and the marker is excreted in the urine unmetabolized. Urinary 8oHdG is a good clinical predictor of

Biomarker 8-oxo-7,8- dihydro-2- deoxyguanosine (%2HdG)	T1DM +	T2DM -	Pre micro- albuminuria +	Method of Detection Urine	Clinical Significance Useful clinical marker to predict the development of DN, and its high urinary overstion is significant of
Haptoglobin (Hp)	+	_	+	Urine	DN progression Predictor of DN progression to ESRD and
Redox- regulating protein p66Shc	+	+	+	Plasma/ renal biopsy	reduced GFR Predictors of the degree of tubular damage. Therapeutic target in DN
Pentosidine	_	+	+	Serum/ urine	Predictor of progression; influenced, by glycemic levels and renal function; Biomarker of microvascular complications and diabetic cardiovascular risk
Uric acid	+	+	+	Serum	Predictor of progression; Associated with various stages of DN, onset and progression; Potential target for therapeutic intervention in diabetes

 Table 4
 Biomarkers of oxidative stress associated with diabetic nephropathy

T1DM type 1 diabetes mellitus, T2DM type 2 diabetes mellitus

+ = Presence, - = Absence

both development and progression of DN in diabetic patients (Hinokio et al. 2002; Wu et al. 2004).

Haptoglobin (Hp), an alpha-2 sialo-glycoprotein, is another marker of oxidative stress that can be used to assess the development of DN in diabetic patient. Oxidative stress resulted from continuous hyperglycemia in diabetes generates free oxy-Hb and met-Hb causing increase in the level of this marker since Hp functions as an antioxidant and tends to bind Hb (Ajilore et al. 2021) to prevent iron loss through the kidney. Urinary concentrations of Hp rise following a drop in GFR before the development of macroalbuminuria. The predictive ability of urinary Hp appears to be equal to that of the albumin excretion rate (Papadopoulou-Marketou et al. 2017).

The formation of advanced glycated end products (AGEs) in the cell is due to oxidative stress generated as a result of persistent hyperglycemia. The rate of accumulation of these AGEs like N(6)-carboxymethyllysine and pentosidine is increased in diabetes and as well correlate with the severity of complications in diabetic patients (Campion et al. 2017). Pentosidine is one of the best chemically characterized AGE compounds, and there is elevated urine and serum concentrations in type 2 DN patients with microalbuminuria and renal dysfunction (Piarulli et al. 2009).

Uric acid (UA), a molecule involved in oxidative stress, also plays a role in the progression of DN. UA is the final enzymatic product in the degradation of purine nucleosides.

The redox-regulating protein, p66Shc, is an adaptor protein localized within the mitochondrial fraction. It functions in reducing equivalents of the mitochondrial electron transfer chain by the oxidation of cytochrome C. p66Shc is also involved in mitochondrial reactive oxygen species generation and apoptosis. Increased expression of p66Shc is associated with development of DN (Bock et al. 2013; Xu et al. 2016).

Future Perspectives in the Diagnosis and Prognosis of Diabetic Nephropathy

NADPH Oxidase

Hyperglycemia and other disease conditions like dyslipidemia and hypertension create a diabetic environment that generates ROS, e.g., superoxide, and activates signaling pathways (Fig. 1) resulting in oxidative stress and causing damage to both endothelial and epithelial cells of renal tubules. NADPH oxidase plays a key role in the oxidative stress. One of the isoforms of this enzyme, NOX-4, is key to the mechanism of ROS generation (Gorin and Block 2013). Associations between NOX-4 and DN need to be investigated since deletion of NOX-4 gene could abate progression of diabetic kidney disease.

MicroRNA (miRNAs)

miRNAs have been one of the latest novel diagnostic biomarkers and drug targets in the pathogenesis of many diseases including DN. They are small noncoding RNA (20–30 nucleotides) which inhibits protein translation, induces degradation of mRNAs, and thereby acts as regulators of gene expression (Simpson et al. 2016). They have been investigated to be involved in the post-transcriptional regulation of many gene expressions and control of many biological processes such as apoptosis, DNA repair, oxidative stress response, cancer, and cellular development (Campion et al. 2017). miRNAs that target genes associated with inflammation, fibrosis, and oxidative stress seem to be promising new tools in the diagnosis, prognosis, and progression of DN (Xu et al. 2014; Eissa et al. 2016; Barutta et al. 2017).

Proteomics

Proteomics is another promising diagnostic and prognostic tools or methods. Proteomics involves use of large-scale experimental analysis of proteins, through protein purification and mass spectrometry (Papadopoulou-Marketou et al. 2017). The method introduces several biomarkers of AKI and CKD, found in urine, blood, or tissues. Proteomics is a noninvasive tool that could be used in a preclinical phase of kidney diseases. A study revealed collagen fragments as a promising biomarker which can be used to detect DN 3–5 years before the onset of microalbuminuria (MA) in diabetic patients (Zurbig et al. 2012). Fetuin-A is another biomarker responsible for the development of MA and reduced GFR in DN (Inoue et al. 2013).

Metabolomics

Findings of metabolomic profiling in some diabetic patients have revealed the importance of the method regarding progression of DN to ESRD. A study showed that the levels of some metabolites like 4-oxopentanoate, glucoronate, 2-hydroxyi-sobutyrate, 5-oxoproline, pimelate, N-acetylneuraminate, 3-methylhistidine, phthalate, trp, hippurate, and 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutarate have good predictive values regarding the progression of diabetic kidney disease, DKD (Kimura et al. 2012). In another study where a metabolomics-based approach was used in the identification of potential biomarkers of DKD, the main metabolites found were products of lipid metabolism like esterified and non-esterified fatty acids, carnitines, phospholipids, branch-chain amino acid and aromatic amino acid metabolism, carnitine and tryptophan metabolism, nucleotide metabolism (purine, pyrimidine), the tricarboxylic acid cycle, or uremic solutes (Colhoun and Marcovecchio 2018).

Genomics

Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) for single-nucleotide variations (SNVs) have confirmed genetic predisposition in relatives of patients with DKD (Papadopoulou-Marketou et al. 2017). Chromosome 18 has been implicated as the site of SNVs responsible for DKD. Also, an association between the carnosinase D18S880 microsatellite polymorphism and DKD susceptibility has been confirmed in Caucasians (Conserva et al. 2016).

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

- **Dichlorofluorescein.** It is an organic dye of the fluorescein family, being substituted at the 2 and 7 positions by chloride. Fluorescein is an organic compound and dye which is widely used as a fluorescent tracer.
- *Glomerulo-tubular.* Segment of the proximal tubule to reabsorb a constant fraction of glomerular filtrate and solutes delivered to it.
- Microalbuminuria. It is the urinary albumin excretion of 30–300 mg/day, or 20–200 μg/min) is an earlier sign of vascular damage.
- Nephropathy. This is the deterioration of kidney function.
- Non-albuminuric. No urinary albumin excretion

Key Facts of Biomarkers of Diabetes-Induced Nephropathy

Diabetic nephropathy is also known as diabetic kidney disease.

It is the chronic loss of kidney function in individuals with diabetes mellitus.

It is one of the leading causes of chronic kidney disease and end-stage renal disease.

- A biomarker, or biological marker, is a measurable indicator of some biological state or condition.
- Biomarkers of diabetes-induced nephropathy are those biological markers that are used to monitor the status of the kidney in diabetic individuals.

Summary Points

- Biomarkers of diabetic nephropathy are used to diagnose and predict progression of kidney damage.
- Hyperglycemia-induced kidney damage is the main insult responsible for pathological changes in the nephron of diabetic individuals.
- Microalbuminuria is the earliest standard routine biomarker to detect diabetic nephropathy in the early stage, but its accuracy is a subject of concerns.
- New biomarkers of DN are classified into glomerular damage biomarkers, tubular damage biomarkers, inflammatory biomarkers, and oxidative stress biomarkers based on the source and pathological changes.
- Future novel biomarkers of DN with promising diagnostic and prognostic relevance are NOX-4 (isoform of NADPH oxidase), miRNAs, proteomics, metabolomics, and genomics.

References

- Adler SG, Feld S, Striker L, et al. Glomerular type IV collagen in patients with diabetic nephropathy with and without additional glomerular disease. Kidney Int. 2000;57:2084–92.
- Adler AI, Stevens RJ, Manley SE, et al. Development and progression of nephropathy in type 2 diabetes: the United Kingdom prospective diabetes study (UKPDS 64). Kidney Int. 2003;63 (1):225–32.
- Agnieszka Ż, Agnieszka G, Katarzyna R, et al. Role of new biomarkers for the diagnosis of nephropathy associated with diabetes type 2. Folia Med Cracov. 2015;4:21–33.
- Ajilore BS, Adesokan AA. Antidiabetic effects of Tetracarpidium conophorum seed on biomarkers of diabetes-induced nephropathy in rats. Asian Pac J Trop Biomed. 2018;8:593–7.
- Ajilore BS, Olorunnisola OS, Owoade AO. Tetracarpidium conophorum seed extract improves markers of diabetic disease progression in Streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Phytomedicine-Plus. 2021;1(4) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phyplu.2021.100091.
- Al-Rubeaan K, Siddiqui K, Al-Ghonaim MA, et al. Assessment of the diagnostic value of different biomarkers in relation to various stages of diabetic nephropathy in type 2 diabetic patients. Sci Rep. 2017;7:2684. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-02421-9.
- Alter ML, Ott IM, von Websky K, et al. DPP-4 inhibition on top of angiotensin receptor blockade offers a new therapeutic approach for diabetic nephropathy. Kidney Blood Press Res. 2012;36:119–130.
- Aronson D, Rayfield EJ. How hyperglycemia promotes atherosclerosis: molecular mechanisms. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2002;1:1.
- Bai S, Zeng R, Zhou Q, et al. Cdc42-interacting protein-4 promotes TGF-Î'1-induced epithelialmesenchymal transition and extracellular matrix deposition in renal proximal tubular epithelial cells. Int J Biol Sci. 2012;8:859–869.
- Banu N, Hara H, Okamura M, et al. Urinary excretion of type IV collagen and laminin in the evaluation of nephropathy in NIDDM: comparison with urinary albumin and markers of tubular dysfunction and/or damage. Diabetes Res Clin. 1995;29(1):57–67.
- Barutta F, Bruno G, Matullo G, et al. MicroRNA-126 and micro-/macrovascular complications of type 1 diabetes in the EURODIAB prospective complications Study. Acta Diabetol. 2017;54:133–9.
- Bock F, Shahzad K, Wang H, et al. Activated protein C ameliorates diabetic nephropathy by epigenetically inhibiting the redox enzyme p66Shc. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2013;110:648–53.
- Bonventre JV. Can we target tubular damage to prevent renal function decline in diabetes? Semin Nephrol. 2012;32:452–462.
- Bonventre JV. Kidney injury molecule-1: a translational journey. Trans Am Clin Climatol Assoc. 2014;125:293–9.
- Campion CG, Sanchez-Ferras O, Batchu SN. Potential role of serum and urinary biomarkers in diagnosis and prognosis of diabetic nephropathy. Can J Kidney Health Dis. 2017;4:1–18.
- Cao YL, Duan Y, Zhu LX, et al. TGF-b1, in association with the increased expression of connective tissue growth factor, induce the hypertrophy of the ligamentum flavum through the p38 MAPK pathway. Int J Mol Med. 2016;38:391–8.
- Cohen-Bucay A, Viswanathan G. Urinary markers of glomerular injury in diabetic nephropathy. Int J Nephrol. 2012;2012:1–11.
- Colhoun HM, Marcovecchio ML. Biomarkers of diabetic kidney disease. Diabetologia. 2018;61: 996–1011.
- Conserva F, Gesualdo L, Papale M. A systems biology overview on human diabetic nephropathy: from genetic susceptibility to post-transcriptional and posttranslational modifications. J Diabetes Res. 2016;2016:7934504.
- Davani D, Kumar S, Palaia T, et al. Lipocalin-type prostaglandin D2 synthase reduces glucagon secretion in alpha TC-1 clone 6 cells via the DP1 receptor. Biochem Biophys Rep. 2015;4:224–7.
- Devarajan P. Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin: a promising biomarker for human acute kidney injury. Biomark Med. 2010;4:265–80.
- Eissa S, Matboli M, Aboushahba R, et al. Urinary exosomal microRNA panel unravels novel biomarkers for diagnosis of type 2 diabetic kidney disease. J Diabetes Complicat. 2016;30: 1585–92.
- Fagerudd JA, Groop PH, Honkanen E, et al. Urinary excretion of TGF-β1, PDGF-BB and fibronectin in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus patients. Kidney Int. 1997;51(63):S195–7.
- Fang D, Wan X, Deng W, et al. Fufang Xue Shuan Tong capsules inhibit renal oxidative stress markers and indices of nephropathy in diabetic rats. Exp Ther Med. 2012;4:871–876.
- Fiseha T. Urinary biomarkers for early diabetic nephropathy in type 2 diabetic patients. Biomarker Res. 2015;3:16.
- Gluhovschi C, Gluhovschi G, Petrica L, et al. Urinary biomarkers in the assessment of early diabetic nephropathy. J Diabetes Res. 2016;4626125:1–13. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/4626125.
- Gohda T, Walker WH, Wolkow P, et al. Elevated urinary excretion of immunoglobulins in nonproteinuric patients with type 1 diabetes. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. 2012;303:F157–62.
- Gorin Y, Block K. Nox as a target for diabetic complications. Clin Sci (Lond). 2013;125:361–82. https://doi.org/10.1042/CS20130065.
- Ha H, Lee HB. Oxidative stress in diabetic nephropathy: basic and clinical information. Curr Diab Rep. 2001;1(3):282–7.
- Hara M, Yamagata K, Tomino Y, et al. Urinary podocalyxin is an early marker for podocyte injury in patients with diabetes: establishment of a highly sensitive ELISA to detect urinary podocalyxin. Diabetologia. 2012;55:2913–9.

- Hinokio Y, Suzuki S, Hirai M, et al. Urinary excretion of 8-oxo-7,8-dihydro-2-deoxyguanosine as a predictor of the development of diabetic nephropathy. Diabetologia. 2002;45(6):877–82.
- Inoue K, Wada J, Eguchi J, et al. Urinary fetuin a is a novel marker for diabetic nephropathy in type 2 diabetes identified by lectin microarray. PLoS One. 2013;8:e77118.
- Ito H, Fujita H, Takahashi T. Diagnostic biomarkers of diabetic nephropathy. Expert Opin Med Diagn. 2008;2:161–9.
- Jeon YK, Kim MR, Huh JE, et al. Cystatin C as an early biomarker of nephropathy in patients with type 2 diabetes. J Korean Med Sci. 2011;26(2):258–63.
- Jim B, Ghanta M, Qipo A, et al. Dysregulated nephrin in diabetic nephropathy of type 2 diabetes: a cross sectional study. PLoS One. 2012;7:e36041.
- Jomova K, Jenisova Z, Feszterova M, et al. Arsenic: toxicity, oxidative stress and human disease. J Appl Toxicol. 2011;31:95–107.
- Kim SR, Lee Y-H, Lee S-G, et al. Urinary N-acetyl-b-d-glucosaminidase, an early marker of diabetic kidney disease, might reflect glucose excursion in patients with type 2 diabetes. Medicine (Baltimore). 2016;95:e4114.
- Kimura T, Yasuda K, Yamamoto R, et al. Identification of biomarkers for development of end-stage kidney disease in chronic kidney disease by metabolomic profiling. Sci Rep. 2012;6:26138. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep26138.
- Kotajima N, Kimura T, Kanda T, et al. Type IV collagen as an early marker for diabetic nephropathy in non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. J Diabetes Complicat. 2000;14(1):13–7.
- Kubisz P, Stanciakova L, Sta J, et al. Endothelial and platelet markers in diabetes mellitus type 2. World J Diabetes. 2015;6(3):423–31.
- Lacquaniti A, Donato V, Pintaudi B, et al. Normoalbuminuric and diabetic nephropathy: tubular damage and NGAL. Acta Diabetol. 2013;50:935–42.
- Lai YL, Aoyama S, Ohata M, et al. Dysregulation of dimethylargininedimethylaminohydrolase/asymmetric dimethylarginine pathway in rat type II diabetic nephropathy. J Clin Biochem Nutr. 2012;51:143–149.
- Letizia Z, Anthony GWN, Giovanni C, et al. A more tubulocentric view of diabetic kidney disease. J Nephrol. 2017;30(6):701–17.
- Lever E, Sheer D. The role of nuclear organization in cancer. J Pathol. 2010;220:114-25.
- Lin YC, Chang YH, Yang SY, et al. Update of pathophysiology and management of diabetic kidney disease. J Formos Med Assoc. 2018;117(8):662–675.
- Mishra J, Mori K, Ma Q, et al. Amelioration of ischemic acute renal injury by neutrophil gelatinaseassociated lipocalin. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2004;15(12):3073–82.
- Narita T, Sasaki H, Hosoba M, et al. Parallel increase in urinary excretion rates of immunoglobulin G, ceruloplasmin, transferrin, and orosomucoid in normoalbuminuric type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetes Care. 2004;27:1176–81.
- Nauta FL, Boertien WE, Bakker SJL, et al. Glomerular and tubular damage markers are elevated in patients with diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2011;34:975–81.
- Niewczas MA, Gohda T, Skupien J, et al. Circulating TNF receptors 1 and 2 predict ESRD in type 2 diabetes. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2012;23(3):507–15.
- Okonogi H, Nishimura M, Utsunomiya Y, et al. Urinary type IV collagen excretion reflects renal morphological alterations and type IV collagen expression in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Clin Nephrol. 2001;55(5):357–64.
- Palacios HH, Yendiuri BB, Parvathaneni VB, et al. Mitochondrion-specific antioxidants as drug treatments for Alzheimer disease. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Target. 2011;10:149–162.
- Papadopoulou-Marketou N, Skevaki C, Kosteria I, et al. NGAL and cystatin C: two possible early markers of diabetic nephropathy in young patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus: one year follow up. Hormones. 2014;14:232–40.
- Papadopoulou-Marketou N, Kanaka-Gantenbein C, Marketos N, et al. Biomarkers of diabetic nephropathy: a 2017 update. Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci. 2017;54(5):326–42. https://doi.org/10. 1080/10408363.2017.1377682.

- Patari A, Forsblom C, Havana M, et al. Nephrinuria in diabetic nephropathy of type 1 diabetes. Diabetes. 2003;52:2969–74.
- Petrica L, Vlad A, Gluhovschi G, et al. Proximal tubule dysfunction is associated with podocyte damage biomarkers nephrin and vascular endothelial growth factor in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients: a crosssectional study. PLoS One. 2014;9:e112538.
- Piarulli F, Sartore G, Ceriello A, et al. Relationship between glyco-oxidation, antioxidant status and microalbuminuria in type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetologia. 2009;52:1419–25.
- Romesh K. Non-renal replacement modalities in treatment of diabetic nephropathy. Int J Diab Dev. Countries. 2000;20:127–132.
- Shore N, Khurshid R, Saleem M. Alpha-1 microglobulin: a marker for early detection of tubular disorders in diabetic nephropathy. J Ayub Med Coll Abbottabad. 2010;22(4):53–5.
- Simpson K, Wonnacott A, Fraser DJ, et al. MicroRNAs in diabetic nephropathy: from biomarkers to therapy. Curr Diab Rep. 2016;16:35.
- Takahashi M. Increased urinary fibronectin excretion in type II diabetic patients with microalbuminuria. Nihon Jinzo Gakkai Shi. 1995;37(6):336-42.
- Takizawa H, Satoh T, Kurusu A, et al. Increase of urinary type IV collagen in normoalbuminuric patients with impaired glucose tolerance. Nephron. 1998;79(4):474–5.
- Thrailkill KM, Moreau CS, Cockrell GE, et al. Disease and gender-specific dysregulation of NGAL and MMP-9 in type 1 diabetes mellitus. Endocrine. 2010;37:336–43.
- Torffvit O. Urinary sulphated glycosaminoglycans and TammHorsfall protein in type 1 diabetic patients. Scand J Urol Nephrol. 1999;33(5):328–32.
- Ueta I, Takamatsu K, Hashimoto K. Urinary glycosaminoglycans in patients with incipient diabetic nephropathy. Nihon Jinzo Gakkai Shi. 1995;37(1):17–23.
- Uwaezuoke SN. The role of novel biomarkers in predicting diabetic nephropathy: a review. Int J Nephrol Renov Dis. 2017;10:221–31.
- Wada T, Furuichi K, Sakai N, et al. Up-regulation of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 in tubulointerstitial lesions of human diabetic nephropathy. Kidney Int. 2000;58:1492–9.
- Wang G, Lai FM, Lai KB, et al. Messenger RNA expression of podocyte-associated molecules in the urinary sediment of patients with diabetic nephropathy. Nephron Clin Pract. 2007;106:169–79.
- Wang F, Tian F, Whitman SA, et al. Regulation of transforming growth factor I²1-dependent aldose reductase expression by the Nrf2 signal pathway in human mesangial cells. Eur J Cell Biol. 2012;91:774–781.
- Wu LL, Chiou CC, Chang PY, et al. Urinary 80HdG: a marker of oxidative stress to DNA and a risk factor for cancer, atherosclerosis and diabetics. Clin Chem Acta. 2004;339(1–2):1–9.
- Xu X, Xiao L, Xiao P. A glimpse of matrix metalloproteinases in diabetic nephropathy. Curr Med Chem. 2014;21:3244–60.
- Xu X, Zhu X, Ma M, et al. p66Shc: a novel biomarker of tubular oxidative injury in patients with diabetic nephropathy. Sci Rep. 2016;6:29302.
- Zurbig P, Jerums G, Hovind P, et al. Urinary proteomics for early diagnosis in diabetic nephropathy. Diabetes. 2012;61:3304–13.



44

Serum Vitamin D As a Biomarker in Diabetic: Applications and Associations with Retinopathy

Carolina Madeira and Manuel Falcão

Contents

Introduction	910
Vitamin D Deficiency	911
Vitamin D and Diabetes Mellitus	912
Vitamin D and Diabetic Retinopathy Development and Severity	912
Diabetic Retinopathy Pathophysiology – Where Does Vitamin D Stand?	913
Vitamin D Supplementation for DR Prevention – What Is the Current Evidence?	917
Applications to Prognosis	917
Conclusion	918
Key Facts	918
Mini Dictionary of Terms	918
Summary Points	918
References	919

Abstract

Vitamin D is a multifunctional hormone with multiple biological functions including regulation of endothelial function, angiogenesis, antioxidant and antiinflammatory pathways. Recent studies have shown that vitamin D plays a role in diabetic retinopathy (DR) pathophysiology. Moreover, it has found that vitamin D deficiency increases the risk of DR development, and that serum levels of vitamin D may correlate with DR severity.

Keywords

 $\label{eq:Vitamin} \begin{array}{l} D \cdot Biomarkers \cdot Diabetes \ mellitus \cdot Microvascular \ complications \cdot \\ Diabetic \ retinopathy \end{array}$

C. Madeira · M. Falcão (⊠)

Department of Ophthalmology, Centro Hospitalar de Vila Nova de Gaia e Espinho, Porto, Portugal

Faculty of Medicine, University of Porto, Porto, Portugal e-mail: falcao@med.up.pt

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

909

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 47

A	bb	re\	/iati	ions	

AGES	advanced glycation end products
DR	diabetic retinopathy
FIELD	Fenofibrate Intervention and Event Lowering in Diabetes Study
HIF-1	hypoxia-inducible factor-1
IFN-γ	Interferon gamma
IL	interleukin
NLRP3	NLR family pyrin domain containing 3
PDR	proliferative diabetic retinopathy
RAAS	renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system
T1DM	type 1 diabetes mellitus
T2DM	type 2 diabetes mellitus
TGF-β	transforming growth factor β
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor a
TXNIP	Thioredoxin interacting protein
VD	vitamin D
VDD	vitamin D deficiency
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor

Introduction

Vitamin D (VD) is a multifunctional hormone with two forms: vitamin D2 (ergocalciferol) and vitamin D3 (cholecalciferol) (Gallieni et al. 2009; Lips 2006). Vitamin D2 is a synthetic molecule and can be found in fortified foods (e.g.,: milk, cereals, bread products) (Gallieni et al. 2009). Vitamin D3 can be obtained from dietary intake but it is also produced in the skin (Gallieni et al. 2009). Vitamin D3 does not have intrinsic biological activity (Lips 2006). Its active compound, 1,25-dihydroxy vitamin D3 (calcitriol), is produced through hydroxylation by the liver and kidney (Bikle 2014). Figure 1 shows the metabolic pathways for VD synthesis.

The active compound of vitamin D3 has diverse biological functions, including calcium and bone metabolism and blood pressure control. Additionally, vitamin D3 plays an important role in endothelial function, angiogenesis, immunoregulation, apoptosis inhibition, and antioxidant pathways (Bikle 2014; Christakos et al. 2016).

Recently, a link between diabetes and Vitamin D deficiency (VDD) has been found in several studies. It was reported that VD alleviates insulin resistance and promotes insulin synthesis and secretion (Bassil et al. 2013). Moreover, an association between VDD and micro- and macrovascular diabetes complications has been established (Joergensen et al. 2011; Ahmed et al. 2020, 2021; Zhao et al. 2021; Herrmann et al. 2015).



Fig. 1 Overview of the metabolic pathways for vitamin D synthesis

Vitamin D Deficiency

Vitamin D sufficiency is assessed by 25-hydroxyvitamin D (calcidiol) serum measurement. The optimal serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentration is still a subject of debate. However, there is agreement among experts that levels below 12 ng/mL represent deficiency and levels above 30 ng/mL are undoubtedly sufficient (Institute of Medicine 2011).

VDD represents a major public health issue, affecting about one billion people worldwide in 2008. Recent large observational studies suggested that about 40% of Europeans have VDD and 13% are severely deficient (Amrein et al. 2020).

The relevance of this widespread deficiency derives from the fact that this condition may affect several body systems, having a major impact in numerous diseases. VDD has been linked to diabetes mellitus, cardiovascular disease, depression, osteoporosis, colorectal and breast cancer, infection, multiple sclerosis, autoimmunity, allergy, and postural instability (Amrein et al. 2020; Wang et al. 2017). In some of this diseases VDD is related with a greater disease severity, morbidity, and mortality (Amrein et al. 2020). However, if VDD only represents a biomarker of diseases severity or if it could be a modifiable risk factor are the main debatable questions.

Vitamin D and Diabetes Mellitus

Several studies have consistently reported that patients with both type 1 (T1DM) and 2 (T2DM) diabetes mellitus patients have consistently lower levels of VD (Daga et al. 2012; Federico et al. 2018; Greer et al. 2013; Rasoul et al. 2016). The pathophysiology is not completely understood, but evidence suggests that VD improves beta-cell function and insulin sensitivity by reducing oxidative damage and by suppressing inflammation and stimulating the insulin signal transduction (Yaribeygi et al. 2020; Mathieu et al. 2005).

Regarding the incidence of DM, several studies have associated low levels of VD with the development of the disease. Lower levels of VD during pregnancy have been associated with a greater risk of T1DM development in the offspring (Sørensen et al. 2012). The long-term prospective Copenhagen City Heart Study found an association between low VD levels and an increased risk of T2DM, showing that the cumulative incidence of T2DM increased with the decreasing VD serum levels (Tsur et al. 2013). Moreover, an inverse association between glycated hemoglobin and VD concentrations has been described (Zoppini et al. 2013).

Additionally, the Fenofibrate Intervention and Event Lowering in Diabetes (FIELD) Study, confirmed that VDD is a predictor for the development of macroand microvascular complications in diabetic patients (Herrmann et al. 2015). They found that a 50 nmol/L difference in serum VD was associated with a 23% (p = 0.007) increased risk of a macrovascular event (Herrmann et al. 2015).

Vitamin D and Diabetic Retinopathy Development and Severity

Recently, the role of VDD in DR pathogenesis has become a focus of many studies. A positive correlation between the presence and the severity of DR has been described. A meta-analysis of 15 studies confirmed a positive correlation between VDD (defined as VD serum levels below 20 ng/ml) and an increased risk of DR. (Luo et al. 2017) Moreover, VD serum levels and DR severity has been enforced by many studies showing that patients with proliferative DR had a significant lower VD levels than those with nonproliferative DR (Luo et al. 2017).

Moreover, Ahmed et al. studied the association between DR and several VD metabolites and they found that DR was associated with lower 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 concentrations (Ahmed et al. 2021). Additionally, they proposed that the VD metabolite ratio (a ratio of 24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3/25-hydroxyvitamin D) is a better indicator of VD status (Ahmed et al. 2020). This ratio showed a striking relationship between diabetic complications being lower in patients with DR (Ahmed et al. 2020).

Furthermore, at the genetic level, several polymorphisms in the VD receptor were associated with an increased risk of DR (Dakroury et al. 2020).

Tables 1 and 2 synthetizes the findings of major studies about VD and DR in both T1DM and T2DM.

T 1D M

I YPE I DIABETES ME	LLITUS				
Study	Country	Year	Type of study	Sample size	Findings
Joergensen et al. (2011)	Denmark	2011	Prospective	220	No association between vitamin D (VD) levels and diabetic retinopathy (DR)
Lopes et al. (2020)	Portugal	2020	Retrospective	182	Lower levels of VD were associated with an increased prevalence DR
Kaur et al. (2011)	Australia	2011	Cross- sectional	517	DR was associated with VD deficiency (VDD) (odds ratio 2.12 [95% CI 1.03-4.33])
Shimo et al. (2014)	Japan	2014	Report	75	VDD were independent determinant of DR (OR; 3.45, 95% CI; 1.11–10.6, p = 0.03)
EURODIAB prospective complications study (Engelen et al. 2015)	16 European countries	2015	Prospective	532	No association was found between VDD and DR

 Table 1
 Major studies of diabetic retinopathy and vitamin D in type 1 diabetics

VD, vitamin D; DR, diabetic retinopathy; VDD, vitamin D deficiency

Diabetic Retinopathy Pathophysiology – Where Does Vitamin D Stand?

Classic pathogenetic mechanisms of diabetic microangiopathy includes the pro-angiogenic and pro-inflammatory pathways and recent research has shown that VD can play a role in both (Manuel Falcão and Rocha-Sousa 2010). Figure 2 displays the pathways of DR pathophysiology and the VD mechanisms of action on it.

In the angiogenic pathway, it has been shown that VD is a potent inhibitor of neovascularization in vivo, by downregulating hypoxia-inducible factor-1 (HIF-1) transcriptional activity (Albert et al. 2007). This factor stimulates vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and nitric oxide production, which will induce vasodilation (Tarr et al. 2013). Also VEGF, increases vascular permeability and promotes angiogenesis (Manuel Falcão and Rocha-Sousa 2010). VEGF play a pivotal role in DR genesis and is currently one important therapeutic target for drugs currently used in daily practice (Schmidt-Erfurth et al. 2017).

Type 2 Diabetes Mel	LITUS				
Study	Country	Year	Type of study	Sample size	Findings
Nadri et al. (2019)	India	2019	Cross- sectional	72	A cutoff value of 18.6 ng/mL for vitamin D (VD) was found to be significantly associated with proliferative diabetic retinopathy (DR)
Zhao et al. (2021)	Chinese	2021	Cross- sectional	850	VD deficiency (VDD) was not associated with higher risk DR
Fenofibrate Intervention and Event Lowering in Diabetes (FIELD) study (Herrmann et al. 2015)	Australia, New Zealand, and Finland	2015	Double- blind, placebo- controlled trial	9,795	Low VD levels are associated with an increased risk of DR
Payne et al. (2012)		2012	Cross- sectional	221	Patients with proliferative DR had low vitamin D levels than those without diabetes
Alcubierre et al. (2015)	Spain	2015	Case- control	283	VDD were associated with the presence of DR; Patients with more severe retinopathy had lower levels of serum VD and had more frequently VDD.
Millen et al. (2016)	US	2016	Prospective	1339	VD concentrations \geq 75 nmol/L were associated with lower odds of any DR.
Reddy et al. (2015)	Indian	2015	Cross- sectional	164	No association was found between VD and DR
He et al. (2014)	China	2015	Cross- sectional	1520	VDD was associated with increased risk of DR (odds ratio 1.93) and sight- threatening DR (odds ratio 2.42) (both $P < 0.01$)

 Table 2
 Major studies of diabetic retinopathy and vitamin D in type 2 diabetics

(continued)

Type 2 Diabetes Mel	LITUS				
Study	Country	Year	Type of study	Sample size	Findings
Jee et al. (Jee et al. 2014)	Korea	2014	Cross- sectional	2113	Inverse relationship between VD levels and any DR and proliferative DR only in men
Long et al. (2017)	China	2017	Cross- sectional	842	Association between VDD and DR severity only found in patients with well-controlled glycemia
Zoppini et al. (2013)	Italy	2015	Cross- sectional	715	Serum VD levels decreased significantly in relation to the severity of DR
Ahmed et al. (2020)	Qatar	2020	Cross- sectional	460	1,25- dihydroxyvitamin D3 and 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 levels were associated with DR

Tab	le 2	(continued))
		(001101000)	1

VD, vitamin D; DR, diabetic retinopathy; VDD, vitamin D deficiency

Many DR features are intimately linked to inflammatory processes such as tissue edema, increased blood flow, and inflammatory cells migration. VD downregulates inflammation in the retina (Christakos et al. 2016; Tecilazich et al. 2020). Specifically, VD might decrease immunocyte proliferation and the expression of proinflammatory cytokines (Mathieu et al. 2005). VD also decreases the activation of helper T-cells, cytotoxic T-cells, natural killer cells, macrophages, and dendritic cells in the retina (Palomer et al. 2008). Moreover, patients with PDR and VDD had an increased production of Interferon gamma (IFN- γ), tumor necrosis factor α (TNF- α), interleukin 6 (IL-6), and IL-17. VD inhibits peripheral blood monocular cells, resulting in reduced levels of the aforementioned cytokines (Yi et al. 2016).

Lu et al. showed that VD decreases ROS production, thus downregulating thioredoxin interacting protein (TXNIP) expression and blocking the activation of NLR family pyrin domain containing 3 (NLRP3), which reduces apoptosis and vascular permeability (Lu et al. 2018). Also, this eventually could downregulate IL-6, decreasing the retinal pro-inflammatory environment of DR. (Lu et al. 2018) The NLRP3/IL-1 β pathway plays a critical role in the development and progression of DR. (Lu et al. 2018)



Fig. 2 Vitamin D role in diabetic retinopathy physiopathology. VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor; HIF-1, hypoxia inducible factor-1; ICAM, intercellular adhesion molecule 1; AGES, advanced glycation end products; RAAS, renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system; ROS, reactive oxygen species

The role of VD is also observed in the complement pathway. By modulating liver inflammation and C3 adipocytes secretion, VD reduces circulating C3 (Abbas 2017). In DR, fragments of complement can bind to their receptors on retinal cells, leading to inflammation or synthesis of angiogenic growth factors (Chrzanowska et al. 2018).

Several growth factors have been linked with DR pathogenesis, including TGF- β (transforming growth factor β) (Tarr et al. 2013). Diabetic rats receiving VD supplementation showed lower levels of TGF- β in the retina, when compared with diabetic controls (Ren et al. 2012).

The renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS) is hyperactive in DR. It has been reported that the retinal angiotensin receptors are increased in patients with PDR (Tarr et al. 2013). It was hypothesized that an increase in VD serum levels may decrease renal secretion of renin and decrease plasma renin activity (Burgess et al. 1990).

Advanced glycation end products (AGEs) result from chronic hyperglycemia and have been correlated with DR onset and severity (Manuel Falcão and Rocha-Sousa 2010). Also, AGES may lead to ROS production, VEGF production, and vascular hyperpermeability (Manuel Falcão and Rocha-Sousa 2010). In T2DM, VD supplementation decreases AGES levels, which could potentially delay or prevent DR development (Omidian et al. 2019).

Vitamin D Supplementation for DR Prevention – What Is the Current Evidence?

The effects of VD supplementation on the risk of developing either micro- or macrovascular complications of DM are currently poorly studied. To date there is no scientific foundation to give vitamin D supplementation to prevent DR development in diabetics.

However, a meta-analysis assessing vitamin D supplementation effects on inflammatory risk factors showed that supplementation significantly decreased protein C reactive levels, but did not affect TNF- α or IL-6 (Yu et al. 2018). Since inflammation is an important part of DR pathophysiology and this study shows a decrease in some inflammatory biomarkers, vitamin D supplementation might have a role in patient treatment. More studies in this field are needed to address this question.

Applications to Prognosis

VD could be a biomarker for both DR development and progression. The relationship between VD and DR was found in several studies as mentioned previously. However, caution is needed. VD levels have several confounders such as physical activity, sunlight exposure, diet, and reverse causality. The implications of these confounders are currently unknown.

Conclusion

VDD and DR are two widespread conditions, with a great impact on public health. Recently, there is growing evidence that VD deficiency increases the risk of DR development and its severity, making VD a potential usable biomarker in daily practice. However, at this point, more studies about VD supplementation in diabetics and its impact in DR prevention and treatment are still needed.

Key Facts

- Low vitamin D (VD) levels increase the risk for diabetic retinopathy (DR) development.
- VD levels correlate with DR severity, specifically patients with proliferative DR have lower VD serum concentrations than those without proliferative DR.

Mini Dictionary of Terms

Diabetic Retinopathy: Vascular retinopathy caused by long-standing any type of uncontrolled diabetes mellitus. A major cause of blindness.

Proliferative Diabetic Retinopathy: An advanced stage of diabetic retinopathy in which new vessels are formed from preexisting retinal vessels when there is significant retinal ischemia. Leads to vitreous hemorrhages or tractional retinal detachments.

Diabetic Macular Edema: Presence of extra-cellular fluid in the foveal area that leads to poor retinal function and central visual loss.

Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor: Major cytokine in the pathogenesis of diabetic retinopathy. Is implicated in both proliferative diabetic retinopathy and diabetic macular edema.

Vitamin D deficiency: Low levels of circulating vitamin D. May be involved in the development and progression of different stages of diabetic retinopathy.

Summary Points

- Vitamin D (VD) has multiple biological functions including regulation of endothelial function, angiogenesis, antioxidant, and anti-inflammatory pathways.
- VD plays a role in diabetic retinopathy (DR) pathophysiology.
- Vitamin D deficiency increases the risk of DR development.
- Low VD levels correlates with DR severity.
- To date there is no scientific foundation to supplement vitamin D to prevent DR development in diabetic patients.

References

- Abbas MA. Physiological functions of vitamin D in adipose tissue. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2017;165:369–81.
- Ahmed LHM, Butler AE, Dargham SR, et al. Vitamin D3 metabolite ratio as an indicator of vitamin D status and its association with diabetes complications. BMC Endocr Disord. 2020;20:161.
- Ahmed LHM, Butler AE, Dargham SR, et al. Relationship between total vitamin D metabolites and complications in patients with type 2 diabetes. Biomed Rep. 2021;14:18.
- Albert DM, Scheef EA, Wang S, et al. Calcitriol is a potent inhibitor of retinal neovascularization. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2007;48:2327–34.
- Alcubierre N, Valls J, Rubinat E, et al. Vitamin D deficiency is associated with the presence and severity of diabetic retinopathy in type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Diabetes Res. 2015;2015:374178.
- Amrein K, Scherkl M, Hoffmann M, et al. Vitamin D deficiency 2.0: an update on the current status worldwide. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2020;74:1498–513.
- Bassil D, Rahme M, Hoteit M, Fuleihan GH. Hypovitaminosis D in the Middle East and North Africa: prevalence, risk factors and impact on outcomes. Dermatoendocrinol. 2013;5:274–98.
- Bikle DD. Vitamin D metabolism, mechanism of action, and clinical applications. Chem Biol. 2014;21:319–29.
- Burgess ED, Hawkins RG, Watanabe M. Interaction of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D and plasma renin activity in high renin essential hypertension. Am J Hypertens. 1990;3:903–5.
- Christakos S, Dhawan P, Verstuyf A, Verlinden L, Carmeliet G. Vitamin D: metabolism, molecular mechanism of action, and pleiotropic effects. Physiol Rev. 2016;96:365–408.
- Chrzanowska M, Modrzejewska A, Modrzejewska M. New insight into the role of the complement in the most common types of retinopathy-current literature review. Int J Ophthalmol. 2018;11: 1856–64.
- Daga RA, Laway BA, Shah ZA, Mir SA, Kotwal SK, Zargar AH. High prevalence of vitamin D deficiency among newly diagnosed youth-onset diabetes mellitus in north India. Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol. 2012;56:423–8.
- Dakroury Y, Butler AE, Dargham SR, et al. Association of differing Qatari genotypes with vitamin D metabolites. Int J Endocrinol. 2020;2020:7831590.
- Engelen L, Schalkwijk CG, Eussen SJ, et al. Low 25-hydroxyvitamin D2 and 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 levels are independently associated with macroalbuminuria, but not with retinopathy and macrovascular disease in type 1 diabetes: the EURODIAB prospective complications study. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2015;14:67.
- Federico G, Genoni A, Puggioni A, et al. Vitamin D status, enterovirus infection, and type 1 diabetes in Italian children/adolescents. Pediatr Diabetes. 2018;19:923–9.
- Gallieni M, Cozzolino M, Fallabrino G, Pasho S, Olivi L, Brancaccio D. Vitamin D: physiology and pathophysiology. Int J Artif Organs. 2009;32:87–94.
- Greer RM, Portelli SL, Hung BS, et al. Serum vitamin D levels are lower in Australian children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes than in children without diabetes. Pediatr Diabetes. 2013;14: 31–41.
- He R, Shen J, Liu F, et al. Vitamin D deficiency increases the risk of retinopathy in Chinese patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabet Med. 2014;31:1657–64.
- Herrmann M, Sullivan DR, Veillard AS, et al. Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D: a predictor of macrovascular and microvascular complications in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2015;38:521–8.
- Institute of Medicine (US) Committee to Review Dietary Reference Intakes for Vitamin D and Calcium; Ross AC, Taylor CL, Yaktine AL, et al., editors. Dietary Reference Intakes for Calcium and Vitamin D. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); 2011. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK56070/. https://doi.org/10.17226/ 13050.

- Jee D, Han K, Kim EC. Inverse association between high blood 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels and diabetic retinopathy in a representative Korean population. PLoS One. 2014;9:e115199.
- Joergensen C, Hovind P, Schmedes A, Parving HH, Rossing P. Vitamin D levels, microvascular complications, and mortality in type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2011;34:1081–5.
- Kaur H, Donaghue KC, Chan AK, et al. Vitamin D deficiency is associated with retinopathy in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2011;34:1400–2.
- Lips P. Vitamin D physiology. Prog Biophys Mol Biol. 2006;92:4-8.
- Long M, Wang C, Liu D. Glycated hemoglobin A1C and vitamin D and their association with diabetic retinopathy severity. Nutr Diabetes. 2017;7:e281.
- Lopes M, Laiginhas R, Madeira C, et al. Association between serum vitamin D and diabetic retinopathy in Portuguese patients with type 1 diabetes. Acta Medica Port. 2020;33:459–65.
- Lu L, Lu Q, Chen W, Li J, Li C, Zheng Z. Vitamin D3 protects against diabetic retinopathy by inhibiting high-glucose-induced activation of the ROS/TXNIP/NLRP3 inflammasome pathway. J Diabetes Res. 2018;2018:8193523.
- Luo BA, Gao F, Qin LL. The Association between Vitamin D deficiency and diabetic retinopathy in type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis of observational studies. Nutrients. 2017;9(3):307. https://doi. org/10.3390/nu9030307. PMID: 28335514; PMCID: PMC5372970.
- Manuel Falcão FF-R, Rocha-Sousa A. Diabetic retinopathy: understanding pathologic angiogenesis and exploring its treatment options. Open Circul Vascul J. 2010;3:30–42.
- Mathieu C, Gysemans C, Giulietti A, Bouillon R. Vitamin D and diabetes. Diabetologia. 2005;48: 1247–57.
- Millen AE, Sahli MW, Nie J, et al. Adequate vitamin D status is associated with the reduced odds of prevalent diabetic retinopathy in African Americans and Caucasians. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2016;15:128.
- Nadri G, Saxena S, Mahdi AA, et al. Serum vitamin D is a biomolecular biomarker for proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Int J Retina Vitreous. 2019;5:31.
- Nair R, Maseeh A. Vitamin D: The "sunshine" vitamin. J Pharmacol Pharmacother. 2012;3(2):118– 26. https://doi.org/10.4103/0976-500X.95506. PMID: 22629085; PMCID: PMC3356951.
- Omidian M, Djalali M, Javanbakht MH, et al. Effects of vitamin D supplementation on advanced glycation end products signaling pathway in T2DM patients: a randomized, placebo-controlled, double blind clinical trial. Diabetol Metab Syndr. 2019;11:86.
- Palomer X, González-Clemente JM, Blanco-Vaca F, Mauricio D. Role of vitamin D in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2008;10:185–97.
- Payne JF, Ray R, Watson DG, et al. Vitamin D insufficiency in diabetic retinopathy. Endocr Pract. 2012;18:185–93.
- Rasoul MA, Al-Mahdi M, Al-Kandari H, Dhaunsi GS, Haider MZ. Low serum vitamin-D status is associated with high prevalence and early onset of type-1 diabetes mellitus in Kuwaiti children. BMC Pediatr. 2016;16:95.
- Reddy GB, Sivaprasad M, Shalini T, et al. Plasma vitamin D status in patients with type 2 diabetes with and without retinopathy. Nutrition (Burbank, Los Angeles County, Calif). 2015;31:959– 63.
- Ren Z, Li W, Zhao Q, Ma L, Zhu J. The impact of 1,25-dihydroxy vitamin D3 on the expressions of vascular endothelial growth factor and transforming growth factor- β_1 in the retinas of rats with diabetes. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2012;98:474–80.
- Schmidt-Erfurth U, Garcia-Arumi J, Bandello F, et al. Guidelines for the Management of Diabetic Macular Edema by the European Society of Retina Specialists (EURETINA). Ophthalmologica. 2017;237:185–222.
- Shimo N, Yasuda T, Kaneto H, et al. Vitamin D deficiency is significantly associated with retinopathy in young Japanese type 1 diabetic patients. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2014;106: e41–3.
- Sørensen IM, Joner G, Jenum PA, Eskild A, Torjesen PA, Stene LC. Maternal serum levels of 25-hydroxy-vitamin D during pregnancy and risk of type 1 diabetes in the offspring. Diabetes. 2012;61:175–8.

- Tarr JM, Kaul K, Chopra M, Kohner EM, Chibber R. Pathophysiology of diabetic retinopathy. ISRN Ophthalmol. 2013;2013:343560.
- Tecilazich F, Formenti AM, Giustina A. Role of vitamin D in diabetic retinopathy: pathophysiological and clinical aspects. Rev Endocr Metab Disord. 2020.
- Tsur A, Feldman BS, Feldhammer I, Hoshen MB, Leibowitz G, Balicer RD. Decreased serum concentrations of 25-hydroxycholecalciferol are associated with increased risk of progression to impaired fasting glucose and diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2013;36:1361–7.

Wang H, Chen W, Li D, et al. Vitamin D and chronic diseases. Aging Dis. 2017;8:346-53.

- Yaribeygi H, Maleki M, Sathyapalan T, et al. The molecular mechanisms by which vitamin D improve glucose homeostasis: a mechanistic review. Life Sci. 2020;244:117305.
- Yi X, Sun J, Li L, et al. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 deficiency is involved in the pathogenesis of diabetic retinopathy in the Uygur Population of China. IUBMB Life. 2016;68:445–51.
- Yu Y, Tian L, Xiao Y, Huang G, Zhang M. Effect of Vitamin D supplementation on some inflammatory biomarkers in type 2 diabetes mellitus subjects: a systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. Ann Nutr Metab. 2018;73:62–73.
- Zhao WJ, Xia XY, Yin J. Relationship of serum vitamin D levels with diabetic microvascular complications in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Chin Med J. 2021;134:814–20.
- Zoppini G, Galletti A, Targher G, et al. Glycated haemoglobin is inversely related to serum vitamin D levels in type 2 diabetic patients. PLoS One. 2013;8:e82733.



Markers of Bacterial Translocation in Type **45** 2 Diabetes Mellitus

Marwa Ahmed Meheissen

Contents

Introduction	925
Gut Microbiome	925
The Gut Barrier's Defense Mechanisms	927
The Gut Barrier Is Composed of Multiple Layers: (Fig. 1)	927
Factors Affecting the Gut Barrier Integrity	930
Mechanisms of Gut Barrier Disruption	931
Consequences of Gut Barrier Disruption/Dysfunction	932
Bacterial Translocation	933
Markers of Bacterial Translocation	935
Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)	935
Bacteria and Bacterial DNA	936
Other Bacterial Translocation Markers	937
Applications to Other Diseases/Conditions	937
Mini-Dictionary of Terms	941
Key Facts	941
Summary Points	941
References	942

Abstract

Type 2 Diabetes mellitus is a multifactorial metabolic disorder. The growing body of evidence linking the gut microbiome to host metabolism has been accompanied by change in the study of metabolic illnesses including type 2 diabetes. Disturbance in the balance of gut microbiome "gut dysbiosis" has led to the emergence of the concept of "leaky gut" and metabolic endotoxemia. Previous studies observed higher lipopolysaccharide or lipopolysaccharide binding protein

M. A. Meheissen (🖂)

Medical Microbiology & Immunology Department, Faculty of Medicine, Alexandria University, Azarita, Alexandria, Egypt

e-mail: marwa.meheissen@alexmed.edu.eg

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 49

concentrations in diabetics than in healthy controls. Translocation of bacteria and their products through the disrupted gut barrier increased the circulation of markers that could be linked to increased intestinal permeability. The end result of translocated products is the stimulation of systemic inflammatory response affecting many organs and increasing insulin resistance thus aggravating diabetes. It is anticipated that by gaining a better understanding of the mechanism of leaky gut and bacterial translocation in diabetes, scientists will be able to develop novel diagnostic and therapeutic approaches.

Keywords

 $\label{eq:started_st$

Abbreviations

AHR	Aryl hydrocarbon receptor
AMPs	Antimicrobial peptides
COVID-19	Coronavirus Disease 2019
DCs	Dendritic cells
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
ELISA	Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay
EndoCAb	Endotoxin core antibodies
GIT	Gastrointestinal tract
GLP-1	Glucagon-like peptide-1
GLUT	Glucose transporter
IAP	Intestinal alkaline phosphatase
IL	Interleukin
INF-γ	interferon-gamma
LAL	Limulus Amoebocyte Lysate
LDL-R	Low density lipoprotein receptor
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
LTA	Lipoteichoic acid
NAFLD	Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease
NF-κB	Nuclear Factor Kappa B
PAMPs	Pathogen associated molecular patterns
PG	Peptidoglycan
RT-PCR	Reverse transcriptase-Polymerase chain reaction
SARS-CoV-2	Severe acute respiratory syndrome Coronavirus 2
SCFAs	Short chain fatty acids
sIgA	Secretory immunoglobulin A
T2DM	Type 2 diabetes mellitus
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
16SrRNA	16S ribosomal ribonucleic acid

Introduction

Diabetes is a complicated metabolic condition caused by a combination of factors including genetics, sex, lifestyle, diet, environmental, and epigenetics. Diabetes has become more common as living standards have improved and people's lifestyles have changed. Over 422 million people worldwide suffer from type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), which accounts for 90% of all diabetes cases (Cho et al. 2018).

It was shown that obesity is a high-risk factor for T2DM. The main characteristics of T2DM are hyperglycemia and insulin resistance, and most importantly the chronic inflammatory state throughout diabetes progression. All these factors are involved in a number of body disorders, and have a negative impact on several organs like cardiovascular diseases, diabetic retinopathy, and diabetic nephropathy (Donath and Shoelson 2011).

The study of the mechanisms behind metabolic disorders like T2DM, obesity, and related cardiovascular comorbidities has progressed significantly. Microbiome research and gut dysbiosis with its consequences of leaky gut have recently gained interest for diagnostic and therapeutic purposes (Chakaroun et al. 2020).

While interaction between the gut microbiome and peripheral organs including the brain, liver, adipose tissue, muscle, and pancreas has emerged as an important element for homeostatic systems, the quest for communication routes has resurrected the concept of "leaky gut." This concept is predicated on the idea of bacterial translocation where complete bacteria, as well as bacterial products such as metabolites, being translocated into the circulation and distant tissues, contributing to metabolic disease-related remote organ harm (Chakaroun et al. 2020).

The loss of the gut barrier is a major contributor to metabolic (local and systemic) inflammation in the body. Intestinal barrier defects have been linked to a variety of diseases, including gastrointestinal (inflammatory bowel disease, colon cancer), as well as extra-intestinal (diabetes, obesity). All of these disorders are thought to be caused by a malfunction of the intestinal barrier and an unregulated flow of antigens across the intestinal wall that may challenge the immune system of susceptible individuals triggering inflammatory mechanisms in the GIT or other organs (Vancamelbeke and Vermeire 2017).

Gut Microbiome

The microbiome is a dense and diverse microbial population that includes archaea, bacteria, protozoans, and viruses and is found in the gastrointestinal tract (GIT). There are roughly 100 trillion bacteria that populate the gut mucosal surface, continually interacting with immunologically and metabolically active cells (McDermott and Huffnagle 2014).

Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes, Actinobacteria, Proteobacteria, and Verrucomicrobia, which make up the bulk of the gut microbiota, play an important role in defending the host against pathogenic microbes. The intestinal microbiota encodes around 3.3

million genes, with over 1,000 bacterial species recognized as part of this ecosystem (Qin et al. 2010).

These bacteria not only act as a first line of defense against foreign antigens, but they also improve mucosal and systemic immunity. Complex carbohydrate digestion, vitamin synthesis, immunological and inflammatory response control, and hormone and neurotransmitter generation are only a few of the physiological roles of the gut microbiota (Fan and Pedersen 2021).

Since dietary fibers cannot be digested by our gastrointestinal system, they are fermented by the gut microbiota, which produce short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) as metabolites. SCFAs bind to G-protein coupled receptors, stimulate the production of glucagon-like peptide-1, a critical incretin hormone produced by enteroendocrine L cells. Glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) inhibits glucagon secretion, inhibits gluco-neogenesis in the liver, improves insulin sensitivity, and increases central satiety, all of which lead to weight loss and better control of diabetes. SCFAs can also prevent bacteria from migrating from the intestines into the mesenteric adipose tissue and circulation, thus inhibit the low-grade inflammatory response. It was found that in persons with T2DM, the number of microorganisms involved in SCFA synthesis is much decreased (Amar et al. 2011a).

Various signaling channels transmit the multiple interactions between gut microbiota-derived metabolites, the gut microbiota, and the host immune system. The direct chemical communication between gut bacteria, the host, and immune pathways is referred to as the host–microbe metabolic axes. These biological signals have a system-wide impact and have direct effects on different body organs. Gut microbiota drive metabolic responses within these axes, and both the gut microbiome and host genome produce choline, phenols, bile acids, and SCFAs, which are essential for health. These complex interactions between the gut microbiome and its host are critical for sustaining good health and may be linked to the emergence of illnesses like diabetes (Aw and Fukuda 2015).

The microbiome's composition is influenced by a variety of factors. Patients with T2DM have a different gut microbiome composition than healthy people. The exact gut microbiota signatures of diabetes problems, on the other hand, have yet to be discovered. Qin et al. (2012) used a metagenome-wide-association-study approach to evaluate the gut microbial metagenome data of 345 T2DM patients and non-diabetic controls of Chinese individuals, and found that microbiome in T2DM group were mostly opportunistic pathogens like *Bacteroides caccae*, *Clostridium hathewayi*, *Clostridium ramosum*, *Clostridium symbiosum*, *Eggerthella lenta*, and *E. coli*, as well as mucin-degrading microbes: *Akkermansia muciniphila*, and sulfate-reducing microbes: *Desulfovibrio spp*. The non-diabetes control group, on the other hand, had practically microbiome from butyrate-producing bacteria, such as *Clostridiales spp.*, *Roseburia intestinalis*, and *Roseburia intestinalis and Faecalibacterium prausnitzii*.

In a European cohort (Karlsson et al. 2013), however, the results were quite different. In the European study, obese people with less severe metabolic syndrome had higher *Akkermansia muciniphila* abundances, which was linked to greater microbial diversity as compared to those who were metabolically compromised.

These findings suggest that the link between *Akkermansia muciniphila* and T2DM may be population-based.

It was also found that in human male T2DM patients, there were much less Firmicutes, including Clostridia, compared to non-diabetic healthy patients. The ratios of Bacteroidetes to Firmicutes and the Bacteroides–Prevotella group to the Clostridium coccoides–Eubacterium rectale group were positively correlated with plasma glucose levels. Furthermore, T2DM patients had higher levels of Betaproteo-bacteria than controls. These findings suggest that Gram-negative Proteobacteria and Bacteroidetes might contribute to the pathogenesis of T2DM through an endotoxin-induced inflammatory response, since the endotoxin lipopolysaccharide (LPS) is found in large proportions as a major component of the outer membrane of gram-negative bacteria (Larsen et al. 2010). Moreover, gut metagenome-based computational models may predict T2DM associated phenotype in glucose-intolerant patients, suggesting that the gut microbiota could be a novel biomarker for T2DM prediction (Karlsson et al. 2013).

The Gut Barrier's Defense Mechanisms

The GIT is exposed to thousands of microorganisms and nutrient components as a result of food ingestion. Gut homeostasis thus necessitates a sophisticated system capable of executing a variety of tasks, including the elimination of bacterial endotoxins, hindering direct contact with pathogens, and regulating absorption of nutrients while preventing hazardous substances or bacteria from being transported, promoting an immune response, and reducing proliferation of pathogenic bacteria (Ghosh et al. 2020).

The Gut Barrier Is Composed of Multiple Layers: (Fig. 1)

- The inner most layer containing the intestinal alkaline phosphatase (IAP), considered the functional luminal first line of defense that dephosphorylates bacterial LPS reducing local intestinal inflammation. LPS, a component of gram-negative cell wall, is associated with systemic inflammation through the Lipid-A moiety which binds to toll-like receptor-4 (TLR4). Removal of one phosphate group on the Lipid-A moiety reduces LPS toxicity several fold by decreasing downstream intracellular signaling, resulting in decreased Nuclear Factor Kappa B (NF-κB) activation and cytokine release. IAP also modulates bicarbonate secretion, duodenal surface pH, and long chain fatty acid absorption. In addition, it dephosphorylates adenosine di- and tri-phosphate (ADP & ATP); high levels of ATP suppress the growth of gut bacteria and alter bacterial homeostasis (Lallès 2014; Malo et al. 2014; Ghosh et al. 2020).
- the mucus layer which is considered the first physical barrier hindering interactions between gut microbiota and epithelial cells. It is made up of two layers: an inner layer that is tightly linked to the epithelial cells and an outer layer that is



Fig. 1 The layers of the gut barrier. 1. Intestinal alkaline phosphatase: functional barrier that dephosphorylates luminal lipopolysaccharide, rendering it inactive. 2. Mucus: physical barrier consisting of outer and inner layer, prevents luminal bacteria from interacting with epithelial cells. 3. Epithelial cell layer: physical barrier separates intestinal lumen from systemic circulation, containing goblet cells which secretes mucin and Paneth cells which secretes antimicrobial peptides. 4. Functional layer consisting of antimicrobial peptides and secretory IgA (produced by B cells from the lamina propria). (Modified from Ghosh et al. 2020)

thicker but less adherent. The inner mucosal layer prevents direct contact between epithelial cells and bacteria. While, the outer layer carries commensals that prevent the entry of pathogenic bacteria. MUC2 is a highly glycated mucin glycoprotein released by specialized epithelial cells known as goblet cells. MUC2 forms an ordered mucous layer after secretion, producing a hydrated and extended network with other released proteins. The amount and type of mucus in the mucosa is a balance between mucus secretion and bacterial erosion and breakdown of the mucin layer. Therefore, probiotic or prebiotic supplements that enhance the amount of mucus-residing commensal bacteria are expected to improve the mucosal layer's barrier function (Deplancke and Gaskins 2001; Ghosh et al. 2020).

3. The intestinal epithelium and the intercellular tight junctions which prevent transport of bacteria or their products to systemic circulation. The single layer intestinal epithelium performs a selective transport function where it allows the passage of nutrients, water, and electrolytes, while prevents the passage of pathogens, their toxins and antigens from inside the lumen to the systemic circulation. Its function is controlled by transcellular and paracellular transport pathways which is mediated by intercellular complexes (desmosomes, adhesive junctional, tight junctional) localized at the apico-lateral membrane junction and along the lateral membrane. Desmosomes and adhesive junctional proteins are transmembrane proteins which link adjacent cells to the actin cytoskeleton.

The paracellular transport is controlled by tight junctions (occludins, claudin family proteins) which seal the intercellular space. Furthermore, due to abnormally high levels of glycolipids arranged in lipid raft microdomains stabilized by divalent galectin-4, the intestinal epithelium is regarded nonpermissive for endocytic uptake. Despite the crucial contributions of the other three layers, the integrity of the epithelial cell layer and tight junction proteins is generally referred to be the gut barrier (Anderson 2001; Ghosh et al. 2020).

4. The outer most layer consisting of antimicrobial proteins and secretory immunoglobulin A (sIgA). Paneth cells, intestinal secretory cells at the base of intestinal crypts, play a major role in innate immunity by secreting antimicrobial peptides that play a significant role in the host defense against gut bacteria. Alpha defensin, a member of the defensing family of peptides, is the most prevalent antimicrobial peptide in the human intestine, that are bactericidal to both Gram-positive and negative bacteria. sIgA is produced by plasma of the lamina propria. It binds to microbes or toxins preventing colonization or damage of epithelial cells. It also binds and clears immune complexes in the lamina thus reducing systemic inflammatory responses (Mestecky et al. 1999; Ghosh et al. 2020).

In the intestine, dendritic cells (DCs) play a pivotal role to extract antigens from intestinal pathogens, and to release cytokines such as IL-17 and IL-22 and to increase the expression of antimicrobial peptides (AMPs). Chemokines and inflammatory markers in turn recruit neutrophils from blood vessels into the intestinal tract to fight pathogenic microorganisms. NLRP6 (NOD-like receptor family pyrin domain containing 6) is triggered by microbial metabolites in intestinal epithelial cells, increasing IL-18 and AMPs and therefore defending the intestinal barrier (Hooper et al. 2012) (Fig. 2).

Polyphenols (present in fruits, vegetables, and cereals) are converted to aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR) ligand by gut microbiota, which promotes the production of intestinal tight junction proteins and probiotic growth (Yang et al. 2021). Tryptophan metabolites of indole derivatives, can directly activate the AHR on intestinal immune cells, facilitating the production of IL-22, antigenic peptides, mucin, and tight junction proteins and thus protecting the intestinal barrier. By prompting L cells to release glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1), indole and indoleacetic acid can also speed up insulin secretion (Hendrikx and Schnabl 2019) (Fig. 2).

Short-chain fatty acids (ScFAs) including acetate, propionate, and butyrate are produced by some gut bacteria from the fermentation of undigested and unabsorbed carbohydrates. ScFAs have a substantial impact on the health of GIT wall by acting as a source of energy, anti-inflammatory, vasodilator, and angiogenic (Ibrahim et al. 2011). Butyrate supports mucosal barrier integrity via modulating intestinal epithelial proliferation, apoptosis, and cell differentiation, as well as inhibiting NF- κ B (Ogawa et al. 2003). Butyrate supplementation reduced body adiposity, insulin resistance, hyperinsulinemia, and hyperglycemia in obese, prediabetic mice. It also improved the intestinal epithelial barrier and insulin secretion from beta cells (Matheus et al. 2017).



Fig. 2 The gut barrier defense mechanisms. DCs play a pivotal role to extract antigens from intestinal pathogens, and to release cytokines such as IL-17 and IL-22 and to increase the expression of AMPs. NLRP6 is triggered by microbial metabolites, increasing IL-18 and AMPs. Polyphenols converted to AHR ligand by gut microbiome, which promotes the production of intestinal tight junction proteins and stimulates L cells to release GLP-1 speeding up insulin secretion. SCFAs activate B cells, causing them to produce antibodies as well as T-regulatory cells boosting IL-10 secretion. Secondary bile acids produced by gut microbiome preserve the integrity of the intestinal barrier using the FXR pathway. Insulin molecules increase the expression of FAS helping mucus secretion. The gut nerves can also directly stimulate IL-18 and AMPs production maintaining gut barrier's integrity. (AHR: aryl hydrocarbon receptor, AMPs: Antimicrobial peptides, DCs: Dendritic cells, FAS: fatty acid synthase, FXR: farnesoid X receptor, GLP-1: glucagon-like peptide-1, IL: interleukin, NLRP6: NOD-like receptor family pyrin domain containing 6). (Modified from Yang et al. 2021)

SCFAs can also activate B cells, causing them to produce more antibodies. The increased number of T-regulatory cells triggered by SCFAs helps boosting the secretion of IL-10 (anti-inflammatory cytokine), and assisting gut bacteria colonization. Secondary bile acids produced by gut bacteria can also preserve the integrity of the intestinal barrier using the farnesoid X receptor pathway (Yang et al. 2021) (Fig. 2).

Furthermore, insulin molecules increase the expression of fatty acid synthase in intestinal epithelial cells, which aids mucus secretion. The gut nerves can also directly stimulate IL-18 and AMPs production that helps maintaining gut barrier's integrity (Yang et al. 2021) (Fig. 2).

Factors Affecting the Gut Barrier Integrity

A complex interaction of environmental factors, nutritional factors, antibiotics, and microbiome alteration, as well as other endogenous factors can modify the permeability of gut barrier directly or indirectly (Massier et al. 2021).

Unhealthy eating habits, such as a high-sugar, high-fat, low-fiber western diet, food additives change the composition of the gut microbiota, encouraging pathogen growth while preventing beneficial bacteria. Germs can break down intestinal mucus and penetrate the epithelial barrier (Wu et al. 2011; Zinöcker and Lindseth 2018).

Continuous epithelial cell shedding under several conditions that allows opening of tight junctions and translocation of bacteria, their DNA, metabolites, and LPS such as bacteria or their nucleic acids, metabolites, toxins, and lipopolysaccharides from the intestine to the systemic circulation (Sato et al. 2009).

Increased proinflammatory cytokines like interferon-gamma (INF- γ) and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) disrupt the homeostatic balance and allow paracellular transport by downregulation of claudin-1 expression (Hu et al. 2013).

Mechanisms of Gut Barrier Disruption

The breakdown of the intestinal barrier in metabolic illnesses like T2DM is caused by a combination of endogenous and exogenous variables, with dietary factors having the most direct effect. In addition to causing obesity, high-fat and highfructose diets, as well as dietary additives, cause gut microbiota dysbiosis, and increased intestinal permeability (Cani et al. 2007; Cani et al. 2008; Sohet et al. 2009). As a result, bacteria, pro-inflammatory cytokines, toxins, and metabolites are able to pass easily to the circulatory system through the gut barrier (Cani et al. 2007; Cani et al. 2008; Desai et al. 2016). Hyperglycemia has been observed to impair the integrity of TJ and adhesive connections in T2DM patients in a two-way glucose transporter (GLUT2)-dependent manner, as well as speed up the destruction of the intestinal barrier (Thaiss et al. 2018).

Gut dysbiosis plays a major role in the degradation of the gut barrier in T2DM and related diseases, according to several studies. *Bacteroides caccae*, common in low-fiber diets, secretes a number of mucus-degrading proteases that can destroy the colon's mucus layer (Desai et al. 2016). The amount of bacteria that protect the gut barrier, such as *Akkermansia muciniphila* and *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii*, is reduced in T2DM and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), whereas *E. coli* is raised and can produce the metabolic enzyme StcE to lyse mucin and disrupt the gut barrier (Grys et al. 2005). Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes boost ATP-binding cassette transporter expression and glucagon-like peptide 1 and 2 secretion in enterocytes (Sohail et al. 2017). Everard et al. (2011) discovered a link between gut permeability, glucose intolerance, blood triglyceride, and *Anaerotruncus* abundance in the GIT.

Furthermore, in high-fat diet animals, antibiotics can be used to eliminate the gut microbiota, resulting in intestinal barrier protection (Cani et al. 2008). On the other hand, Lactobacillus supplementation improved insulin homeostasis, glucose tolerance, and beta cell islet protection in diabetic mice (Li et al. 2017).

Consequences of Gut Barrier Disruption/Dysfunction

The disruption or dysfunction of gut barrier is linked to local and systemic inflammatory effects, primarily due to direct interaction of bacteria/bacterial products with epithelial cells and their translocation to the systemic circulation (Ghosh et al. 2020). The disrupted gut barrier allows intestinal bacteria and their pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), such as LPS and peptidoglycan, as well as other bacterial metabolites to enter the bloodstream. LPS of Gram-negative bacteria passes through the gut mucosal barrier by penetrating tight junctions or chylomicrons producing metabolic endotoxemia. This is thought to be the source of T2DM and other metabolic illnesses' systemic chronic inflammation (Cani et al. 2007).

It's worth mentioning that some bacteria are more likely to translocate than others, which is linked to their ability to bypass or weaken host defensive mechanisms. Gram-negative bacteria including *E. coli* and other *Enterobacterales* and *Enterococci* have been reported to translocate more frequently than other gut bacteria. Nonetheless, inflammation or metabolic stress may affect bacterial translocation rates by increasing permeability to particular taxa or driving active bacterial translocation (Chakaroun et al. 2020).

Direct contact with bacteria/bacterial products activates immune cells in the lamina propria via TLR4/MyD88-dependent signaling pathways through binding to LPS, ending by the production of proinflammatory mediators that prolong local inflammation. The enhanced paracellular transfer of LPS into systemic circulation is, however, the most serious consequence of gut barrier disruption. LPS is transported in the bloodstream attached to either LPS binding protein (LBP) or lipoproteins, where it interacts with immune cell surface receptors (e.g., TLR4), triggering an inflammatory response. TLR4 cannot bind LPS on its own; it requires CD14 as a cofactor, which aids in the transport of LPS to TLR4 and the modulation of LPS recognition by MD2. LPS is shuttled to CD14 by the LPS binding protein. The signal is triggered by the association of these auxiliary molecules, which results in TLR4 homodimerization and intracellular signaling via MyD88 (Lu et al. 2008; Ghosh et al. 2020) (Fig. 3).

This triggers the activation of NF- κ B, which leads to increased transcription of proinflammatory cytokines such TNF- α , IL-1, and IL-6 (Akira, Takeda 2004). Tissue inflammation is caused by the infiltration of activated macrophages or the direct activation of resident macrophages in peripheral tissues by circulating LPS. More immune cells (including neutrophils and monocytes) infiltrate the tissue in response to the proinflammatory environment, perpetuating the inflammation and disrupting tissue homeostasis. Diabetes is caused by increased adipose tissue or skeletal muscle inflammation/insulin resistance (Ghosh et al. 2020) (Fig. 3).

Increased expression of TNF- α , IL-1, and IL-6 is linked to the development of insulin resistance and T2DM in obese people. T2DM patients who were given IL-1 receptor antagonists showed a significant reduction in hyperglycemia, with insulin secretion being stable for at least 39 weeks (Böni-Schnetzler et al. 2018).

Furthermore, the metabolites of the gut microbiota can infiltrate the circulatory system and affect distant organs such as the liver, kidneys, adipose tissue, and the



Fig. 3 LPS mechanism of action to induce metabolic endotoxemia. CD14: cluster of differentiation 14, IL: Interleukin, LPS: Lipopolysaccharide, LBP: Lipopolysaccharide binding protein, NF-κB: Nuclear Factor Kappa B, TLR: Toll-like receptor, TNF: Tumor necrosis factor

cardiovascular system by passing through the gut barrier. As a result, they can influence the progression of T2DM (Yang et al. 2021). LPS that enters the liver via the portal circulation activates local macrophages or Kupffer cells, which leads to enhanced hepatic insulin resistance and lipogenesis. Activated macrophages pene-trate adipose tissue, induce inflammation and insulin resistance. Insulin resistance develops also in skeletal muscles due to increased inflammation. Foam cell generation is triggered by an activated macrophage infiltration into the arterial wall, which leads to atherosclerotic plaque formation (Ghosh et al. 2020) (Fig. 4).

Bacterial Translocation

Bacterial translocation is the movement of live bacteria from the intestinal lumen to the mesenteric lymph nodes and other locations. Later, the definition of bacterial translocation was expanded to include microbial products or fragments such as lipopolysaccharide (endotoxin), peptidoglycan (PG), lipopeptides, and bacterial DNA (Fukui 2015).

Through disturbed gut tight junctions, microbes and microbial compounds are translocated from the intestinal lumen to the circulation. They trigger inflammation in diverse organs by reacting to TLRs in macrophages, lymphocytes, and other cells. Every TLR recognizes a specific PAMP; endotoxin/LPS (recognized by TLR4), bacterial lipoprotein and PG (recognized by TLR2), flagellin (recognized



Fig. 4 Consequences of disruption of intestinal barrier in type 2 diabetes mellitus



Fig. 5 Mechanism of action of different bacterial translocation markers. LPS: Lipopolysaccharide, TLR: Toll-like receptor, T2DM: Type 2 diabetes mellitus

by TLR5), unmethylated DNA (recognized by TLR9), double-stranded RNA (recognized by TLR3), and single-stranded RNA (recognized by TLR7, TLR8) are among the pathogen-associated mole (detected by TLR7 and 8) (Fukui 2016) (Fig. 5).

Markers of Bacterial Translocation

Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)

Increased intestinal permeability can be indirectly verified by measuring bacterial components in the circulation. This link was discovered after it was shown that sepsis is linked to an acute but reversible state of insulin resistance (White et al. 1987). To this purpose, the majority of research have concentrated on measuring LPS, or endotoxins, which are chemicals found on the outer membrane of gram-negative bacteria. "Metabolic endotoxemia" refers to an increased exposure to bacterial LPS in the blood as a result of obesity or metabolic illness (Massier et al. 2021).

LPS that is taken up from the gut due to increased intestinal permeability is likely to enter the portal vein and be delivered to the liver in the first phase, where it is quickly eliminated. After uptake by various lipoprotein receptors, such as LDL-R (Topchiy et al. 2016), clearance is mostly completed in the liver by hepatocytes and Kupffer cells, and is then excreted to the bile. Furthermore, because LPS binding to lipoproteins and chylomicrons has been demonstrated to inhibit endotoxin-induced monocyte activation and proinflammatory cytokine production (Cavaillon et al. 1990; Harris et al. 1993), the redistribution and increased content of phospholipids among distinct lipoproteins has been proposed as a possible method for attenuating LPS' immunostimulatory effects (Massier et al. 2021).

Endotoxin measurement, especially at low concentrations, is difficult and errorprone, leading to much debate about the test's significance and interpretation. One important point to keep in mind is that LPS is not actively excreted by bacteria, but rather released after gram-negative bacterial cell death and lysis, which does not explain the widespread use of LPS as a surrogate marker for "live" bacterial translocation. However, there may be some intrinsic value in increasing the host's exposure to bacteria in general. The Limulus Amoebocyte Lysate (LAL) assay has been used to measure LPS, ELISA kits are also available, however, not standardized (Massier et al. 2021).

LPS is detectable in low amounts in healthy individuals, and a single meal rich in fat content raises LPS levels (Harte et al. 2012). Many large cohort studies have found elevated levels of LPS and LBP in people with metabolic syndrome or T2DM (Lassenius et al. 2011; Pussinen et al. 2011; Cox et al. 2017). Eight-week overfeeding interventional study was linked to increased endotoxemia, implying a relationship between overnutrition and insulin resistance (Krogh-Madsen et al. 2008). Furthermore, LPS treatment in vitro has been demonstrated to increase intestinal permeability by causing tight junction dysfunction via a TLR4-dependent process (Guo et al. 2015). Cox et al. (2017) calculated a permeability risk score using LPS, LBP, and intestinal fatty acid binding protein (iFABP), which was higher in people with T2DM. In terms of the effects of metabolic intervention on LPS, gastric bypass surgery has been demonstrated to reduce LPS levels by 20% in patients with obesity and T2DM following a 180-day follow-up period (Monte et al. 2012), which was also confirmed for sleeve gastrectomy and duodenal switch surgeries (Trøseid et al. 2013; Clemente-Postigo et al. 2015). Despite its widespread use, the use of LPS as an intestinal permeability marker has significant drawbacks. These are connected in part to the fact that the requirement for bacterial death/lysis for LPS release makes LPS measurement as a proxy marker for "live" bacterium translocation problematic. Several preanalytical difficulties, such as the lack of sampling in pyrogen-free tubes or the need for sample pretreatment to overcome low LPS recovery, have contributed to the broad range variation of LPS levels reported in the literature (Lassenius et al. 2011; Chakaroun et al. 2020).

Furthermore, the use of multiple measurements methods makes it difficult to understand results from different investigations (203): for example, some studies report LPS levels in weight per water volume (pg/mL), while others report endotoxin units per unit volume (EU/mL), which represents LPS activity (Massier et al. 2021). Given that host-derived protein binding and clearance actively regulate LPS activity, it's doubtful that LPS measurement after pretreatment to overcome limited recovery is representative of in vivo settings. This is corroborated by the fact that endotoxemia and Gram-negative bacteremia have poor concordance, and endotoxemia is identified in less than half of patients with Gram-negative sepsis (Chakaroun et al. 2020).

LBP level has been suggested as a good clinical marker of effective metabolic endotoxemia because LPS has a short half-life and measurement in biologic fluids has several limitations. This, combined with the relatively slow rise of LBP, which could serve to monitor the interaction between LPS and innate immune cells, has led to the suggestion that LBP level is a good clinical marker of effective metabolic endotoxemia (Schumann 2011).

Bacteria and Bacterial DNA

As with LPS, there is evidence for the presence of bacteria in blood, even in healthy subjects (100). Bacteria itself or bacterial DNA have been considered as possible contributors to metabolic disease. The evidence is not only for the presence of bacteria or bacterial DNA in blood but also for the association of bacterial load and bacterial composition with metabolic disorders. The amplification of bacterial DNA followed by sequencing allows the identification of microbial composition to the species level (Massier et al. 2021). It was found that numerous bacterial phyla are present in blood, with Proteobacteria and Firmicutes being the most prevalent (Massier et al. 2020). The first study linking bacterial presence in the blood with metabolic disorder, as part of a longitudinal study aimed at understanding the complicated pathophysiology of the metabolic syndrome was published in 2011 (Amar et al. 2011a). The amounts of the 16S rRNA gene were measured in 3280 people at the start of the study and after 9 years, Subjects who developed T2DM had significantly higher levels of bacterial DNA at baselines. Furthermore, when compared to healthy controls, the detection rate for bacterial DNA was considerably greater in T2DM patients (Sato et al. 2014; Abd Elaaty et al. 2019).

Other Bacterial Translocation Markers

Endotoxin core antibodies (EndoCAb) were also used as biomarkers and found to be superior to endotoxin; however, only IgM antibodies were substantially different between lean participants, obese patients, and T2DM patients (Hawkesworth et al. 2013). When compared to their lean counterparts, EndoCab IgM levels were significantly lower in obese and obese diabetic women. This could be explained by the deterioration of the IgM-LPS complex, which is responsible for constantly neutralizing endotoxin leaks from the gut. Given the lack of a definite cut-off number for this procedure as well as the lack of understanding of IgM and IgG kinetics, it is not recommended to be used as part of standard testing (Chakaroun et al. 2020).

PG is found in both Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria, accounting for approximately 70% and 20% of bacterial cell walls, respectively. PG binds to TLR2 and induces inflammatory response. As a quantitative assay for PG in plasma, the silkworm larvae plasma (SLP) test was developed (Kobayashi et al. 2000).

On motile bacteria, flagellin is a monomeric subunit of flagella. Flagellin binds to basolateral TLR5 on gut epithelial cells, causing inflammatory cytokines and chemokines to be secreted (Gewirtz et al. 2001). It was found that the expression of bacterial flagellin-recognizing TLR5 in adipose tissue was linked to liver fat content and insulin sensitivity in healthy women (Munukka et al. 2016). A wide range of Gram-negative flagellin is detected by ELISA.

So far, only a few studies have looked at peptidoglycan, flagellin, and their antibodies as serum bacterial translocation markers in metabolic diseases. More research in a variety of therapeutic settings is required.

Lipoteichoic acid (LTA) is a Gram-positive bacterium cell wall component. Despite the fact that LTA is the functional equivalent of Gram-negative bacteria endotoxin, it triggered differential cytokine/chemokine release via effects distal to NF-B/AP-1 activation via the TLR2 cluster (Finney et al. 2012). Unlike endotoxin, the level of LTA in the blood has not been linked to clinical inflammation.

Summary of bacterial translocation markers studied in T2DM are mentioned in Table 1.

Applications to Other Diseases/Conditions

The presence of LPS and other bacterial translocation products in systemic circulation has been linked to a variety of metabolic and non-metabolic disorders, including but not limited to: Parkinson's disease (Hasegawa et al. 2015), multiple sclerosis (Camara-Lemarroy et al. 2020), arthritis (Fotis et al. 2017), and several autoimmune diseases (Fasano 2012). The immune-escape of cancer cells is assumed to be based on a chronic inflammatory state as well as endotoxin tolerance leading to a compensatory hypoinflammatory state (Wirthgen and Hoeflich 2015).

Bacterial translocation was found to be an early event in SARS-CoV-2 infection, and it may be linked to intestinal damage from tissue infection, systemic inflammation, and IL-6-mediated vascular damage. Disruption of the intestinal barrier in

		the second			
Bacterial translocation					Reference
marker	Study subjects	A im of the study	Method of testing	Result	(author, year)
LPS (endotoxin)	25 T2DM 25 controls	To study circulating LPS in T2DM subjects.	Chromogenic quantitative limulus amebocyte lysate	LPS increased TLR-2 expression twofold ($P < 0.05$)	Creely et al. (2007)
			(LAL) test (Cambrex).	and significant increase in TNF-alpha and IL-6 secretion by adipocytes	
LPS (endotoxin)	346 T2DM 67 controls	To investigate the relationship between endotoxin and various	Chromogenic kinetic LAL assay (BioWhitaker,	Endotoxin levels were elevated in all of the treated diabetic	Al-Attas et al. (2009)
, ,		metabolic parameters of diabetic patients	Walkersville MD)	subgroups compared to controls	
LPS	15 obese	To evaluate the changes in	Commercially available	Exposure to a high-fat meal	Harte et al.
(Endotoxin)	12 impaired	circulating endotoxin after a	QCL-1000 LAL End Point	increased circulating endotoxin	(2012)
	glucose	high-saturated fat meal and to	Assay (Lonza, Allendale, NJ)	irrespective of metabolic state	
	18 T2DM	depend on metabolic disease			
	9 healthy controls	state.			
LPS	29 T2DM	To investigate metabolic	Endpoint Chromogenic LAL	LPS levels were highest in the	Hawkesworth
(Endotoxin)	31 lean	endotoxemia in Gambian	Test for Gram-negative	obese-diabetic group compared	et al. (2013)
EndoCAB	33 obese	women.	bacterial endotoxin (LAL	with the other two groups. IgM	
			QCL-1000, Basal,	EndoCAb was significantly	
			Switzerland)	reduced in the obese and obese	
			Endotoxin-core IgM and IgG antibodies (EndoCAb) ELISA	diabetic women compared with lean women.	
LPS	45 T2DM	To investigate the serum levels	Quantitative LAL test for	LPS levels, LPS activity, and	Jayashree
(Endotoxin)	45 controls	of LPS, zonulin, TNF-alpha	Gram-negative bacterial	zonulin were significantly	et al. (2014)
		and Interleukin-6 in patients	endotoxin [Lonza, USA; Cat	higher in patients with T2DM	
			NO. QCL-1000J.	and snowed positive	

 Table 1
 Bacterial translocation markers studied in type 2 diabetes mellitus

		Zaman and Zaman (2015)			Moreno-	et al. (2012)		Kim et al.	(2016)					Tilves et al.	(0107)			(continued)
correlation with inflammatory	markers and poor glycemic/ lipid control.	Both study groups showed a significant increase in LPS levels and circulating LBP in	plasma after the meal intake.		Circulating LBP was	T2DM subjects and	dramatically increased in subjects with morbid obesity.	Circulating plasma LBP levels	were significantly increased in	obese compared with those	LBP levels were significantly	and positively associated with	insulin resistance.	LBP was significantly	associated with Divit, waist circumference, whole- body	and trunk fat, skeletal muscle	density, fasting serum insulin, and HOMA- insulin resistance	
		Chromogenic LAL assay (QCL-1000, Lonza Group Ltd.).	Plasma LBP levels were determined by a sandwich	ELISA	Serum LBP levels were	ELISA kit (HvCnlt	biotechnology b.v.).	Plasma LBP were measured	using commer cially available	enzymelinked immunosorbent	R&D Systems. Minneapolis.	MN, UŠA)		Serum LBP was measured	(Cell Sciences, Canton, MA)	~		
with T2DM compared to	controls	To evaluate postprandial endotoxemia in postmenopausal women	non-obese and diabetic patients.		To study the association of	circuating LDF with Insum resistance		To study the association	between circulating plasma	LBP levels and obesity-related	population	1 1		To study the association	metabolic disorders.			
		80 nonobese postmenopausal women	80 diabetic nonobese	postmenopausal women	95 T2DM	40 grucose intolerance	87 controls	44 obese	43 controls					580 African				
		LPS (Endotoxin) LBP			LBP			LBP						LBP				

Table 1 (contir	(pənu				
Bacterial translocation marker	Study subjects	Aim of the study	Method of testing	Result	Reference (author, year)
Live bacteria	50 T2DM 50 controls	To investigate the level of live gut bacteria in the systemic circulation of Japanese patients with type 2 diabetes.	16S rRNA-targeted quantitative RT–PCR using the Yakult Intestinal Flora-SCAN.	Gut bacteria were detected in blood at a significantly higher rate in diabetic patients than in control subjects and most of these bacteria were Gram- positive.	Sato et al. (2014)
Bacterial DNA	58 obese	To evaluate the incidence of bacterial translocation and the systemic inflammatory re- sponse in morbidly obese patients, and how a dietary intervention followed by bariatric surgery may impact these processes.	Broad-range PCR and of prokaryote 16SrRNA gene	Bacterial DNA translocation holds increased insulin resistance and systemic inflammatory levels in morbidly obese patients despite significant weight loss	Ortiz et al. (2014)
Bacterial DNA LBP	30 T2DM 30 controls	To evaluate the potential impact of LBP and DNA translocation on glycemic control and progression to diabetic kidney disease in T2DM patients.	Detection of bacterial DNA in blood was performed using PCR targeting 16SrRNA gene. Plasma level of LBP was determined by a commercially available double antibody sandwich ELISA (Assay kit Co., Ltd, USA)	Plasma levels of LBP were significantly elevated in T2DM than in controls. LBP level was significantly and positively correlated with fasting glucose level, albumin-creatinine ratio and negatively correlated with glomerular filtration rate.	Abd Elaaty et al. (2019)
DNA: Deoxyribe Reverse transcrip	onucleic acid, ELIS. Mase-Polymerase chi	A: enzyme linked immunosorbent ain reaction, T2DM: Type 2 diabet	assay, LBP: lipopolysaccharide bi ss mellitus, 16SrRNA: 16S riboson	nding protein, LPS: lipopolysacch al ribonucleic acid	aaride, RT-PCR:

COVID-19 patients results in the systemic release of PAMPs, such as LPS, and consequently TLR activation, which then initiates vicious cycles of systemic inflammation and tissue damage. Thus, bacterial translocation could serve a synergistic role in the cytokine release syndrome in COVID-19 (Gao et al. 2020).

These studies indicate a causal link between gut-derived LPS or bacterial translocation products and disease progression, and they emphasize the need of maintaining gut barrier function as well as focused regulation as a novel therapeutic option.

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

- Gut Microbiome vs gut microbiota: the two terms are used interchangeably. Microbiota refer to all types of microorganisms (bacteria, fungi, archae, viruses) that inhabit the gastrointestinal tract (GIT). Microbiome refer to the microorganisms and their genes that inhabit the GIT.
- Gut dysbiosis: imbalance in the gut microbiome composition that is mostly associated with diseases.
- Bacterial translocation: the passage of microorganisms from the GIT to the circulation.
- Metabolic endotoxemia: high level of endotoxins (LPS) in blood which occurs due to passage of bacterial LPS from the gut to the circulation.

Key Facts

- Type 2 Diabetes mellitus (T2DM) is a metabolic disorder, multifactorial in origin.
- T2DM is characterized by insulin resistance and a low-grade inflammation.
- · Metabolic endotoxemia triggers insulin resistance.
- Lifestyle changes including diet control can help prevent or delay the onset of T2DM.
- Better understanding of the relationship between gut microbiome and T2DM is still needed.

Summary Points

- Type 2 Diabetes mellitus (T2DM) is a metabolic disorder, multifactorial in origin.
- Altered gut microbiome in T2DM has led to the emergence of the concept of "leaky gut" and metabolic endotoxemia.
- Increased intestinal permeability allows the translocation of bacteria and their products through the gut barrier.
- Translocated bacterial products stimulate a systemic inflammatory response affecting many organs and increasing insulin resistance that help diabetes progression.

• Better understanding of the mechanism of leaky gut and bacterial translocation in diabetes will help scientists to develop novel diagnostic and therapeutic approaches.

References

- Abd Elaaty TA, Ismail AA, Meheissen MA, El Essawy NR. Bacterial translocation markers in type 2 diabetes mellitus: their association with glycemic control and diabetic kidney disease in Egyptian patients. Clin Diabetol. 2019;8(4):195–204.
- Akira S, Takeda K. Toll-like receptor signalling. Nat Rev Immunol. 2004;4(7):499-511.
- Al-Attas OS, Al-Daghri NM, Al-Rubeaan K, et al. Changes in endotoxin levels in T2DM subjects on anti-diabetic therapies. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2009;8:20.
- Amar J, Chabo C, Waget A, et al. Intestinal mucosal adherence and translocation of commensal bacteria at the early onset of type 2 diabetes: molecular mechanisms and probiotic treatment. EMBO Mol Med. 2011a;3(9):559–72.
- Amar J, Serino M, Lange C, et al. Involvement of tissue bacteria in the onset of diabetes in humans: evidence for a concept. Diabetologia. 2011b;54(12):3055–61.
- Anderson JM. Molecular structure of tight junctions and their role in epithelial transport. News Physiol Sci. 2001;16:126–30.
- Aw W, Fukuda S. Toward the comprehensive understanding of the gut ecosystem via metabolomics-based integrated omics approach. Semin Immunopathol. 2015;37(1):5–16.
- Böni-Schnetzler M, Häuselmann SP, Dalmas E, et al. β cell-specific deletion of the IL-1 receptor antagonist impairs β cell proliferation and insulin secretion. Cell Rep. 2018;22(7):1774–86.
- Camara-Lemarroy CR, Silva C, Greenfield J, Liu WQ, Metz LM, Yong VW. Biomarkers of intestinal barrier function in multiple sclerosis are associated with disease activity. Mult Scler. 2020;26(11):1340–50.
- Cani PD, Amar J, Iglesias MA, et al. Metabolic endotoxemia initiates obesity and insulin resistance. Diabetes. 2007;56(7):1761–72.
- Cani PD, Bibiloni R, Knauf C, et al. Changes in gut microbiota control metabolic endotoxemiainduced inflammation in high-fat diet-induced obesity and diabetes in mice. Diabetes. 2008;57 (6):1470–81.
- Cavaillon JM, Fitting C, Haeffner-Cavaillon N, Kirsch SJ, Warren HS. Cytokine response by monocytes and macrophages to free and lipoprotein-bound lipopolysaccharide. Infect Immun. 1990;58(7):2375–82.
- Chakaroun RM, Massier L, Kovacs P. Gut microbiome, intestinal permeability, and tissue bacteria in metabolic disease: perpetrators or bystanders? Nutrients. 2020;12(4):1082.
- Cho NH, Shaw JE, Karuranga S, et al. IDF diabetes atlas: global estimates of diabetes prevalence for 2017 and projections for 2045. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2018;138:271–81.
- Clemente-Postigo M, Roca-Rodriguez Mdel M, Camargo A, Ocaña-Wilhelmi L, Cardona F, Tinahones FJ. Lipopolysaccharide and lipopolysaccharide-binding protein levels and their relationship to early metabolic improvement after bariatric surgery. Surg Obes Relat Dis. 2015;11(4):933–9.
- Cox AJ, Zhang P, Bowden DW, et al. Increased intestinal permeability as a risk factor for type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Metab. 2017;43(2):163–6.
- Creely SJ, McTernan PG, Kusminski CM, et al. Lipopolysaccharide activates an innate immune system response in human adipose tissue in obesity and type 2 diabetes. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2007;292(3):E740–7.
- Deplancke B, Gaskins HR. Microbial modulation of innate defense: goblet cells and the intestinal mucus layer. Am J Clin Nutr. 2001;73(6):1131S–41S.
- Desai MS, Seekatz AM, Koropatkin NM, et al. A dietary fiber-deprived gut microbiota degrades the colonic mucus barrier and enhances pathogen susceptibility. Cell. 2016;167(5):1339–1353.e21.
- Donath MY, Shoelson SE. Type 2 diabetes as an inflammatory disease. Nat Rev Immunol. 2011;11 (2):98–107.
- Everard A, Lazarevic V, Derrien M, et al. Responses of gut microbiota and glucose and lipid metabolism to prebiotics in genetic obese and diet-induced leptin-resistant mice. Diabetes. 2011;60(11):2775–86.
- Fan Y, Pedersen O. Gut microbiota in human metabolic health and disease. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2021;19(1):55–71.
- Fasano A. Leaky gut and autoimmune diseases. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol. 2012;42(1):71-8.
- Finney SJ, Leaver SK, Evans TW, Burke-Gaffney A. Differences in lipopolysaccharide- and lipoteichoic acid-induced cytokine/chemokine expression. Intensive Care Med. 2012;38(2): 324–32.
- Fotis L, Shaikh N, Baszis KW, et al. Serologic evidence of gut-driven systemic inflammation in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2017;44(11):1624–31.
- Fukui H. Gut-liver axis in liver cirrhosis: how to manage leaky gut and endotoxemia. World J Hepatol. 2015;7(3):425–42.
- Fukui H. Endotoxin and other microbial translocation markers in the blood: a clue to understand leaky gut syndrome. Cell Mol Med. 2016;2:3.
- Gao QY, Chen YX, Fang JY. 2020 Novel coronavirus infection and gastrointestinal tract. J Dig Dis. 2020;21(3):125–6.
- Gewirtz AT, Navas TA, Lyons S, Godowski PJ, Madara JL. Cutting edge: bacterial flagellin activates basolaterally expressed TLR5 to induce epithelial proinflammatory gene expression. J Immunol. 2001;167(4):1882–5.
- Ghosh SS, Wang J, Yannie PJ, Ghosh S. Intestinal barrier dysfunction, LPS translocation, and disease development. J Endocr Soc. 2020;4(2):bvz039.
- Grys TE, Siegel MB, Lathem WW, Welch RA. The StcE protease contributes to intimate adherence of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 to host cells. Infect Immun. 2005;73(3):1295–303.
- Guo S, Nighot M, Al-Sadi R, Alhmoud T, Nighot P, Ma TY. Lipopolysaccharide regulation of intestinal tight junction permeability is mediated by TLR4 signal transduction pathway activation of FAK and MyD88. J Immunol. 2015;195(10):4999–5010.
- Harris HW, Grunfeld C, Feingold KR, et al. Chylomicrons alter the fate of endotoxin, decreasing tumor necrosis factor release and preventing death. J Clin Invest. 1993;91(3):1028–34.
- Harte AL, Varma MC, Tripathi G, et al. High fat intake leads to acute postprandial exposure to circulating endotoxin in type 2 diabetic subjects. Diabetes Care. 2012;35(2):375–82.
- Hasegawa S, Goto S, Tsuji H, et al. Intestinal Dysbiosis and lowered serum lipopolysaccharidebinding protein in Parkinson's disease. PLoS One. 2015;10(11):e0142164.
- Hawkesworth S, Moore SE, Fulford AJ, et al. Evidence for metabolic endotoxemia in obese and diabetic Gambian women. Nutr Diabetes. 2013;3(8):e83.
- Hendrikx T, Schnabl B. Indoles: metabolites produced by intestinal bacteria capable of controlling liver disease manifestation. J Intern Med. 2019;286(1):32–40.
- Hooper LV, Littman DR, Macpherson AJ. Interactions between the microbiota and the immune system. Science. 2012;336(6086):1268–73.
- Hu YJ, Wang YD, Tan FQ, Yang WX. Regulation of paracellular permeability: factors and mechanisms. Mol Biol Rep. 2013;40(11):6123–42.
- Ibrahim A, Mbodji K, Hassan A, et al. Anti-inflammatory and anti-angiogenic effect of long chain n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids in intestinal microvascular endothelium. Clin Nutr. 2011;30(5): 678–87.
- Jayashree B, Bibin YS, Prabhu D, et al. Increased circulatory levels of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and zonulin signify novel biomarkers of proinflammation in patients with type 2 diabetes. Mol Cell Biochem. 2014;388(1–2):203–10.
- Karlsson FH, Tremaroli V, Nookaew I, et al. Gut metagenome in European women with normal, impaired and diabetic glucose control. Nature. 2013;498(7452):99–103.
- Kim KE, Cho YS, Baek KS, et al. Lipopolysaccharide-binding protein plasma levels as a biomarker of obesity-related insulin resistance in adolescents. Korean J Pediatr. 2016;59(5):231–8.

- Kobayashi T, Tani T, Yokota T, Kodama M. Detection of peptidoglycan in human plasma using the silkworm larvae plasma test. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol. 2000;28(1):49–53.
- Krogh-Madsen R, Plomgaard P, Akerstrom T, Møller K, Schmitz O, Pedersen BK. Effect of shortterm intralipid infusion on the immune response during low-dose endotoxemia in humans. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2008;294(2):E371–9.
- Lallès JP. Intestinal alkaline phosphatase: novel functions and protective effects. Nutr Rev. 2014;72 (2):82–94.
- Larsen N, Vogensen FK, van den Berg FW, et al. Gut microbiota in human adults with type 2 diabetes differs from non-diabetic adults. PLoS One. 2010;5(2):e9085.
- Lassenius MI, Pietiläinen KH, Kaartinen K, et al. Bacterial endotoxin activity in human serum is associated with dyslipidemia, insulin resistance, obesity, and chronic inflammation. Diabetes Care. 2011;34(8):1809–15.
- Li X, Wang E, Yin B, et al. Effects of lactobacillus casei CCFM419 on insulin resistance and gut microbiota in type 2 diabetic mice. Benef Microbes. 2017;8(3):421–32.
- Lu YC, Yeh WC, Ohashi PS. LPS/TLR4 signal transduction pathway. Cytokine. 2008;42(2): 145-51.
- Malo MS, Moaven O, Muhammad N, et al. Intestinal alkaline phosphatase promotes gut bacterial growth by reducing the concentration of luminal nucleotide triphosphates. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2014;306(10):G826–38.
- Massier L, Chakaroun R, Tabei S, et al. Adipose tissue derived bacteria are associated with inflammation in obesity and type 2 diabetes. Gut. 2020;69(10):1796–806.
- Massier L, Blüher M, Kovacs P, Chakaroun RM. Impaired intestinal barrier and tissue bacteria: pathomechanisms for metabolic diseases. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2021;12:616506.
- Matheus VA, Monteiro L, Oliveira RB, et al. Butyrate reduces high-fat diet-induced metabolic alterations, hepatic steatosis and pancreatic beta cell and intestinal barrier dysfunctions in prediabetic mice. Exp Biol Med (Maywood). 2017;242(12):1214–26.
- McDermott AJ, Huffnagle GB. The microbiome and regulation of mucosal immunity. Immunology. 2014;142(1):24–31.
- Mestecky J, Russell MW, Elson CO. Intestinal IgA: novel views on its function in the defence of the largest mucosal surface. Gut. 1999;44(1):2–5.
- Monte SV, Caruana JA, Ghanim H, et al. Reduction in endotoxemia, oxidative and inflammatory stress, and insulin resistance after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass surgery in patients with morbid obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus. Surgery. 2012;151(4):587–93.
- Moreno-Navarrete JM, Ortega F, Serino M, et al. Circulating lipopolysaccharide-binding protein (LBP) as a marker of obesity-related insulin resistance. Int J Obes. 2012;36(11):1442–9.
- Munukka E, Wiklund P, Partanen T, et al. Adipocytes as a link between gut microbiota-derived Flagellin and hepatocyte fat accumulation. PLoS One. 2016;11(4):e0152786.
- Ogawa H, Rafiee P, Fisher PJ, et al. Butyrate modulates gene and protein expression in human intestinal endothelial cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2003;309(3):512–9.
- Ortiz S, Zapater P, Estrada JL, et al. Bacterial DNA translocation holds increased insulin resistance and systemic inflammatory levels in morbid obese patients. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2014;99 (7):2575–83.
- Pussinen PJ, Havulinna AS, Lehto M, Sundvall J, Salomaa V. Endotoxemia is associated with an increased risk of incident diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2011;34(2):392–7.
- Qin J, Li R, Raes J, et al. A human gut microbial gene catalogue established by metagenomic sequencing. Nature. 2010;464(7285):59–65.
- Qin J, Li Y, Cai Z, et al. A metagenome-wide association study of gut microbiota in type 2 diabetes. Nature. 2012;490(7418):55–60.
- Sato T, Vries RG, Snippert HJ, et al. Single Lgr5 stem cells build crypt-villus structures in vitro without a mesenchymal niche. Nature. 2009;459(7244):262–5.
- Sato J, Kanazawa A, Ikeda F, et al. Gut dysbiosis and detection of "live gut bacteria" in blood of Japanese patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2014;37(8):2343–50.

- Schumann RR. Old and new findings on lipopolysaccharide-binding protein: a soluble patternrecognition molecule. Biochem Soc Trans. 2011;39(4):989–93.
- Sohail MU, Althani A, Anwar H, Rizzi R, Marei HE. Role of the gastrointestinal tract microbiome in the pathophysiology of diabetes mellitus. J Diabetes Res. 2017;2017:9631435.
- Sohet FM, Neyrinck AM, Pachikian BD, et al. Coenzyme Q10 supplementation lowers hepatic oxidative stress and inflammation associated with diet-induced obesity in mice. Biochem Pharmacol. 2009;78(11):1391–400.
- Thaiss CA, Levy M, Grosheva I, et al. Hyperglycemia drives intestinal barrier dysfunction and risk for enteric infection. Science. 2018;359(6382):1376–83.
- Tilves CM, Zmuda JM, Kuipers AL, et al. Association of Lipopolysaccharide-Binding Protein with Aging-Related Adiposity Change and Prediabetes among African Ancestry men. Diabetes Care. 2016;39(3):385–91.
- Topchiy E, Cirstea M, Kong HJ, et al. Lipopolysaccharide is cleared from the circulation by hepatocytes via the low density lipoprotein receptor. PLoS One. 2016;11(5):e0155030.
- Trøseid M, Nestvold TK, Rudi K, Thoresen H, Nielsen EW, Lappegård KT. Plasma lipopolysaccharide is closely associated with glycemic control and abdominal obesity: evidence from bariatric surgery. Diabetes Care. 2013;36(11):3627–32.
- Vancamelbeke M, Vermeire S. The intestinal barrier: a fundamental role in health and disease. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017;11(9):821–34.
- White RH, Frayn KN, Little RA, Threlfall CJ, Stoner HB, Irving MH. Hormonal and metabolic responses to glucose infusion in sepsis studied by the hyperglycemic glucose clamp technique. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr. 1987;11(4):345–53.
- Wirthgen E, Hoeflich A. Endotoxin-induced tryptophan degradation along the kynurenine pathway: the role of Indolamine 2,3-dioxygenase and aryl hydrocarbon receptor-mediated immunosuppressive effects in endotoxin tolerance and cancer and its implications for Immunoparalysis. J Amino Acids. 2015;2015:973548.
- Wu GD, Chen J, Hoffmann C, et al. Linking long-term dietary patterns with gut microbial enterotypes. Science. 2011;334(6052):105–8.
- Yang G, Wei J, Liu P, et al. Role of the gut microbiota in type 2 diabetes and related diseases. Metabolism. 2021;117:154712.
- Zaman GS, Zaman F. Relationship between postprandial endotoxemia in nonobese postmenopausal women and diabetic nonobese postmenopausal women. J Nat Sci Biol Med. 2015;6(1):89–93.
- Zinöcker MK, Lindseth IA. The Western diet-microbiome-host interaction and its role in metabolic disease. Nutrients. 2018;10(3):365.



46

Serum Leptin as a Biomarker in Diabetes

Links with Acromegaly

Hind Shakir Ahmed

Contents

Diabetes Mellitus	949
Complications of Diabetes Mellitus	949
Insulin Resistance and β-Cell Function in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus	950
Diabetes Mellitus and Acromegaly	951
Acromegaly Comorbidities	951
Metabolic Complications	951
Cardiovascular Disease	952
Insulin Resistance and Leptin in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus	954
Leptin Resistance in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus	956
Leptin in Acromegaly	956
Medical Therapy	957
Applications to Prognosis	957
Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions	958
Mini-Dictionary of Terms	958
Key Facts of Hyperinsulinemia	958
Key Facts of Human Leptin	959
Key Facts of Acromegaly	959
Summary Points	959
References	960

Abstract

Acromegaly is a rare disease caused by an overproduction of growth hormone and revealed by progressive clinical features. Due to the abundance of growth hormone receptors in the body, it is a systemic disease that leads to many complications and concomitant diseases. An obvious medical concern in the

H. S. Ahmed (🖂)

Department of Chemistry, College of Education for Pure Science (Ibn Al-Haitham), University of Baghdad, Baghdad, Iraq e-mail: hind.sh.a@ihcoedu.uobaghdad.edu.iq

947

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 50

context of acromegaly is diabetes. It can be the result of excess growth hormone and its mediators, but it can also result from the treatment of acromegaly.

This chapter reveals the pathophysiological role of leptin in glucose and lipid metabolism in diabetic patients, especially those with acromegaly. In addition, there is a section highlighting the effect of acromegaly treatment on glucose metabolism, including approved drugs as well as those currently being explored. It also reviews the observations of the use of antidiabetic drugs in acromegaly patients.

Glucose homeostasis is an important feature of the comorbidity of acromegaly and has further care. Although several trials have tested glucose homeostasis in acromegaly, more basic, translational, and clinical investigations are still needed to better consider the underlying mechanisms and how to better report them.

Keywords

Diabetes mellitus \cdot Type 2 diabetes mellitus \cdot Insulin resistance \cdot Homeostatic model assessment \cdot Pancreatic β -cell function \cdot Growth hormone \cdot Insulin-like growth factor-1 \cdot Acromegaly \cdot Leptin \cdot Leptin resistance

Abbreviation	S
CV	Cardiovascular
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
DM	Diabetes mellitus
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated protein kinase
FA	Fatty acid
FBG	Fasting blood glucose
FFAs	Free fatty acids
GH	Growth hormone
gp	Glycoprotein
HDL	High-density lipoprotein
HOMA%B	Homeostatic model assessment for β -cell function
HOMA%S	Homeostatic model assessment for insulin sensitivity
HOMA	Homeostatic model assessment
HTN	Hypertension
IFG	Impaired fasting glucose
IFN-γ	Interferon-gamma
IGF-1	Insulin-like growth factor-1
IL	Interleukin
IR	Insulin resistance
IRS	Insulin receptor substrate
IS	Insulin sensitivity
JAK	Janus family of tyrosine kinases
LDL	Low-density lipoprotein
MAP	Mitogen-activated protein
РКС	Protein kinase C

STAT	Signal transducers and activators of transcription
T2DM	Type 2 diabetes mellitus
TAG	Triacylglycerol
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor-a
WHO	World Health Organization

Diabetes Mellitus

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is one of the most common metabolic disorders manifested by hyperglycemia. It occurs due to total or partial insulin deficiency and/or insulin resistance (IR). The World Health Organization reports that DM bothers about 422 million adults in the world. In 2019, diabetes was the seventh cause of death and the eighth cause of disability (WHO 2019).

Diabetes is a public health threat that afflicts millions of people in the world of all ages, gender, race, and ethnicity (Wondafrash et al. 2020). The burden of diabetes is total worldwide, and about 80% of DM deaths occur predominantly in low- and middle-income countries (Afroz et al. 2019). Based on the pathogenesis of hyper-glycemia, most diabetic patients are either type 1 (insulin-dependent T1DM) or type 2 (non-insulin-dependent T2DM). Also, T2DM has been most frequently documented (90–95% of patients) (Chen et al. 2017).

The pathologic hallmarks of T2DM are primarily unusual insulin secretion and higher insulin resistance (IR). There is also a decline in the functional pancreatic β -cell mass over time upon the progress of the disease situation. Individuals with impaired fasting glucose (IFG) were revealed a decrease of 40% in relative β -cell volume, proposing that loss of β -cell mass was surviving at early stages of T2DM. Moreover, it was documented that β -cell mass was already decreased by 50% at the time of diagnosis of T2DM and that it continued to deterioration through the course of T2DM and the diminished β -cell mass was not due to decreased formation of islets or regeneration but was caused by greater rates of apoptosis in islets (Zaccardi et al. 2016). Deterioration in cell function in T2DM leads to progressive deterioration of glycemic control and increases the need for insulin. Moreover, T2DM is primarily associated with obesity, which results in decreased glucose-mediated insulin uptake due to impaired intracellular insulin signaling. There is also decreased secretion of glucagon-like peptide 1, which is secreted after eating and increases insulin secretion in T2DM patients (Murakami et al. 2017).

Complications of Diabetes Mellitus

If left untreated, diabetes is associated with bothersome short-term complications (diabetic ketoacidosis and hyperglycemic state) and long-term complications (retinopathy, nephropathy, neuropathy, and lower claudication amputation). Moreover, various cardiovascular (CV) and endocrine defects are associated with diabetes, which may disturb patients' quality of life (Wang and Lo 2018).

Insulin Resistance and β-Cell Function in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus

Insulin resistance is a condition in which peripheral tissues, i.e., the liver, skeletal muscle, and adipose tissue, do not respond to normal insulin levels. As a result, pancreatic cells secrete greater amounts of insulin as a compensatory mechanism. This constitutes a significant biological and energy burden on cells. When β -cells fail to produce elevated insulin in response to greater metabolic demand, T2DM results emerge (Newsholme et al. 2016).

Hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp technique is deliberated to be the best method to assess even lesser variants in insulin sensitivity (IS), though it is burdensome to achieve, labor-intensive, and expensive (DeFronzo et al. 1979).

The homeostatic model assessment (HOMA) test was presented as a simple method that mathematically uses fasting blood glucose (FBG) and insulin levels and provides an assessment of IS score (HOMA%S) and cell function (HOMA%B). Hence, HOMA-IR is the reciprocal of HOMA%S (Matthews et al. 1985). The simplified HOMA model (HOMA2) in addition to the steady-state glucose and insulin ratio also reflects variables in hepatic and peripheral glucose resistance, i.e., lessening in suppression of hepatic glucose production, increase in insulin secretion curve of plasma glucose levels greater than 10 mmol/L, and influences of proinsulin turnover (Levy et al. 1998).

The IR modifier was also calculated using the HOMA2 calculator program. The HOMA2 calculator was downloaded from the University of Oxford (http://www.dtu. ox.ac.uk/). Subjects with a HOMA2-IR greater than 1.8 were defined as the IR group, while subjects with a HOMA2-IR less than or equal to 1.8 were defined as the IS group. Computer models were used to produce a modular chart by which mathematical transformations of FBG and insulin statistics from individuals identify distinct groups of HOMA%S and HOMA%B from steady-state states (Kalaichelvi and Somasundram 2016).

In addition, these models using insulin have some constraints. First, insulin secretion is pulsatile, which limits the usage of a single sample for insulin assessment. Alternatively, an average of at least three samples taken at 5-min intervals was used to calculate HOMA to obtain more consistent results. Moreover, careful phlebotomy is necessary to avoid hemolysis as far as the hemolytic effects of insulinolysis can occur. Moreover, approximately 50% of the insulin secreted by β -cells is removed by the liver, resulting in a large inter-assay insulin variant (Wallace et al. 2004).

In China, researchers found HOMA modified with C-peptide to exchange insulin in HOMA to evaluate islet cell function and IR in healthy individuals and diabetic states. This method appears to be more suitable as a range of insulin secretion since the secreted C-peptide is not extracted by the liver and other organs and also, the serum C-peptide half-life is longer than that of insulin (10-30 min vs. 4 min). Hence, assessment of C-peptide is a more reliable feature for beta-cell insulin secretion compared to an assessment of insulin (Li et al. 2004).

The pathways to β -cell demise and dysfunction are less well differentiated in T2DM, but β -cell insulin deficiency, often in IR, appears to be the mutual

denominator. In addition, T2DM is associated with defects in insulin secretion due to metabolic stress or inflammation in some individuals, including genetic influences. Future classification schemes for DM will provide a prospective focus on the pathophysiology of the primary cell defect. It has also revealed that it takes 5–10 years before the true symptoms of DM appear due to cell dysfunction and IR (Chung et al. 2020).

Diabetes Mellitus and Acromegaly

The leading physiological action of growth hormone (GH) is the regulation of postpartum growth and lipolysis. These actions are highly dependent on the nutritional status, which is involved in the metabolism of GH (Facey et al. 2017). The GH secretion is improved by fasting, GH-releasing hormone (GHRH), stress, physical activity and hypoglycemia, and inhibited by insulin, glucose free fatty acids (FFAs), insuline-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) and somatostatin. Excess GH in acromegaly, with few exceptions, results in a benign tumor of somatic pituitary cells and leads to chronically higher GH levels, which do not respond to the usual physiological inhibition of the feedback (Hawkes and Grimberg 2015).

The IGF-1 is a single-chain polypeptide containing 50% of the amino acid sequence homologous to insulin, so sharp increases in IGF-1 levels result in insulin-like properties in glucose transport and circulating glucose levels, as well as in insulin receptor deficiency. However, circulating IGF-1 does not cause hypoglycemia, as more than 90% binds to specific binding proteins (Frara et al. 2016).

Acromegaly is a rare disease interrelated with higher morbidity due to secondary systemic complications involving cerebral, CV, respiratory, and osteoarticular systems, as well as endocrine, metabolic, and neoplastic alterations (Gadelha et al. 2019).

Acromegaly Comorbidities

Metabolic Complications

Acromegaly patients have metabolic disorders that disturb both glycemic and lipid metabolisms and are usually due to excess GH. Most patients with acromegaly have IR with poor IS, and improved gluconeogenesis in the liver and kidneys, which leads to glycemic irregularity. In the fasting state, GH is the main anabolic hormone that resists insulin, and the excess leads to the continuous stimulation of lipolysis and fat oxidation (Bolfi et al. 2018). Growth hormone inhibits lipoprotein lipase activity in adipose tissues, leading to an increase in the efflux of FFAs to the liver, which in turn favors IR, elevates the synthesis of triacylglycerol (TAG), and decreases high-density lipoprotein (HDL) levels and percentage of body fat (BF%). This continued lipolysis leads to acromegaly's distinctive metabolic alterations in which IR can be seen along with decreased body fat. Furthermore, decreased glucose uptake in

Table 1 Metabolic effects of GH and IGF-1	Metabolic pathway	GH	IGF-I
	Glucose uptake	\downarrow	1
	Insulin secretion	\uparrow	\downarrow
	Insulin sensitivity	\downarrow	\uparrow
	Lipolysis	1	-
	Protein synthesis	1	-
	Protein breakdown	↑	-

 \uparrow stimulating, \downarrow inhibiting

adipose tissue and muscle with lesser expression of glucose transporter-1 and glucose transporter-4 is also detected in acromegaly (Vila et al. 2019) (Table 1). On the contrary, IGF-1 has contradictory actions comparable to GH under physiological situations. It stimulates FFA uptake into adipose and liver tissues, leading to decreased FFA, in addition to improved glucose uptake and IS mainly on skeletal muscles. Nevertheless, in acromegaly, IR dominates and IGF-1's possibly constructive effects are countered. This leads to higher occurrence of glucose and lipid irregularities in acromegalic patients as comparable to normal subjects (Vilar et al. 2007).

In newly diagnosed acromegalic patients, about 50% of cases lead to glucose impairment manifested by altered FBG, impaired glucose tolerance (IGT), or DM. Regarding DM alone, it is existent in nearly 30% of cases, but has been recognized in up to 56% of cases, dependent on the existence of other risk features. Severity of glucose defects is associated with older age, greater body mass index (BMI), and positive family history of DM, in addition to GH and IGF-1 levels (Alexopoulou et al. 2014).

Furthermore, hyperlipidemia is also existent in up to 50% of acromegalic patients and is primarily manifested by hypertriglyceridemia and decreased HDL levels. Though low-density lipoprotein (LDL) levels have been higher or similar to normal individuals, higher concentrations of oxidized LDL have been documented in these cases. Therefore, IR is the leading metabolic irregularity seen in acromegalic patients (Boero et al. 2010).

Impaired glucose uptake correlates with activation associated with lipolysis, in which administration of the anti-lipolytic agent acipimox abrogates the actions of GH on IS (Nielsen et al. 2001) (Table 2).

Cardiovascular Disease

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is one of the most predominant comorbidities in acromegalic patients, with arterial hypertension (HTN) being the greatest public illness, with predominance fluctuating 18–60% and being existent since early times. It is categorized by higher diastolic blood pressure and higher predominance of non-dippers (Ramos-Levi and Marazuela 2019). In fact, CVD appears to lead to

Stimulus factor	Healthy	Acromegaly
GH levels	Normal	<u>↑</u> ↑
IGF-I levels	Normal	<u>↑</u> ↑
Negative feedback of IGF-I on GH secretion	Normal	↓ GH
β-Cell function	\uparrow	\downarrow
Glucose uptake	Normal	Ļ
Insulin levels	Normal	1
Glycogenolysis	Normal	1
Gluconeogenesis	\uparrow	1
Lipolysis	↑ During fasting	11

Table 2 Effects of GH/IGF-1 hypersecretion in metabolic process

 \uparrow stimulating, \downarrow inhibiting



Fig. 1 The effects of GH/IGF-1 increases

death in 23–50% of cases dependent on patient's age, or years in which the experimental evidence were documented. It is identified that augmented levels of GH/IGF-1 ratio due to sodium-retaining influence initiate an elevation in extracellular volume which leads to HTN, in addition to determining morpho-functional heart changes such as diastolic dysfunction, hypertrophy, and up to systolic dysfunction in the end stage (Pivonello et al. 2017). Other illnesses, as cardiac hypertrophy and sleep apnea, may lead to the elevation in blood pressure (Fig. 1). At long-term acromegaly, there are minor modifications in the vascular system and cardiac alteration that also help aggravate arterial HTN. Subsequently, chronic IR and fatty acid-induced lipotoxicity worsen β -cell function ultimately leading to DM (Ramos-Levi and Marazuela 2017).

The incidence of DM in acromegalic patients is 20–35% at early diagnosis. The incidence of DM correlates with disease control in acromegaly, and IGF-I levels are greater in diabetic patients than in patients with IGT or normal glucose metabolism (Gonzalez et al. 2018).

Insulin Resistance and Leptin in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus

Another mechanism of GH-induced IR is via the GH-dependent increase in plasma FFAs. The inhibition of glucose oxidation by fatty acids (FAs) is also called the Randle cycle effect. The formation of TAG from FA results in the accumulation of diacylglycerol and ceramide. These intermediate reesterification compounds result in protein kinase C (PKC) isoforms, which regulate insulin signaling through various mechanisms. Growth hormone replacement therapy is related with inhibition of glucose metabolism as a consequence of the lipolytic effect of GH (Bramnert et al. 2003). Leptin is a polypeptide hormone consisting of 167 amino acids with an N-terminal secretory signaling sequence of 21 amino acids. It is a hormone secreted by adipocytes and has been found to control food intake. Leptin assists in the homeostasis of dietary behavior through central neuroendocrine mechanisms (Friedman 2019). Leptin is encoded by the LEP gene on chromosome 7q31.3 in humans (ob gene), and its main site of action is the brain, where it acts primarily on the hypothalamus. In addition to its main activities in the brain, it also acts directly on immune cells in the periphery. It is structurally similar to cytokines and includes an intra-chain disulfide bond of functional importance. This circulating leptin positively correlates with protein concentrations and leptin mRNA in adipose tissue. The hormone acts as a regulator of energy expenditure and neuroendocrine function, and has since provided key insights into obesity (Abella et al. 2017). Its level is proportional to fat mass, and although it is mainly produced by fat cells, it is also produced by cardiac muscle cells, vascular smooth muscle cells, and the placenta in pregnant women. The functional leptin receptor is located in the hypothalamus where it increases energy expenditure and decreases appetite. These receptors have also been identified in other organs such as the heart, pancreas, liver, kidneys, blood vessels in the brain, and the myometrium (Ghantous et al. 2015).

In obesity, pancreatic cells are stimulated in numbers, and insulin is excessively increased in parallel with weight gain to recompense for higher concentrations of blood glucose and FFA (Corkey 2012). Under typical situations, leptin acts directly on leptin receptors expressed in pancreatic cells to inhibit insulin production while promoting glucose disposal in skeletal muscle and oxidative stress. Hyperinsulinemia detected in leptin-deficient (ob/ob) mice, leptin receptor-deficient (db/db) mice, and leptin-resistant humans is further indication of the reserve of leptin interaction with insulin secretion. Additionally, hyperleptinemia in obesity can lead to leptin resistance in β -cells, leading to overproduction of insulin by β -cells (Farooqi et al. 2002). Several experimental signals showed that leptin- and ObR-related genes and leptin-related genes were identified in human tissues from various brain tumors. Therefore, additional clinical evidence is needed to clarify the particular characteristics and biological role of the leptin/ObR axis for many individuals with brain tumors (Knerr et al. 2001).

In fact, insulinoma patients have higher leptin levels. Moreover, leptin monotherapy has been revealed to control a variety of complications of diabetes in rats which include hyperketemia, hyperglycemia, hyperglucagonemia, and polyuria due to lack of insulin (Denroche et al. 2011), although leptin therapy

has not been effective in cases of T2DM associated with obesity. Therefore, these results revealed the sequence of sequential events; fat accumulation during obesity leads to a rise in leptin and FFA levels (hyperlipidemia), which leads to the progress of leptin resistance followed by a rise in insulin secretion. Thus, these actions can stimulate tissue-specific infrared radiation (Febbraio 2007). Furthermore, it is recommended that leptin have pro-inflammatory property due to its cytokine-like structure and degree of sequence homology between leptin receptor (LRb) and glycoprotein 130 (gp130); activation of both receptors triggers the Janus family of tyrosine kinases/signal transducers, activators of transcription (JAK/STAT), and extracellular protein kinase (ERK) signaling pathways. The JAK/STAT pathway involves signaling from cytokine receptors to the nucleus. Hence, JAKs are triggered by activation of the cytokine receptor. Stimulation of JAKs leads to the activity of the STAT transcription factor. Several potential roles for the diverse domains of JAK proteins have been proposed. Leptin not only drives the production of pro-inflammatory mediators such as interleukin (IL)-2 and interferon-gamma (IFN- γ) but also inhibits the production of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-4 by T cells or mononuclear cells. The collaboration between leptin and inflammation is bidirectional as leptin is overexpressed in response to pro-inflammatory cytokines [tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) and IL-1] and endotoxin (lipopolysaccharide), which prolongs the chronic inflammatory state in obese subjects. All of these actions increasingly lead to cell failure, and thus are due to overt T2DM (Scarpace and Zhang 2007).

Obesity is associated with high concentrations of leptin. Chronic overexpression of leptin downregulates leptin receptors, thereby reducing signaling and impairing sensitivity to exogenous leptin, suggesting that obese individuals are resistant to the adipocyte hormone (Carlyle et al. 2005). Besides its effect on appetite and metabolism, leptin works in the hypothalamus to raise blood pressure by activating the sympathetic nervous system. High levels of circulating leptin have been described to explain much of the increase in renal sympathetic tone detected in obese individuals. Leptin also disturbs vascular structure by promoting angiogenesis and atherosclerosis (De Luis et al. 2009).

Mutation of the obesity-causing gene leads to increased food intake, increased insulin levels, and observed obesity in patients with T2DM. The mutated gene causes stable or no leptin production. However, such mutations are very unfavorable in humans (Myers et al. 2010). These effects can be reversed by administering leptin. This adipocyte-specific protein provides the first links to the body's system that controls body weight. Although leptin is usually elevated with obesity, it has been shown that at every BMI score, there is asymmetry in the level of leptin in the blood. This indicates that there are differences in the rate of its excretion of fat. Assuming that the presence of leptin diminishes food intake and reduces body weight, increased leptin concentrations among obese subjects would be considered leptin-resistant. In these conditions, humans lack sensitivity to appetite to reduce the influences of leptin. The effects of leptin resistance are subject to change. It is hypothesized that decreased leptin detection in melanocortin circuits affects leptin-resistant diseases (Lin et al. 2000).

Leptin Resistance in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus

High concentrations of circulating leptin, characteristic of obesity, combined with poor response to the compulsive properties of leptin are indicative of leptin resistance (Farcas et al. 2018). Leptin resistance due to the high-fat diet leads to defect in the hypothalamus, which considerably reduces the capability of peripheral leptin to activate hypothalamic signaling. Resistance also occurs due to a defect in intracellular signaling in leptin-responsive hypothalamic neurons (German et al. 2010). Leptin has also been related with the disease atherosclerosis. The thickening of the intima and tunica media is supposed to be a marker of the initial stage of atherosclerosis, before symptoms get up. Researchers indicated that serum leptin levels are independently and positively associated with the intima-media thickness of the common carotid artery. This proposes that elevation in leptin level is a risk factor for the progress of atherosclerosis (Aragones et al. 2016). Given that obesity can be a consequence of leptin resistance, it is likely that leptin resistance is involved in disease development. Like leptin resistance, leptin deficiency is important in causing severe IR in uncontrolled insulin deficiency DM. However, it may be indicated that leptin signaling can be restored in neurons by overexpression of endogenous peptides and/or suppression of native peptides. Dietary composites, i.e., taurine, caffeine, and cholesterol, are able to return leptin signaling in neurons using the expression or suppression of these peptides. It has also been concluded that some vitamins such as A and D enhance the transport of leptin across the blood-brain barrier (Casanueva and Dieguez 1998).

Furthermore, a significant decrease has been found in serum leptin levels after metformin and empagliflozin administration in rat models, which demonstrated that empagliflozin caused reduced serum leptin levels (Mironova and Hanjieva-Darlenska 2020).

Leptin in Acromegaly

Growth hormone is known to be associated with changes in body composition. Children and adults with growth hormone deficiency (GHD) had abnormal body composition, with increased fat mass and lower fat mass along with higher concentrations of leptin, compared with age, BMI, and sex-matched healthy individuals, while acromegaly improved lean body mass. Lowered BF% indicates that leptin is a marker of body composition and not fat mass alone. Treatment with recombinant human growth hormone in adults with GHD, as well as children with GHD caused by marked decreases in fat mass and leptin levels, lowers serum leptin concentrations in active acromegaly, and thus may be explained, at least in part, by increased lean body mass and lowered BF (Flier 1997). Hyperactivity of the GH/IGF-I axis in acromegaly patients results in IR in the liver and extremities. These patients show hyperinsulinemia and increased glucose turnover in the basal and postabsorptive states. The increase in GH among normal and insulin-deficient men increases the body's production of bioavailable FA and ketones by stimulating lipolysis, and these

effects may be due to impaired IS. Thus, there is a possibility that the rate of glucose uptake, which is the maximum rate of TAG storage in fat cells, rather than insulin and glucose per se, may indicate hemostasis of leptin gene expression (Rosenbaum et al. 1996), a condition in which insulin action and/or secretion is impaired in acromegaly and thus may contribute to a further decrease in leptin levels. Another example of these findings is that leptin travels with fluctuations in body composition. Since chronic overactivity of the GH and IGF-1 axis disturbs both the liver and peripheral tissues, it may be necessary to assess leptin with liver-derived IGF-1 (Wawrzkiewicz-Jałowiecka et al. 2021). It has been postulated that liver-derived IGF-1 is not required for postnatal body development in mice with complete inactivation of the IGF-1 gene in hepatocytes. Blood leptin levels can be affected by the function of the gonads. Estrogen plays a regulatory role in leptin secretion in women by controlling the synthesis of leptin coding transcripts and the expression of specific leptin receptors (Jenks et al. 2017), but E2 exerts no effect on adipocytes in men. A conflicting result is used by androgens. Both testosterone and dihydrotestosterone reduce leptin gene expression and secretion from human adipocytes (Casabiell et al. 1998).

Medical Therapy

Although three modalities of treatment (surgery, medicinal treatment, and radiotherapy) are obtainable and new drugs were appropriate in the last periods, there are still some patients that retain disease activity despite treatment. Hence, there is a requirement for new therapies for acromegalic patients, and also new drugs are presently under study. These treatments involve somatostatin receptor ligands (i.e., octreotide, lanreotide, and pasireotide), dopamine agonists, and the GH receptor antagonist pegvisomant (Lamberts and Hofland 2019).

Applications to Prognosis

The homeostatic model assessment (HOMA) test was presented as a simple method that mathematically uses fasting blood glucose (FBG) and insulin levels and provides an assessment of IS score (HOMA%S) and cell function (HOMA%B). Hence, HOMA-IR is the reciprocal of HOMA%S (Matthews et al. 1985). The simplified HOMA model (HOMA2) in addition to the steady-state glucose and insulin ratio also reflects variables in hepatic and peripheral glucose resistance, i.e., lessening in suppression of hepatic glucose production, increase in insulin secretion curve of plasma glucose levels greater than 10 mmol/L, and influences of proinsulin turnover (fibrillary) (et al. 1998). The IR modifier was also calculated using the HOMA2 calculator program. The HOMA2 calculator was downloaded from the University of Oxford (http://www.dtu.ox.ac.uk/). Subjects with a HOMA2-IR greater than 1.8 were defined as the IR group, while subjects with a HOMA2-IR less than or equal to 1.8 were defined as the IS group. Computer models were used to produce a

modular chart by which mathematical transformations of FBG and insulin statistics from individuals identify distinct groups of HOMA%S and HOMA%B from steady-state states (Kalaichelvi and Somasundram 2016).

Applications to Other Diseases or Conditions

The leading physiological action of growth hormone (GH) is the regulation of postpartum growth and lipolysis. These actions are highly dependent on the nutritional status, which is involved in the metabolism of GH. Growth hormone is released from somatic pituitary cells in a pulsatile mode regulated by hormones and nutrition (Facey et al. 2017). The GH secretion is improved by fasting, GH-releasing hormone (GHRH), stress, physical activity, and hypoglycemia, and inhibited by insulin, glucose, free fatty acids (FFAs), insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1), and somatostatin. Excess GH in acromegaly, with few exceptions, results in a benign tumor of somatic pituitary cells and leads to chronically higher GH levels, which do not respond to the usual physiological inhibition of the feedback (Hawkes and Grimberg 2015).

The IGF-1 is a single-chain polypeptide containing 50% of the amino acid sequence homologous to insulin, and is stimulated not only by GH but also by insulin. Sharp increases in IGF-1 levels result in insulin-like properties in glucose transport and circulating glucose levels, as well as in insulin receptor deficiency. However, circulating IGF-1 does not cause hypoglycemia, as more than 90% binds to specific binding proteins (Frara et al. 2016).

Acromegaly is a rare disease manifested by intense GH and enhanced IGF-1, which, in the vast majority of cases, is caused by GH-secreting pituitary adenoma. It is associated with higher morbidity due to secondary systemic complications involving cerebral, CV, respiratory, and osteoarticular systems, as well as endocrine, metabolic, and neoplastic alterations (Gadelha et al. 2019).

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

- DKA has been reported to occur in children and adult patients with T2DM.
- IR is a pathophysiological condition associated with DM, obesity, and MetS.
- Acromegaly is characterized by profound conflicts of carbohydrate and lipid metabolism.
- Leptin is a protein hormone that regulates food intake and energy expenditure.
- Leptin resistance is associated with hyperinsulinemia in T2DM and obese subjects.

Key Facts of Hyperinsulinemia

• DKA is an acute complication of uncontrolled DM that is complicated with higher morbidity and mortality.

 Hyperinsulinemia is described by irregularly high insulin levels in the blood, and this condition is associated with T2DM, but alone it is not theoretically a form of DM. Hyperinsulinemia is also a factor in IR, obesity, and metabolic syndrome.

Key Facts of Human Leptin

- Leptin has structural homology to TNF-α, IL-6, leukemia inhibitory factor, granulocyte colony-stimulating factor, gp130, and other cytokine family proteins, and then is measured a cytokine-like substance.
- Five isoforms of leptin receptors have been identified, namely, Ob-Ra, Ob-Rb, Ob-Rc, Ob-Rd, and Ob-Re. The leptin receptor is a transmembrane protein with structural similarity to the gp130 receptor family. The extracellular domain of the leptin receptor comprises two cytokine binding regions with one region being the particular leptin binding site.
- The intracellular domain usually associates with one or two box motifs, while most gp130 receptors have three box motifs. Cytoplasmic forms of leptin receptors allow interaction with intracellular messengers, i.e., mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase, insulin receptor substrate (IRS-1 and IRS-2), nitric oxide, JAK, and STAT signaling.

Key Facts of Acromegaly

• Medical treatment is currently an important management choice and can even be the first treatment in acromegalic patients who will not benefit or are unsuitable for first-line neurosurgical management.

Summary Points

- Acromegaly is a systemic disease associated with increased morbidity, presenting CV, metabolic, respiratory, neoplastic, endocrine, joint, and orthopedic complications.
- Most comorbidities of patients with acromegaly can be prevented or impeded by appropriate treatment, which has revealed a change in the severity and incidence of these comorbidities.
- Growth hormone secretion is predominantly under the regulation of two hypothalamic neuroendocrine hormones: GH-releasing hormone (GHRH), which triggers growth hormone secretion, and somatostatin, which restricts GH secretion. Several other endocrine mediators also control the transcription of the GH gene, including IGF-1, which is the major suppressor of GH transcription.
- It is well known that GH stimulates glucose production in the liver, but it is uncertain whether GH positively triggers glycogenolysis or gluconeogenesis.

- The pathway for insulin stimulation of glucose transport in muscle includes activation of the insulin receptor protein, which docks IRS-1 and IRS-2 and phosphorylates these proteins on tyrosine residues.
- The state of reduced insulin action and/or secretion in acromegalic patients may lead to leptin resistance, which is related with body composition.
- Leptin in combination with dieting stimulates leptin signaling and shows therapeutic potential as a means of controlling obesity and reducing IR.
- Medical rehabilitation is suggested for acromegalic patients who do not achieve biochemical control after surgery. Primary medical therapy is reserved for those with contraindication to or who reject surgery, and may be deliberated in select patients reflected at poor risk for good results and surgical success.

References

- Abella V, Scotece M, Conde J, et al. Leptin in the interplay of inflammation, metabolism and immune system disorders. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2017;13(2):100–9.
- Afroz A, Ali L, Karim MN, et al. Glycaemic control for people with type 2 diabetes mellitus in Bangladesh – an urgent need for optimization of management plan. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1):1–10.
- Alexopoulou O, Bex M, Kamenicky P, et al. Prevalence and risk factors of impaired glucose tolerance and diabetes mellitus at diagnosis of acromegaly: a study in 148 patients. Pituitary. 2014;17(1):81–9.
- Aragones G, Ardid-Ruiz A, Ibars M, et al. Modulation of leptin resistance by food compounds. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2016;60(8):1789–803.
- Boero L, Cuniberti L, Magnani N, et al. Increased oxidized low density lipoprotein associated with high ceruloplasmin activity in patients with active acromegaly. Clin Endocrinol. 2010;72(5): 654–60.
- Bolfi F, Neves AF, Boguszewski CL, et al. Mortality in acromegaly decreased in the last decade: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Eur J Endocrinol. 2018;179(1):59–71.
- Bramnert M, Segerlantz M, Laurila E, et al. Growth hormone replacement therapy induces insulin resistance by activating the glucose-fatty acid cycle. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2003;88(4): 1455–63.
- Carlyle M, Jones OB, Kuo JJ, et al. Chronic cardiovascular and renal actions of leptin: role of adrenergic activity. Hypertension. 2005;39(2):496–501.
- Casabiell X, Pineiro V, Peino R, et al. Gender differences in both spontaneous and stimulated leptin secretion by human omental adipose tissue in vitro: dexamethasone and estradiol stimulate leptin release in women, but not in men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1998;83(6):2149–55.
- Casanueva FF, Dieguez C. Interaction between body composition, leptin and growth hormone status. Baillieres Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1998;12(2):297–314.
- Chen C, Cohrs CM, Stertmann J, et al. Human beta cell mass and function in diabetes: recent advances in knowledge and technologies to understand disease pathogenesis. Mol Metab. 2017;6(9):943–57.
- Chung WK, Erion K, Florez JC, et al. Precision medicine in diabetes: a consensus report from the American Diabetes Association (ADA) and the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD). Diabetes Care. 2020;43:1617–35.
- Corkey BE. Banting lecture 2011: hyperinsulinemia: cause or consequence? Diabetes. 2012;61(1): 4–13.
- De Luis DA, Perez Castrillon JL, Duenas A. Leptin and obesity. Minerva Med. 2009;100(3): 229–36.
- DeFronzo RA, Tobin JD, Andres R. Glucose clamp technique: a method for quantifying insulin secretion and resistance. Am J Physiol. 1979;237:G214–23.

- Denroche HC, Levi J, Wideman RD, et al. Leptin therapy reverses hyperglycemia in mice with streptozotocin-induced diabetes, independent of hepatic leptin signaling. Diabetes. 2011;60(5): 1414–23.
- Facey A, Dilworth L, Irving R. A review of the leptin hormone and the association with obesity and diabetes mellitus. J Diabetes Metab. 2017;8(3):1–3.
- Farcas AD, Rusu A, Stoia MA, et al. Plasma leptin, but not resistin, TNF-alpha and adiponectin, is associated with echocardiographic parameters of cardiac remodeling in patients with coronary artery disease. Cytokine. 2018;103:46–9.
- Farooqi IS, Matarese G, Lord GM, et al. Beneficial effects of leptin on obesity, T cell hyporesponsiveness, and neuroendocrine/metabolic dysfunction of human congenital leptin deficiency. J Clin Invest. 2002;110(8):1093–103.
- Febbraio MA. gp130 receptor ligands as potential therapeutic targets for obesity. J Clin Invest. 2007;117(4):841–9.
- Flier JS. Leptin expression and action: new experimental paradigms. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997;94(9):4242–5.
- Frara S, Maffezzoni F, Mazziotti G, et al. Current and emerging aspects of diabetes mellitus in acromegaly. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2016;27(7):470–83.
- Friedman JM. Leptin and the endocrine control of energy balance. Nat Metab. 2019;1(8):754-64.
- Gadelha MR, Kasuki L, Lim DST, et al. Systemic complications of acromegaly and the impact of the current treatment landscape: an update. Endocr Rev. 2019;40(1):268–332.
- German JP, Wisse BE, Thaler JP, et al. Leptin deficiency causes insulin resistance induced by uncontrolled diabetes. Diabetes. 2010;59(7):1626–34.
- Ghantous CM, Azrak Z, Hanache S, et al. Differential role of leptin and adiponectin in cardiovascular system. Int J Endocrinol. 2015;2015:534320.
- Gonzalez B, Vargas G, de Los Monteros ALE, et al. Persistence of diabetes and hypertension after multimodal treatment of acromegaly. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2018;103(6):2369–75.
- Hawkes CP, Grimberg A. Insulin-like growth-factor-I is a marker for the nutritional state. Pediatr Endocrinol Rev. 2015;13(2):499–511.
- Jenks MZ, Fairfield HE, Johnson EC, et al. Sex steroid hormones regulate leptin transcript accumulation and protein secretion in 3T3-L1 cells. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):8232.
- Kalaichelvi S, Somasundram K. Prevalence of insulin resistance among patients with cirrhosis of liver in Government Royapettah Hospital, Chennai. IAIM. 2016;3(7):21–7.
- Knerr I, Schuster S, Nomikos P, et al. Gene expression of adrenomedullin, leptin, their receptors and neuropeptide Y in hormone-secreting and non-functioning pituitary adenomas, meningiomas and malignant intracranial tumours in humans. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol. 2001;27(3): 215–22.
- Lamberts SWJ, Hofland LJ. Anniversary review: Octreotide, 40 years later. Eur J Endocrinol. 2019;181(5):173–183.
- Levy JC, Matthews DR, Hermans MP. Correct homeostasis model assessment (HOMA) evaluation uses the computer program. Diabetes Care. 1998;21(12):2191–2.
- Li X, Zhou Z-G, Qi H, et al. Replacement of insulin by fasting C-peptide in modified homeostasis model assessment to evaluate insulin resistance and islet beta cell function. J Cent South Univ Med Sci. 2004;29(4):419–23.
- Lin S, Thomas TC, Storlien LH, et al. Development of high fat diet induced obesity and leptin resistance in C57BI/6J mice. Int J Obes. 2000;24(5):639–46.
- Matthews D, Hosker J, Rudenski A, et al. Homeostasis model assessment: insulin resistance and β -cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man. Diabetologia. 1985;28(7):412–9.
- Mironova D, Hanjieva-Darlenska T. Effect of metformin and empagliflozin on adiponectin and leptin levels in rat model of hypo- and hyperthyroidism. Biotechnol Biotechnol Equip. 2020;35(1):208–13.
- Murakami R, Saisho Y, Watanabe Y, et al. Pancreas fat and β cell mass in humans with and without diabetes: an analysis in the Japanese population. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2017;102(9): 3251–60.

- Myers MG, Leibel RL, Seeley RJ, et al. Obesity and leptin resistance: distinguishing cause from effect. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2010;21(11):643–51.
- Newsholme P, Cruzat VF, Keane KN, et al. Molecular mechanisms of ROS production and oxidative stress in diabetes. Biochem J. 2016;473(24):4527–50.
- Nielsen S, Moller N, Christiansen JS, et al. Pharmacological antilipolysis restores insulin sensitivity during growth hormone exposure. Diabetes. 2001;50(10):2301–8.
- Pivonello R, Auriemma RS, Grasso LF, et al. Complications of acromegaly, cardiovascular, respiratory and metabolic comorbidities. Pituitary. 2017;20(1):46–62.
- Ramos-Levi AM, Marazuela M. Cardiovascular comorbidities in acromegaly: an update on their diagnosis and management. Endocrine. 2017;55(2):346–59.
- Ramos-Levi AM, Marazuela M. Bringing cardiovascular comorbidities in acromegaly to an update. How should we diagnose and manage them? Front Endocrinol. 2019;10:120.
- Rosenbaum M, Nicolson M, Hirsch J, et al. Effects of gender, body composition, and menopause on plasma concentrations of leptin. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1996;81(9):3424–7.
- Scarpace PJ, Zhang Y. Elevated leptin: consequence or cause of obesity? Front Biosci. 2007;12(3531):3544.
- Vila G, Jorgensen JOL, Luger A, et al. Insulin resistance in patients with acromegaly. Front Endocrinol. 2019;10:509.
- Vilar L, Naves LA, Costa SS, et al. Increase of classic and nonclassic cardiovascular risk factors in patients with acromegaly. Endocr Pract. 2007;13(4):363–72.
- Wallace TM, Levy JC, Matthews DR. Use and abuse of HOMA modeling. Diabetes Care. 2004;27(6):1487–95.
- Wang W, Lo AC. Diabetic retinopathy: pathophysiology and treatments. Int J Mol Sci. 2018;19(6): 1–14.
- Wawrzkiewicz-Jałowiecka A, Lalik A, Soveral G. Recent update on the molecular mechanisms of gonadal steroids action in adipose tissue. Int J Mol Sci. 2021;22(10):5226.
- WHO. Classification of diabetes mellitus. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019. p. 1–40. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO 2019
- Wondafrash DZ, Nire'a AT, Tafere GG, et al. Thioredoxin-interacting protein as a novel potential therapeutic target in diabetes mellitus and its underlying complications. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes. 2020;20(13):43.
- Zaccardi F, Webb DR, Yates T, et al. Pathophysiology of type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus: a 90-year perspective. Postgrad Med J. 2016;92(1084):63–9.



47

Vitreous Biomarkers: What They Are and How They May Be Used to Advance the Management of Diabetic Retinopathy

Ricardo Lamy and Jay M. Stewart

Contents

Introduction	965
Diabetic Retinopathy	966
Pathogenesis and Pathophysiology	966
Clinical Grading	968
Clinical Management	969
Assessing Local Molecular Biomarkers for DR	972
Ocular Liquid Biopsy	972
Sample Selection and Method of Analysis	973
Vitreous Molecular Biomarkers of DR	974
Cytokines	974
Kinin-Kallikrein System (KKS)	979
Complement System (CS)	981
MicroRNA (miRNA)	982
Metabolites	982
Applications to Prognosis and Other Diseases and Conditions	982
Key Facts of Vitreous Biomarkers in Diabetic Retinopathy (DR)	983
Mini-Dictionary of Terms	983
Summary Points	984
References	984

Abstract

Vitreous humor is a transparent gel-like tissue that fills the posterior segment of the eye, adjacent to the lens, ciliary body, and retina. It has a complex composition of water, collagen, and thousands of proteins that are released by the adjacent structures and can conversely influence the physiology of those same structures. Recent scientific advancements have allowed the investigation of numerous

R. Lamy $(\boxtimes) \cdot J$. M. Stewart

e-mail: ricardo.lamy@ucsf.edu; jay.stewart@ucsf.edu

963

Department of Ophthalmology, School of Medicine, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, USA

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 51

vitreous proteins as prognostic and predictive biomarkers for retinal diseases, including diabetic retinopathy (DR). DR is a common neurovascular complication of diabetes mellitus and a leading cause of blindness worldwide. Anti-VEGF therapy has revolutionized the treatment of vision-threatening stages of DR, but many patients do not respond to the treatment. Novel prognostic and predictive biomarkers in DR have potential to facilitate disease prognosis, predict the best responders to a specific treatment, and support the development of new therapies.

Keywords

Diabetes · Diabetic retinopathy · Vitreous biomarkers · Vitreous proteomics · Liquid biopsy · Molecular diagnosis · Angiogenesis · Retinal neovascularization · Proliferative retinopathy · Vascular endothelial growth factors · Drug discovery

Abbreviations

A2AP	Alpha 2-antiplasmin
ACCORD	Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes
AGEs	Advanced glycation end-products
AH	Aqueous humor
BK	Bradykinin
BRB	Blood-retina barrier
CCL2	Chemokine ligand 2
CXCL8	Interleukin 8
DCCT	Diabetes Control and Complications Trial
DM	Diabetes mellitus
DME	Diabetic macular edema
DR	Diabetic retinopathy
DRSS	Diabetic Retinopathy Severity Scale
EC	Endothelial cells
ECL	Electrochemiluminescent
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EPO	Erythropoietin
ET-1	Endothelin-1
ETDRS	Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study
FDA	The Food and Drug Administration
FIGF	c-Fos-induced growth factor
FXII	Coagulation factor XII
HbA1c	Glycated hemoglobin
HGF	Hepatocyte growth factor
HK	High-molecular-weight kininogen
ICAM	Intercellular adhesion molecule
IL-6	Interleukin-6
IL-8	Interleukin-8
IRMA	Intraretinal microvascular abnormality

KKS	Kinin-kallikrein system
KLKB1	Kallikrein B1
KNG	Kininogen 1
MCP-1	Monocyte chemotactic protein 1
MH	Macular hole
NF-kB	Nuclear factor kappa B
NIH	National Institutes of Health
NO	Nitric oxide
NPDR	Nonproliferative diabetic retinopathy
OCT	Optical coherence tomography
PDGF-BB	Platelet-derived growth factor BB chain
PDR	Proliferative diabetic retinopathy
PEA	Proximity extension assay
PEDF	Pigment epithelium-derived factor
PGF	Placental growth factor
PK	Plasma kallikrein
РКС	Protein kinase C
PLMN	Plasminogen
PPK	Plasma prekallikrein
PRP	Panretinal photocoagulation
RAGEs	Receptors for advanced glycation end products
RPE	Retinal pigmented epithelial cells
STRING	Search Tool for the Retrieval of Interacting Genes/Proteins
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor beta
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
UKPDS	UK Prospective Diabetes Study
VCAM	Vascular cell adhesion molecule
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

Introduction

Biomarker is a shortened term for biological marker and can be defined as a characteristic that is measured as an indicator of normal biological processes, pathogenic processes, or biological responses to an exposure or intervention (FDA-NIH Biomarker Working Group 2016). Systemic blood plasma and serum molecular biomarkers are widely used in medicine, and they have their importance in ophthalmology, but because of particular characteristics of the eye microenvironment, including the blood-retina barrier (BRB) and the small volume of the organ in proportion to the whole body, many systemic blood biomarkers do not correlate well with ocular diseases. Locally, the optical transparency of the cornea and lens allows for direct visualization of the retina and detection of several imaging biomarkers that are broadly used to diagnose, monitor, and prognosticate retinal diseases. Over the last decades, the search for local molecular biomarkers for retinal diseases has

advanced significantly with the use of novel molecular techniques capable of working with very small volumes of biospecimens. The vitreous humor milieu is rich in proteins secreted by the surrounding tissues, making it a great source of molecular biomarkers for retinal diseases, including diabetic retinopathy (DR) (Lamy et al. 2020).

To better comprehend the potential significance of vitreous biomarkers for DR, it is important to understand some current concepts about the epidemiology, pathogenesis, pathophysiology, clinical classification, and management of DR.

Diabetic Retinopathy

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is characterized by hyperglycemia, resulting from the body's inability to produce insulin and/or resistance to insulin action. Various genetic and environmental factors can contribute to DM, and patients with different forms of diabetes are at risk for developing the same chronic complications, although the incidence of complications is higher in people with DM type 1 compared with DM type 2 (Deshpande et al. 2008; Kusuhara et al. 2018; American Diabetes Association 2021). Diabetic retinopathy (DR) is the most common microvascular complication of DM and one of the leading causes of preventable blindness. Worldwide, the number of people in 2020 with DR is estimated to have surpassed 100 million, or about 22% of the DM population (Teo et al. 2021). Among these, 28 million are considered to have vision-threatening diabetic retinopathy, defined as the presence of severe nonproliferative DR (NPDR), proliferative DR (PDR), clinically significant diabetic macular edema (DME), or a combination thereof.

Pathogenesis and Pathophysiology

Diabetes duration and sustained hyperglycemia are major risk factors associated with microvascular complications (Kusuhara et al. 2018). Sustained high levels of glucose can be deleterious to the neurovascular system, and although the exact mechanisms and pathways involved in the development of DR are not fully understood, several hypotheses have been proposed (Fig. 1) (Khalil 2017). Oxidative stress is believed to play a pivotal role and contribute to a cascade of other mechanisms (Giacco and Brownlee 2010). High levels of glucose lead to an increase in the generation of mitochondrial superanion oxidase and other reactive oxygen species, which can subsequently oxidate intracellular proteins. Overactivation of the polyol pathway leads to accumulation of sorbitol and osmotic imbalances. There is an increase in the production of advanced glycation end products (AGEs), as well as the receptors for AGEs (RAGEs), which are also deleterious for many cell structures. Additionally, hyperglycemia has been associated with hyperactivation of the protein kinase C (PKC) pathway and increases the expression of growth factors such as



Fig. 1 Schematic presentation of potential mechanisms and pathways involved in the development of retinal neurovascular abnormalities in diabetic retinopathyDiabetic retinopathy (DR). Sustained high levels of glucose can lead to overactivation of the polyol pathway, hyperactivation of the protein kinase C (PKC) pathway, and an increase in the production of advanced glycation end products (AGEs) and reactive oxygen species



Fig. 2 Distribution of vascular endothelial cells and pericytes along the retinal capillaries. (a) Illustration of the retinal capillaries; (b) localization of pericytes on a retinal capillary; (c) capillary cross section showing the disposition of pericytes with tight junctions and the endothelial cells (EC), both wrapped by the basement membrane. Pericyte-EC crosstalk is essential for the homeostasis of retinal vasculature

vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and many pro-inflammatory cytokines (Giacco and Brownlee 2010; Tarr et al. 2013; Kusuhara et al. 2018).

Stimulation of all these molecular pathways can contribute to the development of neurovascular abnormalities in the retina. Retinal vascular cells are comprised mainly of pericytes and endothelial cells. Retinal pericytes are specialized mural cells located on the abluminal side of the endothelial cells (ECs), and both cells are enveloped by the same basement membrane in retinal capillary vessels (Fig. 2) (Hammes et al. 2002; Trost et al. 2016; Liu et al. 2019).

Pericytes are important for vascular stability and for regulating microvascular blood flow and endothelial proliferation (Trost et al. 2016). Capillary ECs are connected by tight junctions and are essential for the inner blood-retina barrier, a barrier that restricts the flux of molecules and cells across the retinal capillaries to



Fig. 3 Illustration of retinal fundoscopic findings in diabetic retinopathy. Left image shows some of the anatomical characteristics of the normal retina including the optic disc and macula. Right image shows pathologic signs commonly associated with diabetic retinopathy (DR), including microaneurysms, hard exudates, intraretinal hemorrhages, cotton wool spots, neovascularization, and vitreous hemorrhage. The last two signs are characteristic of severe stages of the DR

protect the neural environment (Campbell and Humphries 2012; Diaz-Coranguez et al. 2017; Fresta et al. 2020). Pericyte-EC crosstalk is crucial for the homeostasis of retinal vasculature (Liu et al. 2019).

Patients with DM present an increased loss of retinal pericytes, which over time can cause the formation of microaneurysms (localized outpouching of capillary walls), one of the hallmarks of early DR (Fig. 3). That process can be followed by the loss of endothelial cells, thickening of the basement membrane, and eventual occlusion of acellular capillaries, all of which are causes of increase in vascular permeability, impairment of the inner BRB, and leakage of lipids and proteins, forming hard exudates and macular edema. These vascular abnormalities can also lead to the formation of intraretinal hemorrhages and areas of ischemia and infarct of the nerve fiber layer (cotton wool spots) (Shin et al. 2014; Wang and Lo 2018). As the disease evolves, capillary occlusion and ischemia lead to upregulation of VEGF, which can promote even more increase in vascular permeability and the proliferation of new vessels (angiogenesis). Those neovessels are fragile and can easily rupture, leading to vitreous hemorrhage (Kroll et al. 2007).

Hyperglycemia can also be detrimental to the neural tissue of the retina, which leads to the concept that DR is a neurovascular disorder and that the dysfunction of the neural retina could even precede microvascular abnormalities (Nian et al. 2021).

Clinical Grading

The most common signs of DR can be observed with a simple ophthalmoscopic exam and are represented in Fig. 3. However, the gold standard classification of DR is based on a complex grading of stereophotographs of 7 fields and classifies DR into

 Table 1
 Severity Scale for Diabetic Retinopathy (based on Wilkinson et al. 2003)

NPDR
- Mild: Microaneurysms only
- Moderate: More than just microaneurysms but less than severe NPDR
- Severe: No signs of proliferative retinopathy but any of the following:
More than 20 intraretinal hemorrhages in each of the four quadrants
Definite venous beading in two or more quadrants
Prominent IRMA in one or more quadrants
PDR
- One or both of the following:
Neovascularization
Vitreous/pre-retinal hemorrhage

NPDR = nonproliferative diabetic retinopathy; PDR = proliferative diabetic retinopathy; IRMA = intraretinal microvascular abnormality

13 levels ranging from level 10 (absence of retinopathy) to level 85 (severe vitreous hemorrhage or retinal detachment involving the macula) (ETDRS Research Group 1991; Wu et al. 2013). That grading system is known as the Diabetic Retinopathy Severity Scale (DRSS), and it was first used to assess DR severity in the Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study (ETDRS) (ETDRS Research Group 1991). It is a useful scale for clinical trials and is used in research settings by retina specialists, but it is too complex for daily clinical use. The International Clinical Disease Severity Scale for DR is a simplified classification commonly used for communication between ophthalmologists and other healthcare professionals, and it divides the disease into nonproliferative DR (mild, moderate, and severe) and proliferative DR based on retinal fundoscopic findings (Table 1) (Wilkinson et al. 2003).

More recently, other classification systems have been proposed for the research setting, using images obtained with more advanced technologies, such as ultrawidefield photography and optical coherence tomography (OCT), and some have demonstrated potential to identify subsets of patients at increased risk of progression of diabetic retinopathy (Aiello et al. 2019; Solomon and Goldberg 2019).

Chhablani et al. (2015) demonstrated a thinning of retinal ganglion cell inner plexiform layer by spectral domain OCT in DM type 2 subjects at all stages, including non-DR, which reinforces the concept that DM affects the complete neurovascular unit of the retina, and neurodegenerative changes may precede the visible vascular signs.

Clinical Management

Routine ophthalmological examinations are recommended for all diabetic patients, with intervals dependent on the severity of the disease (Solomon et al. 2017; Wong et al. 2018). In general, the American Academy of Ophthalmology recommends at least yearly screenings, starting at the time of diagnosis if DM type 2, or 5 years after diagnosis if DM type 1 (Flaxel et al. 2020). For patients with early disease (mild and

moderate NPDR), systemic treatment of hyperglycemia is critical in preventing or delaying the progression of DR (Kusuhara et al. 2018).

The UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) showed that a 1% decrease in HbA1c (e.g., from 9% to 8%) was associated with a 35% reduction in the risk of microvascular complications, and the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT) found that a 10% reduction in HbA1c (e.g., 8% vs. 7.2%) reduced the risk of DR progression by more than 40% (DCCT Research Group 1995; UKPDS Group 1998). More recently, the Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes (ACCORD) eye study confirmed that although intensive glycemic control does not prevent retinopathy completely, it can significantly reduce the risk of the development and progression of diabetic retinopathy (Accord Study Group et al. 2010).

Blood pressure and serum lipid control are also recommended because some studies have suggested that reducing systolic pressure and using fenofibrate for dyslipidemia reduced the risk or slowed the progression of diabetic retinopathy (Sharma et al. 2015; Solomon et al. 2017).

In addition to systemic treatments, eyes with severe NPDR, PDR, or clinically significant DME can benefit from receiving local treatments. Laser photocoagulation used to be the gold standard treatment for all vision-threatening stages of DR. Panretinal photocoagulation (PRP) can reduce the risk of severe visual loss in eyes with PDR, for which it remains considered the mainstay treatment (Fig. 4), and focal/grid laser therapy is the preferred treatment for non-center-involved diabetic macular edema (Wang and Lo 2018; Flaxel et al. 2020). The mechanisms by which retinal laser photocoagulation works are not completely understood. The main hypothesis is that the destruction of hypoxic retina in regions outside of the central macula decreases the oxygen consumption and facilitates diffusion of oxygen from the choroid through the lesions created by PRP (laser scars). Both mechanisms can explain a reduction of angiogenic factors by ischemic

Fig. 4 Eye retinography with proliferative diabetic retinopathy (PDR) treated with laser panretinal photocoagulation (PRP). Widefield view of eye treated with PRP. Photocoagulation scars are located outside of the macula and approximately one-half burn width apart (UCSF Department of Ophthalmology)



tissue, which reduces the risk of neovascularization and attempts to preserve the central vision (Stefansson 2001).

Over the last two decades, intravitreal injections of anti-VEGF drugs have proven to be very effective in treating a variety of exudative retinal diseases, including DR. DME may occur at any stage of DR and is caused by the break in BRB and increased vascular leakage. Intravitreal anti-VEGF agents are very effective in the treatment of center-involved DME, and for these cases they are currently considered the first-line therapy, with possible deferred focal laser treatment (Diabetic Retinopathy Clinical Research et al. 2012; Flaxel et al. 2020). Given the relatively rapid improvement of DME after laser photocoagulation, it is believed that the main mechanism of action is the modulation of VEGF-induced vascular permeability (Kim and D'Amore 2012).

Patients with persisting or recurring DME, refractory to intravitreal anti-VEGF therapy, are presumed to have a more inflammatory profile with increased levels of multiple pro-inflammatory cytokines and are considered good candidates for treatment with intravitreal corticosteroids. Steroids are broad anti-inflammatory agents that act on multiple targets. The main reason for their not being preferred over anti-VEGF injections as the first line of therapy for DME is that steroid intravitreal injections and implants have higher risks of complications, including intraocular pressure elevation and cataract (He et al. 2018).

For treatment of PDR, the results of monotherapy with intravitreal anti-VEGF drugs have shown non-inferiority to PRP standard care (Writing Committee for the Diabetic Retinopathy Clinical Research et al. 2015). In the CLARITY trial, treatment of PDR with intravitreal injections of affibercept, which is a vascular endothe-lial growth factor-A (VEGF-A) and placental growth factor (PGF) antagonist, was associated with improved outcomes at 1 year versus patients treated with PRP (Sivaprasad et al. 2017). In eyes with PDR and DME, many specialists recommend the combination of either intravitreal anti-VEGF or steroid and PRP (Giovannini et al. 2019). Lastly, in advanced cases with vitreous hemorrhage, surgical vitrectomy may be required.

As explained above, the decision to start systemic treatments is based mainly on blood biomarkers (e.g., HbA1c), and the choice of local eye treatments is based mainly on changes observed in the retinal structure and imaging biomarkers. Unfortunately, after three to six monthly injections, more than 1/3 of the patients receiving anti-VEGF injections to treat DME are classified as poor responders or non-responders (Bressler et al. 2018; Maggio et al. 2018). Currently there is no good way to predict who could benefit more from using an alternative treatment as first line.

There is a great need to discover new therapeutic targets to treat patients that do not respond well to any of the current available therapies and to find new biomarkers that are prognostic of DR progression and predictive of the best choice of clinical treatment for an individual. With the recent advancements in proteomics and the development of multiplexed platforms capable of working with very small volumes of specimen, the search for local new molecular biomarkers in ocular specimens such as the vitreous and aqueous humor became very promising, and many proteins are currently being investigated.

Assessing Local Molecular Biomarkers for DR

The term biopsy originates from the Greek words *bios* (life) and *ópsis* (sight). It is the medical procedure of extracting cells or tissues to be examined for disease.

Retinal biopsies are not considered a reasonable option for researching DR biomarkers in live patients because they carry great comorbidity, and therefore their use is reserved in ophthalmology for selected cases of atypical retinitis, uveitis, or neoplasms (Westerfeld and Mukai 2009). Biopsies of the ocular fluids are safer options, and the location adjacent to the retina makes the vitreous a great source of molecular biomarkers for posterior segment disorders, including DR. In fact, high levels of many proangiogenic and pro-inflammatory cytokines have been found in the vitreous of patients with DR (Banerjee et al. 2007; Agrawal et al. 2014; Dai et al. 2014; Lamy et al. 2020).

Ocular Liquid Biopsy

Vitreous is a gel matrix consisting mainly of water, collagen, and hyaluronan, and it fills the posterior chamber of the eye, being surrounded by the retina, ciliary body, and lens (Bishop 2000; Sebag 2012; de Smet et al. 2013). Vitreous biopsies can be obtained by needle aspiration inserting a 23- to 25-gauge needle around 4 mm behind the limbus through the conjunctiva, sclera, and pars plana into the vitreous chamber (Fig. 5). This technique has some disadvantages as the volume aspirated is usually very limited and since the vitreous is not homogeneous, some authors hypothesize that only the less viscous and more liquid portion, containing soluble proteins, would be collected. There is another option which is preferred by most surgeons, and it consists of collecting vitreous using a vitreous cutter, a small, highspeed guillotine instrument. This is usually done as part of a surgical procedure and as such is required to be done under proper anesthesia in the operating room. The advantage is that the surgeon can chop and aspirate even the more solid parts of the vitreous and obtain a larger sample volume with lower incidence of hypotony, since the surgical infusion is initiated immediately after the vitreous collection, stabilizing the intraocular pressure through the rest of the surgical procedure (Skeie et al. 2012; Velez et al. 2018).

Skeie et al. (2012) compared vitreous samples collected with both methods and found that the concentration of total protein was very similar whether biopsies were obtained with a needle or vitreous cutter instrument, although a minority of proteins and peptides differed in concentration.

An even safer option is to aspirate aqueous humor (AH) from the anterior chamber. The procedure can be done in an office-based setting under local anesthesia. Proteins secreted by the retina into the vitreous can diffuse into the aqueous humor, and the levels of many cytokines in the AH were found to correlate with the vitreous levels in patients with DR (Funatsu et al. 2005; Wu et al. 2020).



Fig. 5 Illustration of eye anatomy including the approximate insertion locations used to obtain liquid biopsies. A thin needle can be inserted into the anterior chamber, near the corneal limbus, for aspiration of aqueous humor. To access the vitreous humor, a needle or a vitreous cutter can be inserted 3.5–4 mm behind the limbus, through the pars plana, with the tip pointing to the center of the eye to reduce the risks of lens and retinal damage

Sample Selection and Method of Analysis

When comparing results from different studies, it is important to consider that some aspects of the vitreous collection and patient selection (inclusion and exclusion criteria) can have an influence on the vitreous composition. For instance, some studies use a hemoglobin concentration cutoff to exclude vitreous samples containing blood from vitreous hemorrhage because those samples are likely to have an enormous concentration of proteins and confound the results. Likewise, history of recent intravitreal injections or laser photocoagulation treatment on the retina can significantly affect cytokine levels in the vitreous and needs to be noted (Shimura et al. 2007; Adamiec-Mroczek and Oficjalska-Mlynczak 2008; Shimura et al. 2009; Suzuki et al. 2020). Also, it has been shown that the level of analytes may vary according to the location of collection, and the levels of cytokines like VEGF are higher in the pre-macular vitreous than in the center of the vitreous body (Shimada et al. 2009).

The selection criteria used for the control group is also important, as it is usually comprised of samples obtained from patients undergoing ocular surgical procedures for other diseases, such as epiretinal membrane and macular hole.

The analysis of vitreous samples from DR patients can be performed using untargeted methods based on mass spectrometry for study of metabolomics or proteomics (Loukovaara et al. 2015; Patnaik et al. 2019; Tamhane et al. 2019) or targeted methods, such as enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISAs). Untargeted methods can identify thousands of analytes and generate large datasets that may require a more complex analysis and use of bioinformatics. On the other extreme, traditional singleplex ELISAs may be performed using straightforward commercially available kits and can generate accurate data, but they only measure one analyte per sample which makes them impractical for biomarker screening (Aydin 2015; Tighe et al. 2015). Multiplexing technologies have significantly advanced over the last decades, and many platforms have been successfully applied to study vitreous from DR patients, allowing for the detection of hundreds of proteins of interest using minute volumes of vitreous (Lamy et al. 2020). Figure 6 illustrates the mechanisms used by two popular multiplex platforms: electrochemiluminescent (ECL) sandwich immunoassay and proximity extension assay (PEA).

Most commercially available multiplex platforms were developed aiming to test blood plasma samples. Differences in protein abundance between plasma and vitreous and the nonspecific matrix background can affect the detection rate of individual analytes. When designing a vitreous study, the best method to choose may be dependent on the main targets of interest, since one platform may work better than the others for specific vitreous analytes. The authors previously reported the detection rates of many vitreous analytes using PEA and ECL platforms (Table 2).

Vitreous Molecular Biomarkers of DR

Changes in the vitreous molecular composition have provided valuable insight into the pathogenesis, diagnosis, and treatment of retinal diseases (Tamhane et al. 2019). Numerous vitreous molecular biomarkers have been associated with DR, and some of the most studied markers are discussed below.

Cytokines

Cytokines (derived from the Greek words *kyto*, which means cell,) and *kineo*, which means "to move") are a broad category of messenger molecules that aid cell-to-cell communication. Some cytokines can regulate leukocyte migration and are called chemokines; others are called growth factors because they can trigger cell proliferation and/or differentiation. The term cytokine also encompasses interferons, interleukins, adipokines, and the tumor necrosis factor family (Dinarello 2007). Vitreous cytokines have long been associated with DR (Abu el Asrar et al. 1992; Adamis et al. 1994), and hundreds of studies have been published over the last decades.

In a meta-analysis of 389 datasets from 118 articles, McAuley et al. (2014) found that 154 analytes (mostly cytokines) were identified in association with DR, and 12 of them had been reported in more than 3 independent studies comparing



Fig. 6 Illustration of the mechanisms used by two multiplexed platforms: proximity extension assay (PEA) and electrochemiluminescent (ECL) assay. (Reprinted with permission from Lamy et al. 2020 Copyright 2020 The Authors – licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License)

Table 2 Comparison of detection rates of numerous vitreous analytes using PEA and ECLplatforms. (Reprinted with permission from Lamy et al. 2020 Copyright 2020 The Authors –licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 InternationalLicense)

	Platform					
	ECL			PEA		
		Detection (Detection (%)		Detection (%)	
Protein	Panel	Control	PDR	Panel	Control	PDR
Eotaxin	СН	0.0	0.0	IN	100.0	100.0
FGF2	AN	20.0	7.1	IO	23.5	5.0
ICAM-1	VI	100.0	100.0	CM	70.6	100.0
IFN-γ	PI	0.0	0.0	IO	11.8	5.0
				IN	0.0	0.0
IL-1α	CY	11.8	25.0	IO	0.0	0.0
				IN	0.0	0.0
IL-2	PI	0.0	5.0	IO	0.0	10.0
				IN	0.0	0.0
IL-4	PI	0.0	5.0	IO	17.6	15.0
				IN	5.9	5.0
IL-5	CY	0.0	0.0	IO	0.0	0.0
				IN	0.0	0.0
IL-6	PI	94.1	100.0	IO	100.0	100.0
				IN	100.0	100.0
IL-7	CY	100.0	100.0	IO	100.0	100.0
				IN	100.0	100.0
IL-8	СН	0.0	5.3	IO	100.0	100.0
	PI	100.0	100.0	IN	100.0	100.0
IL-10	PI	0.0	5.0	IO	11.8	50.0
				IN	0.0	25.0
IL-12p40	CY	94.1	100.0	IN	100.0	100.0
IL-12p70	PI	0.0	0.0	IO	100.0	100.0
IL-13	PI	0.0	0.0	IO	5.9	5.0
				IN	5.9	5.0
IL-17A	CY	0.0	0.0	IN	17.6	25.0
IP-10	CH	100.0	100.0	IO	100.0	100.0
				IN	100.0	100.0
MCP-1	CH	100.0	100.0	IO	100.0	100.0
				IN	100.0	100.0
MCP-4	CH	0.0	10.5	IO	100.0	100.0
				IN	5.9	45.0
MIP-1a	CH	0.0	10.5	IO	100.0	100.0
				IN	100.0	100.0
MIP-1β	CH	100.0	100.0	IO	100.0	100.0
				IN	100.0	100.0
PGF	AN	0.0	100.0	IO	100.0	100.0

(continued)

	Platform					
	ECL			PEA		
		Detection (%)			Detection (%)	
Protein	Panel	Control	PDR	Panel	Control	PDR
TARC	CH	0.0	42.1	IO	100.0	100.0
Tie-2	AN	0.0	0.0	IO	100.0	100.0
TNF-α	PI	0.0	30.0	IO	0.0	0.0
				IN	5.9	5.0
TNF-β	CY	0.0	5.0	IN	76.5	95.0
VCAM-1	VI	70.6	94.7	CM	23.5	50.0
VEGF-A	AN	26.7	100.0	IO	100.0	100.0
	CY	6.3	90.0	IN	100.0	100.0
VEGF-C	AN	6.7	7.1	IO	94.1	95.0
VEGF-D	AN	0.0	35.7	CR	88.2	100.0

Table 2 (continued)

ECL, electrochemiluminescent sandwich immunoassay; PEA, proximity extension assay; PDR, proliferative diabetic retinopathy; panels: PI, pro-inflammatory; CY, cytokine; CH, chemokine; VI, vascular, AN, angiogenesis; IO, immuno-oncology; IN, inflammation; CM, cardiometabolic; CR, cell regulation

nondiabetics with PDR. Out of the 12, pigment epithelium-derived factor (PEDF) and hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) were significantly decreased in PDR samples, and the other 10 analytes were found to be significantly increased in PDR samples: VEGF, interleukin-6 (IL-6), interleukin-8 (IL-8), erythropoietin (EPO), plateletderived growth factor BB chain (PDGF-BB), nitric oxide (NO), endothelin-1 (ET-1), monocyte chemotactic protein 1 (MCP-1), transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β), and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α).

VEGF, also called VEGF-A, is the parental member of a family of related growth factors that share structural features but have different biological specificities and includes PGF, VEGF-B, VEGF-C, VEGF-D (initially known as c-Fos-induced growth factor, FIGF), and VEGF-E (Li and Eriksson 2001; Holmes and Zachary 2005). VEGF is probably the most studied angiogenic factor in vitreous of eyes with DR, with more than 30 studies reporting increased levels of VEGF in PDR vitreous compared to controls. VEGF was also found to be significantly increased in at least three studies comparing NPDR vitreous to nondiabetic controls. PGF may promote angiogenesis indirectly or directly through a VEGF receptor, and high levels of PGF have been reported in vitreous of PDR eyes (Mitamura et al. 2002; Tsai et al. 2018).

Using an ECL multiplex assay to study vitreous samples from PDR and control eyes, Lamy et al. (2020) observed that among the analytes found to be significantly increased in PDR samples, VEGF presented the highest magnitude of difference, followed by IL-8 and IL-6.

IL-8 (or CXCL8) is a pro-inflammatory chemokine that is involved in the recruitment of granulocytes (mainly neutrophils) and is also known for promoting inflammation-mediated angiogenesis. IL-8 can be secreted by cells that are involved in innate immune response, such as macrophages, and it can also be overexpressed

by retinal endothelial and glial cells in response to hypoxia. High levels of IL-8 in the vitreous have been associated with DME and with subretinal fluid formation in DR (Yenihayat et al. 2019), suggesting that inflammation can be an important component in the progression of DME. Petrovic et al. (2010) have observed that among patients with PDR undergoing vitrectomy surgery, elevated vitreous levels of IL-8 at the time of surgery were associated with poor visual outcome after the procedure. They suggested that IL-8 could be a biomarker of ischemic inflammatory reaction and possibly contribute to deterioration of visual acuity and DR progression.

Using a flow cytometry-based multiplex assay to compare the levels of 17 analytes in the vitreous and plasma of eyes with PDR and nondiabetic controls, Koskela et al. (2013) found that in patients with PDR, the concentrations of IL-8 and IL-6 were, respectively, 589% and 2613% higher in the vitreous than in the plasma, suggesting that those interleukins are being produced mainly by the retina and local ocular tissues rather than originating from systemic inflammation. Also, when compared to controls, the vitreous concentration of IL-8 and IL-6 in PDR eyes was more than 65 times higher, corroborating the finding that those cytokines are associated with PDR and that immune-inflammatory pathways can play a role in the DR disease progression. The use of anti-IL8 medications has been explored pre-clinically for ocular indications, and the investigation of a monoclonal antibody anti-IL8 has reached clinical stage for indications in the oncology field (Bilusic et al. 2019).

IL-6 (formerly known as B cell-stimulating factor) is a pleiotropic chemokine with both pro- and anti-inflammatory characteristics with key roles in multiple biological processes, including the immune and inflammatory response. In a pooled analysis including 48 studies in DR, Ulhaq et al. (2020) found that IL-6 levels in intraocular fluids (vitreous and aqueous) were significantly higher in DR than in controls, and when subgroups were compared, the NPDR group showed lower IL-6 levels than the PDR group, suggesting an association with disease severity.

MCP-1, also known as chemokine ligand 2 (CCL2), is a chemotactic factor for monocytes and macrophages and has been implicated in the pathogenesis of many diseases including DR. Hyperglycemia promotes MCP-1 expression under the control of nuclear factor kappa B (NF-kB) (Harada et al. 2006). In patients with DR, there is an increased expression of MCP-1 in the eye by retinal pigment epithelial cells (RPE), vascular endothelial cells, and glial cells (Taghavi et al. 2019). Urbancic et al. (2020) found a 22 times higher concentration of MCP-1 in the vitreous when compared to serum of patients with PDR, confirming the importance of the local intraocular secretion of MCP-1.

Erythropoietin (EPO) stimulates the production of mature red blood cells (RBC) and is an essential growth factor for the erythrocyte lineage (Jelkmann 1992). EPO production can be induced by hypoxia, and it has angiogenic properties, with activity in vascular endothelial cells. Watanabe et al. (2005) found 12 times higher levels of EPO in vitreous of PDR eyes than in nondiabetic controls, suggesting it may have a role in PDR. Also, the absence of correlation found between the vitreous and plasma levels of EPO suggested that the higher levels in the vitreous were due to local production in the eye. Similarly, Katsura et al. (2005) reported EPO vitreous

concentration levels (normalized to total protein concentration) to be more than eight times higher in PDR than in samples collected from the eyes with macular hole.

Hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) is a paracrine growth factor secreted by mesenchymal cells which acts via tyrosine-protein kinase Met (c-Met) receptor and regulates cell motility and growth. HGF can act dually as a pro- and antiinflammatory mediator and as a pro-angiogenic factor. Mixed results have been reported in regard to DR. Katsura et al. (1998) found levels of HGF two times higher in the vitreous of patients with PDR compared to nondiabetic controls. Nishimura et al. (1999) found HGF levels almost four times higher in vitreous from eyes with PDR compared to nondiabetic controls, and among eyes with PDR, the levels were 63% higher when iris neovascularization was present, a sign associated with extensive areas of ischemia in the retina. McAuley et al. (2014) reported lower levels of HGF in PDR vitreous compared to nondiabetic controls. The same group also reported lower PEDF levels in vitreous samples from eyes with DME and/or PDR. PEDF is a multifunctional protein that can be secreted by numerous types of cells including vascular EC, RPE, glial cells, and neurons. PEDF presents anti-angiogenic and neuroprotective functions and may inhibit oxidative stress and inflammation (Nian et al. 2021).

Angiopoietins 1 to 4 (Ang 1–4) are members of a family of growth factors, whose activity is mediated by the tyrosine kinase receptors, Tie1 and Tie2 (Akwii et al. 2019). Significantly higher levels of Ang2 have been reported in vitreous of eyes with DR (Watanabe et al. 2005; Tuuminen et al. 2015; Lamy et al. 2020). Ang2 is thought to have a role in vascular permeability, and a novel promising intravitreal drug (faricimab) targeting Ang2 and VEGF-A for treatment of DME is currently under investigation (Heier et al. 2021).

The interactions of 12 significant biomarkers in PDR are presented in Fig. 7 (McAuley et al. 2014). The STRING (Search Tool for the Retrieval of Interacting Genes/Proteins; https://string-db.org) pathway analysis showed the central importance of VEGF, as it can be activated by several proteins including IL-6, IL-8, HGF, EPO, and TNF- α .

Kinin-Kallikrein System (KKS)

KKS is an endogenous multiprotein cascade system with multiple roles in inflammation, vasodilation, vascular permeability, and coagulation (Kashuba et al. 2013). The effects of this system are mainly mediated by bradykinin (BK), a peptide hormone with potent pro-inflammatory and vasodilatory effects. Two serine protease zymogens (inactive proenzymes) are involved in the generation of BK after activation: plasma prekallikrein (PPK) and coagulation Factor XII (FXII). FXII can be activated upon interaction with an activating surface into FXIIa. The substrates of FXIIa include FXI, involved in activation of intrinsic coagulation, and PPK, resulting in the production of plasma kallikrein (PK). The proteolytically active PK can activate additional FXII and also cleave high-molecular-weight kininogen (HK), resulting in the release of BK (Fig. 8) (Phipps and Feener 2008).


Fig. 7 Molecular pathway analysis of significant analytes in proliferative diabetic retinopathy (PDR). STRING (Search Tool for the Retrieval of Interacting Genes/Proteins) pathway analysis. Abbreviations: CCL2 (MCP-1), monocyte chemotactic protein 1; EDN1 (ET-1), endothelin-1; EPO, erythropoietin; EPOR, erythropoietin receptor; FLT1, vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 1; HGF, hepatocyte growth factor; IL6, interleukin-6; IL8, interleukin-8; IL6R, interleukin-6 receptor; IL6ST, interleukin-6 receptor subunit beta; KDR, vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2; MET, hepatocyte growth factor receptor; NOS1 (NO), nitric oxide; PDGFA, platelet-derived growth factor subunit A; PDGRB, platelet-derived growth factor BB chain; PDGFRB, platelet-derived growth factor receptor beta; SERPINF1 (PEDF), pigment epithelium-derived factor; TGFB1 (TGF- β), transforming growth factor beta 1; TGFBR1, transforming growth factor beta receptor 1; TGFBR2, transforming growth factor A (Reprinted from Journal of Diabetes and its Complications, Vol 28.3, McAuley, Annie K., et al. Vitreous biomarkers in diabetic retinopathy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Pages 419–425, Copyright 2014, with permission from Elsevier)

Kita et al. (2015) found a twofold increase in PPK and an 11-fold increase in PK in vitreous samples from eyes with DME compared with those with a macular hole (MH). Loukovaara et al. (2015) found that five protein components of the KKS were increased in vitreous of patients with PDR compared with NPDR: FXII, kallikrein B1 (KLKB1), alpha 2-antiplasmin (A2AP), kininogen 1 (KNG1), and plasminogen (PLMN). They suggested that the enrichment of those proteins observed in the disease progression from NPDR to PDR was confirming the importance of KKS in the pathogenesis of DR. Numerous small molecules and peptides targeting KKS are currently under investigation for DME treatment; some are for oral and topical administration, which could represent an advantage over intravitreal injections (Bhatwadekar et al. 2020).

Complement System (CS)

The CS functions as the first defense line of innate immunity, and it is composed of three proteolytic pathways: classical, lectin, and alternative pathways. CS has been implicated in the pathogenesis of several diseases including DR. Loukovaara et al.



Fig. 8 Schematic illustrating the potential involvement of the KKS in diabetic retinopathy. FXII, factor XII; FXIIa, factor XIIa; HK, high-molecular-weight kininogen; Kal, kallikrein; PK, prekallikrein; KKS, kallikrein-kinin system. (Reprinted from Kidney international 73, no. 10, Phipps, J. A., and E. P. Feener. The kallikrein-kinin system in diabetic retinopathy: lessons for the kidney. Pages 1114–1119, Copyright 2008, with permission from International Society of Nephrology)

(2015) detected 20 complement cascade components in vitreous samples of both PDR and NPDR eyes and found that 15 of them were significantly higher in the vitreous of PDR eyes compared to NPDR, suggesting the presence of CS proteins since the early stages of DR and an increase in more severe cases.

Using albumin and complement levels from plasma to normalize the vitreous data and control for vascular leakage of proteins from the systemic circulation to the vitreous cavity, Mandava et al. (2020) reported an increased activation through the alternative complement pathway in PDR eyes, with local activation of complement factors C3a, C5a, and Ba, as well as local consumption of C4, C5, and factor B.

Shahulhameed et al. (2020) also found signs of increased CS activation through the alternative pathway with high levels of C3 and its activated fragment C3ba' in the vitreous of PDR eyes.

MicroRNA (miRNA)

MiRNAs are sequences of small noncoding nucleotides that play important roles in gene expression. The expression of vitreal miRNAs is found to be altered in many vitreoretinal diseases including DR (Ragusa et al. 2013; Hirota et al. 2015; Gomaa et al. 2017). Friedrich et al. (2020) found the expression of six miRNAs (hsa-miR-20a-5p, hsa-miR-23b-3p, hsa-miR-142-3p, hsa-miR-185-5p, hsa-miR-326, and hsa-miR-362-5p) to be elevated in the vitreous of PDR patients compared with nondiabetic controls undergoing vitrectomy for macular hole. Two of the miRNAs (hsa-miR-20a-5p and hsa-miR-185-5p) have VEGF-A as a validated gene target, and the other four are predicted to target genes of proteins associated with angiogenesis and wound healing responses. Anti-miRNAs may have therapeutic potential for DR.

Metabolites

Metabolites are small molecules (<1.5 kD) and represent the intermediate or end products of metabolism. They can be endogenous (gene-derived metabolites) or exogenous metabolites (environmentally derived metabolites). Haines et al. (2018) studied the vitreous of PDR eyes using untargeted mass spectrometry-based metabolomics and found a significant decrease in xanthine, a purine metabolite, and an increase of related purines (inosine, hypoxanthine, urate, allantoate). Together, those findings may suggest an upregulation in the enzyme xanthine oxidase, which is a superoxide-producing enzyme.

Applications to Prognosis and Other Diseases and Conditions

In this chapter, the use of vitreous molecular biomarkers to study DR was reviewed, with emphasis on the potential to determine new targets for drug discovery, as well as on the possibility to be used in precision medicine as predictive biomarkers, impacting the clinical management of individuals or subgroups of patients with DR. More than 70 years ago, Michaelson proposed that a "factor X," produced by the retina, could promote neovascularization (Michaelson 1948). Five decades later, VEGF was discovered and found to be increased in the vitreous of diabetic patients (Leung et al. 1989; Adamis et al. 1994; Aiello et al. 1994). Intravitreal anti-VEGF drugs have revolutionized the treatment of DR and other retinal diseases, such as age-related macular degeneration (AMD) and retinal vein occlusions. With the advancement of the scientific methods, it is now known that there are more "factors" in the vitreous than letters in the alphabet. Over the years, researchers in academia and industry have been dedicating a lot of effort to identify the best prognostic and predictive vitreous biomarkers for DR, and numerous promising drugs are currently under pre-clinical and clinical investigation stages.

Key Facts of Vitreous Biomarkers in Diabetic Retinopathy (DR)

- The global number of people with DR in 2020 was estimated at 103.12 million, and it is projected to rise to 160.50 million in 2045.
- According to the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), DR is the leading cause of blindness among the American adult population (20–74 years old).
- To date, thousands of analytes have been identified in the human vitreous, and hundreds of them are increased in the eyes with DR, especially in the proliferative stage.
- Vascular endothelial growth factor is a key player in the pathogenesis of DR.
- Pegaptanib was the first anti-VEGF drug approved by the FDA for intra-ocular use in 2004 (indication: neovascular AMD), and ranibizumab was the first anti-VEGF to receive FDA approval for DR in 2012 (indication: diabetic macular edema).
- More than 1/3 of patients with DR do not respond to anti-VEGF therapy.
- Knowledge about vitreous biomarkers has supported the development of numerous drug candidates targeting a variety of molecular pathways for treatment of retinal diseases.

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

- **Blood-retina barrier (BRB)** composed of an outer BRB, in which RPE cells regulate the transport between the choroid capillaries and the retina, and an inner BRB, which regulates movement of molecules and cells between retinal capillaries and retina.
- **Drug Discovery** the process of discovering and developing new medicines to treat diseases or medical conditions. Modern drug discovery usually involves the screening of large compound libraries against isolated biological targets. The

study of biomarkers in a specific disease can facilitate the identification of potential new targets.

- Limbus (also known as corneoscleral junction) border zone between the transparent cornea and the opaque sclera.
- Macula central area of the retina responsible for detailed vision.
- **Optic disc** (also known as optic nerve head) oval area in the nasal retina where the retinal ganglion cells exit the eye to form the optic nerve. It is also the entry point for the major blood vessels of the retina.
- Pars plana relatively avascular posterior flat portion of the ciliary body that extends from the ciliary processes to the periphery of the retina. The location is commonly used for incisions to access the vitreous chamber during intra-ocular procedures.
- **Precision medicine** (also referred to as personalized medicine) model where the medical provider tailors medical decisions and disease treatments based on patient genetics or biomarker information.
- **Predictive biomarker** used to identify individuals who are more likely than others to achieve a favorable or unfavorable effect from a specific medical treatment or exposure to an environmental agent.
- **Prognostic biomarker** used to identify likelihood of disease progression or related clinical events in individuals with the disease of interest.

Summary Points

- Vitreous humor contains thousands of proteins released by the retina and nearby structures, making it a great source for biomarkers of retinal diseases.
- Diabetic retinopathy (DR) is a common complication of diabetes mellitus and affects more than 100 million people worldwide.
- Intravitreal administration of anti-VEGF drugs and corticosteroids has revolutionized the treatment of vision-threatening stages of DR.
- More than 1/3 of patients treated with anti-VEGF therapy are considered non-responders.
- Novel prognostic and predictive biomarkers in DR have potential to facilitate disease prognosis, predict the best responders to a specific treatment, and support the development of new therapies.

Acknowledgments The authors thank the unrestricted support from Research to Prevent Blindness, Inc.; That Man May See, Inc.; NIH-NEI EY002162 - Core Grant for Vision Research; and the assistance of Suling Wang in preparing the illustration of Figs. 2, 3, and 5.

References

Abu el Asrar AM, Maimone D, Morse PH, Gregory S, Reder AT. Cytokines in the vitreous of patients with proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Am J Ophthalmol. 1992;114:731–6.

- Accord Study Group, Group AES, Chew EY, Ambrosius WT, Davis MD, Danis RP, Gangaputra S, Greven CM, Hubbard L, Esser BA, Lovato JF, Perdue LH, Goff DC Jr, Cushman WC, Ginsberg HN, Elam MB, Genuth S, Gerstein HC, Schubart U, Fine LJ. Effects of medical therapies on retinopathy progression in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2010;363:233–44.
- Adamiec-Mroczek J, Oficjalska-Mlynczak J. Assessment of selected adhesion molecule and proinflammatory cytokine levels in the vitreous body of patients with type 2 diabetes – role of the inflammatory-immune process in the pathogenesis of proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol. 2008;246:1665–70.
- Adamis AP, Miller JW, Bernal MT, D'Amico DJ, Folkman J, Yeo TK, Yeo KT. Increased vascular endothelial growth factor levels in the vitreous of eyes with proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Am J Ophthalmol. 1994;118:445–50.
- Agrawal R, Iyer J, Connolly J, Iwata D, Teoh S. Cytokines and biologics in non-infectious autoimmune uveitis: bench to bedside. Indian J Ophthalmol. 2014;62:74–81.
- Aiello LP, Avery RL, Arrigg PG, Keyt BA, Jampel HD, Shah ST, Pasquale LR, Thieme H, Iwamoto MA, Park JE, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor in ocular fluid of patients with diabetic retinopathy and other retinal disorders. N Engl J Med. 1994;331:1480–7.
- Aiello LP, Odia I, Glassman AR, Melia M, Jampol LM, Bressler NM, Kiss S, Silva PS, Wykoff CC, Sun JK, Diabetic Retinopathy Clinical Research N. Comparison of early treatment diabetic retinopathy study standard 7-field imaging with Ultrawide-field imaging for determining severity of diabetic retinopathy. JAMA Ophthalmol. 2019;137:65–73.
- Akwii RG, Sajib MS, Zahra FT, Mikelis CM. Role of Angiopoietin-2 in vascular physiology and pathophysiology. Cell. 2019;8
- American Diabetes Association A. 2. Classification and diagnosis of diabetes: standards of medical Care in Diabetes-2021. Diabetes Care. 2021;44:S15–33.
- Aydin S. A short history, principles, and types of ELISA, and our laboratory experience with peptide/protein analyses using ELISA. Peptides. 2015;72:4–15.
- Banerjee S, Savant V, Scott RA, Curnow SJ, Wallace GR, Murray PI. Multiplex bead analysis of vitreous humor of patients with vitreoretinal disorders. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2007;48: 2203–7.
- Bhatwadekar AD, Kansara VS, Ciulla TA. Investigational plasma kallikrein inhibitors for the treatment of diabetic macular edema: an expert assessment. Expert Opin Investig Drugs. 2020;29:237–44.
- Bilusic M, Heery CR, Collins JM, Donahue RN, Palena C, Madan RA, Karzai F, Marte JL, Strauss J, Gatti-Mays ME, Schlom J, Gulley JL. Phase I trial of HuMax-IL8 (BMS-986253), an anti-IL-8 monoclonal antibody, in patients with metastatic or unresectable solid tumors. J Immunother Cancer. 2019;7:240.
- Bishop PN. Structural macromolecules and supramolecular organisation of the vitreous gel. Prog Retin Eye Res. 2000;19:323–44.
- Bressler NM, Beaulieu WT, Glassman AR, Blinder KJ, Bressler SB, Jampol LM, Melia M, Wells JA 3rd, Diabetic Retinopathy Clinical Research N. Persistent macular thickening following Intravitreous Aflibercept, bevacizumab, or Ranibizumab for central-involved diabetic macular edema with vision impairment: a secondary analysis of a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Ophthalmol. 2018;136:257–69.
- Campbell M, Humphries P. The blood-retina barrier: tight junctions and barrier modulation. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2012;763:70–84.
- Chhablani J, Sharma A, Goud A, Peguda HK, Rao HL, Begum VU, Barteselli G. Neurodegeneration in type 2 diabetes: evidence from spectral-domain optical coherence tomography. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2015;56:6333–8.
- Dai Y, Wu Z, Wang F, Zhang Z, Yu M. Identification of chemokines and growth factors in proliferative diabetic retinopathy vitreous. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014:486386.
- DCCT Research Group. The relationship of glycemic exposure (HbA1c) to the risk of development and progression of retinopathy in the diabetes control and complications trial. Diabetes. 1995;44:968–83.

- de Smet MD, Gad Elkareem AM, Zwinderman AH. The vitreous, the retinal interface in ocular health and disease. Ophthalmologica. 2013;230:165–78.
- Deshpande AD, Harris-Hayes M, Schootman M. Epidemiology of diabetes and diabetes-related complications. Phys Ther. 2008;88:1254–64.
- Diabetic Retinopathy Clinical Research N, Elman MJ, Qin H, Aiello LP, Beck RW, Bressler NM, Ferris FL 3rd, Glassman AR, Maturi RK, Melia M. Intravitreal ranibizumab for diabetic macular edema with prompt versus deferred laser treatment: three-year randomized trial results. Ophthalmology. 2012;119:2312–8.
- Diaz-Coranguez M, Ramos C, Antonetti DA. The inner blood-retinal barrier: cellular basis and development. Vis Res. 2017;139:123–37.
- Dinarello CA. Historical insights into cytokines. Eur J Immunol. 2007;37(Suppl 1):S34-45.
- ETDRS Research Group. Grading diabetic retinopathy from stereoscopic color fundus photographs – an extension of the modified Airlie house classification. ETDRS report number 10. Early treatment diabetic retinopathy study research group. Ophthalmology. 1991;98:786–806.
- FDA-NIH Biomarker Working Group. In: BEST (Biomarkers, EndpointS, and other Tools) resource. Silver Spring (MD); 2016.
- Flaxel CJ, Adelman RA, Bailey ST, Fawzi A, Lim JI, Vemulakonda GA, Ying GS. Diabetic retinopathy preferred practice Pattern(R). Ophthalmology. 2020;127:P66–P145.
- Fresta CG, Fidilio A, Caruso G, Caraci F, Giblin FJ, Leggio GM, Salomone S, Drago F, Bucolo C. A new human blood-retinal barrier model based on endothelial cells, Pericytes, and astrocytes. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21
- Friedrich J, Steel DHW, Schlingemann RO, Koss MJ, Hammes HP, Krenning G, Klaassen I. microRNA expression profile in the vitreous of proliferative diabetic retinopathy patients and differences from patients treated with anti-VEGF therapy. Transl Vis Sci Technol. 2020;9:16.
- Funatsu H, Yamashita H, Noma H, Mimura T, Nakamura S, Sakata K, Hori S. Aqueous humor levels of cytokines are related to vitreous levels and progression of diabetic retinopathy in diabetic patients. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol. 2005;243:3–8.
- Giacco F, Brownlee M. Oxidative stress and diabetic complications. Circ Res. 2010;107:1058-70.
- Giovannini A, Parravano M, Ricci F, Bandello F. Management of diabetic macular edema with intravitreal dexamethasone implants: expert recommendations using a Delphi-based approach. Eur J Ophthalmol. 2019;29:82–91.
- Gomaa AR, Elsayed ET, Moftah RF. MicroRNA-200b expression in the vitreous humor of patients with proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Ophthalmic Res. 2017;58:168–75.
- Haines NR, Manoharan N, Olson JL, D'Alessandro A, Reisz JA. Metabolomics analysis of human vitreous in diabetic retinopathy and Rhegmatogenous retinal detachment. J Proteome Res. 2018;17:2421–7.
- Hammes HP, Lin J, Renner O, Shani M, Lundqvist A, Betsholtz C, Brownlee M, Deutsch U. Pericytes and the pathogenesis of diabetic retinopathy. Diabetes. 2002;51:3107–12.
- Harada C, Okumura A, Namekata K, Nakamura K, Mitamura Y, Ohguro H, Harada T. Role of monocyte chemotactic protein-1 and nuclear factor kappa B in the pathogenesis of proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2006;74:249–56.
- He Y, Ren XJ, Hu BJ, Lam WC, Li XR. A meta-analysis of the effect of a dexamethasone intravitreal implant versus intravitreal anti-vascular endothelial growth factor treatment for diabetic macular edema. BMC Ophthalmol. 2018;18:121.
- Heier JS, Singh RP, Wykoff CC, Csaky KG, Lai TYY, Loewenstein A, Schlottmann PG, Paris LP, Westenskow PD, Quezada-Ruiz C. THE ANGIOPOIETIN/TIE PATHWAY IN RETINAL VASCULAR DISEASES: a review. Retina. 2021;41:1–19.
- Hirota K, Keino H, Inoue M, Ishida H, Hirakata A. Comparisons of microRNA expression profiles in vitreous humor between eyes with macular hole and eyes with proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol. 2015;253:335–42.
- Holmes DI, Zachary I. The vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) family: angiogenic factors in health and disease. Genome Biol. 2005;6:209.

- Jelkmann W. Erythropoietin: structure, control of production, and function. Physiol Rev. 1992;72: 449–89.
- Kashuba E, Bailey J, Allsup D, Cawkwell L. The kinin-kallikrein system: physiological roles, pathophysiology and its relationship to cancer biomarkers. Biomarkers. 2013;18:279–96.
- Katsura Y, Okano T, Noritake M, Kosano H, Nishigori H, Kado S, Matsuoka T. Hepatocyte growth factor in vitreous fluid of patients with proliferative diabetic retinopathy and other retinal disorders. Diabetes Care. 1998;21:1759–63.
- Katsura Y, Okano T, Matsuno K, Osako M, Kure M, Watanabe T, Iwaki Y, Noritake M, Kosano H, Nishigori H, Matsuoka T. Erythropoietin is highly elevated in vitreous fluid of patients with proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Diabetes Care. 2005;28:2252–4.
- Khalil H. Diabetes microvascular complications-A clinical update. Diabetes Metab Syndr. 2017;11 (Suppl 1):S133–9.
- Kim LA, D'Amore PA. A brief history of anti-VEGF for the treatment of ocular angiogenesis. Am J Pathol. 2012;181:376–9.
- Kita T, Clermont AC, Murugesan N, Zhou Q, Fujisawa K, Ishibashi T, Aiello LP, Feener EP. Plasma Kallikrein-Kinin system as a VEGF-independent mediator of diabetic macular edema. Diabetes. 2015;64:3588–99.
- Koskela UE, Kuusisto SM, Nissinen AE, Savolainen MJ, Liinamaa MJ. High vitreous concentration of IL-6 and IL-8, but not of adhesion molecules in relation to plasma concentrations in proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Ophthalmic Res. 2013;49:108–14.
- Kroll P, Rodrigues EB, Hoerle S. Pathogenesis and classification of proliferative diabetic vitreoretinopathy. Ophthalmologica. 2007;221:78–94.
- Kusuhara S, Fukushima Y, Ogura S, Inoue N, Uemura A. Pathophysiology of diabetic retinopathy: the old and the new. Diabetes Metab J. 2018;42:364–76.
- Lamy R, Farber-Katz S, Vives F, Ayanoglu G, Zhao T, Chen Y, Laotaweerungsawat S, Ma D, Phone A, Psaras C, Li NX, Sutradhar S, Carrington PE, Stewart JM. Comparative analysis of multiplex platforms for detecting vitreous biomarkers in diabetic retinopathy. Transl Vis Sci Technol. 2020;9:3.
- Leung DW, Cachianes G, Kuang WJ, Goeddel DV, Ferrara N. Vascular endothelial growth factor is a secreted angiogenic mitogen. Science. 1989;246:1306–9.
- Li X, Eriksson U. Novel VEGF family members: VEGF-B, VEGF-C and VEGF-D. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2001;33:421–6.
- Liu C, Ge HM, Liu BH, Dong R, Shan K, Chen X, Yao MD, Li XM, Yao J, Zhou RM, Zhang SJ, Jiang Q, Zhao C, Yan B. Targeting pericyte-endothelial cell crosstalk by circular RNA-cPWWP2A inhibition aggravates diabetes-induced microvascular dysfunction. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2019;116:7455–64.
- Loukovaara S, Nurkkala H, Tamene F, Gucciardo E, Liu X, Repo P, Lehti K, Varjosalo M. Quantitative proteomics analysis of vitreous humor from diabetic retinopathy patients. J Proteome Res. 2015;14:5131–43.
- Maggio E, Sartore M, Attanasio M, Maraone G, Guerriero M, Polito A, Pertile G. Anti-vascular endothelial growth factor treatment for diabetic macular edema in a real-world clinical setting. Am J Ophthalmol. 2018;195:209–22.
- Mandava N, Tirado-Gonzalez V, Geiger MD, Patnaik JL, Frazer-Abel A, Lynch AM, Mandava N, Palestine AG, Holers VM, Wagner BD, Sanchez-Santos I, Meizner D, Quiroz-Mercado H, Smith JM. Complement activation in the vitreous of patients with proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2020;61:39.
- McAuley AK, Sanfilippo PG, Hewitt AW, Liang H, Lamoureux E, Wang JJ, Connell PP. Vitreous biomarkers in diabetic retinopathy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Diabetes Complicat. 2014;28:419–25.
- Michaelson IC. The mode of development of the vascular system of the retina with some observations on its significance for certain retinal disorders. Trans Ophthalmol Soc UK. 1948;68: 137–80.

- Mitamura Y, Tashimo A, Nakamura Y, Tagawa H, Ohtsuka K, Mizue Y, Nishihira J. Vitreous levels of placenta growth factor and vascular endothelial growth factor in patients with proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Diabetes Care. 2002;25:2352.
- Nian S, Lo ACY, Mi Y, Ren K, Yang D. Neurovascular unit in diabetic retinopathy: pathophysiological roles and potential therapeutical targets. Eye Vis (Lond). 2021;8:15.
- Nishimura M, Ikeda T, Ushiyama M, Nanbu A, Kinoshita S, Yoshimura M. Increased vitreous concentrations of human hepatocyte growth factor in proliferative diabetic retinopathy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1999;84:659–62.
- Patnaik S, Jalali S, Joshi MB, Satyamoorthy K, Kaur I. Metabolomics applicable to retinal vascular diseases. Methods Mol Biol. 2019;1996:325–31.
- Petrovic MG, Korosec P, Kosnik M, Hawlina M. Association of preoperative vitreous IL-8 and VEGF levels with visual acuity after vitrectomy in proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Acta Ophthalmol. 2010;88:e311–6.
- Phipps JA, Feener EP. The kallikrein-kinin system in diabetic retinopathy: lessons for the kidney. Kidney Int. 2008;73:1114–9.
- Ragusa M, Caltabiano R, Russo A, Puzzo L, Avitabile T, Longo A, Toro MD, Di Pietro C, Purrello M, Reibaldi M. MicroRNAs in vitreus humor from patients with ocular diseases. Mol Vis. 2013;19:430–40.
- Sebag J. The vitreous: structure, function, and pathobiology. In: (New York NS-V, ed), p. 35–38; 2012.
- Shahulhameed S, Vishwakarma S, Chhablani J, Tyagi M, Pappuru RR, Jakati S, Chakrabarti S, Kaur I. A systematic investigation on complement pathway activation in diabetic retinopathy. Front Immunol. 2020;11:154.
- Sharma N, Ooi JL, Ong J, Newman D. The use of fenofibrate in the management of patients with diabetic retinopathy: an evidence-based review. Aust Fam Physician. 2015;44:367–70.
- Shimada H, Akaza E, Yuzawa M, Kawashima M. Concentration gradient of vascular endothelial growth factor in the vitreous of eyes with diabetic macular edema. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2009;50:2953–5.
- Shimura M, Yasuda K, Nakazawa T, Shiono T, Nishida K. Panretinal-photocoagulation before pars Plana vitrectomy influences vitreous level of Interleukin-6 but not of vascular endothelial growth factor in patients with diabetic retinopathy. Int J Biomed Sci. 2007;3:31–7.
- Shimura M, Yasuda K, Nakazawa T, Abe T, Shiono T, Iida T, Sakamoto T, Nishida K. Panretinal photocoagulation induces pro-inflammatory cytokines and macular thickening in high-risk proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol. 2009;247:1617–24.
- Shin ES, Sorenson CM, Sheibani N. Diabetes and retinal vascular dysfunction. J Ophthalmic Vis Res. 2014;9:362–73.
- Sivaprasad S, Prevost AT, Vasconcelos JC, Riddell A, Murphy C, Kelly J, Bainbridge J, Tudor-Edwards R, Hopkins D, Hykin P, Group CS. Clinical efficacy of intravitreal aflibercept versus panretinal photocoagulation for best corrected visual acuity in patients with proliferative diabetic retinopathy at 52 weeks (CLARITY): a multicentre, single-blinded, randomised, controlled, phase 2b, non-inferiority trial. Lancet. 2017;389:2193–203.
- Skeie JM, Brown EN, Martinez HD, Russell SR, Birkholz ES, Folk JC, Boldt HC, Gehrs KM, Stone EM, Wright ME, Mahajan VB. Proteomic analysis of vitreous biopsy techniques. Retina. 2012;32:2141–9.
- Solomon SD, Goldberg MF. ETDRS grading of diabetic retinopathy: still the gold standard? Ophthalmic Res. 2019;62:190–5.
- Solomon SD, Chew E, Duh EJ, Sobrin L, Sun JK, VanderBeek BL, Wykoff CC, Gardner TW. Diabetic retinopathy: a position statement by the American Diabetes Association. Diabetes Care. 2017;40:412–8.
- Stefansson E. The therapeutic effects of retinal laser treatment and vitrectomy. A theory based on oxygen and vascular physiology. Acta Ophthalmol Scand. 2001;79:435–40.

- Suzuki Y, Adachi K, Maeda N, Tanabu R, Kudo T, Nakazawa M. Proliferative diabetic retinopathy without preoperative pan-retinal photocoagulation is associated with higher levels of intravitreal IL-6 and postoperative inflammation. Int J Retina Vitreous. 2020;6:24.
- Taghavi Y, Hassanshahi G, Kounis NG, Koniari I, Khorramdelazad H. Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1/CCL2) in diabetic retinopathy: latest evidence and clinical considerations. J Cell Commun Signal. 2019;13:451–62.
- Tamhane M, Cabrera-Ghayouri S, Abelian G, Viswanath V. Review of biomarkers in ocular matrices: challenges and opportunities. Pharm Res. 2019;36:40.
- Tarr JM, Kaul K, Chopra M, Kohner EM, Chibber R. Pathophysiology of diabetic retinopathy. ISRN Ophthalmol. 2013;2013:343560.
- Teo ZL, Tham YC, Yu M, Chee ML, Rim TH, Cheung N, Bikbov MM, Wang YX, Tang Y, Lu Y, Wong IY, Ting DSW, Tan GSW, Jonas JB, Sabanayagam C, Wong TY, Cheng CY. Global prevalence of diabetic retinopathy and projection of burden through 2045: systematic review and meta-analysis. Ophthalmology. 2021;
- Tighe PJ, Ryder RR, Todd I, Fairclough LC. ELISA in the multiplex era: potentials and pitfalls. Proteomics Clin Appl. 2015;9:406–22.
- Trost A, Lange S, Schroedl F, Bruckner D, Motloch KA, Bogner B, Kaser-Eichberger A, Strohmaier C, Runge C, Aigner L, Rivera FJ, Reitsamer HA. Brain and retinal Pericytes: origin, function and role. Front Cell Neurosci. 2016;10:20.
- Tsai T, Kuehn S, Tsiampalis N, Vu MK, Kakkassery V, Stute G, Dick HB, Joachim SC. Antiinflammatory cytokine and angiogenic factors levels in vitreous samples of diabetic retinopathy patients. PLoS One. 2018;13:e0194603.
- Tuuminen R, Haukka J, Loukovaara S. Poor glycemic control associates with high intravitreal angiopoietin-2 levels in patients with diabetic retinopathy. Acta Ophthalmol. 2015;93: e515–6.
- UKPDS Group. Intensive blood-glucose control with sulphonylureas or insulin compared with conventional treatment and risk of complications in patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 33). UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) Group. Lancet. 1998;352:837–53.
- Ulhaq ZS, Soraya GV, Budu, Wulandari LR. The role of IL-6-174 G/C polymorphism and intraocular IL-6 levels in the pathogenesis of ocular diseases: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Sci Rep. 2020;10:17453.
- Urbancic M, Petrovic D, Zivin AM, Korosec P, Flezar M, Petrovic MG. Correlations between vitreous cytokine levels and inflammatory cells in fibrovascular membranes of patients with proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Mol Vis. 2020;26:472–82.
- Velez G, Tang PH, Cabral T, Cho GY, Machlab DA, Tsang SH, Bassuk AG, Mahajan VB. Personalized proteomics for precision health: identifying biomarkers of vitreoretinal disease. Transl Vis Sci Technol. 2018;7:12.
- Wang W, Lo ACY. Diabetic retinopathy: pathophysiology and treatments. Int J Mol Sci. 2018;19
- Watanabe D, Suzuma K, Matsui S, Kurimoto M, Kiryu J, Kita M, Suzuma I, Ohashi H, Ojima T, Murakami T, Kobayashi T, Masuda S, Nagao M, Yoshimura N, Takagi H. Erythropoietin as a retinal angiogenic factor in proliferative diabetic retinopathy. N Engl J Med. 2005;353: 782–92.
- Westerfeld C, Mukai S. Retinal and choroidal biopsy. Int Ophthalmol Clin. 2009;49:145-54.
- Wilkinson CP, Ferris FL 3rd, Klein RE, Lee PP, Agardh CD, Davis M, Dills D, Kampik A, Pararajasegaram R, Verdaguer JT, Global Diabetic Retinopathy Project G. Proposed international clinical diabetic retinopathy and diabetic macular edema disease severity scales. Ophthalmology. 2003;110:1677–82.
- Wong TY, Sun J, Kawasaki R, Ruamviboonsuk P, Gupta N, Lansingh VC, Maia M, Mathenge W, Moreker S, Muqit MMK, Resnikoff S, Verdaguer J, Zhao P, Ferris F, Aiello LP, Taylor HR. Guidelines on diabetic eye care: the International Council of Ophthalmology Recommendations for screening, follow-up, referral, and treatment based on resource settings. Ophthalmology. 2018;125:1608–22.

- Writing Committee for the Diabetic Retinopathy Clinical Research N, Gross JG, Glassman AR, Jampol LM, Inusah S, Aiello LP, Antoszyk AN, Baker CW, Berger BB, Bressler NM, Browning D, Elman MJ, Ferris FL 3rd, Friedman SM, Marcus DM, Melia M, Stockdale CR, Sun JK, Beck RW. Panretinal photocoagulation vs Intravitreous Ranibizumab for proliferative diabetic retinopathy: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2015;314:2137–46.
- Wu F, Phone A, Lamy R, Ma D, Laotaweerungsawat S, Chen Y, Zhao T, Ma W, Zhang F, Psaras C, Stewart JM. Correlation of aqueous, vitreous, and plasma cytokine levels in patients with proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2020;61:26.
- Wu L, Fernandez-Loaiza P, Sauma J, Hernandez-Bogantes E, Masis M. Classification of diabetic retinopathy and diabetic macular edema. World J Diabetes. 2013;4:290–4.
- Yenihayat F, Ozkan B, Kasap M, Karabas VL, Guzel N, Akpinar G, Pirhan D. Vitreous IL-8 and VEGF levels in diabetic macular edema with or without subretinal fluid. Int Ophthalmol. 2019;39:821–8.



Protein Pyrrole Adducts in Diabetes Mellitus

48

Links with Axonal Polyneuropathy

Xiao Chen, Zhuyi Jiang, and Peter S. Spencer

Contents

Introduction	993
Diabetic Distal Symmetrical Polyneuropathy	994
DSPN: Central-Peripheral Distal Axonopathy	995
DSPN Etiology and Pathogenesis	996
Existing DSPN Biomarkers	998
Protein Pyrrole Adducts	999
Cross-Linking of γ-Diketone-Derived Pyrroles	1003
Cross-Linking of Protein Pyrrole Adduct: Links with DSPN	1006
Detection of Pyrrole Adducts	1007
Applications to Peripheral Neuropathy	1008
Occupational <i>n</i> -Hexane/2-Hexanone Neuropathy	1008
Diabetic Polyneuropathy	1009
Conclusions	1009
Mini-Dictionary of Terms	1010
Key Facts	1010
Summary Points	1011
References	1012

X. Chen

Z. Jiang

Department of Endocrinology, Shenzhen People's Hospital, Shenzhen, Guangdong, China

P. S. Spencer (\boxtimes)

991

Key Laboratory of Modern Toxicology of Shenzhen, Shenzhen Medical Key Subject of Health Toxicology, (2020–2024), Shenzhen Center for Disease Control and Prevention, Shenzhen, Guangdong, China e-mail: chenxiao@szcdc.net

Department of Neurology, School of Medicine and Oregon Institute of Occupational Health Sciences, Oregon Health & Science University, Portland, OR, USA e-mail: spencer@ohsu.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 52

Abstract

Diabetes mellitus is commonly associated with a symmetrical, distal sensory or sensorimotor axonal polyneuropathy that develops insidiously and advances in accord with the hyperglycemic state. Elevated blood glucose promotes anaerobic glycolysis which in turn produces excess advanced glycation end products, many of which have a pyrrole structure that can react with critical neuroproteins. Pyrroles also form between endogenous γ -diketones, notably 2,5-hexanedione, and the ϵ -amine group of lysine residues of proteins, including those required for axonal maintenance. The pyrrolated proteins undergo oxidation and cross-linkage, which interferes with axonal transport of materials from sites of neuronal synthesis to distal destinations. Thus, the distal ends of elongate sensory and motor axons are first affected, which triggers distal nerve fiber degeneration. Comparable pathological changes in long tracts of the spinal cord result in an overall picture of central-peripheral distal axonopathy. Whether, which, and what levels of pyrrolated serum/urinary proteins are useful biological markers of diabetic polyneuropathy is the principal subject of this chapter.

Keywords

Advanced glycation end products \cdot Cross-linked pyrrolated proteins \cdot Centralperipheral distal axonopathy \cdot 2,5-Hexanedione

Abbreviations	
AA	Acetoacetate
ACHD	3-Acetyl-2,5-hexanedione
AFGP	Alkyl formylglycosyl pyrrole
AGE	Advanced glycation end product
CNS	Central nervous system
COVID-19	SARS-CoV-2-induced disease
CPDA	Central-peripheral distal axonopathy
DEHD	3,4-Diethyl-2,5-hexanedione
DiPHD	3,4-Diisopropyl-2,5-hexanedione
DM	Diabetes mellitus
DM-1	DM type 1
DM-2	DM type 2
DMAB	<i>p</i> -Dimethylaminobenzaldehyde
DMHD	3,4-Dimethyl-2,5-hexanedione
DPP-4	Dipeptidyl peptidase 4
DSPN	Distal sensory/sensorimotor peripheral neuropathy
GDM	Gestational DM
HbA1c	Hemoglobin A1c
3-HHD	3-Hydroxy-2,5-hexanedione
4-HNE	4-Hydroxy-2-nonenal
HO-1	Heme oxygenase 1

ICAM-1	Intercellular adhesion molecule 1
IL-1	Interleukin 1
IL-6	Interleukin 6
IL-1RA	Interleukin 1 receptor antagonist
MALAT1	Metastasis-associated lung adenocarcinoma transcript 1
MCP-1	Monocyte chemoattractant protein 1
MG	Methylglyoxal
miRNA	Microribonucleic acid
NADPH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NFE2L2	Nuclear factor, erythroid 2-like 2
NF-κB	Nuclear factor-kB
NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance
PARP-α	Poly[ADP-ribose]polymerase 1
PNS	Peripheral nervous system
RAGE	Receptor for AGE
SARS-CoV-2	Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
sICAM-1	Soluble intercellular adhesion molecule 1
SIRT1	Sirtuin 1
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor beta
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
TRPV1	Transient receptor potential cation channel subfamily V
	member 1
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

Introduction

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a chronic metabolic disease of people of all ages and may appear de novo as gestational diabetes (GDM) during pregnancy. In 2019, DM was estimated to affect almost one half billion people worldwide, with projected increases of $\sim 25\%$ by 2030 and $\sim 50\%$ by 2045. DM prevalence in high-income nations exceeds that in low-income countries (10.4% vs. 4.0%) and is much higher in urban than rural regions (10.8 vs. 7.2%) (Saeedi et al. 2019). DM prevalence increases with age, as illustrated by disease prevalence doubling among South Korean adults aged >65 years (28%) vs. those aged \geq 30 years (13.8%). DM comorbidities include obesity (53.2%), hypertension (61%), hypercholesterolemia (72%), and both hypertension and hypercholesterolemia (43.7%) (Jung et al. 2021). In the Chinese province of Zhejiang, older women and urban residence were associated with a higher annual prevalence of GDM, but growth between 2016 (6.02%) and 2018 (7.94%) was much greater in rural than urban areas (11.28% vs. 0.00%) (Wang et al. 2021). The global estimated age-standardized incidence rate for both DM type 1 (DM-1) and DM type 2 (DM-2) grew between 1990 and 2017, with the largest increase in high-income countries (Liu et al. 2020).

DM-1, which accounts for 5–10% of DM cases, is an autoimmune, insulindependent disorder of juvenile onset, although a latent-onset form may affect 2–12% of adults with DM (Banday et al. 2020). DM-2, a non-autoimmune form of DM that constitutes ~90–95% of cases, whether or not overweight or obese, is characterized by insulin resistance and pancreatic beta-cell dysfunction. Frequency of DM-2 is higher in certain racial/ethnic groups and has first-degree blood relations, which suggests the operation of unknown genetic susceptibility factors (Banday et al. 2020). The aforementioned data on global and regional DM and DM phenotypes were assembled prior to increasing evidence that infection with SARS-CoV-2 may precipitate new-onset DM, even in COVID-19 patients without predisposing factors for impaired glucose metabolism (Papachristou et al. 2021).

Peripheral neuropathy is the most prevalent chronic complication of DM and may affect 60–70% of patients, of which up to 50% may be asymptomatic (Pop-Busui et al. 2017). While distal symmetrical polyneuropathy (DSPN) accounts for three quarters of DM-related neuropathy, clinical disease may manifest as sensory, motor, and autonomic forms (Kobayashi and Zochodne 2018). Genetic predisposition to the development of painful neuropathy is suspected (Galer et al. 2000). Other forms of DM-related peripheral nervous system (PNS) disease, which includes isolated focal and multifocal cranial or peripheral mononeuropathies, lumbosacral radiculopathy, and proximal motor amyotrophy (Pop-Busui et al. 2017), are not discussed further here.

Diabetic Distal Symmetrical Polyneuropathy

DSPN and its biomarkers, the focus of this chapter, may begin in prediabetes and develop insidiously and progressively if the diabetic state is poorly controlled. Sensory deficits precede motor involvement in a distal, retrograde pattern that reflects degenerative changes in longer before shorter nerve fibers. Symptoms of tingling (hyperesthesia), pain, or loss of sensation first develop in the distal and later in more proximal regions of the lower extremities, subsequently in a similar temporal pattern in the upper extremities, and may even advance to involve the distal regions of sensory nerve fibers supplying the central chest (Kobayashi and Zochodne 2018). The distal predominance of nerve fiber damage is evident in epidermal biopsies that show terminal regions of sensory nerve fibers are more heavily affected than those in more proximal biopsies (Polydefkis et al. 2001). Focal axonal swellings in skin biopsies precede the development of distal nerve fiber loss, are unrelated to painful neuropathy, and represent an early marker of sensory nerve injury in DM-2 (Cheung et al. 2015; Karlsson et al. 2021). While clinical evidence of motor involvement is infrequent, quantitative isokinetic dynamometry reveals muscle weakness at the ankle and knee in both DM-1 and DM-2 neuropathy (Anderson 2012). Motor dysfunction may also result from central nervous system (CNS) changes in DM-1 and DM-2, notably central motor conduction delay that depends on the integrity of corticospinal pathways (Kucera et al. 2005; Muramatsu 2020). Similarly, on the sensory side, electrophysiological studies show central as well as

peripheral somatosensory pathway dysfunction early in DM-1 and DM-2 (Kucera et al. 2005; Rekha et al. 2015). DM-associated CNS and PNS dysfunction is related to disease duration, not the degree of hyperglycemia and metabolic control (Dolu et al. 2003).

DSPN: Central-Peripheral Distal Axonopathy

The term central-peripheral distal axonopathy (CPDA) was introduced to describe nerve fiber length-dependent diseases of the dying-back type (i.e., distal to proximal) that are expressed as symmetrical, distal axonal degeneration occurring concurrently in the peripheral nervous system (PNS) and in selected tracts of the central nervous system (CNS) and which have the clinical stigmata of peripheral neuropathy (Spencer and Schaumburg 1976). In DM, abnormalities of central afferent and efferent pathways revealed by evoked potential studies are probably an expression of CPDA (Comi 1997; Thomas 1999), a distribution of neuropathological damage also seen in the biobreeding diabetes-prone rat (Sima and Yagihashi 1985-6). Nineteenthcentury anatomical studies of three patients with DM demonstrated distal nerve fiber swelling and degeneration in the dorsal columns, greater in the cervical regions of the gracile tract than in adjacent regions of the cuneate tract and "probably the result of the toxic diabetic blood condition" (Williamson 1894, 1904). Comparable changes in dorsal columns were described in conjunction with loss of both motor and sensory large-diameter myelinated fibers, mostly in the distal regions of peripheral nerves (Greenbaum et al. 1964). Recognition that the longest nerve fibers in peripheral nerves and spinal cord undergo distal retrograde degeneration in a number of toxic conditions led to the understanding of the dying-back process (Cavanagh 1964) and, with systemic y-diketone intoxication (vide infra), CPDA (Spencer and Schaumburg 1976, 1977). Distal axonopathy produces a clinical picture of polyneuropathy in humans and animals in which sensory and motor disturbances develop in the feet and hands and, with time, progress to the legs and arms (Spencer and Schaumburg 1978). Genetic and toxic models of diabetic neuropathy show the presence of degenerative changes at the distal extremities of dorsal columns and corticospinal tracts (Muramatsu 2020; Schmidt et al. 2000; Tay and Wong 1990), while somatosensory and motor evoked potentials in DSPN reveal abnormalities that are otherwise inapparent early in the disease process and which correlate with the degree of peripheral neuropathy (Dolu et al. 2003; Kucera et al. 2005; Rekha et al. 2015; Sima and Yagihashi (1985–86); Varsik et al. 2001).

The longest sensory axons are those that supply $A\beta$ myelinated nerve fibers innervating mechanoreceptors (Pacinian and Meissner corpuscles), which subserve vibrotactile sensation in the distal lower and upper extremities. Their ability to detect movement depends on the maintenance of delicate intracorpuscular axonal filopod processes that intercalate with modified Schwann cell laminae and which are lost prior to corpuscular denervation (Schaumburg et al. 1974; Spencer and Schaumburg 1976). In the lower extremity, these axons are the peripheral projections of dorsal root ganglion neurons that also maintain centrally projecting axons in the dorsal spinal columns and which synapse with second-order neurons in the gracile nuclei of the medulla oblongata (Spencer et al. 1973). The central projections of cervical spinal ganglia, which support shorter peripheral axons innervating mechanoreceptors in the upper extremities, run in the spinal cuneate tract and synapse with secondorder neurons in the cuneate nucleus. Typically, distal regions of the cuneate tract are spared degenerative changes relative to adjacent regions of the gracile tract, as predicted by CPDA length-dependent differential vulnerability. Nerve fibers of gracile and cuneate neurons decussate in the caudal medulla oblongata as internal arcuate fibers and project to and synapse with third-order neurons in the ventral posterolateral of the thalamus. Axons of ventral posterolateral neurons pass in the internal capsule and terminate in the primary somatosensory cortex (Bajwa and Al Khalili 2021). Given that the central axons of second- and third-order neurons are relatively short, they are thought to be much less susceptible in CPDA; nevertheless, brainstem auditory evoked potential studies reveal early involvement of the central auditory pathway (brainstem-to-midbrain) in DM-2 (Gupta et al. 2013). CNS imaging studies reveal spinal cord atrophy (Eaton et al. 2001; Selvarajah et al. 2006) and a reduction in the volume of cortical gray matter localized to regions involved with somatosensory perception (Selvarajah et al. 2014).

DSPN Etiology and Pathogenesis

DSPN usually develops on a history of long-standing hyperglycemia (major etiologic factor), dyslipidemia, consequent metabolic derangements, and microvessel alterations leading to neuronal inflammation and oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction (Dyck et al. 2011; Sloan et al. 2021). Hyperglycemia promotes irreversible non-enzymatic changes in proteins, lipids, and nucleic acids that form advanced glycation end products (AGEs) in serum and neural tissues (Wada and Yagihashi 2005). Prevention of DSPN and its progression require optimized glycemic control and achievement of cardiometabolic targets (Sloan et al. 2021). While microvascular disease is often but not consistently present in DSPN, it was pointed out long ago that while nerve ischemia can give rise to motor neuropathy, it cannot readily explain the uniform pattern of CPDA in DSPN (Cavanagh 1964; Thomas 1999). While the specific cause of distal axonopathy in diabetes mellitus is unknown, CPDA is shared with a number of distal symmetrical sensory-motor axonal neuropathies, including toxic states that increase the normal endogenous concentration of 2,5-hexanedione (2,5-HD), a physiological γ -diketone that has potential neurotoxicity via the formation of pyrroles with proteins and neuroproteins (Chen et al. 2020; Spencer 2020; Spencer and Chen 2021).

While the molecular cascade arising from hyperglycemia to DSPN is incompletely understood, it is possible to sketch a proposed pathogenesis. Abnormally high concentrations of cellular glucose reduce the rate of degradation of hexokinase-2, which results in elevated glucose metabolism and increased non-aerobic glycolytic energy generation (Irshad et al. 2019); this may explain the elevated physiological nerve resistance to oxygen deprivation during ischemia. However, increased dependence on glycolysis increases the production of AGE precursors, notably the toxic dicarbonyl compound methylglyoxal (MG, 15 in Fig. 1), which is removed by a cellular (glia>neurons) glyoxylase system that utilizes a non-enzymatic reaction with antioxidant glutathione; this amplifies the opportunity for oxidative damage of cellular macromolecules (Allaman et al. 2015). Immunoperoxidase studies localize AGE deposition not only to axoplasm and Schwann cells of both myelinated and unmyelinated nerve fibers but also to endothelial cells and pericytes, interstitial collagen, and basal laminae of perineural cells; however, these were observed both in non-insulin-dependent diabetic subjects (n = 5) and, to a lesser extent, in non-diabetic controls (n = 5) (Sugimoto et al. 1997). Although MG injection of normal human skin elicits pain and thermal hyperalgesia reminiscent of DM-associated pain (Düll et al. 2019), results for the association between serum MG concentration and DSPN have been inconsistent (Andersen et al. 2018; Hansen et al. 2015). Nevertheless, the accumulation of AGEs in nerve tissue has been suggested to be a major cause of the onset and progression of neuropathy in humans (Fujita et al. 2021).

While cellular receptors for AGE (RAGE) products counteract the intracellular toxic potential of MG, an immune response is triggered in association with markedly elevated levels of circulating MG in DM-2, which are positively correlated with levels of glycosylated hemoglobin A1c and malondialdehyde (Kong et al. 2014). As the capacity of the dicarbonyl-degrading glyoxalase-1 (GLO-1) system is overwhelmed by increased levels of glycolysis resulting from hyperglycemia, free AGE products such as MG interact with lysine and arginine residues in proteins and neuroproteins. Polymorphism of GLO-1 appears to affect the onset of DSPN in humans (Fujita et al. 2021). MG detoxification yields 3-hydroxy-2,5-hexanedione (3-HHD, 17) which, together with the ketone body acetoacetate (AA, 16), forms pyrrole protein adducts (Salomon et al. 2017), as discussed in detail below. Neurons and their axonal processes have a lower capacity than glia to respond to MG attack, which would render proteins with high lysine content among the most vulnerable. These include the microtubule-associated protein stathmin (15% lysine content), the heavy chain (13-17%) and medium chain (11-15%) of neurofilaments, and the motor proteins kinesin (8-12%), all of which are required for the maintenance of neuronal integrity and, the latter, for the energy-dependent axonal transport of materials synthesized in the nerve cell body (Spencer 2020). Since these materials must be transported over long distances (from nerve cell body to axon terminal), distal regions of the longest PNS and CNS axons will be compromised first, and, with continued metabolic dysfunction, more proximal regions will be similarly affected, while the distal regions of shorter axons also become involved. Distal axons undergo focal swellings at points of slow axonal transport arrest prior to distal nerve fiber degeneration that results in nerve terminal denervation (Spencer and Thomas 1974).

In addition to neuron-specific protein targets of γ -diketones, these preferentially lysine-reactive chemicals also interfere with enzyme-critical functions, notably the pathways involved in energy generation on which neuronal/axonal functions are especially dependent (Ketschek et al. 2021). Indeed, metabolic and toxic CPDA has long been linked with defective energy metabolism in nerve fibers (Spencer et al. 1979), and diminished glycolysis has been directly implicated in DM-2 (Bouché et al. 2004). Under high-glucose conditions, the primary glycolytic intermediate 1,3-bisphosphoglycerate reacts with lysine residues in proteins to form 3-phosphoglyceryl-lysine, which inhibits the activity of glycolytic enzymes (Moellering and Cravatt 2013). MG processing indirectly results in post-translational lactoylation of lysine residues in glycolytic enzymes (Gaffney et al. 2020). Mitochondria are also thought to have an important role in the cellular fate of glucose and the pathogenesis of diabetes (Bouché et al. 2004).

Existing DSPN Biomarkers

Clinical biomarkers of DSPN include increased physiological resistance to ischemia of large- and small-diameter afferent and efferent myelinated and unmyelinated nerve fibers that perhaps indicates greater dependency on anaerobic glycolysis in diabetic nerve (Claus et al. 1990; Nukada 2014; Thomas 1999). Functional biomarkers are abnormal for warm threshold (81.6%), cold threshold (57.9%), vibratory threshold (63.2%), and the amplitude of the sural sensory action potential (49%) that reflects activity in the largest-diameter myelinated nerve fibers (Shun et al. 2004). Vibrotactile sense, which is mediated by dermal Meissner corpuscles (30-50 Hz) and vibration-sensitive (100-400 Hz) Pacinian corpuscles (Spencer and Schaumburg 1973), is diminished early in distal extremities (Dahlin et al. 2008; Lindholm et al. 2019; Peterson et al. 2020; Pourhamidi et al. 2014) and may be useful for the detection of prediabetes sensory nerve damage. The differential detection of vibration by these mechanoreceptors in DSPN has not been tested (Bönhof et al. 2019). Anatomical biomarkers of DSPN include the proximal-distal reducing gradient of epidermal nerve fiber density and fragmented nerve fibers in the dermis (Polydefkis et al. 2001; Shun et al. 2004).

Peripheral neuropathy in DM-2 is associated with inflammation, oxidative stress, and mitochondrial dysfunction (Román-Pintos et al. 2016). Thus, molecular markers of diabetic neuropathy include those associated with inflammation (MCP-1, VEGF, TRPV1, NF-κB), oxidation (adiponectin, NFE2L2), enzyme activity (NADPH, ceruloplasmin, HO-1, DPP-4, PARP-a), and other functions (SIRT1, caveolin 1, MALAT1, and miRNAs 199a-3p, 146, and 499a) (Adki and Kulkarni 2020; Xourgia et al. 2018). Disease progression is said to be associated with increased levels of IL-6, IL-1, TNF- α , and TGF- β (Jin and Park 2018). Glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) has been proposed as a readily assayable biomarker for diabetic foot peripheral neuropathy (Casadei et al. 2021). Elevated plasma levels of proinflammatory factors predicted the onset of DSPN in DM-affected residents of Europe (TNF- α and IL-6) and China (TNF- α and ICAM-1) (Herder et al. 2017; Zheng et al. 2020), while sICAM-1 and IL-1RA were positively associated with progression of DSPN in Europeans (Herder et al. 2017). While systemic vascular inflammation is well known in DM, an etiologic role in DSPN has not been demonstrated. Markers of nerve fiber damage in a rodent model of diabetic neuropathy include downregulated structural proteins (neurofilament, tubulins) and nerve growth factor, upregulation of nitrotyrosine, increase in intracellular calcium, and overactivation of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (Shaikh and Somani 2010).

The subject of serum molecular biomarkers in diabetic neuropathy has been reviewed recently in the context of regenerative medicine (Fujita et al. 2021). Four groups of biomarkers were identified, including AGE-related molecules potentially related to disease etiology, those involved in the progression of inflammation (e.g., Toll-like receptors, TNF- α , miR-146a, adiponectin), molecules associated with nerve fiber damage (neuron-specific enolase, semaphorin), and those associated with nerve protection (nerve growth factor and HSP27). Since the first group of molecules is addressed here in relation to DSPN etiology, the interested reader is referred to this excellent review for information on the three other groups of potential serum biomarkers of DSPN.

Protein Pyrrole Adducts

Our recent studies of diabetic neuropathy have shown a potential relationship with the formation of 2,5-dimethylpyrroles detectable in urine (Chen et al. 2020). Pyrroles form in non-enzymatic reactions with proteins (shown in Fig. 1) that occur in various diseases, of which the best studied is *n*-hexane (1) or methyl *n*-butyl ketone (2-hexanone) neuropathy, where the active neurotoxic metabolite is the γ -diketone 2.5-HD (2). Repeated exposure to γ -diketones leads to sensory abnormalities and motor dysfunction in distal extremities in association with the formation of giant axonal swellings filled with 10 nm neurofilament, localized secondary demyelination, and distal axonal degeneration of large-diameter myelinated nerve fibers. 2,5-HD undergoes Paal-Knorr synthesis (shown in Fig. 1a) to form a pyrrole: the reaction starts when one electrophilic carbonyl of 2,5-HD attacks a primary amine, especially the epsilon amino group of lysine residues in proteins, to form a hemiaminal (3), which results in an imine (4) that isomerizes to an enamine (5), and then attacks the other unreacted carbonyl and cyclizes to form a dimethylpyrrole (6) with subsequent dehydration (Graham et al. 1982). Paal-Knorr condensation of γ -diketones is a first-order reaction, and its rate-limiting step involves cyclization of the hemiaminal (3) (Amarnath et al. 1991).

Pyrrole generation as the initial molecular event in the pathogenesis of *n*-hexane neurotoxicity is supported by studies of structure-activity relationships among diketones (shown in Table 1): (a) γ -diketones that form pyrrole adducts show neurotoxicity, while no neurotoxicity is observed for α - and β -diketones that react with primary amines but do not form pyrrole adducts (Spencer et al. 1978; DeCaprio et al. 1982); (b) methyl substitution at carbons C3 and C4 (to form 3,4-dimethyl-2,5-hexanedione, DMHD, **9** or **10**) accelerates protein pyrrole formation, reduces activation energy, and is 20–30 times more potent than 2,5-HD in triggering a neurofilamentous axonal neuropathy (Anthony et al. 1983a, b, c; Sanz et al. 1995; Xu et al. 2001); (c) di-methyl substitution of carbon C3 (to form 3,3-dimethyl-2,5-hexanedione, **11**) poses steric hindrance to pyrrole adduct formation and causes slight changes of axon caliber but no clinical evidence of neurotoxicity (Sayre et al.



Fig. 1 Reactions that form protein pyrrole adducts

1986); (d) di-methyl substitution at C3 and C4 (DMHD) results in a more rapid pyrrole formation than with 2,5-HD, but ethyl (3,4-diethyl-2,5-hexanedione, DEHD, **12**) and isopropyl (3,4-diisopropyl-2,5-hexanedione, DiPHD, **14**) substitution at C3 and C4 position slows pyrrole formation relative to 2,5-HD (Szakal-Quin et al. 1986); neither axonal swelling nor Wallerian-type degeneration is observed in

Name (Abbreviation, number)	Structure	Capacity in forming pyrrole	Capacity in auto- oxidation/cross-linking	Neurotoxicity	Reference
2,5-Hexanedione (2,5-HD, 2)	0			_	(DeCaprio et al. 1982; Graham et al. 1982)
Perdeuterio[D10]-2,5-HD, 7		$\overline{\nabla}$	1	~1	(DeCaprio et al. 1988)
3-Methyl-2,5-hexanedione (3MHD, 8)	0	~	~	~	(Sayre et al. 1986; Xu et al. 2001)
d,l-3,4-Dimethyl-2,5-hexanedione (d,l-DMHD, 9)	0	> meso-DMHD	> meso-DMHD	> meso- DMHD	(Rosenberg et al. 1987b; Szakal-Quin et al. 1986)
meso-3,4-Dimethyl-2,5- hexanedione (meso-DMHD, 10)	0	MHD	CHM<	AHHD	(Anthony et al. 1983b; Sayre et al. 1986)
3,3-Dimethy-2,5-hexanedione (3,3-DMHD, 11)	0	0	1	0	(Sayre et al. 1986)
					(continued)

Table 1 Structure toxicity relationship of aliphatic γ -diketones

Table 1 (continued)					
Name (Abbreviation, number)	Structure	Capacity in forming pyrrole	Capacity in auto- oxidation/cross-linking	Neurotoxicity	Reference
3,4-Diethylhexane-2,5-dione (3,4-DEHD, 12)		$\overline{}$	>1	~1	(Genter et al. 1987)
3,4-Diisopropyl-2,5-hexanedione (DiPHD, 13)		<3,4-DEHD	1 < DiPHD <3,4- DEHD	$\overline{\nabla}$	(Genter et al. 1987)
3-Acetyl-2,5-hexanedione (AcHD, 14)		~	0~	0	(Pyle et al. 1992)

animals treated with DEHD or DiPHD (Genter et al. 1987); 5) *d*,*l*-diastereomeric forms of γ -diketones form pyrroles 4–40 times faster than meso-diastereomeric forms (Szakal-Quin et al. 1986), and *d*,*l*-DMHD (9) speeds hindlimb paralysis and shows more distal axon swelling than meso-DMHD (10) (Rosenberg et al. 1987b); and 6) serum levels of pyrrole adducts in rats treated with 2,5-HD are 2–3 times higher than those in animals receiving equivalent doses of perdeuterio-2,5-HD ([D10]-2,5-HD, 7), in parallel with the higher neurotoxic potency of 2,5-HD compared with [D10]-2,5-HD (DeCaprio et al. 1988). The protein pyrrole adducts are found in the urine, globin, hair, serum, liver, kidney, brain, and purified myelin, and pyrrole formation is dose- and time-dependent in animals treated with *n*-hexane or 2,5-HD (DeCaprio et al. 1983; Yin et al. 2013, 2014a; Li et al. 2018).

Low levels of urinary 2,5-HD (mean: 0.35-1.47 mg/L) and pyrrole adducts (median: $0.91-7.4 \mu$ M) are found in healthy populations without occupational exposure to *n*-hexane or 2-hexanol, as reviewed by Spencer and Chen (2021). The origin of endogenous 2,5-HD is unclear, but it may result from lipid oxidation or endogenous *n*-hexane, which is also a product of lipid oxidation. 3-Hydroxy-2,5-hexanedione (3-HHD, **17**), another type of endogenous γ -diketone, is generated from a non-enzymatic detoxification reaction (shown in Fig. 1b) of the highly reactive glycating agent MG (**15**); additionally, the ketone body acetoacetate (AA, **16**) is also able to form pyrrole protein adducts (Salomon et al. 2017). 3-HHD is detectable in ketototic patients with levels ranging from 10 to 40 nM; this is two to three orders of magnitude lower than the concentration of urinary 2,5-HD in healthy populations, which ranges from 0.35 to 1.47 mg/L (3.5–10 μ M). Unlike 2,5-HD, 3-HHD may further oxidize to triketones that could be even more potent glycating species (Johannsen 2021, personal communication).

Non-enzymatic glycosylation occurs between reducing sugars and amino residues of proteins, giving rise to AGEs, many of which have a pyrrole structure (Fig. 1c). For example, 3-deoxyglucosone (**19**) reacts with neopentylamine or bovine serum albumin under physiological conditions of pH and temperature to form 5-hyroxy-methylpyrrole-2-carbadehyde (pyrraline) (**20**) (Njoroge et al. 1987; Hayase et al. 1989). 4-Hydroxy-2-nonenal (4-HNE, **21**), an α,β -unsaturated hydroxyalkenal generated in the peroxidation of n-6 and n-3 fatty acids (Van Kuijk et al. 1990), is able to form protein pyrrole adducts (**23**) via an imine (**21**) that maintains equilibrium with an enamine (**22**) (Sayre et al. 1993; Vazdar et al. 2017). This reaction, which yields 14–23% of pyrrole, seems to be a side reaction (Fig. 1d) via Michael addition that finally generates 4-HNE-derived 2-pentylfuran (Sayre et al. 1993) or cyclic hemiacetal (Amarnath et al. 1998); albeit, the pyrrole adduct is more thermodynamically stable than either the Michael adduct or hemiacetal (Skulj et al. 2019).

Cross-Linking of γ-Diketone-Derived Pyrroles

Many γ -diketone-derived pyrroles do not absorb within the visible spectrum, or they are colorless (Graham et al. 1982); however, prolonged incubation of γ -diketones with primary amines or proteins generates a chromophore, the color of which

depends on the structure of the γ -diketone. For example, amines react with 2,5-HD to form a vellow chromophore, with DMHD a reddish-brown chromophore, with DEHD an orange chromophore, and with DiPHD a pink chromophore (Genter et al. 1987). Rats treated with aliphatic γ -diketones develop an orange discoloration, while animals given the aromatic γ -diketone 1,2-diacetylbenzene exhibit a blue pigmentation of skin and internal organs, including the brain, spinal cord, and nerves (Kim et al. 2001). Chromophore generation is attributed to auto-oxidation and, thereafter, cross-linking of pyrrole adducts, both of which are considered to be required for γ -diketone neurotoxicity for the following reasons: (a) air-exposed mixtures of 2,5-HD and bovine serum albumin develop the chromophore with the reduction of pyrrole adduct monomers, while under inert nitrogen, the same mixture neither generates a chromophore nor reduces the pyrrole adduct monomers (DeCaprio 1986); (b) addition of free-radical initiators accelerates the formation of the chromophore, while antioxidants inhibit both chromophore formation and crosslinking (DeCaprio 1986; Zhu et al. 1994); (c) hyperbaric oxygen treatment of rats treated with 2,5-HD significantly speeds the development of hindlimb paralysis (Rosenberg et al. 1987a); (d) the d_{l} -diastereometric form of DMHD has a greater in vitro cross-linking rate than meso-DMHD, and both exceed the corresponding rate for 2.5-HD, which parallels the order of their relative neurotoxic potency in vivo (i.e., d_l -DMHD > meso-DMHD > 2,5HD) (Genter et al. 1987; Rosenberg et al. 1987b); and (e) 3-acetyl-2,5-hexanedione (ACHD, 14), a γ -diketone that forms protein pyrrole adducts but resists auto-oxidation and therefore has a very low cross-linking rate, lacks the ability to induce hindlimb paralysis in treated rodents (Pyle et al. 1992).

Pyrrolecarboxyaldehydes (24) together with methylene-bridged dimers (25) of pyrroles are found in the reaction mixture of γ -diketone plus a model amine, which suggests the methyl group of the dimethylpyrrole adduct of 2,5-HD is first converted to a CHO group and then dimerizes during the auto-oxidation (Xu et al. 2001; Zhu et al. 1993). A novel type of pyrrole-pyrrole dimer with an extended π -bond area and the reaction to generate the structure has been proposed (shown in Fig. 2a) to explain the chromogenic and associated neurotoxic properties of γ -diketones (Zhan et al. 2004). This pyrrole-pyrrole bridging mediates an intermolecular cross-linking pathway of many types of proteins, including serum albumin (DeCaprio 1986), axonal cytoskeletal proteins (DeCaprio et al. 1988), ribonuclease (Zhu et al. 1995), and the spectrin of erythrocyte ghosts (Pyle et al. 1992), while this pyrrole-pyrrole bridging is compromised by the conjugation of free thiols present in proteins, glutathione, and other low-molecular-mass thiols (Zhu et al. 1995; Torres et al. 2014).

The triplet proteins of 10 nm neurofilaments were hypothesized to be the primary axonal molecular target of γ -diketones, as the covalent cross-linking of neurofilaments leads to the obstruction of anterograde transport, large neurofilament-filled swellings in distal regions of elongate nerve fibers that undergo degeneration (Genter et al. 1987). However, this hypothesis was challenged by the observation that neurofilament-deficient animal models also developed γ -diketone-induced distal axonal degeneration (Stone et al. 1999, 2001). A number of other



Fig. 2 Reactions that form protein cross-linking

axonal proteins is involved in the induction of γ -diketone neuropathy (Spencer 2020).

Noted above is that healthy subjects with no known exposure to exogenous *n*-hexane or 2-hexanone, or indeed any other known source of γ -diketone, have detectable levels of apparently endogenously generated serum and/or urine 2-hexanone, 3-heptanone, and 2,5-HD, together with 2-butanone, which potentiates the neurotoxic potential of *n*-hexane (Zlatkis et al. 1980; Spencer and Chen 2021). While serum levels of 2,5-HD in normal subjects are low, it is reasonable to expect the formation and cross-linking of protein pyrrole adducts that, in the long term, could potentially lead to axonopathy. Indeed, this possibility has been explored in

relation to the distal neuropathies associated with diabetes mellitus (Spencer and Chen 2021; Chen et al. 2021) (vide infra).

Cross-Linking of Protein Pyrrole Adduct: Links with DSPN

Protein cross-linking is the molecular process of joining two or more molecules by a covalent bond. Many chemical structures other than γ -diketones are able to crosslink proteins and thus are neurotoxic candidates. For example, 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal, a reactive aldehyde and product of lipid peroxidation, is reported to form a pyrrole adduct with apolipoprotein and tau (Montine et al. 1997a, b). The adduct was thought to be formed mainly through Michael addition (Montine et al. 1996a, b) until an antibody specific to the 4-HNE-derived pyrrole adduct was developed and used to visualize the distribution of protein cross-links in neurofibrillary tangles in the hippocampus and temporal cortex of APOE4-homozygous patients with Alzheimer disease (Montine et al. 1997a, b, 1998). Various neuropsychiatric (schizophrenia, depression) and neurologic disorders (amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and Alzheimer, Huntington, and Parkinson diseases) have been associated with elevated HNE levels in the plasma, cerebrospinal fluid, or brain tissue (Romano et al. 2017; Di Domenico et al. 2017). 4-HNE is also reported to be elevated in the sera of diabetic patients (Lou et al. 2020), in the dorsal ganglia root cells of diabetic mice (Zherebitskaya et al. 2009), in zebrafish larvae with impaired glucose homeostasis (Lou et al. 2020), and in the dorsal root ganglia of streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats (Lupachyk et al. 2011). 4-HNE induces reactive oxygen species, forms pyrrole adducts with mitochondrial proteins, and impairs axonal outgrowth from rat sensory neurons in vitro (Akude et al. 2010; Zherebitskaya et al. 2009). Additionally, serum 4-HNE levels are increased in type 2 diabetic patients and correlate with disease progression (Toyokuni et al. 2000). In sum, 4-HNE is an etiologic candidate for the induction of diabetic sensory neuropathy (Akude et al. 2010).

Pyrraline (epsilon 2-(formyl-5-hydroxymethyl-pyrrol-1-yl)-L-norleucine) is an advanced Maillard reaction product and AGE derived from the reaction of glucose with protein lysines (Nagaraj et al. 1996). Pyrraline's cross-links to proteins are highly diversified, possibly due to the substituents of the pyrrole ring. Pyrraline cross-links to protein (shown in Fig. 2b) can form by the substitution of hydroxy groups in the α -position of pyraline to another pyraline (Nagaraj et al. 1996) or cysteine residue (Klein et al. 1992) or by condensation between the pyrrole aldehyde and primary amine of lysine to form pyrrole carbinine derivatives (28) (Nissl et al. 1995). Pyrraline is detected in plasma proteins, connective tissue, and optic nerve head of patients with elderly DM patients to a far greater degree than diabetes-free controls (Amano et al. 2001). In spite of the strong associations between AGE and DSPN (Misur et al. 2004; Wan et al. 2019), AGE treatment affected endoneurial vascular function but failed to induce significant differences from controls in mean total fascicular area, myelinated fiber density, myelinated fiber number, and mean myelinated fiber size (Nishizawa et al. 2010). AGEs are highly diverse in structure, and, among other AGEs, pyrraline failed to react immunologically with an anti-AGE antibody whose domain epitope forms from the reaction of glucose with proteins under native conditions (Makita et al. 1992). Besides, the levels of pyrraline were discrepant among reports: while two studies reported elevated plasma pyrraline (mean: 21.6 pmole/mg vs. 12.8 pmole/mg) and serum albumin (mean: 43 pmole/ mg vs. 27 pmole/mg) in diabetic subjects (Hayase et al. 1989; Portero-Otin et al. 1995), a third found no detectable pyrraline in either diabetic or non-diabetic samples (Smith et al. 1993). In sum, more evidence is needed to support the proposed link between pyrraline and DSPN.

Another type of pyrrole-based AGE, namely, alkyl formylglycosyl pyrrole (AFGP, **30**), is generated from 3-deoxyglucosone (**18**) and 6-aminohexanoic acid (**29**), an Amadori product of glucose and lysine (Farmar et al. 1988). Though the formation of AFGP is the product of cross-linking between two molecules of reducing sugar and one molecule of lysine, there are limited reports of AFGP in vivo (Ahmed 2005). Whether pyrrole-structured AGEs can induce distal axonopathy, and the possible role of pyrrole-structured AGEs in DSPN, requires further assessment.

Detection of Pyrrole Adducts

The most common method for the determination of pyrrole protein adducts is spectrophotometry using Ehrlich's reagent, the active ingredient of which is pdimethylaminobenzaldehyde (DMAB). DMAB reacts with pyrrole to form a pyrrolium adduct (Alexander and Butler 1976) that forms a pink chromophore $(\lambda max = 526 \text{ nm})$ for quantification. Ehrlich's reagent has been exploited to measure tryptophan ($\lambda max = 640 \text{ nm}$) (Nixon 1973) and urea ($\lambda max = 420 \text{ nm}$) (Yatzidis et al. 1964). However, the presence of porphobilinogen ($\lambda max = 555$ nm) can interfere with the measurement of pyrrole protein adducts) (Roper 2012). For this reason, an individual with a positive urobilinogen test should be excluded from pyrrole protein assays. Spectrophotometry assay requires only small amounts of sample, and the analytic method is facile. The assay is able to monitor the dynamics of protein pyrrole adducts and to measure diversity among samples. Using this method, Yin and colleagues measured and monitored the level of pyrrole adducts in the serum, urine, liver, kidney, brain, and sciatic nerve of rats treated with nhexane by gavage or by intraperitoneal 2,5-HD (Yin et al. 2013, 2014b). The level of protein pyrrole adducts in serum correlated well with the cumulative dose of 2,5-HD (Yin et al. 2014a, b).

Formulation of Ehrlich's reagent can be modified to stain SDS-PAGE gels for the exploration of the protein targets of γ -diketones or other reagents that generate pyrrole structures (DeCaprio et al. 1982; Campbell et al. 2010). However, due to low sensitivity and high cross-reactivity among different pyrrole adducts, the results obtained from spectrophotometry should be regarded as preliminary data that require confirmation.

Immunological assay using antibodies to pyrrole adducts has been used to detect the presence or distribution of protein pyrrole adducts in various samples. Compared with DMAB, the antibodies to pyrrole adducts are much more specific: for example, pyrraline antibodies have low (<0.03%) detectable cross-reactivity with other non pyrraline-derived pyrrole and furan analogues (Hayase et al. 1989). Antibody pyrrole adducts derived from pyrraline (Hayase et al. 1989) and 4-HNE (Montine et al. 1997b) have been developed and used in the aforementioned immunohistochemistry studies. To the best of our knowledge, few studies have exploited specific γ -diketone antibodies to explore the targeted proteins of γ -diketones that underpin the molecular basis for γ -diketone CPDA.

Mass spectrometry and nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) are used to confirm the presence and identity of protein pyrrole adducts because of the high sensitivity and specificity of these two methods. Both methods have been used intensively to study the thermodynamics and kinetics of pyrrole adduction, for example, to determine the structure (Amarnath et al. 1991) and the stereochemistry (Szakal-Quin et al. 1986) of the reaction intermediates. However, delicate instruments and professionals are required, and finding the fingerprints of pyrrole adducts from massive spectra generated by these methods is also difficult. Mass spectrometry is preferred in recent studies in the measurement of clinical samples (Salomon et al. 2017) since NMR is limited to "clean" agents and simplified reactions.

Applications to Peripheral Neuropathy

Occupational *n*-Hexane/2-Hexanone Neuropathy

Due to the short half-life of 2,5-HD in humans (8.3–13.3 h) (Filser et al. 1996), the urinary 2,5-HD level has limited value in the diagnosis of *n*-hexane and 2-hexanone polyneuropathy. Nevertheless, the aforementioned studies of animals treated with *n*-hexane or 2,5-HD reveal good correlations with pyrrole adduct levels and peripheral neuropathy. It is thus reasonable to consider protein pyrrole adducts as an alternative biomarker to assess human exposure to *n*-hexane or 2-hexanone. Ichihara and colleagues were the first to report concentrations of protein pyrrole adducts in the blood of subjects with occupational exposure to *n*-hexane (Ichihara et al. 2019). Whole blood for the measurement of plasma and globin pyrrole adducts was collected from 11 n-hexane-exposed workers and 4 non-exposed healthy controls, and the level of protein pyrrole adducts was evaluated with Ehrlich's reagent. To exclude absorbance attributed to non-pyrrolated proteins, a distinct method of calculation was employed: three wavelength absorbances (510 nm, 530 nm, and 550 nm) were measured, and then the mean value of the absorbance at 510 nm and 550 nm was subtracted from that at 530 nm. The level of pyrroles was calculated based on the difference values between absorbances at 530 nm and the mean absorbance at 550 nm and 510 nm, using the formula (A530 - (A510 + A550)/2), and then the difference values were converted to concentrations of pyrrole adducts, referring to a standard curve prepared with different concentrations of 1-(2-hydroxyethyl)-2,5-dimethylpyrrole (HeDMP) with Ehrlich's reagent. Although this approach was claimed to be reproducible and to avoid interference from other non-pyrrolated proteins that have absorbances in the region of interest, it was based on the hypothesis that endogenous 2,5-HD and 2,5-HD-derived pyrrole are undetectable. Therefore, the level of 2,5-HDderived pyrroles among *n*-hexane-exposed workers might also have been underestimated. Since the biological lifetime of globin (120 days) is much longer than that of plasma protein (20 days), the globin pyrrole adduct may represent a better biological indicator of chronic exposure to *n*-hexane.

Diabetic Polyneuropathy

Given that 2,5-HD appears to be a normal endogenous metabolite (vide supra), albeit of unknown origin and fate in humans, and both *n*-hexane neuropathy and DSPN have a common distribution of neuropathology (i.e., CPDA), we hypothesized that DSPN may arise from an elevation of endogenous γ -diketone, the derived pyrrole adducts of which could be detected in urine (Spencer and Chen 2021). This hypothesis was tested by measuring the urinary concentration of γ -diketone pyrroles in age-matched and gender-matched elderly (60–84 years) persons with (n = 267) or without (n = 267) indicators of DM based in a community population in China (Chen et al. 2020). Compared with healthy controls, those with DM had significantly higher levels of fasting blood glucose, glycated hemoglobin A1c, urinary ketone bodies, and urinary γ -diketone pyrroles. The median concentration of urinary pyrrole adducts determined spectrophotometrically was significantly higher (p < 0.0001) in the diabetic group (7.5 μ M or 0.99 mg/g urine creatinine) than in healthy subjects (5.9 µM or 0.70 mg/g urine creatinine). The median urinary pyrrole adduct level $(7.4 \,\mu\text{M})$ was at the same order of magnitude but higher than the total urinary level 2,5-HD (0.159 mg/L or 1.5 μ M) for the Chinese population, as determined by mass spectrometry (Pan et al. 2016). In sum, while urinary γ -diketone pyrroles are elevated in DM, further studies are required to determine whether this observation correlates with DSPN.

Conclusions

Diabetic dysmetabolism includes increased generation and excretion of neuropathyassociated γ -diketone pyrroles. These findings form the foundation for ongoing studies designed to test whether γ -diketone pyrrole concentration correlates with quantitative sensory (vibration and temperature) and electrodiagnostic testing results in DM-2. Preliminary observations suggest that the level of γ -diketone-pyrroles in urine can be used to distinguish between diabetic and healthy human subjects with no occupational or other exposure to γ -diketone precursors (i.e., *n*-hexane, 2-hexanone), but further studies are needed to determine whether serum levels of both 2,5-HD and associated γ -diketone-pyrroles are similarly elevated in DM-2 and correlate with DSPN. Many other types of protein pyrroles are present in human serum and raised in DM, but, other than 4-HNE, evidence in support of an etiological role in DSPN is lacking. Genetic risk factors for DSPN may exist, among which are enzymes involved in the removal of reactive carbonyls such as MG (i.e., GLO-1).

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

- AGE: Advanced glycation end products resulting from the chemical transformation of amine-containing compounds (proteins, lipids, nucleotides) by reducing sugars to form Maillard products, such as the potent dicarbonyl glycating agent methylglyoxal (reduced derivative of pyruvate), which reacts with lysine and arginine residues of proteins. RAGE refers to cellular receptors for AGEs.
- Biomarker: A measurable physiological state, anatomical structure, or biological substance, the presence of which in an organism is indicative of a metabolic process, environmental exposure, or disease state.
- Cross-linking: The process of chemically joining two or more molecules by a covalent bond.
- CPDA: Central-peripheral distal axonopathy, a primary disease of elongate central and peripheral axons that describes the nerve fiber pathology underlying many types of metabolic and toxic neuropathies, including DSPN.
- Distal axonopathy: Shorter form of CPDA.
- DM-1. Type 1 diabetes mellitus, an insulin-dependent disorder of usual juvenile onset that results from an autoimmune assault on pancreatic β-cells.
- DM-2. Type 2 diabetes mellitus, a non-autoimmune form of diabetes characterized by insulin resistance and pancreatic β-cell dysfunction.
- DSPN: Diabetic sensory/sensorimotor polyneuropathy that occurs in DM-1 and DM-2 in the form of a stocking-and-glove sensory abnormality that may later involve motor dysfunction in a similar distribution.
- Prediabetes: A pathophysiological state characterized by slightly elevated levels of blood glucose that indicate a risk of progression to DM-2.
- Pyrrole: Any of a class of organic compounds with a five-membered ring composed of four carbon atoms and one nitrogen atom.

Key Facts

 Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a chronic metabolic disease of people of all ages and may appear during pregnancy. The disease was estimated to affect almost one half billion people worldwide in 2019, with projected increases of ~25% by 2030 and ~ 50% by 2045. DM prevalence increases with age, as illustrated by the doubling of disease prevalence among South Korean adults aged >65 years (28%) vs. those aged >30 years (13.8%). Conditions associated with diabetes include obesity, hypertension, elevated levels of blood cholesterol, and peripheral neuropathy. The global estimated age-standardized incidence rate for both DM type 1 (DM-1) and DM type 2 (DM-2) grew between 1990 and 2017, with the largest increase in high-income countries.

- The causes of DM are not understood. DM-1, which accounts for 5–10% of DM cases, is an autoimmune, insulin-dependent disorder usually of juvenile onset but may also occur in later life. DM-2, a non-autoimmune form of DM that constitutes ~90–95% of DM cases, whether or not they are overweight or obese, is characterized by insulin resistance and dysfunction of the beta cells in the pancreas. The frequency of DM-2 is higher in certain racial/ethnic groups and first-degree blood relations. Infection with SARS-CoV-2 may precipitate new-onset DM, even in COVID-19 patients without predisposing factors for impaired glucose metabolism.
- Diabetic Neuropathy. The most prevalent form of diabetic neuropathy is associated with disordered sensation (with or without pain) in the feet and hands. While widely considered a disease of the ends of peripheral nerves, concurrent and often silent involvement of the central nervous system has been recognized recently, although changes in the spinal cord were first described in diabetic patients >125 years ago. The cause of diabetic neuropathy is not clearly understood but primarily evolves from elevated levels of blood sugar that promote formation of toxic molecules that can damage critical nerve proteins. Continuous control of blood sugar levels can stem the advance of diabetic neuropathy.

Summary Points

- The γ -diketone 2,5-HD is a normal physiological metabolite, but neurotoxic levels resulting from exposure to *n*-hexane and 2-hexanone cause central-peripheral distal axonopathy comparable in distribution to that of DSPN.
- γ-Diketones form pyrroles with proteins and neuroproteins, the products of which undergo oxidation and cross-linking of proteins.
- Compared with healthy Chinese controls, age-matched subjects with diabetes mellitus have significantly higher levels of urinary γ-diketone pyrroles.
- Whether diabetic polyneuropathy is triggered by pathophysiological levels of pyrrole-forming endogenous 2,5-HD and/or excessive glycation end products such as 4-HNE requires further study.
- Clinical biomarkers of DSPN include increased physiological resistance to ischemia of large- and small-diameter afferent and efferent myelinated and unmyelinated nerve fibers.
- Functional biomarkers of DSPN include abnormal warm and cold thresholds, abnormal mechanoreceptor thresholds, and an abnormal amplitude of the sural sensory action potential.
- Anatomical biomarkers of DSPN include the proximal-distal reducing gradient of epidermal nerve fiber density and fragmented nerve fibers in the dermis.
- Serum biomarkers associated with DM include AGE-related molecules potentially related to disease etiology, notably 4-HNE, as well as those involved with the progression of inflammation, nerve fiber damage, and protection.

References

- Adki KM, Kulkarni YA. Biomarkers in diabetic neuropathy. Arch Physiol Biochem. 2020;13:1–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/13813455.2020.1837183.
- Ahmed N. Advanced glycation endproducts role in pathology of diabetic complications. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2005;67:3–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2004.09.004.
- Akude E, Zherebitskaya E, Roy Chowdhury SK, Girling K, Fernyhough P. 4-Hydroxy-2-nonenal induces mitochondrial dysfunction and aberrant axonal outgrowth in adult sensory neurons that mimics features of diabetic neuropathy. Neurotox Res. 2010;17:28–38. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12640-009-9074-5.
- Alexander RS, Butler AR. Electrophilic substitution in pyrroles. Part I. Reaction with 4-dimethylaminobenzaldehyde (Ehrlich's reagent) in acid solution. J Chem Soc, Perkin Transactions. 1976;2:696–701. https://doi.org/10.1039/P29760000696.
- Allaman I, Bélanger M, Magistretti PJ. Methylglyoxal, the dark side of glycolysis. Front Neurosci. 2015;9:23. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2015.00023.
- Amano S, Kaji Y, Oshika T, Oka T, Machinami R, Nagai R, Horiuchi S. Advanced glycation end products in human optic nerve head. Br J Ophthalmol. 2001;85:52–5. https://doi.org/10.1136/ bjo.85.1.52.
- Amarnath V, Anthony DC, Amarnath K, Valentine WM, Wetterau LA, Graham DG. Intermediates in the Paal-Knorr synthesis of pyrroles. J Org Chem. 1991;56:6924–31. https://doi.org/10.1021/ jo00024a040.
- Amarnath V, Valentine WM, Montine TJ, Patterson WH, Amarnath K, Bassett CN, Graham DG. Reactions of 4-hydroxy-2(E)-nonenal and related aldehydes with proteins studied by carbon-13 nuclear mag-netic resonance spectroscopy. Chem Res Toxicol. 1998;11:317–28. https://doi.org/10.1021/tx970176n.
- Andersen ST, Witte DR, Dalsgaard EM, Andersen H, Nawroth P, Fleming T, Jensen TM, Finnerup NB, Jensen TS, Lauritzen T, et al. Risk factors for incident diabetic polyneuropathy in a cohort with screen-detected type 2 diabetes followed for 13 years: ADDITION-Denmark. Diabetes Care. 2018;41:1068–75.
- Anderson H. Motor dysfunction in diabetes. Diabet Metab Res Rev. 2012;28(S1):89–92. https:// doi.org/10.1002/dmrr.2257.
- Anthony DC, Boekelheide K, Anderson CW, Graham DG. The effect of 3,4-dimethyl substitution on the neurotoxicity of 2,5-hexanedione. II. Dimethyl substitution accelerates pyrrole formation and protein crosslinking. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 1983a;71:372–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0041-008x(83)90024-8.
- Anthony DC, Boekelheide K, Graham DG. The effect of 3,4-dimethyl substitution on the neurotoxicity of 2,5-hexanedione. I. Accelerated clinical neuropathy is accompanied by more proximal axonal swell-ings. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 1983b;71:362–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0041-008x(83)90023-6.
- Anthony DC, Giangaspero F, Graham DG. The spatio-temporal pattern of the axonopathy associated with the neurotoxicity of 3,4-dimethyl-2,5-hexanedione in the rat. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 1983c;42:548–60. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005072-198309000-00007.
- Bajwa H, Al Khalili Y. Physiology, vibratory sense. [Updated 2021 May 9]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2021. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/books/NBK542288/. Accessed 8 June 2021.
- Banday MZ, Sameer AS, Nissar S. Pathophysiology of diabetes: an overview. Avicenna J Med. 2020;10:174–88. https://doi.org/10.4103/ajm.ajm 53 20.
- Bönhof GJ, Herder C, Strom A, Papanas N, Roden M, Ziegler D. Emerging biomarkers, tools, and treatments for diabetic polyneuropathy. Endocr Rev. 2019;40:153–92. https://doi.org/10.1210/ er.2018-00107.
- Bouché C, Serdy S, Kahn CR, Goldfine AB. The cellular fate of glucose and its relevance in type 2 diabetes. Endocr Rev. 2004;25:807–30. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2003-0026.

- Campbell FM, Rucklidge GJ, Reid MD, Cantlay L, Robins SP. Identification of damaged proteins in human serum using modified Ehrlich's reagent to target protein-bound pyrroles. Anal Biochem. 2010;398:76–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ab.2009.11.021.
- Casadei G, Filippini M, Brognara L. Glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) as a biomarker for diabetic foot peripheral neuropathy. Diseases. 2021;9:16. https://doi.org/10.3390/diseases9010016.
- Cavanagh JB. The significance of the "dying back" process in experimental and human neurological disease. Int Rev Exp Pathol. 1964;3:219–67.
- Chen X, Liu W, Wang L, Lin D, Nie L, He K, Guo Z, Zhu F, Feng W, Liu W, Yuan J, Yang X, Spencer P, Liu J. Diabetes mellitus is associated with elevated urinary pyrrole markers of γ-diketones known to cause axonal neuropathy. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care. 2020;8: e001575. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjdrc-2020-001575.
- Cheung A, Podgorny P, Martinez JA, Chan C, Toth C. Epidermal axonal swellings in painful and painless diabetic peripheral neuropathy. Muscle Nerve. 2015;51:505–13. https://doi.org/10. 1002/mus.24351.
- Claus D, Putzhammer A, Neundörfer B. Resistance to ischaemia of small afferent nerve fibres in diabetes mellitus. J Neurol. 1990;237:295–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00314745.
- Comi G. Evoked potentials in diabetes mellitus. Clin Neurosci. 1997;4:374-9. PMID: 9358983
- Dahlin LB, Thrainsdottir S, Cederlund R, et al. Vibrotactile sense in median and ulnar nerve innervated fingers of men with type 2 diabetes, normal or impaired glucose tolerance. Diabet Med. 2008;25:543–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-5491.2008.02433.x.
- DeCaprio AP. Mechanisms of in vitro pyrrole adduct autoxidation in 2,5-hexanedione-treated protein. Mol Pharmacol. 1986;30:452–8.
- DeCaprio AP, Briggs RG, Jackowski SJ, Kim JC. Comparative neurotoxicity and pyrrole-forming potential of 2,5-hexanedione and perdeuterio-2,5-hexanedione in the rat. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 1988;92:75–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/0041-008x(88)90229-3.
- DeCaprio AP, Olajos EJ, Weber P. Covalent binding of a neurotoxic n-hexane metabolite: conversion of primary amines to substituted pyrrole adducts by 2,5-hexanedione. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 1982;65:440–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/0041-008x(82)90389-1.
- DeCaprio AP, Strominger NL, Weber P. Neurotoxicity and protein binding of 2,5-hexanedione in the hen. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 1983;68:297–307. https://doi.org/10.1016/0041-008x(83) 90014-5.
- Di Domenico F, Tramutola A, Butterfield DA. Role of 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal (HNE) in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer disease and other selected age-related neurodegenerative disorders. Free Radic Biol Med. 2017;111:253–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2016.10.490.
- Dolu H, Ulas UH, Bolu E, et al. Evaluation of central neuropathy in type II diabetes mellitus by multimodal evoked potentials. Acta Neurol Belg. 2003;103:206–11.
- Düll MM, Riegel K, Tappenbeck J, Ries V, Strupf M, Fleming T, Sauer SK, Namer B. Methylglyoxal causes pain and hyperalgesia in human through C-fiber activation. Pain. 2019;160:2497–507. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.000000000001644.
- Dyck PJ, Albers JW, Andersen H, et al. Diabetic polyneuropathies: update on research definition, diagnostic criteria and estimation of severity. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2011;27:620–8. https:// doi.org/10.1002/dmrr.1226.
- Eaton SE, Harris ND, Rajbhandari SM, Greenwood P, Wilkinson ID, Ward JD, Griffiths PD, Tesfaye S. Spinal-cord involvement in diabetic peripheral neuropathy. Lancet. 2001;358:35–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(00)05268-5.
- Farmar JG, Ulrich PC, Cerami A. Novel pyrroles from sulfite-inhibited Maillard reactions: insight into the mechanism of inhibition. J Org Chem. 1988;53:2346–9. https://doi.org/10.1021/ jo00245a039.
- Filser JG, Csanady GA, Dietz W, Kessler W, Kreuzer PE, Richter M, Stormer A. Comparative estimation of the neurotoxic risks of N-hexane and N-heptane in rats and humans based on the formation of the metabolites 2,5-hexanedione and 2,5-heptanedione. Adv Exp Med Biol. 1996;387:411–27. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4757-9480-9 50.

- Fujita Y, Murakami T, Nakamura A. Recent Advances in Biomarkers and Regenerative Medicine for Diabetic Neuropathy. Int J Mol Sci. 2021;22:2301. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22052301.
- Gaffney DO, Jennings EQ, Anderson CC, Marentette JO, Shi T, Schou Oxvig AM, Streeter MD, Johannsen M, Spiegel DA, Chapman E, et al. Non-enzymatic lysine lactoylation of glycolytic enzymes. Cell Chem Biol. 2020;27:206–213.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2019. 11.005.
- Galer BS, Gianas A, Jensen MP. Painful diabetic polyneuropathy: epidemiology, pain description, and quality of life. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2000;47:123–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0168-8227 (99)00112-6.
- Genter MB, Szakal-Quin G, Anderson CW, Anthony DC, Graham DG. Evidence that pyrrole formation is a pathogenetic step in gamma-diketone neuropathy. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 1987;87:351–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/0041-008x(87)90296-1.
- Graham DG, Anthony DC, Boekelheide K, Maschmann NA, Richards RG, Wolfram JW, Shaw BR. Studies of the molecular pathogenesis of hexane neuropathy. II. Evidence that pyrrole derivatization of lysyl residues leads to protein crosslinking. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 1982;64: 415–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/0041-008x(82)90237-x.
- Greenbaum D, Richardson PC, Salmon MV, Urich H. Pathological observations on six cases of diabetic neuropathy. Brain. 1964;87:201–14. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/87.2.201.
- Gupta S, Baweja P, Mittal S, Kumar A, Singh KD, Sharma R. Brainstem auditory evoked potential abnormalities in type 2 diabetes mellitus. N Am J Med Sci. 2013;5:60–5. https://doi.org/10. 4103/1947-2714.106211.
- Hansen CS, Jensen TM, Jensen JS, Nawroth P, Fleming T, Witte DR, Lauritzen Y, Sandbaek A, Charles M, Fleischer J, et al. The role of serum methylglyoxal on diabetic peripheral and cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy: the ADDITION Denmark study. Diabet Med. 2015;32: 778–85. https://doi.org/10.1111/dme.12753.
- Hayase F, Nagaraj RH, Miyata S, Njoroge FG, Monnier VM. Aging of proteins: immunological detection of a glucose-derived pyrrole formed during maillard reaction in vivo. J Biol Chem. 1989;264:3758–64.
- Herder C, Kannenberg JM, Huth C. Proinflammatory cytokines predict the incidence and progression of distal sensorimotor polyneuropathy: KORA F4/FF4 Study. Diabetes Care. 2017;40:569– 76. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc16-2259.
- Ichihara G, Amarnath V, Valentine HL, Takeshita T, Morimoto K, Sobue T, Kawai T, Valentine WM. Pyrrole adducts in globin and plasma of workers exposed to hexane. Int Arch Occup Environ Health. 2019;92:873–81. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00420-019-01430-7.
- Irshad Z, Xue M, Ashour A, Larkin JR, Thornalley PJ, Rabbani N. Activation of the unfolded protein response in high glucose treated endothelial cells is mediated by methylglyoxal. Sci Rep. 2019;9:7889. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-44358-1.
- Jin HY, Park TS. Role of inflammatory biomarkers in diabetic peripheral neuropathy. J Diabetes Investig. 2018;9:1016–8. https://doi.org/10.1111/jdi.12794.
- Jung CH, Son JW, Kang S, et al. Diabetes fact sheets in Korea, 2020: an appraisal of current status. Diabetes Metab J. 2021;45:1–10. https://doi.org/10.4093/dmj.2020.0254.
- Karlsson P, Gylfadottir SS, Kristensen AG. Axonal swellings are related to type 2 diabetes, but not to distal diabetic sensorimotor polyneuropathy. Diabetologia. 2021;64:923–31. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00125-020-05352-9.
- Ketschek A, Sainath R, Holland S, Gallo G. The axonal glycolytic pathway contributes to sensory axon extension and growth cone dynamics. J Neurosci. 2021. https://doi.org/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.0321-21.2021. 2021:JN-RM-0321-21.
- Kim MS, Sabri MI, Miller VH, Kayton RJ, Dixon DA, Spencer PS. 1,2-diacetylbenzene, the neurotoxic metabolite of a chromogenic aromatic solvent, induces proximal axonopathy. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 2001;177:121–31. https://doi.org/10.1006/taap.2001.9301.
- Klein E, Ledl F, Bergmüller W, Severin T. Reactivity of Maillard products with a pyrrole structure. Z Lebensm Unters Forsch. 1992;194:556–60. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01185483.

- Kobayashi M, Zochodne DW. Diabetic neuropathy and the sensory neuron: new aspects of pathogenesis and their treatment implications. J Diabetes Investig. 2018;9:1239–54. https:// doi.org/10.1111/jdi.12833.
- Kong X, Ma MZ, Huang K, et al. Increased plasma levels of the methylglyoxal in patients with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes 2. J Diabetes. 2014;6:535–40. https://doi.org/10.1111/ 1753-0407.12160.
- Kucera P, Goldenberg Z, Varsik P, Buranova D, Traubner P. Spinal cord lesions in diabetes mellitus. Somatosensory and motor evoked potentials and spinal conduction time in diabetes mellitus. Neuro Endocrinol Lett. 2005;26:143–7.
- Li X, Wang Q, Li M, Wang S, Zhang C, Xie K. Hair pyrrole adducts serve as biomarkers for peripheral nerve impairment induced by 2,5-hexanedione and n-hexane in rats. PLoS One. 2018;13:e0209939. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0209939.
- Lindholm E, Löndahl M, Fagher K, Apelqvist J, Dahlin LB. Strong association between vibration perception thresholds at low frequencies (4 and 8 Hz), neuropathic symptoms and diabetic foot ulcers. PLoS One. 2019;14:e0212921. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0212921.
- Liu J, Ren ZH, Qiang H, et al. Trends in the incidence of diabetes mellitus: results from the Global Burden Of Disease Study 2017 and implications for diabetes mellitus prevention. BMC Public Health. 2020;20:1415. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-09502-x.
- Lou B, Boger M, Bennewitz K, Sticht C, Kopf S, Morgenstern J, Fleming T, Hell R, Yuan Z, Nawroth PP, Kroll J. Elevated 4-hydroxynonenal induces hyperglycaemia via Aldh3a1 loss in zebrafish and associates with diabetes progression in humans. Redox Biol. 2020;37:101723. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2020.101723.
- Lupachyk S, Shevalye H, Maksimchyk Y, Drel VR, Obrosova IG. PARP inhibition alleviates diabetes-induced systemic oxidative stress and neural tissue 4-hydroxynonenal adduct accumulation: correlation with peripheral nerve function. Free Radic Biol Med. 2011;50:1400–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2011.01.037.
- Makita Z, Vlassara H, Cerami A, Bucala R. Immunochemical detection of advanced glycosylation end products in vivo. J Biol Chem. 1992;267:5133–8. PMID: 1371995
- Misur I, Zarkovic K, Barada A, Batelja L, Milicevic Z, Turk Z. Advanced glycation endproducts in peripheral nerve in type 2 diabetes with neuropathy. Acta Diabetol. 2004;41:158–66. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00592-004-0160-0.
- Moellering RE, Cravatt BF. Functional lysine modification by an intrinsically reactive primary glycolytic metabolite. Science. 2013;341:549–53. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1238327.
- Montine KS, Kim PJ, Olson SJ, Markesbery WR, Montine TJ. 4-Hydroxy-2-nonenal pyrrole adducts in human neurodegenerative disease. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 1997a;56:866–71. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005072-199708000-00004.
- Montine KS, Olson SJ, Amarnath V, Whetsell WO Jr, Graham DG, Montine TJ. Immunohistochemical detection of 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal adducts in Alzheimer's disease is associated with inheritance of APOE4. Am J Pathol. 1997b;150:437–43.
- Montine KS, Reich E, Neely MD, Sidell KR, Olson SJ, Markesbery WR, Montine TJ. Distribution of reducible 4-hydroxynonenal adduct immunoreactivity in Alzheimer disease is associated with APOE geno- type. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 1998;57:415–25. https://doi.org/10.1097/ 00005072-199805000-00005.
- Montine TJ, Amarnath V, Martin ME, Strittmatter WJ, Graham DG. E-4-hydroxy-2-nonenal is cytotoxic and cross-links cytoskeletal proteins in P19 neuroglial cultures. Am J Pathol. 1996a;148:89–93. PMID: 8546230
- Montine TJ, Huang DY, Valentine WM, Amarnath V, Saunders A, Weisgraber KH, Graham DG, Strittmatter WJ. Crosslinking of apolipoprotein E by products of lipid peroxidation. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 1996b;55:202–10. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005072-199602000-00009.
- Muramatsu K. Diabetes mellitus-related dysfunction of the motor system. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21: 7485. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21207485.
- Nagaraj RH, Portero-Otin M, Monnier VM. Pyrraline ether crosslinks as a basis for protein crosslinking by the advanced Maillard reaction in aging and diabetes. Arch Biochem Biophys. 1996;325:152–8. https://doi.org/10.1006/abbi.1996.0019.
- Nishizawa Y, Wada R, Baba M, Takeuchi M, Hanyu-Itabashi C, Yagihashi S. Neuropathy induced by exogenously administered advanced glycation end-products in rats. J Diabetes Investig. 2010;1:40–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2040-1124.2009.00002.x.
- Nissl J, Pischetsrieder M, Klein E, Severin T. Binding of Maillard products to proteins: formation of pyrrole carbinnies. Carbohydr Res. 1995;270:C1–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/0008-6215(95) 00058-2.
- Nixon DW. Colorimetric response to Ehrlich's reagent in plasma from patients with and without cancer. Cancer. 1973;31:596–9. https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0142(197303)31:3<596::aid-cncr2820310315>3.0.co;2-g.
- Njoroge FG, Sayre LM, Monnier VM. Detection of D-glucose-derived pyrrole compounds during Maillard reaction under physiological conditions. Carbohydr Res. 1987;167:211–20. https://doi. org/10.1016/0008-6215(87)80280-x.
- Nukada H. Ischemia and diabetic neuropathy. Handb Clin Neurol. 2014;126:469–87. https://doi. org/10.1016/B978-0-444-53480-4.00023-0.
- Pan X, Qian Y, Zhao W, Tang H, Ruan Z, Wu B, Huang H, Zheng Y, Yan H. Determination of total urinary 2,5-hexanedione in the Chinese general population. Environ Res. 2016;150:645–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2016.05.030.
- Papachristou S, Stamatiou I, Stoian AP, Papanas N. New-onset diabetes in COVID-19: time to frame its fearful symmetry. Diabetes Ther. 2021;12:461–4. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13300-020-00988-7.
- Peterson M, Pingel R, Rolandsson O, Dahlin LB. Vibrotactile perception on the sole of the foot in an older group of people with normal glucose tolerance and type 2 diabetes. SAGE Open Med. 2020;8:2050312120931640. https://doi.org/10.1177/2050312120931640.
- Polydefkis M, Hauer P, Griffin JW, McArthur JC. Skin biopsy as a tool to assess distal small fiber innervation in diabetic neuropathy. Diabetes Technol Ther. 2001;3:23–8. https://doi.org/10. 1089/152091501750219994.
- Pop-Busui R, Boulton AJ, Feldman EL. Diabetic neuropathy: a position statement by the American Diabetes Association. Diabetes Care. 2017;40:136–54. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc16-2042.
- Portero-Otin M, Nagaraj RH, Monnier VM. Chromatographic evidence for pyrraline formation during protein glycation in vitro and in vivo. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1995;1247:74–80. https:// doi.org/10.1016/0167-4838(94)00209-y.
- Pourhamidi K, Dahlin LB, Englund E, Rolandsson O. Evaluation of clinical tools and their diagnostic use in distal symmetric polyneuropathy. Prim Care Diabetes. 2014;8:77–84. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.pcd.2013.04.004.
- Pyle SJ, Amarnath V, Graham DG, Anthony DC. The role of pyrrole formation in the alteration of neurofilament transport induced during exposure to 2,5-hexanedione. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 1992;51:451–8. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005072-199207000-00007.
- Rekha G, Prema GS, Padmini O. Somatosensory evoked potentials in diabetes mellitus type 2. J Evid Based Med Healthcare. 2015;2:7594–601. https://jebmh.com/latest articles/93505
- Román-Pintos LM, Villegas-Rivera G, Rodríguez-Carrizalez AD, Miranda-Díaz AG, Cardona-Muñoz EG. Diabetic polyneuropathy in type 2 diabetes mellitus: inflammation, oxidative stress, and mitochondrial function. J Diabetes Res. 2016;2016:3425617. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/ 3425617.
- Romano A, Serviddio G, Calcagnini S, Villani R, Giudetti AM, Cassano T, Gaetani S. Linking lipid peroxidation and neuropsychiatric disorders: focus on 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal. Free Radic Biol Med. 2017;111:281–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2016.12.046.
- Roper D. Laboratory methods used in the investigation of the haemolytic anaemias. Chapter 11. In: Bain BJ, Bates I, Laffan MA, Lewis SM, editors. Dacie and Lewis Practical Haematology. 11th ed. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone; 2012. p. 229–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-7020-3408-4.00011-4.

- Rosenberg CK, Anthony DC, Szakal-Quin G, Genter MB, Graham DG. Hyperbaric oxygen accelerates the neurotoxicity of 2,5-hexanedione. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 1987a;87:374–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/0041-008x(87)90298-5.
- Rosenberg CK, Genter MB, Szakal-Quin G, Anthony DC, Graham DG. Dl- versus meso-3,4dimethyl-2,5-hexanedione: a morphometric study of the proximo-distal distribution of axonal swellings in the ant- erior root of the rat. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 1987b;87:363–73. https://doi. org/10.1016/0041-008x(87)90297-3.
- Saeedi P, Petersohn I, Salpea P. IDF Diabetes Atlas Committee. Global and regional diabetes prevalence estimates for 2019 and projections for 2030 and 2045: Results from the International Diabetes Feder-ation Diabetes Atlas, 9th edition. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2019;157:107843. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2019.107843.
- Salomon T, Sibbersen C, Hansen J, Britz D, Svart MV, Voss TS, Moller N, Gregersen N, Jorgensen KA, Palmfeldt J, Poulsen TB, Johannsen M. Ketone body acetoacetate buffers methylglyoxal via a non-enzymat -ic conversion during diabetic and dietary ketosis. Cell Chem Biol. 2017;24 (935–943):e937. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2017.07.012.
- Sanz P, Flores IC, Soriano T, Repetto G, Repetto M. In vitro quantitative structure-activity relationship assessment of pyrrole adducts production by gamma-diketone-forming neurotoxic solvents. Toxicol In Vitro. 1995;9:783–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/0887-2333(95)00017-3.
- Sayre LM, Arora PK, Iyer RS, Salomon RG. Pyrrole formation from 4-hydroxynonenal and primary amines. Chem Res Toxicol. 1993;6:19–22. https://doi.org/10.1021/tx00031a002.
- Sayre LM, Shearson CM, Wongmongkolrit T, Medori R, Gambetti P. Structural basis of gammadiketone neurotoxicity: non-neurotoxicity of 3,3-dimethyl-2,5-hexanedione, a gamma-diketone incapable of pyrrole formation. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 1986;84:36–44. https://doi.org/10. 1016/0041-008x(86)90414-x.
- Schaumburg HH, Wiśniewski HM, Spencer PS. Ultrastructural studies of the dying-back process. I. Peripheral nerve terminal and axon degeneration in systemic acrylamide intoxication. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 1974;33:260–84. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005072-197404000-00006.
- Schmidt RE, Dorsey DA, Beaudet LN, Plurad SB, Parvin CA, Ohara S. Effect of IGF-I and neurotrophin-3 on gracile neuroaxonal dystrophy in diabetic and aging rats. Brain Res. 2000;876:88–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0006-8993(00)02602-0.
- Selvarajah D, Wilkinson ID, Emery CJ, Harris ND, Shaw PJ, Witte DR, Griffiths PD, Tesfaye S. Early involvement of the spinal cord in diabetic peripheral neuropathy. Diabetes Care. 2006;29:2664–9. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc06-0650.
- Selvarajah D, Wilkinson ID, Maxwell M, Davies J, Sankar A, Boland E, Gandhi R, Tracey I, Tesfaye S. Magnetic resonance neuroimaging study of brain structural differences in diabetic peripheral neuropathy. Diabetes Care. 2014;37:1681–8. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc13-2610.
- Shaikh AS, Somani RS. Animal models and biomarkers of neuropathy in diabetic rodents. Indian J Pharmacol. 2010;42:129–34. https://doi.org/10.4103/0253-7613.66833.
- Shun CT, Chang YC, Wu HP, Hsieh SC, Lin WM, Lin YH, Tai TY, Hsieh ST. Skin denervation in type 2 diabetes: correlations with diabetic duration and functional impairments. Brain. 2004;127:1593–605. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awh180.
- Sima AA, Yagihashi S. Central-peripheral distal axonopathy in the spontaneously diabetic BB-rat: ultrastructural and morphometric findings. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. (1985–86);1:289–298. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0168-8227(86)80037-7.
- Skulj S, Vazdar K, Margetic D, Vazdar M. Revisited mechanism of reaction between a model lysine amino acid side chain and 4-hydroxynonenal in different solvent environments. J Org Chem. 2019;84:526–35. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.joc.8b02231.
- Sloan G, Selvarajah D, Tesfaye S. Pathogenesis, diagnosis and clinical management of diabetic sensorimotor peripheral neuropathy. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2021;17:400–20. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41574-021-00496-z.
- Smith PR, Somani HH, Thornalley PJ, Benn J, Sonksen PH. Evidence against the formation of 2-amino-6-(2-formyl-5-hydroxymethyl-pyrrol-1-yl)-hexanoic acid ('pyrraline') as an early-

stage product or adv-anced glycation end product in non-enzymic protein glycation. Clin Sci (Lond). 1993;84:87–93. https://doi.org/10.1042/cs0840087.

- Spencer PS. Neuroprotein targets of γ-diketone metabolites of aliphatic and aromatic solvents that induce central-peripheral axonopathy. Toxicol Pathol. 2020;48:411–21. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192623320910960.
- Spencer PS, Bischoff MC, Schaumburg HH. On the specific molecular configuration of neurotoxic aliphatic hexacarbon compounds causing central-peripheral distal axonopathy. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 1978;4:17–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/0041-008x(78)90280-6.
- Spencer PS, Chen X. The role of protein adduction in toxic neuropathies of exogenous and endogenous origin. Toxics. 2021;9:98. https://doi.org/10.3390/toxics9050098.
- Spencer PS, Raine CS, Wiśniewski H. Axon diameter and myelin thickness. Unusual relationships in dorsal root ganglia. Anat Rec. 1973;176:225–43. https://doi.org/10.1002/ar.1091760209.
- Spencer PS, Sabri MI, Schaumburg HH, Moore CL. Does a defect of energy metabolism in the nerve fiber underlie axonal degeneration in polyneuropathies? Ann Neurol. 1979;5:501–7. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.410050602.
- Spencer PS, Schaumburg HH. An ultrastructural study of the inner core of the Pacinian corpuscle. J Neurocytol. 1973;2:217–35. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01474721.
- Spencer PS, Thomas PK. Ultrastructural studies of the dying-back process. II. The sequestration and removal by Schwann cells and oligodendrocytes of organelles from normal and diseased axons. J Neuro-cytol. 1974;3:763–83. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01097197.
- Spencer PS, Schaumburg HH. Central-peripheral distal axonopathy the pathology of dying-back polyneuropathies. In: Zimmerman HM, editor. Progress in neuropathology, vol. III. New York: Grune and Stratton; 1976. p. 253–95.
- Spencer PS, Schaumburg HH. Ultrastructural studies of the dying-back process. IV. Differential vulnerability of PNS and CNS fibers in experimental central-peripheral distal axonopathies. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 1977;36:300–20. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005072-197703000-00006.
- Spencer PS, Schaumburg HH. Distal axonopathy: one common type of neurotoxic lesion. Environ Health Perspect. 1978;26:97–105. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.78269.
- Stone JD, Peterson AP, Eyer J, Oblak TG, Sickles DW. Axonal neurofilaments are nonessential elements of toxicant-induced reductions in fast axonal transport: video-enhanced differential interference micr-oscopy in peripheral nervous system axons. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 1999;161:50–8. https://doi.org/10.1006/taap.1999.8780.
- Stone JD, Peterson AP, Eyer J, Oblak TG, Sickles DW. Neurofilaments are nonessential to the pathogenesis of toxicant-induced axonal degeneration. J Neurosci. 2001;21:2278–87. https:// doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.21-07-02278.2001.
- Sugimoto K, Nishizawa, Y, Horiuchi S, Yagihashi S (1997) Localization in human diabetic peripheral nerve of N(epsilon)-carboxymethyllysine-protein adducts, an advanced glycation endproduct. Diabetolo-gia 40:1380–1387. https://doi.org/10.1007/s001250050839.
- Szakal-Quin G, Graham DG, Millington DS, Maltby DA, McPhail AT. Stereoisomer effects on the Paal-Knorr synthesis of pyrroles. J Org Chem. 1986;51:621–4. https://doi.org/10.1021/ jo00355a010.
- Tay SSW, Wong WC. Ultrastructural changes in the gracile nucleus of alloxan-induced diabetic rats. Acta Anat. 1990;139:367–73. https://doi.org/10.1159/000147025.
- Thomas PK. Diabetic neuropathy: mechanisms and future treatment options. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1999;67:277–81. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.67.3.277.
- Torres ME, Goncalves LL, Bronze MR, dos Santos AP, Batoreu MC, Mateus ML. Alternative biomarkers of n-hexane exposure: characterization of aminoderived pyrroles and thiol-pyrrole conjugates in urine of rats exposed to 2,5-hexanedione. Toxicol Lett. 2014;224:54–63. PMID: 24459702
- Toyokuni S, Yamada S, Kashima M, Ihara Y, Yamada Y, Tanaka T, Hiai H, Seino Y, Uchida K. Serum 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal-modified albumin is elevated in patients with type 2 diabetes

mellitus. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2000;2:681–5. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2000.2. 4-681. PMID: 11213473

- Van Kuijk FJ, Holte LL, Dratz EA. 4-Hydroxyhexenal: a lipid peroxidation product derived from oxidized docosahexaenoic acid. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1990;1043:116–8. https://doi.org/10. 1016/0005-2760(90)90118-h.
- Varsik P, Kucera P, Buranova D, Balaz M. Is the spinal cord lesion rare in diabetes mellitus? Somatosensory evoked potentials and central conduction time in diabetes mellitus. Med Sci Monit. 2001;7:CR712-715. PMID: 11433199
- Vazdar K, Vojta D, Margetic D, Vazdar M. Reaction mechanism of covalent modification of phosphatidylethanolamine lipids by reactive aldehydes 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal and 4-oxo-2-nonenal. Chem Res Toxicol. 2017;30:840–50. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrestox.6b00443.
- Wada R, Yagihashi S. Role of advanced glycation end products and their receptors in development of diabetic neuropathy. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2005;1043:598–604. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals. 1338.067.
- Wan L, Qin G, Yan W, Sun T. Skin autofluorescence is associated with diabetic peripheral neuropathy in Chinese patients with type 2 diabetes: a cross-sectional study. Genet Test Mol Biomarkers. 2019;23:387–92. https://doi.org/10.1089/gtmb.2018.0328.
- Wang M, Hu RY, Gong WW, et al. Trends in prevalence of gestational diabetes mellitus in Zhejiang Province, China, 2016–2018. Nutr Metab (Lond). 2021;8:12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12986-020-00539-8.
- Williamson RT. Changes in the posterior columns of the spinal cord in diabetes mellitus. BMJ. 1894;24:398–9. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.1.1730.398.
- Williamson RT. Changes in the spinal cord in diabetes mellitus. BMJ. 1904;1:122. https://doi.org/ 10.1136/bmj.1.2246.122.
- Xourgia E, Papazafiropoulou A, Melidonis A. Circulating microRNAs as biomarkers for diabetic neuropathy: a novel approach. World J Exp Med. 2018;8:18–23. https://doi.org/10.5493/wjem. v8.i3.18.
- Xu G, Singh MP, Gopal D, Sayre LM. Novel 2,5-hexanedione analogues. Substituent-induced control of the protein cross-linking potential and oxidation susceptibility of the resulting primary aminederived pyrroles. Chem Res Toxicol. 2001;14:264–74. https://doi.org/10.1021/tx000169q.
- Yatzidis H, Garidi M, Vassilikos C, Mayopoulou D, Akilas A. An improved method for the simple and accurate colorimetric determination of urea with Ehrlich's reagent. J Clin Pathol. 1964;17: 163–4. https://doi.org/10.1136/jcp.17.2.163.
- Yin H, Guo Y, Zeng T, Zhao X, Xie K. Correlation between levels of 2,5-hexanedione and pyrrole adducts in tissues of rats exposure to n-hexane for 5-days. PLoS One. 2013;8:e76011. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0076011.
- Yin H, Zhang C, Guo Y, Shao X, Zeng T, Zhao X, Xie K. Biological exposure indices of pyrrole adducts in serum and urine for hazard assessment of n-hexane exposure. PLoS One. 2014a;9: e86108. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0086108.
- Yin HY, Guo Y, Song FY, Zeng T, Xie KQ. Toxicokinetic study of pyrrole adducts and its potential application for biological monitoring of 2,5-hexanedione subacute exposure. Int Arch Occup Environ Health. 2014b;87:655–62. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00420-013-0907-4.
- Zhan C-G, Spencer PS, Dixon DA. Chromogenic and neurotoxic effects of an aliphatic γ-diketone: computational insights into the molecular structures and mechanism. J Phys Chem B. 2004;108: 6098–104. https://doi.org/10.1021/jp0312868.
- Zheng H, Sun W, Zhang Q, Zhang Y, Ji L, Liu X, Zhu X, Ye H, Xiong Q, Li Y, Lu B, Zhang S. Proinflammatory cytokines predict the incidence of diabetic peripheral neuropathy over 5 years in Chinese type 2 diabetes patients: a prospective cohort study. EClinicalMedicine. 2020;31:100649. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100649.
- Zherebitskaya E, Akude E, Smith DR, Fernyhough P. Development of selective axonopathy in adult sensory neurons isolated from diabetic rats: role of glucose-induced oxidative stress. Diabetes. 2009;58:1356–64. https://doi.org/10.2337/db09-0034.

- Zhu M, Spink DC, Bank S, Chen X, DeCaprio AP. Analysis of alkylpyrrole autoxidation products by high-performance liquid chromatography with thermospray mass spectrometry and UV photodiode-array detection. J Chromatogr. 1993;628:37–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/0021-9673(93)80330-b.
- Zhu M, Spink DC, Yan B, Bank S, DeCaprio AP. Formation and structure of cross-linking and monomeric pyrrole autoxidation products in 2,5-hexanedione-treated amino acids, peptides, and protein. Chem Res Toxicol. 1994;7:551–8. https://doi.org/10.1021/tx00040a011.
- Zhu M, Spink DC, Yan B, Bank S, DeCaprio AP. Inhibition of 2,5-hexanedione-induced protein cross-linking by biological thiols: chemical mechanisms and toxicological implications. Chem Res Toxicol. 1995;8:764–71. https://doi.org/10.1021/tx00047a017.
- Zlatkis A, Poole CF, Brazell R, Bafus DA, Spencer PS. Volatile metabolites in sera of normal and diabetic patients. J Chromatogr (Biomed Appl). 1980;182:137–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0378-4347(00)81617-5.



Biomarkers in Gestational Diabetes



Peak Glucose Monitoring at Different Mealtimes

Aykan Yucel and Betul Yakistiran

Contents

Application to Prognosis, Other Diseases or Conditions	1022
Application to Prognosis	1022
Application to Other Diseases or Conditions	1022
Introduction	1022
Noncontinuous Versus Continuous Glucose Monitoring:	1024
Postprandial Versus Preprandial Glucose Monitoring:	1025
Updated Guidelines	1027
Conclusion	1028
Mini Dictionary of Terms	1028
Key Facts	1028
Summary Points	1029
References	1029

Abstract

Gestational diabetes mellitus is defined as new-onset hyperglycemia and carbohydrate intolerance during the second and third trimester of pregnancy without a history of diabetes. It may complicate the pregnancy process and adverse perinatal and maternal pregnancy outcomes may occur. The optimal glycemic control is so important to improve pregnancy outcomes. This chapter describes the techniques of blood glucose monitoring, optimal timing for sampling, adverse maternal and fetal outcomes, and the content of updated evidence-based guidelines for gestational diabetes mellitus.

e-mail: aykan.yucel@sbu.edu.tr

A. Yucel (⊠) · B. Yakistiran

Perinatology Department, University of Health Sciences, Ankara Bilkent City Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 53

Keywords

Gestational diabetes mellitus · Blood glucose monitorization · Postprandial glucose monitoring · Self-glucose monitoring · Macrosomia

Abbreviations			
ACOG ADA	The American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists American Diabetes Association		
CGM	Continuous blood glucose monitoring		
GDM	Gestational diabetes mellitus		
LGA	Large-for-gestational age		
NCGM	Non-continuous glucose monitoring		
NICE	National Institute for Health and Care Excellence		
OGTT	Oral glucose tolerance test		

Application to Prognosis, Other Diseases or Conditions

Application to Prognosis

In this chapter, blood glucose monitoring technique and protocols have been reviewed. Finger stick blood glucose monitoring and postprandial 1-h or 2-h blood glucose measurements are assessed in general clinical practice. As a new protocol, the authors focused on postprandial 90th min glucose values that have been reported in previous studies (Sever et al. 2021). When the 90th-min blood glucose limit value was determined as 130 mg/dl, there was no significant relationship between high blood glucose levels and complications except neonatal intensive care unit requirement. There are different follow-up protocols in conflict with each other. However, either postprandial 1-h or 2-h glucose values for follow-up are recommended by ADA and ACOG.

Application to Other Diseases or Conditions

Assessment of 90th-min blood glucose levels may be clinically useful for diabetes mellitus type 1 and 2. To the best of our knowledge, there has been no study that compares the clinical outcomes and long-term prognosis of postprandial 90th-min blood glucose level in the patients who are complicated by diabetes mellitus and the other medical disorders with insulin resistance.

Introduction

Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) is defined as new-onset hyperglycemia and carbohydrate intolerance during pregnancy without a history of diabetes (ACOG 2018). GDM accounts for 90% of hyperglycemia that is diagnosed in pregnancy and

from day to day its prevalence has increased to above 15% of all around the world (Zhu and Zhang 2016). The diagnosis of GDM is based on the results of a 75 g or 100 g glucose tolerance tests. Two elevated glucose values of the 3-h glucose tolerance test or one elevated glucose value of 75 g OGTT is diagnostic of GDM. While the cutoff values of 2 h 75 g OGTT are determined as 92 mg/dl (5.1 mmol/L) for fasting, 180 mg/dl (10 mmol/L) for the first hour and 153 mg/dl (8.5 mmol/L) for the second hour; the threshold values of 100 g OGTT are determined as 95 mg/dl (5.3 mmol/L) for fasting, 180 mg/dl (10 mmol/L) for the first hour, 155 mg/dl (8.6 mmol/L) for the second hour, and 140 mg/dl (7.8 mmol/L) for the third hour (Table 1).

The Hyperglycemia and Adverse Pregnancy Outcome Study (HAPO) was a large, prospective-designed, observational study that included blinded pregnancy outcome data in women whose fasting plasma glucose level did not exceed 105 mg/dL (5.8 mmol/L) or the 2-h 75 g plasma glucose level did not exceed 200 mg/dL (11.1 mmol/L) or both (HAPO Collaborative Research Group 2008). Otherwise the values were unblinded to women and the caregivers. Primary outcomes were identified birth weight above 90th percentile, caesarean section delivery, neonatal hypoglycemia and cord C-peptide above 90th percentile (HAPO Collaborative Research Group 2008). According to the study findings a strong correlation was reported between increased maternal blood glucose levels and a range of adverse maternal and fetal outcomes (HAPO Collaborative Research Group 2008).

Abnormal values of blood glucose are associated with hypertensive disorders of pregnancy, increased rates of cesarean section, perineal trauma, placental abruption, postpartum infection and hemorrhage, and development of type 2 diabetes. On the other hand, perinatal mortality (intrauterine demise or neonatal death), large-for-gestational age (LGA) infants, neurosensorial disability, preterm birth, macrosomia, and lower scores of APGAR at 5 min are the leading short-term complications for fetuses whose mothers have complications with GDM (Raman et al. 2017). In utero excessive fetal glucose exposure affects cardiovascular and metabolic systems and results in increased long-term risk of obesity, diabetes mellitus and cardiac diseases during adult life (Carreiro et al. 2018) (Table 2).

Once a pregnant woman is diagnosed with GDM, an appropriate initiation of active treatment including diet, exercise, and medical treatment (oral anti-diabetics and/or insulin) has to be arranged. Besides, blood glucose monitoring is very important to understand the success and follow-up of the treatment and requirement

	75 g OGTT ^a		100 g OGTT ^a		
Fasting glucose	92 mg/dl	5.1 mmol/L	95 mg/dl	5.3 mmol/L	
1-h glucose	180 mg/dl	10 mmol/L	180 mg/dl	10 mmol/L	
2-h glucose	153 mg/dl	8.5 mmol/L	155 mg/dl	8.6 mmol/L	
3-h glucose	NA		140 mg/dl	7.8 mmol/L	

Table 1 Cutoff values for diagnosing gestational diabetes mellitus

^aFor 75 g OGTT, at least one value meeting the threshold is diagnostic for GDM. For 100 g OGTT, at least two values meeting the threshold are the diagnostic for GDM

Maternal complications	Fetal and neonatal complications
Preeclampsia	• Prematurity
Cesarean section	Perinatal asphyxia
 Operative deliveries 	Respiratory distress
 Postpartum hemorrhage 	• Perinatal mortality (intrauterine demise or neonatal death),
Perineal trauma	Large-for-gestational age infants
 Placental abruption 	Neurosensorial disability
 Postpartum infection 	Macrosomia
• Development of type 2 diabetes	Lower scores of APGAR at 5 min

Table 2 Maternal, fetal, and neonatal complications of gestational diabetes mellitus

of additional intervention to avoid maternal and fetal adverse outcomes. Blood glucose monitoring suggestions regarding treatment targets are for self-measured capillary blood glucose levels. The accuracy of these measurements depends on multiple factors. The glucose measurements after 1 week of monitoring and every 2–3 weeks thereafter until delivery should be checked and the patients should be informed if any changes to treatment are required (Kaiser Foundation Health Plan of Washington 2021).

Noncontinuous Versus Continuous Glucose Monitoring:

There are two types of glucose monitoring techniques with self-assessment: noncontinuous and continuous glucose monitoring (Gonzales et al. 2019). Noncontinuous glucose monitoring (NCGM) is called as self-monitoring and this technique aims to monitor the blood glucose levels in a frequency during a day depending on diabetes type, and the type of medical treatment. However, continuous blood glucose monitoring (CGM) assesses the glucose levels automatically every few minutes. Even if CGM assessments need calibration at least twice daily, it has an advantage about the monitorization of rapid changes of blood glucose during a day. This technique is especially recommended by the American Diabetes Association (ADA) for type 1 diabetes patients with poor control (Professional Practice Committee 2018). However, the latest articles have shown that the continuous blood glucose monitorization can be used for blood glucose assessment in pregnancy complicated by GDM (Lane et al. 2019; Singh et al. 2020).

Self-monitorization of blood glucose can be done in two methods, and technically they are two separate modalities. NCGM devices are glucometers requiring finger puncture to access the capillary blood. The test strips generally contain an enzyme that the glucose oxidizes and three electrodes that are reference, counter, and working electrodes (Gonzales et al. 2019). Continuous glucose monitoring system works in a different way from NCGM. There are three crucial parts of the CGM devices: a transmitter, a sensor, and a wireless receiver (Gonzales et al. 2019). The sensor that is located under the skin is attached to the transmitter that transmits the measurements to the receiver via radiofrequency waves. At the end of the process, the receiver calculates the blood glucose level.

In literature, the studies that have focused on whether CGM has any effect on improving maternal and fetal adverse outcomes or not, have reported that while CGM was easy to use for the patients and beneficial for self-glycemic control; there were no differences in any maternal fetal outcomes between CGM use and NCGM (Yu et al. 2019; Kestilä et al. 2007; Alfadhli et al. 2016; Wei et al. 2016). Yu et al. reported better fetal outcomes in patients who use CGM in terms of birth weight, neonatal hypoglycemia and hyperbilirubinemia, and respiratory distress syndrome (2014). On the other hand, lower preeclampsia incidence has been reported in the CGM group by Voormolen et al. (2018). In a recent meta-analysis García-Moreno showed that women with GDM using CGM may achieve lower average blood glucose levels, lower maternal weight gain, and infant birth weight than women using NCGM (2021).

Postprandial Versus Preprandial Glucose Monitoring:

Noncontinuous glucose monitoring is the well-known and traditional way that aims at the optimal glycemic control. It has been shown that optimal glycemic control is important to reduce the incidence of adverse maternal and fetal outcomes. Especially, elevated postprandial glucose levels are associated with LGA babies than fasting glucose levels. However, optimal timing for postprandial glucose monitorization is still controversial. According to the latest guidelines about timing of glucose levels either 60th or 120th minutes after meals is favorable in pregnant women complicated with GDM (Zhang et al. 2019). Both ADA and ACOG have recommended that the cutoff levels of 140 mg/dl at the first hour and 120 mg/dl at the second hours are to be used as the blood glucose targets to reduce the risk of adverse fetal and neonatal outcomes (Jovanovic 1998).

The priority of optimal glycemic control in the GDM population is generally approved. But the optimal time for glucose assessment in GDM patients is still questionable. There are inconsistent results from the studies comparing fasting and postprandial measurements (de Veciana et al. 1995; Durnwald et al. 2011).

De Veciana et al. reported that postprandial follow-up is more advantageous in patients with GDM using insulin for reducing complication related to GDM (de Veciana et al. 1995). There are some studies reporting that neither pp1 (pp 60th minute) nor pp2 (pp 120th minute) glucose measurements has superiority to each other (Moses et al. 1999; Weisz et al. 2005). Some studies have reported no difference between postprandial 1-h and 2-h analyses (Moses et al. 1999; Weisz et al. 2005; Sivan et al. 2001). Furthermore, a different measurement (1 h after breakfast and 2 h after dinner) has been proposed as an option for the control of plasma glucose levels (Sivan et al. 2001).

Another issue of discussion is diurnal variation. Sivan et al. reported that plasma glucose level was higher at 60th minutes in the morning and 120th minutes in the evening (Sivan et al. 2001). The author proposed daily physical activities and meal composition to be responsible for the differences (Sivan et al. 2001). Besides, postprandial glucose peak was measured at the 90th minute by continue

monitorization in diabetic pregnancy (Ben-Haroush et al. 2004). Ben-Haroush et al. measured plasma glucose levels in diabetic pregnant women with poor glycemic control and showed that the increase to the highest levels in plasma glucose had occurred in the 90th minute (Ben-Haroush et al. 2004). Sever et al. proposed that postprandial 90th minute after breakfast, postprandial 60th minute after lunch, and postprandial 60th minute after evening have the highest plasma glucose values. They measured the highest plasma glucose value at the 90th minute after breakfast and at 60th minute after lunch and dinner (Fig. 1). They proposed a 90th-minute threshold value as 130 mg/dl (Sever et al. 2021). The latest recommendation about timing is either postprandial 60th minute or 120th minute glucose level is favorable to monitor plasma glucose levels in GDM pregnant women (ACOG 2018; American Diabetes Association 2014).

The ideal blood glucose monitoring protocol has to allow to detect the requirement of medical therapy for hyperglycemia and identification of hypoglycemia and hyperglycemia attacks. While deciding the most convenient technique and the frequency of blood glucose monitoring in a day, the clinician should look out for patients' comfort and compliance to the chosen protocol. In literature, Langer et al. compared the effect of the frequency of glucose monitoring on adverse maternal and fetal outcomes (Langer et al. 1994). They categorized glucose monitoring as conventional (4 times daily preprandial and postprandial 120th minutes) and intensified management (7 times daily preprandial and postprandial 120th minutes for every



Fig. 1 Mean plasma glucose levels according to meals (Sever et al. 2021)

meal and bedtime). The authors reported that intensified glucose monitoring was more successful in recognizing inadequate treatment and decrease in maternal and neonatal complications (Langer et al. 1994). Sever et al. emphasized that they could not find a relation between perinatal complications and high plasma glucose levels except NICU requirements for postprandial 90th minute glucose values (2021). Goldberg et al. reported that daily glucose monitoring had better effect on controlling maternal glycemic status and identifying the patients who needed insulin treatment. The rates of LGA and macrosomia have been reported lower in daily glucose monitoring group than weekly glucose monitoring group (Goldberg et al. 1986). Moreover, the studies that focused on whether compliance to self-glucose monitoring advices associated with perinatal outcomes or not indicated that increased compliance to advices has been associated with decreased rates of adverse neonatal outcomes such as LGA and hypoglycemia (Wernimont et al. 2019).

According to Cochrane Database Systematic Reviews, when the authors compared the women who use preprandial and postprandial monitoring, there were no difference in terms of preeclampsia, caesarean section, perineal trauma, and hypoglycemia for newborn babies (Raman et al. 2017). However, the babies whose mothers used postprandial glucose monitoring were less likely to be born LGA than the babies whose mothers used preprandial monitoring.

Updated Guidelines

According to National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guideline, the clinician should educate women with gestational diabetes how to self-monitor their blood glucose. Women with gestational diabetes who have multiple daily insulin injections have to test their fasting, premeal, postmeal, and bedtime blood glucose levels. If the women with gestational diabetes are being managed with diet and exercise, or oral antidiabetic agents, they should measure their fasting and 1-h post meal blood glucose levels (NICE 2015).

According to ACOG guideline, there is still insufficient evidence to define the optimal frequency of blood glucose monitoring (ACOG 2018). However, blood glucose measurement at four times a day, once at the time of fasting, and three times after each meal is recommended. Moreover, mean fasting glucose values are more valuable in managing gestational diabetes because fasting glucose levels are found more predictable for increased neonatal fat mass and macrosomia (ACOG 2018).

Canadian Diabetes Association guideline recommends that women with gestational diabetes should keep their fasting glucose <5.3 mmol/L (96 mg/dl), 1-h postprandial <7.8 mmol/L (140 mg/dl) and 2-h postprandial blood glucose <6.7 mmol/L (120 mg/dl) to avoid adverse pregnancy outcomes (Feig et al. 2018). Moreover, self-monitoring of fasting and postprandial blood glucose method should be performed to improve pregnancy outcomes (Feig et al. 2018).

American Diabetes Association (ADA) advises fasting and postprandial selfmonitoring of blood glucose in women with gestational diabetes (American Diabetes Association 2020). Target glucose levels are determined for fasting <95 mg/dl, 1-h postprandial glucose <140 mg/dl and 2-h postprandial glucose <120 mg/dl. On the other hand, the committee recommends not to use continuous glucose monitoring metrics to achieve optimal pre- and postprandial glycemic targets (American Diabetes Association 2020).

Society of Canadian Obstetrics and Gynecology recommends that women with pregestational or gestational diabetes mellitus should be provided with care by a multidisciplinary team intended to attain and preserve euglycemia (Berger et al. 2019). However, there is no more data about the frequency and target values of blood glucose levels during follow-up.

Self-monitoring of blood glucose is recommended by Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN) and International Diabetes Federation (IDF) for all pregnant women with gestational diabetes 3–4 times a day (fasting following at least 8 h after the last meal; postprandial 2–3 times daily – 1 or 2 h after the onset of the meal). Target blood glucose values are determined for fasting <5.3 mmol/L (96 mg/dl), 1-h < 7.8 mmol/L (140 mg/dl) and 2-h postprandial <6.7 mmol/L (120 mg/dl) (Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network 2013; IDF Clinical Guidelines Task Force 2009).

Conclusion

This chapter describes the techniques of blood glucose monitoring, adverse maternal and fetal outcomes, and the content of updated evidence-based guidelines for gestational diabetes mellitus. Optimal glycemic control should be achieved to improve pregnancy outcomes and management of women with gestational diabetes mellitus. The clinician should keep in mind that the optimal glycemic control is crucial during prenatal care, intrapartum care, and postpartum care.

Mini Dictionary of Terms

- Large-for-gestational age (LGA): LGA refers to an infant or a fetus whose birth weight is above the 90th percentile or larger than expected for their age.
- Preterm birth: Preterm birth is defined as any birth before 37 weeks of gestation.
- **Macrosomia:** Fetal macrosomia is defined as the growth of the fetus beyond usually 4000–4500 g regardless of the gestational week.
- **APGAR:** An index to evaluate of newborn well-being. Appearance, pulse, grimace, activity, and respiration are used to calculate APGAR score.
- **Insulin:** A peptide hormone produced by beta cells of the pancreatic islets; it is considered to be the main anabolic hormone of the body.

Key Facts

• Gestational diabetes mellitus is defined as new-onset hyperglycemia and carbohydrate intolerance during pregnancy without a history of diabetes.

- Abnormal values of blood glucose are associated with hypertensive disorders of pregnancy, increased rates of cesarean section, perineal trauma, placental abruption, postpartum infection and hemorrhage, development of type 2 diabetes.
- Perinatal mortality (intrauterine demise or neonatal death), large-for-gestational age (LGA) infants, neurosensorial disability, preterm birth, macrosomia, and lower scores of APGAR at 5 min are the leading short-term complications for fetuses whose mothers are complicated with GDM.
- Once a pregnant woman is diagnosed with GDM, an appropriate initiation of active treatment including diet, exercise, and medical treatment (oral antidiabetics and/or insulin) has to be arranged.

Summary Points

- The diagnosis of GDM is based on the results of a 75 g or 100 g glucose tolerance tests. One elevated glucose value of 75 g GTT or two elevated values of 100 g GTT is diagnostic.
- Blood glucose monitoring is the essential part of the management of a patient who is complicated by GDM. It can be assessed as continuous/non-continuous and pre-/postprandial blood glucose levels.
- American Diabetes Association (ADA) advises fasting and postprandial selfmonitoring of blood glucose in women with gestational diabetes. Target glucose levels are determined for fasting <95 mg/dl, 1-h postprandial glucose <140 mg/ dl and 2-h postprandial glucose <120 mg/dl.
- The optimal glycemic control should be achieved to improve pregnancy outcomes and management of women with gestational diabetes mellitus.
- The clinician should keep in mind that the optimal glycemic control is crucial during prenatal care, intrapartum care and postpartum care.

References

- ACOG. Practice bulletin no. 190: gestational diabetes mellitus. Obstet Gynecol. 2018;131(2): e49–64.
- Alfadhli E, Osman E, Basri T. Use of a real time continuous glucose monitoring system as an educational tool for patients with gestational diabetes. Diabetol Metab Syndr. 2016;8:48.
- American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care in diabetes-2014. Diabetes Care. 2014;37(Suppl 1):S14–80.
- American Diabetes Association. Management of Diabetes in pregnancy: standards of medical care in diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2020;43:S183–92.
- Ben-Haroush A, Yogev Y, Chen R, Rosenn B, Hod M, Langer O. The postprandial glucose profile in the diabetic pregnancy. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2004;191(2):576–81.
- Berger H, Gagnon R, Sermer M. Guideline No-393- diabetes in pregnancy. J Obstet Gynecol Canada. 2019;41(12):1814–25.
- Carreiro MP, Nogueira AI, Ribeiro- Oliveira A. Controversies and advances in gestational diabetesan update in the era of continuous glucose monitoring. J Clin Med. 2018;7(2):11.

- de Veciana M, et al. Postprandial versus preprandial blood glucose monitoring in women with gestational diabetes mellitus requiring insulin therapy. N Engl J Med. 1995;333(19):1237–41.
- Durnwald CP, et al. Glycemic characteristics and neonatal outcomes of women treated for mild gestational diabetes. Obstet Gynecol. 2011;117(4):819–27.
- Feig DS, Berger H, Donovan L, Godbut A, Kader T, Keely E, Sanghera R. Clinical practice guidelines diabetes and pregnancy. Can J Diabetes. 2018;42:S255–82.
- García-Moreno RM, Benítez-Valderrama P, Barquiel B, González Pérez-de-Villar N, Hillman N, Lora Pablos D, Herranz L. Efficacy of continuous glucose monitoring on maternal and neonatal outcomes in gestational diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. Diabet Med. 2021;26:e14703.
- Goldberg JD, Franklin B, Lasser D, Jornsay DL, Hausknecht RU, Ginsberg-Fellner F, Berkowitz RL. Gestational diabetes: impact of home glucose monitoring on neonatal birth weight. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1986;154(3):546–50.
- Gonzales WV, Mobashsher AT, Abbosh A. The progress of glucose monitoring- a review of invasive to minimally and non-invasive techniques, devices and sensors. Sensors. 2019;19:800.
- HAPO Collaborative Research Group. Hyperglycemia and adverse pregnancy outcomes. New Eng J Med. 2008;358:1991–2002.
- IDF Clinical Guidelines Task Force. Global guideline on pregnancy and diabetes. Brussels: International Diabetes Federation; 2009.
- Jovanovic L. American Diabetes Association's fourth international workshop F conference on gestational diabetes mellitus: summary and discussion. Therapeutic interventions. Diabetes Care. 1998;21(Suppl 2):B131–7.
- Kaiser Foundation Health Plan of Washington. Gestational diabetes screening and treatment guideline. Kaiser Foundation Health Plan of Washington; 2021.
- Kestilä KK, Ekblad UU, Rönnemaa T. Continuous glucose monitoring versus self-monitoring of blood glucose in the treatment of gestational diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2007;77:174–9.
- Lane AS, Mlynarczyk MA, Veciana M, Green LM, Baraki DI, Abuhamad A. Real-time continuous glucose monitoring in gestational diabetes: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Perinatol. 2019;36(9):891–7.
- Langer O, Rodriguez DA, Xenakis EM, McFarland MB, Berkus MD, Arrendondo F. Intensified versus conventional management of gestational diabetes. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1994;170: 1036–46.
- Moses RG, Lucas EM, Knights S. Gestational diabetes mellitus. At what time should the postprandial glucose level be monitored? Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol. 1999;39(4):457–60.
- NICE Guideline. Diabetes in pregnancy: management from preconception to the postnatal period. NICE; 2015. Last updated 16 December 2020
- Professional Practice Committee. Standards of medical care in diabetes-2018. Diabetes Care. 2018;41(Supp 1):S3.
- Raman P, Shepherd E, Dowswell T, Middleton P, Crowther CA. Different methods and settings for glucose monitoring for gestational diabetes during pregnancy. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;10:CD011069.
- Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network. Management of diabetes: a national clinical guideline. Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network; 2013.
- Sever O, Sarsmaz K, Ozgu-Erdinc S, Yucel A. Comparison of postprandial 90th-minute plasma glucose level with 60th- and 120th-minute levels in patients with gestational diabetes: a prospective cohort study. Endocrine. 2021;71(1):69–75.
- Singh C, Gupta Y, Goyal A, Kalaivani M, Garg V, Bharti J. Glycemic profile of women with normoglycemia and gestational diabetes mellitus during early pregnancy using continues glucose monitoring system. Diab Res Clin Prac. 2020;169:108409.
- Sivan E, Weisz B, Homko CJ, Reece EA, Schiff E. One or two hours postprandial glucose measurements: are they the same? Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2001;185(3):604–7.

- Voormolen DN, DeVries JH, Sanson RME, et al. Continuous glucose monitoring during diabetic pregnancy (GlucoMOMS): a multicentre randomized controlled trial. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2018;20:1894–902.
- Wei Q, Sun Z, Yang Y, Yu H, Ding H, Wang S. Effect of a CGMS and SMBG on maternal and neonatal outcomes in gestational diabetes mellitus: a randomized controlled trial. Sci Rep. 2016;6:19920.
- Weisz B, Shrim A, Homko CJ, Schiff E, Epstein GS, Sivan E. One hour versus two hours postprandial glucose measurement in gestational diabetes: a prospective study. J Perinatol. 2005;25(4):241–4.
- Wernimont SA, Sheng JS, Tymkowicz A, Fleener DK, Summers KM, Syrop CH, Andrews JI. Adherence to self-glucose monitoring recommendations and perinatal outcomes in pregnancies complicated by diabetes mellitus. Am J Obstet Gynecol MFM. 2019;1(3):100031.
- Yu F, Lv L, Liang Z, Wang Y, Wen J, Lin X, Zhou Y, Mai C, Niu J. Continuous glucose monitoring effects on maternal glycemic control and pregnancy outcomes in patients with gestational diabetes mellitus: a prospective cohort study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2014;99:4674–82.
- Yu Q, Aris IM, Tan KH, Li LJ. Application and utility of continuous glucose monitoring in pregnancy: a systematic review. Front Endocrinol. 2019;10:697–709.
- Zhang M, Zhou Y, ZhongJ WK, Ding Y, Li L. Current guidelines on the management of gestational diabetes mellitus content analysis and appraisal. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2019;19:200.
- Zhu Y, Zhang C. Prevalence of gestational diabetes and risk of progression to type 2 diabetes global perspective. Curr Diab Rep. 2016;16:7.



Metabolomic Biomarkers, Metabolite Patterns, and Gestational Diabetes Mellitus **50**

Ellen C. Francis and Wei Perng

Contents

Introduction	1034
Epidemiology, Etiology, and Consequences of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus	1035
Epidemiology	1035
Etiology	1035
Consequences	1036
Screening and Diagnosis	1037
Metabolic Heterogeneity Among GDM Cases	1038
Applications of Metabolomics in Gestational Diabetes Mellitus	1039
Prevention/Prediction	1039
Treatment/Prognosis	1041
Future Directions	1045
Mini-Dictionary of Terms	1046
Key Facts of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus	1047
Summary Points	1047
References	1047

Abstract

Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) is a common pregnancy complication associated with risk of type 2 diabetes (T2D) for mother and offspring. Although glucose intolerance is a hallmark of GDM, there is evidence of GDM subtypes. Here we outline the application of metabolomics to understanding risk, treatment, and prognosis of GDM, and where possible the utility of metabolomics in understanding subtypes of GDM. Studies of metabolomics using blood collected during pregnancy indicate that GDM risk and treatment is associated with altered levels of amino acids, long-chain fatty acids, and glycolytic intermediates.

E. C. Francis $(\boxtimes) \cdot W$. Perng

Lifecourse Epidemiology of Adiposity and Diabetes, Colorado School of Public Health, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, USA

e-mail: ellen.francis@cuanschutz.edu; wei.perng@cuanschutz.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2_64

Further, use of multiple metabolites in conjunction with clinical factors has a better value over clinical factors alone or a single metabolite, for predicting risk of T2D among women who had GDM. Although these data provide novel insights, the application of metabolomics in guiding GDM treatment, monitoring of adherence, and evaluation of prognosis has yet to be fully realized.

Keywords

Gestational diabetes mellitus · Metabolomics · Hyperglycemia · Insulin sensitivity · Insulin secretion · Pregnancy · Type 2 diabetes · Amino acids · Lipids

Abbreviation	S
1,5-AG	1,5-anhydroglucitol
AUC	Area under the curve
BCAA	Branched-chain amino acids
BMI	Body mass index
GCT	Glucose challenge tests
GDM	Gestational diabetes mellitus
HDL	High-density lipoprotein
HOMA-IR	Homeostatic model assessment for insulin resistance
LCFA	Long-chain fatty acids
LPC	Lysolecithin
LPE	Lysocephalin
MS	Mass spectrometry
NEFA	Nonesterified fatty acids
NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance
OGTT	Oral glucose tolerance test
PC	Phosphatidylcholines
PE	Phosphatidylethanolamine
T2D	Type 2 diabetes

Introduction

During pregnancy, maternal resource allocation is governed by complex physiological adaptations. An array of pregnancy complications are associated with suboptimal adaptive responses to pregnancy and may result in higher risk of detrimental short- and/or long-term health outcomes for both the mother and offspring (Hernandez et al. 2020; McIntyre et al. 2019). Of particular concern in developed countries and the focus of this chapter is gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM), a pregnancy complication with heterogeneous etiology that affects anywhere from 5% to 13% of women globally (Zhu and Zhang 2016), and continues to increase in prevalence as a consequence of the obesity epidemic.

In this chapter, we describe the epidemiology and heterogenous pathophysiology of GDM, followed by a targeted review of the literature and discussion of the applications of metabolomics profiling to better understand risk, biomarkers, and prognosis of this pregnancy complication. Although metabolomics profiling can be implemented in any tissue type, we focus on metabolomics assayed from maternal blood given the relatively noninvasive nature of obtaining this biospecimen and the fact that blood is a systemic tissue that reflects, to some extent, all ongoing metabolic processes.

Epidemiology, Etiology, and Consequences of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus

Epidemiology

GDM is characterized by glucose intolerance with first recognition or onset occurring during pregnancy (American Diabetes Association 2010). The prevalence of GDM varies by geographic region mainly based on the distribution of common risk factors such as age, parity, race/ethnicity, and obesity, as well as differences in diagnostic criteria (Zhu and Zhang 2016). GDM is the most common metabolic condition of pregnancy, and likely reflects the increasing prevalence of obesity, diabetes, higher maternal age among primigravida women, and sedentary lifestyles (Bardenheier et al. 2015). Moreover, the relationship between risk factors and GDM is cyclical as women who are diagnosed with GDM are also at increased risk for subsequent obesity and diabetes. Therefore, the increase in GDM is both a consequence of and contributor to the increasing prevalence in these chronic conditions (Ferrara 2007).

Etiology

The pathophysiology of GDM is centered around inadequate insulin secretion in response to increased maternal insulin resistance, leading to hyperglycemia that is detected by routine obstetric screening in pregnant women. During pregnancy, there are numerous metabolic changes that govern the allocation of maternal-fetal resources. These changes are marked by progressively greater insulin resistance in the second and third trimesters, which are thought to be secondary to increases in maternal adiposity, and placental and other hormones (Barbour et al. 2007). In instances where the beta-cells are unable to compensate for the increased insulin requirements in the latter half of pregnancy, women develop hyperglycemia and, at the higher end of the spectrum, GDM.

Despite the shared hallmark of hyperglycemia during pregnancy, the pathophysiology of GDM is heterogeneous. GDM transpires from a complex set of interactions between genetic and environmental factors, triggered by metabolic challenges of pregnancy (e.g., adipose tissue accretion in early gestation and lipolysis in late pregnancy [McIntyre et al. 2019]). A major risk factor for GDM is overweight or obesity prior to pregnancy, as women with obesity have an elevated insulin response



Fig. 1 General overview of etiological subtypes of hyperglycemia in pregnancy. This figure shows a general overview of different GDM subtypes. However, GDM may be caused by a complex set of interactions between genetic and environmental factors, triggered by a series of metabolic challenges during pregnancy (e.g., adipose tissue accretion in early gestation and lipolysis in late pregnancy)

in early pregnancy (Zhang and Ning 2011). It is hypothesized that the insulin response during early pregnancy among women with obesity leads to early placental growth, and release of placental factors that further decrease insulin sensitivity in maternal tissues (Catalano and Shankar 2017). As such, the prevalence of GDM varies within strata of weight status, with 2-5% of normal weight women and 6-12% of women with overweight/obesity diagnosed with GDM (Kim et al. 2010).

The difference in adiposity status among women with GDM likely reflect different etiologies, such that women with obesity and GDM have hyperglycemia due to deficiencies in insulin sensitivity, whereas women without obesity have hyperglycemia predominantly characterized by deficiencies in insulin secretion (Fig. 1) that likely preceded conception but went undetected until the greater insulin demands of pregnancy emerged.

Consequences

There are numerous short- and long-term health consequences of GDM that effect both women and their offspring. In the short term, GDM is associated with overnutrition and excessive fetal growth, which in turn can increase the risk of shoulder dystocia, birth trauma, operative delivery, preterm delivery, and neonatal hypoglycemia (International Association of Diabetes Pregnancy Study Groups Consensus Panel et al. 2010; Metzger et al. 2007). The long-term maternal health outcomes include risk for developing obesity, diabetes, cardiovascular disease, and hypertension later in life (O'Sullivan and Mahan 1964; Daly et al. 2018; Retnakaran 2018). Additionally, human and animal studies indicate that exposure to elevated levels of glucose in utero induces modifications to fetal insulin metabolism, ultimately increasing the offspring's risk of metabolic disorders later in life (Aerts and Van Assche 2006; Plagemann 2005). Epidemiological studies from human cohorts have reported that exposure to prediabetes, diabetes, or GDM is associated with marked increases in risk of child obesity, T2D, and metabolic syndrome in adult offspring (Clausen et al. 2008, 2009, 2013; Dabelea et al. 2000; Francis et al. 2020; Lowe et al. 2018). These findings support the adverse impact of in utero exposure to hyperglycemia on offspring adiposity and glucose-insulin homeostasis.

Screening and Diagnosis

Assessment of risk factors for quantifying the true impact of GDM is complicated by a lack of consensus on diagnostic criteria for this condition (discussed in Long and Cundy (2013); McIntyre et al. (2014)). For instance, a two-step approach is still common practice in the USA, whereas other organizations both in the USA and internationally have adopted a one-step approach, which is considered less conservative (Table 1). For a detailed discussion of global GDM prevalence and differences in diagnostic criteria, see Zhu and Zhang (2016).

Many women are not screened for diabetes prior to becoming pregnant, inevitably resulting in a proportion of gravidas with unrecognized hyperglycemia prior to pregnancy. Thus, most organizations differentiate between women who have GDM (a less severe level of hyperglycemia) versus those who have "overt" diabetes during pregnancy (fasting plasma glucose >126 mg/dl or random plasma glucose

Two step	50 gram GLT screen	Fasting	OGTT	1 hour	2 hour	3 hour
NIH consensus* Conversion CC/NDDG	140	95/105	100 g	180/ 190	155/165	140/ 145
One step						
IADPSG**	NR	92-125	75 g	180	153-199	NR

Table 1 Screening and diagnosis of GDM based on plasma or serum glucose values mg/dL

For the two-step approach all women are screened at 24–28 gestational weeks with a nonfasting 50 g glucose load test (GLT). If after 1 hour plasma glucose concentrations are \geq 140 mg/dL, women proceed to a fasting 100 g 3 hour oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) (step two). In general, the diagnosis of GDM requires at least two elevated OGTT values (ACOG Committee on Obstetric Practice 2018). In contrast, the one-step approach does not screen women, and instead utilizes a fasting 75 g 2 hour OGTT for all women, and a diagnosis of GDM is made if at least one elevated OGTT value is present (International Association of Diabetes Pregnancy Study Groups Consensus Panel et al. 2010).

Abbreviations: International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups (IADPSG); National Institute of Health (NIH); Not Required (NR); Carpenter Coustan (CC); National Diabetes Data Group (NDDG); Glucose Load Test (GLT)

*Requires two elevated values, endorsed by the American Congress of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) with any of the following thresholds for the 50 g GLT screen 130, 135, or 140 mg/ dL; ** Requires one elevated value, endorsed by the American Diabetes Association (ADA); World Health Organization (WHO) >200 mg/dl) (International Association of Diabetes Pregnancy Study Groups Consensus Panel et al. 2010; World Health Organization 2013). Screening for and diagnosis of GDM based on the maternal response to a glucose challenge test (GCT) or oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) are used to stratify pregnant women and their fetus to differing degrees of obstetric risk. While fasting glucose, GCT, and OGTT provide insight into the degree of hyperglycemia, they do not inform on whether hyperglycemia is driven by deficits in insulin sensitivity, insulin secretion, or other insulin signaling disruptors such as inflammation (Kirwan et al. 2002; Powe et al. 2020). Details on the drivers of hyperglycemia during pregnancy are an important area for future research and treatment efforts.

Metabolic Heterogeneity Among GDM Cases

Metabolic heterogeneity associated with the physiologic subtypes of GDM described above has been related to overlapping and distinct offspring health outcomes (Layton et al. 2019; Powe et al. 2016; Powe et al. 2021; White et al. 2020). GDM characterized by insulin resistance - which overlaps substantially with maternal overweight/obesity – has been associated with greater risk of large-for-gestational age, high birthweight, and neonatal hypoglycemia even after accounting for differences in maternal body mass index (BMI) (Powe et al. 2016). Emerging evidence indicates a detrimental effect of maternal hyperglycemia on offspring metabolism, even below thresholds of GDM (Francis et al. 2021; Heslehurst et al. 2007; Metzger et al. 2008; Perng et al. 2017; Perng et al. 2020; Shokry et al. 2019). Accordingly, such adverse offspring outcomes are apparent even among women with an abnormal GCT but who did not develop GDM based on a later 2 h OGTT (Selen et al. 2021). On the other hand, for cases of GDM characterized by beta-cell insufficiency – a suspected cause of GDM among women who are not overweight/ obese prior to pregnancy – perinatal outcomes show a similar trend to those among women with normal glucose tolerance (Liu et al. 2018; Powe et al. 2016; Selen et al. 2021). However, examining short- and long-term outcomes among subtypes of GDM has only just begun to be undertaken and findings from these few studies should not be taken as conclusive.

To understand the long-term maternal health risks within subtypes of GDM (i.e., driven by excess adiposity and insulin sensitivity deficiency vs. driven by beta-cell defects), polygenic risk scores for type 2 diabetes (T2D) have been used (Powe et al. 2019). Interestingly, although GDM with predominant insulin sensitivity deficits was associated with adverse short-term outcomes as discussed above, GDM driven by beta-cell insufficiency/insulin secretion deficiency, or a mix of the two, was associated with an increased genetic risk of T2D (Powe et al. 2019). In general, genetic variants associated with beta-cell function and lipid metabolism represent shared underpinnings between GDM and T2D (Ding et al. 2018; Kwak et al. 2012; Powe et al. 2021). However, effect sizes of genetic variants in relation to the risk of GDM tend to be relatively small (Berkowitz 2020; Ding et al. 2018; Kwak et al. 2012; Powe et al. 2021), and are not always related to the maternal and child health

consequences of GDM (Powe et al. 2021). Thus, there has been increased interest in new technology that can better capture the physiological precursors and outcomes associated with GDM.

Applications of Metabolomics in Gestational Diabetes Mellitus

Over the past 20 years, there has been substantial interest in the utility of metabolomics – the study of small endogenous molecules (metabolites) in biological tissue – for investigating the causes and consequences of GDM. This interest stems from the ability of metabolomics to capture the molecular phenotype that reflects both internal physiological conditions shaped by upstream "omics" (genomics, epigenomics, transcriptomics, and proteomics), as well as external exposures ranging from environmental toxicants to lifestyle behaviors. Metabolomics studies are broadly categorized as untargeted, which result in data on the relative concentrations of all measurable analytes within a biological sample, or targeted, which quantifies the physiological levels of a specific list of compounds of a priori interest and includes internal standards to derive absolute concentrations of each metabolite (McCabe and Perng 2017). In the following sections we discuss applications of metabolomics in GDM prevention/prediction, and treatment/prognosis.

Prevention/Prediction

Early identification of women at risk of developing GDM can help providers counsel women on adoption of healthy behaviors to circumvent progression to more severe hyperglycemia. However, as outlined above, GDM is a complex and heterogeneous pregnancy complication, and the use of metabolomics to distinguish between the etiological underpinnings of GDM is in nascent stages (Layton et al. 2019).

Among studies with maternal blood (serum/plasma) collected prior to GDM diagnosis (Bentley-Lewis et al. 2015; Chen et al. 2010; de Seymour et al. 2014; Diaz et al. 2011; Law et al. 2017b; Pinto et al. 2015), the data indicate that altered circulating levels of certain amino acids (e.g., alanine, glutamine/glutamate, betaine, and creatine metabolism) (Bentley-Lewis et al. 2015; Diaz et al. 2011; Pinto et al. 2015), long-chain fatty acids (LCFA) (e.g., palmitoleic and myristic) (Chen et al. 2010), and glycolytic intermediates (e.g., pyruvate and lactate) (Pinto et al. 2015) (Fig. 2) may be hallmarks of GDM risk. In addition, lower levels of phospholipids rich with unsaturated fatty acids have also been noted among women who develop GDM (Law et al. 2017b), whereas higher concentrations of glycolipids have been associated with higher GDM risk (Lu et al. 2016; Rahman et al. 2021b). Although higher levels of branched-chain amino acids (BCAA)s have been implicated in disruptions to glucose-insulin homeostasis and risk of T2D (Tobias et al. 2018), only one study conducted prior to GDM (Pinto et al. 2015).



Amino Acids Carbohydrate Energy Lipids/Fatty Acids Nucleotide

Fig. 2 Overview of metabolites in early pregnancy associated with increased GDM risk. Data are from studies where blood was collected prior to diagnostic screen for GDM. Data are presented as superclass, subclass, and biochemical name with size of box indicating great metabolites identified in that class. + positive association; – negative association

Despite differences in the platform approach (untargeted vs. targeted) and analytical instrumentation (nuclear magnetic resonance [NMR] vs. mass spectrometry [MS]), timing of blood collection (first vs. second trimester), study population (American, European, and Asian), and diagnostic criteria (IADPSG vs. CC), alterations in amino acid, LCFA, and glycolysis pathways appear to precede a diagnosis of GDM. These findings align with metabolomics analyses of obesity and insulin resistance from studies in nonpregnant populations (Gonzalez-Franquesa et al. 2016), and suggest that perturbances in amino acid and fatty acid metabolism contribute to development of deficiencies in insulin sensitivity during pregnancy. However, whether this contributes to insulin sensitivity irrespective of etiological differences in GDM is yet to be determined.

An additional utility of metabolomics is that it also captures sources of metabolic heterogeneity from external (nonphysiological) factors including but not limited to environmental exposures, social circumstance, and lifestyle behaviors, and thus has been used to discriminate women who will develop GDM regardless of demographic characteristics. However, the extent to which these metabolites add predictive value beyond conventional risk factors for GDM such as obesity, family history of diabetes, and race/ethnicity requires formal assessment. In a study conducted among 357 racially homogenous Finnish women with overweight/obesity, 18% of whom had a family risk of diabetes, small high-density lipoprotein (HDL) particles had the greater value for predicting GDM than prepregnancy BMI (area under the curve [AUC] [95% CI]: 0.71 [0.66, 0.77] vs. 0.56 [0.48, 0.63]) (Mokkala et al. 2020). Similarly, higher levels of small HDL particles in early pregnancy (15–18 gestational weeks) clearly distinguished women who developed GDM among a

racially diverse sample of 646 obese women from the UK (White et al. 2017). These data demonstrate the power of metabolomics to provide novel insights into the features of disease onset, beyond conventional assessments of risk. Future studies are warranted to replicate studies like these and determine whether the application of a single class of metabolites has clinical utility beyond usual clinical assessments.

Treatment/Prognosis

The application of metabolomics in guiding GDM treatment, monitoring of adherence, and evaluating prognosis has yet to be realized. We propose that an important first step is using metabolomics to profile women at or near the time of GDM diagnosis to obtain a better understanding of the metabolic profile of GDM which has implications for associated complications and long-term outcomes.

Amino Acid Profile

Recently, a spotlight has been turned on BCAAs (leucine, isoleucine, and valine) and their metabolic by-products in relation to GDM. This is due to growing evidence that BCAAs are associated with markers of glucose-insulin metabolism (including T2D), and improve prediction of incident T2D above and beyond traditional risk factors (e.g., BMI and fasting glucose) (Lynch and Adams 2014; Wang et al. 2011; Würtz et al. 2013). Most metabolomics studies conducted at the time of GDM diagnosis or later in pregnancy have identified differences in amino acid metabolism among women with GDM, and some but not all have identified higher levels of BCAAs among women with GDM (Dudzik et al. 2014; Hajduk et al. 2015; Lehmann et al. 2015; Liu et al. 2016; Scholtens et al. 2014). A recent meta-analysis demonstrated that women with GDM had significantly higher levels of all three BCAAs (standardized mean difference [SMD] [95% CI]: leucine = 3.76 [1.70, 5.82]; isoleucine = 3.15, [1.42, 4.87]; value = 2.77 [1.21, 4.32]) compared to normoglycemic women (Zhao et al. 2019). Beyond BCAAs, higher levels of other amino acids including alanine, aspartate, creatine, and tyrosine, as well as alterations in glutathione metabolism have been observed in women with GDM compared to normoglycemic controls (Dudzik et al. 2014; Hajduk et al. 2015; Liu et al. 2016; Scholtens et al. 2014). Lower levels of compounds from the metabolism of glycine, serine, threenine, histidine, and tryptophan have been shown to contribute to the profile of women with GDM (Dudzik et al. 2014; Law et al. 2017a; Lehmann et al. 2015; Leitner et al. 2017; Liu et al. 2016). Taken together, current evidence indicates that GDM is associated with altered activity in pathways of amino acid metabolism and that future work is needed to understand if targeting BCAAs and other amino acids can improve glucose metabolism.

Amino Acids and Applications to GDM Treatment

Although insulin sensitizing medications (e.g., metformin) decrease alanine and phenylalanine in nonpregnant overweight/obese individuals with impaired fasting glucose (Irving et al. 2015), these findings do not completely align with emerging

A randomized controlled trial data in pregnant women. comparing insulin vs. metformin among women with GDM reported lower glutamine and higher phenylalanine at 22–24 gestational weeks (prior to treatment assignment) among women who went on to require medication compared to women who were able to maintain glucose levels with diet changes alone (Huhtala et al. 2018). Although glucose control was achieved in both treatment groups, BCAA isoleucine (median 11% vs. 5%, P = 0.04) and alanine (mean 16% vs. 8%, P < 0.01) had increased more by 36 gestational weeks in the metformin group. In this study, when insulin and metformin groups were combined, alanine levels at 36 gestational weeks were positively associated with birth weight and this effect was mostly explained by the 83% stronger association among those randomized to metformin. In another trial among overweight/obese pregnant women, an NMR metabolomics platform was used to analyze the serum metabolite profile of women treated with diet only versus those treated with insulin, metformin, or both (Mokkala et al. 2020). Although all treatment groups had significant reductions in glucose concentrations, there remained significant differences in the amino acid metabolomics profile of women treated with medication. Taken together, if BCAAs and other amino acids are implicated in the health outcomes associated with GDM, comprehensive treatments that target more than glucose levels are needed. However, it is important to note that in both studies no comparisons of the birth outcomes among the diet-controlled GDM group were made and thus whether lifestyle interventions impact BCAAs was not reported.

Differences in metabolite profiles following differing treatment regimes with the shared goal of reducing glucose levels may reflect treatment-specific effects on metabolism as well as heterogeneity in GDM etiology. With respect to the latter, women who require insulin sensitizing treatment such as metformin tend to represent a group that aligns more closely with deficits in insulin sensitivity as these women typically have greater adiposity (Kelley et al. 2015), and it is plausible that these differences remain apparent in circulating metabolites even after treatment. Although current clinical practice focuses on normalizing glucose levels, metabolomics and amino acid profiling of women treated with medication indicate that this glucose-centric treatment approach does little to impact the other components of their aberrant metabolic profile. This may have consequences for later health outcomes such as progression to T2D (Lynch and Adams 2014). Whether BCAA or metabolites from other classes of amino acids can be used as indicators of ideal candidates for treatment response during pregnancy requires further study.

Amino Acids and Applications to GDM Prognosis

Metabolomics has been applied with the objective of identifying early diagnostic biomarkers, predictors, and insight into the transition from GDM to T2D. In one of the first studies to use metabolomics in prediction of progressing from GDM to T2D over 2 years of follow-up, several BCAAs and 2-aminoadipic acid were significantly elevated at 6–9 weeks postpartum among women who later developed T2D (Allalou et al. 2016). When metabolites in the amino acid class were combined with other metabolite classes in a predictive model, the accuracy of prediction was superior to

that of a model that included clinical parameters including BMI, fasting glucose, insulin, and homeostatic model assessment for insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) (AUC: 0.77 vs. 0.71). In a follow-up study within this same cohort, changes in metabolites across the 2 years of follow-up were examined to assess the metabolic paths preceding T2D onset (Lai et al. 2020). Amino acid metabolites decreased in all women over follow-up; however, there was a smaller decrease in these metabolites among the incident T2D cases, suggesting that higher levels of these compounds are associated with greater risk of progression to T2D. Similarly, higher levels of BCAAs have been linked to glucose disorders (prediabetes and T2D) in a study using blood collected during pregnancy (Liu et al. 2021). In this study, independent of risk factors for T2D such as family history of diabetes, maternal age, smoking, alcohol use, and BMI, the ratio of leucine/isoleucine in pregnancy was positively associated with 2 hr glucose, HOMA-IR, and disorders of glucose metabolism (prediabetes and T2D) 10–14 years later. While preliminary, these data indicate that BCAAs levels in pregnancy and postpartum improve the prediction of incident T2D among women with a history of GDM, beyond the usual clinical parameters.

Lipid Profile

Prior studies point to differences in the maternal lipid profile in association with disrupted glucose-insulin homeostasis during pregnancy (Ryckman et al. 2015). In general, metabolomics studies align with these findings and provide a more nuanced understanding of the lipid metabolism pathways involved. GDM has been associated with higher levels of 3-hydroxybutyrate, carnitine and its esters (Liu et al. 2021; Sun et al. 2020), medium- and long-chain acyl- and acetyl carnitines (Lehmann et al. 2015; Liu et al. 2016; Liu et al. 2021), and glycerolipids such as triglyceride (48:1, 51:1) (Lu et al. 2016; Rahman et al. 2021b). Studies have also reported associations of numerous phospholipid subclass such as phosphatidylcholines (PC) and phosphatidylethanolamine (PE), as well as their lysolecithin (LPC) and lysocephalin (LPE) by-products with GDM (Dudzik et al. 2014; Law et al. 2017b; Liu et al. 2016; Rahman et al. 2021a). However, the direction of association tends to differ based on whether the phospholipid is rich in unsaturated FAs (lower levels) and the type of acyl carbon double bond, with those having ester and ether linkages showing lower levels among women with GDM (Rahman et al. 2021b).

Lipids and Applications to GDM Treatment

Lipid profiles may be key to distinguishing some subtypes of GDM. Women with GDM characterized by deficits in insulin sensitivity had significantly higher triglycerides (2.20 vs. 1.82, P = 0.002) and higher nonesterified fatty acids (NEFA;0.34 vs. 0.24, P < 0.0001), whereas women with GDM and a predominant insulin secretion deficit differed from normoglycemic women with respect to NEFA (0.32 vs. 0.24, P = 0.003) only (Layton et al. 2019) despite the fact that the proportion of women who received insulin treatment did not differ by GDM subtypes. These data suggest that even among women with differing etiologies of GDM, a proportion may require insulin therapy regardless of subtype, or that more tailored treatment approaches are needed. In addition, traditional lipid biomarkers such as total triglycerides may not provide the detail needed to potentially inform treatment within subtypes. In a study with metabolomics data at multiple time points in pregnancy (pre- and post-diagnosis of GDM), a sophisticated data reduction approach was used and an interconnected lipid network comprised of cholesterol esters, PCs, and long polyunsaturated triglycerides that was negatively associated with GDM was identified (Rahman et al. 2021b). Importantly, a higher score for this network was associated with lower c-peptide levels, which is a marker of insulin secretion and could indicate a stronger relationship of this lipid network with an insulin secretion deficit subtype. When analyses were stratified by GDM treatment, the negative association of this lipid metabolite network with GDM was only significant among women who received a diet and lifestyle intervention compared to antihyperglycemic medication. These findings suggest that lipid metabolites rather than traditional lipid biomarkers may facilitate early determination of treatment regime within subtypes of GDM.

Lipids and Applications to GDM Prognosis

Lipid imbalances during pregnancy may be markers for future T2D risk (Erion et al. 2016). A few recent studies have applied metabolomics using blood collected during pregnancy or postpartum to assess the relationship of lipid metabolites in the progression to postpartum hyperglycemia and T2D. Among women with blood collection 6–9 weeks postpartum, higher concentrations of triglyceride lipid species and lower levels of cholesterol esters, ceramides, FFA, lactosylceramides, PE, LPC, LPE, and sphingomyelin lipid species were associated with T2D risk during 2 years of follow-up (Khan et al. 2019). In contrast, among women with blood collected 12 weeks postpartum cholesterol esters, ceramides, and PCs all showed positive associations with incident T2D during 10 years of follow-up (Lappas et al. 2015), suggesting some amount of transiency either in metabolite profiles during the postpartum period and/or differential underlying causes of T2D occurring within 2 years versus within 10 years of pregnancy. Finally, in a study that implemented metabolomics profiling of fasting blood collected during pregnancy, long-chain acylcarnitines, acetylcarnitine, and 3-hydroxybutyrate were positively associated with fasting glucose and insulin resistance between 10 and 14 years postpartum (Liu et al. 2021). Yet, despite significant associations of individual metabolites with T2D risk, no single metabolite nor combination of metabolites improved prediction of incident T2D over follow-up when compared to clinical factors such as prepregnancy BMI or family history of diabetes. Moreover, in this study (Liu et al. 2021) and others (Khan et al. 2019; Lappas et al. 2015), when multiple metabolites from blood collected during pregnancy were pooled, there was minimal improvement in the prediction of a glucose disorder 10-14 years later (AUC: 0.71 vs. 0.73). The lack of improvement in predictive capacity could be due to several factors, the primary one being heterogeneity in the etiology of GDM which likely has implications for subsequent T2D risk. Other explanations include statistically significant but biologically irrelevant effect sizes of individual metabolites, and inappropriate analytical methods to identify metabolites of interest (Khan et al. 2019; Lappas et al. 2015).

Carbohydrates

Unsurprisingly, GDM is associated with differences in fasting and postprandial glucose levels, and glycemic control following GDM diagnosis is the determinant for whether antidiabetic medications or lifestyle interventions are prescribed. Some metabolomics studies have identified differences in metabolites from fructose classes and glycolysis among women with GDM (Dudzik et al. 2014; Pinto et al. 2015; Scholtens et al. 2014). Of increasing interest is 1,5-anhydroglucitol (1,5-AG) given its clinical utility in nonpregnant diabetes patients. In hyperglycemia, 1,5-AG competes for renal reabsorption resulting in greater urinary excretion and lower serum levels of 1.5-AG. In line with this, a study using metabolomics from blood collected at the time of GDM diagnosis reported lower levels of 1,5-AG among women with high levels of fasting glucose (Scholtens et al. 2014). However, due to a decrease in the threshold for glucose in the kidney during pregnancy it is possible that a reduction in serum 1,5-AG does not necessarily reflect glycemic control in pregnancy (Hashimoto and Koga 2015). Whether metabolomics can add to our knowledge of disturbances in carbohydrate metabolism associated with GDM, beyond pathways of glucose disposal, has yet to be determined. In fact, as previously mentioned, glucose levels and risk factors for insulin resistance (e.g., obesity) are the major determinants for GDM treatment and prognosis of short- and long-term complications ("Gestational Diabetes Mellitus," 2003).

Future Directions

Metabolomics has improved our knowledge of the etiology and pathogenesis of GDM. However, there is room for growth in its application and clinical relevance. First, given that GDM is a heterogeneous disease and is assessed with inconsistent diagnostic criteria, more research is needed to untangle differences in risk, etiology, and prognosis for differing subtypes of GDM. Second, differences in approaches to metabolomics profiling (targeted vs. untargeted), platform (MS vs. NMR), timing, and fasting state at sample collection make it difficult to reconcile differences in findings across studies (Playdon et al. 2019). Third, replication and validation of findings in populations with different distributions of GDM risk factors are needed. Complicating replication is a lack of uniformity in the statistical techniques applied in metabolomics. Considering the increasing number of computational tools being developed to analyze and interpret metabolomics dataset, a consensus on metabolomics methodology is greatly needed (Perng and Aslibekyan 2020). This latter point has made scientific inference difficult and stymied many researchers' efforts in using metabolomics to unveil novel biomarkers of GDM risk and prognostic predictors.

Future studies should consider the influence of dietary intake on metabolite levels, particularly amino acids and fatty acids. As such, studies assessing whether dietary therapeutics can alter the metabolites of interest outlined herein are needed. Similarly, research on other modifiable determinates of metabolites, such as physical activity, could inform whether specific lifestyle behaviors differentially impact metabolite pathways, and thus support the creation of more tailored interventions. In addition, large-scale epidemiological studies with metabolomics profiling in target tissues directly relevant to in utero programming will enhance causal inference, and could assist in untangling the overlap in subtypes of GDM. For example, in a study where sphingomyelins were observed to be lower among women with GDM, mice with inhibited sphingolipid biosynthesis demonstrated impacts on late-phase insulin sensitivity pointing to disturbances in hepatic glucose metabolism (Khan et al. 2019). Studies of this nature can inform whether the functionality of tissues directly or indirectly involved in insulin resistance are impacted by disturbances in the metabolite pathways identified with metabolomics studies.

Finally, a few studies discussed in this chapter have combined metabolomics with proteomics (Hajduk et al. 2015) and lipodomics (Law et al. 2017b; Rahman et al. 2021b). Given the complexity of physiological processes, use of such multi-omics approaches will provide a more holistic view of metabolic processes involved in the etiology and prognosis of GDM. Future studies using multi-omics/integrative-omics approaches are an important next step in the application of metabolomics to identify key molecular drivers of glucose disturbances in pregnancy, though a critical first step is to invest in and develop methods for systems biological approaches. The strength of metabolomics is that it reflects both internal physiology and additional sources of metabolic heterogeneity from environmental exposures, social circumstance, and lifestyle behaviors. These strengths of metabolomics complement classic studies aimed at understanding causes and consequences of GDM which in turn may provide insight into the prevention, diagnosis, treatment, and prognosis of GDM.

Mini-Dictionary of Terms

- Gestational diabetes mellitus a common pregnancy complication characterized by glucose intolerance with first recognition or onset in pregnancy.
- Hyperglycemia high blood glucose.
- Insulin sensitivity loss of cellular sensitivity to insulin in key tissues for disposal of glucose such as skeletal muscle, liver, and adipose tissue.
- Insulin secretion the release of insulin from pancreatic beta-cells, primarily in response to glucose levels.
- Metabolomics the study of small endogenous molecules (metabolites) in biological tissue.
- · Heterogenous etiology a medical condition with several root causes.
- Amino acid profile leucine, isoleucine, valine, alanine, aspartate, creatine, tyrosine, alterations in glutathione, glycine, serine, threonine, histidine, and tryptophan metabolism.
- Lipid profile 3-hydroxybutyrate, carnitine and its esters, medium- and longchain acyl- and acetyl carnitines, glycerolipids, phospholipid subclass such as phosphatidylcholines, and phosphatidylethanolamine, as well as their lysolecithin and lysocephalin by-products.

Key Facts of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus

- Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) affects between 5% and 15% of pregnant women globally.
- A key feature of GDM is elevated glucose levels during the latter half of pregnancy; however, GDM is a heterogenous condition with key phenotypic differences in the predominate drivers of elevated glucose namely deficits in insulin sensitivity, which is often associated with obesity, and deficits in insulin secretion.
- GDM is associated with short- and long-term health consequences for both the mother and offspring such as elevated risk of obesity and T2D.
- Metabolomics studies have shown that GDM is accompanied by differences in amino acid and lipid metabolites, and some of these differences are associated with women's risk of progressing to T2D postpartum.

Summary Points

- Screening for and diagnosis of GDM based on current diagnostic criteria do not provide insight whether hyperglycemia is driven by deficits in insulin sensitivity, insulin secretion, or a combination of both.
- Prior to GDM diagnosis, studies indicate that altered circulating levels of certain amino acids (e.g., alanine, glutamine/glutamate, betaine, and creatine metabolism), long-chain fatty acids (LCFA) (e.g., palmitoleic and myristic), and glycolytic intermediates (e.g., pyruvate and lactate) may be hallmarks of future GDM risk.
- Current evidence collected at GDM diagnosis indicates that GDM is associated with altered activity in pathways of amino acid metabolism and future work is needed to understand if targeting BCAAs and other amino acids can improve glucose metabolism and prognosis.
- Use of multiple metabolites in conjenction with clinical factors versus a single metabolite has a better predictive value for assessing future risk of T2D among women with a prior GDM pregnancy.
- The strength of metabolomics is that it reflects both internal physiology and additional sources of metabolic heterogeneity from environmental exposures, social circumstance, and lifestyle behaviors, which compliments classic studies aimed at understanding causes and consequences of GDM.
- The application of metabolomics in guiding GDM treatment, monitoring of adherence, and evaluating prognosis has yet to be realized, and an important first step is using metabolomics to profile women at or near the time of GDM diagnosis to obtain a better understanding of the metabolic profile of GDM which has implications for associated complications and long-term outcomes.

References

ACOG Committee on Obstetric Practice. ACOG practice bulletin no. 190: gestational diabetes mellitus. Obstet Gynecol. 2018;131(2):e49-64. https://doi.org/10.1097/aog. 000000000002501.

- Aerts L, Van Assche FA. Animal evidence for the transgenerational development of diabetes mellitus. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2006;38(5):894–903. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2005. 07.006.
- Allalou A, Nalla A, Prentice KJ, Liu Y, Zhang M, Dai FF, ... Wheeler MB. A predictive metabolic signature for the transition from gestational diabetes mellitus to type 2 diabetes. Diabetes. 2016;65(9):2529–2539. https://doi.org/10.2337/db15-1720.
- American Diabetes Association. Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Care. 2010;33(Suppl 1):S62–9. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc10-S062.
- Barbour LA, McCurdy CE, Hernandez TL, Kirwan JP, Catalano PM, Friedman JE. Cellular mechanisms for insulin resistance in Normal pregnancy and gestational diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2007;30(Supplement 2):S112. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc07-s202.
- Bardenheier BH, Imperatore G, Gilboa SM, Geiss LS, Saydah SH, Devlin HM, ... Gregg EW. Trends in gestational diabetes among hospital deliveries in 19 U.S. States, 2000–2010. Am J Prev Med. 2015;49(1):12–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2015.01.026.
- Bentley-Lewis R, Huynh J, Xiong G, Lee H, Wenger J, Clish C, ... Gerszten R. Metabolomic profiling in the prediction of gestational diabetes mellitus. Diabetologia. 2015;58(6):1329– 1332. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-015-3553-4.
- Berkowitz A. Playing the genome card. J Neurogenet. 2020;34(1):189–97. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 01677063.2019.1706093.
- Catalano PM, Shankar K. Obesity and pregnancy: mechanisms of short term and long term adverse consequences for mother and child. BMJ. 2017;356:j1. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.j1.
- Chen X, Scholl TO, Leskiw M, Savaille J, Stein TP. Differences in maternal circulating fatty acid composition and dietary fat intake in women with gestational diabetes mellitus or mild gestational hyperglycemia. Diabetes Care. 2010;33(9):2049–54. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc10-0693.
- Clausen TD, Mathiesen ER, Hansen T, Pedersen O, Jensen DM, Lauenborg J, Damm P. High prevalence of type 2 diabetes and pre-diabetes in adult offspring of women with gestational diabetes mellitus or type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2008;31(2):340. https://doi.org/10.2337/ dc07-1596.
- Clausen TD, Mathiesen ER, Hansen T, Pedersen O, Jensen DM, Lauenborg J, ... Damm P. Overweight and the metabolic syndrome in adult offspring of women with diet-treated gestational diabetes mellitus or type 1 diabetes. J Clin Endocrinol Metabol. 2009;94(7):2464–2470. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2009-0305.
- Clausen TD, Kelstrup L, Damm P, Mathiesen ER, Vaag AA, Pedersen O, Hansen T. Insulin resistance and impaired pancreatic β-cell function in adult offspring of women with diabetes in pregnancy. J Clin Endocrinol Metabol. 2013;98(9):3793–801. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc. 2013-1536%J.
- Dabelea D, Hanson RL, Lindsay RS, Pettitt DJ, Imperatore G, Gabir MM, ... Knowler WC. Intrauterine exposure to diabetes conveys risks for type 2 diabetes and obesity: a study of discordant sibships. Diabetes. 2000;49(12):2208. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.49.12. 2208.
- Daly B, Toulis KA, Thomas N, Gokhale K, Martine J, Webber J, ... Nirantharakumar K. Increased risk of ischemic heart disease, hypertension, and type 2 diabetes in women with previous gestational diabetes mellitus, a target group in general practice for preventive interventions: a population-based cohort study. PLoS Med. 2018;15(1):e1002488. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pmed.1002488.
- de Seymour JV, Conlon CA, Sulek K, Villas Boas SG, McCowan LM, Kenny LC, Baker PN. Early pregnancy metabolite profiling discovers a potential biomarker for the subsequent development of gestational diabetes mellitus. Acta Diabetol. 2014;51(5):887–90. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00592-014-0626-7.
- Diaz SO, Pinto J, Graca G, Duarte IF, Barros AS, Galhano E, ... Gil AM. Metabolic biomarkers of prenatal disorders: an exploratory NMR metabonomics study of second trimester maternal urine and blood plasma. J Proteome Res. 2011;10(8):3732–3742. https://doi.org/10.1021/ pr200352m.

- Ding M, Chavarro J, Olsen S, Lin Y, Ley SH, Bao W, ... Zhang C. Genetic variants of gestational diabetes mellitus: a study of 112 SNPs among 8722 women in two independent populations. Diabetologia. 2018;61(8):1758–1768. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-018-4637-8.
- Dudzik D, Zorawski M, Skotnicki M, Zarzycki W, Kozlowska G, Bibik-Malinowska K, ... Ramos MP. Metabolic fingerprint of gestational diabetes mellitus. J Proteome. 2014;103:57–71. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jprot.2014.03.025.
- Erion DM, Park H-J, Lee H-Y. The role of lipids in the pathogenesis and treatment of type 2 diabetes and associated co-morbidities. BMB Rep. 2016;49(3):139–48. https://doi.org/10.5483/bmbrep. 2016.49.3.268.
- Ferrara A. Increasing prevalence of gestational diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Care. 2007;30(Supplement 2):S141. Retrieved from http://care.diabetesjournals.org/content/30/Supplement_2/S141. abstract
- Francis EC, Dabelea D, Ringham BM, Sauder KA, Perng W. Maternal blood glucose level and offspring glucose–insulin homeostasis: what is the role of offspring adiposity? Diabetologia. 2020; https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-020-05294-2.
- Francis, EC, Kechris K, Rahman ML, Dabelea D, Perng W. Differences in metabolite levels across adolescence underlie in utero exposure to maternal obesity or gestational diabetes mellitus: a prospective study in the EPOCH cohort. Paper presented at the understanding risk and causal mechanisms for developing obesity in infants and young children, virtual. 2021. https://www.niddk.nih.gov/news/meetings-workshops/2021/think-tank-meeting?abstracts
- Gestational Diabetes Mellitus. Diabetes Care. 2003;26(suppl 1):s103. https://doi.org/10.2337/ diacare.26.2007.S103.
- Gonzalez-Franquesa A, Burkart AM, Isganaitis E, Patti M-E. What have metabolomics approaches taught us about type 2 diabetes? Curr Diab Rep. 2016;16(8):74. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11892-016-0763-1.
- Hajduk J, Klupczynska A, Derezinski P, Matysiak J, Kokot P, Nowak DM, ... Kokot ZJ. A combined Metabolomic and proteomic analysis of gestational diabetes mellitus. Int J Mol Sci. 2015;16(12):30034–30045. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms161226133.
- Hashimoto K, Koga M. Indicators of glycemic control in patients with gestational diabetes mellitus and pregnant women with diabetes mellitus. World J Diabetes. 2015;6(8):1045–56. https://doi. org/10.4239/wjd.v6.i8.1045.
- Hernandez TL, Friedman JE, Barbour LA. Insulin resistance in pregnancy: implications for mother and offspring. In: Zeitler PS, Nadeau KJ, editors. Insulin resistance: childhood precursors of adult disease. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2020. p. 67–94.
- Heslehurst N, Ells LJ, Simpson H, Batterham A, Wilkinson J, Summerbell CD. Trends in maternal obesity incidence rates, demographic predictors, and health inequalities in 36 821 women over a 15-year period. BJOG Int J Obstet Gynaecol. 2007;114(2):187–94. https://doi.org/10.1111/j. 1471-0528.2006.01180.x.
- Huhtala MS, Tertti K, Pellonperä O, Rönnemaa T. Amino acid profile in women with gestational diabetes mellitus treated with metformin or insulin. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2018;146:8–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2018.09.014.
- International Association of Diabetes Pregnancy Study Groups Consensus Panel, Metzger BE, Gabbe SG, Persson B, Buchanan TA, Catalano PA, ... Schmidt MI. International association of diabetes and pregnancy study groups recommendations on the diagnosis and classification of hyperglycemia in pregnancy. Diabetes Care. 201033(3):676–682. https://doi.org/10.2337/ dc09-1848.
- Irving BA, Carter RE, Soop M, Weymiller A, Syed H, Karakelides H, ... Nair KS. Effect of insulin sensitizer therapy on amino acids and their metabolites. Metabolism. 2015;64(6):720–728. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2015.01.008.
- Kelley KW, Carroll DG, Meyer A. A review of current treatment strategies for gestational diabetes mellitus. Drugs Context. 2015;4:212282. https://doi.org/10.7573/dic.212282.
- Khan SR, Mohan H, Liu Y, Batchuluun B, Gohil H, Al Rijjal D, ... Wheeler MB. The discovery of novel predictive biomarkers and early-stage pathophysiology for the transition from gestational

diabetes to type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2019;62(4):687–703. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-018-4800-2.

- Kim SY, England L, Wilson HG, Bish C, Satten GA, Dietz P. Percentage of gestational diabetes mellitus attributable to overweight and obesity. Am J Public Health. 2010;100(6):1047–52. https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2009.172890.
- Kirwan JP, Hauguel-De Mouzon S, Lepercq J, Challier J-C, Huston-Presley L, Friedman JE, ... Catalano PM. TNF-α is a predictor of insulin resistance in human pregnancy. Diabetes. 2002;51 (7):2207. Retrieved from http://diabetes.diabetesjournals.org/content/51/7/2207.abstract
- Kwak SH, Kim S-H, Cho YM, Go MJ, Cho YS, Choi SH, ... Park KS. A genome-wide association study of gestational diabetes mellitus in Korean women. Diabetes. 2012;61(2):531. https://doi. org/10.2337/db11-1034.
- Lai M, Liu Y, Ronnett GV, Wu A, Cox BJ, Dai FF, ... Wheeler MB. Amino acid and lipid metabolism in post-gestational diabetes and progression to type 2 diabetes: a metabolic profiling study. PLoS Med. 2020;17(5):e1003112. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1003112.
- Lappas M, Mundra PA, Wong G, Huynh K, Jinks D, Georgiou HM, ... Meikle PJ. The prediction of type 2 diabetes in women with previous gestational diabetes mellitus using lipidomics. Diabetologia. 201558(7):1436–1442. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-015-3587-7.
- Law KP, Han T-L, Mao X, Zhang H. Tryptophan and purine metabolites are consistently upregulated in the urinary metabolome of patients diagnosed with gestational diabetes mellitus throughout pregnancy: a longitudinal metabolomics study of Chinese pregnant women part 2. Clin Chim Acta. 2017a;468:126–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cca.2017.02.018.
- Law KP, Mao X, Han TL, Zhang H. Unsaturated plasma phospholipids are consistently lower in the patients diagnosed with gestational diabetes mellitus throughout pregnancy: a longitudinal metabolomics study of Chinese pregnant women part 1. Clin Chim Acta. 2017b;465:53–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cca.2016.12.010.
- Layton J, Powe C, Allard C, Battista MC, Doyon M, Bouchard L, ... Hivert MF. Maternal lipid profile differs by gestational diabetes physiologic subtype. Metab Clin Exp. 2019;91:39–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2018.11.008.
- Lehmann R, Friedrich T, Krebiehl G, Sonntag D, Haering HU, Fritsche A, Hennige AM. Metabolic profiles during an Oral glucose tolerance test in pregnant women with and without gestational diabetes. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes. 2015;123(7):433–8. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0035-1549887.
- Leitner M, Fragner L, Danner S, Holeschofsky N, Leaner K, Tischler S, ... Weckwerth W. Combined Metabolomic analysis of plasma and urine reveals AHBA, tryptophan and serotonin metabolism as potential risk factors in gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM). Front Mol Biosci. 2017;4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmolb.2017.00084.
- Liu T, Li J, Xu F, Wang M, Ding S, Xu H, Dong F. Comprehensive analysis of serum metabolites in gestational diabetes mellitus by UPLC/Q-TOF-MS. Anal Bioanal Chem. 2016;408(4):1125–35. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-015-9211-3.
- Liu YF, Hou WL, Meng XY, Zhao WJ, Pan JM, Tang JL, ... Liu F. Heterogeneity of insulin resistance and beta cell dysfunction in gestational diabetes mellitus: a prospective cohort study of perinatal outcomes. J Transl Med. 2018;16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12967-018-1666-5.
- Liu Y, Kuang A, Bain JR, Muehlbauer MJ, Ilkayeva OR, Lowe LP, ... Lowe WL Jr. Maternal metabolites associated with gestational diabetes mellitus and a postpartum disorder of glucose metabolism. J Clin Endocrinol Metabol. 2021. https://doi.org/10.1210/clinem/dgab513.
- Long H, Cundy T. Establishing consensus in the diagnosis of gestational diabetes following HAPO: where do we stand? Curr Diab Rep. 2013;13(1):43–50. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11892-012-0330-3.
- Lowe WL Jr, Scholtens DM, Lowe LP, Kuang A, Nodzenski M, Talbot O, ... Group, f. t. H. F.-u. S. C. R. Association of Gestational Diabetes with Maternal Disorders of glucose metabolism and childhood adiposity. JAMA. 2018;320(10):1005–1016. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2018.11628%J.
- Lu L, Koulman A, Petry CJ, Jenkins B, Matthews L, Hughes IA, ... Dunger DB. An unbiased Lipidomics approach identifies early second trimester lipids predictive of maternal glycemic traits and gestational diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Care. 2016;39(12):2232. https://doi.org/10. 2337/dc16-0863.

- Lynch CJ, Adams SH. Branched-chain amino acids in metabolic signalling and insulin resistance. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2014;10(12):723–36. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2014.171.
- McCabe CF, Perng W. Metabolomics of diabetes in pregnancy. Curr Diab Rep. 2017;17(8) https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11892-017-0890-3.
- McIntyre HD, Metzger BE, Coustan DR, Dyer AR, Hadden DR, Hod M, ... Persson B. Counterpoint: establishing consensus in the diagnosis of GDM following the HAPO study. Curr Diab Rep. 2014;14(6):497. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11892-014-0497-x.
- McIntyre HD, Catalano P, Zhang C, Desoye G, Mathiesen ER, Damm P. Gestational diabetes mellitus. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2019;5(1):47. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41572-019-0098-8.
- Metzger BE, Buchanan TA, Coustan DR, de Leiva A, Dunger DB, Hadden DR, ... Zoupas C. Summary and recommendations of the fifth international workshop-conference on gestational diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Care. 2007;30(Supplement 2):S251. https://doi.org/10.2337/ dc07-s225.
- Metzger BE, Lowe LP, Dyer AR, Trimble ER, Chaovarindr U, Coustan DR, ... Sacks DA. Hyperglycemia and adverse pregnancy outcomes. N Engl J Med. 2008;358(19):1991– 2002. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0707943.
- Mokkala K, Vahlberg T, Pellonpera O, Houttu N, Koivuniemi E, Laitinen K. Distinct metabolic profile in early pregnancy of overweight and obese women developing gestational diabetes. J Nutr. 2020;150(1):31–7. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/nxz220.
- O'Sullivan JB, Mahan CM. Criteria for the oral glucose tolerance test in pregnancy. Diabetes. 1964;13:278–85.
- Perng W, Aslibekyan S. Find the needle in the haystack, then find it again: replication and validation in the 'Omics Era. Meta. 2020;10(7) https://doi.org/10.3390/metabo10070286.
- Perng W, Rifas-Shiman SL, McCulloch S, Chatzi L, Mantzoros C, Hivert MF, Oken E. Associations of cord blood metabolites with perinatal characteristics, newborn anthropometry, and cord blood hormones in project viva. Metabolism. 2017;76:11–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2017. 07.001.
- Perng W, Ringham BM, Smith HA, Michelotti G, Kechris KM, Dabelea D. A prospective study of associations between in utero exposure to gestational diabetes mellitus and metabolomic profiles during late childhood and adolescence. Diabetologia. 2020;63(2):296–312. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s00125-019-05036-z.
- Pinto J, Almeida LM, Martins AS, Duarte D, Barros AS, Galhano E, ... Gil AM. Prediction of gestational diabetes through NMR metabolomics of maternal blood. J Proteome Res. 2015;14 (6):2696–2706. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jproteome.5b00260.
- Plagemann A. Perinatal programming and functional teratogenesis: impact on body weight regulation and obesity. Physiol Behav. 2005;86(5):661–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2005.08.065.
- Playdon MC, Joshi AD, Tabung FK, Cheng S, Henglin M, Kim A, ... Zeleznik OA. Metabolomics analytics workflow for epidemiological research: perspectives from the consortium of metabolomics studies (COMETS). Meta. 2019;9(7). https://doi.org/10.3390/metabo9070145.
- Powe CE, Allard C, Battista M-C, Doyon M, Bouchard L, Ecker JL, . . . Hivert M-F. Heterogeneous contribution of insulin sensitivity and secretion defects to gestational diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Care. 2016;39:1052–1055.
- Powe C, Allard C, Perron P, Bouchard L, Florez J, Hivert M-F. SAT-123 burden of type 2 diabetes genetic risk alleles differs among physiologic subtypes of gestational diabetes mellitus. J Endocr Soc. 2019;3(Supplement 1) https://doi.org/10.1210/js.2019-SAT-123.
- Powe CE, Hivert MF, Udler MS. Defining heterogeneity among women with gestational diabetes mellitus. Diabetes. 2020;69(10):2064–74. https://doi.org/10.2337/dbi20-0004.
- Powe CE, Udler MS, Hsu S, Allard C, Kuang A, Manning AK, ... Hivert MF. Genetic loci and physiologic pathways involved in gestational diabetes mellitus implicated through clustering. Diabetes. 2021;70(1):268–281. https://doi.org/10.2337/db20-0772.
- Rahman ML, Doyon M, Arguin M, Perron P, Bouchard L, Hivert M-F. A prospective study of maternal adiposity and glycemic traits across pregnancy and mid-childhood metabolomic profiles. Int J Obes. 2021a;45(4):860–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41366-021-00750-4.
- Rahman ML, Feng Y-CA, Fiehn O, Albert PS, Tsai MY, Zhu Y, ... Zhang C. Plasma lipidomics profile in pregnancy and gestational diabetes risk: a prospective study in a multiracial/ethnic

cohort. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care. 2021b;9(1):e001551. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjdrc-2020-001551.

- Retnakaran R. Hyperglycemia in pregnancy and its implications for a woman's future risk of cardiovascular disease. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2018;145:193–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. diabres.2018.04.008.
- Ryckman KK, Spracklen CN, Smith CJ, Robinson JG, Saftlas AF. Maternal lipid levels during pregnancy and gestational diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BJOG. 2015;122(5): 643–51. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.13261.
- Scholtens DM, Muehlbauer MJ, Daya NR, Stevens RD, Dyer AR, Lowe LP, ... Lowe WL Jr. Metabolomics reveals broad-scale metabolic perturbations in hyperglycemic mothers during pregnancy. Diabetes Care. 2014;37(1):158–166. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc13-0989.
- Selen DJ, Edelson PK, Corelli K, James K, Hivert M-F, Thadhani R, ... Powe CE. Insulin resistant gestational glucose intolerance is associated with adverse perinatal outcomes. J Endocr Soc. 2021;5(Supplement 1):A434-A434. https://doi.org/10.1210/jendso/bvab048.885.
- Shokry E, Marchioro L, Uhl O, Bermudez MG, Garcia-Santos JA, Segura MT, ... Koletzko B. Impact of maternal BMI and gestational diabetes mellitus on maternal and cord blood metabolome: results from the PREOBE cohort study. Acta Diabetol. 2019;56(4):421–430. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00592-019-01291-z.
- Sun M, Zhao B, He S, Weng R, Wang B, Ding Y, ... Luo Q. The alteration of carnitine metabolism in second trimester in GDM and a nomogram for predicting macrosomia. J Diabetes Res.,2020;2020:4085757. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/4085757.
- Tobias DK, Clish C, Mora S, Li J, Liang L, Hu FB, ... Zhang C. Dietary intakes and circulating concentrations of branched-chain amino acids in relation to incident type 2 diabetes risk among high-risk women with a history of gestational diabetes mellitus. Clin Chem. 2018;64(8):1203– 1210. https://doi.org/10.1373/clinchem.2017.285841.
- Wang TJ, Larson MG, Vasan RS, Cheng S, Rhee EP, McCabe E, ... Gerszten RE. Metabolite profiles and the risk of developing diabetes. Nat Med. 2011;17(4):448–453. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nm.2307.
- White SL, Pasupathy D, Sattar N, Nelson SM, Lawlor DA, Briley AL, ... Consortium, U. Metabolic profiling of gestational diabetes in obese women during pregnancy. Diabetologia. 2017;60(10):1903–1912. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-017-4380-6.
- White SL, Begum SI, Vieira MC, Seed P, Lawlor DL, Sattar N, ... Consortium, U. Metabolic phenotyping by treatment modality in obese women with gestational diabetes suggests diverse pathophysiology: an exploratory study. PLoS One. 2020;15(4). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0230658.
- World Health Organization. Diagnostic criteria and classification of hyperglycaemia first detected in pregnancy. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2013.
- Würtz P, Soininen P, Kangas AJ, Ronnemaa T, Lehtimaki T, Kahonen M, ... Ala-Korpela M. Branched-chain and aromatic amino acids are predictors of insulin resistance in young adults. Diabetes Care. 2013;36(3):648–655. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc12-0895.
- Zhang C, Ning Y. Effect of dietary and lifestyle factors on the risk of gestational diabetes: review of epidemiologic evidence. Am J Clin Nutr. 2011;94:1975S–9S. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.110. 001032%J.
- Zhao L, Wang M, Li J, Bi Y, Li M, Yang J. Association of circulating branched-chain amino acids with gestational diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis. Int J Endocrinol Metab. 2019;17(3):e85413. https://doi.org/10.5812/ijem.85413.
- Zhu YY, Zhang CL. Prevalence of gestational diabetes and risk of progression to type 2 diabetes: a global perspective. Curr Diab Rep. 2016;16(1) https://doi.org/10.1007/s11892-015-0699-x.


Neuroinflammatory Biomarkers in Diabetic **51** Encephalopathy: Linking Cholinergic and Cognitive Dysfunction

Tosin A. Olasehinde, Sunday I. Oyeleye, Ademola O. Olaniran, and Md. Shahidul Islam

Contents

Introduction	1055
Diabetes and Brain	1056
Neuroinflammation and Diabetes	1057
Mechanistic Insights Involved in Diabetes-Induced Neuroinflammation	1059
Cognitive Impairment and Neuroinflammation in Diabetic Animal Models	1063
Conclusion	1065
Application to Prognosis, Other Diseases, or Conditions	1065
Key Facts	1066
Mini Dictionary	1067
Summary Points	1067
References	1068

T. A. Olasehinde

Discipline of Microbiology, School of Life Sciences, University of Kwazulu-Natal, Durban, South Africa

Nutrition and Toxicology Division, Food Technology Department, Federal Institute of Industrial Research, Oshodi, Nigeria e-mail: olasehindet@ukzn.ac.za

S. I. Oyeleye Department of Biomedical Technology, Federal University of Technology, Akure, Nigeria e-mail: sioyeleye@futa.edu.ng

A. O. Olaniran Discipline of Microbiology, School of Life Sciences, University of Kwazulu-Natal, Durban, South Africa e-mail: olanirana@ukzn.ac.za

M. S. Islam (🖾) Department of Biochemistry, School of Life Sciences, University of Kwazulu-Natal, Durban, South Africa e-mail: islamd@ukzn.ac.za

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 66 1053

Abstract

The progression of diabetes has been linked with disruption of the microvascular system, which may lead to other degenerative conditions, including diabetic nephropathy, cardiomyopathy, and neuropathy. Cognitive dysfunction has been linked with diabetes-induced neurodegeneration. Changes in metabolic processes, including disruption of inflammatory pathways, cholinergic function, purinergic processes, and neurotransmitters triggered by chronic hyperglycemia, may affect brain function. Hence, the need to explore novel biomarkers to identify the risk of neurological deficit and impairment in the central nervous system in diabetic conditions. This chapter thoroughly reviewed the recently published articles on the biochemical mechanisms and biomarkers associated with diabetic encephalopathy will provide novel insights on possible therapeutic interventions that can mitigate cognitive problems and neurological dysfunction associated with chronic hyperglycemia as well as diabetes mellitus.

Keywords

Diabetes · Diabetic encephalopathy · Cognitive impairment	
Neuroinflammation · Cholinergic dysfunction	

Abbreviations

AGEs	Advanced glycation end products
AP-1	Activator protein-1
APP	Amyloid precursor protein
ARG1	Arginase 1
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BBB	Blood-brain barrier
CD36	Cluster of differentiation 36
CD74	Cluster of differentiation 74
CD86	Cluster of differentiation 86
CNS	Central Nervous System
COX-2	Cyclooxygenase 2
DM	Diabetes Mellitus
GSK-3	Glucose synthase kinase-3
HO-1	Heme oxygenase-1
HSP70	Heat shock protein 70
IDDM	Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus
IGF1	Insulin-like growth factor 1
IL-17A	Interleukin 17A
IL-1m	Interleukin 1 receptor antagonist
IL-1β	Interleukin 1β
IL-22	Interleukin 22
IL-4	Interleukin 4

IL4-Ra	Interleukin 4 Receptor alpha
IL-5	Interleukin 5
IL-6	Interleukin 6
IL-9	Interleukin 9
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide synthase
JNK	C-jun N terminal kinase
MAPK	A mitogen-activated protein kinase
Mrc1	Mannose Receptor C-Type 1
NADPH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NF-kB	Nuclear Factor kappa B
NIDDM	Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus
NO	Nitric oxide
PKC	Protein Kinase C
PS1	Presenilin 1
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
STAT pathway	Signal transducer and activator of transcription pathway
TGFβ	Transforming growth factor Beta
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis Factor Alpha
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

Introduction

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is one of the most common metabolic disorders and has become a major public health burden (Mohamed et al. 2018). Currently, about 463 million people across the globe are living with diabetes and it has been projected to increase to 700 million by the year of 2040 (Saeedi et al. 2019). There has been an increase in the prevalence of the disease, especially in the middle- and low-income countries over the years. A recent report shows a 2.5% increase in the prevalence of diabetes annually in average in all over the world (Kotwas et al. 2021). Diabetes is characterized by high glucose levels in the blood, which is caused by the impairment in insulin secretion or its action (Kerner and Brückel 2014). The pathophysiological mechanisms of diabetes have revealed two major types, which include type 1 or insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus (IDDM) and type 2 or non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus (NIDDM) with the latter accounting for the most prevalent cases with more than 90% of total diabetic cases in the world (Guthrie and Guthrie 2004). It is developed due to the body's ineffective use of insulin and hence may be diagnosed mostly after forty years of age. It also has similar symptoms like type 1 diabetes and has been diagnosed increasingly in young children in recent years due to eating unhealthy diet, overweight, and obesity. On the other hand, type 1 diabetes is also primarily common in children and it is characterized by the dependence on insulin and requires regular or routine administration of insulin due to the deficiency in insulin production from pancreatic beta-cells (Li et al. 2017).

The pathogenesis of DM is linked with several risk factors, including genetics and environmental factors, sedentary lifestyle, lack of physical exercise, alcoholic beverages, hyperinsulinemia, dyslipidemia, and low β -cell function (Kolb and Martin 2017). Other risk factors include oxidative damage to pancreatic β -cells, obesity, hyperuricemia, and pathogenic organisms (Tangvarasittichai 2015). The progression of diabetes has also been linked to some complications, including diabetic nephropathy, retinopathy, neuropathy, and diabetic foot disease (Chawla et al. 2016). Other diabetic complications that have been identified include hypertension, atherosclerosis, cardiovascular disease, coronary artery disease, ketoacidosis, liver cancer and pancreatic cancer, and diabetic encephalopathy (Petrie et al. 2018).

The brain is one of the sites of diabetic organ damage, commonly referred to as diabetic encephalopathy and linked to neurocognitive disruptions, memory problems, cognitive impairment, and behavioral problems (Moheet et al. 2015). Moreover, a strong association between neurological disorders and type 2 diabetes has been established compared to type 1 diabetes. Type-2 DM increases the risk of dementia, and this has been associated with motor dysfunction, attention deficit disorder, and memory impairment (Zilliox et al. 2016). Evidence shows that patients with type 2 diabetes may develop Alzheimer's disease or any dementia-associated conditions (Barbagallo and Dominguez 2014). The link between diabetes and cerebrovascular damage can be associated with different pathological mechanisms, including compromised immune and antioxidant defense systems and neuroinflammation, which are triggered mainly by the insulin resistance and chronic hyperglycemia (Ma et al. 2020). Some studies have shown the roles of pro-inflammatory biomarkers, blood-brain barrier (BBB), and redox imbalance in the pathogenesis of diabetes-induced cognitive decline and neurodegeneration. However, the pathological mechanisms involving diabetes-induced neuroinflammation and cognitive decline have not been extensively investigated. This chapter presents information on the biochemical mechanisms between diabetic-driven neuroinflammation and cognitive dysfunction. The highlighted mechanisms involved in diabetes-induced neuroinflammation will provide more insights to the pathogenicity of this diabetic complication and will supply possible therapeutic approach that can be explored to mitigate the progression of the disease.

Diabetes and Brain

The brain is one of the most complex organ in the body. It is an energy-intensive organ and consumes a lot of oxygen due to different metabolic reactions and functions in different regions of the brain (Bélanger et al. 2011). The brain derives its energy from glucose and consumes about 25% of the body's glucose required for vital functions and survival of the neurons (Mergenthaler et al. 2013). The continuous supply and consumption of glucose in the brain is important for metabolic activities, neuronal function, neurotransmission, and signal transduction (Blázquez et al. 2014). The brain is also sensitive to an important hormone (insulin) required for controlling glucose levels in the blood (Röder et al. 2016). Moreover, apart from the

regulatory activity of energy stores by insulin, it also plays a major role in cognition in the central nervous system (CNS). Insulin travels to the brain from the pancreas, the main site of production, through the blood-brain barrier with the help of insulin transporters (Banks et al. 2012). Insulin is also produced in neuronal cells, especially in the hippocampal, amygdala, prefrontal cortex, and hypothalamus regions of the brain (Blázquez et al. 2014). Some of its primary functions in the brain involve activation of insulin receptor signaling pathways, which facilitates the production of proteins required for enzymatic antioxidant defense system in the neurons, glucose metabolism, and neuroprotective and anti-neuronal death mechanisms. Other functions involve the improvement of neuronal plasticity (Hamed 2017). Furthermore, it also contributes in improving mitochondrial membrane potential, adenosine triphosphate (ATP) production, enhances NAD(P)H redox potentials and hexokinase activity, which affects glucose metabolism and neuronal modulation in the brain. Hence, hyperglycemia and hyperinsulinemia triggered in diabetic condition disrupts the function of insulin in the brain, which may contribute to brain atrophy and cognitive impairment (De La Monte and Suzanne 2012). Insulin resistance and hyperglycemia is also linked with impairment of neuronal plasticity, cognitive deficit, and behavioral problems in type 2 diabetes (Zilliox et al. 2016).

Long-term complications in the peripheral and central nervous system are one of the consequences of uncontrolled and poorly managed diabetic conditions (Hamed 2017). Apart from the fact that diabetes has been linked with multiple organ damage, a strong association has been established with impaired CNS function, cognitive decline, and memory impairment (De La Monte and Suzanne 2012; Zilliox et al. 2016). Experimental investigations involving neuroimaging studies showed that structural changes occur in different regions of diabetic brain (Hamed 2017). Cortical atrophy, white matter lesions, and lacunar infarcts were observed in the brain of diabetic patients (Moran et al. 2013). Furthermore, disruptions of metabolites associated with cognitive function, behavior, and neurotransmitters occur in the CNS of diabetic patients (Hamed 2017). The neuropathological mechanisms of diabetes-induced cognitive dysfunction have been explained to be multifactorial. Hence this has made the treatment and therapeutic approach for diabetes-associated cognitive dysfunction more cumbersome.

Neuroinflammation and Diabetes

Neuroinflammation has been identified as a pathological manifestation of chronic hyperglycemia induced by the activation of microglia and astrocytes, impaired pro-inflammatory pathways, and redox imbalance (Harry and Kraft 2008; Ahmad et al. 2022). Moreover, microglial activation in the brain's hippocampal region is associated with cognitive impairment and memory problems. Neuroinflammation involves the inflammation of cells and tissues in the central nervous system, which triggers neurotoxicity, neuronal degeneration, and cell death (Disabato et al. 2016). Hence, neuroinflammatory biomarkers have been identified as a contributory factor to cerebrovascular pathology and cognitive decline associated with diabetic

complications. The inability to produce insulin or insulin resistance leads to hyperglycemia, which activates the generation of reactive oxygen species (Galicia-Garcia et al. 2020).

Moreover, these changes have been shown to trigger pro-inflammatory biomarkers in the brain, which induce neuroinflammatory pathways, hence compromising microvascular tissues, including the blood-brain barrier, thereby allowing the entry of toxic substances that can induce end-organ damage, tissue abnormalities, brain lesions, and subsequent cognitive decline (Van Dyken and Lacoste 2018). The normal function of the blood-brain barrier is to protect the CNS against external substances that can cause neurovascular damage and abnormalities while giving access to the adequate influx of nutrients and metabolites required by the nervous system. However, disruption of the blood-brain barrier has been identified in diabetes mellitus. It is associated with the heightened generation of reactive oxygen species and glycation end products and upregulation of inflammatory biomarkers due to impaired glucose metabolism, which leads to cognitive decline, memory impairment, and ultimately dementia (Van Dyken and Lacoste 2018). A study by Rom et al. (2019) revealed that DM-induced neuroinflammation led to disruption of the blood-brain barrier, which triggered memory dysfunction in type 1 and 2 diabetic animal models. The upregulation of genes associated with pro-inflammatory pathways was observed in the brain of diabetic rats. Neuropathological studies also showed disruptions of the blood-brain barrier due to microglial activation and loss of pericyte coverage in the brain of diabetic animals compared to the control (Haruwaka et al. 2019; Elabi et al. 2021). The results also showed that hyperglycemia-induced upregulation or neuroinflammatory genes was associated with cognitive decline and compromise of the blood-brain barrier in the brain of diabetic rats model (Rom et al. 2019).

Most diabetic complications associated with the central nervous systems are mediated via inflammation. The level at which inflammation is induced by hyperglycemia in the brain is dependent on the region of the brain. For instance, neuroinflammation was induced in the midbrain in type 2 diabetic rats after 28 days (Huber et al. 2006). Hyperglycemia triggers a significant increase in mitochondrial respiration in astrocytes, pericytes, and endothelial cells, leading to redox imbalance and overproduction of mitochondrial ROS. The high levels of ROS produced activate NF- κ B, activator protein -1 (AP-1) and STAT pathways, leading to upregulation of pro-inflammatory cytokine levels (Van Dyken and Lacoste 2018; Wang et al. 2012). The ROS produced attacks astrocytes and reduces the folding of gap proteins. ROS may also reduce pericyte coverage, impair BBB function, and cause cell degeneration (Brownlee 2005).

Furthermore, insulin resistance, hyperinsulinemia, and hyperglycemia contribute to elevated levels of proinflammatory biomarkers and acute phase reactants such as the interleukins, tumor necrosis factor, chemokines, C-reactive proteins, and cortisol (Benatti et al. 2016). Moreover, inflammation may also be triggered in the neurons due to impairment in the hypothalamus and adrenal axis, decrease in insulin sensitivity, and compromise in the immune system. The pro-inflammatory biomarkers participate in the progression of neurodegeneration and cognitive problems (Navarro and Mora 2006). The interaction of ROS produced due to redox imbalance and the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines also aggravates hyperglycemia-induced neuroinflammation (Yuan et al. 2019). The structural architecture of the neurons is affected due to the glycosylation of myelin proteins, which impairs its immunogenicity, allowing the entry of monocytes, neutrophils, peripheral blood, and activation of glial cells in the central nervous system. This process triggers the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, increasing neuronal excitability, leading to neuroinflammation and neuronal death. Also, diabetes-induced hypoxia may trigger the elevation of nitric oxide, an important mediator of inflammation processes (Sandireddy et al. 2014). In conclusion, it is evident that neuroinflammation is a consequence of the progression of diabetes. The activation of microglia in specific regions, including disruption of the BBB as well as changes in inflammatory pathways and upregulation of genes associated with pro-inflammatory proteins and markers as well as hyperinsulinemia and chronic hyperglycemia contribute to inflammation of the neurons, which leads to neuronal degeneration and ultimately cognitive decline and impairment.

Mechanistic Insights Involved in Diabetes-Induced Neuroinflammation

Chronic hyperglycemia has been linked with redox imbalance, increased production of free radicals, reduction of blood flow, impaired vascular function, and activation of pro-inflammatory pathways (Giacco and Brownlee 2010; Tangyarasittichai 2015). Consistent high blood glucose triggers the activation of microglia and reduced coverage of pericytes in the BBB, which affects the brain's neuronal architecture (Rom et al. 2019). The disruption of the BBB contributes to neuroinflammation in the brain. Hence, persistent hyperglycemia contributes to neuroinflammation, which triggers neuronal damage and subsequently diabetic encephalopathy. Though the pathological mechanisms involved in hyperglycemia-driven neuroinflammation is multifactorial, one of the major mechanisms involved is the interaction of oxidative stress and inflammatory pathways, which weakens neuronal integrity and aggravates neurodegeneration (Sandireddy et al. 2014). The interaction of these two processes aggravates neuronal dysfunction, which impairs cognitive function and memory. Classical pathways such as the polyol hexosamine, MAPK, and protein kinase C (PKC) and advanced glycation end product (AGEs) are activated due to chronic hyperglycemia. They have been shown to mediate mitochondrial ROS production (Singh et al. 2014). These pathways, alongside impaired redox balance, activate the production of inflammatory markers. High levels of AGEs from lipids and proteins tend to trigger inflammatory mediators, including NF-kB and cytokines (Yan et al. 1994). NF- κ B regulates the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and has been shown to contribute to the induction of neuronal cell death (Sandireddy et al. 2014). A report showed that oxidative damage to glial cells triggers an increase in pro-inflammatory cytokine levels, which acts on neuronal cell membrane receptors, hence activating neuroinflammation in the brain cells (Myers et al. 2006). The study

of Rom et al. (2019) confirmed the upregulation of pro-inflammatory biomarkers such as IL-9, IL-17A, IL-22, and IL-5 in the cerebral cortex of diabetic rats. Wang et al. (2012) reported that treatment of primary astrocytes from BALB/c mice with high glucose triggered ROS production and activation of NF-kB and signal transducer and activation transcription 3 (STAT-3). The result also showed activation of multiple pro-inflammatory cytokines, which include IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-4, and induction of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expression, which are mediators of neuroinflammation.

Furthermore, amylin accumulation induced by hyperglycemia in diabetic rats can influence neuroinflammation-induced neurological deficits (Srodulski et al. 2014). The progression of diabetes leads to pathological changes in the pancreas involving the accumulation of amylin, which activates inflammatory response that leads to diabetic brain injury and cognitive impairment (Srodulski et al. 2014). Amylin is a peptide with 37 amino acids that have amyloidogenic properties (Kahn et al. 1990). It is produced in the pancreatic islets alongside insulin. Amylin controls peripheral energy balance and secretion of insulin. It also reduces glycogen synthesis and glucose uptake in isolated muscle strips (Westermark et al. 2011; Höppener et al. 1993; Srodulski et al. 2014). However, accumulation of amylin may lead to oligomerization and the formation of toxic amyloid plaques. Previous investigation has shown that hyperamylinemia, which involves over-secretion of amylin, leads to amylin deposition in the pancreas islets, blood vessels, and the brain of diabetic patients (Jackson et al. 2013). The accumulation of amylin deposits has been observed in the blood vessels and perivascular spaces and amylin plaques in the temporal lobe gray matter of diabetic patients (Jackson et al. 2013). Srodulski et al. (2014) also reported that hyperamylinemia induced accumulation of amylin and deposition of oligomerized amylin in rats' brains, thereby inducing an inflammatory response, altering brain structure and causing neurological deficit. The study showed that the accumulation of oligomerized amylin is associated with neuroinflammation and changes in cerebrovascular architecture in rat's brain. The result showed that amylin induced inflammatory response by activating microglia and increasing the phenotypic expression of M1 (IL-1β, IL-6, TNFa, CD74, CD86, NO) and M2 (Arg1, CD36, Mrc1, IL-4Rα, IGF1, IL-10, IL-1rn, TGFβ) markers.

Additionally, beta-amyloid plays a central role in neuroinflammatory mechanisms in brain pathology (Stanciu et al. 2020). A strong association between peripheral changes and brain pathology has revealed the contributory role of increased betaamyloid levels and hyperglycemia in producing neuroinflammatory biomarkers such as cytokines (Kinney et al. 2018). The accumulation of beta-amyloid leads to high cytokine levels and chemokines in the brain. In a study by Sankar et al. (2020), amyloid-beta and high blood glucose contributed to increase the expression of chemokines and pro-inflammatory cytokines in rats brain (Table 1). This may lead to neuronal degeneration, brain injury, and cognitive impairment. The study also confirms the report that neuroinflammation accompanies amyloid-beta plaque formation (Cai et al. 2018). Experimental evidence also shows that activating p-38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (p-38-MAPK) in the neurons is associated with stress and inflammation (Hsieh et al. 2019). The work of Cai et al. (2018) revealed

Diabetic model	Neuroinflammatory biomarker	Brain region	Reference
Type – 1 rat model	Increase in IL-6 and reduction of BDNF	Hippocampus	Zeinivand et al. (2020)
Type 1 and type 2 rat model	Increased BBB permeability; Upregulation of IL-22, IL-5, IL-9, and IL-17A; increase in microglia reaction and decrease in pericyte coverage	Cortex	Rom et al. (2019)
Ex vivo model	Induction of ROS production and astrocyte activation. Upregulation of TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-4, IL-6; Induction of NF-Kb and STAT 3 activation; Induction of VEGF expression		Primary astrocytes from BALB/C mice Wang et al. (2012)
Type-2 rat model Type 1 and 2 db/db, HFD, STZ, and APP/PS1 models	Hyperamylinemia; upregulation of TNF- α and IL-6; downregulation of IL-10 Upregulation of chemokines (MIP-1 α , MIP-1 β , and MCP-1) and pro-inflammatory cytokines (L-1 α , IFN- γ , and IL-3)		Whole brain Srodulski et al. (2014) Brain cortices Sankar et al. (2020)
STZ-induced diabetic model	Induction of microglial hyperplasia; Increase iNOS levels; Upregulation of NF-kB nuclear transcription		Hippocampus and Frontal cortex Song et al. (2017)
Type-2 diabetic rat model	Impaired GSK activity; Upregulation of COX-2, iNOS, IL-6, NF-kB, and TNF- α		Hippocampus and cortex Datusalia and Sharma (2014)

Table 1 Summary of mechanisms of neuroinflammatory biomarkers in different diabetic models

that high levels of phosphor-p38 MAPK in the brain of APP/PS1/tau rats might be linked to the formation of neurofibrillary tangles and induction of neuroinflammation. Furthermore, MAPKs participate in stress-associated cell activation and inflammation. Moreover, microglial cells exposed to high glucose levels showed the activation of MAPK and PI3K/Akt signaling pathways and impaired NF-kb regulation, which leads to microglia activation and subsequently neuroinflammation (Hsieh et al. 2019) (Table 2).

Another mechanism involving hyperglycemia-driven neuroinflammation can be seen in the upregulation of inflammatory proteins such as HSP-70 and HO-1 as well as an increase in iNOS and COX-2 expression (Hsieh et al. 2019). Upregulation of iNOS and COX-2 expression is associated with pathological stress in neuronal cells, leading to neuroinflammation induced by microglial activation. Oxidative stress and inflammatory proteins via impaired MAPKs, PI3K/AKT, and NF-kB signaling pathways. The cooperation of these signaling cascades contributes to neuroinflammation in neuronal

Diabetic			
model	Mechanism of action	Study	Reference
Type – 1 rat model	Neuroinflammation-induced BBB-dysfunction; deterioration in acquisition abilities and long-term spatial memory; upregulation of $LT\alpha$ (TNF β) and CD40lg and downregulation of Myd88, which has been identified in Alzheimer's disease and other types of dementia	Y-Maze and Morris Water Maze; immunohistochemical studies	Rom et al. (2019)
Type 1 and 2 rat model	Chronic hyperamylinemia–induced neuroinflammation. Upregulation of M1 (IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF α , CD74, CD86, NO) and M2 ((Arg1, CD36, Mrc1, IL4-R α , IGF1, IL-10, IL-1rn, TGF β) markers. Decrease in recognition memory, reduced exploratory drive, and impairment in the rotarod test	Animal Behavior; Recognition memory test	Srodulski et al. (2014)
Type 2 diabetic rat model	Impaired GSK-3 activity, upregulation of COX-2, NF-kB; IL-6, and iNOS; impaired modulation of neurotransmitters; cholinergic deficit; altered cognitive skills, memory deficit; learning deficit; behavioral deficit	Behavioral tests; Y-Maze; Morris Water Maze; Passive avoidance Task	Datusalia and Sharma (2014)
Type-1 diabetic model	Upregulation of IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α in hippocampus and cortex; learning and memory deficit Neuronal apoptosis; neuroinflammation via upregulation of iNOS, TNF- α , and pNF-kB; memory impairment	Morris Water Maze test. Y-Maze test	Fang et al. (2017)
Type-2 diabetic model	Neuronal apoptosis; neuroinflammation via upregulation of iNOS, TNF-α, and pNF-kB; memory impairment	Morris Water Maze test. Y-Maze test	Rehman et al. (2017)
Type-2 diabetic rat model	Increased acetylcholinesterase activity; cholinergic dysfunction; cognitive decline and memory deficit; neuroinflammation via upregulation of IL-1β, IL-6, TNF-α, and NF-kB	Morris Water Maze test	Chen et al. (2021)

 Table 2
 Mechanism of neuroinflammation-driven cognitive dysfunction in different diabetic models

cells. NF-kB mediates the upregulation of HSP-70 while PI3K/AKT activates the increase of HSP-70 and iNOS levels, as reported in the study of Hsieh et al. (2019). However, the MAPKs signaling pathways, including JNK, mediate all the inducible inflammatory proteins including iNOS, HSP-70, and COX-2.

Furthermore, glucose synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3) has been identified to play a role in the induction of cognitive dysfunction by disrupting neurotransmitters'

regulation and inducing neuroinflammation. Hence GSK-3 inhibitors have been identified as a possible therapeutic agent to mitigate diabetes-induced cognitive dysfunction and complications associated with neurological dysfunction. The upregulation of GSK-3 is linked with hyperphosphorylation of tau proteins and formation of microtubules in the brain. Furthermore, GSK-3 plays a major role in the homeostatic control of beta-amyloid peptide and amyloid precursor protein (APP). Hence upregulation of these isoforms may induce aggregation of betaamyloid protein and formation of amyloid plaques, which in turn trigger overproduction of ROS, which attacks brain cells, causing neuronal apoptosis. The result from the study of Datusalia and Sharma (2014) revealed that hyperglycemia reduces the phosphorylation of GSK-3 kinase and induces the neuroinflammatory effects by triggering the production of iNOS, NF-kB, COX-2, IL-6, and the expression of TNF- α in rat's hippocampus and cortex. Previous studies have identified some proinflammatory biomarkers that are associated with neuroinflammation and this include IL-1β, IL-6, IL4-Rα, IL-10, IL-1rn, TNF-α, NF-kB, COX-2, Arg1, CD36, Mrc, CD74, CD86, and NO in specific regions of the brain. The pro-inflammatory markers mediate neuroinflammatory processes in identified regions (cerebral cortex and hippocampus) leading to neurodegeneration, nerve injury, and neuronal death. Moreover, future studies are needed to explore other novel markers involved in neuroinflammation in other regions of the brain and provide more understanding on the biochemical mechanisms.

Cognitive Impairment and Neuroinflammation in Diabetic Animal Models

Cognitive dysfunction and impairment in memory function are complications and consequences of progressive hyperglycemia. Several studies have shown the bidirectional association between insulin resistance and neuroinflammation. Moreover, the relationship between high glucose levels, insulin levels, memory decline, and neuroinflammation has been established. Some findings have suggested that inflammatory responses in different brain regions may contribute to impairment in learning processes and cognitive and memory function (Salkovic-Petrisic et al. 2013; Chu et al. 2014). The progression of diabetes is associated with memory, learning and behavioral problems, and neuroinflammation triggered by hyperglycemia, which has been implicated in the disruptions of neurochemicals associated with cognitive function. Furthermore, in diabetic conditions, inflammatory responses in microglia and inflammatory biomarkers are activated, contributing to neuronal injury and neurodegeneration. The inflammatory responses such as activation of microglia and upregulation of interleukins and chemokines cause neuronal apoptosis, leading to cognitive impairment. Hence, attenuation and/or inhibition of neuroinflammatory responses in the neurons may be a potent therapeutic target to combat diabeticinduced memory impairment. In a type 1 diabetic experimental model, chronic hyperglycemia triggered memory impairment via activation of neuroinflammatory responses and neuronal apoptosis (Fang et al. 2017). Hyperglycemia-induced cognitive impairment is linked to neuroinflammatory, oxidative injury and neuronal apoptotic mechanisms (Esmaeili et al. 2020). Neuroinflammation-mediated cognitive decline in hyperglycemic rats was attributed to the activation of astrocytes and increase in inflammatory markers (TNF- α , iNOS, and pNF-kB) in the hippocampal region of the brain as well as induction of neuronal apoptosis by increasing C-jun N terminal kinase (p-JNK) activity and disrupting the regulation of synaptic proteins (Rehman et al. 2017). Furthermore, GSK-3 may play a central role in diabetes-induced cognitive dysfunction via induction of neuroinflammation and disruption of neurotransmitters (Datusalia and Sharma 2014).

The disruption in cognitive skills and memory deficit observed in diabetic rats were attributed to neuroinflammatory mechanisms. Experimental investigations suggest the association between impaired memory function and cholinergic dysfunction (Reeta et al. 2017). Choline acetyltransferase and cholinesterase (acetylcholinesterase and butyrylcholinesterase) are important enzymes in the cholinergic system involved in regulating acetylcholine levels (Reeta et al. 2017). Acetylcholine is an important neurotransmitter that aids the transmission of nerve impulses and signals from one neuron to another. The reduction of acetylcholine levels released in cholinergic neurons may lead to progression of cholinergic nerve degeneration, which may hinder neurotransmission of nerve impulse (Tata et al. 2014). Moreover, the degeneration of cholinergic neurons and disruptions in the transmission of nerve impulse due to cholinergic deficit in CNS leads to cognitive decline (Tata et al. 2014). There is a possible correlation between increased activity of acetylcholine regulatory enzymes and activation of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Gatta et al. 2020). Furthermore, the impaired regulation of homeostatic levels of acetylcholine alters the cholinergic function and influences cytokine production, indicating the role of the cholinergic system in neuroinflammation. Hence, acetylcholine plays a central role between the cross talk of the immune system and the CNS and may regulate inflammatory responses; however, imbalance or impaired homeostatic levels of these neurochemicals may contribute to additional pathological inflammatory reactions (Gatta et al. 2020; Di Bari et al. 2016, 2017).

Sivaprakasam (2006) and Wenk et al. (2000) confirmed that neuroinflammatory processes contribute to cholinergic degeneration in the CNS due to reduction of choline acetyltransferase activity, activation of microglial, upregulation of cytokines. Also, neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors commonly expressed in astrocytes and microglia play a major role in neuroinflammation (Sivaprakasam 2006; Piovesana et al. 2021). The study of Chen et al. (2021) revealed that diabetic rats exhibited cognitive decline and memory deficit due to cholinergic deficit aggravated by increased acetylcholinesterase activity and upregulation of neuroinflammatory factors (IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α , and NF-kB). Impaired GSK- β activity in diabetic rats also triggered cholinergic deficit, depletion of acetylcholine and glutamate levels, and increased gamma-aminobutyric acid in hippocampal and cortex regions of the brain (Datusalia and Sharma 2014). Hence attenuation of cholinergic deficit and inhibition of neuroinflammation could be important therapeutic approaches to mitigate diabetic-driven cognitive deficit, memory loss, and learning and behavioral problems.

Conclusion

DM is a common metabolic disorder that has become a serious public health burden with complications associated with cognitive decline, neuroinflammation, and neuronal degeneration. Most diabetic complications associated with the central nervous systems are mediated via inflammation. Several studies have established that persistent chronic hyperglycemia is associated with cognitive decline, neuroinflammation, and brain injury. Though the pathological mechanisms involved in hyperglycemia-driven neuroinflammation are multifactorial, one of the major mechanisms involved is the interaction between reactive oxygen species produced due to chronic hyperglycemia and pro-inflammatory pathways that activate neuroinflammatory biomarkers leading to disruptions of neuronal integrity, oxidative injury, and neurodegeneration. In the process, classical pathways such as polyol hexosamine, MAPK, and protein kinase C (PKC) and advanced glycation end product (AGEs) are also dysregulated. This may result in mitochondrial ROS with pro-inflammatory production. which interacts markers to induce neuroinflammation in the brain. Some of the biomarkers that have been identified in the cortex and hippocampal regions of the brain include IL-1 β , IL-6, IL4-R α , IL-10, IL-1rn, TNF-α, NF-kB, COX-2, Arg1, CD36, Mrc, CD74, CD86, and NO. Another biochemical mechanism of hyperglycemia-driven neuroinflammation involves the accumulation of amylin, which oligomerizes and form toxic plaques in the brain. These plaques can induce ROS production, activate microglia, and upregulate M1 and M2 inflammatory markers. The upregulation of inflammatory proteins such as iNOS, HSP-70, and GSK-3 isoforms may trigger microglial activation and mediate the activation of ROS and neuroinflammatory signals via impaired MAPK, JNK, and PI3K/AKT pathways. The triggered neuroinflammatory signals and processes activated contribute to cognitive dysfunction, memory and behavioral problems due to impaired regulation of neurotransmitters, disruption of neurotransmission and neurochemicals associated with memory function. The highlighted biochemical mechanisms of diabetes-driven neuroinflammation and cognitive decline could be important therapeutic strategies to mitigate diabetic complications associated with neurological deficit and memory problems. Future studies may explore more neuroinflammatory processes involved in diabeticinduced cognitive decline to identify new biomarkers associated with neuroinflammation. This will provide more insights and understanding for the possible treatment of diabetic complications associated with neuroinflammation and memory problems (Fig. 1).

Application to Prognosis, Other Diseases, or Conditions

In this chapter, some neuroinflammatory biomarkers have been highlighted, which revealed the associations between diabetes and neuronal damage as well as cognitive problems. Neuroinflammatory pathways are activated due to mitochondria dysfunction and elevated production of reactive oxygen species, which leads to upregulation



Fig. 1 Biochemical mechanisms of Diabetes-induced neuroinflammation and cognitive decline

of pro-inflammatory cytokines and other inflammatory biomarkers causing neuroinflammation and subsequently neurodegeneration. Furthermore, the activation of inflammatory responses and induction of neurodegeneration hinders neurotransmission or nerve impulses, which impairs cognitive function, learning processes, and behavior. Experimental evidence shows that cognitive impairment has been correlated with cholinergic dysfunction and neuroinflammatory biomarkers such as IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α , and NF-kB. Furthermore, studies have shown that hyperglycemia-driven neuroinflammation may lead to vascular dementia and neurodegenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease (Madhusudhanan et al. 2020; Sergi et al. 2019; Hassan et al. 2020). Hence, one of the important therapeutic strategies to manage these neurodegenerative diseases associated with diabetes may involve attenuation of neuroinflammation by targeting neuroinflammatory and oxidative stress biomarkers.

Key Facts

• The prevalence of diabetes is increasing due to several factors, and its progression may trigger other degenerative diseases.

- Neuronal damage, triggered by hyperglycemia-driven neuroinflammation is one of the end-organ damage and complication of the progression of diabetes.
- Activated neuroinflammatory pathways triggered by persistent hyperglycemia is a key contributing factor to neurodegeneration and loss of memory function in the brain.
- Elevated levels of neuroinflammatory biomarkers in different parts of the brain may help to identify neuroinflammation and possible memory problems in diabetic patients.
- Neuroinflammatory biomarkers are major therapeutic targets that can be explored to mitigate neuronal degeneration and cognitive dysfunction in chronic diabetic patients.

Mini Dictionary

- **Cognitive dysfunction**: A mental health problem that is associated with impairment in learning, memory, perception and problem solving.
- Hyperglycemia: A condition involving excessive levels of glucose in the blood.
- **Neurodegeneration**: The progressive deterioration of the neuronal architecture in the brain, which leads to neuronal injury, damage, and cell death.
- **Neuroinflammation**: A pathophysiological mechanism, which contributes to neurodegeneration via activation of inflammatory response in the central nervous system.
- **Oxidative stress**: The imbalance between systemic levels of reactive oxygen species levels produced in cells and tissues and the antioxidant defense mechanism required to detoxify these reactive products.

Summary Points

- Diabetes and its progression are linked to neurodegeneration via disruption of the blood-brain barrier, induction of oxidative stress, and activation of neuroinflammatory pathways.
- Persistent hyperglycemia is a risk factor for progressive degeneration of the peripheral and central nervous system.
- Pro-inflammatory cytokines activate neuroinflammatory pathways and elevation of neuroinflammatory biomarkers, which contribute to cerebrovascular pathology, cognitive impairment, and behavioral problems.
- Neuroinflammatory responses induced by persistent high blood glucose may contribute to loss of neurotransmission and impairment in cognitive function.
- Other neuroinflammatory pathological mechanisms induced by chronic hyperglycemia are yet to be explored.
- The management of some neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases associated with diabetes could be via attenuation of neuroinflammation by preventing and inhibiting mitochondrial dysfunction, ROS production, and upregulation of neuroinflammatory biomarkers.

References

- Ahmad MA, Kareem O, Khushtar M, Akbar M, Haque MR, Iqubal A, Haider MF, Pottoo FH, Abdulla FS, Al-Haidar MB, Alhajri N. Neuroinflammation: a potential risk for dementia. Int J Mol Sci. 2022;23(2):616. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms23020616.
- Banks WA, Owen JB, Erickson MA. Insulin in the brain: there and back again. Pharmacol Ther. 2012;136(1):82–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2012.07.006.
- Barbagallo M, Dominguez LJ. Type 2 diabetes mellitus and Alzheimer's disease. World J Diabetes. 2014;5(6):889–93. https://doi.org/10.4239/wjd.v5.i6.889.
- Bari D, Maria MR, Di Nicola M, Orlando V, Galizia S, Porfilio I, Costantini E, D'Angelo C, Ruggieri S, Biagioni S, Gasperini C, Tata A. Dysregulated homeostasis of acetylcholine levels in immune cells of RR-multiple sclerosis patients. Int J Mol Sci. 2016;17(12):2009. https://doi. org/10.3390/ijms17122009.
- Bélanger M, Allaman I, Pierre. Brain energy metabolism: focus on astrocyte-neuron metabolic cooperation. Cell Metab. 2011;14(6):724–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2011.08.016.
- Benatti C, Blom JM, Rigillo G, Alboni S, Zizzi F, Torta R, Brunello N, Tascedda F. Disease-induced neuroinflammation and depression. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets. 2016;15(4):414–33. https://doi.org/10.2174/1871527315666160321104749.
- Blázquez E, Velázquez E, Hurtado-Carneiro V, Ruiz-Albusac JM. Insulin in the brain: its pathophysiological implications for States related with central insulin resistance, type 2 diabetes and Alzheimer's disease. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2014;5:161. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo. 2014.00161.
- Brownlee M. The pathobiology of diabetic complications: a unifying mechanism. Diabetes. 2005;54(6):1615–25. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.54.6.1615.
- Cai HY, Yang JT, Wang ZJ, Zhang J, Yang W, Wu MN, Qi JS. Lixisenatide reduces amyloid plaques, neurofibrillary tangles and neuroinflammation in an APP/PS1/tau mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2018;495(1):1034–40. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.bbrc.2017.11.114.
- Chawla A, Chawla R, Jaggi S. Microvasular and macrovascular complications in diabetes mellitus: distinct or continuum? Indian J Endocrinol Metab. 2016;20(4):546–51. https://doi.org/10.4103/ 2230-8210.183480.
- Chen X, Famurewa AC, Tang J, Olatunde OO, Olatunji OJ. Hyperoside attenuates neuroinflammation, cognitive impairment and oxidative stress via suppressing TNF-α/NF-κB/ caspase-3 signaling in type 2 diabetes rats. Nutr Neurosci. 2021;2021:1–11. https://doi.org/10. 1080/1028415x.2021.1901047.
- Chu S, Junfei G, Liang F, Liu J, Zhang M, Jia X, Liu M, Yao D. Ginsenoside Rg5 improves cognitive dysfunction and beta-amyloid deposition in STZ-induced memory impaired rats via attenuating neuroinflammatory responses. Int Immunopharmacol. 2014;19(2):317–26. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.intimp.2014.01.018.
- Datusalia AK, Sharma SS. Amelioration of diabetes-induced cognitive deficits by GSK-3β inhibition is attributed to modulation of neurotransmitters and neuroinflammation. Mol Neurobiol. 2014;50(2):390–405. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-014-8632-x.
- Di Bari M, Di Pinto G, Reale M, Mengod G, Tata AM. Cholinergic system and neuroinflammation: implication in multiple sclerosis. Cent Nerv Syst Agents Med Chem. 2017;17(2):109–15. https://doi.org/10.2174/1871524916666160822115133.
- Disabato DJ, Quan N, Godbout JP. Neuroinflammation: the devil is in the details. J Neurochem. 2016;139:136–53. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.13607.
- Elabi OF, Cunha JPMCM, Gaceb A, Fex M, Paul G. High-fat diet-induced diabetes leads to vascular alterations, pericyte reduction, and perivascular depletion of microglia in a 6-OHDA toxin model of Parkinson disease. J Neuroinflammation. 2021;18(1):175. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s12974-021-02218-8.
- Esmaeili MH, Enayati M, Abkenar FK, Ebrahimian F, Salari A-A. Glibenclamide mitigates cognitive impairment and hippocampal neuroinflammation in rats with type 2 diabetes and

sporadic Alzheimer-like disease. Behav Brain Res. 2020;379:112359. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bbr.2019.112359.

- Fang S-C, Xie H, Chen F, Hu M, Long Y, Sun H-B, Kong L-Y, Hong H, Tang S-S. Simvastatin ameliorates memory impairment and neurotoxicity in streptozotocin-induced diabetic mice. Neuroscience. 2017;355:200–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2017.05.001.
- Galicia-Garcia U, Benito-Vicente A, Jebari S, Larrea-Sebal A, Siddiqi H, Uribe KB, Ostolaza H, Martin C. Pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21(17):6275. https:// doi.org/10.3390/ijms21176275.
- Gatta V, Mengod G, Reale M, Tata AM. Possible correlation between cholinergic system alterations and neuro/inflammation in multiple sclerosis. Biomedicine. 2020;8(6):153. https://doi.org/10. 3390/biomedicines8060153.
- Giacco F, Brownlee M. Oxidative stress and diabetic complications. Circ Res. 2010;107(9):1058– 70. https://doi.org/10.1161/circresaha.110.223545.
- Guthrie RA, Guthrie DW. Pathophysiology of diabetes mellitus. Crit Care Nurs Q. 2004;27(2):113– 25. https://doi.org/10.1097/00002727-200404000-00003.
- Hamed SA. Brain injury with diabetes mellitus: evidence, mechanisms and treatment implications. Expert Rev Clin Pharmacol. 2017;10(4):409–28. https://doi.org/10.1080/17512433.2017. 1293521.
- Harry GJ, Kraft AD. Neuroinflammation and microglia: considerations and approaches for neurotoxicity assessment. Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol. 2008;4(10):1265–77. https://doi.org/10. 1517/17425255.4.10.1265.
- Haruwaka K, Ikegami A, Tachibana Y, Ohno N, Konishi H, Hashimoto A, Matsumoto M, Kato D, Ono R, Kiyama H, Moorhouse AJ, Nabekura J, Wake H. Dual microglia effects on blood brain barrier permeability induced by systemic inflammation. Nat Commun. 2019;10(1):5816. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-13812-z.
- Hassan A, Kandel SR, Mishra R, Gautam J, Alaref A, Jahan N. Diabetes mellitus and Parkinson's disease: shared pathophysiological links and possible therapeutic implications. Cureus. 2020;12 (8):e9853.
- Höppener JWM, Verbeek JS, De Koning EJP, Oosterwijk C, Van Hulst KL, Visser-Vernooy HJ, Hofhuis FMA, Van Gaalen S, Berends MJH, Hackeng WHL, Jansz HS, Morris JF, Clark A, Capel PJA, Lips CJM. Chronic overproduction of islet amyloid polypeptide/amylin in transgenic mice: lysosomal localization of human islet amyloid polypeptide and lack of marked hyperglycaemia or hyperinsulinaemia. Diabetologia. 1993;36(12):1258–65. https://doi.org/10. 1007/bf00400803.
- Hsieh C-F, Liu C-K, Lee C-T, Yu L-E, Wang J-Y. Acute glucose fluctuation impacts microglial activity, leading to inflammatory activation or self-degradation. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1):840. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-37215-0.
- Huber JD, VanGilder RL, Houser KA. Streptozotocin-induced diabetes progressively increases blood-brain barrier permeability in specific brain regions in rats. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2006;291(6):H2660–8. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.00489.2006.
- Jackson K, Barisone GA, Diaz E, Jin LW, DeCarli C, Despa F. Amylin deposition in the brain: a second amyloid in Alzheimer disease? Ann Neurol. 2013;74(4):517–26. https://doi.org/10. 1002/ana.23956.
- Kahn SE, D'Alessio DA, Schwartz MW, Fujimoto WY, Ensinck JW, Taborsky GJ Jr, Porte D Jr. Evidence of cosecretion of islet amyloid polypeptide and insulin by beta-cells. Diabetes. 1990;39(5):634–8. https://doi.org/10.2337/diab.39.5.634.
- Kerner W, Brückel J. Definition, classification and diagnosis of diabetes mellitus. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes. 2014;122(7):384–6. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0034-1366278.
- Kinney JW, Bemiller SM, Murtishaw AS, Leisgang AM, Salazar AM, Lamb BT. Inflammation as a central mechanism in Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimer's Dementia: Transl Res Clin Interv. 2018;4(1):575–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trci.2018.06.014.
- Kolb H, Martin S. Environmental/lifestyle factors in the pathogenesis and prevention of type 2 diabetes. BMC Med. 2017;15(1):131. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-017-0901-x.

- Kotwas A, Karakiewicz B, Zabielska P, Wieder-Huszla S, Jurczak A. Epidemiological factors for type 2 diabetes mellitus: evidence from the Global Burden of Disease. Arch Public Health. 2021;79(1):110. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13690-021-00632-1.
- La Monte D, Suzanne M. Contributions of brain insulin resistance and deficiency in amyloid-related neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease. Drugs. 2012;72(1):49–66. https://doi.org/10.2165/ 11597760-00000000-00000.
- Li W, Huang E, Gao S. Type 1 diabetes mellitus and cognitive impairments: a systematic review. J Alzheimers Dis. 2017;57(1):29–36. https://doi.org/10.3233/jad-161250.
- Ma WX, Tang J, Lei ZW, Li CY, Zhao LQ, Lin C, Sun T, Li ZY, Jiang YH, Jia JT, Liang CZ, Liu JH, Yan LJ. Potential biochemical mechanisms of brain injury in diabetes mellitus. Aging Dis. 2020;11(4):978–87. https://doi.org/10.14336/ad.2019.0910.
- Madhusudhanan J, Suresh G, Devanathan V. Neurodegeneration in type 2 diabetes: Alzheimer's as a case study. Brain Behav. 2020;10(5):e01577.
- Mergenthaler P, Lindauer U, Dienel GA, Meisel A. Sugar for the brain: the role of glucose in physiological and pathological brain function. Trends Neurosci. 2013;36(10):587–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2013.07.001.
- Mohamed SF, Mwangi M, Mutua MK, Kibachio J, Hussein A, Ndegwa Z, Owondo S, Asiki G, Kyobutungi C. Prevalence and factors associated with pre-diabetes and diabetes mellitus in Kenya: results from a national survey. BMC Public Health. 2018;18(Suppl 3):1215. https://doi. org/10.1186/s12889-018-6053-x.
- Moheet A, Mangia S, Seaquist ER. Impact of diabetes on cognitive function and brain structure. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2015;1353:60–71. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.12807.
- Moran C, Phan TG, Chen J, Blizzard L, Beare R, Venn A, Münch G, Wood AG, Forbes J, Greenaway TM, Pearson S, Srikanth V. Brain atrophy in type 2 diabetes: regional distribution and influence on cognition. Diabetes Care. 2013;36(12):4036–42. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc13-0143.
- Myers RR, Campana WM, Shubayev VI. The role of neuroinflammation in neuropathic pain: mechanisms and therapeutic targets. Drug Discov Today. 2006;11(1–2):8–20. https://doi.org/10. 1016/s1359-6446(05)03637-8.
- Navarro JF, Mora C. Diabetes, inflammation, proinflammatory cytokines, and diabetic nephropathy. ScientificWorldJournal. 2006;6:908–17. https://doi.org/10.1100/tsw.2006.179.
- Petrie JR, Guzik TJ, Touyz RM. Diabetes, hypertension, and cardiovascular disease: clinical insights and vascular mechanisms. Can J Cardiol. 2018;34(5):575–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.cjca.2017.12.005.
- Piovesana R, Salazar Intriago MS, Dini L, Tata AM. Cholinergic modulation of neuroinflammation: focus on α7 nicotinic receptor. Int J Mol Sci. 2021;22(9):4912. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms22094912.
- Reeta KH, Singh D, Gupta YK. Chronic treatment with taurine after intracerebroventricular streptozotocin injection improves cognitive dysfunction in rats by modulating oxidative stress, cholinergic functions and neuroinflammation. Neurochem Int. 2017;108:146–56. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.neuint.2017.03.006.
- Rehman SU, Shah SA, Ali T, Chung JI, Kim MO. Anthocyanins reversed D-galactose-induced oxidative stress and neuroinflammation mediated cognitive impairment in adult rats. Mol Neurobiol. 2017;54(1):255–71. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-015-9604-5.
- Röder PV, Wu B, Liu Y, Han W. Pancreatic regulation of glucose homeostasis. Exp Mol Med. 2016;48(3):e219. https://doi.org/10.1038/emm.2016.6.
- Rom S, Zuluaga-Ramirez V, Gajghate S, Seliga A, Winfield M, Heldt NA, Kolpakov MA, Bashkirova YV, Sabri AK, Persidsky Y. Hyperglycemia-driven neuroinflammation compromises BBB leading to memory loss in both diabetes mellitus (DM) type 1 and type 2 mouse models. Mol Neurobiol. 2019;56(3):1883–96. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-018-1195-5.
- Saeedi P, Petersohn I, Salpea P, Malanda B, Karuranga S, Unwin N, Colagiuri S, Guariguata L, Motala AA, Ogurtsova K, Shaw JE, Bright D, Williams R. Global and regional diabetes prevalence estimates for 2019 and projections for 2030 and 2045: results from the International Diabetes Federation Diabetes Atlas, 9(th) edition. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2019;157:107843. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2019.107843.

- Salkovic-Petrisic M, Knezovic A, Hoyer S, Riederer P. What have we learned from the streptozotocin-induced animal model of sporadic Alzheimer's disease, about the therapeutic strategies in Alzheimer's research. J Neural Transm (Vienna). 2013;120(1):233–52. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00702-012-0877-9.
- Sandireddy R, Yerra VG, Areti A, Komirishetty P, Kumar A. Neuroinflammation and oxidative stress in diabetic neuropathy: futuristic strategies based on these targets. Int J Endocrinol. 2014;2014:674987. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/674987.
- Sankar SB, Infante-Garcia C, Weinstock LD, Ramos-Rodriguez JJ, Hierro-Bujalance C, Fernandez-Ponce C, Wood LB, Garcia-Alloza M. Amyloid beta and diabetic pathology cooperatively stimulate cytokine expression in an Alzheimer's mouse model. J Neuroinflammation. 2020;17 (1):38. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12974-020-1707-x.
- Sergi D, Renaud J, Simola N, Martinoli M. Diabetes, a contemporary risk for Parkinson's disease: epidemiological and cellular evidences. Front Aging Neurosci. 2019;11:302.
- Singh R, Kishore L, Kaur N. Diabetic peripheral neuropathy: current perspective and future directions. Pharmacol Res. 2014;80:21–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2013.12.005.
- Sivaprakasam K. Towards a unifying hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease: cholinergic system linked to plaques, tangles and neuroinflammation. Curr Med Chem. 2006;13(18):2179–88. https://doi. org/10.2174/092986706777935203.
- Song Y, Zhang F, Ying C, Kumar KA, Zhou X. Inhibition of NF-κB activity by aminoguanidine alleviates neuroinflammation induced by hyperglycemia. Metab Brain Dis. 2017;32:1627–37. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11011-017-0013-5.
- Srodulski S, Sharma S, Bachstetter AB, Brelsfoard JM, Pascual C, Xie XS, Saatman KE, Van Eldik LJ, Despa F. Neuroinflammation and neurologic deficits in diabetes linked to brain accumulation of amylin. Mol Neurodegener. 2014;9:30. https://doi.org/10.1186/1750-1326-9-30.
- Stanciu GD, Bild V, Ababei DC, Rusu RN, Cobzaru A, Paduraru L, Bulea D. Link between diabetes and Alzheimer's disease due to the shared amyloid aggregation and deposition involving both neurodegenerative changes and neurovascular damages. J Clin Med. 2020;9(6):1713. https:// doi.org/10.3390/jcm9061713.
- Tangvarasittichai S. Oxidative stress, insulin resistance, dyslipidemia and type 2 diabetes mellitus. World J Diabetes. 2015;6(3):456–80. https://doi.org/10.4239/wjd.v6.i3.456.
- Tata AM, Velluto L, D'Angelo C, Reale M. Cholinergic system dysfunction and neurodegenerative diseases: cause or effect? CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets. 2014;13(7):1294–303. https://doi. org/10.2174/1871527313666140917121132.
- Van Dyken P, Lacoste B. Impact of metabolic syndrome on neuroinflammation and the blood-brain barrier. Front Neurosci. 2018;12:930. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2018.00930.
- Wang J, Li G, Wang Z, Zhang X, Yao L, Wang F, Liu S, Yin J, Ling EA, Wang L, Hao A. High glucose-induced expression of inflammatory cytokines and reactive oxygen species in cultured astrocytes. Neuroscience. 2012;202:58–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.11.062.
- Wenk GL, McGann K, Mencarelli A, Hauss-Wegrzyniak B, Del Soldato P, Fiorucci S. Mechanisms to prevent the toxicity of chronic neuroinflammation on forebrain cholinergic neurons. Eur J Pharmacol. 2000;402(1–2):77–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0014-2999(00)00523-9.
- Westermark P, Andersson A, Westermark GT. Islet amyloid polypeptide, islet amyloid, and diabetes mellitus. Physiol Rev. 2011;91(3):795–826. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00042.2009.
- Yan SD, Schmidt AM, Anderson GM, Zhang J, Brett J, Zou YS, Pinsky D, Stern D. Enhanced cellular oxidant stress by the interaction of advanced glycation end products with their receptors/ binding proteins. J Biol Chem. 1994;269(13):9889–97.
- Yuan T, Yang T, Chen H, Danli F, Hu Y, Wang J, Yuan Q, Yu H, Xu W, Xie X. New insights into oxidative stress and inflammation during diabetes mellitus-accelerated atherosclerosis. Redox Biol. 2019;20:247–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2018.09.025.
- Zeinivand M, Nahavandi A, Zare M. Deferoxamine regulates neuroinflammation and oxidative stress in rats with diabetes-induced cognitive dysfunction. Inflammopharmacology. 2020;28: 575–83. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10787-019-00665-7.
- Zilliox LA, Chadrasekaran K, Kwan JY, Russell JW. Diabetes and cognitive impairment. Curr Diab Rep. 2016;16(9):87. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11892-016-0775-x.

Part VI Diet and Diabetes



Selenium and Risk of Diabetes

52

Shinje Moon and Chang-Myung Oh

Contents

Introduction	1076
Association Between Selenium and the Risk of T2DM	1077
Recent Updates on Clinical Studies	1077
Selenium and Gestational Diabetes	1078
Selenium and Diabetes Complications	1079
Potential Mechanisms of Action of Selenium on Glucose Homeostasis	1080
Conclusion	1081
Summary Points	1082
References	1082

Abstract

Selenium is mainly involved in the synthesis of selenoproteins in living organisms, and its primary role is to reduce oxidative stress in the body. Antioxidative properties of selenium led to the expectation that selenium would be protective against type 2 diabetes (T2DM). However, findings from recent epidemiological studies have raised concerns that high selenium levels in the body may be associated with T2DM or insulin resistance. Hence, the chapter goes on to discuss the current understanding of the role of selenium on glucose homeostasis and the association between selenium exposure and the risk of T2DM.

S. Moon

C.-M. Oh (⊠) Department of Biomedical Science and Engineering, Gwangju Institute of Science and Technology, Gwangju, South Korea e-mail: cmoh@gist.ac.kr

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

1075

Division of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Department of Internal Medicine, Hallym University College of Medicine, Seoul, South Korea

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 55

Keywords

Selenium \cdot Selenoprotein \cdot Diabetes mellitus \cdot Metabolic syndrome \cdot Insulin resistance

Abbreviatio	ons
GDM	Gestational diabetes mellitus
GPX	Glutathione peroxidase
MetS	Metabolic syndrome
SeP	Selenoprotein P
T2DM	Type 2 diabetes
TXNRD	Thioredoxin reductase

Introduction

Selenium is an essential nutrient for humans and plays important roles in reproduction, thyroid hormone metabolism, DNA synthesis, and protection from oxidative damage and infection in the form of various selenoproteins (Sunde 2012). Selenium mainly exists in the form of selenocysteine or selenomethionine in animal and plant tissues and in the form of selenoprotein P (SeP) or glutathione peroxidase (GPX), a selenoprotein with selenocysteine residues, in the plasma. Selenium is present as a micronutrient in many foods or can be consumed as a dietary supplement. Dietary selenium is supplied in two forms, inorganic (selenate and selenite) and organic (selenomethionine and selenocysteine) (Sunde 2006; Terry 2012). Selenium intake varies greatly depending on the dietary pattern of each country and the selenium content in the soil in which particular food is produced. In the United States and United Kingdom, meat and bread are the main sources of selenium (Rayman 2012). In Japan, fish and shellfish account for approximately 50% of selenium (Yoneyama et al. 2008), and in Korea, grains are known to be the main source of selenium (Choi et al. 2009).

Selenium is mainly involved in the synthesis of selenoproteins in living organisms, and its main role is to reduce oxidative stress in the body. Selenium is involved in antioxidant functions, redox regulation, thyroid function, and fertility through 35 different selenoproteins. Representative selenoproteins include SeP. selenoprotein W, GPX, thioredoxin reductase (TXNRD), and iodothyronine deiodinase, which regulates thyroid hormone metabolism (Berry and Larsen 1992), and the main form of selenium that exhibits biological functions in the body is selenocysteine. Selenoproteins have one or more selenocysteine residues in their primary structure (Zachara 1992; Brown and Arthur 2001). GPX acts as an antioxidant by decomposing hydrogen peroxide in the body to prevent cell damage (Flohe 1988). TXNRD is also involved in the regeneration of the antioxidant system by reducing thioredoxin and plays an important role in early stages of cell differentiation (Brown and Arthur 2001). As a glycoprotein, SeP is the most abundant selenoprotein in the plasma and plays a role in transporting and storing selenium. SeP is also found in cell membranes and is presumed to have an antioxidant function (Zachara 1992; Brown and Arthur 2001; Hill and Burk 1997; Burk et al. 1995). Thus, selenium-containing proteins are involved in various metabolic and physiological functions, including antioxidant defense, reproduction, muscle development and function, thyroid hormone metabolism, and immune responses.

Because of the antioxidant properties of some selenoproteins, it was assumed that selenium would be protective against type 2 diabetes (T2DM). Several in vivo and in vitro studies have found that selenium has antidiabetic and insulin-mimicking properties. Several epidemiological studies, however, have raised concerns that high selenium levels in the body may be linked to T2DM or insulin resistance. Hence this chapter goes on to discuss current understanding of the role of selenium on glucose homeostasis and the association between selenium exposure and the risk of T2DM.

Association Between Selenium and the Risk of T2DM

Recent Updates on Clinical Studies

T2DM is characterized by varying degrees of peripheral insulin resistance and defects in insulin secretion. Although the mechanisms that underlie insulin resistance and T2DM are not fully understood, several studies have suggested a role for oxidative stress in the onset and progression of T2DM (Evans et al. 2003; Pérez-Matute et al. 2009). Selenium has been assumed to help in the prevention and therapy of T2DM because of its antioxidative properties (Kljai and Runje 2001; Faure 2003; Rajpathak et al. 2005). However, Stranges et al. (2007) conducted a secondary analysis of the Nutritional Prevention of Cancer trial and found an excess risk of T2DM among subjects receiving selenium supplementation (200 µg/day) compared with those receiving a placebo (hazard ratio [HR] = 1.55, p = 0.03), which generated a concern. By contrast, the Selenium and Vitamin E Cancer Prevention Trial (SELECT), the largest prostate cancer prevention trial with 35,533 participants, showed a nonsignificant increase in the risk of T2DM (relative risk [RR] = 1.07, p = 0.16) after supplementation with 200 µg/day of selenium compared with that of a placebo (Lippman et al. 2009). The Selenium and Celecoxib Trial evaluated the effects of selenium (200 μ g/day) and celecoxib (400 mg/day) on the prevention of colorectal adenoma. Although the overall risk of T2DM was not significantly increased, a subgroup analysis showed a significantly increased risk for T2DM in older participants (>63 years of age) receiving selenium compared with that in the placebo group (HR = 2.21, p = 0.03) (Thompson et al. 2016). A recent meta-analysis of five randomized controlled trials (RCTs) also showed a significantly increased risk of T2DM in participants receiving selenium compared with that in the comparison groups (RR = 1.11, 95% CI: 1.01–1.22) (Vinceti et al. 2018). However, all the trials were conducted using organic selenium or selenized yeast (Vinceti et al. 2017a, 2018). Considering a higher toxicity of inorganic species of the element compared with the organic species, the lack of evaluation of the effects of inorganic selenium on the risk of T2DM was a limitation of the previous RCTs (Oliveira et al. 2017). Since most RCTs were conducted on US populations, additional research considering differences in the race, soil selenium concentrations, and regional dietary habits is necessary.

Several observational studies have been conducted to investigate the relationship between selenium levels and the risk of T2DM. High serum selenium levels were associated with the prevalence of T2DM in the NHANES III and NHANES 2004–2005 studies (Bleys et al. 2007; Laclaustra et al. 2009). An updated study using NHANES 2011–2014 data found a dose-dependent positive relationship between serum selenium levels and the prevalence of T2DM (Moon et al. 2019). A recent meta-analysis of 34 studies has shown that selenium exposure across a wide range of concentrations, particularly a blood selenium level above 120 μ g/L and dietary selenium intake of 80 μ g/day, increases the risk of T2DM (Vinceti et al. 2021). In this meta-analysis, dietary selenium intake and urinary selenium concentrations were found to have linear associations with the risk of T2DM, while blood selenium concentrations had a J-shaped relationship with the risk of T2DM (Vinceti et al. 2021).

Selenium and Gestational Diabetes

Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) is defined as any degree of glucose intolerance that begins or is discovered during pregnancy (Metzger 1998). Selenium, as an essential element in the human body, has shown significant associations with GDM. Recently, Xu et al. (2022) have performed a meta-analysis to investigate the clinical relationship between serum selenium levels and GDM. This meta-analysis included 27 studies and indicated that serum selenium levels in patients with GDM were significantly lower than those in healthy controls (standard mean difference = -1.29; 95% CI: -1.60 to -0.97, p < 0.00001). These data suggest that there are significant associations between low serum selenium levels and GDM.

Based on these significant associations, Moshfeghy et al. (2020) proposed the use of the serum selenium level as a predictive value for GDM diagnosis. In this nested case–control study, the serum selenium levels in patients with GDM were lower than those in healthy pregnant controls, and the cutoff level was 48.2 μ g/L in the first trimester (sensitivity 83.3% and specificity 94%) (Moshfeghy et al. 2020).

There has been no observational study to establish the causality between serum selenium and GDM. A recent RCT has investigated the effects of selenium supplementation on GDM (Najib et al. 2020). In this study, supplementation with 100 μ g of selenium for 12 weeks did not improve glucose homeostasis in patients with GDM (Najib et al. 2020). However, in another study, supplementation with 200 μ g of selenium for 6 weeks reduced the fasting plasma glucose and serum insulin levels and improved other parameters related to glucose homeostasis (Asemi et al. 2015). Further large, well-designed studies are needed to clarify the effects of selenium on GDM.

Genetic studies have provided evidence on the relationship between selenium and GDM. Among SNPs in the SeP1 gene (SEPP1), rs3877899 was significantly associated with the maintenance of selenium levels during pregnancy (Mao et al. 2016) and with GDM etiopathogenesis (Degirmencioglu et al. 2018).

Selenium and Diabetes Complications

Selenium has shown protective effects against diabetic liver injury. In an alloxaninduced diabetic rat model, selenium supplementation in the form of sodium selenite significantly decreased aspartate aminotransferase (AST), alanine aminotransferase (ALT), glucose, and insulin levels in the blood (Zou et al. 2016). Compared with those in nontreated diabetic rats, the histologic features of diabetic injury, such as sinusoidal congestion, lipid accumulation, and centrilobular hepatocyte degeneration, were all improved in selenium-treated diabetic rats (Zou et al. 2016).

Selenium also plays protective roles in the diabetic heart. As an antioxidant, selenium suppressed oxidative stress-induced deleterious signals and reduced cardiac hypertrophy in diabetic rats (Dhanya et al. 2014; Okatan et al. 2013; Mushtaq et al. 2021). In an STZ-induced diabetic rat model, selenium reduced cardiomyocyte apoptosis by modulating the Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) pathway (Haitao et al. 2013).

A population-based cohort study (NHANES) discovered that higher selenium levels were associated with lower all-cause and heart disease mortality among people with type 2 diabetes (Qiu et al. 2022). Intriguingly, selenium did not show significant associations with coronary artery disease (CAD). Serum selenium levels were not different between people with and without diabetes (Sotiropoulos et al. 2011). A recent Mendelian randomization study has also found little association between selenium levels and CAD (Rath et al. 2021).

Selenium also has beneficial effects against the progression of diabetic nephropathy. Selenium supplementation suppressed the levels of inflammation- and oxidative stress-related biomarkers, such as matrix metalloproteinase 2 (MMP-2) and plasma nitric oxide, and increased total plasma antioxidant capacity in patients with diabetic nephropathy (Bahmani et al. 2016). In an STZ-induced diabetic rat model, selenium nanoparticles reduced the expression of profibrotic markers, such as TGF- β 1, desmin, and vimentin, improved the antioxidant capacity, and blocked renal morphological alterations (Khan and Sheppard 2006). A selenium-deficient diet increased renal oxidative stress and TGF- β 1 signaling in a diabetic rat model (Reddi and Bollineni 2001).

Plasma selenium and GPX levels were shown to be significantly lower in diabetic patients with macroalbuminuria than in diabetic patients with or without microalbuminuria, and in healthy controls (Sedighi et al. 2014). In line with these results, selenium supplementation for 12 weeks to patients with diabetes and microalbuminuria did not show beneficial effects (Ghadiri-Anari et al. 2020).

Selenium shows beneficial effects against nerve injury. Thus, selenium improved nerve regeneration in a sciatic nerve crush model and reduced sciatic nerve damage due to ischemia/reperfusion injury by decreasing TNF- α signaling (Dolkhani et al. 2020). Diphenyl diselenide, an organic selenium compound, significantly suppressed glucose-induced cytotoxicity and oxidative stress in a Schwann cell line and improved the nerve conduction velocity in an STZ-induced rat model by activating the NRF2/KEAP1 pathway (Wang et al. 2020). Furthermore, as an antioxidant, selenium protects retinal pigment epithelial cells from glucose-induced oxidative stress (González de Vega et al. 2018) and improves diabetic wound healing by increasing angiogenesis (Bajpai et al. 2011).

Potential Mechanisms of Action of Selenium on Glucose Homeostasis

Recent studies have indicated that selenium plays a role in the insulin-signaling cascade in pancreatic beta cells and other peripheral organs. Evidence suggests that adequate selenium concentrations are required for insulin secretion and action (Fontenelle et al. 2018). In the mouse beta cell line Min6, selenium treatment upregulated insulin promoter factor 1 (Ipf1) and insulin gene expression and stimulated insulin secretion (Campbell et al. 2008). In a streptozotocin (STZ)-induced diabetic rat model, selenium supplementation increased glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP1) signaling, the numbers of islets and viable beta cells, and preproinsulin expression in the pancreas (Barakat et al. 2016).

Insulin secretion is also affected by selenoproteins. In Min6 cells, the overexpression of mouse selenoprotein K increased while its knockdown decreased the insulin secretion by changing free cytosolic Ca2+ release from the endoplasmic reticulum (Meng et al. 2017). By contrast, SeP suppresses insulin secretion. In a mouse model of type 2 diabetes, excess SeP administration decreased high glucoseinduced insulin secretion, but this effect was reversed by the administration of a neutralizing antibody against SeP (Mita et al. 2017).

Selenium also plays a role in the development of peripheral insulin resistance (Fontenelle et al. 2018). According to a recent meta-analysis, selenium levels in the blood/serum were higher in subjects with metabolic syndrome (MetS) than in healthy controls (Tinkov et al. 2020). At the same time, higher SeP levels were associated with a lower risk of MetS (OR = 0.995; 95% confidence interval [CI]: 0.989–1.00, p = 0.04); furthermore, SeP levels were inversely associated with the waist circumference (OR = 0.995; 95% CI: 0.990–1.00) (Gharipour et al. 2017). By contrast, a study of Korean adults without diabetes found that higher SeP levels were associated with both visceral obesity and NAFLD (Choi et al. 2013). Furthermore, circulating SeP levels correlated with the HOMA-IR index and were more than threefold higher in obese than in nonobese patients (Choi et al. 2013).

In the liver, selenium modulates both gluconeogenesis and glycolysis. In the rat liver, selenium administration was shown to decrease the levels of pyruvate carboxylase and glucose-6-phosphatase while increasing those of glucokinase and phosphofructokinase (Iizuka et al. 1993). In diabetic rats, selenium normalized the altered activities of glucose-metabolizing enzymes and reduced glucose uptake and utilization in the liver (Chen et al. 2015). In a mouse model of high-fat diet (HFD)-induced fatty liver disease, selenium showed protective effects against hepatic injury and insulin resistance by alleviating oxidative stress (Wang et al. 2022). By contrast, several other animal studies have reported that selenium can increase insulin resistance in the liver. In rats, the supplementation with high doses of selenium increased lipolysis in the adipose tissue and free fatty acid accumulation in the liver (Wang et al. 2014).

Furthermore, selenium improves the physiological functions of the skeletal muscle. In a mouse study, selenium supplementation increased the speed of voluntary running and the daily distance covered by augmenting calcium release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum (Bodnár et al. 2016). In a diabetic mouse model, seleniumenriched exopolysaccharide supplementation improved glucose uptake and utilization in skeletal muscles through the AMPK α 2/PGC-1 α pathway (Zhou et al. 2014). On the other hand, selenium compounds, such as selenite and methylseleninic acid, delayed insulin signal transduction in rat L6 myotubes (Pinto et al. 2011).

In adipose tissues, selenium and selenoproteins regulate adipocyte development and functioning (Tinkov et al. 2020). Selenium supplementation in the physiological range was shown to activate 3 T3-L1 preadipocyte differentiation by increasing cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK1 and CDK2) expression (Tinkov et al. 2020). SeP is upregulated in the liver of patients with type 2 diabetes and worsens glucose intolerance (Mita et al. 2017; Misu et al. 2010). Antioxidant selenoproteins, such as GPXs and TXNRDs, play roles in the endocrine system and reduce oxidative stress (Tinkov et al. 2020). Gpx1 knockout mice fed on HFD had significantly lower levels of hepatic steatosis, insulin resistance, and resistance to diet-induced obesity than wild-type mice (Merry et al. 2014). TXNRD transcription in human SAT is linked to lipogenesis and insulin resistance in adipocytes (di Giuseppe et al. 2019). Clinical studies have also found a link among TXNRD expression/activity in adipose tissue, antioxidant regulatory pathways, and excessive adiposity (Tinkov et al. 2020).

Conclusion

Although selenium improves insulin secretion by pancreatic beta cells in animal and human studies, clinical studies have shown opposite effects of selenium supplementation in patients with diabetes. A recent Mendelian randomization analysis using genome-wide association studies has found a genetically predicted association of selenium with a higher risk of type 2 diabetes (OR = 1.27; 95% CI: 1.07–1.50) (Rath et al. 2021). This result implies that selenium may increase the risk of type 2 diabetes by increasing insulin resistance, despite improving pancreatic beta cell function.

Intriguingly, selenium also shows inconsistent results in terms of its effects on insulin resistance. A recent population-based cohort study (NHANES) has reported that a 10 μ g/L increase in the level of selenium was associated with a 1.5% increase in insulin resistance and a 1.7% increase in HOMA-IR (Cardoso et al. 2021). By contrast, dietary selenium intake was negatively correlated with HOMA-IR in another cohort (Newfoundland population) (Wang et al. 2017). In the Newfoundland

population, a higher dietary selenium intake was associated with lower insulin resistance when the total dietary selenium intake was less than 1.6 g/kg/day; above this point, the beneficial effect of selenium was lost (Wang et al. 2017).

These data imply that the inconsistencies between studies might be due to U-shaped metabolic effects of selenium. As selenium is an antioxidant and essential mineral, its deficiency leads to a wide range of cellular dysfunctions and causes critical diseases, such as cardiovascular disease, infertility, and cognitive decline (Shreenath et al. 2022). Animal studies have reported that selenium deficiency resulted in the atrophy of the pancreas in chickens, impaired islet functions in rats, and diabetes and MetS phenotypes in mice (Zhou et al. 2013). Excessive selenium also induces many disorders in the body. At high concentrations, selenium acts as a prooxidant and induces reactive oxidative stress (Wallenberg et al. 2014; Lee and Jeong 2012). This toxicity may be the cause of increased insulin resistance and the positive associations between selenium levels and diabetes (Cardoso et al. 2021; Vinceti et al. 2018; Kim et al. 2019).

This U-shaped metabolic effect implies that further clinical and preclinical studies are needed to find both normal range of selenium levels in blood and daily requirements. Current recommended dietary selenium allowance for adult over 19 years old is 55 μ g (0.70 μ mol) daily. And tolerable upper intake level in adult is 400 μ g (0.70 μ mol) (Monsen 2000). But this tolerability is based on the result of acute toxicity (selenium poisoning) and chronic toxicity (selenosis) of selenium intake such as hair loss, gastrointestinal disturbance, skin rash, and nervous system abnormalities (Monsen 2000). More research into metabolic dysfunctions as a side effect of selenium intake is needed to determine the optimal range of selenium levels and daily intake.

Summary Points

- Selenium is mainly involved in the synthesis of selenoproteins in living organisms, and its primary role is to reduce oxidative stress in the body.
- Antioxidative properties of selenium led to the expectation that selenium would be protective against type 2 diabetes (T2DM).
- Findings from recent epidemiological studies have raised concerns that high selenium levels in the body may be associated with T2DM or insulin resistance.
- This chapter goes on to discuss the current understanding of the role of selenium on glucose homeostasis and the association between selenium exposure and the risk of T2DM.

References

Asemi Z, Jamilian M, Mesdaghinia E, et al. Effects of selenium supplementation on glucose homeostasis, inflammation, and oxidative stress in gestational diabetes: randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Nutrition. 2015;31:1235–42.

- Bahmani F, Kia M, Soleimani A, et al. The effects of selenium supplementation on biomarkers of inflammation and oxidative stress in patients with diabetic nephropathy: a randomised, doubleblind, placebo-controlled trial. Br J Nutr. 2016;116:1222–8.
- Bajpai S, Mishra M, Kumar H, et al. Effect of selenium on connexin expression, angiogenesis, and antioxidant status in diabetic wound healing. Biol Trace Elem Res. 2011;144:327–38.
- Barakat G, Moustafa ME, Khalifeh I, et al. Effects of exendin-4 and selenium on the expression of GLP-1R, IRS-1, and preproinsulin in the pancreas of diabetic rats. J Physiol Biochem. 2016;73: 387–94.
- Berry MJ, Larsen PR. The role of selenium in thyroid hormone action. Endocr Rev. 1992;13: 207–19.
- Bleys J, Navas-Acien A, Guallar E. Serum selenium and diabetes in U.S. adults. Diabetes Care. 2007;30:829–34.
- Bodnár D, Ruzsnavszky O, Oláh T, et al. Dietary selenium augments sarcoplasmic calcium release and mechanical performance in mice. Nutr Metab (Lond). 2016;13:76.
- Brown KM, Arthur JR. Selenium, selenoproteins and human health: a review. Public Health Nutr. 2001;4:593–9.
- Burk RF, Hill KE, Awad JA, et al. Pathogenesis of diquat-induced liver necrosis in seleniumdeficient rats: assessment of the roles of lipid peroxidation and selenoprotein P. Hepatology. 1995;21:561–9.
- Campbell SC, Aldibbiat A, Marriott CE, et al. Selenium stimulates pancreatic beta-cell gene expression and enhances islet function. FEBS Lett. 2008;582:2333–7.
- Cardoso BR, Braat S, Graham RM. Selenium status is associated with insulin resistance markers in adults: findings from the 2013 to 2018 National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES). Front Nutr. 2021;8:696024.
- Chen H, Qiu Q, Zou C, et al. Regulation of hepatic carbohydrate metabolism by selenium during diabetes. Chem Biol Interact. 2015;232:1–6.
- Choi Y, Kim J, Lee H, et al. Selenium content in representative Korean foods. J Food Compos Anal. 2009;22:117–22.
- Choi HY, Hwang SY, Lee CH, et al. Increased selenoprotein p levels in subjects with visceral obesity and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Diabetes Metab J. 2013;37:63–71.
- Degirmencioglu S, Tüten A, Yüksel MA, et al. The role of selenoprotein P and selenium in the etiopathogenesis of gestational diabetes mellitus: association with selenoprotein P1 gene (rs3877899) polymorphism. Trace Elem Electrolytes. 2018;35:174–82.
- Dhanya B, Swathy R, Indira M. Selenium downregulates oxidative stress-induced activation of leukotriene pathway in experimental rats with diabetic cardiac hypertrophy. Biol Trace Elem Res. 2014;161:107–15.
- di Giuseppe R, Plachta-Danielzik S, Koch M, et al. Dietary pattern associated with selenoprotein P and MRI-derived body fat volumes, liver signal intensity, and metabolic disorders. Eur J Nutr. 2019;58:1067–79.
- Dolkhani S, Najafpour A, Mohammadi R. Fabrication and transplantation of chitosan-selenium biodegradable nanocomposite conduit on transected sciatic nerve: a novel study in rat model. Neurol Res. 2020;42:439–50.
- Evans JL, Goldfine ID, Maddux BA, et al. Are oxidative stress-activated signaling pathways mediators of insulin resistance and beta-cell dysfunction? Diabetes. 2003;52:1–8.
- Faure P. Protective effects of antioxidant micronutrients (vitamin E, zinc and selenium) in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2003;41:995–8.
- Flohe L. Glutathione peroxidase. Basic Life Sci. 1988;49:663-8.
- Fontenelle LC, Feitosa MM, Morais JBS, et al. The role of selenium in insulin resistance. Braz J Pharm Sci. 2018;54:e00139.
- Ghadiri-Anari A, Jam-Ashkezari S, Fallah-Tafti B, et al. The effect of selenium on microalbuminuria in diabetic patients: a randomized clinical trial. IJDO. 2020;12:174–82.
- Gharipour M, Sadeghi M, Salehi M, et al. Association of expression of selenoprotein P in mRNA and protein levels with metabolic syndrome in subjects with cardiovascular disease: results of the Selenegene study. J Gene Med. 2017;19:e2945.

- González de Vega R, García M, Fernández-Sánchez ML, et al. Protective effect of selenium supplementation following oxidative stress mediated by glucose on retinal pigment epithelium. Metallomics. 2018;10:83–92.
- Haitao Z, Zhongwei L, Kunlun C, et al. Selenium prevents cardiomyocyte apoptosis during hyperglycemia in diabetic rats via TLR4 pathway. Heart. 2013;99(Suppl 1):A33–A4.
- Hill KE, Burk RF. Selenoprotein P: recent studies in rats and in humans. Biomed Environ Sci. 1997;10:198–208.
- Iizuka Y, Sakurai E, Maeda K, et al. Effects of selenium on the glycolysis and gluconeogenesis system in rat liver. Yakugaku Zasshi. 1993;113:525–31.
- Khan R, Sheppard R. Fibrosis in heart disease: understanding the role of transforming growth factor-β1 in cardiomyopathy, valvular disease and arrhythmia. Immunology. 2006;118:10–24.
- Kim J, Chung HS, Choi M-K, et al. Association between serum selenium level and the presence of diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis of observational studies. Diabetes Metab J. 2019;43:447–60.
- Kljai K, Runje R. Selenium and glycogen levels in diabetic patients. Biol Trace Elem Res. 2001;83: 223–9.
- Laclaustra M, Navas-Acien A, Stranges S, et al. Serum selenium concentrations and diabetes in U.S. adults: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 2003-2004. Environ Health Perspect. 2009;117:1409–13.
- Lee KH, Jeong D. Bimodal actions of selenium essential for antioxidant and toxic pro-oxidant activities: the selenium paradox. Mol Med Rep. 2012;5:299–304.
- Lippman SM, Klein EA, Goodman PJ, et al. Effect of selenium and vitamin E on risk of prostate cancer and other cancers: the selenium and vitamin E cancer prevention trial (SELECT). JAMA. 2009;301:39–51.
- Mao J, Vanderlelie JJ, Perkins AV, et al. Genetic polymorphisms that affect selenium status and response to selenium supplementation in United Kingdom pregnant women. Am J Clin Nutr. 2016;103:100–6.
- Meng X-L, Zhang H-L, Feng L-L, et al. Selenoprotein SelK increases the secretion of insulin from MIN6 β cells. RSC Adv. 2017;7:35038–47.
- Merry TL, Tran M, Stathopoulos M, et al. High-fat-fed obese glutathione peroxidase 1-deficient mice exhibit defective insulin secretion but protection from hepatic steatosis and liver damage. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2014;20:2114–29.
- Metzger BEJDC. Proceedings of the fourth international workshop conference on gestational diabetes mellitus. 1998;21:B1–B167.
- Misu H, Takamura T, Takayama H, et al. A liver-derived secretory protein, selenoprotein P, causes insulin resistance. Cell Metab. 2010;12:483–95.
- Mita Y, Nakayama K, Inari S, et al. Selenoprotein P-neutralizing antibodies improve insulin secretion and glucose sensitivity in type 2 diabetes mouse models. Nat Commun. 2017;8:1658.
- Monsen ER. Dietetics. Dietary reference intakes for the antioxidant nutrients: vitamin C, vitamin E, selenium, and carotenoids. J Am Diet Assoc. 2000;100:637–40.
- Moon S, Chung HS, Yu JM, et al. Association between serum selenium level and the prevalence of diabetes mellitus in U.S. population. J Trace Elem Med Biol. 2019;52:83–8.
- Moshfeghy Z, Bashiri K, Dabbaghmanesh MH, et al. The predictive value of selenium in diagnosis of gestational diabetes: a nested case-control study. Int J Gen Med. 2020;13:53–60.
- Mushtaq I, Bashir Z, Sarwar M, et al. N-acetyl cysteine, selenium, and ascorbic acid rescue diabetic cardiac hypertrophy via mitochondrial-associated redox regulators. Molecules. 2021;26:7285.
- Najib FS, Poordast T, Nia MR, et al. Effects of selenium supplementation on glucose homeostasis in women with gestational diabetes mellitus: a randomized, controlled trial. Int J Reprod Biomed. 2020;18:57–64.
- Okatan EN, Tuncay E, Turan BJ. Cardioprotective effect of selenium via modulation of cardiac ryanodine receptor calcium release channels in diabetic rat cardiomyocytes through thioredoxin system. J Nutr Biochem. 2013;24:2110–8.
- Oliveira CS, Piccoli BC, Aschner M, et al. Chemical speciation of selenium and mercury as determinant of their neurotoxicity. Adv Neurobiol. 2017;18:53–83.

- Pérez-Matute P, Zulet MA, Martínez JA. Reactive species and diabetes: counteracting oxidative stress to improve health. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2009;9:771–9.
- Pinto A, Speckmann B, Heisler M, et al. Delaying of insulin signal transduction in skeletal muscle cells by selenium compounds. J Inorg Biochem. 2011;105:812–20.
- Qiu Z, Geng T, Wan Z, et al. Serum selenium concentrations and risk of all-cause and heart disease mortality among individuals with type 2 diabetes. Am J Clin Nutr. 2022;115:53–60.
- Rajpathak S, Rimm E, Morris JS, et al. Toenail selenium and cardiovascular disease in men with diabetes. J Am Coll Nutr. 2005;24:250–6.
- Rath AA, Lam HS, Schooling CM. Effects of selenium on coronary artery disease, type 2 diabetes and their risk factors: a Mendelian randomization study. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2021;75:1668–78.
- Rayman MP. Selenium and human health. Lancet. 2012;379:1256-8.
- Reddi AS, Bollineni JS. Selenium-deficient diet induces renal oxidative stress and injury via TGF-β1 in normal and diabetic rats. Kidney Int. 2001;59:1342–53.
- Sedighi O, Makhlough A, Shokrzadeh M, et al. Association between plasma selenium and glutathione peroxidase levels and severity of diabetic nephropathy in patients with type two diabetes mellitus. Nephrourol Mon. 2014;6:e21355.
- Shreenath AP, Ameer MA, Dooley J. Selenium deficiency. In: StatPearls. Treasure Island: StatPearls Publishing; 2022.
- Sotiropoulos A, Papadodima SA, Papazafiropoulou AK, et al. Serum selenium levels do not differ in type 2 diabetic subjects with and without coronary artery disease. BMC Res Notes. 2011;4:270.
- Stranges S, Marshall JR, Natarajan R, et al. Effects of long-term selenium supplementation on the incidence of type 2 diabetes: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med. 2007;147:217–23.
- Sunde RA. Selenium. In: Bowman B, Russell R, editors. Present knowledge in nutrition. 9th ed. Washington, DC: International Life Sciences Institute; 2006.
- Sunde RA. Selenium. In: Ross AC, Caballero B, Cousins RJ, Tucker KL, Ziegler TR, editors. Modern nutrition in health and disease. 11th ed. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2012.
- Terry EN. Selenium. In: Erdman JW, Macdonald IA, Zeisel SH, editors. Present knowledge in nutrition. 10th ed. Washington, DC: Wiley/Blackwell; 2012.
- Thompson PA, Ashbeck EL, Roe DJ, et al. Selenium supplementation for prevention of colorectal adenomas and risk of associated type 2 diabetes. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2016;108:djw152.
- Tinkov AA, Ajsuvakova OP, Filippini T, et al. Selenium and selenoproteins in adipose tissue physiology and obesity. Biomol Ther. 2020;10:658.
- Vinceti M, Filippini T, Cilloni S, et al. Health risk assessment of environmental selenium: emerging evidence and challenges. Mol Med Rep. 2017a;15:3323–35.
- Vinceti M, Chiari A, Eichmuller M, et al. A selenium species in cerebrospinal fluid predicts conversion to Alzheimer's dementia in persons with mild cognitive impairment. Alzheimers Res Ther. 2017b;9:100.
- Vinceti M, Filippini T, Rothman KJ. Selenium exposure and the risk of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Epidemiol. 2018;33:789–810.
- Vinceti M, Filippini T, Wise LA, et al. A systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of exposure to environmental selenium and the risk of type 2 diabetes in nonexperimental studies. Environ Res. 2021;197:111210.
- Wallenberg M, Misra S, Wasik AM, et al. Selenium induces a multi-targeted cell death process in addition to ROS formation. J Cell Mol Med. 2014;18:671–84.
- Wang X, Zhang W, Chen H, et al. High selenium impairs hepatic insulin sensitivity through opposite regulation of ROS. Toxicol Lett. 2014;224:16–23.
- Wang Y, Lin M, Gao X, et al. High dietary selenium intake is associated with less insulin resistance in the Newfoundland population. PLoS One. 2017;12:e0174149.
- Wang X, Huan Y, Li C, Cao H, et al. Diphenyl diselenide alleviates diabetic peripheral neuropathy in rats with streptozotocin-induced diabetes by modulating oxidative stress. Biochem Pharmacol. 2020;182:114221.

- Wang Y, Liu B, Wu P, et al. Dietary selenium alleviated mouse liver oxidative stress and NAFLD induced by obesity by regulating the KEAP1/NRF2 pathway. Antioxidants (Basel). 2022;11:349.
- Xu W, Tang Y, Ji Y, et al. The association between serum selenium level and gestational diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2022;38(4):e3522.
- Yoneyama S, Miura K, Itai K, et al. Dietary intake and urinary excretion of selenium in the Japanese adult population: the INTERMAP study Japan. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2008;62:1187–93.
- Zachara BA. Mammalian selenoproteins. J Trace Elem Electrolytes Health Dis. 1992;6:137-51.
- Zhou J, Huang K, Lei XG. Selenium and diabetes evidence from animal studies. Free Radic Biol Med. 2013;65:1548–56.
- Zhou X, Chen J, Wang F, et al. Selenium-enriched exopolysaccharides improve skeletal muscle glucose uptake of diabetic KKAy mice via AMPK pathway. J Physiol Biochem. 2014;70: 547–54.
- Zou C, Qiu Q, Chen H, et al. Hepatoprotective effects of selenium during diabetes in rats. Hum Exp Toxicol. 2016;35:114–23.

Part VII Models and Modeling in Diabetes



Models of Diabetes in Rats: A Focus on Diabetic Neuropathy and Biomarkers

53

Che Aishah Nazariah Ismail and Idris Long

Contents

Introduction 1	1091
Rat Model of Diabetic Neuropathy 1	1092
Biomarkers of Diabetic Neuropathy in Rat Models 1	1093
Oxidative Stress Markers	1093
Immune Cells 1	1096
Cell Receptors 1	1101
Enzyme-Related Markers	1103
Other Protein	1105
Conclusion 1	1106
Applications to Prognosis, Other Diseases or Conditions	1106
Mini-dictionary of Terms	1106
Key Facts	1106
Key Facts of Diabetic Neuropathy	1106
Key Facts of Rat Model of Diabetic Neuropathy	1107
Summary Points 1	1107
References 1	1107

Abstract

The increased prevalence of diabetic neuropathy (DN), as reported by World Health Organization, is seriously alarming. There is an unmet need to identify and understand the roles of potential biomarkers for the diagnosis and new therapeutic discovery to combat the disease progression. In this chapter, several key players

C. A. N. Ismail (⊠)

Department of Physiology, School of Medical Sciences, Universiti Sains Malaysia Health Campus, Kubang Kerian, Kelantan, Malaysia e-mail: aishahnazariah@usm.my

I. Long School of Health Sciences, Universiti Sains Malaysia Health Campus, Kubang Kerian, Kelantan, Malaysia e-mail: idriskk@usm.my

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2_56 leading to alterations during the pathophysiology of DN will be discussed with regard to the discoveries in the established rat models. These biomarkers include certain glial cells, receptors, enzymes, and inflammatory and oxidative stress markers that play significant functions in facilitating disease progression. This review will hopefully provide important insights and understanding regarding the mechanisms involved, thereby a number of therapeutics, either modern or alternative medications, can be effectively developed.

Keywords

Diabetic neuropathy \cdot Rat model \cdot Glial cells \cdot *N*-methyl-D-aspartate receptor \cdot Reactive oxygen species \cdot Caveolin-1 \cdot Adiponectin \cdot Gamma-amino butyric acid receptor \cdot Nuclear factor-kappa B \cdot Heme oxygenase-1 \cdot Interleukin-1 β \cdot Tumor necrosis factor- α \cdot Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 \cdot NADPH oxidase \cdot Transient receptor potential vanilloid-1

Abbreviations

AGEs	Advanced glycation end-products
AR	Aldose reductase
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
Bcl-3	B-cell lymphoma-3
BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
Ca ²⁺	Calcium ion
CAV-1	Caveolin-1
Cl ⁻	Chloride ion
DM	Diabetes mellitus
DN	Diabetic neuropathy
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DREAM	Downstream regulatory element antagonist modulator
DRG	Dorsal root ganglia
ERK/pCREB	Extracellular signal-regulated kinases/phosphorylated cAMP
	response element binding protein
GABA	Gamma-amino butyric acid
GFAP	Glial fibrillary acidic protein
GluN1	N1 subunit of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors
GR	Glutathione reductase
GSH	Glutathione
GSHPx	Glutathione peroxidase
H_2O_2	Hydrogen peroxide
HO-1	Heme oxygenase-1
ICAM-1	Intracellular adhesion molecule-1
IKK	IκB kinase
IL-1	Interleukin-1
IL-1β	Interleukin-1β
IL-6	Interleukin-6

JAK2/STAT3	Janus kinase-2/signal transducer and activator of transcription-3
JNK	c-Jun-N-terminal kinase
KCC2	Potassium-chloride transporter
MCP-1	Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1
MDA	Malondialdehyde
Mg^{2+}	Magnesium ion
MWT	Mechanical withdrawal threshold
NAD^+	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NADH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide with hydrogen
NADPH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NCV	Nerve conduction velocity
NEMO	NF-kB essential modifier
NF-κB	Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells or
	nuclear factor kappa B
NLRP3	Nod-like receptor protein-3
NMDARs	<i>N</i> -methyl-D-aspartate receptors
NOX	NADPH oxidase
NR2B	NR2B subunit of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors
O_2^-	Superoxide anion
OLETF	Otsuka Long-Evans Tokushima Fatty
p38 MAPK	p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase
PPAR-y	Peroxisome proliferator activated receptor-gamma
PWT	Paw withdrawal threshold
RAGE	Receptor for advanced glycation end-product
RDD	Rate of depression
ROCK	Rho-associated kinase
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SDT	Spontaneously diabetic tori
SGCs	Satellite glial cells
SOD	Superoxide dismutase
STZ	Streptozotocin
TLRs	Toll-like receptors
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor-a
TrkB	Tyrosine kinase receptor
TRPV1	Transient receptor potential vanilloid-1
TWL	Thermal withdrawal latency
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
WHO	World Health Organization

Introduction

Diabetic neuropathy, or synonymously known as peripheral diabetic neuropathy (DN), is a late complication of type I or II diabetes mellitus (DM), which is also the leading cause of foot ulcers and limb amputation (World Health Organization
2020). Patients suffering from DN have severe healthcare burden and frequently complained of poor life quality. Recently, the prevalence of DN reported in type I and II DM was 40.3% and 29.1%, respectively, with increased prevalence in patients of more than 70 years old (47.7-57.5%) (Pfannkuche et al. 2020). World Health Organization (WHO) reported the alarming prevalence of 5% DM within 6 years, with half of the death cases attributed to patients below 70 years of age. It is asserted that the root cause of mortality from DN is poor glycemic control or improper control of DM (Islam 2013; Pfannkuche et al. 2020). Glycemic management could prevent neuropathy in individuals with type I DM, but not type II DM since obesity constitutes a higher risk factor for developing neuropathy. Notably, DN involves nerve injuries with the longest nerves innervating toes and extending proximally. The damage to these proximal nerves results in numbress, tingling sensations, pain, and/or weakness that begin at the distal lower extremities (Callaghan et al. 2020). There are also abnormal pain sensations, including paraesthesia, hyperalgesia, allodynia, and spontaneous pain, that usually coexist with the impaired sensory functions (Calcutt 2002; Islam 2013).

Rat Model of Diabetic Neuropathy

The establishment of the diabetic animal model has hugely facilitated researchers in exploring the abnormal pathophysiology of diabetic-induced neuronal injury since there are limitations for the study on human subjects and sample collection. For decades, an animal model of diabetes has been established to mimic the pathogenesis of DN, resembling the complications in humans. The majority of the diabetic rat model is conventionally developed rather than obtained authentically due to several restrictions. In patients, the classification of DN is based on the types of injured nerves, either sensorimotor (longer nerve fiber neuropathy) or autonomic (heart, lung or blood vessel neuropathy) (Adki and Kulkarni 2020). However, these specific types of DN are not emphasized in the animal model due to several limitations. Generally, the DN resulting from either type I or II DM can be developed in the rat model. The DN from type I DM can be induced by injecting a single high dose of chemical like streptozotocin (STZ) intraperitoneally (Afrazi and Esmaeili-Mahani 2014; Ismail et al. 2018a, 2020; Zhou et al. 2018) while DN from type II DM is developed by combining a high-fat diet and lower concentration of STZ for a certain period (Eissa et al. 2017; Ji et al. 2017; Chen et al. 2020). Besides that, Ismail and colleagues have determined two variants, either painful or painless DN in the rat model which showed distinguishable modifications in behavioral responses and nociceptive biomarkers at the spinal cord level (Ismail et al. 2018a, 2020). Nonetheless, the majority of previous studies investigated the mechanisms involved in the painful variant of the DN model (Fox et al. 1999; Morrow 2004; Li et al. 2019; Djouhri et al. 2020; Lee-Kubli et al. 2021) rather than the painless DN.

In previous literature, several protocols have been introduced to develop the DN rat model, including alloxan- or streptozotocin (STZ)-induced rat model, spontaneously diabetic WBN/Kob rat model, Otsuka Long-Evans Tokushima Fatty (OLETF) rat model, surgically induced neuropathic rat model, and genetically modified spontaneously diabetic torii (SDT) fatty rat model. However, the most developed DN rat is through the STZ injection at various dosages (Islam 2013). The developed DN rat model from any protocols, however, should comply with the best criteria as listed by Islam (2013); the rat model should (1) exhibit all major pathogenesis of DN or painful DN with other minor pathophysiology that is usually found in DN patients, (2) have a high sensitivity to anti-diabetic or anti-neuropathic medications, and (3) be eligible for studying the pathophysiology of DN and for the routine pharmacological screening of antidiabetic or anti-neuropathic medications. It is not easy to completely mimic the human DN since the experimental differences such as animal strain, types of diabetes, method of diabetic induction, duration of diabetes, animal age, and gender exists (Feldman et al. 2008; Islam 2013). However, the advantages of developing the DN rat model are the pathogenesis of diabetic complications that appeared in humans, whether at the early or late stages, can be mimicked, and it is affordable given the limited research supply (Baig and Panchal 2019).

Multiple metabolic factors have been speculated as the culprit of diabetic-associated neuropathy besides hyperglycemia. Indeed, the pathogenesis of DN is very complex involving the combined synergistic effects of certain biomarkers such as oxidative stress, production of advanced glycation end products (AGEs), diminution of nitric oxide level, imbalanced protein kinase activities, and reduced neurotrophic peptide factors that eventually contribute to the damage of distal nerves and loss of sensation (Dewanjee et al. 2018). For instance, dyslipidemia and modified sphingolipid metabolism emerge as the novel mainstream to nerve injury in type II DN that negatively affect several cells in the peripheral nervous system including neuronal axons, dorsal root ganglia (DRG), and Schwann cells (Callaghan et al. 2020). These effects cause further consequences involving the formation of excessive reactive oxygen species (ROS), loss of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) production, mitochondrial dysfunction, activation of stress pathways, and glycation of important proteins to form AGEs. Besides that, amplification of glucose auto-oxidation, AGE production, and activation of the polyol pathway also occur (Gugliucci 2017). The excessive level of oxidative stress in the cells resulted from the uncontrolled hyperglycemia leads to endoplasmic reticulum stress, deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) damage, apoptosis, pro-inflammatory signaling activations and mechanisms that eventually contribute to nerve damage (Yagihashi et al. 2011; Kandhare et al. 2012; Callaghan et al. 2020). In this chapter, the roles and contributions of several important biomarkers in the pathophysiology of DN will be discussed as discovered in various DN rat models to give crucial insights regarding the pathomechanisms involved.

Biomarkers of Diabetic Neuropathy in Rat Models

Oxidative Stress Markers

Oxidative stress has been shown to contribute to the pathogenesis of DN. It starts with the occurrence of persistent hyperglycemia, which causes glucose autooxidation in various critical cells and tissues due to a failure to detoxify free radicals produced during metabolic activities (Adki and Kulkarni 2020). In turn, this activity triggers the polyol pathway, which turns the excess glucose into sorbitol before being converted to fructose via the action of sorbitol dehydrogenase. As a result, these biological systems directly affect the formation of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH). The depleted formation of NADPH leads to reduced production of glutathione (GSH), a primary endogenous antioxidant that terminally leads to the hyperproduction of oxidative stress and impairment of nerve conduction (Várkonyi et al. 2017; Adki and Kulkarni 2020). The upregulated oxidative stress markers are one of the early phenomena detected in the development of insulin resistance, inflammation, and modification of the aldose-reductase pathway (Yu et al. 2012; Adki and Kulkarni 2020) (Fig. 1).

Superoxide anion (O_2^{-}) , hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) , and nitric oxide are the essential forms of free radicals released in the body during normal physiology. Its production is strictly controlled in healthy cells, but its hyper release may contribute to cellular damage during metabolic dysfunction. The O_2^{-} is formed by the mitochondrial electron transfer chain during the oxidation process of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH) to the oxidized nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD⁺) and oxidative enzyme by-products (Vincent et al. 2004). Overproduction of O_2^{-} in β -cell may activate stress-signaling mechanisms to stimulate downstream effectors, including nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells



Fig. 1 The production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) following the prolonged hyperglycemia during diabetic neuropathy. Aldose reductase (AR) converts the increased glucose level in the cell to sorbitol which is further fragmented into fructose by sorbitol dehydrogenase enzyme. At the same time, AR competes the NADPH with glutathione reductase (GR) causing the depleted level of glutathione (GSH). The productions of fructose byproducts; fructose-3-phosphate and 3-deoxyglucosone contribute to the higher production of advanced glycation end-products (AGEs). The binding of AGEs to its receptor (RAGE) leads to the increased formation of ROS in the same or other cells. Hyper formation of ROS is also occurred from the formation of nicotin-amide adenine dinucleotide (NADH) by NADPH oxidase (NOX). (Modified from Oyenihi et al. (2015))

(NF-kB). These mechanisms lead to β -cell death and dysfunction that eventually reduces insulin secretion (Oyenihi et al. 2015).

Meanwhile, the strong oxidizing agent H_2O_2 is produced following the reaction of superoxide dismutase (SOD)-catalyzed dismutation of O_2^- . These mechanisms may produce severe consequences of hydroxyl radical production, such as impaired vasodilation, leading to endothelial damage and tissue hypoxia (Vincent et al. 2004). The activity of free radicals, including O_2^- and H_2O_2 , can be demonstrated through the levels of malondialdehyde (MDA) representing lipid peroxidation as a result of ROS activity attacking the lipid in plasma, endoplasmic reticulum, and mitochondria (Vincent et al. 2004; Ayala et al. 2014).

Previous studies revealed the consistent increase of MDA levels in the serum (Eissa et al. 2017), spinal cord (Ismail et al. 2018a), brain (Adefegha et al. 2021), and kidney (Kapucu 2021) of DN rats demonstrated the aberrant oxidative damage in these organs or fluids. In neonate DN rats induced by STZ at 90 mg/kg, the decreased SOD and glutathione peroxidase (GSHPx) activities indicating the occurrence of oxidative-nitrosative stress in the sciatic nerve have been reported which could be associated with the marked fall in motor and sensory nerve conduction velocity (NCV), mechanical allodynia, and thermal hyperalgesia (Kandhare et al. 2012).

Adiponectin

Adiponectin is secreted by the adipocytes, and it is documented that adiponectin gene polymorphism and glypican production give significant contribution to the pathogenesis of DN. In normal conditions, this hormone ensures the homeostasis of blood glucose circulation, lipid oxidation, insulin sensitivity, atherosclerosis, and coronary heart disease through the regulation of specific biomarkers (Adki and Kulkarni 2020; Tu et al. 2020). It is reported that the increased levels of adiponectin are positively linked with the occurrence of painful DN (Cha et al. 2018). Eissa et al. (2017) showed a negative correlation between the adiponectin level and glucose concentration. This study postulates that hyperglycemia does not lead to decreased adiponectin release. In a rat model of type II DN, a marked decrease of serum adiponectin was detected in the DN group compared to the control group by 63.01%. The study also revealed the reduced serum peroxisome proliferator activated receptor-gamma (PPAR-γ) levels, imbalanced oxidant-antioxidant levels (i.e., 4.78-fold increase of MDA with reduction of GSH level by 31.3%) in sub-abdominal adipose tissue and increased pro-inflammatory serum tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) levels (Eissa et al. 2017). This study agreed that adiponectin plays significant action as antioxidant, anti-inflammatory and anti-atherogenic agents in physiological conditions as it responsibly regulates the production of the associated markers. The development of DN has lowered the secretion of adiponectin from adipose tissues, thereby pathologically altering the levels of the associated biomarkers. This postulation is also supported by Tu et al. (2020) identifying the gene expression profiling of certain biomarkers involved in the early stages of peripheral neuropathy in the sciatic nerve of the diabetic rat. The microarray analysis that was performed in the 6th week post-diabetic induction identified several important genes including Adipoq (i.e., adiponectin) which was downregulated by 4.348-fold in the

peripheral sciatic nerve. The significant decrease in paw withdrawal threshold (PWT) indicating tactile allodynia and reduced motor NCV have strengthened the connection of these alterations to the impaired role of adiponectin in regulating inflammatory, atherogenic, and diabetic mechanisms due to its low production during the early phases of DN.

Immune Cells

Glial Cells in Peripheral and Central Nervous Systems

A growing body of evidence revealed that the non-neuronal cells such as microglia and astrocytes become activated under hyperglycemic environment during the pathophysiology of DN. Previous literatures have exhibited strong glial-neuron crosstalk through the release of several inflammatory mediators leading to pathological pain, including allodynia and hyperalgesia in DN rat models. In a study by Barragán-Iglesias et al. (2018), the DN neonate Wistar rat model demonstrated increased glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) and OX-42 immunoreactivity (remarks astrocyte and microglia expressions, respectively) with the marked increase of hypertrophied and amoeboid-like structure of microglia in the spinal cord as well as increased satellite glial cells (SGCs) in the DRG neuron at 16 weeks following the STZ injection (70 mg/kg). The enhanced expression of these glial cells peripherally and centrally has been found to be closely associated with the development of tactile allodynia in this neonate rat model, therefore, justifying their significant contributions during the pathogenesis of DN. In another study, Ismail et al. (2020) also revealed the enhanced expression of OX-42 positive cells in the spinal cord of painful DN rat model at the early stages that possibly explained the enhanced formalin-induced pain behavior responses in this rat model. The study also demonstrated an increase in spinal brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and downstream regulatory element antagonist modulator (DREAM) immunoreactivities that are probably linked to the increase in microglia-neuron crosstalk since DREAM is transcribed in the neuron following the increased calcium ion (Ca²⁺) influx from the activated N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (NMDARs). The attenuation of microglia activation together with BDNF and DREAM signaling proteins by minocycline seems to reverse the allodynic and hyperalgesic state in painful DN rats (Ismail et al. 2019). The results were found to be contradictory in the painless DN rat as the expressions of microglia and the signaling proteins were reduced, therefore, remarking the significant roles of microglia-neuron crosstalk in the pathogenesis of DN. Meanwhile, Bishnoi et al. (2011) revealed a similar upregulation of OX42 staining expression in laminae I and II of the spinal dorsal horn. However, the increased microglia expression is suggested to be induced by STZ injection rather than as a result of hyperglycemia.

In addition, Lu et al. (2017) developed the diabetic rat model to investigate the involvement of α_2 -adrenergic receptor in DN. Mechanical and thermal withdrawal latency tests (MWT and TWL) have been conducted to assess mechanical and thermal hyperalgesia. The spinal cord was collected to determine the expressions

of microglia, astrocytes, inflammatory cytokines (TNF- α and IL-1), glutamate levels, and neuronal apoptosis. It has been shown that the DN rats have a reduced pain threshold for mechanical and thermal stimuli, enhanced activation of microglia but not astrocytes, increased pro-inflammatory markers, enhanced apoptosis as proven by the increased cleaved-caspase-3 expression and increased glutamate levels. There was no change of astrocyte activation reported in another study by Nardin et al. (2016) investigating the astrocytic changes in the rat hippocampus. However, the specific astroglial abnormalities were detected in this brain region as the S100B content, a protein secreted mainly by the astrocytes, decreased in the hippocampus but increased the S100B secretion in blood serum. The GluN1 subunit of the NMDA receptor for glutamate was downregulated in the hippocampus of the diabetic rat. This study proposes that the astroglial abnormal changes along with the decreased GluN1 contents could be linked to the failure of glutamatergic crosstalk in this rat model following the advanced glycation end product receptor (RAGE)induced inflammation. Apart from that, Zhou et al. (2018) investigated the expression of P2Y₁₃ receptor, Iba-1 (representing activated microglia), interleukin-1 β (IL-1β), interleukin-6 (IL-6), and NR2B of NMDARs (NR2B) expression in the spinal cord of DN rats at the early stages. The administration of P2Y₁₃ antagonist MRS221 has downregulated these protein expressions and thereby alleviating the mechanical allodynia. The authors believed that the activation of the P2Y receptor expressed on microglia merely activate these glial cells through the action of IL-6 on the Janus kinase-2/signal transducer and activator of transcription-3 (JAK2/STAT3) signaling pathway leading to further microglia activation. These effects may also stimulate the phosphorylation of NR2B, a subunit of NMDARs leading to its increased activation and central sensitization, thereby contributing to allodynia and hyperalgesia. The postulated glial-neuron communications based on the previous animal studies are summarized in Fig. 2.

Nuclear Factor Kappa-Light-Chain-Enhancer of Activated B Cells (NF-kB)

Another biomarker that plays key roles in the pathogenesis of DN is NF-KB, a pro-inflammatory mediator that is activated via canonical or non-canonical NF-κB pathways. This inflammatory protein commonly participates in stress response, adaptive immunity, lymphoid organogenesis, and B-cell development (Liu et al. 2017; Adki and Kulkarni 2020). The upregulation of NF- κ B gene expression has been detected in the sciatic nerve (Yousefzadeh et al. 2015; Sun et al. 2019) and aorta (Li et al. 2016) of the DN rat. The pathophysiology leading to the NF- κ B upregulation and its effects is simplified in Fig. 3. Following the inflammation is cellular damage or hyperglycemic state. NF- κ B is believed to be activated by the other pro-inflammatory cytokines like TNF- α and IL-1 β as well as oxidative stress markers through the binding of these cytokines on toll-like receptors (TLRs) via a canonical (classic) pathway (Lawrence 2009; Yu et al. 2012). Consequently, the $I\kappa B\alpha$ degradation is triggered by a multi-subunit IkB kinase (IKK) complex via its site-specific phosphorylation. The $I\kappa B$ is the inhibitor family of NF- κB comprising ΙκΒα, ΙκΒβ, ΙκΒγ, and B-cell lymphoma-3 (Bcl-3) that keep NF-κB inactive in cytoplasm during normal physiology (Lawrence 2009). Meanwhile, the IKK



Fig. 2 Neuron-glia crosstalk during the pathophysiology of diabetic neuropathy (DN). Microglia is activated possibly via P2X4 receptor activation leading to the increased release of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF). Metabotropic P2Y receptor activation leads to the activation of Rho-associated kinase/p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase/nuclear factor kappa B (ROCK/p38 MAPK/NF-KB) signaling pathways which contribute to the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines like tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), and IL-6. These inflammatory cytokines may also possibly contribute to the astrocytic modifications. The IL-6 may in turn prompt further microglial activation via Janus kinase-2/signal transducer and activator of transcription-3 (JAK2/STAT3) signaling pathway, possibly explains the hypertrophied morphology of activated microglia. The increased expression of caveolin-1 (CAV-1) leads to reactive oxygen species (ROS) production. Meanwhile, the increased release of BDNF may further bind to tyrosine kinase B (TrkB) receptor that downregulate the potassium-chloride transporter (KCC2) leading to the higher outflow of chloride ion (Cl⁻) when γ -amino butyric acid (GABA) binds to its receptor in the spinal cord neurons. These mechanisms result in depolarization of the membrane potential and disinhibition. Moreover, temporal summation of postsynaptic depolarizations may lead to the removal of magnesium ion (Mg²⁺) block from N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor (possibly NR2B) leading to the increased influx of Ca^{2+} into the post-synaptic neurons. In turn, these processes further activate protein kinase A, phosphorylate extracellular signal-regulated kinases/phosphorylated cAMP response element binding protein (ERK/pCREB) signaling pathways leading to transcriptional changes in the neuron. These orchestrated central modifications may lead central sensitization that probably explains the development of allodynia and hyperalgesia in DN



Fig. 3 The actions of NF- κ B in causing overproduction of inflammatory markers. Hyperglycemic condition during diabetes leads to the production of ROS that induces the increased production of NF- κ B in the affected cells. The binding of certain inflammatory biomarkers (TNF- α and IL-1 β) to Toll-like receptors (TLRs) leads to the activation of NF- κ B signaling through canonical (classic) pathway. The I κ B kinase (IKK) activation results in the degradation of I κ B α . The NF- κ B members (p50/ReIA) translocate into the nucleus to induce NF- κ B-dependent genes transcription including pro-IL-1 β , pro-IL-18, and NLRP3. Upon the maturation by activated caspase-1, these inflammatory markers are secreted out to enhance the inflammatory insults. Adapted from Liu et al. (2017). ROS = reactive oxygen species, IL-1 β = interleukin-1 β , IL-18 = interleukin-18, NLRP3 = Nod-like receptor protein 3, NF- κ B = nuclear factor kappa B cell

complex comprises two catalytically activated kinases, IKKα (IKK1) and IKKβ (IKK2), together with a regulatory scaffolding protein NF-κB essential modifier (NEMO) that keeps the NF-κB inactive in the cytoplasm (Suryavanshi and Kulkarni 2017). Following the activation, the IKK phosphorylates IκBα at two N-terminal serines that trigger the ubiquitin-dependent IκBα degradation in proteasome. In turn, this mechanism results in the rapid and transient nuclear translocation of canonical NF-κB members (i.e., p50/ReIA and p50/c-Rel dimers) (Lawrence 2009; Liu et al. 2017). In the nucleus, the activated NF-κB stimulates the transcription of NF-κB-dependent genes like Nod-like receptor protein 3 (NLRP3), pro-IL-1β, and pro-IL-18. The production of NLRP3 inflammasome, as evidently increased in the sciatic nerve of STZ-induced DN rat (Sun et al. 2019), may induce the activation of caspase-1 that further catalyzes the maturation of IL-1β ad IL-18 (Liu et al. 2017). In the occurrence of hyperglycemia, NF-κB is highly produced following TNF-α and IL-1β activations that subsequently trigger the secretion of other pro-inflammatory and immune mediators, including T cells and innate immunity cell. These effects

terminally cause endothelial cell damage (Suryavanshi and Kulkarni 2017). Aside from that, the co-localization of NF- κ B p65 with NADPH oxygenase-2 (NOX2) and NADPH oxygenase-4 (NOX4) in the aorta of DN rats revealed the potential role of NF- κ B in triggering the NOX activation and ROS overproduction following prolonged hyperglycemia (Li et al. 2016). Moreover, the transcription of NF- κ B may also lead to enhanced production of heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1), a stress protein in the astrocyte culture of the rat's brain (Yang et al. 2017).

Interleukin-1β (IL-1β) and Tumor Necrosis Factor-α (TNF-α)

The IL-1 β and TNF- α are crucially known for not only mediating inflammation but also promoting cell apoptosis and death. Several cells are responsible to release IL-1 β , TNF- α , and other inflammatory markers upon activation such as microglia and DRG neurons (Ismail et al. 2018b; Hemati et al. 2021). A number of studies have previously reported the significant roles of these inflammatory mediators in the pathogenesis of DN as they initiate and maintain the inflammation-induced organ failure in DM. Evidently, the IL-1 β production is associated with the NF- κ B activation following prolonged hyperglycemia. In the DN rat model, the marked increase of IL-1 β , TNF- α , and/or other pro-inflammatory cytokine levels have been reported in the spinal cord (Bishnoi et al. 2011; Ismail et al. 2020), peripheral DRG neuron (Hemati et al. 2021), blood serum (Eissa et al. 2017), and sciatic nerve (Kandhare et al. 2012; Sun et al. 2019).

In a study mimicking insulin-dependent DM in a neonate rat model, Kandhare et al. (2012) measured the pro-inflammatory and oxidative stress markers in the sciatic nerve and their association to several tests evaluating mechanical, tactile, and thermal hyperalgesia as well as motor and sensory NCV. The findings exhibited a marked elevation of both IL-1 β and TNF- α , reduced SOD and GSH activities and increased lipid peroxidation at 14 weeks post-diabetic induction. The significant reduction in mechanical, thermal, and tactile thresholds as well as sensory and motor NCV in DN neonate rats are possibly associated with the increased IL-1 β and TNF- α levels and imbalanced oxidant-antioxidant activities. These effects therefore explain their contribution to the development of allodynia and hyperalgesia. It is possible that the increased levels of these pro-inflammatory cytokines are not caused by the STZ injection, but due to the hyperglycemic environment (Quan et al. 2011). Hemati et al. (2021) suggested that the increased pro-inflammatory cytokine levels in the DRG neurons of DN rat are through the increased activation of NMDAR, especially NR2B. Other than that, the significant elevated levels of these TNF- α and IL-1 β were also observed in the spinal cord of DN adult rats (Bishnoi et al. 2011) and the painful variant of DN rats (Ismail et al. 2018a) at the early stages. It is believed that the increase of pro-inflammatory markers is contributed by the microglial activation or the elevated expression of transient receptor potential vanilloid-1 receptor (TRPV1) rather than caused by the STZ-induced hyperglycemic environment (Bishnoi et al. 2011).

Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein-1 (MCP-1)

The MCP-1 or also known as C-C motif ligand 2 (CCL2)/monocyte chemotactic and activation factor is a monomeric polypeptide that may amplify the excitatory

synaptic transmission during the development of DN. There are limited numbers of studies that looked at the role of MCP-1 in the pathogenesis of DN in the rat model. In an in vitro study applying rat primary microglia cell culture performed by Quan et al. (2011), the high glucose treatment enhanced NF- κ B activation that consequently upregulates the TNF- α and MCP-1 mRNA expressions. The increased release of MCP-1 is believed to be closely associated with the increased microglia activation following prolonged hyperglycemia resulting in the excessive formation of ROS. In turn, the NF- κ B signaling pathway is activated due to the actions of free radicals leading to the increased transcription of MCP-1 and other pro-inflammatory cytokines. The inflammatory markers such as TNF- α , interferon-y, IL-1 β , and platelet-derived growth factors are also believed to stimulate macrophages, monocytes, and dendritic cells to secrete MCP-1 that add up to its excessive level (Adki and Kulkarni 2020). Meanwhile, there is another study investigating the astrocyticderived MCP-1 in the DN rat model, but in paclitaxel-induced peripheral neuropathy rats where the MCP-1 expression is enhanced in the small nociceptive DRG neurons and spinal astrocytes (Zhang et al. 2013). In the spinal cord, the upregulated expression of MCP-1 is postulated to occur from the activation of c-Jun-N-terminal kinase (JNK) by TNF- α via its binding to TNF receptor-1 (Adki and Kulkarni 2020).

Cell Receptors

Transient Receptor Potential Vanilloid-1 (TRPV1)

The TRPV1 is a transducer polymodal protein that is predominantly found in the nociceptive neurons of the peripheral nervous system and certain tissues of the central nervous system. Previous literatures revealed the significant association of TRPV1 activation with the noxious thermal and inflammatory stimulation following the activation of capsaicin, phosphatidylinositol, and tyrosine kinase in the peripheral and nociceptive neurons (Smith et al. 2002; Adki and Kulkarni 2020). Bishnoi et al. (2011) discovered that the TRPV1 expression was enhanced at the central terminals of the spinal cord dorsal horn in which the DN rats also developed thermal and mechanical hyperalgesia following 1 week and 5 weeks after STZ injection, respectively. The authors claimed that these aberrant TRPV1 expressions are contributed possibly by the direct effects of STZ rather than the hyperglycemic state. Meanwhile, similar enhanced immunoreactivity of TRPV1 was also reported by Hong et al. (2008) in the large DRG neurons of DN rats. The authors suggested that the repeated TRPV1 activation leads to overload of Ca^{2+} influx that results in the stimulation of pathways linked with caspase- and calpain-dependent oxidative stress. These mechanisms eventually contribute to apoptotic cell injury and neuronal stress in DRG neurons during the early phases of diabetic sensory neuropathy. In another study contradicting Bishnoi et al. (2011), Zhang et al. (2019) reported that the varying degrees of TRPV1 expression reduction in the STZ-induced DN rat compared to the non-diabetic rat possibly explained the reduced NCV in the peripheral sciatic nerve of this rat model. The existing discrepancy is possibly due to the morphological and electrophysiological changes that occurred due to the different

stages of DN in each study as Bishnoi et al. (2011) developed the early stages of DN rats (5 weeks following STZ injection) while Zhang et al. (2019) developed more severe stages of DN (8 weeks following STZ injection).

N-Methyl-D-Aspartate Receptors (NMDARs)

The NMDARs are the heteromeric protein complexes comprising three subunits: NR1, NR2, and NR3. Each subunit comprises 1–7 subunit types that play specific physiological roles in regulating pain, memory, and synaptic development. It has been reported that NMDARs activity is exaggerated at both the peripheral and central levels during the pathogenesis of DN (Bai et al. 2014; Chen et al. 2016; Li et al. 2019; Hemati et al. 2021).

Previous studies have linked the activation of NMDAR to the development of hyperalgesia in several neuropathic pain conditions including DN. Bai et al. (2014) have reported that the NR2B mRNA and protein expressions were upregulated in the spinal cord of STZ-induced DN rat model which was associated with the development of hyperalgesia as indicated by the reduced PWT. It was postulated that the enhanced activity of NR2B is contributed by the reduced activation of y-amino butyric acid B (GABA_B) receptor activation. The increased NR2B activity leads to the increased phosphorylation of CREB that further explains the development of hyperalgesia. It is also agreed by Liu et al. (2014) that these mechanisms are contributed by the downregulation of GABA_B receptors as the injection of baclofen, a GABA_B receptor antagonist, has normalized the NMDAR expression level, and therefore improving the hyperalgesic condition in this rat model (Bai et al. 2014). In another study, Hemati et al. (2021) aimed to investigate the possible inhibitory pathway of atorvastatin to attenuate the progression of DN in diabetic rats. Hot-plate and formalin tests were carried out to evaluate thermal and chemical hyperalgesia respectively, with the measurements of several pro-inflammatory cytokines and oxidative marker levels in the DRG neuron. The results revealed that the injection of NMDA agonist exerted hyperalgesia in the atorvastatin-treated DN rat. The levels of GluN2B and GluN1 representing NR2B and NR1 mRNA expressions together with pro-inflammatory markers were markedly elevated in the DRG neuron of the DN rat although no changes were reported in the oxidative stress activities. This study concluded that atorvastatin attenuated the progression of DN symptoms by inhibiting NMDAR activation and lowering the pro-inflammatory cytokine levels. Furthermore, the amplified activation of NR2B did not only occur at the peripheral nerves as Li et al. (2019) reported that the upregulated phosphorylation of NR2B expression remarked the augmented NR2B activation in the spinal cord of DN rats and neuronal cell culture, which is possibly activated via the microglial JAK2/STAT3 signaling pathway. A similar increase in NR2B activation was also reported by Chen et al. (2020) in the spinal cord of type II DN rats which further promote the aberrant production of ROS via the activation of caveolin-1 (CAV-1).

Gamma-Amino Butyric Acid (GABA) Receptors

The GABA receptor is a metabotropic transmembrane receptor that is linked through G-proteins to potassium channels (Liu et al. 2014). This receptor functions as

autoreceptor for feedback mechanism of neurotransmitter GABA release and as a heteroreceptor that controls synaptic glutamate and glycine release to the spinal cord dorsal horn (Liao et al. 2017). The spinal GABAergic inhibitory impairment is known to have critical contributions to the pathogenesis of neuropathic pain.

In neuropathic state, the activation of GABA_A receptors is impaired since the abnormal changes in the extracellular GABA levels occurred. The study conducted by Afrazi and Esmaeili-Mahani (2014) demonstrated that the mRNA expression of GABA_A receptor was downregulated in the spinal cord of the painful DN rats, which was also associated with the lower threshold of the tail-flick test and motor coordination indicating the occurrence of thermal hyperalgesia and motor deficits. The treatment by allopregnanolone has ameliorated these abnormal changes and improved the neuropathic condition. In another study, Lee Kubli et al. (2021) investigated the rate of depression (RDD) in the spinal H-reflex of DN rats that was impaired following 8 weeks of diabetic induction. Further investigations revealed the downregulation of KCC2 expression in the spinal cord as early as 4 weeks post-diabetic induction which suggests the progressive impairment of $GABA_{B}$ receptor-mediated inhibition contributing to spinal disinhibition. The authors postulated that the GABA ergic-inhibition, either from $GABA_A$ or $GABA_B$ receptor-mediated inhibition, possibly contributes to the normal RDD whilst the progression from normal to impaired RDD during DN could be due to the impairment of either one of these two receptors. In addition, Liao et al. (2017) investigated the possible underlying mechanism of surgical treatment by chronic nerve compression in painful DN rats in regard to its effects on certain behavior responses and $GABA_{B}$ receptor expressions. The results showed that the demyelination of primary afferent central terminal in the sciatic nerve occurred with the reduced expression of $GABA_{B}$ receptors detected in those areas in the painful DN rat with mechanical allodynia. The authors concluded that the myelinated primary A-afferent fibers are mostly impaired rather than the unmyelinated C-fibers following chronic nerve compression in the painful DN rat. Additionally, the downregulated GABA_B receptor in the spinal cord could be one of the factors contributing to the occurrence of mechanical allodynia in this rat model.

Enzyme-Related Markers

Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate Oxidase (NOX)

The NOXs are multicomponent enzymes that primarily facilitate the electron transfer from cytosolic NADPH to molecular oxygen. These enzymes are available in the vascular endothelial cells, microglia, neurons, and astrocytes of the brain. Evidence have revealed the role of NOXs in mediating the development of neuropathic pain through the overproduction of oxidative species, mainly O_2^- and H_2O_2 in the phagocytic cells (Li et al. 2016; Ji et al. 2017; Adki and Kulkarni 2020). Among the NOXs family (i.e., NOX1-NOX5, DUOX1-DUOX2) (Li et al. 2016), NOX4 is mostly linked to diabetic complications (Ji et al. 2017) as long-term hyperglycemia causes NOX4 upregulation through the tyrosine kinase and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway (Adki and Kulkarni 2020; Laddha and Kulkarni 2020). Furthermore, the overproduction of ROS is also believed to trigger the NOX4 activation that acts via angiotensin II to develop peroxynitrite (strong oxidant) in endothelial nitric oxide synthase uncoupling in nerve tissues (Laddha and Kulkarni 2020). Consequently, the NOX4 overexpression is linked to aldose reductase, AGEs, NF-KB, IL-6, IL-18, and endothelial growth factor activation, collagen deposition, and hyperlipidemia (Laddha and Kulkarni 2020). Ji et al. (2017) have investigated the role of NOX in the bupivacaine-induced sciatic nerve injury in type II DN rats by administering diphenyleneiodonium chloride (NOX inhibitor). Hindpaw allodynia responses, PWT and NCV were performed, and sciatic nerve was collected for measuring NOX4 and other oxidative stress levels. It was found that the NCV was markedly reduced, and PWT was prominently higher with development of allodynia and abnormal sciatic nerve morphology with the presence of axonal atrophy, severe segmental demyelination, and nerve fiber loss in the DN rat. It is postulated that these abnormal functional and morphological changes are contributed by the enhanced levels of lipid peroxide and hydroperoxide together with the upregulated NOX2, NOX4, and caspase-3 expressions in the sciatic nerve leading to ROS overproduction and cell apoptosis. Similar results were also obtained by Li et al. (2016) in which they discovered that the mRNA expression of NOX2 and NOX4 was significantly elevated in the aorta of the STZ-induced DN rat. The immunohistochemistry analysis also revealed the significant increase of these biomarkers together with NF- κ B, co-localized in the smooth muscle of the DN rat's aorta. In an in vitro study applying Schwann cells of newborn Wistar rat, Yu et al. (2019) discovered that the high glucose condition has upregulated the NOX4 mRNA and protein expressions, thereby reducing the activity of Schwann cells, elevating the intracellular ROS level and inducing cell apoptosis through the increased caspase-3 mRNA and protein expressions.

Heme Oxygenase-1 (HO-1)

The HO-1 is an inducible isoenzyme that is lowly and limitedly expressed in the scattered neurons and neuroglia during normal homeostasis (Chen et al. 2016; Yang et al. 2017). Several stressful and neuropathological conditions such as Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, and diabetes could induce the overproduction of HO-1. In fact, HO-1 and heme degradation play pleiotropic effects in minimizing injuries caused by many disease complications via its antioxidant, angiogenesis, and anti-inflammatory actions (Chen et al. 2016). This enzyme degrades heme into ferrous ion, biliverdin that acts as strong antioxidants, and carbon monoxide which halts multiple biological functions including oxidative stress production and inflammation (Chen et al. 2016).

There are limited studies that investigated the role of HO-1 in the DN rat model, but it has been portrayed that HO-1 plays a protective role during the pathogenesis of DN as demonstrated in in vivo and in vitro studies. In the rat brain astrocytes, Yang et al. (2017) reported that HO-1 mRNA and protein expressions are amplified by the high levels of glucose in a dose-dependent manner as the higher glucose environment results in higher expressions of HO-1. It is possible that the hyperglycemic-induced HO-1 expression is activated by a ROS-dependent signaling mechanism as the NOX- and mitochondrion-dependent ROS development leads to the activation of ERK1/2. These effects further activate downstream transcriptional factors, NF- κ B. Meanwhile, excessive ROS also stimulates the JNK pathway leading to the transcription of c-fos/activator protein-1 (AP-1). Consequently, both of these activated signaling pathways simultaneously switch on the transcription of HO-1 gene that eventually results in neuronal apoptosis. Meanwhile, Chen et al. (2016) developed a diabetic wound rat model treated with hemin (HO-1 inductor agent) for 21 days. The HO-1 significantly speeds up the wound closure rates after 5 days of wounding possibly by promoting the re-epithelialization in the diabetic rat. The application of hemin boosted the endogenous HO-1 protein expression possibly by increasing the activity of antioxidant SOD and minimizing the occurrence of lipid peroxidation in the wound tissue of the diabetic rat. Besides that, the application of hemin also stimulated angiogenesis and lowered the angiogenesis-inhibiting cytokines like vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and intracellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) in the small vessels surrounding wounded tissue of the diabetic rat. The aforementioned studies demonstrated the protective role of HO-1 during the pathophysiology of DN in order to alleviate the DN complications.

Other Protein

Caveolin-1 (CAV-1)

The CAV-1 is a major constituent of caveolae that controls the neuronal plasticity and receptor transport to regulate NR2B of NMDARs activation leading to pathological modifications and central sensitization (Li et al. 2019; Adki and Kulkarni 2020). Several studies have reported the significant contribution of CAV-1 in the pathogenesis of DN. Li et al. (2019) conducted a combined in vivo and in vitro study to investigate the role of JAK2/STAT3-CAV-1-NR2B signaling pathways in the spinal dorsal horn of the painful DN rat model. There were higher expressions of total CAV-1, phosphorylated JAK2, STAT3, and NR2B in the spinal cord that were highly associated with the enhanced mechanical and thermal hypersensitivity in this rat. The expression of CAV-1 and phosphorylated NR2B were also upregulated in the neuronal cell culture, possibly contributed by the activation of phosphorylated STAT3 in the microglia cell line following the high-glucose state. The study concluded that the neuropathic pain condition is contributed by the activated CAV-1-NR2B pathway as influenced by the activation of microglial JAK2/STAT3. Similar results were also obtained by Chen et al. (2020) but suggesting different pathways that contribute to CAV-1 upregulated expression. In their study, phosphorylated CAV-1 continuously increased and is activated in the spinal cord, possibly linked to the lowered mechanical and thermal threshold in the rat. It is suggested that the enhanced spinal CAV-1 expression is modulated by the recombinant Human Ras/Related C1/nicotinamide adenosine diphosphate oxidase-2/NR2B gene (Rac1/ NOX2-ROS-NR2B) pathway leading to central sensitization and development of DN.

Conclusion

Several biomarkers have been identified to play predominant roles in the pathogenesis of DN. These biomarkers could be applied as diagnostic tools for early detection and prediction of disease progression. Certain pathways involving these biomarkers can be targeted to develop specific drugs to combat DN. The establishment of the DN rat model benefits the researchers to understand the pathogenesis of the disease progression and therefore modulate certain pathways to combat or slow down disease progression.

Applications to Prognosis, Other Diseases or Conditions

Understanding the underlying pathogenesis of DN in a rat model may provide rationales to target specific pathways to treat when taking into account the duration and stages of the disease. Although it could not completely mimic the specific pathomechanisms as in humans at the molecular level, the pathological modifications that occurred during the development of DN in the rat model sufficiently provide a real scenario that possibly occurs in humans. Evidently, modern and alternative medications currently used to alleviate neuropathic symptoms in DN patients such as pregabalin, gabapentin, amitryptillin, desipramine, and capsaicin have initially undergone preclinical phases to identify their effectiveness before being selected for several clinical phases. By having the DN rat model, new therapeutics could be developed targeting specific pathways in order to improve and alleviate the neuropathic symptoms in human. The positive outcomes by developing the DN rat model may therefore improve the quality of health care through the productions of several quality medications and indirectly reduce the socioeconomic burden of a country.

Mini-dictionary of Terms

Atherogenic Process that promotes the fatty deposition in the blood arteries Hyperalgesia Heightened pain sensation

Allodynia Pain resulted from the stimulus that does not usually cause pain Nociceptive Process related to pain perception

Pathophysiology Abnormal physiological process related to a disease or injury **Neuropathy** Impairment of a nerve leading to tingling or numbness sensations **Sensitization** Increased responsiveness to pain

Key Facts

Key Facts of Diabetic Neuropathy

• The molecular modifications either at the central or peripheral nervous systems during the pathogenesis of DN is believed to originate from chronic hyperglycemia. Controlling the glucose level by changing the lifestyle and taking pain medications seems to be the most effective way to control the disease progression.

• Painless DN could be the late stage of DN since most of the small and large nerves are impaired leading to loss of sensation. The effects could eventually lead to foot ulcers and limb amputations.

Key Facts of Rat Model of Diabetic Neuropathy

- Several rodent models have been developed to mimic DN for decades such as genetically modified C57BL/Ks (db/db) mice, spontaneously diabetic WBN/Kob rats, L-fucose induced neuropathic rat. However, most of these models were not validated for antidiabetic or anti-neuropathic medications.
- Nerve damage is the common symptom in DN. The rat models of DN mostly revealed the reduced motor and/or sensory nerve conduction velocity indicating the structural and functional impairment of nerves.
- The STZ-induced DN rat model has been widely used in research to mimic DN complications as in humans due to its potent destructive ability on pancreatic β-cells. The lower dose of STZ combined with high-fat diet may result in insulin resistance as in type II DM in a rat model.

Summary Points

- DN can be developed from chronic hyperglycemia either due to the pancreatic β-cell destruction in type I DM or insulin resistance from type II DM.
- The metabolic modifications during DN could be contributed by the orchestrated effects of inflammatory, nociceptive, oxidative stress, and enzymatic biomarkers leading to multiple changes at the central and peripheral nervous systems.
- The increase in neuron-glia crosstalk has been demonstrated in several neuropathic pain states including DN. These communications lead to the development of central sensitization, therefore, explaining the development of allodynia and hyperalgesia.
- Certain biomarkers are downregulated during normal physiology, but highly expressed during the disease state. These biomarkers such as HO-1 are believed to be the endogenous protective mechanisms to bring the body regulations back to normal.
- Investigating molecular mechanisms to understand the pathogenesis of DN in diabetic rat models gives insights to develop several therapeutic drugs and alternative medicines alleviating neuropathic symptoms.

References

Adefegha SA, Dada FA, Oyeleye SI, et al. Effects of berberine on cholinesterases and monoamine oxidase activities, and antioxidant status in the brain of streptozotocin (STZ)-induced diabetic rats. J Basic Clin Physiol Pharmacol. 2021; https://doi.org/10.1515/jbcpp-2020-0173.

- Adki KM, Kulkarni YA. Biomarkers in diabetic neuropathy. Life Sci. 2020; https://doi.org/10.1080/ 13813455.2020.1837183.
- Afrazi S, Esmaeili-Mahani S. Allopregnanolone suppresses diabetes-induced neuropathic pain and motor deficit through inhibition of GABA_A receptor down-regulation in the spinal cord of diabetic rats. Iran J Basic Med Sci. 2014;17:312.
- Ayala A, Muñoz MF, Argüelles S. Lipid peroxidation: production, metabolism, and signaling mechanisms of malondialdehyde and 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal. 2014; https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/360438.
- Bai H-P, Liu P, Wu Y-M, et al. Activation of spinal GABA_B receptors normalizes N-methyl-Daspartate receptor in diabetic neuropathy. J Neurol Sci. 2014;341:68–72.
- Baig MA, Panchal SS. Streptozotocin-induced diabetes mellitus in neonatal rats: an insight into its applications to induce diabetic complications. Curr Diabetes Rev. 2019;16:26–39.
- Barragán-Iglesias P, Oidor-Chan VH, Loeza-Alcocer E, et al. Evaluation of the neonatal streptozotocin model of diabetes in rats: evidence for a model of neuropathic pain. Pharmacol Rep. 2018;70:294–303.
- Bishnoi M, Bosgraaf CA, Abooj M, et al. Streptozotocin-induced early thermal hyperalgesia is independent of glycemic state of rats: role of transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 (TRPV1) and inflammatory mediators. Mol Pain. 2011;7:1–11.
- Calcutt NA. Potential mechanisms of neuropathic pain in diabetes. Int Rev Neurobiol. 2002;50: 205–28.
- Callaghan BC, Gallagher G, Fridman V, et al. Diabetic neuropathy: what does the future hold? Diabetologia. 2020; https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-020-05085-9.
- Cha JJ, Min HS, Kim K, et al. Long-term study of the association of adipokines and glucose variability with diabetic complications. Korean J Intern Med. 2018;33:367–82.
- Chen QY, Wang GG, Li W, et al. Heme oxygenase-1 promotes delayed wound healing in diabetic rats. J Diabetic Res. 2016; https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/9726503.
- Chen JL, Lu JH, Xie CS, et al. Caveolin-1 in spinal cord modulates type-2 diabetic neuropathic pain through the Rac1/NOX2/NR2B signaling pathway. Am J Transl Res. 2020;12:1714–27.
- Dewanjee S, Das S, Das AK, et al. Molecular mechanism of diabetic neuropathy and its pharmacotherapeutic targets. Eur J Pharmacol. 2018;833:472–523.
- Djouhri L, Zeidan A, El-Aleem A, et al. Cutaneous Aβ-non-nociceptive, but not C-nociceptive, dorsal root ganglion neurons exhibit spontaneous activity in the streptozotocin rat model of painful diabetic neuropathy in vivo. Front Neurosci. 2020;14:530.
- Eissa LA, Elsherbiny NM, Maghmomeh AO, et al. Effect of 2-hydroxychalcone on adiponectin level in type-2 diabetes induced experimentally in rats. Egyption J Basic Appl Sci. 2017;4:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejbas.2016.12.002.
- Feldman EL, Sullivan KA, Lentz SI, et al. Criteria for creating and assessing mouse models of diabetic neuropathy. Curr Drug Targets. 2008;9:3–13.
- Fox A, Eastwood C, Gentry C, et al. Critical evaluation of the streptozotocin model of painful diabetic neuropathy in the rat. Pain. 1999;81:307–16.
- Gugliucci A. Formation of fructose-mediated advanced glycation end products and their roles in metabolic and inflammatory diseases. Adv Nutr. 2017;8:54–62.
- Hemati K, Karimi MY, Hosseinzadeh A, et al. Induction of analgesia using atorvastatin in experimental diabetic neuropathy through NMDA receptor and inflammatory cytokine inhibition. J Iranian Red Crescent Med J. 2021;23:e454.
- Hong S, Agresta L, Guo C, et al. The TRPV1 receptor is associated with preferential stress in large dorsal root ganglion neurons in early diabetic sensory neuropathy. J Neurochem. 2008;105:1212–22.
- Islam M. Animal models of diabetic neuropathy: progress since 1960s. J Diabetes Res. 2013; https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/149452.
- Ismail CAN, Abd Aziz CB, Suppian R, et al. Imbalanced oxidative stress and pro-inflammatory markers differentiate the development of diabetic neuropathy variants in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. J Diabetes Metab Disord. 2018a;17:129–36.

- Ismail CAN, Rapeah S, Ab Aziz CB, et al. Minocycline and Ifenprodil prevent development of painful diabetic neuropathy in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rat model. Int J Life Sci. 2018b;6: 29–40.
- Ismail CAN, Suppian R, Ab Aziz CB, et al. Minocycline attenuates the development of diabetic neuropathy by modulating DREAM and BDNF protein expression in rat spinal cord. J Diabetes Metab Disord. 2019;18:181–90.
- Ismail CAN, Suppian R, Ab Aziz CB, et al. Expressions of spinal microglia activation, BDNF, and DREAM proteins correlated with formalin-induced nociceptive responses in painful and painless diabetic neuropathy rats. Neuropeptides. 2020;79:102003.
- Ji Z-H, Liu Z-J, Liu Z-T, et al. Diphenyleneiodonium mitigates bupivacaine-induced sciatic nerve damage in a diabetic neuropathy rat model by attenuating oxidative stress. Anaesth Analg. 2017;125:653–61.
- Kandhare AD, Raygude AS, Kumar VS, et al. Ameliorative effects quercetin against impaired motor nerve function, inflammatory mediators and apoptosis in neonatal streptozotocin-induced diabetic neuropathy in rats. Biomed Aging Pathol. 2012;2:173–86.
- Kapucu A. Crocin ameliorates oxidative stress and suppresses renal damage in streptozotocin induced diabetic male rats. Biotech Histochem. 2021;96:153–60.
- Laddha AP, Kulkarni YA. NADPH oxidase: a membrane-bound enzyme and its inhibitors in diabetic complications. Eur J Pharmacol. 2020;881:173206.
- Lawrence T. The nuclear factor NF-κB pathway in inflammation. Cold Spring Harbour Perspect. 2009;1:a001651.
- Lee-Kubli CA, Zhou X, Jolivalt CG, et al. Pharmacological modulation of rate-dependent depression of the spinal H-reflex predicts therapeutic efficacy against painful diabetic neuropathy. Diagnostics. 2021;11:283.
- Li W, Zhao WQ, et al. Puerarin improves diabetic aorta injury by inhibiting NADPH oxidasederived oxidative stress in STZ-induced diabetic rats. J Diabetes Res. 2016; https://doi.org/10. 1155/2016/8541520.
- Li C-D, Zhao J-Y, Chen J-L, et al. Mechanism of the JAK2/STAT3-CAV-1-NR2B signaling pathway in painful diabetic neuropathy. Endocrine. 2019;64:55–66.
- Liao C, Yang M, Zhong W, et al. Association of myelinated primary afferents impairment with mechanical allodynia in diabetic peripheral neuropathy: an experimental study in rats. Oncotarget. 2017;8:64157–69.
- Liu P, Guo W-Y, Zhao X-N, et al. Intrathecal baclofen, a GABAB receptor agonist, inhibits the expression of p-CREB and NR2B in the spinal dorsal horn in rats with diabetic neuropathic pain. Can J Physiol Pharmacol. 2014;92:655–60.
- Liu T, Zhang L, Joo D, et al. NF-κB signaling in inflammation. Signal Transduct Target Ther. 2017;2:1–9.
- Lu Y, Lin B, Zhong J. The therapeutic effect of dexmedetomidine on rat diabetic neuropathy pain and the mechanism. Biol Pharm Bull. 2017;40:1432–8.
- Morrow TJ (2004) Animal models of painful diabetic neuropathy: the STZ rat model. Curr Protoc Neurosci 29:9.18. 11–19.18. 11.
- Nardin P, Zanotto C, Hansen F, et al. Peripheral levels of AGEs and astrocyte alterations in the hippocampus of STZ-diabetic rats. Neurochem Res. 2016;41:2006–16.
- Oyenihi AB, Ayeleso AO, Mukwevho E, et al. Antioxidant strategies in the management of diabetic neuropathy BioMed Res Int. 2015; 515042.
- Pfannkuche A, Alhajjar A, Ming A, et al. Prevalence and risk factors of diabetic peripheral neuropathy in a diabetics cohort: register initiative "diabetes and nerves". Endoc Metab Sci. 2020;1:100053.
- Quan Y, Jiang C-T, Xue B, et al. High glucose stimulates TNFα and MCP-1 expression in rat microglia via ROS and NF-κB pathways. Acta Pharmacol Sin. 2011;32:188–93.
- Smith G, Gunthorpe MJ, Kelsell RE, et al. TRPV3 is a temperature-sensitive vanilloid receptor-like protein. Nature. 2002;418:186–90.

- Sun Q, Wang C, Yan B, et al. Jinmaitong ameliorates diabetic peripheral neuropathy through suppressing TXNIP/NLRP3 inflammasome activation in the streptozotocin-induced diabetic rat model. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes. 2019;12:2145.
- Suryavanshi SV, Kulkarni YA. NF-κβ: a potential target in the management of vascular complications of diabetes. Front Pharmacol. 2017;8:798.
- Tu Y, Chen Z, Zhang F, et al. Gene expression profiling of the sciatic nerve in streptozotocininduced diabetic rats with peripheral neuropathy. J Diabetes Res. 2020; https://doi.org/10.1155/ 2020/5283284.
- Várkonyi T, Körei A, Putz Z, et al. Advances in the management of diabetic neuropathy. Minerva Med. 2017;108:419–37.
- Vincent AM, Russell JW, Low P, et al. Oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of diabetic neuropathy. Endocr Rev. 2004;25:612–28.
- World Health Organization (2020) Diabetes. Available via World Health Organization. https:// www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/diabetes. Accesssed 13 Apr 2021.
- Yagihashi S, Mizukami H, Sugimoto K, et al. Mechanism of diabetic neuropathy: where are we now and where to go? J Diabetes Investig. 2011;2:18–32.
- Yang C-M, Lin C-C, Hsieh H-L. High-glucose-derived oxidative stress-dependent heme oxygenase-1 expression from astrocytes contributes to the neuronal apoptosis. Mol Neurobiol. 2017;54:470–83.
- Yousefzadeh N, Alipour MR, Soufi FG. Deregulation of NF-κB-miR-146a negative feedback loop may be involved in the pathogenesis of diabetic neuropathy. J Physiol Biochem. 2015;71:51-8.
- Yu Z-W, Li D, Ling W-H, et al. Role of nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2 in metabolic homeostasis and insulin action: a novel opportunity for diabetes treatment? World J Diabetes. 2012;3:19.
- Yu T, Xin Q, Xu F, et al. Research on the mechanism of high glucose affecting the apoptosis of schwann cells by Nox4 NADPH oxidase. Chinese J Applied Physiol. 2019;35:130.
- Zhang H, Boyette-Davis JA, Kosturakis SK, et al. Induction of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) and its receptor CCR2 in primary sensory neurons contributes to paclitaxel-induced peripheral neuropathy. J Pain. 2013;14:1031–44.
- Zhang N, Wei H, Wu W, et al (2019) Effect of ropivacaine on peripheral neuropathy in streptozotocin diabetes-induced rats through TRPV1-CGRP pathway. Biosci Rep 39:1–12.
- Zhou R, Xu T, Liu X, et al. Activation of spinal dorsal horn P2Y13 receptors can promote the expression of IL-1β and IL-6 in rats with diabetic neuropathic pain. J Pain Res. 2018;11:615.



Biomarkers in Experimental Diabetes: 54 Studies with *Syzygium Cumini* (L.) and Links with the Sulfonylurea 1 Receptor

Pratibha D. Nadig, Padmaja Shetty K, Anusha S. J, Meharban Asanaliyar, and Nagakumar Bharatam

Contents

Introduction	1114
Pathophysiology of Diabetes Mellitus	1114
Clinically Used Biomarkers in Diabetes Mellitus	1116
Animal Models for Experimental Diabetes	1116
Experimental Models for Type 1 DM	1116
Experimental Models for Type 2 DM	1119
Experiments with Syzygium Cumini	1119
Fasting Blood Glucose (FBG)	1119
Serum Insulin and C Peptide Levels	1121
Glycosylated Hemoglobin (HbA1C)	1121
Homeostatic Model of Assessment (HOMA)	1122
Liver Glycogen	1122
Lipid Profile	1123
Adiponectin	1124
Glucagon-Like Peptide 1 (GLP 1)	1124
Markers of Oxidative Stress	1124
Inflammatory Biomarkers	1125
Histopathology of Islets of Pancreas	1126

P. D. Nadig (🖂) · P. Shetty K · A. S. J

Department of Pharmacology, Dr. Chandramma Dayanand Sagar Institute of Medical Education and Research (CDSIMER), Devarakaggalahalli, Karnataka, India e-mail: drpratibhanadig.cdsimer@dsu.edu.in; drpadmajashetty.cdsimer@dsu.edu.in; anushasj.cdsimer@dsu.edu.in

M. Asanaliyar

Department of Pharmacology, Vydehi Institute of Medical Science and Research Centre, Bangalore, Karnataka, India e-mail: pharma_meharban1569@vimsmail.com

N. Bharatam Computational Chemist, Drug Discovery Unit (DDU), School of Life Sciences, University of Dundee, Dundee, Scotland e-mail: sbharatham001@dundee.ac.uk

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2_69 1111

PPARs (Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptors)	1126
Hexokinase	1128
Biomarkers for Evaluating Molecular Mechanisms	1129
Molecular Docking Study of Syzygium Cumini extract Components on Sulfonylurea	
Receptor (SUR1)	1129
Applications to Prognosis	1130
Mini Dictionary of Terms	1130
Key Facts: Biomarkers in Experimental Diabetes: Studies with Syzygium Cumini (L.)	
and Links with the Sulfonylurea 1 Receptor	1133
Summary	1134
References	1134

Abstract

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is showing a global rise in its incidence. Pancreatic beta cell dysfunction, insulin resistance, and inflammation contribute to hyperglycemia and other metabolic derangements. Uncontrolled DM leads to micro- and macrovascular complications. Experimental animal models that closely simulate the human disease with identifiable biomarkers have been standardized for developing newer therapies for DM. While the conventional biomarkers such as fasting/postprandial blood glucose and HbA1C measure the extent of hyper-glycemia, there are newer biomarkers for measuring the beta cell dysfunction, insulin resistance, oxidative stress, and inflammation. The expression (protein and gene) of certain important enzymes, receptors, and intracellular signaling molecules such as PPAR γ , GLUT 4, GLUT 2, etc., are also being considered. *Syzygium cumini* (SC) is a medicinal plant that has undergone extensive research over 100 years in experimental models of DM and is still being explored. This chapter describes various biomarkers in experimental models of DM with illustrations from experiments on SC.

Keywords

Syzygium Cumini (L.) · Sulfonylurea 1 receptor · High fat diet-streptozotocin · Alloxan · Fasting Blood Glucose · HbA1C · Plasma Insulin · Liver Glycogen · HOMA-IR · HOMA- β · Lipid profile · Oxidative Stress Markers · TNF- α · PPAR- γ · GLUT-2 and 4 · Islet cell regeneration

Abbreviations

8-OHdG	8-OH deoxyguanosine
0 Ondo	
AGE	Advanced glycated End Product
AI	Artificial Intelligence
AOPP	Advanced Oxidative Protein Products
BB	Bio Breeding
CAD	Coronary Artery Disease
CD4	Cluster of Differentiation 4
CD8 T cells	Cluster of Differentiation 8 T cells

CD8	Cluster of Differentiation 8
CRP	C-Reactive Protein
CVA	Cerebro Vascular Accident
DM	Diabetes Mellitus
DPP-4	Dipeptidyl Peptidase-4
EJ	Eugenia Jambolana
ELISA	Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay
FBG	Fasting Blood Glucose
GLP1	Glucagon-Like Peptide 1
GLUT-2	Glucose Transporter type 2
GLUT-4	Glucose Transporter type 4
GPLD1	Glycosylphosphatidylinositol-Specific Phospholipase D1
HDL	High-Density Lipoprotein
HFD	High Fat Diet
HFHS	High carbohydrate, high fat diet
HOMA	Homeostasis Model of Assessment
IA-2	Insulinoma-Associated protein 2
ICAM-1	Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1
IL-18	Interleukin-18
IL-1RA	Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist
IL-6	Interleukin-6
IR	Insulin resistance
LDL	Low density Lipoprotein
Lp(A)	Lipoprotein(A)
MDA	Malondialdehyde
miRNA	Micro Ribonucleic acid
NOD	Nonobese diabetic
OGTT	Oral glucose tolerance test
PAI-1	Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1
PEDF	Pigment Epithelium-Derived Factor
PI3K	Phospho Inositide 3 Kinase
PKC	Protein Kinase C
PPARγ	Peroxisome proliferator- activated receptor gamma
PPBG	Postprandial blood glucose
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
SC	Syzygium cumini
SGLT2	Sodium-glucose transport protein 2
SNPs	Single nucleotide polymorphisms
SOD	Superoxide dismutase
STZ	Streptozotocin
SUR1	Sulfonylurea receptor1
TBARS	Thiobarbituric acid-reactive substances
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor β
THBS1	Thrombospondin 1

TNF-α	Tumor Necrosis Factor α
VCAM	Vascular cell adhesion molecule
VLDL	Very low density lipoprotein
α-Hb	α- Hemoglobin

Introduction

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a metabolic disorder characterized by increase in the blood glucose. Type 1 DM is due to an autoimmune destruction of beta cells, while over 90% of DM cases are type 2, characterized by deficient pancreatic insulin secretion and tissue insulin resistance (IR) (Paschou et al. 2018; Galicia-Garcia et al. 2020).

Experimental models are developed to study the pathogenesis and evaluate newer therapies for DM. Spontaneous and genetic models are mostly used for type 1DM, though it can also be induced with chemicals or viruses. However their relevance to the human disease has been questioned (Phillips et al. 2011). On the other hand, elaborate models for type 2 DM have evolved over a period of time mimicking the lifestyle and diet patterns that lead to human disease. More than 20 biomarkers are identified in humans and in experimental models for type 2 DM. With the development in technology, several proteomic and genomic biomarkers are being identified.

The emerging experimental pharmacological data on newer therapies for type 2 DM has shown that herbal extracts may be beneficial by acting at different targets due to multiple phytoconstituents. *Syzygium cumini* (*SC*), also called *Eugenia Jambolana* (*EJ*), is a medicinal plant native to the Asian subcontinent. It has shown insulin secretory, insulin sensitizing, antioxidant, and anti-inflammatory activity (Sharma et al. 2012; Sankhari et al. 2012). It is one of the plants that has undergone more than 100 years of research in experimental DM, and more than 100 case reports were published before the advent of insulin (Helmstädter 2008).

In this chapter, we first describe the current understanding of the pathophysiology of human diabetes and some of the clinically used biomarkers. We then discuss the experimental diabetic models used to evaluate the antidiabetic effects of *Syzygium cumini* emphasizing on the biomarkers that reflected the response to treatment.

Pathophysiology of Diabetes Mellitus

DM is multifactorial in origin and many organs are involved in its pathogenesis. In type 1 DM, there is an autoimmunity against β cells of the islets of pancreas. The process occurs in genetically susceptible individuals triggered by environmental factors such as viral infection, but positive for relevant autoantibodies. An increase in T lymphocytes, particularly CD4 and CD8, is observed in type 1 DM (Paschou et al. 2018).

Type 2 DM is multifactorial in its etiology. Both genetic predisposition and environmental factors play a role. Glucotoxicity and adipotoxicity resulting from



Fig. 1 Pathophysiological processes with biomarkers contributing to the metabolic derangements in type 2 DM. *IR* insulin resistance, *PPAR* peroxisome proliferator activated receptor, *HGP* hepatic glucose production, *SGLT* sodium glucose transporter, *FBG* fasting blood glucose, *TC* total cholesterol, *TG* triglycerides, *LDL* low density lipoprotein, *HDL* high density lipoprotein, *VLDL* very low density lipoprotein. (1) Decreased insulin secretion by the β cells due to autoimmune destruction and IR; (2) Decreased glucose uptake in the skeletal muscles due to IR (decreased GLUT 4 expression and altered insulin signaling pathways); (3) IR in adipose tissue leads to increased mobilization of free fatty acids, decreased expression of adiponectin and altered intracellular insulin signaling pathways. IR (decreased GLUT 4, decreased PPAR γ , and PPAR α expression); (4) Increased glucose hepatic production due to IR (decreased glycogen synthesis and increased neoglucogenesis); (5) Increased renal glucose reabsorption by SGLT2 and increased threshold for glucose secretion in the urine; (6) Increased glucagon secretion by α cells of pancreas; (7) Decreased incretin, altered gut microbiome; (8) Low dopamine, increased brain 5 hydroxytryptamine, resistance to the appetite, suppressive effects of insulin, leptin, GLP1, amylin, and peptide YY

deregulated diet and lifestyle are the precipitating factors in genetically susceptible individuals. Adipokine dysregulation, oxidative stress, abnormalities in gut microbiota, immune dysregulation, and inflammation have emerged as critical pathophysiological factors (Weyer et al. 1999).

Pancreatic β -cell dysfunction, insulin resistance, and chronic inflammation are the characteristic pathophysiological features of type 2 DM that lead to a state of hyperglycemia (DeFronzo 2010). Uncontrolled DM leads to micro- and microvascular complications such as neuropathy, nephropathy, and retinopathy, cardiovascular and cerebrovascular accidents. Metabolic molecular derangements that contribute to diabetic complication are identified to involve polyol pathway, stimulation of protein kinase C (PKC) isoforms, increased formation of advanced glycation end products (AGEs) and increased expression of its receptor and overactivity of the hexosamine pathway(DeFronzo et al. 2015). Figure 1 below describes the pathophysiology based on the principles of ominous octet proposed and validated by DeFronzo et al. (2015). In addition, the authors also added vascular insulin resistance and inflammation that lead to the diabetic complications making it as "decadent decoplet" (DeFronzo et al. 2015).

Clinically Used Biomarkers in Diabetes Mellitus

Identifying biomarkers denoting the pathophysiological changes and responses to therapy play a significant role in detecting, predicting the progression of diabetes, and the development of complications (Dorcely et al. 2017).

Currently, in clinical practice, fasting blood glucose levels, 2-h blood glucose in a 75-g oral glucose tolerance (OGT), HbA1C have been the most preferred biomarkers recommended to diagnose and monitor the disease progression.

Several biomarkers representing the development of insulin resistance and the prediabetic state have been used to predict disease progression toward type 2 DM. Recently, novel biomarkers denoting the proinflammatory, metabolic, inflammatory, oxidative damage, genetic derangements, amylin accumulation, lipotoxicity, glucotoxicity, impaired incretin secretion, and decreased beta cell mass have been used. Figure 2 shows the biomarkers that have been studied and partially validated in DM (Dorcely). However they are not validated in terms of clinical response.

Animal Models for Experimental Diabetes

Experimental DM models have evolved over years of research on diabetes mellitus. Both genetic and nongenetic models have been developed based on the understanding of pathophysiology of DM. Streptozotocin (STZ) and alloxan-induced DM is common for both type 1 and type 2 DM. Animal models are broadly categorized into four groups – genetic, spontaneous, chemically induced, and virus induced. All the four are applicable to both types of diabetes.

Experimental Models for Type 1 DM

The main characteristic feature of type 1 DM is the destruction of the pancreatic beta cells, leading to lack of insulin production (Paschou et al. 2018). In animal models, this deficiency in insulin production is achieved by various mechanisms, ranging from chemical ablation of the beta cells to breeding rodents that spontaneously develop autoimmune diabetes. During the last 25 years, two key animal models of type 1 DM – the inbred Bio Breeding (BB) rat and nonobese diabetic (NOD) mouse – have been used to study the genetics, pathophysiology, environmental impact, and treatment. NOD mice are characterized by insulitis. There is a pancreatic



Fig. 2 Clinically used biomarkers in diabetes mellitus. *HbA1C* hemoglobin A1c, *FBS* fasting blood sugar, *OGTT* oral glucose tolerance test, *LDL* low density lipoprotein, *HDL* high density lipoprotein, *VLDL* very low density lipoprotein, *PAI-1* plasminogen activator inhibitor, *AGEs* advanced glycation end products, miRNA micro ribonucleic acid, *Specific SNPs* specific single nucleotide polymorphisms, *SOD* superoxide dismutase, *AOPPs* advanced oxidation protein products, *TBARS* thiobarbituric acid reactive substances, *HIF-1a* hypoxia-inducible factor-1*a*, *CRP* C-reactive protein, *IL-6* interleukin-6, *TNF-a* tumor necrosis factor *a*, *TGF- β* transforming growth factor β. The conventional biomarkers are part of routine investigations in the diagnosis and monitoring the treatment of diabetes mellitus. The novel biomarkers are being validated through research

islet cell infiltration of $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T cells, B lymphocytes, and variable numbers of macrophages/dendritic cells as early as 3 weeks postpartum. Hence it appears to be a suitable model for type 1 DM (Mordes et al. 2004).

The nongenetic models include the experimental models induced either by surgical removal or chemical destruction of pancreas using STZ or alloxan. Pancreatectomized animals particularly the dogs are used for studying type 1 DM (Kretschmer et al. 1977). High doses of Streptozotocin or alloxan have shown to induce an absolute deficiency of insulin, indicating type 1 or severe type 2 DM (Radenković et al. 2016).

Alloxan and STZ are glucose analogues that accumulate in pancreatic beta cells via the GLUT2 glucose transporter, causing toxicity. In the presence of intracellular

thiols such as glutathione, alloxan generates reactive oxygen species, which cause death of the pancreatic beta cells as they have a low antioxidant mechanism (Cohen and Heikkila 1974). STZ alkylates the beta cell membranes, fragments DNA, and thus destroys the beta cells. These agents at high doses cause an insulin-dependent diabetes state; however, at STZ induces type 2 DM at low doses. STZ also affects the beta cell mitochondrial function, thereby reducing the glucose-induced insulin secretion (LeDoux et al. 1986).

STZ is administered intraperitoneally or intravenously. Usually, chemically induced diabetes is carried out in rodent species, while few studies are also done in rabbits. STZ is preferred to alloxan for its extended stability, long-lasting diabetogenecity, higher inductive rate, lower toxicity, effectiveness across species, and less interference with the blood glucose monitoring. Mortality rate of animals is higher by alloxan than STZ due to an increased loss in body weight (Lenzen 2008).

Viruses such as Coxsackie virus injections can also be used to induce both type 1 and 2 DM. They bring about the destruction of pancreatic islets either by direct effects or by triggering an autoimmune response. Although used for both types of DM, they are preferred and used commonly for type 1 DM.

Some of the most commonly used models of type 1 DM are outlined in Table 1.

Sl.No.	Model	References
Genetic	Akita diabetic mice	Fox et al. 2011
Spontaneous	Nonobese diabetic (NOD) mice BB (Biobreeding) rat	Mordes et al. 2004
	LETL (Long-Evans Tokushima Lean) rat KDP (Komeda diabetes-prone) rat LEW.1AR1/Ztm-iddm	Ikegami et al. 2004
		Yokoi et al. 2003
		Lenzen et al. 2001
Chemically induced	Streptozotocin-induced mouse model: A single, high dose of STZ (200 mg/kg) Multiple, low doses of STZ (40 mg/kg, intraperitoneally; i.p.) for 5 consecutive days	Wu and Huan 2008
	Streptozotocin-induced rat model: Single dose of STZ (40–70 mg/kg) to rats aged 8–10 weeks	Wu and Huan 2008
	Alloxan-induced mouse model: Single dose of 100–200 mg/kg BW	Siddiqui et al. 2014
	Alloxan-induced rats model: Single dose of 40–200 mg/kg BW	Ighodaro et al. 2017
Virus induced	Cox sackie virus infection	King 2012
	Lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV)	
	H-1 parvovirus	
	Kilham rat virus	

Table 1 Experimental models for Type 1 DM

Experimental Models for Type 2 DM

The pathogenesis of type 2 DM involves both reduced insulin secretion as well as peripheral insulin resistance. The models are therefore developed to address both of these mechanisms.

Genetic models could be either monogenic with single dysfunctional gene such as Lep ^{ob/ob} mouse with defective Leptin gene or polygenic such as the inbred C57BL/ 6J mouse. The New Zealand Obese (NZO) mouse, TALLYHO/Jng mice characterized with varying levels of susceptibility to environmental factors.

Type 2 DM may also be induced chemically with STZ or alloxan. However, these chemicals have shown a high mortality when used alone and may not replicate many pathophysiological processes of human type 2 DM. Hence, the recent models have used a combination of high fat diet/sucrose/fructose with low dose STZ mimicking type 2 DM. High-fat diet (HFD) causes hyperinsulinemia and insulin resistance in peripheral tissues due to lipid toxicity. The low dose of STZ (30–40 mg/kg i.p) results in defective insulin secretion due to reduction in beta cell mass (Unger et al. 2010). Long-term administration of HFD has shown to induce hypoinsulinemia (Nadig et al. 2021). This model is sensitive to the glucose lowering effects of insulin sensitizers such as pioglitazone as well as insulinotropic agents such as glipizide. Features of dyslipidemia were also observed that were reversed with Pioglitazone and Glipizide (Srinivasan et al. 2005).

Virus-induced models using Cocksackie virus are also used for type-2DM. Most commonly used models for experimental type 2 DM are shown in Table 2.

Experiments with Syzygium Cumini

The successful induction of the desired type of experimental DM, and the response to therapy is measured using validated biomarkers. Most of the biomarkers in animal models are developed based on the clinical biomarkers currently used in the management of DM, as discussed in the previous section. The biomarkers used during the experiments with SC are described below.

Fasting Blood Glucose (FBG)

Hyperglycemia observed as an increase in the blood glucose is the key diagnostic feature of DM. Patients with type 2 DM exhibit a higher rate of hepatic glucose output due to insulin resistance as compared to healthy subjects, which is the main contributor to fasting hyperglycemia. Hence FBG is considered as an important biomarker used in experimental DM too.

Generally the FBG is measured between 48 h- and 7 days after induction of DM using glucose oxidase method. Levels above 200–300 mg/dl are considered as diabetic in any rodent species. The severity of induction of DM and the response to treatment depends on the inducing agent and its dose.

Sl.No.	Model	References
Genetic	The KK mouse Obese hyperglycemic mice Lep ^{ob/ob} mouse C57BL/6J mouse strain The New Zealand Obese (NZO) mouse TALLYHO/Jng mice	Kottaisamy et al. 2021
Spontaneous	Zucker Diabetic Fatty rats Otsuka Long-Evans Tokushima Fatty Rat Goto-Kakizaki rats db/db (C57BL/KsJ-db/db) mice The Nagoya–Shibata–Yasuda (NSY) mouse Psammomys obesus (the Israeli sand rat) Spiny mouse	Rees and Alcolado 2005
Chemically induced	Mouse Models: Single dose of Alloxan (50–200 mg/kg BW) Single dose STZ (100–200 mg/kg BW) STZ (50 mg/kg) – nicotinamide (120 mg/kg) Rat Models:	Siddiqui et al. 2014 Chatzigeorgiou et al. 2009 Birgani et al. 2018
	Single dose of Alloxan (40–200 mg/kg BW) Single dose streptozotocin (35–65 mg/kg BW) HFD-STZ(40 mg/kg) HFD-fructose model High-fat chow for 4 weeks followed by STZ (35 mg/ kg, i.p.) Monosodium L-glutamate- (MSG-) (4.0 g/kg/day) induced obese rats High carbohydrate, high fat diet (HFHS)-induced diabetic Wistar rats	Ajiboye et al. 2018 Vora et al. 2019 Nadig et al. 2021 Munshi et al. 2014 Chao et al. 2018 França et al. 2019 Ulla et al. 2017
Virus induced	Coxsackie B virus EMC virus	King 2012
Surgery	Pancreatectomy model	Kottaisamy et al. 2021

Table 2 Experimental models for Type 2 DM

Studies with SC extracts have shown significant effects on FBG in both alloxan as well as STZ-induced diabetes models (Siddiqui et al. 2014). In a study by Sharma et al. with HFD-STZ, SC aqueous seed extract showed 38% reduction in FBG compared to 59% by metformin administered for a period of 21 days (Sharma et al. 2012). Hydroalcoholic extract of SC seeds in long-term HFD-STZ (40 mg/kg) model by Nadig et al. showed a reduction of 76% in FBS in comparison with pioglitazone that showed 70% reduction (Nadig et al. 2021).

Aqueous extract of EJ seed (400 mg/kg) given in combination with a DPP4 inhibitor, sitagliptin (10 mg/kg) for a duration of 28 days to STZ-induced diabetic rats showed a synergistic antidiabetic effect in reducing the FBG. In addition there was a significant improvement in the kidney function, the liver function, and the lipid parameters (Vora et al. 2019).

Serum Insulin and C Peptide Levels

Insulin, a peptide hormone released by beta cells of pancreas is mainly involved in regulating carbohydrate, protein, and fat metabolism. It regulates the glucose uptake in insulin-dependent tissues, facilitates cell division and growth (Wilcox 2005).

Generally, the normal range of insulin in rodents is observed to be in the range of 13–16 microIIU/ml. Decrease in plasma insulin levels in animal models after STZ application is used as a sign for induction of diabetes (Koksal 2015). However, in some experiments with low dose STZ-HFD or low dose STZ-fructose, hyper-insulinemia is observed (Sharma et al. 2012; Munshi et al. 2014). Such models usually indicate a prediabetic or early diabetic state. Majority of STZ models however have shown reduced insulin secretion. The effect size depends on the dose of the inducing agent and the time of measurement of plasma insulin (Koksal 2015).

In STZ-treated isolated pancreatic islets of rats, rutin and quercetin, important phytoconstituents in SC have shown an increase in insulin secretion through L-type of calcium channels, adiponectin and leptin (Chagas et al. 2015).

Purified fraction of SC (L.) Skeels (SC2), polyphenol rich leaves extract, ethanolic extract of seeds, and hydroethanolic extract of leaves have all shown an increase in the plasma insulin in various models using STZ, alloxan, and monosodium glutamate (Ajiboye et al. 2018; Sharma et al. 2011).

C peptide is a precursor of insulin and also an important parameter to measure the beta cell function and insulin secretion. C-peptide levels <0.2 nmol/l is associated with type 1 DM. In STZ (45 mg/kg)-induced diabetic male Wistar albino rat models, SC bark extract (300 mg/kg body weight) significantly elevated plasma insulin levels and C-peptide in comparison to Glibenclamide (Saravanan and Leelavinothan 2006).

Glycosylated Hemoglobin (HbA1C)

Glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1C) often reflects chronic hyperglycemia and is a predictor of diabetic complications. HbA1C is formed when glucose imbibes into the β subunit of hemoglobin. ADA criteria of HbA1C is 5.7–6.4% (39–46 mmol/mol) for prediabetes and $\geq 6.5\%$ (48 mmol/mol) for diabetes (ADA 2021).

In a study by Sherafeldin et al., HbA1C in the normal Wistar albino rats was found to be $7.02 \pm 0.17\%$. Induction of diabetes with STZ increased the levels to 12.07 ± 0.30 , which was statistically significant. Administration of SC ethanolic seed extract, 200 mg/body weight once weekly for 4 weeks significantly reduced elevated HbA1C levels compared to diabetic control rats (Sharafeldin and Rizvi 2015). Daily administration of seed extracts has also shown similar reduction in HbA1C (Ravi et al. 2004).

In alloxan-induced mild diabetic (MD) and severely diabetic (SD) rabbits, purified fraction of ethanolic extract of SC seeds (LHI,II,III) were evaluated at a dose of 10 mg/ kg body weight for a duration of 7 days (MD) and 15 days (SD). LHII fraction significantly resulted in 50.5% fall in HbA1C after 15 days of treatment (Sharma et al. 2011).

HbA1C is an indicator of long-term control of DM but limited literature is available in experimental diabetes model due to the short duration of studies.

Homeostatic Model of Assessment (HOMA)

Pancreatic β -cell dysfunction and insulin resistance (IR), the key pathognomonic features of type 2 DM, can be assessed from FBG and plasma insulin/C-peptide concentration. Homeostatic model of assessment IR (HOMA-IR) is a reliable surrogate biomarker of IR while HOMA β reflects the insulin secretory function of pancreatic beta cell (Wallace et al. 2004).

HOMA- β is given by the formula = (20 × insulin in mIU/mL)/ (glucose in mmol/ L – 3.5).

HOMA-IR: fasting blood glucose (FBS) (mg/dL) \times insulin (µIU/mL)/405. The normal HOMA-IR value of healthy human ranges 0.5–1.4. [<1.0 = optimal, >1.9 indicates early insulin resistance, and >2.9 indicates significant insulin resistance (Wallace et al. 2004).

IR and insulin signaling were compared in four models of type 2 DM: rats fed on a fructose-rich chow for 8 weeks, rats fed with high-fat chow for 4 weeks followed by injection with STZ (35 mg/kg, i.p.), rats injected with a single low dose STZ (45 mg/kg, i.p.), and rats injected with a single dose of nicotinamide followed by a single high dose of STZ (60 mg/kg, i.p). Among these four, HFD/STZ rats was found to be an appropriate and stable animal model for simulating IR analogous to the human T2 DM (Chao et al. 2018). This model also exhibited a reduction in HOMA β . Both were reversed to near normal levels with administration of aqueous or hydroalcoholic extract of seeds of SC (Sharma et al. 2017; Nadig et al. 2021).

In alloxan-induced diabetic rats, polyphenolic-rich extract of SC (400 mg/kg body weight: free phenol and bound phenol), HOMA-IR levels were significantly decreased and HOMA β levels increased with both forms of extract comparable to that of metformin and diabetic control (Ajiboye et al. 2018).

In all the above models, reduction in HOMA β appears to be due to destruction of pancreatic beta cells and increase in HOMA-IR as a result of increase in inflammation due to reactive oxygen species as a result of STZ and Alloxan administration.

Thus HOMA β and HOMA-IR appear to be important surrogate biomarkers to assess the improvement of beta cell function and insulin resistance in response to antidiabetic treatment.

Liver Glycogen

The synthesis and maintenance of glycogen stores are some of the very characteristic actions of insulin. Hepatic glycogenesis depends on glucose as substrate and insulin for the process of glycogen synthesis with the help of enzymes. In type 1 and type

2 DM, there is reduced glycogen synthesis as insulin levels are low. Even if the levels of insulin are normal or high (as it happens in the prediabetic or early diabetic stage), hepatic insulin resistance may result in reduced glycogen storage. This in turn results in increased hepatic glucose output accounting for hyperglycemia (Jiang et al. 2020).

Magalhães et al. demonstrated a reduction in liver glycogen from 30.2 to 8.5 in HFD-STZ (40 mg/kg)-induced type 2 DM in Wistar albino rats (Magalhães et al. 2019). Ravi et al. also showed more than 50% reduction in the liver glycogen content in STZ (55 mg/kg body weight)-induced diabetic Wistar albino rats compared to healthy controls, which was reversed when treated with aqueous seed and kernel extract of EJ administered orally for 30 days (Ravi et al. 2005). Similar increase in hepatic glycogen was observed in alloxan-induced diabetic rats with purified fractions of ethanolic seed extracts of SC in both mild and severely diabetic animals (Sharma et al. 2011). Hepatic IR induced by HFD appears to contribute for increase in liver glycogen.

Lipid Profile

DM is characterized by derangement in cholesterol and triglyceride levels. Deficiency of insulin or insulin resistance leads to uncontrolled dyslipidemia via mobilization of free fatty acids (FFA) increasing the HMG-CoA reductase activity and decreasing lipoprotein lipase (LPL) activity. Uncontrolled diabetic dyslipidemia is an important risk factor for atherogenic complications.

On administration of hydroethanolic extract of SC leaf (HESc) (0.5 g/kg/day and 1.0 g/kg/day) in monosodium L-glutamate-(MSG-) (4.0 g/kg/day) induced obese rats, there was reduction in weight gain by 15% and adipose tissue fat pads, FBG, triglycerides, total cholesterol, and free fatty acids, as well as insulin sensitivity similar to lean rats. The extract reduced fat accumulation in liver by 13% in 0.5 g/kg dose group and 27% in the 1 g/kg dose group. VLDL levels were reduced by 50% in both treated groups (França et al. 2019).

In STZ (45 mg/kg)-induced diabetic rats fed with atherosclerotic diet (1.5 ml olive oil containing 8 mg (3,20,000 IU) vitamin D_2 and 40 mg cholesterol) given for 5 consecutive days, active compound FIIc of FII fraction of lyophilized aqueous extract of SC pulp administered for 30 days reduced the levels of TG, TC, LDL-C, and VLDL-C and improved the levels of HDL in comparison glibenclamide. There was significant improvement in the levels of ApoA₁, ApoB₁₀₀, and ApoB₁₀₀/ApoA₁ ratio. ApoB₁₀₀ has been a significant factor to predict coronary artery disease (Tanwar et al. 2011).

In STZ (55 mg/kg)-induced diabetic rats, administration of ethanolic extract of EJs-kernel (100 mg/kg body weight) was able to significantly reverse dyslipidemia (elevated LDL, VLDL, decreased HDL) to normal levels (Chaturvedi et al. 2009).

The possible factors contributing to the antidyslipidemic properties of SC has been attributed to several factors, such as inhibition of HMG-CoA reductase activity in the liver, reduction in the absorption of cholesterol by the intestine, or increased TG and FFA clearance in the periphery by stimulation of LPL (Sharma et al. 2008).

Adiponectin

Adiponectin is a protein secreted by adipocytes that have a significant effect on plasma glucose and lipid levels. Serum levels of adiponectin decrease during obesity and are directly associated with insulin sensitivity. Excessive expression of adiponectin in the liver reduces ceramide levels and improves insulin sensitivity. In an experiment with gene therapy with adiponectin in high fat high sucrose fed mice, there was lower blood glucose and insulin levels, improved glucose tolerance, and reduced hepatic gluconeogenesis compared with control mice (Kandasamy et al. 2012).

In STZ (45 mg/kg of b.w.)-nicotinamide (230 mg/kg b.w. given 15 min prior to STZ injection)-induced type 2 DM rats, administration of antihyperglycemic compound obtained from the fruit pulp of *EJ showed an* increased serum adiponectin level at week 6 as compared to diabetic controls (Jafri et al. 2019).

In an in vitro study on mouse 3 T3-L1 preadipocytes and rat L6 myoblasts, administration of logarithmic doses of SC methanolic extract (SCME) and Vitalboside A (VBA) isolated from SC (1 ng-10 μ g/mL) showed a significant elevation in adiponectin secretion. Hence, it is clear that VBA showed a partial transcriptional activation of PPARc2 with a simultaneous increase in the secretion of adiponectin correlating with the decreased lipid accumulation in adipocytes. VBA-mediated combined activation of PPAR γ -transactivated adiponectin and PI3K/Akt-stimulated adiponectin secretion contributed to alleviated development of type 2 DM, insulin resistance, and obesity (Thivagarajan et al. 2016).

Effect of SC on adiponectin levels needs to be explored as there is limited number of studies.

Glucagon-Like Peptide 1 (GLP 1)

GLP 1 is an insulinotropic hormone released from the gastrointestinal tract in response to food and enhances the postprandial insulin secretion. It is metabolized by DPP-4(dipeptidyl peptidase 4). The drugs that inhibit DPP4 such as sitagliptin enhance insulin secretion and suppress glucagon secretion.

There are limited experimental studies of SC using glucagon and GLP 1 as biomarkers. An in-vitro (DPP-4 inhibition assay) and in-vivo (STZ-induced diabetic rats) study using a polyherbal formulation containing the semi-standardized extracts of *Pterocarpus marsupium*, *EJ*, and *Gymnema sylvestre* by Kosaraju et al. showed an increase in GLP1 levels, which was consistent with elevated insulin levels (Kosaraju et al. 2014).

More research needs to be done to establish the conclusive role of GLP-1 as biomarkers in animal models.

Markers of Oxidative Stress

Oxidative stress has been implicated in the causation of IR, β cell failure, its progression to DM, as well as its atherosclerotic complications. Oxidative damage

occurs as a result of glucotoxicity and lipotoxicity. It induces liberation of products of lipid and protein oxidation such as malondialdehyde, thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS), advanced glycation end products (AGEs), and advanced oxidation protein products (AOPP) (Fiorentino et al. 2013).

SC has been evaluated both in the in vitro assays and in vivo experimental diabetes models for the antioxidant activity. Administration of SC aqueous seed extract to HFD-STZ-induced diabetic Wistar albino rats showed a dose-dependent reduction in TBARS and increase in the levels of SOD, CAT, and GSH-Px activities in comparison to diabetic control rats (Sharma et al. 2012).

Oral administration of 2.5 and 5.0 g/kg body weight of the aqueous extract of the SC seeds for 6 weeks in alloxan-induced diabetic rats resulted in a significant reduction in TBARS, and increase in reduced glutathione (GSH), superoxide dismutase (SOD), and catalase (CAT) clearly show the antioxidant property of the extract. The extract was more at 5.0 g/kg body weight and better than that of glibenclamide (Prince et al. 1998). Similarly the ethanol seed extract of *Eugenia jambolana* at a dose of 100 mg/kg body weight also has shown to decrease the levels of TBARS, increase the levels of reduced GSH, OD, and CAT in the plasma of the STZ-induced diabetic rat (Ravi et al. 2004).

Administration of active principle (FIIc) isolated from aqueous fruit pulp extract of *Eugenia jambolana* to STZ-induced diabetic models showed a protective effect by elevating the nitric oxide levels, reducing the levels of Ox-LDL, reversing the sVCAM-1 and fibrinogen levels to near normal in diabetic rats (Tanwar et al. 2011).

Administration of SC seed powder (20 g) to a high carbohydrate high fat diet (HCHF)-induced obese rats model for 56 days showed a significant reduction in plasma and liver malondialdehyde (MDA) concentrations, reduced the rise of APOP level when compared to HCHF group. SC seed powder supplementation significantly improved the levels of hepatic SOD, CAT activities, and restored the GSH level when compared to the control rats (Ulla et al. 2017).

Oxidative markers indicate underlying systemic inflammation in DM. They appear to be important biomarkers for screening of herbal extracts as many phytoconstituents have significant antioxidant activity. Hence it is recommended to use all of these biomarkers in the experimental models of DM.

Inflammatory Biomarkers

An elevation of inflammatory biomarkers in response to autoimmune beta cell destruction is observed in type 1 DM. The beta cell inflammatory reaction also results in abnormal cytokine production and the activations of pro-inflammatory signaling pathways.

TNF- α is a potent pro-inflammatory cytokine released from macrophages and T lymphocytes in type 1 DM with predominant role in the development of insulin resistance. TNF- α also has important pathophysiological role in development of microvascular complications as it is involved in growth stimulation, cytotoxicity, and angiogenesis. High levels of CRP have been reported to be a strong and independent predictor of myocardial infarction, ischemic stroke, type 2 DM, and hypertension.

Large-scale human prospective and genetic data provide evidence that IL-6-mediated inflammation is implicated in the etiology of T2DM (Dorcely et al. 2017).

In alloxan (150 mg/kg)-induced diabetic rats, administration of polyphenolic-rich extract of SC leaves (400 mg/kg free phenol, 400 mg/kg bound phenol) had significantly higher anti-inflammatory activity. The levels of IL- 6 and TNF- α decreased in comparison to diabetic + metformin groups and diabetic control group (Ajiboye et al. 2018).

Reddy et al. studied the role of polyherbal formulation containing a high fraction of powdered EJ seeds (20 g) at doses of 250 and 500 mg/kg BW administered for 16 weeks in STZ-induced diabetic nephropathy model in rats. There was a significant rise in IL-6, TGF- β , and TNF- α in the diabetic animals as compared to the normal controls which were significantly reduced in the treated group. These inflammatory markers were measured using ABCAM ELISA Kits (Reddy et al. 2019).

When rat heart-derived H9C2 cardiomyoblast cells were treated with methanol extract of SC seeds, the levels of proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α and IL-6 decreased suggesting that the extract is able to prevent the onset of glucose-induced cardiac inflammation (Atale et al. 2021). Figure 3 shows the role of inflammation and oxidative stress observed in experimental diabetes.

Histopathology of Islets of Pancreas

HFD followed by STZ or STZ alone induces oxidative damage to the pancreatic cells particularly the islets and distorts the architecture of pancreas. Suman et al. showed damaged islets of Langerhans, atrophy of beta cells, and reduced beta cell mass as compared to normal control in an HFD-STZ (40 mg/kg ip)-induced diabetes model in Wistar albino rats (Suman et al. 2016).

In yet another study on alloxan (60 mg/kg)-induced diabetes in rats, administration of ethanolic extract of SC seeds (750 mg/kg) reversed the alloxan-induced changes in alpha and beta cells such as derangements, clumping, degranulation, and hydropic degeneration in comparison to diabetic control (Singh and Gupta 2007).

An oral administration of SC aqueous extract of the bark administered for 30 days at doses of 1 g/kg rat body weight in alloxan induced diabetes has showed regeneration of beta cells pancreas (Schossler et al. 2004).

In a study by Sharma et al. 2012, HFD-STZ-induced moderate injury(++) to β cells of pancreas, which was characterized by moderate decrease in the amount of β -cells, moderate number of inflammatory cells, and moderate swelling of islet cells. Administration of SC seed extract (400 mg/kg dose) showed a complete reversal of these changes in diabetic rats (Sharma et al. 2012).

PPARs (Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptors)

PPARs (peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors) are ligand-activated transcription factors of nuclear hormone receptor superfamily comprising of the following



Fig. 3 Role of inflammation and oxidative stress in experimental diabetes. *IL-6* interleukin-6, *IL-8* interleukin-8, *TNF-a* tumor necrosis factor α , *TGF-* β transforming growth factor β , *CAD* coronary artery disease, *CVA* cerebrovascular accident, *AGE* advanced glycated end products, *AOPP* advanced protein oxidation products, *Reactive oxygen species (ROS)-Glutathione, Malonedialdehyde (MDA), Superoxide dismutase (SOD), Thibarbituric acid substances (TBARS), Catalase. Hyperglycemia in experimental diabetes results in the generation of reactive oxygen species, which leads to oxidative stress in beta cells of islets and the peripheral tissues. This is followed by the release of inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-6, IL-8, TGF- β , etc. The resulting inflammation leads to beta cell dysfunction and insulin resistance. Uncontrolled hyperglycemia also leads to generation of other ROS such as AGE and AOPP that mediate the micro- and macrovascular complications due to vascular inflammation and endothelial dysfunction

three subtypes: PPAR α , PPAR γ , and PPAR β/δ . PPAR γ distributed in adipose tissue, skeletal muscle, liver, and pancreatic islets play a key role in regulating the insulin sensitivity, adipocyte differentiation, inflammation, and cell growth (Semple et al. 2006). Various clinical studies have shown less expression of PPAR γ protein in patients with type 2 DM.
Studies by Sharma et al. have shown that in HFD-STZ model, insulin resistance, dyslipidemia, and tissue damage is also accompanied by lowered expression of PPAR γ in diabetic rats as compared with the normal control. SC extract was found to increase the hepatic PPAR γ and PPAR α protein expressions after treatment at 400 mg/kg (Sharma et al. 2012).

Gallic acid is an important phytoconstituent of SC. Gandhi et al. have shown that gallic acid significantly enhances the level of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ (PPAR γ) expression in the adipose tissue of treated group compared to diabetic group and slightly activates PPAR γ expressions in the liver and skeletal muscle (Gandhi et al. 2014).

Another study found that function of beta cells was significantly reduced (5.8fold) in rats treated with a HFD-STZ which improved with aqueous seed extract of SC (400 mg/kg/day) and metformin. Through overexpression of PPAR γ and PPAR α activity, the aqueous extract of SC seeds exhibited significant insulin sensitizing, antidyslipidemic, antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, and beta-cell salvaging activity in HFD-STZ-induced type 2 diabetic rats, confirming its potential for use in the prevention and treatment of type 2 DM (Sharma et al. 2017).

Thus PPAR γ expression can be considered as an important biomarker indicating IR in the liver, skeletal muscle, adipose tissue, and beta cells.

Hexokinase

Hexokinase is a phosphorylating enzyme that exists in tissues in four isoenzymic forms. Type II hexokinase, which is known to be insulin-sensitive, is found predominantly in adipose tissue and mammary gland, type IV most often known as glucokinase is expressed primarily in the liver (Ali et al. 1980). It is an important enzyme required for glycolysis (Postic et al. 1994).

Expression pattern of Hex-1 in whole hepatic lysate as measured by RT PCR technique was reduced under diabetic settings compared to the control, which was reversed with ethyl acetate extract of seeds administered for 35 days of similar to previous findings that supported the hypothesis that higher levels of Hex1 activity reflect a higher rate of glucose utilization by cells (Jana et al. 2015).

Grover et al. observed that the aqueous and alcoholic extracts of the lyophilized powder of EJ partially restored the hepatic glucokinase, glucose-6-phosphate, hexokinase, phosphofructokinase levels, and the glycogen content in the liver and skeletal muscle in experimentally induced diabetic mice (Grover et al. 2000).

In yet another study by Sharma et al. glucose homeostatic enzymes such as glucose-6-phosphatase, hexokinase activities showed considerable improvement in STZ (4 mg /0.5 ml/100 mg body weight and 7 mg/0.5 ml/100 mg body weight)-induced diabetic rats after receiving flavonoid rich extract of SC seed (300 mg/kg/day, 15 days) as compared to diabetic counter parts (Sharma et al. 2008).

Biomarkers for Evaluating Molecular Mechanisms

Experiments have demonstrated that there are molecular alterations in the insulinresponsive tissues in the diabetic rats similar to those observed in human type 2 DM. Altered PI3K/AKT signaling pathway is shown to contribute to the development of IR in type 2 DM. There is a decreased expression of GLUT-4 receptors, insulin responsive substrate (IRS), or AKT pathway in insulin responsive tissues in type 2 DM (Huang et al. 2018).

Study by Rathinam et al. showed that in STZ-induced DM (40 mg/kg body weight) along with an increase in the levels of plasma glucose and decreased plasma insulin, there was a downregulation of insulin receptor substrate 2 (IRS2), AKT, and glucose transporter 2 (GLUT2) in liver and insulin receptor substrate 2 (IRS2), AKT, and glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4) protein expression in skeletal muscle (Rathinam and Pari 2016).

Long-term HFD-STZ-induced type 2 DM in Wistar albino rats showed an increase in FBG, decrease in plasma insulin, increased HOMA-IR, and decreased HOMA β along with decreased an expression of GLUT-4 receptor gene in skeletal muscle in diabetic rats. All these changes were reversed with the administration of hydroalcoholic seed extract SC 200 mg/kg body weight (Nadig et al. 2021).

An in vitro study of methanolic extract of SC extract on isolated L6 myotubes showed an increase in Glut-4, PPAR gamma, and PI3 kinase mRNA expression by semiquantitative RT-PCR. The elevated Glut-4 transcripts were comparable with insulin and rosiglitazone (Anandarajan et al. 2006).

Molecular Docking Study of *Syzygium Cumini* extract Components on Sulfonylurea Receptor (SUR1)

Computational methods are handy in understanding molecular level details such as interaction patterns of inhibitors and probable underlying mechanism of inhibition process. Molecular docking is one of such tools appreciated widely and well accepted by the scientific community both in academic and industrial research setup. The recent revolution of artificial intelligence/machine learning (AI/ML methods in several processes including biology and chemistry related approaches, structured-based molecular docking still enjoys its share in these processes and plays a vital support role to validate artificial intelligence/Machine learning (AI/ML) outcomes in drug discovery. Assan Aliyar et al. studied the molecular docking of gallic acid and ellagic acid with Sulfonylurea receptor 1 (SUR1) as they were important constituents of hydroalcoholic seed extract of *Syzygium cumini* (Assan Aliyar et al. 2021).

Analyses of gallic acid and ellagic acid-binding modes revealed that these compounds interact in a similar fashion like that of the reference compounds (repaglinide and glibenclamide). The carboxyl group of gallic acid forms hydrogen bond interaction with R1246 and is similar to repaglinide, whereas hydroxyl group of the third and fourth position forms hydrogen bond interaction with F433 main

chain carbonyl group. The phenyl ring forms hydrophobic interactions with side chains of I381, W430, F433, L434, and Y377 residues. Ellagic acid, a dimeric form of gallic acid, also forms hydrogen bond interaction with R1246 and demonstrated hydrogen bond interactions with the F433 main chain carbonyl group. Ellagic acid shows several stacking and hydrophobic interactions with hydrophobic residues (I381, W430, F433, L434, and Y377).

These molecular docking studies explained that both gallic and ellagic acid bind to the same site as that of the repaglinide site in SUR1/pancreatic ATP-sensitive K+ channel structure and make similar molecular interactions in the active site.

Thus, it appears that the insulin secretion activity observed for SC extract may be due to the binding of gallic and ellagic acids to SUR1 and thus inhibition of pancreatic ATP-sensitive K+ channel.

Table 3 summarizes the biomarkers studied on the experiments with SC.

Applications to Prognosis

In the present chapter, we have described the biomarkers in experimental diabetic models that reflect the underlying pathology in the organs involved in DM. For example, fasting blood glucose reflects pancreatic beta cell dysfunction as well as hepatic insulin resistance; PPAR γ and GLUT 4 expression in the adipose tissue/ skeletal muscle reflect the peripheral insulin resistance; TBARS and SOD in the blood represent the systemic oxidative stress; TNF alpha and CRP reflects inflammatory state of the body. Furthermore, they are detected and measured both in the blood as well as the tissue homogenates.

Similar biomarkers are detected in humans and utilized for monitoring the clinical improvement. They are mostly the blood markers though few markers are derived from biopsy specimens in the research settings. Among the several biomarkers researched clinically, FBS/PPBS OGTT and HbA1C are generally used as biomarkers for both diagnosis and evaluating the progression of DM. Sometimes plasma C peptide, and lipid profile is added to this panel. This seems to be inadequate for successful management of DM. The type and the levels of biomarkers indicate the severity of diabetes. They are also predictive of complications, e.g., Hs CRP for cardiovascular complications; measuring the TNF α for diabetic nephropathy. Detection of certain oxidative biomarkers in prediabetics may prevent development of DM too. Many research papers are published on validation of biomarkers clinically, but not being recommended. Including a panel of biomarkers in the list of investigations at regular intervals during the treatment of DM may help in predicting and preventing the complications in DM.

Mini Dictionary of Terms

Gene expression: The process by which information from a gene is used in the synthesis of a functional product such as a protein, which results as the final effect.

Part of	Network	Model, species,	Duration of	Discustor	
the plant	extract	inducing agent	with SC	studied	References
Seed	Aqueous extract	HFD-STZ, high-fat diet/streptozotocin- induced (HFD-STZ) diabetic rats, HFD (55% of calories as fat) STZ (40 mg/ kg, i.p.)	21 days	Serum glucose, insulin, IR, TNF-α, dyslipidemia, pancreatic thiobarbituric acid-reactive substance PPARγ and PPARα protein	Sharma et al. 2012
Seed	Powder	High carbohydrate high fat diet (HCHF)-induced obese rats model	56 days	Serum blood glucose, hepatic SOD, CAT activities and restored the GSH level	Ulla et al. 2017
Seed	Betulinic acid extracted from seed	STZ-nicotinamide induced, Wistar rats, 55 mg/kg STZ by IP route, 100 mg/kg nicotinamide	28 days	Fasting blood glucose, body weight, LDL, VLDL, triglycerides, HDL, total cholesterol	Birgani et al. 2018
Seed	Hydro alcoholic extract	HFD-STZ (40 mg/ kg)	21 days	Fasting blood glucose, HOMA- IR, HOMA-B, GLUT 4	Nadig et al. 2021
Seed	Aqueous extract	High fat-STZ induced, 40 mg/kg STZ by IP route	21 days	Serum glucose, insulin, HOMA- IR	Sharma et al. 2017
Seed	Ethanol extract	STZ-induced, Wistar Albino rats, 60 mg/kg STZ by IP route	28 days	Fasting blood glucose, total cholesterol, triglycerides, LDL-cholesterol HDL-cholesterol	Sharafeldin and Rizvi 2015
Seed	Ethyl acetate extract	STZ-induced, Wistar Albino rats, 40 mg/kg STZ by IP route	35 days	Serum insulin, glycated hemoglobin	Jana et al. 2015
Seed	Ethanolic extract	STZ-induced, CF Albino rats, 45 mg/ kg STZ by IP route	10 days	Fasting blood glucose, serum cholesterol, triglycerides, insulin level, glycosylated hemoelobin	Chaturvedi et al. 2009

 Table 3
 Summary of antidiabetic effects of SC: Biomarkers studied

(continued)

	·				
Part of the plant	Nature of extract	Model, species, and dose of the inducing agent	Duration of treatment with SC	Biomarkers studied	References
Seed	Flavonoid- rich extract	STZ-induced, Wistar Albino rats, 7 mg/0.5 ml of physiological saline/100 g body weight (bw) by IP route	21 days	Fasting blood glucose (FBG), peak blood glucose level insulin, LDL, triglycerides, HDL	Sharma et al. 2008
Seeds	Ethanolic Extract	Alloxan-induced rats, Wistar albino rats, 150 mg/kg	15 days	Fasting blood glucose, histopathology of islets	Singh and Gupta 2007
Seed	Ethanolic extract	Alloxan-induced, Albino rabbits, 80 mg/kg STZ by IP route	21 days	Serum total cholesterol, triglycerides, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, total cholesterol/high- density lipoprotein cholesterol	Sharma et al. 2011
Seed	Aqueous extract	Alloxan-induced diabetic rats		Serum blood glucose, GSH, SOD, CAT	Prince et al. 1998
Fruit	Triterpenoid- enriched extract	STZ-induced, C57BL/6 mice, 40 mg/kg STZ by IP route	14 days	Fasting blood glucose, Akt phosphorylation levels, GLUT 4 protein	Li et al. 2017
Fruit pulp	Aqueous extract	STZ-induced, Wistar Albino rats, 45 mg/kg STZ by IP route	14 days	Fasting blood glucose, HbA1C , body weight	Tanwar et al. 2011
Leaves	Polyphenol- rich extract (acetone extract)	Alloxan-induced, Wistar rats, 150 mg/kg alloxan by IP route	14 days	Fasting blood glucose, glycated hemoglobin levels, glucose-6- phosphatase activity, glycogen, insulin, antioxidant enzymes, hexokinase, IL6, TNFα	Ajiboye et al. 2018
Bark	Bark extract	STZ-induced, Wistar Albino rats, 50 mg/kg STZ by IP route	45 days	Fasting blood glucose, serum insulin, C peptide	Saravanan and Leelavinothan 2006

Table 3 (continued)

Genomics: Study of the genetic complement of an organism (the genome). Particular gene of interest can also be studied.

Glycosylated Hemoglobin: Hemoglobin to which glucose is bound. It increases in response to high blood sugar

Homeostatic model of assessment (HOMA): A method for assessing pancreatic islet β -cell function and insulin resistance (IR) from basal (fasting) glucose and insulin or C-peptide concentrations.

Insulin resistance: Resistance by the peripheral tissues such as muscle or adipose tissue in the insulin-mediated uptake of glucose

Oxidative stress: A disturbance in the balance between the production of reactive oxygen species (free radicals) and antioxidant defenses.

Pancreatic Beta cell dysfunction: Altered function of the beta cells of islets of pancreas that result in reduced insulin secretion.

Proteomics: Study of protein expression in the cells

Sulfonylurea receptor: Membrane proteins on the beta cells of pancreas, which are the molecular targets of the sulfonylurea class of antidiabetic drugs that release insulin from the pancreatic beta cells.

Key Facts: Biomarkers in Experimental Diabetes: Studies with *Syzygium Cumini* (L.) and Links with the Sulfonylurea 1 Receptor

- Pancreatic beta cell dysfunction, insulin resistance, and inflammation are the key features of DM.
- Newer treatments for DM are evaluated on experimental diabetic models that closely mimic the human diabetes using mostly the rats and mice.
- Among all the genetic and induced models of experimental diabetes, a combination of high fat diet-low dose Streptozotocin is the most preferred model for type 2DM.
- Fasting blood glucose, glycosylated hemoglobin, oral glucose tolerance test, and plasma lipids are most commonly used and validated biomarkers in diabetic animals used in evaluating the response to treatment.
- In addition, in type 1 DM models, auto antibodies, CD4 and CD8 lymphocyte count, are used to evaluate the autoimmune destruction of beta cells of islets of pancreas.
- The newer biomarkers are HOMA-IR, HOMA- β, PPARγ, plasma insulin, oxidative stress markers, and inflammatory markers.
- Syzygium cumini is an antidiabetic medicinal plant that improves insulin secretion (HOMA- β) by the pancreatic beta cells combining with the sulfonylurea receptor.
- It also reduces the insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) in the adipose tissue, skeletal muscle, and the liver through increased expression of PPAR γ , AKT pathways, and GLUT-4 receptors.
- The plant shows promising antidiabetic effects that have a potential for human use.

Summary

- Animal models for experimental diabetes are used to study the pathogenesis and evaluate the efficacy of new treatments.
- Among the various models available for type 1.DM, the most commonly used ones are the genetic models such as inbred Bio Breeding (BB) rat and nonobese diabetic (NOD) mouse and STZ/alloxan-induced DM. These models have demonstrated significant beta cell dysfunction.
- Commonly used models for Type 2DM are high fat diet-Low dose streptozotocininduced models that have demonstrated decreased pancreatic beta cell function, insulin resistance, oxidative stress, and inflammation.
- The key biomarkers that are studied for pancreatic beta cell dysfunction include fasting blood glucose, plasma insulin levels, HOMA- β , GLUT-2 expression in the pancreatic islets and histopathology of islets of pancreas.
- Fasting blood glucose, HOMA-IR, plasma lipids, PPAR γ expression in the liver, skeletal muscle and adipose tissue, GLUT 4 expression in the skeletal muscle and adipose tissue, hepatic glycogen, hepatic hexokinase, glucose 6 phosphatase, and phosphofructokinase are some of the biomarkers utilized to indicate insulin resistance.
- Oxidative stress markers such as MDA, TBARS, SOD, catalase, etc., and inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α are the newer biomarkers whose levels correlate with both beta cell failure and insulin resistance.
- AGE and AOPP are biomarkers used in experimental models of diabetic complications.
- *Syzygium cumini* also called *Eugenia jambolana* is an antidiabetic medicinal plant that has shown efficacy in both type 1 and type 2 experimental diabetes mellitus.
- Among all the parts studied with different solvent extracts, the hydroalcoholic extract of seeds of SC appears to be the most effective.
- The extracts have shown significant effects on almost all the biomarkers reviewed. The characteristic beneficial effect has been that of restoring the beta cell function observed as beta cell regeneration in the histopathological studies of pancreas.

References

Ajiboye BO, Ojo OA, Akuboh OS, Abiola OM, Idowu O, Amuzat AO. Anti-hyperglycemic and anti-inflammatory activities of polyphenolic-rich extract of *Syzygium cumini* Linn leaves in alloxan-induced diabetic rats. J Evid Based Integr Med. 2018;23:2515690X18770630.

Ali F, Murthy ASN, Baquer NZ. Hexokinase isoenzymes in diabetes. J Biosci. 1980;2(3):203–10. Anandharajan R, Jaiganesh S, Shankernarayanan NP, Viswakarma RA, Balakrishnan A. In vitro glucose uptake activity of *Aegles marmelos* and *Syzygium cumini* by activation of Glut-4, PI3

kinase and PPARgamma in L6 myotubes. Phytomedicine. 2006;13(6):434–41.

Assan Aliyar M, Nadig P, Bharatham N. In vitro anti-diabetic activity, bioactive constituents, and molecular modeling studies with sulfonylurea receptor1 for insulin secretagogue activity of seed extract of *Syzygium cumini* (L.). J Herbmed Pharmacol. 2021;10(3):304–12.

- Atale N, Mishra CB, Kohli S, Mongre RK, Prakash A, Kumari S, et al. Anti-inflammatory effects of S. cumini seed extract on gelatinase-B (MMP-9) regulation against hyperglycemic cardiomyocyte stress. Oxid Med Cell Longev. 2021;2021:8839479.
- Birgani GA, Ahangarpour A, Khorsandi L, Moghaddam HF. Anti-diabetic effect of betulinic acid on streptozotocin-nicotinamide induced diabetic male mouse model. Braz J Pharm Sci. 2018; 54(2).
- Chagas VT, França LM, Malik S, Paes AM d A. *Syzygium cumini* (L.) skeels: a prominent source of bioactive molecules against cardiometabolic diseases. Front Pharmacol. 2015;6:259.
- Chao P-C, Li Y, Chang C-H, Shieh JP, Cheng J-T, Cheng K-C. Investigation of insulin resistance in the popularly used four rat models of type-2 diabetes. Biomed Pharmacother. 2018;101:155–61.
- Chaturvedi A, Bhawani G, Agarwal PK, Goel S, Singh A, Goel RK. Antidiabetic and antiulcer effects of extract of *Eugenia jambolana* seed in mild diabetic rats: study on gastric mucosal offensive acid-pepsin secretion. Indian J Physiol Pharmacol. 2009;53(2):137–46.
- Chatzigeorgiou A, Halapas A, Kalafatakis K, Kamper E. The use of animal models in the study of diabetes mellitus. In Vivo. 2009;23(2):245–58.
- Cohen G, Heikkila RE. The generation of hydrogen peroxide, superoxide radical, and hydroxyl radical by 6-hydroxydopamine, dialuric acid, and related cytotoxic agents. J Biol Chem. 1974;249(8):2447–52.
- DeFronzo RA. Insulin resistance, lipotoxicity, type 2 diabetes and atherosclerosis: the missing links. The Claude Bernard Lecture 2009. Diabetologia. 2010;53(7):1270–87.
- DeFronzo RA, Ferrannini E, Groop L, Henry RR, Herman WH, Holst JJ, et al. Type 2 diabetes mellitus. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2015;1:15019.
- Dorcely B, Katz K, Jagannathan R, Chiang SS, Oluwadare B, Goldberg IJ, et al. Novel biomarkers for prediabetes, diabetes, and associated complications. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes. 2017;10: 345–61.
- Fiorentino TV, Prioletta A, Zuo P, Folli F. Hyperglycemia-induced oxidative stress and its role in diabetes mellitus related cardiovascular diseases. Curr Pharm Des. 2013;19(32):5695–703.
- Fox TE, Bewley MC, Unrath KA, Pedersen MM, Anderson RE, Jung DY, et al. Circulating sphingolipid biomarkers in models of type 1 diabetes. J Lipid Res. 2011;52(3):509–17.
- França LM, Coêlho CFF, Freitas LNC, Souza ILS, Chagas VT, Debbas V, et al. Syzygium cumini leaf extract reverts hypertriglyceridemia via downregulation of the hepatic XBP-1s/PDI/MTP axis in monosodium L-glutamate-induced obese rats. Oxidative Med Cell Longev. 2019;2019: 9417498.
- Galicia-Garcia U, Benito-Vicente A, Jebari S, Larrea-Sebal A, Siddiqi H, Uribe KB, et al. Pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21(17):6275.
- Gandhi GR, Jothi G, Antony PJ, Balakrishna K, Paulraj MG, Ignacimuthu S, et al. Gallic acid attenuates high-fat diet fed-streptozotocin-induced insulin resistance via partial agonism of PPARγ in experimental type 2 diabetic rats and enhances glucose uptake through translocation and activation of GLUT4 in PI3K/p-Akt signaling pathway. Eur J Pharmacol. 2014;745:201–16.
- Grover JK, Vats V, Rathi SS. Anti-hyperglycemic effect of *Eugenia jambolana* and *Tinospora cordifolia* in experimental diabetes and their effects on key metabolic enzymes involved in carbohydrate metabolism. J Ethnopharmacol. 2000;73(3):461–70.
- Helmstädter A. *Syzygium cumini* (L.) SKEELS (Myrtaceae) against diabetes–125 years of research. Pharmazie. 2008;63(2):91–101.
- Huang X, Liu G, Guo J, Su Z. The PI3K/AKT pathway in obesity and type 2 diabetes. Int J Biol Sci. 2018;14(11):1483–96.
- Ighodaro OM, Adeosun AM, Akinloye OA. Alloxan-induced diabetes, a common model for evaluating the glycemic-control potential of therapeutic compounds and plants extracts in experimental studies. Medicina (Kaunas). 2017;53(6):365–74.
- Ikegami H, Fujisawa T, Ogihara T. Mouse models of type 1 and type 2 diabetes derived from the same closed colony: genetic susceptibility shared between two types of diabetes. ILAR J. 2004;45(3):268–77.

- Jafri AA, Sharma SB, Khurana N, Mehndiratta M, Singh UR, Luthra K. Herbal anti-hyperglycemic compound increases expression of glucose transporter molecules in diabetic rats. J Diabetes Metab. 2019;10(4).
- Jana K, Bera TK, Ghosh D. Antidiabetic effects of *Eugenia jambolana* in the streptozotocininduced diabetic male albino rat. Biomark Genomic Med. 2015;7(3):116–24.
- Jiang S, Young JL, Wang K, Qian Y, Cai L. Diabetic-induced alterations in hepatic glucose and lipid metabolism: the role of type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus (Review). Mol Med Report. 2020;22 (2):603–11.
- Kandasamy AD, Sung MM, Boisvenue JJ, Barr AJ, Dyck JRB. Adiponectin gene therapy ameliorates high-fat, high-sucrose diet-induced metabolic perturbations in mice. Nutr Diabetes. 2012;2:e45.
- King AJF. The use of animal models in diabetes research. Br J Pharmacol. 2012;166(3):877-94.
- Koksal B. Effect of Streptozotocin on plasma insulin levels of rats and mice: a meta-analysis study. Open Access Maced J Med Sci. 2015;3(3):380–3.
- Kosaraju J, Dubala A, Chinni S, Khatwal RB, Satish Kumar MN, Basavan D. A molecular connection of *Pterocarpus marsupium*, *Eugenia jambolana* and *Gymnema sylvestre* with dipeptidyl peptidase-4 in the treatment of diabetes. Pharm Biol. 2014;52(2):268–71.
- Kottaisamy CPD, Raj DS, Prasanth Kumar V, Sankaran U. Experimental animal models for diabetes and its related complications-a review. Lab Anim Res. 2021;37(1):23.
- Kretschmer GJ, Sutherland DE, Matas AJ, Steffes MW, Najarian JS. The dispersed pancreas: transplantation without islet purification in totally pancreatectomized dogs. Diabetologia. 1977;13(5):495–502.
- LeDoux SP, Woodley SE, Patton NJ, Wilson GL. Mechanisms of nitrosourea-induced beta-cell damage. Alterations in DNA. Diabetes. 1986;35(8):866–72.
- Lenzen S. The mechanisms of alloxan- and streptozotocin-induced diabetes. Diabetologia. 2008;51 (2):216–26.
- Lenzen S, Tiedge M, Elsner M, Lortz S, Weiss H, Jörns A, et al. The LEW.1AR1/Ztm-iddm rat: a new model of spontaneous insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Diabetologia. 2001;44(9): 1189–96.
- Li Y, Xu J, Yuan C, Ma H, Liu T, Liu F, et al. Chemical composition and anti-hyperglycaemic effects of triterpenoid enriched *Eugenia jambolana* Lam. berry extract. J Funct Foods. 2017;28: 1–10.
- Magalhães DAD, Kume WT, Correia FS, Queiroz TS, Allebrandt Neto EW, Santos MPD, et al. High-fat diet and streptozotocin in the induction of type 2 diabetes mellitus: a new proposal. An Acad Bras Cienc. 2019;91(1):e20180314.
- Mordes JP, Bortell R, Blankenhorn EP, Rossini AA, Greiner DL. Rat models of type 1 diabetes: genetics, environment, and autoimmunity. ILAR J. 2004;45(3):278–91.
- Munshi RP, Joshi SG, Rane BN. Development of an experimental diet model in rats to study hyperlipidemia and insulin resistance, markers for coronary heart disease. Indian J Pharmacol. 2014;46(3):270–6.
- Nadig P, Assanaliyar M, Salis KM. Establishment of long-term high-fat diet and low dose streptozotocin-induced experimental type-2 diabetes mellitus model of insulin resistance and evaluation of seed extracts of *Syzygium cumini*. J Herbmed Pharmacol. 2021;10(3): 331–8.
- Paschou SA, Papadopoulou-Marketou N, Chrousos GP, Kanaka-Gantenbein C. On type 1 diabetes mellitus pathogenesis. Endocr Connect. 2018;7(1):R38–46.
- Phillips B, Trucco M, Giannoukakis N. Current state of type 1 diabetes immunotherapy: incremental advances, huge leaps, or more of the same? Clin Dev Immunol. 2011;2011:432016.
- Postic C, Leturque A, Printz RL, Maulard P, Loizeau M, Granner DK, et al. Development and regulation of glucose transporter and hexokinase expression in rat. Am J Phys. 1994;266(4 Pt 1): E548–59.
- Prince PS, Menon VP, Pari L. Hypoglycaemic activity of *Syzigium cumini* seeds: effect on lipid peroxidation in alloxan diabetic rats. J Ethnopharmacol. 1998;61(1):1–7.

- Radenković M, Stojanović M, Prostran M. Experimental diabetes induced by alloxan and streptozotocin: the current state of the art. J Pharmacol Toxicol Methods. 2016;78:13–31.
- Rathinam A, Pari L. Myrtenal ameliorates hyperglycemia by enhancing GLUT2 through Akt in the skeletal muscle and liver of diabetic rats. Chem Biol Interact. 2016;256:161–6.
- Ravi K, Ramachandran B, Subramanian S. Protective effect of *Eugenia jambolana* seed kernel on tissue antioxidants in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Biol Pharm Bull. 2004;27(8):1212–7.
- Ravi K, Rajasekaran S, Subramanian S. Antihyperlipidemic effect of Eugenia jambolana seed kernel on streptozotocin-induced diabetes in rats. Food Chem Toxicol. 2005;43(9):1433–9.
- Reddy KS, Sudheer A, Pradeepkumar B, Reddy CS. Effect of a polyherbal formulation in streptozotocin-induced diabetic nephropathy in wistar rats. Indian J Pharmacol. 2019;51(5): 330–6.
- Rees DA, Alcolado JC. Animal models of diabetes mellitus. Diabet Med. 2005;22(4):359-70.
- Sankhari JM, Jadeja RN, Thounaojam MC, Devkar RV, Ramachandran AV. Eugenia jambolana seed extract supplementation attenuates cardiac and hepatic oxidative stress and pathophysiological changes in hypercholesterolemic rats. Orient Pharm Exp Med. 2012;12(2):99–106.
- Saravanan G, Leelavinothan P. Effects of Syzygium cumini bark on blood glucose, plasma insulin and C-peptide in streptozotocin induced diabetic rats. Int J Endocrinol Metab. 2006;2006:96– 105.
- Schossler DRC, Mazzanti CM, da Luz SCA, Filappi A, Prestes D, da Silveira AF, et al. Syzygium cumini and the regeneration of insulin positive cells from the pancreatic duct. Braz J Vet Res Anim Sci. 2004;41(4):236.
- Semple RK, Chatterjee VKK, O'Rahilly S. PPAR gamma and human metabolic disease. J Clin Invest. 2006;116(3):581–9.
- Sharafeldin K, Rizvi MR. Effect of traditional plant medicines (*Cinnamomum zeylanicum* and *Syzygium cumini*) on oxidative stress and insulin resistance in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. J Basic Appl Zool. 2015;72:126–34.
- Sharma B, Balomajumder C, Roy P. Hypoglycemic and hypolipidemic effects of flavonoid rich extract from *Eugenia jambolana* seeds on streptozotocin induced diabetic rats. Food Chem Toxicol. 2008;46(7):2376–83.
- Sharma SB, Rajpoot R, Nasir A, Prabhu KM, Murthy PS. Ameliorative effect of active principle isolated from seeds of *Eugenia jambolana* on carbohydrate metabolism in experimental diabetes. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med. 2011;2011:789871.
- Sharma AK, Bharti S, Kumar R, Krishnamurthy B, Bhatia J, Kumari S, et al. *Syzygium cumini* ameliorates insulin resistance and β-cell dysfunction via modulation of PPAR, dyslipidemia, oxidative stress, and TNF-α in type 2 diabetic rats. J Pharmacol Sci. 2012;119(3):205–13.
- Sharma S, Pathak S, Gupta G, Sharma SK, Singh L, Sharma RK, et al. Pharmacological evaluation of aqueous extract of *Syzigium cumini* for its antihyperglycemic and antidyslipidemic properties in diabetic rats fed a high cholesterol diet-role of PPARγ and PPARα. Biomed Pharmacother. 2017;89:447–53.
- Siddiqui M, Sharma B, Ram G. Anti-hyperglycemic and anti-hyperlipemia effects of Syzygium cumini seed in alloxan induced diabetes mellitus in Swiss albino mice (Mus musculus). Med Aromat Plants (Los Angel). 2014;03(04).
- Singh N, Gupta M. Effects of ethanolic extract of Syzygium cumini (Linn) seed powder on pancreatic islets of alloxan diabetic rats. Indian J Exp Biol. 2007;45(10):861–7.
- Srinivasan K, Viswanad B, Asrat L, Kaul CL, Ramarao P. Combination of high-fat diet-fed and low-dose streptozotocin-treated rat: a model for type 2 diabetes and pharmacological screening. Pharmacol Res. 2005;52(4):313–20.
- Suman RK, Ray Mohanty I, Borde MK, Maheshwari U, Deshmukh YA. Development of an experimental model of diabetes co-existing with metabolic syndrome in rats. Adv Pharmacol Sci. 2016;2016:9463476.
- Tanwar RS, Sharma SB, Singh UR, Prabhu KM. Antiatherosclerotic potential of active principle isolated from *Eugenia jambolana* in Streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med. 2011;2011:127641.

- Thiyagarajan G, Muthukumaran P, Sarath Kumar B, Muthusamy VS, Lakshmi BS. Selective inhibition of PTP1B by Vitalboside A from *Syzygium cumini* enhances insulin sensitivity and attenuates lipid accumulation via partial agonism to PPARγ: in vitro and in silico investigation. Chem Biol Drug Des. 2016;88(2):302–12.
- Ulla A, Alam MA, Sikder B, Sumi FA, Rahman MM, Habib ZF, et al. Supplementation of *Syzygium cumini* seed powder prevented obesity, glucose intolerance, hyperlipidemia and oxidative stress in high carbohydrate high fat diet induced obese rats. BMC Complement Altern Med. 2017;17 (1):289.
- Understanding A1C A1C does it all. https://www.diabetes.org/a1c. Accessed 29 Nov 2021.
- Unger RH, Clark GO, Scherer PE, Orci L. Lipid homeostasis, lipotoxicity and the metabolic syndrome. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2010;1801(3):209–14.
- Vora A, Varghese A, Kachwala Y, Bhaskar M, Laddha A, Jamal A, et al. *Eugenia jambolana* extract reduces the systemic exposure of Sitagliptin and improves conditions associated with diabetes: a pharmacokinetic and a pharmacodynamic herb-drug interaction study. J Tradit Complement Med. 2019;9:364.
- Wallace TM, Levy JC, Matthews DR. Use and abuse of HOMA modeling. Diabetes Care. 2004;27 (6):1487–95.
- Weyer C, Bogardus C, Mott DM, Pratley RE. The natural history of insulin secretory dysfunction and insulin resistance in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Clin Invest. 1999;104(6): 787–94.
- Wilcox G. Insulin and insulin resistance. Clin Biochem Rev. 2005;26(2):19-39.
- Wu KK, Huan Y. Streptozotocin-induced diabetic models in mice and rats. Curr Protoc Pharmacol. 2008;Chapter 5:Unit 5.47.
- Yokoi N, Namae M, Fuse M, Wang H-Y, Hirata T, Seino S, et al. Establishment and characterization of the Komeda diabetes-prone rat as a segregating inbred strain. Exp Anim. 2003;52(4):295– 301.

Part VIII

Resources



Recommended Resources for Biomarkers **55** in Diabetes: Methods, Discoveries, and Applications

Rajkumar Rajendram, Daniel Gyamfi, Vinood B. Patel, and Victor R. Preedy

Contents

Introduction	1142
Resources	1143
Other Resources	1143
Summary Points	1148
References	1153

Abstract

Diabetes mellitus is a treatable disease characterized by persistent hyperglycemia. Its prevalence is spiraling out of control, resulting in significant morbidity and mortality worldwide. The early diagnosis of diabetes can reduce the risk of complications. The use of biomarkers may facilitate this. Indeed, several biomarkers are currently used in routine clinical practice. Yet, these have limitations, and novel biomarkers have been developed using "omic" technologies and other analytical platforms. Thus, the knowledge and awareness of this

R. Rajendram (🖂)

D. Gyamfi The Doctors Laboratory Ltd, London, UK

V. B. Patel School of Life Sciences, University of Westminster, London, UK

V. R. Preedy Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, School of Life Course and Population Sciences, Faculty of Life Sciences and Medicine, King's College London, London, UK

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

1141

College of Medicine, King Saud bin Abdulaziz University for Health Sciences, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

Department of Medicine, King Abdulaziz Medical City, King Abdullah International Medical Research Center, Riyadh, Ministry of National Guard Health Affairs, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia e-mail: rajkumarrajendram@doctors.org.uk

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 58

subject has developed in recent years. It is challenging even for well-established researchers to keep abreast of research related to biomarkers of diabetes or to employ those resources used or recommended by other experts or practitioners in the field. To assist, we have compiled a list of resources as recommended by active practitioners and researchers. These tables include information on regulatory bodies, societies, other organizations, books, journals and other resource materials of practical use.

Keywords

Books \cdot Evidence \cdot Journals \cdot Development \cdot Professional societies \cdot Regulatory bodies

Introduction

Diabetes mellitus is a treatable disease characterized by persistent hyperglycemia. This complex metabolic disorder still causes significant morbidity and mortality worldwide. Its prevalence is spiraling out of control. The global prevalence of diabetes mellitus is currently estimated to be over 500 million. However, by 2045, it is predicted that this could exceed 780 million (International Diabetes Federation 2017, 2022).

Biomarkers can be defined as "characteristics that are objectively measured and evaluated as indicators of normal biological processes, pathogenic processes, or pharmacologic responses to a therapeutic intervention or other health care intervention" (Atkinson et al. 2001). Biomarkers have significant value in the study and treatment of diabetes mellitus.

Diagnosing diabetes at an early stage can reduce individuals' risk of developing complications (Dorcely et al. 2017). This may be facilitated by the use of biomarkers. Indeed, several biomarkers are currently used in routine clinical practice by physicians specializing in the management of patients with diabetes mellitus (Dorcely et al. 2017; Ahluwalia et al. 2019). These include glycated albumin and fructosamine (Dorcely et al. 2017). However, the most commonly used biomarkers of diabetes mellitus are blood glucose and glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) (Dorcely et al. 2017). Regardless, all of these biomarkers have limitations (Dorcely et al. 2017; Ahluwalia et al. 2019). Their sensitivity and specificity are reported to be suboptimal (Dorcely et al. 2017).

Therefore, additional biomarkers have been sought. Omic technologies (e.g., genomics, and proteomics) and other analytical platforms have been used to identify several potential biomarkers of diabetes mellitus (Ahluwalia et al. 2019). Yet each individual biomarker has limitations. Thus, combining biomarkers may better identify those at risk of developing diabetes and its complications (Dorcely et al. 2017). In future, "personalisation" of disease

management may involve the use of emerging high-throughput biomarker technologies.

Even experienced scientists, researchers, and clinicians struggle to stay upto-date all to use the most suitable resources. To address this, we have compiled tables containing resources as used and recommended by active researchers and practitioners who specialize in either diabetes and/or biomarker discovery. These resources are designed to assist colleagues who are interested in the use of biomarkers and their application to diabetes in both the preclinical and clinical settings. Essentially, the tables included herein draw upon the experiences and acumen acquired over many years: in some cases, decades. The list below acknowledges all the experts who helped to prepare these valuable resources.

Resources

Tables 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 list the most up-to-date information on the regulatory bodies (Table 1), professional societies (Table 2), journals (Table 3), books (Table 4), emerging technologies, and platforms (Table 5), and other resources of interest (Table 6) that are relevant to an evidence-based approach to biomarkers, diabetes, or the combination of both these scientific domains. Some organizations are listed in more than one table as they occasionally fulfill multiple roles.

Other Resources

Both the Wellcome Collection (https://wellcomecollection.org/collections) and The British Library (https://www.bl.uk/) also list material on topics related to analytical sciences and medicine, including diabetes. The National Library of Medicine (https://www.nlm.nih.gov/) is also a useful resource.

Other chapters on resources (recommended by authors and practitioners) may also be relevant to biomarkers of diabetes. These include diabetes and oxidative stress (Rajendram et al. 2020), maternal diabetes (Rajendram et al. 2017a, b), general aspects of biomarkers (Rajendram et al. 2016a), biomarkers of cardiovascular disease (Rajendram et al. 2016b), biomarkers of renal disease (Rajendram et al. 2017b), aging (Rajendram et al. 2021), diet and nutrition in critical care (Alzaid et al. 2015), and the metabolism and physiology of bariatric surgery (Rajendram et al. 2016c).

This list of material in these tables is included to provide general information only. It does not constitute any recommendation or endorsement of the activities of these sites, facilities, or other resources listed in this chapter, by the authors or editors of this book.

Regulatory body, organisation or group	Web address
American Academy of Ophthalmology	https://www.aao.org/
Biomarkers and Diagnostic Testing community – Johns Hopkins Institute for Clinical and Translational Research	https://ictr. johnshopkins.edu
Biomarkers Consortium – Foundation for the National Institute of Health	https://www.fnih.org
Biospecimen Exchange for Neurological Disorders (BioSEND)	https://biosend.org
Diabetes Atlas – International Diabetes Federation	https://www. diabetesatlas.org
Food and Drug Administration	https://www.fda.gov
International Diabetes Federation (IDF)	https://idf.org/
International Federation of Clinical Chemistry – IFCC	https://www.ifcc.org/
Internationally Peer Reviewed Chemical Safety Information (INCHEM) – World Health Organization	https://inchem.org/
Juvenile Diabetes Research Foundation (JDRF)	https://www.jdrf.org/
National Eye Institute (NEI) – NIH	https://www.nei.nih. gov/
National Glycohemoglobin Standardization Program	http://www.ngsp.org/
National Health Service (UK)	https://www.nhs.uk/
National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases	https://www.niddk.nih. gov
National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke - NIH	https://www.ninds.nih. gov/
National Institute of Standards and Technology	https://www.nist.gov/
National Medical Products Administration, China	http://english.nmpa. gov.cn/
The Meta-Analyses of Glucose and Insulin-related traits Consortium (MAGIC)	https:// magicinvestigators. org/
United States Food & Drug Administration	https://www.fda.gov/
World Health Organization (WHO)	https://www.who.int/

Table 1 Regulatory bodies, groups, and organizations dealing with biomarkers or diabetes

This table lists the regulatory bodies, groups, and organizations involved with biomarkers or diabetes. The links were accurate at the time of going to press but may move or alter. In these cases, the use of the "Search" tabs should be explored at the parent address or site. In some cases, links direct the reader to pages related to biomarkers or diabetes within parent sites. Some societies and organizations have a preference for shortened terms, such as acronyms and abbreviations. See also Table 2

Society name	Web address
Alzheimer's Association	https://www.alz.org/
American Association for Clinical Chemistry (AACC)	https://www.aacc.org/
American Diabetes Association	https://www.diabetes.org/
American Society for Nutrition	https://nutrition.org/
American Society of Human Genetics (ASHG)	https://www.ashg.org/
Biomarkers Study Group of the Association for Acute CardioVascular Care – ESC	https://www.escardio.org/Sub-specialty- communities/Association-for-Acute- CardioVascular-Care-(ACVC)/About/ Biomarkers-Study-group
European Association for the Study of Diabetes	https://www.easd.org/
European Society of Cardiology (ESC)	https://www.escardio.org/
European Society of Radiology	https://www.myesr.org/
International Society of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy – Rapid Diagnostics & Biomarkers	https://www.isac.world
International Society of Oncology and Biomarkers	https://www.isobm.org
National Multiple Sclerosis Society	https://www.nationalmssociety.org/
Türk Diabet Cemiyeti	https://diyabetcemiyeti.org/
Understanding Society	https://www.understandingsociety.ac.uk/

 Table 2
 Professional societies relevant to biomarkers or diabetes

This table lists the professional societies involved with biomarkers or diabetes. The links were accurate at the time of going to press but may move or alter. In these cases, the use of the "Search" tabs should be explored at the parent address or site. In some cases, links direct the reader to pages related to biomarkers or diabetes within parent sites. Some societies and organizations have a preference for shortened terms, such as acronyms and abbreviations. See also Table 1

Acta Diabetologica
Atherosclerosis
Biomedicine and Pharmacotherapy
BMC Cardiovascular Disorders
BMC Endocrine Disorders
Cardiovascular Diabetology
Cells
Diabetes
Diabetes and Metabolic Syndrome: Clinical Research and Reviews
Diabetes and Vascular Disease Research
Diabetes Care
Diabetes Metabolism Research and Reviews
Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice
Diabetologia
Frontiers in Endocrinology
Frontiers in Immunology
International Journal of Molecular Sciences
Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism
Journal of Clinical Medicine
Journal of Diabetes
Journal of Diabetes and Its Complications
Journal of Diabetes Investigation
Journal of Diabetes Research
Journal of Diabetes Science and Technology
Journal of the American Heart Association
Nutrients
Nutrition Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases
Plos One
Primary Care Diabetes
Scientific Reports

Table 3 Relevant journals publishing original research and review articles related to biomarkers of diabetes

Journals publishing original research and review articles related to biomarkers of diabetes. Included in this list are the top 30 journals which have published the most number of articles on the biomarkers of diabetes over the past 5 years. Data derived from Scopus

Book title	Authors or editors	Publisher	Year of publication
Analysis of Biomarker Data: A Practical Guide	Looney SW, Hagan JL	John Wiley & Sons	2015
Biomarkers and Biosensors	Sadana A, Sadana N	Elsevier Science	2014
Biomarkers in Health and Disease: Further Knowledge	Rajendram R, Rajendram R, Patel VB, Preedy VR	Springer	2015
Biomarkers of Disease: An Evidence-Based Approach – first Edition	Trull AK	Cambridge University Press	2008
Biomarkers of Environmentally Associated Disease: Technologies, Concepts, and Perspectives	Suk WA	CRC Press	2002
Biomarkers of Neurological and Psychiatric Disease, Volume 101	Bahn S, Guest P	Academic Press	2011
Biomarkers: In Medicine, Drug Discovery, and Environmental Health	Vaidya VS, Bonventre JV	John Wiley & Sons	2010
Clinical Management of Shock – The Science and Art of Physiological Restoration	Stawicki SP, Swaroop M	IntechOpen	2020
Definition and Diagnosis of Diabetes Mellitus and Intermediate Hyperglycemia: Report of a WHO/IDF Consultation	World Health Organization	Geneva: World Health Organization	2006
Diabetes Mellitus: Impact on Bone, Dental and Musculoskeletal Health – first Edition	Tan M	Elsevier	2020
Endocrine Biomarkers	Sadrzadeh H, Kline G	Elsevier	2017
Epigenetic Biomarkers and Diagnostics first Edition	García-Giménez JL	Academic Press	2015
Epigenetic Biomarkers and Diagnostics	Garcia-Gimenez JL	Academic Press	2015
Genomic Biomarkers for Pharmaceutical Development: Advancing Personalized Health Care	Yao Y, Jallal B, Ranade K	Academic Press	2013
Inflammatory Pathways in Diabetes: Biomarkers and Clinical Correlates	Pugia M	Springer	2015
International Diabetes Federation Diabetes Atlas – ninth Edition	International Diabetes Federation	Brussels, Belgium: International Diabetes Federation	2019

	D 1		1. 1 .
l able 4	Books o	n biomarkers	or diabetes

(continued)

Book title	Authors or editors	Publisher	Year of publication
Novel Biomarkers to Understand Cardiovascular Complications in Diabetes	Adela R, Banerjee SK	IntechOpen	2016
Nutrition and Diet in Maternal Diabetes	Rajendram R, Preedy VR, Patel VB	Springer	2018
Proteomic and Metabolomic Approaches to Biomarker Discovery	Issaq H	Academic Press	2013
Proteomics: Methods and Protocols	Reinders J, Sickmann A	Springer	2009
The Detection of Biomarkers – first Edition	Ozkan S, Bakirhan N, Mollaraosouli F	Academic Press	2021
The Diabetes Textbook	Rodriguez-Saldana J	Springer	2019
The Handbook of Biomarkers	Jain KK	Humana Press	2017
Type 1 Diabetes: Pathogenesis, Genetics and Immunotherapy	Wagner D	InTech Open	2011

Table 4 (continued)

This table lists books relevant to biomarkers or diabetes

Summary Points

- Biomarkers of diabetes mellitus have significant clinical value in modern medicine.
- Biomarkers can be used in the screening for diabetes mellitus.
- Biomarkers can be used to direct therapy after the diagnosis of diabetes.
- Biomarkers can be used to monitor the response to treatment and guide the choice of further treatments for diabetes.
- This chapter lists the most up-to-date resources relevant to the use of biomarkers of diabetes.

Table 5 Techniques and platforms related to biomarkers or d	abetes
Organization or company name	Web address
Active Motif	https://www.activemotif.com/
Bevital AS	https://bevital.no/
Biomarker and Genomic Sciences Group	https://www.nist.gov/mml/bbd/bioassay-methods
Biomarker Solutions – Labcorp	https://drugdevelopment.labcorp.com/services/clinical-testing/precision-medicine-solutions/ biomarker-solutions.html?utm_source=google&utm_medium=cpc&utm_campaign=G Nbr_Covance+Central+Labs+%5BBEP%5D%3BS%3BCF%3BBR%3BCTH%3BCO% 3BBR&utm_content=Biomarkers_B&utm_term=%2Bbiomarkers& gclid=CjwKCAjwkvWKBhB4EiwA- GHjFiHVo8gRqGjzLuibGFEUxhCf9vApcQ5r0hnYaRf44nQoWRIUnBbaBRoCtDsQAvD_ BwE&gclsrc=aw.ds
Biomarker Testing Services	https://www.bioagilytix.com/services/assay-focus/biomarkers/
Biomarkers and Qualification – Food and Drug Administration	https://www.fda.gov/drugs/biomarker-qualification-program/about-biomarkers-and-qualification
Biomarkers: New Tools of Modern Medicine - Elsevier	https://www.elsevier.com/about/press-releases/archive/research-and-journals/biomarkers- new-tools-of-modern-medicine
Biosystems Acro	https://www.acrobiosystems.com/?gclid=CjwKCAjwkvWKBhB4EiwA- GHjFpkTPDe8N7wpZYSd0SNOHQhXL1Vf_kNfGGP673_Fajrz LFC7qAcRoCtHMQAvD_BwE
Bruker	https://www.bruker.com/en/products-and-solutions/mass-spectrometry/maldi-tof.html
Cambridge Epigenetix	https://cambridge-epigenetix.com/
COnsortium of METabolomics Studies (COMETS)	https://epi.grants.cancer.gov/comets/#:~:text=The%20COnsortium%20of% 20METabolomics%20Studies,perform%20metabolomic%20profiling%20of%20individuals
Creative BIOMART Biomarkers	https://biomarker.creativebiomart.net
Electrochemiluminescent Assay – Meso Scale Discovery Platform	https://www.mesoscale.com/en/technical_resources/our_technology/ecl
Epigenetics – Promega	https://www.promega.co.uk/resources/guides/nucleic-acid-analysis/introduction-to- epigenetics/

diahetes ÷ -14 lated to 4 nlatfo ÷ Ē

(continued)

Organization or company name	Web address
Eurofins Biotherapeutics Discovery Services	https://www.eurofinsdiscoveryservices.com/services/biotherapeutics-discovery-services/
Hybrid LBA/LC-MS – Bioanalysis Zone	https://www.bioanalysis-zone.com/spotlights/hybrid-lba-lc-ms/
Illumina	https://www.illumina.com
Koneksa Digital Biomarker Platform	https://www.koneksahealth.com/platform/
Medical device Network	https://www.medicaldevice-network.com/features/biomarker-technology/
Metabolon	https://www.metabolon.com/
Op-T LLC	http://op-t.com/
Perkin Elmer	https://www.perkinelmer.com
Proximity Extension Assay - OLINK Proteomics	https://www.olink.com/data-you-can-trust/technology/
Sciex	https://sciex.com/applications/life-science-research
Thermo Fisher	https://www.thermofisher.com
This table lists technologies or platforms relevant to biomarkers	or diabetes. Please note, occasionally the location of the websites or web address changes

Table 5 (continued)

Name of resource or organization	Web address
American Academy of Ophthalmology: Material on Retinopathy	https://www.aao.org/preferred-practice- pattern/diabetic-retinopathy-ppp
BEST (Biomarkers, EndpointS, and other Tools) Resource	https://www.fdanews.com/ext/resources/files/ 2020/11-24-20-BEST.pdf?1606261388
BioAgilytix	https://www.bioagilytix.com/
Biologic Medicine Information Center (BMICC): Urinary Protein Biomarker Database	http://upbd.bmicc.cn/biomarker/web/indexdb
Biomarker-Menu – BioAgilytix	https://www.bioagilytix.com/biomarker- menu/
Biomarkers – National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke	https://www.ninds.nih.gov/Current-Research/ Focus-Tools-Topics/Biomarkers
Biomarkers Consortium Resources	https://fnih.org/what-we-do/biomarkers- consortium/about/resources
Biomarkers Database - Charles River	https://wwwapps.criver.com/BiomarkersDB/
Biomarkers Definition Working Group	https://doi.org/10.1067/mcp.2001.113989
Biomarkers in disease areas – Roche	https://www.roche.com/partnering/ diagnostics-areas-of-interest/new-biomarker- testing.htm
Biomarkers, Genetics and Epigenetics – Understanding Society	https://www.understandingsociety.ac.uk/ topic/biomarkers-genetics-and-epigenetics
BioTech Pharma Summit	https://www.biotechpharmasummit.com
Diabetes – World Health Organization (WHO)	https://www.who.int/health-topics/ diabetes#tab=tab_1
Diabetes Fact Sheets – World Health Organization	https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/ detail/diabetes
Diabetes UK: Material on Living with Diabetes	https://www.diabetes.org.uk/guide-to-diabetes
Diabetes UK: Material on Local Support Groups	https://www.diabetes.org.uk/how_we_help/ local_support_groups
Diabetic Retinopathy Data and Statistics – National Eye Institute (NEI)	https://www.nei.nih.gov/learn-about-eye- health/outreach-campaigns-and-resources/ eye-health-data-and-statistics/diabetic- retinopathy-data-and-statistics
Division of Diabetes Translation – Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC)	https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/index.html
Euretos	https://www.euretos.com
European Federation of Pharmaceutical Industries and Associations: Working with Patient Groups	https://www.efpia.eu/relationships-code/ patient-organisations/
FDA-NIH Biomarker Working Group	https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/ NBK338449/
Genomeweb	https://www.genomeweb.com/biomarker- discovery-validation
Global Biomarker Standardization	https://www.alz.org/research/for_researchers/
Consortium – Alzheimer's Association	partnerships/gbsc
Global Online Biomarker Platform (GOBIOM)	https://gobiomdbplus.com

Table 6 Other resources of interest or relevance for health care professionals or patients related to biomarkers or diabetes

(continued)

Table 6 (continued)

Name of resource or organization	Web address
KNApSAcK human biomarker database	http://www.knapsackfamily.com/Biomarker/
	top.php
National Institute of Neurological Disorders	https://www.ninds.nih.gov/Disorders/
and Stroke: Patient Organizations	Support-Resources/Patient-Organizations
NHS: Material on Diabetes and Finding Help	https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/type-2-
and Support	diabetes/finding-help-and-support/
The Patients Association	https://www.patients-association.org.uk/
Urinary Protein Biomarker Database (UPBD) –	http://upbd.bmicc.cn/biomarker/web/indexdb
BMICC	
Vision Loss and Diabetes, American Diabetes	https://www.diabetes.org/diabetes/eye-health/
Association	understand-eye-conditions
WHO International Programme on Chemical	https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/
Safety Biomarkers and Risk Assessment:	10665/39037/9241571551-eng.pdf
Concepts and Principles	
WHO International Programme on Chemical	https://inchem.org/documents/ehc/ehc/
Safety Biomarkers in Risk Assessment:	ehc222.htm
Validity and Validation	

This table lists other resources of interest or relevance to biomarkers or diabetes. Please note, occasionally the location of the websites or web address changes

Acknowledgments We thank the following authors for their contributions to the development of this resource. We apologize if some of the suggested material was not included in this chapter or has been moved to another chapter.

Braga Gomes, Karina Dankel, Simon Nitter Eraldemir, Fatma Ceyla Filimonova, Tamara Francis, Ellen C Ismail, Che Aishah Nazariah Lamy, Ricardo Lav Madsen, Per Long, Idris Maral Kır, Hale Meheissen, Marwa Moon, Jee-Young Öztas, Berrin Perng, Wei Qi, Qibin Raghubeer, Shanel Stewart, Jay Wagner, David Zhang, Wei

References

- Ahluwalia TS, Kilpeläinen TO, Singh S, Rossing P. Editorial: novel biomarkers for type 2 diabetes. Front Endocrinol. 2019;10:649.
- Alzaid F, Rajendram R, Patel VB, Preedy VR. Expanding the knowledge base in diet, nutrition and critical care. electronic and published resources. In: Rajendram R, Preedy VR, Patel VB, editors. Diet and nutrition in critical care. New York: Springer; 2015.
- Atkinson AJ, Colburn WA, DeGruttola VG, DeMets DL, Downing GJ, Hoth DF, Oates JA, Peck CC, Schooley RT, Spilker BA, Woodcock J, Zeger SL. NCI-FDA Biomarkers Definitions Working Group; Biomarkers and surrogate endpoints: preferred definitions and conceptual framework. Clin Pharmaco Ther. 2001;69:89–95.
- Dorcely B, Katz K, Jagannathan R, et al. Novel biomarkers for prediabetes, diabetes, and associated complications. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes. 2017;10:345–61.
- International Diabetes Federation. IDF diabetes atlas. 8th ed. Brussels: International Diabetes Federation; 2017.
- International Diabetes Federation. https://idf.org/aboutdiabetes/what-is-diabetes/facts-figures.html. Accessed 1 May 2022.
- Rajendram R, Patel VB, Preedy VR. Recommended resources on general aspects of biomarkers. Biomarkers general aspects. New York: Springer; 2016a.
- Rajendram R, Patel VB, Preedy VR. Recommended resources on biomarkers in cardiovascular disease. In: Patel VB, Preedy VR, editors. Biomarkers in cardiovascular disease. New York: Springer; 2016b.
- Rajendram R, Martin CR, Preedy VR. Recommended resources on metabolism and physiology of bariatric surgery. In: Rajendram R, Martin CR, Preedy VR, editors. Metabolism and physiology of bariatric surgery. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 2016c.
- Rajendram R, Patel VB, Preedy VR. Recommended resources on maternal diabetes. In: Rajendram R, Patel VB, Preedy VR, editors. Nutrition and diet in maternal diabetes. Cham: Springer; 2017a.
- Rajendram R, Patel VB, Preedy VR. Recommended resources on biomarkers in kidney disease. In: Patel VB, Preedy VR, editors. Biomarkers in kidney disease. New York: Springer; 2017b.
- Rajendram R, Patel VB, Preedy VR. Recommended resources for diabetes, oxidative stress, and dietary antioxidants. In: Preedy VR, editor. Diabetes, oxidative stress, and dietary antioxidants. San Diego: Elsevier; 2020.
- Rajendram R, Patel VB, Preedy VR. Recommended resources on the neuroscience of aging. In: Patel VB, Preedy VR, editors. Neuroscience of aging. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 2021.



Correction to: Assessing Insulin Sensitivity in People with Type 1 Diabetes Without Euglycemic-Hyperinsulinemic Clamps

Andrzej S. Januszewski and Alicia J. Jenkins

Correction to: Assessing Insulin Sensitivity in People with Type 1 Diabetes Without Euglycemic-Hyperinsulinemic Clamps in Vinood B. Patel and Victor R. Preedy (eds.) *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2_18

Due to an oversight on the part of Springer, some formulas of this chapter were initially published with errors. The correct presentation is given here.

$$elnIS = 4.108 - 0.013 * WC - 1.058 * TDD - 0.313 * TG - 0.008$$

* DBP (33)

$$elnIS = 4.108 - 0.013 * WC - 1.058 * TDD - 0.0035 * TG - 0.008 * DBP$$
(34)

$$elnIS = 7.472 - 0.013 * WC - 0.25 * HbA1c - 0.357 * G_0 + 0.019$$

* Adiponectin - 0.287 * TG - 0.006 * DBP (35)

$$eGDR = -31.714 + 0.142 * Age + 2.399 * HDL - C + 8.613 * IneGFR - 2.051 * VAI - 0.12 * PP$$
(42)

The updated original version for this chapter can be found at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2_18

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 70

Index

A

Acetylcholine, 1064 Acromegaly comorbidities cardiovascular disease, 952, 953 growth hormone, 956 metabolic complications, 951, 952 Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes (ACCORD) Eye Study, 970 Acute myocardial infarction (AMI), 164 Acute phase reactants, 1058 Acylcarnitines, 30, 32, 119 Adenine phosphoribosyltransferase (APRT), 131 Adenosine, 134, 147 Adenosine deaminase (ADA), 146, 147 adenosine level, 137 inosine, 134 isozyme activities, 138 modulators, 137 serum level, 137 Adenosine triphosphate (ATP), 1093 Adhesion molecules, 869, 871-873, 875 Adipocytes in brown adipose tissue, 381 Adipokines, 47, 72, 155, 222, 337, 380, 761 biomarkers, 203 classification, 382, 383 Adipo-myokine, 45 Adiponectin, 221, 1095, 1096, 1124 Adipose, 561 Adipose tissue, 25, 71, 72, 155, 222, 287, 301, 302, 304, 305 pathophysiology of gestational diabetes mellitus, 380, 381 Adropin, 222 Adult stem cells embryonic and somatic, 561 EPCs (see Endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs))

exercise and lifestyle changes, 561 MSCs, 566, 567 physical exercise, 561 Advanced glycation end products (AGEs), 185, 517, 532, 658, 825, 894, 902, 917, 966, 1093 accumulation, 173 circulating levels, 175 in diabetes, 174 arterial alterations, 180 cancer, 182, 183 cardiomyopathy, 180 DR, 181, 182 effects, 177 neuropathy, 178-181 oxidative stress, 183, 184 disease complications, 185 effects, 176, 177 importance, 185 macrovascular disease, 184 measuring methods, 173, 177 monoclonal antibodies, 173 non-enzymatic reaction, 173, 174 origin, 174, 175 pentosidine, 174 pro-inflammatory cytokines, 173 pyrraline, 174 RAGEs, 173, 175, 176 Advanced glycosylation end products, 875-877 Aerobic, 30, 33, 47 Age-related macular degeneration (AMD), 333, 983 Akkermansia muciniphila, 926, 931 AKT kinase, 489 Albuminuria, 414-417, 471, 474, 480 Aldose reductase (AR), 1094 Aliphatic y-diketones, 1001

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 V. B. Patel, V. R. Preedy (eds.), *Biomarkers in Diabetes*, Biomarkers in Disease: Methods, Discoveries and Applications, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-08014-2 Alkyl formylglycosyl pyrrole (AFGP, 30), 1007 All-cause mortality, 810, 814, 816, 818 Allodynia, 1106 Alloxan and STZ, 1117 Alloxan induced DM, 1116 Alloxan induced mild diabetic (MD), 1121 Allozymes, 440 Alpha-1-microglobulin, 900 Alpha-linolenic acid (ALA), 452 Altered SUA levels, 243 Alzheimer's disease (AD), 71, 184, 322, 325 Ambulatory blood pressure monitoring (ABPM), 707 American Diabetes Association (ADA), 377, 521, 762, 1027 Amino acid(s) (AA), 85, 242, 282, 1039-1043 BCAA (see Branched-chain amino acids (BCAA)) in diabetes, 91, 92, 113-118 in insulin resistance, 91-93, 113-118 metabolism, 301 sequences, 437 T2DM, 93 y-Aminobutyric acid (GABA) receptors, 285 AminoIndex LifeStyle diseases (AILS), 117 β-Aminoisobutyric acid (BAIBA), 119 Ammonium sulphate salt, 799 Amvlin, 1060 accumulation, 1060 induced inflammatory response, 1060 Amyloid-beta high blood glucose, 1060 plaque formation, 1060 Amyloid deposition, 290 Ancestry-informative markers (AIMs), 674, 675, 677 Anemia, 5 Angiogenesis, 659, 968, 977, 982 AngiomiR, 659 Angiopoietin-like 4 (ANGPTL4), 222 Angiopoietin-like protein 8 (ANGPTL8), 381 Angiopoietins 1 to 4 (Ang 1-4), 979 Antidyslipidemic properties of SC, 1123 Anti-inflammatory acute effects, exercise, 45, 46 chronic effects, exercise, 47 exercise interventions, 47, 48, 54 Antimicrobial peptides (AMPs), 929 Antimicrobial proteins, 929 Aortic pulse wave velocity, 856-859 APOE4-homozygous patients with Alzheimer disease, 1006 Apolipoprotein AV (ApoAV), 402

Apolipoprotein C3 (APOC3), 401, 402 Apolipoprotein C3-transgenic (ApoC3-tg), 400 Apolipoprotein E, 693 Aqueous humor (AH), 972 Arachidonic acid (AA) in the cell membranes, 454 Area under the curve (AUC), 338 Aromatic amino acids (AAAs), 87 Aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR), 929 Association study, 624 Astrocytes, 1096 Asymmetric dimethyl-arginine (ADMA), 158, 563, 870, 878 Atherogenic, 1106 Atheromatosis process, 823 Atherosclerosis, 443 Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) study, 810 Atrial fibrillation, 817 Augmentation index, 857 Autoimmune Disease, 462 Automated electronic (oscillometric) devices, 736 Avignon index, 354

B

Bacterial translocation bacterial DNA, 936 diseases/conditions, 937 lipopolysaccharide (LPS), 935, 936 mechanism, 934 microbial products/fragments, 933 trigger inflammation, 933 type 2 diabetes mellitus, 938-940 Bacteroides caccae, 931 Batokines, 380, 381, 384 B-Cell Stimulating Factor, 978 BCKA dehydrogenase (BCKD), 301 Belfiore index, 354 Bennett index, 356 Betaproteobacteria, 927 Betatrophin, 381 in gestational diabetes mellitus, 385-387 on human beta-cell proliferation, 384 lipoprotein lipase (LPL) activity in vitro, 385 physiological (postprandial state) and pathological circumstances, 387 Betatrophin mRNA levels in the liver of the ob/ob and db/db mouse models, 388 Biochemically stable epigenetic markers, 545 Biochemical markers, 763, 764

Biomarker(s), 146, 156, 157, 164, 240, 331, 471, 477, 479-481, 577, 1035 applications, 816 cardiovascular causes, 810 C-reactive protein, 333, 334, 337, 338 diabetes, 812 diabetes mellitus (DM), 810 **ELISA. 339** human saliva, 335 multiple sclerosis, 578-579 multiplex analysis, 340 myocardial action potential, 810, 811 pathologic Q waves, 815 OT interval, 811, 812 REGARDS study, 815 type 1 diabetes mellitus, 577-578 type 2-diabetes, 331, 332 Biomarkers of diabetes mellitus, 1142 books on, 1147 journals related to, 1142-1146 professional societies, 1145 regulatory bodies dealing with, 1144 techniques and platforms related to, 1142 - 1150Biosensor, 341 Biosynthesis, 282-284 Bisulfite conversion, 600, 602, 607, 609 Bisulfite conversion-based methods, 600 Blood-brain barrier (BBB), 285 Blood glucose, 616-619, 621-626 levels, 241 Blood glucose monitoring, 1023 protocol, 1026 technique, 1022 Blood pressure (BP), 730, 733, 734, 970 Blood pressure variability (BPV), 708 index, 709 types, 708, 710 Blood retinal barrier (BRB), 965, 983 Blood vessels, 561 Body fluid status, 416 Body mass index (BMI), 24, 133, 200, 378 Bone marrow, 561 Brain, 1056-1059 Brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), 1096 cardiovascular disorders, 487 central and peripheral nervous systems, 487 central nervous system disturbances, 503 central sensitization, 506 deficiency, 506 diabetes mellitus, 505, 506 diabetic polyneuropathy, 499-502

gluconeogenesis, 506 G-protein coupled receptors, 505 growth factors, 487 human populations, 493 inflammation, 494, 495 insulin resistance, 506 leptin, 506 microangiopathic complications, 487 mitogenic effect, 504 nervous system, 487, 506 neuropathic pain, 503, 506 neuroplasticity, 506 neuroplasticticity effects, 487 neuroprotective effects, 504 neurotransmitter modalities, 487 neurotrophins, 502 p75, 506 pancreatic beta cells, 506 pathological processes, 489 Ras membrane protein, 488 streptozocin-induced diabetes, 506 type 2 diabetes mellitus, 490, 492 Brain related functions, 462 Branched-chain amino acids (BCAA), 242, 301, 305, 306 accumulation, 122 acylcarnitines, 119 association, 120 circulation, 113, 117 concentrations, 91, 113 dysmetabolism, 90, 122 enzymatic activity, 87 FAA profiles, 113 health-promoting effects, 121 hepatic metabolic disorders, 89 metabolic pathway, 89 metabolism, 90, 91 mitochondrial oxidation, 90 mTORC1 activation, 89, 121 nutritional signals, 89 positive associations, 115 supplementation, 113, 121 vs. T2DM development, 114, 121 Branched-chain α-keto acids (BCKAs), 301 Breast cancer, 75 Brown adipocyte, 305

С

Calciferol (Vitamin D), 228 Calcium (Ca) dependent hydrolase, 438 cAMP-response element binding protein (CREB), 505 Canadian Diabetes Association guideline, 1027 Canagliflozin (CG), 565 Cancer, 182, 183 CRCs, 75 invasive/non-invasive, 75 signs, 75 symptoms, 75 Carbohydrate metabolism, 242 Carbohydrates, 1045 Cardiac fibrosis, 828 Cardiac magnetic resonance imaging, 843 Cardiac metabolism, 827 Cardiac myocytes, 810 Cardiometabolic dysfunctions, 23 Cardiomyopathies, 826 ischemic versus non-ischemic, 834 non-invasive imaging, 834 Cardiovascular and cerebrovascular disorders, 461 Cardiovascular disease (CVD), 71, 73, 134, 146, 313, 320, 321, 333, 341, 397, 402, 517, 560, 565, 690-692, 952.953 Cardiovascular magnetic resonance imaging (CMR), 824, 843 Cardiovascular risk, 869, 871-873, 879 Carotid body(ies) (CBs) adenosine, 755 applications, 768 arterial blood gases, 753 autonomic nervous system, 753 blood flow, 753 CBmeter prototype, 765 chemoreceptor organs, 753 chemoreflexes, 754 chemosensitivity, 759, 768 chemotransduction, 754 diabetes, 767 glomerulus, 755 hyperreflexia, 768 hyperreflexivity, 760, 761 hypertonicity, 768 insulin, 757 leptin, 757, 758 metabolic diseases, 753, 755-757 nervous system, 753 pathology, 767 pathophysiological mechanisms, 753 peripheral chemoreceptors, 759 plethysmographic recordings, 759 sensory nerve, 753 sustentacular cells, 755 techniques, 758 type II cells, 755

Carotid-femora, 859 Carotid sinus nerve (CSN), 753, 768 Caveolin-1 (CAV-1), 1105 CBmeal, 768 CBmeter, 768, 770 CBview, 769 C-C motif ligand 2 (CCL2), 1100 CD163 receptor, 687, 689 CD34+ve progenitor cells, 565 Cederholm and Wibell Index, 353 Cell culture, 478 Cell-free DNA (cfDNA), 598, 609 β cell(s), 609 function, 950, 953 pancreas, 286 Cell-to-cell communication, 974 Cellular process, 471 Cellular receptors for AGE (RAGE) products, 997 Central nervous system (CNS), 487, 1057 Central obesity, 242 Central-peripheral distal axonopathy (CPDA), 995, 996 Centre of Disease and Prevention (US), 792 Ceramide, 28, 90 Cerebral microcirculation, 293 Chemokine(s), 137, 337, 589, 929 receptors, 589 Chemokine ligand 2 (CCL2), 978 Chlorpyrifos, 438 Choline acetyltransferase and cholinesterase, 1064 Cholinergic dysfunction, 1064, 1066 Choriocapillaris flow impairment, 783 Chromium (Cr), 288 Chromophore generation, 1004 Chronic diseases, 196 Chronic exposure to diabetic environment, 265, 266 Chronic hyperglycemia, 88, 442, 893, 1059, 1063 Chronic inflammation, 528 Chronic insulin resistance, 379 Chronic kidney disease (CKD), 178, 323, 523, 524 Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration (CKD-EPI) formula, 362 Chronic sustained hyperglycemia in diabetes mellitus, 658 Chronic wounds, 317 Circulating cell-free DNA (cfDNA), 545

Circulating miRNAs, 651, 657, 658 and diabetes, 659 and DR, 653, 655, 659, 660 Circulatory biomarkers, 869-877 Classic lipid biomarkers, 33 Clinical grading of DR, 779 Clinically isolated syndrome (CIS), 578 Clinically used biomarkers in Diabetes mellitus. 1116, 1117 Co enzyme A (CoA), 302 Cognitive dysfunction, 294, 295 Cognitive dysfunction and impairment, 1063-1064 Cognitive function, 282, 290 domains, 291 factors, 292, 293 hyperhomocysteinemia, 293 screening tools, 291, 292 Colorectal cancers (CRCs), 75 Complement system (CS), 981 Complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA), 587 Complications of diabetes, 325 Continuous glucose monitoring (CGM), 526, 1024, 1025 Corneal nerve degeneration, 421 Coronary artery calcification (CAC), 73 Coronary Artery Calcification in Type 1 Diabetes (CACTI) cohort, 359 Coronary artery disease (CAD), 443, 560, 562 Coronary atheromatosis, 826 Coronary heart disease, 333 Cortical atrophy, 1057 Cost-effective, 335 COVID-19 pandemic, 568, 718 C peptide, 1121 CpG methylation, 599 c-reactive protein (CRP), 73, 332, 333, 494 Ctokines, 78 CXCR4 receptor, 565 Cyclic adenosine monophosphate, 795 Cysteine, 282 Cytokines, 42, 46, 55, 337, 974, 977-979

D

Dabelea formula, 358 Damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), 265 Day-by-day HBPV, 710 albuminuria, 714 eGFR, 716–718 target organ damage/CVD, 710, 711 Dejour test, 759, 764 Dendritic cells (DCs), 929 De novo lipogenesis (DNL), 25 Desmosomes and adhesive junctional proteins, 928 Diabesity cardiac function, 827 Diabetes, 74, 75, 88, 241, 331, 524, 560, 671, 812, 925 adulthood, 731 applications, 742 atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease, 731 biomarkers, 88, 89 blood pressure measurement, 733, 734 brain, 1056-1059 cardiovascular risk factor, 730 characteristics, 1055 chronic disease, 69 complications, 1056 death and cardiovascular outcomes, 730 economic and health problems, 69 hypertension, 730 macrovascular complications, 69 methodology, 738 microvascular complications, 69 nephropathy, 731 neuroinflammation, 1057-1059 prevalence, 731 progression of, 1063 "tracking" phenomenon, 730 types, 1055 Diabetes-associated complications, 532 Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT), 524, 970 Diabetes-induced cognitive dysfunction, 1057 Diabetes-induced neuroinflammation, 1059-1063 cognitive decline, 1056, 1065 Diabetes mellitus (DM), 87, 220, 289, 313, 616-618, 620, 623, 625, 810, 893.1065 blood-brain barrier disruption, 1058 burden of diabetes, 949 cell function, 949 β-cell mass, 949 complications, 949 C-peptide, 950 glycation, 518-520 growth hormone (GH), 951 hyperglycemia, 518, 949 hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp technique, 950 inflammation, 951 insulin resistance, 950 insulin secretion, 950 metabolic stress, 951

Diabetes mellitus (DM) (cont.) pathogenesis of, 1055 pathophysiology, 1113 prevalence, 993 Diabetic cardiomyopathy, 825, 842 Diabetic encephalopathy, 1056, 1059 Diabetic eyes without clinical retinopathy, 780 Diabetic foot syndrome (DFS), 498 Diabetic heart disease, 825 Diabetic keratopathy, 421, 422 Diabetic ketoacidosis (DKA), 577 Diabetic kidney disease (DKD), 315-317, 568, 893, 894, 904 classified by albuminuria and eGFR, 713 progression, 713 risk factors for end-stage renal disease, 711 without albuminuria, 711 Diabetic macular edema (DME), 415, 783 Diabetic microvascular complications, 251 Diabetic nephropathy (DN), 252, 289, 317, 470, 472, 477, 480, 553, 554, 691, 692, 800, 816, 1092, 1093, 1107 concentrations, 138 conventional biomarker, 895 diabetic subjects, 138 genomics, 904 glomerular biomarkers, 897 glomerular damage biomarkers, 896-898 inflammatory biomarkers, 900, 901 metabolic profile, 139 metabolomic profiling, 904 metabolomics studies, 138 miRNAs, 903 NADPH oxidase, 903 oxidative stress, 901, 902 pathogenesis of, 893 proteomics, 903 stages of, 894 tubular biomarkers, 899 tubular damage biomarkers, 898-900 Diabetic nephropathy treatment on diabetic retinopathy and diabetic macular edema, 417, 418 Diabetic peripheral neuropathy (DPN), 317 Diabetic polyneuropathy, 487, 490, 498, 499, 504, 1009 Diabetic retinopathy (DR), 138, 181, 182, 315, 413, 551-553, 652, 670, 677, 779, 816, 912, 917 clinical grading, 968 clinical management, 969-971 miR-1281, 663 pathogenesis, 966-968

Diabetic Retinopathy Severity Scale (DRSS), 969 Diacylglycerol (DAG), 26, 90, 91 Dialysis, 526, 528-530 Diastolic function, 836, 841, 843 Diazinon, 438 Dichlorofluorescein, 904 Diet and Polyunsaturated fatty acids, 456, 457 Dietary intake, 793 Digital PCR, 600, 604 v-Diketone, 1005 γ-Diketone-derived pyrroles, 1003, 1004 Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP4), 202, 203, 205, 222, 223 Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP-4) inhibitors, 203, 420, 563 Distal axonopathy, 995 Distal symmetrical polyneuropathy (DSPN), 497, 994, 995 clinical biomarkers, 998 etiology, 996 pathogenesis, 996 Diurnal variation, 1025 DNA methylation, 544 DNA methyltransferases, 599 DN pathophysiology, 478 Docosahexaenoic acid, 455 Downstream regulatory element antagonist modulator (DREAM), 1096 Drug discovery, 982, 983 Duca formula, 359 Dysfunction in the glomerular filtration, 263 Dysglycemia, 524 Dyslipidemia, 23, 24, 129, 146, 242, 249

Е

y-amino butyric acid B (GABAB) receptor, 1102 Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study (ETDRS), 969 Echocardiography, 844 eGFR and serum uric acid levels, 252, 253 eGFR decline in patients with lower eGFR, 712 Eicosanoids, 455 Eicosapentaenoic acid, 454 Electrocardiogram (ECG), 810, 811 Electrochemiluminescent (ECL) assay, 974, 975 Electrospray ionization (ESI), 794 Elongation and desaturation of Omega-3 and Omega-6 fatty acids, 454 Endocan, 877

End of stage kidney disease (ESKD), 524 Endothelial dysfunction, 249, 850 Endothelial function aortic pulse wave velocity, 856-859 applications to diabtes, 860 characteristics of technique for measurement of, 851 flow-mediated dilatation (FMD), 854-856 laser doppler flowmetry, 859-860 non-circulatory measures of, 851-860 peripheral artery tonometry, 856 skin autofluorescence, 860 venous occlusion plethysmography, 852-854 Endothelial function, in type 2 diabetes adhesion molecules and chemokines. 872-873 advanced glycosylation end products, 875-877 applications to diabetes, 878-879 circulatory biomarkers, 869-877 endocan, 877 endothelial microparticles, 874-875 endothelial progenitor cells, 873-874 external counterpulsation therapy, 877-878 high sensitivity C-reactive protein, 871-872 nitric oxide metabolites and asymmetric dimethylarginine, 869-871 Endothelial microparticles (EMP), 874-875 Endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs), 568, 569, 873-874 age, 562 effect of HIV medication regimens, 565-566 effect of novel diabetes medications, 563-565 metabolic disorders, 562 Endothelin-1, 175 Endotoxin core antibodies (EndoCAb), 937 End-stage renal diseases (ESRD), 470 Engulfment and cell motility protein (ELMO-1), 471-481 Enterobacterales, 932 Enterococci, 932 Enzyme dysfunction, 175 Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), 173, 177, 339, 340, 387, 974 Epigenetic biomarkers for T2D-associated complications, 550 Epigenetics advancing technologies, 603-605 applications, 607 bisulfite conversion, 602

β-cell. 598 β-cell death, 601, 603, 604, 608 cell-free DNA (cfDNA), 599, 600 DNA methylation detection, 600, 601 limitations, 606, 607 mechanisms of cell death, 598 modifications, 598, 599 T1D, 605, 606 Epithelial cell layer, 929 Epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT), 76 Equations, 355, 357, 364 Erythrocyte-related HbA1c variants diabetes screening, 12 G6PD G6PD deficiency, 16 rs1050828, 12, 14, 15 rs76723693, 12 HBB, 9 rs334, 13 rs334, 14, 15 rs334, 9 HBM. 11 Erythropoietin (EPO), 414, 978 E-selectin, 175 Estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR), 413, 619, 620, 626 Ethnicity, 670-674, 676, 677 Eugenia Jambolana (EJ), 1113 Euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamp, 351 glucose disposal rate, 352 insulin concentration, 352 insulin sensitivity, 353 insulin sensitivity indexes, 353 metabolic clearance rate of glucose, 352 M/I ratio, 352 EURODIAB Insulin-Dependent Diabetes Mellitus Complications Study (EURODIAB IDDM), 812 European Society for the Study of Diabetes (EASD), 762 Evolutionary norms of the n-6 to n-3 PUFA, 457 Excitotoxicity, 285 Exercise, 563, 569 Exosomes, 569 Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) model, 587 Experimental DM models type 1 DM, 1116-1118 type 2 DM, 1119 External counterpulsation (ECP), 877-878 Extracellular glutathione peroxidase (eGPx), 316

Extracellular matrix (ECM), 177, 471, 474, 480, 481 Extracellular protein kinase (ERK), 955 Extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERKs), 285 Extracellular volume, 832

F

FA desaturases, 454 Faecalibacterium prausnitzii, 931 Fasting blood glucose (FBG), 794, 950, 1119, 1120 Fat metabolism, 390 Fatty acid(s) (FAs), 451 in cancer development, 461 oxidation, 305 supplementation, 461 uptake, 302 Federal Drug Association (FDA), 526 Fetuin-A, 206, 223, 224 Fetuin-B, 207, 223, 224 Fibrinogen, 177 Fibroblast growth factor 21 (FGF21), 224 Fibronectin, 474, 896, 898 Fibrosis-quantitation, 829, 830 Finger plethysmography, 856 Finnish Diabetes Risk Score (FINDRISC), 762 Finnish National Diabetes Program, 762 Flow-mediated dilatation (FMD), 854-856 Forkhead box protein O1 (FOXO1), 638, 644 Formulation of Ehrlich's reagent, 1007 FoxP3 expression, 585 Framingham Heart Study (FHS), 113 Free amino acids (FAAs), 85, 242 Free fatty acids (FFAs), 24, 90, 459, 632 Frizzled transmembrane receptors (FZD), 633 Fructosamine, 519, 522-524

G

Gadolinium, 843 contrast, 829, 831, 832, 844 Gadolinium hyperenhancement (LGE) technique, 829 Gallic acid, 1128 and ellagic acid binding modes, 1129 Gamma-amino butyric acid (GABA) receptors, 1102, 1103 Gas chromatography, 173 Gas chromatography coupled with mass spectrometry (GC-MS), 177 Gastrointestinal tract (GIT), 925, 941 Gemigliptin, 223 Gene bodies and enhancer markers, 546 Genetic(s), 671, 672, 674, 676, 677 models, 1119 polymorphisms, 401, 402, 405 variant, 16, 471, 472, 478, 480 Genetic risk score (GRS), 16 Genome-wide association study (GWAS), 5, 16, 400, 405, 471, 577, 673, 904 Genome-wide profiling technologies for 5-hydroxymethylation, 547 Genomic ancestry ancestry-informative markers (AIMs), 674 applications, 676 clinical practice, 671 diabetic retinopathy (DR), 670 ethnical groups, 674 ethnicity, 672 inflammation, 671 insertion-deletions (Indels), 673 methodologies, 671, 672 multi-ethnic cohorts, 676 multiple genetic markers, 671 oxidative stress, 671 short tandem repeats (STRs), 673 single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), 673 sociodemographic factors, 674 Gestational diabetes, 606 Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM), 205, 1034, 1078-1079 adipogenesis, 640 adipose tissue expansion, 640 applications, 641, 642 applications of metabolomics, 1039 biological pathways, 636 biomarker, 640, 641 consequences, 1036 cut-off values, 1023 defined, 1022 diagnosis, 378, 1037, 1038 epidemiology, 1035 etiology, 1035 glucose homeostasis, 631 hepatocytes, 637 inflammation, 636 inflammatory state, 635 insulin resistance, 639 insulin target tissue, 636, 639 metabolic heterogeneity, 1038, 1039 metabolic stress condition, 632 obesity, 638 oxidative stress, 635, 636

pancreatic B-cells, 637 physiology, 379, 380 pregnancy, 632 prevalence, 378 prevention/prediction, 1039, 1040 risk factors, 378 screening, 378, 1037, 1038 treatment, 378, 632, 633 trophoblast cells, 635 Wnt ligands, 635 Wnt signaling pathway, 635 GH-releasing hormone (GHRH), 951, 959 Glaucoma in Diabetes, 422 Glial cells, 978, 1096, 1097 Glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), 1096 Globular adiponectin therapy, 221 Glomerular base membrane (GBM), 474 Glomerular filtrate, 625 Glomerular filtration barrier, 474 Glomerular filtration rate (GFR), 543, 893 Glomerular hyperfiltration, 414 Glomerular hypertrophy, 894 Glomerulosclerosis, 474 Glomerulo-tubular, 904 Glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1), 223, 636, 926, 1124 agonists, 418 receptor, 205 signaling, 1080 Gluconeogenesis, 242, 625 Glucoronate, 904 Glucose, 174, 519, 1056 homeostasis, 617, 631, 1077, 1078, 1080-1081 induced cardiac inflammation, 1126 metabolism, 404, 769, 1057 Glucose challenge tests (GCT), 1038 Glucose disposal rate (GDR) during euglycaemic hyperinsulinaemic clamps, 362 type 1 diabetes, 357-361 Glucose-regulated protein (GRP78), 159 Glucose Regulation during Healthy Pregnancy, 379 Glucose synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3) phosphorylation, 1063 upregulation of, 1063 Glucose transporter 4 (GLUT-4), 28, 209, 439, 444 Glucose transporter carrier proteins (GLUT), 797 Glucosuria, 616-618, 620-621, 625 Glutamic acid, 114

γ-Glutamyltransferase (GGT), 141 Glutathione (GSH), 1094 Glutathione peroxidase (GPX), 1076, 1095 Glycated albumin (GA), 800 applications, 531 chronic hyperglycemia, 530 conventional measures, 521, 522 enzymatic method, 530 fructosamine, 522-524 glycation products, 529 hemoglobin, 522 history, 515 laboratory measurement, 530 Maillard reaction, 516 metabolic diseases, 529 monitoring metabolic control, 520, 521 observational studies, 527 osmotic pressure, 515 pH balance, 515 process, 516-518 single polypeptide chain, 515 structure, 515, 516 treatment monitoring, 531 type 2 diabetes mellitus, 519 Glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c), 524-526, 543, 691, 763 Glycemia, 241 Glycemic control on the anti-VEGF therapy for DME, 419 Glycemic variability, 812, 813 Glycine, 113 Glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta (GSK3 β), 489, 638 Glycolytic intermediate 1,3-bisphosphoglycerate, 998 Glycoprotein 130 (gp130), 955 Glycosaminoglycans (GAGs), 896 Glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1c), 438, 444.1121 Granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF), 505 Granulocytes, 528 Growth hormone deficiency (GHD), 956 Growth hormone secretion, 959 Gut dysbiosis, 286, 941 Gut microbiome, 568, 569 bacteria, 926 barrier's defense mechanisms, 927 biological signals, 926 defense mechanisms, 930 dietary fibers, 926 disruption/dysfunction, 932, 933 enteroendocrine L cells, 926

Gut microbiome (*cont.*) integrity, 930, 931 layers, 928 mechanisms, 931 metabolites, 926 metagenome-wide-association-study approach, 926 multiple layers, 927, 929, 930 pathogenic microbes, 925 signaling channels, 926 Gutt index, 354

H

Haptoglobin (Hp), 902 biological functions, 685 correlations of, 686-689 structure and polymorphic variants, 684-685 variant and cardiovascular diseases, 690-692 variant and diabetic complications, 691-693 variant and immune-mediated diseases, 695-696 variant and infection, 693-694 HBP level and albuminuria, 713, 714 HBP level and eGFR, 714, 716 Heart failure (HF), 823, 842 Helper lymphocytes, 689 Hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (HSPC), 567 Heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1), 1104, 1105 Hemodialysis, 529, 532 Hemodynamic stress, 716 Hemoglobin, 8, 16, 687, 690, 694, 696 Hemoglobin A1C/glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) erythrocyte-related genetic variants, 9, 11 clinical implication, 13 cumulative effect, 15 functional characterization, 7, 8 functional classification, 7 glycemic control, 4 glycemic-related genetic variants, 8, 9 G6PC2.8 GCK, 8 GWAS, 5, 6 hematologic conditions, 5 unclassified genetic variants, 11 See also Erythrocyte-related HbA1c variants Hemoglobinopathy(ies), 5, 532 Hemoglobulin (HbA1c), 800 Hemolytic processes, 528

Hepassocin (HPS), 199, 208 Hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), 977, 979 Hepatokines, 196, 198, 201-205, 208, 209 Hexokinase, 1128 HF with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF), 823.824 High-density lipoprotein (HDL), 73, 221, 332, 397, 437, 951, 1040 High-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDLc), 24, 199 Higher insulin resistance, 363 High fat diet/sucrose/fructos, 1119 High glucose levels, 265 High-intensity interval training (HIIT), 33 High mobility group box 1 protein (HMGB1), 224, 225 High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), 525 High sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP), 871-872 High-throughput RNA-Seq analysis, 660 5hmC, 549 5hmC-based diagnostic models in cfDNA and, 551 5hmC-Seal assay, 548 5hmC-Seal method, 548, 549 1H-NMR spectroscopy, 405 HOMA β and HOMA–IR, 1122 HOMA-IR, 389 Home blood pressure monitoring (HBPM), 718, 740, 741 Homeostasis mechanism, 793 Homeostatic model assessment (HOMA), 164, 353, 764, 1122, 1123 Homeostatic model assessment for insulin resistance (HOMA-IR), 133, 160, 202, 314, 388, 438 Homeostatic Model Assessment Test (HOMA), 950 Homocysteine, 281-284, 294 Homocysteine thiolactonase (HTLase) activity, 442 Homocysteinylation, 285 Hormone, 757 Hormone-sensitive lipase (HSL), 200 Hp1-1 biological activity, 697 biological functions, 685 and cardiovascular disease, 690 correlations, 689 diabetic nephropathy, 692 infectious diseases, 696 and neurodegenerative diseases, 693 structural variants, 685
Hp2-1 biological activity, 697 diabetes, 690 IL-6 and IL-10 production, 689 macroalbuminuria, 692 sCD163, 689 structural variants, 685 Hp2-2 biological activity, 697 diabetes, 690 macroalbuminuria, 692 sCD163.689 structural variants, 685 HpDel. 686 Human aortic endothelial cell (HAEC), 158 Human endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs), 561 Human metabolome database, 240 Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) were, 661 Hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), 1094 Hydrophobic interaction, 799 3-Hydroxyisobutyrate (3-HIB), 118 amino acid metabolism, 300 biological variability, 300 heart disease/cardiovascular diseases, 305 hepatic fatty acid oxidation, 303, 304 inter-organ metabolic crosstalk, 302, 303 metabolic organs, 307 metabolomics profiling, 301 overweight, 300 2-Hydroxyisobutyrate, 904 3-Hydroxyisobutyryl-CoA hydrolase (HIBCH), 302 Hydroxymethylation Biomarkers, 546, 548 Hydroxymethylcytosines, 545 Hyperalgesia, 1106 Hyperaminoacidemia, 87 Hypercoagulation, 494 Hyperglycemia, 290, 518, 530, 671, 903, 931, 966, 968, 1035-1038, 1044, 1047, 1059, 1127 diabetic rats, 1060 Hyperglycmia and Adverse Pregnancy Outcome Study (HAPO), 1023 Hyperglycemia-driven neuroinflammation, 1059, 1061, 1065, 1066 Hyperglycemia-induced cognitive impairment, 1064 Hyperhomocysteinemia (HHcy), 281 amino acids, 282 applications, 294 cognitive dysfunction, 294 diabetes management, 294

diabetes mellitus, 289 homocysteine, 282-284 serum homocysteine, 294 Hyperinsulinemia, 761, 770, 827, 959 Hyperleptinemia, 770, 954 Hyperlipidemia, 143, 147, 952 Hypertension, 143, 146, 147, 518, 560, 671, 730-732 and diabetes, 707 Hypertension-associated nephrosclerosis, 711 Hypertriglyceridemia, 143, 147 Hyperuricemia, 253 Hypoglycemia, 290, 813 Hypoxanthine-guanine phosphoribosyltransferase (HGPRT), 131 Hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF), 133 Hypoxic ventilatory response (HVR), 758-760, 769

I

ICT-based multisensor home and ambulatory BP monitoring (IMS-ABPM), 718 IFNy receptor, 580 IL-8 (CXCL8), 270 Immuno-based assays, 313 Immunoglobulin G (IgG), 896 ceruloplasmin, 896 Immunological assay using antibodies to pyrrole adducts, 1007 Impaired fasting glucose (IFG), 248, 761, 769, 949 Impaired glucose tolerance (IGT), 761, 769, 952 Inducible NO synthase (iNOS), 870 Infiltration of immune cells, 264 Inflammasome, 265 activation, 266 Inflammation, 40, 333, 399, 770 and diabetic kidney disease, 264, 265 IL-1β, 44, 45 IL-6, 43, 44 obesity, 40 and oxidative stress in experimental diabetes, 1127 TNF-α, 42, 43 type 2 diabetes mellitus, 42 Inflammation-induced processes, 265 Inflammation-related processes, 264 Inflammatory biomarkers, 1125, 1126 Inflammatory cytokines, urinary levels, 264 Inflammatory diseases, 568 Inflammatory kidney conditions, 529

Inflammatory markers, 929, 1099 Inflammatory mediators, 265 Inflammatory proteins, 1065 Inosine, 147 Inosine-5'-monophosphate dehydrogenase (IMPDH), 139, 141 Insertion-deletions (Indels), 673, 675, 677 Insulin, 601, 604, 606, 609, 610, 757 to glucose ratio, 356 levels, 241 secretion, 1035, 1036, 1038, 1043, 1046, 1047 sensitivity, 1036, 1038, 1040, 1042, 1043, 1046.1047 sensitivity index, 355 Insulin dependent diabetes mellitus (IDDM), see Type 1 diabetes Insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1), 951 Insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor (IGF1R), 551 Insulin receptor (INSR), 287 Insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1), 439, 637, 644 Insulin resistance (IR), 25, 26, 29, 85, 129, 147, 156, 287, 288, 290, 294, 305, 363, 379, 436, 444, 1077, 1080-1082 biomarkers, 197, 198 cardiovascular risk factors, 199 estimation based on neural-network analysis, 360 fatty liver, 197 liver biomarkers and functions, 202 minerals calcium, 226, 227 chromiun, 227 magnesium, 226, 227 selenium, 227 zinc, 227 obesity, 199 visceral fat, 199-201 vitamins C and E. 228 D, K and B, 228, 229 Integrin like kinase (ILK), 474 Intercellular adhesion molecule-1, 175 Intercellular tight junctions, 928 Interferon-gamma (IFN-y), 931, 955 Interleukin 10 (IL-10), 270, 551 Interleukin 18 (IL-18), 270, 271 Interleukin-1ß (IL-1ß), 635, 1100 Interleukin 1 (IL-1), 267, 268 Interleukin-6 (IL-6), 73, 134, 225, 268, 269 Interleukin (IL)-2, 955 Interleukins, 225

International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups (IADPSG), 632 International Diabetes Federation (IDF), 87, 518, 761, 1028 Intestinal alkaline phosphatase (IAP), 927 Intestinal epithelium, 928 Intestinal fatty acid binding protein (iFABP), 935 Intracellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), 517, 1105 Intrahepatic lipid (IHL), 25 Intrahepatic triglyceride (IHTG), 201 Intramyocellular lipids (IMCL), 26, 29-31 Intron, 472, 478, 481 IR and insulin signalling, 1122 Irisin, 225 Iron (Fe), 288 deficiency, 5 Iron-regulated surface determinants (IRSD), 694 Ischemic heart disease (IHD), 823 Islets of pancreas, 1126 Islet transplantation, 605-607, 610 Isoleucine, 114

J

Januszewski / Jenkins formula, 361 Japan Ambulatory Blood Pressure Monitoring Prospective (JAMP) study, 710 Japan Diabetes Clinical Data Management study (JDDM), 712 Japan Morning Surge-Home Blood Pressure (J-HOP) study, 707 J-HOP study, 713

K

Kallikrein-related peptidase, 164 Kidney damage associated with diabetes, 264, 270, 271 in diabetes, 271 Kidney transplantation, 421, 422 Kinin-kallikrein system (KKS), 979, 981 Korea National Health Insurance Service Database, 423

L

Laminin, 896, 898

Laser doppler flowmetry, 859-860

Late gadolinium enhancement (LGE) technique, 832 Latent autoimmune diabetes in adults (LADA), 578 Left ventricle (LV) hypertrophy, 823 Leptin, 757, 758 Leptin receptor (LRb), 955 Leptin-to-adiponectin ratio (LAR), 221 Leucine, 114 Leukocyte cell-derived chemotaxin 2 (LECT2), 197, 207, 208 Lifestyle changes and specific prevention programs, 241 Lifestyle modification (diet and exercise), 378 Limbus, 984 Limulus Amoebocyte Lysate (LAL) assay, 935 Linoleic acid, 453 a-Linolenic acid. 453 Lipasin, 381 Lipid intermediates, 23, 26, 42 Lipidomic biomarkers of diabetes, 242 Lipidomics, 402-404, 451 Lipid(s), 356 accumulation, 24 cell membrane structure, 23 energy production, 23 free-fatty acids, 24, 28 insulin resistance, 26 intermediaries, 26 mechanism, 25 nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, 25 obesity, 24 profile, 1043, 1044, 1123 storage, 302, 304 Lipocalin-type prostaglandin D synthase (L-PGDS), 896 Lipolysis, 952 Lipopolysaccharide (LPS), 927, 935, 936 Lipoprotein lipase (LPL), 32 Lipoproteins, 397, 398 Lipoteichoic acid (LTA), 937 Liquid biopsy-based clinical tools, 544 Liquid chromatography (LC), 173, 314 Liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry, 794, 795 Liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS), 402 Liver, 287, 300, 301, 303-305, 307 enzymes, 210, 211 glycogen, 1122 Liver-type fatty acid-binding protein (L-FABP), 900 Long non-coding RNAs (IncRNA), 599 Long QT syndrome, 815 Long term HFD-STZ induced Type 2 DM in wistar albino rats, 1129

Low-density lipoprotein (LDL), 397, 438, 952 Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), 24, 137 Low-to-middle-income countries (LMICs), 518 LPL (Lipoprotein lipase) in the blood vessels hydrolysis monoglycerides and FFA, 459 Lysine-reactive chemicals, 997 Lysophosphatidylcholines, 795

М

Machine learning-based feature selection, 551.553 Macroalbuminuria, 316, 801 2-Macroglobulin (A2MG), 335 Macrovascular and microvascular events associated with T2D, 549 Macrovascular (cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases), 241 Macula, 984 Magnesium (Mg), 288 Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), 829, 841, 843 Major urinary proteins (MUPs), 802 Malignant arrhythmias, 817 Malondialdehyde (MDA), 134, 1095 Mammalian target of rapamycin (m-TOR) protein, 489 Mass spectrometry (MS), 173, 314, 405, 1008 analysis, 804 Maternal, fetal and neonatal complications of gestational diabetes mellitus, 1024 Maternal glycemic status, 1027 Maternal hormones, 385 Matrix metalloproteinase 9 (MMP-9), 285 Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), 317 Matsuda index, 354 Maturity-Onset Diabetes of the Young (MODY), 400 McAuley index, 355 Mean corpuscular volume (MCV), 11 Mean plasma glucose levels, 1026 Mechanical and thermal withdrawal latency tests (MWT and TWL), 1096 Mendelian randomization, 16 Mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs), 566, 567, 569 Messenger RNAs (mRNA), 599 Meta-analysis, 624 Metabolic alterations, 241 Metabolic complications, 951, 952 Metabolic derangements in type 2 DM, 1115 Metabolic diseases, 241, 755, 757

Metabolic disorders, 562 Metabolic-dysfunction-associated fatty liver disease (MALFD), 197 Metabolic endotoxemia, 941 Metabolic markers, 241 Metabolic memory, 286 Metabolic syndrome (MetS), 74, 162, 163, 199, 220, 321, 322, 325, 1080, 1082 Metabolism, 282-284, 301-303, 305, 307 Metabolites, 240, 982 urinary profile, 804 Metabolomics, 1035, 1039-1047 Metformin, 564, 797 Methacholine-induced respiratory discomfort, 461 Methionine, 282 Methylation, 598-601, 607, 609 Methylation-specific PCR, 600 Methylglyoxal, 183 3-Methylhistidine, 904 Methylmalonic acid (MMA), 304 Methylmalonyl semialdehyde (MMS), 302 5'-Methylthioadenosine, 795 Microalbuminuria, 414, 895, 898, 904 Microaneurysms, 968 Microglia, 1096 Microhemorrhages, 689 Micronutrient, 288 Microorganisms, 927 MicroRNAs (miRNAs), 599, 650, 903, 982 biogenesis, 652, 657 inflammatory and endothelial dysfunctions, 651 non-invasive biomarkers, 652 post-transcriptional expression of target genes, 651 Microvascular complications, 549, 912 Microvascular (retinopathy and nephropathy), 241 Mild cognitive impairment (MCI), 323 miR-1281, 652, 660-662 Mitochondria, 302-305 Mitochondrial-DNA, 676 Mitochondrial dysfunction, 287 Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), 285, 1104 Moderate continuous training (MCT), 33 Molecular biology, 545 Molecular docking, 1129 studies, 1130 Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1), 872, 873, 1100, 1101 Monocyte chemotactic protein 1 (MCP-1) synthesis, 442

Monomethyl branched-chain fatty acids (mmBCFA), 118 Monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA), 439, 452 Mucus layer, 927 Multiple regression analysis, 618, 623 Multiple sclerosis, 578-579 Myelin, 177 Myocardial blood flow, 824, 832, 835, 837, 840, 841, 843, 844 Myocardial extracellular volume, 828, 844 Myocardial fibrosis, 823-825, 828, 829, 832, 835, 840, 841, 843-845 applications, 841 cardiac fibrosis, 835, 836 extracellular volume, 835, 836 longitudinal studies, 840 serum biomarkers, 841 Myocardial vascular rarefaction, 823 Myokines, 47, 72 Myostatin (GDF-8), 225

N

n-3 and n-6 PUFA, 453 n-3-desaturases, 453 n-6 PUFA (arachidonic acid)-induced proinflammatory prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) formation, 455 N-acetyl-β-D-glucosaminidase (NAG), 900 N-acetylneuraminate, 904 NADPH oxygenase-2 (NOX2), 1100 Nano-hmC-Seal technology, 548 National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES), 12 National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guideline, 1027 Nephrin, 565 Nephropathy, 904 Nerve conduction velocity (NCV), 1095 Nerve growth factor (NGF), 504 Neurodegeneration, 1058, 1059 Neurofilamentous axonal neuropathy, 999 Neurohormonal dysregulation, 380 Neuroinflammation diabetic animal models, 1063-1064 neuroinflammatory biomarkers, 1057, 1065 pro-inflammatory biomarkers, 1058, 1063 Neurologic disorders, 322, 323 Neuronal plasticity, 1057 Neuron-glia crosstalk, 1098 Neuropathy, 313, 325, 1106 Neurotrophin, 502, 504 Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL), 898

Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH), 1094 Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase (NOX), 1103, 1104 Nicotinamide (NA), 793 Nitric oxide (NO), 158, 869, 870, 1094 NLRP3 inflammasome, 267 N-methyl D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor, 285 N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (NMDARs), 1096. 1102 Nociceptive, 1106 NOD-like receptor family pyrin domain containing 6 (NLRP6), 929 NOD-like receptor protein 3 (NLRP3), 266 Non-albuminuric, 904 Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), 25, 198-201, 220, 303, 323, 931 Non-continuous glucose monitoring (NCGM), 1024, 1025 Non-continuous versus continuous glucose monitoring, 1024 Nonenzymatic glycosylation, 1003 Non-esterified fatty acids (NEFA), 222 Non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus (NIDDM), see Type 2 diabetes Non-invasive, 335 Non-ischemic heart disease, 823 Non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NNRTIs), 565 Non-proliferative diabetic retinopathy (NPDR), 418, 781 Normal glucose tolerance (NGT), 160 NO synthase (NOS), 158 Nro-inflammatory proteins, 175 Nuclear Factor Kappa B (NF-KB), 927 Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-kB), 1097, 1099, 1100 Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR), 404, 1008 Nucleus of tractus solitarius (NTS), 753 Nutrient components, 927 Nutrition, 286

0

Obesity, 23, 24, 44, 72–74, 129, 133, 155, 199, 287, 300–302, 304–306, 317, 320, 460, 461, 560, 761, 955 Obesity-related metabolic disorders, 196 Obstructive sleep apnea (OSA), 759 Occupational *n*-hexane/2-hexanone neuropathy, 1008, 1009 Office blood pressure (OBP), 707 Office blood pressure measurement (OBPM) devices, 735, 736 European guidelines, 739 hypertension, 738 measurements per occasion, 736, 737 microalbuminuria, 738 technique, 737, 738 types, 734, 735 US guidelines, 739 Ohasama study, 707 Omega-3 mediated systemic effects in metabolic pathways, 459 Omega-3 PUFA effects on Insulin sensitivity, 456 Omega-6/Omega-3 ratio, 457, 458 in type 2 diabetes mellitus, 458-460 Omega fatty acids and their metabolites, 462 Omic technologies, 1142 Open-label study, 713 Optical coherence tomography (OCT), 969 Optical coherence tomography angiography (OCTA) deep capillary plexus, 780 features of diabetic retinopathy, 780, 781, 783, 784 limitations, 785 principles of, 778, 779 visualization methods, 779 Optic disc, 984 Oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT), 117, 353-355, 377, 521, 632, 762, 763, 769, 1038 Orthogonal partial least squares discriminant analysis (OPLA-DA), 795-798, 804 Otsuka Long-Evans Tokushima Fatty (OLETF), 1092 oxBS-Seq protocol, 547 Oxidative markers, 1125 Oxidative stress, 129, 183, 184, 285, 436, 437, 827, 966, 1124, 1125 and endothelial dysfunction, 249 and inflammatory responses, 1061 4-Oxopentanoate, 904 5-Oxoproline, 904

P

Pancreatic cancer, 322 Pancreatic β-cell dysfunction, 1115, 1122 Panretinal photocoagulation (PRP), 970 Paraoxonase 1 (PON1) application, 443 cardiovascular complications, 443 functions, 439, 440 Paraoxonase 1 (PON1) (cont.) glucose metabolism, 439 physiological effects, 440 physiological roles, 439, 440 polymorphisms, 440, 441 single nucleotide polymorphism, 441 structure, 438 type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), 441, 442 Paraoxonase (PON) gene family, 437 Parathion, 438 Parkinson's disease (PD), 293, 334 Pars plana, 984 Pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), 932 Pathogenicity, 586 Pathophysiology, 1106 Paw withdrawal threshold (PWT), 1096 Pediatric, 734, 736, 739, 740, 742 Pentosidine, 174, 902 Pericytes, 967 Perilipin protein 5 (PLIN5c), 31 Peripheral and central nervous systems, 1096, 1097 Peripheral artery disease (PAD), 321 Peripheral artery tonometry, 856, 857 Peripheral blood, 561 Peripheral circulation, 827 Peripheral nervous system (PNS), 487 Peripheral neuropathy, 994 Peripheral neuropathy in DM-2, 998 Peroxisome proliferator activated receptorgamma (PPAR-y), 73, 1095 Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPAR), 222 Persistent hyperglycemia, 263 Personalization of disease management, 1143 Pharmacodynamics, 532 Pharmacological DPP-4 inhibitors, 205, 206 Phenylalanine, 795 Phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K), 489, 490 Phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3k), 637 Phospholipase C (PLC), 634 5-Phosphoribosyl-1-pyrophosphate (PRPP), 131 Phosphotidinositol-specific phospholipase C (PLC_y), 489 PI3K/Akt signalling pathway, 76 Pigment epithelium-derived factor (PEDF), 197, 209, 210, 977 Pimelate, 904 Placenta growth factor (PIGF), 489, 971 Planar cell polarity (PCP) pathway, 634 Plasma glucose concentration, 438

Plasminogen activator 1, 177 Podocalyxin, 565 Podocytes, 568 and interstitial vessel cells, 269 Podocytes-podocalyxin, 896 Polar lipids, 26, 32 Polymorphism, 401, 444 Polyphenols, 929 Polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), 452, 453 composition and cell membrane, 454 in cellular function, 454-456 Polyuria, 794 Population-based Casale Monferrato Study, 250 Population-based cohort study, 1079 Postprandial versus preprandial glucose monitoring, 1025-1027 Povary syndrome (PCOS), 224 PPARs (peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors), 1126, 1128 Precision medicine, 984 Prediabetes, 241, 253, 803 AD. 71 biochemical markers, 763, 764 chemosensitivity, 769 definition, 70 Dejour test, 764 diagnostic criteria, 70 early diagnosis, 761, 762 hyperinsulinemia, 761 new medical device, 764, 765, 767 obesity, 761 questionnaires, 762, 763 scales, 762, 763 Predictive biomarker, 984 Preeclampsia, 568 Pregnancy, 1034, 1035, 1037, 1038, 1040, 1042-1047 Prehaptoglobin 2, 695 Primary progressive MS, 579 Primary urine, 626 Prognostic biomarker, 984 Pro-inflammatory cytokines, 137, 266, 1059, 1060, 1064 Proliferative diabetic retinopathy (PDR), 413, 783.784 Proliferative retinopathy, 969 Prostate cancer, 76 Protease-activated receptor 2 (PAR2), 203 Protectins, 455 Protein cross-linking, 1005, 1006 Protein kinase C (PKC), 27, 954 pathway, 893 Protein metabolism, 242

Protein pyrrole adducts, 999, 1000, 1003 Protein pyrrole formation, 999 Proteinuria, 417 Proteomic(s), 325 Proteomic biomarkers acute and chronic disorders, 325 applications, 324 biomarker, 313 diabetes mellitus, 325 immuno-based assays, 313 personalized medicine, 324 proteins, 313 translational control, 313 Proximity extension assay (PEA), 974, 975 Pulmonary disorders, 461 Purified fraction of SC (L.) Skeels (SC2), 1121 Purine de novo biosynthesis, 147 Purines, 131 Purinosome, 129, 131, 146 Pyrimidines, 138 Pyrraline, 174 Pyrraline (epsilon 2-(formyl-5-hydroxymethylpyrrol-1-yl)-L-norleucine), 1006 Pyrrolecarboxyaldehydes, 1004 Pyrrole generation, 999 Pyrrole protein adducts, 1007, 1008

Q

QT interval atrial fibrillation, 814 diabetes mellitus, 814 dispersion, 815 glycemic variability, 812, 813 sudden cardiac death (SCD), 814 Quantitative insulin sensitivity check index (QUICKI), 353 Quantitative PCR (qPCR), 600

R

RAAS blocker at bedtime, 714 RAAS blockers, 708, 711 Rac-GEF pathway, 472 Randomized controlled trials (RCTs), 39, 1077 Rate of depression (RDD), 1103 Rat model adiponectin, 1095, 1096 applications, 1106 diabetes mellitus (DM), 1091 diabetic neuropathy (DN), 1091–1093 glycemic management, 1092 oxidative stress markers, 1094, 1095 proximal nerves, 1092 Reactive center loop (RCL), 157 Reactive hyperemia, 854 Reactive oxygen species (ROS), 9, 158, 183, 285, 302, 519, 1093, 1094 Reasons for Geographic and Racial Differences in Stroke (REGARDS) study, 815 Receiver operating characteristics (ROC), 338.661 Receptors for AGEs (RAGEs), 966 Red blood cells (RBCs), 519 Redox-regulating protein, 903 Reduced optic nerve head (ONH) vascularity, 783 Refeeding-induced fat and liver (RIFL), 381 Reference intervals (RIs), 523 Remitting MS, 578 Renal biomarkers and diabetic retinopathy, correlations, 413, 414 Renal biomarkers and macular edema, correlations, 415, 416 Renal Biomarkers vs. Cataract in Diabetes, 423 Renal Biomarkers vs. Diabetic Keratopathy, 421 Renal Biomarkers vs. Glaucoma in Diabetes, 423 Renal function, 252 Renal impairment, 251, 252 Renal inflammation, 264 Renal Insufficiency and Cardiovascular Events Italian Multicentre (RIACE) study, 712 Renal replacement therapy, 420, 422 Renal Replacement Therapy or Kidney Transplantation on Cataract, 424 Renal Replacement Therapy or Kidney Transplantation on Glaucoma, 423 Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS), 249, 917 Renovascular disease, 568 Resistance, 23, 25, 42 Resistin biomarker, 72 in cancer, 75 in cardiovascular disorders, 73 in diabetes, 74, 75 in obesity, 73, 74 cysteine-rich protein, 69 regulatory roles, 77 vs. pre-diabetes, 76, 77 Resistin-like molecules (RELMs), 72 Resolvins, 455 Restless leg syndrome (RLS), 322, 325 Retinal capillaries, 967

Retinal neovascularization, 968, 971, 979, 983 Retinal pigment epithelial cells (RPE), 978 Retinal vascular cells, 967 Retinol-binding protein-4 (RBP4), 226 Retinopathy, 313, 314, 324, 523, 731 Rheumatoid arthritis (RA), 695 Risk prediction, 398–401, 404, 405 RNA-duplex, 657 rs9934336, 623, 624

S

S-adenosylhomocysteine (SAH), 283 S-adenosylmethionine (SAM), 282 Salivary biomarkers, 336 Satellite glial cells (SGCs), 1096 Saturated fatty acids (SFAs), 452 Saxagliptin, 564 Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN), 1028 Secondary progressive MS, 579 Secreted frizzled receptor 4 (sFRP4), 633 Secreted frizzled related protein 4 (sFRP4), 642,644 Secreted frizzled related protein 5 (sFRP5), 642,644 Secreted frizzled-related protein (sFRP) family, 633, 634, 643 Secretory immunoglobulin A (sIgA), 929 Sedentary lifestyle, 286 Selenium (Se), 288 Selenium and risk of diabetes clinical studies, 1077-1078 diabetes complications, 1079-1080 gestational diabetes, 1078-1079 glucose homeostasis, 1080-1081 Selenium and Vitamin E Cancer Prevention Trial (SELECT), 1077 Selenoprotein (SeP), 199, 1076, 1077, 1080, 1081 Selenoprotein P (SeP), 207, 1076, 1077, 1080 Self-monitoring of blood glucose, 1028 Self-reported ethnicity, 676 Sensitisation, 1106 Serine protease, 164 Serpin A12 (vaspin) adipokines, 155 adipose tissue, 155, 157 anti-inflammatory effects, 158, 159 applications, 163, 164 biochemical characterization, 157 biological processes, 155

biomarkers, 156, 157, 164 cellular level, 159 diabetes, 156 glucose intolerance, 159-161 hyperglycemia, 164 inflammatory skin diseases, 158 insulin resistance, 156 insulin role, 161, 162 metabolic syndrome (MetS), 162, 163 obesity, 155, 162 type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), 162 type 2 diabetes (T2D), 156, 157 Serum amino acid levels, 242 Serum biomarkers, 841 Serum creatinine, 413, 414 Serum cystatin, 900 Serum insulin and C peptide levels, 1121 Serum leptin GH/IGF-1 increases, 953 medical therapy, 957 medical treatment, 959 metabolic effects, 952 metabolic process, 953 Serum lipid control, 970 Serum molecular biomarkers in diabetic neuropathy, 999 Serum NGAL, 899 Serum uric acid blood glucose level and HbA1c, 249 level with diabetes and complications, 246-248 Sex, 618, 620, 623, 626 SGLT2 inhibitors, 624-626 Sheer stress, 851, 854 Short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs), 926, 929 Shortened MOLLI (ShMOLLI), 831 Short QT syndrome, 812, 817 Short tandem repeats (STRs), 673 Sickle cell disease, 11 Sickle cell trait, 16 Sight threatening DR (STDR), 413 Silent myocardial infarction (SMI), 815 Singapore Epidemiology of Eye Diseases Study, 676 Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), 139, 159, 400, 440, 622, 626, 672-675,812 Single-nucleotide variations (SNVs), 904 Skeletal muscle, 287, 301-303, 307, 561 Skeletal muscle mass (SMM), 74 Skin, 461 autofluorescence, 860 Smooth muscle cells, 158

Society of Canadian Obstetrics and Gynecology, 1028 Sodium dedocyle sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE), 799 Sodium glucose channel inhibitors (SGLT2i), 565 Sodium-glucose co-transporter-2 (SGLT-2) inhibitors, 420 Sodium-glucose transporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibitors, 616 Sodium-glucose transport protein 2 (SGLT2), 626.823 Soluble RAGE (sRAGE), 175 Solute carrier 5A2 (SLC5A2), 621-626 Solute carrier 5 (SLC5), 620 Somatostatin, 951 Sphingolipids, 31, 32 Splicing of betatrophin transcripts, 388 Spontaneously diabetic torii (SDT), 1093 Statistical probability modeling approach, 676 Stawiski calculator, 360 Stem cells, 569 Sterol regulatory element binding protein 1c (SREBP_{1c}), 399 Streptozotocin (STZ), 793, 1092, 1116 Stress oxidative, 474, 477, 481 Stroke, 560 Structure toxicity relationship of aliphatic γ-diketones, 1001 Stumvoll index, 355 Sudden cardiac death (SCD), 817 Sulfhydryl groups, 282 Superoxide anion (O₂⁻), 1094 Supervised exercise training (SET), 563 Supplementation for diabetic retinopathy prevention, 917, 918 Suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 (SOCS3), 44 Sustained hyperglycemia, 241 Sympathetic nervous system (SNS), 753 Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), 333 Systolic blood pressure (SBP), 134 Syzygium cumini (SC), 1113, 1129, 1130

Т

T1 mapping technique, 829 T2D-assocaited vascular complications, 551 T2D-associated complications, 543, 544, 549 TAB-Seq protocol, 546 *TargetScan* bioinformatic prediction algorithm, 662 T cell/B cell activation molecule (TBAM), 580 T cell factor (TCF), 634 T cell receptor revision, 582, 583, 585, 589 TG-to-HDL-C ratio, 356 Th40 cells, 579-583 generation, 581 inflammatory cytokines, 583 in multiple sclerosis, 587-588 in T1DM. 586-587 Thermodynamics and kinetics of pyrrole adduction, 1008 Thiazolidinediones (TZDs), 72 Thioredoxin reductase (TXNRD), 1076 Thyroid hormones, 284 Tight junction proteins, 929 Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase 4 (TIMP-4), 285 Tissue T1 times, 830, 831 Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4), 203, 927 Toll-like receptors (TLRs), 42, 55, 265, 1097 Total cholesterol (TC), 73, 137, 290 Transcription factor NF-kappaB (NF-κB), 177 Transient receptor potential vanilloid-1 receptor (TRPV1), 1100, 1101 Trans-Omics for Precision Medicine Program (TOPMed), 5 Traumatic brain injury (TBI), 567 Triacylglycerol-enriched remnant lipoproteins (TRL), 397, 398 Triacylglycerol (TG), 397, 399, 401, 951 TrialNet, 586 Tricarboxylic acid cycle (TCA), 90, 301 Tricine gel electrophoresis, 799 Triglycerides (TG), 73, 133, 290 Triplet proteins of 10nm neurofilaments, 1004 TRL particle size, 398-400, 402, 404, 405 Tsukushi (TSK), 210 Tubular damage and inflammation, 263 Tubulin, 177 Tubulointerstitial damage, 271 Tumor necrosis factor (TNF), 73 Tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), 41, 639, 931, 1095, 1100, 1125 pathways, 399 Two-dimensional polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (2D PAGE), 314 Type 1 diabetes (T1D), 165, 598, 670, 672, 674, 675, 730, 1056 experimental model, 1063 uric acid, 254 Type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM), 518, 576, 631 auto-antibodies, 578 biomarkers, 577-578

Type 2 diabetes (T2D), 156, 157, 165, 300–302, 304-307, 334, 398-402, 404, 405, 560, 565, 598, 670, 671, 674-676, 730, 1038, 1056, 1057 and selenium, 1077-1081 Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), 23, 24, 29-31, 33, 34, 49, 55, 87, 129, 200, 220, 289, 294, 313, 314, 318, 324, 325, 436, 444, 470, 474, 475, 478, 518, 631, 938, 941, 1113 bacterial translocation, 925 cardiovascular diseases, 320, 321 gut barrier, 925 gut dysbiosis, 925 insulin resistance, 954, 955 intestinal barrier, 934 leptin, 954, 955 leptin resistance, 956 mechanism, 934 metabolic syndrome (MetS), 321, 322 microbiome research, 925 neurologic disorders, 322, 323 obesity, 317, 320, 925 pancreatic cancer, 322 peripheral organs, 925 Type IV collagen, 896 Tyrosine kinase, 1103

U

UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS), 524, 970 Ultra-widefield photography, 969 United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS), 417 Unsaturated fatty acids, 452 Uremic cardiomyopathy, 178 Uric acid (UA), 133, 141-143, 242, 243, 903 as biomarker in diabetes, 245 in development of abnormal glucose metabolism, 245 in development of diabetic complications, 250 in diabetes pathophysiology, 243-245 in diabetic complications, 249 in macrovascular complications, 250, 251 in microvascular complications, 251, 252 in pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes mellitus, 244 Urinary glucose excretion diabetes mellitus, 616, 617 diabetic state, 618-620 glucose homeostasis, 617

glucosuria, 617, 618 kidney and transport glucose, 616 SGLT2 gene, 621 sodium-glucose cotransporters, 620, 621 Urinary interleukins, 267 Urinary metabolites, 793, 795-797. 804 Urinary profiling animal model, 793, 794 blood glucose level, 803 diagnosis specimen, 793 dietary control, 797, 799 histone H4, 801-803 human disease, 793, 794 liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry. 794, 795 metabolite profiles, 803 non-invasive method, 804 physical activity, 797, 799 pre-diabetes, 792, 803, 804 protein biomarkers, 800, 801 protein list, 802 proteomics analysis, 799 separation and analysis techniques, 804 tricine SDS-PAGE, 801, 802 Urinary protein profile, 804 Urinary proteins, 793, 799, 801 Urine and serum IL-18 concentrations, 271 US Diabetes Prevention Program (DPP), 561 U-shaped metabolic effect, 1082

v

Val-derived metabolite, 118 Vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM-1), 517 Vascular disease, 290 Vascular endothelial cells, 158, 978 Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), 175, 564, 967, 983, 1105 expression, 1060 Vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGFA), 489.971 arteriogenesis, 490 atherosclerosis, 490 cardiomyocytes, 490 diabetes complications, 497-499 diabetic polyneuropathy, 499-502 endothelial cells, 490 gene promoter, 662 growth factors, 496, 497 hypoxia, 489 intracellular signalling reactions, 491 lymphangiogenesis, 489

receptors, 490 type 1 diabetes mellitus, 496, 497 type 2 diabetes mellitus, 495, 496 tyrosine kinase activity, 489 Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR2), 501 Vascular-related diseases, 474 Vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs), 158 Vasomotor function, 852 Venous occlusion plethysmography, 852-854 Very-low-density lipoproteins (VLDL), 24, 404 Visceral adipose tissue (VAT), 74, 165, 198, 200 Visceral adiposity index (VAI), 356 Vitamin(s), 288 Vitamin B, 228, 229 Vitamin B12, 284 Vitamin B6, 284 Vitamin C, 228 Vitamin D, 228, 229, 910 deficiency, 910, 911, 918 and diabetes mellitus, 912 and diabetic retinopathy development and severity, 912, 913 diabetic retinopathy pathophysiology, 913, 917 sufficiency, 911 supplementation for DR prevention, 917 Vitamin E. 228 Vitamin K, 228, 229 Vitreous biomarkers applications, 982, 983 chemokines, 974 clinical grading, 969 Detection, 971 DR biomarkers, 972 growth factors, 974 method of analysis, 973, 974 ocular liquid biopsy, 972

pathogenesis, 968 pathophysiology, 966–968 sample selection, 973, 974 VLDL1, 398–402, 405

W

w-3 and w-6 PUFA, 452 Waist circumference (WC), 133 Water surface tension, 799 Weight loss, 364 Western blotting, 177 Westernized lifestyle in developing countries and the epidemic of obesity, 543 White adipocyte, 305 Whole genome sequencing (WGS), 5, 9, 16 Wide-field OCTA, 785 Williams formula, 357 Wilm's tumor, 565 Wnt/beta-catenin pathway, 642 Wnt/non-canonical pathways, 642 Wnt signaling pathway, 642 World Health Organization (WHO), 763

X

Xanthine oxidase (XO), 146, 147 glycemic parameters, 134 MDA and superoxides, 134 metalloflavoenzyme, 133 pathological conditions, 133 positive association, 133, 134

Z

Zheng formula, 360 Zinc (Zn), 288 Zonulin, 695